Receiving Tube Manual

Including Picture Tubes and Industrial Receiving Tubes



\$2.95 Optional Price

RC/I Receiving Tube Manual

Including Picture Tubes and Industrial Receiving Tubes

THIS MANUAL, like its many predecessors, has been prepared to assist those who work or experiment with home-entertainment or industrial receiving types of electron tubes and circuits or with television picture tubes. It will be found valuable by engineers, service technicians, educators, experimenters, electricians, radio amateurs, hobbyists, students, and others interested in electron tubes and their applications.

Easy-to-read chapters explain the basic principles of operation, significant electrical characteristics, circuit applications, and testing of various types of electron tubes. Technical data are given on current RCA home-entertainment and industrial receiving-type tubes and on picture tubes. Circuit diagrams are given illustrating the use of RCA tubes in many practical applications. Also included are expanded and updated replacement guides for obsolete or hard-to-find industrial and home-entertainment receiving tubes.

RCA | Distributor and Special Products Division Cherry Hill Offices | Camden, N.J. 08101

Copyright 1975 by RCA Corporation (All rights reserved under Pan-American Copyright Convention) Printed in U.S.A. 8/75

Contents

				PAGE
ELECTRONS, ELECTRODES, AND ELECTRON TUBES	•	•	•	3
ELECTRON TUBE CHARACTERISTICS	•	•	•	13
ELECTRON TUBE APPLICATIONS		•	•	15
ELECTRON TUBE INSTALLATION	•	•	•	81
SAFETY PRECAUTIONS—RECEIVING TUBES, PICTURE TUBES			•	93
INTERPRETATION OF TUBE DATA	•		•	95
ELECTRON TUBE TESTING				100
APPLICATION GUIDE FOR RECEIVING TUBES				104
TECHNICAL DATA FOR RECEIVING TUBES— ENTERTAINMENT AND INDUSTRIAL TYPES .	•	•	•	111
CHARACTERISTICS CHART FOR ENTERTAINMENT	r.	AN	n	
INDUSTRIAL RECEIVING TUBES	•	•		522
TERMINAL DIAGRAMS FOR RECEIVING TUBES		•	•	594
OUTLINES		•	•	633
STRUCTURE OF A MINIATURE TUBE	•	•	•	640
RESISTANCE-COUPLED AMPLIFIERS	•	•	•	641
REPLACEMENT GUIDE— ENTERTAINMENT RECEIVING TYPES		•	•	650
REPLACEMENT GUIDE— INDUSTRIAL RECEIVING TYPES		•		657
PICTURE TUBE CHARACTERISTICS CHART			•	666
TERMINAL DIAGRAMS FOR PICTURE TUBES			•	672
CIRCUITS.		•	•	674
INDEX	•	•		750

Information furnished by RCA is believed to be accurate and reliable. However, no responsibility is assumed by RCA for its use; nor for any infringements of patents or other rights of third parties which may result from its use. No license is granted by implication or otherwise under any patent or patent rights of RCA

Electrons, Electrodes and Electron Tubes

THE electron tube is a marvelous device. It makes possible the performing of operations, amazing in conception, with a precision and a certainty that are astounding. It is an exceedingly sensitive and accurate instrument—the product of coordinated efforts of engineers and craftsmen. Its construction requires materials from every corner of the earth. Its use is world-wide.

The importance of the electron tube lies in its ability to control almost instantly the flight of the millions of electrons supplied by the cathode. It accomplishes this control with a minimum of energy. Because it is almost instantaneous in its action, the electron tube can operate efficiently and accurately at extremely high electrical frequencies.

Electrons

All matter exists in the solid. liquid, or gaseous state. These three forms consist entirely of minute divisions known as molecules, which, in turn, are composed of atoms. Atoms have a nucleus which is a positive charge of electricity, around which revolve tiny charges of negative electricity known as electrons. Scientists have estimated that electrons weigh only 1/30billion, billion. billionths billion. $(\frac{1}{30} \times 10^{-39})$ of an ounce, and that they may travel at speeds of thousands of miles per second.

Electron movement may be accelerated by the addition of energy. Heat is one form of energy which can be conveniently used to speed up the electron. For example, if the temperature of a metal is gradually raised, the electrons in the metal gain velocity. When the metal becomes hot enough, some electrons may acquire sufficient speed to break away from the surface of the metal. This action, which is accelerated when the metal is heated in a vacuum, is utilized in most electron tubes to produce the necessary electron supply.

An electron tube consists of a cathode, which supplies electrons, and one or more additional electrodes, which control and collect these electrons, mounted in an evacuated envelope. The envelope may be made of glass, metal, ceramic, or a combination of these materials.

Cathodes

A cathode is an essential part of an electron tube because it supplies the electrons necessary for tube operation. When energy in some form is applied to the cathode, electrons are released. Heat is the form of energy generally used. The method of heating the cathode may be used to distinguish between the different forms of cathodes. For example, a directly heated cathode, or filament-cathode, is a wire heated by the passage of an electric current. An indirectly heated cathode, or heatercathode, consists of a filament, or heater, enclosed in a metal sleeve. The sleeve carries the electron-emitting material on its outside surface and is heated by radiation and conduction from the heater.

A filament, or directly heated cathode, such as that shown in Fig. 1 may be further classified by identifying the filament or electron-emitting material. The materials in regular use are tungsten, thoriated tungsten, and metals which have been coated with alkalineearth oxides. Tungsten filaments are made from the pure metal. Because they must operate at high temperatures (a dazzling white) to emit sufficient electrons, a relatively large amount of filament power is required.

Thoriated-tungsten filaments are made from tungsten impregnated with thorium oxide. Due to the presence of thorium, these filaments liberate electrons at a more moderate temperature of about 1700°C (a bright yellow) and are, therefore, much more economical of filament power than are pure tungsten filaments.

Alkaline earths are usually applied as a coating on a nickel-alloy wire or ribbon. This coating, which is dried in a relatively thick layer on the filament, requires only a relatively low temperature of about 700-750°C (a dull red) to produce a copious supply of electrons. Coated filaments operate very efficiently and require relatively little filament power. However, each of these cathode materials has special advantages which determine the choice for a particular application.

Directly heated filament-cathodes require comparatively little heating power. They are used in tube types designed for battery operation because it is, of course, desirable to impose as small a drain as possible on the batteries. They are also used in rectifiers such as the IG3GTA/IB3GT and the 5Y3GT.

An indirectly heated cathode, or heater-cathode, consists of a thin metal sleeve coated with electron-emitting material such as alkaline-earth oxides. The emissive surface of the cathode is maintained at the required temperature (approximately 1050°K) by resistanceheating of a tungsten or tungsten-alloy wire which is placed inside the cathode sleeve and electrically insulated from it, as shown in Fig. 2. The heater is used only for the purpose of heating the cathode sleeve and sleeve coating to an electron-emitting temperature. Useful emission does not take place from the heater wire.

A new dark heater insulating coating developed by RCA has better heat transfer than earlier aluminum-oxide coatings, and makes it possible to operate heaters at lower temperatures for given power inputs. Because the tensile strength of the heater wire increases at the lower operating temperatures, tubes using **dark heaters** have increased reliability, stability, and life.



Fig. 1—Filament Fig. 2—Indirectly or directly heated heated cathode or cathode. heater-cathode.

The heater-cathode construction is well adapted for use in electron tubes intended for operation from ac power lines and from storage batteries. The use of separate parts for emitter and heater functions, the electrical insulation of the heater from the emitter, and the shielding effect of the sleeve may all be utilized in the design of the tube to minimize the introduction of hum from the ac heater supply and to minimize electrical interference which might enter the tube circuit through the heater-supply line. From the viewpoint of circuit design, the heater-cathode construction offers advantages in connection flexibility because of the electrical separation of the heater from the cathode.

Another advantage of the heatercathode construction is that it makes practical the design of a rectifier tube having close spacing between its cathode and plate, and of an amplifier tube having close spacing between its cathode and grid. In a close-spaced rectifier tube, the voltage drop in the tube is low, and, therefore, the regulation is improved. In an amplifier tube, the close spacing increases the gain obtainable from the tube. Because of the advantages of the heater-cathode construction, almost all present-day receiving tubes designed for ac operation have heater-cathodes.

Generic Tube Types

Electrons are of no value in an electron tube unless they can be put to work. Therefore, a tube is designed with the parts necessary to utilize electrons as well as those required to produce them. These parts consist of a cathode and one or more supplementary electrodes. The electrodes are enclosed in an evacuated envelope having the necessary connections brought out through air-tight seals. The air is removed from the envelope to allow free movement of the electrons and to prevent injury to the emitting surface of the cathode.

When the cathode is heated, electrons leave the cathode surface and form an invisible cloud in the space around it. Any positive electric potential within the evacuated envelope offers a strong attraction to the electrons (unlike electric charges attract; like charges repel). Such a positive electric potential can be supplied by an **anode** (positive electrode) located within the tube in proximity to the cathode.

Diedes

The simplest form of electron tube contains two electrodes, a cathode and an anode (plate), and is often called a diode, the family name for a two-electrode tube. In a diode, the positive potential is supplied by a suitable electrical source connected between the plate terminal and a cathode terminal, as shown in Fig. 3. Under the influence of the positive plate potential, electrons



Fig. 3-Basic diode circuit.

flow from the cathode to the plate and return through the external plate-battery circuit to the cathode, thus completing the circuit. This flow of electrons is known as the **plate current**.

If a negative potential is applied to the plate, the free electrons in the space surrounding the cathode will be forced back to the cathode and no plate current will flow. If an alternating voltage is applied to the plate, the plate is alternately made positive and negative Because plate current flows only during the time when the plate is positive, current flows through the tube in only one direction and is said to be rectified. Fig. 4 shows the rectified output current produced by an alternating input voltage.



Fig. 4—Current characteristics of rectifier circuit.

Diode rectifiers are used in ac receivers to convert the ac supply voltage to dc voltage for the electrodes of the other tubes in the receiver. Rectifier tubes having only one plate and one cathode, such as the 35W4, are called **half-wave rectifiers**, because current can flow only during one-half of the alternating-current cycle. When two plates and one or more cathodes are used in the same tube, current may be obtained on both halves of the ac cycle. The 6X4, 5Y3GT, and 5U4GB are examples of this type and are called **full-wave rectifiers**.

Not all of the electrons emitted by the cathode reach the plate. Some return to the cathode, while others remain in the space between the cathode and plate for a brief period to produce

an effect known as space charge. This charge has a repelling action on other electrons which leave the cathode surface and impedes their passage to the plate. The extent of this action and the amount of space charge depend on the cathode temperature, the distance between the cathode and the plate, and the plate potential. The higher the plate potential, the less is the tendency for electrons to remain in the space-charge region and repel other electrons. This effect may be noted by applying increasingly higher plate voltages to a tube operating at a fixed heater or filament voltage. Under these conditions, the maximum number of available electrons is fixed, but increasingly higher plate voltages will succeed in attracting a greater proportion of the free electrons.

Beyond a certain plate voltage, however, additional plate voltage has little effect in increasing the plate current because all of the electrons emitted by the cathode are already being drawn to the plate. This maximum current, illustrated in Fig. 5, is called saturation current. Because it is an indication of the total number of electrons emitted, it is also known as emission current or simply emission.



Fig. 5—Current characteristic of diode tube.

Although tubes are sometimes tested by measurement of their emission current, it is generally not advisable to measure the full value of emission because this value would be sufficiently large to cause change in the tube characteristics or even to damage the tube. Consequently, while the test value of emission current is somewhat larger than the maximum current which will be required from the cathode in the use of the tube, it is ordinarily less than the full emission current. The emission test, therefore, is used to indicate whether the cathode can supply a sufficient number of electrons for satisfactory operation of the tube.

If space charge were not present to repel electrons coming from the cathode, the same plate current could be produced at a lower plate voltage. One way to make the effect of space charge small is to make the distance between plate and cathode small. This method is used in rectifier types having heatercathodes, such as the 5V4GA and the 6AX5GT. In these types, the radial distance between cathode and plate is only about two hundredths of an inch.

Another method of reducing spacecharge effect is utilized in mercuryvapor rectifier tubes. When such tubes are operated, a small amount of mercury contained in the tube is partially vaporized, filling the space inside the bulb with mercury atoms. These atoms are bombarded by electrons on their way to the plate. If the electrons are moving at a sufficiently high speed, the collisions tear off electrons from the mercury atoms. The mercury atom is then said to be "ionized," i.e., it has lost one or more electrons and, therefore, has a positive charge. Ionization is evidenced by a bluish-green glow between the cathode and plate. When ionization occurs, the space charge is neutralized by the positive mercury atoms so that increased numbers of electrons are made available. Mercury-vapor tubes are used primarily for power rectifiers.

Ionic-heated-cathode rectifiers depend on gas ionization for their operation. These tubes are of the full-wave design and contain two anodes and a coated cathode sealed in a bulb containing a reduced pressure of inert gas. The cathode becomes hot during tube operation, but the heating effect is caused by bombardment of the cathode by ions within the tube rather than by heater or filament current from an external source.

The internal structure of an ionicheated-cathode tube is designed so that when sufficient voltage is applied to the tube, ionization of the gas occurs between the anode which is instantaneously positive and the cathode. Under normal operating voltages, ionization does not take place between the anode that is negative and the cathode. so that the requirements for rectification are satisfied. The initial small flow of current through the tube is sufficient to raise the cathode temperature quickly to incandescence, whereupon the cathode emits electrons. The voltage drop in such tubes is slightly higher than that of the usual hot-cathode gas rectifiers because energy is taken from the ionization discharge to keep the cathode at operating temperature. Proper operation of these rectifiers requires a minimum flow of load current at all times to maintain the cathode at the temperature required to supply sufficient emission.

Triodes

When a third electrode, called the control grid, is placed between the cathode and plate, the tube is known as a triode, the family name for a threeelectrode tube. The grid usually consists of relatively fine wire wound on two support rods (siderods) and extending the length of the cathode. The spacing between turns of wire is large compared with the size of the wire so that the passage of electrons from cathode to plate is practically unobstructed by the grid. In some types, a frame grid is used. The frame consists of two siderods supported by four metal straps. Extremely fine lateral wire (diameter of 0.5 mil or less) is wound under tension around the frame. This type of grid permits the use of closer spacings between grid wires and between tube electrodes, and thus improves tube performance.

The purpose of the grid is to control the flow of plate current. When a tube is used as an amplifier, a negative dc voltage is usually applied to the grid. Under this conditon the grid does not draw appreciable current.

The number of electrons attracted to the plate depends on the combined effect of the grid and plate polarities, as shown in Fig. 6. When the plate is positive, as is normal, and the dc grid voltage is made more and more negative, the plate is less able to attract electrons to it and plate current decreases. When the grid is made less and less negative (more and more positive), the plate more readily attracts electrons to it and plate current increases. Hence, when the voltage on the grid is varied in accordance with a signal, the plate current varies with the signal. Because a small voltage applied to the grid can control a comparatively large amount of plate current, the signal is amplified by the tube. Typical three-electrode tube types are the 6C4 and 6AF4A.



The grid, plate, and cathode of a triode form an electrostatic system, each electrode acting as one plate of a small capacitor. The capacitances are those existing between grid and plate, plate and cathode, and grid and cathode. These capacitances are known as interelectrode capacitances. Generally, the capacitance between grid and plate is of the most importance. In high-gain radio-frequency amplifier circuits, this capacitance may act to produce undesired coupling between the input circuit, the circuit between grid and cathode, and the output circuit, the circuit between plate and cathode. This coupling is undesirable in an amplifier because it may cause instability and unsatisfactory performance.

Tetrodes

The capacitance between control grid and plate can be made small by mounting an additional electrode, called the screen grid (grid No. 2), in the tube. With the addition of the grid No. 2, the tube has four electrodes and is, accordingly, called a tetrode. The screen grid or grid No. 2 is mounted between the grid No. 1 (control grid) and the plate, as shown in Fig. 7, and acts as an electrostatic shield between them, thus reducing the grid-to-plate capacitance. The effectiveness of this shielding action is increased by a bypass

8



Fig. 7-Basic tetrode circuit.

capacitor connected between screen grid and cathode. By means of the screen grid and this bypass capacitor, the gridplate capacitance of a tetrode is made very small. In practice, the grid-plate capacitance is reduced from several picofarads (pF) for a triode to 0.01 pF or less for a screen-grid tube.

The screen grid has another desirable effect in that it makes plate current practically independent of plate voltage over a certain range. The screen grid is operated at a positive voltage and, therefore, attracts electrons from the cathode. However, because of the comparatively large space between wires of the screen grid, most of the electrons drawn to the screen grid pass through it to the plate. Hence, the screen grid supplies an electrostatic force pulling electrons from the cathode to the plate. At the same time, the screen grid shields the electrons between cathode and screen grid from the plate so that the plate exerts very little electrostatic force on electrons near the cathode.

So long as the plate voltage is higher than the screen-grid voltage, plate current in a screen-grid tube depends to a great degree on the screengrid voltage and very little on the plate voltage. The fact that plate current in a screen-grid tube is largely independent of plate voltage makes it possible to obtain much higher amplification with a tetrode than with a triode. The low grid-plate capacitance makes it possible to obtain this high amplification without plate-to-grid feedback and resultant instability. In receiving-tube applications, the tetrode has been replaced to a considerable degree by the pentode.

Pentodes

In all electron tubes, electrons striking the plate may, if moving at sufficient speed, dislodge other electrons. In two- and three-electrode types, these dislodged electrons usually do not cause trouble because no positive electrode other than the plate itself is present to attract them. These electrons, therefore, are drawn back to the plate. Emission caused by bombardment of an electrode by electrons from the cathode is called **secondary emission** because the effect is secondary to the original cathode emission.

In the case of screen-grid tubes, the proximity of the positive screen grid to the plate offers a strong attraction to these secondary electrons, and particularly so if the plate voltage swings lower than the screen-grid voltage. This effect reduces the plate current and limits the useful plate-voltage swing for tetrodes.

The effects of secondary emission are minimized when a fifth electrode is placed within the tube between the screen grid and plate. This fifth electrode is known as the **suppressor grid** (grid No. 3) and is usually connected to the cathode, as shown in Fig. 8. Because of its negative potential with respect to the plate, the suppressor grid retards the flight of secondary electrons and diverts them back to the plate.



The family name for a five-electrode tube is "pentode." In power-output pentodes, the suppressor grid makes possible higher power output with lower grid-driving voltage; in radio-frequency amplifier pentodes, the suppressor grid makes possible high voltage amplification at moderate values of plate voltage. These desirable features result from the fact that the plate-voltage swing can be made very large. In fact, the plate voltage may be as low as, or lower than, the screen-grid voltage without serious loss in signal-gain capability. Representative pentodes used for power amplification are the 6CL6 and 6K6GT; representative pentodes used for voltage amplification are the 6AU6A. 6BA6, and 5879.

Beam Power Tubes

A beam power tube is a tetrode or pentode in which directed electron beams are used to increase substantially the power-handling capability of the tube. Such a tube contains a cathode. a control grid (grid No. 1), a screen grid (grid No. 2), a plate, and, optionally, a suppressor grid (grid No. 3). When a beam power tube is designed without an actual suppressor grid, the electrodes are so spaced that secondary emission from the plate is suppressed by space-charge effects between screen grid and plate. The space charge is produced by the slowing up of electrons traveling from a high-potential screen grid to a lower-potential plate. In this low-velocity region, the space charge produced is sufficient to repel secondary electrons emitted from the plate and to cause them to return to the plate.

Beam power tubes of this design employ beam-confining electrodes at cathode potential to assist in producing the desired beam effects and to prevent stray electrons from the plate from returning to the screen grid outside of the beam. A feature of a beam power tube is its low screen-grid current. The screen grid and the control grid are spiral wires wound so that each turn of the screen grid is shaded from the cathode by a grid turn. This alignment of the screen grid and control grid causes the electrons to travel in sheets between the turns of the screen grid so that very few of them strike the screen grid. Because of the effective suppressor action provided by space charge and because of the low current drawn by the screen grid, the beam power tube has the advantages of high power output, high power sensitivity, and high efficiency.

Fig. 9 shows the structure of a beam power tube employing spacecharge suppression and illustrates how



Fig. 9—Structure of beam power tube showing beam-confining action.

the electrons are confined to beams. The beam condition illustrated is that for a plate potential less than the screen-grid potential. The high-density space-charge region is indicated by the heavily dashed lines in the beam. Note that the edges of the beam-confining electrodes coincide with the dashed portion of the beam. In this way the space-charge potential region is extended beyond the beam boundaries and stray secondary electrons are prevented from returning to the screen grid outside of the beam. The spacecharge effect may also be obtained by use of an actual suppressor grid. Examples of beam power tubes are 6AQ5A, 6L6GC, 6V6GTA, and 50C5.

Multi-Electrode and Multi-Unit Tubes

Early in the history of tube devel-

opment and application, tubes were designed for a general service; that is, a single tube type—a triode—was used as a radio-frequency amplifier, an intermediate-frequency amplifier, an audiofrequency amplifier, an oscillator, or a detector. Obviously, with this diversity of application, one tube did not meet all requirements to the best advantage.

Later and present trends of tube design are the development of "specialty" types. These types are intended either to give optimum performance in a particular application or to combine in one bulb functions which formerly required two or more tubes. The first class of tubes includes such examples of specialty types as the 6CB6A and 6BY6. Types of this class generally require more than three electrodes to obtain the desired special characteristics and may be broadly classed as multielectrode types. The 6BY6 is an especially interesting type in this class. This tube has an unusually large number of electrodes, namely seven, exclusive of the heater. Plate current in the tube is varied at two different frequencies at the same time. The tube is designed primarily for use as a combined sync separator and sync clipper in television receivers.

The second class includes multiunit tubes such as the twin-diode triodes 6CN7 and 6AV6, as well as triode-pentodes such as the 6EA8 and 6GH8A. This class also includes class A twin triodes such as the 6FQ7/6CG7 and 12AX7A, and types such as the 6CM7 containing dissimilar triode units used primarily as combined vertical oscillators and vertical deflection amplifiers in television receivers. Full-wave rectifiers are also multi-unit types.

A third class of tubes combines features of each of the other two classes. Typical of this third class are the pentagrid-converter types 6BE6 and 6SA7. These tubes are similar to the multielectrode types in that they have seven electrodes, all of which affect the electron stream; and they are similar to the multi-unit tubes in that they perform simultaneously the double function of oscillator and mixer in superheterodyne receivers.

Receiving Tube Structure

Receiving tubes generally utilize a glass or metal envelope and a base. Originally, the base was made of metal or molded phenolic material. Types having a glass envelope and a molded phenolic base include the "octal" types such as the 5U4GB and the 6SN7GTB. Types having a metal envelope and molded phenolic octal base include the 6V6 and the 6L6. Many modern types utilize integral glass bases. Present-day conventional tube designs utilizing glass envelopes and integral glass bases include the seven-pin and nine-pin miniature types, the nine-pin novar and neonoval types, and the twelve-pin duodecar types. Examples of the seven-pin miniature types are the 6AU6A and 6AV6. Examples of the nine-pin miniature types are the 12AU7A and 6EA8. Examples of the novar types are the 6CJ3 and 7868. The nine-pin base for the novar types has a relatively large pin-circle diameter and long pins to insure firm retention of the tube in its socket.

The **nuvistor** concept provided a new approach to electron tube design. Nuvistor tubes utilize a light-weight cantilever-supported cyclindrical electrode structure housed in a ceramicmetal envelope. These tubes combine new materials, processes, and fabrication techniques. Examples of the nuvistor are the 6CW4 and the 6DV4.

Television Picture Tubes

The picture tube, or kinescope, is a multi-electrode tube used principally in television receivers for picture display. It consists essentially of an electron gun, a glass or metal-and-glass envelope and faceplate combination, and a fluorescent screen.

The electron gun includes a cathode for the production of free electrons, one or more control electrodes for accelerating the electrons in the beam, and, optionally, a device for "trapping" unwanted ions out of the electron beam.

Focusing of the beam is accomplished either electromagnetically by means of a focusing coil placed on the neck of the tube, or electrostatically, as shown in Fig. 10, by means of a focusing electrode (grid No. 4) within the envelope of the tube. The screen is a white-fluorescing phosphor P4 of either the silicate or the sulfide type.

Deflection of the beam is accomplished either electrostatically by means of deflecting electrodes within the envelope of the tube, or electromagnetically by means of a deflecting yoke placed on the neck of the tube. Fig. 10 shows the structure of the gun section of a picture tube and illustrates how the electron beam is formed and how the beam is deflected by means of an electromagnetic deflecting yoke. In this type of tube, ions in the beam are prevented from damaging the fluorescent screen by an aluminum film on the gun side of the screen. This film not only "traps" unwanted ions, but also improves picture contrast. In many types of non-aluminized tubes, ions are separated from the electron beam by means of a tilted-gun and ion-trapmagnet arrangement.

Color television picture tubes are similar to black-and-white picture tubes, but differ in three major ways: (1) The light-emitting screen is made up of trios

of phosphor dots deposited in an interlaced pattern. Each dot of a trio is capable of emitting light in one of the three primary colors (red, green, or blue). (2) A shadow mask mounted near the screen of the tube contains over 300,-000 apertures, one for each of the phosphor dot trios. This mask provides color separation by shadowing two of the three phosphor dots of each trio. (3) Three closely spaced electron guns, built as a unit, provide separate beams for excitation of the three different color-phosphor-dot arrays. Thus it is possible to control the brightness of each of the three colors independently of the other two. Fig. 11 shows a cutaway view of a color television picture tube.

The three electron guns are mounted with their axes tilted toward the central axis of the envelope, and are spaced 120 degrees with respect to each other. The focusing electrodes of the three guns are interconnected internally, and their potential is adjusted to cause the separate beams to focus at the phosphor-dot screen. All three beams must be made to converge at the screen while they are simultaneously being deflected. Convergence is accomplished by the action of static and



Fig. 10-Structure of television-picture-tube electron gun.

dynamic magnetic fields set up by the radial-converging magnet assembly mounted on the neck of the tube. These fields are coupled into the radialconverging pole pieces within the tube. Another pair of pole pieces in the tube is activated by the lateral-converging magnet also mounted on the neck of the tube. These pole pieces permit lateral shift in position of the blue beam in opposition to the lateral shift of the green and red beams.

A purifying magnet is used with color picture tubes to provide a magnetic field, adjustable in magnitude and direction, to effect register over the entire area of the screen. A magnetic shield is used to minimize the effects of the earth's magnetic field.

Deflection of the three beams is accomplished simultaneously by a deflecting yoke using four electromagnetic coils similar to the deflecting yoke used for black-and-white picture tubes.

A totally new concept in color television display systems utilizing an advanced design of electron gun, deflection yoke, and picture tube has been developed by RCA. Instead of dots, this tube utilizes a screen consisting of continuous vertical phosphor lines of alternating green, red, and blue emitting phosphors. The mask apertures are vertical slits with small cross ties to provide strength. This line-screen arrangement has the advantage of reducing beam-to-phosphor misregister, enhancing color purity, and improving white uniformity

The electron gun of this tube uses horizontal in-line structure rather a than the 120° spacing of the phosphor-dot tube and is designed for use with a precision static toroid linefocus-type deflecting yoke. With this structure, the three beams and the deflecting field are in precise alignment. As a result, this precision in-line tube assembly is inherently self-converging and does not require dynamic convergence correction or its associated circuitry Consequently, the deflecting yoke and neck components can be preadjusted and permanently attached to the picture tube by the tube manufacturer.



Fig. 11-Cutaway view of color television picture tube.

THE term "characteristics" is used to identify the distinguishing electrical features and values of an electron tube. These values may be shown in curve form or they may be tabulated. When the characteristics values are given in curve form, the curves may be used for the determination of tube performance and the calculation of additional tube factors.

Tube characteristics are obtained from electrical measurements of a tube in various circuits under certain definite conditions of voltages. Characteristics may be further described by denoting the conditions of measurements. For example, Static Characteristics are the values obtained with different dc potentials applied to the tube electrodes. while Dynamic Characteristics are the values obtained with an ac voltage on a control grid under various conditions of dc potentials on the electrodes. The dynamic characteristics, therefore, are indicative of the performance capabilities of a tube under actual working conditions.

Static characteristics may be shown bv plate characteristics curves and transfer (mutual) characteristics curves. These curves present the same information, but in two different forms to increase its usefulness. The plate characteristic curve is obtained by varying plate voltage and measuring plate current for different grid-bias voltages. while the transfer-characteristic curve is obtained by varying grid-bias voltage and measuring plate current for different plate voltages. A plate-characteristic family of curves is shown in Fig. 12. Fig. 13 gives the transfer-characteristic family of curves for the same tube.

Dynamic characteristics include amplification factor, plate resistance. control-grid—plate transconductance, and certain detector characteristics, and may be shown in curve form for variations in tube operating conditions.

Electron Tube Characteristics



Fig. 12—Family of plate-characteristics curves.

The amplification factor, or μ , is the ratio of the change in plate voltage to a change in control-electrode voltage in the opposite direction, under the condition that the plate current remains



Fig. 13--Family of transfer-characteristics curves.

unchanged and that all other electrode voltages are maintained constant. For example, if, when the plate voltage is made 1 volt more positive, the control-electrode (grid-No. 1) voltage must be made 0.1 volt more negative to hold plate current unchanged, the amplification factor is 1 divided by 0.1, or 10. In other words, a small voltage variation in the grid circuit of a tube has the same effect on the plate current as a large plate-voltage change—the latter equal to the product of the grid-voltage change and amplification factor. The μ of a tube is often useful for

calculating stage gain. This use is discussed in the Electron Tube Applications section.

Plate resistance (r_p) of an electron tube is the resistance of the path between cathode and plate to the flow of alternating current. It is the quotient of a small change in plate voltage divided by the corresponding change in plate current and is expressed in ohms, the unit of resistance. Thus, if a change of 0.1 milliampere (0.0001 ampere) is produced by a plate-voltage variation of 1 volt, the plate resistance is 1 divided by 0.0001, or 10000 ohms.

Control grid-to-plate transconductance, or simply transconductance (gm), is a factor which combines in one term the amplification factor and the plate resistance, and is the quotient of the first divided by the second. This term has also been known as mutual conductance. Transconductance may be more strictly defined as the quotient of a small change in plate current (amperes) divided by the small change in the control-grid voltage producing it, under the condition that all other voltages remain unchanged. Thus, if a gridvoltage change of 0.5 volt causes a plate-current change of 1 milliampere (0.001 ampere), with all other voltages constant, the transconductance is 0.001 divided by 0.5, or 0.002 mho. A "mho" is the unit of conductance and was named by spelling ohm backwards. For convenience, a millionth of a mho, or a micromho (µmho), is used to express transconductance. Thus, in the example, 0.002 mho is 2000 micromhos.

Conversion transconductance (g_c) is a characteristic associated with the mixer (first detector) function of tubes and may be defined as the quotient of the intermediate-frequency (if) current in the primary of the if transformer divided by the applied radio-frequency (rf) voltage producing it; more precisely, it is the limiting value of this quotient as the rf voltage and if current approach zero. When the performance of a frequency converter is determined. conversion transconductance is used in the same way as control grid-to-plate

transconductance is used in single-frequency amplifier computations.

The plate efficiency of a power amplifier tube is the ratio of the ac power output (P_o) to the product of the average dc plate voltage (E_b) and dc plate current (I_b) at full signal, or

$$\frac{\text{Plate efficiency}}{\%} = \frac{P_{o} \text{ watts}}{E_{b} \text{ volts} \times I_{b} \text{ amperes}} \times 100$$

The power sensitivity of a tube is the ratio of the power output to the square of the input signal voltage (E_{1n}) . and is expressed in mhos as follows:

Power sensitivity (mhos) = $\frac{\Gamma_0 \text{ maxim}}{(E_{1n}, \text{ rms})^2}$

X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTICS OF TELEVISION PICTURE TUBES

X-rays are produced when the atoms of a material are bombarded by electrons (or ions). The relative intensity and spectral energy distribution of the X-radiation at the source are determined by the accelerating voltage, the electron (or ion) current, and the atomic number of the bombarded materials. Because of the selective filtering effect of the glass bulb and/or of other tube components, the relative intensity external to the tube is given by the following relationship:

Relative Intensity a iVⁿZ

where

i = currentV = accelerating voltage Z = atomic number of the "target"

In present monochrome and color picture tubes, which use high absorption glass, "n" is the order of 20.

X-radiation also may be produced in the neck by stray electrons (or ions) that are accelerated by voltages that may be as high as the anode voltage. This radiation is independent of that produced by the beam and, in fact, may be produced when there is no beam current; it is dependent upon voltages that are related to interelectrode potential differences or charge patterns on the glass, and upon leakage currents.

Electron Tube Applications

THE diversified applications of an electron receiving tube have, within the scope of this section, been treated under seven headings: Rectification; Detection; Amplification: TV Scanning, Sync, and Deflection; Oscillation: Frequency Conversion; and Tuning Indication with Electron-Ray Tubes. Although these operations may take place at either radio or audio frequencies and may involve the use of different circuits and different supplemental parts. the general considerations of each kind of operation are basic.

General System Functions

When speech. music, or video information is transmitted from a radio or television station. the station radiates a modulated radio-frequency (rf) carrier. The function of a radio or television receiver is simply to reproduce the modulating wave from the modulated carrier.

As shown in Fig. 14, a superheterodyne radio receiver picks up the transmitted modulated rf signal, amplifies it. converts it to a modulated intermediatefrequency (if) signal, amplifies the modulated if signal, separates the modulating signal from the basic carrier wave (Detection), and amplifies the resulting audio signal to a level sufficient to produce the desired volume in a speaker. In addition, the receiver usually includes some means of producing automatic gain control (agc) of the modulated signal before the audio information is separated from the carrier.

The transmitted rf signal picked up by the radio receiver may contain either amplitude modulation (AM) or frequency modulation (FM). (These modulation techniques are described later in the section on Detection.) In either case, amplification prior to the detector stage is performed by tuned amplifier circuits designed for the proper frequency and bandwidth. Frequency conversion is performed by mixer and oscillator circuits or by a single converter stage which performs both mixer and oscillator functions. Separation of the modulating signal is normally accomplished by one or more diodes in a detector or discriminator circuit. Amplification of the audio signal is then performed by one or more audio amplifier stages.

Audio-amplifier systems for phonograph or tape recordings are similar to the stages after detection in a radio receiver. The input to the amplifier is a low-power-level audio signal from the



Fig. 14-Simplified block diagram for a broadcast-band receiver.

phonograph or magnetic-tape pickup head. This signal is usually amplified through a preamplifier stage, one or more low-level (pre-driver or driver) audio stages, and an audio power amplifier. The system may also include frequency-selective circuits which act as equalization networks and/or tone controls.

The operation of a television receiver is more complex than that of a radio receiver, as shown by the simplified block diagram in Fig. 15. The tuner section of the receiver selects the proper rf signals for the desired channel frequency, amplifies them, and converts them to a lower intermediate frequency. formation to the television picture tube and thus controls instantaneous "spot" brightness. At the same time, deflection circuits cause the electron beam of the picture tube to move the "spot" across the faceplate horizontally and vertically. Special "sync" signals derived from the video signal assure that the horizontal and vertical scanning are timed so that the picture produced on the receiver exactly duplicates the picture being viewed by the camera or pickup tube.

A communications transceiver contains transmitting circuits, as well as receiving circuits similar to those of a radio receiver. The transmitter portion



Fig. 15-Simplified block diagram for a black-and-white television receiver.

As in a radio receiver, these functions are accomplished in rf-amplifier, mixer, and local-oscillator stages. The if signal is then amplified in if-amplifier stages which provide the additional gain required to bring the signal level to an amplitude suitable for detection of the video information.

After detection, the video signal is amplified and separated into sound and picture information. The sound signal is amplified and processed to provide an audio signal which is fed to an audio amplifier system similar to those described above. The picture (video) signal is passed through a video amplifier stage which conveys beam-intensity inof such a system consists of two sections. In one section, the desired intelligence (voice, code, or the like) is picked up and amplified through one or more amplifier stages (which are usually common to the receiver portion) to a highlevel stage called a modulator. In the other section, an rf signal of the desired frequency is developed in an oscillator stage and amplified in one or more rf-amplifier stages. The audio-frequency (af) modulating signal is impressed on the rf carrier in the final rf-poweramplifier stage (high-level modulation). in the rf low-level stage (low-level modulation), or in both. Fig. 16 shows a simplified block diagram of the trans-



Fig. 16—Simplified block diagram for the transmitter portion of a 27-MHz communications receivér.

mitter portion of a citizens-band transceiver that operates at a frequency of 27 MHz (megacycles per second). The transmitting section of a communications system may also include frequency-multiplier circuits which raise the frequency of the developed rf signal as required.

Rectification

The rectifying action of a diode finds important applications in supplying a receiver with dc power from an ac line and in supplying high dc voltage from a high-voltage pulse. A typical arrangement for converting ac to dc includes a rectifier tube, a filter, and a voltage divider. The rectifying action of the tube is explained briefly under **Diodes**, in the **Electrons**, **Electrodes**, and **Electron Tubes** section. Highvoltage pulse rectification is described later under **Horizontal Output Circuits**.

The function of a filter is to smooth out the ripple of the tube out-



Fig. 17—Voltage waveforms of full-wave rectifier circuit.

put, as indicated in Fig. 17, and to increase rectifier efficiency. The action of the filter is explained in the **Electron Tube Installation** section under **Filters**. The voltage divider is used to cut down the output voltage to the values required by the plates and the other electrodes of the tubes in the receiver.

A half-wave rectifier and a fullwave rectifier circuit are shown in Fig. 18. In the half-wave circuit, current



Fig. 18—Half-wave and full-wave rectifier circuits.

flows through the rectifier tube to the filter on every other half-cycle of the ac input voltage when the plate is positive with respect to the cathode. In the fullwave circuit, current flows to the filter on every half-cycle, through plate No. 1 on one half-cycle when plate No. 1 is positive with respect to the cathode, and through plate No. 2 on the next half-cycle when plate No. 2 is positive with respect to the cathode.

Because the current flow to the filter is more uniform in the full-wave circuit than in the half-wave circuit, the output of the full-wave circuit requires less filtering. Rectifier operating information and circuits are given under each rectifier tube type and in the **Circuits** section, respectively.

Parallel operation of rectifier tubes furnishes an output current greater than that obtainable with the use of one tube. For example, when two fullwave rectifier tubes are connected in parallel, the plates of each tube are connected together and each tube acts as a half-wave rectifier. The permissible voltage and load conditions per tube are the same as for full-wave service but the total load-currenthandling capability of the complete rectifier is approximately doubled.

When mercury-vapor rectifier tubes are connected in parallel, a stabilizing resistor of 50 to 100 ohms should be connected in series with each plate lead in order that each tube will carry an equal share of the load current. The value of the resistor to be used will depend on the amount of plate current that passes through the rectifier. Low plate current requires a high value; high plate current, a low value. When the plates of mercury-vapor rectifier tubes are connected in parallel, the corresponding filament leads should be similarly connected. Otherwise, the tube drops will be considerably unbalanced and larger stabilizing resistors will be required.

Two or more vacuum rectifier tubes can also be connected in parallel to give correspondingly higher output current and, as a result of paralleling their internal resistances, give somewhat increased voltage output. With vacuum types, stabilizing resistors may or may not be necessary depending on the tube type and the circuit.

A voltage-doubler circuit of simple form is shown in Fig. 19. The circuit derives its name from the fact that its dc voltage output can be as high as twice the peak value of ac input. Basically, a voltage doubler is a rectifier circuit arranged so that the output voltages of two half-wave rectifiers are in series.

The action of a voltage doubler can be described briefly as follows. On the positive half-cycle of the ac input, that is, when the upper side of the ac input line is positive with respect to the lower side, the upper diode passes current and feeds a positive charge into the upper capacitor. As positive charge accumulates on the upper plate of the capacitor, a positive voltage builds up across the capacitor. On the next half-cycle of the ac input, when the upper side of the line is negative with respect to the lower side. the lower diode passes current so that



Fig. 19-Full-wave voltage-doubler circuit.

a negative voltage builds up across the lower capacitor.

So long as no current is drawn at the output terminals from the capacitor. each capacitor can charge up to a voltage of magnitude E, the peak value of the ac input. It can be seen from the diagram that with a voltage of +E on one capacitor and -E on the other. the total voltage across the capacitors is 2E. Thus the voltage doubler supplies a no-load dc output voltage twice as large as the peak ac input voltage. When current is drawn at the output terminals by the load, the output voltage drops below 2E by an amount that depends on the magnitude of the load current and the capacitance of the capacitors. The arrangement shown in Fig. 19 is called a full-wave voltage doubler because each rectifier passes current to the load on each halt of the ac input cycle.

A rectifier type especially designed for use as a voltage doubler is the 25Z6GT. This tube combines two separate diodes in one tube. As a voltage doubler, the tube is used in "transformerless" receivers. In these receivers, the heaters of all tubes in the set



Fig. 20—Full-wave and half-wave voltage-doubler circuits showing heater-supply connections.

are connected in series with a voltagedropping resistor across the line. The connections for the heater supply and the voltage-doubling circuit are shown in Fig. 20.

With the full-wave voltage-doubler circuit in Fig. 20, it will be noted that the dc load circuit cannot be connected to ground or to one side of the ac supply line. This circuit presents certain disadvantages when the heaters of all the tubes in the set are connected in series with a resistance across the ac line. Such a circuit arrangement may cause hum because of the high ac potential between the heaters and cathodes of the tubes.

The half-wave voltage-doubler circuit in Fig. 20 overcomes this difficulty by making one side of the ac line common with the negative side of the dc load circuit. In this circuit, one half of the tube is used to charge a capacitor which, on the following half cycle, discharges in series with the line voltage through the other half of the tube. This circuit is called a half-wave voltage doubler because rectified current flows to the load only on alternate halves of the ac input cycle. The voltage regulation of this arrangement is somewhat poorer than that of the fullwave voltage doubler.

Detection

When speech, music, or video information is transmitted from a radio or television station, the station radiates a radio-frequency (rf) wave which is of either of two general types. In one type, the wave is said to be amplitude modulated when its frequency remains constant and the amplitude is varied. In the other type, the wave is said to be frequency modulated when its amplitude remains essentially constant but its frequency is varied.

The function of the receiver is to reproduce the original modulating wave from the modulated rf wave. The receiver stage in which this function is performed is called the **demodulator** or **detector** stage.

AM Detection

The effect of **amplitude modula**tion on the waveform of the rf wave is shown in Fig. 21. There are three different basic circuits used for the detection of amplitude-modulated waves: the diode detector, the grid-bias detector, and the grid-resistor detector. These circuits are alike in that they eliminate, either partially or completely, alternate halfcycles of the rf wave. With alternate half-cycles removed, the audio variations of the other half-cycles can be



Fig. 21-Waveforms showing effect of amplitude modulation on an rf wave.

amplified to drive headphones or a loud-speaker.

A diode-detector circuit is shown in Fig. 22. The action of this circuit when a modulated rf wave is applied is



Fig. 22-Basic diode-detector circuit.

illustrated by Fig. 23. The rf voltage applied to the circuit is shown in light line; the output voltage across capacitor C is shown in heavy line.

Between points (a) and (b) on the first positive half-cycle of the applied rf voltage, capacitor C charges up to the peak value of the rf voltage. Then as the applied rf voltage falls away from its peak value, the capacitor holds the cathode at a potential more positive than the voltage applied to the anode.



Fig. 23—Waveforms showing modulated rf input (light line) and output voltage (heavy line) of diode-detector circuit.

The capacitor thus temporarily cuts off current through the diode. While the diode current is cut off, the capacitor discharges from (b) to (c) through the diode load resistor R.

When the rf voltage on the anode rises high enough to exceed the potential at which the capacitor holds the cathode, current flows again and the capacitor charges up to the peak value of the second positive half-cycle at (d). In this way, the voltage across the capacitor follows the peak value of the applied rf voltage and reproduces the af modulation.

The curve for voltage across the capacitor, as shown in Fig. 23, is somewhat jagged. However, this jaggedness, which represents an rf component in the voltage across the capacitor, is exaggerated in the drawing. In an actual circuit the rf component of the voltage across the capacitor is negligible. Hence, when the voltage across the capacitor is amplified, the output of the amplifier reproduces the speech or music originating at the transmitting station.

Another way to describe the action of a diode detector is to consider the circuit as a half-wave rectifier. When the rf signal on the plate swings positive, the tube conducts and the rectified current flows through the load resistance R. Because the dc output voltage of a rectifier depends on the voltage of the ac input, the dc voltage across C varies in accordance with the amplitude of the rf carrier and thus reproduces the af signal. Capacitor C should be large enough to smooth out rf or if variations, but should not be so large as to affect the audio variations. Two diodes can be connected in a circuit similar to a full-wave rectifier to provide full-wave detection. However, in practice, the advantages of this connection generally do not justify the extra circuit complication.

The diode method of detection produces less distortion than other methods because the dynamic characteristics of a diode can be made more linear than those of other detectors. The disadvantages of a diode are that it does not amplify the signal, and that it draws current from the input circuit and therefore reduces the selectivity of the input circuit. However, because the diode method of detection produces less distortion and because it permits the use of simple avc circuits without the necessity for an additional voltage supply, the diode method of detection is most widely used in broadcast receivers.

A typical diode-detector circuit using a diode-triode tube is shown in Fig. 24. R_1 is the diode load resistor. A portion of the af voltage developed across this resistor is applied to the triode grid through the volume control R_3 . In a typical circuit, resistor R_1 may be tapped so that five-sixths of the total af voltage across R_1 is applied to the volume control. This tapped connection reduces the af voltage output of the detector circuit slightly, but it



Fig. 24—Typical diode-detector circuit using a twin diode—triode tube.

reduces audio distortion and improves the rf filtering.

DC bias for the triode section is provided by the cathode-bias resistor R_2 and the audio bypass capacitor C_3 . The function of capacitor C_2 is to block the dc bias of the cathode from the grid. The function of capacitor C_4 is to bypass any rf voltage on the grid to cathode. A diode—pentode may also be used in this circuit. With a pentode, the af output should be resistancecoupled rather than transformer-coupled.

Another diode-detector circuit, called a diode-biased circuit, is shown in Fig. 25. In this circuit, the triode grid



Fig. 25—Diode-biased detector circuit.

is connected directly to a tap on the diode load resistor. When an rf signal voltage is applied to the diode, the dc voltage at the tap supplies bias to the triode grid. When the rf signal is modulated, the af voltage at the tap is applied to the grid and is amplified by the triode.

The advantage of the circuit shown in Fig. 25 over the self-biased arrangement shown in Fig. 24 is that the diode-biased circuit does not employ a capacitor between the grid and the diode load resistor, and consequently does not produce as much distortion of a signal having a high percentage of modulation.

However, there are restrictions on the use of the diode-biased circuit. Be-

cause the bias voltage on the triode depends on the average amplitude of the rf voltage applied to the diode, the average amplitude of the voltage applied to the diode should be constant for all values of signal strength at the antenna. Otherwise there will be different values of bias on the triode grid for different signal strengths and the triode will produce distortion. Because there is no bias applied to the diodebiased triode when no rf voltage is applied to the diode, sufficient resistance should be included in the plate circuit of the triode to limit its zerobias plate current to a safe value.

These restrictions mean, in practice, that the receiver should have a separate-channel automatic-volume-control (avc) system. With such an avc system, the average amplitude of the signal voltage applied to the diode can be held within very close limits for all values of signal strength at the antenna.

The tube used in a diode-biased circuit should be one which operates at a fairly large value of bias voltage. The variations in bias voltage are then a small percentage of the total bias and hence produce small distortion. Tubes taking a fairly large bias voltage are types such as the 6BF6 or 6SR7 having a medium-mu triode. Tube types having a high-mu triode or a pentode should not be used in a diode-biased circuit.

A grid-bias detector circuit is shown in Fig. 26. In this circuit, the grid is biased almost to cutoff, *i.e.*, operated so that the plate current with zero signal is practically zero. The bias voltage can be obtained from a cathodebias resistor, a C-battery, or a bleeder tap. Because of the high negative bias, only the positive half-cycles of the rf signal are amplified by the tube. The signal is, therefore, detected in the



plate circuit. The advantages of this method of detection are that it amplifies the signal, besides detecting it, and that it does not draw current from the input circuit and therefore does not reduce the selectivity of the input circuit.

The grid-resistor-and-capacitor method, illustrated in Fig. 27, is somewhat more sensitive than the grid-bias method and gives its best results on weak signals. In this circuit, there is no negative dc bias voltage applied to the grid. Hence, on the positive half-cycles of the rf signal, current flows from grid to cathode. The grid and cathode thus act as a diode detector, with the grid resistor as the diode load resistor and the grid capacitor as the rf bypass capacitor. The voltage across the capacitor then reproduces the af modulation in the same manner as has been explained for the diode detector. This voltage appears between the grid and cathode and is therefore amplified in



Fig. 27—Detector circuit using grid-resistorand-capacitor bias.

the plate circuit. The output voltage thus reproduces the original af signal.

In this detector circuit, the use of a high-resistance grid resistor increases selectivity and sensitivity. However, improved af response and stability are obtained with lower values of grid-circuit resistance. This detector circuit amplifies the signal, but draws current from the input circuit and therefore reduces the selectivity of the input circuit.

FM Detection

The effect of **frequency modulation** on the waveform of the rf wave is shown in Fig. 28. In this type of transmission, the frequency of the rf wave deviates from a mean value, at an audiofrequency rate depending on the modu-



Fig. 28—Waveforms showing effect of frequency modulation on an rf wave.

lation, by an amount that is determined in the transmitter and is proportional to the amplitude of the af modulation signal.

For this type of modulation, a detector is required to discriminate between deviations above and below the mean frequency and to translate those deviations into a voltage whose amplitude varies at audio frequencies. Since the deviations occur at an audio frequency, the process is one of demodulation, and the degree of frequency deviation determines the amplitude of the demodulated (af) voltage.

A simple circuit for converting frequency variations to amplitude variations is a circuit which is tuned so that the mean radio frequency is on one slope of its resonance characteristic, as at A of Fig. 29. With modulation, the



Fig. 29—Resonance curve of a tuned circuit showing desired operating range for frequency-modulation converter.



Fig. 30-Balanced phase-shift discriminator circuit.

frequency swings between B and C, and the voltage developed across the circuit varies at the modulating rate. In order that no distortion will be introduced in this circuit, the frequency swing must be restricted to the portion of the slope which is effectively straight. Since this portion is very short, the voltage developed is low. Because of these limitations, this circuit is not commonly used but it serves to illustrate the principle.

The faults of the simple circuit are overcome in a push-pull arrangement, such as that shown in Fig. 30, called a balanced phase-shift discriminator. In this detector, the mutually coupled tuned circuits in the primary and secondary windings of the transformer T are tuned to the center frequency. A characteristic of a double-tuned transformer is that the voltages in the primary and secondary windings are 90 degrees out of phase at resonance, and that the phase shift changes as the frequency changes from resonance. Therefore, the signal applied to the diodes and the RC combinations for peak detection also changes with frequency.

Because the secondary winding of the transformer T is center-tapped, the applied primary voltage E_p is added to one-half the secondary voltage E_s through the capacitor C_c . The addition of these voltages at resonance can be represented by the diagram in Fig. 31(a); the resultant voltage E_1 is the signal applied to one peak-detector network consisting of one diode and its RC load. When the signal frequency decreases (from resonance), the phase shift of $E_s/2$ becomes greater than 90 degrees, as shown at (b) in Fig. 31, and E_1 becomes smaller. When the signal frequency increases (above resonance), the phase shift of $E_*/2$ is less than 90 degrees as shown at (c), and E_1 becomes



Fig. 31—Diagram illustrating phase shift in double-tuned transformer (a) at resonance, (b) below resonance, and (c) above resonance.

larger. The curve of E_1 as a function of frequency in Fig. 32 is readily identified as the response curve of an FM detector.





Because the discriminator circuit shown in Fig. 30 uses a push-pull configuration, the diodes conduct on alternate half-cycles of the signal frequency and produce a plus-and-minus output with respect to zero rather than with

respect to E₁. The primary advantage of this arrangement is that there is no output at resonance. When an FM signal is applied to the input, the audio output voltage varies above and below zero as the instantaneous frequency varies above and below resonance. The frequency of this audio voltage is determined by the modulation frequency of the FM signal, and the amplitude of the voltage is proportional to the frequency excursion from resonance. (The resistor R₂ in the circuit provides a dc return for the diodes, and also maintains a load impedance across the primary winding of the transformer.)

One disadvantage of the balanced phase-shift discriminator shown in Fig. 30 is that it detects audio modulation (AM) as well as frequency modulation (FM) in the if signal because the circuit is balanced only at the center frequency. At frequencies off resonance, any variation in amplitude of the if signal is reproduced to some extent in the audio output.

The **ratio-detector** circuit shown in Fig. 33 is a discriminator circuit which has the advantage of being relatively placed "back-to-back" (in series, rather than in push-pull) so that both halves of the circuit operate simultaneously during one-half of the signal frequency cycle (and are cut off on the other halfcycle). As a result, the detected voltages E_1 and E_2 are in series, as shown for the instantaneous polarities that occur during the conduction half-cycle. When the audio output is taken between the equal capacitors C_1 and C_2 , therefore, the output voltage is equal to $(E_2-E_1)/2$ (for equal resistors R_1 and R_2).

The dc circuit of the ratio detector consists of a path through the secondary winding of the transformer, both diodes (which are in series), and resistors R_1 and R_2 . The value of the electrolytic capacitor C_a is selected so that the time constant of R_1 , R_2 , and C_3 is very long compared to the detected audio signal. As a result, the sum of the detected voltages ($E_1 + E_2$) is a constant and the AM components on the signal frequency are suppressed. This feature of the ratio detector provides improved AM rejection as compared to the phase-shift discriminator circuit shown in Fig. 30.



Fig. 33-Ratio-detector circuit.

insensitive to amplitude variations in the FM signal. In this circuit, E_p is added to $E_s/2$ through the mutual coupling M_2 (this voltage addition may be made by either mutual or capacitive coupling). Because of the phase-shift relationship of these voltages, the resultant detected signals vary with frequency variations in the same manner as described for the phase-shift discriminator circuit shown in Fig. 30. However, the diodes in the ratio detector are

Amplification

The amplifying action of an electron tube was mentioned under **Triodes** in the section on **Electrons, Electrodes, and Electron Tubes.** This action can be utilized in electronic circuits in a number of ways, depending upon the results desired. Four classes of amplifier service recognized by engineers are covered by definitions standardized by the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers. This classification depends primarily on the fraction of input cycle during which plate current is expected to flow under rated full-load conditions. The classes are class A, class AB, class B, and class C. The term "cutoff bias" used in these definitions is the value of grid bias at which plate current is very small (i.e., approaches zero).

Classes of Service

A class A amplifier is an amplifier in which the grid bias and alternating grid voltages are such that plate current in a specific tube flows at all times.

A class AB amplifier is an amplifier in which the grid bias and alternating grid voltages are such that plate current in a specific tube flows for appreciably more than half but less than the entire electrical cycle.

A class B amplifier is an amplifier in which the grid bias is approximately equal to the cutoff value, so that the plate current is approximately zero when no exciting grid voltage is applied, and so that plate current in a specific tube flows for approximately one-half of each cycle when an alternating grid voltage is applied.

A class C amplifier is an amplifier in which the grid bias is appreciably greater than the cutoff value, so that the plate current in each tube is zero when no alternating grid voltage is applied, and so that plate current flows in a specific tube for appreciably less than one-half of each cycle when an alternating grid voltage is applied.

The suffix I may be added to the letter or letters of the class identification to denote that grid current does not flow during any part of the input cycle. The suffix 2 may be used to denote that grid current flows during part of the cycle.

For radio-frequency (rf) amplifiers which operate into a selective tuned circuit, as in radio transmitter applications, or under requirements where distortion is not an important factor, any of the above classes of amplifiers may be used, either with a single tube or with a push-pull stage. For audiofrequency (af) amplifiers in which distortion is an important factor, only class A amplifiers permit single-tube operation. In this case, operating conditions are usually chosen so that distortion is kept below the conventional 5 per cent for triodes and the conventional 7 to 10 per cent for tetrodes or pentodes. Distortion can be reduced below these figures by means of special circuit arrangements such as that discussed under inverse feedback. With class A amplifiers, reduced distortion with improved power performance can be obtained by using a push-pull stage for audio service. With class AB and class B amplifiers, a balanced stage using two tubes is required for audio service.

Class A Voltage Amplifiers

As a class A voltage amplifier, an electron tube is used to reproduce gridvoltage variations across an impedance or a resistance in the plate circuit. These variations are essentially of the same form as the input signal voltage impressed on the grid, but their amplitude is increased. This increase is accomplished by operation of the tube at a suitable grid bias so that the applied grid input voltage produces plate-current variations proportional to the signal swings. Because the voltage variation obtained in the plate circuit is much larger than that required to swing the grid, amplification of the signal is obtained.

Fig. 34 gives a graphical illustration of this method of amplication and shows, by means of the grid-voltage vs. plate-current characteristics curve, the effect of an input signal (S) applied to



Fig. 34—Current characteristics of class A amplifier.

the grid of a tube. The output signal (O) is the resulting amplified plate-current variation.

The plate current flowing through the load resistance (R) of Fig. 35 causes a voltage drop which varies directly with the plate current. The ratio of this voltage variation produced in the load resistance to the input signal volt-



Fig. 35-Triode amplifier circuit.

age is the voltage amplification, or gain, provided by the tube. The voltage amplification due to the tube is expressed by the following convenient formulas:

> Voltage amplification = $\frac{\mu \times R_L}{R_L + r_P}$ $g_m \times r_p \times R_L$ or $\frac{B_{m}}{1000000 \times (r_{p} + R_{L})}$

where μ is the amplification factor of the tube, R_L is the load resistance in ohms, $\mathbf{r}_{\mathbf{p}}$ is the plate resistance in ohms, and g_m is the transconductance in micromhos.

From the first formula, it can be seen that the gain actually obtainable from the tube is less than the tube amplification factor, but that the gain approaches the amplification factor when the load resistance is large compared to the tube plate resistance. Fig. 36 shows graphically how the gain approaches the amplification factor of the tube as the load resistance is increased. From the curve it can be seen that a high value of load resistance should be used to obtain high gain in a voltage amplifier.

In a resistance-coupled amplifier. the load resistance of the tube is approximately equal to the resistance of the plate resistor in parallel with the grid resistor of the following stage. Hence, to obtain a large value of load resistance, it is necessary to use a plate resistor and a grid resistor of large resistance. However, the plate resistor should not be too large because the flow of plate current through the plate resistor produces a voltage drop which reduces the plate voltage applied to the tube. If the plate resistor is too large, this drop will be too large, the plate voltage on the tube will be too small. and the voltage output of the tube will be too small. Also, the grid resistor of the following stage should not be too large, the actual maximum value being dependent on the particular tube type. This precaution is necessary because all tubes contain minute amounts of residual gas which cause a minute flow of current through the grid resistor. If the grid resistor is too large, the positive bias developed by the flow of this current through the resistor decreases the normal negative bias and produces an increase in the plate current. This increased current may overheat the tube and cause liberation of more gas which, in turn, will cause further decrease in bias. The action is cumulative and results in a runaway condition which can destroy the tube.

A higher value of grid resistance is permissible when cathode-resistor bias is used than when fixed bias is used.



Fig. 36—Gain curve for triode amplifier circuit.

When cathode-resistor bias is used, a loss in bias due to gas or grid-emission effects is almost completely offset by an increase in bias due to the voltage drop across the cathode resistor. Typical values of plate resistor and grid resistor for tube types used in resistance-coupled circuits, and the values of gain obtainable, are shown in the **Resistance-Coupled Amplifier** section.

The input impedance of an electron tube (that is, the impedance between grid and cathode) consists of (1) a reactive component due to the capacitance between grid and cathode, (2) a resistive component resulting from the time of transit of electrons between cathode and grid, and (3) a resistive component developed by the part of the cathode lead inductance which is common to both the input and output circuits. These components are dependent on the frequency of the incoming signal. The input impedance is very high at audio frequencies when a tube is operated with its grid biased negative. In a class A₁ or AB₁ transformer-coupled audio amplifier, therefore, the loading imposed by the grid on the input transformer is negligible. As a result, the secondary impedance of a class A₁ or class AB₁ input transformer can be made very high because the choice is not limited by the input impedance of the tube; however, transformer design considerations may limit the choice.

At the higher radio frequencies, the input impedance may become very low even when the grid is negative, due to the finite time of passage of electrons between cathode and grid and to the appreciable lead reactance. This impedance drops very rapidly as the frequency is raised, and increases inputcircuit loading. In fact, the input impedance may become low enough at very high radio frequencies to affect the gain and selectivity of a preceding stage appreciably. Tubes such as the "acorn" and "pencil" types and the high-frequency miniatures have been developed to have low input capacitances, low electron-transit time, and low lead inductance so that their input impedance is high even at the ultrahigh radio frequencies. **Input ad**mittance is the reciprocal of input impedance.

A remote-cutoff amplifier tube is a modified construction of a pentode or a tetrode type designed to reduce modulation-distortion and cross-modulation in radio-frequency stages. Crossmodulation is the effect produced in a radio or television receiver by an interfering station "riding through" on the carrier of the station to which the receiver is tuned. Modulation-distortion is a distortion of the modulated carrier and appears as audio-frequency distortion in the output. This effect is produced by a radio-frequency amplifier stage operating on an excessively curved characteristic when the grid bias has been increased to reduce volume. The offending stage for cross-modulation is usually the first radio-frequency amplifier, while for modulation-distortion the cause is usually the last intermediate-frequency stage. The character-istics of remote-cutoff types are such as to enable them to handle both large and small input signals with minimum distortion over a wide range of signal strength.

Fig. 37 illustrates the construction of the grid No. 1 (control grid) in a remote-cutoff tube. The remote-cutoff



Fig. 37-Structure of remote-cutoff grid.

action is due to the structure of the grid which provides a variation in amplification factor with change in grid bias. The grid No. 1 is wound with open spacing at the middle and with close spacing at the ends. When weak signals and low grid bias are applied to the tube, the effect of the non-uniform turn spacing of the grid on cathode emission and tube characteristics is essentially the same as for uniform spacing. As the grid bias is made more negative to handle larger input signals, the electron flow from the sections of the cathode enclosed by the ends of the grid is cut off. The plate current and other tube characteristics are then dependent on the electron flow through the open section of the grid. This action changes the gain of the tube so that large signals may be handled with minimum distortion due to cross-modulation and modulation-distortion.

Fig. 38 shows a typical plate-current vs. grid-voltage curve for a remotecutoff type compared with the curve



Fig. 38—Plate-current curves for triodes having remote-cutoff and uniformly spaced grids.

for a type having a uniformly spaced grid. It will be noted that while the curves are similar at small grid-bias voltages, the plate current of the remote-cutoff tube drops quite slowly with large values of bias voltage. This slow change makes it possible for the tube to handle large signals satisfactorily. Because remote-cutoff types can accommodate large and small signals, they are particularly suitable for use in sets having automatic volume control. Remote-cutoff tubes also are known as variable-mu types.

Class A Power Amplifiers

As a class A power amplifier, an electron tube is used in the output stage of a radio or television receiver to supply a relatively large amount of power to the loudspeaker. For this application, large power output is of more importance than high voltage amplification; therefore, gain possibilities are sacrificed in the design of power tubes to obtain power-handling capability.

Triodes, pentodes, and beam power

tubes designed for power amplifier service have certain inherent features for each structure. Power tubes of the triode type for class A service are characterized by low power sensitivity, low plate-power efficiency, and low distortion. Power tubes of the pentode type are characterized by high power sensitivity, high plate-power efficiency and, usually, somewhat higher distortion than class A triodes. Beam power tubes have higher power sensitivity and efficiency than triode or conventional pentode types.

A class A power amplifier is also used as a driver to supply power to a class AB_2 or a class B stage. It is usually advisable to use a triode, rather than a pentode, in a driver stage because of the lower plate impedance of the triode.

Power tubes connected in either parallel or push-pull may be employed as class A amplifiers to obtain increased output. The parallel connection (Fig. 39) provides twice the output of a single tube with the same value of gridsignal voltage. With this connection, the effective transconductance of the stage is doubled, and the effective plate



Fig. 39—Power amplifier with tubes connected in parallel.

resistance and the load resistance required are halved as compared with single-tube values.

The push-pull connection (Fig. 40), although it requires twice the gridsignal voltage, provides increased power and has other important advantages over single-tube operation. Distortion caused by even-order harmonics and hum caused by plate-voltage-supply fluctuations are either eliminated or decidedly reduced through cancellation. Because distortion for push-pull operation is less than for single-tube operation, appreciably more than twice single-tube output can be obtained with triodes by decreasing the load resistance for the stage to a value approaching the load resistance for a single tube.

For either parallel or push-pull class A operation of two tubes, all electrode currents are doubled while all dc electrode voltages remain the same as for single-tube operation. If a cathode resistor is used, its value should be about one-half that for a single tube.



Fig. 40—Power amplifier with tubes connected in push-pull.

If oscillations occur with either type of connection, they can often be eliminated by the use of a non-inductive resistor of approximately 100 ohms connected in series with each grid at the socket terminal.

Operation of power tubes so that the grids run positive is inadvisable except under conditions such as those discussed in this section for class AB and class B amplifiers.

Power-Output Calculations

Calculation of the power output of a triode used as a class A amplifier with either an output transformer or a choke having low dc resistance can be made without serious error from the plate family of curves by assuming a resistance load. The proper plate current, grid bias, optimum load resistance, and per-cent second-harmonic distortion can also be determined. The calculations are made graphically and are illustrated in Fig. 41 for given conditions. The procedure is as follows:

(1) Locate the zero-signal bias point P by determining the zero-signal bias Ec. from the formula:

Zero-signal bias (Ec₀) = $-(0.68 \times E_b)/\mu$

where E_b is the chosen value in volts of dc plate voltage at which the tube is to be operated, and μ is the amplification factor of the tube. This quantity is shown as negative to indicate that a negative bias is used.

(2) Locate the value of zero-signal plate current, I_0 , corresponding to point P.

(3) Locate the point $2I_{\circ}$, which is twice the value of I_{\circ} and corresponds to the value of the maximum-signal plate current I_{max} .

(4) Locate the point X on the dc bias curve at zero volts, $E_e = 0$, corresponding to the value of I_{max} .

(5) Draw a straight line XY through X and P.

Line XY is known as the load resistance line. Its slope corresponds to the value of the load resistance. The load resistance in ohms is equal to $(E_{max} - E_{min})$ divided by $(I_{max} - I_{min})$, where E is in volts and I is in amperes.

It should be noted that in the case of filament types of tubes, the calculations are given on the basis of a dcoperated filament. When the filament is ac-operated, the calculated value of dc



Fig. 41—Graphic calculations for class A amplifier using a power triode.

bias should be increased by approximately one-half the filament voltage rating of the tube.

The value of zero-signal plate current I_o should be used to determine the plate dissipation, an important factor influencing tube life. In a class A amplifier under zero-signal conditions, the plate dissipation is equal to the power input, i.e., the product of the dc plate voltage E, and the zero-signal dc plate current I.. If it is found that the platedissipation rating of the tube is exceeded with the zero-signal bias Ec. calculated above, it will be necessary to increase the bias by a sufficient amount so that the actual plate dissipation does not exceed the rating before proceeding further with the remaining calculations.

For power-output calculations, it is assumed that the peak alternating grid voltage is sufficient (1) to swing the grid from the zero-signal bias value E_{c_s} to zero bias ($E_e = 0$) on the positive swing and (2) to swing the grid to a value twice the zero-signal bias value on the negative swing. During the negative swing, the plate voltage and plate current reach values of E_{max} and I_{min} ; during the positive swing, they reach values of E_{min} and I_{max} . Because power is the product of voltage and current, the power output P₀ as shown by a watt-meter is given by

$$P_{o} = \frac{(I_{max}-I_{min}) \times (E_{max}-E_{min})}{8}$$

where E is in volts, I is in amperes, and P_0 is in watts.

In the output of power-amplifier triodes, some distortion is present. This distortion is due predominantly to second harmonics in single-tube amplifiers. The percentage of second-harmonic distortion may be calculated by the following formula:

% distortion =
$$\frac{\frac{I_{max} + I_{min}}{2} - I_o}{\frac{2}{I_{max} - I_{min}} \times 100}$$

where I_o is the zero-signal plate current in amperes. If the distortion is excessive, the load resistance should be increased or, occasionally, decreased slightly and the calculations repeated.

Example: Determine the load resistance, power output, and distortion of a triode having an amplification factor of 4.2, a plate-dissipation rating of 15 watts, and plate-characteristics curves as shown in Fig. 41. The tube is to be operated at 250 volts on the plate.

Procedure: For a first approximation, determine the operating point P from the zero-signal bias formula, Ec. $= -(0.68 \times 250) / 4.2 = -40.5$ volts. From the curve for this voltage, it is found that the zero-signal plate current is 0.08 ampere and, therefore, the platedissipation rating is exceeded (0.08 \times 250 = 20 watts). Consequently, it is necessary to reduce the zero-signal plate current to 0.06 ampere at 250 volts. The grid bias is then -43.5 volts. Note that the curve was taken with a dc filament supply; if the filament is to be operated on an ac supply, the bias must be increased by about onehalf the filament voltage, or to -45 volts, and the circuit returns made to the mid-point of the filament circuit.

Point X can then be determined. Point X is at the intersection of the dc bias curve at zero volts with I_{max} , where $I_{max} = 2I_o = 2 \times 0.06 = 0.12$ ampere. Line XY is drawn through points P and X. E_{max} , E_{min} , and I_{min} are then found from the curves. When these values are substituted in the power-output formula, the following result is obtained:

$$P_{0} = \frac{(0.12 - 0.012) \times (365 - 105)}{8} = 3.52 \text{ watts}$$

The resistance represented by load line XY is

$$\frac{(365 - 105)}{(0.12 - 0.012)} = 2410 \text{ ohms}$$

When the values from the curves are substituted in the distortion formula, the following result is obtained:

$$\% \text{ distortion} = \frac{\frac{0.12 + 0.012}{2} - 0.06}{\frac{0.12 - 0.012}{0.12 - 0.012}} \times 100 = 5.5\%$$

It is customary to select the load resistance so that the distortion does not exceed five per cent. When the method shown is used to determine the slope of the load-resistance line, the second-harmonic distortion generally does not exceed five per cent. In the example, however, the distortion is excessive and it is desirable, therefore, to use a slightly higher load resistance. A load resistance of 2500 ohms will provide a distortion of about 4.9 per cent. The power output is reduced only slightly to 3.5 watts.

Operating conditions for triodes in push-pull depend on the type of operation desired. Under class A conditions, distortion, power output, and efficiency are all relatively low. The operating bias can be anywhere between that specified for single-tube operation and that equal to one-half the grid-bias voltage required to produce plate-current cutoff at a plate voltage of $1.4E_{\circ}$, where E_{\circ} is the operating plate voltage. Higher bias than this value requires higher gridsignal voltage and results in class AB, operation, which is discussed later.

The method for calculating maximum power output for triodes in pushpull class A operation is as follows: Erect a vertical line at 0.6 E_o (see Fig. 42), intersecting the $E_c = 0$ curve at the point I_{max} . Then, I_{max} is determined from the curve for use in the formula

 $P_0 = (I_{max} \times E_0)/5$

If I_{max} is expressed in amperes and E_o in volts, power output is in watts.

Example: Assume that the plate voltage (E_0) is to be 300 volts, and the plate-dissipation rating of the tube is 15 watts. Then, for class A operation, the operating bias can be equal to, but not more than, one-half the grid bias for cutoff with a plate voltage of 1.4×300 = 420 volts. (Since cutoff bias is approximately -115 volts at a plate voltage of 420 volts, one-half of this value is -57.5 volts bias.) At this bias, the plate current is found from the plate family to be 0.054 ampere and, therefore, the plate dissipation is 0.054 \times 300 or 16.2 watts. Since -57.5 volts is the limit of bias for class A operation of these tubes at a plate voltage of 300 volts, the dissipation cannot be reduced by increasing the bias and it becomes necessary to reduce the plate voltage.

If the plate voltage is reduced to 250 volts, the bias will be found to be -43.5 volts. For this value, the plate current is 0.06 ampere, and the plate dissipation is 15 watts. Then, following the method for calculating power output, erect a vertical line at $0.6E_{\circ} = 150$





The method for determining the proper load resistance for triodes in push-pull is as follows: Draw a load line through I_{max} on the zero-bias curve and through the E_0 point on the zero-current axis. Four times the resistance represented by this load line is the plate-to-plate load (R_{pp}) for two triodes in a class A push-pull amplifier. Expressed as a formula,

$$R_{pp} = 4 \times (E_o - 0.6E_o)/I_{max}$$

where E_0 is expressed in volts, I_{max} in amperes, and R_{pp} in ohms.

volts. The intersection of the line with the curve $E_c = 0$ is I_{max} or 0.2 ampere. When this value is substituted in the power formula, the power output is $(0.2 \times 250)/5 = 10$ watts. The load resistance is determined from the load formula: Plate-to-plate load (R_{pp}) = 4 $\times (250 - 150)/0.2 = 2000$ ohms.

Power output for a pentode or a beam power tube as a class A amplifier can be calculated in much the same way as for triodes. Calculations can be made graphically from a special plate family of curves, as shown in Fig. 43.



Fig. 43—Graphic calculations for class A amplifier using a pentode or beam power tube.

From a point A at or just below the knee of the zero-bias curve, draw arbitrarily selected load lines to intersect the zero-plate-current axis. These lines should be on both sides of the operating point P, whose position is determined by the desired operating plate voltage, E., and one-half the maximum-signal plate current. Along any load line, say AA1, measure the distance AO₁. On the same line, lay off an equal distance, O1A1. For optimum operation, the change in bias from A to O_1 should be nearly equal to the change in bias from O_1 to A_1 . If this condition can not be met with one line, as is the case for the line first chosen. then another should be chosen. When the most satisfactory line has been selected, its resistance may be determined by the following formula:

Load resistance (R_L) =
$$\frac{E_{max} - E_{min}}{I_{max} - I_{min}}$$

The value of R_L may then be substituted in the following formula for calculating power output.

$$P_0 = \frac{[I_{max} - I_{min} + 1.41 (I_x - I_y)]^2 R_L}{32}$$

In both of these formulas, I is in amperes, E is in volts, R_L is in ohms, and P_o is in watts. I_x and I_y are the current values on the load line at bias voltages of $Ec_1 = V - 0.707V = 0.293V$ and $E_{e1} = V + 0.707V = 1.707V$, respectively.

Calculations for distortion may be made by means of the following formulas. The terms used have already been defined.

% 2nd-harmonic distortion =

$$\frac{Imax + Imin - 2 I_0}{Imax - Imin + 1.41 (I_x - I_y)} \times 100$$
% 3rd-harmonic distortion =

$$\frac{Imax - Imin - 1.41 (I_x - I_y)}{Imax - Imin + 1.41 (I_x - I_y)} \times 100$$
% total (2nd and 3rd) harmonic distortion =

$$\sqrt{(\% 2nd)^3 + (\% 3rd)^2}$$

Conversion Factors

Operating conditions for voltage values other than those shown in the published data can be obtained by use of the nomograph shown in Fig. 44 when all electrode voltages are changed simultaneously in the same ratio. The nomograph includes conversion factors for current (F_i) , power output (F_p) , plate resistance or load resistance (Fr). and transconductance (Fgm) for voltage ratios between 0.5 and 2.0. These factors are expressed as functions of the ratio between the desired or new voltage for any electrode (E_{dos}) and the published or original value of that voltage (E_{pub}). The relations shown are applicable to triodes and multigrid tubes in all classes of service.

To use the nomograph, simply place a straight-edge across the page so that it intersects the scales for E_{dee} and E_{pub} at the desired values. The desired conversion factor may then be read directly or estimated at the point where the straight-edge intersects the F_1 , F_p F_r , or F_{gm} scale.

For example, suppose it is desired to operate two 6L6GC's in class A_1 push-pull, fixed bias, with a plate voltage of 200 volts. The nearest published operating conditions for this class of service are for a plate voltage of 250 volts. The operating conditions for the new plate voltage can be determined as follows:

The voltage conversion factor, F., is equal to 200/250 or 0.8. The dashed lines on the nomograph of Fig. 44 indicate that for this voltage ratio F_1 is approximately 0.72, F_p is approximately 0.57, F_r is 1.12, and F_{gm} is approximately 0.892. These factors may be applied directly to operating values shown in the tube data, or to values calculated by the methods described previously.

Because this method for conversion

of characteristics is necessarily an approximation, the accuracy of the nomograph decreases progressively as the ratio Edes/Epub departs from unity. In general, results are substantially correct when the value of the ratio E_{des}/E_{pub} is between 0.7 and 1.5. Beyond these limits, the accuracy decreases rapidly, and the results obtained must be considered rough approximations.

The nomograph does not take into consideration the effects of contact potential or secondary emission in tubes. Because contact-potential effects become noticeable only at very small dc grid-No. 1 (bias) voltages, they are generally negligible in power tubes. Secondary emission may occur in conventional tetrodes, however, if the plate voltage swings below the grid-No. 2 voltage. Consequently, the conversion



Fig. 44-Nomograph of tube conversion factors.

factors shown in the nomograph apply to such tubes only when the plate voltage is greater than the grid-No. 2 voltage. Because secondary emission may also occur in certain beam power tubes at very low values of plate current and plate voltage, the conversion factors shown in the nomograph do not apply when these tubes are operated under such conditions.

Class AB Power Amplifiers

A class AB power amplifier employs two tubes connected in push-pull with a higher negative grid bias than is used in a class A stage. With this higher negative bias, the plate and screengrid voltages can usually be made higher than for class A amplifiers because the increased negative bias holds plate current within the limit of the tube plate-dissipation rating. As a result of these higher voltages, more power output can be obtained from class AB operation.

Class AB amplifiers are subdivided into class AB1 and class AB2. In class AB₁, there is no flow of grid current. That is, the peak signal voltage applied to each grid is not greater than the negative grid-bias voltage. The grids therefore are not driven to a positive potential and do not draw current. In class AB₂, the peak signal voltage is greater than the bias so that the grids are driven positive and draw current.

0.2

Because of the flow of grid current in a class AB₂ stage, there is a loss of power in the grid circuit. The sum of this loss and the loss in the input transformer is the total driving power required by the grid circuit. The driver stage should be capable of a power output considerably larger than this required power in order that distortion introduced in the grid circuit be kept low. The input transformer used in a class AB₂ amplifier usually has a stepdown turns ratio.

Because of the large fluctuations of plate current in a class AB₂ stage, it is important that the plate power supply have good regulation. Otherwise the fluctuations in plate current cause fluctuations in the voltage output of the power supply, with the result that power output is decreased and distortion is increased. To obtain satisfactory regulation, it is usually advisable to use a low-drop rectifier, such as the 5V4GA, with a choke-input filter. In all cases, the resistance of the choke and transformers should be as low as possible.

Class AB₁ Power Amplifiers

In class AB₁ push-pull amplifier service using triodes, the operating conditions may be determined graphically by means of the plate family if E_o, the desired operating plate voltage, is given. In this service, the dynamic load line does not pass through the operating point P as in the case of the single-tube amplifier, but through the point D in Fig. 45. Its position is not affected by the operating grid bias provided the plate-to-plate load resistance remains constant.

Under these conditions, grid bias has no appreciable effect on the power



Er=2.5 VOLTS DC

Fig. 45—Graphic calculations for class AB₁ amplifier Fig. 46—Instantaneous curve using a power triode. for class AB, amplifier.

output. Grid bias cannot be neglected, however, since it is used to find the zero-signal plate current and, from it, the zero-signal plate dissipation. Because the grid bias is higher in class AB₁ than in class A service for the same plate voltage, a higher signal voltage may be used without grid current being drawn and, therefore, higher power output is obtained.

In general, for any load line through point D, Fig. 45, the plate-toplate load resistance in ohms of a pushpull amplifier is $R_{pp} = 4E_o/I'$, where I' is the plate-current value in amperes at which the load line as projected intersects the plate-current axis. and E_o is in volts. This formula is another form of the one given under pushpull class A amplifiers, $R_{pp} = 4(E_o -$ 0.6E_o)/I_{max}, but is more general. Power output = $(I_{max}/\sqrt{2})^2 \times R_{pp}/4$, where Imax is the peak plate current at zero grid volts for the load chosen. This formula simplified is $(I_{max})^2 \times R_{pp}/8$. The maximum-signal average plate current is $2I_{max}/\pi$ or 0.636 I_{max} ; the maximum-signal average power input is $0.636 I_{max} \times E_0$.

It is desirable to simplify these formulas for a first approximation. This simplification can be made if it is assumed that the peak plate current, I_{max} , occurs at the point of the zero-bias curve corresponding approximately to 0.6 E_o, the condition for maximum power output. The simplified formulas are:

Po (for two tubes) = $(I_{max} \times E_o)/5$ Rpp = 1.6Eo/Imax

where E_o is in volts, I_{max} is in amperes, R_{pp} is in ohms, and P_o is in watts.

It may be found during subsequent calculations that the distortion or the plate dissipation is excessive for this approximation; in that case, a different load resistance must be selected, using the first approximation as a guide, and the process repeated to obtain satisfactory operating conditions.

Example: Fig. 45 illustrates the application of this method to a pair of power triodes operated at $E_{\circ} = 300$ volts. Each tube has a plate-dissipation rating of 15 watts. The method is to

erect a vertical line at $0.6E_{\circ}$, or at 180 volts, which intersects the $E_e = 0$ curve at the point $I_{max} = 0.26$ ampere. Using the simplified formulas, the following values are obtained:

$$R_{pp} = (1.6 \times 300)/0.26 = 1845$$
 ohms
 $P_0 = (0.26 \times 300)/5 = 15.6$ watts

At this point, it is well to determine the plate dissipation and to compare it with the maximum rated value. From the average-plate-current formula $(0.636 I_{max})$ mentioned previously, the maximum-signal average plate current is 0.166 ampere. The product of this current and the operating plate voltage is 49.8 watts, the average input to the two tubes. From this value, subtract the power output of 15.6 watts to obtain the total dissipation for both tubes, which is 34.2 watts. Half of this value, 17 watts, is in excess of the 15-watt rating of the tube and it is necessary. therefore, to assume another and higher load resistance so that the plate-dissipation rating will not be exceeded.

It will be found that at an operating plate voltage of 300 volts the tubes require a plate-to-plate load resistance of 3000 ohms. From the formula for R_{pp} , the value of I' is found to be 0.4 ampere. The load line for the 3000ohm load resistance is then represented by a straight line from the point I' = 0.4 ampere on the plate-current ordinate to the point $E_o = 300$ volts on the plate-voltage abscissa. At the intersection of the load line with the zerobias curve, the peak plate current, I_{max} . can be read at 0.2 ampere. Then

Proceeding as in the first approximation, it is found that the maximumsignal average plate current, $0.636I_{max}$, is 0.127 ampere, and the maximumsignal average power input is 38.1 watts. This input minus the power output is 38.1 - 15 = 23.1 watts. This value is the dissipation for two tubes; the value per tube is 11.6 watts, a value well within the rating of this tube type.

The operating bias and the zerosignal plate current may then be found by use of a curve which is derived from
the plate family and the load line. Fig. 46 is a curve of instantaneous values of plate current and dc grid-bias voltages taken from Fig. 45. Values of grid bias are read from each of the grid-bias curves of Fig. 45 along the load line and are transferred to Fig. 46 to produce the curved line from A to C. A tangent to this curve, starting at A, is drawn to intersect the grid-voltage abscissa. The point of intersection, B, is the operating grid bias for fixed-bias operation. In the example, the bias is -60 volts. Refer back to the plate family at the operating conditions of plate volts = 300 and grid bias = -60volts; the zero-signal plate current per tube is seen to be 0.04 ampere.

This procedure locates the operating point for each tube at P. The plate current must be doubled, of course, to obtain the zero-signal plate current for both tubes. Under maximum-signal conditions, the signal voltage swings from zero-signal bias voltage to zero bias for each tube on alternate half cycles. Hence, in the example, the peak of signal voltage per tube is 60 volts, or the grid-to-grid value is 120 volts.

As in the case of the push-pull class A amplifier, the second-harmonic distortion in a class AB₁ amplifier using triodes is very small and is largely canceled by virtue of the push-pull connection. Third-harmonic distortion. however, which may be larger than permissible, can be found by means of composite characteristic curves. A complete family of curves can be plotted, but for the present purpose only the one corresponding to a grid bias of one-half the peak grid-voltage swing is needed. In the example, the peak grid voltage per tube is 60 volts, and the half value is 30 volts. The composite curve, since it is nearly a straight line, can be constructed with only two points (see Fig. 45). These two points are obtained from deviations above and below the operating grid and plate voltages.

In order to find the curve for a bias of -30 volts, a deviation of 30 volts from the operating grid voltage of -60 volts is assumed. Next assume a deviation from the operating plate voltage of, say, 40 volts. Then at 300

-40 = 260 volts, erect a vertical line to intersect the (-60) - (-30) = -30volt bias curve and read the plate current at this intersection, which is 0.167 ampere; likewise, at the intersection of a vertical line at 300 + 40 = 340volts and the (-60) + (-30) = -90volt bias curve, read the plate current. In this example, the plate current is estimated to be 0.002 ampere. The difference of 0.165 ampere between these two currents determines the point E on the 300 - 40 = 260-volt vertical. Similarly, another point F on the same composite curve is found by assuming the same grid-bias deviation but a larger plate-voltage deviation, say, 100 volts.

These steps provide points at 260 volts and 0.165 ampere (E), and at 200 volts and 0.045 ampere (F). A straight line through these points is the composite curve for a bias of -30 volts, shown as a long-short dash line in Fig. 45. At the intersection of the composite curve and the load line, G, the instantaneous composite plate current at the point of one-half the peak signal swing is determined. This current value, designated I_{0.6} and the peak plate current, I_{max}, are used in the following formula to find the peak value of the third-harmonic component of plate current.

$$Ih_3 = (2I_{0.5} - I_{max})/3$$

In the example, where $I_{o.s}$ is 0.097 ampere and I_{max} is 0.2 ampere, $I_{ha} = (2 \times 0.097 - 0.2)/3 = (0.194 - 0.2)/3 = -0.006/3 = -0.002$ ampere. (The fact that I_{hs} is negative indicates that the phase relation of the fundamental (first-harmonic) and third-harmonic components of the plate current is such as to result in a slightly peaked wave form. I_{ha} is positive in some cases, indicating a flattening of the wave form.)

The peak value of the fundamental or first-harmonic component of the plate current is found by the following formula:

$Ih_1 = 2/3 \times (I_{max} + I_{0.5})$

In the example, $I_{h1} = 2/3 \times (0.2 + 0.097) = 0.198$ ampere. Thus, the percentage of third-harmonic distortion is $(I_{hs}/I_{h1}) \times 100 = (0.002/0.198) \times 100 = 1$ per cent approx.

Class AB₁ Power Amplifiers

A class AB₂ amplifier employs two tubes connected in push-pull as in the case of class AB₁ amplifiers. It differs in that it is biased so that plate current flows for somewhat more than half the electrical cycle but less than the full cycle, the peak signal voltage is greater than the dc bias voltage, grid current is drawn, and, consequently, power is consumed in the grid circuit. These conditions permit high power output to be obtained without excessive plate dissipation.

The sum of the power used in the grid circuit and the losses in the input transformer is the total driving power required by the grid circuit. The driver stage should be capable of a power output considerably larger than this required power in order that distortion introduced in the grid circuit be kept low. In addition, the internal impedance of the driver stage as reflected into or as effective in the grid circuit of the power stage should always be as low as possible in order that distortion may be kept low. The input transformer used in a class AB₂ stage usually has a stepdown ratio adjusted for this condition.

Load resistance, plate dissipation, power output, and distortion determinations are similar to those for class AB_1 . These quantities are interdependent with peak grid-voltage swing and driving power; a satisfactory set of operating conditions involves a series of approximations. The load resistance and signal swing are limited by the permissible grid current and power and the distortion. If the load resistance is too high or the signal swing is excessive, the plate-dissipation rating will be exceeded, distortion will be high, and the driving power will be unnecessarily high.

Class B Power Amplifiers

A class B amplifier employs two tubes connected in push-pull, so biased that plate current is almost zero when no signal voltage is applied to the grids. Because of this low value of no-signal plate current, class B amplification has the same advantage as class AB₂, *i.e.*, large power output can be obtained without excessive plate dissipation. Class B operation differs from class AB_2 in that plate current is cut off for a larger portion of the negative grid swing, and the signal swing is usually larger than in class AB_2 operation.

Because certain triodes used as class B amplifiers are designed to operate very close to zero bias, the grid of each tube is at a positive potential during all or most of the positive halfcycle of its signal swing. In this type of triode operation, considerable grid current is drawn and there is a loss of power in the grid circuit. This condition imposes the same requirement in the driver stage as in a class AB₂ stage: i.e., the driver should be capable of delivering considerably more power output than the power required for the grid circuit of the class B amplifier so that distortion will be low. Similarly, the interstage transformer between the driver and the class B stage usually has a step-down turns ratio. Because of the high dissipations involved in class B operation at zero bias, it is not feasible to use tetrodes or pentodes in this type of class B operation.

Determination of load resistance, plate dissipation, power output, and distortion is similar to that for a class AB_2 stage.

Power amplifier tubes designed for class A operation can be used in class AB₂ and class B service under suitable operating conditions. There are several tube types designed especially for class B service. The characteristic common to all of these types is a high amplification factor. With a high amplification factor, plate current is small even when the grid bias is zero. These tubes, therefore, can be operated in class B service at a bias of zero volts so that no bias supply is required. A number of class B amplifier tubes consist of two triode units mounted in one tube. The two units can be connected in push-pull so that only one tube is required for a class B stage.

Cathode-Drive Circuits

The preceding text has discussed the use of tubes in the conventional grid-drive type of amplifier—that is, where the cathode is common to both the input and output circuits. Tubes may also be employed as amplifiers in circuit arrangements which utilize the grid or plate as the common terminal. Probably the most important of these amplifiers are the cathode-drive circuit, which is discussed below, and the cathode-follower circuit, which will be discussed later in connection with inverse feedback.

A typical **cathode-drive** circuit is shown in Fig. 47. The load is placed in



Fig. 47-Cathode-drive circuit.

the plate circuit and the output voltage is taken off between the plate and ground as in the grid-drive method of operation. The grid is grounded, and the input voltage is applied across an appropriate impedance in the cathode circuit. The cathode-drive circuit is particularly useful for vhf and uhf applications, in which it is necessary to obtain the low-noise performance usually associated with a triode, but where a conventional grid-drive circuit would be unstable because of feedback through the grid-to-plate capacitance of the tube. In the cathode-drive circuit, the grounded grid serves as a capacitive shield between plate and cathode and permits stable operation at frequencies higher than those in which conventional circuits can be used.

The input impedance of a cathodedrive circuit is approximately equal to $1/g_m$ when the load resistance is small compared to the r_p of the tube. A certain amount of power is required, therefore, to drive such a circuit. However, in the type of service in which cathodedrive circuits are normally used, the advantages of the grounded-grid connection usually outweigh this disadvantage.

Inverse Feedback

An inverse-feedback circuit, sometimes called a **degenerative** circuit, is one in which a portion of the output voltage of a tube is applied to the input of the same or a preceding tube in opposite phase to the signal applied to the tube. Two important advantages of feedback are (1) reduced distortion from each stage included in the feedback circuit and (2) reduction in the variations in gain due to changes in line voltage, possible differences between tubes of the same type, or variations in the values of circuit constants included in the feedback circuit.

Inverse feedback is used in audio amplifiers to reduce distortion in the output stage where the load impedance on the tube is a loudspeaker. Because the impedance of a loudspeaker is not constant for all audio frequencies, the load impedance on the output tube varies with frequency. When the output tube is a pentode or beam power tube having high plate resistance, this variation in plate load impedance can, if not corrected, produce considerable frequency distortion. Such frequency distortion can be reduced by means of inverse feedback. Inverse-feedback circuits are of the constant-voltage type and the constant-current type.

The application of the constantvoltage type of inverse feedback to a power-output stage using a single beam power tube is illustrated in Fig. 48. In this circuit, R_1 , R_2 , and C are connected as a voltage divider across the output of the tube. The secondary winding of the grid-input transformer is returned to a point on this voltage divider. Capacitor



Fig. 48—Power-output stage using constant voltage inverse feedback.

C blocks the dc plate voltage from the grid. However, a portion of the tube af output voltage, approximately equal to the output voltage multiplied by the fraction $R_2/(R_1 + R_2)$, is applied to the grid. This voltage reduces the source impedance of the circuit and a decrease in distortion results which is explained in the curves of Fig. 49.

nent of plate current i'_{pt} . It is evident that the irregularity of the waveform of this component of plate current would act to cancel the original irregularity and thus reduce distortion.

After inverse feedback has been applied, the relations are as shown in the curve for i_p . The dotted curve shown by i'_{pt} is the component of plate current



Fig. 49--Voltage and current waveforms showing effect of inverse feedback.

Consider first the amplifier without the use of inverse feedback. Suppose that when a signal voltage e, is applied to the grid the af plate current i'p has an irregularity in its positive half-cycle. This irregularity represents a departure from the waveform of the input signal and is, therefore, distortion. For this plate-current waveform, the af plate voltage has a waveform shown by e'p. The plate-voltage waveform is inverted compared to the plate-current waveform because a plate-current increase produces an increase in the drop across the plate load. The voltage at the plate is the difference between the drop across the load and the supply voltage; thus, when plate current goes up, plate voltage goes down; when plate current goes down, plate voltage goes up.

Now suppose that inverse feedback is applied to the amplifier. The voltage fed back to the grid has the same waveform and phase as the plate voltage, but is smaller in magnitude. Hence, with a plate voltage of waveform shown by e'_p , the feedback voltage appearing on the grid is as shown by e'_{gt} . This voltage applied to the grid produces a compodue to the feedback voltage on the grid. The dotted curve shown by i'_{p} is the component of plate current due to the signal voltage on the grid. The algebraic sum of these two components gives the resultant plate current shown by the solid curve of ip. Since i'p is the plate current that would flow without inverse feedback, it can be seen that the application of inverse feedback has reduced the irregularity in the output current. In this manner inverse feedback acts to correct any component of plate current that does not correspond to the input signal voltage, and thus reduces distortion.

From the curve for i_p , it can be seen that, besides reducing distortion, inverse feedback also reduces the amplitude of the output current. Consequently, when inverse feedback is applied to an amplifier there is a decrease in gain or power sensitivity as well as a decrease in distortion. Hence, the application of inverse feedback to an amplifier requires that more driving voltage be applied to obtain full power output, but this output is obtained with less distortion. Inverse feedback may also be applied to resistance-coupled stages, as shown in Fig. 50. The circuit is conventional except that a feedback resistor,



Fig. 50—Resistance-coupled stages using feedback resistor.

R₃, is connected between the plates of tubes T_1 and T_2 . The output signal voltage of T_1 and a portion of the output signal voltage of T_2 appear across R_2 . Because the distortion generated in the plate circuit of T₂ is applied to its grid out of phase with the input signal, the distortion in the output of T₂ is comparatively low. With sufficient inverse feedback of the constant-voltage type in a power-output stage, it is not necessary to employ a network of resistance and capacitance in the output circuit to reduce response at high audio frequencies. Inverse-feedback circuits can also be applied to push-pull class A and class AB₁ amplifiers.

Constant-current inverse feedback is usually obtained by omitting the bypass capacitor across a cathode resistor. This method decreases the gain and the distortion but increases the source impedance of the circuit. Consequently, the output voltage rises at the resonant frequency of the loudspeaker and accentuates hangover effects.

Inverse feedback is not generally applied to a triode power amplifier because the variation in speaker impedance with frequency does not produce much distortion in a triode stage having low plate resistance. It is sometimes applied in a pentode stage, but is not always convenient. As has been shown, when inverse feedback is used in an amplifier, the driving voltage must be increased in order to provide full power output. When inverse feedback is used with a pentode, the total driving voltage required for full power output may be inconveniently large, although still less than that required for a triode. Because a beam power tube gives full power output on a comparatively small driving voltage, inverse feedback is especially applicable to beam power tubes. By means of inverse feedback, the high efficiency and high power output of beam power tubes can be combined with freedom from the effects of varying speaker impedance.

Cathode-Follower Circuits

Another important application of inverse feedback is in the cathode-follower circuit, an example of which is shown in Fig. 51. In this application, the load has been transferred from the plate circuit to the cathode circuit of the tube. The input voltage is applied between the grid and ground, and the output voltage is obtained between the cathode and ground. The voltage amplification (V.A.) of this circuit is always less than unity and may be expressed by the following convenient formulas. For a triode:

V. A. =
$$\frac{\mu \times R_L}{r_P + (R_L \times (\mu + 1))}$$

For a pentode:

$$V. A. = \frac{g_m \times R_L}{1 + (g_m \times R_L)}$$

In these formulas, μ is the amplification factor, R_L is the load resistance in ohms, r_p is the plate resistance in ohms, and g_m is the transconductance in mhos.

The use of the cathode follower permits the design of circuits which have high input resistance and high output voltage. The output impedance is



Fig. 51-Cathode-follower circuit.

quite low and very low distortion may be obtained. Cathode-follower circuits may be used for power amplifiers or as impedance transformers designed either to match a transmission line or to produce a relatively high output voltage at a low impedance level.

In a power amplifier which is transformer coupled to the load, the same output power can be obtained from the tube as would be obtained in a conventional grid-drive type of amplifier. The output impedance is very low and provides excellent damping to the load, with the result that very low distortion can be obtained. The peak-to-peak signal voltage, however, approaches 11/2 times the plate supply voltage if maximum power output is required from the tube. Some problems may be encountered, therefore, in the design of an adequate driver stage for a cathodefollower output system.

When a cathode-follower circuit is used as an impedance transformer, the load is usually a simple resistance in the cathode circuit of the tube. With relatively low values of cathode resistor, the circuit may be designed to supply significant amounts of power and to match the impedance of the device to a transmission line. With somewhat higher values of cathode resistor, the circuit may be used to decrease the output impedance sufficiently to permit the transmission of audio signals along a line in which appreciable capacitance is present.

The cathode follower may also be used as an isolation device to provide extremely high input resistance and low input capacitance as might be required in the probe of an oscilloscope or vacuum-tube voltmeter. Such circuits can be designed to provide effective impedance transformation with no significant loss of voltage.

Selection of a suitable tube and its operating conditions for use in a cathode-follower circuit having a specified output impedance (Z_o) can be made, in most practical cases, by the use of the following formula to determine the approximate value of the required tube transconductance.

Required g_m (µmhos) = $\frac{1,000,000}{Z_0}$ (ohms)

Once the required transconductance is obtained, a suitable tube and its operating conditions may be determined

from the technical data given in the Technical Data section. The tube selected should have a value of transconductance slightly lower than that obtained from the above expression to allow for the shunting effect of the cathode load resistance. The conversion nomograph given in Fig. 44 may be used for calculation of operating conditions for values of transconductance not included in the tabulated data. After the operating conditions have been determined, the approximate value of the required cathode load resistance may be calculated from the following formulas. For a triode:

Cathode $\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{I}_{\mathrm{I}}} = \frac{Z_0 \times r_p}{r_p - [Z_0 \times (1 + \mu)]}$ For a pentode: Cathode $\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{I}_{\mathrm{I}}} = \frac{Z_0}{Z_0}$

$$a those R_{\rm L} = \frac{Z_0}{1 - (g_{\rm m} \times Z_0)}$$

Resistance and impedance values are in ohms; transconductance values are in mhos.

If the value of the cathode load resistance calculated to provide the required output impedance does not provide the required operating bias, the basic cathode-follower circuit can be modified in a number of ways. Two of the more common modifications are shown in Figs. 52 and 53.

In Fig. 52 the bias is increased by adding a bypassed resistance between



Fig. 52—Cathode-follower circuit modified for increased bias.

the cathode and the unbypassed load resistance and returning the grid to the low end of the load resistance. In Fig. 53 the bias is reduced by adding a bypassed resistance between the cathode and the unbypassed load resistance but, in this case, the grid is returned to the junction of the two cathode resistors so that the bias voltage is only the dc voltage drop across the added resistance The size of the bypass capacitor should be large enough so that it has negligible reactance at the lowest frequency to be handled. In both cases the B-supply should be increased to make up for the voltage taken for biasing.



Fig. 53—Cathode-follower circuit modified for reduced bias.

Example: Select a suitable tube and determine the operating conditions and circuit components for a cathodefollower circuit having an output impedance that will match a 500-ohm transmission line.

Procedure: First, determine the approximate transconductance required.

Required
$$g_m = \frac{1,000,000}{500} = 2000 \ \mu mhos$$

A survey of the tubes that have a transconductance in this order of magnitude shows that type 12AX7A is among the tubes to be considered. Referring to the characteristics given in the technical data section for one triode unit of highmu twin triode 12AX7, we find that for a plate voltage of 250 volts and a bias of -2 volts, the transconductance is 1600 micromhos, the plate resistance is 62500 ohms, the amplification factor is 100, and the plate current is 0.0012 ampere. When these values are used in the expression for determining the cathode load resistance, the following result is obtained:

Cathode
$$R_{L} = \frac{500 \times 62500}{62500 - 500 \times (100 + 1)} = 2600$$
 ohms

The voltage across this resistor for a plate current of 0.0012 ampere is $2600 \times 0.0012 = 3.12$ volts. Because

the required bias voltage is only -2 volts, the circuit arrangement given in Fig. 53 is employed. The bias is furnished by a resistance that will have a voltage drop of 2 volts when it carries a current of 0.0012 ampere. The required bias resistance, therefore, is 2/0.0012 = 1670 ohms. If 60 Hz is the lowest frequency to be passed, 20 microfarads is a suitable value for the bypass capacitor. The B-supply, of course, is increased by the voltage drop across the cathode resistance which, in this example, is approximately 5 volts. The B-supply, therefore, is 250 + 5= 255 volts.

Because it is desirable to eliminate. if possible, the bias resistor and bypass capacitor, it is worthwhile to try other tubes and other operating conditions to obtain a value of cathode load resistance which will also provide the required bias. If the triode section of twin diode---high-mu triode 6AT6 is operated under the conditions given in the technical data section with a plate voltage of 100 volts and a bias of -1 volt, it will have an amplification factor of 70. a plate resistance of 54000 ohms, a transconductance of 1300 micromhos. and a plate current of 0.0008 ampere. Then,

Cathode $R_L =$
50 0 × 54000
$54000 - 500 \times (70 + 1) = 1460$ ohms

The bias voltage obtained across this resistance is $1460 \times 0.0008 = 1.17$ volts. Since this value is for all practical purposes close enough to the required bias, no addition bias resistance will be required and the grid may be returned directly to ground. There is no need to adjust the B-supply voltage to make up for the drop in the cathode resistor. The voltage amplification (V.A.) for the cathode-follower circuit utilizing the triode section of type 6AT6 is

$$\mathbf{V.A.} = \frac{70 \times 1460}{54000 + 1460 \times (70 + 1)} = 0.65$$

For applications in which the cathode follower is used to isolate two circuits—for example, when it is used between a circuit being tested and the input stage of an oscilloscope or a vacuum-tube voltmeter—voltage output and not impedance matching is the primary consideration. In such applications it is desirable to use a relatively high value of cathode load resistance, such as 50,000 ohms, in order to get the maximum voltage output. In order to obtain proper bias, a circuit such as that of Fig. 53 should be used. With a high value of cathode resistance, the voltage amplification will approximate unity.

Corrective Filters

A corrective filter can be used to improve the frequency characteristic of an output stage using a beam power tube or a pentode when inverse feedback is not applicable. The filter consists of a resistor and a capacitor connected in series across the primary of the output transformer. Connected in this way, the filter is in parallel with the plate load impedance reflected from the voicecoil by the output transformer. The magnitude of this reflected impedance increases with increasing frequency in the middle and upper audio range. The impedance of the filter, however, decreases with increasing frequency. It follows that, by use of the proper values for the resistance and the capacitance in the filter, the effective load impedance on the output tubes can be made practically constant for all frequencies in the middle and upper audio range. The result is an improvement in the frequency characteristic of the output stage.

The resistance to be used in the filter for a push-pull stage is 1.3 times the recommended plate-to-plate load resistance; or, for a single-tube stage, is 1.3 times the recommended plate load resistance. The capacitance in the filter should have a value such that the voltage gain of the output stage at a frequency of 1000 Hz or higher is equal to the voltage gain at 400 Hz. A method of determining the proper value of capacitance for the filter is to make two measurements of the output voltage across the primary of the output transformer: first, when a 400-Hz signal is applied to the input, and second, when a 1000-Hz signal of the same voltage as the 400-Hz signal is applied to the input. The correct value of capacitance is the one which gives equal output voltages for the two signal inputs. In practice, this value is usually found to be in the order of 0.05 microfarad.

Phonograph and Tape Preamplifiers

The frequency range and dynamic range* which can be recorded on a phonograph record or on magnetic tape depend on several factors, including the composition, mechanical characteristics, and speed of the record or tape, and the electrical and mechanical characteristics of the recording equipment. To achieve wide frequency and dynamic ranges, manufacturers of commercial recordings use equipment which introduces a nonuniform relationship between amplitude and frequency. This relationship is known as a "recording characteristic." To assure proper reproduction of a high-fidelity recording. therefore, some part of the reproducing system must have a frequency-response characteristic which is the inverse of the recording characteristic. Most manufacturers of high-fidelity recordings use the RIAA characteristic for discs and the NARTB characteristic for magnetic tape.

The simplest type of equalization network is shown in Fig. 54. Because the capacitor C is effectively an open circuit at low frequencies, the low frequencies must be passed through the resistor R and are attenuated. The capacitor has a lower reactance at high



Fig. 54—Simple RC frequency-compensation network.

• The dynamic range of an amplifier is a measure of its signal-handling capability. The dynamic range expresses in dB the ratio of the maximum usable output signal (generally for a distortion of about 10 per cent) to the minimum usable output signal (generally for a signal-to-noise ratio of about 20 dB). A dynamic range of 40 dB is usually acceptable; a value of 70 dB is exceptional for any audio system.

frequencies, however, and bypasses high-frequency components around R so that they receive negligible attenuation. Thus the network effectively "boosts" the high frequencies. This type of equalization is called "attenuative."

Some typical preamplifier stages are shown in the **Circuits** section. The location of the frequency-compensating network or "equalizer" in the reproducing system will depend on the types of recordings which are to be reproduced and on the pickup devices used.

A ceramic high-fidelity phonograph pickup is usually designed to provide proper compensation for the RIAA recording characteristic when the pickup is operated into the load resistance specified by its manufacturer. Because this type of pickup also has relatively high output (0.5 to 1.5 volts), it does not require the use of either an equalizer network or a preamplifier, and can be connected directly to the input of a tone-control amplifier and/or power amplifier.

A magnetic high-fidelity phonograph pickup, on the other hand, usually has an essentially flat frequency-response characteristic and very low output (1 to 10 millivolts). Because a pickup of this type merely reproduces the recording characteristic, it must be followed by an equalizer network, as well as by a preamplifier having sufficient voltage gain to provide the input voltage required by the tone-control amplifier and/or power amplifier. Many designs include both the equalizing and amplifying circuits in a single unit.

A high-fidelity magnetic-tape pickup head, like a magnetic phonograph pickup, reproduces the recording characteristic and has an output of only a few millivolts. This type of pickup device, therefore, must also be followed by an equalizing network and preamplifier, or by a preamplifier which provides "built-in" equalization for the NARTB characteristic.

Feedback networks may also be used for frequency compensation and for reduction of distortion. Basically, a feedback network returns a portion of the output signal to the input circuit of an amplifier. The feedback signal may be returned in phase with the input signal (positive or regenerative feedback) or 180 degrees out of phase with the input signal (negative, inverse, or degenerative feedback). In either case, the feedback can be made proportional to either the output voltage or the output current, and can be applied to either the input voltage or the input current. A negative feedback signal proportional to the output current raises the output impedance of the amplifier: negative feedback proportional to the output voltage reduces the output impedance. A negative feedback signal applied to the input current decreases the input impedance; negative feedback applied to the input voltage increases the input impedance. Opposite effects are produced by positive feedback.

A simple negative or inverse feedfrequency boost is shown in Fig. 55. back network which provides high-This network provides equalization comparable to that obtained with Fig. 54, but is more suitable for low-level amplifier stages because it does not require the first amplifier stage to provide high-level low frequencies. In addition, the inverse feedback improves the distortion characteristics of the amplifier.

Some preamplifier or low-level audio amplifier circuits include variable resistors or potentiometers which function as volume or tone controls. Such circuits should be designed to minimize the flow of dc currents through these controls so that little or no noise will be developed by the movable contact during the life of the circuit. Volume controls and their associated circuits should permit variation of gain from zero to maximum, and should attenuate all frequencies equally for all positions



Fig. 55-Negative-feedback frequency-compensation network.

of the variable arm of the control. Several examples of volume controls and tone controls are shown in the **Circuits** section.

Tone Controls

A tone control is a variable filter (or one in which at least one element is adjustable) by means of which the user may vary the frequency response of an amplifier to suit his own taste. In radio receivers and home amplifiers, the tone control usually consists of a resistancecapacitance network in which the resistance is the variable element.

The simplest form of tone control is a fixed tone-compensating or "equalizing" network such as that shown in Fig. 56. This type of network is often



Fig. 56—Tone-control circuit for fixed tone compensation or "equalizing".

used to equalize the low- and high-frequency response of a crystal phonograph pickup. At low frequencies the attenuation of this network is 20.8 dB. As the frequency is increased, the 100-picofarad capacitor serves as a bypass for the 5-megohm resistor, and the combined impedance of the resistorcapacitor network is reduced. Thus, more of the crystal output appears across the 0.5-megohm resistor at high frequencies than at low frequencies, and the frequency response at the grid is reasonably flat over a wide frequency range. Fig. 57 shows a comparison between the output of the crystal (curve A) and the output of the equalizing network (curve B). The response curve



Fig. 57—Curve showing output from crystal phonograph pickup (A) and from equalizing network (B).

can be "flattened" still more if the attenuation at low frequencies is increased by changing the 0.5-megohm resistor to 0.125 megohm.

The tone-control network shown in Fig. 58 has two stages with completely separate bass and treble controls. Fig. 59 shows simplified representations of the bass control of this circuit when the potentiometer is turned to its extreme variations (usually labeled "Boost" and "Cut"). In this network, as in the crystal-equalizing network shown in Fig. 56, the parallel RC combination is the controlling factor. For bass "boost," the capacitor C₂ bypasses resistor R₃ so that less impedance is placed across the output to grid B at high frequencies than at low frequencies. For bass "cut," the parallel combination is shifted so that C₁ bypasses R₃, causing more highfrequency than low-frequency output, Essentially, the network is a variable-



Fig. 58-Two-stage tone-control circuit incorporating separate bass and treble controls.

frequency voltage divider. With proper values for the components, it may be made to respond to changes in the R_s potentiometer setting for only low frequencies (below 1000 Hz).



Fig. 59—Simplified representations of basscontrol circuit at extreme ends of potentiometer.

Fig. 60 shows extreme positions of the treble control. The attenuation of the two circuits is approximately the same at 1000 Hz. The treble "boost" circuit is similar to the crystal-equalizing network shown in Fig. 56. In the treble "cut" circuit, the parallel RC elements serve to attenuate the signal voltage further because the capacitor bypasses the resistance across the output.



Fig. 60—Simplified representations of treble-control circuit at extreme ends of potentiometer.

The effect of the capacitor is negligible at low frequencies; beyond 1000 Hz, the signal voltage is attenuated at a maximum rate of 6 dB per octave.

The location of a tone-control network is of considerable importance. In a typical radio receiver, it may be inserted in the plate circuit of the power tube, the coupling circuit between the first af amplifier tube and the power tube, or the grid circuit of the first tube. In an amplifier using a beam power tube or pentode power amplifier without negative feedback, it is desirable to connect a resistancecapacitance filter across the primary of the output transformer. This filter may be fixed, with a supplementary tone control elsewhere, or it may form the tone control itself. If the amplifier incorporates negative feedback, the tone control may be inserted in the feedback network or else should be connected to a part of the amplifier which is external to the feedback loop. The overall gain of a well designed tone-control network should be approximately unity.

Automatic Volume or Gain Control

The chief purpose of automatic volume control (avc) or automatic gain control (agc) in a radio or television receiver is to prevent fluctuations in loudspeaker volume or picture brightness when the audio or video signal at the antenna is fading in and out.

An automatic volume control circuit regulates the receiver rf and if gain so that this gain is less for a strong signal than for a weak signal. In this way, when the signal strength at the antenna changes, the avc circuit reduces the resultant change in the voltage output of the last if stage and consequently reduces the change in the speaker output volume.

The avc circuit reduces the rf and if gain for a strong signal usually by increasing the negative bias of the rf, if, and frequency-mixer stage when the signal increases. A simple avc circuit is shown in Fig. 61. On each positive halfcycle of the signal voltage, when the diode plate is positive with respect to the cathode, the diode passes current.



Fig. 61—Automatic-volume-control (avc) circuit.

Because of the flow of diode current through R_1 , there is a voltage drop across R_1 which makes the left end of R_1 negative with respect to ground. This voltage drop across R_1 is applied, through the filter R_2 and C, as negative bias on the grids of the preceding stages. When the signal strength at the antenna increases, therefore, the signal applied to the avc diode increases, the voltage drop across R_1 increases, the voltage drop across R_1 increases, the negative bias voltage applied to the rf and if stages increases, and the gain of the rf and if stages is decreased. Thus the increase in signal strength at the antenna does not produce as much increase in the output of the last if stage as it would produce without avc.

When the signal strength at the antenna decreases from a previous steady value, the avc circuit acts, of course, in the reverse direction, applying less negative bias, permitting the rf and if gain to increase, and thus reducing the decrease in the signal output of the last if stage. In this way, when the signal strength at the antenna changes, the avc circuit acts to reduce change in the output of the last if stage, and thus acts to reduce change in loudspeaker volume.

The filter, C and R₂, prevents the ave voltage from varying at audio frequency. The filter is necessary because the voltage drop across R₁ varies with the modulation of the carrier being received. If avc voltage were taken directly from R₁ without filtering, the audio variations in avc voltage would vary the receiver gain so as to smooth out the modulation of the carrier. To avoid this effect, the avc voltage is taken from the capacitor C. Because of the resistance R₂ in series with C, the capacitor C can charge and discharge at only a comparatively slow rate. The avc voltage therefore cannot vary at frequencies as high as the audio range but can vary at frequencies high enough to compensate for most fading. Thus the filter permits the avc circuit to smooth out variations in signal due to fading, but prevents the circuit from smoothing out audio modulation.

It will be seen that an avc circuit and a diode-detector circuit are much alike. It is therefore convenient in a receiver to combine the detector and the avc diode in a single stage. Examples of how these functions are combined in receivers are shown in Circuits section.

In the circuit shown in Fig. 61, a certain amount of avc negative bias is applied to the preceding stages on a weak signal. Because it may be desirable to maintain the receiver rf and if gain at the maximum possible value for a weak signal, avc circuits are designed in some cases to apply no avc bias until the signal strength exceeds a certain value. These avc circuits are known as **delaved avc or davc** circuits.

A davc circuit is shown in Fig. 62. In this circuit, the diode section D_1 of the 6AL5 acts as detector and avc diode.



Fig. 62-Delayed avc (davc) circuit.

 \mathbf{R}_1 is the diode load resistor and \mathbf{R}_2 and C2 are the avc filter. Because the cathode of diode D_2 is returned through a fixed supply of -3 volts to the cathode of D_1 , a dc current flows through R_1 and R_2 in series with D_2 . The voltage drop caused by this current places the ave lead at approximately -3 volts (less the negligible drop through D_{z}). When the average amplitude of the rectified signal developed across R₁ does not exceed 3 volts, the avc lead remains at —3 volts. Hence, for signals not strong enough to develop 3 volts across R₁. the bias applied to the controlled tubes stays constant at a value giving high sensitivity.

However, when the average amplitude of rectified signal voltage across R_1 exceeds 3 volts, the plate of diode D_2 becomes more negative than the cathode of D_2 and current flow in diode D_2 ceases. The potential of the ave lead is then controlled by the voltage developed across R_1 . Therefore, with further increase in signal strength, the ave circuit applies an increasing ave bias voltage to the controlled stages. In this way, the circuit regulates the receiver gain for strong signals, but permits the gain to stay constant at a maximum value for weak signals.

It can be seen in Fig. 62 that a portion of the -3 volts delay voltage is applied to the plate of the detector diode D₁, this portion being approximately equal to $R_1/(R_1 + R_2)$ times -3volts. Hence, with the circuit constants as shown, the detector plate is made negative with respect to its cathode by approximately one-half volt. However, this voltage does not interfere with detection because it is not large enough to prevent current flow in the tube.

Automatic gain control (agc) compensates for fluctuations in rf picture carrier amplitude. The peak carrier level rather than the average carrier level is controlled by the agc voltage because the peaks of the sync pulses are fixed when inserted on a fixed carrier level. The peak carrier level may be determined by measurement of the peaks of the sync pulses at the output of the video detector.

A conventional agc circuit, such as that shown in Fig. 63, consists of a diode



Fig. 63—Automatic-gain control (agc) circuit.

detector circuit and an RC filter. The time constant of the detector circuit is made large enough to prevent the picture content from influencing the magnitude of the agc voltage. The output voltage (agc voltage) is equal to the peak value of the incoming signal.

The diode detector receives the incoming signal from the last if stage of the television receiver through the capacitor C₁. The resistor R₁ provides the load for the diode. The diode conducts only when its plate is driven positive with respect to its cathode. Electrons then flow from the cathode to the plate and thence into capacitor C₁, where the negative charge is stored. Because of the low impedance offered by the diode during conduction, C_1 charges up to the value of the peak applied voltage.

During the negative excursion of the signal, the diode does not conduct, and C_1 discharges through resistor R_1 . Because of the large time constant of R_1C_1 , however, only a small percentage of the voltage across C_1 is lost during the interval between horizontal svnc During succeeding pulses. positive cycles, the incoming signal must overcome the negative charge stored in C₁ before the diode conducts, and plate current flows only at the peak of each positive cycle. The voltage across C_1 , therefore, is determined by the level of the peaks of the positive cycles, or the sync pulses.

The negative voltage developed across resistor R_1 by the sync pulses is filtered by resistor R_2 and capacitor C_2 to remove the 15,750-cycle ripple of the horizontal sync pulse. The dc output is then fed to the if and rf amplifiers as an agc voltage.

This agc system may be expanded to include amplification of the agc signal before detection of the peak level, or amplification of the dc output, or both. A direct-coupled amplifier must be used for amplification of the dc signal. The addition of amplification makes the system more sensitive to changes in carrier level.

A "keyed" agc system such as that shown in Fig. 64 is used to eliminate flutter and to improve noise immunity in weak signal areas. This system provides more rapid action than the conventional agc circuits because the filter circuit can employ lower capacitance and resistance values.





In the keyed agc system, the negative output of the video detector is fed directly to the grid No. 1 of the first video amplifier. The positive output of the video amplifier is, in turn, fed directly to the grid No. 1 of the keyed agc amplifier. The video stage increases the gain of the agc system and, in addition, provides noise clipping. The plate voltage for the agc amplifier is a positive pulse obtained from a small winding on the horizontal output transformer which is in phase with the horizontal sync pulse obtained from the video amplifier. The polarity of this pulse is such that the plate of the agc amplifier tube is positive during the retrace time. The tube is biased so that current flows only when the grid No. 1 and the plate are driven positive simultaneously. The amount of current flow depends on the grid-No. 1 potential during the pulse. These pulses are smoothed out in the RC network in the plate circuit (R_1C_1) . Because the dc voltage developed across R_1 is negative, it is suitable for application to the grids of the rf and if tubes as an agc voltage.

High-Fidelity Amplifiers

Several high-fidelity amplifiers are shown in the **Circuits** section. The performance capabilities of such amplifiers are usually given in terms of frequency response, total harmonic distortion, maximum power output, and noise level.

To provide high-fidelity reproduction of audio program material, an amplifier should have a frequency response which does not vary more than 1 dB over the entire audio spectrum. General practice is to design the amplifier so that its frequency response is flat within 1 dB from a frequency below the lowest to be reproduced to one well above the upper limit of the audible region.

Harmonic distortion and intermodulation distortion produce changes in program material which may have adverse effects on the quality of the reproduced sound. **Harmonic distortion** causes a change in the character of an individual tone by the introduction of harmonics which were not originally present in the program material. For high-fidelity reproduction, total harmonic distortion (expressed as a percentage of the output power) should not be greater than about 1 per cent at the desired listening level. Types such as the 6973, 7027A and 7868 are designed to provide extremely low harmonic distortion in suitably designed push-pull amplifier circuits.

Intermodulation distortion is а change in the waveform of an individual tone as a result of interaction with another tone present at the same time in the program material. This type of distortion not only alters the character of the modulated tone, but may also result in the generation of spurious signals at frequencies equal to the sum and difference of the interacting frequencies. Intermodulation distortion should be less than 2 per cent at the desired listening level. In general, any amplifier which has low intermodulation distortion will have very low harmonic distortion.

The maximum power output which a high-fidelity amplifier should deliver depends upon a complex relation of several factors, including the size and acoustical characteristics of the listening area, the desired listening level, and the efficiency of the loudspeaker system. Practically, however, it is possible to determine amplifier requirements in terms of room size and loudspeaker efficiency.

The acoustic power required to reproduce the loudest passages of orchestral music at concert-hall level in the average-size living room is about 0.4 watt. Because high-fidelity loudspeakers of the type generally available for home use have an efficiency of only about 5 per cent, the output stage of the amplifier should therefore be able to deliver a power output of at least 8 watts. Because many wide-range loudspeaker systems, particularly those using frequencydivider networks, have efficiencies of less than 5 per cent, output tubes used with such systems must have correspondingly larger power outputs. The 6973, 7027A, 7189, and 7868 can provide ample output for most systems when used in suitable push-pull circuits.

The noise level of a high-fidelity

amplifier determines the range of volume the amplifier is able to reproduce, *i.e.*, the difference (usually expressed in decibels) between the loudest and softest sounds in program material. Because the greatest volume range utilized in electrical program material at the present time is about 60 dB, the noise level of a high-fidelity amplifier should be at least 60 dB below the signal level at the desired listening level.

Limiters

An amplifier may also be used as a limiter. One use of a limiter is in receivers designed for the reception of frequency-modulated signals. The limiter in FM receivers has the function of eliminating amplitude variations from the input to the detector. Because in an FM system amplitude variations are primarily the result of noise disturbances, the use of a limiter prevents such disturbances from being reproduced in the audio output. The limiter usually follows the last if stage so that it can minimize the effects of disturbances coming in on the rf carrier and those produced locally.

The limiter is essentially an if voltage amplifier designed for saturated operation. Saturated operation means that an increase in signal voltage above a certain value produces very little increase in plate current. A signal voltage which is never less than sufficient to cause saturation of the limiter, even on weak signals, is supplied to the limiter input by the preceding stages. Any change in amplitude, therefore, such as might be produced by noise voltage fluctuation, is not reproduced in the limiter output. The limiting action, of course, does not interfere with the reproduction of frequency variations.

Plate-current saturation of the limiter may be obtained by the use of grid-No. 1 resistor-and-capacitor bias with plate and grid-No. 2 voltages which are low compared with customary if-amplifier operating conditions.

As a result of these design features, the limiter is able to maintain its output voltage at a constant amplitude over a wide range of input-signal voltage variations. The output of the limiter is frequency-modulated if voltage, the mean frequency of which is that of the if amplifier. This voltage is impressed on the input of the detector.

The reception of FM signals without serious distortion requires that the response of the receiver be such that satisfactory amplification of the signal is provided over the entire range of frequency deviation from the mean frequency. Since the frequency at any instant depends on the modulation at that instant, it follows that excessive attenuation toward the edges of the band, in the rf or if stages, will cause distortion. In a high-fidelity receiver. therefore, the amplifiers must be capable of amplifying, for the maximum permissible frequency deviation of 75 kHz, a band 150 kHz wide. Suitable tubes for this purpose are the 6BA6 and 6BI6.

Volume Compressors and Expanders

Volume compression and expansion are used in FM transmitters and receivers and in recording devices and amplifiers to make more natural the reproduction of music which has a very large volume range. For example, in the music of a symphony orchestra the sound intensity of the soft passages is very much lower than that of the loud passages. When this low volume level is raised above the background noise for transmitting or recording, the peak level of the program material may be raised to an excessively high volume level. It is often necessary, therefore, to compress the volume range of the program content within the maximum capabilities of the FM transmitter or the recording device. Exceeding a maximum peak volume level for FM modulation corresponds to exceeding the allowed bandwidth for transmission. In some recording devices, excessive peak volume levels may cause overloading and distortion.

Volume compression may be accomplished by either manual or automatic control. The types of compression used include peak limiters, volume limiters, and volume compressors. A peak limiter limits the peak power to some predetermined level. A volume limiter provides gain reduction based on an average signal level above a predetermined level. A volume compressor provides gain reduction for only the sustained loud portions of the sound level. Only volume compressors can be correctly compensated for with volume expanders.

For faithful reproduction of the original sound, the volume expander used in the FM receiver or audio amplifier should have the reverse characteristic of the volume compressor used in the FM transmitter or recording device. In general, the basic requirements for either a volume compressor or expander are shown in the block diagram of Fig. 65. In a volume compressor, the



Fig. 65—Block diagram of volume compressor or expander circuit.

variable-gain amplifier V_1 has greater gain for a low-amplitude signal than for a high-amplitude signal; therefore, soft passages are amplified more than loud ones. In an expander, the gain is greater for high-amplitude signals than for lowamplitude signals; therefore, loud passages are amplified more than soft ones and the original amplitude ratio is restored.

In the diagram shown in Fig. 65, the signal to be amplified is applied to V_1 , and a portion of the signal is also applied to V_2 . The amplified output from V_2 is then rectified by V_3 , and applied as a negative (for compressors) or positive (for expanders) bias voltage to V_1 . As this bias voltage varies with variations in signal amplitude, the gain of V_1 also varies to produce the desired compression or expansion of the signal.

Tubes having a large dynamic range provide the best results in volume

compressor or expander applications. An example of this type is the 6BJ6. Push-pull operation is generally desired for the variable-gain amplifier to prevent high distortion and other undesirable effects which may occur in volume compressors and expanders.

Phase Inverters

A phase inverter is a circuit used to provide resistance coupling between the output of a single-tube stage and the input of a push-pull stage. The necessity for a phase inverter arises because the signal-voltage inputs to the grids of a push-pull stage must be 180 degrees out of phase and approximately equal in amplitude with respect to each other. Thus, when the signal voltage input to a push-pull stage swings the grid of one tube in a positive direction. it should swing the grid of the other tube in a negative direction by a similar amount. With transformer coupling between stages, the out-of-phase input voltage to the push-pull stage is supplied by means of the center-tapped secondary. With resistance coupling, the out-of-phase input voltage is obtained by means of the inverter action of a tube.

Fig. 66 shows a push-pull power amplifier, resistance-coupled by means of a phase-inverter circuit to a singlestage triode T_1 . Phase inversion in this circuit is provided by triode T_2 . The output voltage of T_1 is applied to the grid No. 1 of tetrode T_a . A portion of the output voltage of T_1 is also applied through the resistors R_3 and R_5 to the



Fig. 66—Push-pull power amplifier resistance-coupled to triode by means of phase inverter.

grid of T_2 . The output voltage of T_2 is applied to the grid No. 1 of tetrode T_4 .

When the output voltage of T_1 swings in the positive direction, the plate current of T_2 increases. This action increases the voltage drop across the plate resistor R_2 and swings the plate of T_2 in the negative direction. Thus, when the output voltage of T_1 swings positive. the output voltage of T_2 swings negative and is, therefore, 180 degrees out of phase with the output voltage of T_1 .

In order to obtain equal voltages at E_{a} and E_{b} , $(R_{3} + R_{5})/R_{5}$ should equal the voltage gain of T2. Under the condition where a twin-type tube or two tubes having the same characteristics are used as T_1 and T_2 , R_4 should be equal to the sum of R₃ and R₅. The ratio of $R_3 + R_5$ to R_5 should be the same as the voltage gain ratio of T₂ in order to apply the correct value of signal voltage to T_2 . The value of R_5 is, therefore, equal to R, divided by the voltage gain of T_2 ; R_3 is equal to R_4 minus R_5 . Values of R₁, R₂, R₃ plus R₅, and R₄ may be taken from the chart in the Resistance-Coupled Amplifiers section. In the practical application of this circuit, it is convenient to use a twin-triode tube combining T₁ and T₂.

Tuned Amplifiers

In radio-frequency (rf) and intermediate-frequency (if) amplifiers, the bandwidth of frequencies to be amplified is usually only a small percentage of the center frequency. Tuned amplifiers are used in these applications to select the desired bandwidth of frequencies. The selectivity of the amplifier is obtained by means of tuned interstage coupling networks.

The properties of tuned amplifiers depend upon the characteristics of **resonant circuits.** A simple parallel resonant circuit (sometimes called a "tank" because it stores energy) is shown in Fig. 67. For practical purposes the resonant frequency of such a circuit may be considered independent of the resistance R, provided R is small compared to the inductive reactance X_{L} . The resonant frequency f, is then given by

$$f_r = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{LC}}$$

For any given resonant frequency, the product of L and C is a constant; at low frequencies LC is large; at high frequencies it is small.

The **Q** (selectivity) of a parallel resonant circuit alone is the ratio of the current in the tank (I_L or I_C) to the current in the line (I). This unloaded Q, or Q_n , may be expressed in various ways, for example:

$$Q_{L} = \frac{I_{C}}{I} = \frac{X_{L}}{R} = \frac{R_{P}}{X_{C}}$$

where X_{T_e} is the inductive reactance (= $2\tau fL$), X_e is the capacitive reactance (= $1/[2\pi fC]$), and R_p is the total impedance of the parallel resonant circuit



Fig. 67—Simple parallel resonant circuit. (tank) at resonance. The Q varies inversely with the resistance of the inductor. The lower the resistance, the higher the Q and the greater the difference between the tank impedance at frequencies off resonance compared to the tank impedance at the resonant frequency.

The Q of a tuned interstage coupling network also depends upon the impedances of the preceding and following stages. The output impedance of a tube can be considered as consisting of a resistance R_o in parallel with a capacitance C_o , as shown in Fig. 68. Similarly, the input impedance can be considered as consisting of a resistance R_i in parallel with a capacitance C_i . Because the tuned circuit is shunted by both the output impedance of the preceding tube and the input impedance of the following tube, the effective selectivity of the circuit is the loaded Q (or



Fig. 68—Equivalent output and input circuits of tubes connected by a coupling network.

 Q_{f}) based upon the total impedance of the coupled network, as follows:

 $Q_{i} = \frac{\{\text{total loading on}\}}{\{\text{coil at resonance}\}}$

$$X_L$$
 or X_C

The capacitances C_0 and C_1 in Fig. 68 are usually considered as part of the coupling network. For example, if the required capacitance between terminals 1 and 2 of the coupling network is calculated to be 500 picofarads and the value of C_0 is 10 picofarads, a capacitor of 490 picofarads is used between terminals 1 and 2 so that the total capacitance is 500 picofarads. The same method is used to allow for the capacitance C_1 at terminals 3 and 4.

When a tuned resonant circuit in the primary winding of a transformer is coupled to the nonresonant secondary winding of the transformer, as shown in Fig. 69, the effect of the input impedance of the following stage on the Q of the tuned circuit can be determined by considering the values reflected (or referred) to the primary circuit by



Fig. 69—Equivalent circuit for transformercoupling network having tuned primary winding.

transformer action. The reflected resistance r_1 is equal to the resistance R_1 in the secondary circuit times the square of the effective turns ratio between the primary and secondary windings of the transformer T:

 $\mathbf{r}_1 = \mathbf{R}_1 \ (\mathbf{N}_1 / \mathbf{N}_2)^2$

where N_1/N_2 represents the electrical turns ratio between the primary winding

and the secondary winding of T. If there is capacitance in the secondary circuit (C_s) , it is reflected to the primary circuit as a capacitance C_{sp} , and is given by

$$C_{sp} = C_p \div (N_1/N_2)^2$$

The loaded Q, or Q_L , is then calculated on the basis of the inductance L_p , the total shunt resistance (R_o plus r₁ plus the tuned-circuit impedance $Z_t = Q_o X_e$ $= Q_o X_L$), and the total capacitance (C_p + C_{sp}) in the tuned circuit.

Fig. 70 shows a coupling network which consists of a single-tuned circuit using mutual inductive coupling. The



Fig. 70—Equivalent circuit for transformercoupling network using inductive coupling.

capacitance C_t includes the effects of both the output capacitance of the preceding tube and the input capacitance of the following tube (referred to the primary of transformer T_1). The bandwidth of a single-tuned transformer is determined by the half-power points on the resonance curve (-3 dB or 0.707 down from the maximum). Under these conditions, the band pass Δf is equal to the ratio of the center or resonant frequency f_r divided by the loaded (effective) Q of the circuit, as follows:

$$\Delta \mathbf{f} = \mathbf{f}_r / \mathbf{Q}_L$$

In high-frequency tuned amplifiers, where the input impedance is typically low, mutual inductive coupling may be impracticable because of the small number of turns in the secondary winding. It is extremely difficult in practice to construct a fractional part of a turn. In such cases, capacitance coupling may



Fig. 71-Single-tuned coupling network using capacitive division.

be used, as shown in Fig. 71. This arrangement, which is also called capacitive division, is similar to tapping down on a coil at or near resonance. Impedance transformation in this network is determined by the ratio between capacitors C_1 and C_2 . Capacitor C_1 is normally much smaller than C₂; thus the capacitive reactance X_{C1} is normally much larger than X_{C2}. Provided the input resistance of the following tube is much greater than X_{C2}, the effective turns ratio from the top of the coil to the input of the following tube is $(C_1 +$ C_2)/ C_1 . The total capacitance C_1 across the inductance L is given by

$$C_t = \frac{C_1 C_2}{C_1 + C_2}$$

The resonant frequency f_r is then given by

$$\mathbf{f}_{\mathrm{r}} = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{L_{\mathrm{i}}C_{\mathrm{t}}}}$$

Double-tuned interstage coupling networks are often used in preference to single-tuned networks to provide flatter frequency response within the pass band, a sharper drop in response immediately adjacent to the ends of the pass band, or more attenuation at frequencies far removed from resonance. In synchronous double-tuned networks, both the resonant circuit in the input of the coupling network and the resonant circuit in the output are tuned to the same resonant frequency. In "stagger-tuned" networks, the two resonant circuits are tuned to slightly different resonant frequencies to provide a more rectangular band pass with sharper selectivity at the ends of the pass band. Double-tuned or stagger-tuned networks may use capacitive, inductive, or mutual inductance coupling, or any combination of the three.

Television Tuners

The vhf tuner of a television receiver selects the desired frequency channel in the range from 55 to 216 MHz, amplifies it, and converts it to a lower intermediate frequency. These functions are accomplished in rf-amplifier, mixer, and local-oscillator stages employing tube types that are designed specifically for these applications. The rf-amplifier stage uses a high-transconductance tube that has small dimensions to maintain low interelectrode capacitances, particularly between grid and plate. The mixer and oscillator stages usually employ a dual-unit triode-pentode unit and a medium-mu triode unit.

Fig. 72 shows a simplified schematic diagram of a typical vhf television tuner. The balun converts the 300ohm balanced antenna impedance to an unbalanced impedance of 75 ohms. The high-pass filter eliminates lower-frequency interference signals. The tuner is set to the desired frequency by simultaneous adjustment of the inductances indicated by the several sets of arrows in Fig. 72. The inductances are either replaced completely or incremental amounts of inductance are added as the tuner is switched from high frequencies to lower frequencies. Some tuners use a combination of the two methods.

Because noise generated in the first amplifier stage is often the controlling factor in determining the over-all sensitivity of a radio or television receiver, the "front end" is designed with special attention to both gain and noise characteristics. The input circuit of an amplifier inherently contains some thermal noise contributed by the resistive elements in the input device. When an input signal is amplified, therefore, the thermal noise generated in the input circuit is also amplified. If the ratio of signal power to noise power (signal-tonoise ratio, S/N) is the same in the output circuit as in the input circuit, the amplifier is considered to be "noise-



Fig. 72-Simplified schematic of typical vhf television tuner.

less," and is said to have a noise figure of unity, or zero dB.

In practical circuits, however, all amplifier stages generate a certain amount of noise as a result of thermal agitation of electrons in resistors and other components, minute variations in the cathode emission of tubes (shot effect), and minute grid currents in the amplifier tubes. As a result, the ratio of signal power to noise power is inevitably impaired during amplification. A measure of the degree of impairment is called the noise figure (NF) of the amplifier, and is expressed as the ratio of signal power to noise power at the input (S_i/N_i) divided by the ratio of signal power to noise power at the output (S_0/N_0) , as follows:

$$NF = \frac{(S_1/N_1)}{(S_0/N_0)}$$

The noise figure in decibels (dB) is equal to ten times the logarithm of this power ratio. For example, a one-dB noise figure in an amplifier decreases the signal-to-noise ratio by a factor of 1.26, a 3-dB noise figure by a factor of 2, a 10-dB noise figure by a factor of 10, and a 20-dB noise figure by a factor of 100.

The over-all noise figure of a receiver is affected by the total number of stages, as shown by the following relationship:

$$NF_{receiver} = NF_1 + \frac{(NF_2 + 1)}{G_1} + \frac{(NF_3 + 1)}{G_1G_2} \dots$$

where G represents power gain and the subscripts indicate the number of each stage. This relationship indicates that the contribution of the second-stage noise factor to that of the over-all receiver is reduced by the gain of the first stage. Therefore, it is important that the rf amplifier have enough gain to make the effect of the second stage negligible. The third stage will then have even less effect. The maximum available power gain G of an rf stage is given by

$$G = \frac{g_{m^2} R_{in} R_{out}}{4}$$

For maximum gain, therefore, the rfamplifier tube should have high transconductance and high input and output impedances. At frequencies in the vhf television band, the input resistance is small enough to affect the gain. As mentioned previously, the rf tube is designed to have low interelectrode capacitances, small interelectrode spacings, and low lead inductances (particularly the cathode lead).

The gain of the rf stage must be reduced as the incoming-signal amplitude changes to prevent overload distortion in the following stages. As the signal amplitude increases, an automatic-gain-control (agc) circuit biases the rf tube to decrease its gain. The rf tube usually employs a semiremotecutoff grid to reduce cross-modulation distortion.

Either a triode or a pentode can be used in the rf-amplifier stage of tuner input circuits of vhf television receivers. Such stages are required to amplify signals ranging from 55 to 216 MHz and having a bandwidth of 4.5 MHz (the tuner is usually aligned for a bandwidth of 6 MHz to assure complete coverage of the band). In early rf tuners, pentodes rather than triodes were used because the grid-plate capacitance of triodes created stability problems. However, the use of twin triodes in direct-coupled cathode-drive circuits makes it possible to obtain stable operation along with the low-noise characteristics of triodes.

Pentodes or tetrodes do not provide the useful sensitivity of triodes because of the "partition noise" introduced by the screen grid. The directcoupled cathode-drive circuit provides both the gain and the stability capabilities of the pentode, as well as the advantages of a low-noise triode input stage. Because the cathode-drive stage provides a low-impedance load to the grounded-cathode stage, the gain of the latter stage is very low and there is no necessity for neutralizing the grid-plate capacitance. An interstage impedance. usually an inductance in series with the plate of the first stage and the cathode of the second stage, is often used at higher frequencies to provide a degree of impedance matching between the units. The cathode-drive portion of the circuit is matched to the input network and provides most of the stage gain. Because the feedback path of the cathode-drive circuit is the plate-cathode capacitance, which in most cases is very small, excellent isolation is provided between the antenna and the local oscillator.

Development of single triodes having low grid-plate capacitance, such as the 6BN4A has made possible the design of neutralized triode rf circuits. Tubes such as the 6GK5 and 6CW4 are specially designed to minimize gridplate capacitance to permit easier neutralization of a grounded-cathode circuit over the wide frequency band. Bridge-neutralized rf-amplifier stages are widely used in television tuners: in this arrangement, a portion of the output signal is returned to the grid out of phase with the feedback signal from the grid-plate capacitance. This circuit provides excellent gain and noise performance with stable operation across the band.

The **mixer** stage of a vhf tuner usually employs a pentode tube, or the pentode unit of a triode-pentode tube. Although triodes such as the 6J6A were used as mixers in early receivers, they have been replaced by pentodes because the higher output impedance of a pentode provides a higher mixer gain than can be obtained with a triode.

The amplified signal from the rf stage in Fig. 72 is applied to the mixer grid along with a local-oscillator signal of much larger amplitude. The localoscillator signal varies the mixer grid voltage from cutoff into the grid-current region. This signal develops a gridresistor bias, called the injection voltage, which is a measure of the local-oscillator voltage. Because the transfer curve of the mixer tube is nonlinear, mixing action between the rf signal and the local-oscillator signal produces sum and difference frequencies. The output circuit of the mixer is tuned to the difference frequency (about 44 MHz) and rejects all other frequencies. This signal is then fed to the intermediate-frequency amplifier.

The mixer gain is a function of the amplitude of the local-oscillator

signal. The gain has a broad maximum over a range of injection voltages from -2.5 to -5.0 volts for conventionalgrid mixers and slightly lower for frame-grid mixers. Good impedance matching between the rf-amplifier plate and the mixer grid, consistent with bandpass requirements, is important to achieve maximum signal power transfer. A slight amount of regeneration is provided by a small screen-grid inductance. This regeneration effectively increases the mixer-grid input impedance and thus improves power gain.

The local-oscillator stage shown in Fig. 72 is a Colpitts type in which the tuned circuit is located between the grid and plate and the feedback path is through the tube interelectrode capacitances. A large signal is developed in the local oscillator and coupled loosely to the mixer grid to minimize the effects of changes in the mixer input on the frequency of oscillation. The circuit is designed to keep frequency shift within a very narrow range with supply-voltage and temperature changes. Fine tuning is provided by a variable inductance or capacitance across the tuned circuit. Tubes commonly used in local-oscillator and mixer circuits are the 6EA8, 6KZ8, and 6KE8,

Television IF Amplifiers

intermediate-frequency The (if) amplifier stages in a television receiver provide the additional gain required to bring the signal level to an amplitude suitable for final detection. A constant peak signal of about three to five volts is required at the input to the detector. The mixer output signal is passed through two or three stages of amplification to attain this level. High-transconductance pentodes having low grid-No.1-to-plate capacitances are normally used in if amplifiers. The coupling circuits are usually tuned transformers which may be single- or double-tuned. The transformers are either synchro-(same frequency) tuned nously or stagger-tuned, depending on circuit requirements. The over-all bandwidth varies from a maximum of 3.58 MHz at the 6-dB points for color receivers to

values in the order of 2.0 to 2.5 MHz for the most inexpensive receivers. An expression for the figure of merit for a single tuned if-amplifier tube is the gainbandwidth product $G \times B$, which is given by

$$\mathbf{G} \times \mathbf{B} = \frac{\mathbf{gm}}{2 \pi \mathbf{C}}$$

where C is the total tuning capacitance. This relationship again demonstrates the need for high transconductance and low interelectrode capacitance.

The first stage (or first two stages in the case of a three-stage if) is gaincontrolled like the rf amplifier. However, the bias applied to the if-amplifier tube varies the input resistance and capacitance of the tube and thus detunes the circuit. It is important for proper reception to maintain the frequency response of the if stages constant, particularly in the case of the color receiver. Therefore, a small unbypassed cathode resistor is used which provides degenerative feedback to minimize the effect of bias changes. In addition, the effects on input impedance caused by the grid-plate capacitance are reduced by use of a partial bypass capacitor at the screen grid to provide neutralization of the grid-to-plate capacitance.

Tubes used in the gain-controlled stages of the if amplifier have remoteor semiremote-cutoff characteristics to reduce cross-modulation or intermodulation interference. Tube types commonly used in this application include the 6BZ6, 6GM6, 6JH6, 6JD6A, and 6KT6.

The last if-amplifier stage is a relatively-large-signal amplifier. For this reason, the tube must be biased so that it will operate over a region of linear operation for large voltage excursions. Because such a quiescent operating point provides a transconductance somewhat below the maximum value for the tube, the selection of the operating point involves a compromise between signal-handling capacity and gain. For purposes of linearity, the final if-amplifier stage is not gain-controlled, and operates with the cathode bypassed to ground. Because fixed bias is used, a sharp-cutoff tube is used to provide higher transconductance than could be obtained with an equivalent remote- or semiremote-cutoff tube. Examples of types used in this stage are the 6EW6 and 6JC6A.

Wideband (Video) Amplifiers

In some applications, it is necessary for a circuit to amplify signals ranging from very low frequencies (several hertz) to high frequencies (tens of megahertz) with a minimum of frequency and time-delay distortion. For example, very exacting requirements are demanded for such applications as television camera chains, ac voltmeters, and vertical amplifiers for oscilloscopes. In response to these demands, circuit compensation techniques have been developed to minimize the amplitude and time-delay variation as the upper or lower frequency limits of the amplifier are approached.

The need for such compensation is evident when many identical stages of amplification are employed. If ten cascaded stages are used, a variation of 0.3 dB per stage results in a total variation of 3 dB. In an uncompensated amplifier, this total variation occurs two octaves (a frequency ratio of four) prior to the half-power point. Because two octaves are lost from both the high and low frequencies, the bandwidth of ten cascaded uncompensated amplifies stages is only one-sixteenth that of a single amplifier stage. Fig. 73 shows the amplitude response characteristics of various numbers of identical

uncompensated amplifiers.

In general, the output of an amplifier may be represented by a current generator iout and a load resistance R_L , as shown in Fig. 74(a). Because the signal current is shunted by various capacitances at high frequencies, as shown in Fig. 74(b), there is a loss in gain at these frequencies. If an inductor L is placed in series with the load resistor R_L, as shown in Fig. 74(c), a low-Q circuit is formed which somewhat suppresses the capacitive loading. This method of gain compensation, called shunt peaking, can be effective for improving high-frequency response. Fig. 74 shows the frequency response for the circuits in Fig. 74(a), (b), and (c). If the inductor L in Fig. 74(c) is made self-resonant approximately one octave above the 3-dB frequency of the circuit of Fig. 74(b), the amplifier response is extended by about another 30 per cent.

If the stray capacitance C shown in Fig. 74(b) is broken into two parts C' and C'' and an inductor L_1 is placed between them, a heavily damped form of series resonance may be employed for further improvement. This form of compensation, called series peaking, is shown in Fig. 75(a). If C' and C" are within a factor of two of each other. series peaking produces an appreciable improvement in frequency response as compared to shunt peaking. A more complex form of compensation embodying both self-resonant shunt peaking and series peaking is shown in Fig. 75(b).

The effects of various high-fre-



Fig. 73—Amplitude response characteristics of various numbers (N) of identical uncompensated amplifiers.



Fig. 74—Equivalent circuits and frequency response of uncompensated and shunt-peaked amplifiers.

quency compensation systems can be demonstrated by consideration of an amplifier consisting of three identical stages. If each of the three stages is down 3 dB at 1 MHz, and if a total gain variation of plus 1 dB and minus 3 dB is allowed, the bandwidth of the amplifier is 0.5 MHz without compensation. Shunt peaking raises the bandwidth to 1.3 MHz. Self-resonant shunt



Fig. 75—Circuits using (a) series peaking, and (b) both self-resonant shunt peaking and series peaking.

peaking raises it to 1.5 MHz. An infinitely complicated network of shuntpeaking techniques could raise it to 2 MHz. If the distribution of capacitance permits it, series peaking alone can provide a bandwidth of about 2 MHz, while a combination of shunt and series peaking can provide a bandwidth of approximately 2.8 MHz. If the capacitance is perfectly distributed, and if an infinitely complex network of shunt and series peaking is employed, the ultimate capability is about 4 MHz.

The frequency response of a wideband amplifier is influenced greatly by variations in component values due to temperature effects, variation of tube parameters with voltage and current (normal large-signal excursions). changes of stray capacitance due to relocated lead wires, or other variations. A change of 20 per cent in any of the critical parameters can cause a change of 0.7 dB in gain per stage over the last half-octave of the response for the most simple case of shunt peaking. As the bandwidth is extended by more complex peaking, a circuit becomes substantially more critical. (Measurement probes generally alter circuit performance because of their capacitance: this effect should be considered during frequency-response measurements.

In the design of wideband amplifiers using many stages of amplification, it is necessary to consider timedelay variations as well as amplitude variation. When feedback capacitance is a major contributor to response limitation, the more complex compensaing networks may produce severe ringing or even sustained oscillation. If feedback capacitance is treated as input capacitance produced by the Miller effect, the added input capacitance C_r' caused by the feedback capacitor C_r is given by

 $C_{f} = C_{f} (1 - VG)$

where VG is the input-to-output voltage gain. The gain VG, however, has a phase angle that varies with frequency. The phase angle is 180 degrees at low frequencies, but may fead or lag this value at high frequencies; the magnitude of VG then also varies. In the design of very wideband amplifiers (20 MHz or more), the phase of the transconductance g_m must be considered.

The video amplifier stage in a television receiver usually employs a pentode-type tube specially designed to amplify the wide band of frequencies contained in the video signal and, at the same time, to provide high gain per stage. Pentodes are more useful than triodes in such stages because they have high transconductance (to provide high gain) together with low input and output interelectrode capacitances (to permit the broadband requirements to be satisfied). An approximate "figure of merit" for a particular tube for this application can be determined from the ratio of its transconductance, g_m , to the sum of its input and output capacitances, Cin and Cout, as follows:

Figure of Merit =
$$\frac{g_m}{C_{in} + C_{out}}$$

Typical values for this figure are in the order of 500×10^6 or greater.

A typical video amplifier stage, such as that shown in Fig. 76, is connected between the second detector of the television receiver and the picture tube. The contrast control, R_1 , in this circuit controls the gain of the video amplifier tube. The inductance, L_2 , in series with the load resistor, R_L , maintains the plate load impedance at a relatively constant value with increasing frequency. The inductance L_1 isolates the output capacitance of the tube so that only stray capacitance is placed



Fig. 76—Typical video amplifier stage.

across the load. As a result, a highervalue load resistor is used to provide higher gain without affecting frequency response or phase relations. The decoupling circuit, C_1R_2 , is used to improve the low-frequency response. Tubes used as video amplifiers include types 6CL6 and 12BY7A, or the pentode sections of types 6AW8A and 6AN8A.

The luminance amplifier in a colortelevision receiver is a conventional video amplifier having a bandwidth of approximately 3.5 MHz. In a color receiver, the portion of the output of the second detector which lies within the frequency band from approximately 2.4 to 4.5 MHz is fed to a bandpass amplifier, as shown in the block diagram in Fig. 77. The color



Fig. 77—Block diagram of video-amplifier section of color television receiver.

synchronizing signal, or "burst," contained in this signal may then be fed to a "burst-keyer" tube. At the same time, a delayed horizontal pulse may be applied to the keyer tube. The output of the keyer tube is applied to the burst amplifier tube and the signal is then fed to the 3.58-MHz oscillator and to the "color-killer" stage.

The color killer applies a bias voltage to the bandpass amplifier in the absence of burst so that the color section, or **chrominance** channel, of the receiver remains inoperative during black-andwhite broadcasts. A threshold control varies the bias and controls the burst level at which the killer stage operates.

The output of the 3.58-MHz oscillator and the output of the bandpass amplifier are fed into phase and amplitude demodulator circuits. The output of each demodulator circuit is an electrical representation of a color-difference signal, *i.e.*, an actual color signal minus the black-and-white, or luminance, signal. The two color-difference signals are combined to produce the third color-difference signal; each of the three signals then represents one of the primary colors.

The three color-difference signals are usually applied to the grids of the three electron guns of the color picture tube, in which case the black-and-white signal from the luminance amplifier may be applied simultaneously to the cathodes. The chrominance and luminance signals then combine to produce the color picture. In the absence of transmitted color information, the chrominance channel is cut off by the color killer, as described above, and only the luminance signal is applied to the picture tube, producing a black-and-white picture.

TV Scanning, Sync, and Deflection

For reproduction of a transmitted picture in a television receiver, the face of a cathode-ray tube is scanned with an electron beam while the intensity of the beam is varied to control the emitted light at the phosphor screen. The scanning is synchronized with a scanned image at the TV transmitter, and the black-through-white picture areas of the scanned image are converted into an electrical signal that controls the intensity of the electron beam in the picture tube at the receiver.

Scanning Fundamentals

The scanning procedure used in the United States employs horizontal linear scanning in an odd-line interlaced pattern. The standard scanning pattern for television systems includes a total of 525 horizontal scanning lines in a rectangular frame having an aspect ratio of 4 to 3. The frames are repeated at a rate of 30 per second, with two fields interlaced in each frame. The first field in each frame consists of all odd-number scanning lines, and the second field in each frame consists of all even-number scanning lines. The field repetition rate is thus 60 per second, and the vertical scanning rate is 60 Hz.

The geometry of the standard oddline interlaced scanning pattern is illustrated in Fig. 78. The scanning beam starts at the upper left corner of the frame at point A, and sweeps across the frame with uniform velocity to cover all the picture elements in one horizontal line. At the end of each trace, the beam is rapidly returned to the left side of the frame, as shown by the dashed line, to begin the next horizontal line. The horizontal lines slope downward in the direction of scanning because the vertical deflecting signal simultaneously produces a verti-



Fig. 78-The odd-line interlaced scanning procedure.

cal scanning motion, which is very slow compared with the horizontal scanning speed. The slope of the horizontal line trace from left to right is greater than the slope of the retrace from right to left because the shorter time of the retrace does not allow as much time for vertical deflection of the beam. Thus, the beam is continuously and slowly deflected downward as it scans the horizontal lines, and its position is successively lower as the horizontal scanning proceeds.

At the bottom of the field, the vertical retrace begins, and the beam is brought back to the top of the frame to begin the second or even-number field. The vertical "flyback" time is very fast compared to the trace, but is slow compared to the horizontal scanning speed; therefore, some horizontal lines are produced during the vertical flyback.

All odd-number fields begin at point A in Fig. 78 and are the same. All even-number fields begin at point C and are the same. Because the beginning of the even-field scanning at C is on the same horizontal level as A, with a separation of one-half line, and the slope of all lines is the same, the even-number lines in the even fields fall exactly between the odd-number lines in the odd field.

Sync

In addition to picture information, the composite video signal from the video detector of a television receiver contains timing pulses to assure that the picture is produced on the faceplate of the picture tube at the right instant and in the right location. These pulses, which are called sync pulses, control the horizontal and vertical scanning generators of the receiver.

Fig. 79 shows a portion of the detected video signal. When the picture is bright, the amplitude of the signal is low. Successively deeper grays are represented by higher amplitudes until, at the "blanking level" shown in the diagram, the amplitude represents a complete absence of light. This "black level" is held constant at a value equal to 75 per cent of the maximum amplitude of the signal during transmission. The remaining 25 per cent of the signal amplitude is used for synchronization information. Portions of the signal in this region (above the black level) cannot produce light.

In the transmission of a television picture, the camera becomes inactive at the conclusion of each horizontal line and no picture information is transmitted while the scanning beam is retracing to the beginning of the next line. The scanning beam of the receiver is maintained at the black level during this retrace interval by means of the blanking pulse shown in Fig. 79. Immediately after the beginning of the blanking period, the signal amplitude rises further above the black level to provide а horizontal-synchronization pulse that initiates the action of the horizontal scanning generator. When the bottom line of the picture is reached, a similar vertical-synchronization pulse initiates the action of the vertical scanning generator to move the scanning spot back to the top of the pattern.

The sync pulses in the composite video signal may be separated from the video information in the output of the second or video detector by means of



Fig. 79-Detected video signal.

the triode circuit shown in Fig. 80. In this circuit, the time constant of the network R_iC_i is long with respect to the interval between pulses. During each pulse, the grid is driven positive and draws current, thereby charging capacitor C_i . Consequently, the grid develops a bias which is slightly greater



Fig. 80-Sync-separator circuit.

than the cutoff voltage of the tube. Because plate current flows only during the sync-pulse period, only the amplified pulse appears in the output. This sync-separator stage discriminates against the video information. Because the bias developed on the grid is proportional to the strength of the incoming signal, the circuit also has the advantage of being relatively independent of signal fluctuations.

After the synchronizing signals are separated from the composite video signal, it is necessary to filter out the horizontal and vertical sync signals so that each can be applied to its respective deflection generator. This filtering is accomplished by RC circuits designed to filter out all but the desired synchronizing signals. Although the horizontal, vertical, and equalizing pulses are all rectangular pulses of the same amplitude, they differ in frequency and pulse width, as shown in Fig. 81. The horizontal sync pulses have a repetition rate of 15,750 per second (one for each horizontal line) and a pulse width of 5.1 microseconds. The equalizing pulses have a width approximately half the horizontal pulse width, and a repetition rate of 31,500 per second; they occur at half-line intervals, with six pulses immediately preceding and six following the vertical synchronizing pulse. The vertical pulse is repeated at a rate of 60 per second (one for each field), and has a width of approximately 190 microseconds. The serrations in the vertical pulse occur at half-line intervals, dividing the complete pulse into six individual pulses that provide horizontal synchronization during the vertical retrace. (Although the picture is blanked out during the vertical retrace time, it is necessary to keep the horizontal scanning generator synchronized.)

All the pulses described above are produced at the transmitter by the synchronizing-pulse generator; their waveshapes and spacings are held within very close tolerances to provide the required synchronization of receiver and transmitter scanning.

The horizontal sync signals are separated from the total sync in a differentiating circuit that has a short time constant compared to the width of the horizontal pulses. When the total sync signal is applied to the differentiating circuit shown in Fig. 82, the capacitor charges completely very soon after the leading edge of each pulse, and remains charged for a period of time equal to practically the entire pulse width. When the applied voltage is removed at the time corresponding to the trailing edge of each pulse, the capacitor discharges completely within a very short time. As a result, a positive peak of voltage is obtained for



Fig. 81—Waveform of TV synchronizing pulses (H = horizontal line period of 1/15,750 seconds, or 63.5 μ s).



Fig. 82—Separation of the horizontal sync signals from the total sync by a differentiating circuit.

each leading edge and a negative peak for the trailing edge of every pulse. One polarity is produced by the charging current for the leading edge of the applied pulse, and the opposite polarity is obtained from the discharge current corresponding to the trailing edge of the pulse.

As mentioned above, the serrations in the vertical pulse are inserted to provide the differentiated output needed to synchronize the horizontal scanning generator during the time of vertical synchronization. During the vertical blanking period, many more voltage peaks are available than are necessary for horizontal synchronization (only one pulse is used for each horizontal line period). The check marks above the differentiated output in Fig. 82 indicate the voltage peaks used to synchronize the horizontal deflection generator for one field. Because the sync system is made sensitive only to positive pulses occurring at approximately the right horizontal timing, the negative sync pulses and alternate differentiated positive pulses produced by the equalizing pulses and the serrated vertical information have no effect on horizontal timing. It can be seen that although the total sync signal (including vertical synchronizing information) is applied to the circuit of Fig. 82, only horizontal synchronization information appears at the output.

The vertical sync signal is separated from the total sync in an integrating circuit which has a time constant that is long compared with the duration of the 5-microsecond horizontal pulses, but short compared with the 190-microsecond vertical pulse width. Fig. 83 shows the general circuit configuration



Fig. 83—Separation of vertical sync signals from the total sync for odd and even fields with no equalizing pulses. (Dashed line indicates triggering level for vertical scanning generator.)

used, together with the input and output signals for both odd and even fields. The period between horizontal pulses, when no voltage is applied to the RC circuit, is so much longer than the horizontal pulse width that the capacitor has time to discharge almost down to zero. When the vertical pulse is applied, however, the integrated voltage across the capacitor builds up to the value required for triggering the vertical scanning generator. This integrated voltage across the capacitor reaches its maximum amplitude at the end of the vertical pulse, and then declines practically to zero, producing a pulse of the triangular wave shape shown for the complete vertical synchronizing pulse. Although the total sync signal (including horizontal information) is applied to the circuit of Fig. 83, therefore, only vertical synchronization information appears at the output.

The vertical synchronizing pulses are repeated in the total sync signal at the field frequency of 60 per second. Therefore, the integrated output voltage across the capacitor of the RC circuit of Fig. 83 can be coupled to the vertical scanning generator to provide vertical synchronization. The six equalizing pulses immediately preceding and following the vertical pulse improve the accuracy of the vertical synchronization for better interlacing. The equalizing pulses that precede the vertical pulses make the average value of applied voltage more nearly the same for even and odd fields, so that the integrated voltage across the capacitor adjusts to practically equal values for the two fields before the vertical pulse begins. The equalizing pulses that follow the vertical pulse minimize any difference in the trailing edge of the vertical synchronizing signal for even and odd fields.

In fringe areas, two conditions complicate the process of sync separation. First, the incoming signal available at the antenna is weak and susceptible to fading and other variations; second, the receiver is operating at or near maximum gain, which makes it extremely susceptible to interference from pulse-type noise generated by certain types of electrical equipment, ignition systems, switches, or the like. Some type of **noise-immunity** provision is almost essential for acceptable performance. Noise may be reduced or eliminated from the sync and agc circuits by gating or by a combination of gating, inversion, and cancellation. An example, of the latter method is shown in Fig. 84. In this circuit the 6GY6, which has two independent control grids, serves the dual function of age amplifier and noise inverter. Because the sync tips of the video signal at grid No. 1 of the 6GY6 drive the tube near its cutoff region, any noise signal extending above the tip level will appear inverted across the grid-No.2 load resistor R. This inverted noise signal is re-combined with the video signal and fed to the sync separator at point "A" in Fig. 84, where noise cancellation takes place. This process leaves the sync pulses relatively free of disturbing noise and results in a stable picture.



Fig. 84-Typical noise-cancellation circuit.

To prevent reduction of receiver gain due to the effect of noise on the agc amplifier, a portion of the inverted noise signal is fed to the second control grid, grid No.3, of the 6GY6 to cut off or gate the agc amplifier when a noise pulse occurs.

Horizontal Deflection

In the horizontal-deflection stages of a television receiver, a current that varies linearly with time and has a sufficient peak-to-peak amplitude must be passed through the horizontal-deflection-yoke winding to develop magnetic field adequate to deflect the electron beam of the television picture tube. (This type of deflection is different from that used in a cathode-ray oscilloscope, where the beam is deflected electrostatically.) After the beam is deflected completely across the face of the picture tube, it must be returned very quickly to its starting point. (As explained previously, the beam is extinguished during this retrace by the blanking pulse incorporated in the composite video signal, or in some cases by additional external blanking derived from the horizontaldeflection system.)

The simplest form of a deflection circuit is shown in Fig. 85. In this circuit, the yoke impedance L is assumed to be a perfect inductor. When the



Fig. 85-Simplest form of deflection circuit.

switch is closed, the yoke current starts from zero and increases linearly. At any time t, the current i is equal to Et/L, where E is the applied voltage. When the switch is opened at a later time t₁, the current instantly drops from a value of Et_1/L to zero.

Although the basic circuit of Fig. 85 crudely approaches the requirements for deflection, it presents some obvious problems and limitations. The voltage across the switch becomes extremely high, theoretically approaching infinity. In addition, if very little of the total time is spent at zero current, the circuit would require a tremendous amount of dc power. Furthermore, the operation of the switch would be rather critical with regard to both its opening and its closing. Finally, because the deflection field would be phased in only one direction, the beam would have to be centered at the extreme left of the screen for zero voke current.

If a capacitor is placed across the switch, as shown in Fig. 86, the yoke



Fig. 86—Addition of capacitor to permit flyback ringing, and yoke-current (upper) and switch-voltage (lower) waveforms.

current still increases linearly when the switch is closed at time t = 0. However, when the switch is opened at time $t = t_0$, a tuned circuit is formed by the parallel combination of L and C. The resulting yoke currents and switch voltages are then as shown in Fig. 86. The current is at a maximum when the voltage equals zero, and the voltage is at a maximum when the current equals zero. If it is assumed that there are no losses, the ringing frequency f_{oxe} is equal to $1/(2\pi\sqrt{LC})$.

If the switch is closed again at any time the capacitor voltage is not equal to zero, an infinite switch current flows as a result of the capacitive discharge. However, if the switch is closed at the precise moment t_2 that the capacitor curvoltage equals zero, the capacitor current effortlessly transfers to the switch, and a new transient condition results. Fig. 87 shows the yoke-current and switch-voltage waveforms for this new condition.

If the switch is again opened at t_1 , closed at t_3 , and so on, the desired



Fig. 87—Yoke-current (upper) and switchvoltage (lower) waveforms when switch is closed at t₂.

sweep results, the peak switch voltage is finite, and the average supply current is zero. The deflection system is then lossless and efficient and, because the average yoke current is zero, beam decentering is avoided. The only fault of the circuit of Fig. 86 is the critical timing of the switch, particularly at time $t = t_2$. However, if the switch is shunted by a damper diode, as shown in Fig. 88, the diode acts as a closed switch as soon as the capacitor voltage reverses slightly. The switch may then be closed at any time between t_2 and t_3 .



Fig. 88-Incorporation of damper diode.

Fig. 89 shows a typical horizontaloutput-and-deflection circuit used in television receivers. In addition to supplying the deflection energy required for horizontal deflection of the picture-tube beam, this circuit provides the high dc voltage required for the ultor (anode) of the picture tube and the "boosted" B voltage for other portions of the receiver. The horizontal-output tube is usually a beam power tube such as the 6JB6A, 6JG6A, or 6LQ6/6JE6C.

In this circuit, a sawtooth voltage from the horizontal-oscillator tube is applied to the grid No. 1 of the horizontal-output tube. When this voltage rises above the cutoff point of the output tube, the tube conducts a sawtooth of plate current which is fed through the auto-transformer to the horizontal-deflecting yoke. At the end of the horizontal-scanning cycle, which lasts for 63.4 microseconds, the sawtooth voltage on the grid suddenly cuts off the output tube. This sudden change sets up an oscillation of about 50 to 70 kHz in the output circuit, which may be considered as an inductor shunted by the stray capacitance of the circuit. During the first half of this oscillation, a positive voltage appears across the transformer. In the



Fig. 89—Typical horizontal-deflection and high-voltage circuit.

second half of the cycle, the voltage swings below the plate supply voltage, and the damper diode conducts, damping out the oscillation. At the same time, the current through the deflecting yoke reverses and reaches its negative peak. As the damper-diode current decays to zero, the output tube begins to conduct again. The yoke current, therefore, is composed of current resulting from damper-diode conduction followed by output-tube conduction.

When the output tube is suddenly cut off, the high-voltage pulse produced is increased by means of an extra winding on the transformer. This highvoltage pulse charges a high-voltage capacitor through the high-voltage rectifier. The output of this circuit is the dc high-voltage supply for the picture tube. The high-voltage rectifier also obtains its filament power through a separate winding on the horizontal-output transformer.

Current flowing through the damper diode charges the "boost" capacitor through the damper portion of the transformer winding. The polarity of the charge on the capacitor is such that the voltage at the low end of the winding is increased above the plate supply voltage, or B+. This higher voltage or "boost" is used for the output-tube plate supply, and may also supply the deflection oscillators and other lowcurrent-drain circuits in the receiver.

Vertical Deflection

The vertical-deflection circuit in a television receiver is essentially a class A audio amplifier with a complex load line, severe low-frequency requirements (much lower than 60 Hz), and a need for controlled linearity. The equivalent low-frequency response for a 10-percent deviation from linearity is 1 Hz.

The required performance can be obtained in a vertical-deflection circuit in any of three ways. The amplifier may be designed to provide a flat response down to 1 Hz. This design, however, requires an extremely large output transformer and immense capacitors. Another arrangement is to design the amplifier for fairly good low-frequency response and predistort the generated signal. The third method is to provide extra gain so that feedback techniques can be used to provide linearity. If loop feedback of 20 or 30 dB is used, tube gain variations and nonlinearities become fairly insignificant. The feedback automatically provides the necessary "predistortion" to correct lowfrequency limitations. In addition, the coupling of miscellaneous signals (such as power-supply hum or horizontaldeflection signals) in the amplifying loop is suppressed.

A modified multivibrator in which the vertical-output tube is part of the oscillator circuit is used in the verticaldeflection stage of many television receivers. This stage supplies the deflecrequired for vertical tion energy deflection of the picture-tube beam. A simplified combined vertical-oscillatoroutput stage is shown in Fig. 90. Waveshapes at critical points of the circuit are included to illustrate the development of the desired current through the vertical-output transformer and deflecting yoke.

The current waveform through the deflecting yoke and output transformer should be a sawtooth to provide the desired deflection. The grid and plate voltage waveforms of the output tube could also be sawtooth except for the effect of the inductive components in the yoke and transformer. The effect of these inductive components must be taken into consideration, however, particularly during retrace. The fast rate of current change during retrace time (which is approximately 1/15 as long as trace



Fig. 90-Simplified combined vertical-oscillator-and-output stage.

time) causes a high-voltage pulse at the plate which could give a trapezoidal waveshape to the plate voltage and cause increased plate current, excess damping, and lengthened retrace time. However, the grid voltage is made sufficiently negative during retrace to keep the tube close to cutoff, as described below.

The frequency, and the relative deviation of the positive and negative portions of each cycle, are dependent on the values of resistors R_1 and R_3 and the RC combination R₃C₂, as explained in the section on multivibrators. The desired trapezoidal waveshape at the grid of V_2 is created by capacitor C_1 and resistor R₂. If R₂ were equal to zero, C_1 would cause the grid-voltage waveshape to take the form shown in Fig. 91(a). When R_2 is sufficiently large, C1 does not discharge completely when V_1 conducts. When V_1 is cut off, therefore, the voltage on the grid of V₂ immediately rises to the voltage across C_1 . The resulting waveshape is shown in Fig. 91(b). The negative-going pulse of the grid-voltage waveshape prevents the high plate pulse from causing excess conduction, and thereby prevents overdamping.



Fig. 91—Waveforms showing effect of R₂ in Fig. 90.

This vertical-deflection stage utilizes twin-triode tubes such as the 6DR7 and 6GF7A. The 6GF7A is particularly suitable for this application because it incorporates dissimilar units to provide for the different operating requirements of the oscillator and output sections.

High-Voltage Regulation

In color television receivers, it is very important to regulate the highvoltage supply for the picture tube. Poor regulation of the high voltage can adversely affect the performance of the focusing and convergence circuits so that picture blooming results. In addition, excessive voltage or current may be applied to the high-voltage rectifier, horizontal-output tube, and horizontaloutput (flyback) transformer so that the useful life of these components is substantially shortened. In modern color television receivers, regulation of the high voltage is accomplished by use of a shunt-type electronic voltage regulator connected across the output of the highvoltage power supply or by use of a pulse-type regulator connected in shunt with the flyback transformer.

Shunt Regulator Circuit—Fig. 92 shows the schematic diagram of a typical shunt regulator circuit. This circuit uses a 6BK4C/6EL4 or 6EN4 sharpcutoff beam triode for the regulator tube and is suitable for regulation of the output of a high-voltage, high-impedance supply. The cathode of the regulator beam triode is held at a fixed positive potential with respect to ground. Because the grid potential is kept slightly less positive by the voltage drop across resistor R_2 , the tube operates in the negative grid region and no grid current is drawn.

When the output voltage, e_0 , rises as a result of a decrease in load current,



Fig. 92—High-voltage regulator circuit for color television.

a small fraction of the additional voltage is applied to the grid of the tube by the voltage-divider circuit consisting of R_1 and R_2 . This increased grid voltage causes the tube to draw an increased current from the unregulated supply. The increased current, in turn, causes a voltage drop across the high internal impedance of the unregulated supply, R_s , which tends to counteract the original rise of the voltage. If desired, the grid may be connected to a variable point on the voltage divider to allow some adjustment of the output-voltage level.

The grid voltage for the regulator can also be obtained from a tap on the B-boost voltage supply. The use of this lower voltage (about 375 volts) eliminates the need for costly and troublesome high-voltage resistors. In this arrangement, variations in high voltage also vary the tapped-down B-boost voltage at the regulator grid, and the resulting variations in conduction of the regulator increase or decrease the loading of the high-voltage supply so that the total load remains nearly constant.

The shunt regulator circuit, in effect, presents a variable load impedance to the output of the high-voltage rectifier. Because the regulator is connected directly across the output of the rectifier, the regulator tube is required to handle the full amount of the high voltage (approximately 25 kilovolts) applied to the picture tube. The tube area, therefore, must be well shielded to provide adequate X-ray protection, and a relatively large area is required for voltage insulation. In addition, the high-voltage rectifier is required to conduct full-load current continuously. The shunt regulator maintains a constant high voltage by sensing changes in the B Boost voltage, which are indicative of changes in beam current, and increasing or decreasing conduction accordingly.

Pulse Regulator Circuit—In я pulse-regulator system, the regulator circuit is effectively shunted across part of the horizontal winding of the horizontal-output transformer. During operation, the pulse-regulator circuit maintains a substantially constant pulse amplitude in the primary winding of the horizontal-output transformer with changing loads on the high-voltage power supply. A constant-amplitude, stepped-up pulse is then applied to the high-voltage rectifier tube, and the high voltage developed from this pulse is maintained at a constant value. In the pulse-regulator system, regulator control is achieved by sampling the picturetube current by means of a special winding on the fly-back transformer and use of the resultant voltage drop (across a resistor) to control the grid circuit of the regulator tube.

Fig. 93 shows the schematic diagram and significant waveforms for a circuit that uses a 17KV6A beam-power pentode for the regulator tube. During trace and retrace, the cathode of the 17KV6A is held at B+. During the trace period, the screen grid of the 17KV6A is biased well below the cathode voltage and is unaffected by the beam current drawn by the picture tube. The control-grid bias is determined by the resistive voltage-divider network R₂, R_3 , R_4 , and R_5 and is directly dependent on the beam current of the picture tube. The damper tube conducts during the trace period and holds the plate potential of the 17KV6A at B+. With the plate-to-cathode potential at zero and the screen grid negative with respect to the cathode, the regulator tube is completely cut off during the trace period. At the start of the retrace period, however, the damper tube becomes reverse-biased, and the voltage on the plate of the regulator tube begins to rise. This increasing voltage is coupled to the screen grid through C_1 and R_1 and to the control grid through the interelectrode capacitance of the tube.

The waveforms in Fig. 93 show that at the start of retrace the plate and screen grid of the 17KV6A have both been driven positive with respect to the cathode and the control grid has become less negative with respect to the cathode. The regulator tube then begins to conduct. The pulses impressed on the screen and control grids are short in duration so that the screen grid remains positive with respect to the cathode and the control grid remains near cathode potential for only a short time. The regulator tube is driven into conduction for approximately 2 to 4 microseconds at the start of retrace and is then cut off. As the beam current increases or decreases, the voltage developed across the re-



Fig. 93—Schematic diagram and significant waveforms for a typical pulse-regulator circuit.

sistive voltage-divider network R_2 , R_3 , R_4 , and R_5 tracks these changes and is applied to the control grid of the regulator tube. In this way, the conduction of the regulator tube is increased or decreased as required to maintain a constant high-voltage output. By re-

moval of the energy from the rising edge of the flyback pulse in this fashion, the height of the pulse used to develop the high voltage is controlled. At the same time interference with the shape of the deflection pulse is held to a minimum.
Color Demodulation

In the transmission of picture signals for color-television receivers, all the color information is contained in three signals, a luminance (black-andwhite) or monochrome signal and two chrominance signals. The luminance signal, which is called the Y signal, contains brightness information only. The voltage response of the Y signal is made similar to the brightness response of the human eve by use of a composite signal that contains definite proportions of the red, green, and blue signals from the color-television camera (30 per cent red, 59 per cent green, and 11 per cent blue). This Y signal, which includes sync and blanking pulses, provides a correct monochrome picture in a conventional black-and-white television receiver.

For the generation of color-television signals, the Y signal is subtracted from the red, green, and blue signals to provide a new set of color-difference signals, which are designated as R-Y, B-Y, and G-Y. All of the original picture information is contained in the Y signal, the R-Y signal, and the B-Y signal. Therefore, the G-Y signal is not contained in the transmitted signal, but is synthesized in the receiver by proper combination of the R-Y and B-Y signals.

(Color signals transmitted under present color-television standards are not R-Y and B-Y, but a similar pair of signals designated as I and Q. In the color-television receiver, R-Y and B-Y signals are demodulated directly from the I and Q signals with negligible loss of color quality. For purposes of simplicity, only R-Y and B-Y signals are considered in this explanation. In addition, a 90-degree phase-shift network is shown; the phase-shift angle could be, and often is, some other value.)

Because the luminance signal and the two color-difference signals must be transmitted with a standard 6-MHz channel, the two color signals are combined into one signal at the transmitter and are independently recovered at the receiver by proper detection techniques. A color subcarrier of approximately 3.58 MHz is used for transmitting the color information within the 6-MHz spectrum of the television station. As shown in Fig. 94. the 3.58-MHz subcarrier and one of the color-difference signals are applied directly to a balanced AM modulator. The other color-difference signal is applied directly to a second balanced AM modulator, and the 3.58-MHz subcarrier is applied to this second modulator through a 90-degree phase-shifting network. The balanced modulators effectively cancel both the individual colordifference signals and the subcarrier signal, and the output contains only the sidebands of the combined chrominance signal.

Recovery of the color information at the receiver involves a process called **synchronous detection.** In this process, two separate detectors are used to recover the separate color information, just as two separate modulators were used to combine the information at the transmitter. The 3.58-MHz subcarrier, which was suppressed during transmission, must be reinserted at the receiver for recovery of the color information.



Fig. 94—Formation of combined color signal for transmission.



Fig. 95-Separation of combined color signal into two signals at the receiver.

The basis of synchronous detection is the phase relationship of this reinserted 3.58-MHz subcarrier.

For example, the original color information is represented in Fig. 94 by the color-difference signals A and B. At the receiver, the combined color signal is fed to two demodulators A and B, as shown in Fig. 95. At the same time, a 3.58-MHz subcarrier is also fed to the two demodulators, with the same phase relationship that was used in the modulators at the transmitter. This locally generated subcarrier essentially duplicates or replaces the original subcarrier, which was removed at the transmitter.

The local 3.58-MHz oscillator in the color-television receiver is made to function at the proper frequency and phase by means of a synchronizing signal sent out by the transmitter. This synchronizing signal consists of a short **burst** of 3.58-MHz signals transmitted during the horizontal blanking interval, immediately after the horizontal sync pulse, as shown in Fig. 96.



Fig. 96—Waveform for synchronizing signal.

Fig. 97 shows a simplified diagram of a low-level color demodulator fre-

quently used in color-television receivers. The locally generated 3.58-MHz signal is applied to the grid No. 3 of the pentode. The transmitted color signal containing the 3.58-MHz sidebands is applied to grid No. 1. The phase of the 3.58-MHz color signal constantly changes in accordance with its color content. For example, the following table shows six variations in color (hue) as a function of subcarrier phase:

Subcarrier Phase-degrees (with respect to 3.58-MHz local signal in phase with burst)	Hue
13	Yellow
77	Red
119	Magenta
193	Blue
257	Cyan
299	Green
TTL . 1 . 1	

The basic operating principle of the color demodulator shown in Fig. 97 is that plate current from the pentode is zero (or quite low) unless both grid No. 1 and grid No. 3 are simultaneously positive. For example, when the signals applied to the two grids are in phase, plate current can be expected to flow for 180 degrees of each ac cycle. Conversely, when the signals are 180 degrees out of phase. plate current is cut off. The output signal from the detector, therefore, is a function of the phase relationship between the transmitted color signal and the locally generated subcarrier.

In a typical color-television receiver, two color demodulators of the type shown in Fig. 97 are required. In one demodulator, the 3.58-MHz subcarrier signal is applied directly to the pentode grid No. 3 from the local "burst" oscillator. In the other demodulator, the 3.58-MHz signal from the



Fig. 97-Low-level color demodulator.

burst oscillator is shifted 90 degrees in phase before it is applied to the pentode grid No. 3. As shown previously in Fig. 95, the demodulator B produces R-Y signals. These B-Y and R-Y signals are then combined (matrixed) to produce the G-Y signal, as discussed earlier. The complete luminance signal is then amplified to the required level in a conventional videoamplifier circuit.

In some color-television receivers, the demodulators are designed so that the color output signals can be applied directly to the color picture tube. In the diagram shown in Fig. 98, for example, the 6JH8 sheet-beam demodula-



Fig. 98—Block diagram of demodulator circuit used to apply signals directly to color picture tube.

tors produce both positive and negative B-Y and R-Y signals. The positive signals are applied directly to the control grids (grid No. 1) of the blue and red guns of the color picture tube. At the same time, the negative color-difference signals are added (matrixed) in the correct proportions to produce the G-Y signal, which is applied to grid No. 1 of the green gun.

Oscillation

As an oscillator, an electron tube can be employed to generate a continuously alternating voltage. In presentradio broadcast receivers, this dav application is limited practically to superheterodyne receivers for supplying the heterodyning frequency. Several circuits (represented in Fig. 99) may be utilized, but they all depend on feeding more energy from the plate circuit to the grid circuit than is required to equal the power loss in the grid circuit. Feedback may be produced by electrostatic or electromagnetic coupling between the grid and plate circuits. When sufficient energy is fed back to more than compensate for the loss in the grid circuit, the tube will oscillate.





Fig. 99—Tuned-grid triode oscillator circuit: (a) using filament-type tube; (b) using heater-cathode-type tube.

The action consists of regular surges of power between the plate and the grid circuit at a frequency dependent on the circuit constants of inductance and capacitance. By proper choice of these values, the frequency may be adjusted over a very wide range.

Multivibrators

Relaxation oscillators, which are widely used in present-day electronic equipment, are used to produce nonsinusoidal waveshapes such as rectangular and sawtooth pulses. Probably the most common relaxation oscillator is the multivibrator, which may be considered as a two-stage resistance-coupled amplifier in which the output of each tube is coupled into the input of the other tube.

Fig. 100 is a basic multivibrator circuit of the free-running type. In this circuit, oscillations are maintained by the alternate shifting of conduction from one tube to the other. The cycle usually starts with one tube, V_1 , at zero bias. and the other, V_2 , at cutoff or beyond. At this point, the capacitor C1 is charged sufficiently to cut off V_2 . C_1 then begins to discharge through the resistor R₄, and the voltage on the grid of V₂ rises until V₂ begins to conduct. The voltage on the plate of V_2 then decreases, causing V_1 to conduct less and less. At the same time, the plate voltage of V₁ begins to rise, causing V₂ to conduct still more heavily. Because of the amplification, this cumulative effect builds up extremely fast, and conduction switches from V_1 to V_2



Fig. 100—Basic multivibrator circuit of the free-running type.

within a few microseconds, depending on the circuit components.

In this circuit, therefore, conduction switches from V_1 to V_2 over the interval during which C_1 discharges from the voltage across R_4 to the cutoff voltage for V_2 . The actual transfer of conduction does not occur until cutoff is reached. Conduction switches back to V_1 through a similar process to complete the cycle. The plate waveform is essentially rectangular in shape, and may be adjusted as to symmetry, frequency, and amplitude by proper choice of circuit constants, tubes, and voltages.

Although this type of multivibrator is free-running, it may be triggered by pulses of a given amplitude and frequency to provide a frequency-stabilized output. Multivibrator circuits may also be designed so that they are not freerunning, but must be triggered externally to shift conduction from one tube to the other. Depending on the type of circuit, conduction may shift back to the first tube after a given time interval, or the second tube may continue conducting until another trigger signal is applied.

Synchroguide Circuits

The "synchroguide" is a controlled type of oscillator used in television receivers to generate and control the synchronized sawtooth voltage necessary for adequate line- or horizontal-frequency scanning. A simplified synchroguide circuit is shown in Fig. 101. This circuit provides stable, noise-free control of a blocking oscillator which generates a horizontal-frequency signal. It permits comparison of the received sync pulses and the generated sawtooth voltages so that properly locked-in horizontal scanning results.

The triode V_2 in Fig. 101 is a conventional blocking oscillator which enables a sawtooth voltage to be developed across the capacitor C_2 . A portion of this sawtooth is fed back to the grid of



Fig. 101-Simplified synchroguide circuit.

the control tube, V_1 . The positive sync pulses are also applied to the grid of

 V_1 . The waveforms shown in Fig. 102 illustrate the sawtooth and sync pulses (A and B) and their proper "in-sync"



Fig. 102—Sawtooth and sync pulses in synchroguide circuit.

combination (C). The sync pulse occurs partly during the portion of the sawtooth voltage in which the triode V_1 draws current. Any shift in sync pulse as it is superimposed on the sawtooth, therefore, will affect the amount of conduction of the control tube. A change in control-tube conduction ultimately affects the bias on the oscillatortube grid by changing the voltage to which the capacitor C_1 in the cathode circuit may charge. An increase in the positive bias increases the frequency of oscillation.

For example, waveform D in Fig. 102 illustrates a condition in which the sawtooth voltage is advanced in phase with respect to the sync pulses. The widening of the pulse which occurs at the corner of the sawtooth waveform allows the control tube to conduct more current and, consequently, allows the capacitor C_1 to charge to a higher voltage. This increased reference voltage also appears in the grid circuit of V_2 and makes the grid more positive. The increased grid voltage then speeds up the frequency of oscillations until proper synchronization results.

The blocking oscillator can be made more immune to changes in frequency and noise if V_2 is brought out of cutoff very sharply. This effect is obtained by sine-wave stabilization. The tuned circuit L_8C_3 in the plate circuit of Fig. 101 superimposes a shock-excited sine wave on the plate and grid waveforms, as shown in Fig. 103.

Automatic Frequency Control

An automatic frequency control





(afc) circuit provides a means of correcting automatically the intermediate frequency of a superheterodyne receiver when, for any reason, it drifts from the frequency to which the if stages are tuned. This correction is made by adjusting the frequency of the oscillator. Such a circuit will automatically compensate for slight changes in rf carrier or oscillator frequency as well as for inaccurate manual or push-button tuning.

An afc system requires two sections: a frequency detector and a variable reactance. The detector section may be essentially the same as the FM detector illustrated in Fig. 30 and discussed under **Detection**. In the afc system, however, the output is a dc control voltage, the magnitude of which is proportional to the amount of frequency shift. This dc control voltage is used to control the grid bias of an electron tube which comprises the variable reactance section (Fig. 104).



Fig. 104—Automatic-frequency-control (afc) circuit.

The plate current of the reactance tube is shunted across the oscillator tank circuit. Because the plate current and plate voltage of the reactance tube are almost 90 degrees out of phase, the control tube affects the tank circuit in the same manner as a reactance. The grid bias of the tube determines the magnitude of the effiective reactance and, consequently, a control of this grid bias can be used to control the oscillator frequency.

Automatic frequency control is also used in television receivers to keep the horizontal oscillator in step with the horizontal-scanning frequency (15,750 Hz) at the transmitter. A widely used horizontal afc circuit is shown in Fig. 105. This circuit, which is often referred balanced-phase-detector or to as a nhase-discriminator circuit, is usually employed to control the frequency of a multivibrator-type horizontal-oscillator circuit. The 6AL5 detector supplies a dc control voltage to the grid of the horizontal-oscillator tube which counteracts changes in its operating frequency. The magnitude and polarity of the control voltages are determined by phase relationships in the afc circuit at a given moment.

The horizontal sync pulses obtained from the sync-separator circuit are fed through a single-triode phase-inverter or phase-splitter circuit to the two diode units of the 6AL5. Because of the action of the phase-inverter circuit, the signals applied to the two diode units are equal in amplitude but 180 degrees out of



Fig. 105—Balanced phase-detector or phase-discriminator circuit for horizontal afc.

phase. A reference sawtooth voltage obtained from the horizontal output circuit is also applied simultaneously to both units. Any change in the oscillator frequency alters the phase relationship between the reference sawtooth and the incoming horizontal sync pulses, causing one diode unit of the 6AL5 to conduct more heavily than the other, and thus producing a correction signal. The system remains balanced at all times, therefore, because momentary changes in oscillator frequency are instantaneously corrected by the action of the control voltage.

The diode units of the 6AL5 are biased so that conduction takes place only during the tips of the sync pulses. The relative position of the sync pulses on the retrace portion of the sawtooth waveform at any given instant determines which diode unit conducts more heavily, and thereby establishes the magnitude and polarity of the control voltage. The network between the diode units and the grid of the horizontaloscillator tube is essentially a low-pass filter which prevents the horizontal sync pulses from affecting the horizontaloscillator performance.

Frequency Conversion

Frequency conversion is used in superheterodyne receivers to change the frequency of the rf signal to an intermediate frequency. To perform this change in frequency, a frequency-converting device consisting of an oscillator and a frequency mixer is employed. In such a device, shown diagrammatically in Fig. 106, two voltages of different frequency, the rf signal voltage and the voltage generated by the oscillator, are applied to the input of the frequency mixer. These voltages beat, or heterodyne, within the mixer tube to produce a plate current having, in addition to





the frequencies of the input voltages, numerous sum and difference frequencies.

The output circuit of the mixer stage is provided with a tuned circuit which is adjusted to select only one beat frequency, *i.e.*, the frequency equal to the difference between the signal frequency and the oscillator frequency The selected output frequency is known as the intermediate frequency, or if. The output frequency of the mixer tube is kept constant for all values of signal frequency by tuning the oscillator to the proper frequency.

Important advantages gained in a receiver by the conversion of signal frequency to a fixed intermediate frequency are high selectivity with few tuning stages and a high, as well as stable, overall gain for the receiver.

Several methods of frequency conversion for superheterodyne receivers are of interest. These methods are alike in that they employ a frequency-mixer tube in which plate current is varied at a combination frequency of the signal frequency and the oscillator frequency. These variations in plate current produce across the tuned plate load a voltage of the desired intermediate frequency. The methods differ in the types of tubes employed and in the means of supply input voltages to the mixer tube.

A method widely used before the availability of tubes especially designed for frequency-conversion service, and currently used in many FM, television, and standard broadcast receivers, employs as mixer tube either a triode, a tetrode, or a pentode, in which oscillator voltage and signal voltage are applied to the same grid. In this method, coupling between the oscillator and mixer circuits is obtained by means of inductance or capacitance.

A second method employs a tube having an oscillator and frequency mixer combined in the same envelope. In one form of such a tube, coupling between the two units is obtained by means of the electron stream within the tube. Because five grids are used, the tube is called a pentagrid converter.

Grids No. 1 and No. 2 and the

cathode are connected to an external circuit to act as a triode oscillator. Grid No. 1 is the grid of the oscillator and grid No. 2 is the anode. Grid No. 2 is connected within the tube to the screen grid (grid No. 4). The combined two grids, Nos. 2 and 4, shield the signal grid (grid No. 3) and act as the composite anode of the oscillator triode. Grid No. 5 acts as the suppressor grid.

Converter tubes of this type are designed so that the space charge around the cathode is unaffected by electrons from the signal grid. Furthermore, the electrostatic field of the signal grid also has little effect on the space charge. The result is that rf voltage on the signal grid produces little effect on the cathode current. There is, therefore, little detuning of the oscillator by avc bias because changes in avc bias produce little charge in oscillator transconductance or in the input capacitance of grid No. 1.

Examples of the pentagrid converters discussed in the preceding paragraph are the single-ended types 1R5 and 6BE6. A schematic diagram illustrating the use of the 6BE6 with selfexcitation is given in Fig. 107. The 6BE6 may also be used with separate excitation. A complete circuit is shown in the Circuits section.



Fig. 107—Frequency-converter circuit using the 6BE6 pentagrid converter with selfexcitation.

A further method of frequency conversion employs a tube called a pentagrid mixer. This type has two independent control grids and is used with a separate oscillator tube. RF signal voltage is applied to one of the control grids and oscillator voltage is applied to the other. It follows, therefore, that the variations in plate current are due to the combination of the oscillator and signal frequencies.

The tube contains a heater-cathode, five grids, and a plate. Grids Nos. 1 and 3 are control grids. The rf signal voltage is applied to grid No. 1. This grid has a remote-cutoff characteristic and is suited for control by avc bias voltage. The oscillator voltage is applied to grid No. 3. This grid has a sharp-cutoff characteristic and produces a comparatively large effect on plate current for a small amount of oscillator voltage. Grids Nos. 2 and 4 are connected together within the tube. They accelerate the electron stream and shield grid No. 3 electrostatically from the other electrodes. Grid No. 5, connected within the tube to the cathode, functions similarly to the suppressor grid in a pentode.

In the converter or mixer stage of a television receiver, stable oscillator operation is most readily obtained when separate tubes or tube sections are used for the oscillator and mixer functions. A typical television mixer-oscillator circuit is shown in Fig. 108. In such circuits, the oscillator voltage is applied to the mixer grid by inductive coupling, capacitive coupling, or a combination of the two. Tubes containing electrically independent oscillator and mixer units in the same envelope, such as the 6EA8 and 6KE8 are designed especially for this application.



circuit.

Tuning Indication With Electron-Ray Tubes

Electron-ray tubes are designed to indicate visually by means of a fluorescent target the effects of a change in controlling voltage. One application of them is as tuning indicators in radio receivers. Types such as the 6U5 and the 6E5 contain two main parts: (1) a triode which operates as a dc amplifier and (2) an electron-ray indicator which is located in the bulb as shown in Fig. 109. The target is operated at a positive voltage and, therefore, attracts electrons from the cathode. When the electrons strike the target they produce a glow on the fluorescent coating of the target appears as a ring of light.

A ray-control electrode is mounted between the cathode and target. When the potential of this electrode is less positive than the target, electrons flowing to the target are repelled by the electrostatic field of the electrode, and do not reach that portion of the target behind the electrode. Because the target does not glow where it is shielded from electrons, the control electrode casts a



Fig. 109-Structure of electron-ray tube.

shadow on the glowing target. The extent of this shadow varies from approximately 100 degrees of the target when the control electrode is much more negative than the target to 0 degrees when the control electrode is at approximately the same potential as the target.

In the application of the electronray tube, the potential of the control electrode is determined by the voltage on the grid of the triode section, as can be seen in Fig. 110. The flow of the triode plate current through resistor R produces a voltage drop which determines the potential of the control electrode. When the voltage of the triode grid changes in the positive direction, plate current increases, the potential of the control electrode goes down because of the increased drop across R, and the shadow angle widens. When the potential of the triode grid changes in the negative direction, the shadow angle narrows.



Fig. 110—Indicating circuit using an electron-ray tube.

Another type of indicator tube is the 6AF6G. This tube contains only an indicator unit but employs two ray-control electrodes mounted on opposite sides of the cathode and connected to individual base pins. It employs an external dc amplifier. (See Fig. 111.) Thus. two symmetrically opposite shadow angles may be obtained by connecting the two ray-control electrodes together; or, two unlike patterns may be obtained by individual connection of each ray-control electrode to its respective amplifier.

In radio receivers, avc voltage is applied to the grid of the dc amplifier.



R: TYPICAL VALUE 15 0.5 MEGOHM Fig. 111—Indicating circuit using 6AF6G electron-ray tube and external dc amplifier.

Because avc voltage is at maximum when the set is tuned to give maximum response to a station, the shadow angle is at minimum when the receiver is tuned to resonance with the desired station.

The choice between electron-ray tubes depends on the avc characteristic of the receiver. The 6E5 contains a sharp-cutoff triode which closes the shadow angle on a comparatively low value of avc voltage. The 6U5 has a remote-cutoff triode which closes the shadow on a larger value of avc voltage than the 6E5. The 6AF6G may be used in conjunction with dc amplifier tubes having either remote- or sharp-cutoff characteristics.

Electron Tube Installation

THE installation of electron tubes requires care if reliable performance is to be obtained from the associated circuits. Installation suggestions and precautions which are generally common to all types of tubes are covered in this section. Additional pertinent information is given under each tube type and in the **Circuits** section.

Filament and Heater Power Supply

The design of electron tubes allows for some variation in the voltage and current supplied to the filament or heater, but most satisfactory results are obtained from operation at the rated values. When the voltage is low, the temperature of the cathode is below normal, with the result that electron emission is limited. The limited emission may cause unsatisfactory operation and reduced tube life. On the other hand, high heater voltage may cause rapid evaporation of cathode material and shorten tube life.

To insure proper tube operation, it is important that the filament or heater voltage be checked at the socket terminals by means of a high-resistance voltmeter while the equipment is in operation. In the case of series operation of heaters or filaments, correct adjustment can be checked by means of an ammeter in the heater or filament circuit.

The filament or heater voltage supply may be a direct-current source (a battery or a dc power line) or an alternating-current power line, depending on the type of service and type of tube. Ordinarily, a step-down transformer is used with an ac supply to provide the proper filament or heater voltage. Receivers intended for operation on both dc and ac power lines have the heaters connected in series with a suitable resistor and supplied directly from the power line.

Mobile and marine receivers have the heaters of the tubes connected directly across the battery supply.

Parallel heater operation usually requires a step-down transformer to reduce the 120 Vac line voltage to typically 6.3 Vac. Care must be taken to prevent excessive voltage drop in the heater circuit wiring which would result in incorrect voltage at the tube terminals.

Series heater operation eliminates the need for a step-down transformer and is economical when a number of tubes rated at the same heater current have a total heater voltage drop which adds up to an available supply voltage. A voltage-dropping resistor in series with the heaters and the supply line is usually required. This resistance should be of such value that for normal line voltage the tubes will operate at their rated heater current. The resistor value is calculated by the following formula.

Required resistance (ohms) =

supply volts — total rated volts of tubes rated amperes of tubes

The power dissipation of the resistor (in watts) is equal to the voltage drop of the resistor multiplied by the series string current in amperes. A resistor having a wattage rating well in excess of this value should be chosen.

A convenient means exists for obtaining a heater supply voltage drop without the disadvantage of a powerdissipating resistor. A diode in series with the 120 Vac line provides a half wave rectified sine wave of 84 V $(\sqrt{\frac{2}{2}} \times \text{RMS input})$. The diode po-

larity should be such as to operate the heaters negative. (See heater-cathode voltage below.) In TV receivers designed for instant-on operation such a series-connected diode can be used for stand-by operation (70% of rated heater voltage) of a 120 Vac series string.

Heater-Cathode Voltage

When the series-heater connection is used in equipment, it is advisable to arrange the heaters in the circuit so that tubes most sensitive to hum disturbances are at or near ground potential of the circuit. This arrangement reduces the amount of AC heatercathode voltage of these tubes and minimizes hum interference. Other tubes operated with grounded cathode, such as horizontal deflection amplifiers or tube insulated for high heater cathode voltage, such as damper, are more immune to heater-cathode leakage.

Typical orders of series-string connections, by tube function, are shown below.

Heater-type tubes may produce

hum as a result of conduction between heater and cathode or between heater and control grid, or by modulation of the electron stream by the alternating magnetic field surrounding the heater. When a large resistor is used between heater and cathode (as in series-connected heater strings), or when one side of the heater is grounded, even a minute pulsating leakage current between heater and cathode can develop a small voltage across the cathode-circuit impedance and cause objectionable hum. The use of a large cathode bypass capacitor is recommended to minimize this source of hum.

Much lower hum levels can be achieved when heaters are connected in parallel systems in which the center-tap of the heater supply is grounded or, preferably, connected to a positive bias source of 15 to 80 volts dc to reduce the flow of alternating current. The heater leads of the tubes should be twisted and kept away from high-impedance circuits. The balanced ac supply provides almost complete cancellation of the alternating-current components.

The balanced arrangement described above also minimizes heatergrid hum. High grid-circuit impedances should be avoided, if possible. High heater voltages should also be avoided because heater-cathode hum rises sharply when the heater voltage is increased above the published value.

Certain tube types are designed especially to minimize hum in highquality, high-fidelity audio equipment. Examples are the 5879, 7025, and 7199.



Fig. 112A—Order of series heater-string connection, by tube function, to minimize hum in a radio receiver.



Fig. 112B—Order of series heater-string connection, by tube function, to minimize hum in a TV receiver.

Plate Voltage Supply

The plate voltage for electron tubes is obtained from batteries, rectifiers, direct-current power lines, and small local generators. The maximum platevoltage value for any tube type should not be exceeded if most satisfactory performance is to be obtained. Plate voltage should not be applied to a tube unless the corresponding recommended voltage is also supplied to the grid.

It is recommended that the primary circuit of the power transformer be fused to protect the rectifier tube(s), the power transformer, filter capacitor, and chokes in case a rectifier tube fails.

Grid Voltage Supply

The recommended grid voltages for different operating conditions have been carefully determined to give the most satisfactory performance. Grid voltage may be obtained from a fixed source such as a separate C-battery or a tap on the voltage divider of the high-voltage dc supply, from the voltage drop across a resistor in the cathode circuit, or from the voltage drop across a resistor in the grid circuit. The first method is called "fixed bias"; the second is called "cathode bias" or "self bias"; the third is called "grid-resistor bias" and is sometimes incorrectly referred to in receiving-tube practice as "zero-bias operation."

In any case, the object is to make the grid negative with respect to the cathode by the specified voltage. When a C-battery is used, the negative terminal is connected to the grid return and the positive terminal is connected to the negative filament socket terminal, or to the cathode terminal if the tube is of the heater-cathode type. If the filament is supplied with alternating current, this connection is usually made to the center-tap of a low resistance (20 to 50 ohms) shunted across the filament terminals. This method reduces hum disturbances caused by the ac supply. If bias voltages are obtained from the voltage divider of a high-voltage dc supply, the grid return is connected to a more negative tap than the cathode.

The cathode-biasing method utilizes the voltage drop produced by the cathode current flowing through a resistor connected between the cathode and the negative terminal of the B-supply. (See Fig. 113.) The cathode current is, of course, equal to the plate current in the case of a triode, or to the sum of the plate and grid-No. 2 currents in the case of a tetrode, pentode, or beam power tube. Because the voltage drop along the resistance is increasingly negative with respect to the cathode, the required negative grid-bias voltage can be obtained by connecting the grid return to the negative end of the resistance.



Fig. 113—Typical grid-voltage supply circuits.

The value of the resistance tor cathode-biasing a single tube can be determined from the following formula: Resistance (ohms) =

desired grid-bias voltage \times 1000

rated cathode current in milliamperes Thus, the resistance required to produce 9 volts bias for a triode which operates at 3 milliamperes plate current is $9 \times 1000/3 = 3000$ ohms. If the cathode current of more than one tube passes through the resistor, or if the tube or tubes employ more than three electrodes, the total current determines the size of the resistor.

Bypassing of the cathode-bias resistor depends on circuit-design requirements. In rf circuits the cathode resistor usually is bypassed. In af circuits the use of an unbypassed resistor will reduce distortion by introducing degeneration into the circuit. However, the use of an unbypassed resistor decreases gain and power sensitivity. When bypassing is used, it is important that the bypass capacitor be sufficiently large to have negligible reactance at the lowest frequency to be amplified.

In the case of power-output tubes having high transconductance, such as beam power tubes, it may be necessary to shunt the bias resistor with a small mica capacitor (approximately 0.001#F) in order to prevent oscillations. The usual af bypass may or may not be used, depending on whether or not degeneration is desired. In tubes having high values of transconductance, such as the 6BA6, 6CB6A, and 6AC7, input capacitance and input conductance change appreciably with plate current. When such a tube having a separate suppressor-grid connection is used as an rf amplifier, these changes may be minimized by leaving a certain portion of the cathode-bias resistor unbypassed. In order to minimize feedback when this method is used, the external grid-No. 1to-plate (wiring) capacitances should be kept to a minimum, the grid No. 2 should be bypassed to ac ground, and the grid No. 3 should be connected to ac ground.

The use of a cathode resistor to obtain bias voltage is not recommended for amplifiers in which there is appreciable shift of electrode currents with the application of a signal. In such amplifiers, a separate fixed supply is recommended.

The grid-resistor biasing method is also a self-bias method because it utilizes the voltage drop across the grid resistor produced by small amounts of grid current flowing in the grid-cathode circuit. This current is due to (1) an electromotive potential difference between the materials comprising the grid and cathode and (2) grid rectification when the grid is driven positive. A large value of resistance is required in order to limit this current to a very small value and to avoid undesirable loading effects on the preceding stage.

Examples of this method of bias are given in the **Circuits** section. In these circuits, the audio amplifier type 1U5 or 12AV6 has a 10-megohm resistor between the grid and the negative filament or cathode to furnish the required bias, which is usually less than 1 volt. This method of biasing is used principally in the early voltage-amplifier stages (usually employing high-mu triodes) of audio amplifier circuits, where the tube dissipation will not be excessive under zero-signal conditions.

A grid resistor is also used in many oscillator circuits for obtaining the required bias. In these circuits, the grid voltage is relatively constant and its magnitude is usually in the order of 5 volts or more. Consequently, the bias voltage is obtained only through grid rectification. A relatively low value of resistor, 0.1 megohm or less, is used. Oscillator circuits employing this method of bias are given in the **Circuits** section.

Grid-bias variation for the rf and if amplifier stages is a convenient and frequently used method for controlling receiver volume. The variable voltage supplied to the grid may be obtained: (1) from a variable cathode resistor as shown in Figs. 114 and 115; (2) from a bleeder circuit by means of a potentiometer as shown in Fig. 116; or (3) from a bleeder circuit in which the bleeder current is varied by a tube



Fig. 114—Amplifier stage using a variable cathode-bias resistor for volume control.

used for automatic volume control. The latter circuit is shown in Fig 61.

In all cases it is important that the control be arranged so that at no time will the bias be less than the recommended minimum grid-bias voltage for the particular tubes used. This requirement can be met by providing a fixed stop on the potentiometer, by connecting a fixed resistance in series with the variable resistance, or by connecting a fixed cathode resistance in series with the variable resistance used for regulation. Where receiver gain is



Fig. 115—Amplifier stage similar to Fig. 114 but using heater-cathode-type tube.

controlled by grid-bias variation, it is advisable to have the control voltages extend over a wide range in order to minimize cross-modulation and modulation-distortion. A remote-cutoff type of tube should, therefore, be used in the controlled stages.



Fig. 116—Amplifier stage using a bleeder circuit and potentiometer for volume control.

In most tubes employing a unipotential cathode, a positive grid current begins to flow when the grid is slightly negative and increases rapidly as the grid is made more positive, as shown in Fig. 117. The value of grid voltage at which the grid-current curve intercepts the horizontal axis is determined by several different physical processes, including an electrothermal effect due to the differences in temperature and in material composition of the grid and the cathode, and by the positive grid current. For values of grid potentials which are larger than this intercept, the direction of the grid current is positive (i.e., from the cathode to the grid). At smaller values of grid potential, the direction of the grid current

Screen-Grid Voltage Supply

grid (grid No. 2) of screen-grid tubes

may be obtained from a tap on a volt-

age divider, from a potentiometer, or

from a series resistor connected to a

high-voltage source, depending on the

particular tube type and its application.

The screen-grid voltage for tetrodes

should be obtained from a voltage

divider or a potentiometer rather than

through a series resistor from a high-

voltage source because of the character-

istic screen-grid current variations of

tetrodes. Fig. 118 shows a tetrode with

its screen-grid voltage obtained from a

tubes are operated under conditions

where a large shift of plate and screen-

grid currents does not take place with

the application of the signal, the screen-

grid voltage may be obtained through

a series resistor from a high-voltage

When pentodes or beam power

potentiometer.

The positive voltage for the screen

is negative (*i.e.*, from the grid to the cathode).

Positive grid current consists of electrons emitted from the cathode which are intercepted by the control grid. Negative grid current, which becomes appreciable only when the grid potential is more negative than the value of the intercept, is a result of the emission of electrons from the heated control grid to the cathode, the effect of gas molecules in the tube, and the influence of leakage currents between the grid and cathode and the grid and the plate.

The value of grid potential at the intercept of the grid-current curve on the horizontal axis (often mistakenly called contact potential) may be as high as $1\frac{1}{2}$ volts. If the operating bias of the tube is less than this intercept, it is found that two effects are present. Direct current flows in the grid circuit, and the dynamic input resistance of the tube may be relatively low. It is generally desirable to supply the tube with a value of bias sufficiently high so that the operating point of the tube is not near the value of this intercept. If the value of the operating bias is near the value of the intercept, care should be taken to avoid undesirable effects in the grid circuit due to grid current or low input resistance.

Fig. 118—Tetrode circuit in which screengrid voltage is obtained from a potentiometer.

source. This method of supply is possible because of the high uniformity of the screen-grid current characteristic in pentodes and beam power tubes. Because the screen-grid voltage rises with increase in bias and resulting decrease in screen-grid current, the cutoff characteristic of a pentode is extended by this method of supply.

This method is sometimes used to increase the range of signals which can be handled by a pentode. When used in resistance-coupled amplifier circuits employing pentodes in combination



rig. 117—Curves snowing how of positive grid current in tubes employing unipotential cathodes.





with the cathode-biasing method, it minimizes the need for circuit adjustments. Fig. 119 shows a pentode with its screen-grid voltage supplied through a series resistor.

When power pentodes and beam power tubes are operated under conditions such that there is a large change in plate and screen-grid currents with the application of signal, the seriesresistor method of obtaining screen-grid voltage should not be used. A change in screen-grid current appears as a



Fig. 119—Pentode circuit in which screengrid voltage is supplied through a series resistor.

change in the voltage drop across the series resistor in the screen-grid circuit; the result is a change in the power output and an increase in distortion. The screen-grid voltage should be obtained from a point in the plate-voltagesupply filter system having the correct voltage, or from a separate source.

It is important to note that the plate voltage of tetrodes, pentodes, and beam power tubes should be applied before or simultaneously with the screen-grid voltage. Otherwise, with voltage on the screen grid only, the screen-grid current may rise high enough to cause excessive screen-grid dissipation.

Screen-grid voltage variation for the rf amplifier stages has sometimes been used for volume control in oldertype receivers. Reduced screen-grid voltage decreases the transconductance of the tube and results in reduced gain per stage. The voltage variation is obtained by means of a potentiometer shunted across the screen-grid voltage supply. (See Fig. 118.) When the screengrid voltage is varied, it must never exceed the rating of the tube. This requirement can be met by providing a fixed stop on the potentiometer.

Shielding

In high-frequency stages having high gain, the output circuit of each stage must be shielded from the input circuit of that stage. Each high-frequency stage also must be shielded from the other high-frequency stages. Unless shielding is employed, undesired feedback may occur and may produce many harmful effects on receiver performance.

To prevent this feedback, it is a desirable practice to shield separately each unit of the high-frequency stages. For instance, in a superheterodyne receiver, each if and rf coil may be mounted in a separate shield can. Baffle plates may be mounted on the ganged tuning capacitor to shield each section of the capacitor from the other section. The oscillator coil may be especially well shielded by being mounted under the chassis.

The shielding precautions required in a receiver depend on the design of the receiver and the layout of the parts. In all receivers having high-gain highfrequency stages, it is necessary to shield separately each tube in high-frequency stages. When metal tubes, and in particular the single-ended types, are used, complete shielding of each tube is provided by the metal shell which is grounded through its grounding pin at the socket terminal. The grounding connection should be short and sturdy. Many modern tubes of glass construction have internal shields, usually connected to the cathode; where present, these shields are indicated in the socket diagram.

Dress of Circuit Leads

At high frequencies such as are encountered in FM and television receivers, lead dress, that is, the location and arrangement of the leads used for connections in the receiver, is very important. Because even a short lead provides a large impedance at high frequencies, it is necessary to keep all high-frequency leads as short as possible. This precaution is especially important for ground connections and for all connections to bypass capacitors. The ground connections of plate and screen-grid bypass capacitors of each tube should be kept short and made directly to cathode ground.

Particular care should be taken with the lead dress of the input and output circuits of high-frequency stages so that the possibility of stray coupling is minimized. Unshielded leads connected to shielded components should be dressed close to the chassis. As the frequency increases, the need for careful lead dress becomes increasingly important.

In high-gain audio amplifiers, these same precautions should be taken to minimize the possibility of self-oscillation.

Filters

Feedback effects also are caused in radio or television receivers by coupling between stages through common voltage-supply circuits. Filters find an important use in minimizing such effects. They should be placed in voltage-supply leads to each tube in order to return the signal current through a low-impedance path direct to the tube cathode rather than by way of the voltagesupply circuit. Fig. 120 illustrates several forms of filter circuits. Capacitor C forms the low-impedance path, while the choke or resistor assists in diverting the signal through the capacitor by offering a high impedance to the powersupply circuit.

The choice between a resistor and a choke depends chiefly upon the permissible dc voltage drop through the filter. In circuits where the current is small (a few milliamperes), resistors are practical; where the current is large or



Fig. 120—Typical filter circuits.

regulation important, chokes are more suitable.

The minimum practical size of the capacitors may be estimated in most cases by the following rule: The impedance of the capacitor at the lowest frequency amplified should not be more than one-fifth of the impedance of the filter choke or resistor at that frequency. Better results will be obtained in special cases if the ratio is not more than onetenth.

Radio-frequency circuits, particularly at high frequencies, require highquality capacitors. Mica or ceramic capacitors are preferable. Where stage shields are employed, filters should be placed within the shield.

Another important application of filters is to smooth the output of a rectifier tube. (See Rectification.) A smoothing filter usually consists of capacitors and iron-core chokes. In any filter-design problem, the load impedance must be considered as an integral part of the filter because the load is an important factor in filter performance. Smoothing effect is obtained from the chokes because they are in series with the load and offer a high impedance to the ripple voltage. Smoothing effect is obtained from the capacitors because they are in parallel with the load and store energy on the voltage peaks; this energy is released on the voltage dips and serves to maintain the voltage at the load substantially

constant. Smoothing filters are classified as choke-input or capacitor-input according to whether a choke or capacitor is placed next to the rectifier tube. (See Fig. 121.) plate and transformer winding and to connect high-voltage, rf bypass capacitors between the outside ends of the transformer winding and the center tap. (See Fig. 122.) The rf chokes should



Fig. 121—Typical smoothing filters for rectifier tubes.

The **Circuits** section gives a number of examples of rectifier circuits with recommended filter constants.

If an input capacitor is used, consideration must be given to the instantaneous peak value of the ac input voltage. This peak value is about 1.4 times the rms value as measured by an ac voltmeter. Filter capacitors, therefore, especially the input capacitor, should have a rating high enough to withstand the instantaneous peak value if breakdown is to be avoided. When the inputchoke method is used, the available dc output voltage will be somewhat lower than with the input-capacitor method for a given ac plate voltage. However, improved regulation together with lower peak current will be obtained.

Mercury-vapor and gas-filled rectifier tubes occasionally produce a form of local interference in radio receivers through direct radiation or through the power line. This interference is generally identified in the receiver as a tunable broadly 120-Hz buzz (100 Hz for 50-Hz supply line. etc.). It is usually caused by the formation of a steep wave front when plate current within the tube begins to flow on the positive half of each cycle of the ac supply voltage.

There are several ways of eliminating this type of interference. One is to shield the tube. Another is to insert an rf choke having an inductance of one millihenry or more between each be placed within the shielding of the tube. The rf bypass capacitors should have a voltage rating high enough to withstand the peak voltage of each half of the secondary, which is approximately 1.4 times the rms value.



Fig. 122—Filter circuit used to eliminate interference produced by mercury-vapor or gas-filled rectifier tubes.

Transformers having electrostatic shielding between primary and secondary are not likely to transmit rf disturbances to the line. Often the interference may be eliminated simply by making the plate leads of the rectifier extremely short. In general, the particular method of interference elimination must be selected by experiment for each installation.

Output Coupling Devices

An output-coupling device is used in the plate circuit of a power output tube to keep the comparatively high dc plate current from the winding of an electromagnetic speaker and, also, to transfer power efficiently from the output stage to a loudspeaker of either the electromagnetic or dynamic type.

Output-coupling devices are of two types, (1) choke-capacitor and (2) transformer. The choke-capacitor type includes an iron-core choke having an inductance of not less than 10 henries which is placed in series with the plate and B-supply. The choke offers a very low resistance to the dc plate current component of the signal voltage but opposes the flow of the fluctuating component. A bypass capacitor of 2 to 6 microfarads supplies a path to the speaker winding for the signal voltage. The choke-coil output coupling device, however, is now only of historical interest.

The transformer type is constructed with two separate windings, a primary and a secondary wound on an iron core. This construction permits designing each winding to meet the requirements of its position in the circuit. Typical arrangements of each type of coupling device are shown in Fig. 123. Examples of transformers for push-pull stages are shown in several of the circuits given in the **Circuits** section.



Fig. 123-Typical output-coupling devices.

High-Fidelity Systems

The results achieved from any high-fidelity amplifier system depend to a large degree upon the skill and care with which the system is constructed. Improper placement of transformers. other components, and wiring, and at tempts to achieve excessive compactness, can only result in instability, oscillation, hum, and other operating difficulties, as well as in damage to components by overheating. It is important, therefore, that construction of high-fidelity amplifier systems be undertaken only by persons who have had some experience in the layout, mechanical construction, and wiring of audio equipment.

It is impractical to give specific construction data for various amplifiers and supplementary units because the best arrangement for each unit or combination of units will depend on the requirements of the user. It is possible, however, to list some general considerations which should be observed in the construction of any high-fidelity amplifier system.

Any amplifier having two or more stages should be constructed with a straight-line layout so that maximum separation is provided between the signal input and output circuits and terminals. Power-supply connections, particularly those carrying ac, should be isolated as far as possible from signal connections, especially from the input connection. Signal-carrying conductors, even when shielded, should not be cabled together with power-supply conductors. Internal wiring for ac-operated tube heaters, switches, pilot-light sockets, and other devices, should be twisted and placed flat against the chassis. All connections to the ground side of the circuit in each unit should be made to a common bus of heavy wire. This bus should be connected to the chassis only at the point of minimum signal voltage, *i.e.*, at the signal-input terminal of the unit.

All internal wiring that carries signal voltages should be as short as possible, and as far as possible above the chassis, to minimize losses at the higher audio frequencies due to stray shunt capacitance. All connections between units should be made with shielded cable having a capacitance of not more than 30 picofarads per foot, such as Alpha Type 1249 or 1704, Belden Type 8401 or 8410, or equivalent cable. Because power amplifiers and power-supply units of high-fidelity systems normally dissipate large amounts of heat, they should be constructed and installed in such a manner as to assure adequate ventilation for the tubes and other components. A beam power tube or rectifier tube should be separated from any other tube or component on the same side of the chassis by at least $1\frac{1}{2}$ tube diameters.

Power amplifiers and power-supply units which are to be installed horizontally (*i.e.*, with the tubes vertical) in cabinets or on shelves should be provided with mounting feet, perforated bottom covers, and a number of small holes around each tube socket to permit relatively cool air to enter from below and provide ventilation for the under side of the chassis and tubes.

If a power amplifier, tone-control amplifier, and one or more preamplifiers are to be constructed on the same chassis, the mechanical layout should be planned so that the circuits operating at the lowest signal levels are farthest from the output stage and power supply. Amplifier units which normally operate at comparable signal levels but are not used simultaneously (such as preamplifiers for tape pickup heads and magnetic phonograph pickups) may be installed side by side on the same chassis without danger of interaction. Units which operate simultaneously, however (such as the channels of a stereophonic system), should not be installed side by side on the same chassis without careful consideration to placement of components and wiring, and the possible use of shielding to prevent interaction.

When an amplifier, preamplifier, mixer, or other unit requiring heater power is located more than five or six feet from its power-supply unit, the heater-current conductors in the powersupply cable must be large enough to assure that each tube receives its rated heater voltage. In cases where very large heater currents or very long power-supply cables are involved, it may be desirable to install a heatersupply transformer on or near the amplifier unit. If such a transformer is installed on or near a preamplifier for a magnetic-tape pickup head, a magnetic phonograph pickup, or a dynamic microphone, the transformer should be completely shielded and positioned to prevent its field from inducing hum in the pickup device.

Considerations for Television Picture Tubes

Like other high-voltage devices, television picture tubes require that certain precautions be observed to minimize the possibility of failure caused by humidity, dust, and corona.

Humidity Considerations. When humidity is high, a continuous film of moisture may form on the glass bulb immediately surrounding the anode cavity cap of all-glass picture tubes or on the glass part of the envelope of metal picture tubes. This film may permit sparking to take place over the glass surface to the external conductive coating or to the metal shell. Such sparking may introduce noise into the receiver. To prevent such a possibility, the uncoated bulb surface around the cap and the glass part of the envelope of metal picture tubes should be kept clean and dry.

Dust Considerations. The accumulation of dust on the uncoated area of the bulb around the anode cap of allglass picture tubes or on the glass part of the envelope or insulating supports for metal picture tubes will decrease the insulating qualities of these parts. The dust usually consists of fibrous materials and may contain soluble salts. The fibers absorb and retain moisture; the soluble salts provide electrical leakage paths that increase in conductivity as the humidity increases. The resulting high leakage currents may overload the high-voltage power supply.

It is recommended, therefore, that the uncoated bulb surface of all-glass picture tubes and the coated glass surface and insulating supports for metal picture tubes be kept clean and free from dust or other contamination such as finger-prints. The frosted Filterglass faceplate of the metal picture tubes may be cleaned with a soapless detergent, such as Dreft, then rinsed with clean water, and immediately dried.

Corona Considerations. A highvoltage system may be subject to corona, especially when the humidity is high, unless suitable precautions are taken. Corona, which is an electrical discharge appearing on the surface of a conductor when the voltage gradient exceeds the breakdown value of air, causes deterioration of organic insulating materials through formation of ozone, and induces arc-over at points and sharp edges. Sharp points or other irregularities on any part of the highvoltage system may increase the possibility of corona and should be avoided.

In the metal-shell picture tubes, the metal lip at the maximum diameter has rounded edges to prevent corona. Adequate spacing between the lip and any grounded element in the receiver. or between the small end of the metal shell and any grounded element, should be provided to preclude the possibility of corona. Such spacing should not be less than 1 inch of air. Similarly, an air space of 1 inch. or equivalent. should be provided around the body of the metal shell. As a further precaution to prevent corona, the deflecting-voke surface on the end adjacent to the shell should present a smooth electrical surface with respect to the small end of the metal shell or the anode terminal of all-glass tubes.

Safety Precautions

Shock Hazard and High Voltage Warning— Receiving Tubes

Most electron tubes present a shock hazard in use because of the voltages at which they operate. This hazard applies to all applications and is not restricted to high-voltage circuits. Therefore, precautions should be taken when servicing equipment in which electron tubes are used.

Some electron tubes, such as highvoltage rectifiers and those used in the high-voltage regulators of television receivers, operate with very high electrode voltages. Extreme care should be taken during testing or adjustment of circuits in which such tubes are employed. Precautions must be exercised during the replacement or servicing of these tubes in equipment to assure that the high voltage output terminal is properly grounded when the tube is being removed from or inserted into its socket or when the top cap connector is being disconnected or connected. The tube and its associated apparatus, especially all parts which may be at high-potential with respect to ground, should be housed in a protective enclosure. The protective housing should be designed with interlocks so that personnel cannot possibly come in contact with any high-potential point in the electrical system.

It should be noted that high voltages may appear at normally lowpotential points in the circuit as a result of capacitor breakdown or incorrect circuit connections. Therefore, before any part of the circuit is touched, supply the power switch should be turned off and both terminals of any capacitor should be grounded.

X-Radiation Warning-Receiving Tubes

Electron tubes that are operated at potentials exceeding several thousand volts may emit X-radiation. The X-radiation is generated when electrons (or ions) which are accelerated to high velocities impact with high energy on various parts of the tube's structure. Tube types which specify an X-radiation characteristic in their published data are designed and controlled for this characteristic.

X-Radiation is measured in accordance with JEDEC Publication No. 67A, "Recommended Practice for Measurement of X-Radiation from Receiving Tubes", and controlled in accordance with JEDEC Publication No. 73A. "Recommended Practice for Quality Control of X-Radiation from High Voltage Rectifier and Shunt Regulator Receiving Tubes". These publications are available from the Electronic Industries Association, 2001 Eve St., N.W., Washington, D.C. 20006.

Operation of these devices above the maximum values indicated in their Maximum Ratings may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

The high voltages associated with these devices result in production of X-radiation which may constitute a health hazard on prolonged exposure at close range unless the tube is adequately shielded. Equipment design must provide for this shielding.

Precautions must be exercised during the servicing of equipment employing these devices to assure that the high voltage is adjusted to the recommended value and that any shielding components are replaced to their intended positions before the equipment is operated.

Shock Hazard Warning— Picture Tubes

The high voltage at which picture tubes are operated may be very dangerous. Design of the TV receiver should include safeguards to prevent the user from coming in contact with the high voltage. Extreme care should be taken in the servicing or adjustment of any high-voltage circuit.

Caution must be exercised during the replacement or servicing of the picture tube since a residual electrical charge may be contained on the high voltage capacitor formed by the external and internal conductive coatings of the picture tube funnel. To remove any undesirable residual high voltage charges from the picture tube. "bleed off" the charge by shorting the anode contact button, located in the funnel of the picture tube, to the external conductive coating before handling the tube. Discharging the high voltage to isolated metal parts such as cabinets and control brackets may produce a shock hazard.

Tube Handling Precaution— Picture Tubes

Picture tubes should be kept in the shipping box or similar protective container until just prior to installation. Wear heavy protective clothing, including gloves and safety goggles with side shields, in areas containing unpacked and unprotected tubes to prevent possible injury from flying glass in the event a tube breaks. Handle the picture tube with extreme care. Do not strike, scratch, or subject the tube to more than moderate pressure. On types having an integral safety panel, particular care should be taken to prevent damage to the seal area and the edge of the integral safety panel.

Implosion Protection— Picture Tubes

Picture tubes which employ integral implosion protection must be replaced with a tube of the same type number or an RCA recommended replacement to assure continued safety.

X-Radiation Warning-Picture Tubes

High-voltage electron tubes that operate at potentials exceeding several thousand volts may emit X-radiation. Operation of a television picture tube at abnormal conditions may produce X-radiation in excess of design limits.

X-Radiation is measured in accordance with JEDEC Publication No. 64C, "Recommended Practice for Measurement of X-Radiation from Direct-View Television Picture Tubes." This publication is available from the Electronics Industries Association, 2001 Eye St., N.W., Washington, D. C. 20006.

For radiation safety when servicing a television receiver, it is essential to adjust the high voltage, using an accurate and reliable high-voltage meter, to the value specified by the set manufacturer following his recommended procedure. It is also essential that all external shields are properly replaced. In servicing a television receiver that requires a replacement picture tube, a tube with the same type number or an RCA recommended replacement tube type should be used to assure the same or improved integral X-radiation shielding.

Interpretation of Tube Data

THE tube data given in the following Technical Data section include ratings, typical operation values, characteristics, and characteristic curves.

The values for grid-bias voltages, other electrode voltages, and electrode supply voltages are given with reference to a specified datum point as follows: For types having filaments heated with dc, the negative filament terminal is taken as the datum point to which other electrode voltages are referred. For types having filaments heated with ac, the mid-point (i.e., the center tap on the filament-transformer secondary, or the mid-point on a resistor shunting the filament) is taken as the datum point. For types having unipotential cathodes indirectly heated, the cathode is taken as the datum point.

Ratings are established on electron tube types to help equipment designers utilize the performance and service capabilities of each tube type to best advantage. Ratings are given for those characteristics which careful study and experience indicate must be kept within certain limits to insure satisfactory performance.

Three rating systems are in use by the electron-tube industry. The oldest is known as the Absolute Maximum system, the next as the Design Center system, and the latest and newest as the Design Maximum system. Definitions of these systems have been formulated by the Joint Electron Device Engineering Council (JEDEC) and standardized by the National Electrical Manufacturers Association (NEMA) and the Electronic Industries Association (EIA) as follows: Absolute Maximum ratings are limiting values which should not be exceeded with any tube of the specified type under any condition of operation. These ratings are not used too often for receiving types, but are generally used for transmitting and industrial types.

Design Center ratings are limiting values which should not be exceeded with a tube of the specified type having characteristics equal to the published values under normal operating conditions. These ratings, which include allowances for normal variations in both tube characteristics and operating conditions, were used for most receiving tubes prior to 1957.

Design Maximum ratings are limiting values which should not be exceeded with a tube of the specified type having characteristics equal to the published values under any conditions of operation. These ratings include allowances for normal variations in tube characteristics, but do not provide for variations in operating conditions. Design Maximum ratings were adopted for receiving tubes in 1957.

Electrode voltage and current ratings are in general self-explanatory, but a brief explanation of other ratings will aid in the understanding and interpretation of tube data.

Heater warm-up time is defined as the time required for the voltage across the heater to reach 80 per cent of the rated value in the circuit shown in Fig. 124. The heater is placed in series with a resistance having a value 3 times the nominal heater operating resistance $(R = 3 E_t/I_t)$, and a voltage having a value 4 times the rated heater voltage $(V = 4 E_t)$ is then applied. The warm-up time is determined when $E = 0.8 E_t$.



Fig. 124—Test circuit for measuring heater warm-up time.

Plate dissipation is the power dissipated in the form of heat by the plate as a result of electron bombardment It is the difference between the power supplied to the plate of the tube and the power delivered by the tube to the load.

Peak heater-cathode voltage is the highest instantaneous value of voltage that a tube can safely stand between its heater and cathode. This rating is applied to tubes having a separate cathode terminal and used in applications where excessive voltage may be introduced between heater and cathode.

Maximum dc output current is the highest average plate current which can be handled continuously by a rectifier tube. Its value for any rectifier tube type is based on the permissible plate dissipation of that type. Under operating conditions involving a rapidly repeating duty cycle (steady load), the average plate current may be measured with a dc meter.

The nomograph shown in Fig. 125 can be used to determine tube voltage drop or plate current for any diode unit when values for a single platevoltage, plate-current condition are available from the data. It can also be used to compare the relative perveance $(G = I_b/E_b^{3/2})$ of several diodes. **Perveance** can be considered a figure of merit for diodes; high-perveance units have lower voltage drop at a fixed current level.

Tube voltage drop or plate current for a specific diode unit can be determined as follows: First, convenient values are selected for the plate-voltage and plate-current scales of the nomograph. The published plate-current and plate-voltage values are then located on the scales and connected with a straight edge. The intersection of the connecting line with the perveance scale is then used as a pivot point to determine the value of tube voltage drop corresponding to a desired current value, or the value of plate current corresponding to a desired tube voltage drop. Because the pivot point for a specific diode



Fig. 125—Diode perveance nomograph.

unit represents its perveance, the pivot points for several units (plotted to the same scales) can be used to compare their relative perveance. For example, type 5U4GB has a tube voltage drop (per plate) of 44 volts at a plate current of 225 milliamperes. Convenient scales for this type are from 1 to 100 volts for plate voltage and from 10 to 1000 milliamperes for plate current. The points 44 volts and 225 milliamperes are then connected with a straight line to determine the pivot point. Using this pivot point, it is easy to determine such values as a plate current of 150 milliamperes at a tube voltage drop of 33 volts, or a voltage drop of 25 for a current of 100 milliamperes.

For readings in the order of one volt and/or one milliampere, the nomograph is not accurate because of the effects of contact potential and initial electron velocity.

Maximum peak plate current is the highest instantaneous plate current that a tube can safely carry recurrently in the direction of normal current flow. The safe value of this peak current in hot-cathode types of rectifier tubes is a function of the electron emission available and the duration of the pulsating current flow from the rectifier tube in each half-cycle.

The value of peak plate current in a given rectifier circuit is largely determined by filter constants. If a large choke is used at the filter input, the peak plate current is not much greater than the load current; but if a large capacitor is used as the filter input, the peak current may be many times the load current. In order to determine accurately the peak plate current in any rectifier circuit, measure it with a peakindicating meter or use an oscillograph.

Maximum peak inverse plate voltage is the highest instantaneous plate voltage which the tube can withstand recurrently in the direction opposite to that in which it is designed to pass current. For mercury-vapor tubes and gasfilled tubes, it is the safe top value to prevent arc-back in the tube operating within the specified temperature range.

Referring to Fig. 126, when plate A of a full-wave rectifier tube is positive, current flows from A to C, but not from B to C, because B is negative. At the

instant plate A is positive, the filament is positive (at high voltage) with respect to plate B. The voltage between the positive filament and the negative plate B is in inverse relation to that causing current flow. The peak value of this voltage is limited by the resistance and nature of the path between plate B and filament. The maximum value of this voltage at which there is no danger of breakdown of the tube is known as maximum peak inverse voltage.



Fig. 126—Schematic diagram of full-wave rectifier tube and circuit connections.

The relations between peak inverse voltage, rms value of ac input voltage, and dc output voltage depend largely on the individual characteristics of the rectifier circuit and the power supply. The presence of line surges or any other transient, or wave-form distortion. may raise the actual peak voltage to a value higher than that calculated for sine-wave voltages. Therefore, the actual inverse voltage, and not the calculated value, should be such as not to exceed the rated maximum peak inverse voltage for the rectifier tube. A calibrated cathode-ray oscillograph or a peakindicating electronic voltmeter is useful in determining the actual peak inverse voltage.

In single-phase, full-wave circuits with sine-wave input and with no capacitor across the output, the peak inverse voltage on a rectifier tube is approximately 1.4 times the rms value of the plate voltage applied to the tube. In single-phase, half-wave circuits with sine-wave input and with capacitor input to the filter, the peak inverse voltage may be as high as 2.8 times the rms value of the applied plate voltage. In polyphase circuits, mathematical determination of peak inverse voltage requires the use of vectors.

The Rating Chart for full-wave rectifiers presents graphically the relationships between maximum ac voltage input and maximum dc output current derived from the fundamental ratings for conditions of capacitor-input and choke-input filters. This graphical presentation provides for considerable latitude in choice of operating conditions.

The Operation Characteristics for a full-wave rectifier with capacitor-input filter show by means of boundary line the limiting current and voltage relationships presented in the Rating Chart.

The Operation Characteristics for a full-wave rectifier with choke-input filter not only show by means of boundary line the limiting current and voltage relationships presented in the Rating Chart, but also give some information as to the effect on regulation of various sizes of chokes. The solid-line curves show the dc voltage outputs which would be obtained if the filter chokes had infinite inductance. The long-dash lines radiating from the zero position are boundary lines for various sizes of chokes as indicated. The intersection of one of these lines with a solid-line curve indicates the point on the curve at which the choke no longer behaves as though it had infinite inductance. To the left of the choke boundary line, the regulation curves depart from the solid-line curves as shown by the representative short-dash regulation curves.

Typical Operation Values. Values for typical operation are given for many types in the Technical Data section. These typical operating values are given to serve as guiding information for the use of each type. These values should not be confused with ratings, because a tube can be used under any suitable conditions within its maximum ratings, according to the application.

The power output value for any operating condition is an approximate

tube output—that is, plate input minus plate loss. Circuit losses must be subtracted from tube output in order to determine the useful output.

Characteristics are covered in the Electron Tube Characteristics section and such data should be interpreted in accordance with the definitions given in that section. Characteristic curves represent the characteristics of an average tube. Individual tubes, like any manufactured product, may have characteristics that range above or below the values given in the characteristic curves.

Although some curves are extended well beyond the maximum ratings of the tube, this extension has been made only for convenience in calculations. Do NOT operate a tube outside of its maximum ratings.

Interelectrode capacitances are direct capacitances measured between specified elements or groups of elements in electron tubes. Unless otherwise indicated in the data, all capacitances are measured with filament or heater cold, with no direct voltages present, and with no external shields. All electrodes other than those between which capacitance is being measured are grounded. In twin or multi-unit types, inactive units are also grounded.

The capacitance between the input electrode and all other electrodes, except the output electrode, connected. together is commonly known as the input capacitance. The capacitance between the output electrode and all other electrodes, except the input electrode, connected together is known as the output capacitance.

Hum and noise characteristics of high-fidelity audio amplifier tube types such as the 7025 and the 7199 are tested in an amplifier circuit such as that shown in Fig. 127. The output of the test circuit is fed into a low-noise amplifier. The bandwidth of this amplifier depends on the characteristic being measured. If hum alone is being tested, a relatively narrow bandwidth is used to include both the line frequency and the major harmonics generated by the tube under test. In noise or combination hum-and-noise measurements, the bandwidth is defined in the registration of the tube type.



Fig. 127—Test circuit for measuring hum and noise characteristics of high-fidelity audio-amplifier tubes.

The amplifier gain is calibrated so that the vacuum-tube voltmeter measures hum and noise in microvolts referenced to the grid of the tube under test. A pentode can also be evaluated in this manner by the addition of a screengrid supply adequately bypassed at the tube screen-grid pin connection. Powersupply ripple at the plate of the tube under test must be negligible compared to its hum and noise output. Extraordinary shielding of both the test socket and the associated operating circuit is required to minimize capacitances between heater leads and high-impedance connections.

The test-circuit components are determined by the tube type being tested and the type of hum to be controlled. Heater-cathode hum can be eliminated from the measurement by closing the switch S. The circuit can also be made more or less sensitive to heater-grid hum by increasing or decreasing the grid resistance R_g . No circuit changes affect the component of magnetic hum generated by the tube.

Grid-No. 2 (Screen-grid) Input is the power applied to the grid-No. 2 electrode and consists essentially of the power dissipated in the form of heat by grid No. 2 as a result of electron bombardment. With tetrodes and pentodes, the power dissipated in the screengrid circuit is added to the power in the plate circuit to obtain the total B-supply input power.

When the screen-grid voltage is supplied through a series voltage-dropping resistor, the maximum screen-grid voltage rating may be exceeded, provided the maximum screen-grid dissipation rating is not exceeded at any signal condition, and the maximum screen-grid voltage rating is not exceeded at the maximum-signal condi-Provided these conditions are tion. fulfilled, the screen-grid supply voltage may be as high as, but not above, the maximum plate voltage rating. The rating chart on page 300 shows the relationship between the maximum permissible input power to the screen grid and the screen-grid supply voltage.

Electron Tube Testing

٦HE electron-tube user-serviceman, experimenter, or non-technical radio listener-is interested in knowing the condition of his tubes, since they govern the performance of the device in which they are used. In order to determine the condition of a tube, some method of test is necessary. Because the operating capabilities and design features of a tube are indicated and described by its electrical characteristics, a tube is tested by measuring its characteristics and comparing them with values established as standard for that type. Tubes which read abnormally high with respect to the standard for the type are subject to criticism just the same as tubes which are too low.

Certain practical limitations are placed on the accuracy with which a tube test can be correlated with actual tube performance. These limitations make it impractical for the service man and deater to employ complex and costly testing equipment having laboratory accuracy. Because the accuracy of the tube-testing device need be no greater than the accuracy of the correlation between test results and receiver performance, and since certain fundamental characteristics are virtually fixed by the manufacturing technique of leading tube manufacturers, it is possible to employ a relatively simple test in order to determine the serviceability of a tube.

In view of these factors, dealers and servicemen will find it economically expedient to obtain adequate accuracy and simplicity of operation by employing a device which indicates the status of a single characteristic. Whether the tube is satisfactory or unsatisfactory is judged from the test result of this single characteristic. Consequently, it is very desirable that the characteristic selected for the test be one which is truly representative of the tube's over-all con dition.

The following information and cir-

cuits are given to describe and illustrate general theoretical and practical tubetester considerations and not to provide information on the construction of a home-made tube tester. In addition to the problem of determining what tube characteristic is most representative of performance capabilities in all types of receivers, the designer of a home-made tester faces the difficult problem of determining satisfactory limits for his patticular tester. Getting information of this nature, if it is to be accurate and useful, is a big job. It requires the testing of many tubes of each type, testing of many types, and correlation of the data with performance in many kinds of equipment.

Short-Circuit Test

The fundamental circuit of a shortcircuit tester is shown in Fig. 128. Although this circuit is suitable for tet-



Fig. 128—Fundamental circuit of a short circuit tester.

rodes and types having less than four electrodes, tubes of more electrodes may be tested by adding more indicator lamps to the circuit. Voltages are applied between the various electrodes with lamps in series with the electrode leads. The value of the voltages applied will depend on the type of tube being tested and its maximum ratings. Any two shorted electrodes complete a circuit and light one or more lamps. Since two electrodes may be just touching to give a high-resistance short, it is desirable that the indicating lamps operate on very low current. It is also desirable to maintain the filament or heater of the tube at its operating temperature during the short-circuit test, because shortcircuits in a tube may sometimes occur only when the electrodes are heated. However, a short-circuit tester having too high a sensitivity may indicate veryhigh-resistance shorts that do not adversely affect tube operation.

Selection of a Suitable Characteristic for Test

Some characteristics of a tube are far more important in determining its operating worth than are others. The cost of building a device to measure any one of the more important characteristics may be considerably higher than that of a device which measures a less representative characteristic. Consequently, three methods of test will be discussed, ranging from relatively simple and inexpensive equipment to more elaborate, more accurate, and more costly devices.

An emission test is perhaps the simplest method of indicating a tube's condition. (Refer to Diodes, in Electrons, Electrodes, and Electron Tubes section, for a discussion of electron emission.) Since emission falls off as the tube wears out, low emission is indicative of the end of tube serviceability. However, the emission test is subject to limitations because it tests the tube under static conditions and does not take into account the actual operation of the tube. On the one hand, coated filaments, or cathodes. often develop active spots from which the emission is so great that the relatively small grid area adjacent to these spots cannot control the electron stream. Under these conditions, the total emission may indicate the tube to be normal although the tube is unsatisfactory. On the other hand, coated types of filaments are capable of such large emission that the tube will often operate satisfactorily after the emission has fallen far below the original value.

Fig. 129 shows the fundamental

circuit diagram for an emission test. All of the electrodes of the tube, except the cathode, are connected to the plate. The filament, or heater, is operated at rated voltage; after the tube has reached con-



Fig. 129—Fundamental circuit of an emission tester

stant temperature, a low positive voltage is applied to the plate and the electron emission is read on the meter. Readings which are well below the average for a particular tube type indicate that the total number of available electrons has been so reduced that the tube is no longer able to function properly.

A transconductance test takes into account a fundamental operating principle of the tube. (This fact will be seen from the definition of transconductance in the Section on **Electron Tube Characteristics**.) It follows that transconductance tests, when properly made, permit better correlation between test results and actual performance than does a straight emission test.

There are two forms of transconductance test which can be utilized in a tube tester. In the first form (illustrated by Fig. 130 giving a fundamental circuit with a tetrode under test), appropriate



Fig. 130—Fundamental circuit of a transconductance tester using the "grid-shift" method.

operating voltages are applied to the electrodes of the tube. A plate current depending upon the electrode voltages will then be indicated by the meter. If the bias on the grid is then shifted by the application of a different grid voltage, a new plate-current reading is obtained. The difference between the two plate-current readings is indicative of the transconductance of the tube. This method of transconductance testing is commonly called the "grid-shift" method, and depends on readings under static conditions. The fact that this form of test is made under static conditions imposes limitations not encountered in the second form of test made under dynamic conditions.

The dynamic transconductance test illustrated in Fig. 131 gives a fundamental circuit with a tetrode under test. This method is superior to the static transconductance test in that ac voltage



Fig. 131—Fundamental circuit of a dynamic transconductance tester.

is applied to the grid. Thus, the tube is tested under conditions which approximate actual operating conditions. The alternating component of the plate current is read by means of an ac ammeter of the dynamometer type. The transconductance of the tube is equal to the ac plate current divided by the inputsignal voltage. If a one-volt rms signal is applied to the grid, the plate-currentmeter reading in milliamperes multiplied by one thousand is the value of transconductance in micromhos.

The power-output test probably gives the best correlation between test results and actual operating performance of a tube. In the case of voltage amplifiers, the power output is indicative of the amplification and output voltages obtainable from the tube. In the case of power-output tubes, the performance of the tube is closely checked. Consequently, although more complicated to set up, the power-output test will give closer correlation with actual performance than any other single test.

Fig. 132 shows the fundamental circuit of a power-output test for class A operation of tubes. The diagram illustrates the method for a pentode. The ac output voltage developed across the



Fig. 132—Fundamental circuit of a poweroutput tester for class A operation of tubes.

plate-load impedance (L) is indicated by the current meter. The current meter is isolated as far as the dc plate current is concerned by the capacitor (C). The power output can be calculated from the current reading and known load resistance. In this way, it is possible to determine the operating condition of the tube quite accurately.

Fig. 133 shows the fundamental circuit of a power-output test for class



Fig. 133—Fundamental circuit of a poweroutput tester for class B operation of tubes.

B operation of tubes. With ac voltage applied to the grid of the tube, the current in the plate circuit is read on a dc milliammeter. The power output of the tube is approximately equal to: $(I_b^2 \times R_L)/0.405$,

where P_{u} is the power output in watts, I_n is the dc current in amperes, and R_{L} is the load resistance in ohms.

Essential Tube-Tester Requirements

1. The tester should provide for making a short-circuit test before measurement of the tube's characteristics.

2. It is important that some means of controlling the voltages applied to the electrodes of the tube be provided. If the tester is ac operated, a line-voltage control permits the supply of proper electrode voltages.

3. It is essential that the rated voltage applied to the filament or heater be maintained accurately.

4. It is suggested that the characteristics test follow one of the methods described. The method selected and the quality of the parts used in the test will depend upon the user's requirements.

Tube-Tester Limitations

A tube tester can only indicate the difference between a tube characteristic and those which are standard for that type. Because the operating conditions imposed upon a tube may vary within wide limits, it is impossible for a tube tester to evaluate tubes for all applications.

Commercially available tube checkers vary widely in purpose, performance, and significance of results. They range from relatively inexpensive portable units to costly laboratory-quality instruments. Design trade-offs are made by tube checker manufacturers to provide a product simple to operate, capable of testing a wide variety of tube types, and in some cases, low in cost. Accuracy of readings, completeness of testing, and even proper testing conditions for certain tube types are sometimes sacrified in these trade-offs. Recognition of the individual tester limitations are absolutely necessary before valid judgments on tube quality can be made from test results.

Tube checkers generally make two types of evaluations: tests for inter-

element shorts (leakage) and an electrical test of quality that is either an ac cathode-emission test or a more complex large-signal transconductance test.

The shorts or leakage tests are often more sensitive than those of the tube manufacturer and also, in some cases more stringent than circuit application requirements. Leakage sensitivity of 100 megohms between elements is available in some tube checkers. Some can be adjusted by the user to even higher sensitivities. Many tube checkers tie several elements together to test many parallel paths in a single test position. As a result, multiple paths having individual inter-element leakage resistances which are acceptable result in parallel combinations which cause the tube to read as defective.

Quality-test interpretations must be tempered by knowledge of the character of the quality test. Large-signal transconductance (gm) often does not correlate with small-signal transconductance. or the control limits for applications that require this characteristic. Cathode emission, as read on many tube checkers, is a function of both the emitting capability of the cathode and the mechanical spacing of the tube's internal parts. While high cathode emitting capability is generally desirable for all tubes, a high emission reading obtained by close mechanical spacing of parts can result in a false indication of good quality. In addition, high or low indications in a tube checker are often caused by compromise test conditions rather than the quality of the tube being tested.

The set-up instruction and charts furnished by the tester manufacturer establish the conditions and limits which the tester manufacturer considers adequate for the tube types evaluated. These conditions and limits are usually established independently of the tube manufacturer and without consideration of application requirements.

The tube tester cannot be looked upon as a final authority in determining whether or not a tube is satisfactory. An actual operating test in the application will give the best possible indication of a tube's worth.

104

Application Guide for RCA Receiving Tubes

In the Application Guide on the following pages, RCA receiving tubes are classified in two ways: (a) by function, and (b) by structure (diode, triode, etc.). The functional classification covers 27 principal types of application, as listed below.

Tube types are grouped by structure under each classification; they are also keyed to indicate miniature, octal, nuvistor, duodecar, and novar types.

Triodes are designated as *low-*, *medium-*, or *high-mu* types on the following basis: *low*, less than 10; *medium*, 10 or more, but less than 50; *high*, 50 or more. Where applicable, tubes are designated as *sharp-, semiremote-*, or *remote-cutoff* on the basis of the ratio, in per cent, of the negative control-grid voltage to the screen-grid voltage (or, for triodes, the plate voltage) for cut-off, as given in the characteristics or typical operation values. These terms are defined as follows: *sharp*, less than 10 per cent; *semiremote*, 10 or more, but less than 20 per cent, *remote*, 20 per cent or more.

For more complete data on these types, refer to the Technical Data For RCA Receiving Tubes.

APPLICATIONS

- 1. Audio-Frequency Amplifiers
- 2. Automatic Gain Control Circuits (AGC and AVC)
- 3. Blankers
- 4. Burst Amplifiers
- 5. Chroma Amplifiers
- 6. Color Killers
- 7. Color Matrixing Circuits
- 8. Dampers
- 9. Demodulators (Color TV)
- 10. Detectors (AM)
- 11. Discriminators (Detectors)
- 12. Horizontal-Deflection
- 13. Intermediate-Frequency Amplifiers
- 14. Limiters

- 15. Pentagrid Converters
- 16. Mixer-Oscillators-RF
- 17. Multivibrators
- 18. Oscillators
- 19. Phase Splitters 20. Radio-Frequency
- Amplifiers
- 21. Reactance Circuits
- 22. Rectifiers (Vacuum)
- 23. Regulators (High Voltage)
- 24. Sync Separators and Amplifiers
- 25. Tuning Indicators 26. Vertical-Deflection Circuits (Oscillator and
- Amplifier) 27. Video Amplifiers

1. AUDIO-FREQUENCY AMPLIFIERS

Voltage Amplifiers

	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode			
Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode • 7199†	• 4AV6 • 6AT6	• 6BN8 • 8BN8	• 12AV6 • 14GT8	
Medium-Mu Twin Triode	• 6AV6	• 12AT6		
© 6SN7GTB © 12SN7GTA	Triple Diode	—High-Mu Triode		
• 12AU7A/ECC82	• 5T8	• 6T8A	 19T8 	

APPLICATION GUIDE

High-Mu Twi	in Triode		3. BLANKE	RS	
• 6EU7†	• 12AX7A/	o 12SL7GT	Medium-Mu Tr	iode_Shara_C	utoff Pantoda
© 6SL7GT	ECC83†	• 7025†	• 5GH8A	• 6MQ8	• 9GH8A
Sharp-Cutoff	Pentode		• 6GH8A		,0110.1
• 6AU6A	• 5879†				
• 6HS6	• 7543†		Medium-Mu Ty	vin Triode	
			• 6F07/6CG7		7 • 12BH7A
1	Power Amplifie	rs	• 6GU7	• 8GU7	• 12FQ7
Beam Power			Medium-Mu Tr	iode—Semirem	ote-Cutoff
• 5AQ5	© 6Y6GA/6Y6G		Pentode		
• 6AQ5A • 6AS5	• 11DS5 • 12AB5	• 35°C5 • 50°C5	• 6LM8		
• 6CU5	• 12AB5	© 50L6GT	High Mr. Take	la Chana Cute	a Dente de
• 6DS5	• 12CA5	 6973† 	High-Mu Trio	ie-snarp-Cuto	n Pentode
• 6GC5	• 12CU5/12C5	• 7027A†	• 6KT8		
© 6L6	◎ 12V6GT	◎ 7355† ◎ 7408†			
© 6L6GC† © 6V6GTA	© 12W6GT • 17CU5/17C5	© 7408↑ ⊙ 7581A†	4. BURST A	MPLIFIER	S
◎ 6W6GT	• 1/003/1/03	- /00111			
			Medium-Mu Tr		
Beam Power	TubeSharp-Cut		• 5EA8 • 5GH8A	• 6EA8 • 6GH8A	• 9GH8A • 19EA8
‡ 6AD10	‡ 6T10*	‡ 12BF11*	- JUHOA	- VUIIOA	171/10
‡ 6AL11 + 68E11#	‡ 12AL11	‡ 17BF11*			
‡ 6BF 11*			Medium-Mu 1 Pentode	rtode—Semire	mote-Cutoff
Power Pento	40			• 6MU8	
• 6BO5/EL3		• 35EH5	• 6LM8	• GALOS	
• 6EH5	• 10GK6	• 50EH5	Twin Diode-H	igh-Mu Triode	
0 6F6	• 12FX5	• 60FX5	• 6BN8	• 8BN8	
• 6GK6	• 16GK6	• 7189†			
○ 6K6GT	• 19FX5	▲ 7868†	Sharp-Cutoff P		
• 8BQ5	• 25EH5	• 7591A	• 3CB6/3CF6	• 4EW6	• 6CB6A/6CI
			• 3JC6A • 4CB6	• 4JC6A • 5EW6	• 6EW6 • 6JC6A
2 411703	IATIC GAIN (INTERI	- 4000	• 315110	- UJCUA
CIRCUI	TS (AGC & A	VC)	5. CHROM	A AMPLIFI	ERS
Twin Diode-	-High-Mu Triode		Medium-Mu Tr	iode—Sharp-C	utoff Pentode
• 4AV6	• 6AV6	• 12AV6	• 5GH8A	• 6HL8	• 9GH8A
• 6AT6	• 12AT6		• 6GH8A	• 6MQ8	
	Triod eSharp-Cu t	off Pentode	High-Mu Triod	e—Sharn-Cuto	ff Pentode
• 5AN8	• 6AZ8	• 6GH8A	• 6AW8A	• 6LF8	
• 5GH8A	• 6BA8A	• 9GH8A	• 6KT8	• 8AW8A	
• 6AN8A					
High-Mo Tri	ode—Sharp-Cutoff	Pentode	Medium-Mu Ty		
• 6AW8A	• 6LC8	• 8KA8		• 8FQ7/8CG	
• 6HF8	• 8AW8A	• 8LC8	• 6GU7	• 8GU7	• 12FQ7
• 6JV8	• 8JV8	• 10HF8			
• 6KA8	-		6. COLOR	KILLERS	
Sharp-Cutoff Twin Pentode					
• 3BU8/	• 4HS8	• 6HS8	Quadruple Dio		
3GS8	• 6BU8		• 6JU8A	• 8JU8A	
Sharp-Cutoff	Pentode*		Medium-Mu Tr	iode—Sharp-C	utoff Pentode
• 6GY6/6G			• 5GH8A	-	9GH8A
Doutoonid A.	ntific=		• 6GH8A		
Pentagrid An	•	. (55)	High-Mu Triod	e-Sharp-Cuto	ff Pentode
 3BY6 3CS6 	• 4CS6 • 6BY6	• 6CS6	• 6KT8		 -
			1		
• Miniature	‡ Duodecar	o Octal 🛛 🔺 No	ovar * Dual-con	trol grids	For high-fideli

105

• 12BH7A

· 6CB6A/6CF6 • 6EW6 • 6JC6A

* Dual-control grids

† For high-fidelity equipment

.

106

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

7. COLOR MATRIXING CIRCUITS Medium-Mu Twin Triode	Pentagrid Amp • 6BY6
• 6FQ7/6CG7 • 8GU7 • 12FQ7	
• 6GU7 • 12AZ7	Twin Pentode
• 8FQ7/8CG7 • 12BH7A	• 4MK8A
Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp Cutoff Pentode	• 6LE8
• 5GH8A • 6GH8A • 9GH8A	Beam Deflectio
Medium-Mu Triple Triode	• 6JH8
▲ 6MD8 ‡ 6MJ8 ▲ 12MD8	• 03110
High-Mu Triple Triode	
	10. DETECT
‡ 6MN8	Diode-Sharp-
Twin Pentode	• 5AM8
• 6LE8 • 10LE8 • 15LE8	Twin Diode
Quadruple Diode	• 3A1.5
	* SALS
• 6JU8A • 8JU8A	Twin Diode
Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	• 4AV6
• 3CB6/3CF6 • 6CB6A/6CF6	• 6AT6
• 4CB6	• 6AV6
	The state of the s
8. DAMPERS	Triple Diode-
Half-Wave (Diode)	• 5T8
	Quadruple Dic
©.6AU4GTA ©.6DM4A/ ‡ 17BE3/ © 6AX4GTB 6DA4 17BZ3	• 6JU8A
▲6BA3 ▲6DN3 • 17BR3/	
‡ 6BE3 • 6DW4B 17RK19	11 DECDE
▲ 6BS3A • 12AF3/ ▲ 17BS3A/	11. DISCRI
‡ 6CE3/6CD3/ 12BR3/ 17DW4A 6DT3 12RK19 ± 17BW3	(DETEC
6DT3 12RK19 ‡ 17BW3 ‡ 6CG3/6BW3/ ⊙ 12AX4GTB • 17CT3	
6D03 4 12AY3A 0 17DE4	m.1. Di. J.
▲ 6CJ3/ ‡ 12BE3 © 17DM4A	Twin Diode
6CH3 ▲ 12BS3A/ ▲ 19DK3 ▲ 6CL3/ 12DW4A ± 22BW3	• 3AL5
▲ 6CL3/ 12DW4A ‡ 22BW3 6CK3 ▲ 12CL3 © 22DE4	Twin Diode
▲ 6CM3 ▲ 12CM3 ● 25CT3	• 6BN8
© 6DE4/ ▲ 12DL3 ▲ 25DL3	
6CQ4 0 17AX4GTA ‡ 34CE3 ▲ 6DL3 ▲ 17AX4A	Triple Diode-
▲ 6DL3 ▲ 17AY3A	• 5T8
Half-Wave (Diode)—Horizontal-Deflection	Beam Tube
Amplifier	• 3BN6
‡ 33GY7A	
+ 500E/ + 50G1/A	
9. DEMODULATORS (COLOR TV)	Beam Power
	‡ 6AD10
Medium-Mu Twin Triode • 12BH7A • 12AZ7A	‡6AL11
· 12BH/A · 12AL/A	‡ 6BF11
Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	
• 5GH8A • 6MQ8 • 9GH8A	FM
• 6GH8A	
	Sharp-Cutoff P
	- 2DTCA
High-Mu Twin Triode	• 3DT6A • 4DT6A
High-Mu Twin Triode • 12AZ7A	• 3DT6A • 4DT6A
High-Mu Twin Triode • 12AZ7A Sharp-Cutoff Pentode*	• 4DT6A
High-Mu Twin Triode • 12AZ7A	

plifier • 6MK8A • 15LE8 • 10LE8 on Tube • 6ME8 TORS (AM) Cutoff Pentode • 6AM8A • 6AS8 • 6AL5 • 12AL5 High-Mu Triode • 6BN8 • 12AT6 • 6CN7 • 8BN8 • 12AV6 • 14GT8 –High-Mu Triode • 19T8 • 6T8A ode • 8JU8A IMINATORS CTORS) FM • 6AL5 • 12AL5 -High-Mu Triode -High-Mu Triode • 6T8A • 19T8 • 6BN6/ • 4BN6 6KS6 Tube-Sharp-Cutoff Pentode ± 6T10 ‡12BF11 ‡ 6Z10/6J10 ‡ 13Z10/13J10 ‡ 12AL11 ± 17BF11 **1** Quadrature-Grid Pentode*

• 3DT6A	• 5HZ6	• 6GY6/6GX6
• 4DT6A	• 6DT6A	• 6HZ6
Beam Tube • 3BN6	• 4BN6	• 6BN6/ 6KS6

APPLICATION GUIDE

• Miniature	Octal	▲ Novar	‡ Duodecar	* Dual-cont	rol grids
	- U/J10/F			- ••	17CL0A
• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• 6HL8 • 6GH8A	• 9GH8A	- SCLOR	• 6CQ8	• 19JN8/ 19CL8A
• 5GH8A • 6AN8A	• 6BA8A	• 8AU8A	• 5CL8A	• 6CL8A	• 19JN8/
• 5AN8	• 6AZ8	• 6MQ8	Medium-Mu Tri	iode-Sharn-Ci	itoff Tetrode
	riodeSharp-Cu		16. MIXER-0	USCILLAIU	NJ-Kr
AMPLI	·	And Daniel -	16 MIVED	OSCILLATO	DC DF
	MEDIATE-FR	REQUENCY			- AMAPE/U
			• 6BA7	• 6BE6	• 12BE6
			15. PENTAG	RID CONV	ERTERS
4 6KM6	• 17JT6A	‡ 42KN6	l		
4 6JU6	‡ 17JM6A	‡ 38HK7			
▲ 6JT6A	~ 17JG6A ▲ 17JG6A	▲ 36MC6	• 4JC6A	• 6DC6	• 12DK0
± 6JS6C	17DQ6B 4 17JB6A	40KD6	• 4DK6 • 4EW6	• 6CB6A/ 6CF6	 12AU6 12DK6
↓ 6JR6	0 17GW6/	‡ 36KD6/	• 4DE6	6CE5	• 6JD6
▲ 6JG6A ± 6JM6A	^ 17GT5A	▲ 31LZ6 ± 35LR6	• 4CB6	• 6BC5/	• 6JC6A
* 6JF6	4 17GJ5A	▲ 31LQ6	• 4AU6	• 6AU6A	• 6HS6
A 6JB6A	▲ 12JT6A	‡ 31JS6C	• 3JC6A	EF95	• 6EW6
6DQ6B	^ 12JB6A	© 25DN6	• 3DK6	• 6AK5/	EF184
₀ 6GW6 /	○ 12BQ6GTB/ 12CU6	• 25CD6GB	• 3CB6/3CF6	• 6AG5	• 6EJ7/
4 6GT5A	© 12AV5GA	25CU6	• 3AU6 • 3BC5/3CE5	• 4JD6 • 5EW6	• 6DE6 • 6DK6
● 6GJ5A	6JE6C	© 25A V5GA © 25BO6GTB/	• 3AU6	• 4ID4	A ADE'
© 6CD6GA © 6D05	6LQ6/	24JE6C 9 25AV5GA	14. LIMITEI	KS	
© 6CB5A	A 6MJ6/	▲ 24LQ6/ 24JE6C		20	
6CU6	▲ 6ME6	* 22KM6			
○ 6BQ6GTB/	‡ 6LR6	▲ 22JR6	EF93		
© 6AV5GA	‡ 6LB6	▲ 22JG6A	• 6BA6/	• 12BA6	
o 6AU5GT	‡ 6KN6	▲ 22JF6	1		
Beam Power	Tube		Remote-Cutoff	Pentode	
Horizoni	tal-Deflection 2	Amplifiers	l		
		1 110	LF183	EF 16J	• 19HR6
			• 4EH7/	• 6EH7/ EF183	• 12BZ6
• 8FQ7/8CG			• 4BZ6	• 6BZ6	• 6KT6
© 6SN7GTB	ECC82	© 125N7GTA	×F183 • 3KT6	• 5GM6	• 6JH6
	7 • 12AU7A/	• 12F07	• 3EH7/	• 4KT6	• 6HR6
Medium-Mu T	win Triode		• 3BZ6	• 4JH6	• 6GM6
			Semiremote-Cut		
‡ 6U10					
Three Unit Tri	ode		• 5AM8	• 6AM8A	• 6AS8
4 41916	+ 0010		Diode-Sharp-C		< A 60
± 6B10	± 8B10		Diale chan of		
Twin Diode-N	Medium-Mu Twin	Triode	TIMU	UCL0	
- UGAIVIA	· volton ·		• 4DE0	• 6CB6A/ 6CF6	- 12040
• 5GH8A	-	9GH8A	• 4DE6	6CE5	 12AU6 12DK6
Medium-Mu T	riode-Sharp-Cu	toff Pentode	• 4CB6	• 6BC5/	• 6JD6
	Oscillators		• 4AU6	• 6AU6A	• 6JC6A
	Oscillators		• 3JC6A • 3JD6	EF95	• 6HS6
12. HORIZO	ONTAL-DEFI	LECTION	• 3DK6 • 3JC6A	• 6AK5/	• 6EW6
			3CF6	• 6AG5	EF184
			• 3CB6/	• 5EW6	• 6DK6 • 6EJ7/
• 6LT8	• 8LT8	• 11LT8	3CE5	• 4JC6A • 4JD6	• 6DE6
	Sharp Cutoff Pen		• 3AU6 • 3BC5/	• 4EW6 • 4JC6A	• 6DC6
			Sharp-Cutoff Pe		
‡ 6B10	‡ 8B10		Sham Cutoff T	-40.40	
	Medium-Mu Twir	1 Triode	- UR 10	- 00 10	
			• 6JV8 • 6KT8	8EB8 • 8JV8	• 11KV8
• 6CN7			• 6HF8	• 8GN8/	10LZ8
• 6BN8	• 8BN8	• 8CN7	• 6GN8	• 8AW8A	• 10JA8/
Twin Diode—I	High-Mu Triode		• 6EB8	• 6MV8	• 10HF8
		-	• 6AW8A	• 6KV8	• 10GN8
E	Iorizontal AF	TC .	High-Mu Triod		f Pentode
RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	High-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode
• 4KE8 • 5U8 • 6KZ8	• 6AW8A • 8AW8A • 10GN8
• 5AT8 • 5X8 • 6U8A/	• 6EB8 • 8GN8/ • 10HF8
• 5B8 • 6AT8A 6KD8	• 6GN8 8EB8 • 10JA8/
• 5BR8/ • 6BR8A/ • 6X8A	• 6HF8 10LZ8
5FV8 6FV8A • 9KZ8	TODES
• 5CG8 • 6EA8 • 9U8A	High-Mu Twin Triode
• 5EA8 • 6FG7 • 19EA8	
• 5FG7 • 6HB7 • 19X8	© 05L/G1 • 12AX7A/ ⊙ 12SL7GT ECC83 • 7025
• 5KE8 • 6KE8	ECC83 • 7023
High-Mu Twin Triode	Medium-Mu Triode-Sharp-Cutoff Pentode
• 6DT8 • 12AT7/ • 12DT8	• 5EA8 • 6GH8A • 7100+
ECC81	• 5GH8A • 9GH8A • 19EA8 • 6EA8
17. MULTIVIBRATORS	20. RADIO-FREQUENCY
Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	AMPLIFIERS
• 5GH8A • 6GH8A • 9GH8A	
• SGR8A • OGR8A • SGR8A	Medium-Mu Triode
Medium-Mu Twin Triode	• 2BN4A • 6BC4 • 6BN4A
• 5J6 • 8FQ7/8CG7 • 12BH7A	• 3BN4A
6FQ7/6CG7 • 8GU7 0 125N7-	
• 6GU7 • 9AU7 GTA	Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode
• 6J6A • 12AU7A/ • 12FQ7	• 6CQ8
⊙ 6SN7GTB ECC82 • 19J6	
• 7AU7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode
High-Mu Twin Triode	• 4BC8 • 5BQ7A • 6BQ7A/
-	• 4BQ7A/ • 6BC8/ 6BZ7/
• 12AX7A/ ECC83	4BZ7 6BZ8 6BS8
	• 5BK7A • 6BK7B
18. OSCILLATORS	
	High-Mu Triode
Radio Frequency—UHF	△ 2CW4 • 3FH5 △ 6DS4
Medium-Mu Triode	△ 2DS4 • 3GK5 • 6ER5
• 2AF4B/ • 3AF4A/ ^ 6DV4	△ 2EG4 • 3HM5/3HA5 • 6FH5
2DZ4 3DZ4 • 6DZ4	• 2FH5 • 3HQ5 • 6GK5/
△ 2DV4 • 6AF4A/	• 2GK5/ • 4GK5 6FQ5A
6DZ4	2FQ5A • 4HM5/ • 6HM5/6HA5
	• 2HM5/ 4HA5 • 6HQ5
Radio Frequency—VHF	2HA5 • 4HQ5 ^ 13CW4 • 2HQ5 • 6AB4
Medium-Mu Twin Triode	• 2HQ5 • 6AB4 • 3ER5 • 6CW4
• 516 • 6J6A • 19J6	· SERS AUCVI4
	High-Mu Twin Triode
High-Mu Triode	• 6DT8 • 12DT8
• 6AB4	
Power Triode	Power Triode
• 6C4 (Class C)	• 6C4 (Class C)
· ocv (class c)	
3.58-MHz (Color TV)	Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode
Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	• 2CY5 • 3CY5 • 6CY5
• 5GH8A • 6GH8A • 9GH8A	
	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode
High-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	• 3AU6 • 6AG5 • 6CB6A/
• 6KT8	• 3CB6/ • 6AK5/ 6CF6
	• 3BC5/3CE5 EF95 • 6DC6
19. PHASE SPLITTERS	3CF6 • 6AU6A • 6DE6
	• 4AU6 • 6BC5/ • 12AU6
Medium-Mu Twin Triode	• 4CB6 6CÉ5
• 6FQ7/6CG7 • 8FQ7/8CG7 • 12BH7A	© 4DE6 • 6BH6
• 6GU7 • 8GU7 • 12F07	
© 65N7GTB • 9AU7 ◎ 125N7-	Remote-Cutoff Pentode
• 7AU7 • 12AU7A/ GTA	• 6BA6/ • 6BJ6 • 12BA6
ECC82	EF93

A Nuvistor

Duodecar

APPLICATION GUIDE

• 3BY6 • 4CS6 • 6CS6 • 3CS6 • 6BY6 High-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode
High-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode
High-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode
• 6KT8 • 6MV8
Madium Ma Talada Cham C 4 T D 4 1
Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode (Video Output)
• 6CX8 • 8CX8 • 11LQ8 • 6LQ8
- 02.00
Madium Ma Talada Shawa Cutoff Dantada
Medium-Mu Triode-Sharp-Cutoff Pentode
• 5AN8 • 6AZ8 • 6HL8
• 5GH8A • 6BA8A • 6MQ8 • 6AN8A • 6CU8 • 8AU8
• 6AU8A • 6GH8A • 9GH8A
· UACUA · UGHIOA · JOHIOA
Medium-Mu Twin Triode
• 6FQ7/6CG7 • 12AU7A/ • 12FQ7 • 8FQ7/8CG7 ECC82
SE 21/SCUT ECC04
Twin Diode-High-Mu Triode
• 6CN7 • 8CN7
High-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode
(Video Output)
• 6AW8A • 6KT8 • 8KA8
• 6EB8 • 6KV8 • 8LC8
• 6GN8 • 6LC8 • 10GN8
• 6GW8/ • 8AW8A • 10HF8
ECL86 • 8GN8/ • 10JA8/ • 6HF8 8EB8 10LZ8
• 6HF8 8EB8 10LZ8 • 6JV8 • 8JV8 • 11KV8
• 6KA8
25. TUNING INDICATORS
Indicator with Triode Unit
6E5 6U5
Twin Indicator Units
◎ 6AF6G
SUNFUG
26. VERTICAL-DEFLECTION
CIRCUITS
Oscillators and Amplifiers (Combined)
······································
Medium-Mu Triode—Low-Mu Triode
• 6DE7 • 10EW7 • 13DE7
• 6EW7 • 10DE7
Modium Mr. Dust Tet 1
Medium-Mu Dual Triode
• 6CM7 • 8CM7 • 8CS7
• 6CS7
Medium-Mu Twin Triode
Medium-Mu Twin Triode • 6FQ7/6CG7 • 8FQ7/8CG7 • 12FQ7

High-Mu Tri	ode-Low-Mu Trie	ode	Power Pento	de	
• 6CY7 • 6DR7 • 6EM7/ 6EA7	• 10DR7 © 10EM7 • 10GF7A • 13DR7	© 13FM7/ 15FM7 ▲ 13FD7 ▲ 13GF7A	• 6GK6 ◎ 6K6GT	• 10GK6	• 16GK6
▲ 6FD7 ▲ 6GF7A	• 13EM7/ • 13EM7/ 15EA7	- 13GF/A	27. VIDEC	AMPLIFIER	s
Klich Ma Tai	ode-Beam Power	Tube	Medium-Mu	TriodeSharp-Cu	toff Pentode
			• 5AN8	• 6AZ8	• 6MQ8
4 6KY8A	‡ 6LU8	‡ 16LU8	• 5GH8A	• 6BA8A	• 8AU8
▲ 6LR8	Å 15KY8A	▲ 21LR8	• 6AN8A	• 6GH8A	• 9GH8A
		‡ 21LU8 ▲ 31LR8	• 6AU8A	• 6HL8	
Dual Triode			Medium-Mu	Friode—Sharp-Cui	off Pentode deo Output)
			(0)	• -	
◎ 6EM7/	▲ 6GF7A	© 13EM7/	• 6CX8	• 8CX8	• 11LQ8
6EA7		15EA7	• 6LQ8		
Dual Triode- ± 23Z9	-Beam Power Tube	e	High-Mu Trio	deSharp Cutoff (Video	Pentode Output)
+ 4323			• 6AW8A	• 6LF8	• 10GN8
			• 6EB8	• 8AW8A	• 10HF8
Medium-Mu	Triode—Power Pe	entode	• 6GN8	• 8GN8/	• 10JA8/
± 6JZ8	± 17JZ8 ±	25JZ8	• 6HF8	SEBS	10LZ8
± 13JZ8	± 24JZ8		• 6JV8	• 8JV8	• 10LY8
+	+		• 6KV8	• 0 • 0	• 11KV8
			• 01 10		• 116.70
	Ampli fiers			-	
Low-Mu Tric	vde .			Pentode (Video Or	itput)
• 12B4A			• 6AG7	• 10GK6	• 12HG7
• 12 B 4A			• 6CL6	 11HM7 	• 12HG7/
			• 6GK6	 12BY7A/ 	12GN7A
Medlum-Mu	Triode		• 6JG5	12BV7/	• 12HL7
• 6S4A			• 7K¥6	12DQ7	
Beam Power	Tube		Diode-Sharp-	Cutoff Pentode	
• 5AO5	± 6JB5/	• 11DS5	• 5AM8	• 6AM8A	• 6AS8
• 5CZ5	6HE5	• 12AO5			
• 6A05A	• 6J06#	· 12JO6#	High-Mn Trio	de-Sharp-Cutoff	Pentode
• 6CZ5	⊙ 6V6	◎ 12V6GT	• 6KT8	nump-cuton	
• 6DS5	© 6V6GTA	• 17JQ6#			
• 6EM5	• 8EM5	113.00	Sharp-Cutoff 1	Pontodo	
± 6JA5	± 10JA5			-	
+ 1949	+ 10343		• 3JC6A	• 4JC6A •	6JC6A

Technical Data for RCA Receiving Tubes Entertainment and

Industrial Types

This section contains technical data for RCA receiving tubes, intended for use in many diverse entertainment and industrial applications such as standard broadcast, FM, television receiver, audio amplifier, on-off control, voltage regulator, and voltage reference. Detailed data are presented on popular types. Essential information on less active types and on discontinued types in which there still may be some interest is given in chart form at the end of the section.

Tube types are listed in this section according to the numericalalphabetical-numerical sequence of their type designations. Tube types which have superseding versions are cross-referenced to active types. In addition, an alpha-numeric listing of foreign type designations is included at the end of this data section.

A grid-No. 2 input rating chart for certain voltage-amplifier types, as specified in the technical data, is shown on page 300. Safety Precautions are given on page 93. Characteristics for RCA television picture tubes for replacement use are given in RCA Picture Tube Characteristics Charts.

When choosing types for the design of new electronic equipment, the designer should refer to the Application Guide for RCA Receiving Tubes which starts on page 104.

To expedite the preliminary search for interchangeable tube types, the section Terminal Diagrams, which starts on page 594, includes a comprehensive listing of domestic and foreign tube types having the same basing arrangement. The Key To Terminal Diagrams is given on page 612.

Two replacement guides are also included. A Replacement Guide-Entertainment Receiving Types and a Replacement Guide-Industrial Receiving Types are given on pages 650 and 657 respectively.

OA2
INDUSTRIAL

VOLTAGE REGULATOR

Miniature type cold-cathode, glow-discharge tube used in voltage regulator applications. Outlines section, 5D;



requires miniature 7-contact socket.			5BO	
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)				
Average Starting Current •			75	mA
DC Cathode Current			∫30 } 5 min	mA mA
Frequency				Hz °C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES				
Shunt Capacitor			0.1 rating Consid	μF derations
CHARACTERISTICS RANGE VALUES FOR EQUIPMENT	DESIGN	4		
	Min.	Av.	Max.	_
DC Anode-Supply Voltage	185			volts
Anode Breakdown Voltage		156	185*	volts
Anode Voltage Drop	140	151	168* 6*	volts volts
Regulation (5 to 30 mA)		2	0*	VOILS

• Averaged over starting period not exceeding 10 seconds. This starting period must be followed by a steady-state operating condition of at least 20 minutes, or tube performance will be impaired.

Not less than indicated supply voltage should be provided to insure "starting" throughout tube life.

* Maximum individual tube value during useful life.

• Minimum individual tube value during useful life.

Operating Considerations

Sufficient resistance must always be used in series with the tube to limit the current through the tube. The value for the series resistor is dependent on the maximum anode-supply voltage and the ratio of the current through the load to the operating current of the tube, and should be chosen to limit the operating current through the tube to the maximum rated value at all times after the starting period.

The maximum load current that can be regulated by the tube is determined by the minimum and maximum values of the supply voltage. After the value of series resistor for the maximum supply voltage has been calculated as indicated above, it is then in order to determine if this value will permit adequate starting voltage when the supply voltage falls to its minimum value. If adequate starting voltage is not obtained, a new load current of lower value must be used and the calculations repeated. It will be apparent from such calculations that the higher the minimum supply voltage and the smaller the difference between its minimum and maximum values, the higher will be the load current that can be regulated.

When equipment utilizing the tube is "turned on", a starting current in excess of the average operating current is permissible as indicated under Maximum Ratings. When the tube is subjected to such high starting currents, the regulated voltage may require up to 20 minutes to drop to its normal operating value. This performance is characteristic of voltage-regulator tubes of the glow-discharge type. Similarly, the regulation is affected by changes in current within the operating current range.

In order to handle more load current, two or more tubes may be operated in parallel, but such parallel operation requires that a resistance of approximately 100 ohms be used in series with each tube in order to equalize division of the current between the paralleled tubes. The disadvantage of this method, of course, is that the use of resistors impairs the regulation which can be obtained.

If the associated circuit has a capacitor in shunt with the tube, the capacitor should be limited in value to 0.1 μ F. A larger value may cause the tube to oscillate and thus give unstable regulation performance.



Typical circuit to provide regulated supply voltage of approximately 150 or 108 volts to load. Removal of tube from socket removes voltage from load.



Typical circuit using two OA2's or two OB2's to provide regulated supply voltages of approximately 300 or 216 volts and 150 or 108 volts to load. Socket connections are so made that voltage on load is removed when either tube is taken from its socket.



Typical circuit for bias-supply regulation. Removal of tube from socket opens B-supply circuit of regulated tubes.

OA2WA	Refer to chart at end of section.
OA3	Refer to chart at end of section.
OA3A	Refer to chart at end of section.
OA4G	Refer to chart at end of section.

OB2 INDUSTRIAL

VOLTAGE REGULATOR



Miniature type cold-cathode, glow-discharge tube used in voltage regulator applications. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values) Average Starting Current •	75 mA
Average Starting Current DC Cathode Current	{30 mA }5 min. mA
Frequency	0 Hz 55 to +90 °C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	
Shunt Capacitor	0.1 μF erating Considerations

CHARACTERISTICS RANGE VALUES FOR EQUIPMENT DESIGN

	Min.	Av.	Max.	
DC Anode-Supply Voltage	133			volts
Anode Breakdown Voltage	~	115	133*	volts
Anode Voltage Drop	101•	108	114*	volta
Regulation (5 to 30 mA)		1	4*	volts

- Averaged over starting period not exceeding 10 seconds. This starting period must be followed by a steady-state operating condition of at least 20 minutes, or tube performance will be impaired.
- Not less than indicated supply voltage should be provided to insure "starting" throughout tube life.
- * Maximum individual tube value during useful life.
- Minimum individual tube value during useful life.

Operating Considerations

Refer to type OA2.

OB2WA

Refer to chart at end of section.

OC2

Refer to chart at end of section.



VOLTAGE REGULATOR

Glass octal type cold-cathode, glow-discharge tube used in voltage regulator applications. Outlines section, 22; requires octal socket.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)					
Average Starting Current •					
DC Cathode Current					
Frequency Ambient-Temperature Range .					





100

41

A

5 min.

55 to +90



MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Shunt	Capacitor			μF
Series	Resistor	See	Operating	Considerations

CHARACTERISTICS RANGE VALUES FOR EQUIPMENT DESIGN

	Min.	Av.	Max.	
DC Anode-Supply Voltage	133	—		volts
Anode Breakdown Voltage	<u> </u>	115	133*	volts
Anode Voltage Drop	103•	108	116*	volts
Regulation (5 to 40 mA)		2	4*	volts

• Averaged over starting period not exceeding 10 seconds. This starting period must be followed by a steady-state operating condition of at least 20 minutes, or tube performance will be impaired.

• Not less than indicated supply voltage should be provided to insure "starting" throughout tube life.

* Maximum individual tube value during useful life.

• Minimum individual tube value during useful life.

Operating Considerations

Refer to type OA2. For circuit diagrams refer to next page.

Refer to chart at end of section.



VOLTAGE REGULATOR

OD3 INDUSTRIAL

OC3A

Glass octal type cold-cathode, glow-discharge tube used in voltage regulator applications. Outlines section, 22; requires octal socket.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

Average Starting Current 100 DC Cathode Current {40 Frequency 5 Ambient-Temperature Range -55	mA mA min. mA Hz to +90 °C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	
Shunt Capacitor	μF c Considerations
CHARACTERISTICS RANGE VALUES FOR EQUIPMENT DESIGN	

	Min.	Av.	Max.	
DC Anode-Supply Voltage	185■		_	volts
Anode Breakdown Voltage		160	185*	volts
Anode Voltage Drop	142	153	165*	volts
Regulation (5 to 40 mA)		4	5.5*	volts

 Averaged over starting period not exceeding 10 seconds. This starting period must be followed by a steady-state operating condition of at least 20 minutes, or tube performance will be impaired.

• Not less than indicated supply voltage should be provided to insure "starting" throughout tube life.

* Maximum individual tube value during useful life.

• Minimum individual tube value during useful life.

Operating Considerations

Refer to type OA2. For circuit diagrams refer to next page.

Refer to chart at end of section.





Typical circuit to provide regulated supply voltage of approximately 75, 105, or 150 volts to load. Removal of tube from socket removes voltage from load.



Typical circuit using two OC3's, or two OD3's to provide regulated supply voltages of approximately 210 or 300 volts and 105 or 150 volts to load. Socket connections are so made that voltage on load is removed when either tube is taken from its socket.

Refer to chart at end of data section.

Refer to type OZ4A/OZ4.

OZ4

OZ4A



FULL-WAVE GAS RECTIFIER OZ4A/OZ4

Metal type used as a power rectifier in equipment with vibrator-type power supplies. Outlines section, 2A; requires octal socket. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated.

Full-Wave Rectifier

MAXIMUM AND MINIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) Peak Inverse Plate Voltage (Per Plate) Peak Starting-Supply Voltage (Per Plate) Peak Plate Current (Per Plate) DC Output Current	880 max 300 ⁴ min 330 max { 110 max 30 ⁴ min	volts volts mA mA
TYPICAL OPERATION WITH VIBRATOR-TYPE POWER SUPPLY AND CAPACITOR INPUT TO FILTER	(
Peak Plate Supply Voltage (Per Plate)‡ Filter-Input Capacitor Total Effective Plate Supply Impedance (Per Plate) DC Output at Input to Filter DC Output Current	440 8 600 310 100	volts μF ohms volts mA
CHARACTERISTICS Tube Voltage Drop for current of 110 mA (Per Plate) MINIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE	24	volts
Total Effective Plate-Supply Impedance (Per Plate) Absolute value. Under no circumstances should the tube be operated ‡ Open-circuit voltage (flat portion of transformer voltage wave).	300 below the value	ohms shown.
Refer to chart at end of section.	OZ4G	
Refer to chart at end of section.	1A3	
Refer to chart at end of section.	1A4P	

Refer to chart at end of section.	1A4P
Refer to chart at end of section.	1A5GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	1A6
Refer to chart at end of section.	1A7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	1AC5
Refer to chart at end of section.	1AD2



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

1AD2A

Duodecar type used as a rectifier in high-voltage pulse circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 9A; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Socket terminals 4 and 10 may be used as tie points for components at or near filament potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.

Filament Voltage (ac/dc)	1.25	volts
Filament Current Direct Interelectrode Capacitance (Approx.):	0.2	ampere
Plate to Filament	1.6	рF

Pulsed Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Filament Voltage:	26000• 50 0.5	volts mA mA
Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	1.45 1.05	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	225	volta
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC		10100

X-Radiation, Maximum:

1AY2A

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

1AD5	Refer to chart at end of section.
1AX2	Refer to chart at end of section.
1AY2	Refer to chart at end of section.

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

	<u> </u>	_
1		- 1
	$\boldsymbol{\wedge}$	
\sim	$ \rightarrow $	
<u> </u>		
	F	

Miniature type used to supply high voltage to the anode
of the picture tube in television receivers. Outlines sec-
tion, 33A; requires 2-contact socket. For high-voltage
and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.

Filament Voltage (ac/dc)	1.25	volts
Filament Current	0.2	ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Plate to Filament	1.4	pF

Flyback Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current	26000* 50 0.5	volts mA mA
Filament Voltage: Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	1.45 1.05	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	100	volts
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC X-Radiation Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis	0.5	mR/hr

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

* The dc component must not exceed 22000 volts.

Castion—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

1B3GT

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 1G3GTA/1B3GT.

Refer to chart at end of section.	1B4P
Refer to chart at end of section.	1B5/25S
Refer to chart at end of section.	1B7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	1BC2



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

1BC2A

.

Miniature type used as a high-voltage rectifier to supply power to the anode of the television picture tube. Outlines section, 7E. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 1.25; amperes, 0.2.

Flyback Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current		volts mA mA
Filament Voltage: Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value		volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	80	volts

X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC

X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis 0.5 mR/hr # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). ▲ The dc component must not exceed 15000 volts.

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

Refer to chart at end of section.	1BH2 1BH2A
Refer to chart at end of section.	1C5GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	1C6
Refer to chart at end of section.	1C7G
Refer to chart at end of section.	1C21
Refer to chart at end of section.	1D5GP 1D5GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	1D7G
Refer to chart at end of section.	1D8GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	1DG3

1DG3A

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used as a high-voltage rectifier to supply power to the television picture tube. Outlines section, 14J; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 1 and 7 may be used as tie points for components at or near filament potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93. Filament: volts (ac/dc), 1.25; ampere, 0.2.



Flyback Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Filament Voltage:	26000● 50 0.5	volts mA mA
Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	$1.45 \\ 1.05$	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value		
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	225	volts
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis	0.5	mR/hr
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle	•	

• The dc component must not exceed 22000 volts.

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

1DN5	Refer to chart at end of section.
1E5GP	Refer to chart at end of section.
1E7GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
1E8	Refer to chart at end of section.
1 F4	Refer to chart at end of section.
1F5G	Refer to chart at end of section.
1F6	Refer to chart at end of section.
1 F 7G	Refer to chart at end of section.
1G3GT/ 1B3GT	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 1G3GTA/1B3GT.
1G3GTA	For replacement use type 1G3GTA/1B3GT.

1G3GTA/ 1B3GT

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used as a high-voltage rectifier to supply power to the anode of the television picture tube. **Outlines section**, 14B; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 4 and 6 may be used as tie points for components at or near filament potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93. Filament: volts (ac/dc), 1.25; ampere, 0.2.



Flyback Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current	26000* 50 0.5	volts mA mA
Filament Voltage: Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	1.45 1.05	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	100	volts
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC		
X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis	0.5	mR/hr

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).
* The dc component must not exceed 21000 volts.

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

Refer to chart at end of section.	1G4GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	1G5G
Refer to chart at end of section.	1G6GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	1H4G
Refer to chart at end of section.	1H5GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	1H6G
Refer to chart at end of section.	1J3
Refer to chart at end of section.	1J5G
Refer to chart at end of section.	7J6G 1J6GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	1K3 1K3/1J3



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER 1K3A/1J3

Glass octal type used as a high-voltage rectifier to supply power to the anode of the television picture tube. Outlines section, 14B; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 4 and 6 may be used as tie points for components at or near filament potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.

Filament: volts (ac/dc), 1.25; ampere, 0.2.

Flyback Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Filament Voltage:		volts mA mA
Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	$1.45 \\ 1.05$	volts volts

CHARACTERISTIC, instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	225	volta
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC		ι.
X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis	0.5	mR/hr
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle	(10	microseconds).
* The dc component must not exceed 22000 volts.		

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

114	Refer to chart at end of section.
116	Refer to chart at end of section.
1LA4	Refer to chart at end of section.
1LA6	Refer to chart at end of section.
1LB4	Refer to chart at end of section.
1LC5	Refer to chart at end of section.
1LC6	Refer to chart at end of section.
1LD5	Refer to chart at end of section.
1LE3	Refer to chart at end of section.
1LG5	Refer to chart at end of section.
1LH4	Refer to chart at end of section.
1LN5	Refer to chart at end of section.
1N2A	Refer to chart at end of section.
1N5GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
1N6G	Refer to chart at end of section.
1P5GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
IQ5GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
1R5	Refer to chart at end of section.
152A/DY87	Refer to chart at end of section.
1\$4	Refer to chart at end of section.
1\$5	Refer to chart at end of section.
174	Refer to chart at end of section.
1T5GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
116	Refer to chart at end of section.
1U4	Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.	1U5
Refer to chart at end of section.	IV

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER 1V2

Miniature type used as a doubler in high-voltage pulse rectifier circuits of black-and-white television receivers and as a focus rectifier in color television receivers. The very low power required by the filament permits the use of a rectifier transformer having small size and light weight. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Filament Voltage (ac) Filament Current Direct Interelectrode Capacitance:	0.625= 0.3	volt ampere
Plate to Filament (Approx.)	0.8	pF

• Under no circumstances should the filament voltage be less than 0.525 volt or greater than 0.725 volt.

Pulsed Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#	8250•	volts
Peak Plate Current		mA
Average Plate Current	0.6	mA
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cy	/cle (10	microseconds).
• The dc component must not exceed 7000 volts.		

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Miniature type used as a rectifier in high-voltage pulse circuits of black-and-white television receivers and as a focus rectifier in color television receivers. Outlines section, 7A; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Socket terminals 3 and 7 may be used as tie points for components at or near filament potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.

Filament Voltage (ac) Filament Current Direct Interelectrode Capacitance:	1.25 0.2	volts ampere
Plate to Filament and Internal Shield (Approx.)	1	pF
Flyback Rectifier		
For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system	ema	
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#	22000* 45 0.5	volts mA mA
Filament Voltage: Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	1.45 1.05	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value		
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	80	volts



1X2A

1X2B 1X2B/1X2A

1X2C

X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC

X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis 0.5 mR/hr # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). * The dc component must not exceed 18000 volts.

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

2A3	Refer to chart at end of section.
2A5	Refer to chart at end of section.
2A6	Refer to chart at end of section.
2A7	Refer to chart at end of section.
2AF4A	Refer to chart at end of section.
2AF4B	Refer to chart at end of section.
2AF4B/2DZ4	Refer to type 6AF4A.
2AH2	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 2BU2/2AH2.
2A52	Refer to chart at end of section.

2AS2A

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Duodecar type used as a rectifier in high-voltage pulse circuits of color television receivers. Outlines section, 9B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Socket terminals 4, 7, and 10 may be used as tie points for components at or near heater potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 2.5; amperes, 0.33.



Pulsed Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) 30000+ volts mA 90 1.7 mA Average Plate Current CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA 75 volte **X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC** X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis 25 mR/hr # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). • The dc component must not exceed 24000 volts. Caution-Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result

in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER 2AV2

Miniature type used as a high-voltage, low-current pulse-operated focus rectifier in color television receivers. The filament of the tube can be operated directly across the filament winding of the horizontaloutput transformer without a series voltage-dropping resistor. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9contact socket.

Filament Voltage (ac)	1.8*	volts
Filament Current	0.225	ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitance (Approx.):		
Plate to Filament	0.8	\mathbf{pF}

Pulsed Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#	8250**	volts
Peak Plate Current	50 0.6	mA mA
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value		

Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 1 mA20volts# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).** Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded; the dc component must not exceed 7000 volts.* Under no circumstances should the filament voltage be less than 1.53 volts or greater than 2.07 volts.

Refer to chart at end of section.	2B7
Refer to chart at end of section.	2BA2
Refer to chart at end of section.	2BJ2 2BJ2A
Refer to chart at end of section.	2BN4
Refer to type 6BN4A.	2BN4A
Refer to type 2BU2/2AH2	2BU2



12**JB**

```
HALF-WAVE
VACUUM RECTIFIER
```

Duodecar type used as a high-voltage rectifier to sup-

ply power to the anode of the picture tube in television receivers. **Outlines section**, 9B; requires 12-contact socket. Socket terminals 4, 10, and 11 may be used as

2BU2/ 2AH2

tie points for components at or near heater potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 2.5; ampere, 0.33.

Fly	bac	k R	leci	tifier
-----	-----	-----	------	--------

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current		volts mA mA
Heater Voltage: Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	2.9 2.1	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop (Approx.), for plate current of 7 mA	60	volts
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC X-Radiation. Maximum:		

• The dc component must not exceed 24000 volts.

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

2CN3A	Refer to chart at end of section.
2CW4	Refer to type 6CW4.
2CY5	Refer to type 6CY5.



GAS THYRATRON



7BN

Miniature type gas-tet	rode thy	ratro	n intendeo	d for relay
applications. Outlines	section,	5C;	requires	miniature
7-contact socket.				

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	$6.3 \pm 10\%$	volts
Heater Current		
	0.6	ampere
Cathode:		
Heating time prior to tube conduction	10	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak value	-100 + 25	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	100 [20	vona
		_
Grid No. 1 to anode	0.026	pF
Input	2.4	pF
Output	1.6	DF
Ionization Time (Approx.):	110	pr
For conditions: dc anode volts $= 100$; grid-No. 1 square-pulse		
volts $= 50$; peak anode amp. during conduction $= 0.5$	0.5	# B
Deionization Time (Approx.):		
For conditions: dc anode volts = 125 ; grid-No. 1 volts = -100 .		
grid-No. 1 resistor (ohms) = 1000 ; ac anode amp. = 0.1	35	
	00	μs
For conditons: dc anode volts = 125 ; grid-No. 1 volts = -10 ;		
grid-No. 1 resistor (ohms) $=$ 1000, dc anode amp. $=$ 0.1	75	μs
Maximum Critical Grid-No. 1 Current with an anode-supply volts		•
(rms) = 460, and average anode amp. = 0.1	0.5	μA
	8	
Anode Voltage Drop (Approx.)	0	volts
Grid-No. 1 Control Ratio (Approx.) with grid-No. 1 resistor (meg-		
ohms) = 0; grid-No. 2 volts = 0	250	
Grid-No. 2 Control Ratio (Approx.) with grid-No. 1 resistor (meg-		
ohms) = 0; grid-No. 2 resistor (megohms) = 0; grid-No. 1		
	1000	
$volts = 0 \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	1000	

Relay and Grid-Controlled Rectifier Service

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

Peak Anode Voltage:		
Forward	650	volts
Inverse Grid-No. 2 (Shield-Grid) Voltage:	1300	volts
Peak, before anode conduction		volts
Average, during anode conduction		volts

Grid-No. 1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: Peak, before anode conduction Average, during anode conduction [®] Cathode Current:		volts volts
Peak Average Fault, for duration of 0.1 sec. max. Grid-No. 2 Current:	0.1	ampere ampere amperes
Average [®]	+0.01	ampere
Average Ambient Temperature Range	+0.01 -75 to +90	ampere °C

Operational Range of Critical Grid-No. 1 Voltage.



TYPICAL OPERATING CONDITIONS FOR RELAY SERVICE

RMS Anode Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage RMS Grid-No.1 Bias Voltage DC Grid-No.1 Bias Voltage Peak Grid-No.1 Signal Voltage Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance Anode-Circuit Resistance#	0 5 	400 0 6 6 1.0 2000	volts volts volts volts volts megohm ohms
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance		10	megohms

Averaged over any interval of 30 seconds maximum. Approximately 180° out of phase with the anode voltage. # Sufficient resistance, including the tube load, must be used under any conditions of operation to prevent exceeding the current ratings.

Refer to chart at end of section.	2D21W
Refer to type 6DS4.	2D\$4
Refer to type 6DV4.	2DV4
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 2AF4B/2DZ4.	2DZ4

2EG4

HIGH-MU TRIODE

Nuvistor type used as a grounded-cathode, neutralized rf amplifier in vhf tuners of television and FM receivers. Outlines section, 1; requires nuvistor socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	1.7 0.6
Heater Current	8
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	±100



Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Shell Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Shell Plate to Cathode		0.92 4.3 1.8 0.18	pF pF pF pF
Heater to Cathode		1.6	pF
Class A ₁ Amplifier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)			
Plate Supply Voltage		300°	volts
Plate Voltage		135	volts
Grid Voltage:			volts
Negative-bias value	• • • • • • • • • • •	55 0	volts
Peak or dc positive value	• • • • • • • • • •	1.5	watts
Cathode Current		15	mA
Cathode Current,		 m • -1	
Charles and Evelopic ADEDATION Char	acteristics	Typical Operation	
CHARACTERIOTICS AND THIS OF EAST	acceristics 110	70	volts
Plate Supply Voltage	110	10	volts
Grid Supply Voltage	130		ohms
Grid Resistor		47000	ohms
Amplification Factor	63	68	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	7000	5440	ohms
Transconductance	9000	12500	µmhos volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 µA	5 6.8		volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 #A	6.5	7	mA
Plate Current	0.0	•	
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation		2.2	megohms
For cathode-bias operation		0.5	megohm
^o A plate supply voltage of 300 volts may be used provided		iciently large	resistor is
used in the plate circuit to limit the plate dissipation to	1.5 watts	under any c	ondition of
operation.			

· For operation at metal-shell temperatures up to 135° C.



Refer to chart at end of section.	2EN5
Refer to chart at end of section.	2ER5
Refer to type 6FH5.	2FH5
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 2GK5/2FQ5A.	2FQ5A
Refer to type 6FS5.	2FS5
Refer to chart at end of section.	2GK5
Refer to type 6GK5.	2GK5/2FQ5A
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 2FS5.	2GU5
For replacement use type 2HM5/2HA5.	2HA5
Refer to type 6HM5/6HA5.	2HM5/2HA5
Refer to type 6HQ5.	2HQ5
Refer to chart at end of section.	3A2



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Miniature type used in high-voltage rectifier circuits of small-screen black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 7A; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Socket terminals 1, 3, 4, 6, and 7 may be connected to terminal 9 or to a corona shield which connects to terminal 9. Terminals 3 and 7 may be used as tie points

3A2A

at or near cathode potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	3.15 0.22	volts ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	1	pF
Pulsed Rectifier		
For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Ratings)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current	20000 80	volts mA
Average Plate Current	1.5	mA
Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	$3.65 \\ 2.65$	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, instantaneous Value		
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	70	volts
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC		
X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis	0.5	mR/hr
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cy	cle (10 mic	roseconds).
• The dc component must not exceed 18000 volts.		
		-

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

3A3	Refer to chart at end of section.
3A3/3B2	Refer to chart at end of section.
3A3A 3A3A/3B2	Refer to chart at end of section.
ЗАЗВ	Refer to chart at end of sectior

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used as a rectifier in high-voltage pulse circuits of color television receivers. Outlines section, 14F; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 8 may be connected to terminal 7. Socket terminals 4 and 6 may be used as tie points at or near cathode potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.



8EZ

Heater Voltage (ac)	3.15	volts
Heater Current	0.22	ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Plate to Heater, Cathode, and Internal Shield	1.5	pF

Pulsed Rectifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current	100	volts mA mA
Heater Voltage: Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	3.65 2.65	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop (Approx.) for plate current of 7 mA	100	volts

X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC

X-Radiation, Maximum:

3A3C

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

3A4

Refer to chart at end of section.



H-F TWIN TRIODE



Miniature type twin triode used as a A-F power amplifier or an R-F power amplifier or oscillator. Each triode can be used independently of the other. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket.

Filament Series Filament Voltage (dc) 2.8 Filament Current 0.11	1.4	volts spere
---	-----	----------------

		Unit No. 2	_
Grid to Plate	3.2	3.2	pF
Grid to Filament		0.9	pF
Plate to Filament	1.0	1.0	pF
Plate to Plate	0	.32	pF

A-F Power Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage Plate Current Plate Dissipation		volts mA watt
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage Amplification Factor	90 2.5 15	volts volts
Plate Resistance	8300	ohms

R-F Power Amplifier and Oscillator—Class C Telegraphy

Key-down conditions per tube without modulation

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

DC Plate Voltage	135	volts
DC Grid Voltage	30	volts
DC Plate Current (per unit)	15	mA
DC Grid Current (per unit)	2.5	mA
Plate Input (per unit)	2.0	watts
Plate Dissipation (per unit)	1.0	watt

TYPICAL OPERATION (At 40 MHz With Both Units in Push-Pull)

Transconductance

Plate Current

DC Plate Voltage	135	volts volts
DC Grid Voltage	4000	ohms
Peak R-F Grid-to-Grid Voltage	90	volts mA
DC Grid Current (approx.) Driving Power (approx.)		mA watt watts
Power Output (approx.)	2	watts

* Filament voltage applied across two sections in series between pins No. 1 and No. 7. Grid voltage is referred to pin No. 1. For series filament operation, a shunting resistor must be connected across the section between pins No. 1 and No. 4, to by-pass excess cathode current in this section. The value of the shunting resistor should be adjusted to make the voltage across the shunted section equal to the voltage across the section between pins No. 4 and No. 7. When other tubes in series-filament arrangement contribute to the filament current of the 3A5, an additional shunting resistor may be required between pins No. 7.

** Filament voltage applied across the two sections in parallel between pin No. 4 and pins No. 1 and No. 7 connected together. Grid voltage is referred to pins No. 1 and No. 7 tied together.

• Obtained by grid resistor (4000), cathode resistor (570), or fixed supply.

3A8GT
3AF4A
3AF4A/3DZ4
3AL5

Refer to chart at end of section.

µmhos

mA

1800

3.7

3AT2

3AT2B

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Duodecar type used as a high-voltage rectifier to supply power to the anode of the television picture tube. **Outlines section**, 9B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Socket terminals 4, 7, and 10 may be used as tie points for components at or near filament potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 3.15; ampere. 0.22.



Flyback Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Heater Voltage:	38000* 88 1.7	volts mA mA
Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	$3.65 \\ 2.65$	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value		
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	60	volts
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC		
X-Radiation, Maximum:		

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). * The dc component must not exceed 30000 volts.

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

3AU6	Refer to type 6AU6A.
3AV6	Refer to chart at end of section.
3AW2	Refer to chart at end of section.

3AW2A

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Duodecar type used as a high-voltage rectifier to supply power to the anode of the picture tube in color and black-and-white television receivers. **Outlines section**, 9B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Socket terminals 4, 7, and 10 may be used as tie points at or near heater potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93. **Heater:** volts (ac/dc), 3.15; ampere, 0.35.



Pulsed Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#	38000•	volts
Peak Plate Current	110	mA
Average Plate Current	2.2	mA
Heater Voltage:		•.
Absolute-maximum value	3.65	volts
Absolute-minimum value	2.65	volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value		
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	60	volts

X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
Refer to chart at end of section.	3AW3
Refer to chart at end of section.	3B2
Refer to chart at end of section.	3B4WA
Refer to chart at end of section.	3BA6
Refer to chart at end of section.	3BC5
Refer to type 6BC5.	3BC5/3CE5
Refer to chart at end of section.	3BE6
Refer to chart at end of section.	3BL2
Refer to chart at end of section.	3BL2A
Refer to chart at end of section.	3BM2
Refer to chart at end of section.	3BN2
Refer to chart at end of section.	3BN2A
Refer to chart at end of section.	3BN4
Refer to type 6BN4A.	3BN4A
Refer to type 6BN6.	3BN6
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 3BW2/3BS2A/3BT2.	3BS2A
For replacement use type $3BW2/3BS2A/3BT2$.	3 B T2
Refer to chart at end of section.	3BU8
Refer to type 6BU8.	3BU8/3GS8
For replacement use type 3BW2/3BS2A/3BT2.	3BW2

3BW2/ 3BS2A/ 3BT2



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Duodecar type used as a high-voltage rectifier to supply power to the anode of the picture tube in color television receivers. Outlines section, 9B; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 4 and 10 may be used as tie points for components at or near heater potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.

133

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	3.15 0.48	volts ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitance (Approx.): Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	1.6	pF

Flyback Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#	38000	volts
Peak Plate Current	110	mA
Average Plate Current	2.2	mA
Heater Voltage: Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	3.65 2.65	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value		
Tube Voltage Drop (Approx.), for plate current of 7 mA	70	volts
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC		
X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis	25	mR/hr
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle	e.	

• The dc component must not exceed 30000 volts.

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 3CS6.
Refer to type 6BZ6.
Refer to chart at end of section.

3CA3A

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used as a rectifier in high-voltage pulse circuts of color television receivers. Outlines section, 14E; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 8 may be connected to terminal 7 or to a corona shield which connects to terminal 7. Socket terminals 4 and 6 may be used as tie points at or near cathode potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.



8MH

Heater Voltage (ac)	3.6 0.225	volts ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitance (Approx.): Plate to Heater, Cathode, and Internal Shield	1.6	pF

Pulsed Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current		volts mA mA
Heater Voltage: Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	4.14 3.06	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 11 mA	60	volts

X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC

X-Radiation, Maximum:

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

For replacement use type 3CB6/3CF6.	3CB6
Refer to type 6CB6A.	3CB6/3CF6
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 3BC5/3CE5.	3CE5
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 3CB6/3CF6.	3CF6
Refer to chart at end of section.	3CN3A

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER 3CN3B



Glass octal type used as a high-voltage rectifier to supply power to the anode of the picture tube in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 14F; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 4 and 6 may be used as tie points for components at or near heater potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety

••••••	, F8-		
	(ac/dc)	3.15	volts
Heater Current		0.48	ampere

Flyback Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current	38000• 110 2.2	volts mA mA
Heater Voltage: Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	$3.65 \\ 2.65$	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	60	volts
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis	25	mR/hr
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle	(10 microse	conds).

• The dc component must not exceed 30000 volts.

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

Refer to type 6CS6.

3CS6

3CU3A



8MK

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used as a rectifier in high-voltage circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. Because of its fast warm-up time it is particularly suited for transistorized systems. Outlines section, 14F; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 4 and 6 may be used as tie points. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.

Filament Voltage:	3.15	volts
Filament Current (ac)	0.28	ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitance: Plate to Filament and Shield	1.5	pF

volts

mA

mA

volts volta

Pulsed Rectifier	
For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system	
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#	
Peak Plate Current	100
Average Plate Current	2
Filament Voltage: Absolute-maximum value	3.65
Absolute-maximum value	2.65

CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value

Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA 50 volts **X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC**

3CZ3A

X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis mR/hr 25 # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). The dc component must not exceed 30000 volts.

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

3CX3	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 3DA3/3DH3.
3CY3	For replacement use type 3DB3/3CY3.
3CY5	Refer to type 6CY5.
3CZ3	For replacement use type 3CZ3A.

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type for use in the high-voltage rectifier circuits of television receivers and in other high voltage applications. Outlines section, 34A; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 8 may be connected to socket terminal 7. Socket terminals 4 and 6 may be used as tie points for components at or near heater potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer

IC	í.	
Ĩ	「)
"OF	\sim	() Н.К IS
ic		

8E	Z
3.15	volts
4	ampere seconds
1.6	ъF

Pulsed Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current	38000• 110 2.2	volts mA mA
Heater Voltage: Absolute-maximum value Absolute-minimum value	3.65 2.65	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	60	volts
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC	00	Voits

X-Radiation, Maximum:

Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis 25 mR/hr # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). • The dc component must not exceed 30000 volts.

Caution-Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

Refer to chart at end of section.

3DA3/3DH3

Refer to type 3DB3/3CY3.

3DB3



HALF-WAVE 3DB3/3CY3 VACUUM RECTIFIER

Octal type used as a high-voltage rectifier to supply power to the anode of the television picture tube. Outlines section, 14F; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 3, 4, 5, 6, and 8 should not be used as tie points although terminals 3, 5, and 8 may be connected to terminal 7. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.

Heater Voltage	3.15 0.245	volts ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitance (Approx.):		
Plate to Heater, Cathode, and Internal Shield	1.5	pF

Flyback Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current	38000● 100 2	volts mA mA
Heater Voktage: Absolute-maximum value Absolute minimum value	3.65 2.65	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	100	volts
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC		

X-Rediation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis 25 mR/hr

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). • The dc component must not exceed 30000 volts.

Caution-Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

3DC3

Glass octal type used as a rectifier in high-voltage circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. Because of its fast warm-up time it is particularly suited for transistorized systems. Outlines section, 14F; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 4, 6, and 8 may be used as tie points. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93. This type is identical

with type 3CU3A except for the following items:

Pulsed Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS ((Design-Maximum	Values)
-------------------	-----------------	---------

Peak Plate Current	110	mĄ
Average Plate Current	2.2	mA



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal types used as a high-voltage rectifier to supply power to the anode of the picture tube in television receivers. Outlines section, 14G and 14H, respectively; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 1 and 7 may be used as the points for components at or near heater potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 3.15; ampere, 0.48.



8MT

Flyback Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Heater Voltage:	38000● 110 2.2	vol ts mA mA
Absolute maximum value	3.65	volts
Absolute-minimum value	2.65	volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	60	volts
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC X-Radiation, Maximum:		
3DF3 Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis 25	3DF3A 8	mR/hr

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle.

• The dc component must not exceed 30000 volts.

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

3DG4

FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used in power supplies of color and black-and-white television receivers and other equipment having high dc requirements. Outlines section, 19E; requires octal socket. It is especially important that this tube, like other power-handling tubes, be adequately ventilated. For discussion of Rating Chart, refer to Interpretation of Tube Data. Filament: volts (ac/dc), 3.3; amperes, 3.8.



Full-Wave Rectifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Peak Inverse Plate Voltage Peak Plate Current (Per Plate) Hot-Switching Transient Plate Current (Per Plate) AC Plate Supply Voltage (Per Plate, rms) DC Output Current (Per Plate) Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)		amperes
TYPICAL OPERATION WITH CAPACITOR INPUT TO FILTER		
AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms) Filter-Input Capacitor• Effective Plate-Supply Impedance per Plate DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.): At full-load current of 350 mA	550 40 32 300	volts #F ohms volts
CHARACTERISTICS	200	VOIGS
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 350 mA (per plate)	25	volts

• Higher values of capacitance than indicated may be used, but the effective plate-supply impedance may have to be increased to prevent exceeding the maximum peak-plate-current rating.



For replacement use type 3DA3/3DH3.

зрнз 3DJ3



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used as a high-voltage rectifier to supply power to the anode of the picture tube in color television receivers. Outlines section, 14H; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 4 and 6 may be used as tie points for components at or near heater potential. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 3.15; ampere, 0.3.

Flyback Rectifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Voltage Average Plate Current Heater Voltage: Absolute maximum value		volts mA mA volts
Absolute-minimum value	2.65	volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 7 mA	70	volts
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC		
X-Radiation, maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis	25	mR/hr

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle.

• The dc component must not exceed 30000 volts.

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

Refer to type 6DK6. Refer to chart at end of section.	3DK6
Refer to chart at end of section.	3DR3 3DS3
For replacement use type 3DT6A.	3DT6
Refer to type 6DT6A.	3DT6A
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 3AF4A/3DZ4.	3DZ4
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 3EH7/XF183.	3EA5 3EH7

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

÷

3EH7/XF183	Refer to type 6EH7/EF183.
3EJ7	Refer to chart at end of section.
3EJ7/XF184	Refer to type 6EJ7/EF184.
3ER5	Refer to type 6ER5.
3FH5	Refer to chart at end of section.
3FS5	Refer to type 6FS5.
3GK5	Refer to type 6GK5.
3G\$8	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 3BU8/3GS8.
3GS8/3BU8	Refer to chart at end of section.
3HA5	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 3HM5/3HA5.
3HM5/3HA5	Refer to type 6HM5/6HA5.
3HQ5	Refer to type 6HQ5.
3H58	Refer to chart at end of section.
3JC6	Refer to chart at end of section.
3JC6A	Refer to type 6JC6A.
3JD6	Refer to type 6JD6.
3KT6	Refer to type 6KT6.
3LF4	Refer to chart at end of section.
3Q4	Refer to chart at end of section.
3Q5GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
354	Refer to chart at end of section.
3V4	Refer to chart at end of section.
4AU6	Refer to type 6AU6A.
4AV6	Refer to type 6AV6.
4BC5	Refer to chart at end of section.
4BC8	Refer to type 6BC8.
4BL8	Refer to chart at end of section.
4BL8/XCF80	Refer to type 6BL8/ECF80.
4BN6	Refer to type 6BN6.
4BQ7A	For replacement use type 4BQ7A/4BZ7.

Refer to type 6BQ7A/6BZ7/6BS8.	4BQ7A/4BZ7
Refer to chart at end of section.	4B\$8
Refer to chart at end of section.	4BU8
Refer to type 6BU8.	4BU8/4GS8
Refer to type 6BZ6.	4BZ6
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 4BQ7A/4BZ7.	4BZ7
Refer to type 6CB6A.	4CB6
Refer to type 6CS6.	4CS6
Refer to chart at end of section.	4CY5
Refer to type 6DE6.	4DE6
Refer to type 6DK6.	4DK6
Refer to chart at end of section.	4DT6
Refer to type 6DT6A.	4DT6A
Refer to chart at end of section.	4EH7
Refer to type 6EH7/EF183.	4EH7/LF183
Refer to chart at end of section.	4EJ7
Refer to type 6EJ7/EF184.	4EJ7/LF184
Refer to chart at end of section.	4ES8
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 4KN8.	4ES8/XCC189
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 4LU6.	4EW6
Refer to type 6GK5.	4GK5
Refer to type 6GJ7/ECF801.	4GJ7/XCF801
Refer to chart at end of section.	4GM6
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 4BU8/4GS8.	4G\$8
Refer to chart at end of section.	4GS8/4BU8
Refer to chart at end of section.	4GX7
Refer to chart at end of section.	4GZ5
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 4HM5/4HA5.	4HA5
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 4HM5/4HA5.	4HA5/PC900
Refer to chart at end of section.	4HA7

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

4HA7/4HC7	Refer to chart at end of section.
4HC7	Refer to chart at end of section.
4HM5/4HA5	Refer to type 6HM5/6HA5.
4HM6	Refer to chart at end of section.
4HQ5	Refer to type 6HQ5.
4HS8	Refer to type 6HS8.
4HT6	Refer to chart at end of section.
4JC6	Refer to chart at end of section.
4JC6A	Refer to type 6JC6A.
4JD6	Refer to type 6JD6.
4JH6	Refer to type 6JH6.
4KE8	Refer to type 6KE8.
4KN8/4RHH8	Refer to chart at end of section.
4KT6	Refer to type 6KT6.
4LJ8	Refer to type 6LJ8.
4LU6	Refer to chart at end of section.
4MK8	Refer to type 6MK8A.
4RHH2	For replacement use type 4BQ7A/4BZ7
4RHH8	For replacement use type 4KN8/4RHH8.
5AM8	Refer to type 6AM8A.
5AN8	Refer to type 6AN8A.
5AQ5	Refer to type 6AQ5A.

5AR4/ GZ34

FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used in power supply of television receivers and other equipment having high dc requirements. Outlines section, 13F; requires octal socket. It is especially important that this tube, like other powerhandling tubes, be adequately ventilated. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 5; amperes, 1.9.



Full-Wave Rectifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Peak Inverse Plate Voltage 1700 volts Peak Plate Current (Per Plate) 825 mA Hot-Switching Transient Plate Current (Per Plate) 3.7 amperes AC Plate-Supply Voltage (Per Plate, rms, without load) See Rating Chart Average Output Current (Per Plate) See Rating Chart

TYPICAL OPERATION WITH CAPACITOR INPUT TO FILT	ER		
AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms)	450	550	volts
Effective Plate-Supply Impedance per Plate	160	200	ohms
Average Output Current	225	160	mA
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter	475	620	volts
TYPICAL OPERATION WITH CHOKE INPUT TO FILTER			
AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms)	450	550	volts
Filter Input Choke	10	10	henries
Average Output Current	250	225	mA
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter	375	465	volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value			
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 225 mA			
(Per Plate)	—	17	volts



Refer to chart at end of section.

5AS4

5AS4A



FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used in power supplies of television receivers having high dc requirements. Outlines section, 19D; requires octal socket. This type may be supplied with pins 3, 5, and 7 omitted. Vertical mounting is preferred, but horizontal mounting is permissible if pins 2 and 4 are in vertical plane. It is especially important

quately ventilated. Heater: volts (ac), 5; amperes, 3. For maximum ratings, typical operation, and curves, refer to type 5U4GB.

Refer to chart at end of section.	5AS8
Refer to type 6AT8A.	5AT8
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 5V3A/5AU4.	5AU4
Refer to chart at end of section.	5AV8
Refer to chart at end of section.	5AW4
Refer to chart at end of section.	5AZ4
Refer to chart at end of section.	5B8
Refer to chart at end of section.	5BC3
5BC3A v

FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Novar types used in power supplies of radio equipment and television receivers having high dc requirements. Outlines section, 31C; requires novar 9-contact

socket. Vertical operation is preferred, but tubes may be operated in horizontal position if pins 2 and 7 are in vertical plane. It is especially important that these tubes, like other power-handling tubes, be adequately ventilated. Filament: volts (ac), 5; amperes, 3.

Full-Wave Rectifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Peak Inverse Plate Voltage

Peak Inverse Plate Voltage Peak Plate Current (Per Plate) Hot-Switching Transient Plate Current (Per Plate)° AC Plate-Supply Voltage (Per Plate, rms) Average Output Current (Per Plate)		 		volts ampere amperes ating Chart ating Chart
TYPICAL OPERATION WITH CAPACITOR INPUT TO F	ILTER			
AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms)	600	900	1100	volts
Filter-Input Capacitor	40	40	40	μF
Total Effective Plate-Supply Impedance per Plate	21	67	97	ohms
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.):				
At load current of: 300 mA	290			volts
275 mA		460		volts
162 mA			630	volts
150 mA	335			volts
137.5 mA	-	520		volta
81 mA			680	volts
TYPICAL OPERATION WITH CHOKE INPUT TO FILTE	ER			
AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms)		900	1100	volts
Filter-Input Choke		10	10	henries
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.):				
At load current of: 348 mA		340		volts
275 mA			440	volts
174 mA		355		volts
137.5 mA			445	volts

^o If hot switching is regularly required in operation, the use of choke-input circuits is recommended. Such circuits limit the hot-switching current to a value no higher than that of the peak plate current. When capacitor-input circuits are used, a maximum peak current value per plate of 5 amperes during the initial cycles of the hot-switching transient should not be exceeded.

 Higher values of capacitance than indicated may be used, but the effective plate-supply impedance may have to be increased to prevent exceeding the maximum rating for peak plate current.



---- 14-

1700

Refer to chart at end of section.	5BE8
Refer to type 6BK7B.	5 BK7A
Refer to type 6BQ7A.	5BQ7A
For replacement use type 5BR8/5FV8.	5 BR 8
Refer to type 6BR8A.	5 BR8/5FV8
Refer to chart at end of section.	5 6 78
Refer to chart at end of section.	5 BW8
Refer to type 6CG8A.	5CG8
Refer to chart at end of section.	5CL8
Refer to type 6CL8A.	5CL8A
Refer to chart at end of section.	5CM8
Refer to chart at end of section.	5CQ8
Refer to type 6CZ5.	5CZ5
Refer to chart at end of section.	5DH8
Refer to chart at end of section.	5DJ4
Refer to type 6EA8.	5EA8
Refer to chart at end of section.	5 ES8 5ES8/YCC189
Refer to chart at end of section.	5EU8
Refer to type 6EW6.	5EW6
Refer to type 6F G7.	5FG7
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 5BR8/5FV8.	5FV8
Refer to type 6GH8A.	5GH8A
Refer to chart at end of section.	5GJ7
Refer to 6GJ7/ECF801.	5GJ7/LCF801
Refer to type 6GM6.	5GM6
Refer to type 6GS7.	5G\$7
Refer to chart at end of se ction. For replacement use type 5HZ6.	5GX6
Refer to chart at end of section.	5GX7
Refer to chart at end of section.	5HA7
Refer to type 6HB7.	5HB7

	RCA	RECEIVING	TUBE	MANUAL
--	-----	-----------	------	--------

5HG8	Refer to chart at end of section.
5HG8/LCF86	Refer to type 6HG8/ECF86.
5HZ6	Refer to type 6HZ6.
5J6	Refer to type 6J6A.
5JK6	Refer to chart at end of section.
5JL6	Refer to chart at end of section.
5JW8	Refer to type 6JW8/ECF802.

5KD8 MEDIUM-MU TRIODE SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used as combined vhf oscillator and mixer tube in television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time	0.45	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	volts volts

Class A: Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	Triode Unit 330 0 2.5 	Pentode Unit 330 330 See curve pag 0 3 0.55 See curve pag	volts watts watt
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μ A	125 1 40 7500 18.5 9	125 110 1 2 5000 9.5 3.5 8	volts volts wolt megohm µmhos mA mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		0.5 1	megohm megohm

5KE8 Refer to type 6KE8.

5KZ8

Refer to type 6KZ8.

Refer to type 6LJ8. 5LJ8

Refer to type 6MB8. 5MB8

For replacement use type 5J6. 5MHH3

Refer to type 6MQ8.



FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER



5MQ8

Glass octal type for industrial and military applications. Outlines section, 19D; requires octal socket.

Filament Voltage	e (ac/dc)	5 volts
Filament Curren	nt	2 amperes
Operating Positi	ion Vertical, base dow	n or up, or Horizontal
	with pins 2	and 4 in vertical plane

Full-Wave Rectifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

For altitudes up to	40000	20000		feet
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage	2650	3100	.	volts
AC Plate Supply Voltage Per Plate (RMS, without load)		See Rating	Chart	
Peak Plate Current Per Plate	715		<u></u>	mA
DC Output Current Per Plate		See Rating	Chart	
Hot-Switching Transient Plate Current Per Plate				
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	230	230		•C
TYPICAL OPERATION (With Capacitor-Input Filter)				
For altitudes up to	4000	0	20000	feet
AC-Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (RMS, without load)	1400	1500	2000	volts
Filter-Input Capacitor	20	20	20	μF
Total Effective Plate Supply Impedance Per Plate**	225	250	375	ohms
DC Ouptut Voltage at Input to Filter (approx.):				
	_	910	1210	volts
At half-load current of 175 mA.	750			volts
150 mA.		800	1040	volts
At full-load current of 250 mA.	605			volts
Voltage Regulation (approx.):				
Half-load to full-load current	145	110	170	volts
DC Ouput Current	250	150	150	mA
TYPICAL OPERATION (With Choke-Input Filter)				
For altitudes up to	40000	20000		feet
AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (RMS, without load)	1500	1900		volts
Filter-Input Choke	5	10		henries
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter for dc output	-			

DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter for dc output			
(approx.): 87.5 mA 125 mA 175 mA 250 mA	600 560	800	volts volts volts volts
Voltage Regulation (Approx.): Half-load to full-load current DC Output Current	40 250	40 175	volts mA

 If hot-switching is required in operation, choke-input circuits are recommended. Such circuits limit the hot-switching current to a value no higher than that of the peak plate current. When capacitor-input circuits are used, a maximum value of 3 amperes should not be exceeded.

not be exceeded. * Indicated values for conditions shown will limit peak plate current to the maximum-rated value. When a filter-input capacitor larger than 20 μ f is used, it may be necessary to increase plate-supply impedance to a higher value than that shown in the data to limit the peak plate current to the maximum-rated value.



FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used in power supplies of radio and color and black-and-white television receivers having high dc requirements. Outlines section, 19E; requires octal socket. This type may be supplied with pins 3, 5, and 7 omitted. Vertical mounting is preferred, but horizontal mounting is permissible if pins 2 and 4 are in vertical plane. The coated filament is designed to



operate from the ac line through a step-down transformer. The voltage at the filament terminals should be 5 volts at an average line voltage of 117 volts. It is especially important that this tube, like other power-handling tubes, be adequately ventilated. For discussion of Rating Chart and Operation Characteristics, refer to Interpretation of Tube Data. Filament: volts (ac), 5; amperes, 3.

Full-Wave Rectifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

5U4GB

Peak Inverse Plate Voltage Peak Plate Current (Per Plate) Hot-Switching Transient Plate Current (Per Plate) AC Plate Supply Voltage (Per Plate, rms) Average Output Current (Per Plate)	· · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • •		volts ampere ating Chart ating Chart
TYPICAL OPERATION WITH CAPACITOR INPUT TO	FILTER			
AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms)	600	900	1100	volts
Filter-Input Capacitor*	40	40	40	μF
Total Effective Plate-Supply Impedance per Plate	21	67	97	ohms
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.):		•••	•••	
(150 mA	335			volts
At full-load current of { 137.5 mA		520	_	volts
81 mA			680	volts
300 mA	290	_		volts
At half-load current of { 275 mA	2.50	460		volts
	_	400	630	
			030	volts
Voltage Regulation (Approx.): Half-load to full-load current	45	60	50	volts



TYPICAL OPERATION WITH CHOKE INPUT TO FILTER

AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms) Filter-Input Choke DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.):	900 10	1100 10	volts henries
At half-load current of { 174 mA 137.5 mA	355	455	volts volts
At full-load current of Voltage Regulaton (Approx.):	340	440	volts volts
Half-load to full-load current	15	15	volts

If hot switching is regularly required in operation, the use of choke-input circuits is recommended. Such circuits limit the hot-switching current to a value no higher than that of the peak plate current. When capacitor-input circuits are used, a maximum peak current value per plate of 4.6 amperes during the initial cycles of the hot-switching transient should not be exceeded.

• Higher values of capacitance than indicated may be used, but the effective plate-supply impedance may have to be increased to prevent exceeding the maximum rating for peak plate current.





5U8	Refer to type 6U8A.
10/1CF201	Refer to shart at and of sect

5U9/LCF201 Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 5V3A/5AU4.

For replacement use type 5V3A/5AU4.

5V3A/5AU4 FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used in power supplies of color and black-and-white television receivers and other equipment having high dc requirements. Outlines section, 19E; requires octal socket. Vertical mounting is preferred, but horizontal mounting is permissible if pins 2 and 4 are in vertical plane. It is especially important that this tube, like other power-handling tubes, be ade-



quately ventilated. For discussion of Rating Chart, refer to Interpretation of Tube Data. Filament: volts (ac/dc), 5; amperes, 3.

Full-Wave Rectifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Peak Inverse Plate Voltage	1550	volts
Peak Plate Current (Per Plate)	1.4	amperes
Hot-Switching Transient Plate Current (Per Plate)	6.6	amperes
AC Plate-Supply Voltage (Per Plate, rms, without load)	550	volts
Average Output Current (Per Plate)	415°	mA
* With capacitor-input filter for ac plate-supply volts (rms, per plate,	without l	(oad) = 470.

TYPICAL OPERATION

Filter Input AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms) Filter-Input Capacitor [®] Effective Plate-Supply Impedance per Plate Minimum Filter-Input Choke Average Output Current DC Output at Input to Filter (Approx.)	Capacitor 850 40 50 350 440	Choke 1000 	volts µF ohms henries mA volts
DC Output at input to Filter (Approx.)	440	390	VOIUS

CHARACTERISTIC

Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 350 mA (per plate) 42 volts • When capacitor values greater than 40 μ F are used, the effective plate-supply impedance should be increased so that the maximum rating for peak plate current is not exceeded.



5V3

5V3A

5V4G

Refer to chart at end of section.



FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used in full-wave power supplies having high dc requirements. Outlines section, 19B; requires octal socket. The heater is designed to operate from the ac line through a step-down transformer. The voltage at the heater terminals should be 5 volts under

operating conditions at an average line voltage of 117 volts. It is especially important that these tubes, like other power-handling tubes, be adequately ventilated. Heater: volts (ac/dc) 5; amperes, 2.

Full-Wave Rectifier

•	-		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)			
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage AC Plate-Supply Voltage (Per Plate, rms):		1400	volts
With capacitor-input filter		375	volts
With choke-input filter		500	volts
Peak Plate Current (Per Plate)		525	mA
Average Output Current		175	mA
Average Output Outlens	•••••	110	4472
TYPICAL OPERATION			
Filter Input	Capacitor	Choke	
AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms)	750	1000	volts
Filter-Input Capacitor*	10	—	μF
Total Effective Plate-Supply Impedance per Plate	100	_	ohms
Filter-Input Choke		4	henries
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.):		-	
At output current of 175 mA	410	410	volts
-		+	
* Higher values of capacitance than indicated may be	used, but the	effective	plate-supply

* Higher values of capacitance than indicated may be used, but the effective plate-supply impedance may have to be increased to prevent exceeding the maximum rating for peak plate current.



Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

5V6GT 5W4 5W4GT

Refer to chart at end of section.

5X4G

5V4GA

5X8

5Y3G 5Y3GA

5Y3GT

Refer to type 6X8A. For replacement use type 5Y3GT.

FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used in power supplies of radio and television equipment having moderate dc requirements. Outlines section, 13E; requires octal socket. Vertical mounting is preferred, but horizontal mounting is permissible if pins 2 and 8 are in horizontal plane. It is especially important that this tube, like other powerhandling tubes, be adequately ventilated. For discussion



of Rating Chart and Operating Characteristics, refer to Interpretation of Tube Data. Filament: volts (ac), 5; amperes, 2.

Full-Wave Rectilier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) Peak Inverse Plate Voltage Peak Plate Gurrent (Per Plate) Hot-Switching Transient Plate Gurrent (Per Plate) AC Plate Supply Voltage (Per Plate, rms) DC Output Current (Per Plate)	•••••		volts mA amperes tating Chart tating Chart
TYPICAL OPERATION WITH CAPACITOR INPUT TO FILTE	i R		
AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms)	700	1000	voits
Filter Input Capacitor*	29	10	μF
Effective Plate-Supply Impedance per Plate	50	140	ohms
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.):			
At half-load current of 62.5 mA 42 mA 42 mA At full-load current of 84 mA	399		volts
42 mA		610	volts
At full-load current of 125 mA	360		volts
Rt tun-Nau current of 84 mA	_	560	volts
Voitage Regulation (Approx.):		~~	•
Half-load to full-load current	40	50	volts
TYPICAL OPERATION WITH CHOKE INPUT TO FILTER			
			•.
AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms)	700	1000	volts
Filter Input Choke#	19	10	henri es
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.):			
At half-load current of 75 mA	270		volts
62.5 mA		405	volts
At half-load current of At full-load current of At full-load current of 125 mA	245		volts
125 mA		380	volts
Voltage Regulation (Approx.): Half-load to full-load current	25	15	volts
main-load to Juli-load current	Z.0	19	AOICE



152

• Higher values of capacitance than indicated may be used but the effective plate supply impedance may have to be increased to prevent exceeding the maximum rating for hotswitching transient plate current.

This value is adequate to maintain optimum regulation in the region to the right of line L = 10H on curve OPERATION CHARACTERISTICS with Choke Input to Filter, provided the load currents are not less than 35 mA and 50 mA, respectively, for plate-to-plate supply voltages of 700 and 1000 volts (rms).



Refer to chart at end of section.6A3Refer to chart at end of section.6A6Refer to chart at end of section.6A7Refer to chart at end of section.6A7SRefer to chart at end of section.6A8Refer to chart at end of section.6A8G

6A8GT

Refer to chart at end of section.

6AB4

HIGH-MU TRIODE

Miniature type used as cathode-drive amplifier. frequency converter, or oscillator at frequencies up to 300 MHz in television and FM receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.15. For operation as resistance-coupled amplier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section. For maximum ratings, characteristics, and curves refer to type 12AT7.



5CE

6AB5/6N5	Refer to chart at end of section.
6AB7	Refer to chart at end of section.
6AC5GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
6AC7	Refer to chart at end of section.
6AC7W	Refer to chart at end of section.

6AC10 8AC10. 12AC10A

HIGH-MU TRIPLE TRIODE

Duodecar type used in matrixing (color-difference) circuits of color television receivers. Outlines section, 8B: requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Types 8AC10 and 12AC10A are identical with type 6AC10 except for heater ratings.

к Рт2 (T2 GT2	NC
KTIA	\square	
Кт ₃ 3 () -	Y	
PT3 U		2)~ ⁶⁷³

12FE

	6AC10	8AC10	12AC10A	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	8.4	12.5	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.3	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	11	11	11	seconds
Peak value		$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Class A ₁	Amplifier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Value	es)			
Plate Voltage			330	volts
Plate Dissipation			2	watts
CHARACTERISTICS				
Plate Voltage			200	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor			150	ohms
Amplification Factor			62	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)			10700	•
Transconductance			5800 9	µmhos mA
Plate Current Grid Voltage (approx.) for plate current of 10			-5	volts
Grid voltage (approx.) for plate current of fo	ο μ Α		—5	Volta
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE				
Grid-Circuit Resistance	· · · · · · · · · · · · ·		0.5	megohm
6AD6G Refe	r to chart	at end of	section.	
-	-			

6AD7G

Refer to chart at end of section.

6AD10

BEAM POWER TUBE SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Duodecar type used as FM detector and audio-fre-quency output amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 8B: requires duodecar 12-contact socket.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	6.3 1.05	volts amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Beam Power Unit: Grid No.1 to Plate	0.26	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,	11	pF
and Internal Shield	11	\mathbf{pF}
Pentode Unit: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.3 to Plate	0.024 3.4	pF pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	8	pF
Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, Plate. and Internal Shield	9.5	pF
Grid No.1 to Grid No.3 Plate of Beam Power Unit to Plate of Pentode Unit	$\begin{array}{c} 0.12 \\ 0.34 \end{array}$	рF pF

Beam Power Unit as Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage 275volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage 275 volts Plate Dissipation 10 watts Grid-No.2 Input watts 2 TYPICAL OPERATION 250 volts Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage 250 volts <u>—</u>8 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage Zero-Signal Plate Current Maximum-Signal Plate Current Zero-Signa: Grid-No.2 Current Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current Plate Resistance (Approx.) 8 volts 35 mA 39 mA 2.5mA mA 0.1 megohm 6500 Transconductance *u*mhos 5000 ohms Load Resistance Total Harmonic Distortion 10 per cent 4.2 watts Maximum-Signal Power Output MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:

For fixed-bias operation 0.25 megohm For cathode-bias operation 0.5 megohm

Pentode Unit as Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage		150	volts
Grid No.3 (Control Grid)	Connected to negativ	e end of	cathode resistor
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage			
Grid No.1 (Control Grid)	Connected to negativ	e end of a	rathode resistor
Cathode-Bias Resistor		180	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		0.11	megohm
Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate		3400	µmho s
Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate		600	μmhos
Plate Current		3.2	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		3.2	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current o	f 20 μA	4.5	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current o	of 20 μA	7	volts

Pentode Unit as FM Sound Detector

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	:00	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage:		
Negative-bias value	100	volts
Positive-bias value	25	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		
Grid-No.1 Voltage:	See curv	'e page 300
Negative-bias value	50	volts
Positive-bias value	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	1.7	watts
Grid-No.3 Input	0.1	watt
Grid-No.2 Input:		
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts	1	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	See curv	e page 300

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		0.68 0.22 0.47	megohm megohm megohm
6AE5GT	Refer to chart at end of se	ection.	
6AE6G	Refer to chart at end of se	ection.	
6AE7GT	Refer to chart at end of se	ection.	

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Miniature type used as a damper tube in horizontaldeflection circuits of television receivers. Outlines section, 7C; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Socket terminals 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, and 8 should not be used as tie points. It is especially important that this tube, like other power-handling tubes, be adequately ventilated. Types 12AF3 and 12AF3/12BR3/12RK19 are identical with type 6AF3 except for heater ratings.



9CB

		6 AF3 12	1 2AF3 AF3/12 BR3/ 12 RK 19	
	ac/dc)	6.3	12.6	volts
Heater Cu Heater Wa	Time (Average)	1.2	0.6 11	amperes seconds

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

maximum values		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#	4500	volts
Peak Plate Current	750	mA
Average Plate Current	185	mA
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	210	°C
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak value	-4500	volts
Average value		volts
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning	cycle (10	microseconds).



6AF3

12AF3, 12AF3/12BR3/12RK19

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE

Miniature types used as local oscillators in uhf television receivers covering the frequency range of 470 to 890 MHz. Outlines section, 5C and 5B, respectively;

to 890 MHz. Outlines section, 5C and 5B, respectively; **7DK** requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 2AF4B/2DZ4 and 3AF4A/3DZ4 are identical with type 6AF4A except for heater and heater-cathode ratings.

	2AF4B/ 2DZ4	3AF4A/ 3DZ4	6AF4 6AF4A	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	2.35	3.15	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.225	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	_	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value	±180 max	$\pm 50 \text{ max}$	$\pm 50 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	25 max	2 5 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:				
Grid to Plate			1.9	\mathbf{pF}
Grid to Cathode and Heater			2.2	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater			1.4	pF pF pF
Heater to Cathode (External Shield connected	to plate)		2.2	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
• With external shield connected to cathode, except				-

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current	80 150 13.5 2100 6500 17.5	volts ohms µmhos mA
UHF Oscillator		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Negative-bias value Grid Current Plate Dissipation Average Cathode Current	150 50 2 2.5 24	volts volts mA watts mA
TYPICAL OPERATION AS OSILLATOR AT 1000 MHz		
Plate Supply Voltage Plate Resistor Grid Resistor Plate Current Grid Current (Approx.)	100 220 10000 17 750	volts ohms ohms mA µA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	Not rec 0.5	ommended megohm





ELECTRON-RAY TUBE

Glass octal type used to indicate visually, by means of two shadows on the fluorescent target, the effects of changes in the controlling voltages. It is a twin-indicator type and is used as a convenient means of indicating accurate radio-receiver tuning. This type may be supplied with pin No. 1 omitted. Tube requires octal

6AF6G

socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.15. Maximum ratings in indicator service: fluorescent-target volts, 250 max, 125 min; ray-controlelectrode supply volts, 250 max; peak heater-cathode volts, 90 max. Typical operation: fluorescent-target volts, 250; fluorescent-target mA, 3.75; raycontact-electrode volts (approx. for 0° shadow angle), 155; ray-controlelectrode volts (approx. for 100° shadow angle), 0.



DUAL PENTODE

Miniature type used in television receiver applications. Unit No.1 is used as a video output pentode, and unit No.2 as a sound if amplifier, agc amplifier, or sync separator. Outlines section, 6L, except has 10-pin base; requires miniature 10-contact socket. Type 11AF9 is identical with type 6AF9 except for heater ratings.



10L

6AF9 6.3 0.85 ±200 max	11AF9 11.5 0.45 ±200 max	volts ampere volts
Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
7	11	pF
12	10	\mathbf{pF}
0.105	0.140	pF
_	0.140	pF pF
0.1	50 max	pF
		-
0.0	10 max	pF
0.10	00 max	pF
0.00)5 max	pF
	$ \begin{array}{c} 6.3 \\ 0.85 \\ \pm 200 \text{ max} \\ \text{Unit No.1} \\ 7 \\ 12 \\ 0.105 \\ 0.11 \\ 0.01 \end{array} $	$\begin{array}{cccc} 6.3 & 11.5 \\ 0.85 & 0.45 \\ \pm 200 \max & \pm 200 \max \\ \hline & & 100 \max \\ \hline & & 110 \\ 12 & 10 \\ 0.105 & 0.140 \\ \hline \end{array}$

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Plate Supply Voltage	550	550	volts
Plate Voltage	250	250	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	550	550	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	250	volts
Cathode Current	60	15	mA
Plate Dissipation	5.1	1.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2.5	0.5	watts
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	170	150	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	170	150	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-2.6	2.1	volts
Mu Factor, Grid No.1 to Grid No.2	38	38	
Internal Resistance	0.032	0.16	megohm
Transconductance	22000	8500	μ mhos
Plate Current	30	10	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	7.2	3	mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	1	1	megohm

6AF11

Duodecar type used in television receiver applications. The high-mu triode unit is used for agc keyer service. the medium-mu triode unit for sync separator service. and the pentode unit for video amplifier service. Outlines section, 8C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 15AF11 is identical with type 6AF11 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6AF11 6.3 1.05 —	15AF11 14.7 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts

Class A. Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit No.1	Triode Unit No	Pentode 2 Unit	
Plate Voltage	330	330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330	330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage				
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-			See curve	bage 200
bias value	0	0	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	1.1	2	5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:				
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330		_	1.25	watts
volts			See curve	page 300
CHARACTERISTICS				
Plate Supply Voltage	200	200	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage			150	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	2			volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	_	220	100	ohms
Amplification Factor	68	41		011110
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	12400	9400	68000	ohma
Transconductance	5500	4400	11000	μ mhos
Plate Current	7	9.2	24	mA
Grid-No.2 Current			4.8	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current				
of 100 µA		6.5	10	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES				
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :				
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.5	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	ĩ	1		megohm



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

6AG5

Miniature type used in compact radio equipment as an rf or if amplifier up to 400 MHz. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. For typical operation as a resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	6.3 0.3	volts ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		ampere
Pentode Unit:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.030 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,		-
and Internal Shield	6.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,		-
and Internal Shield	1.8	pF
Triode Unit:		•
Grid No.1 to Plate and Grid No.2	2.5	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	3.6	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.2 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	3	$\mathbf{\tilde{p}F}$
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	3	\mathbf{pF}

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)	Triode Connectio	n*	Pen Conne		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage	300		300 300 Se		volts volts page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input:	0 2.5		0 2		volta watts
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts For grid No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	_		0.5 Se		w att page 300
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage	180 250	100	125	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor	330 820 45 42	100	100	150 180	volts ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current	0.008 0.01	0.6 4500 4.5	5100	0.8 5000 6.5	megohm µmhos mA

	Tric Connec	de tion		Pento onnec		
Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of			1.4	2.1	2	mA
10 μA * Grid No.2 connected to plate.	-		5	-6	-8	volts

6AG7

POWER PENTODE

Metal type used in output stage of video amplifier of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 2B; requires octal socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.65	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	±90 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.06 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, Shell,		-
and Internal Shield	13	pF
Plate to Cathode. Heater. Grid No.2. Grid No.3. Shell.		-
and Internal Shield	7.5	pF
Bing to a different and the Dim N F		

Pins I and 3 connected to Pin No.5.

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	9	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.5	watts

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid) Connected Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	300 to cathode 150 —3	volts volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	3	volts
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	30	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	30.5	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	7	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	9	mA
Plate Resistance	0.13	megohm
Transconductance	11000	umbos
Load Resistance	10000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	10000	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output		watts
maximum-Signal Fower Output	0	WALLS
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	1	megohm



Refer to chart at end of section.

6AG9

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Duodecar type with frame grid pentode unit used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used as a video amplifier; the triode unit is used as an agc amplifier. Outlines section, 8C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.82; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.





ſ		
		volts
<u> </u>	200	volts
1.1	0 10 1.5	volts watts watts
150	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	volts volts volts ohms
39		ohms
4600	- 30000	μmhos
6.2	56 28 21 5.6	mA mA
7		volts volts
		10100
0.5 1	0.1 0.25	megohm megohm
	6AG11	
6AH4GT		
6AH6		
6AH9		
6AJ8/ECH81		
6AK5		
	Triode Unit 330 0 1.1 	Triode Unit Pentode Unit 330 330 $ 200$ 0 0 1.1 10 $ 125$ 150 55 $ 125$ 150 $ 350$ $ 125$ 350 $ 350$ $ 350$ $ 46000$ $ 30000$ 6.2 6.2 56 -7 $ -7$ $ -7$ $ -7$ $ -7$ $ -7$ $ -7$ $ -7$ $ -7$ $ -7$ $ -7$ $ 6AGI$ $6AH44$ $6AH44$ $6AJ8/EC$

AL. . . .



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

6AK5/ EF95 161

7BD

Miniature types used as rf or if amplifiers especially in high-frequency wide-band applications at frequencies up to 400 MHz. Outlines section, 5B; require miniature 7-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.175	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 90 \text{ max}$	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		
Grid No,1 to Plate	0.02 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode. Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		-
Internal Shield	4	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		-
Internal Shield	2.8	pF
 With external shield connected to pin 2 or 7. 		

Class A. Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage	180 volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	180 volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	1.7 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 90 volts	0.5 watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 90 and 180 volts	See curve page 300
Cathode Current	18 mA

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage	120	180	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	120	120	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	180	180	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.3	0.5	megohm
Transconductance	5000	5100	μmhos
Plate Current	7.5	7.7	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	2.5	2.4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 10 #A	8.5	8.5	volts

6AK6
INDUSTRIAI TYPE

POWER AMPLIFIER PENTODE

Miniature type for use as a power output pentode in compact equipment. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	6.3 0.15 100 max	volts ampere volts
Grid to Plate	0.12	pF
Input	8.6	pF
Output	4.2	pF

A-F Power Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage	300	volts
Screen Voltage (Grid No. 2)	250	volta
Plate Dissipation	2.75	watts
Screen Dissipation	0.75	watt

CHARACTERISTICS AND TYPICAL OPERATION

Plate Voltage	180 volts
Suppressor (Grid No. 3)	cted to cathode at socket
Screen Voltage	180 volts
Grid Voltage (Grid No. 1)	-9 volts
Peak A-F Grid Voltage	9 volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	15 mA
Zero-Signal Screen Current	
Plate Resistance	
Transconductance	
Los Desistence	2300 μmbos
Load Resistance	
Total Harmonic Distortion	10 %
MaxSig. Power Output	1.1 watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	
Grid-No.1 Circuit Resistance:	
For fixed his operation	0.1

ror fixed-bias operation	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·).l mege	ohm.
For cathode-bias operation).5 meg	ohm

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6AK8/EABC80

6AK10

6AL3

6AL3/EY88

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Miniature type used as damper tube in horizontal-deflection circuits of black-and-white television receivers. **Outlines section**, 7D; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Socket terminals 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, and 8 should not be used as tie points. It is especially important that this tube, like other power-handling tubes, be adequately ventilated. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 1.55.





78K

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# (Absolute maximum)	7500°	volts
Peak Plate Current	550	mA
Average Plate Current	220	mA
Plate Dissipation	5	watts
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	6600	volts
[•] Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded.		

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).



TWIN DIODE

Miniature, high-perveance type used as detector in FM and television circuits, especially as a ratio detector in ac-operated FM receivers. Each diode section can be used independently of the other, or the two sections can be combined in parallel or full-wave arrangement. Resonant frequency of each unit is approximately 700

6BT Resonant frequency of each unit is approximately 700 MHz. Outlines section, 5B; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 3AL5 and 12AL5 are identical with type 6AL5 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	3AL5 3.15 0.6 11 ±330 max	6AL5 6.3 0.3 ±330 max	12AL5 12.6 0.15 ±330 max	volts ampere seconds volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Plate No.1 to Cathode No.1, Heater, and Plate No.2 to Cathode No.2, Heater, and Cathode No.1 to Plate No.1, Heater, and Cathode No.2 to Plate No.2, Heater, and Plate No.1 to Plate No.2	Internal Sh Internal Sh Internal Sh	ield ield ield	2.5 2.5 3.4 3.4 0.068 max	PF PF PF PF

Half-Wave Rectifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) Peak Inverse Plate Voltage Peak Plate Current (Per Plate) Average Output Current (Per Plate)	330 54 9	volts mA mA
TYPICAL OPERATION AC Plate Voltage per Plate (rms) Min. Total Effective Plate-Supply Impedance per Plate Average Output Current per Plate	117 300 9	volts ohms mA

Refer to chart at end of section.

6AL7GT

6AL11

10AL11, 12AL11



BEAM POWER TUBE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

 ⁶2₈ Duodecar type used as FM detector and audio-frequency output amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 8C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Types 10AL11 and 12AL11 are identical with type 6AL11 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	0.9	10AL11 9.8 0.6 11	12AL11 12.6 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Average value				volts volts

64L5

3AL5, 12AL5

Direct Interelectrode Capacitance:		
Beam Power Unit: Grid No.1 to Plate	0.26	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	11	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	12	pF
Pentode Unit: Grid No.1 to Plate	0.034	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.3 to Plate	3.2	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	6.5	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, Plate. and Internal Shield	7.5	pF
Grid No.1 to Grid No.3	0.24	pF
Pentode Plate to Beam Power Plate	0.12	pF

Beam Power Unit as Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	275	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	275	volts
Plate Dissipation	10	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2	watts
TYPICAL OPERATION		
Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-8	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	š	volts
	35	mA
Zero-Signal Plate Current		
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	39	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	2.5	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	7	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.1	megohm
Transconductance	6500	<i>µ</i> mhos
	5000	ohms
Load Resistance		
Total Harmonic Distortion	10	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	4.2	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.25	megohm
	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.0	megonin

Pentode Unit as Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage	150	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	100	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	560	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.15	megohm
Transconductance. Grid No.1 to Plate	1000	μ mhos
Transconductance Grid No.3 to Plate	400	μ mhos
Plate Current	1.3	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	2.1	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 30 µA	4.5	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 µA	4.5	volts

Pentode Unit as FM Detector

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	28 volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	1.7 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	1.1 watts
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300

6AM4

Refer to chart at end of section.

6AM6/EF91

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

9CY

DIODE___ SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used as an if amplifier, video amplifier, or agc amplifier. The high-perveance diode is used as an audio detector, video detector, or dc re-storer. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 5AM8 is identical with type 6AM8A except for heater ratings.

-

.....

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	4.7 0.6 100 max	6.3 0.45 100 max	volts ampere volts
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Diode Unit:			
Plate to Cathode and Heater		1.8	pF pF
Pentode Unit:		Ū	•
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3		0.015	pF
Internal Shield		6.5	թF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield		2.6	pF
Pentode Grid No.1 to Diode Plate		0.006	\mathbf{pF}
Pentode Plate to Diode Cathode		0.15	\mathbf{pF}
Pentode Plate to Diode Plate		0.1	\mathbf{pF}

Pentode Unit as Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See	curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	3.2	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:		
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	0.55	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See	curve page 300

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage	125	volts
Grid No.3 Connecte	i to cathode	at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	125	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	56	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.3	megohm
Transconductance	7800	μ mhos
Plate Current	12.5	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3.2	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μ A	6	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 2 mA	3	volts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

Diode Unit

MAXIMUM RATING (Design-Maximum Value)

Average Plate Current	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	. 5	mA

6AM8 **6AM8A**



6AN4

6AN5

6AN8

Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6AN8A

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used as an intermediate-frequency amplifier, a video amplifier, an agc amplifier, or a reactance tube. The triode unit is used in low-frequency oscillator, sync-separator, sync-clipper, and phase-splitter circuits. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 5AN8 is identical with 6AN8A except for heater ratings.



	5AN8	6AN8A	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.7	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	:±200 max	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Triode Unit:			
Grid to Plate		1.5	pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater		2	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater		0.26	pF
Pentode Unit:			•
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.04 max	рF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid N			
Internal Shield		7	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, an	id		
Internal Shield		2.4	рF
Triode Grid to Pentode Plate		0.02	pF
Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate		0.02	pF
Pentode Plate to Triode Plate		0.15	pF
	•••••	0.10	pr

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	See	curve page 300	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	2.8	2.3	watts

Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	— — s	0.55 ee curve pag	watt re 300
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current	$ \begin{array}{r} 150 \\ 3 \\ 21 \\ 4700 \\ 4500 \\ 15 \\ 15 \end{array} $	125 125 56 170000 7800 12	volts volts ohms μmhos mA
Grid-No.2 Current		3.8	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of $20 \ \mu A$ Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of	-17	6	volts
1.6 mA Maximum Circuit Values		3	volts
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:* For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 1	0.25 1	megohm megohm

* If either unit is operating at maximum rated conditions, grid-No.1-circuit resistance for both units should not exceed the stated values.



Refer to chart at end of section.

6AQ5



BEAM POWER TUBE

6AQ5A 5A05, 12A05

Miniature type used as output amplifier primarily in automobile receivers and in ac-operated receivers and, triode-connected, as a vertical-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Within its maximum rat-

ings, the performance of this type is equivalent to that of larger types 6V6 and 6V6GTA. Types 5AQ5 and 12AQ5 are identical with type 6AQ5A except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current		6AQ5A 6.3 0.45 11	12AQ5 12.6 0.225	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Average value				volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and G	and Grid M	Vo.3	0.4 8 8.5	pF pF pF

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage	275	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	275	volts
Plate Dissipation	12	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	250	•C
CHARACTERISTICS (Triode Connection)		
Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-12.5	volts
Amplification Factor	9.5	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	1970 4800	ohms µmhos
Transconductance	4800	μ mA
Plate Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 0.5 mA		volts
Grid-Mo.1 voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 0.0 min		10100
TYPICAL OPERATION		
Same as for type 6V6GTA within the limitations of the maximum	ratings.	
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	megohm
Vertical Deflection Amplifier (Triode Connec	tion)°	
For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system	1	
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
DC Plate Voltage	275	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	1100	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	275	volts
Peak Cathode Current	115	mA
Average Cathode Current	40	mA
Plate Dissipation	10	watts °C
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	250	·C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation	2.2	megohms
^o Grid No.2 connected to plate.		
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cy	cle (2.5	milliseconds).



6AQ6 6AQ7GT 6AQ8 Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section.



HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature types used as rf amplifier and self-oscillating mixer in FM/AM radio receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

-

169

6AQ8/

ECC85

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage		6.3 0.435 ±90 max	volts ampere volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Grid to Plate	1.5	1.5	pF
Cathode to Plate	0.18	0.18	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	3	3	pF pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	1.2	1.2	pF
Plate to Grid of Other Unit	0.008 max	0.008 max	σF
Plate to Cathode of Other Unit	0.008 max	0.008 max	pF pF
Grid to Cathode of Other Unit	0.003 max	0.003 max	pF
Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2		0.04 max	pF
Grid of Unit No.1 to Grid of Unit No.2			pF pF

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values, Each Unit)

Plate Supply Voltage Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Negative-bias value Cathode Current Plate Dissipation :	550 300 100 15	volts volts volts mA
For either plate For both plates with both units operating	2.5 4.5	watts watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Negative-bias value Plate Current Transconductance Amplification Factor	250 2.3 10 5900 57	volts volts mA µmhos

TYPICAL OPERATION (Each Unit)	RF Amplifier	Converter	
Plate Supply Voltage	250	250	volts
Plate Voltage	230		volts
Plate Resistor	1800	12000	ohms
Grid Resistor	. —	1	megohm
Grid Voltage	-2		volts
RMS Oscillator Voltage		3	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	200	-	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	9700	22000	ohms
Transconductance	6000		μ mhos
Conversion Transconductance		2300	μ mhos
Input Resistance at frequency of 100 MHz	6000	15000	ohms
Plate Current	10	5.2	,mA
Equivalent Noise Resistance	500		ohms
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES (Each Unit)			
Grid-Circuit Resistance		1	megohm
Resistance between Cathode and Heater		20000	ohms
Refer to chart at end of section.		6AR	5
Refer to chart at end of section.		6AR	8

6AR11 8AR11. 11AR11

SEMIREMOTE-CUTOFF TWIN PENTODE

Duodecar type used as if-amplifier tube in television receivers. Outlines section, 8A; requires duodecar 12contact-socket. Types 8AR11 and 11AR11 are identical with type 6AR11 except for heater ratings.



6AR11 8AR11 11AR11 Heater Voltage (ac/dc) 6.3 8.4 0.6 11.2 volts Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage: 0.8 0.45 ampere 11 11 seconds $\pm 200 \text{ max} \pm 200 \text{ max} \pm 200 \text{ max}$ Peak value volts Average value 100 max 100 max 100 max volts Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Unit No.1 Unit No.2 Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No. 3, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield pF 0.026 0.026 10 10 pF 2.8 3 pF Grid No.1 to Plate of Other Unit Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2 0.002 0.002 pF 0.02 pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values, Each Unit)

Plate Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	0 volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	3.1 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	0.65 watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300
CHARACTERISTICS (Each Unit)	
Plate Supply Voltage	125 volts
Grid No.3 Connected	
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	125 volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	56 ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.2 megohm
Transconductance	10500 µmhos
Plate Current	11 mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3.5 mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 50 µmhos	

6**A**\$5

BEAM POWER TUBE

Miniature type used as output amplifier primarily in automobile and in ac-operated receivers. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket. For curves of average plate characteristics, refer to type 35C5.

H () () GI
H3OG2
C 0 K
G3 7CV

7	C	N	ľ

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.8	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 100 \text{ max}$	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.6	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	12	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	9	pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage	150	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	117	volts
Plate Dissipation	5.5	
Call N. a Lawrence		watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.0	watt
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	250	°C
TYPICAL OPERATION		
Plate Voltage	150	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	110	volta
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-8.5	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage		
Teak AF Gliu-No.1 Voltage	8.5	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	35	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	36	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current (Approx.)	2	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current (Approx.)	6.5	mA
Transconductance	5600	µmhos
Load Resistance	4500	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	10	per cent
Maximum Signal David Out-	2.2	
Maximum-Signal Power Output	2.2	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
		-

For faxed-bias operation	0.1 0.5	megohm megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	megohm

Refer to chart at end of section.



6AS6



LOW-MU TWIN POWER TRIODE

Glass octal type used as a regulator tube in dc power supply units and in projection television booster scanning applications. Outlines section, 27B; requires octal socket. Refer to type 6080 for average plate characteristics curves.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	2.5	amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak values	$\pm 300 \text{ max}.$	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.) each unit:		
Grid to plate	10.5	pF
Grid to heater and cathode	6.8	pF
Plate to heater and cathode	2.3	pF
Heater to cathode	11.0	pF
Grid of unit No. 1 to grid of unit No. 2	0.70	pF
Plate of unit No. 1 to plate of unit No. 2	1.65	pF

Class A₁ Amplifier (Each Unit)

CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate-Supply Voltage	135	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	250	ohms
Amplification Factor	2	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	280 7000	ohms µmhos
Plate Current	125	mA mA
DC Amplifier (Each Unit)		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)		
Plate Voltage	250	volts
Plate Current	125	mA
Plate Dissipation	13	watts
Operation with fixed bias is not recommended.		
Booster Scanning Service (Each Unit)		
For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)		
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1700	volts
DC Plate Current	125	mA
Plate Dissipation	13	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

 Grid-Circuit Resistance:
 1.0 megohm

 For cathode-bias operation
 1.0 megohm

 Not recommended
 As described in "Standards of Good Engineering Practice Concerning Television Broadcast

 Stations", Federal Communications Commission.
 1.0

Stations, requeral communications commission. • The duration of the voltage pulse must not exceed 15 per cent of one horizontal scanning cycle. In a 525-line, 30-frame system, 15 per cent of one horizontal scanning cycle is 10 microseconds.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6AS8

DIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in television and radio receiver applications. The pentode unit is used as an if amplifier, video amplifier, or agc amplifier. The high-perveance diode is used as an audio detector, video detector, or dc restorer. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For curve of average plate characteristics of pentode unit, see type 6AN8A.



9DS

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.45	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Average value	$\pm 200 \max$ 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Diode Unit:		
Plate to Cathoe, Heater, Pentode Grid No.3, and		
Internal Shield	3	pF
Pentode Unit:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.03	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	7	\mathbf{pF}
Internal Shield	2.4	pF
Pentode Grid No.1 to Diode Plate	0.005 max	\mathbf{pF}
Pentode Plate to Diode Cathode	0.15 max	pF
Pentode Plate to Diode Plate	0.10 max	pF

Pentode Unit as Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	300 0	volts volts
	300	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		rve page 300
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	0	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	2.5	watts
Plate Dissipation	4.0	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	0.5	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts		rve page 300
For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	See cu	rve page avo
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Supply Voltage	200	volts
Grid No.3 Connected	to catho	de at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	150	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	180	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	300000	ohms
Transconductance	6200	μ mhos
Plate Current	9.5	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 µA	8	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

Diode Unit

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Peak Inverse Plate Voltage	330
Peak Plate Current	50
Average Plate Current	5

Refer to chart at end of section.

 $\begin{array}{c} H \underbrace{\textcircled{(1)}}_{H \underbrace{(1)}} H \underbrace{(1)}_{H \underbrace{(1)}} \underbrace{(1)}_{H \underbrace{(1)}} H \underbrace{(1)}_{H \underbrace{(1)$

78T

TWIN DIODE---HIGH-MU TRIODE

Miniature type used as a combined detector, amplifier, and avc tube in automobile and ac-operated radio receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. For typical operation as resistance-coupled amplifier refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section. Type 12AT6 is identical with type 6AT6 except for heater ratings.

c + me

10100

	6A16	12A 16	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)		12.6	volts
Heater Current	0.3	0.15	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 90 \text{ max}$	$\pm 90 \text{ max}$	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Triode Grid to Triode Plate	. . 	2	pF
Triode Grid to Cathode and Heater		2.2	pF
Triode Plate to Cathode and Heater		0.8	pF
Plate of Diode Unit No.2 to Triode Grid		0.04 max	pF

Triode Unit as Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) Plate Voltage Plate Dissipation Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value 300 volts 0.5 watts volts CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid Voltage Amplification Factor 100 250volts -1 -----3 volts $7\bar{0}$ 70 Plate Resistance 54000 58000 ohms 1300 1200 Transconductance *u*mbos 0.8 mA Plate Current

Diode Units

MAXIMUM RATING (Design-Center Value)

Refer to chart at end of section.

и об об об об оса, и об об об об оса,

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature types used as combined oscillator and mixer tubes in television receivers utilizing an intermediate frequency in the order of 40 MHz. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Except for interlectrode capacitances and basing arrangement, this

9DW type is identical with miniature type 6X8. The basing arrangement is particularly suitable for connection to the coils of certain designs of turret tuners. Type 5AT8 is identical with type 6AT8A except for heater ratings.

volts mA mA

6AS11

6AT6

12AT6

6AT8

6AT8A

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	5AT8	6AT8A	•.
iteater voltage (ac/dc)	4.7	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Triode Unit:	Unshielded	Shielded=	
Grid to Plate	1.5	1.5	DF
Grid to Cathode and Heater	2	2.4	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	0.5	1	pF
Pentode Unit:	0.0	-	pr
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.06 max	0.03 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2 and			-
_ Grid No.3	4.6	4.8	рF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and		110	p 1
Grid No.3	0.9	1.6	pF
Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate	0.05 max	0.04 max	pF
Pentode Plate to Triode Plate	0.05 max		pF
Heater to Cathode	6	6†	pF
• With external shield connected to cathode except as n	oted.	- •	-

† With external shield connected to plate.

6AU4GT

Refer to chart at end of section.

6AU4GTA

Glass octal type used as damper tube in horizontaldeflection circuits of color and wide-angle picture-tube television receivers. Outlines section, 13G; requires octal socket. Type may be supplied with pin No. 1 omitted. Socket terminals 1, 2, 4, and 6 should not be used as tie points. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	1.8	amperes
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		
Plate to Heater and Cathode	8.5	pF
Cathode to Heater and Plate	11.5	pF
Heater to Cathode	4	pF

HALF-WAVE

VACUUM RECTIFIER

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) 4500 volts 1300 mA Average Plate Current 210 mA Plate Dissipation 6.5 watts Heater-Cathode-Voltage: +300 volts Peak value -4500 Average value ÷100 -900 volts

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

6AU5GT

BEAM POWER TUBE

Glass octal type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in low-cost, high-efficiency deflection circuits of television receivers. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	1.25	amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	volts
Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to Plate	0.5	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	11.3	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	7	pF

Class A. Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Pentode Connection	Triode† Connection	
Plate Voltage	115	110	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	175	100	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	— 2 0	-4.5	volts
Plate Resistance	6000		ohms
Transconductance	5600		μ mhos
Plate Current	60		mA
Grid No.2 Current	6.8		mA

† Grid No.2 connected to plate.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

DC Plate Voltage	550	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# (Absolute Maximum)	5500°	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1250	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage=	200	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	300	volts
Peak Cathode Current	400	mA
Average Cathode Current	110	mA
Grid-No.2 Input	2.5	watts
Plate Dissipation ++	10	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	210	•C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

0.47 megohm Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). "Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded.

 Obtained through a series dropping resistor of sufficient magnitude to limit the grid-No.2 input to the rated maximum value.

tt A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6AU6

6AU6A

3AU6, 4AU6, 12AU6



Miniature type used in compact radio equipment as rf amplifier especially in high-frequency, wide-band ap-plications; also used as limiter tube in FM equipment. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. For a discussion of limiters, refer to Electron

Tube Applications section. For typical operation as resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section. Types 3AU6, 4AU6, and 12AU6 are identical with type 6AU6A except for heater ratings.

SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

	3AU6	4AU6	6AU6A	12AU6	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	3.15	4.2	6.3	12.6	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.3	0.15	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Aver-					•
age)	11	11	11		seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:					
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts			
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Pentode Connection:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.0035 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		-
Internal Shield	5.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		P-
Internal Shield	5	pF
Triode Connection :†	v	PI
Grid No.1 to Plate, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	2.6	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode and Heater	3.2	pF
Plate, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield to Cathode	•	pr
and Heater	1.2	pF
† Grid No.2, grid No.3, and internal shield connected to plate.		p1

" Value is 8.5 pF with external shield connected to cathode.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode† Connection	Pentode Connection	
Plate Voltage	275	330	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value		0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	See cu	rve page 300	
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		330	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 <u>0</u>	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	3.5	3.5	watts
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See cu	0.75 rve page 300	watt

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode† Connection	Pen	tode Con	nection		
Plate Supply Voltage	250	100	250	150		volts
Grid No.3		Conn	ected to	cathode	at	
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	—	100	125	150		volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	330	150	100	68		ohms
Amplification Factor	36			_		•
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		0.5	1.5	1		megohms
Transconductance	4800	3900	4500	5200		μmhos
Plate Current	12.2	5	7.6	10.6		mA
Grid-No.2 Current		2.1	3	4.3		mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current			-	•••		
of 10 μA	_	4.2	- 5.5	-6.5		volts
+ Crid No 9 mrid No 9 and internal abiat						

f Grid No.2, grid No.3, and internal shield connected to plate.



Refer to chart at end of section.

6AU8



9DX

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE 6AU8A

Miniature type used in television receiver applications. Pentode unit is used as video amplifier, if amplifier, and agc amplifier. Triode unit is used in sync-amplifier, sync-separator, sync-clipper, and phase-inverter circuits. Outlines section, 6E; requires 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	6.3 0.6	volts ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Triode Unit: Grid to Plate	2.2	рF
Grid to Cathode and Heater	2.6	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	0.34	pF
Pentode Unit:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.06	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	7.5	\mathbf{pF}
Internal Shield	3.4	pF
Triode Grid to Pentode Plate	0.022 max	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate	0.006 max	pF
Pentode Plate to Triode Plate	0.12 max	թF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input:	Triode Unit 330 — Se 0 2.8	Pentode U 330 330 e curve pag 0 3.3	volts volts
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	— Se	1 e curve pag	watt re 300
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of	150 150 43 8100 5300 9.5	200 125 82 100000 8000 17 3.4	volts volts ohms µmhos mA mA
100 μ A	-6.5	-7.5	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 1	0.25 1	megohm megohm



6CK

Glass octal type used as horizontal-deflection ampli	i-
fier in television receivers. Outlines section, 19C; re	-
quires octal socket. Types 12AV5GA and 25AV5GA	ł
are identical with type 6AV5GA except for heate	
ratings.	

6AV5GA

12AV5GA, 25AV5GA

	6AV5GA	12AV5GA	25AV5GA	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	12.6	25	volts
Heater Current	1.2	0.6	0.3	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	-	11	a	seconds

BEAM POWER TUBE

Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.)				volts volts
Grid No.1 to Plate			0.5	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, a	and Grid N	lo.8	14	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and	Grid No.3		7	pF

Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS		ntode nection	Triode• Connection	
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	60 150	250 150	150 150	volts volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Plate Resistance	0	-22.5 14500	-22.5	volts
Transconductance		5900		μmhos
Plate Current Screen Current	260 26	57 2.1		mA mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA	_			volts
Amplification Factor			4.3	

Grid No.2 connected to plate.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

DC Plate Voltage	550	volts
reak rositive-ruise riste voltages (Absolute Maximum)	5500°	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1250	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	175	volts
reak negative-ruise Grid-No.1 Voltage	300	volts
Peak Cathode Current	400	mĂ
Average Cathode Current	110	mA
Grid-No.2 Input	25	watts
Plate Dissipation †	11	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	210	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance 0.47 megohm # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). * Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded.

tt A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6AV5GT

Refer to chart at end of section.

6AV6 4AV6, 12AV6

Miniature type used as combined detector, amplifier, and avc tube in automobile and ac-operated radio receivers. The 6AV6 may be substituted directly for the 6AT6 in applications where the higher amplification of the 6AV6 is advantageous. Outlines section, 5C; re-



7BT

quires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 4AV6, and 12AV6 are identical with type 6AV6 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heather-Cathode Voltage:	4AV6 4.2 0.45 11	6AV6 6.3 0.3	12.6 0.15	volts ampere seconds
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Triode Grid to Triode Plate Triode Grid to Cathode and Heater			2 2.2	pF pF
Triode Plate to Cathode and Heater Plate of Diode Unit No.2 to Triode Grid			0.8= 0.04 max	pF pF

This value is 1.2 pF with external shield connected to cathode.

Triode Unit as Class A, Ampl	lifier	
MAXIMUM RATING (Design-Maximum Value) Plate Voltage	220	
Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation	0	volts volts watt
AVER HALF-W	AGE DIODE CHARACTER	DIODE UNIT
	TYPE 6AV6 E = 6.3 VOLT	s I





CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	100	250	volts
Grid Voltage	—1	2	volts
Amplification Factor	100	100	
Plate Resistance	80000	62500	ohms
Transconductance	1250	1600	umhos
Plate Current	0.50	1.2	mA

Diode Units

MAXIMUM RATING (Design-Maximum Value)

Installation and Application

The triode unit of the 6AV6 is recommended for use only in resistancecoupled circuits. Refer to the **Resistance-Coupled Amplifier** section for typical operating conditions. Grid bias for the triode unit of the 6AV6 may be obtained from a fixed source, such as a fixed-voltage tap on the dc power supply, or from a cathode-bias resistor. It should not be obtained by the diode-biasing method because of the probability of plate-current cutoff, even with relatively small signal voltages applied to the diode circuit.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6AV11

Refer to chart at end of section.

6AW8
6AW8A

Miniature type used in television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used as an if amplifier, video amplifier, agc amplifier, or reactance tube. The triode unit is used in low-frequency oscillator, sync-separator, sync-clipper, and phase-splitter circuits. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 8AW8A is identical with type 6AW8A except for heater ratings.



9DX

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage: Feak value	6AW8A 6.3 0.6 11 ±200 max	8AW8A 8.4 0.45 11 ±200 max	volts ampere seconds volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	Unshielded	Shielded	
Triode Unit: Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode, Pentode Cathode, Pentode	2.2	2.2	pF
Grid No.3, Internal Shield, and Heater	3.2	3.4	pF
Plate to Cathode, Pentode Cathode, Pentode Grid No.3, Internal Shield, and Heater Pentode Unit:	1.8	3	pF
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.06 max	0.05 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid	10	10	pF
No.3, and Internal Shield	3.6	4.5	\mathbf{pF}
Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate	0.008 max		\mathbf{pF}
With external shield connected to size 4 and 5	0.15 max	0.025 max	pF

With external shield connected to pins 4 and 5.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	Triode Unit 330 — 0 1.1 -	330 See curve page 0 3.75 w	volts vatts vatts
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor	200 2 70	150 150	volts volts volts hms



Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA	4000 4 	0.2 9500 15 3.5 —8	megohm µmhos mA mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.51	0.25 1	megohm megohm

HALF-WAVE

VACUUM RECTIFIER

12**BL**

12AX3. 17AX3 Duodecar type used as damper tube in horizontal-deflection circuits of television receivers. Outlines section, 8C; requires 12-contact socket. Socket terminals 5, 6, 8, and 9 should not be used as tie points. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Types 12AX3 and 17AX3 are identical with type 6AX3 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	1.2	12AX3 12.6 0.6	17AX3 16.8 0.45	volts amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	11	seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:				
Plate to Cathode and Heater			5.5	\mathbf{pF}
Cathode to Plate and Heater			7.5	\mathbf{pF}
Heater to Cathode			2.8	pF

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

• • • • •		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#	5000	volts
Peak Plate Current	1000	mA
Average Plate Current	165	mA
Plate Dissipation	5.3	watts
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		. .
Peak value		volts
Average value	900	volts
CHARACTERISTIC		
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 250 mA	32	volts
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning of	ycle (10	microseconds).
Defende all and at and after the		VIAT

Refer to chart at end of section.

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used as damper tube in horizontaldeflection circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket. May be supplied with pin No. 1 omitted. Socket terminals 1, 2, 4, and 6 should not be used as tie

4CG points. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Types 12AX4GTB and 17AX4GTA are identical with type 6AX4GTB except for heater ratings.

	6AX4- GTB	GTB	17AX4- GTA	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	12.6	16.8	volts
Heater Current		0.6	0.45	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	11	seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):				
Cathode to Plate and Heater			8.5	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode and Heater			5	pF pF
Heater to Cathode			4	pF

6AX4GT

6AX4GTB

12AX4GTB, 17AX4GTA

6AX3

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)			
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current		1000	volts mA
Plate Dissipation Heater-Cathode Voltage:	• • • • • • • • • • •	5.3	mA watts
Peak value Average value	$+300 \\ +100$	—5000 —900	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value			

Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 250 mA 32 volts # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used in power supplies of radio equipment having moderate dc requirements. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket. This type may be supplied with pin No. 1 omitted. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Heater: volts (ac), 6.3; amperes, 1.2.



Full-Wave Rectifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) Peak Inverse Plate Voltage ... Peak Plate Current (Per Plate) 1250volts 375 mÅ Hot-Switching Transient Plate Current: For duration of 0.2 second maximum AC Plate Supply Voltage (Per Plate, rms) Average Output Current (Per Plate, rms) 2.6 amperes See Rating Chart See Rating Chart Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage +450volts TYPICAL OPERATION WITH CAPACITOR INPUT TO FILTER AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms) 700 900 volts Filter Input Capacitor* 10 10 μF Effective Plate-Supply Impedance Per Plate DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.): 105 50 ohms 62.5 mA 395 volts At half-load current of 40 mA 540 volts 125 350 mA volts At full-load current of 490 80 mA volts Voltage Regulation (Approx.): Half-load to full-load current 45 50 volts TYPICAL OPERATION WITH CHOKE INPUT TO FILTER AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms) 700 900 volts Filter Input Choke 10# 10## henries DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.): 75mA 270 volts At half-load current of 62.5 mA 365 volts 250 150 mA volts At full-load current of 350 125 mA volts





6AX5GT

Voltage Regulation	(Approx.):			
TTalf land the field	1 load annument	90	15	wolte

Half-load to full-load current * Higher values of capacitance than indicated may be used but the effective plate-supply impedance may have to be increased to prevent exceeding the maximum rating for hotswitching transient plate current.

This value is adequate to maintain optimum regulation provided the load current is not less than 30 mA. For load currents less than 30 mA, a larger value of inductance is required for optimum regulation.

This value is adequate to maintain optimum regulation provided the load current is not less than 35 mA. For load currents less than 35 mA, a larger value of inductance is required for optimum regulation.

Refer to	chart	at end	of section.	6AX8
Refer to	chart	at end	of section.	6AY3

Refer to chart at end of section.



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

6AY3B 12AY3A, 17AY3A

6AY11

6**A**Z8

Novar type used as damper tube in horizontal-deflection circuits of black-and-white television receivers.

Outlines section, 30B; requires novar 9-contact socket. 9HP Socket terminals 1, 3, 6, and 8 should not be used as tie points. It is especially important that these tubes, like other power-handling tubes, be adequately ventilated. Types 12AY3A and 17AY3A are identical with type 6AY3B except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6AY3B 6.3	12AY3A 12.6	17AY3A 16.8	volts
Heater Current	1.2	0.6	0.45	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	11	seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):				
Plate to Cathode and Heater			6.5	рF
Cathode to Plate and Heater			9	pF
Heater to Cathode			2.8	pF
				-
Damper Servi	ce			
For operation in a 525-line,	30-frame	system		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)				
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#			5000	volts
Peak Plate Current			1100	mA
Average Plate Current			175	mA
Plate Dissipation			6.5	watts
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			••••	
Peak value	_	- 800 -	-5000	volts
Average value		-100	-900	volts
		100		
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value				
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 350 mA			32	volts
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizo	ntal scan	ning cycl	e (10 mi	croseconds).

Refer to chart at end of section.



⁹ED

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used as an if amplifier, video amplifier, agc amplifier, or reactance tube. The triode unit is used in low-frequency oscillator, sync-separator, sync-clipper, and phasesplitter circuits. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage: ⁴	6.3 0.45	volts ampere
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	volts volts

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Triode Unit:		
Grid to Plate	1.7	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	2	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	1.7	pF
Pentode Unit: Grid No.1 to Plate	0.02 max	рF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	0.02 max	pr
Internal Shield	6.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		-
Internal Shield	2.2	pF
Triode Grid to Pentode Plate	0.027 max	pF
Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate	0.020 max	pF
Pentode Plate to Triode Plate	0.045 max	pF

* The heater-cathode voltage of the pentode unit should not exceed the value of the operating cathode bias. Grid No.3 will be made negative with respect to cathode if this value is ex-ceeded, and thus possibly cause a change in tube characteristics.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	Triede Unit 300 0 2.6 	0 2 0.5	it volts ve page 300 volts watts watt ve page 300
CHARACTERISTICS	Triede Unit	Pentode U	nit
		200	volts
Plate Supply Voltage	200	150	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		190	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	0	180	ohms
Cathode-Bias Resistor	10	180	onns
Amplification Factor	19	000000	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	5750	300000	
Transconductance	3300	6000	μ mhos
Plate Current	13	9.5	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		3	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μA	19		volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μmhos	_	-12.5	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :*		0.25	megohm
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.20	
For cathode-bias operation	1	1	megohm

For cathode-bias operation * If either unit is operating at maximum rated conditions, grid-No.1-circuit resistance for both units should not exceed the stated values.

6B4G	Refer to chart at end of section.
6B5	Refer to chart at end of section.
6B6G	Refer to chart at end of section.
6B7 6B7S	Refer to chart at end of section.
6B8 6B8G	Refer to chart at end of section.

6**B**10 8**B**10

TWIN DIODE MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

Duodecar type used in television receiver applications; diode units are used in horizontal-phase-detector circuits, and triode units are used in horizontal-oscillator circuits. Outlines section, 8A; requires duodecar 12contact socket. Type 8B10 is identical with type 6B10 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6 B10 6.3 0.6 11	8 B10 8.5 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Class A, Amplifier (Each Trio MAXIMUM RATING (Design-Maximum Value)	-		14
Plate Voltage		330 20 3	volts mA watts
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 μ A	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	250 8 18 7200 2500 10 20	volts volts ohms µmhos mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	 .	0.25 1	megohm megohm
Diode Units (Each Unit	t)		
MAXIMUM RATING (Design-Maximum Value) Plate Current		5	mA
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 20 mA		5	volts
Refer to chart at end of section.		6BA3	1
For replacement use type 6BA6/EF93.		6BA6	1



REMOTE-CUTOFF PENTODE

6BA6/EF93

7BK

Miniature types used as rf amplifiers in standard broadcast and FM receivers, as well as in wide-band, high-

frequency applications. The low value of grid-No.1-to-plate capacitance minimizes regenerative effects, while the high transconductance makes possible high signal-to-noise ratio. Outlines section, 5C; require miniature 7-contact socket. Type 12BA6 is identical with type 6BA6/EF93 except for heater ratings.

	6BA6/EF93	12BA6	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	12.6	volts
Heater Current	0.3	0.15	ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.0035 max	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3			-
Internal Shield		5.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and			-
Internal Shield		5=	\mathbf{pF}
			-

• This value is 5.5 pF with external shield connected to cathode.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	
	000
Plate Voltage Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	330 volts 0 volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, rostive value	0 volts See curve page 300
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	330 volts
Plate Dissipation	3.4 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	J. WALLS
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	0.7 watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:	Des carro page ott
Negative-bias value	55 volts
Positive-bias value	0 volts
CHARACTERISTICS	
Plate Supply Voltage 100	250 volts
	ted to cathode at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	100 volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	68 ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.25	1 megohm
Transconductance	4400 μmhos
Plate Current	11 mA
Grid-No.2 Current 4.4	4.2 mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance	
of 40 μmhos	20 volts
TYPE 6BA6	
$\begin{array}{c} GRID-No.2 VOLTS=IOO \\ GRID-No.3 VOLTS=O \\ GRID-No.3 VOLTS=O \\ GRID-No.1 VOLTS E_{C1}=-1 \\ GRID-NO.1 VOLTS $	
GRID-No. 3 VOLTS=0	
<u>و</u> به اع الح	
Y S15 EC1=0 Y GRID-No.1 VOLTS EC1=-1 Y S12 Y GRID-No.1 VOLTS EC1=-1 Y S12 Y S12 Y GRID-No.1 VOLTS EC1=-1 Y S12	
₩ ₹ Eci=0 -20	
• •••• •••	,
PLATE VOLTS	
92CS-6609T	

Installation and Application

Control-grid bias variation is effective in changing the volume of the receiver. To obtain adequate volume control, an available grid-No.1-bias voltage of approximately 50 volts is required. The exact value depends upon the circuit design and operating conditions. This voltage may be obtained, depending on the receiver requirements, from a potentiometer across a fixed supply voltage, from a variable cathode-bias resistor, from the avc system, or from a combination of these methods.

The grid-No.2 (screen-grid) voltage may be obtained from a potentiometer or bleeder circuit across the B-supply source, or through a dropping resistor from the plate supply. The use of series resistors for obtaining satisfactory control of grid-No.2 voltage in the case of four-electrode tubes is usually impossible because of secondary-emission phenomena. In the 6BA6, however, because grid No.3 practically removes these effects, it is practical to obtain grid-No.2 voltage through a series-dropping resistor from the plate supply or from some high intermediate voltage, provided the source does not exceed the plate-supply voltage. With this method, the grid-No.2-to-cathode voltage will fall off very little from minimum to maximum value of the resistor controlling cathode bias. In some cases, it may actually rise. This rise of grid-No.2-to-cathode voltage above the normal maximum value is allowable because both the grid-No.2 current and the plate current are reduced simultaneously by a sufficient amount to prevent damage to the tube. It should be recognized that, in general, the series-

resistor method of obtaining grid-No.2 voltage from a higher voltage supply necessitates the use of the variable cathode-resistor method of controlling volume in order to prevent too high a voltage on grid No.2. When grid-No.2 and control-grid voltage are obtained in this manner, the remote "cutoff" advantage of the 6BA6 can be fully realized. However, it should be noted that the use of a resistor in the grid-No.2 circuit has an effect on the change in plate resistance with variation in grid-No.3 (suppressor-grid) voltage in case grid No.3 is utilized for control purposes.



PENTAGRID CONVERTER

6BA7

Miniature type used as converter in AM and FM receivers. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9contact socket.

Heater Voltage Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	6.3 0.3 ±90	volts ampere volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No. 3 to All Other Electrodes	9.5	 F
Plate to All Other Electrodes	8.3	pr
Grid No. 1 to All Other Electrodes	6.7	pF
Grid No. 3 to Plate	0.19 max	pF
Grid No. 3 to Grid No. 1	0.1 max	pF
Grid No. 1 to Plate	0.05 max	pF
Grid No. 1 to All Other Electrodes, except Cathode	3.4	pF
Grid No. 1 to Cathode	3.3	pF
Cathode to All Other Electrodes except Grid No. 1	4	pF'

Converter Service

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.5-and-Internal-Shield Voltage ^A	300	volts volts
Grids-No2-and-No.4 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	10 0	volts
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Supply Voltage	300	volts
Plate Dissipation	2	watts
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Input	1.5	watts
Total Cathode Current	22	mA
Grid-No.3 Voltage:	100	•.
Negative-bias value	100	volts
Positive-bias value	U	volts

CHARACTERISTICS (Separate Excitation)*

Plate Voltage	100	250	volts
Grid No.5 and Internal Shield	Cor	nnected direc	tly to ground
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	100	100	volts
Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-1	1	volt
Grid-No.1 (Oscillator-Grid) Resistor	20000	20000	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.5	1	megohm
Conversion Transconductance	900	950	μmhos
Conversion Transconductance (Approx.)**	3.5	3.5	μmhos
Plate Current	3.6	3.8	mA
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Current	10.2	10	mA
Grid-No.1 Current	0.35	0.35	mA
Total Cathode Current	14.2	14.2	mA

NOTE: The transconductance between grid No.1 and grids No.2 and No.4 connected to plate (not oscillating) is approximately 8000 μ mhos under the following conditions: signal applied to grid No.1 at zero bias; grids No.2 and No.4 and plate at 100 volts; grid No.3 grounded. Under the same conditions, the plate current is 32 milliamperes, and the amplification factor is 16.5.

* The characteristics shown with separate excitation correspond very closely with those obtained in a self-excited oscillator circuit operating with zero bias.

** With grid-No.3 bias of --- 20 volts.

▲ Internal Shield (pins No.6 and No.8) connected directly to ground.

6BA8A

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receivers. The pentode unit is used as a video amplifier, an agc amplifier, or a reactance tube. The triode unit is used in low-frequency oscillator and phase-splitter circuits. **Outlines section**, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 8BA8A is identical with type 6BA8A except for the heater ratings.



	6BA8A	8BA8A	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	8.4	volts
Heater Current	0.3	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11		seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):			
Triode Unit:			
Grid to Plate	2.2	2.2	pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater	2.5	2.7	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	0.4	1.9	pF
Pentode Unit:			
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.06	0.05	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid			
No.3, and Internal Shield	10	10	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,			
and Internal Shield	3.6	4.5	pF
Triode Grid to Pentode Plate	0.016	0.006	pF
Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate	0.006	0.003	pF
Pentode Plate to Triode Plate	0.15	0.023	pF

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)	Triode Unit	Pentode	Unit
Plate Voltage	300	300	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		300	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		See o	urve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:			
Negative-bias value		50	volts
Positive-bias value		0	volts
Plate Dissipation	2	3.25	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:			
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts		_1	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts		See o	urve page 300
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate-Supply Voltage	200	200	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		150	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage			volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		180	ohms
Amplification Factor	18		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	6700	400000	ohms
Transconductance	2700	9000	μ mhos
Plate Current	8	13	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		3.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of			
10 μ A	-16	-10	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:			
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	1	megohm

6BA11

TRIODE-TWIN PENTODE

Duodecar type used as vertical-deflection oscillator and for combined sync-age applications in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 8B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 8BA11 is identical with type 6BA11 except for heater ratings.



3	8BA11 8.4 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
) max	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
) max	100 max	volts
	2	pF
	2	pF
	1.9	pF
	2	pF
	3.6	pF
	6	pF
	3	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
	0.026 max	pF
		3 8.4 5 0.45 11 11 0 max ±200 max 100 max 100 max 2 1.9 2 3.6 6 3

Triode Unit as Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage Average Cathode Current	300 20	volts mA
Plate Dissipation	1.5	watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid Voltage	-11	volts
Amplification Factor	18	
Transconductance	1800	μ mhos
Plate Current	5	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 μ A	18	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

Pentode Unit as Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage (Each Unit) Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage (Each Unit):	300	volts
Peak positive value DC negative value DC positive value Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	50 50 3 150	volts volts volts volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Negative bias value Cathode Current Plate Dissipation (Each Unit) Grid-No.2 Input	50 12 1.1 0.75	volts mA watts watt
CHARACTERISTICS (With Both Units Operating)		
Plate Voltage (Each Unit) 100 Grid-No.3 Voltage (Each Unit) 10 Grid-No.2 Voltage 67.5 Grid-No.1 Voltage *	100 0 67.5	volts volts volts volts
Grid-No.2 Current (Each Unit) 0 Grid-No.2 Current 7	2.5 4.4	mA mA
CHARACTERISTICS (With One Unit Operating) †		
Plate Voltage 100 Grid-No.3 Voltage 0 Grid-No.2 Voltage 67.5 Grid-No.1 Voltage 0	100 0 67.5	volts volts volts volts
Grid-No.3 Transconductance Grid-No.1 Transconductance 1700 Plate Current Grid-No.2 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of	450 2.5	μmhos μmhos mA
100 μA — Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of	3.2	volts
100 µA		volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance (Each Unit) Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance * Adjusted to provide a dc grid-No.1 current of 100 microamperes. † With plate and grid No.3 of the other unit connected to ground.	0.5 0.5	megohm megohm

Voltages and plate current apply to each section.

6BC4

requires miniature 9-contact socket.

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE

Miniature type used as an rf amplifier in the cathodedrive circuits of uhf television tuners covering the frequency range of 470 to 890 MHz. Outlines section, 6A;

9DR

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)		volts
Heater Current	0.225	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 75 \text{ max}$	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		
Grid to Plate		pF
Grid to Heater and Cathode	2.9	pF
Plate to Heater and Cathode	0.26	pF
Heater to Cathode	2.7	pF

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) Plate Voltage 250 volts Cathode Current 25 mA 2.5 Plate Dissipation watts CHARACTERISTICS 150 volts 100 ohma Amplification Factor 48 . . **. .** . *. .* Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance 4800 ohms 10000 μmhos Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μA 14.5 mA -10 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation Not recommended For cathode-bias operation 0.5 megohm

6BC5

Refer to chart at end of section.

6BC5/6CE5 SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

3BC5/3CE5

Miniature type used in compact radio equipment as an rf or if amplifier at frequencies up to 400 MHz. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. For typical operation as resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section. Type 3BC5/3CE5 is identical with type 6BC5/6CE5 except for heater ratings.

H(4)	J)
H3	- 0 ^{G2}
Ķ₃Q	
<u> </u>	J) O is
_{دا} ن 7BI	ו

••• · ••• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	3BC5/3CE5	6BC5/6CE5	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	3.15	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.3	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11		seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	±90 max	volts
Average value	100 max		volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances :			
Pentode Connection:			
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.030 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3	8, and		
Internal Shield		6.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	nd Internal		
Shield		1.8	pF
Triode Connection :*			
Grid No.1 to Plate and Grid No.2		2.5	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.3, and Interna		3.9	υĒ
Plate and Grid No.2 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.3		0.0	P -
Internal Shield		3	ъF
Internal Buleiu		5	PI

* Grid No.2 connected to plate.

Class A ₁ Amplif	ier					
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)	Co	Triodo nnecti		Pentod onnecti		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		300		300 300		volts volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value			See c	urve p	age 30	
Plate Dissipation		2.5		2		watts
Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts			~	0.5		watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts.	Tr	iode		urve p P entod e)0
CHARACTERISTICS	Con	nection	.* Č	onnect	ion	
Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	180	250	100 100	$125 \\ 125$	250 150	volts volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	330		180	100	180	ohms
Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.006	40 0.009	0.6	0.5	0.8	megohm
Transconductance			4900	6100	5700	μmhos
Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current		6	4.7 1.4	8 2.4	7.5 2.1	mA mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 µA			5	6		volts
• Grid No.2 connected to plate.			•	•	Ū	
				_		

Refer to chart at end of section.

For replacement use type 6BC8/6BZ8.

6BC8/6BZ8

6BC7

6BC8



MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature type used as a cascode amplifier in vhf television tuners and in push-pull cathode-drive rf amplifiers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 4BC8 is identical with type 6BC8/6BZ8 except for heater ratings.

	4BC8	6BC8/6BZ8	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.2	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.4	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11		seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	+200*ms	$x \pm 200*max$	volts
Average value	100 ms		volts
			VUIUS
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances*:		Unit No.2	
Grid to Plate	1.2	1.2	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	2.6	_	pF
Cathode to Grid, Heater, and Internal Shield		5.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	1.3		pF
Plate to Grid, Heater, and Internal Shield	110	2.4	pF
Plate to Cathode		0.12	
Heater to Cathode	0.0		pF
neater to Cathode	2.8	2.8	pF
Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2	0.02	max	pF
Plate of Unit No.2 to Plate and Grid of Unit No.1	0.04	max	pF
A Detter many be an black as 000 attacks to 000 the			

Rating may be as high as 300 volts under cutoff conditions, when tube is used as a cascode amplifier, the two units are connected in series, and heater is negative with respect to cathode.
 With external shield connected to internal shield.

Class A. Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Cathode Current Plate Dissipation	250* 22 2.2	volts mA watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Supply Voltage	150	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor Plate Resistance (Approx.)	220 5300	ohms
Amplification Factor	35	ohms
Transconductance	6200	μ mhos
Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 50 µmhos	$-10 \\ -13$	mA volts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-Circuit Resistance 0.5 megohm * Rating may be as high as 300 volts under cutoff conditions, when tube is used as a cascode amplifier, the two units are connected in series, and heater is negative with respect to cathode.

6BD4 6BD4A	Refer to chart at end of section.
6BD6	Refer to chart at end of section.
6BD11	Refer to chart at end of section.
6BE3	For replacement use type 6BE3/6BZ3.

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

6BE3/6BZ3 12BE3, 17BE3/17BZ3

Duodecar type used as damper tube in horizontal-de- NC(3 flection circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 8D; requires duodecar 12contact socket. Types 12BE3 and 17BE3/17BZ3 are identical with type 6BE3/6BZ3 except for heater ratings.



12GA

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	1.2	12BE3 12.6 0.6	17 BE3/ 17 BZ3 16.8 0.46	volts ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	-	11	11	seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Plate to Cathode, and Heater			10	p <u>F</u>
Cathode to Heater, and Plate			8 3.4	pF pF

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation	5000 1200 200 6.5	volts mA mA watts
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value +300 Average value +100	5000 900	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for dc plate current of 350 mA	25	volts

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

6BE6

PENTAGRID CONVERTER

Miniature type used as converter in AM and FM receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. For general discussion of pentagrid types, see Frequency Conversion in Electron Tube Applications section. Type 12BE6 is identical with type 6BE6 except for heater ratings.



	6 BE 6	12BE6	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	12.6	volts
Heater Current	0.3	0.15	ampere

Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	Unshielded	Shielded	
Grid No.3 to Plate	0.30 max	0.25 max	pF
Grid No.3 to Grid No.1	0.15 max	0.15 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.10 max	0.05 max	pF
Grid No.3 to All Other Electrodes	7	7	pF
Grid No.1 to All Other Electrodes	5.5	5.5	pF pF
Plate to All Other Electrodes	8.0	13.0	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode and Grid No.5	3	3	pF
Cathode and Grid No.5 to All Other Electrodes except Grid No.1	15	20	pF

With external shield connected to cathode and grid No.5.

Converter

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage		330	volts
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		110	volts
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Supply Voltage		330	volts
Cathode Current		15.5	mA
Plate Dissipation		1.1	watts
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Input		1.1	watts
Grid-No.3 Voltage:	•••••	1.1	
		55	volts
Negative-bias value		0	volts
Positive-bias value	· · · · · · · · · · · ·	U	Volus
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		200	volts
Peak value			
Average value		100	volts
TYPICAL OPERATION (Separate Excitation)*			
Plate Voltage	100	250	volts
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	100	100	volts
Grid-No.1 (Oscillator-Grid) Voltage (rms)	10	10	volts
Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-1.5	1.5	volts
Grid-No.1 (Oscillator-Grid) Resistor	20000	20000	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.4	1	megohm
Conversion Transconductance	455	475	μmhos
Plate Current	2.6	2.9	mA
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Current	7.0	6.8	mA
	0.5	0.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Current		10.2	mA
Cathode Current	10.1	10.2	mA
Grid-No.3 Voltage for conversion transconductance	~~		14 -

			 	 	volts
 		 	 	 1 37 4	3 4 -1-4-

NOTE: The transconductance between grid No.1 and grids No.2 and No.4 connected to plate (not oscillating) is approximately 7250 μ mhos under the following conditions: grids No.1 and No.3 at 0 volts; grids No.2 and No.4 and plate at 100 volts. Under the same conditions, the cathode current is 25 mA, and the amplification factor is 20. Grid-No.1 voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A is -11 volts.

* The characteristics shown with separate excitation correspond very closely with those obtained in a self-excited circuit operating with zero bias.

Installation and Application

Because of the special structural arrangement of the 6BE6, a change in signal-grid voltage produces little change in cathode current. Consequently, an rf voltage on the signal grid produces little modulation of the electron current flowing in the cathode circuit. This feature is important because it is desirable that the impedance in the cathode circuit should produce little degeneration or regeneration of the signal-frequency input and intermediate-frequency output. Another important feature is that, because signal-grid voltage has very little effect on the space charge near the cathode, changes in avc bias produce little change in oscillator transconductance and in the input capacitance of grid No.1. There is, therefore, little detuning of the oscillator by avc bias.

A typical self-excited oscillator circuit employing the 6BE6 is given in the Circuits section.

In the 6BE6 operation characteristics curves with self-excitation, E_{k} is the voltage across the oscillator-coil section between cathode and ground; E_r is the oscillator voltage between cathode and grid.



obro

6BF6

Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section.

6BF11 BEAM POWER TUBE— 12BF11, 17BF11, 24BF11 SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Duodecar type used as combined detector and amplifier tube in color and black-and-white television receivers. The dual-control, sharp-cutoff pentode unit is used as an FM detector and the beam power unit as an af output amplifier. Outlines section, 8C; requires duodecar 12contact socket. Types 12BF11, 17BF11 and 24BF11 are identical with type 6BF11 except for heater ratings.





Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	1.2	1 2BF11 12.6 0.6 11	17 BF11 16.8 0.45 11	24BF11 24.2 0.315 11	volts amperes seconds
Peak value			$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value		100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances	:				
Pentode Unit:					
Grid No.1 to Plate				0.36	pF
Grid No.3 to Plate				3.2	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heate	er, Grid N	o.2, Grid No	0.3,		_
and Internal Shield				6.5	pF
Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater	. Grid No.	1. Grid No.2	2. Plate.		-
and Internal Shield				8	pF
Grid No.1 to Grid No.3				0.11	pF
Beam Power Unit:				****	P-
Grid No.1 to Plate				0.24	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heate				0.21	pr
and Internal Shield				13	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, G	A No 9 (Twid No 9	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	10	pr.
				10	- 17
and Internal Shield				10	pF
Pentode Plate to Beam Power	riate			0.13	pF

Beam	Power	Unit	as	Class	A.	Amplifier
------	-------	------	----	-------	----	-----------

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Average Cathode Current Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input	165 150 65 6.5 1.8	volts volts mA watts watts
TYPICAL OPERATION Plate Voltage	145	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	110	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	-6	volts volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	36	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	40	mA
Zero-Signal Grid No.2 Current Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	3 9	mA mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance	0.03 8600	megohm µmhos



Load Resistance Total Harmonic Distortion Maximum-Signal Power Output		ohms per cent watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation		megohm

Pentode Unit as Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage		150	volts
Grid No.3 (Control-Grid)			
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		100	volta
Grid No.1 (Control Grid)			cathode resistor
Cathode-Bias Resistor		560	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		0.15	megohm
Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate		1000	μmhos
Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate		400	µmhos
Plate Current			mA
Grid-No.2 Current		2	mA mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current	of 10 μA		
Grid-No.3 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current	of 10 μA	4.5	volts

Pentode Unit as FM Sound Detector

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	28 volts
Grid No.2 Supply Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	1.7 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	1.1 watts
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300

7014



	701	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.15	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	±90 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.0035 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		
Internal Shield	5.4	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		
Internal Shield	4.4	рF
• Without external shield, or with external shield connected to cath		PL
- Without external shield, or with external shield connected to cath	oae,	

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		300 See curve 300	volts page 300 volts
Positive-bias value Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input:		50 0 3	volts volts watts
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts CHARACTERISTICS		0.5 See curve	watt page 300
Plate Voltage Grid No.3	100 Connected	250 to cathode	volts at socket
Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Plate Resistance (Approx.)	$\frac{100}{-1}$	150 1 1.4	volts volt megohms
Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current	3400 3.6 1.4	4600 7.4 2.9	µmhos mA mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 µA	5	-7.7	volts

Refer to chart at end of section.

6BH8



MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE 6BH11

Duodecar type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The triode units are used for general-purpose applications, and the pentode unit is used for horizontal-deflection service. Outlines section, 8B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.8; maximum heatercathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Pentode Unit as Horizontal-Deflection Oscillator

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:	350 330	volts volts
Positive-bias value Peak negative value Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current	$175 \\ 300$	volts volts mA mA
Plate Dissipation	2.5 0.55	watts watt

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		Each Triode U	nit
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Positive-bias Value		330 0	volts volts
Plate Dissipation		2.5	watts
CHARACTERISTICS	Pentode Unit	Each Triode Unit	
Plate Voltage	125	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	125		volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	1	—1	volt
Amplification Factor	_	46	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	200000	5400	ohms
Transconductance	7500	8500	μ mhos
Plate Current	12	13.5	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	4		mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 µA		8	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation	2.2	2.2	
For cathode-bias operation	2.2	2.2	megohms megohms
	4.4	2.2	megonms

Refer to chart at end of section.



REMOTE-CUTOFF PENTODE

6BJ6

6BJ3

Miniature type used as rf amplifier in high-frequency and wide-band applications. Features high transconductance and low grid-to-plate capacitance. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.15	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 90 \text{ max}$	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.0035 max	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		
Internal Shield	4.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		
Internal Shield	5.5	PTq

• Without external shield, or with external shield connected to cathode.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)		
Plate Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	See curv	e page 300
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	300	volts
Plate Dissipation	3	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:		
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts	0.6	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	See curv	e page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		
Negative-bias value	50	volts
Positive-bias value	0	volts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage 100	250	volts
	to cathode	at socket
Grid-No.2 Voltage	100	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	—1	volt
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	1.3	megohms
Transconductance	3600	μ mhos
Plate Current	9.2	mA
Grid-No.2 Current 3.5	3.3	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of		•
10 μ mhos		volts

6BJ6A

For replacement use type 6BJ6.

6**B**J7

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6BJ8

TWIN DIODE-MEDIUM-MU TRIODE

Miniature type used in black-and-white and color television receiver applications. The diode units are used in phase-detector, phase-comparator, ratio-detector or discriminator, and horizontal afc discriminator circuits. The triode unit is used in phase-splitter, audio-frequency amplifier, vertical-deflection amplifier, and lowfrequency oscillator applications. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Triode Unit:		
Grid to Plate	2.6	pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater	2.8	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	0.31	pF
Diode Units:		-
Plate to Cathode and Heater (Each Unit)	1.9	рF
Cathode to Plate and Heater (Each Unit)	4.6	pF
Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2	0.06 max	ĎF
Plate of Diode Unit No.1 to Triode Grid	0.07 max	dŁ
Plate of Diode Unit No.2 to Triode Grid	0.11 max	pF
Plate of Either Diode Unit to All Other Electrodes	3	pF
Cathode of Either Diode Unit to All Other Electrodes	4.8	pF
The second secon		
Triode Unit as Class A ₁ Amplifier		

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value Average Cathode Current Plate Dissipation	330 0 22 4	volts volts mA watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid Voltage	9	volts
Amplification Factor	20	
Plate Resistance (Approx.) 4700	7150	ohms
Transconductance 4700	2800	μmhos



9ER

Plate Current 13.5 Plate Current for grid voltage of -12.5 volts	8 1.7 18 1	mA mA volts megohm
Triode Unit as Vertical-Deflection Amplifi	er	
For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current Plate Dissipation	330 1200 275 77 22 4	volts volts mA mA watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle	2.2	megohms
Diode Units	(2.9	milliseconds).
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Current (Each Unit): Peak Average	54 9	mA mA
TYPE 6BJ8		
30 TRIODE UNIT		
₩ ₽ / ₩		
25		
0 100 200 300 400		
PLATE VOLTS 92CS-953IT		

Refer to chart at end of section.



199

6BK4C/ 6EL4A



BEAM TRIODE

Glass octal type used for the voltage regulation of high-voltage, low-current dc power supplies in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 21B; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 3, 4, 6, and 8 should not be used for tie points. For high voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.2	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	-450* max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		
Grid to Plate	0.03	ъF
Grid to Cathode and Heater	2.6	DF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	1	pF

Shunt Voltage-Regulator Service

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
DC Plate Voltage	27000	volts
Unregulated DC Supply Voltage	60000	volts
DC Grid Voltage	-135	volts
Peak Grid Voltage		mA
Average Plate Current	1.6	mA
Plate Dissipation	40	watts
TYPICAL OFERATION		
Unregulated DC Supply Voltage	36000	volts
Equivalent Resistance of Unregulated Supply	11	megohms
Voltage Divider Values:		
R ₁ (5 watts)	220	megohms
\mathbf{R}_2 (2 watts)	1	megohm
$R_3 (0.5 \text{ watt})$	0.82	megohm
DC Reference Voltage Supply	200	volts
Equivalent Resistance of Reference Voltage	1000	ohms
Effective Grid-Plate Transconductance	200	μ mhos
DC Plate Current for Load Current of 0 mA	1000	μA
DC Plate Current for Load Current of 1 mA	45	μA
Regulated DC Output Voltage for Load Current of 0 mA Regulated DC Output Voltage for Load Current of 1 mA	25000 24500	volts
Regulated DC Output voltage for Load Current of 1 mA	24500	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-Circuit Resistance	3	megohms
· For interval of 20 seconds maximum duration during equipment wa	rm-up peri	
		~
Y BADIATION CHARACTERISTIC		

X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC

X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampli	ng basis		0.5	mR/hr
CHARACTERISTICS RANGE VALUES	Note	Min	Max	
Grid Voltage (1)	1	7		volts
Grid Voltage (2)	2		40	volts
Grid-Voltage Change	3.	—	9	volts

Note 1: With dc plate voltage of 30000 volts and dc plate current of 1 mA.

Note 2: With dc plate voltage of 30000 volts and dc plate current of 0.1 mA.

Note 3: Difference between grid voltage (1) and grid voltage (2).

Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.



• Series impedence should be used with the cathode to limit the cathode current under prolonged short-circuit conditions to 450 mA. ‡ Without external shield.

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature type used as a cascode amplifier in vhf color and black-and-white television tuners and in push-pull cathode-drive rf amplifiers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For typical operation as a resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section. Type 5BK7A is identical with type 6BK7B except for heater ratings.

	5 BK7A	6BK7B	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.7	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	± 200 *max	$\pm 200*max$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Grid to Plate	1.8	1.8	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	3	3	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	1	0.9	\mathbf{pF}
Cathode to Grid, Heater, and Internal Shield	6	6	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Grid, Heater, and Internal Shield	2.4	2.4	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
Plate to Cathode	0.22	0.22	pF
Heater to Cathode	2.8	3	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
Grid of Unit No.1 to Grid of Unit No.2		0.004 max	pF
Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2		0.075 max	pF

* Rating may be as high as 300 volts under cutoff conditions when tube is used as a cascode amplifier, the units are connected in series, and heater is negative with respect to cathode.

Class A1 Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Value)

Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Negative-bias value Plate Dissipation	300 50 2.7	volts volts watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor	$150 \\ 56 \\ 43$	volts ohms
Aniphication Factor Plate Resistance Transconductance Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μA	4600 9300 18 11	ohms µmhos mA volts

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6BL4 6BL7GT



MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE 6BL7GTA

Glass octal type used as combined vertical-deflection amplifier and vertical-deflection oscillator in color and black-and-white television receivers. When so operated, it is recommended that unit No.1 (pins 4, 5, and 6) be used as the oscillator. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket.

Heater Voltage	(ac/dc)	6.3	volts
neater Gurrent		1.5	amperes
Heater-Cathode			
Peak value		$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average val	ue	100 max	volts



6BK5

6BK7A

6BK7B

SBK7A

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	Unit No. 1	Unit No. 2	
Grid to Plate	6	6	pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	4.2	4.6 0.9	pF pF
riate to Cathode and Heater	0.5	0.5	pr

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS (Each Unit)

Plate Voltage Grid Voltage	150 0	250 17	250 —9	volts volts
Amplification Factor	_		15	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)			2150	ohms
Transconductance			7000	μ mhos
Plate Current	65=	4	40	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 μA	_		23	volts
• This value can be measured by a method involv		recurrent	waveform	such that
the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceed	led.			

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator or Amplifier*

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

	· •		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)	Oscillator	Amplifier	
DC Plate Voltage	500	500	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#			
(Absolute Maximum)		2000	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	400	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	210	210	mA
Average Cathode Current	60	60	mA
Plate Dissipation:			
For either plate	10	10	watts
For both plates with both units operating	12	12	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE			
Grid-Circuit Resistance	4.7	4.7†	megohms
• Unless otherwise specified, values are for each unit.			

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds). △ Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded.

† For cathode-bias operation.

6BL8

Refer to chart at end of section.



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in frequency-changer service in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; require miniature 9-contact socket. Type 4BL8/XCF80 is identical with type 6BL8/ECF80 except for heater ratings.



9DC

	4BL8/ XCF80	6BL8/ ECF80	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.6	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 100 \text{ max}$	$\pm 100 \text{ max}$	volts

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage	550	550	volts
Plate Voltage	250	250	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		550	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage:			
With cathode current of 14 mA		175	volts
With cathode current less than 10 mA	—	200	volts
Cathode Current	14	14	mA
Plate Dissipation	1.5	1.7	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:			
With plate dissipation greater than 1.2 watts		0.5	watt
With plate dissipation less than 1.2 watts		0.75	watt

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	100	170	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	_	170	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	2	-2	volts
Amplification Factor	20		
Mu-Factor. Grid No.2 to Grid No.1		47	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		0.4	megohm
Transconductance	5000	6200	μ mhos
Plate Current	14	10	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		2.8	mA
Input Resistance at frequency of 50 MHz		0.01	megohm
Equivalent Noise Resistance	—	1500	ohms
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:			
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	1	megohm

6BM8/ ECL82 50BM8/UCL82



HIGH-MU TRIODE---POWER PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white tele-^{C2} vision receiver applications. The pentode unit is used as an audio output tube, and the triode unit as an ^{MT} oscillator and af voltage amplifier. Outlines section. 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 50BM8/ UCL82 is identical with type 6BM8/ECL82 except for heater ratings.

	ECL82	UCL82	
Heater Voltage	6.3	50	volts
Heater Current	0.78	0.1	ampere
Peak Heater Cathode Voltage	100 max	±200 max	volts

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage	550	900	volts
Plate Voltage	300	600	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		550	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		300	volts
Cathode Current	15	50	mA
Plate Dissipation	1	7	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	<u> </u>	1.8	watts
Grid-No.2 Input		1.0	watts
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	100	200	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		200	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	0		volts
Amplification Factor	70	9.5*	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		0.02	megohm
Transconductance	2500	6400	μmhos
Plate Current	3.5	35	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	0.0	7	mA
ond-No.2 Current		•	IIIA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:			

For cathode-bias operation	1 2
* Grid No.2 to Grid No.1	

Refer to chart at end of section.



2BN4A, 3BN4A

12

megohm

megohms



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE

Miniature type used as rf amplifier tube in grid-drive circuits of vhf color and black-and-white television tuners. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 2BN4A and 3BN4A are identical with type 6BN4A except for heater ratings.

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Heat Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):*	2BN4A 2.35 0.6 11 ±100 max	3BN4A 3 0.45 11 ±100 max	6BN4A 6.3 0.2 ±100 max	volts ampere seconds volts
Grid to Plate			1.2 3.2 1.4	pF pF pF
Class A ₁ Amp	lifier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)				
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value Cathode Current Plate Dissipaation			275 0 22 2.2	volts volts mA watts
CHARACTERISTICS				
Plate-Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor		1	150 220 43	volts oh ms
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current		77	100 700 9	ohms µmhos mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 µ MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE			-6	voits
Grid-Circuit Resistance			0.5 1	negohm

6BN6

Refer to chart at end of section.

7DF

6BN6/6KS6 3BN6, 4BN6

BEAM TUBE

Miniature type used as combined limiter, discriminator, and audio-voltage amplifier in intercarrier television and FM receivers. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 3BN6 and 4BN6 are identical with type 6BN6/6KS6 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Aver-	3BN6 3.15 0.6	4BN6 4.2 0.45	6BN6/6KS6 6.3 0.3	12BN6 12.6 0.15	volts ampere
age) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	11	11			seconds
Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max			土200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitance Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heate Internal Shield Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heate Internal Shield Grid No.1 to Grid No.3	r, Grid No r, Grid No	.1, Grid 1	No.2, and	4.2 3.3 0.004 max	pF pF pF
t imite	- and Die	ariminal	tor Comico		

Limiter and Discriminator Service

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate-Supply Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	110	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage, Positive peak value	60	volts
Cathode Current	13	mA

6BN8

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The triode unit is used in burst-amplifier, af amplifier, and low-frequency oscillator applications. The diode units are used in phasedetector, ratio-detector or discriminator, and horizontal afc discriminator circuits. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 8BN8 is identical with type 6BN8 except for heater ratings.

	6BN8	8BN8	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	8.4	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Triode Grid to Triode Plate		2.5	pF
Triode Grid to Cathode and Heater		3.6	pF
Triode Plate to Cathode and Heater		0.25	pF
Plate of Diode Unit No.1 to Triode Grid		0.06 max	pF
Plate of Diode Unit No.2 to Triode Grid		0.1 max	pF
Plate of Diode Unit No.1 to Plate of Diode Unit No.		0.07 max	pF
Diode Cathode to All Other Electrodes (Each Diode Un	nit)	5	pF
Diode Plate to Diode Cathode and Heater (Each Diode		1.9	pF
Diode Cathode to Diode Plate and Heater (Each Diode		4.8	pF
Diode Plate to All Other Electrodes (Each Diode Unit		3	pF
The second se			

Triode Unit as Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation	330 0 1.7	volts volts watts
CHARACTERISTICS		w u v us
Plate Voltage 100 Grid Voltage 1 Amplification Factor 75	250 3 70	volts volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.) 21000 Transconductance 3500	28000 2500	ohms µmhos
Plate Current 1.5 Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μA 2.5	1.6 5.5	mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE	-	
Grid-Circuit Resistance	1	megohm

Diode Units

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Current (Each Unit):

reak	
Average	



mA mA



SHARP-CUTOFF TWIN PENTODE



12GF

Duodecar type used as if-amplifier tube in television receivers. Outlines section, 8B; requires duodecar 12contact socket.

Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.8	volts ampere seconds
Peak value	±200 max	volts
Average value	100 max	volts

Class A1 Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input	330 330 See curve 0 3.1 0.65	volts volts page 300 volts watts watt
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid) Connected Grid No.2 Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA	125 d to cathode 125 56 0.2 13000 11 3.8 3	volts at socket volts ohms megohm µmhos mA mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation	0.25	megohm

6BQ5

For replacement use type 6BQ5/EL84.

6BQ5/EL84 8B05, 10B05

POWER PENTODE

Miniature type used in the output stage of audio-frequency amplifiers. Outlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 8BQ5 and 10BQ5 are identical with type 6BQ5/EL84 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6BQ5/EL84 6.3 0.76 	8 BQ5 8 0.6 11	10BQ5 10.6 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	±100 max 100 max	±100 max 100 max	土100 max 100 max	volts volts
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, ar Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, ar Grid No.1 to Heater	.2, and Grid d Grid No.3	No.3	0.5 max 10.8 6.5 0.25 max	pF pF pF pF

Class A_i Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	volts
Cathode Current	65	mA

Plate Dissipation Grid No.2 Input	12 2	watts watts
TYPICAL OPERATION		
Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-7.3	volts
Peak AF Grid No.1 Voltage	6.2	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	48	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	50.6	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	5.5	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	10	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	38000	ohms
Transconductance	11300	μmhos
Load Resistance	4500	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	10	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	5.7	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-NoCircuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.3	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

Push-Pull Class AB₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Single-Tube Class A1 Amplifier)

TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)			
Plate Supply Voltage	250	300	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	250	300	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	130	130	ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	22.6	28.3	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	62	72	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	75	92	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	7	8	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	15	22	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-plate)	8000	8000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	3	4	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	11	17	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :			
For fixed-bias operation		0.3	megohm
For cathode-bias operation		1	megohm

Refer to chart at end of section.

6BQ6GT



BEAM POWER TUBE

6BQ6GTB /6CU6 12BQ6GTB/12CU6, 25BQ6GTB/25CU6

Glass octal type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 14D; requires octal socket. This type may

6AM be supplied with pin No.1 omitted. Types 12BQ6GTB/ 12CU6 and 25BQ6GTB/25CU6 are identical with type 6BQ6GTB/6CU6 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	1.2	12BQ6GTB/ 12CU6 12.6 0.6 11	25BQ6GTB/ 25CU6 25 0.3 	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.)	100 max	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and	and Grid No	3	0.6 15 7	pF pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage	$\begin{smallmatrix}&60\\150\\0\end{smallmatrix}$	$150 \\ 150 \\ -22.5$	$250 \\ 150 \\22.5$	volts volts volts
Mu-Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1		4.3		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)			14500	ohms
Transconductance			5900	μmhos
Plate Current	260•	-	57	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	26•	_	2.1	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate $mA = 1$	_		-43	volts
				1 .1 4 41

• These values can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

DC Plate Voltage	600	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# (Absolute Maximum)	6000†	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1250	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	200	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	300	volts
Peak Cathode Current	400	mA
Average Cathode Current	110	mA
Plate Dissipation	11	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	220	°C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

 Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance
 0.47 megohm

 # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).
 i Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded.

 • A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6BQ7	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6BQ7A/6BZ7/6BS8.
6BQ7A	For replacement use type 6BQ7A/6BZ7/6BS8.



MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature type used as a cascode amplifier in vhf color and black-and-white television tuners in push-pull cathode-drive rf amplifiers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For typical operation as a resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section. Types 4BQ7A/4BZ7 and 5BQ7A are identical with type 6BQ7A/6BZ7/6BS8 except for heater ratings.



9AJ

	4BQ7A/ 4BZ7	6I 5BQ7A	BQ7A/6BZ7/ 6BS8	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)		5.6	6.3	volts
Heater Current		0.45	0.4	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11		seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value			$\pm 200*max$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Grid to Plate	1.2	1.2	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	2.6	—	pF
Cathode to Grid, Heater, and Internal Shield		5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	1.2		pF
Plate to Grid, Heater, and Internal Shield		2.2	pF
Plate to Cathode	0.12	0.12	pF
Heater to Cathode	2.6	2.6	pF
Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2			pF
Plate of Unit No.2 to Plate and Grid of Unit No.1	0.	024 max	pF

* Rating may be high as 300 volts under cutoff conditions, when tube is used as a cascode amplifier, the two units are connected in series, and heater is negative with respect to cathode. * With external shield connected to internal shield.

Class A, Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Supply Voltage Cathode Current Plate Dissipation	250* 20 2	volts mA watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor	150 220 38	volts ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	5900	ohms
Transconductance	6400	µmhos
Plate Current	9	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.):		
For plate current of 100 μA	6.5	volts
For plate current of 10 μ A	_	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

Grid-Circuit Resistance 0.5 megohm * Rating may be high as 300 volts under cutoff conditions, when tube is used as a cascode amplifier, the two units are connected in series, and heater is negative with respect to cathode.



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER



Miniature type used as damper tube in horizontaldeflection circuits of television receivers. Outlines section, 7D; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 17BR3/17RK19 is identical with type 6BR3/6RK19 except for heater ratings.

	6BR3/ 6RK19	17BR3/ 17RK19	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	16.8	volts
Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time	1.2	0.45	ampere seconds
the second secon		11	seconds

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation	1200 mA 200 mA
Heater-Cathode Voltage: +3 Peak value +1 Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) +1	00900 volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value	
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 250 mA # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning	g cycle (10 microseconds).

6BR8

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6BR8A/6FV8A.

6BR8A

For replacement use type 6BR8A/6FV8A.



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. Especially useful as combined triode oscillator and pentode mixer in vhf television tuners. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Except for basing arrangement and grid-No.1-to-plate capacitance of pentode unit, types 5BR8/5FV8 and 6BR8A/6FV8A are identical with types 5U8 and 6U8A, respectively.



6BS3

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6BS3A.

6BS3A 12BS3A/

12DW4A, 17BS3A 17BS3A/17DW4A HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER



Novar type used as damper tube in horizontal-deflection circuits of black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 30B; requires novar 9-contact socket.

Socket terminals 1, 3, 6, and 8 should not be used as tie points; it is recommended that socket clips for these pins be removed to reduce the possibility of arc-over and to minimize leakage. These tubes, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Types 12BS3A/12DW4A, 17BS3A, and 17BS3A/17DW4A are identical with type 6BS3A except for heater ratings.

	6BS3A	12BS3A/ 12DW4A	17BS3A 17BS3A/ 17DW4A	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	12.6	16.8	volts
Heater Current	1.2	0.6	0.45	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	_	11	11	seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Plate to Cathode and Heater			6.5	pF
Cathode to Plate and Heater			9	pF
			2.8	pF
Hester to Cathode			4.0	br.

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation	1100 200	volts MA MA watts
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value		volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 140 mA # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning		volts microseconds).

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6BQ7A/6BZ7/6BS8.

6**B**\$8

6BU8

3BU8/3GS8

4BU8/4GS8



SHARP-CUTOFF TWIN PENTODE

Miniature type used as combined sync separator, sync clipper, and agc amplifier tube in color and black-andwhite television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 3BU8/3GS8 and 4BU8/4GS8 are identical with type 6BU8 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.3 to Plate (Each Unit) Grid No.3 to All Other Electrodes Grid No.3 to All Other Electrodes Plate to All Other Electrodes (Each Unit)	0.6 11 ±200 ma: 100 ma:	4.2 0.45 11 x ±200 max x 100 max	6BU8 6.3 0.3 	volts ampere seconds volts volts pF pF pF
Grid No.3 of Unit No.1 to Grid No.3 of U			0.015 max	pF
Class A	Amplifier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Value	es)			
Plate Voltage (Each Unit)			300	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage (Each Un Peak positive value DC negative value Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Negative bia Cathode Current Plate Dissipation (Each Unit) Grid-No.2 Input	nit): as value		50 50 3 150 50 12 1.1 0.75	volts volts volts volts volts mA watts watt
CHARACTERISTICS (With Both Units Operat	ing)			
Plate Voltage (Each Unit) Grid-No.3 Voltage (Each Unit) Grid-No.1 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Plate Current (Each Unit) Grid-No.2 Current Cathode Current		100 	100 0 67.5 2.2 3.3 7.8	volts volts volts volts mA mA MA
CHARACTERISTICS (With One Unit Operating	g)			
Plate Voltage Grid-No.3 Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Grid-No.3 Transconductance Grid-No.1 Transconductance	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	100 0 67.5 0 1500	100 0 67.5 180	volts volts volts volts µmhos µmhos

211

Plate Current		2.2	mA
$100 \ \mu A$ Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of		4.5	volts
100 μ A	~	-2.3	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance (Each Unit) Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance		0.5 0.5	megohm megohm

Adjusted to provide a dc grid-No.1 current of 100 microamperes.

† With plate and grid No.3 of the other unit connected to ground.



6BV8

Refer to chart at end of section.

6BV11

SHARP-CUTOFF TWIN PENTODE



Duodecar type used as color demodulators in color television applications. Grid Nos. 1 and 3 may be used as independent control electrodes. Outlines section, 8C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 12BV11 is identical with type 6BV11 except for heater ratings.

Heater Arrangement Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time	6BV11 Series 6.3 0.9	12BV11 Parallel 12.6 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.3 to Plate Grid No.1 to Heater, Cathode, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, ar		0.1 3.2	pF pF
Grid No.3 to All Other Electrodes Grid No.1 to Grid No.3		7 8.5 0.08	рF рF рF
Class A. Amplifier (Fach Un	i+)		

Class A₁ Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage:	300 volts
Positive-bias value	25 volts
Negative-bias value	100 volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	300 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:	Dec curve page 500
Positive-bias value	0 volt
Negative-bias value	50 volts
Plate Dissipation	1.7 watts
Grid-No.3 Input	0.1 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	0.1 Wall
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	1 watt See curve page 300

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.3 Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Cathode Resistor Plate Current Transconductance, Grid No.1 Transconductance, Grid No.3 Plate Resistance (Approx.) Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of <u>75</u> μ A	$\begin{array}{c} 150 \\ 0 \\ 100 \\ 3.1 \\ 2.4 \\ 3200 \\ 390 \\ 0.17 \\ -3.5 \\ -5.5 \end{array}$	volts volts ohms mA mA µmhos megohm volts volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 85 μA Amplification Factor MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:	67 0.68	megohm
For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.22 0.47	megohm megohm

For replacement use type 6CG3/6BW3/6DQ3.	6BW3
Refer to chart at end of section.	6BW4
Refer to chart at end of section.	6BW8



SHARP-CUTOFF DUAL PENTODE

Duodecar type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. Unit No. 1 is used as a video amplifier; unit No. 2 is used in bandpass amplifier, burst amplifier, or sound-if or video-if applications. **Outlines section**, 8B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.8; maxiurate ± 200 pack 100 events for the source of the source o

6**BW**11

mum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Unit No.1		
Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See o	urve page 300	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	4	3.1	watts
Grid-No.2 Dissipation	0.8	0.65	watt
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	125	125	volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)	Conner	ted to cathod	
Grid-No.2 Voltage	125	125	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	56	56	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.12	0.2	megohm
Transconductance	8500	13000	μmhos
Plate Current	22	11	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	4.8	3.8	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of	4.0	0.0	ma
$20 \ \mu A$	9.5	-3	volts
20 μΑ,	-5.5		VOILS
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:			
For cathode-bias operation	0.25	0.25	megohm
Refer to chart at end of section.	6BX7GT		
Refer to chart at end of section.	6BY5GA		

6BY6 PENTAGRID AMPLIFIER

Miniature type used as a gated amplifier in color television receivers. In such service, it may be used as a combined sync separator and sync clipper. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket.



	6BY6	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current		ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		seconds
Peak value		volts
Average value		volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.08 max	рF
Grid No 3 to Plate	0.35 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Grid No.3	0.22 max	pF
Grid No. 1 to All Other Electrodes	5.4	pF
Grvd No.3 to All Other Electrodcs	6.9	pF
Plate to All Other Electrodes	7.6	pF

Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Voltage	100	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	-2.5	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-2.5	volts
Grid-No.3-to-Plate Transconductance	500	μ mhos
Grid-No.1-to-Plate Transconductance	1900	μmhos
Plate Current	6.5	mA
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Current	9	mA
Grid-No.3 Volts (Approx.) for plate current of 35 μ A and		
grid-No.1 volts = -4		volts
Grid-No.1 Volts (Approx.) for plate current of 35 μ A and		
grid-No.3 volts = 0	-12	volts

Gated Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330	volts
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Voltage	See c	urve page 300
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Supply Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage:		
Negative-bias value	55	volts
Positive-bias value	Õ	volts
Positive peak value	27	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage. Negative bias value	110	volts
Plate Dissipation	2.3	watts
Grid-No.3 Input	0.1	watt
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Input:	0.1	wate
For grids-No.2-and-No.4 voltages up to 165 volts	1.1	watts
For grids-No.2-and-No.4 voltages between 165 and 330 volts		urve page 300
Grid-No.1 Input	0.1	watt
Grid-No.1 Input	0.1	wall
CHARACTERISTICS AS SYNC SEPARATOR AND SYNC CLIPPER		
Plate Voltage	10	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	1ŏ	volts
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Voltage	25	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	20	volts
Plate Current	1.4	mA
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Current	3.5	mA
	3.0	шA
Grid-No.3 Volts (Approx.) for plate voltage of 25 volts, grids-No.2-		
and-No.4 voltage of 25 volts, grid-No.1 voltage of 0 volts, and	0 5	
plate current of 50 μ A	-2.5	volts
Grid-No.1 Volts (Approx.) for plate voltage of 25 volts, grids-No.2-		
and-No.4 voltage of 25 volts, grid-No.3 voltage of 0 volts, and		••
plate current of 50 μ A	2.3	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1 or Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	megohm
	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megonin





6BY8

Miniature type used in television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used as an rf amplifier and the high-perveance diode as a limiter or detector. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.6 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value	$\pm 200 \max_{100 \max}$	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:° Pentode Unit:		
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	0.0035 max	pF
Internal Shield	5.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	5	pF
Diode Plate to All Other Electrodes * With external shield connected to cathode of pentode unit (pin 9), exc	4.8• ept as noted.	pF

• With external shield connected to ground.

Pentode Unit as Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance : For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		0.25 1	megohm megohm
10 μA	4.2	6.5	volts
Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of	2.1	4.3	mA
Plate Current	5	10.6	mA
Transconductance	3900	5200	μ mhos
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.5	1	megohm
Cathode-Bias Resistor	150	68	ohms
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	100	150	volts
Grid No.3			athode at socket
Plate Supply Voltage	100	250	volts
CHARACTERISTICS			
For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	• • • • • • • • • • • •	See	curve page 300
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts		0.65	watt
Grid-No.2 Input:	••••	5	watts
Plate Dissipation		3	watts
Negative-bias value Positive-bias value		50 0	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		50	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		See	curve page 300
Grid-No.2 (Screen Grid) Supply Voltage	· · · · · · · · · · · ·	300	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value		Ó	volts
Plate Voltage		300	volts
Plate Voltage Grid-No 3 (Suppresson Grid) Voltage Positive value	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
D	iode	Unit	
---	------	------	

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage	430	volts
Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current	180 45	mA mA

6BY11

Refer to chart at end of section.

6**BZ**3

For replacement use type 6BE3/6BZ3.

6BZ6

6BZ6 6BZ6/6JH6 3BZ6, 4BZ6, 12BZ6

SEMIREMOTE-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in gain-controlled video if stages of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 3BZ6, 4BZ6, and 12BZ6 are identical with type 6BZ6 except for heater ratings.



		170.000		1	
	3BZ6	4BZ6	6BZ6/6JH6	12 BZ6	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	3.15	4.2	6.3	12.6	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.3	0.15	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Aver-					
age)	11	11			seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:					
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	±200 max	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances			Unshielded	Shielded	
Grid No.1 to Plate			0.025 max	0.015 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heate					P -
No.3, and Internal Shield			7	7	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Gr			•	•	P -
and Internal Shield			2	3	pF
A With external shield connected to			-	•	P -
- with external shield connected to	caunode.				

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330 volta
Grid No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	0 volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	2.3 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300



CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage	125	volts
Grid No.3 Conne	cted to catho	de at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	125	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	56	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.26	megohm
Transconductance	8000	μ mhos
Plate Current	14	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3.6	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 50 μ mhos	19	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 700 μ mhos	-4.5	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:	0.07	
For fixed-bias operation	0.25	megohm megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megonin
Refer to chart at end of section.		
	6BZ	.7
For replacement use type 6BQ7A/6BZ7/6BS8.		
Refer to chart at end of section.	(~
For replacement use type 6BC8/6BZ8.	6BZ	.σ
i of replacement use type 0D00/0DD0.		

POWER TRIODE

6C4



6BG

Miniature type used as a cascode amplifier in vhf color local oscillator in FM and other high-frequency circuits and as a class C rf amplifier. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. For typical operation as a resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section. For additional curve of plate characteristics, refer to type 12AU7A.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current		6.3 0.15	volts ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			-
Peak value		$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value		100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.)		Shieldeda	10.00
Grid to Plate		1 4	pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater	1.8	1.7	
		1.8	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	1.3	2.5	pF
With outcome) shield commented to enthode			

With external shield connected to cathode.

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)		
Plate Voltage Plate Dissipation	300 max 3.5 max	volts watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage 100 Grid Voltage* 0 Amplification Factor 19.5 Plate Resistance (Approx.) 6250 Pransconductance 3100 Plate Current 11.8 Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A 10	250 8.5 17 7700 2200 10.5 25	volts volts µmhos mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed bias operation For cathode-bias operation * Transformer- or impedance-type input coupling devices are recorresistance in the grid circuit.	0.25 1 ommended to	megohm megohm minimize

RF Power Amplifier and Oscillator-Class C Telegraphy

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

	Voltage	300	volts
	Voltage		volts
Plate	Current		mA
Grid	Current	20	mA
Plate	Dissipation	e e	watts
		Ð	Watts

TYPICAL OPERATION AT FREQUENCIES UP TO 50 MHz

Plate Voltage	300	volts
Grid Voltage Plate Current	27 25	volts mA
Grid Current (Approx.)	-7	mA
Driving Power (Approx.)	0.35 5.5	watts
Power Output (Approx.).	9.0	watts

• Approximately 2.5 watts power output can be obtained when the 6C4 is used at 150 MHz as an oscillator with grid resistor of 10,000 ohms and with maximum rated input.



6C5	Refer to chart at end of section.
6C5GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
6C6	Refer to chart at end of section.
6C7	Refer to chart at end of section.
6C8G	Refer to chart at end of section.

6**C**9

SHARP-CUTOFF DUAL TETRODE

PTR2 G2TR2 G2TR2 G1TR2 G1TR1 G1T

Miniature type used as vhf rf-amplifier and autodyne mixer tube. Outlines section, 6B; except center pin is added to base; requires miniature 10-contact socket. Type 17C9 is identical with type 6C9 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2 and Internal Shield
Heater to Cathode
Grid No.1 of Unit No.1 to Grid No.1 of Unit No.2
Grid No.1 of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2 Grid No.1 of Unite No.2 to Plate of Unit No.1

6C9 6.3 0.4 ±100 max	17C9 16.8 0.15 ±100 max	volts ampere volts
Unit No. 1 U 0.055 max	J nit No. 2 0.06 max	pF
4.4	4.2	\mathbf{pF}
2.2 4.2 0.003 0.001 0.001 0.032	max max	pF pF pF pF pF

Class A. Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	180	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		
Catheda Cument		curve page 300
Cathode Current	20	mA
Plate Dissipation:		
Either plate	1.5	watts
Both plates (both units operating)	2.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:		
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 90 volts	0.5	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 90 and 180 volts		curve page 300
	000	cuive page avo
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	80	
Grid-No.1 Voltage		volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-1	volt
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.1	megohm
Transconductance	8000	μmhos
Plate Current	10	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	1.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA	6	volts
Refer to chart at end of section.		C10



FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

6CA4

Miniature type used in power supply of compact audio equipment having moderate dc requirements. Outlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes. 1.

Full-Wave Rectifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Peak Inverse Plate Voltage	1000	volts
Peak Plate Current (Per Plate)	450	mA
AC Plate Supply Voltage (Per Plate, rms) with Capacitor Input		
to Filter	350	volts
Average Output Current	150	mA
Hot Switching Transient Plate Current (Per Plate)	#	
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage		volts



TYPICAL OPERATION WITH CAPACITOR INPUT TO FILTER

AC Plate-to-Plate Supply Voltage (rms) Filter-Input Capacitor	500 50	600 50	700 50	volts µF
Total Effective Plate Supply Impedance per Plate	150	200	240	ohms
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.) For dc output current of 150 mA	245	293	347	volts

When capacitor-input circuits are used, a maximum peak current value per plate of 1 ampere during the initial cycles of the hot-switching transient should not be exceeded.

6CA5
12CA5

BEAM	POWER	TUBE
BFW	POWER	CIURE

Miniature type used in af power output stage of radio and television receivers. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Type 12CA5 is identical with type 6CA5 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6CA5 6.3	12CA5 12.6	14
			volts
Heater Current	1.2	0.6	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	+200 -300 max	volts
Average value	100 max	+100200 max	volts

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	130 0 5 1.4	volts volts volts watts watts °C
TYPICAL OPERATION		
Plate Voltage 110 Grid-No.2 Voltage 110 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage -4 Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage 4 Zero-Signal Plate Current 32 Maximum-Signal Plate Current 31 Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current (Approx.) 7.5 Plate Resistance (Approx.) 16000 Transconductance 8100 Load Resistance 3500 Total Harmonic Distortion 5 Maximum-Signal Power Output 1.1	$125 \\ 125 \\ -4.5 \\ 37 \\ 36 \\ 4 \\ 11 \\ 15000 \\ 9200 \\ 4500 \\ 6 \\ 1.5 \\ 1.5 \\ 125 \\ $	volts volts volts volts mA mA mA ohms ohms per cent watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		megohm megohm

6CA7

Refer to chart at end of section.



POWER PENTODE

Glass octal types used in the output stage of audiofrequency amplifiers. Maximum dimensions: over-all length, 47/16 inches; seated height, 37% inches; diameter, 1½ inches. Tube requires octal socket.

)))NC
°3/		Yom.
₽®	$\overline{\mathbb{C}}$	DH
() 63)∎@	K (
	8E1	Γ

1.5 + 204

	(ac/dc)
Heater Current	
Peak Heater-Ca	thode Voltage

6.3	volts
1.5	amperes
200 max	volts

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3 Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	1 15.5 7.2	pF pF pF
Class A ₁ Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.2 Input Cathode Current Plate Dissipation	800 425 8 150 25	volts volts watts mA watts
TYPICAL OPERATION		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	265 250 	volts volts volts

Griu-No.2 Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-13.5	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	12.3	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	100	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	15	mA
Transconductance	11000	μmhos
Plate Resistance	15000	ohms
Load Resistance	2000	ohms
Maximum-Signal Power Output		watts
Total Harmonic Distortion	10	
Total Harmonic Distortion	10	per cent

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation 0.7 megohm

Push-Pull Class AB₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Class A1 Amplifier)

TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)

Plate Supply Voltage	450	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	450	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	232	ohms
Grid-No.2 Resistor	1000	ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1 to Grid-No.1 Voltage	38.2	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	120	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	143	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	20	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	44	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-plate)	6500	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	5.1	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	40	watts

Refer to chart at end of section.

6CB5



BEAM POWER TUBE

6CB5A

Glass octal type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 21B; requires octal socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	2.5	amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to Plate	0.4	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	22	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	10	pF

Class A: Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	75	175	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	150	175	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	0		volts

Mu-Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1	_	3.8	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		5000	ohms
Transconductance	_	8800	µmhos
Plate Current	460	90	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	42●	6	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA		60	volts
• These values can be measured by a method involving a	nonument		auch that the

• These values can be measured by a method invol-maximum rating of the tube will not be exceeded. recurrent waveform such that the

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage	880	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6800	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1650	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	220	volts
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	55	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	220	volts
Peak Cathode Current	850	mA
Average Cathode Current	240	mA
Grid-No.2 Input	4	watts
Plate Dissipation [†]	26	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	220	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance 0.47 megohm # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).
* A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6CB6

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6CB6A/6CF6.

6CB6A

For replacement use type 6CB6A/6CF6.



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature types used in color and black-and-white television receivers as if amplifier at frequencies up to about 45 MHz and as rf amplifiers in vhf television tuners. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-con-

7CM

tact socket. For typical operation as resistance-coupled amplifiers, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section. Types 3CB6/3CF6, and 4CB6 are identical with type 6CB6A/6CF6 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	3CB6/3CF6 3.15 0.6 11	4CB6 4.2 0.45 11	6CB6A/6CF6 6.3 0.3 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value	$\begin{cases} +200 \text{ max} \\ -300 \text{ max} \end{cases}$	$\left\{\begin{array}{c} +200 \text{ max} \\ -300 \text{ max} \end{array}\right.$	±200 max	volts
Average value	100 max	$ \left\{\begin{array}{c} +100 \text{ max} \\ -200 \text{ max} \end{array}\right. $	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid N		Un shielde 0.025 max	d Shielded ⁴	pF
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield		6.5	6.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, C and Internal Shield		2	3	pF

With external shield connected to cathode.

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	See curve	e page 300

Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	330volts0volts2.3watts0.55wattSee curve page 300
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage Grid No.3 Connected Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Cathode-Blas Resistor Plate Resistance Plate Resistance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA	125 volts to cathode at socket 125 volts 56 ohms 0.28 megohm 8000 μmhos 13 mA 3.7 mA -6.5 volts



For replacement use type 6CE3/6CD3/6DT3.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6CD3

6CD6G





Glass octal type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in high-efficiency deflection circuits of color and blackand-white television receivers. Outlines section, 21B; requires octal socket. This type may be supplied with pins 1, 4, and 6 omitted. Vertical tube mounting is preferred, but horizontal operation is permissible if pins No.2 and 7 are in vertical plane. Type 25CD6GB is identical with type 6CD6GA except for heater ratings.

	6CD6GA	25CD6GB	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	25	volts
Heater Current	2.5	0.6	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	:±200 max	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):			
Grid No.1 to Plate		1.1	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.	.3	22	pF pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3 .		8.5	pF

BEAM POWER TUBE

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARAG	TERIS	TICS
--------	-------	------

Plate Voltage 60 175 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage 100 175 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage 0 -80 volts Mu-Factor, Grid No.1 3.9 3.9

Plate Resistance (Approx.)		7200	ohms
Transconductance		7700	μ mhos
Plate Current	230 •	5.5	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	21•	5.5	mA
1 mA		55	volts

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

DC Plate Voltage	700	volts
reak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# (Absolute Maximum)	7000=	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	175	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	700	volts
Peak Cathode Current	200	mA
Average Cathode Current		mA
Plate Dissipation [†]	20	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	225	°C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-No.-Circuit Resistance, for grid-resistor-bias operation 0.47 megohm # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).
Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded.
† A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.



6CE3

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6CE3/6CD3/6DT3.

6CE3/ 6CD3/6DT3 34CE3

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Duodecar type used as a damper diode in the horizontaldeflection circuit of color television receivers. Outlines section, 8G; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 34CE3 is identical with type 6CE3/6CD3/6DT3 except for heater ratings.



12**GK**

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	2.5	34CE3 34.5 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Plate to Cathode and Heater Cathode to Plate and Heater Heater to Cathode		13 18 5.5	pF pF pF

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	5000 1500 350 11 220	volts mA watts °C
Heater-Cathode Voltage Peak value +300 Average value +100	5500 900	volts volts

CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value

iC

10

12

12FX

 Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 680 mA
 20
 volts

 # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

6CE5	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6BC5/6CE5.
6CF6	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6CB6A/6CF6.
6CG3	For replacement use type 6CG3/6BW3/6DQ3.
6CG3/6BW3	For replacement use type 6CG3/6BW3/6DQ3.

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER





6CG8

Duodecar type used as damper diode in horizontaldeflection circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 8G, requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Types 19CG3/19DQ3 and 25CG3 are identical with type 6CG3 except for heater ratings.

	6CG3/ 6BW3/6DQ3	19CG3/ 19DQ3	25CG3	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	19	25	volts
Heater Current	1.8	0.6	0.45	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time	. —	11	11	seconds

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation Heater-Cathode Voltage:	$5000 \\ 2100 \\ 350 \\ 6.5$	volts mA mA watts
Peak value +300 Average value +100	5000 900	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 700 mA # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle	25 (10 microsec	volts onds).
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6CG3/6BW3/6DQ3.	6CG3/6	CD3
For replacement use type $6FQ/6CG7$.	6CG	7

Refer to chart at end of section.

6CG8A

Miniature type used as combined oscillator and mixer tube in color and black-and-white television receivers utilizing an intermediate frequency in the order of 40 MHz. When used in an AM/FM receiver, the triode unit is used as an oscillator for both sections. In the AM section, the pentode unit is used as a high-gain



pentode mixer; in the FM section, the pentode unit is used either as a pentode mixer or as a triode-connected mixer depending on signal-to-noise considerations. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 5CG8 is identical with type 6CG8A except for heater ratings. These types are electrically identical with miniature type 6X8 except for interelectrode capacitances.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	5CG8 4.7 0.6 11	6CG8A 6.3 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$		volts
Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	100 max Unshielded	100 max Shielded°	volts
Triode Unit:	Chomelaca	Smeaco	
Grid to Plate	1.5	1.5	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Pentode Grid No.3	2	2.4	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Pentode Grid No.3	0.5	1	pF
Pentode Unit:			. 13
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.04 max	0.02 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3 Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and	4.6	4.8	pF
Grid No.3	0.9	1.6	pF
Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate	0.05 max	0.04 max	pF
Pentode Plate to Triode Plate	0.05 max	0.008 max	pF
Heater to Cathode	6.5	6.5•	pF
"With external shield connected to cathode, except as	noted.		

With external shield connected to callouc, excep

• With external shield connected to plate.

6CH3	For replacement use type 6CJ3/6CH3.
6CH8	Refer to chart at end of section.
6CJ3	For replacement use type 6CJ3/6CH3.

6CJ3/6CH3 HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Novar type used as damper tube in horizontal-deflection circuits of black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 30F; requires novar 9-contact socket. Socket terminals 1, 3, 6, and 8 should not be used as tie points. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 1.8.



Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)			
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#		5500	volts
Peak Plate Current		2100 350	mA mA
Plate Dissipation		6.5	watts
Heater-Cathode Voltage:	1 000		volts
Peak value	+100	5500 900	volts

 CHARACTERISTICS, Instantaneous Value

 Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 700 mA
 25
 volts

 # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6CL3/6CK3.	6CK3
Refer to chart at end of section.	6CK4
For replacement use type 6CL3/6CK3.	6CL3

HALF-WAVE 6CL3/6CK3



9HP

Novar type used as a damper tube in horizontal-deflection circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 30B; requires novar 9-contact socket. Socket terminals 1, 3, 6, and 8 should not be used as tie points. This tube, like other powerhandling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Type 12CL3 is identical with type 6CL3/6CK3 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6CL3/6CK3 6.3 1.2 —	12CL3 12.6 0.6 11	volts amperes seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Plate to Cathode and Heater Cathode to Plate and Heater Heater to Cathode		6.5 9 3	pF pF pF

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#	5500	
Peak Plate Current	1300	
Average Plate Current	250	mA mA
Plate Dissipation	8.5	
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	220	°C
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak value)0 —5000	
Average value	00 -900	volts
-		

CHARACTERISTICS, Instantaneous Value

 Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 350 mA
 16
 volts

 # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).
 16



POWER PENTODE

Miniature type used in output stage of video amplifier of color and black-and-white television receivers and as wide-band amplifier tube in industrial and laboratory equipment. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

6CL6

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	6.3 0.65 ±100 max	volts ampere volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,	0.12	pF
and Internal Shield	11	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	5.5	pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)		*
Plate Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	Ő	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	30Ŏ	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	150	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		
Negative-bias value	50	volts
Positive-bias value	Ō	volts
Plate Dissipation	7.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.7	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	200	•C
TYPICAL OPERATION		
		•.
Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid No.3 Connec		
Grid-No.2 Voltage	150	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	3	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	3	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	30	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	31	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	7 7.2	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current		mA megohm
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.09 11000	µmhos
Transconductance	7500	ohms
Load Resistance Total Harmonic Distortion	1000	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	2.8	watts
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	-14	volta
	-14	Volta
TYPICAL OPERATION IN MHZ-BANDWIDTH VIDEO AMPLIFIER		
Plate Supply Voltage	300	volts
Grid No.3 Connec	ted to catho	le at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.1 Bias Voltage	-2	volts
Grid-No.1 Signal Voltage (Peak to Peak)	3	volts
Grid-No.2 Resistor	24000	ohms
Grid-No.1 Resistor	0.1	megohm
Load Resistor	3900	ohms
Zero-Signal Plate Current	30	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	7	mA
Voltage Output (Peak to Peak)	132	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1 Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	megohm



Refer to chart at end of section.

6CL8



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF TETRODE

6CL8A

Miniature type used as combined vhf oscillator and mixer in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For maximum ratings as class A_1 amplifier, see type 6U8A. Type 5CL8A is identical with type 6CL8A except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	5CL8A 4.7 0.6 11 ±200 max 100 max	6CL8A 6.3 0.45 11 ±200 max 100 max	volts ampere seconds volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	Unshielded	Shielded	
Triode Unit: Grid to Plate	1.8	1.8	pF
Grid to Cathode, Tetrode Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	2.8	2.8	pF
Plate to Cathode, Tetrode Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	1.5	2	pF
Tetrode Unit: Grid No. 1 to Plate	0.02 max	0.01 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield	5	5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield Tetrode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate	2 0.015 max	3 0.01 max	pF pF
Tetrode Plate to Triode Plate	0.15 max 3	0.03 max 3	pF pF

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Unit	Tetrode Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage	125	125	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	_	125	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	1	1	volt
Amplification Factor	40		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.005	0.2	megohm
Transconductance	8000	6500	μ mhos
Plate Current	14	12	mA
Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of	_	.4	mA
20 μ A	9	9	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:			
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	1	megohm



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Novar type used as damper tube in horizintal-deflection circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outline section, 30B; requires novar 9-contact socket. Socket terminals 1, 3, 6, and 8 should not be used as tie points. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated.

6CM3

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	2.4	amperes
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances :		
Plate to Cathode and Heater	20	ъF
Cathode to Plate and Heater	18	υF
Heater to Cat' de	- 4	pF

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation	5500 1700 400 12	volts mA mA watts
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 350 mA	10	volts

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

6CM6

Refer to chart at end of section.

6CM7

MEDIUM-MU DUAL TRIODE

Miniature type used as combined vertical-deflection oscillator and vertical-deflection amplifier in black-andwhite television receivers. Unit No.1 is used as a conventional blocking oscillator in vertical-deflection circuits, and unit No.2 as a vertical-deflection amplifier. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 8CM7 is identical with type 6CM7 except for heater ratings.



00168

......

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6.3 0.6 11	8CM7 8.4 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	100 man	k ±200 max k 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	Unit No.1 3.8 2 0.5	Unit No.2 3 3.5 0.4	pF pF pF

Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Plate Voltage	200	250	volts
Grid Voltage	-7	8	volts
Amplification Factor	21	18	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	10500	4100	ohms
Transconductance	2000	4400	μmhos
Plate Current	5	20	mA
Plate Current for grid voltage of -10 volts	1	-	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A.	-14	—	volts

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		Unit No.2 Amplifier	
DC Plate Voltage	550	550	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		2200	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	220	220	volts
Peak Cathode Current	77	77	mA
Average Cathode Current	17	22	mA
Plate Dissipation	1.45	6	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance:			
For fixed-bias operation	2.2	1	megohms
For cathode-bias operation	2.2	2.5	megohms
For grid-resistor-bias operation	2.2		megohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).



Refer to chart at end of section.

6CM8



9EN

6CN7

mA

^T Miniature type used as combined horizontal phase detector and reactance tube in color and black-and-white television receivers. The triode unit is used in sync-separator, sync-amplifier, or audio amplifier circuits. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For typical operation of triode unit as resisting the detection of the section.

ance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc):			
Series		6.3	volts
Parallel		3.15	volts
Heater Current:		0110	
Series		0.3	ampere
Parallel		0.6	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value		$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value		100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances :			
Triode Unit:			
Grid to Plate		1.8	pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater		1.5	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater		0.5	\mathbf{pF}
Diode Units:			
Diode-No.1 Plate to Cathode of Diodes No.1 and No	o. 2,		
Heater, and Internal Shield	. <u>.</u>	3.6	pF
Diode-No.2 Plate to Cathode of Diodes No.1 and N			
Heater, and Internal Shield	· · · · · · · · · · ·	3.6	pF
Triode Grid to Either Diode Plate	· · · · · · · · · · ·	0.006	pF
Triode Unit as Class A, Ar	mplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	•		
Plate Voltage		330	volts
Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value		0	volts
Plate Dissipation	• • • • • • • • • • •	1.1	watt
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	100	250	volts
Grid Voltage	~-i	-3	volts
Amplification Factor	70	70	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	54000	58000	ohms
Transconductance	1300	1200	μ mhos
Plate Current	0.8	1	mA

Diode Units

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate	Current	(Each	Unit)	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	5.5
-------	---------	-------	-------	---	-----

6CQ4

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6DE4/6CQ4.

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE-6CQ8 SHARP-CUTOFF TETRODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The tetrode unit is used as a mixer, video if amplifier, or sound if amplifier G_{2TR} tube. The triode unit is used in vhf oscillator, phasesplitter, sync-clipper, sync-separator, and rf amplifier circuits. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9contact socket.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		volts ampere seconds volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	Unshielded	Shielded=	
Triode Unit: Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	1.8 2.7 0.4	1.8 2.7 1.2	pF pF pF
Tetrode Unit: Grid No.1 to Plate	0.019 max	0.015 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2 and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2.	5	5	pF
and Internal Shield Tetrode Plate to Triode Plate Heater to Cathode (Each Unit)	2.5 0.07 max 3	3.3 0.01 max 3†	pF pF pF

With external shield connected to cathode of unit under test.

† With external shield connected to ground.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input:	330	Tetrode Unit 330 330 curve page 30 0 3.2	volts volts 00 volts watts
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts		0.7 curve page 30	
Grid Input	0.55	—	watt
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate-Supply Voltage	125	$125 \\ 125$	volts volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage		1	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	56		ohms
Amplification Factor	40	1 10000	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	5000 8000	140000 5800	ohms µmhos
Plate Current	15	12	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		4.2	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 µA	7	7	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 1	0.25 1	megohm megohm

Refer to chart at end of section.

6CS6



PENTAGRID AMPLIFIER

3CS6, 4CS6, 12CS6

Miniature type used as a gated amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. In such service, it may be used as a combined sync separator and sync clipper. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7contact socket. Types 3CS6, 4CS6, and 12CS6 are identical with type 6CS6 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	3CS6 3.15 0.6 11	4CS6 4.2 0.45 11	6CS6 6.3 0.3 11		volts amper e seconds
Peak value Average value				±200 max 100 max	
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (App	rox.)			100 max	Voita
Grid No.1 to Plate			0.0	7 max	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.3 to Plate			0.3	6 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Grid No.3	N-0.0	NT- 0	0.2	2 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid Grid No.4, and Grid No.5 Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Gri			t	5.5	pF
Grid No.4, and Grid No.5			· • • •	7	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.1 Grid No.4, and Grid No.5	, Grid No.	2, Grid No.8	3, 7	.5	\mathbf{pF}

Class A: Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	100	100	volts
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Voltage	30	30	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	1	ŏŏ	volt
Grid-No.1 Voltage	õ	—1	volt
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.7	î	megohm
Grid-No.3-to-Plate Transconductance	1500		umhos
Grid-No.1-to-Plate Transconductance		1100	µmhos
Plate Current	0.8	ĩ	mA
Grids-No.2-and-No4 Current	5.5	1.3	mA
Grid-No.3 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of			
$50 \mu A$	-2.2	_	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of			VOIG
$50 \mu A$		-2 5	volte
•• F-• ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••		2.0	voits

Gated Amplifier Service

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage	300	volts
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Supply Voltage	300	volts
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Voltage	See cui	ve page 300
Cathode Current	14	mA
Plate Dissipation	ī	watt
Grids-No.2-and-No.4 Input:	-	
For grids-No.2-and-No.4 voltages up to 150 volts	1	watt
For grids-No.2-and-No.4 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	See cur	ve page 300
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	0.47	megohm
Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance	2.2	megohms



MEDIUM-MU DUAL TRIODE

Miniature type used as combined vertical-deflection oscillator and vertical-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Unit No.1 is used as a conventional blocking oscillator in vertical-deflection circuits, and unit

8057

No.2 as a vertical-deflection amplifier. Outline section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 8CS7 is identical with type 6CS7 except for heater ratings.

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

	6CS7	8CS7	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	8.4	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Grid to Plate	2.6	2.6	ъF
Grid to Cathode and Heater	1.8	3	pF pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	0.5	0.5	pF

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS		Unit No.2 Amplifier	
Plate Voltage	250	250	volts
Grid Voltage		-10.5	volts
Amplification Factor	17	15.5	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	7700	3450	ohms
Transconductance	2200	4500	μ mhos
Plate Current	10.5	19	mA
Plate Current for grid voltage of 16 volts		3 -	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	-24		volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 μ A		22	volts

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)	Unit No.1 Oscillator	Unit No.2 Amplifier	
DC Plate Voltage	500	500	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# (Absolute			
Maximum)		2200	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	400	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	70	105	mA
Average Cathode Current	20	30	mA
Plate Dissipation	1.25	8.5	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-Circuit Resistance 2.2 2.2 megohms # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds). • Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded.

6CT3

Refer to chart at end of section.



BEAM POWER TUBE

Miniature type used in the audio output stage of television receivers. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 12CU5/12C5, and 17CU5/ 17C5 are identical with type 6CU5 except for heater ratings.



1701157

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6CU5 6.3 1.2 —	12CU5/12C5 12.6 0.6 11	17C5 16.8 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value		x ±200 max x 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, a Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and G	nd Grid 1	No.3	0.6 13 8.5	pF pF pF

Class A ₁ Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		i.
Plate Voltage	150	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	130	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	7	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.4	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	220	°C
TYPICAL OPERATION		
Plate Voltage	120	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	110	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage		volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	8	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	49	mĄ
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	50	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	4	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	8.5	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	10000	ohms
Transconductance	7500	µmhos ohms
Load Resistance	2500 10	per cent
Total Harmonic Distortion	2.3	watts
Maximum-Signal Power Output	4.3	walls
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :		
For fixed-bias operation	0.1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	megohm
For replacement use type 6BQ6GTB/6CU6.	6C	U6
Refer to chart at end of section.	60	U8



HIGH-MU TRIODE

Nuvistor type used as a grounded-cathode, neutralized rf amplifier in vhf tuners of color and black-andwhite television and FM receivers. Outlines section, 1; requires nuvistor socket. Types 2CW4 and 13CW4 are identical with type 6CW4 except for heater ratings.

- ----

	2CW4	6CW4	13CW4	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	2.1	6.3	13.5	volts
Heater Current		0.135		ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)				seconds
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	±100 max	±100 max	$\pm 100 \text{ max}$	t volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.)				
Grid to Plate			.92	\mathbf{pF}
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Shell			4.3	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Shell			1.8	pF
Plate to Cathode			.18	pF
Heater to Cathode			1.6	\mathbf{pF}
				-

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Supply Voltage	300° 135	volts volts
Grid Voltage: Negative-bias value Peak positive value	55	volts volts
Cathode Current Plate Dissipation	15 1.5	mA watt



2CW4, 13CW4

CHARACTERISTICS AND TYPICAL OPERATION	Characteristics	Typical Operation	
Plate Supply Voltage	110	70	volts
Grid Supply Voltage	0	0	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	130	—	ohms
Grid Resistor		47000	ohms
Amplification Factor	65	68	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	6600	5440	ohms
Transconductance	9800	12500	μ mhos
Plate Current	7	7.2	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A .			volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance :			
For fixed-bias operation		0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation		2.2	megohms

A plate supply voltage of 300 volts may be used provided a sufficiently large resistor is used in the plate circuit to limit the plate dissipation to 1.5 watts under any condition of operation.
For operation at metal-shell temperatures up to 135° C.



6CW5

6CW5/ EL86

8CW5/XL86, 10CW5/LL86, 15CW5/PL84 Refer to chart at end of section.

POWER PENTODE

Miniature type used for vertical-deflection amplifier service in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 8CW5/XL86, 10CW5/LL86, and 15CW5/ PL84 are identical with type 6CW5/EL86 except for heater ratings.



	6CW5/ EL86	8CW5/ XL86	10CW5/ LL86	15CW5/ PL84	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	8	10.6	15	volts
Heater Current	0.76	0.6	0.45	0.3	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time	_	_	11		seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:					
Peak value		$\pm 330 \text{ max}$			
Average value	$\pm 220 \text{ max}$	$\pm 220 \text{ max}$	± 220 max	±220 ma:	x volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0).6	pF
Grid No.1 to Heater				25 max	pF pF pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid				13	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,	and Grid 1	No.3	6	5.8	pF

Class A ₁ or Class AB ₁ Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage	275	volts
Plate Supply Voltage	600	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	600	volts
Cathode Current	110	mA
Plate Dissipation	14	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2.1	watts
Peak Grid-No.2 Input	7	watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	170	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	170	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-12.5	volts
Mu Factor (Grid No.2 to Grid No.1)	8	
Plate Resistance	26000	ohms
Transconductance	11000	umhos
Plate Current	70	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3.5	mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	1	megohm
	-	

Vertical-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	2200	volts volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	275	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	240	mA
Average Cathode Current	110	mA
Plate Dissipation	12	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2.1	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

 Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance
 2.2 megohms

 # Pulse duration must not exceed 6% of a vertical scanning cycle (1.2 milliseconds).



Miniature type used in television receiver applications. Pentode unit is used as video amplifier; triode unit is used in sound if-amplifier, sweep-oscillator, sync-separator, sync-amplifier, and sync-clipper circuits. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 8CX8 is identical with type 6CX8 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6CX8 6.3 0.75	8CX8 8 0.6	volts ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	volts
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Triode Unit: Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater Pentode Unit:		4.4 2.2 0.38	pF pF pF
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.06	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	and	9	pF
Internal Shield Triode Grid to Pentode Plate Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate Pentode Plate to Triode Plate	· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	4.4 0.018 max 0.005 max 0.17 max	pF pF pF pF



Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Uni		+
Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	_	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		See curve	nage 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	0	volts
	2	5	watts
Plate Dissipation	4	Ð	walls
Grid-No.2 Input:			
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts		1.1	watts
For grid-No. voltages between 165 and 330 volts	_	See curve	page 300
CHARACTERISTICS	150		•
Plate Supply Voltage	150	200	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		125	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	150	68	ohms
Amplification Factor	40	_	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	870 0	70000	ohms
	4600	10000	µmhos
Transconductance			
Plate Current	9.2	24	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		5.2	mA
Grid-Nc.1 (Voltage Approx.) for plate current of			
$100 \ \mu \text{A}$	-5	-8.5	volts
100 µ/X	-	010	
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:			
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.25	megohm
	v.u 1	0.20	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	1	megonin

6CY5 2CY5, 3CY5

SHARP-CUTOFF TETRODE

Miniature type used as rf amplifier in vhf tuners of television receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 2CY5 and 3CY5 are identical with type 6CY5 except for heater ratings.

H 5	
	2
15 CHANGE	
7EW	

	2CY5	3CY5	6CY5	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	2.4	2.9	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.2	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	_	seconds
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 100 \text{ max}$	±100 max	±100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.)°:				
Grid-No.1 to Plate			0.03	pF
Grid-No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2 an	d Internal	Shield	4.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and	Internal Sh	ield	3	pF
^e With external shield connected to cathode.				

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	180	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	180	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See o	urve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	volts
Cathode Current	20	mA
Plate Dissipation	2	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:		
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 90 volts	0.5	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 90 and 180 volts	See o	curve page 300
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	80	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	1	volt
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.1	megohm
Transconductance	8000	μ mhos
Plate Current	10	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	1.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA	6	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	0.5	megohm



DUAL TRIODE

6CY7



Miniature type used as combined vertical oscillator and vertical-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Unit No.1 is used as a blocking oscillator in verticaldeflection circuits, and unit No.2 is used as a verticaldeflection amplifier. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.75	volts ampere
Peak value Average value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Plate Supply Voltage	250	150	volts
Grid Voltage	3		volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		620	ohms
Amplification Factor	68	5	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	52000	920	ohms
Transconductance	1300	5400	μ mhos
Plate Current	1.2	30	mA
Plate Current for grid voltage of -30 volts		3.5	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 µA	-5.5		volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 200 µA	_	40	volts

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		Unit No.2 Amplifier	
DC Plate Voltage	350	350	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		1800	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage		-250	volts
Peak Cathode Current		120	mA
Average Cathode Current	_	35	mA
Plate Dissipation	1	5.5	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-Circuit Resistance2.22.2†megohms# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).† For cathode-bias operation.

6CZ5

BEAM POWER TUBE

Miniature type used as a vertical-deflection amplifier in high-efficiency deflection circuits of color and blackand-white television receivers and in the audio output stage of television and radio receivers. Outlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 5CZ5 is identical with type 6CZ5 except for heater ratings.



9HN

- ----

	5CZ5	6CZ5	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.7	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.4 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.	.3	9	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3		6	pF pF pF

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	75	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	250	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	0		volts
Plate Resistance		73000	ohms
Transconductance		4800	μ mhos
Plate Current	130•	46	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	16•	4.6	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of			
100 μ A		40	volts

Vertical-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage	350	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	2200	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	315	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		volts
Peak Cathode Current	155	mA
Average Cathode Current		mA
Plate Dissipation		watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2.2	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	250	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

6D4	Refer to chart at end of section.
6D6	Refer to chart at end of section.
6D7	Refer to chart at end of section.
6D8G	Refer to chart at end of section.
6D10	Refer to chart at end of section.
6DA4	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6DM4A/6DA4.
6DB5	Refer to chart at end of section.



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE 6DC6

Miniature type used in the gain-controlled picture if stages of color and black-and-white television receivers and as an rf amplifier in the tuners of such receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires 7-contact miniature socket.

7CM ature socket.		-
Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	6.3 vol 0.3 a mper	
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max volt 100 max volt	
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	0.02 max p	F
Internal Suleid	6.5 p	F
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	2 p)	F
TYPE 6DC6 GRID-No.3 VOLTS=0 GRID-No.2 VOLTS=150		
25		
GRID-Na I VOLTS ECI=-2		
5		
0 100 200 300		
PLATE VOLTS 92CS-6330TI		
Class A, Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	300 volts 0 volts	
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	300 volts See curve page 300	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts	
Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input:		
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	0.5 watt See curve page 300	
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage	200 volts	
Grid No.3 Connected	to cathode at socket	
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor	150 volts 180 ohms	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.5 megohm 5500 µmhos	
Transconductance	9 mA	
Grid-No.2 Current	3 mA 	
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.25 megohm 1 megohm	
Refer to chart at end of section.	6DC8 6DC8/EBF89	

Refer to chart at end of section.

6DE4

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

6DE4/6CQ4 17DE4, 22DE4 amper tube in horizontal-

Glass octal type used as damper tube in horizontaldeflection circuits of television receivers. Outlines section, 13G; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 1, 2, 4, and 6 should not be used as tie points. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Types 17DE4 and 22DE4 are identical with type 6DE4/6CQ4 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6DE4/6CQ4 6.3 1.6 —	17DE4 17 0.6 11	22DE4 22.4 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Plate to Cathode and Heater Cathode to Plate and Heater Heater to Cathode			8.5 11.5 4	pF pF pF

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation	1100	volts mA mA watts
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value	5500 900	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC Instantaneous Value	34	volts

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

6DE6

SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in the gain-controlled picture if stages of television receivers utilizing an intermediate frequency in the order of 40 MHz and as an rf amplifier in vhf television tuners. **Outlines section**, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Type 4DE6 is identical with type 6DE6 except for heater ratings.



	4DE6	6DE6	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.2	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.45	0.3	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	_	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	±200 max	±200 max	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	Unshielded	Shielded	
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.015 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,			-
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	6.5	6.5	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,			
and Internal Shield	2	3	pF
With external shield connected to cathode.			

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See c	urve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	2.3	watts

Grid-No.2	Input:
-----------	--------

For grid-No.2	voltages	up to 165 volts		0.55	watt
For grid-No.2	voltages	between 165 and	1 330 volts	See curve	page 300



CHARACTERISTICS

		195	volts
Plate Supply Voltage		120	
Grid No.3 Co	onnected	to cathode	at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		125	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		56	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		0.25	megohm
Transconductance		8000	μ mhos
Transconductance for grid-No.1 volts of -5.5 and cathode re	sistor		
of 0 ohms		700	μ mhos
Plate Current		15.5	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		4.2	mA
		9	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA			Voita



DUAL TRIODE

6DE7 10DE7, 13DE7

Miniature type used as combined vertical oscillator and vertical-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Unit No.1 is used as a blocking oscillator in verticaldeflection circuits, and unit No.2 is used as a verticaldeflection amplifier. Outlines section, 6E; requires mini-

ature 9-contact socket. For curve of average plate characteristics, Unit No.2, refer to type 6DR7. Types 10DE7 and 13DE7 are identical with type 6DE7 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6DE 6.3 0.9	-	10DE 9.7 0.6 11	27	13DE7 13 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value		max	100	max	±200 max 100 max	
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	•	Unit 2. 0.5		Unit 8. 5.	5	pF pF pF

Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Plate Voltage	250	150	volts
Grid Voltage	-11		volts
Amplification Factor	17.5	6	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	8750	925	ohms
Transconductance	2000	6500	μ mhos
Plate Current	5.5	35	mA
Plate Current for grid voltage of -24 volts		10	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 µA	20		volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 µA			volts

(2

volts

volts volts

pF pF pF

amperes

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		Unit No.2 Amplifier	
DC Plate Voltage	330	275	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	—	1500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	400	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	77	175	mĄ
Average Cathode Current	22	50	mA
Plate Dissipation	1.5	7	watts
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-Circuit Resistance: For grid-resistor bias or cathode-bias operation 2.2 2.2 megohms # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).



6DG6GT

BEAM POWER TUBE

	H 🗸
Glass octal type used as output tube in audio-ampli- fier applications Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket. This type may be supplied with pin 1 omitted.	NC TS
Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 1.2
Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	0.6 15
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	10

Class A, Audio-Frequency Power Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input		200 125 10 1.25	volts volts watts watts
TYPICAL OPERATION			
Plate Supply Voltage	110	200	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	110	125	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Supply Voltage	7.5		volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	7.5	8.5	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	-	180	ohms
Zero-Signal Plate Current	49	46	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	50	47	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	4	2.2	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	10	8.5	mA

Plate Resistance (Approx.)	13000	28000	ohms
Transconductance	8000	8000	µmhos
Load Resistance	2000	4000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	10	10	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	2.1	3.8	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		0.1	megohm



MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

6DJ8/ ECC88 INDUSTRIAL

Miniature type used as a cascode amplifier in vhf color and black-and-white television tuners. **Outlines section**, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current		6.3 0.365	volts ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage:	Unit No. 1		•.
Peak value			volts
Average value	50		volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Grid to Plate	1.4	1.4	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	3.3		pF
Cathode to Grid, Heater, and Internal Shield		6.0	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	1.8		pF
Plate to Grid, Heater, and Internal Shield		2.8	pF
Plate to Cathode	.	1.8	pF
Heater to Cathode	<u> </u>	2.7	pF
Grid to Heater		0.13	pF
Plate of Unit No. 1 to Plate of Unit No. 2		0.045	pF
Grid of Unit No. 2 to Plate of Unit No. 1		0.005	pF

Class A₁ Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Supply Voltage Cathode Current Plate Dissipation Negative Grid Voltage Plate Supply Voltage (cold condition)	130 25 1.8 50 550	volts mA watts volts volts
CHARACTERISTICS	990	volts
CHARAGTERISTIGS		
Plate Voltage	90 1.3	volts volts
Amplification Factor	33	
Transconductance	12250	μmhos
Plate Current	15	' mA
Equivalent Noise Resistance	300	ohms
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-Circuit Resistance	1.0	megohm
Hester to Cathode Circuit Resistance	0.02	megohm



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used as if-amplifier tube in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 3DK6, 4DK6, and 12DK6 are identical with type 6DK6 except for heater ratings.

6DK6 3DK6, 4DK6, 12DK6

245

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	3DK6 3.15 0.6 11	4DK6 4.2 0.45 11	6DK6 6.3 0.3		volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	{+200 max 300 max 100 max	± 200 max	±200 max 100 max		
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate			0.0	25 max	pF
Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No Internal Shield	.2, Grid No.	3, and		.3 .9	pF pF

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	0 volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	2.3 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	0.55 watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300



CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage	125 volts inected to cathode at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	125 volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance	0.35 megohm
Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current	12 mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA	

6DL3 25DL3

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Novar type used as a damper tube in television receivers. Outlines section, 40B; requires novar 9-contact socket. Socket terminals 1, 3, 6, 8, and 9 should not be used as tie points. Type 25DL3 is identical with type 6DL3 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) 6.3 Heater Current 2.3 Heater Warm-up Time (average) — Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: —	25DL3 25.2 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Cathode to Plate and Heater	17 13 4.4	pF pF pF
Damper Service		
For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	1800 400 11	volts mA mA watts °C
	6500 900	volts volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 800 mA #Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cy		volts
Refer to chart at end of section.	6D	0L4/EC88
Refer to chart at end of section.	60	6DL5 0L5/EL95
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6DM4A/6DA4.		6DM4 5DM4A



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Glass octal type used as damper tube in horizontaldeflection circuits of television receivers. Outlines section, 13G; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 1, 2, 4, and 6 should not be used as tie points. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Type 17DM4A is identical with type 6DM4A/ 6DA4 except for heater ratings.

6DM4A/ **6DA4**

17DM4A

	6DM4A/6DA4	17DM4A	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	16.8	volts
Heater Current	1.2	0.45	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	seconds

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current	1200	volts mA
Average Plate Current	200	mA watts
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value		volts volts
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning		

6**DN**3

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Novar type used as a damper diode in horizontaldeflection circuits of color television receivers. Outlines section, 8G; requires novar 9-contact socket. Terminals 1, 3, 6, and 8 should not be used as tie points for external-circuit components.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		volts amperes
Plate to Cathode and Heater Cathode to Plate and Heater	13 16	pF pF
Heater to Cathode		pF

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) 5500 volts 2100 mΑ Average Plate Current 350 mA Plate Dissipation Bulb Temperature a watts (At hottest point) 22Ŏ °C Heater-Cathode Voltage: +300-5500 volts Peak value Average value +100 -900 volts CHARACTERISTIC. Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 350 mA volts 14 # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

6DN6

Refer to chart at end of section.

6**DN**7

MEDIUM-MU DUAL TRIODE

Glass octal type used as combined vertical-deflectionoscillator and vertical-deflection-amplifier tube in television receivers. Outlines section, 13B; requires octal socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.9; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.



Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS		Unit No.2	
Plate Voltage	250	250	volts
Grid Voltage	-8	9.5	volts
Amplification Factor	22.5	15.4	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	9000	2000	ohms
Transconductance	2500	7700	μ mhos
Plate Current	8	41	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	18		volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 μ A		23	volts

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current	Unit No.1 Oscillator 350 400 —	Unit No.2 Amplifier 550 2500 250 150 50	volts volts mA mA
Plate Dissipation MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		10 2.2	watts megohms megohms
# Pulse duration must not around 150/ of a marting la	anning such	(0 5 mailling	

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6CG3/6BW3/6DQ3.	6DQ3
Refer to chart at end of section.	6DQ4



BEAM POWER TUBE

Glass octal type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 21B; requires octal socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3 2.5	volts amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3 Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	0.5 23 11	pF pF pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Pentode Connection	Triode• Connection	
Plate Voltage	70 175	125	volts
Grid No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	125 125		volts
Grid No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	0 —25	25	volts
Amplification Factor		3.3	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	5500	—	ohms
Transconductance	10500	-	μ mhos
Plate Current	550* 110	_	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	42* 5		mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate $mA = 1$.	55	—	volts

• Grid No.2 connected to plate.

* This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.



Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage	990	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1100	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	190	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	1100	mA
Average Cathode Current	315	mA
Grid-No.2 Input	3.2	watts
Plate Dissipation.	24	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	220	°C

249

6**DQ**5

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for grid-resistor-bias operation 0.47 megohm # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6DQ6A

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6GW6/6DQ6B.

6DQ6B



DUAL TRIODE

high-mu and low-mu Miniature tvpe containing triodes; used as combined vertical-deflection-oscillator and vertical-deflection-amplifier tube in television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 10DR7 and 13DR7 are identical with type 6DR7 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6DR7 6.3 0.9	10DR7 9.7 0.6 11	13DR7 13 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max		ax ±200 ma	
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater		t No.1 U: 4.5 2.2 .34	nit No.2 8.5 5.5 1	pF pF pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTER	RISTICS
-----------	---------

UTARA ELECTIVE	Unit No.1	Unit No.Z	
Plate Voltage	250	150	volts
Grid Voltage	3		volts
Amplification Factor	68	6	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	40000	925	ohms
Transconductance	1600	6500	μ mhos
Plate Current	1.4	35	mA
Plate Current for grid voltage of -24 volts		10	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	-5.5	_	volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 μ A		44	volts





Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

	Unit No.1 Oscillator		
DC Plate Voltage	330	275	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		1500	volts

10DR7, 13DR7

Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	400	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	70	175	mA
Average Cathode Current	20	50	mA
Plate Dissipation	1	7	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-Circuit Resistance: For grid-resistance-bias or cathode-bias operation 2.2 2.2 megohms # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).



12AQ

HIGH-MU TRIODE

Nuvistor type used as grounded-cathode, neutralized rf amplifier in vhf tuners of color and black-and-white television and FM receivers. Outlines section, 1; requires nuvistor socket. Type 2DS4 is identical with type 6DS4 except for heater ratings.

2DS4

6DS4

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	2.1 0.45 8 ±100 max	6.3 0.135 ±100 max	volts ampere seconds volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.) Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Shell Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Shell Plate to Cathode Heater to Cathode		0.92 4.3 1.8 0.18 1.6	pf pf pf pf

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Supply Voltage Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Negative-bias value Grid Voltage, Peak positive value Cathode Current Plate Dissipation Plate Dissipation	300° 135 55 0 15 1.5	volts volts volts mA watt
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage Grid Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor	110 0 130 63	volts volts ohms
Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 μA Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μA	63 7000 9000 6.5 5 6.8	ohms µmhos mA volts volts



6DS4

2DS4
TYPICAL OPERATION

Plate Voltage	70	volts
Grid Supply Voltage	0	volts
Grid Resistor	47000	ohms
Amplification Factor	68	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	5440	ohms
Transconductance	12500	μ mhos
Plate Current	7	mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		

Grid-Circuit Resistance

rid-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.5 2.2	megohm megohm
		· · · ·

A plate supply voltage of 300 volts may be used provided a sufficiently large resistor is used in the plate circuit to limit the plate dissipation to 1.5 watts under any condition of operation.
For operation at metal-shell temperatures up to 125°C.

6DS5

BEAM POWER TUBE

Miniature type used in the audio output stages of television and radio receivers. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Type 11DS5 is identical with type 6DS5 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	6DS5 6.3 0.8	11DS5 11.2 0.45	volts ampere
Heater Warm-up Time Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	±200 max	11 ±200 max	seconds volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):			10100
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.19	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid N	No.3	9.5	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3		6.3	pF

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	275	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	275	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	9	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2.2	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	250	°C



TYPICAL OPERATION AND Characteristics	Cathode Opera			I-Bias ation	
Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	200 200	250 200	200 200	250 200	volts volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor	180	270	7.5		ohms

Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage Zero-Signal Plate Current Maximum-Signal Plate Current Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Load Resistance Total Harmonic Distortion Maximum-Signal Power Output	7.5 34.5 32.5 3.5 9 28000 6000 6000 10 2.8	9.2 27 25 3 9 28000 5800 8000 10 3.6	7.5 35 36 9 28000 6000 6000 9 3	8.5 29 32 3 10 28000 5800 8000 10 3.8	volts mA mA mA ohms umhos ohms per cent watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation				0.1 1	megohm megohm
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6CE3/6CD3/6DT3.			6D	Т3	



BEAM POWER TUBE

Miniature type used as a vertical-deflection-amplifier tube in television receivers employing 110-degree picture-tube systems. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 12DT5 is identical with type 6DT5 except for heater ratings.

.....

feater Voltage (ac/dc) feater Current feater Warm-up Time (Average)	6DT5 6.3 1.2	12D15 12.6 0.6 11	volts amperes seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	$\pm 200 \max_{100 \max}$		volts volts

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	60	80	250	volts
Grid-No. 2 Voltage	150	250	250	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	0	0		volts
Transconductance		—	6200	μ mhos
Plate Current	95•	195•	44	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	8.5•	19•	1.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current				
of 100 mA			35	volts

• These values can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Vertical-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	$315 \\ 2200 \\ 285 \\ 250$	volts volts volts volts
Peak Cathode Current		mA
Average Cathode Current	55	mA
Plate Dissipation	9	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :		
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle of	(2.5 milliseco	nds).

Refer to chart at end of section.

6DT5

12DT5



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used as FM detector in color and blackand-white television receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 3DT6A and 4DT6A are identical with type 6DT6A except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	3DT6A 3.15 0.6 11	4DT6A 4.2 0.45 11		volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	±200 max	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.)* Grid No.1 to Plate			.02	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid Internal Shield			5.8	pF
Grid No.3 to Plate			1.7	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
Grid No.1 to Grid No.3 Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.1, Grid	No.2. and		0.1	pF
Internal Shield			6.1	pF

* External shield connected to cathode.

Class A. Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage	150	volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid) Connected	to cathode	at socket
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	100	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	560	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.15	megohm
Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate	1350	<i>µ</i> mhos
Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate	515	μmhos
Plate Current	1.55	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	1.8	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	5.2	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 µA	4.2	volts

FM Detector

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	28	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See cur	ve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	1.7	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:		
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts		watts
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See cur	ve page 300
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	megohm

6DT8

12DT8

HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature type used in radio and television receiver applications and in push-pull rf amplifiers or as frequency converter in FM tuners. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 12DT8 is identical with type 6DT8 except for the heater ratings. Except for heater and heater-cathode ratings, interelectrode capacitances, and basing arrangement, these types are identical with miniature type 12AT7.



	6DT8	12DT8	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	12.6	volts
Heater Current	0.3	0.15	ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx., Each Unit) Noted:	Except as		
Grid to Plate		1.6*	\mathbf{pF}
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield		2.7*	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield		1.6*	pF
Heater to Cathode		3•	pF
Cathode to Grid, Heater, and Internal Shield (Unit N	[o.2)	5.3†	pF
Plate to Grid, Heater, and Internal Shield (Unit No.2)	2.8†	pF
† With external shield connected to grid of unit under test.			

• With external shield connected to ground.

* With external shield connected to cathode of unit under test.



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE

6DV4 2DV4

Nuvistor type used at frequencies up to 1000 MHz in uhf oscillator stages of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 1; requires nuvistor socket. Type 2DV4 is identical with type 6DV4 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	2DV4 2.1 0.45 8 ±100 max	6DV4 6.3 0.135 ±100 max	volts ampere seconds volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitance (Approx.): Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Shell Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Shell Plate to Cathode Heater to Cathode Grid to Cathode		1.8 4.4 1.9 0.25 1.4 3.7	pF pF pF pF pF

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Supply Voltage	$300 \\ 125$	volts volts
Grid Voltage: Negative-bias value Peak positive value Plate Dissipation Cathode Current	55 2 1 15	volts volts watt mA
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Supply Voltage	75 100	volts ohms
Amplification Factor	35	onms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	3100	ohms
Transconductance	11500	μ mhos
Plate Current	10.5	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	7	volts
TYPICAL OPERATION AS OSCILLATOR AT 950 MHz		
Plate Voltage	60	volts
Grid Voltage	2	volts
Grid Resistor Plate Current	5600 8	ohms mA
Grid Current	350	
		<i>µ</i> 11



MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-Circuit Resistance:* For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.1 0.2	megohm megohm
 For operation at metal-shell temperatures up to 135°C. 		



Refer to chart at end of section.

6DW4B

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Novar types used as damper tubes in horizontal-deflection circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 11D and 30B, respectively; require novar 9-contact socket. Socket terminals 1, 3, 6, and 8 should not be used as tie points; it is recom9HP

mended that socket clips for these pins be removed to reduce the possibility of arc-over and to minimize leakage. These tubes, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	1.2	amperes
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.);		
Plate to Cathode and Heater	6.5	pF
Cathode to Plate and Heater	9	DF
Heater to Cathode	2.8	pF

Damper Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#	volts
Peak Plate Current	mA
Average Plate Current	mA
Plate Dissipation 8.5	watts
Heater-Cathode Voltage:	
Peak value	volts
Average value	volts
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value	
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 350 mA	volts

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

6DW5 Refer to chart at end of section. 6DX8 Refer to chart at end of section.



Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television-receiver applications. The triode unit is used as a sync-separator, sync-amplifier, keyed-agc, or noise-

suppressor tube. The pentode unit is used as a video-output tube. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 10DX8/LCL84 is identical with type 6DX8/ECL84 except for heater ratings.

	6DX8/ECL84	10DX8/LCL84	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	10.2	volts
Heater Current		0.45	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Va	lues)		friode Unit	Pentode Un	n it
Plate Supply Voltage Peak Plate Voltage, with maximum pla	to current	of	550	550	volts
0.1 mA			600		volts
Plate Voltage		• • •	300	300	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage			-	550	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage				300	volts
Cathode Current			12	40	mA
Plate Dissipation			1	4	watts
Grid-No.2 İnput			<u> </u>	1.7	watts
CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Ur	nit	Pentode U	nit	
Plate Voltage	200	170	200	220	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		170		220	volts
Grid No.1 Voltage	1.7	2.1	-2.9	3.4	volts
Amplification Factor	65			-	
Mu-Factor, Grid-No.2 to Grid-No.1		36	36	36	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		0.1	0.13	0.15	megohm
Transconductance	4000	11000	10400	10000	µmhos
	4000				
Plate Current	3	18	18	18	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	_	3	3	3	mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES					
Grid-No.1- Circuit Resistance:			Triode Unit	t Pentode U	nit
For fixed-bias operation			1	1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation			3	2	megohms
For cathode-blas operation				-	. megonins

• With maximum duty factor of 0.18 and maximum pulse duration of 18 microseconds.



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE

6DZ4

Miniature type used as a local-oscillator tube in uhf color and black-and-white television receivers covering the frequency range from 470 to 890 MHz. Outlines section, 5B; requires miniature 7-contact socket. For curve of average plate characteristics, refer to type 6AF4A.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.225	ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		•.
Peak value	± 50 max	volts
Average value	25 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):°		
Grid to Plate	1,8 2.2	pF pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater		pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	1.3	\mathbf{pF}
^e With external shield connected to cathode.		

257

6DX8/

ECL84

10DX8/LCL84

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage Plate Resistor Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μ A	80 2700 14 2000 6700 15 11	volts ohms µmhos mA volts
UHF Oscillator		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Negative-bias value Grid Current Cathode Current Plate Dissipation	135 50 2 20 2.3	volts volts mA mA watts
TYPICAL OPERATION AS OSCILLATOR AT 1000 MHz Plate Supply Voltage Plate-Circuit Resistance Grid Resistor Plate Current Grid Current (Approx.) MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	135 2700 10000 15.5 800	volts ohms ohms mA µA
Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	Not re 0.5	ecommended megohm

6DZ7

Refer to chart at end of section.

6E5

ELECTRON-RAY TUBE

Glass type used to indicate the effects of a change in a controlling voltage. It is used to indicate accurate radio-receiver tuning. Outlines section, 13H; requires 6-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.3. For additional considerations, refer to Tuning Indication with Electron-Ray Tubes in Electron Tube Applications section.



Tuning Indicator

MAXIMUM AND MINIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate-Supply Voltage		250 max {250 max }125 min	volts volts volts
TYPICAL OPERATION			• • • • • •
Plate and Target Supply Voltage	200	250	volts
Series Triode-Plate Resistor	1	1	megohm
Target Current [*] † Triode-Plate Current [*]		4	mA
Triode-Grid Voltage (Approx.):	0.19	0.24	mA
For shadow angle of 0°	6.5	8	volts
For shadow angle of 90°	0	0	volts
* For zero triode-grid voltage.			

† Subject to wide variations.

6E6	Refer to chart at end of section.
6E7	Refer to chart at end of section.
6EA4	Refer to chart at end of section.
6EA5	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6CY5.

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6EM7/6EA7. 6EA7



Miniature type used as combined oscillator and mixer in color and black-and-white television receivers utilizing an intermediate frequency in the order of 40 MHz. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 5EA8 and 19EA8 are identical with type 6EA8 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	5EA8 4.7 0.6 11	6EA8 6.3 0.45 11	19 EA8 18.9 0.15 11	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max		c ±200 max c 100 max	volts volts
	U	nshielded	Shielded	
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Triode Unit:				
Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode. Heater, Pentode Cathode,	· · · ·	1.7	1.7	pF
Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode,	· · · · ·	3	3.2	\mathbf{pF}
Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	· · · ·	1.4	1.9	pF
Cathode to Heater	· • • •	3	3 •	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,		0.02 max	0.01 max	pF
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield		5	5	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid N and Internal Shield Heater to Cathode		2.6	3.4 3•	pF pF
		· .	•	P1

* With external shield connected to cathode of unit under test except as noted.

With external shield connected to ground.

Class A₁ Amplifier

Triode Unit Pentode Unit
330 330 volts
330 volts
— See curve page 300
0 0 volts
2.5 3.1 watts
0.55 watt
See curve page 300





6EA8

5EA8, 19EA8

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage	150	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		125	volts ·
Grid-No.1 Voltage	_	1	volt
Cathode-Bias Resistor	56		ohms
Amplification Factor	40		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	5000	200000	ohms
Transconductance	8500	6400	μ mhos
Plate Current	18	12	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 10 µA	-12	9	volts

6EB8 HIGH-MU TRIODE-SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. Pentode unit is used as video output amplifier; triode unit is used in syncseparator, sync-clipper, and phase-inverter circuits. **Outlines section**, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.75	volts ampere
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances :		
Triode Unit: Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Did to Cathode and Heater	4.4 2.4 0.36	pF pF pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater Pentode Unit:	0.36	pr
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.1 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	11	\mathbf{pF}
Internal Shield Triode Grid to Pentode Plate	4.2 0.018 max	pF pF
Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate Pentode Plate to Triode Plate	0.005 max 0.17 max	pF pF

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode U	nit Pentode U	nit
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330	330 330	volts volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation	0 1	See curve pag 0 5	volts volts
Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	_	1.1 See curve pag	watts e 300
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	250	200 125	volts volts
Grid Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor	2	68	volts
Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.)	100 37000	75000	ohms
Transconductance Plate Current	2700 2	12500 25	μmhos mA mA
Grid-No.2 Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μ A Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of	5		volts
$100 \ \mu A \qquad		9	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 1	0.25 1	megohm megohm



Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6EH4A.

6EC4A/EY500

261

6EH4

6EH4A

6EH5

25EH5, 50EH5



BEAM TRIODE

Duodecar type used as a shunt regulator in the highvoltage power supply of color television receivers. Outlines section, 16G; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93. This type is electrically identical with type 6EJ4A.



POWER PENTODE

Miniature type used in the audio output stage of radio and television receivers and in phonographs. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 25EH5 and 50EH5 are identical with type 6EH5 except for heater ratings.

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.)	6EH5 6.3 1.2 ±200 max 100 max	25 EH5 25 0.3 ±200 max 100 max	50EH5 50 0.15 ±200 max 100 max	volts ampere volts volts
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,	and Grid N	~ ?	0.65	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and	Grid No.3		17 9	pF pF
Class A ₁	Amplifier			•
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Value	es)			
Plate Voltage			150	volts
Grid-No.Z (Screen-Grid) Voltage			130	volts
Plate Dissipation	••••••		5.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • •	2 220	watts °C
TYPICAL OPERATION	••••••		220	· C
Plate Supply Voltage			110	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage			115	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		• • • • • • • • • • •	62	ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage			3	volts

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Zero-Signal Plate Current	42 42	mA mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	11.5	mA ·
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	14.5	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	11000	ohms
Transconductance	14600	μmhos
Load Resistance	3000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	7	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	1.4	watts



MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :		
For fixed-bias operation	0.1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	megohm

Push-Pull Class AB, Audio-Frequency Power Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Class A1 audio-frequency power amplifier)

TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)

Plate Supply Voltage	140	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	120	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	68	ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	9.4	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	47	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	51	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	11	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	17.7	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-plate)	6000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	5	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	3.8	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		

For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	$0.1 \\ 0.5$	megohm megohm
-		-

6EH7

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6EH7/EF183.



SEMIREMOTE-CUTOFF PENTODE



Miniature types used as if-amplifier tubes in color and K⁶³ black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 9AQ 6C; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 3EH7/XF183 and 4EH7/ LF183 are identical with type 6EH7/EF183 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Pla:e Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid N Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Internal Shield	0.2, (Grid	Grid No.3,	d	6EH7/ EF183 6.3 ±150 max 0.005 max 9 3	volts ampere volts pF pF
Class	A. A	mplifier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Value	25)	•			
Plate Supply Voltage Plate Voltage Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Posit Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Cathode Current Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input	tive v	alue		550 250 550 250 20 2.5 0.65	volts volts volts volts mA watts watt
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid No.3 Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current	· · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Connec	200 ted to cathode 90 2 0.5 12500 12 4.5	volts at socket volts volts megohm µmhos mA mA
TYPICAL OPERATION					
Plate Voltage Grid No.3 Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Series Resistor	200 Cc 200 22000 	nnected to	200 cathode at 200 22000 6.5 1250 100	200 socket 200 22000 2 12500	volts ohms volts µmhos mV
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE					
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • •	1	megohm
Refer to chart at end o	f see	etion.		6EH8	i
Refer to chart at end of	sect	ion.		6EJ4A	
Refer to chart at end o For replacement use type 61				6EJ7	



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

6EJ7/ EF184 ^{3EJ7/XF184, 4EJ7/LF184}

Miniature types used as if-amplifier tubes in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6C; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 3EJ7/XF184 and 4EJ7/LF184 are identical with type 6EJ7/EF184 except for heater ratings.

	3EJ7/	4EJ7/	6EJ7/	
	XF184	LF184	EF184	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	3.4	4.4	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.3	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 150 \text{ max}$	$\pm 150 \text{ max}$	$\pm 150 \text{ max}$	volts

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.005 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		-
Internal Shield	10	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	_	_
Internal Shield	3	pF

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Supply Voltage Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Cathode Current Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input	550 250 550 250 25 2.5 0.9	volts volts volts mA watts watt
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	200	volts
Grid No.3 Conne	cted to catho	de at socket
Grid-No.2 Voltage	200	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-2.5	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.35	megohm
Transconductance 15000	15000	μ mhos
Plate Current	10	mA
Grid-No.2 Current 4.1	4.1	mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	1	megohm

6EL4 6EL4A Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6BK4C/6EL4A.

.....

6EM5

BEAM POWER TUBE

Miniature type used as vertical-deflection amplifier in television receivers utilizing picture tubes having diagonal deflection angles of 110 degrees. Outlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 8EM5 is identical with type 6EM5 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6.3 0.8	8EM5 8.4 0.6 11	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No. Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	.3	0.7 max 10 5.1	pF pF pF

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	60	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	250	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	0		volts
Mu Factor, Grid No.1 to Grid No.2		8.7	
Plate Resistance	<u> </u>	0.05	megohm
Transconductance		5100	μ mhos
Plate Current	180•	40	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	30•	3	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of			
0.2 mA	_	37	volts
These values can be measured by a method involving a	recurrent	waveform	such that the

• These values can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# (Absolute Maximum)	315 2200*	volts volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	285	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	210	mA
Average Cathode Current	60	mA
Plate Dissipation	10	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	250	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

 Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance
 2.2 megohms

 # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).

 * Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded.



Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6EM7/6EA7.

6EM7

6EM7/6EA7

10EM7.

13EM7/15EA7



DUAL TRIODE

Glass octal type used as combined vertical-deflection amplifier and vertical-deflection oscillator in color and

black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 13A; requires octal socket. For curve of average plate characteristics, Unit No.1, refer to type 6DR7 (Unit No.1). Types 10EM7, and 13EM7/15EA7 are identical with type 6EM7/6EA7 except for heater ratings.

	6EM7/6EA7	10EM7	13EM7/15E	A7
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	9.7	13	volts
Heater Current	0.925	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	—	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	±200 max	c ±200 max	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	: 100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		No.1 Uni	it No.2	
Grid to Plate	4	1.8	10	pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater	2	2.2	7	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	0	.6	1.8	\mathbf{pF}

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Plate Voltage	250	150	volts
Grid Voltage		20	volts
Amplification Factor	64	5.4	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	40000	750	ohms
Transconductance	1600	7200	μ mhos
Plate Current	1.4	50	mA
Plate Current, for plate voltage of 60 volts and			
zero grid voltage	-	95	mA
Plate Current, for grid voltage of -28 volts	-	10	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.):			
For plate current of 10 μ A			volts
For plate current of 100 μA	•	-45	volts

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation		Unit No.2 Amplifier 330 1500 250 175 50 10	volts volts volts mA watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance :	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).



6EN4

SHARP-CUTOFF BEAM TRIODE

Glass octal type used as a shunt voltage-regulator tube in the high-voltage power supply of color television receivers. Outlines section, 21B; requires octal socket. Socket terminals 3, 4, and 8 should not be used as tie points. For high voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3 0.2	volts ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	-450* max	volts
Grid to Plate Plate to Cathode and Heater Grid to Cathode and Heater	2.6	pF pF pF

* Series impedance should be used with the cathode to limit the cathode current under pro-longed short-circuit conditions to 450 mA. ‡ Without external shield.

Shunt Voltage-Regulator Service

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage Unregulated DC Supply Voltage DC Grid Voltage Peak Grid Voltage Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation		volts volts volts mA mA watts
TYPICAL OPERATION		
Unregulated DC Supply Voltage	36000	volts
Equivalent Resistance of Unregulated Supply		megohms
Voltage Divider Values:		
\mathbf{R}_1 (5 watts)	220	megohms
R_2 (2 watts)	1	megohm
R ₃ (0.5 watt)	0.82	megohm
DC Reference Voltage Supply	200	volts
Equivalent Resistance of Reference Voltage	1000	ohms
Effective Grid-Plate Transconductance	200	μ mhos
DC Plate Current for Load Current of 0 mA	1000	μĄ
DC Plate Current for Load Current of 1 mA	45	μA
Regulated DC Output Voltage for Load Current of 0 mA	25000	volts
Regulated DC Output Voltage for Load Current of 1 mA Amplification Factor	$\begin{array}{c} 24500 \\ 2000 \end{array}$	volts
MAYIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-Circuit Resista	nce					3
For interval of 20) seconds	maximum	during	equipment	warm-up	period.

CHARACTERISTICS RANGE VALUES

	Note	Min	Max	
Grid Voltage (1) Grid Voltage (2) Grid Voltage (2)	. 2		-40	volts volts volts
Grid-Voltage Change	. 3		9	voits

.. .

. . .

...

Note 1: With dc plate voltage of 30000 volts and dc plate current of 1 mA. Note 2: With dc plate voltage of 30000 volts and dc plate current of 0.1 mA. Note 3: Difference between grid voltage (1) and grid voltage (2).

X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC

X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis mR/hr 0.5**Caution**—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

> AVERAGE TRANSFER CHARACTERISTICS TYPE 6EN4 Er=6.3 VOLTS AMPERE 2.5Ş 2 M δ ATE ę 2 0.5 -20 -15 -10 n -5 GRID VOLTS 92CS-8432TI

Refer to chart at end of section.

megohms

6ER5

HIGH-MU TRIODE

Miniature type with frame grid used in vhf tuners of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Type 3ER5 is identical to type 6ER5 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	0.45	6.3	volts ampere volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	Unshielded	Shielded°	
Grid to Plate	0.38	0.36	\mathbf{pF}
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	4.4	4.4	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	3	4	pF
Grid to Heater	0.28 max	0.28 max	pF
Plate to Cathode	0.24	0.2	pF
Cathode to Grid	3.1	3.1	pF
Heater to Cathode	2.5	2.5	þF
"With external shield connected to cathode except as	noted.		

△ With external shield connected to ground.

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid Voltage, Negative-bias value	50	volts
Cathode Current	20	mA
Distribution		
Plate Dissipation	2.2	watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	200	volts
Grid Voltage	1.2	volts
Amplification Factor	80	10105
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	8000	ohma
The residence (Approx.)		
Transconductance	10500	μmhos
Plate Current	10	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 500 µmhos	-3.8	volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 µmhos	5.6	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-Circuit Resistance	1	marahu
Gra-Offcult Resistance	1	megohm

6ES5

Refer to chart at end of section.

6ES8

Refer to chart at end of section.



VARIABLE-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature type used as cascode-type amplifier in tuners of television receivers. **Outlines section**, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)		6.3	volts
Heater Current		0.365	ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	Unshielded	Shielded*	
Grid to Plate (Each Unit)	1.9	1.9	pF
Plate to Cathode (Each Unit)	0.18	0.17	pF
Heater to Cathode (Each Unit)	3	3₄	pF
Plate of Unit No.2 to Plate of Unit No.1	0.04 max	0.015 max	nF
Plate of Unit No.2 to Grid of Unit No.1	0.003 max	0.003 max	DF DF
Grid of Unit No.1 to Cathode of Unit No.2	0.002 max	0.002 max	DF
* With external shield connected to cathode of unit und	ler test excer	ot as noted.	• -
▲ With external shield connected to ground.			



268

Class A1 Amplifier (Each Unit)

CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid Voltage Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance 90 90 90 volts -1.2 -5 _9 volts 2500 ohms 12500 625 125 umhos Plate Current 15 mA

Cascode-Type Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Supply Voltage with plate current of 0 mA	550	volta
Plate Voltage (Each unit)	130	volts
Grid Voltage, Negative-bias value (Each unit)	50	volts
Cathode Current (Each unit)	22	mA
Plate Dissipation (Each unit)	1.8	watts
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Unit No.1:°		
RMS voltage between cathode and heater	50	volts
Unit No.2:= RMS voltage between cathode and heater•	50	volts
DC voltage between cathode and heater•	130	volts
DO voltage between cathode and heater	130	VOILS
TYPICAL OPERATION in a cascode-type circuit		
Supply Voltage	180	volts
Plate Current	15	mA
Transconductance	12500	μ mhos
Noise Figure*	6.5	dB
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 125 μ mhos	9	volts
Input Voltage for cross-modulation factor of 0.01 and		
transconductance of 125 µmhos	500	mV
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-Circuit Resistance (Each unit)	1	megohm
° Grounded-cathode input unit-pins 6, 7, and 8.		

• Grounded-grid output unit-pins 1, 2, and 3.

• Cathode positive with respect to heater.

With grid of output unit connected to a voltage divider.

* Measured with tube operating in a television tuner.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6ET7

6EU7



HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature type used in high-gain, resistance-coupled, low-level audio-amplifier applications where low-hum and non-microphonic characteristics are important, such as microphone amplifiers and pre-amplifiers for phonographs. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For typical operation as a resistancecoupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3 0.3	volts ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage:	••••	
Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Each Unit, Approx.): Grid to Plate	1.5	\mathbf{pF}
Grid to Cathode and Heater	1.6 0.2	pF pF
Equivalent Noise and Hum Voltage (Referenced to Grid, Each Unit):		
Average Value*	1.8 miero	volts rms

* Measured in "true rms" units under the following conditions: Heater volts (ac.) 6.3; center-tap of heater transformer grounded; plate supply volts, 250; plate load resistor, 100000 ohms; cathode resistor, 2700 ohms; cathode bypass capacitor, 100 μ F; grid resistor, 0 ohms; amplifier frequency range, 25 to 1000 Hz.

Class A ₁ Ampliner (Each Unit)		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage	330	volts
Negative-bias value	55	volts
Positive-bias value		watts
Plate Dissipation	1.2	watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid Voltage	-2	volts
Amplification Factor 100	100	
Plate Resistance (Approx.) 80000	62500	ohms
Transconductance 1250	1600	µmhos
	1.2	
Plate Current	1.2	mA



6EU8

Refer to chart at end of section.

6EV5

SHARP-CUTOFF TETRODE

Miniature type used as rf amplifier in vhf tuners of television receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.2	volts ampere
Peak value	±100 max 50 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Crid No.1 to Cathele Hardward Cathele Cathele	0.035 max	pF pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield With external shield connected to cathode.	4.5 2.9	pF pF

Class A1 Amplifier

275 volts
180 volts
See curve page 300
0 volts
20 mA
3.25 watts
0.2 watt See curve page 300



Class A1 Amplifier (Each Unit)

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	80	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	1	volt
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.15	megohm
Transconductance	8800	<i>µ</i> mhos
Plate Current	11.5	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	0.9	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 µmhos	-4.5	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	0.5	megohm

Refer to chart at end of section.

6EV7

N6



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in the gain-controlled picture-if stages of vhf color and black-and-white television receivers operating at an interemediate frequency in the order of 40 MHz. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Type 5EW6 is identical with type 6EW6 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	0.45	6EW6 6.3 0.4 —	volts ampere seconds
Peak value		nax ±200 max nax 100 max	
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,	Unshielded 0.04 max		pF
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2.	10	10	pF
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	2.4	3.4	pF
 With external shield connected to cathode. 			

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330 volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	0 volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	3.1 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	0.65 watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300



CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage	125 o ca thode	volts at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	125	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	56	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.2	megohm
Transconductance	14000	umhos
Plate Current	11	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3.2	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA		volts

6EW7

10EW7, 15EW7

DUAL TRIODE

Miniature type used as combined vertical-deflection oscillator and vertical-deflector amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 6E, requires miniature 9contact socket. For curve of average plate characteristics, Unit No.1, refer to type 6DE7 (Unit No.1). Types 10EW7 and 15EW7 are identical with type 6EW7 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6EW7 6.3 0.9 —	10EW7 9.7 0.6 11	15EW7 14.8 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	±200 m 100 m	ax ±200 ax 100	max volts max volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	2.	2 2	nit No.2 9 7 1.2	pF pF pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Plate Voltage	250	150	volts
Grid Voltage		-17.5	volts
Amplification Factor	17.5	6	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	8750	800	ohms
Transconductance	2000	7500	µmhos
Plate Current	5.5	45	mA
Plate Current for plate voltage of 60 volts and zero			
grid voltage		95	mA
Plate Current for grid voltage of -25 volts		8	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	20		volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 μ A		40	volts



Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Unit No.1 Oscillator	Unit No.2 Amplifier	
DC Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		1500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	400	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	77	175	mA
Average Cathode Current	22	50	mA
Plate Dissipation	1.5	10	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance:			
For cathode-bias operation	2.2	2.2	megohms
For grid-resistor-bias operation	2.2	2.2	megohms
# Dulas duration must not exceed 150% of a wortical a	anning suals	(9 E million	anda)

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).

Refer to chart at end of section.	6EX6
Refer to chart at end of section.	6EY6
Refer to chart at end of section.	6EZ5
Refer to chart at end of section.	6EZ8
Refer to chart at end of section.	6F4
Refer to chart at end of section.	6 F 5
Refer to chart at end of section.	6F5GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	6F6 6F6G 6F6GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	6F7
Refer to chart at end of section.	6F8G
Refer to chart at end of section.	6FA7



DUAL TRIODE

Miniature type containing high-mu and low-mu triode units used as combined vertical-deflection oscillator and vertical-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 13FD7 is identical with type 6FD7 except for heater ratings.

6FD7

13FD7

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6FD7 6.3 0.925	13FD7 13 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Average value	$\pm 200 \max_{100 \max}$	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	Unit No.1 4.5 2.2 0.4	Unit No.2 10 6.5 0.2	pF pF pF

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Unit No.1	Uni	t No.2	
Plate Voltage	250	60	150	volts
Grid Voltage	3	0		volts
Amplification Factor	64	-	6	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	40000	-	800	ohms
Transconductance	1600		7500	μ mhos
Plate Current	1.5	95-	40	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.):				
For plate current of 10 µA	5.5			volts
For plate current of 100 µA		—	-40	volts
Transconductance, For plate current of 1 mA			500	μ mhos
Plate Current, For grid voltage of -25 volts			6	mA

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Unit No.1 Oscillator	Unit No.2 Amplifier	
DC Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		1500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	400	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	70	175	mA
Average Cathode Current	20	50	mA
Plate Dissipation	1.5	10	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-Circuit Resistance:

For grid-resistor-bias or cathode-bias operation 2.2 2.2 megohms # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).

6FE5

Refer to chart at end of section.

6FG6/EM84

Refer to chart at end of section.

6FG7

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used as combined oscillator and mixer tube in vhf color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 5FG7 is identical with type 6FG7 except for heater ratings.



	5FG7	6FG7	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.7	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			seconds
Peak value	+200 mer	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
	100 max	100 max	voits
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Triode Unit:			
Grid to Plate	1.8	1.8	pF
Grid to Cathode, Pentode Grid No.3, and Heater	3	3	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
Plate to Cathode, Pentode Grid No.3, and Heater	1.3	1.9	pF
Pentode Unit:			P-
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.02 max	0.01 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Grid No.3, Grid No.2,	0102 11101	oron mux	p1
and Heater	5	5	рF
Plate to Cathode, Grid No.3, Grid No.2.	5	9	pr
and Heater	2.4	3.4	pF
Heater to Cathode, and Pentode Grid No.3	6	6=	pF
• With external shield connected to cathode except as	noted.		
 With external shield connected to ground. 			

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias val Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 vol		See	Pentode Un 330 330 curve page 0 3 curve page 0.55	volts volts 300 volts watts
CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Unit	Pen	tode Unit	
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.)	125 1 43 5700	100 100 	125	volts volts volts ohms
Transconductance	7500 13 	7400		μmhos mA mA volts



HIGH-MU TRIODE

6FH5

Miniature type used as an rf amplifier in vhf tuners of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires 7-contact socket. Type 2FH5 is identical to type 6FH5 except for heater ratings.

	2FH5	6FH5	5
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	2.35	6.3	volts
Heater Current		0.2	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)			
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	±100	max ±100	max volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	Unshielded	Shielded•	
Grid to Plate	0.52	0.52	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	3.2	3.2	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield	3.2	4	\mathbf{pF}
• With external shield connected to Pin 1			

With external shield connected to Pin 1.

Class A. Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	150	volts
Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	volts
Cathode Current	22	mA
Plate Dissipation	2.2	watts



RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

CHARACT	ERISTICS
---------	----------

Plate Voltage Grid Voltage Plate Resistance (Approx.)	$ \begin{array}{r} 135 \\ 1 \\ 5600 \end{array} $	volts volts ohms
Transconductance Amplification Factor	9000 50	μmhos
Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 μA	11	mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE

THREE-PLATE TETRODE

6FH8

CHARACTERISTICS



9KP

Miniature type used in complex-wave generator applications and in television receiver applications. Sharpcutoff tetrode unit has pair of additional plates. Outlines section, 6B; requires 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	6.3 0.45	volts ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:° Triode Unit: Grid to Plate		
Grid to Cathode and Heater	1.4 2.6	pF pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	1	pF
Tetrode Unit: Grid No.1 to Plate No.2	0.06 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Plate No.1A, and		
Plate No.1B	4.5	pF
Plate No.1B	1.4	
Tetrode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate Tetrode Plate No.2 to Triode Plate	0.35 max 0.008 max	pF pF
* With external shield connected to cathode.		

Class A, Amplifier

Triode Unit

Plate Voltage	100	volts
Grid Voltage	-1	volt
Amplification Factor	40	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	7400	ohms
Transconductance	5400	μ mhos
Plate Current	7.9	ˈ mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 μ A	-7	volts
Tetrode Unit with Plates No.1A and No.1B Connected to Cath	ode at Socke	t

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate-No.2 Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-2	volts
Plate-No.2 Resistance (Approx.)	0.75	megohm
Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate No.2	4400	μ mhos
Plate-No.2 Current	7.3	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	1.4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate-No.2 current of 100 μA	7	volts

Complex-Wave Generator

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit	Tetrode Unit	
Plate Voltage	275	_	volts
Plate-No.1A Voltage		200	volts
Plate-No.1B Voltage		200	volts
Plate-No.2 Voltage		275	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		275	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	- 5	ee curve page 3	300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:			
Negative-bias value	40		volts
Positive-bias value	0	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	1.7		watts
Plate-No.1A Dissipation		0.3	watt
Plate-No.1B Dissipation		0.3	watt
Plate-No.2 Dissipation		2.3	watts

Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 137.5 volts	0.45 curve page 3(watt
TYPICAL OPERATION WITH SEPARATE PLATE OPERATION	Tetrode Unit	
Plates-No.1A, No.1B, and No.2 Voltage	100	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	50	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	1	volts
Plate-No.1A Current	0.04	mA
Plate-No.1B Current	0.04	mA
Plate-No.2 Current	1.6	mĄ
Grid-No.2 Current	0.3	mA
Transconductance (Approx.);		
Grid No.1 to Plate No.1A	70	μ mhos
Grid No.1 to Plate No.1B	70	μmhos
Grid No.1 to Plate No.2	2500	μmhos
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Triode Unit	Tetrode Unit	
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5	0.5	megohm

Refer to chart at end of section.

6FJ7

6FM7

13FM7/15FM7



DUAL TRIODE

Duodecar type used as combined vertical-deflection oscillator and vertical-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Triode unit No.1 is used as an oscillator, and triode unit No.2 is used as an amplifier. Outlines section, 8C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 13FM7/15FM7 is identical with type 6FM7 except for heater ratings.

	6FM7	13FM7/15FM7	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	13	volts
Heater Current	1.05	0.45	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			00000000
Average value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Peak value	100 max		volts
reak value	IVV max	100 max	VOILS
Class A, Amplifier			
CHARACTERISTICS	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Plate Voltage	250	175	volts
Grid Voltage	3	-25	volts
Amplification Factor	66	5.5	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	30000	920	ohms
Transconductance	2200	6000	<i>µ</i> mhos
Plate Current	2	40	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA	-5.3		volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 200 μ A	0.0	45	volts
on the torage (approx.) for place current of 200 µm.	-	3 0	VOICA

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Unit No.1 Oscillator	Unit No.2 Amplifier	
DC Plate Voltage	350	500	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		1500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	400	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current		175	mA
Average Cathode Current		50	mA
Plate Dissipation [†]	1	10	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance:			
For fixed-bias operation	1	1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation		2.2	megohms
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scan	ning cycle	(2.5 milliseco	nds).

† A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

9LP

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section. 6FQ5A For replacement use type 6GK5/6FQ5A.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6FQ7/ 6CG7 8FQ7/8CG7, 12FQ7

6FQ7

6FM8

MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature type used as combined vertical- and horizontal-deflection oscillator in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section. 6E; requires

miniature 9-contact socket. Types 8FQ7/8CG7 and 9LP 12FQ7 are identical with type 6FQ7/6CG7 except for heater ratings. For typical operation as a resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section.

6FQ7/6CG7 8FQ7/8CG7 12FQ7 Heater Voltage (ac/dc) 6.3 8.4 12.6 Heater Current 0.6 0.45 0.3 Heater Warm-up Time (Average) 11 — — Heater-Cathode Voltage: — — —	volts ampere seconds
Peak value ±200 max ±200 max ±200 max Average value 100 max 100 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):Unit No.1Unit No.2Grid to Plate3.63.8Grid to Cathode and Heater2.42.4Plate to Cathode and Heater0.340.26Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.21	pF pF pF pF
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	
Plate Voltage 330 Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value 0 Cathode Current 22 Plate Dissipation : 22	volts volts mA
For either plate 4 For both plates with both units operating 5.7	watts watts
CHARACTERISTICS	
Plate Voltage 90 250 Grid Voltage 0 8 Amplification Factor 20 20	volts volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.) 6700 7700 Transconductance 3000 2600 Plate Current 10 9	ohms µmhos mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 µA -7 -18 Plate Current for grid voltage of -12.5 volts - 1.3	volts mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE	

Grid Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 1 megohm

Oscillator

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Deflection	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator	
DC Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	440	660	volts
Peak Cathode Current	77	330	mA
Average Cathode Current	22	22	mA
Plate Dissipation :			
For either plate		4	watts
For both plates with both units operating	5.7	5.7	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance	2.2	2.2	megohms



BEAM HEXODE



vision receivers. In this tube, grid No.1 is the control grid, grid No.2 is a focusing grid, grid No.3 is the screen grid, and grid No.4 is the suppressor grid. Grid No.2 is internally connected to the cathode and grid No.4 and aligned with grid No.3 Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 2FS5 and 3FS5 are identical with type 6FS5 except for heater ratings.

Miniature type used as rf-amplifier tube in vhf tele-

	41.00	91.99	0100	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	2.4	2.9	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.2	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11		seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		Shielded U	nshielded •	
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.03	0.016	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,				
No.3, and Grid No.4		4.8	4.8	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid				•
and Grid No.4		2	2.8	pF
With external shield connected to pin 7.				

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Grid-No.3 (Screen-Grid) Voltage 150 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Negative-bias value 0 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts Grid-No.3 (Screen-Grid) Voltage: 0 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts Cathode Current 20 mA Plate Dissipation 3.25 watts Grid-No.3 Input 0.15 watts CHARACTERISTICS 75 volts Flate Voltage 275 volts Grid-No.3 Voltage 0.24 megohm Transconductance 9 mA Grid-No.3 Current 0.17 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 µmhos -5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE 7 MA Scrid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm Refer to chart at end of section. 6FV6 6FV6 6FV6	Plate Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Negative-bias value 0 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts Cathode Current 20 mA Plate Dissipation 3.25 watts Grid-No.3 Input 0.15 watt CHARACTERISTICS 275 volts Flate Voltage 235 volts Grid-No.1 Voltage 0.2 volts Grid-No.1 Voltage 0.24 megohm Transconductance 10000 µmhos Plate Current 9 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) 0.17 mA Grid-No.3 Current 0.17 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 µmhos 5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm	Grid-No.3 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	150	volts
Positive-bias value0voltsCathode Current20mAPlate Dissipation3.25wattsGrid-No.3 Input0.15watt CHARACTERISTICS 775voltsFlate Voltage275voltsGrid-No.1 Voltage0.2voltsGrid-No.1 Voltage0.24megohmTransconductance9mAGrid-No.1 Current9mAGrid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.)0.17mAGrid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μ mhos5voltsGrid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μ mhos-5voltsMAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUEGrid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation0.5megohm	Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		
Positive-bias value0voltsCathode Current20mAPlate Dissipation3.25wattsGrid-No.3 Input0.15watt CHARACTERISTICS 775voltsFlate Voltage275voltsGrid-No.1 Voltage0.2voltsGrid-No.1 Voltage0.24megohmTransconductance9mAGrid-No.1 Current9mAGrid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.)0.17mAGrid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μ mhos5voltsGrid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μ mhos-5voltsMAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUEGrid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation0.5megohm	Negative-bias value	50	volts
Cathode Current 20 mA Plate Dissipation 3.25 watts Grid-No.3 Input 0.15 watt CHARACTERISTICS 275 volts Flate Voltage 135 volts Grid-No.1 Voltage -0.2 wolt Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.24 megohm Transconductance 10000 μmhos Plate Current 9 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μmhos -5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm	Positive-bias value	0	volts
Plate Dissipation 3.25 watts Grid-No.3 Input 0.15 watt CHARACTERISTICS Flate Voltage 275 volts Grid-No.3 Voltage 135 volts goids Grid-No.1 Voltage -0.2 volts reagohm Transconductance 10000 µmhos plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.24 megohm Grid-No.3 Current 9 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 µmhos -5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm		20	mA
Grid-No.3 Input 0.15 watt CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage 275 volts Flate Voltage 135 volts Grid-No.1 Voltage 0.2 volts Grid-No.1 Voltage 0.24 megohm Transconductance 10000 µmhos Plate Resistance 9 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) 0.24 megohm Grid-No.3 Current 0.17 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 µmhos 5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm		3.25	watts
CHARACTERISTICS Flate Voltage 275 volts Grid-No.3 Voltage 135 volts Grid-No.1 Voltage 0.2 volt Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.24 megohm Transconductance 10000 µmhos Plate Current 9 mA Grid-No.3 Current 0.17 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 µmhos 5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm		0.15	
Grid-No.3 Voltage 135 volts Grid-No.1 Voltage -0.2 volt Plate Resistance 0.24 megohm Transconductance 10000 μ mhos Plate Current 9 mA Grid-No.3 Current 0.17 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μ mhos -5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm			
Grid-No.3 Voltage 135 volts Grid-No.1 Voltage -0.2 volt Plate Resistance 0.24 megohm Transconductance 10000 μ mhos Plate Current 9 mA Grid-No.3 Current 0.17 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μ mhos -5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm	Elata Voltara	075	14
Grid-No.1 Voltage 0.2 volt Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.24 megohm Transconductance 10000 μ mhos Plate Current 9 mA Grid-No.3 Current 0.17 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μ mhos -5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm	Cuid No 9 Voltage		
Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.24 megohm Transconductance 10000 µmhos Plate Current 9 mA Grid-No.3 Current 0.17 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 µmhos -5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm	Cuid No.1 Voltage		
Transconductance 10000 μmhos Plate Current 9 mA Grid-No.3 Current 0.17 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μmhos -5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE 0.5 megohm	Dide Desistence (Approx)		
Plate Current 9 mA Grid-No.3 Current 0.17 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μmhos -5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm	Plate Resistance (Approx.)		
Grid-No.3 Current 0.17 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μmhos -5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm	Plansconductance		
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μmhos -5 volts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation			
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 0.5 megohm	Grid-No.3 Current		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation	Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 100 μ mhos	5	volts
	MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Refer to chart at end of section. 6FV6	Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation	0.5	megohm
	Refer to chart at end of section.	6F\	16

6FV8	Refer to chart at end of section.
6FV8A	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6BR8A/6FV8A
6FW5	Refer to chart at end of section.
6FW8	Refer to chart at end of section.
6FY5/EC97	Refer to chart at end of section.

6FY7

DUAL TRIODE

11FY7, 15FY7

Duodecar type used as combined vertical-deflection oscillator and vertical-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Triode unit No.1 is used as an oscillator, and triode unit No.2 is used as an amplifier. Outlines section, 8D; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Types 11FY7 and 15FY7 are identical with type 6FY7 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:		11 F 1 7 11 0.6 11	14.7 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	$\pm 200 \max_{100 \max}$		

Class A: Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Plate Voltage	250	150	volts
Grid Voltage	3	17.5	volts
Amplification Factor	65	6	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	40500	920	ohms
Transconductance	1600	6500	μmhos
Plate Current	1.4	35	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 30 μ A			volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 μ A	<u></u>		volts
Plate Current (Approx.) for grid voltage of -25 volts		6	mA

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Unit No.1 Oscillator	Unit No.2 Amplifier	
DC Plate Voltage	330	275	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		2000	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	400	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	70	175	mA
Average Cathode Current	20	50	mA
Plate Dissipation	1	7†	watts
MAYIMUM CIDCIUT VALUES			

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

 Grid-Circuit Resistance
 2.2
 2.2
 megohms

 # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).

† A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6G6G	Refer to chart at end of section.
6G11	Refer to chart at end of section.
6GB3A	For replacement use type 6BQ6GTB/6CU6
6GB5	Refer to chart at end of section.



27CB5/

6GC5

BEAM POWER TUBE



Magnoval type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 35B; requires neonoval 9-contact socket. Typical instantaneous characteristics (measured with recurrent waveform such that maximum ratings are not exceeded): plate volts, 75; grid-No.2 volts, 200; grid-No.1 volts, -10; plate mA, 440; grid-No.2 mA, 37. Types 13GB5/XL500, 18GB5/LL500 and 27GB5/PL500 are identical with type 6GB5/EL500 except for heater ratings.

18CB5/

13CB5/

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current		XL500 13.3 0.6	LL500 18 0.45	PL500 27 volts 0.3 amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage:	1.00	0.0	0.10	0.0 amperes
Peak value Average value		±250 max 125 max	±250 max 125 max	±250 max volts 125 max volts

6CB5/

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Average Cathode Current Plate Dissipation ⁴ Grid-No.2 Input •	275 7700 275 275 17 5	volts volts mA watts watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: Without grid current With grid current (horizontal-output service only)	0.5 2.2	megohm megohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.
Grid-No.2 input may reach 6 watts for plate-dissipation values below 11 watts.

For replacement use type 6GW6/6DQ6B. 6GB6

For replacement use type 6GW6/6DQ6B. 6GB7



BEAM POWER TUBE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications and as output tube in audio-amplifier applications. **Outlines section**, 6E, reguires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)		volts
Heater Current	1.2	amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.9	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	18	pF
Plate to Cathode. Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	7	pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input	140 12	volts volts watts watts
TYPICAL OPERATION AND CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage 110 Grid-No.2 Voltage 110 Grid-No.1 Voltage 7.5 Cathode-Bias Resistor 7.5 Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage 7.5 Zero-Signal Plate Current 49 Maximum-Signal Plate Current 50 Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current 10 Plate Resistance (Approx.) 13000 Transconductance 8000 Load Resistance 2000 Total Harmonic Distortion 10 Maximum-Signal Power Output 2.1	$\begin{array}{c} 200\\ 125\\\\ 180\\ 8.5\\ 46\\ 47\\ 2.2\\ 8.5\\ 28000\\ 8000\\ 4000\\ 10\\ 3.8\end{array}$	volts volts volts ohms volts mA mA mA ohms ohms per cent wats
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		megohm megohm

6GE5

BEAM POWER TUBE

12GE5, 17GE5

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection-amplifier tube in television receivers. Outlines section, 15A; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Types 12GE5 and 17GE5 are identical with type 6GE5 except for heater ratings.

) ^{IC})
H H	-1
12BJ	

10000

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 1.2	12GE5 12.6 0.6 11	16.8 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
		±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts

CEF

190000

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Pentode Connection		Triode* Connection	
Plate Voltage	60	250	150	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	150	150	150	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	0	-22.5	<u> </u>	volts
Amplification Factor	_		4.4	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	_	18000	_	ohms
Transconductance		7300	_	μ mhos
Plate Current	345•	65		· mA
Grid-No.2 Current	27•	1.8	_	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA		42	-	volts
* Grid No 2 tied to plate				

Grid No.2 tied to plate.

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) 770 volts DC Plate Supply Voltage 770 volts Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage 6500 volts Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage 1600 volts DC Grid-No.2 Voltage 220 volts Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage 330 volts

DC Grid-No.1 Voltage	550	volts mA
Average Cathode Current	$175 \\ 17.5$	mA watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5 200	watts °C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE	200	•
Grid-No.1 Circuit Resistance	1	megohm

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). † A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

Refer to chart at end of section. 6GF5

Refer to chart at end of section.

 $\begin{array}{c} H \\ T_2 \\ T_2 \\ T_2 \\ T_2 \\ T_2 \\ F_1 \\ F_1 \\ G_{T_1} \\ G_{$

DUAL TRIODE

Novar types used as combined vertical-deflection oscillator and vertical-deflection amplifiers in color and

black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 30A; requires novar 9-contact socket. For curves of average plate characteristics for Unit No.1 and Unit No.2, refer to types 6DR7 (Unit No.1) and 6EM7, respectively. Types 10GF7A and 13GF7A are identical with type 6GF7A except for heater ratings.

	6GF7.	4	10GF7	A	13GF7A		
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3		9.7		13		volts
Heater Current	0.985		0.6		0.45	an	pere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)			11		11	sec	onds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:							
Peak value					±200 m		volts
Average value	100				100 m	ax	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		Unit	No.1	Unit	No.2		
Grid to Plate		4	.6	1	9		\mathbf{pF}
Grid to Cathode and Heater		2	.4	6.	5		\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode and Heater		0.5	26	1.	4		\mathbf{pF}

Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Plate Voltage	250	150	volts
Grid Voltage	-3	-20	volts
Amplification Factor	64	5.4	-
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	40000	750	ohms
Transconductance	1600	7200	μ mhos
Grid Voltage (Approx.):			
For plate current of 10 μA	5.5		volts
For plate current of 100 μA		-45	volts
Plate Current	1.4	50	mA
For plate voltage of 60 volts and zero grid voltage		95	mA
For grid voltage of -28 volts	—	10	~ mA

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Unit No.1 Oscillator	Unit No.2 Amplifier	
DC Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage			
(Absolute Maximum)#		1500•	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	400	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	77	175	mA
Average Cathode Current	22	50	mA
Plate Dissipation	1.5	11	watts

6**GF**7

6GF7A

10GF7A, 13GF7A

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-Circuit Resistance:

For grid-resistor-bias or cathode-bias operation 2.2 2.2 megohms • Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded. # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).

Fruise duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).

Refer to chart at end of section.

6GH8A 5GH8A, 9GH8A

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE---SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in multivibrator-type horizontal-c2PG deflection circuits and for agc-amplifier or sync-separator applications in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 5GH8A and 9GH8A are identical with type 6GH8A except for heater ratings.



6GH8

	5GH8A	6GH8A	9GH8A	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.7	6.3	9.45	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.3	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11		seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		Unshielded	Shielded	
Triode Unit:				
Grid to Plate		1.7	1.7	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Grid N	0.3.			
Pentode Cathode, and Internal Shield		3	3.2	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Grid No		-		-
Pentode Cathode, and Internal Shield		1.4	1.9	\mathbf{pF}
Heater to Cathode		3	3	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
Pentode Unit:			0	<i>P</i> -
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.02 max	0.01 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2.		0.02	0.01	P-
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield		5	5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid I		•	v	P 1
and Internal Shield	,	2.6	3.4	pF
Heater to Cathode, Grid No.3, and Internal	Shield		9	pF
meater to cathout, offu No.0, and internal	June nu			pr

Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Voltage	125	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		125	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	1	1	volts
Amplification Factor	46		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	5400	200000	ohms
Transconductance	8500	7500	μmhos
Plate Current	13.5	12	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of			
10 μA	8	8	volts

Horizontal-Deflection Oscillator

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Voltage	330	350	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	_	330	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:			
Positive-bias value	0	0	volts
Peak negative value		175	volts
Peak Cathode Current		300	mA
Average Cathode Current		20	mA
Plate Dissipation	2.5	2.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input		0.55	watt



For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation

Refer to chart at end of section.

6GJ5



BEAM POWER TUBE

6GJ5A 12GJ5A, 17GJ5A

megohms

megohms

Novar type used in high-efficiency horizontal-deflection-amplifier circuits of television receivers. Outlines section, 18A; requires novar 9-contact socket. For curve of average characteristics see type 6GW6. Types 12GJ5A and 17GJ5A are identical with type 6GJ5A except for heater ratings.

2.2

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	6GJ5A 6.3 1.2	12GJ5A 12.6 0.6	17GJ5A 16.8 0.45	volts amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	c volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 may	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):				
Grid No.1 to Plate			0.26	рF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and	Grid No.3		15	pF pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid	No.3		6.5	pF

Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Connection	Pentode	Connection	
Plate Voltage	150	60	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	150	150	150	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	22.5	0	-22.5	volts
Mu-Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1	4.4		—	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	—	—	15000	ohms
Transconductance	_	—	7100	μ mhos
Plate Current	_	390 -	70	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		32-	2.1	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 1 mA .		<u> </u>	-42	volts

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	770	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts

DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage		volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Cathode Current	550	mÅ
Average Cathode Current	175	mA
Plate Dissipation•	17.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (at hottest point)	24 0	°C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance : For grid-resistor-bias operation. 1 megohm # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).
 A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6GJ7

Refer to chart at end of section.

6GJ7/ **ECF801** 4GJ7/XCF801 5GJ7/LCF801 8GJ7/PCF801

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature types used as combined oscillator and mixer tubes in color and black-and-white television receivers utilizing an intermediate frequency in the order of 40 MHZ. Outlines section, 6J; requires miniature 9contact socket. Types 4GJ7/XCF801, 5GJ7/LCF801, and 8GJ7/PCF801 are identical with type 6GJ7/ECF801 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	4GJ7/ XCF801 4.1 0.6 ±110 max	5GJ7/ LCF801 5.6 0.45 ±110 max	6GJ7/ ECF801 6.3 0.41 ±100 max	8GJ7/ PCF801 8 0.3 ±110 max	volts ampere volts
	Cla	ss A, Amplifie	r		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Des	ign-Maximum	Values)	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate-Supply Voltage DC Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) S DC Grid-No.2 Voltage DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Gr Cathode Current Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Inpute	upply Voltage id) Voltage	•••••	600 140 	600 275 600 275 —50 20 2.4 0.55	volts volts volts volts mA watts watt
CHARACTERISTICS					
DC Plate Voltage DC Grid-No.2 Voltage DC Grid-No.1 Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistence (Approx.		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ -3 \\ 20 \end{array} $	170 120 	volts volts volts
Plate Resistance (Approx. Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage for grid	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	9000 15 -1.3 max	0.35 11000 10 3 —1.3 max	megohm µmhos mA mA volts
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistand For fixed-bias operatio For cathode-bias opera	e: n	·	0.5 0.5	1 2.2	megohm megohms

mining the neater-cathode

• When control grid bias is between -1.5 and -2 volts, maximum screen-grid dissipation is limited to 0.50 watt. When this bias is greater than -2 volts, maximum screen-grid dissipation is 0.36 watt.

For replacement use type 6GK5/6FQ5A.

6GK5

6**GK**5/

6FO



HIGH-MU TRIODE

Miniature type with frame grid used as grounded-cathode rf-amplifier tube in vhf tuners of color and blackand-white television receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 2GK5/2FQ5A, 3GK5, and 4GK5 are identical with type 6GK5/6FQ5A except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Averag Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	0.6 e) 11 ±100 max	3GK5 2.8 0.45 11 ±100 max	4 0.3 11	GK5/6FQ5A 6.3 0.18 x ±100 max	volts ampere seconds volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Heater to Cathode * With external shield connected t	Internal Shie I Internal Shie	eld		0.52 5 3.5 2.5	DF DF DF DF

• With external shield and internal shield connected to ground.

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	200	volts
Negative-bias value	50	volts
Positive-bias value	0	volts
Average Cathode Current	22 2.5	mA
Plate Dissipation	2.5	watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	135	volts
Grid Voltage	—1	volts
Amplification Factor	78	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	5400	ohms
Transconductance	15000	μ mhos
Plate Current	11.5	mA
Input Resistance.	275	ohms
Input Capacitance•	11.2	pF
Noise Figuret	4.7 4.2	dB volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 150 µmhos		
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 1500 µmhos	2.5	volts


MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

POWER PENTODE

6GK6 10GK6, 16GK6

Miniature type used in the output stage of audio amplifying equipment and also in the video output stage of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 10GK6 and 16GK6 are identical with type 6GK6 except for heater ratings.



10

5.7

per cent

watts

6GK6 100	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc) 6.3) 16 volts
Heater Current	5 0.3 ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	1 11 seconds
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage ±100 max ±1	0 max ±100 max volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.14 max pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	
Internal Shield	10 pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	
Internal Shield	7 pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

MARIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Supply Voltage	605	volts
Plate Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	605	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Negative-bias value	100	volts
Cathode Current	65	mA
Plate Dissipation	13.2	watts
Grid-No.2 Input, Peak	4	watts
Grid-No.2 Input, Average	2	watts
CHARACTERISTICS AND TYPICAL OPERATION		
Plate Supply Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	250	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	135	ohms
Mu-Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1	19	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	38000	ohms
Transconductance	11300	μ mhos
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	7.3	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	48	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	50.6	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	5.5	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	10	mA
Effective Load Resistance	5200	ohms

Push-Pull Class AB₁ and Class B Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Class A1 Amplifier)

Total Harmonic Distortion Maximum-Signal Power Output

TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)

	Class	AB1	Cl	ass B	
Plate Voltage	250	300	250	300	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	300	250	300	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage			-11.6		volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	130	130			ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	22.4	28	22.4	28	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	62	72	20	15	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	75	92	75	92	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	7	8	2.2	1.6	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	15	22	15	22	mA
Effective Load Resistance (plate to plate)	8000	8000	8000	8000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	3	4	3	4	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	11	17	11	17	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.3 1	megohm megohm



For replacement use type 6AU4GTA.

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6GM6

5GM6

.....

....

6GK17

6GL7



SEMIREMOTE-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in gain-controlled picture-if stages of color and black-and-white television receivers operating at intermediate frequencies in the order of 40 MHz. Outlines section, 5C; requires 7-contact socket. Type 5GM6 is identical with type 6GM6 except for heater ratings.

- ----

	5GM6	6GM6	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	5.6	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.45	0.4	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11		seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	Unshielded	Shielded	
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.036 max	0.026 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,			
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	10	10	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,			
and Internal Shield	2.4	3.4	\mathbf{pF}
• With external shield connected to cathode.			

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	0 volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	3.1 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	0.65 watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300

6GM5

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage			volts
Grid No.3 (to cathode	at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		125	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		56	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		0.2	megohm
Transconductance		13000	μmhos
Plate Current		14	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		3.4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 60 μ m	hos	15	volts





HIGH-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. Triode unit is used as sync-separator, sync-clipper, phase inverter, or soundif amplifier. Pentode unit is used in output stage of video amplifier. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For direct interelectrode capaci-



9DX

tances, refer to type 6EB8; curve for average plate characteristics of triode unit is same as for type 6EB8. Types 8GN8/8EB8, and 10GN8 are identical with type 6GN8 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value	6GN8 6.3 0.75 − ±200 max	8GN8/8EB8 8 0.6 11 ±200 max	10.5 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds volts
Average value	100 max		100 max	
Class A ₁ Amp	lifier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode	Unit Pent	ode Unit	
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias valu Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	 	3: See curv 0 1 1	ve page 300 0 5	volt watts watts
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 vol- CHARACTERISTICS	us Eriode Unit	See curv	e page 300 de Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor	250 2 100 37000	60 150 0 	200 150 100 60000	volts volts volts ohms ohms

	Triode Unit	Pent	ode Unit	
Transconductance	2700	_	11500	μ mhos
Plate Current	2	55=	25	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		18-	5.5	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of				
20 μ A	—5			volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current				
of 100 μ A			10	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES				
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:				
For find him operation	05	•	95	merchm

For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	1	megohm
			and that the

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.



Refer to chart at end of section.

6GQ7



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

6GS7 5GS7, 7GS7

Miniature type used as a frequency changer in vhf television tuners. Outlines section, 6B; requires 9-contact socket. Types 5GS7 and 7GS7 are identical with type 6GS7 except for heater ratings. Heater: volts, 7.6; ampere, 0.3; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 100 peak, 100 average.

Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	5GS7 5.4 0.45 ±200 max 100 max	6GS7 6.3 0.375 ±200 max 100 max	7GS7 7.6 0.3 ±200 max 100 max	volts ampere volts volts
Class	A ₁ Amplifie	er		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Valu	es)	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Voltage		125	250	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage			150	volts
Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input		1.5	$^{2}_{0.5}$	watts watt
Cathode Current		15	18	mA
CHARACTERISTICS				
Plate Voltage		100	170	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage			150	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		3	-1.2	volts
Plate Current		14	$\begin{array}{c} 10\\ 3.3 \end{array}$	mA mA
Transconductance		5500	12000	μ mhos
Plate Resistance			0.35 min	megohm
Amplification Factor		17		-

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	0.5	—	megohm
For fixed-bias operation		0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation		0.5	megohm

Pentode Unit as Frequency Changer

Plate Voltage			190	vol
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage			190	volt
Oscillator Voltage	 		2.3	volts (rms
rid-No.2 Circuit Resistance			0.018	megohi
Grid-No.1 Circuit Resistance			0.1	megohr
Plate Current			8.5	m
rid-No.2 Current			2.7	m
Frid-No.1 Current	 		30	μ
Plate Resistance	 		0.6	megohi
Conversion Transconductance	 		4500	μmho
Conversion Transconductance		Oscillator	4500	μ

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage	190	volts
Plate Circuit Resistance	8200	ohms
Grid Circuit Resistance	10000	ohms
Oscillator Voltage	4.5	volts(rms)
Plate Current	12	mA
Transconductance	3500	μ mhos

6GT5

Refer to chart at end of section.



BEAM POWER TUBE

Novar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 31A; requires novar 9-contact socket. For curve of average charac-

teristics, refer to type 6GW6. Type 17GT5A is identical with type 6GT5A except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6.3 1.2	17GT5A 16.8 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
	±200 max	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value		100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):			
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.26	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.	5.3	15	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3		6.5	pF

Class A: Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Connection		tode nection	
Plate Voltage	150	60	250	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	150	150	150	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-22.5	0	-22.5	volts
Mu Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1	4.4			
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	—		15000	ohms
Transconductance			7100	μmhos
Plate Current		390*	70	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		32*	2.1	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current				
of 1 mA			-42	volts

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) 770 volts DC Plate Supply Voltage 770 volts Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# 6500 volts



9NZ

292

Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage DC Grid-No.1 Voltage	220 55	volts volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Cathode Current	550	mA
Average Cathode Current	175	mA
Plate Dissipation• Grid-No.2 Input	17.5 3.5	watts watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	240	°C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for grid-resistor-bias operation• 1 megohm # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). • A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6GU5

6**GU**7



MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

8GU7 Miniature type used in the matrixing circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers and in phaseinverter, multivibrator, and general-purpose amplifier applications. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 8GU7 is identical with type 6GU7 except for heater ratings.

	6GU7	8GU7	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	8.4	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Grid to Plate	3	3	pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater	3.4	3.6	pF pF pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	0.44	0.34	pF
Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2	· · · · · · · · · · · 1		pF

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Des Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Positive-bias Plate Dissipation	value				. 0	volts volts watts
Grid Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx						volts volts ohms µmhos
PLATE MILLIAMPERES	No.	2	0	5		

200

PLATE VOLTS

300

400

9205-016511

100

Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 µA Plate Current for grid voltage of14 volts	23	mA volts mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation	1	megohm

6GV5
17GV5

BEAM POWER TUBE

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 39A; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 17GV5 is identical with type 6GV5 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6GV5 6.3 1.2 —	17GV5 16.8 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Peak value	$\pm 200 \max_{100 \max}$	±200 max 100 max	volts volts

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Pentode Connection			Triode* Connection		
Plate Voltage	5000	60	250	150	volts	
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	150	150	150	150	volts	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		0	-22.5	-22.5	volts	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	_		18000		ohms	
Transconductance		—	7300		μmhos	
Amplification Factor				4.4	•	
Plate Current	_	345∎	65		mA	
Grid-No.2 Current		27=	1.8		mA	
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current						
of 1 mA			-42		volts	
* Grid No.2 tied to plate						

• Grid No.2 tied to plate.

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	770	voits
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage	55	volts
Peak Cathode Current	550	mA
Average Cathode Current	175	mA
Plate Dissipation [†]	17.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	220	°C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). † A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

Refer to chart at end of section.





Miniature type used for sync-amplifier and video-out-

put applications in television receivers. Outlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 9GV8/XCL85, 10GV8/ LCL85, and 18GV8/PCL85 are identical with type 6GV8/ECL85 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	6GV8/ ECL85 6.3 0.9 ±220 max	9GV8/ XCL85 9.5 0.6 ±200 max	10GV8/ LCL85 11.6 0.45 ±200 max	18GV8/ PCL85 18 0.3 ±200 max	volts ampere volts
Class A, Amplifier					

Triode Pentode MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values) Unit Unit Plate Supply Voltage Peak Plate Voltage^o DC Plate Voltage 550 550 volts 2000 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage 250 250 volts 550 volts 250 volts Peak Cathode Current* 200 mA 75 Average Cathode Current 15 mA Plate Dissipation 0.5 7 watts Grid-No.2 Input 2 watts CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage 100 50 65 170 volts Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Voltage 170 210 170 volts 0.8 volts ---15 -1 -1 -Amplification Factor 50 Mu-Factor, Grid No.1 to Grid No.2 7 Plate Resistance (Approx.) 7600 25000 ohms 7500 μmhos Transconductance 6500 200+ 240. mA Plate Current 5 41 Grid-No.2 Current 40• 50 • 2.7 mA MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No 1-Circuit Resistance

For fixed-bias operation	1 3.3	$1 \\ 2.2$	megohm megohms

^o Maximum pulse duration 5 per cent of a cycle with a maximum of 1 millisecond.

Maximum pulse duration 200 microseconds .If a larger flyback is required, this value may be reduced to 100 mA with a maximum pulse duration of 400 microseconds.

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum tube ratings will not be exceeded.

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6GW6/6DQ6B.

6GW6

BEAM POWER TUBE

6GW6/ 6DQ6B 12GW6/12DQ6B 17GW6/17D068

Glass octal type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in high-efficiency deflection circuits of television receivers. Outlines section, 20A; requires octal socket. Types 12GW6/12DQ6B and 17GW6/17DQ6B are identical with type 6GW6/6DQ6B except for heater ratings.

	6GW6/ 6DQ6B	12GW6/ 12DQ6B	17GW6/ 17DQ6B	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	12.6	16.8	volts
Heater Current	1.2	0.6	0.45	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	~-	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value	±200 max	±200 max	±200 max	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):				
Grid No.1 to Plate			0.5	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and			17	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Gri	id No.3		7	pF

Class A: Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Connection	Pento	de Connection	
Plate Voltage	150	60	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	150	150	150	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	22.5	Ó	-22.5	volts
Mu-Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1	4.4			
Plate Resistance (Approx.)			15000	ohms
Transconductance			7100	μ mhos
Plate Current		390¢	70	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		32°	2.1	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA			42	volts
* This value can be measured by a method involvi	ing a recurr	ent wa	veform such	that the

* This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	770	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	220	volts
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Cathode Current	550	mA



Average Cathode Current	175	mA
Plate Dissipation•	17.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	240	°C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for grid-resistor-bias operation 1 megohm
Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).
A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

⁴ ⁶²p³ _{κ₁}² _{κ₁}² ₆₇ 9LZ

HIGH-MU TRIODE---SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in preamplifier and audio output stages of audio equipment and television receivers. Outlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.7; maximum heater-cathode volts, 100 peak.

Class A ₁ Ampline	ar i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage	550	550	volts
Plate Voltage	300	300	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	-	550	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	_	300	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Negative-bias value	1.3	1.3	volts
Cathode Current	4	55	mA
Plate Dissipation	0.5	9	watts
	0.5	1.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	_	1.0	watts
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	250	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	_	250	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-1.9	-7	volts
Amplification Factor	100	21*	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		45000	ohms
Transconductance	1600	10000	μ mhos
Plate Current	1.2	36	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		6	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		v	
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation	1	0.5	megohm
(Hid-Ho.1-Offent Resistance, for fixed blas operation	-		

Clace A Amplifier

* Grid No.2 to grid No.1.

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6GY6/6GX6.

6GX6



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

6GX7

Miniature type used as combined oscillator-mixer tube in vhf tuner circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. **Outlines section**, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.4	volts ampere
Peak value Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:**	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Triode Unit: Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode, Grid No.3,	1.2	$_{\rm pF}$
and Internal Shield	2.3	\mathbf{pF}
and Internal Shield	1.9	թF
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,	0.005	\mathbf{pF}
and Internal Shield	5.4	\mathbf{pF}
Internal Shield	$\substack{\textbf{3.3}\\\textbf{1.6}}$	pF pF
** With external shield connected to cathode.		

6GW8/

ECL86

Class A, Ar	nplifier				
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		Triode U	nit Pent	ode Unit	د
Plate Voltage		275	27		volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage			27		volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	· · · · ·		See curv	e page 3	00
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:				^	
Positive-bias value		0 40	4	0	volts
Negative-bias value		20	4		mA
Plate Dissipation		1.5	2.		watts
Grid-No.2 Input:		1.5	4.	6	WALLS
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 137.5 volts		_	0.4	5	watts
For grid-No.2 voltages between 137.5 and			•••	•	
275 volts			See curv	e page 3	00
CHARACTERISTICS	Triod	e Unit	Pento	de Unit	
Plate Voltage	100	125	120	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	_	_	90	125	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage		-1		1	volt
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	0.1		0.1	—	megohm
Amplification Factor	40				
Plate Resistance		4700		200000	ohms
Transconductance	8700	8500	13000	11000	μ mhos
Plate Current	12.5	13	8.5	8	mA
Grid-No.2 Current			2.8	2.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current					
					•.
of 20 μ A	6		2.5		volts

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	0.5	megohm



BEAM POWER TUBE

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 39A; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Types 16GY5 and 21GY5 are identical with type 6GY5 except for heater ratings.

к (5 ⁶³ (4)	NC C) 9) ⁶¹
623	ŧ	1	Юĸ
NC	$\langle \rangle$		Юк 9 ₆₂
ਮੇ	9	Ч.	

12ND

			1201	1
Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6GY5 6.3 1.5 —	16GY5 15.8 0.6 11	21GY5 21 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	±200 ma 100 ma	

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Pento	de Conne	ction	Triode† Connection	
Plate Voltage	5000	60	130	130	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	130	130	130	130	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		0	20	20	volts
Amplification Factor			_	4.7	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	-		11000	—	ohms
Transconductance		—	9100		μ mhos
Plate Current		410**	50	-	· mA
Grid-No.2 Current		24**	1.75	—	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 μ A	66			_	volts

** This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded. † Grid No.2 tied to plate.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	Voltage#	770	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate		6500	volts

Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage DC Grid-No.2 Voltage DC Grid-No.1 Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation ^{††} Grid-No.2 Input	1500 220 55 330 800 230 18 3.5	volts volts volts mA mA watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	220	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

6GY6 6GY6/ 6GX6



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in gated-agc-amplifier circuits and as a noise-inverter tube in color and black-and-white television receivers. Tube has two independent control grids. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) 6.3 volts Heater Current 0.45 ampere Heater Current 0.45 ampere Heater Cathode Voltage: 11 seconds Peak value ±200 max volts Average value 100 max volts Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: 0.026 pF Grid No.1 to Plate 0.026 pF Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and 8 pF Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 0.12 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 6.5 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 6.5 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 6.5 pF Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.2 Current 3700 µmhos Plate Resistance (Approx.) 10 volts Grid-No.2 Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.)			
Heater Warm-up Time (Average) 11 seconds Heater-Cathode Voltage: ±200 max volts Peak value ±200 max volts Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: 100 max volts Grid No.1 to Plate 0.026 pF Grid No.1 to Grid No.3 0.12 pF Grid No.1 to Grid No.3 0.12 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and 8 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 6.5 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 6.5 pF Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor 180 ohms Plate Resistance (Approx.) 180 ohms Plate Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) 3 mA Grid-No.2 Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) 3 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) 7		6.3	volts
Heater-Cathode Voltage: ±200 max volts Peak value ±200 max volts Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: 100 max volts Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and 0.026 pF Grid No.1 to Grid No.3 0.12 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 1.6 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield 1.6 pF CHARACTERISTICS Plate 0 volts grid-No.2 sopply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage 100 volts 0 volts grid-No.2 sopply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage 0 volts 0 volts grid-No.2 sopply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage 0 volts 100 volts grid-No.3 sopply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage 0 0 volts grid-No.3 softs grid-No.3 softs grid-No.3 softs grid-No.3 softs grid-No.3	Heater Current	0.45	ampere
Peak value $\pm 200 \max$ maxvoltsDirect Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate100 maxvoltsDirect Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate0.026pFGrid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield8pFGrid No.3 to Grid No.30.12pFGrid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield6.5pFClass A, AmplifierCHARACTERISTICSPlate Supply Voltage150voltsGrid-No.3 Supply Voltage0voltsGrid-No.1 Supply Voltage100voltsGrid-No.1 Supply Voltage0voltsGrid-No.2 Supply Voltage0voltsGrid-No.2 Supply Voltage0voltsGrid-No.2 Supply Voltage0voltsGrid-No.2 Supply Voltage0voltsGrid-No.3 Supply Voltage3.00voltsGrid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.)0.14megohmTransconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate3.7mAGrid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μ A-4.5Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise InverterFor operation in a 525-line, 30-frame systemMAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)0voltsPlate Voltage00volts0Peak Positive-Dias value0voltsScrid-No.2 (Corrent-Grid) Supply Voltage300voltsGrid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage#0voltsPositive-Dias value0 </td <td></td> <td>11</td> <td>seconds</td>		11	seconds
Average value 100 max volts Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: 0.026 pF Grid No.1 to Plate 0.026 pF Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and 8 pF Grid No.1 to Grid No.3 0.12 pF Grid No.3 to Gathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 1.6 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 6.5 pF CHARACTERISTICS 0 volts 0 volts Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage 0 volts 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts 0 volts Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage 0 volts 37.0 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 37.0 µmhos 75.0 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 37.0 µmhos 4.5 volts <	Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: 0.026 pF Grid No.1 to Plate 0.026 pF Grid No.1 to Grid No.3 0.12 pF Grid No.3 to Gathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 0.12 pF Grid No.3 to Gathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 1.6 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 6.5 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 6.5 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 6.5 pF Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts 0 Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor 180 ohmms 180 ohms Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 µmhos 750 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate current of 20 µA -7 volts -7 volts Grid-No.2 Current 3 3 mA -7 volts -7 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate cur			
Grid No.1 to Plate 0.026 pF Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and 8 pF Grid No.1 to Grid No.3 0.12 pF Grid No.3 to Plate 1.6 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 6.5 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 6.5 pF Grid No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 3.7 mA Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.2 Current 3.7 mA -7 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current o		100 max	volts
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and 8 pF Grid No.1 to Grid No.3 0.12 pF Grid No.3 to Plate 1.6 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield 6.5 pF Class A, Amplifier CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor 180 ohms Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 3700 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 3.7 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts			
Internal Shield 8 pF Grid No.1 to Grid No.3 0.12 pF Grid No.3 to Plate 1.6 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield 6.5 pF Class A, Amplifier CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor 180 ohms Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 µmhos Plate Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.2 Current 3 mA Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA<	Grid No.1 to Plate	0.026	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Grid No.3 0.12 pF Grid No.3 to Plate 0.16 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, 1.6 pF and Internal Shield 6.5 pF Class A, Amplifier CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor 180 ohms Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 3.7 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.3 Control-Grid) Voltage			_
Grid No.3 to Plate 1.6 pF Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield 6.5 pF Class A, Amplifier Characterstrics Plate Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor 180 ohms Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter 500 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 100 volts Maximum Values) 100 volts Plate Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 100 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Plate, Grid No.1, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield 6.5 pF Class A, Amplifier CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage 150 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor 180 ohms Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 750 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 750 µmhos Plate Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA 7 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -0 -0 Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts 0 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage 0 00	Grid No.1 to Grid No.3		
and Internal Shield 6.5 pF Class A, Amplifier CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor 180 ohms Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 3.7 mA Grid-No.2 Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system 600 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 100 volts 0 volts Peak Positive-Duse Plate Voltage# 600 volts 0 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 0 volts<	Grid No.3 to Flate	1.6	քե
Class A, Amplifier CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage 150 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 100 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor 180 ohms Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 µmhos Plate Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.2 Current 3 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 300 volts volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 0 volts			- 17
CHARACTERISTICS 150 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Voltage O volts Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Voltage O volts Colspan="2">Voltage O volts Colspan="2">Voltage Voltage O volts Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Voltage Voltage Plate Current State Resistance (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA O peration in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Negative-bias value Negative-bias value Negative-bias value Negative-bias value Negative-bias value	and Internal Shield	6.5	рг
CHARACTERISTICS 150 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Voltage O volts Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Voltage O volts Colspan="2">Voltage O volts Colspan="2">Voltage Voltage O volts Colspan="2">Colspan="2">Voltage Voltage Plate Current State Resistance (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA O peration in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Negative-bias value Negative-bias value Negative-bias value Negative-bias value Negative-bias value	Class A. Amplifier		
Plate Supply Voltage 150 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor 180 ohms Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 750 µmhos Plate Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.2 Current 3 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.3 Control-Grid) Voltage 300 volts volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage# 600 volts 0 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage </td <td>CHARACTERISTICS</td> <td></td> <td></td>	CHARACTERISTICS		
Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor 180 ohms Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 3.7 mA Grid-No.2 Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Grid-No.2 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 100 volts Grid-No.3 (Control		150	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage 100 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistance (Approx.) 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 µmhos Plate Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.2 Current 3 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Gated AGC AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) 300 volts Plate Voltage 600 volts Regative-bias value 0 volts Negative-bias value 0 volts Grid-No.2 Sce curve page 300 volts </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage 0 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor 180 ohms Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 3700 µmhos Plate Resistance 3700 µmhos Plate Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage 600 volts Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# 600 volts o volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage 0 volts 0 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: See curve page 300 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Positive-bias value 50 volts 9 volts			
Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.14 megohm Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 µmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 750 µmhos Plate Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.2 Current 3 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) 9 Plate Voltage 600 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 0 volts 0 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts 0 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage: See curve page 300 curve page 300 curve page 300 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Negative-bias value 50 volts	Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage	0	volts
Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 3700 μmhos Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 750 μmhos Plate Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.2 Current 3 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA -7 volts Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) 300 volts Plate Voltage 600 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 100 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage 300 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: See curve page 300 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: Negative-bias value 50 volts Positive-bias value 50 volts	Cathode-Bias Resistor	180	ohms
Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 750 μmhos Plate Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.3 Current 3 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA -7 volts Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter -4.5 volts For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.14	megohm
Plate Current 3.7 mA Grid-No.2 Current 3 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA -7 volts Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) 300 volts Plate Voltage 600 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage# 600 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 300 volts Negative-bias value 0 volts Positive-bias value 50 volts Prid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Negative-bias value 2 volts	Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate	3700	μ mhos
Grid-No.2 Current 3 mA Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter -4.5 volts For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage 300 volts Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# 600 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 0 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts 0 volts Grid-No.2 Voltage 300 volts See curve page 300 Grid-No.1 Control-Grid) Voltage: See curve page 300 volts Grid-No.1 Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Negative-bias value 50 volts 50 volts	Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate		μ mhos
Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -7 volts Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA -4.5 volts Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) 300 volts Plate Voltage 600 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage# 600 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage 0 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage: 300 volts Negative-bias value 50 volts Positive-bias value 50 volts Vertex-bias value 50 volts			
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA. -4.5 volts Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage 300 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 100 volts Negative-bias value 0 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage 300 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: See curve page 300 See curve page 300 Negative-bias value 50 volts Positive-bias value 50 volts			
Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage 300 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 600 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage 300 volts Grid-No.2 (Voltage See curve page 300 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Negative-bias value 50 volts			
For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage 300 volts Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# 600 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 100 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage 300 volts Grid-No.2 Voltage See curve page 300 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts	Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA .	-4.5	volts
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage 300 volts Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# 600 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 100 volts Negative-bias value 0 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage: 300 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: See curve page 300 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Negative-bias value 0 Voltage 300 volts	Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter		
Plate Voltage 300 volts Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# 600 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 100 volts Negative-bias value 0 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage: 300 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: See curve page 300 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts	For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system		
Plate Voltage 300 volts Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# 600 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 100 volts Negative-bias value 0 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage: 300 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: See curve page 300 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts	MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# 600 volts Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 100 volts Negative-bias value 0 volts Grid-No.2 Voltage 300 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: See curve page 300 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts Orid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 Voltage 0 volts		900	
Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 100 volts Negative-bias value 0 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage 300 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage See curve page 300 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: See curve page 300 Positive-bias value 50 volts Positive-bias value 2 volts	Plate Voltage		
Negative-bias value 100 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage 300 volts Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: See curve page 300 Grid-No.1 (control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts 0		000	voits
Positive-bias value 0 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage 300 volts Grid-No.2 Voltage See curve page 300 See curve page 300 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: See curve page 300 See curve page 300 Positive-bias value 50 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts	Numerica in the main and the second s	100	wolte
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage 300 volts Grid-No.2 Voltage See curve page 300 See curve page 300 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: 50 volts Negative-bias value 0 volts 0			
Grid-No.2 Voltage See curve page 300 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: See curve page 300 Negative-bias value 50 volts Positive-bias value 0 volts	Crid No 2 (Senson Crid) Supply Voltage		
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage: Negative-bias value Positive-bias value 0 volts	Grid-No 2 Voltage		
Negative-bias value	Grid-No 1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:	~~~ ~~~	
Positive-bias value	Negative-bias value	50	volts
			volts
		1.7	watts



Screen-Grid (Grid-No. 2) Input Rating Chart



For certain voltage amplifier types, as listed in the data section, the maximum permissible screen-grid (grid-No. 2) input varies with the screen-grid voltage, as shown in the chart above. (This chart cannot be assumed to apply to types other than those for which it is specified in the data section.) Full rated screen-grid input is permissible at screen-grid voltages up to 50 per cent of the maximum rated screen-grid supply voltage. From the 50-per-cent point to the full rated value of supply voltage, the screen-grid input must be decreased. The decrease in allowable screen-grid input follows a curve of the parabolic form. This rating chart is useful for applications utilizing either a fixed screen-grid voltage or a series screen-grid voltage-dropping resistor.

When a fixed voltage is used, it is necessary only to determine that the screen-grid input is within the boundary of the operating area on the chart at the selected value of screen-grid voltage to be used. When a voltagedropping resistor is used, the minimum value of resistor that will assure tube operation within the boundary of the curve can be determined from the following relation:

$$R_{g^2} \geq \frac{E_{c2} (E_{cc2} - E_{c2})}{P_{c2}}$$

where R_{z^2} is the minimum value for the voltage-dropping resistor in ohms, E_{c^2} is the selected screen-grid voltage in volts, E_{cc^2} is the screen-grid supply voltage in volts, and P_{c^2} is the screengrid input in watts corresponding to E_{c^2} .

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance	0.68	megohm
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :		c.
For fixed-bias operation	0.22	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.47	megohm
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle	e (10	microseconds).



Refer to chart at end of section.	6GY8
Refer to chart at end of section.	6GZ5
Refer to chart at end of section.	6H6
Refer to chart at end of section.	6H6GT
For replacement use type 6HM5/6HA5.	6HA5



HIGH-MU TRIODE

6HA5-S

Miniature type used as rf-amplifier tube in vhf television tuners. Outlines section, 5B; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Type 6HA5-S is electrically identical with type 6HM5/6HA5.

For replacement use type 6HB6/6HA6.

6HA6

6HB5



BEAM POWER TUBE

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 15B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	1.5	amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		•.
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	volts

Class A. Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Pento	de Conne	ction	Triode* Connection	
Plate Voltage	5000	60	130	130	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	130	130	130	130	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		0	20	20	volts
Amplification Factor				4.7	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		—	11000		ohms
Transconductance	<u> </u>		9100	_	μ mhos
Plate Current		410=	50		mA
Grid-No.2 Current	_	24•	1.75	_	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA	66	_	33	-	volts

Grid No.2 tied to plate.

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	770	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6000	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage		volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Cathode Current	800	mA
Average Cathode Current	230	mA
Plate Dissipation [†]	18	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	220	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUI

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance 1 megohm # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

† A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6HB6 6HB6/6HA6

Refer to chart at end of section.



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE----SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used as combined oscillator and mixer tube in color and black-and-white television receivers utilizing an intermediate frequency in the order of 40 MHz. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9contact socket. Type 5HB7 is identical with type 6HB7 except for heater ratings.



9QA

	5HB7	6HB7	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.7	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	±200 max	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances : 🗠			
Triode Unit :			_
Grid to Plate		1.9	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Grid No.3, and Interi		3	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Grid No.3, and Intern	ial Shield	1.9	pF
Pentode Unit:			-
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.010 max	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No 1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No		_	
Internal Shield	••••••••	5	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		•	
Shield		3.4	pF
Heater to Cathode	• • • • • • • • • •	3.8	pF
▲ With external shield connected to cathode except as noted			

" With external shield connected to ground,

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode I	Init Pentod	e Unit
Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		See curve	page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:			•
Positive-bias value	0	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	2.5	3.1	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:			
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts		0.55	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	_	See curve	page 300
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Supply Voltage	150	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		125	volts
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage	6	<u> </u>	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	56		ohms
Amplification Factor	40		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.005	0.2	megohm
Transconductance	8500	6400	μ mhos
Plate Current	18	12	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	—	4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of		-	
10 $\mu \mathbf{A}$		9	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :			
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	0.5	megohm



Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

For replacement use type 6JB5/6HE5.



BEAM POWER TUBE

6HF5

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 16B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 2.25; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Class A1 Amplifier

6HD7

6HE5

Class	A ₁	Amp	lifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Pentode Connection			Triode* Connection	x
Plate Voltage	5000	70	175	125	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	125	125	125	125	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		0	25	25	volts
Amplification Factor			—	3	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		<u> </u>	5600	<u> </u>	ohms
Transconductance			11300	-	μ mhos
Plate Current		570-	125		mA
Grid-No.2 Current		34=	4.5	-	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA	—140		—54	—	volts

Grid No.2 tied to plate.

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	900	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# (Absolute Maximum)	7500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1100	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	190	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	1100	mA
Average Cathode Current	315	mA
Plate Dissipation [†]	28	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	5.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	225	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance 1 megohm # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

▲ Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded.

† A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6HF8

HIGH-MU TRIODE SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The triode unit is used in high-gain, sound-if stages and in sync-separator, sync-clipper, and phase-inverter circuits; the pentode unit is used as a video-output amplifier. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For



9DX

curves of average characteristics, refer to type 6AW8A for the triode unit and to type 6EB8 for the pentode unit. Type 10HF8 is identical with type 6HF8 except for heater ratings.

	HF8	10HF8	•.
	6.3	10.5	volts
	.75	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	-	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value ±	200 max	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Triode Unit:			
Grid to Plate		3.5	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode, Grid No.3.			• -
and Internal Shield		2.8	рF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode, Grid No.3,			
and Internal Shield		2.6	σF
Pentode Unit:			-
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.1 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,			-
and Internal Shield		10	pF
Plate to Cathode. Heater. Grid No.2. Grid No.3.			•
and Internal Shield		4.2	pF
Triode Grid to Pentode Plate		0.015 max	pF

Class A ₁ MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Value				entode Unit	
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bia Plate Dissipation	s value	330		antode Unit 330 330 curve page 0 5	volts volts
Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 33		=	See	1.1 curve page	watts
CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Uni	t	Pent	ode Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 μA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA	200 2 70 17500 4000 4 6	-	45 125 0 40• 15•	200 125 68 75000 12500 25 7 9	volts volts volts ohms µmhos mA mA volts volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		Triode U 0.5 1	nit F	entode Uni 0.25 1	t megohm megohm

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

Gip(2 20 9MP

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type with frame-grid pentode unit used as combined oscillator and mixer tubes in vhf color and

black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 5HG8/LCF86 and 7HG8/PCF86 are identical with type 6HG8/ECF86 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	5HG8/ LCF86 5.3 0.45 11 ±100 max	6HG8/ ECF86 6.3 0.34 ±100 max	7HG8/ PCF86 7.2 0.3 ±100 max	volts ampere seconds volts
Class A	Amplifier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Value	es)	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Voltage		125	250	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage			150	volta
Cathode Current		15	18	mA
Plate Dissipation		1.5	2 0.5	watts watt
Grid-No.2 Input			0.0	wall
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Amplification Factor	.	$ \frac{100}{-3} \frac{3}{17} $	170 150 	volts volts volts

6HG8/ ECF86

5HG8/LCF86 7HG8/PCF86

6HG5

6HG8

Mu-Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1 Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current		5500 14	70 0.35 12000 10 3.3	megohm µmhos mA mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES				
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	••••••••••••••••	0.5	0.25 0.5	megohm megohm
6HJ5	Refer to chart a	t end of	section.	

Refer to chart at end of section.

6HJ8 6HK5

6HL8

Refer to chart at end of section.

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The triode unit is used as a sync-separator or voltage-amplifier tube, and the pentode unit is used as a video if-amplifier, agc-amplifier, or reactance tube. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.6; warm-up time (average), 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.



Class A ₁ Amplifier	r		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode U	nit Pentode Un	it
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330	330 330	volts volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation	0 2.5	See curve pag 0 2.5	e 300 volts watts
Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	=	0.55 See curve pag	watt e 300
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Amplification Factor	125 1 40	125 125 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	volts volts volt
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current	$5000 \\ 7000 \\ 12.5$	150000 10000 12	ohms µmhos mA
Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA	_	4.5 7	mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	1	_	megohm

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance

6HM5

For replacement use type 6HM5/6HA5.



HIGH-MU TRIODE

Miniature type used as rf-amplifier tube in vhf color and black-and-white television tuners. Outlines section. 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 2HM5/ 2HA5, 3HM5/3HA5, and 4HM5/4HA5 are identical with type 6HM5/6HA5 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage		3HM5/ 3HA5 2.7 0.45 ±110 max	4HM5/ 4HA5 4.0 0.3 ±110 max	6HM5/ 6HA5 6.3 0.18 ±110 max	volts ampere volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode, Heater, Intern Plate to Cathode, Heater, Intern Cathode to Plate Cathode to Heater, Grid, Intern Heater to Cathode Heater to Grid	al Shield, nal Shield, al Shield,	and External and External and External	Shield Shield Shield	0.36 4.3 0.080 2.9 3.1 2.3 0.070 max	pF pF pF pF pF pF pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage	220	volts
DC Plate Supply Voltage	600	volts
Grid Voltage		volts
Cathode Current	22	mA
Plate Dissipation	2.6	watts

CHARACTERISTICS AND TYPICAL OPERATION

	Fixe	d Bias	Catho	de Bias	
DC Plate Supply Voltage	135	135	135	135	volts
Plate-Load Resistor			1000	5600	ohms
Internal-Shield Voltage	0	0	0	0	volts
DC Grid Voltage	1	-2.7			volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	_		0	87	ohms
Amplification Factor	72		80	72	
Transconductance	14500	1500	20000	14500	μmhos
Plate Current	11.5		19	11.5	mA
DC Grid Current			10		μA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for one-per-cent					
transconductance	-	_	5.3	-8.1	volts

Refer to chart at end of section.



HIGH-MU TRIODE

6HQ5 2HQ5, 3HQ5, 4HQ5

6HM6

Miniature type used as grounded-cathode rf-amplifier tube in vhf tuners of television receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 2HQ5, 3HQ5, and 4HQ5 are identical with type 6HQ5 except for heater ratings.

	2HQ5	3HQ5	4HQ5	6HQ5	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	2.4	3	4.2	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.3	0.2	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average) .		11	11		seconds
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage		$\pm 100 \text{ max}$	$\pm 100 \text{ max}$	$\pm 100 \text{ max}$	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (.	Approx.) :*				
Grid to Plate				0.52	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Ir	ternal Shiel	ldi		5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and In	nternal Shiel	ldi		3.5	pF
Heater to Cathode				2.5	pF
* With external shield connected to	cathode.				

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	200	volts
Grid Voltage, Negative-bias Value	50	volts
Cathode Current	22	mA
Plate Dissipation	2.5	watts

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	135	volts
Grid Voltage	—1	volt
Amplification Factor	78	
Plate Resistance	5400	ohms
Transconductance	15000	μ mhos
Plate Current	11.5	mA
Input Resistance**	275	ohms
Input Capacitance**	11.2	pF dB
Noise Figure#	4.7	
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 150 µmhos	4.2	volts
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 1500 µmhos	2.5	volts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

For a neutralized triode amplifier at a frequency of 200 MHz with signal source impedance adjusted for minimum noise output.

6HR5

Refer to chart at end of section.

6HR6

Refer to chart at end of section.

6HS5

BEAM TRIODE

Duodecar type used as a pulse-type regulator in the high-voltage power supply of color television receivers. Outlines section, 15F; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 1.5.



Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Pulse Plate Voltage*		
Grid-Voltage, Negative-bias value	4.4	volts
Peak Plate Current		mA
Amplification Factor		-
Transconductance		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	4600	ohms
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA	-13	volts

* Duty cycle of the pulse must be less than 2.5%.

High-Voltage Regulator Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Peak Plate Voltage# Plate Dissipation Peak Plate Current		5500 30 325	volts watts mA
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	•	-450 100 220	volts volts °C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-Circuit Resistance ⁴		0.1 n	negohm

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). Δ Larger values of grid-circuit resistance may be used if provisions are made to protect the tube.



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

6HS6

Miniature type used as if-amplifier and limiter tube in FM receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	100 max	VOILS
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.006 max	volts
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	8.8	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		-
Internal Shield	5.2	pF

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Supply Voltage		300	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage Positive Value		Ő	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		300	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		See curve	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:			
Negative-bias value		50	volts
Positive-bias value		0	volts
Plate Dissipation		3	volts
Grid-No.2 Input:			
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts		1	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts		See curve	page 300
CHARACTERISTICS			
	75	150	volta
Plate Supply Voltage		150 to cathode	volts at. socket
Plate Supply Voltage Grid No.3 Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	Connected	to cathode	at socket
Plate Supply Voltage Grid No.3 Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage			at socket volts
Plate Supply Voltage Grid No.3 Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor	Connected 75	to cathode 75	at socket
Plate Supply Voltage Grid No.3 Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor	Connected 75 0	to cathode 75 0	at socket volts volts
Plate Supply Voltage Grid No.3 Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor• Plate Resistance (Approx.)	Connected 75 0 68	to cathode 75 0 68	at socket volts volts ohms
Plate Supply Voltage Grid No.3 Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor* Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance	Connected 75 0 68	to cathode 75 0 68	at socket volts volts
Plate Supply Voltage Grid No.3 Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor• Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current	Connected 75 0 68	to cathode 75 0 68 	at socket volts volts ohms megohm
Plate Supply Voltage Grid No.3 Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor• Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current	Connected 75 0 68	to cathode 75 0 68 0.5 9500	at socket volts volts ohms megohm µmhos
Plate Supply Voltage Grid No.3 Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor* Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance	Connected 75 0 68	to cathode 75 0 68 0.5 9500 8.8	at socket volts volts ohms megohm µmhos mA

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

• Grid No.2 connected to plate.





SHARP-CUTOFF TWIN PENTODE

Miniature type used in agc amplifier, sync, and noiselimiting circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. One pentode unit is used as combined sync separator and sync clipper; second pentode unit is used as agc amplifier. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 3HS8 and 4HS8 are identical with type 6HS8 except for heater ratings.



	3HS8	4HS8	6HS8	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	3.5	4.2	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.3	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	_	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				secondo
Peak value		$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value			100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:				
Grid No.3 to Plate (Each Unit)			2	pF
Grid No.1 to All Other Electrodes			6	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.3 (Each Unit) to All Other El	ectrodes		3.6	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
Plate (Each Unit) to All Other Electrode	s		3	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{\bar{F}}$
Grid No.3 (Unit No.1) to Grid No.3 (Uni	t No.2)		0.015 max	$\hat{p}\hat{F}$

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage (Each Unit)		300	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage (Each Unit):			
Peak positive value		50	volts
DC negative value		50	volts
DC positive value		3	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		150	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Negative-bias value		50	volts
Cathode Current		12	mA
Plate Dissipation (Each Unit)	••••	1.1	watts
Grid-No.2 Input		0.75	watt
(manoz mpat)	· · · · · · • •	0.10	wall
CHARACTERISTICS With One Unit Operating	•		
Plate Voltage	100	100	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	0	0	volts
Grid-No 2 Voltage	67.5	67.5	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	0	•	volts
Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate	_	450	μmhos

Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate	1100		μmhos
Plate Current	_	2	mA
Grid-No.3 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of			
100 μ A	_	-3.5	volts
Grid-No 1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of			
100 µA		-2.3	volts





With Both Units Operating		
Plate Voltage (Each Unit) 100 Grid-No.3 Voltage (Each Unit) 10 Grid-No.2 Voltage 67.5 Grid-No.1 Voltage	100 0 67.5 2	volts volts volts volts mA
Grid-No.2 Current 7 Cathode Current 7.1	4.4 8.5	mA mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance (Each Unit) Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance • With plate and grid No.3 of other unit connected to ground. • Adjusted to give grid-No.1 current of 0.1 milliampere.	. 0.5 . 0.5	megohm megohm
Refer to chart at end of section.	6HU6/	EM87
Refer to chart at end of section.	6HU8/	ELL80
Refer to chart at end of section.	6H\	/5



12GY

BEAM TRIODE

6HV5A

Duodecar type used as a pulse-type regulator in the high-voltage power supply of color television receivers. Outlines section, 15F; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 1.8.

CHARACTERISTICS

Pulse Plate Voltage* Grid No.2 (Beam Plate) Connected to cathode at 4.4 volts socket Grid-Voltage, Negative-bias value Peak Plate Current volts 300 mA Amplification Factor 300 Transconductance 65000 µmhos Plate Resistance (Approx.) Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA 4600 ohms -13 volts * Duty cycle of the pulse must be less than 2.5%.

Class A₁ Amplifier

High-Voltage Regulator Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Peak Plate Voltage# Plate Dissipation Peak Plate Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:		5500 35 325	volts watts mA
Peak value	-	450	volts
Average value		100	volts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)		240	°C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-Circuit Resistance▲ 0.1 megohm # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). ▲ Larger values of grid-circuit resistance may be used if provisions are made to protect the tube.

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6JH5/6JD5/6HZ5.

6HZ6

SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used as sound-detector tube in FM and color and black-and-white television receivers. Tube has two independent control grids. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Type 5HZ6 is identical with type 6HZ6 except for heater ratings.



7EN

	5HZ6	6HZ6	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.75	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	±200 max	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):			10.04
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.023	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode. Heater. Grid No.2. Grid No.3.			P-
Internal Shield		8.2	ոթ
Grid No.1 to Grid No.3		0.09	pF pF
		1.6	pr
Grid No.3 to Plate		1.0	pr
Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.1, Grid No.2,			. 13
and Internal Shield		7.2	pF

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage	150	volts
Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage	0	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	100	volts
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage	0	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	180	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.11	megohm
Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate	3400	μ mhos
Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate	600	μ mhos
Plate Current	3.2	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3.2	mA
Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μ A	7	volts
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μ A .	-4.5	volts



FM Sound Detector

MAAIMOM KAIMUS (Design-maaimum values)	MAXIMUM	RATINGS	(Design-Maximum	Values)
--	---------	---------	-----------------	---------

Plate Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		
Negative value (dc and peak ac)	100	volts
Positive value (dc and peak ac)	25	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curv	ve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		
Negative-bias value	50	volts
Positive-bias value	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	1.7	watts

Grid-No.3 Input Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	0.1 1 See cur	watt watt ve page 300
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.68 0.22 0.47	megohm megohm megohm
Refer to chart at end of section.	6H)	Z8
Refer to chart at end of section.	61	4
Refer to chart at end of section.	6J4	AW
Refer to chart at end of section.	6J 5L6	-
Refer to chart at end of section.	6J	6

MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

6J6A



Miniature type used as combined rf power amplifier and oscillator or as twin af amplifier. With push-pull arrangement of the grids and the plates in parallel, this type can also be used as a mixer at frequencies as high as 600 MHz. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Type 5J6 is identical with type 6J6A except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	5J6 4.7	6J6A 6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 100 \text{ max}$	$\pm 100 \text{ max}$	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances			
(Each Unit, Approx.):	Unshielded	Shielded	
Grid to Plate	1.6	1.6	\mathbf{pF}
Grid to Cathode and Heater	2.2	2.6	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater (Unit No.1)	0.4	1.6	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode and Heater (Unit No.2)	0.4	1	pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM KATINGS (Design-Maximum values)		
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value	300 0	volts volts
Plate Dissipation	1.5	watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	100	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	50†	ohms
Amplification Factor	38	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	7100	ohms
Transconductance	5300	μ mhos
Plate Current	8.5	mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation		ecommended
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	megohm

[†] Value is for both units operating at the specified conditions.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

RF Power Amp	lifier and Oscillator-Class C Telegraphy	
Key-down	conditions per tube without modulation	
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-	Center Values, Each Unit)	
		volts
Grid Voltage: Negative-bias value		volts
		volts
		mA
		mA watts
	1.5	watts
TYPICAL PUSH-PULL OPERAT	ION (Both Units)	
		volts
	······	volts mA
		mA
		watt
Power Output (Approx.) • Obtained by grid resistor (62	3.5 25 ohms), cathode-bias resistor (220 ohms), or fixed	watts supply.
6J6WA	Refer to chart at end of section.	
6J6WB	Refer to chart at end of section.	
6J7		
6J7G	Refer to chart at end of section.	
	noter to chart at that of section.	
6J7GT		
6J8G	Refer to chart at end of section.	
6J9	Refer to chart at end of section.	
	Refer to chart at end of section.	
6J10	For replacement use type 6Z10/6J10.	
<i></i>		
6J11	Refer to chart at end of section.	
6JA5	Refer to chart at end of section.	
6JB5	For replacement use type 6JB5/6HE5.	

6JB5/6HE5 BEAM POWER TUBE



Duodecar type used as vertical-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 15D; requires duodecar 12-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Cathode Voltage:		6.3 0.8	volts ampere
Peak value		±200 max	volts
Average value		100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		a /a	-
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.49	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3		9.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3		6.5	pF
Class A ₁ Amplifier			
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	60	250	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	250	250	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	Ŏ	-20	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		50000	ohms
Transconductance	_	4100	μmhos
Plate Current	180=	43	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	20-	3.5	mA
	40	0.0	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of		**	
100 μ A			volts

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Vertical-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	350 2500	volts volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	300	volts
Peak Cathode Current	260 75	mA mA
Plate Dissipation [†]	15	watts
Grid-No.2 Input† Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	$2.75 \\ 200$	watts °C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		megohm 1egohms
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5	milliseconds)	•

[†] A resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

Refer to chart at end of section.



BEAM POWER TUBE

6JB6A

6JB6

12JB6A, 17JB6A

.....

Novar types used as high-efficiency horizontal-deflection amplifiers in television receivers. Outlines section, 32A; requires novar 9-contact socket. Types 12JB6A and 17JB6A are identical with type 6JB6A except for heater ratings.

.......

.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6JB6A 6.3 1.2	12JB6A 12.6 0.6 11	17 JB6A 16.8 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value		±200 max 100 max		
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid	Grid No.3		0.2 15 6	pF pF pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Connection		tode rection	
Plate Voltage	150	60	150	volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)		Connected	to cathode	at socket
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		150	150	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-22.5	0 -	22.5	volts
Mu-Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1	4.4			
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	<u> </u>	_	15000	ohms
Transconductance	-		7100	μ mhos
Plate Current		390-	70	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		32=	2.1	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 1 mA		_	-42	volts
Grid No.2 connected to plate.				

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	770	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts

Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.3 Voltage ⁺	70	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage		volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Cathode Current	550	mA
Average Cathode Current	175	mA
Plate Dissipation.	17.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	240	°C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for grid-resistor-bias operation 1 megohm # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). † For horizontal-deflection service, a positive voltage may be applied to grid No.3 to minimize "snivets" interference in both vhf and uhf television receivers. A typical value is 30 volts. • A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

6JC6

Refer to chart at end of section.

6JC6A

3JC6A, 4JC6A Miniature type with frame grid used in if-amplifier stages of color and black-and-white television receivers utilizing intermediate frequencies in the order of 40 MHz. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 4JC6 is identical with type 6JC6 except for heater ratings. Types 3JC6A and 4JC6A are identical with type 6JC6A except for heater ratings.



9PM

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	3JC6A 3.5 0.6 11	4JC6A 4.5 0.45 11	6JC6A 6.3 0.3	volts ampere seconds
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max		
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2. Grid	No.3. and	0.0	19 max	pF
Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.		8	.5	pF
Internal Shield		· · · · ·	3	pF

Class A. Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value 330 330 volts 0 volta Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage 33Ŏ 33ñ volts See curve page 300

Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation	0 2.5	0 3.1	volts watts
Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts CHARACTERISTICS	0.6	0.7 See	watt curve page 300
Plate Supply Voltage	125 Con	125 nected to e	volts athode at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	125	125	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	56	56	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.18	0.18	megohm
Transconductance	15000	16000	μmhos
Plate Current	13	14	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3.2	3.4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 µA	3	3	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.25 1	0.25 1	megohm megohm





....

6JC8

Miniature type used as combined vhf oscillator and mixer tube in television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.45; warm-up time (average), 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum values)	Triode Unit	Pentode Uni	t
Plate Voltage	275	275	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		275	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	—	See curv	e page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	1.7	2.3	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:			
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 137.5 volts		0.45	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 137.5 and 275 volts		See curv	e page 300
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	125	100 12	5 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		70 12	5 volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	1	0 —	-1 volt
Amplification Factor	40		-
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	6000	— 30000	
Transconductance	6500	5700 550	0 μmhos
Plate Current	12	<u> </u>	9 mA
Grid-No.2 Current	—	2.	2 mA

Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA	-7		6.5 volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	Ξ	0.1 0.5	megohm megohm

6JD5

For replacement use type 6JH5/6JD5/6HZ5

SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

6JD6 3JD6, 4JD6

Miniature type with frame grid used as if-amplifier tube in color and black-and-white television receivers utilizing an intermediate frequency in the order of 40 MHz. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 3JD6 and 4JD6 are identical with type 6JD6 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	0.6	4JD6 4.5 0.45 11	6JD6 6.3 0.3 —	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid N	log and	0.0	19 max	pF
Internal Shield		8	3.2	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, Internal Shield			3	pF
Class A ₁ Amplif	ier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)				

Plate Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	0 volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	2.5 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	0.6 watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300



CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Supply Voltage	125	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	0	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	125	volts

Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 600 µmhos	0 56 160000 14000 15 4 4.5	volts ohms ohms µmhos mA mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.25 1	megohm megohm
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6MJ6/6LQ6/6JE6C.	6JE	6
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6MJ6/6LQ6/6JE6C.	6JE6	БА
For replacement use type $6MJ6/6LQ6/6JE6C$.	6JE6	C
Refer to chart at end of section.	6JE	8

K 3 G| G| G| G| G| C

9QL

BEAM POWER TUBE

6JF6

17JF6, 22JF6

Novar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 18E or 18F; requires novar 9-contact socket. Types 17JF6 and 22JF6 are identical with type 6JF6 except for heater ratings.

	6JF6	17 JF 6	22JF6	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	16.8	22	volts
Heater Current	1.6	0.6	0.45	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Appr	ox.):			
Grid No.1 to Plate			1.2	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid N	lo.2, and Grid	No.3	22	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2	, and Grid N	o.3	9	pF

Class A1 Amplifier

	Triode=				
CHARACTERISTICS	Connection	Pent	ode Conn	ection	
Plate Voltage	125		50	130	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		6500		_	volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)	Conn	ected to	cathode	at socket	
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	125	125	125	125	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	20		0	20	volts
Triode Amplification Factor	4.1			—	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		_		12000	ohms
Transconductance			-	10000	μ mhos
Plate Current		-	525†	80	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		*****	32†	2.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current					
of 1 mA	-	125			volts

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	770	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.3 Voltage*	100	volts

DC Grid-No.2 Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	220 330	volts volts
Peak Cathode Current	950	mA
Average Cathode Current	275	mA
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
Plate Dissipation† Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	17 240	watts
Dato rempetature (in notest point)	240	U



MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Gi

rid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm
For grid-leak-bias operation	10	megohms
For fixed-bias operation	0.47	megohm

Grid-No.2 connected to plate at socket.

Gria-No.2 connected to plate at socket.
† This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.
Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).
In this service, a positive value may be applied to grid No.3 to minimize "snivets" interference; a typical value for this voltage is 50 volts. ‡ A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6**JG**5

SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type with frame grid used as video output amplifier in color television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniatue 9-contact socket. Heater: volts, 6.3; amperes, 0.525; maximum heater-cathode volts. ± 200 peak, 100 average.



9SF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage		330	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value		õ	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		See curve	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive value			volts
Plate Dissipation		P F	watts
Grid-No.2 Input		1 1	
	• • • • • • • • • • •	1.1	watts
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	200	60	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	150	150	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	100	100	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor, Bypassed	100	•	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	60000		
The measure (Applot)		-	ohms
Transconductance (Grid No.1 to Plate)	11500		μ mhos
Plate Current	25	55	mA
Grid No.2 Current	5.5	18	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current			
of 100 µA			volts
			10100

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :

For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation 0.25 megohm megohm

• Applied not exceeding two seconds, to avoid damage to tube.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6**J**G6

6JG6A

17JG6A, 22JG6A

BEAM POWER TUBE

િં	Q	(e)
KM	Ē	() (°2
J	~=	16
GOY	\sim	10 c
62	\sim	୍ଦୁ
-	9QU	

۳ 6.

м

Novar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in low-B+, black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 31D; requires novar 9-contact socket. For curves of average plate characteristics, refer to type 6JF6. Types 17JG6A and 22JG6A are identical with type 6JG6A except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6JG6A 6.3 1.6 —	17JG6A 16.8 0.6 11	22JG6A 22 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		±200 max 100 max		
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Gr	Grid No. 3		0.7 22 9	pF pF pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode= Connectior	Pen 1 Conr	tode lection	
Plate Voltage	125	50	130	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor Grid)		Connected	to cathode	at socket
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		125	125	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	20	0	20	volts
Amplification Factor	4.1	_	_	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)			12000	ohms
Transconductance			10000	μ mhos
Plate Current		525•	80	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		32•	2.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.), for plate current of 1 mA	_	-	40	volts

"With grid No.2 connected to plate at socket.

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MANIMUM DATINGS (Design Meximum Voluce)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum values)		
DC Plate Supply Voltage	770	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.3 Voltage*	75	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage, Negative-bias value	55	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Cathode Current	950	mA
Average Cathode Current	275	mA
Plate Dissipation [†]	17	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	240	°C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for grid-No.1-resistor-bias operation 2.2megohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). * In a horizontal-deflection-amplifier service, a positive voltage (typical value, 30 volts) may be applied to grid No.3 to reduce "snivets" interference, which may occur in both vhf and uhf television receivers.

† A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6JH5 6JH5/6HZ5/6JD5

BEAM TRIODE

Duodecar type used as a pulse-type regulator in the high-voltage power supply of color television receivers. Outlines section, 15F; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 2.4.

Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Pulse Plate Voltage* Grid No.2 (Beam Plate) Connected Grid-Voltage, Negative-bias value	to	cathode at socket
Peak Plate Current		300 mA
Transconductance Plate Resistance (Approx.) Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA		
# Duty analo of the nulse must be lass then 0.500		

Duty cycle of the pulse must be less than 2.5%.

High-Voltage Regulator Service

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)			
Peak Plate Voltage#		5500	volts
Plate Dissipation		35	watts
Peak Plate Current		325	mA
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	+200	450	volts
Average value	•	100	volts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)		240	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE			
Grid-Circuit Resistance	0.1		agohm
	0.1		1CBOHHH

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). ▲ Larger values of grid-circuit resistance may be used if provisions are made to protect the tube.

6JH6 4JH6

SEMIREMOTE-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in the gain-controlled picture ifamplifier stages of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7contact socket. For curves of average plate characteristics, refer to type 6BZ6. Type 4JH6 is identical with type 6JH6 except for heater ratings.



7CM

Heater Arrangement Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time Heater-Cathode Voltage:	4JH6 Series 4.2 0.45 11	6JH6 Parallel 6.3 0.3	volts ampere seconds
Peak value		±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2.	Unshielded 0.025 max	Shielded= 0.015 max	pF
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	7	7	pF
and Internal Shield	2	3	pF

• With external shield connected to cathode.



Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Crid) Voltage, Positive value	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curv	e page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Grid-No.2 Input:	0	volts
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts	0.55	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	See curv	e page 300
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Supply Voltage	125	volts
Grid-No.3 Connected		at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	125	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	56	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.26	megohm
Transconductance	8000	μ mhos
Transconductance Range for grid-No.1 voltage of -4.5 volts and		•
cathode-bias resistor of 56 ohms	400-900	μ mhos
Plate Current	14	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3.6	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 50 µmhos	19	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm



BEAM-DEFLECTION TUBE

6JH8

Miniature type used in color-demodulator and burstgate circuits in color television receivers. This type has two plates and two deflecting electrodes; the control grid varies beam deflection. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Pin 5 should be connected to cathode at socket. The 6JH8 should be

so located in the equipment that it is not subjected to stray magnetic fields.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	6.3 0.3	volts amperes
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Grid No.1 to All Other Electrodes, Except Both Plates	7.5	pF
Grid No.1 to Deflecting Electrode No.1	0.04 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Deflecting Electrode No.2	0.07 max	\mathbf{pF}
Plate No.1 to All Other Electrodes	5	pF
Plate No.2 to All Other Electrodes	5	pF
Plate No.1 to Plate No.2	0.4	pF
Deflecting Electrode No.1 to All Other Electrodes	4.8	
Deflecting Electrode No.2 to All Other Elecetrodes	4.8	pF pF
Deflecting Electrode No. 1 to Deflecting Electrode No.2	0.38	pF

Color TV Demodulator

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)			
Plate Voltage (Each Plate)	330	volts	
Peak Deflecting-Electrode Voltage (Each Electrode):			
Negative value	165	volts	
Positive value	165	volts	
Grid-No.3 (Accelerating-Grid) Voltage	330	volts	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	volts	
Cathode Current	33	mA	
Plate Dissipation (Each Plate)	3	watts	
Grid-No.3 Input	1	watt	
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1 Circuit Resistance:			
For fixed-bias operation	0.1	megohm	
For cathode-bias operation	0.25	megohm	
Class.		A	1160-
--------	------------------	------	-------
Class	\mathbf{H}_{1}	AIII	nuer

	With both deflecting	plates o electrodes	connected to	gether and with to cathode at	both socket	i,
CHARACTERISTIC	S					
Plate-No.1 Supply Plate-No.2 Supply Grid-No.3 Voltage Cathode-Bias Resi Transconductance Total Plate Current Grid-No.3 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage	Voltage stor	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	250	volts volts ohms µmhos mA mA volts

6JK6	Refer	to	chart	at	end	of	section.
6JK8	Refer	to	chart	at	end	of	section.

6JM6

Refer to chart at end of section.

6J	Μ	6	A
1	7 J M	6A	

BEAM POWER TUBE

Duodecar types used as horizontal-amplifier tubes in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 39A; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 17JM6A is identical with type 6JM6A except for heater ratings.



.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6JM6A 6.3 1.2 —	17JM6A 16.8 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Peak value		±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3 Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No. 2, and Grid No. 3		0.6 16 7	pF pF pF

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Pentode Connection			Triode** Connection	
Plate Voltage	5000	55	250	150	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid)	Conne	cted to ca	thode at	socket	
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	150	150	150	150	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-	Ó	-22.5	-22.5	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		_	15000		ohms
Transconductance			7300		μmhos
Plate Current	-	345*	65	_	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	-	30*	1.8	_	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 µA			-42		volts
Amplification Factor	-	_		4.4	
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE					

** Grid No.2 tied to plate.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	770	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.3 Voltage	70	volts

DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage, Negative-bias value	55	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Average Cathode Current	175	mA
Peak Cathode Current	550	mA
Plate Dissipation##	17.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	220	°C

#Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). **## A** bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.



BEAM POWER TUBE

Duodecar type used as horizontal-amplifier tube in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 15A; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. This type is electrically identical with type 6JM6 except that it has a slightly lower grid-No.1-to-plate capacitance. Types 12JN6 and 17JN6 are identical with type 6JN6 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6JN6 6.3 1.2 —	12 JN6 12.6 0.6 11	17 JN6 16.8 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.	No.3		$0.34 \\ 16 \\ 7$	pF pF pF



6JN8

6JN6

12JN6, 17JN6

19JN8/19CL8A

19.IN8/

Miniature type used as FM converter and rf amplifier in radio receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 19JN8/19CL8A is identical with type 6JN8 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6JN8 6.3	19CL8A 18.9	volts
Heater Current	0.45	0.15	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11		seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances :*	200	100 1104	10100
Pentode Unit:			
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.01	ъF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, a	nd Intornal	0.01	PI
Chield Chield	inu internar		- 12
Shield		5.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, a			
Shield		3.4	pF
Triode Unit:			
Grid to Plate		1.7	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode, Grid N			-
and Internal Shield		3.2	pF
		0.4	рг
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode, Grid			
and Internal Shield		2.2	pF
* With external shield connected to acthode of unit under	tout		

* With external shield connected to cathode of unit under test.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit Pentode Unit	
Plate Voltage	300 300	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	- 300	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300	

Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	0 2.5	0 2.5 0.55 See curve	volts watts page 300
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μA	125 —1 46 5400 8500 13.5 —8	125 125 1 20000 7500 12 4 8	volts volt ohms µmhos mA mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	2.2 2.2	2.2 2.2	megohms megohms



BEAM POWER TUBE with integral diode

Miniature type featuring integral diode, internally connected to grid No.3, used in feedback-stabilized vertical-deflection-amplifier applications in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 12JQ6 and 17JQ6 are identical with type 6JQ6 except for heater ratings.



9RA

	6JQ6	12JQ6	17JQ6	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6,3	12.6	17	volts
Heater Current	1.2	0.6	0.45	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:				
Grid No.1 to Plate			0.32	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid				-
and Diode Plate			13	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2				
and Diode Plate			6	pF
Class	A1 Amplifi	er		
CHARACTERISTICS				
Plate Voltage		40	140	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage		Õ	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		120	140	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		120		volts
Triode Amplification Factor•	•••••	_	6.5	VUIUS
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	• • • • • • • • • • • • •		10500	ohms
Transconductance	•••••		4200	<i>u</i> mhos
Plate Current		150#	35	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	20#	2.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 1		20#	-37	volts
Instantaneous Diode-Plate-to-Cathode Volt			-01	VUIUS
for Instantaneous Diode-Plate Current			5	volts
In Insumation Didden fate Current	01 2 mr		0	voits
Vertical Dr	Hostian Am	mlifian		

Vertical-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
DC Plate Voltage	425	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage		
(Absolute-Maximum Value)*	2000	volts
DC Grid-No.3 and Diode-Plate Voltage	+10	volts
Do differenza and Diouer rate Voltage	-150	VOICS

DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	150	volts
Average Cathode Current	70	mA
Peak Cathode Current	250	mA
Average Diode-Plate (and Grid-No.3) Current	1	mA
Plate Dissipation	10	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	240	°C



MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1—Circuit Resistance:

For grid-No.1-resistor-bias operation 2.2 megohms For cathode-bias operation 2.2 megohms

• Grid No.3 and diode plate connected to cathode, and grid-No.2 connected to plate at socket.

This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

• Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).



BEAM POWER TUBE

6JR6 17JR6, 22JR6, 33JR6

Novar type used for horizontal-deflection amplifier service in low B+, black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 31D; requires novar 9-contact socket. Types 17JR6, 22JR6 and 33JR6 are identical with type 6JR6 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time	6JR6 6.3 1.6	17 JR6 16.8 0.6	22JR6 22 0.45	33JR6 33 0.3	volts amperes
(Average)		11	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:					
Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	$\pm 200 \max$ 100 max	土200 max 100 max	$\pm 200 \max$ 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capa	citances (An	brox) :	100 max	100 max	voits
Grid No.1 to Plate			• • • • • • • • • • • • •	0.7	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, and Grid No.3				22	pF
Plate to Cathode, He	ater, Grid No	.2.			P1
		··,		9	рF

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Connection	Pent	tode Conne	ction	
Plate Voltage	125	—	50	130	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		6500			volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)		Connect	ted to cathe	ode at socket	
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	125	125	125	125	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage .			0	20	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.):				18000	ohms
Transconductance	-			7000	µmhos





Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system :)

		You obergeiou ut	# 070-III
MAXIMUM	RATINGS	(Design-Maximum	Ratings)

Plate Supply Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage Grid-No.3 Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage, Negative-bias value Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current Grid-No.2 Input Plate Dissipation* Pub Transactory (At here in the second s	770 6500 1500 75 220 55 330 950 275 3.5 17	volts volts volts volts volts volts mA mA watts watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	240	•C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	1 10 0.47	megohm megohms megohm

* Grid	No.	2	connected	to	plate	at	socket.	

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of one horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). t This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

In this service, a positive value may be applied to grid No.3 to minimize "snivets" interference; a typical value for this voltage is 30 volts.
A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6JS6 6JS6A

Refer to chart at end of section.

6JS6C 23JS6A, 31JS6C

BEAM POWER TUBE

Duodecar types used as horizontal-deflection amplifiers in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 16B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Types 23JS6A and 31JS6A are identical with type 6JS6C except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	6JS6C 6.3 2.25	23JS6A 23.6 0.6	31JS6A 31.5 0.45	volts
Heater Warm-up Tme (Average)		11	0.45	amperes seconds

Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	$\pm 200 \max_{100 \max}$	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid N Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,	lo.2. and Grid	No.3	0.7 24 10	pF pF pF

Class A, Amplifier

	Triode++	_			
CHARACTERISTICS	Connection	Pe	ntode (Connection	
Plate Voltage	125	5000	60	175	volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)		Connected	to cat	hode at socket	vono
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	125	125	125	125	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	25		Ő	25	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)				5500	ohms
Transconductance				11500	μ mhos
Plate Current			600†	130	mA
Grid-No.2 Current			32†	2.8	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate					
current of 1 mA		-125		54	volts
Triode Amplification Factor	3				

 \dagger This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded. \dagger \dagger Grid No.2 connected to plate.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
DC Plate Supply Voltage	990	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	7500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1200	volts
DC Grid-No.3 Voltage	75	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Average Cathode Current	350	mA
Peak Cathode Current	1200	mA
Plate Dissipation**	30	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	5.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	225	ů,
- and - emperature (ite notices point)	220	U

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

For grid bias feedback HV regulation 0.47 megoh For dc or pulse shunt HV regulation 10 megohn	

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of one horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

** A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation



Refer to chart at end of section.

6JT6A

12JT6A, 17JT6A

BEAM POWER TUBE



Novar types used as horizontal-deflection amplifiers in high-efficiency deflection circuits of black-and-white television receivers employing wide-angle or high-

9Q U

voltage picture tubes. Outlines section, 31A; requires novar 9-contact socket. Types 12JT6A and 17JT6A are identical with type 6JT6A except for heater ratings.

	6JT6A	12JT6A	17 JT6A	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	12.6	16.8	volts
Heater Current	1.2	0.6	0.45	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				-
Peak value		$\pm 200 \text{ max}$		volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:				
Grid No.1 to Plate			0.26	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, a	nd Grid No	.3	15	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and C	Grid No.3 .		6.5	pF

Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS		entode nection	Triode* Connection	
Plate Voltage	60	250	150	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor Grid)		Connecte	d to cathode	at socket
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	150	150	150	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	0	-22.5	-22.5	volts
Triode Amplification Factor			4.4	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		15000	—	ohms
Transconductance	<u> </u>	7100		μ mhos
Plate Current	390=	70		mA
Grid-No.2 Current	32=	2.1		mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA	_	-42	_	volts

* Grid No.2 connected to plate.

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	770	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.3 Voltage ^A	70	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage, Negative-bias value	55	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts



Peak Cathode Current	550	mA
Average Cathode Current	175	mA
Plate Dissipation†	17.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	240	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for grid-resistor-bias operation 1 megohm # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). • A positive voltage may be applied to grid No.3 to reduce interference from "snivets" which may occur in television receivers. A typical value for this voltage is 30 volts. • A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

HIGH-MU TRIODE---SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE



Neonoval type with frame-grid pentode unit used in color and black-and-white television receivers. The triode unit is used as a voltage-amplifier or syncseparator tube, and the pentode unit is used as a video-amplified tube. Outlines section, 10A, except base is small-button miniature 9-pin; requires miniature 9contact socket. Type 10JT8 is identical with type 6JT8 except for heater ratings.

	6JT8	10JT8	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	10.2	volts
Heater Current	0.725	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Peak value	100 max	100 max	volts
Average value			

Class A₁ Amplifier

	51			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage	Triode Un 330		ode Unit 30	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage			30	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		See cur		
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0		0	volts
Plate Dissipation	1		4	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:				
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	-		.1	watts
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	_	See curv	/e page	300
CHARACTERISTICS				
Plate Supply Voltage	250	50	200	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		100	100	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	2	0		volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor			82	ohms
Amplification Factor	100	-		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	37000	_	50000	ohms
Transconductance	2700		20000	μ mhos
Plate Current	1.5	55.	17	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		18•	3.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of			5	volts
100 μA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of	-		0	vons
20 μ A	5.3			volts
		_	_	10103
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES				
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:			_	-
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.2	5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1		1	megohm

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.



BEAM POWER TUBE

6JU6

Novar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in color television receivers. Outlines section, 18E or 18F; requires novar 9-contact socket. Type 22JU6 is identical with type 6JU6 except for heater ratings.

6JT8

	6JU6	22JU6	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	20	volts
Heater Current	1.6	0.45	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time	—	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	±200 max	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Grid No.1 to Plate		1.2	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.		22	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3		-9	pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

	Triode†					
CHARACTERISTICS	Connection	Pentod	ie Conn	ection		
Plate Voltage	125		50	130		volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	_	6500				volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)		Connected	to cat	hode at	socket	
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	125	125	125	125		volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	20	—	0	20		volts
Amplification Factor	4.7					
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	•			18000		ohms
Transconductance				7000		μ mhos
Plate Current			470††	45		mA
Grid-No.2 Current	—		32††	1.5		mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current						
of 1 mA		75		32		volts

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# 6500 volts Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage 1500 volts DC Grid-No.3 Voltage 75 volts DC Grid-No.2 Voltage 220 volts DC Grid-No.1 Voltage 55 volts DC Grid-No.1 Voltage 330 volts Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage 330 volts Peak Cathode Current 950 mA Average Cathode Current 275 mA Grid-No.2 Input 3.5 watts Plate Dissipation= 17 watts	mentione (Deciliar interest)		
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage 1500 volts DC Grid-No.3 Voltage 75 volts DC Grid-No.1 Voltage 220 volts DC Grid-No.1 Voltage, Negative-bias value 65 volts Peak Negative Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage 330 volts Peak Cathode Current 950 mA Average Cathode Current 275 mA Grid-No.2 Input 3.5 watts Plate Dissipation= 17 watts Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) 240 °C	DC Plate Supply Voltage	770	volts
DC Grid-No.3 Voltage 75 volts DC Grid-No.2 Voltage 220 volts DC Grid-No.1 Voltage 55 volts Peak Negative Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage 330 volts Peak Cathode Current 950 mA Average Cathode Current 275 mA Grid-No.2 Input 3.5 watts Plate Dissipation** 17 watts	Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
DC Grid-No.3 Voltage 75 volts DC Grid-No.3 Voltage 220 volts DC Grid-No.1 Voltage 55 volts Peak Negative Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage 330 volts Peak Cathode Current 950 mA Average Cathode Current 275 mA Grid-No.2 Input 3.5 watts Plate Dissipation** 17 watts Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) 240 °C	Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage 220 volts DC Grid-No.1 Voltage 55 volts Peak Negative Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage 330 volts Peak Cathode Current 950 mA Average Cathode Current 275 mA Grid-No.2 Input 3.5 watts Plate Disipation** 17 watts Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) 240 °C		75	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage, Negative-bias value 55 volts Peak Negative Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage 330 volts Peak Cathode Current 950 mA Average Cathode Current 275 mA Grid-No.2 Input 3.5 watts Plate Dissipation== 17 watts Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) 240 °C		220	volts
Peak Negative Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage 330 volts Peak Cathode Current 950 mA Average Cathode Current 275 mA Grid-No.2 Input 3.5 watts Plate Dissipation** 17 watts Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) 240 °C		55	volts
Peak Cathode Current 950 mA Average Cathode Current 275 mA Grid-No.2 Input 3.5 watts Plate Dissipation** 17 watts Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) 240 °C		330	volts
Average Cathode Current 275 mA Grid-No.2 Input 3.5 watts Plate Dissipation= 17 watts Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) 240 °C		950	mA
Artial Out of the second se			
Plate Dissipation** 17 watts Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) 240 °C			
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) 240 °C			
Buib Temperature (At notiest point)			
			•
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:	Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For grid-resistor-bias operation 0.47 megohm	For grid-resistor-bias operation		
For plate-pulsed operation		10	megohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of one horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). + Grid No.2 connected to plate.

†† This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

• In this service, a positive value may be applied to grid No.3 to minimize "snivets" interference; a typical value for this voltage is 30 volts.

•• A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.





Refer to chart at end of section.

6JU8

6JV8



QUADRUPLE DIODE

Miniature type used in phase-detector and noise-immune color-killer circuits of color television receivers, and in bridge-matrixing circuits in FM stereo multiplex equipment. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9contact socket. Units 1 and 2 are shielded from units 3 and 4 to minimize coupling between the series-

connected pairs of diodes. Type 8JU8A is identical with type 6JU6A except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) 6.3 8.4 volt Heater Current 0.6 0.45 amperi	es
	s
Heater Warm-up Time Heater Warm-up Time	5
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	
Plate of Unit No.1 and Cathode of Unit No.2 to Cathode of	
Unit No.1 1.8 pF	г. —
Plate of Unit No.1 and Cathode of Unit No.2 to Plate of	
Unit No.2	7
Plate of Unit No.2 to Heater and Internal Shield	
	7
Plate of Unit No.3 and Cathode of Unit No.4 to Cathode of Unit No.3 1.9 pF	7
Plate of Unit No.3 and Cathode of Unit No.4 to Plate of	
Unit No.4 2.2 pE	
Plate of Unit No.4 to Heater and Internal Shield 0.94 pF	
Cathode of Unit No.1 to Heater and Internal Shield 1.8 pF	
Cathode of Unit No.3 to Heater and Internal Shield 1.9 pF	
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values, Each Diode Unit)	
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage	
Peak Plate Current	
Average Output Current	L
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value (Each Unit)	
Plate Current for plate voltage of 10 volts	•



Miniature type used in television receiver applications, particularly those having low-voltage "B" supplies. The triode unit is used in sound-if, keyed-agc, syncseparator, sync-amplifier, and noise-suppression circuits. The pentode unit is especially useful as a video amplifier tube. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 8JV8 is identical with type 6JV8 except for heater ratings.

	6JV8	8JV8	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	8.5	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):			10102
Triode Unit:			
Grid to Plate		2.2	рF
Grid to Cathode and Heater		3	D F
Plate to Cathode and Heater		2	df df df
Pentode Unit:		-	
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.08 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,		0100	-
Internal Shield		8	nF
Anternal Different Content Content Content Content Content	•••••	~	<i>v</i> .

Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2 Internal Shield Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate Pentode Plate to Triode Plate				0.012 max	pF pF pF
Cla	ss A ₁ Amplif	lier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum	Values)	Tri	ode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Voltage			330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage				330	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:					
Positive-bias value			0	0	volts
Negative-bias value			50	50	volts
Plate Dissipation			1.1	4	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			1.7	watts
CHARACTERISTIC	Triode Unit		Pentode	Unit	
Plate Voltage	200	60	125	200	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		200	125	200	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	2	Ő	<u> </u>	2.9	volts
Amplification Factor	70	_	_		10100
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.0175	_	0.1	0.15	megohm
Transconductance	4000		11500	10700	μmhos
Plate Current	4	51•	22	22	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		14.	-4	4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate					
current of 20 µA	5	_	-5.5	9	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES					
Grid-No.1-Current Resistance:					
For fixed-bias operation			0.5	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation			1	1	megohm
• This value can be measured by a met			-	·····	

 This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.



6JW8/ ECF802 ^{5JW8} 6LX8/LCF802 9JW8/PCF802

Miniature type used as horizontal-oscillator and frequency-control tube in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 5JW8, 6LX8/LCF802 and 9JW8/PCF802 are identical with type 6JW8/ECF802 except for heater ratings.



9AE

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time	5 JW8 4.7 0.6	6JW8/ ECF802 6.3 0.43	6LX8/ LCF802 6 0.45	9 JW 8/ PCF802 9 0.3	volts ampere
(Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	11	-	_	-	seconds
Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts

Class A ₁ Amplific	er		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Supply Voltage	Triode Unit 550	Pentode Unit 550	volts
	250	250	volts
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	200	250 550	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	_	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current•	_	50	mA
Cathode Current	10	15	mA
Plate Dissipation	1.4	1.2	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.4	0.8	watts
Input Impedance at 60 Hz	50	300	kohms
input impedance at 60 fiz	50	200	KOHIIIS
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	200	100	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		100	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-2	1	volts
Mu Factor, Grid-No.1 to Grid-No.2		47	
Amplification Factor	70	<u> </u>	
Input Resistance	0.2	0.4	megohm
Transconductance	3500	5500	μ mhos
Plate Current	3.5	6	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		1.7	mA
Plate Current:			
For grid-No.1 voltage of 0 volts		12.5	mA
For grid current of 10 μ A	10		mA
Grid-No.2 Current for grid-No.1 voltage of 0 volts	·	3.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage:			
For grid-No.1 current of $+0.3 \ \mu A$	1.3	-1.3	volts
For plate and grid-No.2 voltage of 200 volts		200	
and plate current of 10 µÅ			volts
and place current of to plat			
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:			
For fixed-bias operation	-	0.56	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	3	1	megohms

• With a maximum duty factor of 0.30 and maximum pulse duration of 30 microseconds.

Refer to chart at end of section.



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE-POWER PENTODE

6JZ8 13JZ8, 17JZ8, 24JZ8, 25JZ8

6JZ6

Duodecar type used in combined vertical-deflection-oscillator and vertical-deflection-amplifier applications in television receivers. Outlines section, 8C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Types 13JZ8, 17JZ8, 24JZ8, and 25JZ8 are identical with type 6JZ8 except for

12DZ heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time . Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6JZ8 6.3 1.2	13JZ8 12.7 0.6 11	17 JZ8 16.8 0.45 11	24JZ8 24.2 0.315 11	25JZ8 25.2 0.3	volts amperes seconds
Peak value	±200 max	±200 max	±200 max	土200 max	±200 max	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts

Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Unit	Beam H	Power Unit	
Plate Voltage	150	45	120	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		110	110	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	5	0	8	volts
Amplification Factor	20			
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	8500		11700	ohms
Transconductance	2350		7100	µmhos
Plate Current	5.5	122-	46	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		16.5	3.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current				
of 10 µA	10			volts

-25

Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 µA

volts "This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# DC Grid-No.2 Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current Plate Dissipation* Grid-No.2 Input	Triode Unit Oscillator 250 — 400 70 20 1 —	Beam Power Unit Amplifier 250 2000 150 245 70 7 1.8	volts volts volts mA mA watts watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	1 2.2	1 2.2	megohm megohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).

• A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6K5GT

Refer to chart at end of section.

6K6GT

POWER PENTODE

Glass octal type used in output stage of radio receivers and, triode-connected, as a vertical-deflection amplifier in television receivers. This type may be supplied with pin No.1 omitted. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.4	ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.5	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	5.5	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	6	\mathbf{pF}

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATING (Design-Center Values)

Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	
Grid-No.2 Input	ts
TYPICAL OPERATION	
Plate Voltage	8
Grid-No.2 Voltage	s
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	s
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage 7 18 21 volt	s
Zero-Signal Plate Current	Á.
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	Ā
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	A
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	Ā
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	s
Transconductance	s
Load Resistance	8
Total Harmonic Distortion	t
Maximum-Signal Power Output	8

TYPICAL PUSH-PULL OPERATION (Values are for two tub	es) Fixed Bias	Cathode Bias	
Plate Supply Voltage	285	285	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	285	285	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-25.5		volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	40.0	400	ohma
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	51	51	volts
Teak Ar Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	55	55	mA
Zero-Signal Plate Current			
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	72	61	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	9	9	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	17	13	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-plate)	12000	12000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	6	4	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	10.5	9.8	watts
CHARACTERISTICS (Triode Connection)*			
Plate Voltage		250	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage			volts
		37.5	mA
Plate Current			
Transconductance		2700	μ mhos
Amplification Factor		6.8	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		2500	ohms
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 0.5 mA			volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:			
For fixed-bias operation		0.1	megohm
		0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation		0.5	megonin

* Grid-No.2 connected to plate.

Vertical Deflection Amplifier (Triode Connection)*

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS

DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# (Absolute maximum) Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current Plate Dissipation	315 1200° 250 75 25 7	volts volts mA mA watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation	2.2	megohms

* Grid No.2 connected to plate.

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).

^o Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded.

Refer to chart at end of section.	6K7 6K7G 6K7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	6K8 6K8G 6K8GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	6K11 6K11/6Q11

6KA8 8KA8

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white tele- $\kappa_{,IS}$ vision receivers. The triode unit is used in sync-separator circuits; the pentode unit has two independent G_{T} control grids and is used in gated-agc-amplifier and noise-inverter circuits. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For curves of average



plate characteristics for triode unit, refer to type 6AW8A. Type 8KA8 is identical with type 6KA8 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	6KA8 6.3 0.6	8KA8 8.4 0.45	volts ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			beeenag
	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Triode Unit:			
Grid to Plate		2.2	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield		2.8	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield		2.2	pF
Pentode Unit:			-
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.1 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,			-
and Internal Shield		9.5	pF
Grid No.1 to Grid No.3		0.5	pF
Grid No.3 to Plate		2.2	pF
Grid No.3 to All Other Electrodes, Heater, and Interna	l Shield	7	\mathbf{pF}

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid Voltage :	•••••	Triode Unit 300	volts
Positive-bias value		0	volts
Negative-bias value		50	volts
Plate Dissipation		1.1	watts
CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage	200	150	volts
Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage		0	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		100	volts
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage	2	0	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		180	ohms
Amplification Factor	70		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	17500	100000	ohms
Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate	4000	4400	μ mhos
Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate		600	μmhos
Plate Current	4	4	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		2.8	mA
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage (Approx.):			
For plate current of 10 μA	5		volts
For plate current of 20 µA		4	volts
Grid No.3 Supply Voltage (Approx.) for plate current			
of 20 μA	_	7	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance:		Triode Unit	
For fixed-bias operation		0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation		1	megohm
		-	

Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Pentode Unit	
DC Plate Voltage	300 vo	lts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	600 vol	lts
Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		
Positive-bias value	0 vo	lts
Negative-bias value		lts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	300 vol	lts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 3	00
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		
Positive-bias value	0 vol	lts
Negative-bias value	50 vol	its

Plate Dissipation	2	watts
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts		watts ve page 300
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	See cui	ve page soo
Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance	0.68	megohm
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		megohm megohm

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).







12GW

BEAM POWER TUBE

6KD6

30KD6, 36KD6/40KD6

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 16C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Types 30KD6 and 36KD6/ 40KD6 are identical with type 6KD6 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6KD6 6.3 2.85	30KD6 30 0.6 11	36KD6/40KD6 36 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Peak value Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	$\pm 200 \max$ 100 max	±200 max 100 max	$\pm 200 \max_{100 \max}$	volts volts
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid N Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2	lo.2. and Grid	No.3	0.8 40 16	pF pF pF

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
DC Plate Supply Voltage	990	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	7000	volts
Positive DC Grid-No.3 Voltage Grid-No.2 Vcltage	20 200	volts volts
reak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	1400	mA
Average Cathode Current	400	mA
Plate Dissipation• Grid-No.2 Input	33	watts watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	225	°C

Class A: Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode † Connection	Pentod Connect		
Plate Voltage	150	60	150	volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)	Cont	nected to	cathode at	socket

Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	$150 \\ -22.5$	110 0	110 22.5	volts volts
Amplification Factor	4			
Plate Resistance (Approx.)			6000	ohms
Transconductance			14000	μ mhos
Plate Current		750	120	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		42	1.8	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current				
of 1.0 μ A		_	-40	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE				
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance			2.2	megohms
Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance			0.01	megohm

• A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation. # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). ;Grid-No.2 connected to plate at socket.

•• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

6KD8

6KE8

4KE8. 5KE8

For replacement use type 6U8A/6KD8.

Miniature type with frame-grid pentode unit used as combined oscillator-mixer tube in television receivers using an intermediate frequency in the order of 40 MHz. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 4KE8 and 5KE8 are identical with type 6KE8 except for heater ratings.



	4KE8	5KE8	6KE8	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.5	5.6	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.4	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11		seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances :†				
Triode Unit:				
Grid to Plate			1.3	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode,				-
and Internal Shield			2.4	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode,	Pentode Grid	No.3.		
and Internal Shield			2	\mathbf{pF}
Pentode Unit:				-
Grid No.1 to Plate			0.015 max	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, (
and Internal Shield			5	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid				
and Internal Shield			3.4	\mathbf{pF}
Heater to Triode Cathode and Pentode Cathod			5.5=	\mathbf{pF}

† With external shield connected to cathode of unit under test, except as noted.
With external shield connected to ground.

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Voltage	280	280	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		280	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	Se	e curve page 300	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	0	volts
Cathode Current	20	20	mA
Plate Dissipation	2	2	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:			
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 140 volts		0.5	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 140 and 280 volts	- Se	e curve page 300	
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Supply Voltage	125	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		125	volts
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage	0	0	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	68	33	ohms
Amplification Factor	40		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	5000	125000	ohms
Transconductance	8000	12000	μ mhos

Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.):	13	10 2.8	mA mA
For plate current of 100 μA For plate current of 50 μA	5		volts volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 1	0.25 0.5	megohm megohm





POWER PENTODE





Magnoval type used as a horizontal-deflection amplifier in color television receivers. Outlines section, 38A; requires 9-contact magnoval socket. Type 40KG6A/ PL509 is identical with type 6KG6A/EL509 except for heater ratings.

	6KG6A/ EL509	40KG6A/ PL509	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	40	volts
Heater Current	2	0.3	amperes
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	250)	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Plate to Grid-No.1	2.1	5	pF
Grid-No.1 to Heater	0.2	2	\mathbf{pF}

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	45	160	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	Ō	0	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	160	160	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	0	0	volts
Plate Current ^a	1000 (min.)	1400	mA
Grid-No.2 Current ^a		45	mA

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Supply Voltage	700	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage*	7000	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage (zero-current)	700	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	volts
Plate Dissipation (Absolute-Maximum Value)	34	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	7	watts
Cathode Current	500	mA

341

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.25	megohm
For cathoue-bias operation	2.2	megohms

‡ In horizontal-deflection service, 15 volts may be applied to grid-No.3 to minimize snivets.

* These values can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

* Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

6KL8

Refer to chart at end of section.

6KM6

BEAM POWER TUBE

Novar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 18A; requires novar 9-contact socket. Type 22KM6 is identical with type 6KM6 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6KM6 6.3 1.6	22KM6 22 0.45	volts amperes
Heater Warm-up Time		11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			00001140
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Grid No.1 to Plate		1.2	рF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.	3	22	pF pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3		-9	pF
- the to outload, meaner, dila roll, and dila roll			D 1.

Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Connection	Pento	de Conne	tion	
Plate Voltage	140		60	140	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage**		6500	—		volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressed-Grid) Voltage	0	30	30	30	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	140	140	140	140	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-24.5		0	-24.5	volts
Amplification Factor	4		_		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)				6000	ohms
Transconductance	<u> </u>		—	9500	µmhos.
Plate Current	-		560++	80	mA
Grid-No.2 Current			31††	2.4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current					
of 1 mA.			-	-42	volts



Horizontal-Defle	ction Amplifier
------------------	-----------------

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
DC Plate Supply Voltage	770	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.3 Voltage	75	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Cathode Current	950	mA
Average Cathode Current	275	mA
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
Plate Dissipation ••	20	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	240	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		_
For grid-resistor-bias operation	0.47	megohm
For plate-pulsed operation	10	megohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). † With grid No.3 and grid No.2 connected, respectively, to cathode and plate at socket.

 \dagger This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

• In this service, a positive value may be applied to grid No.3 to minimize "snivets" interference: a typical value for this voltage is 30 volts.

•• A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.



CHARACTERISTICS

DIODE—SHARP-CUTOFF THREE-PLATE TETRODE

6KM8

⁽¹⁾ Miniature type used in frequency-divider and complexwave generator circuits of electronic musical instruberra ments. In such circuits the tetrode unit can provide three independent output-signal voltages; the diode unit can be used as a key in a vibrato circuit. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.3	volts ampere
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Tetrode Unit:		
Grid No.1 to Plate No.1A	0.02 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Plate No.1B	0.02 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Plate No.2	0.06 max	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode. Heater. Grid No.2. and Internal Shield	5.5	\mathbf{pF}
Plate No.1A to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield	1.2	pF
Plate No.1B to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield	1.3	pF
Plate No.2 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Internal Shield	1.8	\mathbf{pF}
Tetrode Grid No.1 to Diode Plate	0.024 max	pF
Tetrode Plate No.1A to Diode Plate	0.18	pF
Tetrode Plate No.1B to Diode Plate	0.024	pF
Tetrode Plate No.2 to Diode Plate	0.013	
retroue rate No.2 to Dioue rate	0.015	pF

Tetrode Unit as Class A₁ Amplifier

Plates No. 1A, 1B, and 2 connected together

Plate Voltage	100	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	100	volts
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage	0	volts
Grid-No.1 Resistor (Bypassed)	2.2	megohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	30000	ohms
Transconductance	3400	μ mhos
Plate Current	4.2	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	1.7	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA	4	volts

Triode Connection—Plates No.1A, 1B, and	l 2 com	nnected to	grid No.2	
Plate Voltage			100	volts
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage			Ō	volts
Grid-No.1 Resistor (Bypassed)			2.2	megohms
Transconductance			4500	μmhos
Amplification Factor			45	
Plate Current			5.5	mA
Separate-plate operation; plates not	under	test grou	nded	
Plate	1A	18	2	
Plate Voltage	100	100	100	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	100	100	100	volts
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage	Ó	Ō	0	volts
Grid-No.1 Resistor (Bypassed)	2.2	2.2	2.2	megohms
Transconductance	2000	2000	1800	μmhos
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.1	0.1	0.12	megohm
Plate Current	2.3	2.3	2.1	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3.8	3.8	3.3	mA
dia ton outlend	0.0	0.0	0.0	mA

Tetrode Unit as Frequency Divider and Complex-Wave Generator

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage (Each plate)	330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See e	curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		
Positive-bias value	0	volts
Negative-bias value	50	volts
Plate Dissipation (Each plate)	1	watt
Grid-No.2 Input:		
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	0.65	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See o	curve page 300
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for grid-No.1-resistor-bias operation	2.2	megohms

Diode Unit

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum values)		
Plate Current	1	mA
CHARACTERISTICS, Instantaneous Value		
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 2 mA	10	volts





6KN6

BEAM PENTODE

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 39B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 42KN6 is identical with type 6KN6 except for heater ratings.



. . . .

12GU

Heater Arrangement Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater Cathode Voltage:		42KN6 Series 42 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value	±200 max	±200 max	volts
	100 max	100 max	volts

.

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode* Connection	Pento	de Conne	ection	
Plate Voltage	130	5500	60	130	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	130	125	125	130	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage			0	20	volts
Plate Resistance				4000	ohms
Transconductance				16000	μmhos
Plate Current			800*	100	mA
Grid-No.2 Current			50▲	4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for	_	—		33	volts
plate current of 75 µA	_	100			volts
Amplification Factor	4.5	<u> </u>		—	

This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.
Grid No.2 connected to plate.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage Average Cathode Current Peak Cathode Current	6500 1500 220 330 400 1500	volts volts volts volts volts mA mA
Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE	30 5	watts watts °C

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of one horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

• A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6KN8/6RHH8

6KR8

1**0KR**8

.....



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in television receiver applications. The triode unit is used as a general-purpose amplifier; the pentode unit is used as a video amplifier. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 10KR8 is identical with type 6KR8 except for heater ratings.

0 Yr 70 0

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6.3 0.75	10.5 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts

Class A, Ampli	fier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Trie	ode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Voltage			330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage			e curve page a	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value		0	0	volts
Plate Dissipation		ž	5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:				
For voltages up to 165 volts		_	1.1	watts
For voltages between 165 and 330 volts		— See	e curve page à	300
CHARACTERISTICS	Trio	de Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage	125	35	200	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		100	100	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage		0		volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	68		82	ohms
Amplification Factor	46	—		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	4400	_	60000	ohms
Transconductance	10400		20000	μ mhos
Plate Current	15	54	19.5	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	_	13.5	3	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current				
of 10 μ A	8			volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current				
of 100 μA		_	6.3	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES				
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:	Tri		Pentode Unit	
For fixed-bias operation		0.5	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation		1	1	megohm

. . ..

6KS6

For replacement use type 6BN6/6KS6.

6KT6 3KT6. 4KT6

SEMIREMOTE-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type with frame grid used as if-amplifier tube in television receivers utilizing an intermediate frequency in the order of 40 MHz. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 3KT6 and 4KT6 are identical with type 6KT6 except for heater ratings.

TINCE (Design Mayir

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	3KT6 3.5 0.6 11	4 KT6 4.5 0.45 11	6KT6 6.3 0.3 —	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate		0.0	19 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid Internal Shield			9.5	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No. Internal Shield			3	pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum values)	
Plate Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage	0 volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	3.1 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	0.6 watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300

9PM

CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.3 Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Plate Resistor Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 10 µmhos	125 0 125 56 160000 18000 17 4.2	170 0 170 56 	volts volts ohms ohms mA mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	-	0.25 1	megohm megohm





HIGH-MU TRIODE---SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

6KT8

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used as an if-amplifier tube, and the triode unit as a syncseparator or voltage-amplifier tube. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)		6.3 0.6	volts ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value		$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	• • • • • • • • • • • • • •	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Triode Unit:	Unshielded	Shielded	
Grid to Plate	3	3	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.3 of			•
Pentode Unit, and Internal Shield	3.2	3.2	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.3 of	0.4		P~
Pentode Unit, and Internal Shield	1.6	2.4	pF
	1.0	2.4	hr.
Pentode Unit:	0.010	0.030 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.046 max	0.050 max	pr
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,			
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	7.5	7.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,			_
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	2.2	2.8	\mathbf{pF}
Grid of Triode Unit to Plate of Pentode Unit	0.018 max	0.003 max	pF
Grid No.1 of Pentode Unit to Plate of Triode Unit	0.006 max	0.002 max	pF
			•

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See	curve page 300	

Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	0 1 	0 2.5 0.55 See curve page	volts watts 300
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA	$\begin{array}{r} 250 \\2 \\ 100 \\ 31500 \\ 3200 \\ 1.8 \\3.5 \end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r} 125 \\ 125 \\ -1 \\ 150000 \\ 10000 \\ 12 \\ 4.5 \\ -7 \\ \end{array} $	volts volts volts umhos mA mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 1	0.5 1	megohm megohm

6KU8

Refer to chart at end of section.

6KV6

Refer to chart at end of section.



BEAM POWER TUBE

17KV6A, 22KV6A

Novar type used for high-voltage pulse- or shuntregulator applications in color television receivers. Outlines section, 31D; requires novar 9-contact socket. Types 17KV6A and 22KV6A are identical with type 6KV6A except for heater ratings.



9QU

	6KV6A	17KV6A	22KV6A	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	16.8	22	volts
Heater Current	1.6	0.6	0.45	amperes
Heater Warm-up Time	_	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:	-L200 max	+200 max	1200 max	
Peak value		-500 max		volts
Average value	100 max			volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):				_
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.	6	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,		-	_	-
and Grid No.3		2	2	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3			9	pF
			-	-

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	100	140	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage	0	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	140	140	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	0	24.5	volts
Triode Amplification Factor#		4	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		10000	ohms
Transconductance		6000	μ mhos
Plate Current	440■	40	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	30■	2.4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 1 mA	-	42	volts

High-Voltage-Pulse Shunt Regulator

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage (I _b = 0 mA)	900	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage	6500	volts

Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Grid-No.2 Voltage	600	volts
DC Grid-No.3 Voltage	75	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage, Negative-bias value	250	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Cathode Current	950	mA
Average Cathode Current	275	mA
Plate Dissipation1	28•	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	240	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-No.3 and grid-No.2 connected, respectively, to cathode and plate at socket.

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

▲ Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). ‡ Adequate circuit precautions must be taken to protect the tube in the absence of grid-No.1 bias.

• Plate dissipations up to 32 watts maximum are permissible for short periods of time provided the maximum envelope-temperature rating is not exceeded. This condition may exist under high-line voltage, zero picture tube beam current.



6KV8

Miniature type with frame-grid pentode unit used in black-and-white television receivers. The triode unit is used in general-purpose voltage-amplifier, sync-separator, and sound-if-amplifier applications. The pentode unit is used as a video-output tube. Outlines section, 6E: requires miniature 9-contact socket. For curves of

9DX

average plate characteristics for triode unit, refer to type 6AW8A. Type 11KV8 is identical with type 6KV8 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) 6KV8 Heater Current 6.3 Heater Warm-up Time (Average) 0.775 Heater-Cathode Voltage: - Peak value ±200 m Average value 100 m	11KV8 10.9 0.45 11 max ±200 max 100 max	volts ampere seconds volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		
Triode Unit:		
Grid to Plate	. 3.7	\mathbf{pF}
Grid to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode, Pentode Grid No.3 and Internal Shield		pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode, Pentode Grid No.		pr
and Internal Shield	. 2.4	\mathbf{pF}
Triode Grid to Pentode Plate	. 0.015 max	
Pentode Unit:	0.10	. 17
Grid No.1 to Plate	. 0.12 max	pF
Internal Shield	. 13	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and		-
Internal Shield	. 4.8	pF
Pentode Plate to Triode Plate	. 0.17 max	pF

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation	300	Pentode Unit 300 800 ee curve page 300 5	volts volts volts watts
Grid-No.2 Input:			
For Grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts		1	watt
For Grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts	Se	ee curve page 300	

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode U	nit Pent	ode Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage	200	125	200	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		125	125	volts
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage	2	0	0	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		82	68	ohms
Amplification Factor	70		_	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	17500	55000	75000	ohms
Transconductance	4000	21000	23000	μ mhos
Plate Current	4	16.5	20	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	-	3.1	3.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of	4.5	-42		•.
100 μ A	4.0	-4.2	-4.2	volts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.1	megohm
For cathode-blas operation	1	0.25	megohm



6KY6

Refer to chart at end of section.

6KY8

Refer to chart at end of section.

6KY8A 15KY8A

HIGH-MU TRIODE **BEAM POWER TUBE**

Novar type used in combined vertical-deflection-oscillator and vertical-deflection-amplifier applications in black-and-white television receivers having low-voltage "B" supplies. Outlines section, 30A; requires novar 9contact socket. Type 15KY8A is identical with type 6KY8A except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater Cathode Voltage:	6KY8A 6.3 1.1 —	15 KY8A 15 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Peak value	±200 max	±200 max	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Triode Unit: Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater Pentode Unit:		0.44 15 7	pF pF pF
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.048	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3		2.6	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3		0.28	pF

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Unit	Be	am Powe	Unit	
Plate Voltage	250	50	135	120	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		120	120		volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	3	0	10	-10	volts
Amplification Factor	64			7	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	40000	_	18000		ohms
Transconductance	1600		8400		μ mhos
Plate Current	1.4	170•	39	_	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		20•	3		mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA	<i>—</i>	_	24	—	volts

* Triode connection, grid No.2 connected to plate at socket.

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.



Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit Oscillator	Beam Power Unit Amplifier	
DC Plate Voltage	330	300	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#			
(Absolute Maximum)	_	2200†	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	_	150	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	400	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	77	200	mA
Average Cathode Current	22	60	mA
Plate Dissipation	1.5	12	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	_	1.9	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No	.1-Circuit R	esista	ance:					
For	grid-resisto	r-bia	s ope	ration	· · · •	 2.2	2.2	megohms
"	• .•					 		• •

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).
† Under no conditions should this maximum value be exceeded.



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE---SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE



5KZ8, 9KZ8

Miniature type used as combined oscillator and mixer in vhf color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 5KZ8 and 9KZ8 are identical with type 6KZ8 except for heater ratings.

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

	5KZ8	6KZ8	9KZ8	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.7	6.3	9.45	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.3	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	±200 max	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances :*				
Triode Unit:				
Grid to Plate	<u></u>	11111111	1.6	pF
Grid to Triode Cathode, Pentode Cathode, 1				
No.3, and Heater			3.2	pF
Plate to Triode Cathode, Pentode Cathode,				_
No.3, and Heater			1.8	\mathbf{pF}
Pentode Unit:				
Grid No.1 to Plate			0.01 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,				
Internal Shield		• • • • • • • •	5.5	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid				
Internal Shield			3.4	\mathbf{pF}
Heater to Cathode (Each Unit)		• • • • • • • • •	3.2#	pF
# With subserved shield seconded to settle de				

* With external shield connected to cathode.

With external shield cornected to ground.

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Uni	t Pentode Un	it
Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage		330 See curve pag	volts
Grid No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	o o cuive pag	volts
Plate Dissipation	2.5	2.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:			
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts		0.55	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts		See curve pag	e 300
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	125	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		125	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	1	1	volt
Amplification Factor	46 5400	200000	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance	8500	7500	µmhos
Plate Current	13.5	12	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 µA	8	8	volts
10 μ A		-0	VOILS
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.25 0.5		megohm megohm

6L5G

For cathode-bias operation

Refer to chart at end of section.

6L6 6L6GC

BEAM POWER TUBE

Metal type 6L6 and glass octal type 6L6GC are used in the output stage of audio amplifying equipment, especially units designed to have ample reserve of power-delivering ability. Outlines section, 4 and 19D, respectively; require octal socket. These tubes, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Type 6L6GC can be used in place of type 6L6 and may be supplied with pin 1 omitted.



Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to Plate	Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	6L6	6.3 0.9 6L6GC ±200 max 100 max	volts ampere volts volts
	Grid No.1 to Plate	0.4*	0.6	pF
Grid No.3 10* 10 pF		10*	10	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.312*6.5pF		12*	6.5	pF

* With pin 1 connected to pin 8.

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input	-	6L6 rn-Center Values 360 270 19 2.5	6L6GC Design Ma Values 500 450 ⁴ 30 5	aximum volts volts watts watts
TYPICAL OPERATION				
Plate Voltage	250	300	350	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	200	250	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-14	-12.5		volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	14	12.5	18	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	72	48	54	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	79	55	66	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	5	2.5	2.5	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	7.3	4.7	7	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	22500	35000	33000	ohms
Transconductance	6000	5300	5200	μ mhos
Load Resistance	2500	4500	4200	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	10	11	15	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	6.5	6.5	10.8	watts

▲ In push-pull circuits where grid No.2 of each tube is connected to a tap on the plate winding of the output transformer, this maximum rating is 500 volts.

Class A, Amplifier (Triode	6L6 Design-	6L6GC Design-	
MAXIMUM RATINGS	Center Values	Maximum V	alues
Plate Voltage Plate Dissipation (Total)	275 19	450 30	volts w att s
TYPICAL OPERATION			
Plate Voltage		250	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage		-20	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage		20	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current		40	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current		44	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		1700	ohms
Amplification Factor		8	
Transconductance		4700	μ mhos
Load Resistance		5000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion		5	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output		1.4	watts

† Grid No.2 connected to plate.

Push-Pull Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Class A1 Amplifier)

TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)

Plate Voltage	250	270	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	270	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	16	-17.5	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	32	35	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	120	134	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	140	155	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	10	11	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	16	17	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-plate)	5000	5000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	2	2	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	14.5	17.5	watts



Push-Pull Class AB1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Class A1 Amplifier)

TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)		6 I.6	6L6GC	
Plate Voltage	360	360	450	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	270	270	400	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-22.5	-22.5	-37	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	45	45	70	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	88	88	116	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	132	140	210	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	5	5	5.6	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	15	11	22	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-plate)	6600	3800	5600	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	2	2	1.8	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	26.5	18	55	watts

Push-Pull Class AB₂ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are				
Plate Voltage	Voltage	$360 \\ 225 \\18 \\ 52 \\ 78 \\ 142 \\ 3.5 \\ 11 \\ 6000 \\ 2 \\ 31$	360 270 22.5 72 88 205 5 16 3800 2 47	volts volts volts mA mA mA ohms per cent wats
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation			0.1 0.5	megohm megohm
6L6G	Refer to chart a	it end of	section.	
6L6GB	Refer to chart a	it end of	section.	

6L7 Refer to chart at end of section.

6L7G Refer to chart at end of section.



12JF

BEAM POWER TUBE

6LB6

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 16E; requires duodecar 12-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	2.25	amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate	0.44	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	33	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	18	pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode* Connection	Pent	tode Conne	ction	
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage		5000			volts
Plate Voltage	125	_	50	150	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor Grid)		Connec	ted to cath	ode at socket	5
Grid-No.2 Voltage	125	110	110	110	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-25		_	20	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)				6600	ohms
Transconductance				13400	μ mhos
Plate Current			560±	105	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	—		46İ	2	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for			•		
plate current of 1 mA	_			-40	volts
Amplification Factor	4		_	_	

* Grid No.2 tied to plate.

[‡] This value may be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage Peak Positive Pulse Plate Voltage# (Absolute Maximum Value)	990 7000	volts volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	100	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	200	volts
Peak Negative Grid-No.1 Voltage	300	volts
Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current	1100	mA
Plate Dissipation (Absolute Maximum Value)	$315 \\ 30$	mA watts
Grid-No.2 Input	5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	200	"°C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:

With feedback-type high voltage regulation	1.2	megohms
With shunt-type high voltage regulation (switching mode)	10	megohms
Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance	0	ohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

Refer to chart at end of section.

355

6LB8

6LC8 8L.C8

HIGH-MU TRIODE----SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. Pentode unit is used in noise-immune gated-agc-amplifier circuits, and the triode unit in sync-separator circuits. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 8LC8 is identical with type 6LC8 except for heater ratings. For curves of average plate characteristics, refer to type 6KA8.



\mathbf{X} store \mathbf{X} its sector (1.2)	6LC8 6.3	8LC8	14
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)		8.4	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Triode Unit:			
Grid to Plate		2.2	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Grid No.3, and Intern		2.8	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Grid No.3, and Intern		2.2	pF
Pentode Unit:	ai omeiu	4.4	pr
		0.10	17
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.10 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.3, Triode Cath			_
Internal Shield		10	pF
Grid No.3. Triode Cathode, and Internal Shield to Pla	te	3.4	pF
Grid No.1 to Grid No.3. Triode Cathode, and Internal	Shield	0.36	pF
Grid No.3, Triode Cathode, and Internal Shield to Plate.			
Heater, Grid No.1, and Grid No.2		12.5	pF
Class A. Amplifier			

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid Voltage:	Triode Unit 300	volts
Positive-bias value	0	volts
Negative-bias value	50	volts
Plate Dissipation	1.1	watts
CHARACTERISTICS Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage	150	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	100	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage		volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor — —	180	ohms
Amplification Factor	_	
Plate Resistance (Approx.) 17500	100000	ohms
Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate	4400	μ mhos
Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate	600	μ mhos
Plate Current 4	4	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	2.8	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.):		
For plate current of 10 µA		volts
For plate current of 20 μ A	-4	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of		
$20 \mu A \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	7*	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-Circuit Resistance:	Triode Unit	
For fixed-bias operation	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

* With no external connection to triode plate and triode grid.

Gated AGC Amplifier and Noise Inverter

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Pentode Unit
DC Plate Voltage	300 volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	600 volts
Grid-No.3 (Control-Grid) Voltage:	
Positive-bias value	
Negative-bias value	
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	300 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:	
Positive-bias value	
Negative-bias value	50 volts

Plate Dissipation	2	watts
Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts	1.1	watts
For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts		urve page 300
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		megohm megohm
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle	e (10 r	nicroseconds).



TWIN PENTODE

Miniature type used as combined color demodulator and matrix amplifier in color television receivers utilizing high-level demodulation systems. Oùtlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 10LE8 and 15LE8 are identical with type 6LE8 except for heater ratings.

+200, -300	mov	volts
+100	max	volts
1 1	5.5 6 2.7	pF pF pF pF pF
		3.7 15.5 6 2.7

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage (Each Unit) Orid-No (Spream-Guid) Voltage

Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	150	volts
Plate Dissipation (Each Unit)	2	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2	watts

CHARACTERISTICS

	G1 Control	Ga Control	
Plate Voltage	100	100	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage	0	0	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	100	100	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Negative-bias value	2.5	2.5	volts
Transconductance (Approx.)	5800	350	μ mhos
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	50000	50000	ohms
Plate Current	8	7.6	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	15	14.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 20 μ A	-7.2		volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 100 μ A	6.3		volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage for plate current of 20 μ A			volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage for plate current of 100 μ A	A		volts

For replacement use type 6LF6/6LX6.

6LF6

300

volts



BEAM POWER TUBE

6LF6/6LX6 20LF6

Duodecar type used as horizontal deflection amplifier in color television receivers. Outlines section, 16F; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 20LF6 is identical with type 6LF6/6LX6 except for heater ratings.



10LE8, 15LE8

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

6I.F6/

	6LX6	20LF6	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	20	volts
Heater Current	2.0	0.6	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 275 \text{ max}$	±200 max	volts

Class A: Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	50	160	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage	0	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	175	160	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	10	0	volts
Plate Current	800	1400	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	70	45	mA

Horizontal_Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	990 volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	8000 volts
Plate Dissipation	40 watts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	50 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	275 volts
Grid-No.2 Input	9 watts
Beam Plates Circuit Resistor	10000 ohms
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	550 volts
Bulb Temperatures	300 °C

Pulse duration must not exceed 22% of a horizontal scanning cycle (18 microseconds).

6LF8

HIGH-MU TRIODE---SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE



Miniature type used in video-amplifier stages of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

ıds
lts Its
pF
pF
DF
pF
ρF
pF pF pF

Class A Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit Pentode Unit
Plate Voltage	330 330 volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	- See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:	
Positive-bias value	4 0 volts
Negative-bias value	5555 volts
Grid-No.1 Current	8 0 mA
Plate Dissipation	1.1 3.75 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	1.1 watts
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	 See curve page 300

ю(3

н(s

ଇଞ

7

8MQ



Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6LJ6A/6LH6A. Refer to chart at end of section.

6LH6A

6LJ6

6LJ6A/ 6LH6A

BEAM TRIODE

Glass octal type used for the shunt regulation of highvoltage, low-current power supplies in color and blackand-white television receivers. Outlines section, 21D; requires octal socket. For high-voltage and X-ray safety considerations, refer to page 93.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Cathode Voltage + not recommended Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	6.3 0.2 ed,450*	volts ampere volts
Grid to Plate	2.6 1	pF pF pF
* Series impedance should be used with the cathode to limit the cat prolonged short-circuit conditions to 450 mA.	hode curr	rent under
Shunt Voltage-Regulator Service		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage Negative Grid Voltage Peak Negative Grid Voltage Plate Dissipation Average Plate Current TYPICAL OPERATION	$27000 \\ 135 \\ 440 \\ 40 \\ 1.5$	volts volts volts watts mA
Unregulated DC Supply Voltage	36000 11	volts megohms
DC Reference Voltage Equivalent Resistance of Reference Supply Effective Grid-Plate Transconductance DC Plate Current for Load Current of 0 mA DC Plate Current for Load Current of 1 mA Regulated DC Output Voltage for Load Current of 0 mA	200 1000 200 1000 45 25000	volts obms µmhos µA µA volts
---	---	---
Regulated DC Output Voltage for Load Current of 1 mA	24500	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-Circuit Resistance: For use with "Flyback Transformer" high voltage supply	3	megohms
X-RADIATION CHARACTERISTIC		
X-Radiation, Maximum: Statistical value controlled on a lot sampling basis	0.5	mR/hr

• For interval of 20 seconds maximum during equipment warm-up period. Caution—Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated above may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the X-radiation characteristic of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

6LJ8

6LM8



9GF

Miniature type used as a combined oscillator and mixer in vhf television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires 9-contact socket. Types 4LJ8 and 5LJ8 are identical with type 6LJ8 except for heater ratings.

	4LJ8	5LJ8	6LJ	8
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.3	5.6	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.4	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11		seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
	$\pm 200 n$	$hax \pm 200$	$max \pm 200$	max volts
Average value	100 n	nax 100	max 100	max volts
Class A, An	nlifie	r		
	•			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)			it Pentode	
Plate Voltage		280	280	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage			280	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage			Dec curre	
Cathode Current		20	20	mA
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias		0	0	volts
Plate Dissipation		2	2	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:				
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 140 volts			0.5	watts
For grid-No.2 voltages between 140 and 280	volts		See curve	page 300
CHARACTERISTICS				
Plate Voltage		125	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage			125	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		68	33	ohms
Amplification Factor		40		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		5000	125000	ohms
Transconductance		8000	13000	μmhos
Plate Current		13	12	mA
Grid-No.2 Current			3.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current	of			
30 μA		6.5	4	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES				
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:				
For fixed-bias operation		1	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation		0.5	0.25	megohm
For cathode-blas operation		0.0	0.20	megonin

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE-SEMI-REMOTE-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white tele- $_{G2P}$ vision receiver applications. The pentode unit is used in burst-amplifier circuits, and the triode unit as a general-purpose amplifier tube. Outlines section, 6B; or requires miniature 9-contact socket.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.45	volts ampere
Peak value Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Triode Unit: Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode. Heater. Pentode Cathode. Pentode Grid No.3.	1.8	pF
and Internal Shield	3.2	\mathbf{pF}
and Internal Shield	1.9	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	0.015 max	pF
Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal	5.5	\mathbf{pF}
Shield Heater to Cathode (Each Unit)	3.8 3.2	pF pF

Class A. Amplifier

	1		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode L	Init Pentod	e Unit
Plate Voltage	330	350	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	_	See curve	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	2.5	2.5	volts
Grid-No.2 Input:	2.0	2.0	Volta
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	_	0.55	watts
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts		See curve	
		Dee cuive	page 000
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	125	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	_	125	volts
Grid No.1 Voltage	1	2	volts
Amplification Factor	46	_	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	5400	150000	ohms
Transconductance	8500	6000	μmhos
Plate Current	13.5	12	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of		_	
$10 \ \mu A$			volts
•	Ũ		10110
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:

For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation .





0.25

megohm

0.5 1



6LN8/ LCF80

Miniature type used in frequency-changer service in television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage Class A, Amplifie		6 0.45 ±100 max	volts ampere volts
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Supply Voltage Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage:	Triode Unit 550 250 —	Pentode Unit 550 250 550	volts volts volts
With cathode current of 14 mA With cathode current less than 10 mA Cathode Current Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input:		175 200 14 1.7	volts volts mA watts
With plate dissipation greater than 1.2 watts With plate dissipation less than 1.2 watts CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage	100	0.5 0.75 170 170	watt watt volts volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage Amplification Factor Mu-Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1 Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance	2 20 5000	2 47 0.4 6200	volts megohm µmhos
Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Input Resistance at frequency of 50 MHz Equivalent Noise Resistance MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	14	10 2.8 0.01 1500	mA mA megohm ohms
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 0.5	0.5 1	megohm megqhm

6LQ6 6LQ6/6JE6B 6LQ6/6JE6C

For replacement use type 6MJ6/6LQ6/6JE6C.

6LQ8

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used as a video output tube. The triode unit is used in sync separator and sound-if circuits. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 11LQ8 is identical with type 6LQ8 except for heater ratings.





Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6LQ8 6.3 0.7	11LQ8 10.9 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Triode Unit: Grid to Plate		2.8	pF
Grid to Triode Cathode, Pentode Cathode, Heater, I	Pentode		-
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Plate to Triode Cathode, Pentode Cathode, Heater,		4.2	pF
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield		2.4	pF
Pentode Unit:			-
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.12 max	\mathbf{pF}
Internal Shield		14	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	1		-
Internal Shield		4.8	\mathbf{pF}
Triode Grid to Pentode Plate		0.015 max	pF
Pentode Plate to Triode Plate		0.17 max	pF

	Class A, Am	plifier			
MA	XIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)			Pentode Unit	
Ph	te Voltage id-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		300	300	volts volts
Gr	id-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	• • • •	—	300 ee curve page	
Gr	d-No.2 Voltage d-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias v	alue	0 3	ee curve page	volts
Pla	te Dissipation		ž	5	watts
	id-No.2 Input:			-	
	For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts		—	1	watts
	For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 v	olts	s	ee curve page	300
· · · ·	ARACTERISTICS		Unit Pen		•.
Pla	te Supply Voltage	12			volts volts
Gr	d-No.2 Supply Voltage	6			ohms
	plification Factor				Quino
Pla	te Resistance (Approx.)	4400		75000	ohms
Tr	ansconductance	10400			μ mhos
	te Current	1	5 16.5 - 3.1	20 3.5	mA mA
	d-No.2 Current d-No.1 Voltage(Approx.) for plate current		- 0.1	0.0	шл
01	of 100 μ A		-4.2	4.2	volts
	XIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES				
	d-No.1-Circuit Resistance:	т.	iode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Gri	For fixed-bias operation		0.5	0.1	megohm
	For cathode-bias operation		1	0.25	megohm
	-				
	TYPE 6LQ8	TYPE	10/7	N 7 V	9/
-	PENTODE UNIT	6LQ8	, <u>(</u>		7
3	GRID -No.2 VOLTS = 125 030		14/11		9/
5			211		1711
ð,,	<u> </u>	2	š/ /		
ុភភ្លូខ				1 / / / /	
٥ű					
556	0 3 3 3 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	8	/ / /	I I I I	10
¥₹	0 The The Transformed States S	5-+-+	+/ //		
PLATE (Ib) OR GRID-No.2 (IC2) MILLIAMPERES				(/ / X /	
824			1 11		1/0-1
Щ	10 -1.5 a			X / V X /	
3 2		+++	111		
ē		VX.			
			100 2	00 300	400
	0 100 200 300 400	-		TE VOLTS	92CS-12616T1
	PLATE VOLTS 92CS-13751T				



BEAM POWER TUBE

6LR6

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. An integral radiator-fin design dissipates heat uniformly. Outlines section, 16E; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 35LR6 is identical with type 6LR6 except for heater ratings.

Heater Arrangement Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up_Time (Average)	6LR6 Parallel 6.3 2.5	35LR6 Series 35 0.45±0.03 11	volts amperes seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts

Class A: Amplifier

	Triode††	J	Pentode Coni	nection		
CHARACTERISTICS	Connection					
Plate Voltage	125	60	175	60		volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor Grid) Voltage			Connected	to cathode	at	socket
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		115	110	110		volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	20	0	20	0		volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)			5300			ohms

Transconductance (Grid No.1 to Plate) Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for		740† 38†	16000 140 2.4	700 35	µmhos mA mA
plate current of 1 mA		-	42		volts
Current)		19.5:1	_	20:1	
Triode Amplification Factor	3.5				

[†]This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded. ^{††}Grid No. 2 connected to plate.

Horizontal_Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	990	volts
Peak Positive-Plate Pulse Voltage (Absolute Maximum)	7500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1100	volts
Positive Grid-No.3 Voltage	75	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Average Cathode Current	375	mA
Peak Cathode Current	1300	mA
Plate Dissipation	30	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	250	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
Bias feedback high-voltage regulation	0.47	megohm
DC or pulse shunt high-voltage regulation	10	megohm
DO or pulse shunt nigh-voltage regulation	10	megonin

6LR8 21LR8, 31LR8

Novar type used in combined vertical-deflectionoscillator and vertical-deflection-amplifier applications in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 17E; requires novar 9-contact socket. Types 21LR8 and 31LR8 are identical with type 6LR8 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time	6.3 1.5	21 0.45 11	31.5 0.3 11	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	$\pm 200 \max$ 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts

eT DO

91T D.9

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Unit	Be	am Power	Unit	
Plate Voltage	250	45	135	120	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		125	120	120•	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-4	0	10	10	volts
Amplification Factor	58		_	6.5	
Plate Resistance Approx.)	14000		14000		ohms
Transconductance	4100		9200		μmhos
Plate Current	2.6	200=	51		mA
Grid-No.2 Current		200 =	3	-	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage:					
For plate current of 10 µA	6.6		_		volts
For plate current of 100 µA			28		volts
For plate current of 1 mA	_	—	24	_	volts

Triode connection, Grid No.2 connected to plate at socket.
This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.



9QT

91 T DO

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit Oscillator	Beam Power U Amplifier	nit
Flate Voltage	400	400	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		300	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	_	2500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	400	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	105	260	mA
Average Cathode Current	30	75	mA
Peak Power Output	2.5	_	watts
Plate Dissipation [‡]	2.5	14	watts
Grid-No.2 Input [†]		2.75	watts
Bulb Temperature	—	210	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		1	megohm
For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	2.2	2.2	megohms
			1 \

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). $\ddagger A$ bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.



6LT8

8LT8, 11LT8

Miniature type used in television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used in low-frequency horizontaloscillator applications. The diode units are used in horizontal afc discriminator circuits. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 8LT8 and 11LT8 are identical with type 6LT8 except for heater ratings.

.....

Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6LT8 6.3 0.6 11	8LT8 8.1 0.45 11	11LT8 11.4 0.315 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts

Pentode Unit as Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 33 volts	330 volts 330 volts See curve page 300 o 0 volts 3.1 watts 0.65 watt See curve page 300
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid) Grid-No.2 Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μ A MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation	

Diode Unit (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Current (Continuous Operation)	5	mA
CHARACTERISTICS, Instantaneous Value		
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 20 mA	5	volts

6LU8 16LU8A, 21LU8

HIGH-MU TRIODE-----BEAM POWER TUBE

Duodecar type used as a combined vertical-deflection oscillator and vertical-deflection amplifier in color television receivers. Outlines section, 15D; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Types 16LU8A and 21LU8 are identical with type 6LU8 except for heater ratings.



12DZ

Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6LU8 6.3 1.5	16LU8A 16 0.6 11	21 LU8 21 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Peak value	$\pm 200 \max$ 100 max	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts

Class A, Amplifier

Triode Unit	Bear	n Power	Unit	
250	45	135	120	volts
	125	120	120•	volts
4	0	10	10	volts
58	—		6.5	
16000	—	12000	_	ohms
3600		9300		μmhos
2.3	200 • •	56	_	mA
	20••	3		mA
				•
6.6			—	volts
—			_	volts
	—	26	—	volts
	Triode Unit 250 	Triode Unit Bear 250 45 -4 0 58 0 16000	Triode Unit Beam Power 250 45 135	Triode Unit Beam Power Unit 250 45 135 120 125 120 120* -4 0 -10 -10 58 -6.5 16000 3600 9300 2.3 200** 56 20** 3 -30

• Triode connection, Grid No.2 connected to plate at socket.

•• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit Oscillator	Beam Powe Amplifie	
Plate Voltage	400	400	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	<u> </u>	300	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		2500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	400	250	volts
Plate Dissipation	2.5	14	watts
Peak Cathode Current	105	260	mA
Average Cathode Current	30	75	mA
Grid-No.2 Input	-	2.75	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)		210	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance:			_
For fixed-bias operation		1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	2.2	2.2	megohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). • A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

6LX6

For replacement use type 6LF6/6LX6.

6LX8/LCF802

Refer to type 6JW8/ECF802.

6LY8

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used as a video amplifier, and the triode unit for generalpurpose use. Outlines section, 6E; requires 9-contact socket. Type 10LY8 is identical with type 6LY8 except for heater ratings.



366

Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6LY8 6.3 0.75	10LY8 10.5 0.45 11		volts ampere seconds
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	±200 ± 100 ±		volts volts
Class A, Amplifi	er			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	Triode Ur 330	nit Pentode 330 330		volts volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input:	0 1	See curve 0 5	page 3	300 volts watts
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts CHARACTERISTICS	_	1.1 See curve	page 3	watts
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current	250 -2.0 100 59000 1700 1.0		200 100 82 00000 19.5 3	volts volts volts ohms µmhos mA mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μA Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 μA	5	-	6.3	volts volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 1	0.5 1	0.0	megohm megohm

Refer to chart at end of section.

6LZ6



HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE-SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

6M11

Duodecar type used in television receiver applications. The triode units are used in sync-separator and agcamplifier circuits; the pentode unit is used in if-amplifier circuits. Outlines section, 8B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3 0.77	volts ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances :**		
Triode Units: Grid to Plate	1.8	\mathbf{pF}
Grid to Triode Cathode, Pentode Cathode, Heater, Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	3.4	-
Plate to Triode Cathode, Pentode Cathode, Heater, Pentode	0.4	pF
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	0.8	\mathbf{pF}
Pentode:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.03	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	12	pF
Plate to Cathode, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	2.8	\mathbf{pF}

** With external shield connected to pentode cathode, grid No.3, and internal shield.

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Each Triode Unit Pentode Unit				
Plate Voltage	330	330	volts		
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	—	330	volts		
Grid-No.2 Voltage		See curve page 30	0		
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	0	volts		
Plate Dissipation	2.25	3.1	watts		
Grid-No.2 Input:					
For voltages up to 165 volts		0.65	watt		
For voltages between 165 and 330 volts		See curve page 30	0		

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor	125 125	$125 \\ 125 \\ 56$	volts volts ohms
Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.)	58 7250	200000	ohms
Transconductance	8000 8	13000 11	μ mhos mA
Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current		3.4	mA
of 20 µA	_	-3.5	volts
of 50 μ A	-4.5	—	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation	0.68	1	megohm

6MA6

Refer to chart at end of section.

6MB8 5MB8

HIGH-MU TRIODE SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type with frame-grid pentode unit used in color television receivers. The triode unit is used in video-amplifier applications. The pentode unit is used in burst-amplifier service. **Outlines section**, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 5MB8 is identical with type 6MB8 except for heater ratings.



•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••			
	5MB8	6MB8	
Heater Arrangement	Series	Parallel	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	5.6	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.45	0.4	ampere
		0.4	
Heater Warm-up Time	11	—	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	±200 max		volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Class A ₁ Ampli	fiar		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit		
Plate Voltage	280	280	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		280	volts
Grid-No.2 Pulse Voltage		300	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		See curve page	300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	0	volt
Plate Dissipation	Ž	ž	watts
Cathode Current	20	20	mA
Grid-No.2 Input		0.5	watt
		0.5	WALL
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	125	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		125	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	0	0	volt
Cathode-Bias Resistor	68	33.	ohm
Plate Current	13	10	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		2.8	mA
Transconductance	8000	12000	<i>u</i> mhos
Amplification Factor	40	12000	μ mmos
	5000	125000	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)			
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 100 μA	5		volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 50 µA		3	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.25	megohm
	1	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	0.0	megonin

6MD8

MEDIUM-MU TRIPLE TRIODE

Novar type used in matrixing circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 11E; requires novar 9-contact socket. Type 12MD8 is identical with type 6MD8 except for heater ratings.



Heater Arrangement Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	1	6MD8 Parallel 6.3 0.9	12MD8 Series 12.6 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value	:	±200 max 100 max	土200 max 100 max	volts volts
	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	Unit No.3	
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	3.6 0.48	3 3.6 0.48	3 3.4 0.36	pF pF pF
Class A1 Amplifier (Ea	ich U	nit)		

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation CHARACTERISTICS	0	volts volts watts
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage Amplification Factor		volts volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	5500	ohms



Transconductance	3100	μ mhos
Plate Current	11.5	· mA
Plate Current for grid voltage of -14 volts	4	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 µA		volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation	1	megohm



BEAM POWER TUBE



Novar types used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 32C; require novar 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	$_{2.3}^{6.3\pm0.6}$	volts amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.6	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2.		
and Grid No.3	22	ъF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2.		
and Grid No.3	11	pF
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3 Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,		pF pF pF

Class A: Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode* Connection		Pentode Connect	tion	
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		5000			volts
Plate Voltage Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid)	125		55	175	volts
Voltage		0	30	30	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	125	125	125	125	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	25		0	-25	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)				5800	ohms
Transconductance				9600	μ mhos
Plate Current			580\$	130	· mA
Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current			40‡	2.8	mA
of 1 mA		125		-44	volts
Amplification Factor	3.5				

* Grid No.3 and grid No.2 connected, respectively, to cathode and plate at socket. [‡]This value may be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Supply Voltage	990	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	7500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1100	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	75	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Cathode Current	1200	mA
Average Cathode Current	350	mA
Plate Dissipation [°]	30	watts
Plate Dissipation (Temporary overload) ^A	200	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	5	watts
Envelope Temperature (At hottest point)	250	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance for Cathode Bias		

(with min. $R\kappa = 100\Omega$)	1.0	megohm
Grid-leak Bias (with signal peak clamped to zero bias)	10.0	megohms
Fixed Bias (where positive grid current is not drawn)	0.47	megohm

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). • For horizontal-deflection service, a positive voltage may be applied to grid-No.3 to minimize "snivets" interference in both vhf and uhf television receivers. A typical value is 30 volts. [°]A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

* Total continuous or accumulated time not to exceed 40 seconds.

TWO-PLATE 6**ME**8 **BEAM-DEFLECTION TUBE**

Miniature type used for color-demodulator applications in color television receivers and a variety of other switching and gate applications. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Pin 5 should be connected directly to ground. The 6ME8 should be so located in the equipment that it is not subjected to stray magnetic fields.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.3	ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		-
Grid No.1 to All Other Electrodes Except Plates	7.5	pF
Either Plate to All Other Electrodes	6	pF
Either Deflecting Electrode to All Other Electrodes	6	pF
Plate No.1 to Plate No.2	0.4	pF
Deflecting Electrode No.1 to Deflecting Electrode No.2	0.4	pF
Grid No.1 to Deflecting Electrode No.1	0.07 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Deflecting Electrode No.2	0.1 max	pF

CHARACTERISTICS

400	volts
土200	volts
100	volts
400	volts
0	volts
30	mA
2	watts
2	watts
0.1	megohm
0.25	megohm
	± 200 100 400 0 30 2 2 0.1

Color TV Demodulator



Class A: Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate-No.2 Supply Voltage	250	volts
Plate No.2		Plate No.1
Plate-No.1 Supply Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.3 Supply Voltage	350	volts
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage	0	volts
Deflecting-Electrode-No.2 Supply Voltage	75	volts
Deflecting-Electrode-No.1 Supply Voltage	75	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	390	ohms
Transconductance, Grid No.1 to both plates	4400	μ mhos
Total Plate Current	14.5	mA
Grid-No.3 Current	0.7	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for total plate current of 10 μ A		volts
Deflecting-Electrode Switching Voltage*	30 max	volts
Voltage Difference between Deflecting Electrodes for equal		
plate currents	0	volts
Plate-No.1 Current with Deflecting-Electrode-No.1 Voltage = 55V		
and Deflecting-Electrode-No.2 Voltage = 95V	1.3 max	mA
Plate-No.2 Current with Deflecting-Electrode-No.1 Voltage $= 95V$		
and Deflecting-Electrode-No.2 Voltage = 55V	1.3 max	mA
Deflecting-Electrode-No.1 Current with Deflecting-Electrode-No.1		
Voltage = $125V$ and Deflecting-Electrode-No.2 Voltage = $25V$	0.04 max	mA
Deflecting-Electrode-No.2 Current with Deflecting-Electrode-No.1		
Voltage $= 25V$ and Deflecting-Electrode-No.2 Voltage $= 125V$	0.04 max	mA

* Defined as the total voltage change from 75 volts on either deflecting electrode with an equal and opposite change on the other deflecting electrode required to switch the plate current from one plate to the other.



6MF8

Duodecar type used in combined vertical-deflectionoscillator and vertical-deflection-amplifier applications in color television receivers. Outlines section, 15D; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 15MF8 is identical with type 6MF8 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6MF8 6.3 1.4	15MF8 14.7 0.6	volts amperes
Peak value	±200 max	±200 max	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts

Class A ₁	Amplifier			
CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Unit	Beam Un		
Plate Voltage	250	60	250	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		250	250	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	4	Ó	20	volts
Plate Current	2.6	200	50	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		20	3.5	mA
Transconductance	4100		4100	μ mhos
Amplification Factor	58			
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current	14000		5000	ohms
of 10 μ A Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current	- 6.6			volts
of 100 µA			65	volts

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Peak Positive Pulse Plate Voltage# Grid-No.2 Voltage Plate Dissipation* Average Cathode Current Peak Cathode Current Peak Cathode Current Peak Cathode Current Peak Diserver Output Bulb Temperature	Triode Unit Oscillator 400 2.5 30 105 2.5 	Beam Power Unit Amplifier 400 2500 300 12 2.75 75 260 200	volts volts volts watts watts mA mA watts °C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid Circuit Resistance : For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	2.2	$1 \\ 2.2$	megohm megohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).
A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.



Miniature type used in horizontal-deflection circuits and for agc-amplifier or sync-separator applications in television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Heater: volts, 6.3; ampere, 0.45; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Transconductance Plate Resistance (Approx.) Amplification Factor Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 10 μ A	Triode Unit 150 	Pentode Unit 170 170 	volts volts ohns mA mA µmhos kohms volts
Horizontal_Deflection A	mplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)			
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Plate Dissipation Cathode Current	330 2.5 14	330 300 2 14	volts volts watts mA
Grid-No.2 Input: For plate dissipation more than 1.2 watts For plate dissipation less than 1.2 watts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		0.5 0.75	watt watt
Grid-No.1 Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 0.5	0.5 1	megohm megohm

For replacement use type 6J6A.

6МНН3 6MJ6/ 6LQ6/6JE6C



BEAM POWER TUBE

24LQ6/24JE6C, 31LQ6

Novar types used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 32C; requires novar 9-contact socket. Types 24LQ6/24JE6C, and 31LQ6 are identical with type 6MJ6/6LQ6/6JE6C except for heater ratings.

	6MJ6/			
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6LQ6/6JE6C	24LQ6/24JE6C	31LQ6	
Heater Current	6.3	24	31	volts
Heater Warm-up Time	2.3	0.6	0.45	amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		11	11	seconds
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	±200 max	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:				
Grid No.1 to Plate			0.6	σF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2	2.			
and Grid No.3			22	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,				
and Grid No.3			11	pF

Class A: Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode*				
	Connection		Pentode Connectio	n	
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		5000			volts
Plate Voltage	145		60	175	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid)					
Voltage		30	30	30	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	145	145	145	145	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-35		0	-35	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)				7000	ohms
Transconductance				7500	µmhos
Plate Current			710‡	95	mA

PTI NC

anc

Ю⁶Т2

")_{бтз}

NC 6 7

PT2 (4

K (3)

T3

(2

н

Grid-No.2 Current		 55‡	2.4	mA
of 1 mA	2.8	 Ξ	60	volts

* Grid No.3 and grid No.2 connected, respectively, to cathode and plate at socket.

[‡]This value may be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Supply Voltage	990	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	7500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1100	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	75	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Cathode Current	1200	mA
Average Cathode Current	350	mA
Plate Dissipation ^O	30	watts
Plate Dissipation (Temporary overload)	200	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	5	watts
Envelope Temperature (At hottest point)	250	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For grid-No.1-resistor-bias operation	0.47	megohm
For plate-pulsed operation (horizontal-deflection given its only)	10	merchms

For plate-pulsed operation (horizontal-deflection circuits only) 10 megohms # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).
For horizontal-deflection service, a positive voltage may be applied to grid-No.3 to minimize "snivets" interference in both vhf and uhf television receivers. A typical value is 30 volts.
A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.
A Total continuous or accumulated time not to exceed 40 seconds.



6MJ8

MEDIUM-MU TRIPLE TRIODE

Duodecar type used in matrixing-amplifier circuits of color and black-and-white television receivers. **Outlines** section, 8D; requires duodecar 12-contact socket.

			12HG	
Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	6.3 0.9	volts ampere
Peak value Average value			±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid to Plate	Unit No.1 2.8	Unit No.2 2.8	Unit No.3 2.8	"F
Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	2.9 0.36	2.9 0.6	2.8 3 0.7	pF pF

Class A ₁ Ampliner (Each Unit)		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation	330 0 3	volts volts watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage Plate Current Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.)	10 17 5600	volts volts mA ohms
Transconductance Plate Current for grid voltage of -14 volts Grid Voltage for plate current of 50 μ A	3000 4 —23	µmhos mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

Class A Amplifian (Each Unit)

Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation 1 merchm



Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6MK8A.

6MK8



SHARP-CUTOFF TWIN PENTODE 6**MK8A**

Miniature type used in sync-separator, clipper, agc, and low-level color-demodulator circuits in television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9contact socket.

Heater Voltage	6.3 0.3	volts ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Grid No.3 to Plate (Each Section)	2	pF
Grid No.1 to All Electrodes		σF
Grid No.3 (Each Section) to All Electrodes	3.6	DF
Plate (Each Section) to All Electrodes	3	pF
Grid No.3 (Section 1) to Grid No.3 (Section 2)	0.015 max	DF DF DF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage (Each Unit) 300 volts Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage (Each Unit) 50 volts Peak positive value 50 volts DC negative value 50 volts DC positive value 3 volts

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Negative-bias value Cathode Current Plate Dissipation (Each Section) Grid-No.2 Input	. 50 volts . 12 mA . 1.1 watts
MAXIMUM PLATE CURRENT RATIO (Balance): 6MK8A - 1.2 to 1	; 4MK8 — 1.3 to 1
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Grid-No.3 Voltage Grid-No.3 Voltage Grid-No.1 Resistance	. 67.5 volts . 67.5 volts . 0 volts
CHARACTERISTICS With One Unit Operating•	
Plate Voltage 100	100 volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	0 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage 67.5 Grid-No.1 Voltage 0	67.5 volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage 0 Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate	* volts 450 µmhos
Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate 1100	$- \mu mhos$
Plate Current	2 mA
Grid-No.3 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current	
of 100 µA	
of 100 µA	—2.3 volts
With Both Units Operating	
Plate Voltage (Each Unit) 100	100 volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage (Each Unit)10	0 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage 67.5 Grid-No.1 Voltage *	67.5 volts
Plate Current (Each Section)	2 mA
Cathode Current 7.1	8.5 mA
Grid-No.2 Current 7	4.4 mA





MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance (Each Unit) Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	$0.5 \\ 0.5$	megohm megohm
. With plate and grid No.3 of other unit grounded. * Grid current adju	isted for	100 µA dc.

Refer to chart at end of section.

HIGH-MU TRIPLE TRIODE

6ML8

6MN8 9MN8

5M08

Duodecar type used for matrix-amplifier applications in color television receivers. Outlines section, 8D; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 9MN8 is identical with type 6MN8 except for heater ratings.

12HU

Heater Voltage Heater Current		9MN8 9.5 0.6 11	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value		±200 max ±100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Unit N Grid to Plate 2.6 Grid to Cathode and Heater 4.6 Plate to Cathode and Heater 0.33	2.6 4.6	Unit No.3 2.6 4.6 0.65	pF pF pF

Class A₁ Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation		330 0 3	volts volt watts
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	125	200	volts
Grid Voltage	1		volts
Amplification Factor	47	40	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	6250	10000	ohms
Transconductance	7500	4000	μmhos
Plate Current	11	4.8	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 μ A	5		volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE			
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation		1	megohm



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used in band-pass-amplifier applications. The triode unit is used in video-amplifier, sync-separator, color-killercontrol, matrix-amplifier, and blanker applications. **Outlines section**, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact

socket. Type 5MQ8 is identical with type 6MQ8 except for heater ratings.

	5MQ8 5.6 0.6 11 ±200 max	6MQ8 6.3 0.535 ±200 max	volts ampere seconds volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	volts
Triode Unit: Grid to Plate		1.7	pF
Grid to Triode Cathode, Pentode Cathode, Heater, Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield		3	pF

Plate to Triode Cathode, Pentode Cathode, Heater.		
Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	1.4	pF
Pentode Unit:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.045	ъF
Grid No.1 to Cathode. Heater, Grid No.2. Grid		
No.3, and Internal Shield	7.5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid		_
No.3, and Internal Shield	22	pF
	2.2	pr.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
DC Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		330	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage		See curve page	300
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage,		• •	
Positive-bias value	0	0	volt
Plate Dissipation	2.7	2.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:			
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	~	0.55	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts		See curve page	300
Interelectrode Leakage	100	100	megohms

CHARACTERISTICS DC Plate Voltage DC Grid-No.2 Voltage Cathode Resistance Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance DC Plate Current	Triode Unit 150 56 40 5 8500 18	Pentode Unit 125 125 62 150 10000 12	volts volts ohms kohms µmhos mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 100 μA MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation		4.5 7 0.25	mA volts megohms
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	0.5	megohms

6MU8

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE-SEMIREMOTE-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used in burst-amplifier circuits, and the triode unit as a general amplifier tube. **Outlines section**, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.



9AE

Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value		$6.3 \\ 0.6 \\ 11 \\ \pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts ampere seconds volts
Average value		100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	With Shield	Without Shield	
Triode Unit: Grid to Plate	2.2	2.2	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode, Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	3.2	3	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode, Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Pentode Unit:	3.4	2.2	pF
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.05	0.05	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,	9	9	pF
and Internal Shield	4.4	3.6	pF
Heater to Triode Cathode Heater to Pentode Cathode Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate	$4.8 \\ 7.5 \\ 0.2$	$4.4 \\ 5.5 \\ 0.17$	pF pF
Pentode Plate to Triode Plate	0.008	0.09	pF

Class A ₁ Amplific	er		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Grid-No.2 Input Plate Dissipation	Triode Unit 330 0 2.5 	Pentode Unit 330 330 See curve page 0 3.75 1.1	volts volts
CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	;
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Cathode Bias Resistor Plate Plate Current Transconductance Amplification Fate Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) Grid-No.1 Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μA Grid-No.1 Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA Monte	$ \begin{array}{c} 125 \\ -1 \\ 11.5 \\ 6000 \\ 35 \\ 5800 \\ -5.8 \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ -$	150 150 19 4.2 9000 165000	volts volts volts ohms mA mA µmhos ohms volts volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 1	0.25 1	megohm megohm



9DX

HIGH-MU TRIODE— Sharp-cutoff pentode

6MV8

Miniature type used for general-purpose applications. The pentode unit is used as an if-amplifier, and the triode unit as a sync-separator or voltage amplifier. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Heater: volts, 6.3; ampere, 0.6; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No. 2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No. 2 Voltage Grid-No. 1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No. 2 Input	Triode Unit 330 0 1 	Pentode Unit 330 See curve page 0 2.5 0.55	volts volts 300 volts watts watts
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid-No. 2 Voltage Grid-No. 1 Voltage Plate Current Grid-No. 2 Current Transconductance Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Grid-No. 1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μA	250 2 Triode Unit 2.5 4000 100 25000 4.5	125 125 1 Pentode Unit 13 9000 150000 6	volts volts volts mA μmhos ohms volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No. 1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	$0.5 \\ 1$		negohms negohms

Refer to chart at end of section.



ì

9AC

6N7 6N7GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
6P5GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
6P7G	Refer to chart at end of section.
6Q7 6Q7G 6Q7GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
6Q11	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6K11/6Q11.
6R7 6R7G 6R7GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
6RHH2	For replacement use type 6BC8/6BZ8.
6RHH8	For replacement use type 6KN8/6RHH8.
6RK19	For replacement use type 6BR3/6RK19.
6RP22	Refer to chart at end of section.
654	Refer to chart at end of section.

6**S**4A

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE

Miniature type used as vertical-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)		volts ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 m ax	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		
Grid to Plate	2.4	\mathbf{pF}
Grid to Cathode and Heater	4.2	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode and Heater	0.6	pF

Class A: Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage Grid Voltage	250 8	volts volts
Amplification Factor	16.5	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	3700	ohms
Transconductance	4500	μ mhos
Plate Current	24	mA
Plate Current for grid voltage of - 15 volts	4	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 µA		volts

Vertical-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum values)		
DC Plate Voltage	550	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	2200	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	105	mA
Average Cathode Current	30	mA
Plate Dissipation	8.5	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation 2.2 megohms # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds),

Refer to chart at end of section.	657 657G
Refer to chart at end of section.	6S8GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	6SA7 6SA7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	6SB7Y
Refer to chart at end of section.	6SC7
Refer to chart at end of section.	6\$F3 6\$F5GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	6SF7
Refer to chart at end of section.	6SG7
Refer to chart at end of section.	6SH7
Refer to chart at end of section.	6SJ7 6SJ7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	6SK7 6SK7GT

HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE

Glass octal type used as phase inverter in radio equipment. Each unit may also be used in resistance-coupled amplifier circuits. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket. Except for the common heater, each triode unit is independent of the other. For typical operation as

6SL7GT

12SL7GT

8BD phase inverter or resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section. Type 12SL7GT is identical with type 6SL7GT except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	6SL7GT 6.3 0.3 ±90 max	12.6 0.15	volts ampere volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):° Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	Unit No.1 2.8 3 3.8	Unit No.2 2.8 3.4 3.2	pF pF pF

With external shield connected to cathode.

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation		volts volts watt
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage	$\frac{250}{-2}$	volts volts
Amplification Factor	70	
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance	$\begin{array}{c} 44000 \\ 1600 \end{array}$	ohms µmhos
Plate Current	2.3	mA

6SN7GT 6SN7GTA

Refer to chart at end of section.

6SN7GTB MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

Glass octal type used as combined vertical oscillator and vertical-deflection amplifier, and as horizontaldeflection oscillator, in color and black-and-white television receivers. Each unit may also be used in multivibrator or resistance-coupled amplifier circuits in radio equipment. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal



8BD

socket. Except for the common heater, each triode unit is independent of the other. For typical operation as resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to **Resistance-Coupled Amplifier** section. Type 12SN7GTA is identical with type 6SN7GTB except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6SN7GTB 6.3	12SN7GTA 12.6	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.3	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	-	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value	+200 mg	$x \pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 ma		volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Grid to Plate	4.0	3.8	pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater	2.2 0.7	2.6 0.7	pF pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	••••	0.1	pr
Class A, Amplifier (Eac	h Unit)		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)			1.
Plate Voltage		450 20	volts mA
Plate Dissipation:		20	
For either plate		5	watts
For both plates with both units operating	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	7.5	watts
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	90 0	250 8	volts volts
Grid Voltage Amplification Factor	20	20	VOICS
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	6700	7700	ohms
Transconductance	3000	2600 9	$\mu mhos mA$
Plate Current for grid voltage of -12.5 volts	10	1.3	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	7	-18	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE			
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation		1	megohm
		1	megohm
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation	nit)	1	megohm
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur	nit) rame system Vertical-	1 Horizontal- Deflection	megohm
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur	nit) rame system	- Horizontal-	megohm
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage	nit) rame system Vertical- Deflection Oscillator 450	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450	volts
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	nit) rame system Vertical- Deflection Oscillator 450 400	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600	volts
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	nit) rame system Vertical- Deflection Oscillator 450	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450	volts
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fn MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation :	nit) vertical- Deflection Oscillator 450 400 70 20	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 300 20	volts volts mA mA
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation : For either plate	nit) rame system Vertical- Deflection Oscillator 450 400 70 20 5	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 300 20 5	volts volts mA mA watts
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current Plate Dissipation: For either plate For both plates with both units operating	nit) vertical- Deflection Oscillator 450 400 70 20	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 300 20	volts volts mA mA
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation: For either plate For both plates with both units operating MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	nit) rame system Vertical- Deflection Oscillator 450 400 70 20 5 7.5	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 300 20 5 7.5	volts volts mA mA watts watts
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation : For either plate For either plate For both plates with both units operating	nit) rame system Vertical- Deflection Oscillator 450 400 70 20 5 7.5 2.2	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 300 20 5 7.5 2.2	volts volts mA mA watts
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fn MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation : For either plate For both plates with both units operating MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance Vertical-Deflection Amplifier	nit) rame system Vertical- Deflection Oscillator 450 400 70 20 5 7.5 2.2 (Each Uni	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 300 20 5 7.5 2.2	volts volts mA mA watts watts
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fn MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Cathode Current Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation : For either plate For both plates with both units operating MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance Vertical-Deflection Amplifier For operation in a 525-line, 30-fn	nit) rame system Vertical- Deflection Oscillator 450 400 70 20 5 7.5 2.2 (Each Uni	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 300 20 5 7.5 2.2	volts volts mA mA watts watts
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation: For either plate For both plates with both units operating MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance Vertical-Deflection Amplifier For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)	nit) rame system Vertical- Deflection 450 400 20 5 7.5 2.2 (Each Uni rame system	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 20 5 7.5 2.2	volts volts mA mA watts watts megohms
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Cathode Current Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation: For either plate For either plate For both plates with both units operating MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance Vertical-Deflection Amplifier For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage	nit) vertical- Deflection Oscillator 450 400 70 20 5 7.5 2.2 (Each Uni rame system	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 300 20 5 7.5 2.2 t) 450	volts volts mA mA watts watts megohms volts
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation: For either plate For both plates with both units operating MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance Vertical-Deflection Amplifier For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# (Absolute maximum	nit) rame system Vertical- Defilection Scillator 450 400 70 20 5 7.5 2.2 (Each Uni rame system	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 20 5 7.5 2.2	volts volts mA mA watts watts megohms
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Cathode Current Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation: For either plate For either plate For both plates with both units operating MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance Vertical-Deflection Amplifier For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage	hit) rame system Vertical- Deflection 450 400 70 20 5 7.5 2.2 (Each Uni rame system	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 300 20 5 7.5 2.2 t)	volts volts mA mA watts watts megohms volts
Grid-Circuit Resistance, for fixed-bias operation Oscillator (Each Ur For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Plate Dissipation: For either plate For both plates with both units operating MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance Vertical-Deflection Amplifier For operation in a 525-line, 30-fr MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# (Absolute maximum Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	hit) rame system Vertical- Deflection 450 400 70 20 5 7.5 2.2 (Each Uni rame system	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 20 5 7.5 2.2 t) 450 1500- 250	volts volts mA mA watts watts megohms volts volts

Average Cathode Current	20	mA
Plate Dissipation: For either plate For both plates with both units operating	5 7.5	watts watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation	2.2	megohms



Refer to chart at end of section.	6SQ7 6SQ7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	6SR7
Refer to chart at end of section.	6SS7
Refer to chart at end of section.	6ST7
Refer to chart at end of section.	6SZ7
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 6AF4A.	6T4
Refer to chart at end of section.	6T7G
Refer to chart at end of section.	678



6**T8A** 5T8, 19T8

Miniature type used as combined audio amplifier, AM detector, and FM detector in AM/FM radio receivers. Diode unit No.1 is used for AM detection, and diode units No.2 and No.3 are used for FM detection. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For typical operation as resistance-coupled amplifier,

refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section. Types 5T8 and 19T8 are identical with type 6T8A except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	0.6	6T8A 6.3 0.45 11	19 T8 18.9 0.15 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Average value			±90 max	volts volts

383

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Triode Unit:	Unshielded	Shielded	
Grid to Plate	1.7	1.7	pF
Heater Plate to Cathode, Internal Shield (pin 7), and	1.6	1.7	pF
Heater Diode Units:	1.2	2.4	pF
Diode-No.1 Plate to Cathode, Internal Shield (pin 7), and Heater	3.8	3.8	pF
Diode-No.2 Plate to Cathode, Internal Shield (pin 3), and Heater Diode-No.3 Plate to Cathode, Internal Shield	3.8	3.8*	pF
(pin 7), and Heater Diode-No.2 Cathode, Internal Shield (pin 3) to All	3.4	3.6	pF
Other Electrodes, and Heater Triode Grid to any Diode Plate * With external shield connected to pin 7 except as noted • With external shield connected to pin 3.	7.5 0.034 max 1.	8.5∎ 0.034 max	pF pF
• With external shield connected to pins 4 and 5. Triode Unit as Class A, 1	Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		000	
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation CHARACTERISTICS		330 0 1.1	volts volts watts
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage Amplification Factor	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 1 \\ 70 \end{array} $	$\frac{250}{-3}$ 70	volts volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current	54000 1300 0.8	58000 1200 1	ohms µmhos mA

Diode Units

MAXIMUM RATING (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Current (Each Unit)



6T9

Refer to chart at end of section.

6T10 10T10, 12T10

Duodecar type used as combined FM detector and audio-frequency output amplifier in color and blackand-white television receivers. The beam power unit is used in af output stages, and the sharp-cutoff, dualcontrol pentode unit is used as an FM detector. Outlines section, 8C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. For maximum ratings and characteristics, refer to type 6AL11. Types 10T10 and 12T10 are identical with type 6T10 except for heater ratings.



5.5

mA



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	6.3 0.95	1 0710 9.8 0.6 11	12 T10 12.6 0.45 11	volts amperes seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$ 100 max	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Unit No.1: Grid No.1 to Plate			0.22	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No Shield			11	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Shield	, Gria 190.3,	and internal	10	pF
Unit No.2: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.3 to Plate			0.032 3	pF pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No Shield			6.5	pF
Grid No.3 to Cathode, Heater, Grid N Internal Shield Grid No.1 to Grid No.3 Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit			7.5 0.12 0.13	pF pF pF
Refer to chart at end	of section.		6U5	
Refer to chart at end	of section.		6U7G	
Refer to chart at end For replacement use type		8.	6U8	
For replacement use type	6U8A/6KD	8.	6U8A	

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE— Sharp-cutoff Pentode

6U8A/ 6KD8 5U8, 9U8A



Miniature types used as combined oscillator and mixer tube in color and black-and-white television receivers utilizing an intermediate frequency in the order of 40 MHz. Outlines section, 6B; require miniature 9contact socket. Type 5U8 is identical with type 6U8A/ 6KD8 except for heater ratings.

5U8 5U8 Heater Voltage (ac/dc) 4.7 Heater Current 0.6 Heater Warm-up Time (Average) 11 Heater-Cathode Voltage: 11	6U8A/6KD8 6.3 0.45 11	9U8A 9.45 0.3 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Average value	$\pm 200 \max$ 100 max		volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Triode Unit:	Unshielded	Shielded [*]	
Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode,	1.8	1.8	pF
Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Pentode Cathode,	2.8	2.8	pF
Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	1.5	2	pF
Pentode Unit: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,	0.010 max	0.006 max	pF
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	5	5	pF
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	2.6 3	3.5 3•	dF dF
Pentode Cathode, Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate Pentode Plate to Triode Plate	3 0.2 max 0.1 max		pF pF pF
			P *

▲ With external shield connected to pin 4 except as noted.

· With external shield connected to pin 6.

	71		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit	Pentode U	nit
Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	5	See curve pag	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0		volts
Plate Dissipation	2.5		watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	2.5	a	walls
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	_	0.55	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	- :	See curve pa	ge 300
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	125	125	volts
Grid-No2 Voltage	100	110	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-1	1	volts
Amplification Factor	40		10165
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	40	0.2	megohm
Transconductance	7500	5000	
			μ mhos
Plate Current	13.5	9.5	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		3.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of	_		
$20 \mu \mathbf{A} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	9	8	volts

Class A. Amnlifier

6U9/ECF201

Refer to chart at end of section.

6U10

THREE-UNIT TRIODE

Duodecar type used in amplifier applications. Units PT No.1 and No.3 are medium-mu triode units, and unit No.2 is a high-mu triode unit. Outlines section, 8A; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts κ_{T_3} (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.6; warm-up time (average), 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 275 PT (peak) for units 1 and 3; ± 200 (peak) for unit 2; H 100 (average) for each unit.



Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Units Nos. 1 and 3	Unit No.2	
Plate Voltage DC Grid Voltage:	330	330	volts
Positive-bias value Negative-bias value	0 50	0 50	volts volts
Average Cathode Current	20 2		mA
Plate Dissipation	Z	1	watts
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	200	200	volts
Grid Voltage	6	1.5	volts
Amplification Factor	17.5	90	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	7700	61000	ohms
Transconductance	2300	1600	μ mhos
Plate Current	9.6	1.2	mA
For plate current of 100 µA		_	volts
For plate current of 35 μA	• —	3	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance:			-
For fixed-bias operation	1	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	2.2	1*	megohms

* This value may reach 10 megohms provided the plate-supply voltage and load resistance are such that the plate dissipation can never exceed 0.5 watt.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6V6

6V6GTA

12V6GT



BEAM POWER TUBE

Metal type 6V6 and glass octal type 6V6GTA are used as output amplifiers in automobile, battery-operated, and other receivers in which reduced plate-current drain is desirable. **Outlines section**, 2B and 13D, respectively; require octal socket. These tubes are equiva-

lent in performance to type 6AQ5A. Refer to type 6AQ5A for average plate characteristic curves. Type 12V6GT is identical with type 6V6GTA except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage	6V6 6.3 0.45 —	6V6GTA 6.3 0.45 11	12V6GT 12.6 0.225 —	volts ampere seconds
Peak value		±200 max 100 max 6V6°	±200 max 100 max 6V6GTA	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,	and	0.3	0.7	pF
Grid No.3 Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	1	10 11	9 7.5	pF pF
'With shell connected to cathode.				-

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input			$350 \\ 315 \\ 14 \\ 2.2$	volts volts watts watts
TYPICAL OPERATION				
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage Zero-Signal Plate Current Maximum-Signal Plate Current Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Load Resistance Total Harmonic Distortion	180 180 8.5 8.5 29 30 3 4 50000 3700 5500 8	$\begin{array}{c} 250\\ 250\\ -12.5\\ 12.5\\ 45\\ 47\\ 4.5\\ 7\\ 50000\\ 4100\\ 5000\\ 8\end{array}$	315225131334352.26800003750850012	volts volts volts mA mA mA ohms µmhos ohms per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	2	4.5	5.5	watts
CHARACTERISTICS (Triode Connection) Plate Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 0 A Grid No.2 connected to plate.	.5 mA	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	250 12.5 9.8 1960 5000 49.5 36	volts volts ohms μmhos mA volts

Push-Pull Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Class A₁ Amplifier) **TYPICAL OPERATION** (Values are for two tubes)

Plate Voltage	250	285	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	285	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	15	19	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	30	38	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	70	70	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	79	92	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	5	4	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	13	13.5	mA

Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-Plate) Total Harmonic Distortion Maximum-Signal Power Output	10000 5 10	8000 3.5 14	ohms per cent watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			*
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.1 0.5	megohm megohm
Vertical-Deflection Amplifier (Trio For operation in a 525-line, 30-f MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		-	
DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Peak Cathode Current		350 1200 275 115	volts volts volts mA
Average Cathode Current		40 10	mA watts
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation		2.2	megohms
^A Grid No.2 connected to plate. # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical sca		(2.5 millise	conds).
AVAGT Refer to chart	at end of	section.	

6V6GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
6V6GTY	Refer to chart at end of section.
6V7G	Refer to chart at end of section.
6W4GT	Refer to chart at end of section.

6W6GT

BEAM POWER TUBE

Glass octal type used in the audio output stage of radio and color and black-and-white television receivers. Triode-connected, it is used as a vertical-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket. This type may be supplied with pin No.1 omitted. Type 12W6GT is identical with type 6W6GT except for heater ratings.

Plate Resistance (Approx.)



	0		
	6W6GT	12W6GT	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	12.6	volts
Heater Current	1.2	0.6	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	-	11	seconds
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	$\begin{cases} +200 \text{ max} \\ -300 \text{ max} \end{cases}$	volts
Average value	100 max	{ +100 max {200 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):			
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.8	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Gri		15	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.	3	9	pF
Class A, Amplifie	r		-
1 1	<i>,</i> ,		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)			
Plate Voltage		330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		165	volts
Plate Dissipation		12	watts
Grid-No.2 Input		1.35	watts
TYPICAL OPERATION			
Plate Supply Voltage	110	200	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	110	125	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-7.5	_	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	_	180	ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	7.5	8.5	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	49	46	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	50	47	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	4	2.2	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	10	8.5	mA
	10000	00000	1

13000

28000

ohms

Transconductance Load Resistance Total Harmonic Distortion (Approx.) Maximum-Signal Power Output CHARACTERISTICS (Triode Connection)*	8000 2000 10 2.1	8000 4000 10 3.8	µmhos ohms per cent watts
Plate Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Coid No.1 Voltage (Approx.)		225 30 6.2 1600 3800 22	volts volts ohms µmhos mA
Grid No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 0.5 mA MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1 Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		42 0.1 0.5	volts megohm megohm

* Grid No.2 connected to plate.

Vertical-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Connection*	Pentode Connection	
DC Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	1200	1500	volts
DC Grid No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		165	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	275	275	volts
Peak Cathode Current	195	195	mA
Average Cathode Current	65	65	mA
Plate Dissipation	8.5	8	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	_	1.2	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation	2.2	2.2	megohms

* Grid No.2 connected to plate.

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).



Refer to chart at end of section.

6W7G

6X4



FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

VACUUM RECTIFIER 12X4 Miniature type used in power supply of automobile and ac-operated radio receivers. Equivalent in performance to larger type 6X5GT. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventibated For discussion of Better Chester and Operation

5BS lated. For discussion of Rating Chart and Operation Characteristics, refer to Interpretation of Tube Data. Type 12X4 is identical with type 6X4 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	6X4 6.34 0.6	12X4 12.6 0.3	volts ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	+200, — 100 n	18X	volts volts

^A When the heater is operated from a 3-cell (nominal-6-volt) storage-battery source, the permissible heater-voltage range is from 5 to 8 volts.

Full-Wave Rectifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Peak Inverse Plate Voltage	1250 volts
Steady-State Peak Plate Current (Per Plate)	245 mA
AC Plate Supply Voltage (Per Plate, rms)	See Rating Chart
DC Output Voltage (At filter input) [†]	350 volts
Average Output Current (Each plate) †	45 mA
Hot-Switching Transient Plate Current	#

 \dagger This rating applies when the 6X4 is used in vibrator operation with a minimum duty cycle of 75 per cent.

If hot-switching is regularly required in operation, the use of choke-input circuits is recommended. Such circuits limit the hot-switching current to a value no higher than that of the peak plate current. When capacitor-input circuits are used, a maximum peak current value per plate of 1.1 amperes during the initial cycles of the hot-switching transient should not be exceeded.



TYPICAL OPERATION

Filter Input	Sine Wave (Capacitor		Operation Capacitor	
AC Plate Supply Voltage (Each plate, rms).	. 325	400	_	volts
Filter Input Capacitor	. 10		10	μF
Effective Plate Supply Impedance (Each plate)	. 525			ohms
Filter Input Choke		10		henries
Average Output Current	. 70	70	70	mA
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.	.) 310	340	240	volts

• AC plate supply voltage is measured without load.



Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.

FULL-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER 6X5GT

Glass octal type used in power supply of automobile and ac-operated receivers. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket. This type may be supplied with pin No.1 omitted. For maximum ratings, and typical operation, refer to type 6X4.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6S

3)PO

PD2 3

"(s

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used as combined oscillator and mixer tube in television receivers utilizing an intermediate frequency in the order of 40 MHz and in AM/FM receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Types 5X8 and 19X8 are identical with type 6X8A except for heater ratings.

	5X8		6X8.	4	19X8	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	4.7		6.3		18.4	volts
Heater Current	0.6		0.45		0.15	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11		11		_	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:						
Peak value	± 200)	max	± 200	max	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value			100		100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	1	Unshi	hable	Shie	dada	
Triode Unit:	•	Diam	ciucu	SILLE	ueu-	
Grid to Plate		1	5		.5	- 17
Grid to Cathode and Heater	•	1.	.0		.4	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater		0.	2	4		pF
Pentode Unit:	•	υ.	.ә		1	pF
		~ ~ ~	0			
Grid No.1 to Plate	•	0.0	9 max	. 0.0	06 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and			•		~	_
Grid No.3	•	4.	6	- 4	.8	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and			-		_	-
Grid No.3	•	0.			.6	pF
Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate			5 max)4 max	pF
Pentode Plate to Triode Plate			5 max		8 max	pF
Heater to Cathode		6.	5	6	.5•	pF

6X8

6X8A

5X8, 19X8

6X4W 6X5 With external shield connected to cathode except as noted.

• Wilth external shield connected to pentode plate.

Class A. Amplifier

volts
volts
. 14
volts
watts
watt
watt
volts ocket volts volt ohms mhos
mA
mA
volts





6X9/ ECF200

HIGH-MU TRIODE---SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE



10K

Miniature type used as if-amplifier tube in television receivers. Outlines section 6B, except has 10-pin base; requires miniature 10-contact socket.

Heater Voltage Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage Direct Interelectrode Capacitances : Triode Unit :	6.3 0.41 ±150 max	volts ampere volts
Plate to All Other Elements (except grid) Grid to All Other Elements (except plate) Plate to Grid Pentode Unit:	3 2.5 2	pF pF pF
Plate to All Other Elements (except grid No.1) Grid No.1 to All Other Elements (except plate) Grid No.1 to Cathode Plate to Grid No.1 Grid No.1 to Grid No.2	3.5 6.5 4 <6.5 1.8	PF PF PF PF PF

Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Plate Pentode Grid No.1 to Triode Grid Pentode Plate to Triode Plate		${}^{15}_{<1.2}_{<1.5}$	pF pF pF
Class A ₁ Amplifie	r		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage	550	550	volts
Plate Voltage	250	250	volts
Peak Plate Voltage*	600		volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		550	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		250	volts
Cathode Current	18	18	mA
Plate Dissipation	1.5	2.1	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	—	0.7	watt
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	170	160	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage		0	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		135	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	1	1.7	volts
Mu Factor, Grid-No.1 to Grid-No.2	_	55	
Amplification Factor	55	<u> </u>	
Transconductance	4800	14000	μ mhos
Plate Current	8.5	13	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		5	mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	1	1	megohm

• With a maximum duty factor of 0.18 and maximum pulse duration of 18 microseconds.

Refer to chart at end of section.

6Y5

6Y6GA/

6Y6G



BEAM POWER TUBE

Glass octal type used as output amplifier in radio receivers and in rf-operated, high-voltage power supplies in television equipment. Outlines section, 19B; requires octal socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3 Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	6.3 1.25 ±180 max 0.7 12 7.5	volts amperes volts pF pF
Class A, Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)		
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input:	200 200 See cur 12.5	volts volts ve page 300 watts
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 100 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 100 and 200 volts	1.75 See cur	watts ve page 300
TYPICAL OPERATION		
Plate Voltage 135 Grid-No.2 Voltage 135 Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage -13.5	200 135 14	volts volts volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	14	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	61	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	66	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	2.2	mA mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current 11.5 Plate Resistance (Approx.) 9300	18300	ohms
Transconductance 7000	7100	µmhos
Load Resistance 2000	2600	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	10	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	6	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		0.1 0.5	megohm megohm
6Y6GT	For replacement use type 6	Y6GA/6Y6	G.
6Y7G	Refer to chart at end o	f section.	
679	Refer to chart at end o For replacement use type 6).

6Y9/EFL200 17Y9

DUAL PENTODE

Miniature type for use in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. Unit No. 1 is used as a video output pentode, and unit No. 2 as a sound if amplifier, agc amplifier, or sync separator. Outlines KP2, 63P section, 6L, except has 10-pin base; requires miniature 10-contact socket. Type 17Y9 is identical with type 6Y9/EFL200 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Unit No.1:	±200	17 ¥9 16.5 0.3 ±200	volts ampere volts
Plate to All Other Elements (except grid No.1) Grid No.1 to All Other Elements (except plate)		7 12	pF pF
Plate to Grid No.1 Unit No.2: Plate to All Other Elements (except grid No.1)		95 11	pF pF
Grid No.1 to All Other Elements (except plate) .		10	pF
Plate to Grid No.1 Grid No.1 to Heater		$^{140}_{<100}$	pF pF
Plate to Plate Grid to Grid		$<\!$	pF pF
Plate (Unit No.1) to Grid No.1 (Unit No.2) Plate (Unit No.2) to Grid No.1 (Unit No.2)		$^{<100}_{<5}$	pF pF
Class A, Ampli	fier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Unit No.1		
Plate Supply Voltage		550	volts
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	250 550	250 550	volts volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	250	250	volts
Cathode Current		15	mA
Plate Dissipation	5	1.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2.5	0.5	watts
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	170	150	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	170	150	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-2.6	-2.3	volts
Mu Factor, Grid-No.1 to Grid-No.2	38	35	
Internal Resistance	40	160	kohms
Transconductance	21000	8500	μmhos
Plate Current	30 6,5	10 3	mA mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	0.0	ð	mA
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	1	1	megohm
Gita-roll-oncare resistance	1	1	megonin

.1-Circuit	Resistance	1	1
6Z4	Refer to chart a For replacement		
6Z5	Refer to chart a	at end o	of section.
6Z7G	Refer to chart a	at end o	of section.
6Z10	Refer to chart a	at end o	of section.



POWER PENTODE-GATED-BEAM DISCRIMINATOR

6Z10/6J10 10Z10, 13Z10/13J10

Duodecar types used as a combined limiter, discriminator, and audio power-output tube in FM radio and television receivers. Outlines section, 8C; require duodecar 12-contact socket. Types 10Z10, and 13Z10/ 13J10 are identical with type 6Z10/6J10 except for heater ratings.

	,			
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6Z10/6J10 6.3	10Z10 10	13Z10/13J10 13.2	volts
Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	0.95	0.6 11	0.45 11	ampere seconds
Peak value Average value	$\pm 200 \max$ 100 max	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Pentode Unit: Grid No.1 to Grid No.3			0.009	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid			4.4	pF
and Internal Shield	No.1, Grid No	.2, Plate,	3.2	\mathbf{pF}
Beam Power Unit: Grid No.1 to Plate			0.22	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,	No.2, and Gri and Grid No.	id No.3 3	$\begin{array}{c} 11 \\ 7.5 \end{array}$	pF pF
Gated-Beam Unit a	is Limiter an	d Discrimir	nator	
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum				
Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•••••	330 330	volts volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage, Peak positive value			60	volts
Average Cathode Current	•••••	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	13	mA
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage		135 135	135	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage		4 4	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		280	280	volts volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage			0	volts
Grid No. 1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.2 Resistor		- 33	33	kohms
Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate			360	μ mhos
Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate Average Plate Current	· · · · · · · · · ·	- 5	700	$\mu mhos mA$
Grid-No.2 Current	 .	4.5	—	mA
20 μ A			4	volts
Grid No.3 Voltage (Approx.) for plate c 20 µA	urrent of		-4	volts
Pentode Unit		Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum			0.75	
Plate Voltage	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	$275 \\ 275$	volts volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Plate Dissipation			10	watts
Grid-No.2 Input		• • • • • • • • • • • • •	2	watts
Plate Voltage			250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage			250	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		8 8	volts volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current			35	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current			39	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • •	3 13	mA mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current Plate Resistance (Approx.)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		0.1	megohm
Transconductance			6500	μmhos
Load Resistance			$5000 \\ 8.5$	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion (Approx.) Maximum-Signal Power Output			8.5 4.2	per cent watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES				
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:				
For fixed-bias operation			0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	• • • • • • • • • • • • • •		0.5	megohm
RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

6ZY5G	Refer to chart at end of section.
7A4	Refer to chart at end of section.
7A5	Refer to chart at end of section.
7A6	Refer to chart at end of section.
7A7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7A8	Refer to chart at end of section.
7AD7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7AF7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7AG7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7AH7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7AU7	Refer to type 12AU7A.
7 B 4	Refer to chart at end of section.
7B5	Refer to chart at end of section.
7B6	Refer to chart at end of section.
7B7	Refer to chart at end of section.
788	Refer to chart at end of section.
7C5	Refer to chart at end of section.
7C6	Refer to chart at end of section.
7C7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7DJ8/PCC88	Refer to chart at end of section.
7E6	Refer to chart at end of section.
7E7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7EY6	Refer to chart at end of section.
7 F 7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7F8	Refer to chart at end of section.
7G7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7G\$7	Refer to type 6GS7.

Refer to chart at end of section.	7H7
Refer to chart at end of section.	7HG8
Refer to type 6HG8/ECF86.	7HG8/PCF86
Refer to chart at end of section.	7J7
Refer to chart at end of section.	7K7



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

7KY6

Miniature type with frame grid used as video output amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines secton, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time Heater-Cathode Voltage:	7.3 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	volts
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.16 max	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	14	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,	13	pr
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	6	pF
Class A ₁ Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input:	330 330 See curve 0 9	volts volts page 300 volts w atts

 For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts
 1
 watt

 For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts
 See curve page 300

 CHARACTERISTICS
 Plate Supply Voltage
 200
 volts

Grid-No.3	Voltag	;e	 	 	Connected	to	cathode	at	socket
Grid-No.2	Supply	Voltage	 	 			135		volts
Grid-No.1	Supply	Voltage	 	 			0		volts
				 			•		VOIG



RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Cathode-Bias Resistor	47	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	40000	ohms
Transconductance	30000	μ mhos
Plate Current	30	mĂ
Grid-No.2 Current	5.2	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 µA	4.0	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.25	megohm

7KZ6	Refer to chart at end of section.
717	Refer to chart at end of section.
7N7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7Q7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7R7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7 \$7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7 V7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7W7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7X7	Refer to chart at end of section.
7Y4	Refer to chart at end of section.
7Z4	Refer to chart at end of section.
8A8	For replacement use type 9A8/PCF80.
8AC10	Refer to type 6AC10.
8AL9	Refer to chart at end of section.
8AR11	Refer to type 6AR11.
8AU8	Refer to chart at end of section.
88W8A	Refer to type 6AW8A.
8B8	Refer to type 16A8/PCL82.
8B10	Refer to type 6B10.
8BA8A	Refer to type 6BA8A.
8BA11	Refer to type 6BA11.
8BH8	Refer to chart at end of section.



DUAL PENTODE

Duodecar type used as if amplifier in television receivers. Unit No.1 is a semiremote-cutoff pentode, and unit No. 2 is a sharp-cutoff pentode. Outlines section, 8B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 8.4; amperes, 0.45; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Class A, Amplifier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Plate Voltage	160	160	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage	0	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	160	160	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	2.2	2.2	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	0.55	0.55	watt
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Supply Voltage	125	125	volts
Grid No.3	Conn	ected to catho	le at socket
Grid-No.2 Voltage	125	125	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	56	120	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	220000	300000	ohms
Transconductance	8800	8500	μ mhos
Plate Current	14	9	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3.6	2.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 μ A	-	5.5	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance of 50 μmho			volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation	1	0.25	megohm

Refer to type 6BN8.

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to type 6BQ5.

8BQ5

8**BN**8

8BN11



SEMIREMOTE-CUTOFF DUAL PENTODE

8BQ11

Duodecar type used as intermediate-frequency amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 8B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Types 11BQ11 and 16BQ11 are identical with type 8BQ11 except for heater ratings.

	8BQ11	11BQ11	16BQ11	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	8.4	11.2	16	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	0.315	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	11	11	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	±200 max	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	100 max	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		Unit No.1	Unit No.2	
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.022	0.024	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid	No.2,			
Grid No.3, and Internal Shield		10	_	թF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,	Grid No.3,			
and Internal Shield		2.8		pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid				-
Grid No.3, Grid No.3 of Unit	No.1, and			
Internal Shield			11	pF

8BM11

Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, Grid No.3 of Unit No.1, and Internal Shield . Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2 Grid No.1 of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2 Grid No.1 of Unit No.2 to Plate of Unit No.1 Grid No.1 of Unit No.2 to Grid No.1 of Unit No.2	• • • • • • • • • • • •	0.002	df df df df df
Class A, Amplifier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage	Unit Ne.1	Unit No.2	
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage	330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	0	0	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	330	330	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	See cu	rve page 30	0
Plate Dissipation	0	0	volts
Grid-No.2 Input:	3.1	3.1	watts
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	0.65	0.65	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See cu	irve page 30	0
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Supply Voltage	125	125	volts
Grid No.3			ode at socket
Grid-No.2 Voltage	125	125	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	56	56	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.2	0.2	megohm
Transconductance	10500	13000	µmhos
Plate Current	11	11	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3.5	3.8	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current	010	••••	
of 20 µA		3	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for transconductance			
of 50 µmho			volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias			
operation	1	0.25	megohm
•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	-		

Duodecar type used in television receiver applications. Outlines section, 8C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 7.8; amperes, 0.6; warmup time, 11 seconds, maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Class A, Amplifier

		Each	
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Pentode Unit	Triode Unit	
Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330		volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page	300	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	Ó	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	2.5	1.8	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	2.0		
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	0.55		watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts		300 —	
CHARACTERISTICS	See carre page		
			•.
Plate Supply Voltage	125	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	125		volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	1	—	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		68	ohms
Amplification Factor		43	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	200000	50000	ohms
Transconductance	7500	8600	μmhos
Plate Current	12	13.5	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	4		mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 μ A		8	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current			
of 30 μA	8		volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	•		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:			_
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	1	megohm



P. . h

Refer to chart at end of section.	8CB11
For replacement use type 8FQ7/8CG7.	8CG7
Refer to type 6CM7.	8CM7
Refer to chart at end of section.	8CN7
Refer to type 6CS7.	8C\$7
Refer to type 6CW5/EL86.	8CW5/XL86
Refer to type 6CW5.	8CW5
Refer to type 6CX8.	8CX8
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 8GN8/8EB8.	8EB8
Refer to type 6EM5.	8EM5
Refer to chart at end of section.	8ET7
Refer to chart at end of section.	8FQ7
Refer to type 6FQ7/6CG7.	8FQ7/8CG7
Refer to chart at end of section.	8GJ7
Refer to type 6GJ7/ECF801.	8GJ7/PCF801
Refer to type 6GN8.	8GN8 8GN8/8EB8
Refer to type 6GU7.	8GU7
Refer to type 6JU8A.	8JU8A
Refer to type 6JV8.	8JV8
Refer to type 6KA8.	8KA8
Refer to type 6LC8.	8LC8
Refer to type 6LT8.	8LT8
Refer to chart at end of section.	9A8



9DC

9A8/ PCF80

[†] Miniature type used as combined oscillator and mixer tubes in vhf color and black-and-white television re-

ceivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 9; amperes, 0.3; maximum heater-cathode volts, +100, -200 peak; -120 average.

Class A. Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) Plate Supply Voltage Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Cathode Current Plate Dissipation Crid-No.2 Imput	Triode Unit 550 250 14 1.5	Pentode Unit 550 250 175 14 1.7 0 5	volts volts mA watts
Grid-No.2 Input	-	0.5	watt

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No 2 Current	100 2 20 5000 14	$ \begin{array}{r} 170 \\ 170 \\ 2 \\ 47^* \\ 0.4 \\ 6200 \\ 10 \\ 2.8 \\ \end{array} $	volts volts volts megohm µmhos mA mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation * Grid No.2 to Grid No.1.	0.5	0.5	megohm
	0.5	1	megohm

9AH9	Refer to chart at end of section.
9AK10	Refer to chart at end of section.
9AM10	Refer to chart at end of section.
9AQ8/PCC85	Refer to chart at end of section.
9AU7	Refer to type 12AU7A.
9BJ11	Refer to chart at end of section.
9BR7	Refer to chart at end of section.
9CL8	Refer to chart at end of section.
9EA8	Refer to chart at end of section.
9GH8A	Refer to type 6GH8A.
9GV8	Refer to chart at end of section.
9GV8/XCL85	Refer to type 6GV8/ECL85.
9JW8/PCF802	Refer to type 6JW8/ECF802.
9KC6	Refer to chart at end of section.

SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type with frame grid used as video output amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Heater: volts, 8.7; amperes, 0.45; warm-up time, 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.



Class A₁ Amplifier

MAAIMUM KAIINGS (Design-Waximum values)		
Plate Voltage	400	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	11.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.5	watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage		volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage Connected	to cathode	at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage 150	125	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage 0	0	volts

. . . .

9KX6

Transconductance (Grid No.1 to Plate) 30 Plate Current 31 Grid-No.2 Current 31 Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current 31	6000 — µ 28 70 6.5 24 -5.7 — .	ohms ohms mhos mA mA volts gohm
Refer to type 6KZ8.	9KZ8	
Refer to chart at end of section.	9LA6	
Refer to type 6MN8.	9MN8	
For replacement use type 10DE7.	9RAL1	
Refer to type 6U8A.	9U8A	
Refer to chart at end of section.	10	
Refer to type 6AL11.	10AL11	
Refer to type 6BQ5.	10BQ5	
Refer to chart at end of section.	10C8	
Refer to chart at end of section.	10CW5	
Refer to type 6CW5/EL86.	10CW5/LL86	5
Refer to type 6DE7.	10DE7	
Refer to type 6DR7.	10DR7	
Refer to chart at end of section.	10DX8	
Refer to type 6DX8/ECL84.	10DX8/LCL8	4
Refer to chart at end of section.	10EG7	
Refer to type 6EM7.	10EM7	
Refer to type 6EW7.	10EW7	
Refer to chart at end of section.	10GF7	
Refer to type 6GF7A.	10GF7A	
Refer to type 6GK6.	10GK6	
Refer to type 6GN8.	10GN8	
Refer to type 6GV8/ECL85.	10GV8/LCL8	5
Refer to type 6HF8.	10HF8	
Refer to chart at end of section.	10JA5	
Refer to type 10JA8/10LZ8	10JA8	
-		

403

10JA8/ 10LZ8

HIGH-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE



Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The triode unit is used as a sync separator, sync clipper, and phase inverter; the pentode unit is used as a video amplifier. Outlines section, 6E; requires

miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time	10.5 0.45 11	volts ampere seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts volts
Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	100 max	VOILS
Triode Unit: Grid to Plate	4	pF
Grid to Cathode, Pentode Cathode, Heater, Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	2.6	pF
Plate to Cathode, Pentode Cathode, Heater, Pentode Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	2.6	pF
Pentode Unit: Grid No.1 to Plate	0.1 max	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	11	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Grid No.1 to Triode Plate Plate to Triode Grid Plate to Triode Plate	4.4 0.005 max 0.018 max 0.17 max	pF pF pF pF

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Voltage	300	330	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	1	See curve page 30	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	1	5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:			
For Grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts		1.5	watts
For Grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	\$	See curve page 30	0





CHARACTERISTICS	Trio	de Unit		Pentode U	Init	
Plate Voltage	135	200	30	135	200	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		_	135	135	135	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	2	2	0	1.5	-1.5	volts
Amplification Factor	60	70				
Plate Resistance	39000	19000	_	66000	70000	ohms
Transconductance	1550	3700		12600	14000	μ mhos

Plate Current	1	3.5	32• 14•	17 4.2	18 4	mA mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μA MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	-4.8	7	-	5	5	volts
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation .				Unit .5 1	Pentode Unit 0.25 1	megohm megohm

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Refer to type 6JT8.

10JT8



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE **10JY8** SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in television receiver applications. The pentode unit is used as a video amplifier, and the triode unit as a sync separator. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 10.5; amperes, 0.45; warm-up time (average), 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average (-300 peak, -200 average for triode unit).

Class A, Amplifier						
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Uni	t Pento	de Unit			
Plate Voltage	330	33	0	volts		
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		33		volts		
Grid-No.2 Voltage		See curv				
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0		0	volts		
Plate Dissipation	2		5	watts		
Grid-No.2 Input:						
For Grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts		1.		watts		
For Grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	_	See curv	e page a	500		
CHARACTERISTICS				_		
Plate Voltage	125	50	200	volts		
Grid-No.2 Voltage		150	150	volts		
Grid-No.1 Voltage		0		volts		
Cathode-Bias Resistor	68		100	ohms		
Amplification Factor	46	_		ohms		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	4400 10400	_	$55000 \\ 11000$	umhos		
Transconductance	10400	60 •	24	μmnos mA		
Plate Current	15		4.8	mA		
Grid-No.2 Current		10-	-10	volts		
			-10	10103		
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES						
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :			-	,		
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	0.2	2	megohm		
For cathode-bias operation	1		L .	megohm		
• This value can be measured by a method involving maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.	a recurrent	wavefor	m such	that the		

Refer to type 6KR8.	10KR8
Refer to type 6KU8.	10KU8
Refer to chart at end of section.	10LB8
Refer to type 6LE8.	10LE8
Refer to chart at end of section.	10LW8
Refer to type 6LY8.	10LY8
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 10JA8/10LZ8.	1 0LZ8
Refer to type 6T10.	10110

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Refer to type 6Z10. 10Z10 11 Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to type 6AF9. 11AF9

11AR11 Refer to type 6AR11.

HIGH-MU TRIODE **11BM8** POWER PENTODE

Miniature type used as vertical deflection oscillator or af amplifier and vertical deflection amplifier or af power amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, G_{3p}^{Kp} 6G: requires miniature 9-contact socket. This type is identical with type 16A8/PCL82 except for the following items:



mA

0.45

118011

Heater Voltage Heater Current

Refer to type 8BQ11.

DUAL TRIODE 11BT11 SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Duodecar type used in television receiver applications. The triode units are used for general-purpose applica- G_{Ta} tions; the pentode unit is used in video-amplifier service. Outlines section, 8B; requires duodecar 12contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 10.7; amperes, 0.6; warm-up time (average), 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.



Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

	Triode Unit No. 1	Triode Unit No. 2		ntode Init	
Plate Voltage	330	330		65	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage,	—			65	volts
Positive-bias value	0	0		0	volts
Plate Dissipation	1.5	2		3.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	_			1.5	watts
CHARACTERISTICS					
Plate Voltage	200	200	35	150	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage			100	100	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage		_	Ō		volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	270	470		82	ohms
Amplification Factor	69	40			011-110
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	12500	7600	_	51000	ohma
Transconductance	5500	5300		19000	μmhos
Plate Current	7.1	7.2	54	17.4	mA
Grid-No.2 Current			13.5	3.2	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for					
plate current of 100 µA				6.6	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for					
plate current of 50 μ A	5.5	_	—		volts
MAYIMUM CIDCUUT VALUES					

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

	Triode Unit No. 1	Triode Unit No. 2	Pentode Unit	
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance : For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 1	0.5 1	0.05 0.1	megohm megohm

Refer to chart at end of section.	11CA11
Refer to chart at end of section.	11CF11
Refer to chart at end of section.	11CH11
Refer to chart at end of section.	11CY7
Refer to type 6DS5.	11DS5
Refer to type 6FY7.	11 FY7



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

11HM7

Miniature type with frame grid used as video output amplifier in color television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Arrangement Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	Series 11 0.3	Parallei 5.5 0.6	volts ampere
Peak value Average value	•••••	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances :			Voltas
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,	• • • • • • • • •	0.15 max	\mathbf{pF}
and Internal Shield	· · · · · · · · · ·	14	\mathbf{pF}
and Internal Shield	•••••	б	pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	7 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	1 watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300



CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage	200	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	0	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	135	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	47	ohms

Plate Resistance (Approx.)	40000	ohms
Transconductance	30000	µmhos
Plate Current	30	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	5.2	mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.25	megohm

11JE8	Refer to chart at end of section.
11KV8	Refer to type 6KV8.
11LQ8	Refer to type 6LQ8.
11LT8	Refer to type 6LT8.

HIGH-MU TRIODE BEAM POWER TUBE

Miniature type used in combined vertical-deflectionoscillator and vertical-deflection-amplifier applications in black-and-white television receivers. **Outlines section**, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. **Heater:** volts, 11.6; ampere, 0.45; warm-up time (approx.), 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.



Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS		'riode Unit	Beam Pow Unit	er	
Plate Voltage	100	100	120	volts '	ŗ.,
Grid-No. 1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	_		110	volts	
Grid-No. 1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-0.85	0	-10	volts	
Plate Current	5	10	50	mA	
Grid-No. 2 Current			3	mA	
Transconductance	5500	7000	8500	µmhos	
Amplification Factor [*]	60	63	5.8		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	11	9	13	kilohms	

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Peak Positive Pulse Plate Voltage# Grid-No. 2 Voltage Grid-No. 1 Voltage Plate Dissipation Grid-No. 2 Input Average Cathode Current	250 	250 2000 200 0 6 1.5 70	volts volts volts watts watts mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No. 1 Circuit Resistance		2	megohm
For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		_	megohm megohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).
* Grid-No. 2 connected to plate at socket.

1149	Refer to chart at end of section.
11Y9/LFL200	Refer to chart at end of section.
12A5	Refer to chart at end of section.
12A6	Refer to chart at end of section.

11**MS**8

Refer to chart at end of section.	12A6Y
Refer to chart at end of section.	12A7
Refer to chart at end of section.	12A8GT



BEAM POWER TUBE

12AB5

Miniature type used in the output stage of automobile radio receivers operating from a 12-volt storage battery. **Outlines section**, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater-Voltage Range (ac/dc)• Heater Current (Approx.) at 12.6 volts	10 to 15.9 0.2 ±90 max	volts ampere volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3 Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	0.7 max 8 8.5	pF pF pF

• For longest life, it is recommended that the heater be operated within the voltage range of 11 to 14 volts.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Plate Voltage	315	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	285	volts
Plate Dissipation	12	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	250	°C
TYPICAL OPERATION WITH 12.6 VOLTS ON HEATER		
Plate Supply Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-12.5	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage 10.5	12.5	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	45	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	47	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current 1.6	4.5	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	7	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.) 75000	50000	ohms
Transconductance 4000	4100	μ mhos
Load Resistance	5000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	8	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	4.5	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	megohm

Push-Pull Class AB₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Single-Tube Class A1 Amplifier)		
TYPICAL OPERATION WITH 12.6 VOLTS ON HEATER (Values are for	r two tubes)	
Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-15	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	30	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	70	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	79	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	5	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	13	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-Plate)	10000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	5	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	10	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	megohm



12AC6	Refer to chart at end of section.
12AC10A	Refer to type 6AC10
12AD6	Refer to chart at end of section.
12AE6 12AE6A	Refer to chart at end of section.
12AE7	Refer to chart at end of section.

BEAM POWER TUBE-12AE10 SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Duodecar type used as combined FM detector and audio-frequency output amplifier in television receivers. The beam power unit is used in af output stages and the pentode unit as an FM detector. Outlines section, 8C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 12.6; amperes, 0.45; warm-up time (average), 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ±200 peak, 100 average.



12EZ

Beam Power Unit as Class A, Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage	165	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	150	volta
Cathode Current	60	mA
Plate Dissipation	6	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.25	watt
TYPICAL OPERATION		
Plate Voltage	145	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	110	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-7	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	7	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	34	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	39	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	6.5	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	9.3	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	33000	ohma
Transconductance	5600	μmhos
Load Resistance	2500	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion (Approx.)	12	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	1.45	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For cathode-bias operation	t	megohm

Bower Unit on Close A

Pentode Unit as Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	150	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage	0	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	100	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	560	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.15	megohm
Transconductance. Grid No.1	1000	µmhos
Transconductance, Grid No.3	400	μmhos
Plate Current	1.3	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	-4.5	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	-4.5	volts
Gilu-Hola voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 #A	-4.0	VUILS
Dontado Unit do EM Dotostov		
Pentode Unit as FM Detector		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		

Plate Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	28 volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	330 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	1.7 watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.1 watts

Refer to type 6AF3.	12AF3 12AF3/12BR3/ 12RK19
Refer to chart at end of section.	12AF6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12AH7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	12AJ6
Refer to type 6AL5.	12AL5
Refer to chart at end of section.	12AL8
Refer to type 6AL11.	12AL11
Refer to type 6AQ5A.	12AQ5
Refer to type 6AT6.	12AT6
For replacement use type 12AT7/ECC81.	12AT7



HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE

12AT7/ ECC81

PT2 9A Miniature types used as push-pull cathode-drive amplifiers or frequency converters in the FM and television broadcast bands. Outlines section, 6B; require miniature 9-contact socket. Each triode unit is independent of the other except for the common heater. For typical operation as a resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section.

Heater Arrangement:	Series	Parallel	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	12.6	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.15	0.3	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage		$\pm 90 \text{ max}$	volts

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Grid-Drive Operation :		
Grid to Plate (Each unit)	1.5	กที่
Grid to Cathode and Heater (Each unit)	2.2	ĎĒ
Plate to Cathode and Heater:	2.1	-
Unit No.1	0.5	pF
Unit No.2	0.4	'nF
Cathode-Drive Operation :		-
Cathode to Plate (Each unit)	0.2	pF
Cathode to Grid and Heater (Each unit)	4.6	pF
Plate to Grid and Heater (Each unit)	1.8	pF
Heater to Cathode (Each Unit)	2.4	pF
Class A, Amplifier (Each Unit)		•

MAXIMUM AND MINIMUM RATINGS (Design: Center Values)

Plate Voltage	300	volts
Grid Voltage, Negative-bias value		volts
Dia Dia di Ancentre-Dias Value		volts
Plate Dissipation	95 .	



PLATE VOLTS 92CS-7056T

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor	100 270	250 200	volts
Amplification Factor	60	60	onna
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	15000	10900	ohms
Transconductance	4000	5500	μmhos
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	5	12	volts
Plate Current	3.7	10	mA

12AT7WA	Refer to chart at end of section.
12AT7WB	Refer to chart at end of section.
12AU6	Refer to type 6AU6A.
12AU7	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 12AU7A/ECC82.
12AU7A	For replacement use type 12AU7A/ECC82.

12AU7A/ ECC82



MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature types used as phase inverters or push-pull PT_2 amplifiers in ac/dc radio equipment and as multivibrators or oscillators in industrial control devices. Also used as combined

vertical oscillators in industrial control devices. Also used as combined vertical oscillators and vertical-deflection amplifiers, and as horizontaldeflection oscillators, in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6B; require miniature 9-contact socket. Each triode unit is independent of the other except for the common heater. For typical opera-

tion as a resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section. Types 7AU7 and 9AU7 are identical with type 12AU7 and 12AU7A/ ECC82 except for heater ratings.

			12AU7A	
			12AU7A/	
Heater Voltage(ac/dc):	7AU7	9AU7	ECC82	
Series	7	9.4	12.6	volts
Parallel	3.5	4.7	6.3	volts
Heater Current:				
Series	0.3	0.225	0.15	ampere
Parallel	0.6	0.45	0.3	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Parallel, Average)	11	11	—	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:				
Peak value				
Average value	100 max		100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	Unit	No.1 Unit	No.2	
Grid to Plate			.5	pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater			.6	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	().5 0.3	35	pF

Class A. Amplifier (Each Unit Unless Otherwise Specified)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Cathode Current Plate Dissipation:		330 22	volts mA
Each Plate		2.75 5.5	watts watts
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μA	100 0 19.5 6250 3100 11.8	250 8.5 17 7700 2200 10.5 24	volts volts ohms μmhos mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation		0.25	megohm

Grid-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.25	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

Oscillator (Each Unit Unless Otherwise Specified)

ŀ	ог	operation	in	8	525-line,	30-frame	system	
						Ve	rtical_	Harizantel

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Deflection Oscillator	Deflection Oscillator	
DC Plate Voltage	330	330	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	440	660	volts
Peak Cathode Current	66	330	mA
Average Cathode Current	22	22	mA
Plate Dissipation:			
Each Plate	2.75	2.75	watts
Both Plates (Both units operating)	5.5	5.5	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance	2.2	2.2	megohms

Vertical-Deflection Amplifier (Each Unit Unless Otherwise Specified) For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current Plate Dissipation :	330 1200 275 66 22	volts volts volts mA mA
Each Plates (Both units operating)	275 5,5	volts w a tts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation	2.2	megohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds).



12AV5GA	Refer to type 6AV5GA.
12AV6	Refer to type 6AV6.
12AV7	Refer to chart at end of section.
12AW6	Refer to chart at end of section.
12AX3	Refer to type 6AX3.
12AX4GT 12AX4GTA	Refer to chart at end of section.
12AX4GTB	Refer to type 6AX4GTB.
12AX7	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 12AX7A/ECC83.
12AX7A	For replacement use type 12AX7A/ECC83.

12AX7A/ **ECC83**

HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE



9A

Miniature types used as phase inverters or twin resistance-coupled amplifiers in radio equipment. Outlines section, 6B; require miniature 9-contact socket. Each triode unit is inde-pendent of the other except for common heater. For characteristics and curves, refer to type 6AV6. For typical operation as a resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section.

Heater Arrangement: Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode-Voltage:	Series 12.6 0.15	Parallel 6.3 0.3	volts ampere
Peak value Average value		±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	Unit No.1 1.7 1.6 0.46	Unit No.2 1.7 1.6 0.34	pF pF pF

Class A ₁ Amplifier (Each Unit)		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	330	volts
Plate Voltage		
Negative-bias value Positive-bias value	55 0	volts volts
Plate Dissipation	1.2	watts
EQUIVALENT-NOISE AND HUM VOLTAGE (References To Grid, Each Average Value		μV rms

• Measured in "true rms" units under the following conditions: Heater voltage (parallel connection), 6.3 volts ac; center tap of heater transformer grounded; plate supply voltage, 250 volts dc; plate load resistor, 100000 ohms; cathode resistor, 2700 ohms bypassed by $100-\mu F$ capacitor; grid resistor, 0 ohms; and amplifier covering frequency range between 25 and 10000 Hz.

Refer to chart at end of section.

12AY3

Refer to type 6AY3B.

12АҮЗА 1**2АҮЗ**А

MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE



Miniature type used in the first stages of high-gain audio-frequency amplifiers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Each triode unit is independent of the other except for the common heater. Use of the 12.6-volt connection with an ac heater supply is not recommended for applications involving low hum. For typical operation as a resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section.

Heater Arrangement: Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx., Each Unit) Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater		Parallel 6.3 0.3 ±90 max 1.3 1.3 0.6	volts ampere volts pF pF
Class A, Amplifier (Each	Linit)		-
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)	Onit,		
Plate Voltage	•••••	300	volts
Negative-bias value		50	volts
Positive-bias value Cathode Current	• • • • • • • • • •	0 10	volts
Plate Dissipation		1.5	mA watts
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage		250	volts
Grid Voltage	•••••	4 40	volts
Plate Resistance	••••	22800	ohms
Transconductance		1750	μmhos
Plate Current	••••	.3	· mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 mA	••••••	11	volts

Refer to chart at end of section.

12AZ7



HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE

12AZ7A

Miniature type used in direct-coupled cathode-drive rf amplifier circuits of vhf color and black-and-white television tuners. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For characteristics as class A_1 amplifier, refer to miniature type 12AT7.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc):			
Series		12.6	volts
Parallel		6.3	volts.
Heater Current:			
Series	. . .	0.225	ampere
Parallel		0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time (Average)		11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value		±200 max	volts
Average value	 .	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitance (Approx.):	Unshielded	Shielded*	
Grid to Plate (Each unit)	2	1.9	pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater (Each unit)	2.6	2.8	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater:			=
Unit No.1	0.44	1.4	pF
Unit No.2	0.36	1.6	\mathbf{pF}

• With external shield connected to cathode of unit under test.

Class A, Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage	330	volts
Grid Voltage, Negative-bias value	55	volts
Plate Dissipation	2.5	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES (Each Unit)		
Grid-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation		megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

12B4A

LOW-MU TRIQDE

Miniature type used as vertical-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage S Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time Heater Warm-up Time Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Nerage value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	· · · · · · · · · · ·	Parallel 6.3 0.6 11 ±200 max 100 max 4.8 5 1.5	volts ampere seconds volts volts pF pF
Class A, Amplifier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, Negative-bias value Plate Dissipation CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Plate Current for grid voltage of -23 volts Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 200 µA		$550 \\ 50 \\ 5.5 \\ -17.5 \\ 6.5 \\ 1030 \\ 6300 \\ 34 \\ 9.6 \\ -32$	volts volts volts volts ohms mA mA volts
Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation Vertical-Deflection Amplifi For operation in a 525-line, 30-fram MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)	ier		megohm megohms
DC Plate Voltage		550	volts

DC Plate Voltage		550	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse	Plate Voltage# (Absolute Maximum)	1000†	volts



9AG

Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage	250	volts
Peak Cathode Current	105	mA
Average Cathode Current	30	mA
Plate Dissipation	5.5	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle		megohms conds).

† Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded.

Refer to chart at end of section.	12B8GT
Refer to type 6BA6.	12BA6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12BA7
Refer to chart at end of section.	12BD6
Refer to type 6BE3.	12BE3
Refer to type 6BE6.	12BE6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12BF6
Refer to type 6BF11.	12BF11
Refer to chart at end of section.	12BH7



MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature type used as combined vertical-deflection amplifier and vertical oscillator, and as horizontal-deflection oscillator, in television receivers, and in phase-inverter and multivibrator circuits. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Each triode unit is independent of the other except for the common heater.

Heater Arrangement: Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid to Plate Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater		Parallel 6.3 0.6 11 ±200 max 100 max Unit No.2 2.6 3.2 0.4	volts ampere seconds volts volts pF pF
Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2	0.0		pF
Class A, Amplifier (Each MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)	Unit)		
Plate Voltage		300	volts
Negative-bias value		50	volts
Positive-bias value		0 20	volts mA
Plate Dissipation : Each Plate Both plates (Both units operating)		3.5 7	watts watts
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid Voltage		250 10.5	volts volts
Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.)		16.5 5300	ohms
Transconductance Plate Current		3100 11.5	μmhos mA
Plate Current for grid voltage of -14 volts Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 50 μ A		- <u>4</u> 23	mA volts

12BH7A

MAYIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		0.25 1	megohm megohm
Oscillator (Each Unit)	I		
For operation in a 525-line, 30-fra	me system		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) DC Plate Voltage Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current Plate Dissipation: Each Plate Both Plates (Both units operating) MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	Vertical- Deflection Oscillator 450 400 70 20 3.5 7	Horizontal- Deflection Oscillator 450 600 300 20 3.5 7	volts volts mA mA watts watts
Grid-Circuit Resistance	2.2	2.2	megohms
Vertical-Deflection Amplifier (E For operation in a 525-line, 30-fram MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)		-	
DC Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# (Absolute maximum) Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current Plate Dissipation :	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	450 1500* 250 70 20	volts volts volts mA mA
Each Plate		3.5 7	watts watts



MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-Circuit Resistance for cathode-bias operation 2.2 megohms # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a vertical scanning cycle (2.5 milliseconds). * Under no circumstances should this absolute value be exceeded.

12BK5	Refer to chart at end of section.
12BL6	Refer to chart at end of section.
12BN6	Refer to chart at end of section.
12BQ6GTB/12CU6	Refer to type 6BQ6GTB/6CU6.
12BR3	For replacement use type 12AF3/12BR3/12RK19.
12BR7	Refer to chart at end of section.
12B\$3	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 12BS3A/12DW4A.

For replacement use type 12BS3A/12DW4A.	12BS3A
Refer to type 6BS3A.	12BS3A/12DW4A
Refer to chart at end of section.	12BT3
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 12BY7A/12BV7/12DQ7.	12BV7
Refer to type 6BV11.	128V11
Refer to chart at end of section.	12BW4
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 12BY7A/12BV7/12DQ7.	12BY7
For replacement use type 12BY7A/12BV7/12DQ7.	12BY7A

SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

12BY7A/ 12BV7/ 12DQ7



Miniature types used as video amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; require miniature 9contact socket.

Heater Arrangement: Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	Series 12.6	Parallel 6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.3	0.6 11	ampere seconds
Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	_	11	seconds
Peak value		±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances : Grid No.1 to Plate		0.063	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Internal Shie		$\substack{10.2\\3.5}$	pF pF
Class A ₁ Amplifier			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Supply Voltage		330	volts

riate Supply Voltage	000	VUIUA
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive value	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	190	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		•.
Negative-bias value	55	volts
Positive-bias value	0	volts
Plate Dissipation	6.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.2	watts



RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Supply Voltage		volts
Grid No.3 Conn	ected to cath	ode at socket
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	180	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	100	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	93000	ohms
Transconductance	11000	µmhos.
Plate Current	26	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	5.75	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 20 µA		volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.25 1	megohm megohm

12BZ6	Refer to type 6BZ6.
12BZ7	Refer to chart at end of section.
12C5	Refer to type 6CU5.
12C8	Refer to chart at end of section.
12CA5	Refer to type 6CA5.
12CK3	Refer to chart at end of section.
12CL3	Refer to type 6CL3.
12CN5	Refer to chart at end of section.
12CR6	Refer to chart at end of section.
12CS6	Refer to type 6CS6.

12CT3 17CT3, 25CT3

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

Miniature type used as damper tube in horizontaldeflection circuits of black-and-white and small-screen color television receivers. Outlines section, 6H; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Socket terminals 1, 3, 7, and 8 should not be used as tie points for externalcircuit components. This tube, like other power-handling



tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Types 17CT3 and 25CT3 are identical with type 12CT3 except for heater ratings.

	-			
Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	12CT3 6.3 0.6 11	17CT3 16.8 0.45 11	25CT3 25.3 0.3 11	volts amperes seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Plate to Cathode and Heater Cathode to Plate and Heater Heater to Cathode			12 9.5 2.8	pF pF pF
Damper Se For operation in a 525-lin MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	rvice			-
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation Heater-Cathode Voltage:			5000 1200 250 4.75	volts mA mA watts
Peak value Average value Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)		+100		volts volts °C
CHARACTERISTICS, instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 350 mA . # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horiz			16 (10 microsec	volts conds).

Refer to chart at end of section.	12CT8
Refer to type 6CU5.	12CU5/12C5
For replacement use type 12BQ6GTB/12CU6.	12CU6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12CX6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12D4
Refer to chart at end of section.	12DB5
Refer to chart at end of section.	12DE8
Refer to type 6DK6.	12DK6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12DK7
Refer to chart at end of section.	12DL8
	12DM4
Refer to chart at end of section.	12DM4A
Refer to chart at end of section.	12DQ6A
Refer to chart at end of section.	12DQ6B
For replacement use type 12GW6/12DQ6B.	120000
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 12BY7A/12BV7/12DQ	7. 12DQ7
	12D\$7
Refer to chart at end of section.	12DS7A
Refer to type 6DT5.	12DT5
Refer to type 6DT8.	12DT8
Refer to chart at end of section.	12DU7
Refer to chart at end of section.	12DV8
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 12BS3A/12DW4A.	12DW4A
Refer to chart at end of section.	12DW7
Refer to chart at end of section.	12DY8
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 12EK6/12DZ6/12EA6.	12DZ6
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 12EK6/12DZ6/12EA6.	12EA6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12EC8
Refer to chart at end of section.	12ED5
Refer to chart at end of section.	12EG6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12EH5
Refer to chart at end of section.	12EK6/12DZ6/12EA6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12EL6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12EM6
Refer to chart at end of section.	1 2EN6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12EQ7
Refer to chart at end of section.	12F5GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	12F8

<u>_</u>(2

7CV

12FK6	Refer to chart at end of section.
12FM6	Refer to chart at end of section.
12FQ7	Refer to type 6FQ7/6CG7.
12FQ8	Refer to chart at end of section.
12FR8	Refer to chart at end of section.
12FV7	Refer to chart at end of section.

12FX5

POWER PENTODE

19FX5, 60FX5

Miniature type used in output stages of audio amplifiers. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket. Types 19FX5 and 60FX5 are identical with type 12FX5 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage :	12FX5 12.6 0.45 11	1 9FX5 18.9 0.3 11	60FX5 60 0.1 —	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Appr	±200 max 100 max rox.):	±200 max 100 max	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2,	No.2. and Gr	id No.3	0.65 17 9	pF pF pF
Class	: A Amnlifi	٥r		-

٩.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	150	volts
Plate Dissipation	130 5.5	volts watts
Grid-No.2 Input Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	2 225	watts °C
TYPICAL OPERATION	220	Ŭ
Plate Supply Voltage	110	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor	115 62	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	3	ohms volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	36	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	35 10	mA mA
Maximum-Signal Grid No.2 Current	12	mA
Plate Resistance	17500 13500	ohms µmhos
Load Resistance	3000	ohms



422

Total Harmonic Distortion Maximum-Signal Power Output MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation	8 1.3 0.1	per cent watts megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	megohm
Refer to chart at end of section.	12F) 12F)	
Refer to chart at end of section.	12G	A6
For replacement use type 12BQ6GTB/12CU6.	12G	B3
For replacement use type 12GW6/12DQ6B.	12G 12G	
Refer to chart at end of section.	12G	C6
Refer to type 6GE5.	12G	E5
Refer to chart at end of section.	12G	J5
Refer to type 6GJ5A.	12G.	I5A
Refer to chart at end of section.	12G	N7
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 12HG7/12GN7A.	12GN	17A
Refer to chart at end of section.	12G 12G1	
Refer to type 6GW6/6DQ6B.	12 GW6 /1	2DQ6B
Refer to chart at end of section.	12H	16
Refer to type 38HE7.	12H	E7
For replacement use type 12HG7/12GN7A.	12H	G7



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

12HG7/ 12GN7A

Miniature types with frame grid used as video amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; require 9-contact miniature socket.

Heater Arrangement:	Series	Parallel	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	12.6	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.26	0.52	ampere

Peak value ±200 max volts Average value 100 max volts Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: 0.15 max pF Grid No.1 to Plate 0.15 max pF Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and 14 max pF
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate 0.15 max pF Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and
Grid No.1 to Plate 0.15 max pF Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and
Internal Shield 14 may pE
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and
Internal Shield

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input:	400volts330voltsSee curve page 3000volts10watts
For Grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	1 watt
For Grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)		Connec	ted to cathode	
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage			135	volts
Grid No.1	Connected to	negative e		
Cathode Resistor		• • • • • • • • • •	47	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• • • • • • • • • •	60000	ohms
Plate Current			32000 31	μmhos
Grid-No.2 Current			4.8	mA mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate curre	nt of 100 "A	• • • • • • • • • •	4.5	volts
(ind-ito:i volume (hppiox.) for place curre	αι ΟΙ 100 μΑ			voita
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES				

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :		
For fixed-bias operation	0.1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.25	megohm



12HL7 SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type with frame grid used as a video output amplifier in color television receivers. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater	Arrangement		•			•	• •			• •						• •								•			Series
Heater	Voltage	•	·	• •	• •	·	•	•	·	• •		·	• •	•	•	• •	·	•	• •	•	·	• •	• •	٠	•	• •	12.6
neater	Current	•	٠	• •	• •	٠	• •	•	·	• •	• •	·		•	·	• •	٠	•		٠	•	• •	•	•			0.3



Parallel

6.3 0.6

424

volts ampere

Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak value	ax ±200 ma ax 100 ma	
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode Hastor Grid No.2 Grid No.3 and	0.15	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	15	pF
Internal Sineta	6	pF
Class A ₁ Amplifier MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
	400	volts
Plate Voltage Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	See cu	rve page 300 volt
Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input	10	watts watt
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.3 Voltage, Referred to negative end of cathode	50 250	volts
Grid-No 2 Voltage		volts volts
Cathode Resistor (Bynassed)	$ \begin{array}{cccc} 100 \\ 0 \\ - 122 \end{array} $	volts
Plate Current CridNo 9 Courant	76 2 5 32 6	mA
Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate	- 21000	mA μ mhos
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current		ohms
of 100 µA		volts
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.1 0.25	megohm megohm
Refer to chart at end of section.	12J	5GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	12J	7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	12	J 8
Refer to chart at end of section.	12.	JB6
Refer to type 6JB6A.	12J	B6A
Refer to chart at end of section.	12.	IF5
Refer to type 6JN6.	12.	N6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12.	IN8
Refer to type 6JQ6.	12	Q6
Refer to chart at end of section.	12.	JT6
Refer to type 6JT6A.	12J	6 A
Refer to chart at end of section.	12	K5
Refer to chart at end of section.	12K	7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	12	K8
Refer to chart at end of section.	12	(L8
Refer to chart at end of section.	1 2L 6	SGT
Refer to type 6MD8.	128	ND8
Refer to chart at end of section.	12Q	7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	12	R5

•

12RK19	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 12AF3/12BR3/12RK19.
1258GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
125A7	
12SA7GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
12SC7	Refer to chart at end of section.
125F5 125F5GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
125F7	Refer to chart at end of section.
12SG7	Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section.
12SH7	Refer to chart at end of section.
12SJ7 12SJ7GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
125K7 125K7GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
12SL7GT	Refer to type 6SL7GT.
125N7GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
12SN7GTA	Refer to type 6SN7GTB.
125Q7 125Q7GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
12SR7 12SR7GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
12SW7	Refer to chart at end of section.
12SY7	Refer to chart at end of section.
12710	Refer to type 6T10.
1207	Refer to chart at end of section.
12V6GT	Refer to type 6V6.
12W6GT	Refer to type 6W6GT.
12X4	Refer to type 6X4.
12Z3	Refer to chart at end of section.
13CW4	Refer to type 6CW4.
13DE7	Refer to type 6DE7.
13DR7	Refer to type 6DR7.
13EM7	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 13EM7/15EA7.
13EM7/15EA7	Refer to type 6EM7/6EA7.
13FD7	Refer to type 6FD7.
13FM7 13FM7/15FM7	Refer to type 6FM7.
13GB5	Refer to chart at end of section.
13GB5/XL500	Refer to type 6GB5/EL500.
13GF7A	Refer to type 6GF7A.

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 13Z10/13J10.

Refer to type 6JZ8.

BEAM POWER TURE 13V10 SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Duodecar type used as combined FM detector and audio-frequency output amplifier in television receivers. The beam power unit is used in af output stages and the pentode unit as an FM detector. Outlines section, 8C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 13.2; amperes, 0.45; average warm-up time, 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Beam Power Unit as Class A. Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage 165 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Cathode Current 150 volts 65 mA Plate Dissipation 6.5watts Grid-No.2 Input 1.8 watts TYPICAL OPERATION Plate Voltage 145 volts Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage 125 volts -6 volts 6 volts Yeak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage Zero-Signal Plate Current Maximum-Signal Plate Current Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current 34 mA 36 mA 2.2 mA Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current Plate Resistance (Approx.) 5.5 mA 0.058 megohm 6400 µmhos Transconductance Load Resistance Total Harmonic Distortion (Approx.) Maximum-Signal Power Output 3000 ohms 7 per cent 1.5 watts MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation 0.25 0.5 For cathode-bias operation Pentode Unit as Class A, Amplifier CHARACTERISTICS Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage 150 volts 0 volts 100 volts Cathode-Bias Resistor . ____ 560 ohms Plate Resistance (Approx.) 0.15 megohm Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance, Grid No.1 to Plate Transconductance, Grid No.3 to Plate 1000 µmhos 400 μmhos Plate Current 1.3mA 2 mA 4.5volts _4 5 volts Pentode Unit as FM Detector MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage 330 volts Grid-No.3 Voltage 28 volts

Grid-No.2 Supply voltage	aby volts
Grid-No 2 Voltage	See curve page 300
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0 volts
Plate Dissipation	1.7 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	1.1 watts
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts	See curve page 300

Refer to chart at end of section.	
-----------------------------------	--

13Z10

Refer to type 6Z10/6J10.

megohm megohm

```
427
```

13J10 13JZ8

13Z10/13J10

G3p G_{ie} KB G3B ൭ Ю⁶2в 6₁₀(3 (II)_{Pq} Kp is н 12EZ

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

14A4	Refer to chart at end of section.
14A5	Refer to chart at end of section.
14A7	Refer to chart at end of section.
14AF7	Refer to chart at end of section.
1486	Refer to chart at end of section.
1488	Refer to chart at end of section.

DUAL TRIODE 14BL11 SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Duodecar type used in television receiver applications. κ_{T2} The pentode unit is used for video amplifier service, and the triode units for general-purpose use. Outlines 6723 section, 8B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 14.2; amperes, 0.45; average warm-up time 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

(p.G3p. Gle

12GC

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias	Triode Unit No.1 330	330	.2 U	ntode nit 50 25	volts volts
value	0	0		0	volts
Plate Dissipation	1.5	2		2.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input		_	1.	25	watts
CHARACTERISTICS					
Plate Voltage	200	200	35	200	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage			100	100	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage		_	Ö		volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor	470	270	-	82	ohms
Amplification Factor	40	69	_	_	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	7600	12500		70000	ohms
Transconductance	5300	5500	-	19000	μmhos
Plate Current	7.2	7.1	40	16	mA
Grid-No.2 Current			13	3	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 μA MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	8	5.5	_	-5.5	volts
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 1	0.5 1	0 0.1	.1 25	megohm megohm

Class A. Amplifier

DUAL TRIODE 14BR11 SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Duodecar type used in television receiver applications. KP, 63P The high-mu triode unit No. 1 is used for generalpurpose use, the medium-mu triode unit No. 2 for sync separator service, and the pentode unit for video G2p amplifier service. Outlines section, 8C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 14.2; amperes, 0.45; warm-up time, 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ±200 peak, 100 average.



428

Class A ₁ Amplifier						
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit No.1			ntode Init		
Plate Voltage	330	330	3	30	vòlts	
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		_		30	volts	
Grid-No.2 Voltage	_				page 300	
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias			~~	e ourre	page ove	
value	0	0		0	volts	
	1.5	ž		Å.	watts	
Plate Dissipation	1.0	4		**	watto	
Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330		-	1	1.1	watts	
volts			Se	e curve	page 300	
CHARACTERISTICS						
Plate Voltage	200	200	35	135	volts	
Grid-No.2 Voltage			135	135	volta	
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-2	_	Õ		volta	
		220	•	100	ohms	
Cathode-Bias Resistor	68	41	—	100	onma	
Amplification Factor	12400	9400	_	45000	ohma	
Plate-Resistance (Approx.)						
Transconductance	5500	4400		10400	μ mhos	
Plate Current	7	9.2	34	17	mA	
Grid-No.2 Current			13	4	mA	
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 µA	5.5	-6.5	_	6	volts	
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.5 1	0.5 1		1 1	megohm megohm	

Refer to chart at end of section.	14C5
Refer to chart at end of section.	14C7
Refer to chart at end of section.	14E6
Refer to chart at end of section.	14E7
Refer to chart at end of section.	14F7
Refer to chart at end of section.	14F8
Refer to chart at end of section.	14GT8
Refer to chart at end of section.	14H7
Refer to chart at end of section.	14J7
Refer to chart at end of section.	14JG8
Refer to chart at end of section.	14N7
Refer to chart at end of section.	14Q7
Refer to chart at end of section.	14R7
Refer to chart at end of section.	15
Refer to type 6AF11.	15AF11
Refer to chart at end of section.	15BD11
Refer to chart at end of section.	15BD11A

Refer to type 6CW5/EL86.15CW5/PL84Refer to chart at end of section.15DQ8

15CW5

Refer to chart at end of section.

15DQ8/ PCL84

HIGH-MU TRIODE— SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in color and black-and-white television receiver applications. The triode unit is used as a sync-separator, sync-amplifier, keyed-agc, or noisesuppressor tube. The pentode unit is used as a videooutput tube. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.



					~
Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage				15 0.3 ±200 max	volts ampere volts
Class	s A ₁ Am	plifie	r		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum	Values)		Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage			550	550	volts
Peak Plate Voltage, with maximum plate	current	of	000	000	10105
0.1 mA•			600	_	volts
Plate Voltage			250	250	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage .			_	550	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage				250	volts
Cathode Current			12	40	mA
Plate Dissipation		••	1	4	watts
Grid-No.2 Input		••		1.7	watts
	Triode				
CHARACTERISTICS	Unit		Pentode U		
Plate Voltage	200	170		200	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		170		220	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	1.7	-2.1		3.4	volts
Amplification Factor	65				
Mu-Factor, Grid-No.2 to Grid-No.1		36	36	36	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	4000	0.1 11000	0.13	0.15	megohm
Transconductance Plate Current	4000	11000	10400 18	10000 18	µmhos mA
Grid-No.2 Current	3	3		3	mA mA
		•	•	5	mA
TYPICAL OPERATION OF PENTODE UNIT		ο ου	трит тиві		
Plate Supply Voltage		170	200	220	volts
Series Plate Resistor		3000		3000	ohms
Grid-No.2 Voltage		170		220	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	• • • • • • •	2		-3.3	volts
Transconductance		10400		9700	μ mhos
Plate Current	• • • • • • •	18		18	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	· · · · · · ·	3.2	3.1	3.1	mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES					
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :			friode Unit	Pentode Unit	:
For fixed-bias operation			1	1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation			3	$\overline{2}$	megohms
					-

• With maximum duty factor of 0.18 and maximum pulse duration of 18 microseconds.

15EA7	For replacement use type 13EM7/15EA7.
15 EW7	Refer to type 6EW7.
15FM7	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 13FM7/15FM7.
15FY7	Refer to type 6FY7.
15HB6	Refer to chart at end of section.
15KY8	Refer to chart at end of section.
15KY8A	Refer to type 6KY8A.
15LE8	Refer to chart at end of section.

9EX

Кр,Сзр

Refer to type 6MF8.

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 16A8/PCL82.

> G_{2p} Miniature type used in television receiver applications. The triode unit is used as a vertical oscillator or as an af amplifier, and the pentode unit is used as a vertical output tube or as an audio output tube. Outlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 8B8 is identical with type 16A8/PCL82 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage			81 8 0.6 ±200		16A8/PCL82 16 0.3 ±200	volts ampere volts
Clas	ss A, A	mplifie	r .			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Plate Supply Voltage Peak Plate Voltage Plate Voltage Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltag Grid-No.2 Voltage Cathode Current Plate Dissipation (Frame Output) Plate Dissipation (Audio Output) Grid-No.2 Input Peak Grid-No.2 Input	e		5 6 2	e Unit 50 00 50 15 15	Pentode Unit 550 2500 250 550 250 550 250 50 5 7 1.8 3.2	volts volts volts volts volts wolts mA watts watts watts watts
	Triode	_				
CHARACTERISTICS Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Amplification Factor Mu Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1 Plate Resistance Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:	Unit 100 	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 100 \\ -6 \\ \overline{} \\ 10 \end{array} $	ntode 1 170 170 	Jnit 200 200 	$200 \\ 200 \\ -16 \\ 9.5 \\ 20000 \\ 6400 \\ 7 \\ 35$	volts volts volts mA mA mA
For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	1 3			1 2		megohm megohms

• With a maximum duty factor of 0.04 and maximum pulse duration of 0.8 milliseconds.



DUAL TRIODE— BEAM POWER TUBE 16AK9

Duodecar type used in vertical-deflection-amplifier, vertical oscillator and sync-clipper applications, in color television receivers. Outlines section, 15A; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 16.4; amperes, 0.6; average warm-up time, 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.



15MF8

16A8

16A8/ PCL82

8**B**8
Class A ₁ Amplifier					
CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Unit No. 1	Triode Unit No.2		a Power nit	
Plate Voltage	150	150	60	150	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage			125	150	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		5	0	14	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	11000	8500		16400	ohms
Transconductance		2350		6200	μ mbos
Plate Current	5.4	5.5	140	49	mA
Grid-No.2 Current			18	8.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate					
current of 100 µA			-		volts
Amplification Factor	. 43	20	<u> </u>		

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit No. 1 Amplifier	Triode Unit No. 2 Oscillator	Beam Power Unit Amplifier	
Plate Voltage	. 330	330	350	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#			2500	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	. —		250	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage		400	150	volts
Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value				volt
Plate Dissipation	1.25	1	10	watts
Grid-No.2 Input		_	2	watts
Peak Plate Current	_	70	245	mA
Average Plate Current		20	80	mA
Peak Grid-No.2 Current			245	mA
Average Grid-No.2 Current			80	mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1 Circuit Resistance:				
For fixed-hiss operation	0.5	1	1	merchm

fixed-bias oper degenerative-bi		0.5	2.2	$1 \\ 2.2$	megohm megohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

^{\circ} A cathode resistor or any feedback system which achieves an equivalent reduction in gain.

16AQ3

Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 16AQ3/XY88.



DIODE



Miniature type used as booster diodes in line-timebase circuits of transformerless television receivers. **9CB** Outlines section, 7D; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 20AQ3/

Outlines section, 7D; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Type 20AQ3/LY88 is identical with type 16AQ3/XY88 except for heater ratings.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	16AQ3/ XY88 16.4 0.6 6600	20AQ3/ LY88 20.2 0.45 6600	volts ampere volts
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)			
Supply Voltage at zero current		550	volts
Supply Voltage		250	volts
Peak Plate Current	· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	550	mA
Average Plate Current		220	mA
Plate Dissipation		5	watts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage*		6000#	volts

* Under no conditions should an absolute maximum value of 7500 volts be exceeded.

The pulse duration must not exceed 22 per cent of a cycle, or a maximum of 18 microseconds

16BQ11

Refer to type 8BQ11.

Refer to chart at end of section.	16BX11
Refer to type 6GK6.	16GK6
Refer to type 6GY5.	16GY5
Refer to chart at end of section.	16KA6
Refer to type 6LU8.	16LU8A
Refer to chart at end of section.	17AB10 17AB10/17X10
Refer to type 6AX3.	17AX3
Refer to chart at end of section.	17AX4GT
Refer to type 6AX4GTB.	17AX4GTA
Refer to chart at end of section.	17AY3
Refer to type 6AY3B.	17AY3A
Refer to chart at end of section.	17BB14
Refer to type 6BE3.	17BE3
Refer to type 6BE3.	17BE3/17BZ3
Refer to type 6BF11.	17BF11
Refer to chart at end of section.	17BH3 17BH3A
Refer to chart at end of section.	17BQ6GTB
Refer to chart at end of section.	17BR3
Refer to type 6BR3/6RK19.	17BR3/17RK19
Refer to chart at end of section.	17BS3
Refer to type 6BS3A.	17BS3A 17BS3A/17DW4A
Refer to type 22BW3.	17BW3
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 17BE3/17BZ3.	17BZ3
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 17CU5/17C5.	17C5
Refer to type 6C9.	17C9
Refer to chart at end of section.	17CK3
Refer to chart at end of section.	17CL3
Refer to type 12CT3.	17CT3

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

17CU5	For replacement use type 17CU5/17C5.
17CU5/17C5	Refer to type 6CU5.
17D4	Refer to chart at end of section.
17DE4	Refer to type 6DE4/6CQ4.
17DM4	Refer to chart at end of section.
17DM4A	Refer to type 6DM4A/6DA4.
17DQ6A	Refer to chart at end of section.
17DW4A	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 17BS3A/17DW4A.
17EW8	Refer to chart at end of section.



HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature type used in rf-amplifier and oscillatormixer circuits in FM and AM radio receivers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage	17,5	volts
Heater Current	0.15	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 90 \text{ max}$	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances :		
Plate to Grid (Each Unit)	1.5	pF
Plate to Cathode (Each Unit)	0.18	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield (Each Unit)	1.2	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Internal Shield (Each Unit)	3	pF
Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2	0.04 max	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
Grid of Unit No.1 to Grid of Unit No.2	0.003 max	pF
Plate of Unit No.1 to Grid of Unit No.2	0.008 max	pF
Plate of Unit No.2 to Grid of Unit No.1	0.008 max	pF
Plate of Unit No.1 to Cathode of Unit No.2	0.008 max	pF
Plate of Unit No.2 to Cathode of Unit No.1	0.008 max	pF
Grid of Unit No.1 to Triode of Unit No.2	0.003 max	pF
Grid of Unit No.2 to Triode of Unit No.1	0.003 max	pF

Class A: Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-Voltage, Negative-bias Value Cathode Current Plate Dissipation		.	250 100 15 2.5	volts volts mA watts
CHARACTERISTICS				
Plate Voltage	100	170	200	volts
Grid Voltage	1.1*	-1.5	-2.1	volts
Amplification Factor	50	50	48	
Transconductance	4600	6200	5800	μmhos
Plate Current	4.5	10	10	mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE				
Grid-Circuit Resistance			1	megohm

* Should not be used if grid current is not permissible.



LA6

Refer to chart at end of section.	17GJ5
Refer to type 6GJ5A.	17GJ5A
Refer to chart at end of section.	17GT5
Refer to type 6GT5A.	17GT5A
Refer to type 6GV5.	17GV5
Refer to chart at end of section.	17GW6/17DQ6B
Refer to chart at end of section.	17H3
Refer to chart at end of section.	17HB25
Refer to chart at end of section.	17JB6
Refer to type 6JB6A.	17JB6A
Refer to type 6JF6.	17JF6
Refer to chart at end of section.	17JG6
Refer to type 6JG6A.	17JG6A
Refer to chart at end of section.	17JM6
Refer to type 6JM6A.	17JM6A
Refer to type 6JN6.	17JN6
Refer to type 6JQ6.	17JQ6
Refer to type 6JR6.	17JR6
Refer to chart at end of section.	17JT6
Refer to type 6JT6A.	17JT6A
Refer to type 6JZ8.	17JZ8
Refer to chart at end of section.	1 7KV6
Refer to type 6KV6A.	17KV6A
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 15KY8A.	17LD8
For replacement use type 17BR3/17RK19.	17RK19
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 17AB10/17X10.	17X10
Refer to type 6Y9/EFL200.	17Y9
Refer to chart at end of section.	17Z3/PY81
Refer to chart at end of section.	18A5
Refer to chart at end of section.	18AJ10
Refer to chart at end of section.	18FW6 18FW6A
Refer to chart at end of section.	18FX6 18FX6A
Refer to chart at end of section.	18FY6 18FY6A

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

18GB5	Refer to chart at end of section.
18GB5/LL500	Refer to type 6GB5/EL500.
18GD6A	Refer to chart at end of section.
18GV8/PCL85	Refer to type 6GV8/ECL85.
19	Refer to chart at end of section.
19AU4	Refer to chart at end of section.
19AU4GTA	Refer to chart at end of section.
19BG6G 19BG6GA	Refer to chart at end of section.
19CG3	For replacement use type 19CG3/19DQ3.
19CG3/19DQ3	Refer to type 6CG3.
19CL8A	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 19JN8/19CL8A.
19DE3	Refer to chart at end of section.

19DK3

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER



9SG

Novar type used as a damper tube in television receivers. Outlines section, 35A; requires novar 9-contact socket. Socket terminals 1, 3, 6, 8 and 9, should not be used as tie points.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		19 0.6 11	volts ampere seconds
Cathode to Piate and Heater		$22.0 \\ 13.6 \\ 1.1$	pF pF pF
Damper Service			
For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame	system		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	 	6500 1200 400 9 220	volts mA watts °C
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	$^{+300}_{+100}$	6500 900	volts volts

CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value

Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 800 mA	25	volts
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle.		

19DQ3	For replacement use type 19CG3/19DQ3.
19EA8	Refer to type 6EA8.
19EZ8	Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to type 12FX5.	19FX5
Refer to chart at end of section.	19GQ7
Refer to chart at end of section.	19HR6
Refer to chart at end of section.	19HS6
Refer to chart at end of section.	19HV8
Refer to chart at end of section.	19J6
Refer to chart at end of section.	19JN8
Refer to type 6JN8.	19JN8/19CL8A
Refer to chart at end of section.	19KG8
For replacement use type 18GD6A.	19MR9
For replacement use type 18FW6A.	19MR19
Refer to chart at end of section.	19Q9
Refer to type 6X8A.	19X8
Refer to chart at end of section.	20
Refer to type 16AQ3/XY88.	20AQ3/LY88
Refer to chart at end of section.	20EQ7
Refer to chart at end of section.	20EZ7
Refer to type 6LF6/6LX6.	20LF6
Refer to chart at end of section.	21EX6
Refer to type 6GY5.	21GY5
Refer to chart at end of section.	21HB5



BEAM POWER TUBE

21HB5A

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 15B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. For maximum ratings, refer to type 6HB5. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 21; amperes, 0.45; warm-up time (average), 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Class A: Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Pento	de Conne	ction	Triode* Connection	
Plate Voltage	5000	50	130	130	volta
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	130	130	130	130	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		0	20	-20	volta
Amplification Factor	—	—		4.8	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)			9900		ohma
Transconductance			9000		μmhos

Plate Current		450 -	46	 mA
Grid-No.2 Current		29=	1.8	 mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1 mA	64			 volta

* Grid-No.2 tied to plate

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

21HJ5	Refer to chart at end of section.
21JS6A	For replacement use type 23JS6A.
21JV6	Refer to chart at end of section,

21JZ6 BEAM POWER TUBE

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 39A; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 21; amperes, 0.45; average warm-up time, 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.



Class A₁ Amplifier

	Triode ⁴	L			
CHARACTERISTICS	Connectio	on Pen	tode Connec	tion	
Plate Voltage	13)	5000	50	130	volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)		Connected	to cathode	at socket	
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		130	130	130	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	20		0	20	volts
Amplification Factor	4.8				
Plate Resistance (Approx.)				9900	ohms
Transconductance				9000	μ mhos
Plate Current			450	46	mA
Grid-No.2 Current			29	1.8	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 1.0 mA	-	64			volts

+ Grid No.2 connected to plate.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Supply Voltage	770	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
DC Grid-No.3 Voltage, Positive-bias value	70	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage, Negative-bias value	55	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Cathode Current	800	mA
Average Cathode Current	230	mA
Plate Dissipation	18	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	220	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	1	megohm
A Manual data and the second to second at a second start of the se	1	

A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation. Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).



BEAM POWER TUBE

21KA6

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 16A; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. A separate connection is provided for grid No.3 to minimize "snivets."

Heater Voltage	21	volts
Heater Current	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	volta volts

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS					
Plate Voltage	5000	60	60	130	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid)					_
Voltage	0	0	25	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	130	130	130	130	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		0	0	20	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	_		_	11000	ohms
Transconductance	.	-		9100	μmhos
Plate Current	_	410÷	410*	50	' mA
Grid-No.3 Current	—	-	2	-	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		24*	23*	1.75	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for					
plate current of 1 mA	66		_		volts
Triode Amplification Factor	_			4.7	

* This value may be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM KATINGS (Design-Maximum values)		
DC Plate Supply Voltage	770	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	1500	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage, Positive-bias value	70	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	220	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage, Negative-bias value	55	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Average Cathode Current	230	mA
Peak Cathode Current	800	mA
Plate Dissipation	18	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	220	°C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	1	megohm

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).



BEAM POWER TUBE



Magnoval type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 40A; requires magnoval 9-contact socket. Type 29KQ6/PL521 is identical with type 21KQ6 except for heater ratings.

	21KQ6	29KQ6/PL521	
Heater Voltage		29	volts
Heater Current	0.45	0.3	ampere

Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	±240	± 240	volts
Average value	±240	±240	volts

Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	40	50	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage	0	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	135	200	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	0	12	
Plate Current	450	550‡	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	35	50‡	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 50 µA	—55 max.		volts

[‡]This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# Peak Nerative-Pulse Plate Voltage#	$275 \\ 6500 \\ 1650$	volts volts volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	70	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	275	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Average Cathode Current	275	mA
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	0.5	megohm
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for horizontal-deflection circuit	2.2	megohms

Pulse duration must not exceed 22% of a horizontal scanning cycle (18 microseconds).

21LG6

Refer to chart at end of section.

21LG6A

BEAM POWER TUBE

Duodecar type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier $_{1C}(3)$ in color television receivers. Outlines section, 16B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts, 21; $_{1C}(3)$ ampere, 0.6; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.



Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode* Connection	Pe	ntode Conne	ection	
Plate Voltage	. 125	6000	50	175	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		125	125	125	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage			0	23	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)			—	7500	ohms
Transconductance				11500	μ mhos
Plate Current			600	90	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	. —		42	1.7	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate					
current of 1 mA				45	volts
Amplification Factor	. 3.6				

Horizontal_Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	900	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	7500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	100	volts

Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage, Negative-bias value Plate Dissipations Grid-No.2 Input Average Cathode Current Peak Cathode Current Bulb Temperature	250 300 28 5 315 1100 250	volts volts watts mA mA °C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1 Circuit Resistance: With feedback type high voltage regulation With shunt-type high voltage regulation (switching mode)	1.8 2.2	megohms megohms
* Grid-No. 2 tied to plate.		

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).
A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

Refer to type 6LR8.	21LR8
Refer to type 6LU8.	21LU8
Refer to chart at end of section.	21MY8
Refer to chart at end of section.	22
Refer to chart at end of section.	22BH3
Refer to chart at end of section.	228H3A



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

22BW3

Duodecar type used as damper tube in horizontal-deflection circuits of television receivers. Outlines section, 8D; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Type 17BW3 is identical with type 22BW3 except for heater ratings.

	17 BW3	22BW3	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	16.8	22.4	volts
Heater Current	0.6	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time	11	11	seconds
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances :			
Cathode to Heater and Plate		8.5	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater		6	pF
Heater to Cathode		3.8	pF
Damper Service			
For operation in a 525-line, 30-fram	ne system		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)			
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#		5000	volts
Peak Plate Current		1100	mA
Average Plate Current		175	mA
Plate Dissipation		6.5	watts
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			
Peak value	+300		volts
Average value	∔100	900	volts
CHARACTERISTICS, Instantaneous Value			
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 350 mA		32	volts
# Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of one horizontal s			
# I use duration must not exceed 15% of one norizontal	scanning o	cycle (10 mi	croseconus).

Refer to type 6DE4/6CQ4.	22DE4
Refer to type 6JF6.	22JF6
Refer to chart at end of section.	22JG6
Refer to type 6JG6A.	22JG6A

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

22JR6	Refer to type 6JR6.
22JU6	Refer to type 6JU6.
22KM6	Refer to type 6KM6.
22KV6A	Refer to type 6KV6A.
23JS6A	Refer to type 6JS6C.

Duodecar type used in combined vertical-deflectionoscillator and vertical-deflection-amplifier applications in television receivers. Outlines section, 8B; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 23; amperes, 0.45; average warm-up time, 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.



12GZ

Class	Δ.	Amn	lifier

••••					
CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Unit No.1	Triode Unit No.2		ım Power Unit	
Plate Voltage	150	150	45	120	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage			110	110	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-2	5	0	8	volts
Amplification Factor	43	20			
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	11000	8500		11700	ohms
Transconductance	3900	2350		7100	µmhos
Plate Current	5.4	5.5	122	46	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	-	_	16.5	3.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 100 μ A Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate	_	_		25	volts
current of 10 μ A		11			volts

Vertical-Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode Unit No.1 Amplifier	Triode Unit No.2 Oscillator	Beam Powe Unit Amplifier	-
Plate Voltage	330	250	250	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	—		2000	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage			200	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage		400	150	volts
Grid Voltage, Positive-bias value	0			volts
Plate Dissipation	125	1	7	watts
Grid-No.2 Input			1.8	watts
Peak Cathode Current	—		245	mA
Average Cathode Current		_	70	mA
Peak Plate Current		70		mA
Average Plate Current	-	20	_	mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :		_	_	

For	fixed-bia	s operati	on			• • •	• • •	0.5	1		1	megohm
# Pulse	duration	must not	exceed	15%	of	a	horizonta!	scanning	cycle	(10	micro	seconds).

24A	Refer to chart at end of section.
24BF11	Refer to type 6BF11.
24JE6A	Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 24LQ6/24JE6C.
24JE6C	For replacement use type 24LQ6/24JE6C.
24JZ8	Refer to type 6JZ8.

442

23**Z**9

.

For replacement use type 24LQ6/24JE6C.	24LQ6
Refer to type 6MJ6/6LQ6/6JE6C.	24LQ6/24JE6C
Refer to chart at end of section.	24LZ6
Refer to chart at end of section.	25A6
Refer to chart at end of section.	25A6GT 25A7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	25AC5GT
Refer to type 6AV5GA.	25AV5GA
Refer to chart at end of section.	25AX4GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	2585
Refer to chart at end of section.	25B6G
Refer to chart at end of section.	25B8GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	25BK5
Refer to chart at end of section.	25BQ6GT
Refer to type 6BQ6GTB/6CU6.	25BQ6GTB/25CU6
Refer to type 50C5.	25C5
Refer to chart at end of section.	25C6G
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 25C5.	25CA5
Refer to chart at end of section.	25CD6GA
Refer to type 6CD6GA.	25CD6GB
Refer to type 6CG3.	25CG3
Refer to chart at end of section.	25CK3
Refer to chart at end of section.	25CM3
Refer to type 12CT3.	25CT3
Refer to type 6BQ6GTB/6CU6.	25CU6
Refer to type 6DL3.	25DL3
Refer to chart at end of section.	25DN6
Refer to chart at end of section.	25E5/PL36
Refer to chart at end of section.	, 25EC6
Refer to type 6EH5.	25EH5
Refer to chart at end of section.	25F5A
Refer to chart at end of section.	25F3A 25HX5
Refer to chart at end of section.	
	25JQ6
Refer to type 6JZ8.	25JZ8
Refer to chart at end of section.	2516

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

25L6GT/25W6GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
25N6G	Refer to chart at end of section.
25W4GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
25W6GT	For replacement use type 25L6GT/25W6GT Refer to chart at end of section.
25Y5	Refer to chart at end of section.
25Z5	Refer to chart at end of section.
25Z6 25Z6GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
26	Refer to chart at end of section.
26A6	Refer to chart at end of section.
26A7GT	Refer to chart at end of section.
26C6	Refer to chart at end of section.
26D6	Refer to chart at end of section.

26HU5

444

BEAM POWER TUBE

Glass octal type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in color television receivers. Outlines section, 21B; requires octal socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 26; ampere, 0.6; warm-up time (average), 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ±200 peak, 100 average.

NCO LO
K.GETTON
8NB

GID33 M1	Amphiller				
CHARACTERISTICS	Triode‡ Connection		Pen Conne	tode	
Plate Voltage	. 150	45	60	175	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		160	110	110	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-22.5	0	0	21	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)			—	6000	ohms
Transconductance				14000	μmhos
Plate Current		1100-	750-	125	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		110-	42=	3.3	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current	t				
of 1 mA	. .			40	volts
Amplification Factor	. 4		_	-	
t Grid No 2 tind to plate					

Class A Amplifier

; Grid No.2 tied to plate. • This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage Peak Positive Pulse Plate Voltage#	990 7000	volts volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage, Negative-bias value	250	volts
Plate Dissipation* (Absolute-maximum value)	33	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	5	watts
Average Cathode Current	400 1400	mA mA
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	250	°C

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). * A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance : 1.2 2.2 megohms megohms

Refer to chart at end of section.

BEAM POWER TUBE

Duodecar type used as a horizontal-deflection amplifier in color and black-and-white television receivers. Outlines section, 16C; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 26; ampere, 0.6; warm-up time, 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Class	A1	Ar	np	lifier
	~		•	

'riode*				
nection	Pent	ode Connect	ion	
175	5000	45	175	volts
		Connected t	o cathode	at socket
175	110	160	110	volts
21		0	-21	volts
	_		6000	ohms
		-	14000	µmhos
		1100‡	125	mA
_		11C‡	3.3	$\mathbf{m}\mathbf{A}$
		•		
	-125	_		volts
4	—	—		
	175 175 21 	Influence Pent 175 5000 175 110 21	Infection Pentode Connect 175 5000 45 175 Connected t 175 110 160 21 0 - - - - - - - - - - 1100‡ 110‡ -	Pentode Connection 175 5000 45 175 175 100 160 110 175 110 160 110 21 0 -21 14000 1100‡ 125 110‡ 3.3

• Grid-No. 2 tied to plate. **† This value may be measured by a method** involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage Peak Positive Pulse Plate Voltage# (Absolute Maximum Value) Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage Grid-No. 3 Voltage, Positive-bias value Grid-No. 2 Voltage Peak Negative Grid-No. 1 Voltage Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current Plate Dissipation [®] (Absolute Maximum Value) Grid-No. 2 Input Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	$\begin{array}{c} 990 \\ 7000 \\ 100 \\ 250 \\ 250 \\ 1400 \\ 400 \\ 33 \\ 5 \\ 240 \end{array}$	volts volts volts volts volts mA mA watts watts vatts vatts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: With feedback-type high voltage regulation With shunt-type high voltage regulation (switching mode) Grid-No.3-Circuit Resistance	1.2 2.2 0	megohms megohms ohms
MIMIMUM RECOMMENDED GRID DRIVE		
Peak Positive Pulse Plate Voltage	6000	volts
Peak Negative Grid-No. 1 Voltage for grid-No. 2 voltage of 150 volts		volts
Peak Negative Grid-No. 1 Voltage for grid-No. 2 voltage of 200 volts	-235	volts
	200	VOICS

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).
A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

чзо) чзо) чзо) чзо) чзо) чзо) чзо) чзо)) () () () () () () () () () () () () ()
	12JA	

445

26LW6

26LX6

Refer to chart at end of section.

27GB5/PL500

29KQ6/PL521

27

Refer to type 6GB5/EL500. Refer to chart at end of section.

29LE6

BEAM POWER TUBE

Magnoval type used as horizontal-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Outlines section, 40A; requires magnoval 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage	29 0.3	volts ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±240 ±240	volts volts

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	40	50	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) Voltage	0	0	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	135	200	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	0		
Plate Current	450	550‡	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	35	50‡	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 50 µA	55 max.		volts

[‡]This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	275	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	6500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage#	1650	volts
Grid-No.3 Voltage	70	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	275	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Average Cathode Current	275	mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	0.5	megohm
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for horizontal-deflection circuit	2.2	megohms
	· · · ·	• •

Pulse duration must not exceed 22% of a horizontal scanning cycle (18 microseconds).

30

Refer to chart at end of section.

30AE3/ PY88

DIODE

Miniature type used as booster diodes in line-timebase circuits of transformerless television receivers. Outlines section, 7D; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 30; amperes, 0.3; maximum heater-cathode volts, 6600 peak.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)

Supply Voltage at zero current	550
Supply Voltage	250
Peak Plate Current	550



volts volts m A

".	5 6°2	
⁶²	$\backslash \backslash \mathbf{Y}$	63
63C	770	Gį
GI () ~	— [©] к	
9	RJ	

Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage [•] • Under no conditions should an absolute maximum value of 7500 volts # The pulse duration must not exceed 22 per cent of a cycle, or a m seconds.	220 mA 5 watts 6000# volts 5 be exceeded. laximum of 18 micro-
Refer to chart at end of section.	30AG11
Refer to chart at end of section.	30JZ6
Refer to type 6KD6.	30KD6
Refer to chart at end of section.	30MB6
Refer to chart at end of section.	31
Refer to chart at end of section.	31AL10
Refer to chart at end of section.	31JS6A
Refer to type 6JS6C.	31JS6C
Refer to type 6MJ6/6LQ6/6JE6C.	31LQ6
Refer to type 6LR8.	31LR8



BEAM POWER TUBE

31LZ6

Novar type used for horizontal-deflection amplifier in color television receivers. Outlines section, 32C; requires novar 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	31	volts
Heater Current	0.45	ampere
Heater Warm-up Time	11	seconds
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value	±200 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate	0.6	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	22	pF
Plate to Cathode. Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	11	pF

Class A. Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode† Connection	Pen	tode Conn	ection	
Plate Voltage	125		55	175	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		5000			volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)		30	30	30	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	125	130	125	125	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	25	_	0	25	volts
Amplification Factor	3	—			
Plate Resistance (Approx.)			_	6000	ohms
Transconductance				11000	μmhos
Plate Current	—	—	800††	140	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	_		56††	2	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current					-
of 1 mA		-125		50	volta

Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage	990	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	7500	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse late Voltage	1100	volts
DC Grid-No.3 Voltage	75	volts

Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) 240 °(MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	1200 mA
For grid-leak-bias operation	

†† This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.
In this varying a positive value may be splited to said No. to minimize "splitedta" inter-

In this service, a positive value may be applied to grid No.3 to minimize "snivets" interference; a typical value for this voltage is 30 volts.

A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.



32 32ET5 32ET5A 32HQ7 32L7GT 33 33GT7 33GY7 Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section.

33GY7A DIODE—BEAM POWER TUBE

Duodecar type used as combined damper diode and horizontal-deflection amplifier in television receivers. Socket terminals 1, 3, 6 and 7 should not be used as tie points. **Outlines section**, 15A; requires duodecar 12contact socket. Type 50GY7A is identical with type 33GY7A except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	33GY7A 33.6 0.45 11	50GY7A 50 0.3 11	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Average value	±200 max 100 max	$\pm 200 \max$ 100 max	volts volts

Beam Power Unit as Class A₁ Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Pento	de Conne	ection	Triode* Connection	
Plate Voltage	5000	60	130	130	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	130	130	130	130	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		0	-22.5	-22.5	volts
Amplification Factor	—	_		4	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	_		10000	_	ohms
Transconductance	-		6500		µmhos
Plate Current	_	320 •	48	_	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		22=	2.9		mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate					
current of 1 mA	80		40	_	volts
* Grid No.2 tied to plate.					

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

Beam Power Unit as Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 50-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
DC Plate Supply Voltage	400	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	5000	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	0	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	150	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage		volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Peak Cathode Current	540	mA
Average Cathode Current	155	mA
Plate Dissipation	9	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Contra No. 1 Channels Bootheanne	-	

Damper Service (Diode Unit)

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Peak Inverse Plate Voltage# Peak Plate Current 4200 volts 810 mA Average Plate Current Plate Dissipation 135 mA 3.8 watts Heater-Cathode Voltage: $^{+200}_{+100}$ Peak value -4200 volts Average value -400 volts 200 CHARACTERISTICS, Instantaneous Value Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 250 mA 21 volts

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

Refer to type 6JR6.	33JR6
Refer to chart at end of section.	33JV6
Refer to chart at end of section.	34
Refer to type 6CE3/6CD3/6DT3.	34CE3
Refer to chart at end of section.	34CM3

34GD5	Refer to chart at end of section.
34GD5A	Refer to chart at end of section.
34R3	Refer to chart at end of section.
35	Refer to chart at end of section.
35A5	Refer to chart at end of section.
35B5	Refer to chart at end of section.

BEAM POWER TUBE

Miniature type used in output stage of compact, ac/dc radio receivers. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Except for terminal connections and slightly higher ratings, type 35C5 is equivalent in performance to miniature type 35B5 and, within its maximum ratings, to glass octal type 35L6GT.

type 35L6GT.	700	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	$\begin{array}{c} 35\\ 0.15\end{array}$	volts ampere
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3 Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	0.6 12 9	pF pF pF
Class A, Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	150 130 5.2 1.1 250	volts volts watts watts °C
TYPICAL OPERATION Plate Voltage	110	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	110	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	7.5	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	7.5	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	40	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	41 3	mA mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	7	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	13000	ohms
Transconductance	5800	μ mhos
Load Resistance	2500	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	10	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	1.5	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.1 0.5	megohm megohm

Installation and Application

The 35-volt heater is designed to operate under the normal conditions of line-voltage variation without materially affecting the performance or serviceability of the 35C5. For operation of the 35C5 in series with other types having 0.15-ampere rating, the current in the heater circuit should be adjusted to 0.15 ampere for the normal supply voltage.

35C5

In a series-heater circuit of the "dc-power line" type employing several 0.15-ampere types and one or two 35C5s, the heater(s) of the 35C5(s)should be placed on the positive side of the line. Under these conditions, heater-cathode voltage of the 35C5 must not exceed the value given under maximum ratings. In a series-heater circuit of the "universal" type employing rectifier tube 35W4, one or two 35C5s and several 0.15-ampere types, it is recommended that the heater(s) of the 35C5(s) be placed in the circuit so that the higher values of heater-cathode bias will be impressed on the 35C5(s) rather than on the other 0.15-ampere types. This is accomplished by arranging the 35C5(s) on the side of the supply line which is connected to the cathode of the rectifier, i.e., the positive terminal of the rectified voltage supply. Between this side of the line and the 35C5(s), any necessary auxiliary resistance and the heater of the 35W4 are connected in series.

As a power amplifier (class A_i), the 35C5 is recommended for use either singly or in push-pull combination in the power-output stage of ac/dc receivers. The operating values shown under typical operation have been determined on the basis that grid-No.1 current does not flow during any part of the input cycle.



Refer to chart at end of section.	35DZ8
Refer to chart at end of section.	35EH5
Refer to chart at end of section.	35GL6
Refer to chart at end of section.	35L6GT
Refer to type 6LR6.	35LR6



HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER

35W4

Miniature type used in power supply of ac/dc receivers. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7contact socket. This type is equivalent in performance to glass-octal type 35Z5GT. The heater is provided with a tap for operation of a panel lamp.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc): Entire Heater (pins 3 and 4) Panel Lamp Section (pins 4 and 6) Heater Current:		* 35 7.5		** 32 5.5	volts volts
Between Pins 3 and 4 Between Pins 3 and 6 Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage		0.15 		0.15 360 max	ampere ampere volts
• Without panel lamp. •• With No.40 or No.47 panel lamp.					
Half-Wave Rec	tifier				
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Peak Inverse Plate Voltage Peak Plate Current Average Output Current:				360 660	volts mA
With Panel Lamp and { No Shunting Resist Shunting Resistor .				66 100 110	mA mA mA
Panel-Lamp Section Voltage: When Panel Lamp Fails				17	volts
AC Plate-Supply Voltage (rms) Filter-Input Capacitor Minimum Total Effective Plate-Supply Impedance Panel-Lamp Shunting Resistor Average Output Current	$ \begin{array}{r} 117\\ 40\\ 15\\ \hline 60 \end{array} $	$117 \\ 40 \\ 15 \\ 300 \\ 70$	$117 \\ 40 \\ 15 \\ 150 \\ 80$	117 40 15 100 90	volts µF ohms ohms mA

† No.40 or No.47 panel lamp used in circuit given below with capacitor-input filter.

Installation and Application



For heater considerations, refer to miniature type 35C5.

With the panel lamp connected as shown in the diagram, the drop across R and all heaters (with panel lamp) should equal 117 volts at 0.15 ampere. The shunting resistor R, is required when dc output current exceeds 60 milliamperes. Values of R, for dc output currents greater than 60 milliamperes are given in tabulated data.



TYPICAL OPERATION WITHOUT PANEL LAMP

AC Plate-Supply Voltage (rms)	117	volts
Filter-Input Capacitor	40	μF
Minimum Total Effective Plate-Supply Impedance	15	ohms
Average Output Current	100	mA
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.):		
At half-load current (50 mA)	135	volts
At full-load current (100 mA)	120	volts
Voltage Regulation (Approx.):		
Half-load to full-load current	15	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Panel-Lamp Shunting Resistor:*		
$\begin{bmatrix} 70 & \mathbf{mA} & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ \end{bmatrix}$	800	ohms
For de output current of 80 mA	400	ohms
For dc output current of 80 mA 90 mA	250	ohms
* Provided when do output augurant is greater than 60 million prove		

* Required when dc output current is greater than 60 milliamperes.

35Y4	section.	of	end	at	chart	er to	Refe
35Z3	section.	of	end	at	chart	er to	Refe
35Z4GT	section.	of	end	at	chart	er to	Refei

HALF-WAVE VACUUM RECTIFIER 35Z5GT

Glass octal type used in power supply of ac/dc receivers. The heater is provided with a tap for operation of a panel lamp. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket. This type may be supplied with pin No.1 omitted. For installation and application considerations, refer to miniature type 35W4.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc):	*	**	
Entire Heater (pins 2 and 7)	35	32	volts
Panel Lamp Section (pins 2 and 3)	7.5	5.5	volts
Heater Current:			
Between Pins 2 and 7	0.15		ampere
Between Pins 3 and 7	-	0.15	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	• • • • • • • • • • • • • •	$\pm 350 \text{ ma}$	x volts
• Without panel lamp.			
** With No.40 or No.47 panel lamp.			
with No.40 or No.47 panel lamp.			
Half-Wave Rectific	er		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)			
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage		700	volts
Peak Plate Current		600	mA
Average Output Current:		000	
No Shunting Resistor		60	mA
With Panel Lamp and { No Shunting Resistor		90	mA
Without Panel Lamp		100	mA
Panel-Lamp-Section Voltage (rms):			
When Panel Lamp Fails		15	volts
TYPICAL OPERATION WITH PANEL LAMP			
AC Plate-Supply Voltage (rms) 117 117	117	117 235	5 volts
Filter-Input Capacitor 40 40	40	40 40) μF
Minimum Total Effective Plate-			
Supply Impedance 15 15	15	15 100	
Panel-Lamp Shunting Resistor 300	150	100 - 00	- ohms
Average Output Current 60 70	80	90 60) mA
[†] No.40 or No.47 panel lamp used in circuit with capacito	or-input filter	given unde	r type 35W4.
TYPICAL OPERATION WITHOUT PANEL LAMP*			
AC Plate-Supply Voltage (rms)	117	235	volts
Filter-Input Capacitor	40	40	μF
Minimum Total Effective Plate-Supply Impedance	15	100	ohms
Average Output Current	100	100	mA
DC Output Voltage at Input to Filter (Approx.):			
At half-load current (50 mA)	140	280	volts
At full-load current (100 mA)	120	235	volts
Voltage Regulaton (Approx.):	90	45	malta.
Half-load to full-load current	20	45	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Panel-Lamp Shunting Resistor :		~~~	
$\int 70 \text{ mA} \dots$		800	ohms
For dc ouptut current of 80 mA		$\begin{array}{c} 400\\ 250 \end{array}$	ohms ohms
(90 mA	•••••	200	onms
• Required when dc output current is greater than 60 mi	lliamperes.		

• Required when dc output current is greater than 60 milliamperes.

Refer to chart at end of section.

36

36AM3 36AM3A 36AM3B

36KD6/40KD6

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to type 6KD6.

453



BEAM POWER TUBE



Novar type used for horizontal-deflection amplifier in color television receivers. **Outlines section**, 18D; requires novar 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	36 0.45	volts ampere
Peak value Average value	土200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2 and Grid No.3 Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	1.0 40 16	pF pF pF

Class A. Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode† Connection		Pentode	Connection	•	
Plate Voltage	175		45	60	175	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#		5000				volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)		30	30	30	30	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	175	110	110	110	110	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	21		0	0	21	volts
Amplification Factor	4	_		_		
Plate Resistance (Approx.)					6000	ohms
Transconductance					14000	<i>µ</i> mhos
Plate Current			1100††	750††	125	mA
Grid-No.2 Current			110+		3.3	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current					010	
of 1 mA		-125			40	volts





Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Supply Voltage Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage# Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage DC Grid-No.3 Voltage DC Grid-No.3 Voltage	990 7500 1100 75	volts volts volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	volts

Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage Peak Cathode Current Average Cathode Current Grid-No.2 Input Plate Dissipation Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	$330 \\ 1400 \\ 400 \\ 5 \\ 33 \\ 250$	volts mA watts watts °C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For cathode-bias operation For grid-leak-bias operation For fixed-bias operation	$\begin{array}{r}10\\0.47\end{array}$	megohm megohms megohm

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of one horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds). † Grid No.2 connected to plate.

†† This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

In this service, a positive value may be applied to grid No.3 to minimize "snivets" interference; a typical value for this voltage is 30 volts.

B A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.



DIODE—BEAM POWER TUBE 38HE7

Duodecar type used in television receiver applications. The diode unit is used for damper service and the beam power unit for horizontal-deflection amplifier service. Outlines section, 15D; requires duodecar 12-contact socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 37.8; amperes, 0.45; warm-up time, 11 seconds; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

12FS

Beam	Power	Unit	As	Class	A1	Amplifier			

volts
volts
volts
ohms
mhos
mA
mA
volts

** Grid No.2 tied to plate.

Beam Power Unit as Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Ratings)		
Plate Voltage	500	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage#	5000	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	0	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	150	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage, Negative-bias value	55	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Average Cathode Current	230	mA
Peak Cathode Current	800	mA
Plate Dissipation [†]	10	watta
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	1	megohm
A A big of the second share and the second share and the date in		f qualitation

† A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation.

Damper Service—Diode Unit				
For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system	L			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		•		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#	4200 1200 200	volts mA mA		
Peak value 4-200 Average value 4100		volts volts		
Bulb Temperature (at hottest point)	200	°C		
CHARACTERISTICS, Instantaneous Value		•.		
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 350 mA # Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning of		volts microseconds).		

38HK7

DIODE-BEAM POWER TUBE

Duodecar type used in television receiver applications. The diode unit is used for damper service and the beam power unit for horizontal-deflection amplifier service. Outlines section, 15D; requires duodecar 12contact socket. Type 53HK7 is identical with 38HK7 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average)	38HK7 37.8 0.45 11	53HK7 53.2 0.315 11	volts ampere seconds
	±200 max	±200 max	volt
	100 max	100 max	volts
Plate to Cathode and Heater Cathode to Plate and Heater Heater to Cathode Beam Power Unit:		10 9 2	pF pF pF
Grid No.1 to Plate	lo.3	0.38	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid N		19	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3		8	pF

Beam Power Unit as Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS	Triode** Connection	Pen	tode Conr	ection	
Plate Voltage	130	3500	50	130	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	130	130	130	130	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	22		Ŏ	22	volts
Amplification Factor	4.2		<u> </u>		10100
Plate Resistance				6200	ohms
Transconductance		_		8800	<i>µ</i> mhos
Plate Current		_	450	60	mA
Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate	—		40	2.8	mA
current of 1 mA	—	66			volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE					
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			1	megohm

** Grid No.2 tied to plate.

Beam Power Unit as Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

MAXIMUM	RATINGS	(Design-Maximum	Values)
---------	---------	-----------------	---------

Plate Voltage	500	volts
Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voltage	5000	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	0	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	150	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voitage, Negative-bias value	55	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid-No.1 Voltage	330	volts
Average Cathode Current	230	mA
Peak Cathode Current	800	mA
Plate Dissipation [†]	10	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.5	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	1	megohm
† A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in	absence of	excitation.
Damper Service—Diode Unit For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage#	4200	volts
Peak Plate Current	1200 200	mA mA
Heater-Cathode Voltage:	200	mA
Peak value	3700	volts
Average value	500	volts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	200	°C
CHARACTERISTIC, Instantaneous Value		
Tube Voltage Drop for plate current of 350 mA	16	volts

Pulse duration must not exceed 15% of a horizontal scanning cycle (10 microseconds).

Refer to chart at end of section.	39/44
Refer to chart at end of section.	40
Refer to chart at end of section. For replacement use type 36KD6/40KD6.	40KD6
Refer to type 6KG6A/EL509.	40KG6A/PL509
Refer to chart at end of section.	41
Refer to chart at end of section.	42
Refer to chart at end of section.	42EC4A/PY500
Refer to type 6KN6.	42KN6
Refer to chart at end of section.	43
Refer to chart at end of section.	45
Refer to chart at end of section.	45Z3
Refer to chart at end of section.	45Z5GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	46
Refer to chart at end of section.	47
Refer to chart at end of section.	48
Refer to chart at end of section.	49
Refer to chart at end of section.	50
Refer to chart at end of section.	50A5
Refer to chart at end of section.	50B5
Refer to type 6BM8/ECL82.	50BM8/UCL82

.

50C5

BEAM POWER TUBE

Miniature type used in output stage of compact, ac/dc radio receivers. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Within its maximum ratings, type 50C5 is equivalent in performance to glass octal type 50L6GT. Type 25C5 is identical with type 50C5 except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	25C5 25	50C5 50	volts
Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	0.3	0.15	ampere
Peak value		±200 max	volts
Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	100 max	100 max	volts
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No		0.6	pF pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3		13 8.5	pF pF
Cinco A Amplifor			

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage		volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value		volts
Plate Dissipation		watts
Grid-No.2 Input		watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)		°C
TYPICAL OPERATION Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	120 110 8	volts volts volts



B. L. A.B. Cold M. J. Weller	0
	8 volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	49 mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	50 mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	4 mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	8.5 mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.) 100	
Transconductance 75	
Load Resistance	00 ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	
Maximum-Signal Power Output	2.3 watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :	

Installation and Application

The 50-volt heater is designed to operate under the normal conditions of line voltage variation without materially affecting the performance or serviceability of the 50C5. For operation of the 50C5 in series with other types having 0.15-ampere rating, the current in the heater circuit should be adjusted to 0.15 ampere for the normal supply voltage.

In a series-heater circuit of the "dc power line" type employing several 0.15-ampere types and one or two 50C5s, the heater(s) of the 50C5(s) should be placed on the positive side of the line. Under these conditions, heater-cathode voltage of the 50C5 must not exceed the value given under maximum ratings. In a series-heater circuit of the "universal" type employing rectifier tube 35W4, one or two 50C5s, and several 0.15-ampere types, it is recommended that the heater(s) of the 50C5(s) be placed in the circuit so that the higher values of heater-cathode bias will be impressed on the 50C5(s) rather than on the other 0.15-ampere types. This is accomplished by arranging the 50C5(s) on the side of the supply line which is connected to the cathode of the rectifier, i.e., the positive terminal of the rectified voltage supply. Between this side of the 35W4 are connected in series.

As a power amplifier (class A_1), the 50C5 is recommended for use either singly or in push-pull combination in the power-output stage of "ac/dc" receivers. The operating values shown under typical operation have been determined on the basis that grid-No. 1 current does not flow during any part of the input cycle.

Refer to chart at end of section.	50C6G
Refer to chart at end of section.	50DC4
Refer to type 6EH5.	50EH5
Refer to chart at end of section.	50FE5
Refer to chart at end of section.	50FK5
Refer to type 33GY7A.	50GY7A
Refer to chart at end of section	50HC6



POWER PENTODE

50HK6

Miniature type used in audio-frequency power-output stage of radio receivers. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket. The heater is provided with a tap for operation of a panel lamp. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 50; amperes, 0.15; tap volts (without panel lamp), 7; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage	150	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	130	volts
Plate Dissipation	5.5	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.1	watts
RMS Heater-Tap Voltage When Panel Lamp Fails	14	volts

TYPICAL OPERATION AND CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	110	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	110	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-7.5	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	7.5	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	49	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	50	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	4	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	8.5	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	10000	ohms
Transconductance	7500	μ mhos
Load Resistance	2500	ohms
Total Harmoric Distortion (Approx.)	9	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	1.9	watta
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.1	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	0.5	megohm

50JY6

Refer to chart at end of section.

50L6GT 25L6GT

.....

BEAM POWER TUBE

Glass octal type used in output stage of ac/dc radio receivers. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket. This type may be supplied with pin No.1 omitted. Refer to miniature type 50C5 for installation and application information. Type 25L6GT is identical with type 50L6GT except for heater ratings.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	25L6GT 25	50L6GT 50	volts
Heater Current	0.3	0.15	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	$\pm 90 \text{ max}$	$\pm 90 \text{ max}$	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):			
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.6	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.		15	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3		9.5	\mathbf{pF}

Class A: Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design Center Values)			
Plate Voitrge		200	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		125	volts
Plate Dissipation		10	watts
Grid-No.2 Input		1.25	watts
TYPICAL OPERATION	Fixed Bias	Cathode Bias	
Plate Supply Voltage	110	200	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	110	125	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-7.5	-	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	7.5	8.0	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		180	ohms
Zero-Signal Plate Current	49	46	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	50	47	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	4	2.2	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	10	8.5	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	13000	28000	ohms
Transconductance	3000	8000	μ mhos
Load Resistance	2000	4000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	10	10	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	2.1	3.8	watts

50X6

Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to chart at end of section.	50Y7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	50Z7G
Refer to chart at end of section.	53
Refer to type 38HK7.	53HK7
Refer to type 12FX5.	60FX5
Refer to chart at end of section.	70L7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	75
Refer to chart at end of section.	78
Refer to chart at end of section.	80
Refer to chart at end of section.	83
Refer to chart at end of section.	84/6Z4
Refer to chart at end of section.	117L7GT/M7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	117N7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	117P7GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	117Z3
Refer to chart at end of section.	117Z4GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	117Z6GT
Refer to chart at end of section.	407A
Refer to chart at end of section.	408A
Refer to chart at end of section.	884
Refer to chart at end of section.	955
Refer to chart at end of section.	959
Refer to chart at end of section.	991
Refer to chart at end of section.	1612
Refer to chart at end of section.	1614
Refer to chart at end of section.	1619
Refer to chart at end of section.	1620
Refer to chart at end of section.	1621
Refer to chart at end of section.	1622
Refer to chart at end of section.	1622
Refer to chart at end of section.	
Never to chart at end of section.	1635



GAS THYRATRON

Glass octal type gas tetrode thyratron for use in relay and grid-controlled-rectifier service. Outlines section, 22; requires octal socket. For maximum ratings and typical operating conditions refer to type 2050A.

	ٽُ ٽِ ٽُ
	⁶ 3 <u>1</u>)0 ⁶²
,	HE TOH
í	

6**B**S

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)		Av. 6.3 0.60	Max. 6.9 0.66	volts ampere
Heating Time, prior to tube conduction	10	—	-	sec
Grid No. 1 to Anode Input Output			0.26 4.2 3.6	pF pF pF



GAS THYRATRON

Glass octal type gas tetrode thyratron for use in relay and grid-controlled-rectifier service. Outlines section, 13C; requires octal socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 ±10% 0.6	volts ampere
Heater negative with respect to cathode	100 max 25 max	volts volts
Minimum heating time prior to tube conduction	10	seconds
Grid No. 1 to anode	0.15	pF
Grid No. 1 to cathode and grid No. 2	2.2	pF
Ionization Time (Approx.);		
For dc anode volts = 100, grid-No. 1 volts (square-wave pulse) = 50, peak anode amperes during conduction = 1	0.5	μs
Deionization Time (Approx.): With dc anode volts = 125, grid-No. 1 volts = -250 , grid-No. 1		
resistor (ohms) = 1000, dc anode amperes = 0.1	50	μs
With dc anode volts = 125, grid-No, 1 volts = -10 , grid-No, 1		μο
resistor (ohms) = 1000, dc anode amperes = 0.1	100	μs
Maximum Critical Grid-No. 1 Current for dc anode supply volts	100	μs
(rms) = 460, average anode amperes = 0.1	0.5	μA
Anode Voltage Drop (Approx.)	8	volts
Grid-No. 1 Control Ratio (Approx.) for grid-No. 1 resistor (ohms)	0	voits
= 0, grid No. 2 connected to cathode at socket	250	
Grid-No. 2 Control Ratio (Approx.) for grid-No. 1 resistor (ohms)	200	
= 0, grid-No. 2 resistor (ohms) $= 0$, grid No. 1 connected to		
cathode at socket	800	
CALINNE AL SUCKEL	AUNI	

Relay and Grid-Controlled Rectifier Service

For anode supply frequency of 60 Hz

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

Peak Anode Voltage:			
Forward	180	650	volts
Inverse	360	1300	volts
Grid-No. 2 (Shield-Grid) Voltage:			
Peak, before tube conduction		-100	volts
Average*, during tube conduction	10	10	volts
Grid-No, 1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:			
Peak, before tube conduction	250	-250	volts
Average*, during tube conduction	-10		volts
Cathode Current:			
Peak	1	1	ampere
Average*	0.2	0.1	ampere
Fault, for duration of 0.1 second maximum	10	10	amperes
			-



6BS

Grid-No. 2 Current: Average* Grid-No. 1 Current:	•	+0.01	ampere
Average*	+0.01	+0.01	ampere °C
Ampient-Temperature Range	-15 10 +90	-15 10 490	Ũ
TYPICAL OPERATION FOR RELAY SERVICE			
RMS Anode Voltage	117	400	volts
Grid No. 2	Con	nected to catho	
RMS Grid-No. 1 Bias Voltage	5	_	volts
DC Grid-No. 1 Voltage		6	volts
Peak Grid-No. 1 Signal Voltage	5	6	volts
Grid-No. 1 Circuit Resistance	1	1	megohm
Anode-Circuit Resistance†	1200	2000	ohms
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No. 1-Circuit Resistance: For average anode current below 0.1 ampere			megohms megohms
For average anode current above 0.1 ampere		4	megonins

* Averaged over any interval of 30 seconds maximum. ▲ Approximately 180° out of phase with the anode voltage. † Sufficient resistance, including the tube load, must be used under any conditions of operation to prevent exceeding the current ratings.

Operating Considerations

The heater is designed to operate on either ac or dc at 6.3 volts. Regardless of the heater-voltage supply used the heater voltage must never be allowed to deviate from its rated range. Heater operation outside of this voltage range will impair tube performance and may cause tube failure. Low heater voltage causes low cathode temperature with resultant cathode sputtering and consequent destruction of the cathode; high heater voltage causes high cathode temperature with resultant heating of the grid and consequent grid emission which produces unpredictable shifts in the critical grid-No. 1 voltage for conduction.

The cathode should be allowed to reach normal operating temperature before anode current is drawn. The delay period should not be less than 10 seconds after application of heater voltage. Unless this recommendation is followed, the cathode will be damaged.



The shield grid (grid No. 2) is normally connected to the cathode at socket. It may, however, be used as a control electrode because the control characteristic of grid No. 1 may be shifted by varying the potential of grid

No. 2. As grid No. 2 is made negative, the grid-No. 1 characteristic is shifted in the positive direction. The use of grid No. 2 as the control electrode (with grid No. 1 connected to cathode at socket) has the advantage of increased sensitivity but consideration must be given to the higher preconduction current, higher capacitance to anode, and less stability of operation.

A grid-No. 1 resistor having a value as high as 10 megohms to give circuit sensitivity can be used with the 2050-A because its control-grid current is very low. However, when a high value of grid resistor is used, care should be taken to keep the tube base and socket clean and dry in order to make the effect of leakage currents between the control-grid base pin and anode base pin very small.

Sufficient anode-circuit resistance, including the tube load, must be used under any conditions of operation to prevent exceeding the current ratings of the tube.

2076/5R4GB	Refer to chart at end of section.		
2076/5R4GYB	For replacement use type 2076/5R4GB.		
2081/6AW8A	Refer to chart at end of section.		
2082/12AY7	Refer to chart at end of section.		
5636	Refer to chart at end of section.		
5639	Refer to chart at end of section.		
5642	Refer to chart at end of section.		

5651A INDUSTRIAL

VOLTAGE-REFERENCE TUBE

Miniature type cold-cathode, glow-discharge voltagereference tube for use in dc power supplies. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

DC Operating Current (Continuous)	3.5	mA
DC Operating Current (Continuous)	1.5	mA
Ambient Temperature Range	55 to 90	°C

CHARACTERISTICS AND OPERATION RANGE VALUES

DC Starting Voltage DC Operating Voltage (Variation from tube to tube):	Min.	Av. 107	Max. 115*	volts
At 1.5 mA	83	85	87	volts
At 2.5 mA	83.5	85.5	87.5	volts
At 3.5 mA	84.5	86.5	88.5	volts
Regulation (1.5 mA to 3.5 mA)		_	3	volts
Temperature coefficient of Operating Voltage (over				
ambient temperature range of -55 to 90°C)		4	_	mV/°C
Percentage Variation of Operating Voltage:				
During first 300 hours of life			0.1	per cent
During subsequent 1000 hours of life			0.1	per cent
Short-term (100 hours)				
Variation of Operating Voltage after first 300				
hours of life			0.05	per cent
Instantaneous Voltage			0.1	. 14
Fluctuation (Voltage jump)†			0.1	volt
CIRCUIT VALUES				
Shunt Capacitor		_	0.02	μF
Series Resistor		ţ		



5**B**O

- * A dc supply voltage of 115 volts minimum should be provided to insure "starting" throughout tube life.
- DC operating current = 2.5 mA.
- After initial 3-minute warm-up period.
- [†] Defined as the maximum instantaneous voltage fluctuation at any current level within the operating current range.
- $3 \text{ A series resistor must always be used with the 5651A. The resistance value must be chosen$ so that (1) the maximum current rating of 3.5 mA is not exceeded at the highest anodesupply voltage employed, and (2) the minimum current rating of 1.5 mA is always exceededwhen the anode-supply voltage is at its lowest value.

Installation and Application

Make no connection to pins 3 and 6. Any potentials applied to these pins may cause erratic tube performance. The three pin terminals for the cathode (pins 2, 4, and 7) and the two for the anode (pins 1 and 5) offer the equipment designer several different possibilities for connection of the 5651A. Any pair of interconnected pins can be used as a jumper connection to a circuit common to either the cathode or to the anode. The use of such a jumper connection provides a means for opening the circuit to protect circuit components when the 5651A is removed from its socket. Under no circumstances should the current through any pair of interconnected pins exceed one ampere.

If the load for the regulated power supply is disconnected either directly or by removing the 5651A from its socket, the rectifier capacitors will charge to the rectifier peak voltage. It is important, therefore, that these capacitors be rated to withstand such voltage.

A warm-up period of 3 minutes should be allowed each time the equipment is turned on to insure minimum voltage drift of the 5651A.

When a shunt capacitor is used with the 5651A, its value should be limited to 0.02 μ F. A large value of capacitance may cause the tube to oscillate and thus give unstable performance.

Shielding should be utilized for the 5651A to insure maximum stability when the tube is operated in the presence of strong rf or magnetic fields.

Refer to chart at end of section.

5651WA



7BD

SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

5654 INDUSTRIAL TYPE

Miniature type sharp-cutoff pentode used in RF and IF broad-band applications at frequencies up to 400 mHz. Outlines section, 5B; requires miniature 7-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	$rac{6.3 \pm 10\%}{0.175}$	volts ampere
Peak value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:	±100	volts
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.020 max. 4.0	pF pF
Output	2.85	pF

▲ With external shield.

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	200	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen) Voltage	155	volts

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input Cathode Current	1.85 0.55 20	watts watt mA
TYPICAL OPERATION AND CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage120Grid-No.2 Voltage120Cathode-Bias Resistor120Plate Resistance (Approx.)0.30Transconductance5000Plate Current7.5Grid-No.2 Current2.5Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A-8.5	180 120 180 0.50 5100 7.7 2.4 8.5	volts volts ohms megohm µmhos mA mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	0.5	megohm
Special Ratings & Performance Data		
SHOCK RATING		
Impact Acceleration	500 max.	g
FATIGUE RATING		
Vibrational Acceleration	2.5 max.	g
HEATER CYCLING LIFE PERFORMANCE		
Cycles of Intermittent Operation	2000 min.	cycles

Refer to chart at end of section.
Refer to chart at end of section.
Refer to chart at end of section.
Refer to chart at end of section.
Refer to chart at end of section.
Refer to chart at end of section.
Refer to chart at end of section.
Refer to chart at end of section.
Refer to chart at end of section.
Refer to chart at end of section.
Refer to chart at end of section.
Refer to chart at end of section.

5696 INDUSTRIAL TYPE

THYRATRON



Miniature type gas-tetrode thyratron for use in counter-circuit relay applications. Outlines section, 5B; requires miniature 7-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.150	volts ampere
Peak +2	25, —100	volts

Cathode: Minimum Heating Time, prior to tube conduction Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	10	seconds
Grid No.1 to Anode Input Output	0.03 1.8 0.54	pF pF pF
Ionization Time (Approx.): For conditions: dc anode volts = 100; grid-No.1 square-pulse	0.54	pr
volts = +50; peak cathode amperes during conduction = 0.150 Deionization Time (Approx.):	0.5	μs
For conditions: dc anode volts = 500; grid-No.1 volts = -100, grid-No.1 resistor (ohms) = 1000; dc cathode amperes = 0.025	25	μs
For conditions: dc anode volts = 500; grid-No.1 volts = -13; grid-No.1 resistor (ohms) = 1000; dc cathode amperes = 0.025	40	μs
Maximum Critical Grid-No.1 Current, with ac anode-supply volts (rms) = 350, and average cathode amperes = 0.025 Anode Voltage Drop (Approx.)	0.5 10	$\mu \mathbf{A}$ volts
Grid-No.1 Control Ratio (Approx.) with grid-No.1 resistor (meg- ohms) = 0; grid-No.2 volts = 0 Grid-No.2 Control Ratio (Approx.) with grid-No.1 volts = 0, grid-	250	
No.2 resistor (ohms) $= 0$	15	

Relay and Grid-Controlled Rectifier Service

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

Peak Anode Voltage:		
Forward	500	volts
Inverse	500	volts
Grid-No.2 (Shield-Grid) Voltage:		
Peak, before anode conduction	50	voits
Average, during anode conduction	10	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		10100
Peak, before anode conduction	-100	volts
Average, during anode conduction	-10	volts
Cathode Current:		VOIts
Peak	100	mA
Average	25	mA
Surge, for duration of 0.1 sec. max.	40	
Grid-No.2 Current:	4	amperes
Average		
Grid-No.1 Current:	5	mA
	-	
Average	5	mA
Ambient Temperature Range	—55 to +90	۰C


TYPICAL OPERATING CONDITIONS FOR RELAY SERVICE

RMS Anode Voltage Grid No.2 Connected RMS Grid-No.1 Bias Voltage□ Peak Grid-No.1 Signal Voltage Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance Anode-Circuit Resistance#	to cathode 5 5	at socket volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	10	megohms

Averaged over any interval of 30 sec. max.
 Approximately 180° out of phase with the anode voltage.
 # Sufficient resistance, including the tube load, must be used under any conditions of operation to prevent exceeding the current ratings.

5696A	Refer to chart at end of section.
5718	Refer to chart at end of section.
5719	Refer to chart at end of section.
5725	Refer to chart at end of section.
5725/6AS6W	Refer to chart at end of section.
5726	Refer to chart at end of section.
5726/6AL5W	Refer to chart at end of section.
5726/6AL5W/ 6097	Refer to chart at end of section.

572

GAS THYRATRON

INDUSTRIAL TYPE

Miniature type "Premium" gas-tetrode thyratron for use in relay, grid-controlled rectifier and pulse-modulator applications. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket.



7BN

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3 ±10%	volts
Heater Current	0.6	ampere
Cathode: Minimum heating time prior to tube conduction Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	20	seconds
Grid No.1 to anode	0.026	pF
Grid No.1 to cathode, grid No.2, and heater	2.4	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
Anode to cathode, grid No.2, and heater	1.6	pF
Ionization Time (Approx.):		
For dc anode volts = 100, grid-No.1 volts (square-wave pulse)		
= 50, peak anode amperes during conduction $=$ 0.5	0.5	μs
Deionization Time (Approx.):		•
For dc anode volts = 125, dc anode amperes = 0.1, grid-No.1		
resistor (ohms) = 1000, and grid-No.1 volts = -100	35	μs
For dc anode volts = 125, dc anode amperes = 0.1 , grid-No.1		
resistor (ohms) = 1000, and grid-No.1 volts = -100	75	μs
Maximum Critical Grid-No.1 Current:		•
For anode-supply volts $(rms) = 460$, and average anode amperes		
= 0.1	0.5	μA
Anode Voltage Drop (Approx.)	8	volts
Grid-No.1 Control Ratio (Approx.) with grid-No.1 resistor (meg-		
(high hold (high hol	250	
Grid-No.2 Control Ratio (Approx.) with grid-No.1 resistor (meg-		
ohms) = 0, grid-No.2 resistor (megohms) = 0, grid-No.1 volts		
= 0	1000	
— •		

Relay and Grid-Controlled Rectifier Service

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

For anode-supply frequency of 60 Hz

Peak Anode Voltage:		
Forward	650	volts
Inverse	1300	volts
Grid-No.2 (Shield-Grid) Voltage:		
Peak, before tube conduction	100	volts
Average [,] , during tube conduction		volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		•••••
Peak, before tube conduction		volts
Average ^a , during tube conduction		volts
Cathode Current:		
Peak	. 0.5	ampere
Average [®]	0.1	ampere
Fault, for duration of 0.1 second max.	. 10	amperes
Grid-No.2 Current:		•
Average	. 10	mA
Grid-No.1 Current:		
Average [®]	. 10	mA
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak	+25100	volts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	150	°C
Ambient Temperature		ъ.
		•
TYPICAL OPERATION FOR RELAY SERVICE		
RMS Anode Voltage 11	7 400	volts
	ò õ	volts
	5 —	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Bias Voltage	6	volts
Peak Grid-No.1 Signal Voltage	5 Ğ	volts
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	ĩĩ	megohm
Anode-Circuit Resistance# 120	o 2000	ohms
120		onnis

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE

Grid-No.1-Circuit	Resistance		10	megohms
-------------------	------------	--	----	---------

Pulse-Modulated Service

For rectangular-wave shapes, duty cycle of 0.001 max., pulse duration of 5 μs max., and pulse-repetition rate of 500 pps max.

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

Peak Anode Voltage:		
Forward	500	volts
Inverse	100	volts
Grid-No.2 (Shield-Grid) Voltage:		
Peak, before tube conduction	50	volts
Average, during tube conduction	10	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		
Peak, before tube conduction	-100	volts
Average, during tube conduction	-10	volts
Cathode Current:		
Peak	10	amperes
Average	10	mA
Rate of change	100	$A/\mu s$
Peak Grid-No.2 Current	20	mA
Peak Grid-No.1 Current	20	mA
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak	± 0	volt
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	150	°C
Ambient Temperature	75	٠Č

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit	Resistance	 0.5	megohm
Grid-No.2-Circuit	Resistance	 25000 max. 2000 min.	ohms ohms

For pulse-modulator service, tolerance is +10%, -5%.
Averaged over any interval of 30 seconds maximum.
Approximately 180° out of phase with the anode voltage.
Sufficient resistance, including the tube load, must be used under any conditions of operation to prevent exceeding the current ratings.

SHOCK RATING		•
Impact Acceleration	750 max.	g
FATIGUE RATING		
Vibrational Acceleration	2.5 max.	g
HEATER-CYCLING LIFE PERFORMANCE		
Cycles of Intermittent Operation	2000 min.	cycles

Special Ratings and Performance Data

Operating Considerations

Sufficient anode-circuit resistance, including the tube load, must be used under any conditions of operation to prevent exceeding the current ratings of the tube.

Curve shown under type 2D21 also applies to type 5727

5734	Refer to chart at end of section.
5749	Refer to chart at end of section.
5749/6BA6W	Refer to chart at end of section.
5750	Refer to chart at end of section.

5751 INDUSTRIAL

HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE

TYPE

Miniature type "Premium" high-mu twin triode used as a phase inverter and as a high gain amplifier in industrial control devices. **Outlines section**, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.



g

minature p-contact socket.		JA	
Heater Arrangement: Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	Series 12.6 ±10% 0.175	Parallel 6.3 ±10% 0.350	volts ampere
Peak	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	± 100 max.	volts

Class A₁ Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid Voltage:	330	volts
Negative-bias value Positive-bias value	55	volts volt
Plate Dissipation Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	0.8 165	watt C
CHARACTERISTICS	105	Ū
Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid Voltage	3 70	volts
Plate Resistance 58000 Transconductance 1200	58000 1200	ohms µmhos
Plate Current 0.9	1.0	mA
Special Datings & Datageners Data		

Special Ratings & Performance Data

SHOCK RATING

Impact A	Acceleration	·····	600 max.
----------	--------------	-------	----------

FATIGUE RATING

Vibrational Acceleration	2.5 max.	g
LOW-FREQUENCY VIBRATION PERFORMANCE		ł
RMS Output Voltage	100 max.	\mathbf{mV}
HEATER-CYCLING LIFE PERFORMANCE		
Cycles of Intermittent Operation	2000 min.	cycles



Refer to chart at end of section.

5751WA



VHF BEAM POWER TUBE

5763 INDUSTRIAL TYPE

Miniature type VHF beam power amplifier for use in low-power mobile transmitters and the low-power stages of larger fixed station transmitters. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)		volts ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak Transconductance for plate current of 45 mA	$\pm 100 \text{ max.} \\ 7000 \\ 16$	volts µmhos
Mu-Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1 Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate	16 0.3 max	pF
Input Output	9.5 4.5	pF pF

Plate-Modulated RF Power Amplifier—Class C Telephony

Carrier conditions per tube for use with a max. modulation factor of 1.0 CCS® ICAS®

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage	250	300	volts
DC Grid-No.3 (Suppressor) Voltage	0	0	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen) Voltage	250	250	volts
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage			volts
DC Plate Current	40	50	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	15	15	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	5	5	mA
Plate Input	10	15	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.5	1.5	watts
Plate Dissipaton	8	12	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	250	250	°C

471

TYPICAL OPERATION UP TO 30 MHz

DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid-No.1 Voltage‡ From a grid resistor of Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage DC Plate Current DC Grid-No.2 Current (Approx.) Driving Power (Approx.)	Connect 250 —39 39000	300 ted to catho 250 	de at socket volts ohms volts mA mA mA watt
Driving Power (Approx.) Useful Power Output (Approx.)	0.05 6.4■	0.15 10■	watt watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	0.1	0.1	megohm

RF Power Amplifier & Oscillator—Class C Telegraphy^o and RF Power Amplifier—Class C FM Telephony

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

	CCS•	ICAS••	
DC Plate Voltage	300	350	volts
DC Grid-No.3 (Suppressor) Voltage	0	0	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen) Voltage	250	250	volts
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		-125	volts
DC Plate Current	50	50	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	15	15	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	5	5	mA
Plate Input	15	17	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2	2	watts
Plate Dissipation	12	13.5	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	250	250	°C

TYPICAL OPERATION UP TO 30 MHz

DC Plate Voltage	300	350	
Grid No.3	Connect	ted to catho	de at socket
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	250	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage [®]	-28.5	28.5	volts
From a grid resistor of	18000	18000	ohms
Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	37.5	37	volts
DC Plate Current	50	48.5	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	6.6	6.2	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	1.6	1.6	mA
Driving Power (Approx.)	0.1	0.1	watts
Useful Power Output (Approx.)	10.3	12	watts

TYPICAL OPERATION AT 50 MHz

			volts
Grid No.3	Connected	to cathode	at socket
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	250		volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage [®]	60		volts
From a grid resistor of			ohms
Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	80		volts
DC Plate Current	50		mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current			mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	3		mA
Driving Power (Approx.)	0.35		watt
Useful Power Output (Approx.)	7	-	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE			

Frequency Multiplier

MAXIMUM CCS• RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage	300	volts
DC Grid-No.3 (Suppressor) Voltage	0	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen) Voltage	250	volts
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-125	volts
DC Plate Current	50	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	15	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	5	mA
Plate Input	15	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2	watts
Plate Dissipation	12	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	250	°C



TYPICAL OPERATION

	Doubler to 175 MHz		
DC Plate Voltage	. 300	300	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage		to cathode	at socket volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage [⊕]	75		volts
From grid resistor of		100000	ohms
Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	. 95	120	volts
DC Plate Current		35	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	. 4	5	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	. 1	ĩ	mA
Driving Power (Approx.)	0.6	0.6	watt
Useful Power Output (Approx.)	. 2.1	1.3	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE (For maximum rated conditions)

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance 0.1 0 1 megohm ‡ Obtained preferably from a separate source modulated with the plate supply, or from the

- modulated plate supply through a series resistor. * Obtained from grid-No.1 resistor or from a combination of grid-No.1 resistor with either fixed supply or cathode resistor.
- \Box Key down conditions per tube without amplitude modulation. Modulation essentially negative may be used if the positive peak of the audio-frequency envelope does not exceed 115%of the carrier conditions.
- Obtained from a fixed supply, or by a grid-No.1 resistor of value shown.

This value of useful power is measured at load of output circuit. Continuous Commercial Service.

Obtained from plate supply of 300 volts through a series resistor of 12500 ohms.

Refer to chart at end of section.



MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature type "Premium" medium-mu twin triode used in a wide variety of applications including mixers, oscillators, multivibrators and synchronizing amplifiers in industrial control equipment. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

5783

5814A

INDUSTRIAL TYPE

Heater Arrangement	Series	Parallel	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	$12.6 \pm 10\%$	6.3 ±10%	volts
Heater Current	0.175	0.350	ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage:			-
	土100 max	$\pm 100 \text{ max}$	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.)	Unit No.	1 Unit No. 2	
Grid to Plate	1.5	1.5	pF
Grid to Cathode and Heater	1.6	1.6	pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater	0.5	0.4	pF

Class A1 Amplifier (Each Unit Unless Otherwise Specified)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		•
Plate Voltage Cathode Current	330 22	volts mA
Plate Dissipation: Each Plate Both Plates (Both units operating) Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	$3.0 \\ 6.0 \\ 165$	watts watts °C
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage 100 Grid Voltage 0 Amplification Factor 19.5 Plate Resistance (Approx) 6250	$250 \\ -8.5 \\ 17 \\ 7700$	volts volts ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.) 6250 Transconductance 3100 Plate Current 11.8 Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A —	2200 10.5 22	μmhos mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.25 1	megohm megohm



TYPICAL OPERATION AS RESISTANCE-COUPLED AMPLIFIER See RESISTANCE-COUPLED AMPLIFIER CHART type 12AU7A conditions

Special Ratings & Performance Data

SHOCK RATING Impact Acceleration	600 max.	g
FATIGUE RATING Vibrational Acceleration	2.5 max.	g
LOW-FREQUENCY VIBRATION PERFORMANCE RMS Output Voltage	100 max.	mV
HEATER-CYCLING LIFE PERFORMANCE Cycles of Intermittent Operation	2000 min.	cycles
AUDIO-FREQUENCY NOISE AND MICROPHONIC PERFORMANCE RMS Output Voltage	100 max.	mV

5814WA

Refer to chart at end of section.



GLOW-DISCHARGE TRIODE



INDUSTRIAL TYPE

100

-60 to +75

5879

Miniature type, cold-cathode, glow discharge triode for use primarily as a relay control tube in "on-off" low current electrical circuits. Outlines section. 5C: requires miniature 7-contact socket.

MAXIMUM RATINGSA (Absolute-Maximum Values)

For First-Quadrant Operation Only Peak Anode and Starter-Electrode Voltage: 200 Inverse Forward 200 Cathode Current: Peak 100 Average* 25 Peak Starter-Electrode Current:

TYPICAL OPERATING CONDITIONS For Relay Service with 60-Hz Supply

With starter-electrode voltage positive Ambient Temperature

AC Anode Supply Voltage (RMS) 117 volts Starter-Electrode Voltage: Starter-Electrode voltage: Max. Peak Positive Pre-Firing Voltage Min. Peak Positive Triggering Voltage Min. Firing Voltage (Sum of In-Phase Instantaneous Pre-Firing 70 volts 35 volts Voltage and Instantaneous Triggering Voltage) 105 volts

▲ These ratings apply to the 5823 when it is operated from a power supply having a fre-quency of 60 Hz. * Averaged over any interval of 15 seconds max.

Refer to chart at end of section.	5824
Refer to chart at end of section.	5840
Refer to chart at end of section.	5840W
Refer to chart at end of section.	5842/417A
Refer to chart at end of section.	5844
Refer to chart at end of section.	5847/404A



SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used as audio amplifier in the input stages of medium-gain public-address systems, home sound recorders, and audio systems. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For operation as resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section.

Heater Voltage (sc/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	6.3 0.15 ±100 max	volts ampere volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Pentode Connection:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.11 max	nF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	2.7	pF pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	2.4	pF
Triode Connection*:		P-
Grid No.1 to Plate	1.4	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode and Heater	1.4	$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{F}$
Plate to Cathode and Heater	0.85	pF
* Cuid No. 9 and and No. 9 annual 14 14		

* Grid No.2 and grid No.3 connected to plate.

volts

volts

mA

mA

mA

or

	Class	Α,	Am	pl	ifier
--	-------	----	----	----	-------

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Value Plate_Voltage	s) C	Triode onnection* 275	Pentode Connection 330	
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage				volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		See	curve page 300 330	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:				
Negative-bias value		55	55	volts
Positive-bias value		0	0	volts
Plate Dissipation		1.7	1.25	watts
Grid-No.2 Input:				
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts			0.25	watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165		See	curve page 300	ware
and 300 volts			tarre page coo	
CHARACTERISTICS				
Plate Voltage	100	250	250	volts
Grid No.3			onnected to catho	
Grid-No.2 Voltage			100	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	3		-3	volts
Amplification Factor	21	21	_	10105
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.017	0.0137	2	megohms
Transconductance	1240	1530	1000	μmhos
Plate Current	2.2	5.5	1.8	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		0.0	0.4	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate			0.4	шА
current of 10 μ A		_	8	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE				
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance			2.2	megohms

* Grid No.2 and grid No.3 connected to plate.



5881	Refer to chart at end of section.
5896	Refer to chart at end of section.
5899	Refer to chart at end of section.
5902	Refer to chart at end of section.
5915	Refer to chart at end of section.

5963 INDUSTRIAL TYPE

MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature type medium-mu twin triode used for "on-off" control applications involving long periods of operation under cutoff conditions. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.



Heater Arrangement Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	Series 12.6 ±10% 0.15	Parallel 6.3 ±10% 0.30	volts ampere
Peak value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	±90 max.	±90 max.	volts
Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater Grid of Unit No.1 to grid of Unit No.2	1.5 1.9 0.5	1 Unit No. 2 1.5 1.9 0.35).1 max.	pF pF pF pF

Frequency Divider in Computer Service and "On-Off" Control Service Values are for Each Unit

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid Voltage:		
Negative bias value	100	volts
Positive bias value	0	volt
Peak negative value	200	volts
Plate Dissipation	2.5	watts
Grid Input	0.5	watt
Cathode Current:	100	mA
Peak	20	mA
	$\pm 90 \text{ max}.$	volts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	120	°C

TYPICAL OPERATION AS FREQUENCY HALFER

Plate-Supply Voltage Grid Voltage Plate-Circuit Resistance Grid-Circuit Resistance Plate Current	$-15 \\ 20000 \\ 47000$	Zero-Bias Condition 150 0 20000 47000 5.1	volts volts ohms ohms mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation		0.5	megohm

Class A. Amplier (Each Unit)

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	67.5	volts
Grid Voltage	0	volts
Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.)	21	,
Transconductance	$6600 \\ 3200$	ohms µmhos
Plate Current	3200	μmnos mA
	0.0	inA

Refer to chart at end of section.



MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE



5964

Miniature type medium-mu twin triode used for "on-off" control applications involving long periods of operation under cutoff conditions. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Arrangement Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	Series 12.6 ±10% 0.225	Parallel 6.3 ±10% 0.45	volts ampere
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max.} \\ \pm 100 \text{ max.}$	±200 max.	volts
Average value		±100 max.	volts

GI(3

н(s

6CO

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.) Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater Plate of Unit No.1 to plate of Unit No.2	Unit No. 3.0 3.8 0.5 0.	3.0 3.8 0.38	io. 2 pF pF pF pF
Frequency Divider in Computer and "On-Off" Control Servi Values are for Each Unit			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)		330	volts
Plate Voltage		330	voits
Negative bias value		150	volts
Plate Dissipation		2.4	watts
Total for both units		4.4	watts
DC Cathode Current		16.5	mA °C
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	• • • • • • •	165	-0
TYPICAL OPERATION IN COMPUTER SERVICE			
	Cutoff Condition	Conduction Condition	
Plate Supply Voltage	Condition 150	Condition 150	n volts
Plate Load Resistor	Condition	Condition 150 7200	n volts ohms
Plate Load Resistor Plate Current	Condition 150 7200	Condition 150 7200 10.5	n volts ohms mA
Plate Load Resistor Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for grid current of 140 μA	Condition 150 7200	Condition 150 7200 10.5	n volts ohms mA than 1 volt
Plate Load Resistor Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for grid current of 140 μA Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 150 μA	Condition 150 7200	Condition 150 7200 10.5	n volts ohms mA
Plate Load Resistor Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for grid current of 140 μA	Condition 150 7200	Condition 150 7200 10.5	n volts ohms mA than 1 volt
 Plate Load Resistor Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for grid current of 140 μA Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 150 μA Difference in Grid Voltage Between Units (For plate current of 150 μA per unit) 	Condition 150 7200 	Condition 150 7200 10.5	n volts ohms mA than 1 volt volts
 Plate Load Resistor Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for grid current of 140 μA Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 150 μA Difference in Grid Voltage Between Units (For plate current of 150 μA per unit) MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES 	Condition 150 7200 	Condition 150 7200 10.5	n volts ohms mA than 1 volt volts
Plate Load Resistor Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for grid current of 140 μ A Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 150 μ A Difference in Grid Voltage Between Units (For plate current of 150 μ A per unit) MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance:	Condition 150 7200 	Condition 150 7200 10.5	n volts ohms mA than 1 volt volts
 Plate Load Resistor Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for grid current of 140 μA Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 150 μA Difference in Grid Voltage Between Units (For plate current of 150 μA per unit) MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES 	Condition 150 7200 	Condition 150 7200 10.5 less	n volts ohms mA than 1 volt volts
 Plate Load Resistor Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for grid current of 140 μA Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 150 μA Difference in Grid Voltage Between Units (For plate current of 150 μA per unit) MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation 	Condition 150 7200 	Condition 150 7200 10.5 less 	n volts ohms mA than 1 volt volts volts megohm
 Plate Load Resistor Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for grid current of 140 μA Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 150 μA Difference in Grid Voltage Between Units (For plate current of 150 μA per unit) MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-biss operation 	Condition 150 7200 	Condition 150 7200 10.5 less 	n volts ohms mA than 1 volt volts volts megohm

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor	$150 \\ 220$	volts ohms
Amplification Factor	47	
Plate Resistance	7250	ohms
Transconductance	6500	μ mhos
Plate Current	8.2	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 150 μ A		volts

6005	Refer	to	chart	at	end	of	section.
6005/6AQ5W	Refer	to	chart	at	end	of	section.
6005/6AQ5W/ 6095	Refer	to	chart	at	end	of	section.

6012

GAS THYRATRON

INDUSTRIAL TYPE

Glass octal negative-control gas-tetrode thyratron for use in relay and grid-controlled rectifier applications. Outlines section, 36; requires octal socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	Min. 5.7	Av. 6.3	Max. 6.9 volts
Heater Current		2.6	2.85 amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak		125	-100 max. volts
Cathode:		• •	
Minimum heating time prior to tube conduction		30) seconds
Maximum outage time without reheating Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		ł	i seconds
Grid No.1 to Anode		0.23	
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Grid No.2, and Heater		5.1	
Anode to Cathode, Grid No.2, and Heater		3.9	9 pF

 Ionization Time (Approx.): For conditions: dc anode volts = 100, grid-No.2 volts = 0, grid-No.1 square-pulse volts = +50, and peak anode amperes during conduction = 5 Deionization Time (Approx.) Maximum Critical Grid-No.1 Current: For conditions: ac anode-supply volts = 460 (rms), and average anode amperes = 0.5 Anode Voltage Drop (Approx.): Grid-No.1 Control Ratio (Approx.): For conditions: grid-No.1 resistor (megohms) = 0, grid-No.2 resistor (megohms) = 0, and grid-No.2 volts = 0 Grid-No.2 Control Ratio (Approx.): For conditions: grid-No.1 resistor (megohms) = 0, grid-No.2 resistor (megohms) = 0, and grid-No.2 volts = 0 	0.5 10 150 650	See Table I μA volts
Relay and Grid-Controlled Rectifier Servi For Anode-Supply Frequency of 60 Hz MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)	ce	
Peak Anode Voltage: Forward Inverse Grid-No.2 (Shield-Grid) Voltage:	650 1300	volts volts
Peak, before tube conduction Average#, during tube conduction Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:	$-100 \\ -10$	volts volts
Peak, before tube conduction Average#, during tube conduction Cathode Current: Peak	200 10 5	volts volts amperes
Average# Fault, for duration of 0.1 second max. Average Grid-No.2 Current# Average Grid-No.1 Current# Ambient-Temperature Range	0.5 20 +0.05 +0.05 -75 to +9	ampere amperes ampere ampere
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance # Averaged over any interval of 30 seconds maximum.	2	megohms

OPERATIONAL RANGE OF CRITICAL GRID-NoI VOLTAGE TYPE 6012 GRID-No2 (SHIELD) VOLTS=0 RANGES SHOWN ARE FOR TWO VALUES OF GRID-NOI RESISTOR, OI MEG. AND 2 MEG. AND TAKE INTO ACCOUNT INITIAL DIFFERENCES BETWEEN INDIVIDUAL TUBES AND SUBSCOUENT DIFFERENCES DURING TUBE LIFE. FOR HEATER-VOLTAGE RANGE OF 5.7 TO 490°C. AND FOR AN AMBIENT TEMPERATURE RANGE OF FROM -75° TO +90°C. RANGE FOR RANGE FOR COLMEGOHM RANGE FOR 2 MEGOHMS 800 CON-DUCTING E VOLTS (RMS - 60 Hz) 0 0 0 CRITICAL NON-CONDUCTING AC ANODE 200 ٥ -16 -12 -8 0 - 4 DC GRID-Nai SUPPLY VOLTS 92C5-7748T1

479

DC Anode Volts	125		25	iO	R _{g1}	E _{CC1}	R _{\$2} *	Ecc.,
DC Anode Amperes	0.5	1.0	0.5	1.0	ΜΩ	volts	ohms	volts
DEIONIZATION TIME	175 350 650	225 375 700		275 475 1200	0.001 0.1 2	-13	1000	0
μS (Approx.)	100 125 250	125 150 275	100 150 275	125 175 300	0.001 0.1 2	100	1000	0

Table 1

* Series resistor between grid No.2 and cathode.

6021	Refer to chart at end of section.
6072	Refer to chart at end of section.
6072A	Refer to chart at end of section.
6073	Refer to chart at end of section.
6073/0A2	Refer to chart at end of section.
6074	Refer to chart at end of section.
6074/0B2	Refer to chart at end of section.

6080

INDUSTRIAL TYPE

LOW-MU TWIN POWER TRIODE



8BD

Glass octal type used as a regulator tube in dc power supply units and in projection television booster scanning applications. **Outlines section**, 36; requires octal socket.

Heater Voltage Heater Current	6.3 ±10% 2.5	volts amperes
Heater-Cathode Voltage:# Peak	1.000	••
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.)	±300 max.	volts
Grid to Plate (each unit)	8	υF
Input (each unit)	6	pF
Output (each unit)	2.2	pF
Heater to Cathode (each unit)	11	pF
Grid of Unit No.1 to Grid of Unit No.2	0.5	pF
Plate of Unit No.1 to Plate of Unit No.2	2	pF

Class A₁ Amplifier (Each Unit)

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate-Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor	$135 \\ 250$	volts ohms
Amplification Factor	2 280	ohms
Transconductance	$7000 \\ 125$	µmhos mA

DC Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	250	volts
Plate Current	125	mA
Plate Dissipation	13	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	200	°C

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-Circuit Resistance:		
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm
For fixed-bias operation	0.1	megohr
For combined fixed and cathode-bias operation*	0.1	megohm

Booster Scanning Service (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

For operation in a 525-line, 30-frame system

Peak Negative-Pulse Plate Voltage	3000	volts
Peak Negative-Pulse Grid Voltage DC Plate Current	$2300 \\ 125$	volts mA
Plate Dissipation	13	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES (For maximum rated conditions)

Grid-Circuit Resistance: For cathode-bias operation For fixed-bias operation	1 megohm not recommended
U When fixed bias is used, the plate circuit should contain a protective	resistance to provide

when need to be the other international operations a provide the provide the provide a minimum drop of 15 volts de at the normal operating conditions.
* When combined fixed- and cathode-bias is used, the cathode-bias portion should have a minimum value of 7.5 volts de at the normal operating conditions.
• Pulse duration must not exceed 15 per cent of one horizontal scanning cycle (10 micro-

seconds).

Operation of this tube is not recommended with a damper pulse between heater and cathode.

Special Ratings & Performance Data

SHOCK RATING

Impact Acceleration	450 max.	g
FATIGUE RATING Vibrational Acceleration	2.5 max.	g
LOW-FREQUENCY VIBRATION PERFORMANCE		
RMS Output Voltage	200 max.	mV



Refer to chart at end of section.	6080WA
Refer to chart at end of section.	6082
Refer to chart at end of section.	6101
Refer to chart at end of section.	6101/6J6WA
Refer to chart at end of section.	6111

6112	Refer to chart at end of section.
6136	Refer to chart at end of section.
6186	Refer to chart at end of section.
6186/6AG5WA	Refer to chart at end of section.
6186W	Refer to chart at end of section.
6189	Refer to chart at end of section.
6197	Refer to chart at end of section.

6201

STRIAL HI

HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE

INDUSTRIAL TYPE

Miniature type used in mixer, oscillator, and amplifier applications at frequencies up to 300 MHz. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For typical operation as a resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section, type 12AT7 conditions.



Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid-Drive Operation:		Parallel 6.3 0.3 ±100 max.	volts ampere volts
Grid to Plate (Each unit) Grid to Cathode and Heater (Each unit) Plate to Cathode and Heater:		$\begin{array}{c} 1.6 \\ 2.5 \end{array}$	pF pF
Unit No.1 Unit No.2 Heater to Cathode (Each unit) Cathode-Drive Operation:		$0.45 \\ 0.38 \\ 2.8$	pF pF pF
Cathode to Plate (Unit No.1) Cathode to Plate (Unit No.2) Cathode to Grid and Heater (Each unit) Plate to Grid and Heater (Unit No.1) Plate to Grid and Heater (Unit No.2)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	$0.2 \\ 0.24 \\ 5 \\ 1.9 \\ 1.8$	PF PF PF PF
Class A1 Amplifier (Each	Unit)		-
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)			
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage:		330	volts
Negative bias value Positive bias value Plate Dissipation Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)		55 0 2.75 180	volts volt watts °C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		0.25 1.0	megohm megohm
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor	$100 \\ 270 \\ 57$	250 200 60	volts ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	14300 4000 5	10900 5500 —12	ohms µmhos volts
Plate Current	3.3	10	mA

SHOCK BATING



Special Ratings & Performance Data

600 max.	ĸ
2.5 max.	g
100 max.	mV
2000 min.	cycles
100 max.	mV
6202	
6206	
6211	
6336A	
6350	
6360 6360A	
6386	
6417	
6485	
	2.5 max. 100 max. 2000 min. 100 max. 6202 6206 6211 6336A 6336A 6350 6360A 6386 6417



BEAM POWER TUBE

6550 INDUSTRIAL

Glass octal type used in the output stages of highfidelity audio amplifiers. **Outlines section**, 27C; requires octal socket. This tube should be adequately ventilated.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage:	$6.3 \\ 1.6$	volts amperes
Heater negative with respect to cathode	300 max. 200* max.	volts volts

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid No.1 to plate		0.85	pF
Grid No.1 to plate Grid No.1 to cathode and grid No.3, grid No.2, bas	se sleeve	0.85	pr
and heater		14.0	υF
Plate to cathode & grid No.3, grid No.2, base sleeve, an	nd heater	12.0	pF
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:			
For fixed-bias operation		0.05	megohm
For cathode-bias operation		0.25	megohm
Class A ₁ AF Power Ampli	ifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Des.gn-Center Values)			
Plate Voltage		600	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		400	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		100	
Negative-bias value		300	volts
Positive-bias value		0	volt
Cathode Current		175	mA
Grid-No.2 Input		6	watts
Plate Dissipation		35	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	· · · · · · · · ·	250	°C
TYPICAL OPERATION AND CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage	250	400	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	225	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	14	-16.5	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	14	16.5	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	140	87	mA
MaxSignal Plate Current	150	105	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	12	.4	mA
MaxSignal Grid-No.2 Current Plate Resistance (Approx.)	28 12000	$\frac{18}{27000}$	mA ohms
	11000	9000	µmhos
Load Resistance	1500	3000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	7	13.5	%
MaxSignal Power Output	12.5	20	watts

Class A₁ Push-Pull AF Power Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values) Same as for Class A1 AF POWER AMPLIFIER

TYPICAL OPERATION AND CHARACTERISTICS

Values are for 2	2 tubes			
		xed ias	Cathode Bias	
Plate Supply Voltage	400	600	400	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	275	300	300	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	23	31	_	volts
Cathode Resistor		_	140	ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	46	62	53	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	180	115	166	mA
MaxSignal Plate Current	270	273	190	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	9	4	7.5	mA
MaxSignal Grid-No.2 Current	44	41	39	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate to plate)	3500	5000	4500	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	3	2.5	4	%
MaxSignal Power Output	55	100	41	watts
* The dc component must not exceed 100 vlots.				

6626/0A2WA

Refer to chart at end of section.

6660/6BA6

Refer to chart at end of section.

6661/6BH6

SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

INDUSTRIAL TYPE

Miniature type used as an rf amplifier particularly in mobile equipment where low heater-current drain is important. It is particularly useful in high-frequency, wide-band applications. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	0.15	ampere
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances : Grid No.1 to Plate	0.0035 max.	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	5.4	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and Internal Shield	4.4	\mathbf{pF}

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	330 volts See curve page 300 330 volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:	
Negative-bias value	55 volts
Positive-bias value	0 volt
Plate Dissipation	3.3 watts
Grid-No.2 Input:	
For Grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts	0.55 watt
For Grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 300 volts	See curve page 300

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	250 v	olts
Grid No.3	Connected to cathode at soc	
Grid-No.2 Voltage		olts
Cathode Resistor		hms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	1.4 mego	
Transconductance		nhos
Plate Current		mA
Grid-No.2 Current		mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	····· —7.7 v	olts
TRANSCONDUCTANCE AT REDUCED HEATER VOLTAGE		

Average Value With heater volts = 5, plate supply volts = 250, grid No.3 con-nected to cathode at socket, grid-No.2 supply volts = 150, and cathode resistor (ohms) bypassed = 100. 3600 p mhos

Refer to chart at end of section.	6662/6BJ6
Refer to chart at end of section.	6663/6AL5
Refer to chart at end of section.	6664/6AB4

ଚିତ୍ର 7BZ

BEAM POWER TUBE

6669/ 6AQ5A INDUSTRIAL

TYPE

Miniature type used as output amplifier primarily in mobile communications equipment. Outlines section, 5D; requires miniature 7-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater Warm-up Time (Average) Heater-Cathode Voltage:	0.45	volts ampere seconds
Peak value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	± 100 max.	volts
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3 Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	$ \begin{array}{r} 0.4 \\ 8 \\ 8.5 \end{array} $	pF pF pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	250 250 12 2 225	volts volts watts watts °C
TYPICAL OPERATION AND CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage Zero-Signal Plate Current MaxSignal Plate Current Max.Signal Grid-No.2 Current Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Load Resistance Total Harmonic Distortion MaxSignal Power Output	$\begin{array}{c} 250\\ 250\\ -12.5\\ 12.5\\ 45\\ 47\\ 4.5\\ 7\\ 52000\\ 4100\\ 5000\\ 8\\ 4.5 \end{array}$	volts volts volts mA mA mA ohms μmhos ohms % watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.1 0.5	megohm megohm

Class AB, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Class A1 Amplifier)

TYPICAL PUSH-PULL OPERATION

Unless otherwise specified, values are for 2 tubes

Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	15	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	30	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	70	mA
MaxSignal Plate Current		mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current		mA
MaxSignal Grid-No.2 Current		mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate to plate)	10000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	5	%
MaxSignal Power Output	10	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES (Same as for Class A1 Amplifier)

POWER OUTPUT AT REDUCED HEATER VOLTAGE

Average Value4.1With heater volts = 5, plate volts = 250, grid-No.2 volts = 250,
grid-No.1 volts = -12.5, rms signal volts = 8.8, and load
resistance (ohms) = 5000.

6676/6	CB6A
--------	------

Refer	to	chart	at	end	of	section.
Refer	to	chart	at	end	of	section.
Refer	to	chart	at	end	of	section.

6679/12AT7

6677/6CL6 6678/6U8A

HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE

INDUSTRIAL TYPE

Miniature type used as a mixer, oscillator or amplifier in mobile communications equipment. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For typical operation as a resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to **Resistance-Coupled Amplifier** section, type 12AT7 conditions.



watts

	Series 12.6 ±20%).15	Parallel 6.3 ±20% 0.3 ±100 max.	volts ampere volts
Grid to Plate (Each unit) Grid to Cathode and Heater (Each unit) Plate to Cathode and Heater;	· · · · · · · · · · · ·	1.5 2.2	pF pF
Unit No.1 Unit No.2 Cathode-Drive Operation:		0.5 0.4	pF pF
Cathode to Plate (Each unit) Cathode to Grid and Heater (Each unit) Plate to Grid and Heater (Each unit) Heater to Cathode (Each unit)		0.2 4.6 1.8 2.4	рҒ рҒ рҒ рҒ
Class A. Amplifier (Each MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Unit)		
Plate Voltage		330	volts
Negative bias value Positive bias value Plate Dissipation		55 0 2.8	volts volt watts
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Supply Voltage Cathode-Bias Resistor Amplification Factor		250 200 60	volts ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μA Plate Current		$ \begin{array}{r} 10900 \\ 5500 \\ 12 \\ 10 \end{array} $	ohms µmhos volts mA
TRANSCONDUCTANCE AT REDUCED HEATER VOLTAGE			
Average Value (Each unit) With heater volts = 10 (Series connection), plate sup = 250, and cathode resistor (ohms) bypassed = 200.	ply volts	4400	μmhos



MEDIUM-MU TWIN TRIODE





Miniature type used as a phase inverter or push-pull amplifier in mobile communications equipment. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For typical operation as a resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section, type 12AU7A conditions.

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Heater Arrangement Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	Unit No. 1 1.5 1.6	Parallel 6.3 ±20% 0.3 ±200 max. 100 max. Unit No. 2 1.5 1.6 0.32	volts ampere volts volts pF pF pF
Class A, Amplifier (Each Unit Unless	Otherwise S	Specified)	
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid Voltage, positive-bias value Plate Dissipation: Each Plate Both Plates (Both units operating)		330 0 3 6	volts volt watts watts
CHARACTERISTICS			
Plate Voltage Grid Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 μ A	0 20 6500 3100 11.8	250 8.5 17 7700 2200 10.5 24	volts volts µmhos mA volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		0.25 1	megohm megohm
TRANSCONDUCTANCE AT REDUCED HEATER VOLTAG Average Value (Each unit) With heater volts = 10 (Series connection), plate and grid volts = -8.5.		1750	μ mh os



HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE

INDUSTRIAL TYPE

Miniature type used as a phase inverter or twin resistance-coupled amplifier in mobile communications equipment. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9contact socket. For typical operation as a resistancecoupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section, type 12AX7A conditions.



	Series 12.6 ±20% 0.15	Parallel 6.3 ±20% 0.3	volts ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage: Peak value Average value Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		±200 max. 100 max. Unit No. 2	volts volts
Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode and Heater Plate to Cathode and Heater	$\begin{array}{c} 1.7 \\ 1.6 \end{array}$	1.7 1.6 0.34	рF pF pF

Class A1 Amplifier (Each Unit)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	330	volts
Negative-bias value	55	volts volt
Positive-bias value Plate Dissipation	1.1	watts

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage Grid Voltage Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current	$ \begin{array}{r} 100 \\ 1 \\ 100 \\ 80000 \\ 1250 \\ 0.5 \end{array} $	$ \begin{array}{r} 250 \\ 2 \\ 100 \\ 62500 \\ 1600 \\ 1.2 \end{array} $	volts volts ohms µmhos mA
Refer to chart at end of section.		668	6
Refer to chart at end of section.	6688A		
Refer to chart at end of section.	6887		
Refer to chart at end of section.		6922/E	88CC



TWIN-POWER PENTODE

Miniature type twin power-pentode intended for use in communications equipment as a push-pull rf poweramplifier or frequency-multiplier at frequencies up to 500 MHz. **Outlines section**, 6E; requires miniature 9contact socket.

Heater arrangement Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	Series 12.6 ±10%	$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{Parallel} \\ \textbf{6.3} \pm 10\% \\ \textbf{0.6} \end{array}$	volts ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage			volts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)			°Č
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx., Each Unit)			-
Grid No.1 to Plate		0.15	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode & Grid No.3, Grid No.2, and He		6.4	pF
Plate to Cathode & Grid No.3, Grid No.2, and Heat		1.6	pF
Transconductance (Each Unit) for dc plate volts = 15 No.2 volts = 150, and dc plate mA = 25 Mu-Factor, grid No.2 to grid No.1 (Each Unit) for dc		10500	μ mhos
= 150, dc grid No.2 volts $=$ 150, and dc plate mA $=$		31	

Push-Pull RF Amplifier & Oscillator—Class C Telegraphy® and Push-Pull RF Power Amplifier—Class C FM Telephony

Values are on a per-tube basis unless otherwise specified

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

	Up to a		
	CCS*	ICAS+	
DC Plate Voltage	250	250	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	200	200	volts
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	100	-100	volts
DC Plate Current	90	100	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	6	8	mA
DC Cathode Current	190	120	mA
Plate Input	12	14	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3	3.5	watts
Grid-No.1 Input	0.2	0.24	watt
Plate Dissipation	6	7.5	watts
TYPICAL OPERATION			
	At 50) MHz	

		00 MIIII	
DC Plate Voltage	180	200	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	180	200	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage	20	20	volts
From grid resistor for each grid No.1 of	27000	27000	ohms
Peak-to-Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	50	50	volts
DC Plate Current		60	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	12.5	14	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	1.5	1.5	mA
Driver Power Output (Approx.)	1.2	1.2	watts
Useful Power Output (Approx.)	5	6	watts

489

693

INDUSTRIAL

In to 500 MHz

Plate-Modulated Push-Pull RF Power Amplifier—Class C Telephony Carrier conditions per tube for use with a maximum modulation factor of 1 Values are on a per-tube basis

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

	CCS*	ICAS•	
DC Plate Voltage	200	200	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	200	200	volts
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	100		volts
DC Plate Current	64	80	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	6	8	mA
DC Cathode Current	80	96	mA
Plate Input	8	10	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2	2.3	watts
Grid-No.1 Input	0.2	0.24	watt
Plate Dissipation	4	5	watts

TYPICAL OPERATION

		00 MHz	
DC Plate Voltage	180	180	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	180	180	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage	20	-20	volts
From grid resistor for each grid No.1 of	68000	27000	ohms
Peak-to-Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	45	50	volts
DC Plate Current	40	55	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	9.5	12.5	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	0.6	1.5	mA
Driver Power Output (Approx.)	1	1.2	watts
Useful Power Output (Approx.)	3.5	5	watts

Frequency Tripler-Class C

Values are on a per-tube basis

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

	Upt	o 500 MHz	
	CCS*	ICAS+	
DC Plate Voltage	250	250	volts
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	200	200	volts
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		-100	volts
DC Plate Current	60	80	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	6	8	mA
DC Cathode Current	70	80	mA
Plate Input	8	10	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3	3.5	watts
Grid-No.1 Input	0.2	0.24	watt
Plate Dissipation	6	7.5	watts



TYPICAL OPERATION

	Up to	o 500 MHz	
DC Plate Voltage	180	200	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage (Approx.)	180	190	volts
Through resistor of	1200	1200	ohms
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage	74	74	volts
From grid resistor for each grid No.1 of	82000	82000	ohms
Peak-to-Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	165	165	volts
DC Plate Current	40	46	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	9.7	11	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	1.8	1.8	mA
Driver Power Output (Approx.)	1.1	1.1	watts
Useful Power Output (Approx.) •	1.8	2.2	watts

• Key-down conditions per tube without amplitude modulation. Amplitude modulation essentially negative may be used if the positive peak of the audio-frequency envelope does not exceed 115% of the carrier conditions.

* Continuous Commercial Service.

• Intermittent Commercial and Amateur Service.

• This value of useful power is measured at load of output circuit.



BEAM POWER TUBE

6973

Miniature type used as power amplifier in compact high-fidelity audio equipment. Outlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:					$\substack{\textbf{6.3}\\\textbf{0.45}}$	volts ampere
Peak value Average value					±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid-No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid Plate to Cathode Heater, Grid No	No.2,	and G	rid No	.3	0.4 max 9 6	рF pF pF
Clas	ss A,	Ampl	ifier			
CHARACTERISTICS	•	•				
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage					250 250	volts volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Plate Resistance (Approx.)					-15 73000	volts
Transconductance Plate Current					4800	μ mhos mA
Grid-No.2 Current Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate	curren	t of 1	00 μ A		3.5 40	mA volts
Push-Pull			•			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum						
Plate Voltage					440	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage					330	volts
Plate Dissipation					12	watts
Grid-No.2 Input					2 250	watts °C
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point) . TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for t			•••••		290	U
TIFICAL OFERATION (Values are for t		Fixed B	ting	Cath	ode Bias	
Plate Supply Voltage	250	350	400	300	310	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	250	280	290	300	310	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-15	-22	-25			volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		—	—	230	270	ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to- Grid-No.1 Voltage	30	44	50	48	55	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	92	58	50	80	77	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	105	106	107	96	92	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	7	3.5	2.5	6	5	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	16	14	13.7	14	14	mA
Effective Load Resistance						
(Plate-to-plate)	8000	7500	8000	5500	6000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion Maximum-Signal Power Output	$\frac{2}{12.5}$	$\frac{1.5}{20}$	2 24	2 15	4 17	per cent watts
maximum-signal rower Output	12.0	20	24	10	± 1	watts

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

megohm	1		For cathode-bias operation Push-Pull Class AB, A
former	Output Trans		Grid No.2 of Each Tube Connected to Tap on Plate
volts watts watts °C	410 12 1.75 250		MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate and Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)
volts volts	Cathode Bias 370 #	Fixed Bias 375 +	TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes) Plate Supply Voltage
volts	355	33.5	Grid-No.1 Voltage• Cathode-Bias Resistor
volts mA	62 74	67 62	Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage Zero-Signal Cathode Current
mA ohms	84 13000	95 12500	Maximum-Signal Cathode Current Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-plate)
per cent watts	$1.2 \\ 15$	1.5 18.5	Total Harmonic Distortion
			MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance :
megohm megohm	0.1 1		For fixed-bias operation



* Obtained from taps on the primary winding of the output transformer. The taps are located on each side of the center tap (B+) so as to apply 50 per cent of the plate signal voltage to grid No.2 of each output tube.

Obtained from taps on the primary winding of the output transformer. The taps are located on each side of the center tap (B+) so as to supply 43 per cent of the plate signal voltage to grid No.2 of each output tube.

• The type of input-coupling network used should not introduce too much resistance in the grid-No.1 circuit. Transformer- or impedance-coupling devices are recommended.

6977

Refer to chart at end of section.

7025

HIGH-MU TWIN TRIODE

Miniature type used as phase inverter or resistancecoupled amplifier in high-quality, high-fidelity audio amplifiers. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9contact socket. This type is identical with miniature type 12AX7A except that it has a controlled equivalent noise and hum characteristic. For operation as resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to Resistance-Coupled Amplifier section.



EQUIVALENT-NOISE AND HUM VOLTAGE REFERENCED TO GRID (Each Unit)

Average Value (rms) $\dot{7}$ 1.8 $\mu \nabla$ Maximum Value (rms)•7 $\mu \nabla$

[†] Measured in "true rms" units under following conditions: heater volts (ac), 6.3 (parallel connection); center tap of heater transformer connected to ground; plate supply volts, 250; plate load resistor, 2700 ohms; cathode-bypass capacitor, 100 μ F; grid resistor, 0 ohms; and amplifier covering frequency range between 25 to 10000 cycles per second.

• Same conditions as for "Average Value" except cathode resistor is unbypassed and grid resistor is 0.05 megohm.



BEAM POWER TUBE

7027A

7027

Glass octal type used in push-pull power amplifier circuits of high-fidelity audio equipment. Outlines section, 9F; requires octal socket. This tube, like other powerhandling tubes, should be adequately ventilated.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current	6.3 0.9	volts ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		·· -
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$	volts
Average value	100 max	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		
Grid No.1 to Plate	1.5	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	10	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	7.5	pF

Class A, Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-14	volts
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	22500	ohms
Transconductance	6000	μ mhos
Plate Current	72	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	9	mA

Push-Pull Class AB, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

maximom mermue (Design maximum reneed)		
Plate Voltage	600	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	500	volts
Plate Dissipation	35	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	5	watts

TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)

	Fixed B	ias	C	athode]	Bias	
Plate Supply Voltage 400	450	540	400	380	425	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage 300	350	400	300	380	415	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage25					_	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor			200	180	200	ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage 50	60	76	57	68.5	86	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current 102	95	100	112	138	150	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current 152	194	220	128	170	196	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current 6	3.4	5	7	5.6	8	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current 17	19.2	21.4	16	20	20	mA
Effective Load Resistance						
(Plate-to-plate)		6500	6600	4500	3800	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion 2	1.5	2	2	3.5	4	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output 34	50	76	32	36	44	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES						
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:						
For fixed-bias operation				0.1		megohm
For cathode-bias operation				0.5		megohm

• The type of input coupling network used should not introduce too much resistance in the grid-No.1 circuit. Transformer- or impedance-coupling devices are recommended.

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Push-Pull Class AB, Amplifier

Grid No.2 of Each Tube Connected to Tap on Plate Winding of MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		nsformer
Plate and Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input	35	volts watts watts
TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)		
Plate Supply Voltage Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	410	volts volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	220 68	ohms
Zero-Signal Cathode Current Maximum-Signal Cathode Current	134	volts mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate to plate)	$\begin{array}{r}155\\8000\end{array}$	mA ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion Maximum-Signal Power Output	1.6 24	per cent watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance, for cathode-bias operation 0.5megohm

* Obtained from taps on the primary winding of the output transformer. The taps are located on each side of the center tap (B+) so as to apply 43 per cent of the plate signal voltage to grid No.2 of each output tube.



7044	Refer to chart at end of section.
7054	Refer to chart at end of section.
7055	Refer to chart at end of section.
7056	Refer to chart at end of section.
7057	Refer to chart at end of section.
7058	Refer to chart at end of section.

7059 MEDIUM-MU TRIODE-SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE INDUSTRIAL TYPE

Miniature type medium-mu triode sharp-cutoff pentode for use as a combined oscillator and mixer in mobile communications equipment. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.



Heater Voltage Range (ac/dc)	12 to 15	volts
Heater Current (Approx.) at 13.5 Volts	0.195	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	±120 max.	volts

	Unshielded	Shielded	
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:			
Triode Unit:			
Grid to Plate	1.7	1.7	pF
Grid to Cathode, Heater	2.7	2.7	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater	0.4	1	pF
Pentode Unit:			
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.15 max.	0.007 max.	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid			
No.3. and Internal Shield	5	5	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3,			
and Internal Shield	2.5	3.4	pF
Heater to Cathode	3	3■	pF

U With external shield connected to cathode of unit under test except as noted.

With external shield connected to ground.

Class A. Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage 300 200 volts Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage			Pentode Unit	
Grid-No.2 Voltage	Plate Voltage	300	300	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value 0 0 ⁻ volt Plate Dissipation 2.5 2.8 watts Grid-No.2 Input: 0.5 watts For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts 0.5 watt For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts See curve page 300 MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No 1-Circuit Resistance: 0.5 0.5 megohm For cathode-bias operation 1 1 megohm CHARACTERISTICS 13.5 13.5 volts	Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		300	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value 0 0 volt Plate Dissipation 2.5 2.8 watts Grid-No.2 Input: 2.5 2.8 watts For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts 0.5 watt For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts See curve page 300 MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No 1-Circuit Resistance: See curve page 300 For fixed-bias operation 0.5 0.5 megohm For cathode-bias operation 1 1 megohm CHARACTERISTICS 13.5 13.5 volts	Grid-No.2 Voltage		See curve page	300
Grid-No.2 Input: For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts — 0.5 watt For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts — See curve page 300 MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No 1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation 0.5 0.5 megohm FOR fixed-bias operation 1 1 megohm CHARACTERISTICS 13.5 volts	Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	0	volt
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts 0.5 watt For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts See curve page 300 MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: 0.5 0.5 megohm For fixed-bias operation 1 1 megohm CHARACTERISTICS 13.5 13.5 volts	Plate Dissipation	2.5	2.8	watts
For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts See curve page 300 MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No 1-Circuit Resistance: 0.5 For fixed-bias operation 1 For cathode-bias operation 1 CHARACTERISTICS Heater Voltage 13.5	Grid-No.2 Input:			
For grid-No.2 voltages between 150 and 300 volts See curve page 300 MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No 1-Circuit Resistance: 0.5 0.5 megohm For fixed-bias operation 1 1 megohm CHARACTERISTICS 13.5 13.5 volts	For grid-No.2 voltages up to 150 volts		0.5	watt
Grid-No 1-Circuit Resistance: 0.5 0.5 megohm For fixed-bias operation 1 1 megohm CHARACTERISTICS 13.5 13.5 volts		- s	ee curve page	300
For fixed-bias operation 0.5 0.5 megohm For cathode-bias operation 1 1 megohm CHARACTERISTICS 13.5 13.5 volts	MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
For fixed-bias operation 0.5 0.5 megohm For cathode-bias operation 1 1 megohm CHARACTERISTICS 13.5 13.5 volts	Grid-No 1-Circuit Resistance:			
For cathode-bias operation 1 1 megohm CHARACTERISTICS Heater Voltage 13.5 13.5 volts		0.5	0.5	megohm
Heater Voltage 13.5 volts	For cathode-bias operation	1	1	
	CHARACTERISTICS			
	Heater Voltage	13.5	13.5	volts
	Plate Supply Voltage	150	250	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage 110 volts			110	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor 56 68 ohms		56	68	
Amplification Factor 40		40		
Plate Resistance (Approx.) 4700 400000 ohms		4700	400000	ohms
Transconductance 8500 5200 µmhos				umhos
Plate Current 18 10 mA				
- 3.5 mA				
Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 10 μ A1210 volts				

Special Ratings & Performance Data

HEATER-CYCLING LIFE PERFORMANCE

Cycles of Intermittent Operation	2000 min.	cycles
LOW-FREQUENCY VIBRATION PERFORMANCE		
RMS Output Voltage, Triode Unit RMS Output Voltage, Pentode Unit	150 max. 250 max	mV mV





RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

7060 Refer to	chart at end of section.
---------------	--------------------------

Refer to chart at end of section.

7167 Refer to chart at end of section.

7189

7061

POWER PENTODE



. . . .

Miniature type used as power amplifier tube in highfidelity audio equipment. Outlines section, 6G; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):	6.3 0.76 ±100 max	volts ampere volts
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.5	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	10.8	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid-No.2, and Grid No.3	6.5	pF
Grid No.1 to Heater	0.25	pF
Class A, Amplifier		
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	7.3	volts
Mu-Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1	19.5	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	40000	ohms
Transconductance	11300	μmhos
Plate Current	48	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	5.5	mA

Push-Pull Class AB, Amplifier

		Grid-No.2 Special	
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Center Values)		Connection•	
Plate Voltage	400	375	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	300	•	volts
Cathode Current	65	65	mA
Plate Dissipation	12	12	watts
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Input	2	2	watts
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Input	4	4	watts
TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)			
Plate Supply Voltage		375	volts
Plate Voltage	400		volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage			
Grid-No.2 Voltage	300	•	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage			volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		220	ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	14.8	17.7	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	15	70	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	105	81	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	1.6	•	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	25	•	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-plate)	8000	11000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	4	3	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	24	16.5	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	Fixed Bias	Cathode Bias	
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	0.3	1	megohm

• Grid No.2 of each tube connected to tap on plate winding of output transformer.

• Obtained from taps on primary winding of the output transformer. The taps are located on each side of the center tap (B+) so as to supply 43 per cent of the plate signal voltage to grid No.2 of each output tube.

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE--- 7199



Miniature type used in high-quality, high-fidelity audio equipment, particularly in phase splitters, tone-control amplifiers, and high-gain voltage amplifiers. **Outlines** section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket. For operation as resistance-coupled amplifier, refer to **Re**sistance-Coupled Amplifier section. In direct-coupled voltage-amplifier phase-splitter circuits, the pentode unit should drive the triode unit.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.45	volts ampere
Peak value	$\pm 200 \text{ max}$ 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Triode Unit:		
Grid to Plate	$^{2}_{2.3}$	pF pF
Plate to Cathode and Heater Pentode Unit:	0.3	\mathbf{pF}
Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	0.06 max	pF
Internal Shield Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, Grid No.3, and	5	\mathbf{pF}
Internal Shield	2	\mathbf{pF}

EQUIVALENT-NOISE AND HUM VOLTAGE REFERENCED TO GRID

	Triode Unit	Pentode Unit	
Median Value (rms) Maximum Value (rms)	10†	35•	$\mu \mathbf{V}$
maximum value (rms)	150†	100•	μV

[†] Measured in "true rms" units under the following conditions: heater volts (ac), 6.3; center tap of heater transformer connected to ground; plate-supply volts, 250; plate load resistor, 0.1 megohm; cathode resistor, 1500 ohms; grid resistor, 0.05 megohm; and amplifier covering frequency range between 25 and 10000 cycles per second.

• Same conditions as for triode unit except: grid-No.2 supply volts, 250; grid-No.2 resistor, 0.33 megohm; grid-No.2-bypass capacitor, 0.22 μ F; cathode resistor, 1200 ohms; and grid-No.1 resistor, 0.05 megohm.

Class A, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)	Triode U	nit Pentode	Unit	
Plate Voltage	330	330		volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		See curve	page 300	
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		330		volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value	0	Ó		volts
Plate Dissipation	2.4	ž		watts
Grid-No.2 Input:		.,		
For grid-No.2 voltages up to 165 volts		0.6		watt
For grid-No.2 voltages between 165 and 330 volts		See curve	page 300	
			• •	



CHARACTERISTICS	Triode Unit	Pent	ode Unit	
Plate Supply Voltage	215	100	220	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage		50	130	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	8.5	—		volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor		1000	62	ohms
Amplification Factor	17	_	_	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.0081	1	0.4	megohm
Transconductance	2100	1500	7000	<i>µ</i> mhos
Plate Current	9	1.1	12.5	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	—	0.35	3.5	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current				
of 10 μ A	40			volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:*	Triode	Unit	Pentode Unit	
For fixed-bias operation	0. 	5 1	0.25 1	megohm megohm

* If either unit is operated at maximum rated conditions, grid-No.I-circuit resistance for both units should not exceed the stated value.

7247

DUAL TRIODE

Miniature type used for combined first- and secondstage audio preamplification in high-fidelity phonograph ^{KT2} or tape equipment. Tube has high-mu unit and mediummu unit. Outline 8B, Outlines section. Tube requires miniature nine-contact socket and may be operated in any position. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 12.6 (series), 6.3 (parallel); amperes, 0.15 (series), 0.3 (parallel).



Class A. Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	Unit No.1 330	Unit No.2 330	volts
Grid Voltage: Negative-bias value	55	55	volts
Positive-bias value		0 22	volts mA
Plate Dissipation		3	watts
Peak value		±200 max 100 max	volts volts

CHARACTERISTICS

	Unit	t No.1	Uni	t No.2	
Plate Voltage	100	250	100	250	volts
Grid Voltage	1	2	0		volts
Amplification Factor	100	100	20	17	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	80000	62500	6500	7700	ohms
Transconductance	1250	1600	3100	2200	μ mhos
Plate Current	0.5	1.2	11.8	10.5	mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 10 µA	_			24	volts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES					
		IIn	:4	¥1-14	

Grid-Circuit Resistance:	No.1	No.2	
For fixed-bias operation	15 max	0.5 max	megohms
For cathode-bias operation		1 max	megohm

HUM OUTPUT VOLTAGE

Average Value (rms, cathode bypassed)	1.8	μvolts
Maximum Value (rms, cathode unbypassed).	7	μvolts

° The dc component must not exceed 100 volts.

Measured in "true rms" units under the following conditions: heater volts (ac), 6.3 (parallel connection); center tap of heater transformer connected to ground; dc plate supply volts, 250; plate load resistor, 0.1 megohm; cathode resistor, 2700 ohms; cathode-bypass capacitor, 100 µf; grid resistor, 0 ohms; amplifier covering frequency range of 25 to 10000 cps.

• Same conditions as above, except that cathode resistor is unbypassed and grid resistor is 0.05 megohm.

Refer t	0	chart	at	end	of	section.	7258
---------	---	-------	----	-----	----	----------	------

Refer to chart at end of section.

7308

7355



POWER PENTODE

Glass octal type used in the power-output stage of H high-fidelity audio-frequency amplifier systems. Outlines section, 13F; requires octal socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.8; maximum heater-cathode volts, ±200 peak, 100 average.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage, Positive-bias value Average Cathode Current Plate Dissipation DC Grid-No.2 Input	$500 \\ 400 \\ 0 \\ 100 \\ 18 \\ 3.5 \bullet$	volts volts volts mA watts volts
TYPICAL OPERATION AND CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Zero-Signal Plate Current Maximum Signal Plate Current Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current Load Resistance Total Harmonic Distortion (Approx.) Maximum-Signal Power Output Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate current of 500 μA	$\begin{array}{c} 250\\ 225\\ -15\\ 15\\ 42000\\ 62\\ 74\\ 3.2\\ 16.5\\ 2500\\ 15\\ 9\\ -35\\ \end{array}$	volts volts volts volts mA mA mA ohms per cent watts volts
MAYIMUM CIDCUUT VALUES		

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance : For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.3 1	megohm megohm
--	----------	------------------

• Grid-No.2 input may reach 7 watts during peak levels of speech and music signals.

Push-Pull Class AB, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for class Ai amplifier)

TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)

Plate Voltage	300	400	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	300	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-21		volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	42	60	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	100	56	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	185	175	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	5.5	3.5	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	24	24	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-plate)	4000	- 5000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	2	6	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	28.5	40	watts

Refer to chart at end of section.

7360

499

7408

BEAM POWER TUBE



Glass octal type used as output amplifier tube in highquality sound systems. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3	volts
Heater Current	0.45	ampere
Heater-Cathode Voltage:		
Peak value	± 200	volts
Average value	100	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances :		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.7	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	9	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	7.5	pF

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.2 Input Plate Dissipation	· · · · ·	350 315 2.2 14	volts volts watts watts
TYPICAL OPERATION AND CHARACTERISTICS			
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	60 250 0 100• 22• 	$\begin{array}{c} 250\\ 250\\ -12.5\\ 12.5\\ 45\\ 47\\ 4.5\\ 7\\ 50000\\ 4100\\ 5000\\ 7\\ 4.5 \end{array}$	volts volts volts mA mA mA ohms per cent watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		0.1 0.5	megohm megohm

• This value can be measured by a method involving a recurrent waveform such that the maximum ratings of the tube will not be exceeded.

7543

SHARP-CUTOFF PENTODE

Miniature type used in compact audio equipment. Outlines section, 5C; requires miniature 7-contact socket. This type is identical with miniature type 6AU6A except that it has a controlled hum characteristic.

HUM OUTPUT VOLTAGE

 Average Value, (rms, cathode bypassed)
 1.2†
 millivolts

 Average Value (rms, cathode unbypassed)
 0.9•
 millivolts

 Average Value (rms, cathode unbypassed)
 0.9•
 millivolts

 f Measured in "true rms" units under the following conditions: heater volts (ac), 6.3; center
 fap of heater transformer connected to ground; plate and grid-No.2 supply volts, 250; plate
 load resistor, 0.27 megohm; grid No.3 and internal shield connected to cathode at socket;

 grid-No.2 resistor, 0.68 megohm; grid-No.1 resistor, 0.1 megohm; cathode resistor, 1000 ohms;
 grid resistor of following stage, 10 megohms; and stage gain, 340.

• Same conditions as above except that cathode resistor is unbypassed and stage gain is 110.





BEAM POWER TUBE



Miniature type for use as a class C radio-frequency amplifier, oscillator, and frequency-multiplier up to 175 MHz in mobile communications epuipment. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. Curves shown under type 7558 also apply to the 7551.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	0.36	volts ampere volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances: Grid No.1 to Plate Grid No.1 to Cathode, Grid No.3, Grid No.2 and Heater Plate to Cathode, Grid No.3, Grid No.2 and Heater Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	0.15 max. 10 5.5 225 max.	pF
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE		

Grid-No.1-Circuit	Resistance—CCS	or	ICAS	operation	0.1	megohm
-------------------	----------------	----	------	-----------	-----	--------

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Heater Voltage		13.5 volts
Plate Voltage		250 volts
Grid No.3	Connected	to cathode at socket
Grid-No.2 Voltage		250 volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage		18 volts
Mu-Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1		8.7
Transconductance		5300 μmhos
Plate Current		40 mA
Grid-No.2 Current		3 mA

AF Power Amplifier & Modulator-Class AB₁*

MAXIMUM CCS• RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage	375	volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)		volt
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	300	volts
MaxSignal DC Plate Current	70	mA
MaxSignal Plate Input	21	watts
MaxSignal Grid-No.2 Input	2	watts
Plate Dissipation	10	watts

TYPICAL CCS PUSH-PULL OPERATION

Values are for 2 tubes

Heater Voltage		13.5	volts
DC Plate Voltage		300	volts
Grid No.3	Connected		at socket
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage§		250	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltages		21	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage		40	volts
Zero-Signal DC Plate Current		40	mA
MaxSignal DC Plate Current		125	mA.
Zero-Signal DC Grid-No.2 Current		2	mA
MaxSignal DC Grid-No.2 Current		14	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate to plate)		5000	ohms
MaxSignal Driving Power		0	watts
Total Harmonic Distortion		5	%
MaxSignal Power Output (Approx.)		20.5	watts

RF Power Amplifier & Oscillator—Class C Telegraphy? and

RF Power Amplifier—Class C FM Telephony

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

	Up to 1		
DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)	CCS 375 0	ICAS●● 375 0	volts volt

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	300	300	volts
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage		-125	volts
DC Plate Current	70	80	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	15	15	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current		5	mA
Plate Input	21	24	watts
Grid-No.2 Input		2	watts
Plate Dissipation	10	12	watts

TYPICAL OPERATION

As amplifier at 175 MHz

As amplifier at 175 MHz	Z			
-		CCS•	ICAS••	
Heater Voltage	13.5	13.5	13.5	volts
DC Plate Voltage	250	300	300	volts
Grid No.3	Cor	nnected to	o cathode	at socket
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage ^{DD}	200	200	250	volts
	-40	-42	-55	volts
Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	47	52	62	volts
DC Plate Current	60	70	80	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	3.7	3.7	5.1	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	1.5	2.1	1.6	mA
Driver Power Output (Approx.)	1	1	1.5	watts
Useful Power Output (Approx.)*	6.5	8.5	10	watts

Plate-Modulated RF Power Amplifier—Class C Telephony

Carrier conditions per tube for use with a maximum modulation factor of 1

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

	Up to 175 CCS●	MHz ICAS••	
DC Plata Valtage	300	300	volts
DC Plate Voltage			
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)	0	0	volt
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	300	300	volts
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) oltage		-125	volts
DC Plate Current	60	70	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	10	10	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	-5	- 5	mA
Plate Input	15	17.5	watts
	1.4		
Grid-No.2 Input		1.4	watts
Plate Dissipation	7	8	watts
TYPICAL OPERATION	At 175		
TYPICAL OPERATION Heater Voltage	At 175 13.5	MHz 13.5	volts
			volts volts
Heater Voltage DC Plate Voltage	13.5	13.5 250	volts
Heater Voltage DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3	13.5 250 Connected	13.5 250 to cathode	volts at socket
Heater Voltage DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid-No.2 Voltage▲	13.5 250 Connected 250	13.5 250 to cathode 250	at socket volts
Heater Voltage DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid-No.2 Voltage▲ DC Grid-No.1 Voltage▲	13.5 250 Connected 250 —70	13.5 250 to cathode 250 -75	volts at socket volts volts
Heater Voltage DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid-No.2 Voltage▲ DC Grid-No.1 Voltage★ From a grid-No.1 resistor of	13.5 250 Connected 250 70 33000	13.5 250 to cathode 250 -75 33000	volts at socket volts volts ohms
Heater Voltage DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid-No.2 Voltage From a grid-No.1 resistor of RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	13.5 250 Connected 250 70 33000 75	13.5 250 to cathode 250 75 33000 80	volts at socket volts volts ohms volts
Heater Voltage DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid-No.2 Voltage DC Grid-No.1 Voltage From a grid-No.1 resistor of RF Grid-No.1 Voltage DC Plate Current	13.5 250 Connected 250 70 33000 75 60	13.5 250 to cathode 250 75 33000 80 70	volts at socket volts volts ohms volts mA
Heater Voltage DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid-No.2 Voltage▲ DC Grid-No.1 Voltage★ From a grid-No.1 resistor of RF Grid-No.1 Voltage DC Plate Current DC Grid-No.2 Current	13.5 250 Connected 250 	13.5 250 to cathode 250 	volts at socket volts volts ohms volts mA mA
Heater Voltage DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid-No.2 Voltage▲ DC Grid-No.1 Voltage▲ From a grid-No.1 resistor of RF Grid-No.1 Voltage DC Plate Current DC Grid-No.2 Current DC Grid-No.2 Current DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	13.5 250 Connected 250 70 33000 75 60	13.5 250 to cathode 250 75 33000 80 70	volts at socket volts volts ohms volts mA
Heater Voltage DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid-No.2 Voltage▲ DC Grid-No.1 Voltage▲ From a grid-No.1 resistor of RF Grid-No.1 Voltage DC Plate Current DC Grid-No.2 Current DC Grid-No.2 Current DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	13.5 250 Connected 250 	13.5 250 to cathode 250 	volts at socket volts volts ohms volts mA mA
Heater Voltage DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid-No.2 Voltage▲ DC Grid-No.1 Voltage★ From a grid-No.1 resistor of RF Grid-No.1 Voltage DC Plate Current DC Grid-No.2 Current	13.5 250 Connected 250 	13.5 250 to cathode 250 	volts at socket volts volts ohms volts mA mA mA

Frequency Multiplier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

	CCS•	ICAS••	
DC Plate Voltage	375	375	volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)	0	0	volt
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	300	300	volts
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	-125		volts
DC Plate Current	50	60	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	15	15	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	5	5	mA
Plate Input	13	15	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	2	2	watts
Plate Dissipation	10	12	watts

TYPICAL OPERATION	As doubler to 175 MHz				
Heater Voltage		13.5	13.5		volts
DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3		250 Connected	250 to cathode	at	volts socket
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage		200	250		volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage ^{⊕⊕} From a grid-No.1 resistor of		-53 53000	66 44000		volts ohms
Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage			74		volts

DC Plate Current	50	60	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	2.6	3.5	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	1	1.5	mA
Driving Power (Approx.)	0.4	0.6	watt
Useful Power Output*	3	4.5	watts

As tripler to 175 MHz

Heater Voltage DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid No.2 Voltage	13.5 200 Connected 200	13.5 250 to cathode 250	at	volts volts socket volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage ^{⊕⊕} From a grid-No.1 resistor of	90 50000			volts
Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	105	130		volts
DC Plate Current DC Grid-No.2 Current	50 3			mA mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	1.85 0.4	1.7 0.6		mA watt
Useful Power Output*	1.4	2.3		watts

 Subscript 1 indicates that grid-No.1 current does not flow during any part of the input cycle.

Continuous Commercial Service.

•• Intermittent Commercial and Amateur Service.

Averaged over any audio-frequency cycle of sine-wave form.

† Key-down conditions per tube without amplitude modulation. Amplitude modulation essentially negative may be used if the positive peak of the audio-frequency envelope does not exceed 115% of the carrier conditions.

§ Obtained preferably from a fixed supply.

^{DD} Obtained preferably from a separate source or from the plate-voltage supply with a voltage divider. If a series resistor is used, it should be adjustable to obtain the desired operating plate current after initial tuning adjustments are completed.

⊕⊕Obtained from a grid-No.1 resistor or from a combination of grid-No.1 resistor with either fixed supply or cathode resistor.

▲ Driver stage is required to supply tube losses and rf-circuit losses. The driver stage should be designed to provide an excess of power above the indicated values to take care of variations in line voltage, components, initial tube characteristics, and tube characteristics during life.

Measured at load.

- ▲ Obtained preferably from a separate source modulated along with the plate supply, or from the modulated plate supply through a series resistor. It is recommended that this resistor be adjustable to obtain the desired operating plate current after initial tuning adjustments are made.
- * Obtained from a grid-No.1 resistor or from a combination of grid-No.1 resistor with either fixed supply or cathode resistor. The combination of grid-No.1 resistor and fixed supply has the advantage of not only protecting the tube from damage through loss of excitation but also of minimizing distortion by bias-supply compensation.

Special Ratings & Performance Data

HEATER-CYCLING LIFE PERFORMANCE Cycles of Intermittent Operation	2000 min.	cycles
LOW-FREQUENCY VIBRATION PERFORMANCE		
RMS Output Voltage	200 max.	mV

BEAM POWER TUBE





Miniature type for use as a class C radio-frequency amplifier, oscillator, and frequency-multiplier up to 175 MHz in mobile communications equipment. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket. This type is identical with type 7551 except for heater voltage and current. Special ratings and performance data for the 7551 do not apply to the 7558.

		 $6.3 \pm 5\%$	volts
Heater	Current	 0.8	ampere


7581A

BEAM POWER TUBE

Glass octal type used in af power-amplifier applications. Outlines section, 19D; requires octal socket. For typical operation as push-pull class A₁, class AB₂, and class AB₂ amplifier, refer to type 6L6GC. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. **Heater:** volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.9; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 .



Pentode

Class A: Amplifier

Triode

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values) Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input	Connection* 450 35	Connectio 500 450# 35 5	n volts watts watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.1 0.5	0.1 0.5	megohm megohm
Class A ₁ Amplifier (Pentode (MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Class A ₁ Amplifier) TYPICAL OPERATION	Connection)		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Load Resistance Total Harmonic Distortion Maximum-Signal Power Output	70 300 210 25 	$250 \\ 250 \\14 \\ 22500 \\ 6000 \\ 72 \\ 5 \\ 2500 \\ 10 \\ 6.5$	volts volts ohms µmhos mA mA ohms per cent watts

Class A₁ Amplifier (Triode Connection)

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Class At Amplifier) TYPICAL OPERATION

Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	20	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	20	volts

Amplification Factor Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Zero-Signal Plate Current Maximum-Signal Plate Current Load Resistance Total Harmonic Distortion (Approx.)	1700 4700 40 44 5000	ohms µmhos mA ohms per cent
Total Harmonic Distortion (Approx.) Maximum-Signal Power Output		per cent watts

* Grid No.2 connected to plate.

In push-pull circuits where grid No.2 of each tube is connected to a tap on the plate winding of the output transformer, this maximum rating is 500 volts.

Applied for short interval (2 seconds) so as not to damage tube.



MEDIUM-MU TRIODE



INDEX +LARGE LUG •• SHORT PIN -IC 12AQ Nuvistor type, medium-mu general purpose triode for use as an amplifier or oscillator at frequencies extending into the UHF region. Outlines section, 1; requires nuvistor socket.

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	0.135	volts ampere volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitance (Approx.):		
Grid to Plate	2.2	nF
Grid to Cathode, Heater, and Shell		nF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Shell		'nĒ
Plate to Cathode	0.26	ก็ค
Heater to Cathode	1.4	pF

Industrial Service

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute Maximum Values)

For operation at any altitude

Plate Supply Voltage Plate Voltage Grid Voltage:	330 110	volts volts
Negative-bias value Peak-positive value Grid Current	4	volts volts mA
Cathode Current Plate Dissipation	15 1	mA watt

MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-Circuit Resistance :•		
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

• For operation at metal-shell temperature of 150°C. For operation at other metal-shell temperatures, see Grid-Circuit Resistance Rating Chart.

Class A. Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage			75	volts
Plate Voltage	26.5	40	•*	volts
Grid Supply Voltage	0	0	0	volt
Cathode Resistor			100	ohms
Amplification Factor	31	35	35	
Grid Resistor	0.5	.5	-	megohm
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	4400	3000	3000	ohms
Transconductance	7000	11500	11500	μ mhos
Plate Current	2.8	7.5	10.5	' mA
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate $\mu A = 10$			-7	volts



Special Ratings & Performance Data







1245

7587 INDUSTRIAL

SHARP-CUTOFF TETRODE

Nuvistor type sharp-cutoff general-purpose tetrode for use in a wide variety of industrial applications. Outlines section 1A1: requires nuvistor socket.

mies section, mill, requires mariatel section	1240	
Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	6.3 ± 0.6	volts
Heater Current	0.150	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	± 100 max.	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.015 max.	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Grid No.2, Shell, and Heater	7.0	pF
Plate to Cathode, Grid No.2, Shell, and Heater	1.4	\mathbf{pF}
Heater to Cathode	1.4	pF
Industrial Service		
AANIALIAL DATIMOC (Akaoluto Movimum Voluoc)		

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values) For operation at any altitude

Plate Supply Voltage	330	volts
Plate Voltage	250	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage	330	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	110	volts
(irid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:		
Negative-bias value	55	volts
	30	volts
Peak-positive value	20	
Cathode Current	20	mA
Grid-No.1 Current	2	mA
Grid-No.2 Input	0.2	watt
Plate Dissipation	2.2	watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-Circuit Resistance :•		_
For fixed-bias operation	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

• For operation at metal-shell temperature up to 150°C.

50**6**

CHARACTERISTICS

Class A, Amplifier

Plate Supply Voltage	125	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	50	volts
Cathode Resistor	68	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	0.2	megohm
Transconductance	10600	μ mhos
Plate Current	10	mA
Grid-No.2 Current	2.7	mA
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate $\mu A \equiv 10$	4.5	volts



Special Ratings & Performance Data

SHOCK RATING

Impact Acceleration	1000 max.	g
FATIGUE RATING Vibrational Acceleration	2.5 max,	Ŗ

Refer to chart at end of section.

7591

7591A



POWER PENTODE

Glass octal type used as audio-frequency power-output tube in high-quality audio applications. Outlines section, 13D; requires octal socket. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 0.8; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Class A₁ Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Cathode Current Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input	550 440 90 19 3.3•	volts volts mA watts watts
TYPICAL OPERATION AND CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage Zero-Signal Plate Current Maximum-Signal Plate Current Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current		volts volts volts mA mA mA

Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current Triode Amplification Factor ^e	15 16.8	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.) Transconductance Load Resistance	29000 10200 3000	ohms µmhos ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion Maximum-Signal Power Output MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	13 11	per cent watts
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation	0.3 1	megohm megohm
• Grid-No.2 input may reach 6 watts during peak levels of speech and i		

* Triode connection, grid No.2 connected to plate.

Push-Pull Class AB, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Class A1 Amplifier)

TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)	Fixe	d Bias	Cathode Bias	
Plate Supply Voltage	350	450	450	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	350	400	400	volts
Grid-No.1 Supply Voltage	-15.5	21	-	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor				
(Common to both cathodes)		_	200	ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	31	42	28	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	92	66	82	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	130	144	94	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	13	9.4	11.5	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	28.6	30	22	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-plate)	6600	6600	9000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	2	1.5	2	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	30	45	28	watts

7695 7717/6CY5 7724/14GT8 7788 Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section. Refer to chart at end of section.

7868

POWER PENTODE

Novar type used in output stages of high-fidelity audio amplifiers and radio receivers. Outlines section, 11C or 30D; requires novar 9-contact socket. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated.



Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Heater-Cathode Voltage:	6.3 0.8	volts ampere
	1.000	•
Peak value	±200 max 100 max	volts volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.15	рF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	11	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	4.4	pF

Class A1 Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage	550=	volts
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage	440	volts
Average Cathode Current	90	mA
Plate Dissipation	19	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	3.3•	watts
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point)	240	°C

TYPICAL OPERATION AND CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Supply Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage	300	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	10	volts
Peak AF Grid-No.1 Voltage	10	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	60	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	75	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	8	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	15	mA
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	29000	ohms
Transconductance	10200	μ mhos
Effective Load Resistance	3000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	13	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	11	watts



MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance:		
For fixed-bias operation	0.3	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm

• In push-pull circuits where the grid No.2 of each tube is connected to a tap on the plate winding of the output transformer, this maximum rating is 440 volts.

• Grid No.2 input may reach 6 watts during peak levels of speech and music signals.

Push-Pull Class AB, Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for class A_1 amplifier) **TYPICAL OPERATION** (Values are for two tubes)

ITFICAL OPERATION (Values and		J (ubes)				Cathode	
			Fixe	d Bias		Bias	
Plate Supply Voltage	300	350	400	450	450	450	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	300	350	350	350	400	400	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage		15.5		-16.5	21	_	volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor (Common							
to both cathodes)				_		170	ohms
Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-							
Grid-No.1 Voltage	25	31	32	33	42	31	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	14	72	64	60	40	86	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current.	116	130	135	142	145	94	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	10	9.5	8	7.2	5	10	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2							
Current	28	32	28	26	30	20	mA
Effective Load Resistance							
(Plate-to-plate)	6600	6600	6600	6600	6600	10000	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	5	2.5	2	2.5	5	2	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	24	30	34	38	44	28	watts

Push-Pull Class AB, Amplifier

Grid No.2 of Each Tube Connected to Tap on Plate Winding of Output Transformer* MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for class A1 amplifier)

TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)	Fixed Bias	Cathode Bias	
Plate Supply Voltage	400	425	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	*	•	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	20.5		volts
Cathode-Bias Resistor (Common to both cathodes)	_	185	ohms

Peak AF Grid-No.1-to-Grid-No.1 Voltage	41	42	volts
Zero-Signal Plate Current	60	88	mÃ
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	115	100	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	8	12	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	18	16	mA
Effective Load Resistance (Plate-to-plate)	6600	6600	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	2.5	3.5	per cent
Maximum-Signal Power Output	23	21	watts

• Grid No.2 supply voltage is obtained from taps on the primary winding of the output transformer. The taps are located on each side of the center tap (B+) so as to apply 50 per cent of the plate signal voltage to the grid No.2 of each output tube.



nuvistor socket.

HIGH-MU TRIODE

Nuvistor type high-mu triode for use in a wide variety

of industrial applications. Outlines section, 1; requires



12AQ

Heater Voltage (ac/dc) Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid to Plate Grid to Cathode, Shell, and Heater Plate to Cathode, Shell, and Heater Plate to Cathode Heater to Cathode	$\begin{array}{c} 6.3 \pm 10\% \\ 0.135 \\ \pm 100 \text{ max.} \\ 0.9 \\ 4.2 \\ 1.7 \\ 0.22 \\ 1.3 \end{array}$	y volts ampere volts pF pF pF pF
Industrial Service		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)		
For operation at any altitude		
Plate Supply Voltage Plate Voltage Grid Voltage:	830 110	volts volts
Negative-bias value Peak-positive value Grid Current Plate Current Cathode Current Plate Dissipation	55 2 20 15 1	volts volts mA mA mA watt
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES Grid-Circuit Resistance:* For fixed-bias operation	0.5	megohm
For cathode-bias operation	1	megohm
* For operation at metal-shell temperature up to 150°C.		
Class A ₁ Amplifier		
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Supply Voltage Grid Supply Voltage Cathode Resistor Amplification Factor	110 0 150 64	volts volts ohms
Ampinitation Factor Factor Plate Resistance Approx.) Transconductance Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate $\mu A = 10$	6800 9400 7 4	ohms µmhos mA volts

Special Ratings & Performance Data

SHOCK RATING Impact Acceleration	1000 max.	g
FATIGUE RATING Vibrational Acceleration	2.5 max,	g



Refer to chart at end of section.



9PB

BEAM POWER TUBE

7905 INDUSTRIAL TYPE

7898

Miniature quick-heating-filament beam power tube for use as an RF oscillator, amplifier and frequency multiplier in mobile communications equipment. Outlines section, 6E; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Operating Position Vertical, base up or down, or Horizontal		
with pins 2 and 8 in vertical plane	$6.3 \pm 10\%$	volts
Filament Voltage		
Filament Current	0.65	ampere
Heating Time	Less than	l second
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.14 max.	pF
Grid No.1 to Filament, Grid No.3, and Grid No.2	8.5	pF
Plate to Filament, Grid No.3, and Grid No.2	5.5	υĿ
Bulb Temperature (At hottest point on bulb surface)	225 max.	pF pF °C
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	0.1	megohm

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Voltage	Connected	200 volts
Grid-No.2 Voltage		185 volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage Mu-Factor, Grid No.2 to Grid No.1		11.5
Transconductance		6700 μmhos 36 mA
Grid-No.2 Current		2.5 mA

RF Power Amplifier & Oscillator---Class C Telegraphy^a

and

RF Power Amplifier—Class C FM Telephony

MAXIMUM ICAS^b RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

	Up	to 175 M	
DC Plate Voltage		300	volts
Grid No.3 (Suppressor Grid)	Connect	to pin 1	l at socket
DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Supply Voltage		300	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage		250	volts
DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage	–	-125	volts
DC Plate Current		60	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current		10	mA

DC Grid-No.1 Current	5	mA
Plate Input	18	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.5	watts
Plate Dissipation	10	watts

TYPICAL ICAS^b OPERATION^c

As amplifier at 175 MHz

DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid-No.2 Voltage ^d DC Grid-No.1 Voltage ^e from a grid-No.1 resistor of	300 Connected 160	300 l to pin 185	volts 1 at socket volts
18,000 ohms	36		volts
Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	41	43	volts
DC Plate Current	50	60	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	2.5	4	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	2	2.2	mA
Driving Power ^f (Approx.)	1	1	watt
Useful Power Output ^g (Approx.)	5.5	7	watts

Plate-Modulated RF Power Amplifier-Class C Telephony

Carrier conditions per tube for use with a maximum modulation factor of 1

MAXIMUM ICAS^b RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

	Up to 175 MHz
DC Plate Voltage	
Grid No.3	
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	250 volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage	
DC Plate Current	60 mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	10 mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	5 mA
Plate Input	15 watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.4 watts
Plate Dissipation	7 watts

TYPICAL ICAS^b OPERATION^c

	At 175 MHz		
DC Plate Voltage			
Grid No.3			
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage ^h	250		
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage ^e from a grid-No.1 resistor of 33,000 ohms			
Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage			
DC Plate Current			
DC Grid-No.2 Current			
DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)			
Driving Power ^f (Approx.)		watt	
Useful Power Output ^g (Approx.)	6. 5	watts	

Frequency Multiplier.

MAXIMUM ICAS^b RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

DC Plate Voltage	300	volts
Grid No.3 Connected	to pin 🕽	
DC Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	300	volts
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	250	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage	-125	volts
DC Plate Current	50	mA
DC Gríd-No.2 Current	10	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current	5	mA
Plate Input	15	watts
Grid-No.2 Input	1.5	watts
Plate Dissipation	10	watts

TYPICAL ICAS^b OPERATION®

As doubler to 175 MHz

DC Plate Voltage		300 l to pin	volts 1 at socket
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage ^d	200	215	volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage ^e from a grid-No.1 resistor of			
53,000 ohms	53		volts
Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	60	87	volts
DC Plate Current	45	50	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	3.4	3.4	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	1	1.5	mA
Driving Power ^f (Approx.)	0.4	0.5	watt
Useful Power Output ¹ (Approx.)	2.5	3.5	watts

As tripler to 175 MHz

DC Plate Voltage Grid No.3 DC Grid-No.2 Voltage ⁴ DC Grid-No.1 Voltage ⁴ from a grid-No.1 resistor of:	250 Connected 180	250 to pin 225	volts 1 at socket volts
50,000 ohms	90		volts
60,000 ohms		-108	volts
Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	105	118	volts
DC Plate Current	40	50	mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	2.5	3.4	mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	1.8	1.8	mA
Driving Power ^f (Approx.)	0.4	0.6	watt
Useful Power Output ^g (Approx.)	1.4	2	watts

* Key-down conditions per tube without amplitude modulation. Amplitude modulation essentially negative may be used if the positive peak of the audio-frequency envelope does not exceed 115 per cent of the carrier conditions.

^b Intermittent Commercial and Amateur Service.

° Pins 4 and 5 at rf ground.

^d Obtained preferably from a separate source or from the plate-voltage supply with a voltage divider. If a series resistor is used, it should be adjustable to permit obtaining the desired operating plate current after initial tuning adjustments are completed.

- Obtained from a grid-No.1 resistor, or from a combination of grid-No.1 resistor and either fixed supply or cathode resistor. The combination of grid-No.1 resistor and fixed supply has the advantage of not only protecting the tube from damage through loss of excitation but also of minimizing distortion by bias-supply compensation.
- ^f Driving power includes circuit losses and is the actual power measured at the input to the grid circuit.
- ^g Measured at load.
- ^h Obtained preferably from a separate source modulated along with the plate supply, or from the modulated plate supply through a series resistor. It is recommended that this resistor be adjustable to permit obtaining the desired operating plate current after initial tuning adjustments are made.





MEDIUM-MU TRIODE



INDEX+LARGE LUG += SHORT PIN --- IC 12AQ Nuvistor type, medium-mu triode for use in low voltage industrial applications. Outlines section, 1; requires nuvistor socket.

Heater Voltage ((ac/dc)	6.3 ± 0.6	volts
Heater Current		0.135	ampere
Peak Heater-Cath	node Voltage	± 100	volts

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.): Grid to Plate		2.1	pF
Grid to Cathode, Shell, and Heater Plate to Cathode, Shell, and Heater Plate to Cathode Heater to Cathode	· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	4.0 1.7 0.34 1.4	ÞF ÞF ÞF
Industrial Service			
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)			
For operation at any altitu	ıde		
Plate Voltage	• • • • • • • • • • •	50	volts
Negative-bias value		55	volts
Peak-positive value		2 2	volts mA
Cathode Current		15	mA
Plate Dissipation	· · · · · · · · · · · ·	0.45	watt
TYPICAL OPERATION			
Plate Supply Voltage	12	24	volts
Grid Supply Voltage	33000	0.7	volt
Amplification Factor	12	12	omino
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	1500	1500	ohms
Transconductance Plate Current	8000 5.5	8000 9.5	$\mu mhos$ mA
Flate Current	0.0	5.0	11174
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES			
Grid-Circuit Resistance :* For fixed-bias operation		10	megohms

For cathode-bias operation	10	megohms
# For exercise at motel shall temperatures up to 15000 For ensurtion	at other	motel shall

operation at other metal-shel tion iell temperatures, see Grid-Circuit Resistance Rating Chart.

Class A1 Amplifier

CHARACTERISTICS

Plate Supply Voltage	
Grid	nnected to negative end of cathode resistor
Cathode Resistor	
Amplification Factor	
Plate Resistance (Approx.)	
Transconductance	
Plate Current	
Grid Voltage (Approx.) for plate $\mu A = 50$	

Special Ratings & Performance Data

SHOCK RATING

Impact Acceleration	 1000 max.	g
FATIGUE RATING		

Vibrational Acceleration 2.5 max.



g

Refer to chart at end of section.

8058



POWER PENTODE

8077/7054 INDUSTRIAL

Miniature type for use as a class C radio-frequency amplifier, oscillator and frequency multiplier up to 40 MHz in mobile communications equipment. **Outlines section**, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage Heater Current Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	0.275	volts ampere volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitances (Approx.):		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.063	pF
Grid No.1 to all other Electrodes except Plate	10.2	\mathbf{pF}
Plate to all other Electrodes except Grid No.1	3.5	pF

Class A₁-AF Power Amplifier

MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

Plate Voltage		330	volts
Grid-No.3 (Suppressor Grid)	Connected	to cathode a	at socket
Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage		180	volts
Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:			
Negative-bias value		55	volts
Positive-bias value		Ő	volt
Grid-No.2 Input		ĩ	watt
Plate Dissipation		÷.	watts
		v	Watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES	•.		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance: For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		0.1 0.25	megohm megohm
CHARACTERISTICS			
Heater Voltage		13.5	volts
Plate Supply Voltage		250	volts
Grid No.3			
Grid No.2 Supply Voltage		150	volts
Cathode Resistor		120	ohms
Plate Resistance (Approx.)		0.1	megohm
		1500	µmhos
Transconductance			mA
Plate Current		19	mA
Grid-No.2 Current		3.5	
Grid-No.1 Voltage (Approx.) for plate $\mu A = 20$			volts

RF Power Amplifier & Oscillator---Class C Telegraphy*

and

RF Power Amplifier—Class C FM Telephony

MAXIMUM CCS^b RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)

DC Plute Voltage DC Grid No.3 (Suppressor-Grid) DC Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage DC Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage:	Connected	to cathode at socket 175 volts
Negative-bias value		50 volts
DC Plate Current		33 mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current		5.5 mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current		3 mA
Grid-No.2 Input		1 watt
Plate Dissipation		5 watts

TYPICAL OPERATION

At frequencies up to 40 MHz

DC Plate Voltage	200		300		olts/
Grid No.3	Conn		cathode		
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	115		175		/olts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage	7	9	12	v	70lts

0.1

megohm

Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage DC Plate Current DC Grid-No.2 Current DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	$14.5 \\ 3$	11 20 4.1 0.85	16 26 5.5 1	volts mA mA mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE				
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance	• • • • • • • • •	• • • •	0.1	megohm
Frequency Multipli	ier			
MAXIMUM CCS ^b RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)	1			

Same as for RF POWER AMPLIFIER & OSCILLATOR

TYPICAL OPERATION

As doubler up to 40 MHz

DC Plate Voltage	200	250	300		volts
Grid No.3	Conr	ected 1	to cathode	at	socket
DC Grid-No.2 Voltage	115	145	175		volts
DC Grid-No.1 Voltage	16	-20	25		volts
Peak RF Grid-No.1 Voltage	19	24	31		volts
DC Plate Current	11	15	20		mA
DC Grid-No.2 Current	2	3	4		mA
DC Grid-No.1 Current (Approx.)	0.3	0.45	0.6		mA
Driving Power (Approx.)		9	13		mW
Useful Power Output (Approx.)	1.4	1.9	2.5		watts
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUE					

Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance

^a Key-down conditions per tube without amplitude modulation. Amplitude modulation essentially negative may be used if the positive peak of the audio-frequency envelope does not exceed 115 per cent of the carrier conditions.

^b Continuous Commercial Service.





BEAM POWER TUBE



Miniature type for use as a frequency multiplier and driver in mobile communications equipment. Outlines section, 6B; requires miniature 9-contact socket.

Heater Voltage	13.5 ± 1.5	volts
Heater Current	0.25	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	± 100 max.	volts

Direct Interelectrode Capacitances:		
Grid No.1 to Plate	0.09	pF
Grid No.1 to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	10	pF pF pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, Grid No.2, and Grid No.3	2.8	pF
Class A ₁ Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Absolute-Maximum Values)		
Plate Voltage	330	volts

Refer to chart at end of section.	8203
Refer to chart at end of section.	8233



12AQ

MEDIUM-MU TRIODE



Nuvistor type, medium-mu general purpose triode for use as an amplifier or oscillator at frequencies extending into the UHF region. Outlines section, 1; requires nuvistor socket. The 8393 is the same as the 7586 except for the following items:

Heater Voltage (ac/dc)	13.5 ± 1.4	volts
Heater Current	0.060	ampere
Peak Heater-Cathode Voltage	±100 max.	volts
Direct Interelectrode Capacitance (Approx.):		
Grid to Plate	2.4	pF
Grid to Cathode. Heater. and Shell	4.4	pF
Plate to Cathode, Heater, and Shell	1.6	pF
Plate to Cathode	0.26	pF
Heater to Cathode	1.7	pF



BEAM POWER TUBE

8417

Glass octal type used as output amplifier in high-fidelity, high-power sound systems. Outlines section, 19J; requires octal socket. This tube, like other power-handling tubes, should be adequately ventilated. Heater: volts (ac/dc), 6.3; amperes, 1.6; maximum heater-cathode volts, ± 200 peak, 100 average.

Class A ₁ Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Design-Maximum Values)		•
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 (Screen-Grid) Voltage Cathode Current Plate Dissipation Grid-No.2 Input	500 200 35	volts volts mA watts watts
CHARACTERISTICS		
Plate Voltage Grid-No.2 Voltage Grid-No.1 (Control-Grid) Voltage Grid-No.1 Voltage for plate current of 1 mA Plate Resistance Transconductance Plate Current Grid-No.2 Current Triode Amplification Factor	300	volts volts volts volts ohms μmhos mA mA
MAXIMUM CIRCUIT VALUES		
Grid-No.1-Circuit Resistance : For fixed-bias operation For cathode-bias operation		megohm megohm
Push-Pull Class AB ₁ Amplifier		
MAXIMUM RATINGS (Same as for Class A ₁ Amplifier)		
TYPICAL OPERATION (Values are for two tubes)		
Plate Supply Voltage	0 560	volte

Plate Supply Voltage	400	560	volts
Grid-No.2 Supply Voltage	275	300	volts
Grid-No.1 Voltage	-13		volta
Peak AF Grid-to-Grid Voltage	24	31	volta
Zero-Signal Plate Current	150	100	mA
Maximum-Signal Plate Current	294	270	mA
Zero-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	4.4	3.4	mA
Maximum-Signal Grid-No.2 Current	34	31	mA
Effective Load (Plate-to-Plate)	2800	4200	ohms
Total Harmonic Distortion	2.5	2	per cent
Maximum Signal Power Output	65	100	watts

• A bias resistor or other means is required to protect the tube in absence of excitation. • Grid-No.2 may reach 8 watts during peak levels of speech and music levels.

8532	Refer to chart at end of section.
8532/6J4WA	Refer to chart at end of section.
8532W	Refer to chart at end of section.
8627	Refer to chart at end of section.
8627A	Refer to chart at end of section.
8628	Refer to chart at end of section.
8808	Refer to chart at end of section.
8950	Refer to chart at end of section.
9001	Refer to chart at end of section.
9002	Refer to chart at end of section.
9003	Refer to chart at end of section.
9005	Refer to chart at end of section.
9006	Refer to chart at end of section.

Refer to type 1S2A/DY87.	DY87
Refer to type 6AK8/EABC8.	EABC80
Refer to type 6DC8/EBF89.	EBF89
Refer to type 6DL4/EC88.	EC88
Refer to type 6FY5/EC97.	EC97
Refer to type 12AT7/ECC81.	ECC81
Refer to type 12AU7A/ECC82.	ECC82
Refer to type 12AX7A/ECC83.	ECC83
Refer to type 6AQ8/ECC85.	ECC85
Refer to type 6ES8/ECC189.	ECC189
Refer to type 6BL8/ECF80.	ECF80
Refer to type 6HG8/ECF86.	ECF86
Refer to type 6X9/ECF200.	ECF200
Refer to type 6U9/ECF201.	ECF201
Refer to type 6GJ7/ECF801.	ECF801
Refer to type 6JW8/ECF802.	ECF802
Refer to type 6BM8/ECL82.	ECL82
Refer to type 6DX8/ECL84.	ECL84
Refer to type 6GV8/ECL85.	ECL85
Refer to type 6GW8/ECL86.	ECL86
Refer to type 6AM6/EF91.	EF91
Refer to type 6BA6/EF93.	EF93
Refer to type 6AK5/EF95.	EF95
Refer to type 6EH7/EF183.	EF183
Refer to type 6EJ7/EF184.	EF184
Refer to type 6X9/EFL200.	EFL200
Refer to type 6CA7/EL34.	EL34
Refer to type 6BQ5/EL84.	EL84
Refer to type 6CW5/EL86.	EL86
Refer to type 6DL5/EL95.	EL95
Refer to type 6GB5/EL500.	~EL500

EL509	Refer to type 6KG6A/EL509.
ELL80	Refer to type 6HU8/ELL80.
EM84 EM84/6GFG6	Refer to chart at end of section.
EM87	Refer to type 6HU6/EM87.
EY88	Refer to type 6AL3/EY88.
EY500	Refer to type 6EC4A/EY500.
GZ34	Refer to type 5AR4/GZ34.
HCC85	Refer to type 17EW8/HCC85.
LCF80	Refer to type 6LN8/LCF80.
LCF86	Refer to type 5HG8/LCF86.
LCF201	Refer to type 5U9/LCF201.
LCF801	Refer to type 5GJ7/LCF801.
LCF802	Refer to type 6LX8/LCF802.
LCL84	Refer to type 10DX8/LCL84.
LCL85	Refer to type 10GV8/LCL85.
LF183	Refer to type 4EH7/LF183.
LF184	Refer to type 4EJ7/LF184.
LFL200	Refer to type 11Y9/LFL200.
LL86	Refer to type 10CW5/LL86.
LL500	Refer to type 18GB5/LL500.
LY88	Refer to type 20AQ3/LY88.
PC900	Refer to type 4HA5/PC900.
PCC85	Refer to type 9AQ8/PCC85.
PCC88	Refer to type 7DJ8/PCC88.
PCF80	Refer to type 9A8/PCF80.
PCF86	Refer to type 7HG8/PCF86.
PCF801	Refer to type 8GJ7/PCF801.
PCF802	Refer to type 9JW8/PCF802.
PCL82	Refer to type 16A8/PCL82.
PCL84	Refer to type 15DQ8/PCL84.

Refer to type 6GV8/PCL85.	PCL85
Refer to type 25E5/PL36.	PL36
Refer to type 15CW5/PL84.	PL84
Refer to type 27GB5/PL500.	PL500
Refer to type 40KG6A/PL509.	PL509
Refer to type 29KQ6/PL521.	PL521
Refer to type 17Z3/PY81.	PY81
Refer to type 30AE3/PY88.	PY88
Refer to type 42EC4A/PY500.	PY500
Refer to type 50BM8/UCL82.	UCL82
Refer to type 4ES8/XCC189.	XCC189
Refer to type 4BL8/XCF80.	XCF80
Refer to type 4GJ7/XCF801.	XCF801
Refer to type 9GV8/XCL85.	XCL85
Refer to type 3EH7/XF183.	XF183
Refer to type 3EJ7/XF184.	XF184
Refer to type 8CW5/XL86.	XL86
Refer to type 13GB5/XL500.	XL500
Refer to type 16AQ3/XY88.	XY88
Refer to type 5ES8/YCC189.	YCC189

Characteristics Entertainment and Industrial

Key to Chart: Type numbers shown in light face are discontinued types. Type numbers shown in bold face are available for replacement use, but are not recommended for new equipment design. Outline numbers refer to diagrams shown in

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram	Hea	iter or nent (F)	Use Values to right give opera ing conditions and charactu istics for indicated typical u	
				Volts	Amperes	1	
OA2WA	Glow-Discharge Tube	50	580			Voltage Regulator	
0A3+ 0A3A+	Glow-Discharge Tube	22 13C	441			Voltage Regulator	
0A4A+	Gas-Triode	22	4V			Relay Circuits	
OB2WA	Glow-Discharge Tube	5D	5B0			Voltage Regulator	
0C2+	Glow-Discharge Tube	5D	5B0			Voltage Regulator	
OC3A+	Glow-Discharge Tube	13C	4AJ			Voltage Regulator	
OD3A+	Glow-Discharge Tube	130	4AJ			Voltage Regulator	
0Z4	Full-Wave Gas Rectifier	2 A	4R			Rectifier	
OZ4G	Full-Wave Gas Rectifier	29D	4R			Rectifier	
1A3	Diode	5C	5AP	1.4	0.15	Rectifier	
1A4P	Remote-Cutoff Pentade	24B	4M	2.0F	0.06	Class A Amplifier	
1A5GT	Power Pentode	13D	6X	1.4F	0.05	Class A Amplifier	
1A6	Pentagrid Converter	24B	5L	2.0F	0.06	Converter	
1A7GT	Pentagrid Converter	14A	72	1.4F	0.05	Converter	
1AC5	Power Converter	29A	8CP	1.25F	0.04	Class A Amplifier	
★1AD2	Half-Wave Rectifier	9A	12GV	1.25F	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers	
1AD5	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	29A	8CP	1. 2 5F	0.04	Class A Amplifier	
1AX2	Half-Wave Rectifier	7A	9Y	1.4F	0.65	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers	
★1AY2	Half-Wave Rectifier	33A	1AY2	1.25F	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers	
★1B3GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	14E	3C	1.25F	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers	
184P	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	24B	4M	2.0F	0.06	Class A Amplifier	
1B5/ 25S	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	22 or 13H	6M	2.0F	0.06	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
1B7GT	Pentagrid Converter	14A	72	1.4F	0.10	Converter	

Industrial type

★ See Safety Precautions at end of this section.

Chart for RCA Receiving Tubes

the Outlines section in the Manual (see Table of Contents on page two. Terminal diagrams are included in numerical-alphabetical order in Terminal Diagram section. (See Table of Contents).

	Grid Bias		Screen					Pow	rer	
Plate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Plate Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	Type
Voits		Voits	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
		For	other c	haracter	istics, refe	r to Type O	A2			OA2WA*
75				5-40		·				0A3* 0A3A*
130				25		<u> </u>				0A4A*
		For	other c	haracteri	istics, refe	r to Type O	B2			OB2WA+
75				5-30						0C2+
		For	other c	haracter	istics, refe	r to Type O	C3			OC3A+
		For	other c	haracteri	istics, refe	r to Type O	D3	••		OD3A+
DC C	ting-Supply Volta Dutput Current, 7	75 max., 30) min. m	A		DC O	utput Volta	ent, 200 max ge, 300 max	. volts	0Z4
Start DC C	ting-Supply Volta Jutput Current, 7	75 max., 30) min. m	A	k volts	DC 0	utput Volta	ent, 200 max ge, 300 max		OZ4G
	Max. Peak Pla Max, Peak Pla		Volts, 3	30			DC Output Peak Heate	m A, 0 .5 er-Cathode V	olts 140	1 A 3
	Max. 1 can 1 la		other ch	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 1D			0.10, 1.0	1A4P
85 90	- 4.5V - 4.5V	85 90	0.7 1.1	3.5 4.0	300000	800 850		25000 25000	0.100 0.115	1A5GT
135 180	— 3V — 3V	67.5 67.5	2.5 2.4	1.2 1.3	400000 500000			max. volts arid (1) Resi	stor.	1 A 6
90	OV	45	0.7	0.6	600000	Oscillat	or-Grid (1)	volts, 1.2 m Resistor, 0. ond., 250 m	2 MΩ	1A7GT
45 67.5	- 3V - 4.5V	45 67.5	0.2	1.0 2.0	170000	600 750		40000	0.015	1AC5
	Max. Peak I		te Volts	, 26000			ix. Average	Plate mA, I		1AD2
30 67.5	OV OV	30 67.5	0.16	0.45	700000	430 735		· <u> </u>	_	1AD5
Max.	Peak Inverse P Peak Plate mA.	iate Volts,		1.00		Max.	Average Pl	ate mA, 0.5	• •	1AX2
	Max. Peak I					Max.	Average Pl	ate mA, 0.5		1 AY 2
	Peak Inverse P Peak Plate mA,	late Volts,		·		Max.	Average Pl	ate mA, 0.5		1B3GT
			r other c	haracter	istics, refe	er to Type 1	E5GP			1 B4P
		Fo	r other c	haracter	istics, refe	er to Type 1	16G			185/ 25S
		Fo	other c	haracter	ietics rafe	er to Type 1	1701			1B7GT

RCA Type	Name	Out line		Heater or Filament (F)		Use Values to right give opera ing conditions and characto istics for indicated typical u	
				Volts	Amperes	-	
★1BC2	Half-Wave Rectifier	7E	9RG	1.25	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers	
★18H2 ★18H2	Half-Wave Rectifier	7 G	9RG	1.25	0.2	Flyback Rectifier in TV Receivers	
1C5GT	Power Pantode	130	6X	1.4F	0.10	Class A Amplifier	
106	Pentagrid Converter	248	6L	2.0F	0.12	Converter	
1C7G	Pentagrid Converter	23	7Z	2.0F	0.12	Converter	
1021 +	Gas-Triode	13J	4V			Relay Circuits	
1D5GP	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	23	5Y	2.0F	0.06	Class A Amplifier	
1D5GT	Remote-Cutoff Tetrode	23	5R	2.0F	0.06	Class A Amplifier	
1D7G	Pentagrid Converter	23	72	2.0F	0.06	Converter	
1D8GT	Diode-Triode-Power Pentode	14A	BAJ	1.4F	0.10	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
1000.						Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
★1DG3	Half-Wave Rectifier	14J	8ND	1.25F	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers	
1DN5	Diode—Semiremote-Cutoff Pentod	5C	6BW	1.4F	0.5	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
1E5GP	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	23	5Y	2.0F	0.06	Class A Amplifier	
1E7GT	Twin Power Pentode	13D	80	2.0F	0.24	Class A Amplifier	
1E8	Pentagrid Converter	29A	8CN	1.25F	0.04	Converter	
1F4	Power Pentode	26	5K	2.0F	0.12	Class A Amplifier	
1F5G	Power Amplifier Pentode	25	6X	2.0F	0.12	Class A Amplifier	
1F6	Twin Diode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	23	6W	2.0F	0.06	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
1F7G	Twin Diode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	23	7AF	2.0F	0.06	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
★1G3G1 1B3GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	14B	30	1.25F	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers	
1G4GT	Medium-Mu Triode	13D	55	1.4F	0.05	Class A Amplifier	
1G5G	Power Pentode	25	6X	2.0F	0.12	Class A Amplifier	
1G6GT	High-Mu Twin Power Triode	13D	7AB	1.4F	0.10	Class B Amplifier	
1H4G	Medium-Mu Triode	22	5\$	2.0F	0.06	Class A Amplifier Class B Amplifier	
1H5GT	Diode—High-Mu Triode	14A	5Z	1.4F	0.05	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
1H6G	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	22	7AA	2 .0F	0.06	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
★ 1J3	Half-Wave Rectifier	14E	30	1.25F	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers	
1J5G	Power Pentode	25	6X	2.0F	0.12	Class A Amplifier	
1J6G 1J6GT	Twin-Triode Amplifiers	22 13F	7AB	2.0F	0.24	Class B Amplifier	
★1K3	Half-Wave Rectifier	14B	30	1.25F	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers	
★1K3/ 1J3	Half-Wave Rectifier	14B	30	1.25F	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers	
114	Pentode	5C	6AP	1.4F	0.05	RF Amplifier	
lndust	rial type	★ See	Safety Pre	cautions	at end of	this section.	

	Grid Bias er	s Screen Grid	Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trane	Amel:C	P	wer	
Plate	Cathode Resistor		Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	
Volts		Valts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
	Max. Peak Max.	Inverse Pla Peak Plat	ate Volts, e mA, 45	18000	- <u></u>	Max	Average	Plate mA, I	. <u>.</u>	1BC2
	Max. Peak		ate Volts,	18000				Plate mA, (18H2 18H2A
90	- 7.5V	90	3.5	7.8	115000	1550		8000	0.24	105GT
		Fo	r other cl			r to Type 1C7	G			10501
135 180	— 3V — 3V	67.5 67.5	2.5 2.0	1.3 1.5	600000 700000	Anode-Gr 4.0 mA	id (2): Oscillato	180 max or-Grid (1) ond., 325 mi	Resistor.	1C7G
145	0			25	<u> </u>					1021+
90 180	{ - 3V }	67.5 67.5	0.9	2.2 2.3	600000 1 M	720 750				1D5GP
	<u> </u>				_	to Type 1D5G	P			1D5GT
		Foi	r other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 1A6				1D7G
90	9V	90	1.0	5.0		925		12000	0.200	
90	0V			1.1	43500	575	2 5			1D8GT
	Max. Peak Ir Max. Peak P	iverse Plat late mA, 5	e Volts, 2 0	26000		Max.	Average	Plate mA, 0	.5	1DG3
67.5	٥٧	67.5	0.55	2.1	600000	630				1DN5
90 180	- 3V - 3V	67.5 67.5	0.7 0.6	1.6 1.7	1 M 1.5 M	600 650				1E5GP
135	- 7.5V	135	3.5	10.5				24000	0.575	1E7GT
45 67.5	0V 0V	45 67.5	1.1	0.6	400000 400000	Oscillator	Grid (1) Resistor, ond., 150 m	0.1 MΩ	1E8
07.0					*****	to Type 1F5G		1.00 m	101011103	1F4
90 135	- 3V - 4.5V	90 135	1.1 2.4	4.0 8.0	240000	1400		20000	0.11 0.31	1F5G
		For	other cha	iracteris	tics, refer	to Type 1F7G				1F6
.80	- 1.5V	67.5	0.7	2.2						1F7G
	Max. Peak II Max.	nverse Pla Peak Plate	te Volts, mA, 50	26000		Max.	Average	Plate mA, O	.5	1G3GT/ 1B3GT
90	— 6V			2.3	10700	825	8.8			1G4GT
90 35	- 6V 	90 135	2.5 2.5	8.5 9.7	133000 160000	1500 1550	<u> </u>	8500 9000	0.25 0.55	1G5G
90	٥V		11					12000	0.350	1G6GT
80 57.5	-13.5V -15V			3.1	10300	900	9.3			1H4G
90	 0V			1.0□ 0.15	240000	275	65	8000	2.1†	1H5GT
35	— 3V			0.8	35000	575	20			1H6G
M	ax. Peak invers ax. Peak Plate	e Plate Vo	olts, 26000) (Abs.)		Max.	Average	Plate mA, 0.	5	1,1,3
35	-16.5V	135	2.0	7.0	105000	950		13500	0.45	1J5G
35 35	0V 3V			Powe		for one tube	at	10000 10000	2.1 1.9	1)6G 1)6GT
M	ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate	e Plate Vo mA, 50	lts, 26000				Average	Plate mA, 0.	5	1K3
M								······		1/2/
M	Max. Peak In Max. F	iverse Plat Peak Plate	e Volts, ; mA, 50	26000		Max.	Average	Plate mA, O.	5	1K3/ 1J3

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram	Heater or Filament (F)		Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
			-	Volts	Amperes	
1 L6	Pentagrid Converter	5C	7DC	1.4F	0.05	Converter
1LA4	Power Pentode	12B	5AD	1.4F	0.05	Amplifier
1LA6	Pentagrid Converter	12B	7AK	1.4F	0.05	Converter
1LB4	Power Pentode	128	5AD	1.4F	0.05	Class A Amplifier
1LC5	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	12B	740	1.4F	0.05	Class A Amplifier
1LC6	Pentagrid Converter	12B	7AK	1.4F	0.05	Converter
1LD5	Diode-Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	12B	SAX	1.4F	0.05	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
1LE3	Medium-Mu Triode	12B	488	1.4F	0.05	Class A Amplifier
1LG5	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	12B	7A0	1.4F	0.05	Class A Amplifier
1LH4	Diode—High-Mu Triode	12B	5AG	1.4F	0.05	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
1LN5	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	12B	7A0	1.4F	0.05	Class A Amplifier
★1N2A	Half-Wave Rectifier	19A	3C	1.25F	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
1N5GT	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	14A	5Y	1.4F	0.05	Class A Amplifier
1N6G	Diode-Power Pentode	29A	7AM	1.4F	0.05	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
1P5GT	Remote-Cutaff Pentode	14 A	5Y	1.4F	0.05	Class A Amplifier
105GT	Beam Power Tube	13D	6AF	1.4F	0.1	Class A Amplifier
1 R 5	Pentagrid Converter	5C	7AT	1.4F	0.05	Converter
*1S2A/ DY87	Half-Wave Rectifier	7F	SDT	1.4	0.55	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
1S4	Power Pentode	5C	7AV	1.4F	0.1	Class A Amplifier
1\$5	Diode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	6AU	1.4F	0.05	Pentode Unit as AF Amplifier
114	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	GAR	1.4F	0.05	Class A Amplifier
1T5GT	Beam Power Tube	130	6X	1.4F	0.05	Class A Amplifier
1T6	Diode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	29A	8DA	1.25F	0.04	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
104	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	6AR	1.4F	0.05	Class A Amplifier
105	Diede-Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	6BW	1.4F	0.05	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
1V	Half-Wave Rectifier	22 or 13H	4G	6.3	0.3	With Capacitive-Input Filter
★1X2A	Half-Wave Rectifier	7A	9Y	1. 2 5F	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
1X2B *1X2B/ 1X2A	Half-Wave Rectifier	78	9Y	1.25F	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
						Class A Amplifier
283	Power Triede	278	4D	2.5F	2.5	Push-Pull Class AB1 Amplifier
2A5	Power Pentode	28	6B	2.5	1.75	Amplifier
2A6	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode	248	6G	2.5	0.8	Triode Unit as Amplifier
2A7	Pentagrid Converter	24B	70	2.5	0.8	Converter

	Grid Bias or		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi-	Pov	RCA	
Plate	Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load	Out- put	Тур
Volts	_	Valts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
90	OV	45	0.6	0.5	650000	Anode-Gric Oscillator Conversion	Gria (1)	max. volts Resistor, ond, 300 n	1.2 mA 0.2 MΩ hicromhos	1L
		For	other ch	aracterís	tics, refer	to Type 1A5				ILA
90	OV	65	0.6	0.55	750000	Total Cath Conversion bias of —	Transcon	d. (for grid- 0 micromhos	No. 4	11/
	Fc	or other ch	aracteris	tics, ref		ode Unit of T	ype 1D8G	r		116
45 90	0V 0V	45 45	0.35 0.30	1.10 1.15	700000 1 M	750 775				110
45 90	OV OV	35 35	0.75 0.70	0.70 0.75	300000 650000	Anode-Gric Oscillator- Conversion	Grìd (1)	max. volts Resistor,	1.4 mA 0.2 MΩ licromhos	110
90	0V	45	0.1	0.6	750000	575				1LD
90 90	0V 3V		=	4.5	11200 19000	1300 760	14.5 14.5		=	11E
90	OV	45	0.4	1.7	1 M	800				1LG
90	<u> </u>	90 For	0.9 other cha	3.7 racteris	500000 tics, refer	1150 to Type 1H50	<u></u>			111
90	0V	90	0.35	1.6	1.1 M	800				111
	Peak Inverse Pi Peak Plate mA,		(Total DC	and Pe		Max.	Average I	Plate mA, 0.		1N2
OV		0.3	1.2	1.5 M	750				90	1N5
90	- 4.5V	90	0.6	3.1	300000	800		25000	0.1	106
90	OV	90	0.7	2.3	800000	750				1P5
10	— 6.6V	110	1.4	10	100000	2200		8000	0.4	1050
45 90	OV OV	45 67.5	2.1 3.5	0.7 1.5	400000 500000	Conversi	on Transc	ond., 210 μπ ond., 280 μπ	hos	1R
	Max. Peak 1		te Volts,					late mA, 0.8		1S2/ DY8
45 90	- 4.5V	45	0.8	3.8	100000 100000	1250 1575		8000 8000	0.065	1S4
late Si	7V upply, 90 V ap	67.5 plied thro	ugh 1 N	7.4 Ω resis	tor. Scree	n Supply, 90) V appli	ed through		185
45 90	Grid Bias, 0 vi OV OV	45 67.5	0.7 1.4	10 mego 1.7 3.5	350000 500000	700 900	approx			114
30 90	6V	90	0.8	6.5	250000	1150		14000	0.17	1T50
45	OV	45	0.21	0.75	500000	475				116
67.5	0V	<u>67.5</u> 90	0.4	1.6	400000 1 M	600 900				104
00			0.4	1.6	600000	625				10
	٥٧	0/.5								
67.5 Max. /	AC Plate Volts (N	tin. Tot	al Effectiv	e Plate-Supp	ly Imped	lance: Up t		11
67.5 Max. / Max. (Max.)	AC Plate Volts (DC Output mA, Peak Inverse Pl	(RMS), 325 45 ate Volts,	N	fin. Tot olts, 0	al Effectiv phms; at 15	50 volts, 30 i	ohms; at :	325 volts, 75	ohms	
67.5 Max. / Max. [Max.]	AC Plate Volts (DC Output mA, Peak Inverse Pi Peak Plate mA,	(RMS), 325 45 ate Volts, 45	20000	olts, O	al Effectiv phms; at 15	50 volts, 30 i	ohms; at :	lance: Up t 325 volts, 75 Plate mA, 0.	ohms	1X2 1X2
Max. I Max. I	AC Plate Volts (DC Output mA, Peak Inverse Pi Peak Plate mA, Max. Peak In	(RMS), 325 45 ate Volts, 45	20000 e Volts,	fin. Tot olts, 0 22000	al Effectiv ohms; at 15	50 volts, 30 i Max.	ohms; at : Average	325 volts, 75	ohms 5	1X2 1X2 1X2
67.5 Max. / Max. I Max. I Max. 8	AC Plate Voits (DC Output mA, Peak Inverse Pi Peak Plate mA, Max. Peak In Max. F —45V	(RMS), 325 45 ate Volts, 45 werse Plat	20000 e Volts,	22000 60.0	al Effectiv ohms; at 15 800	50 volts, 30 i Max.	ohms; at : Average	325 volts, 75 Plate mA, 0. Plate mA, 0. 2500	ohms 5 5 3.5	1X2 1X2 1X28 1X2
67.5 Max. / Max. I Max. I Max. I	AC Plate Volts (DC Output mA, Peak Inverse Pi Peak Plate mA, Max. Peak In Max. F	(RMS), 325 45 ate Volts, 45 werse Plat Peak Plate	20000 e Volts, mA, 45	22000 60.0 80.0 80.0	800 	50 volts, 30 a Max. Max. 5250	bhms; at : Average Average 1 4.2	325 volts, 75 Plate mA, 0. Plate mA, 0.	<u>ohms</u> 5 5	1V 1X2 1X2 1X2E 1X2E 2A3
67.5 Max. / Max. I Max. 1 Max. 1 50	AC Plate Volts (DC Output mA, Peak Inverse Pi Peak Plate mA, Max. Peak In Max. Feak In Max. Feak In Max. Feak In Max. Feak In Max. Feak In Max. Feak In	(RMS), 325 45 ate Volts, 45 werse Plat Peak Plate For	N 20000 e Volts, mA, 45 other cha	22000 60.0 80.0 80.0 aracteris	800 800 tics, refer	60 volts, 30 max. Max. Max.	Average Average 4.2	25 volts, 75 Plate mA, 0. Plate mA, 0. 2500 5000	ohms 5 5 3.5 10.0†	1X2 1X2 1X2E 1X2

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram		ater or ment (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
			-	Velts	Amperes	 }
2AF4A 2AF4B	Medium-Mu Triode	5B	7DK	2.35	0.6	Class A Amplifier
★2AH2	Half-Wave Rectifier	9A	12DG	2.5	0.3	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
*2AS2	Half-Wave Rectifier	9B	12EW	2.5	0.33	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
287	Twin Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	248	70	2.5	0.8	Pentode Unit as Amplifier
2BA2	Half-Wave Rectifier	6B	9Ų	1.8F	0.3	Flyback Rectifier in TV Receivers
★2BJ2	Half-Wave Rectifier	7A	9RT	2.3	0.3	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
★2BJ2A	Kalf-Wave Rectifier	7A	SRT	2.3	0.3	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receiver
2BN4	Medium-Mu Triode	5C	7EG	2.3	0.6	Class A Amplifier
2D21W*	Gas-Tetrode	50	7BN	6.3	0.6	Thyratron
★2CN3A	Half-Wave Rectifier	14F	8MU	1.8	0.9	Flyback Rectifier in TV Receivers
2DZ4	Medium-Mu Triode	5B	7DK	2.35	0.6	Class A Amplifier
2E5	Electron-Ray Tube	22 or 13H	6R	2.5	0.8	Visual Indicator
2EN5	Twin Diode	5C	7FL	2.1	0.45	Horizontal Phase Detector
2ER5	High-Mu Triode	5C	7FP	2.3	0.6	Class A Amplifier
2FQ5A	High-Mu Triode	5C	7FP	2.3	0.6	Class A Amplifier
2GK5	High-Mu Triode	5C	7FP	2.3	0.6	Class A Amplifier
2GU5	Beam Hexode	5C	7GA	2.4	0.6	Class A Amplifier
★3A2	Half-Wave Rectifier	7A	9DT	3.15	0.22	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
★3A3 3A3/3B2	Half-Wave Rectifier	14E	8EZ	3.15	0.22	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receiver
3A3A ★3A3A/ 3B2	Half-Wave Rectifier	14F	8EZ	3.15	0.22	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receiver
★3A3B	Half-Wave Rectifier	14F	8EZ	3.15	0.22	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
3A4 •	Tetrade	5C	788	1.4F 2.8F	0.2	AF Power Amplifier
3A8GT	Diade-Triade—Pentode	29G	8AS	1.4F 2.8F	0.1 0.05	Triode Unit as Class A Amplither Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
3AF4A	Medium-Mu Triode	58	7DK	3.15	0.45	Class A Amplifier
★3AT2	Half-Wave Rectifier	9B	12FV	3.15	0.22	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
3AV6	Twin Diode-High-Mu Triode	5C	7BT	3.15	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
3AW2	Half-Wave Rectifier	98	12EW	3.15	0.39	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
3AW3	Half-Wave Rectifier	14B	8EZ	3.15	0.22	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
3B2	Half-Wave Rectifier	210	8GH	3.15	0.22	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Service
3B4WA+	Beam Power Tube	5C	TCY	1.25F 2.50F	0.33 0.165	Class C Amplifier
3BA6	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BK	3.15	0.6	Class A Amplifier
2005	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BD	3.15	0.6	Class A Amplifier
3BC5						

 \star See Safety Precautions at end of this section.

	Grid Bias or		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi-	Powe	r	RCA
Piate	Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load	Out- put	ксл Туре
Voits		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
80	150Ω			17.5	2100	6500	13.5			2AF4A 2AF4B
	Max. Peak I	nverse Pla Peak Plate	te Volts,	30000		Ma	x. Average	Plate mA, 1.	5	2AH2
	Max. Peak I	nverse Pla	te Volts,	30000		Ma	x. Average	Plate mA, 1,	5	2AS2
	Max.	Peak Plate For			stics refe	r to Type 68				287
	Max. Peak I	nverse Pla	te Volts	, 8250				Plate mA, 0.		2BA2
	Max. Max. Peak 1	Peak Plate								
	Max.	Peak Plate	e mA, 80				ax. Average	Plate mA, 1		2BJ2
	Max. Peak Ir Max. Peak P	ate mA, 8	e volts, D	22000		M	ax. Average	Plate mA, 1		2BJ2A
150	220Ω			9	6300	6800	43			2BN4
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refe	to Type 2D	21			2D21W
		For	other cha	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 3C	N3A	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		2CN3A
80				15	2000	6700	14			2DZ4
					istics, refe	r to Type 6	5			2E5
	Peak Heater-C Its Not to Exc		ts, ±200)		Max.	DC Plate n	A,5		2EN5
			other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6E	R5		_	2ER5
		For o	ther cha	racteris	tics, refer	to type 6	FQ5A			2FQ5A
						Type 6GK5/				2GK5
Max D	ak Inverse Di			aracteri	stics, refer	r to Type 6G	105	<u>·</u>		2GU5
Max. P Max. P	eak Inverse Pl eak Plate mA,	80	18000			Max.	Average P	ate mA, 1.5		3A2
Max. P Max. P	eak Inverse P eak Plate mA,	ate Volts, 88	30000			Max.	Average PI	ate mA, 1.7		3 A3 _3A3/3B
	Inverse Pla Plate mA,		30000		Max. Av	erono Blota	mA 2			3A3A 3A3A/
	Max Bask I					ciage riate	· 107, £			3B2
		nverse Pia Peak Plate						Plate mA, 2		
150		nverse Pia Peak <u>Plate</u> 90			100000			Plate mA, 2 8000	0.7	3B2
150 90	Max.	Peak Plate	mA, 100)	100000	м			-	3B2 3A3B 3A4 •
	Max. —8.4V	Peak Plate	mA, 100	133		- M 1900	ax. Average		-	3B2 3A3B
90	Max. 8.4V 	90 90 90 90	mA, 100 2.2 0.5) 133 0.2 1.5	200000 800000	M 1900 325	ax. Average 65 		-	3B2 3A3B 3A4 •
90	Max. 1 8.4V 0V 0V Max. Peak 1	Peak Plate 90 90 90 For 0 nverse Pla	mA, 100 2.2 0.5 other cha te Volts,	133 0.2 1.5 aracteris , 30000	200000 800000	M 1900 325 750 to Type 2A	ax. Average 65 F4B		0.7	3B2 3A3B 3A4 • 3A8GT
90	Max. 1 8.4V 0V 0V Max. Peak 1	Peak Plate 90 90 90 For 0 nverse Plat Peak Plat	mA, 100 2.2 0.5 other cha te Volts, e mA, 88	133 0.2 1.5 aracteris , 30000	200000 800000 tics, refer	M 1900 325 750 to Type 2A	ax. Average	8000	0.7	3B2 3A3B 3A4 • 3A8GT 3AF4A 3AT2
90	Max. 1 8.4V 0V 0V Max. Peak 1	90 90 90 For 0 nverse Pla Peak Plato For	mA, 100 2.2 0.5 other cha te Volts, e mA, 88 other ch	133 0.2 1.5 aracteris , 30000 aracteri	200000 800000 tics, refer stics, refer	M 1900 325 750 to Type 2A Ma	ax. Average 65 F4B x. Average V6	8000	0.7	3B2 3A3B 3A4 • 3A8GT 3AF4A 3AT2 3AV6
90	Max. 1 8.4V 0V 0V Max. Peak 1	Peak Plate 90 90 For nverse Pla Peak Plate For For	mA, 100 2.2 0.5 other cha te Volts, e mA, 88 other ch other ch	133 0.2 1.5 aracteris 30000 naracteri naracteri	200000 800000 tics, refer stics, refer stics, refer	M 1900 325 750 to Type 2A Ma to Type 6A r to Type 3C	ax. Average 65 F4B x. Average V6 ZZ3	8000	0.7	3B2 3A3B 3A4 * 3A8GT 3AF4A 3AF2 3AV6 3AW2
90 90 90 Max. P	Max. 4 8.4V OV OV Max. Peak I Max. eak Plate mA,	Peak Plate 90 90 For 0 nverse Pla Peak Plate For For 0 80	mA, 100 2.2 0.5 other cha te Volts e mA, 88 other ch other ch her char	133 0.2 1.5 aracteris 30000 haracteri haracteri racteristi	200000 800000 tics, refer stics, refer stics, refer ics, refer t	M 1900 325 750 to Type 2A Ma to Type 6A r to Type 3C to Type 3A3, Max.	ax. Average 65 F4B x. Average V6 Z3 '3B2 DC Inverse	8000 Plate mA, 1. Plate Volts.	0.7 7	3B2 3A3B 3A4 ◆ 3A8GT 3AF4A 3AT2 3AV6
90 90 90 Max. P Max. T	Max. —8.4V OV OV Max. Peak I Max. eak Plate mA, otal DC & Pea	Peak Plate 90 90 For inverse Plat Peak Plati For For of 80 k Inverse	mA, 100 2.2 0.5 other cha te Volts, e mA, 88 other ch other ch her char Plate Vo	133 0.2 1.5 aracteris , 30000 haracteri haracteri tharacteri thatacterist	200000 800000 tics, refer stics, refer stics, refer ics, refer t	M 1900 325 750 to Type 2A Ma to Type 6A r to Type 3C to Type 3A3, Max.	ax. Average 65 F4B x. Average V6 Z3 '3B2 DC Inverse	8000	0.7 7 25000	3B2 3A3B 3A4 3A8GT 3AF4A 3AT2 3AV6 3AW2 3AW3 3B2
90 90 90 Max. P Max. T 150	Max. 4 8.4V OV OV Max. Peak I Max. eak Plate mA, otal DC & Pea 38V 68Ω	Peak Plate 90 90 For d nverse Pla Peak Plat For For ol 80 k Inverse 135	mA, 100 2.2 0.5 other chate Volts, e mA, 88 other ch other ch her char Plate Vo 6.2 4.4	133 0.2 1.5 aracteris aracteri naracteri acteristi 1ts, 3500 25 10.8	200000 800000 tics, refer stics, refer tics, refer tics, refer tics, refer tics, refer 250000	M 1900 325 750 to Type 2Ai Max to Type 3A3, Max. Max. Max.	ax. Average 65 F4B x. Average V6 Z3 '3B2 DC Inverse	8000 Plate mA, 1. Plate Volts.	0.7 7	382 3A3B 3A4 • 3A8GT 3AF4A 3AT2 3AV6 3AW2 3AW3 3B2 3B4WA •
90 90 90 Max. P Max. T 150 100 250	Max. 8.4V OV OV Max. Peak I Max. eak Plate mA, otal DC & Pea 38V 68Ω	Peak Plate 90 90 For d nverse Pla Peak Plat For For ol 80 k Inverse 135 100	mA, 100 2.2 0.5 other cha te Volts, e mA, 88 other ch other ch her char Plate Vo 6.2 4.4 4.2	133 0.2 1.5 aracteris aracteri naracteri acteristi 1ts, 3500 25 10.8 11	200000 800000 tics, refer stics, refer tics, refer tic	M 1900 325 750 to Type 2A1 Ma to Type 3A3, Max. Max. Max. 4300 4400	ax. Average 65 F4B x. Average V6 Z3 '3B2 DC Inverse	8000 Plate mA, 1. Plate Volts.	0.7 7 25000	3B2 3A3B 3A4 + 3A8GT 3AF4A 3AT2 3AV6 3AW2 3AW3 3B2 3B4WA + 3BA6
90 90 90 Max. P Max. T 150	Max. 4 8.4V OV OV Max. Peak I Max. eak Plate mA, otal DC & Pea 38V 68Ω	Peak Plate 90 90 For d nverse Pla Peak Plat For For ol 80 k Inverse 135	mA, 100 2.2 0.5 other chate Volts, e mA, 88 other ch other ch her char Plate Vo 6.2 4.4	133 0.2 1.5 aracteris aracteri naracteri acteristi 1ts, 3500 25 10.8	200000 800000 tics, refer stics, refer tics, refer tics, refer tics, refer tics, refer 250000	M 1900 325 750 to Type 2A Ma to Type 3A r to Type 3A3, Max. Max. 4300 4400 4900 5700	ax. Average 65 F4B x. Average V6 Z3 '382 DC Inverse Average PI 	8000 Plate mA, 1. Plate Volts.	0.7 7 25000 1.25 	382 3A3B 3A4 • 3A8GT 3AF4A 3AT2 3AV6 3AW2 3AW3 3B2 3B4WA •

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram		ater or Nent (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
			-	Volts	Amperes	-
★3BL2 ★ 3BL2A	Half-Wave Rectifier	98	12HK	3.3F	0.28 5	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
★3BM2	Half-Wave Rectifier	9B	12HK	3F	0.3	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
★3BN2 ★3BN2A	Half-Wave Rectifier	9B	12FV	3.15	0.3	Flyback Rectifiers in TV Receivers
3BN4	Medium-Mu Triode	5C	7EG	3.0	0.45	Class A Amplifier
★3BS2A	Half-Wave Rectifier	98	12HY	3.15	0.48	Flyback Rectifiers in TV Receivers
3BU8	Sharp-Cutoff Twin Pentode	6E	9FG	3.15	0.6	Class A Amplifier (With both sections operating)
3BY6	Pentagrid Amplifier	5C	7CH	3.15	0.6	Class A Amplifier
*3CA3	Half-Wave Rectifier	14E	8MH	3.6	0.225	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
3CE5	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	78D	3.15	0.6	Class A Amplifier
3CF6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	3.15	0.6	Class A Amplifier
*3CN3A	Half-Wave Rectifier	14F	8MU	3.15	0.48	Flyback Rectifiers in TV Receivers
★ 3CX3	Half-Wave Rectifier	14G	8MT	3.15	0.48	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
* 3DA3/ 30H3	Half-Wave Rectifier	.14G	8MY	3.15	0.48	Pulsed Rectifiers in TV Receivers
★ 3DR3	Half Wave Rectifier	29Q	8NL	3,15	0.3	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
★3DS3	Half-Wave Rectifier	29P	8NL	3.15	0.48	Pulsed Rectifier in TV Receivers
3DZ4	Medium-Mu Triode	5B	7DK	3.2	0.45	Class A Amplifier
3EA5	Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode	5C	7EW	2.9	0.45	Class A Amplifier
3EJ7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	SC	SAQ	3.4	0.6	Class A Amplifier
3FH5	High-Mu Triade	5C	7FP	3.0	0.45	Class A Amplifier
3GS8 3GS8/ 3BU8	Sharp-Cutoff Twin Pentode	6E	9LW	3.15	0.6	Class A Amplifier (With both sections operating)
3HA5	High-Mu Triode	5A	7GM	2.7	0.45	Class A Amplifier
3HS8	Sharp-Cutoff Twin Pentode	6E	9FG	3.15	0.6	Class A Amplifier (With both sections operating)
3JC6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9PM	3.5	0.6	Class A Amplifier
3JD6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9PM	3.5	0.6	Class A Amplifier
3LF4	Beam Power Tube	12B	6BA	1.4F 2.8F	0.1 0.05	Class A Amplifier
3Q4	Power Pentode	5C	78A	1.4F 2.8F	0.1 0.05	Class A Amplifier
3Q5GT	Beam Power Tube	13D	7AP	1.4F 2.8F	0.1 0.05	Class A Amplifier
3 \$4	Power Pentode	5C	78A	1.4F 2.8F	0.1 0.05	Class A Amplifier
3V4	Power Pentode	5C	6BX	1.4F 2.8F	0.1 0.05	Class A Amplifier
4BC5	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BD	4.2	0.45	Class A Amplifier
4BL8	Medium-Mu Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9DC	4.6	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
4807A/ 4827	Medium Mu Twin Triode	6B	SAJ	4.2	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
4BS8	Medium-Mu Twin-Triode	6B	9AJ	4.6	0.6	Class A Amplifier
4BU8	Sharp-Cutoff Twin Pentede	6E	9FG	4.2	0.45	Class A Amplifier (With both sections operating)

 \star See Safety Precautions at end of this section.

CHARACTERISTICS CHART

	Grid Bias		Screen	DI-4-	10 51-1-	T =	Ame 114	Pow	er	- 004
Piate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Plate Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	Type
Velts		Valts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
		Inverse Pla Peak Plate		33000		M	lax. Averag	e Plate mA, 2	2	3BL2 3BL2A
	Max. Peak	Inverse Pla Peak Plate	te Volts, mA, 100	33000		N	ax. Averag	e Plate mA, 2	2	3BM2
	Max, Peak	Inverse Pla . Peak Plate	te Volts.	30000		Ma	ax. Average	Plate mA, 1.	.7	3BN2 3BN2A
					stics, refer	to Type 6B	N4			3BN4
	Max. Peak Max.	Inverse Pla Peak Plate	te Volts, mA, 110	38000		Ma	ax. Average	Plate mA, 2.	2	3BS2A
100 100		67.5 67.5	6.5 3.3	2.2						3BU8
					stics, refer	to Type 6B	YB			3BY6
	Max. Peak Max	Inverse Plat Peak Plate	te Volts, mA, 100	30000		м	ax. Average	e Plate mA, 2	2	3CA3
				racteris	tics, refer	to Type 6C	E5			3CE5
					tics, refer	to Type 6C	F6			3CF6
		Inverse Plat Peak Plate		38000		Ma	ix. Average	Plate mA, 2.	2	3CN3A
		For oth	er charac	teristic	s, refer to	Type 3DA3/	/3DH3			3CX3
		Inverse Plat Peak Plate		38000		Ма	ix. Average	Plate mA, 2.	2	3DA3/ 3DH3
		Inverse Pla Peak Plate				N	Max. Averag	e Plate mA, ;	2	3DR3
For	r other charac				/3DH3					3DS3
		For (other cha	racteris	tics, refer	to Type 2D	Z4			3DZ4
250	_1V	140	0.95	10	150000	8000				3EA5
190 200	2.35V 2.5V	190 200	4.1 4.1	10 10	350000 350000	15000 15000			_	3EJ7
		For	other cha	racteris	tics, refer	to Type 6F	H5			3FH5
		For oth	er charac	teristic	s, refer to	Type 4GS8/	4BU8			3GS8 3GS8/ 3BU8
135	87Ω	_	10	19 11.5	1000 5600	20000 14500	80 72			3HA5
100		67.5 67.5	7 4.4	2						3HS8
125	56Ω		3.2	13	180000	15000				3106
125	<u>56Ω</u>			14 aracteri	180000 stics. refe	16000 r to Type 6.	 JD6			3JD6
	·					to Type 30				3LF4
						to Type 3V				3Q4
110 110	6.6V 6.6V	110 110	1.4 1.1	10.0 8.5	100000 110000	2200 2000		8000 8000	0.40 0.33	3Q5GT
	<u> </u>	67.5	1.4	7.4 6.1	100000 100000	1575 1425		8000 8000	0.27 0.235	3\$4
90		67.5	1.1 2.1	9.5	100000	2150		10000	0.27	3¥4
90 90 90	— 4.5V	90		7.7	120000	2000		10000	0.24	
90 90 90 90	- 4.5V - 4.5V	90 90 150	1.7		800000	5700				4805
90 90 90	— 4.5V	150	1.7 2.1	7.5	800000 tics, refer	5700 to Type 681	 L8			4BC5 4BL8
90 90 90 90	- 4.5V - 4.5V	150 For o	1.7 2.1 ther char	7.5 acterist	lics, refer					4BL8 4BQ7A/
90 90 90 90	- 4.5V - 4.5V	150 For o For o	1.7 2.1 ther char	7.5 racterist racteris	lics, refer	to Type 681	27A			4BL8

RCA Type	Name	Gut- line	Terminal Dia- gram	- 1	Heater or lament (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
				Volts	Amperes	
4BZ7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	63	9AJ	4.2	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
4CY5	Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode	50	7EW	4.5	0.3	Class A Amplifier
4015 4D16	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7EN	4.2	0.45	Class A Amplifier
4EH7	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	60	9AQ	4.4	0.45	Class A Amplifier
4EJ7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	60	9AQ	4.4	0.45	Class A Amplifier
4ES8	Variable-Mu Twin-Triode	6B	9AJ	4	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier Cascode-Type Amplifier
4ES8/ XCC189	Variable-Mu Twin Triode	6B	LAG	4	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
4EW6	Sharp Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	4.2	0.6	Class A Amplifier
4GM6	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	4.2	0.6	Class A Amplifier
4 G S8	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9LW	4.2	0.45	Class A Amplifier
4GS8/ 4BU8	Sharp-Cutoff Twin Pentode	6E	9LW	4.2	0.45	Class A Amplifier (With both sections operating)
4GX7	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	68	SQA	4.2	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
4GZ5	Power Pentode	5C	704	4	0.6	Class A Amplifier
4HA5/ PC900	High-Mu Trlode	5A	7GM	3.9	0.3	Class A Amplifier
4HA7	Dual Triode	BA	12FQ	4.2	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
4HA7/ 4HC7	Dual Triode	8A	12FQ	4.2	0.6	Class A Amplifier
4HC7	Dual Triode	30E	12FR	4.2	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
4HM6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9PM	4.2	0.45	Class A Amplifier
4HT6	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	68	9PM	4.2	0.45	Class A Amplifier
4JC6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9PM	4.5	0.45	Class A Amplifier
4KN8/ 4RHH8	Medium-Mu Twin-Triode	6B	LAG	4.2	0.6	Class A Amplifier
4LU6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	4.2	0.6	Class A Amplifier
5AS4	Full-Wave Rectifier	27A	5T	5.0F	3.0	With Capacitive-Input Filter
5AS8	Diode-Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	68	9DS	4.7	0.6	Class A Amplifier
						With Capacitive-Input Filter
5au4	Full-Wave Rectifier	19 G	5T	5.0F	3.75	With Inductive-Input Filter
5AV8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9DZ	4.7	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
5AW4	Full-Wave Rectifier	19H	5T	5.0F	3.7	Rectifier
5AZ4	Full-Wave Rectifier	12C	5T	5.0F	2.0	
5B8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	68	9EC	4.7	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
5BC3	Full-Wave Rectifier	170	901	5F	3	With Capactive-Input Filter With Inductive-Input Filter
5BE8	Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	63	9EG	4.7	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier

	Grid Bias		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi-	Power	RCA
Plate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load Dut-	Туре
Volts		Volts	mA	mÅ	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms Watts	:
		For o	ther cha	racteris	tics, refer	to Type	6BZ7		4BZ7
125	— 1V	80	1.5	10	100000	8000			4CY5
150	56Ω	100	2.1	1.1	150000	515			4DT6
200	- 2	90	4.5	12	0.5	12500	·		4EH7
200	- 2.5	200	4.1	10	0.35	15000		<u> </u>	4EJ7
		For	other cha	iracteris	tics, refer	to Type 6E	S8		4ES8
_		For of	ther char	acteristi	cs, refer t	o Type 6ES	B/ECC189		4ES8/ XCC189
		Fo	or other o	characte	ristics, ref	er to Type	5EW6		4EW6
		Fo	r other c	haracter	ristics, ref	er to Type	5GM6		4GM6
	-	For oth	ner chara	cteristic	s, refer to	Type 4GS8/	4BU8		4GS8
100		67.5	6.0			o. 3 volts, e			- 4GS8/
100		67.5	6.0	2.0		o. 3 volts, i		1, 0	- 4BU8
						icroamperes			46X7
						to Type 5G			
		For	other cha		tics, refer	to Type 6G			4GZ5
135 135	1V 0Ω			11.5 19		14500 20000	72 80		4HA5/ PC900
250 250	- 8.5 - 2			10.5 1.2	7700 62500	2200 1600	17 100		4HA7
230		For	other cha			to Type 4H			4HA7/
									4HC7
150 150	-1 -1			18 1	5200 53000	4400 1900	23 100		4HC7
		For	other cha	racteris	tics, refer	to Type 6H	M6		4HM6
125	56Ω	125	4	15	143000	14000			4HT6
		For of	ther cha	racterist	tics, refer	to Type	6JC6		416
		For othe	er charac	teristics	, refer to	Type 6KN8/	5RHH8		4KN8/ 4RHH8
250	820Ω	250	2.3 15	9 40	280000	3900			4LUG
50 Max.	65Ω AC Volts per F	250 late (RMS).			DC Output	 t mA, 300	Min.	Total Effect, Supply	5AS4
Max.	Peak Inverse V	0115, 1550				t mA, 300 e mA, 1000	Impe	1. per Plate, 97 ohms	
						to Type 6A		V-14- 1400	5AS8
and	DC Output mA Total Effect. Su	ipply Imped	. per Pia	te, 50 ol	าตร	Max. P	eak Plate m	Volts, 1400 A per Plate, 1075	
Max.	. DC Output mA . Peak Inverse	, 325 for AC	C Volts p	er Plate	500 and I	nput Choke	10 henries		- 5AU4
Max. 200	-6V	Volts, 1400		13	5750	3300	19		
200	180Ω	150	2.8	9.5	300000	6200		<u></u>	- 5AV8
Max.	Peak Inverse	/olts, 1550			Max	. Peak Plate	mA per Pl	ate, 750	5AW4
		For rat	ings and	characte	eristics, rei	fer to Type	5Y3GT		5AZ4
200	6V			13	5750	3300	19	·	5B8
200	180Ω	150	2.8	9.5	300000	6200	DC Output		
	AC Volts per i Peak Inverse	Volts, 1700 Min To	, 500 Ital Effec	t Sunnt	v impedin	Max. Max. er Plate 21	DC Output Peak Plate	mA, 150 mA per Plate, 1000	
Max	AC Volts per	Plate (RMS)	, 600		,	Max.	DC Output	mA, 150	- 5BC3
Max.	. Peak Inverse	Volts, 1700		e of In	out Choke	Max. 10 henries	Peak Plate	mA per Plate, 1000	
150	56Ω			18	5000	8500	40		
									5BE8

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram	He	ater or ment (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use	
				Voits	Amperes	5	
5BT8	Twin-Diode-Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	65	9FE	4.7	0.6	Class A Amplifier	
58W8	Twin-Diode	68	SHK	4.7	0.6	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplific	
5CL8	Medium-Mu Triode—	6 B	9FX	4.7	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie	
5CM8	High-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6 B	9FZ	4.7	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
5CQ8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff-Pentode	68	96E	4.7	0.6	Class A Amplifier	
5DH8	Kigh-Mu Tríode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9EG	5.2	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
						With Capacitive-Input Filter	
58)4	Full-Wave Rectifier	19E	8KS	5.0	3.0	With Inductive-Input Filter	
5ES8 5ES8/ YCC189	Variable-Mu Twin-Triode	6B	9AJ	.5.6	0.45	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier Cascode Type Amplifier	
5EU8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	\$JF	4.7	0.6	Class A Amplifier	
5FV8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	68	9FA	4.7	0.6	Class A Amplifier	
5GJ7	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6)	SQA	5.6	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
5GX6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7EN	4.7	0.6	Class A Amplifier	
5GX7	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	SQA	5.6	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
5HA7	Dual Triode	8A	12FQ	5.6	0.45	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier	
5HG8	Medium-Mu Triode Skarp-Cutoff Pentode	68	SMP	5.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
5JK6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	4.9	0.45	Class A Amplifier	
5JL6	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	4.9	0.45	Class A Amplifier	
5T4	Full-Wave Rectifier	4	5T	5.0F	~ ~	With Capacitive-Input Filter	
514	Full-wave rectines	•	31	3.0F	2.0	With Inductive-Input Filter	
5U4G	Full-Wave Rectifier	27B	5T	5.0F	3.0	With Capacitive-Input Filter	
5 09 / CF201	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	68	10K	5.9	0.45	Class A Amplifier	
5V3	Full-Wave Rectifier	19E	57	5.0F		With Capacitive-Input Filter	
143	r411- W476 R6((11)C)	1 3C	31	3.UF	3.8	With Inductive Input Filter	
5V4G	Euli Waya Pastifias		E1			With Capactive-Input Filter	
1440	Full-Wave Rectifier	25	5L	5	2	With Inductive-Input Filter	
	······································						

CHARACTERISTICS CHART

	Erid Bias		Screen	Blat-		Terre	1	Pow	er	- RĈA				
Plate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Plate Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	KUA Type				
Volts		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts					
200	180Ω	150	2.8	9.5	300000	6200				5BT8				
		Fo	r other c	harateri	stics, refe	r to Type 681	N8	-		5BW8				
125	— 1V			14	5000	8000	40			5CL8				
		I	For other	charact	eristics, re	efer to 6CM8				5CM8				
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 6C	Q8			5008				
250	390Ω			7.3	12000	4400	53	 →		- 5DH8				
125	56Ω	125	3.8	13.5	150000	8600				- 30110				
AC Ma	C Volts per Pla ax. Peak Inver	ite (RMS), 4 se Volts, 17	50 100	DC OL Max F	utput mA, : Peak Plate	275 mA, 1000	Min. T Imp. p	otal Effect. S Der Plate, 67	Supply ohms	2014				
	Volts per Pla ax. Peak Inver				itput mA, 2 Peak Plate		Min	. Value of In oke, 10 henri	put	- 5DJ4				
						, 1000				5ES8				
		For oth	er charad	teristic	s, refer to	Type 6ES8/I	ECC189			5ES8/ YCC189				
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 6E	U8			5EU8				
				· ·		r to Type 6				5FV8				
100	- 3			15		9000	20			51 10				
170	- 1.2	120	3	10	0.35	11000	55			5GJ7				
						3700		~						
150	180Ω	100	3	3.7	140000	(Grid-No. 1 to Plate)		_		5GX6				
100		100	•	•	1.0000	750 (Grid-No.								
100				12.5		3 to Plate) 8700	40							
125 120	<u> </u>	90	2.8	13 8.5	4700	8500 13000				- 56X7				
125	<u> </u>	125	2.5	8	200000	11000								
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 4H	A7	- <u>-</u> .		5HA7				
		For	other ch	aracteris	stics, refer	to Type 6H	G8			5HG8				
	·		other cl			r to Type 6J	K6			5JK6				
125	68Ω AC Volts per	60 Plate (PMS)	4	12.5 Max	120000 . DC Outpu	15500 ut mA 225		Total Effect.	Supply	5/16				
Max.	Peak Inverse	Volts, 1550		Max	. Peak Pla	te mA, 675	Impe	d. per Plate,	150 ohms	- 5T4				
	AC Volts per Peak Inverse		, 550	Max Max	. DC Outpu . Peak Plat	it mA, 225 te mH, 675		Value of Inpu 10 henrie:	s í					
	AC Volts per Peak Inverse		, 450		. DC Outpu . Peak Plat			Total Effect. d. per Plate,		5U4 G				
			er charac			Type 6U9/E				509/				
May	AC Volts per						DC Output	mA, 350		LCF201				
Max.	Peak Inverse	Volts, 1400		t Suppl	v Imped. r		Peak Plate	mA per Plat	e, 1200	.				
Max. Max.	AC Volts per Peak Inverse	Plate (RMS) Volts, 1400	, 500	-		Max. Max.	DC Output	mA, 350 mA per Plati	e, 1200	573				
	AC Volts per			e of Ing	out Choke,	10 henries	DC Output	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·						
Max.	Peak Inverse	Volts, 1400		Supply	Imped p	Max. Max. er Plate, 100	Peak Plate	mA per Plat	e, 525					
	AC Volts per	Plate (RMS), 500	. ooppij	impeut pi	Max.	DC Output	mA, 175	5V4G					
Max.	. Peak inverse	volts, 1400	Min Val	in of In	nut Choke	Max. 4 henries	reak Plate	mA per Plat	late, 525					

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Día- gram		ater or ment (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
			-	Volts	Amperes	
5V6GT	Beam Power Tube	130	7AC	4.7	0.6	Class A Amplifier
5W4 5W4GT	Full-Wave Rectifier	2B 13E	5T 5T	5.0F	1.5	With Capacitive-Input Filter
5X4G	Full-Wave Rectifier	27B	5Q	5.0F	3.0	·····
5Y4G 5Y4GA 5Y4GT	Full-Wave Rectifier	25 19E 13E	50 50 50	5.0F	2.0	
5Z3	Full-Wave Rectifier	27B	40	5.0F	3.0	
5Z4	Full-Wave Rectifier	28	5L	5.0	2.0	With Capacitive-Input Filter
					<u> </u>	With Inductive-Input Filter
6A3	Power Triode	27B 28	4D 7B	6.3F 6.3	1.0	Amplifier
<u>6A6</u> 6A7	High-Mu Twin Power Triode	248			0.8	Amplifier
6A7S	Pentagrid Converter	248	70	6.3	0.3	Converter
6A8 6A8G 6A8GT	Pentagrid Converter	3 23 14A	8A 8A 8A	6.3	0.3	Converter
6AB5/ 6N5	Electron-Ray Tube	22 er 13H	6R	6.3	0.15	Visual Indicator
6AB7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	2A	8N	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
						Class B Amplifier
6AC5GT	High-Mu Power Triade	130	6Q	6.3	0.4	Dynamic-Coupled Amplifier With 76 Driver
6AC7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	2A	8N	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
6AD6G	Electron-Ray Tube	29E	7AG	6.3	0.15	Visual Indicator
6AD7G	Low-Mu Triode—Power Pentode	25	BAY	6.3	0.85	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AE5GT	Low-Mu Triode	130	8Q	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6AE6G	Twin-Plate Control Tube	22	7AH	6.3	0.15	Remote Cutoff Triode
6AE7GT	Twin Innut Triado	13D	TAX	6.2	0.5	Class A Amplifier
6AG7Y+	Twin-Input Triade Power Pentode	28	8Y	6.3 6.3	0.5	Class A Amplifier
6AG11	Twin Diade—Twin Triode	8A	12DA	6.3	0.75	Each Triode as Class A Amplifier
6AH4GT	Low-Mu Triode	13D	8EL	6.3	0.75	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
6AH6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BK	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
	Medium-Mu Triode-					Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AH9	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8B	12HJ	6.3	0.9	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifie
6AJ8/ ECH81	Triode-Heptode Converter	9CA	6E	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Oscillator Heptode Unit as Mixer
6AK8/ EABC80	Triple Diode High-Mu Triode	6E	9E	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AK10	High-Mu Triple Triode	80	12FE	6.3	0.9	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AL3	Half-Wave Rectifier	70	9CB	6.3	1.55	Television Damper Service

536

CHARACTERISTICS CHART

	Grid Bias or		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi-	Pov		RCA
Piate	Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load	Out- put	Туре
Volts		Volts	mÅ	mA	Ohms	Micremhos		Ohms	Watts	
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6V	6GT			5V6G1
Max.	Peak Inverse V	/olts. 1400		Max.	DC Output	mA. 100	Ma	ax. Peak Plat	e mA,300	5W4
			Far athe							5W4G1 5X4G
	·		For othe	e rating	s, refer tu	Type 5U4G	· .	- // ·		5Y4G
Max. P Max. P	eak Plate mA, 3 eak Plate mA, 4	375 (5Y4G) 100 (5Y4GA	, 5Y4GT)			For other	ratings, r	efer to Type	5Y3G	5Y4GA 5Y4GT
					s, refer to					5Z3
Max. A Max. P	AC Volts per Pla Yeak Inverse Vol	ite (RMS), Its. 1400	350	Max. DC Max. Pe	Output mi ak Plate m	A, 125 A, 375	Min. 1 Imped	fotal Effect S . per Plate, S	Supply 50 ohms	574
Max. A	C Volts per Pla eak inverse Vol	te (RMS), ts, 1400	,	Max. DC Max. Pe	Output m# ak Plate m	A, 125 A, 375	Min. V	alue of Inpu 5 henries		- 5Z4
						r to Type 68				6A3
		For	other ch	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 6N	7GT			6A6
		Fo	r other c	haracter	ístics, refe	r to Type 6/	48			6A7 6A7S
250	— 3V	100	2.7	3.5	360000	Anode-Gri Oscillator Transcond	d (2): 25 -Grid (1) Ι., 550 μπ	iO max. V,) Res. C nhos	4.0 mA onversion	6A8 6A8G 6A8GT
Grid B	& Target Supply ias, — 10.0 v & Target Supply ias, — 15.5 v	olts; Shad	low Angl	e, O°. 🛛	Bias, O vo	oits; Angle,	90°; Pla	te Current,	0.5 mA.	6AB5/ 6N5
300	- 3V	200	3.2	12.5	700000	5000				6AB7
250	OV			5.00				10000	8.0†	
250	Average f	Plate Curre	ent of Dri	ver = 5	loped in co .5 milliamp 32 milliam	oupling circu peres peres	lit	7000	3.7	6AC5G1
300	160Ω	150	2.5	10.0	1 M	9000				6AC7
Ţ	arget Voltage, J Current, 1.2	150 volts. (mA Contro	Control-E I-Electroc	lectrode le Voltag	Voltage, – ge, 75 volts	-50 volts; S s; Angle, O°;	hadow Ang ; Target Cu	le, 135°; Tar Irrent, 3 mA	get	6AD6G
250	25V			3.7	19000	325	6			
250	—16.5V	250	6.5	34.0	80000	2500		7000	3.2	[–] 6AD7G
95	—15V		—	7.0	3500	1200	4.2			6AE5GT
250 250	- 1.5V 35V			6.5 0.01	25000	1000	25			
250	- 1.5V			4.5	35000	950	33			- 6AE6G
250 250	<u> </u>			0.01	4650	3000	14			6AE7GT
2.30		For	other ch			to Type 6A				6AG7Y
125	-1V			7.5	8500	7800	66			6AG11
Max.	DC Plate Volts,	500			M	ax. Peak Pos	itive-Pulse	Plate Volts	, 2000	6AH4GT
Max. 300	DC Cathode m/ 160Ω	4, 60 150	2.5	10.0	500000	ax. Plate Di: 9000	ssipation,	1.5 watts		GAHG
250	9V			8	7300	2750	20			UAIIO
250 50	122Ω 0	150 125	6 32	25 76	5500	21000				6AH9
250	Grid Res.,			4.5		Osci	llator Grid	Current, 200	μA	6AJ8/
250	_2V		6.7	3.25	1M			ond., 775 mi		ECH81
250 100	3V 1V			1 0.8	58000 54000	1200 1300	70 70			6AK8/ EABC8
200	230 Ω			10	7500	7000	53			6AK10
Max.	Peak Inverse P	late Volts,	7500 (Al			Max.	Plate Diss	ipation, 5 wa	tts	
Max.	Peak Plate mA, DC Plate mA, 2	, 550				Max.	Peak Heat	er-Cathode V	olts, 6600	6AL3

† For two tubes at stated plate-to-plate load.

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram		iter or nent (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
			-	Volts	Amperes	_
6AL7GT	Electron-Ray Tube	13C	8CH	6.3	0.15	Visual Indicator
6AM4	High-Mu Triode	6A	9BX	6.3	0.225	Class A Amplifier
6AM8	Diode-Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	\$B	9CY	6.3 6.3	0.45 0.45	Diode Unit Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AN4	High-Mu Triode	5B	7DK	6.3	0.225	Class A Amplifier
GAN5+	Beam Power Tube	5C	78D	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
6AN8	Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	68	9DA	6.3 6.3	0.45 0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentrode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AQ5	Beam Power Tube	5D	7BZ	6.3 6.3	0.45	Single Tube Class A Amplifier
UAQJ	DEAM FUNCI INGC	30	/02	6.3	0.45	Push-Pull Class A1 Amplifier
6AQ6	Twin-Diode—High-Mu Triode	5C	7BT	6.3	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AQ7GT	Twin-Diode—Kigh-Mu Triode	13D	8CK	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AQ8	High-Mu Twin Triode	68	9AJ	6.3	0.435	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AR5	Power Pentode	5D	600	6.3	0.4	Class A Amplifier
6AR8	Beam-Deflection Tube	6E	90 P	6.3	0.3	Color TV Demodulator
6AS6+	Dual Control RF Pentode	5B	7CM	6.3	0.175	Class A Amplifier
6AS7GA	• Low-Mu Twin Triode	19E	8BD	6.3	2.5	Voltage Regulator
6AS11	Dual Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8B	12DP	6.3	1.05	Dual Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A
6AT8	Medium-Mu Triode	68	9DW	6.3	0.45	Amplifier Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AU4GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	136	406	6.3	1.8	Television Damper Service
6AU6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	50	7BK	6.3 6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
				6.3 3.15	0.3	
6AU7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	SA	6.3	0.8	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AU8	Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9DX	6.3	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AV5GT	Beam Power Tube	13D	6CK	6.3	1.2	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6AV11	Medium-Mu Triple Triode	BA	12BY	6.3	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AW8	High-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9DX	6.3	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AX4GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	13D	406	6.3	1.2	Television Damper Service
6AX8	Medium-Mu Triode—Semiremote Cutoff Pentode	6B	9AE	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6AY3	Half-Wave Rectifier	11D	SNP	6.3	1.2	Television Damper Service
6AY11	Twin Diode-High-Mu Twin Triode	8A	12DA	6.3	0.69	Each Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6B4G	Power-Triode	27B	5\$	6.3F	1.0	Class A Amplifier
685	Direct-Coupled Power Triode	26	6AS	6.3	0.8	Class A Amplifier
6B6G	Twin-DiedeHigh-Mu Triode	23	77	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Amplifier

.

+ Industrial type

	Grid Bias or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Screen Grid Cur- rent	Plate Cur- rent	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi- cation Factor	Power		- RČA
Plate					Resist- ance	conduct- ance		Load	Out- put	Туре
Veits		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
Grid	et Voltage, 315 Voltage — 0 vo ode Bias Res.,	olts	200503		Grid V Deflec	Voltage for F ting-Electro tage, O	Pattern Cu des—No.	toff, —7 volt 1, No. 2 and	s approx. No. 3	6AL7G
200	100Ω			10	8700	9800	85			6AM
	М	ax. DC Pla	te mA, 5	Max.	Peak Hea	ter-Cathode	Volts, ±2	00		
125	56Ω	125	3.2	12.5		7800			—	- 6AM
200	100Ω			13	7000	10000	70	—		GAN4
120	120 Ω	120	12	35	12500	8000	—	2500	1.3	6AN5
150	— 3V			15	4500	4700	31			- 6AN8
125	56Ω	125	3.8	12	170000	7800	—			UANG
180 250	8.5V 12.5V	180 250	3.0	29.0 45.0	50000 50000	3700 4100		5500 5000	2.0 4.5	_ 6AQ5
250		250	4.5 5.0□	70.0	60000	4100		10000	10.01	
100	1V			0.8	61000	1150	70			GAQE
250	3V			1.0	58000	1200	70			6AQ76
250	- 2V			2.3	44000	1600	70			
250	- 2.3V			10		5900	57	7600		6AQ8
250		250	5.5	32.0	90000	2300		7600	3.4	GAR
250	<u>300Ω</u>	250		10		4000				6AR8
120	2V	120	3.5	5.2	110000	3200		(EC3 = 0V))	6AS
		For	other ch			to Type 6A	\$7G			6AS7 G
200	220Ω — 2V			9.2 7	4400 12400	4400 5500	41 68	—		-
200	125	125	5.2	24	70000	10500				– 6AS1
125	- 1V			12	6000	6500	40			6AT8
Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 4500 (Absolute) Max. Average Plate mA, 175 Max. Peak Plate mA, 1050 Max. Plate Dissipation 6.0 watts									watte	6AU40
100	150Ω	100	2.1	5.0	500000	3900				6AU6
250	<u>680</u>	150	4.3	10.6	1 M	5200				UAU
100 250	0V 8.5V			11.8 10.5	6250 7700	3500 2200	19.5 17			6AU)
150	150Ω			9	8200	4900	40		_	
200	82Ω	125	3.4	15	150000	7000				- 6AU
Max. Max.	DC Plate Volts	s, 550 A. 110			Max. Max.	Peak Positiv Plate Dissip	e-Pulse Plation, 11	late Volts, 55 watts	00 (Abs.)	6AV5
250		<u> </u>		10.5	7700	2200	17			6AV
100	0V 2V			11.8 4	6500	3100 4000	20 70			
150	150Ω	150	3.5	13	200000	9500				— 6AW
		BA Feature	s a plate	current		stic with a	controlled	knee		-
Max.	Peak Inverse Peak Plate mA	. 750	, 4400			Peak Heater		· (+300	-	6AX40
Max. 150	DC Plate mA, 560Ω	125		18	5000	component i 8500	40	xceed 900 vo	its	
250	120Ω	110	3.5	10	400000	4800	40			6AX8
	Peak Inverse					Plate Dissip	ation 65	watte		
Max.	Peak Plate m/ DC Plate mA	1100				Peak Heater	•	(5000 300	6AY3
	— 2V			1. 2	52700	1900	100			6AY1
250										
250 250	-45V	<u> </u>		60	800	5250	4.2	2500	3.5	6B4G
	—45V	 Foi	other c			5250 r to Type 6M		2500	3.5	6B40 6B5

† For two tubes at stated plate to plate load.
RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram	He	ater or ment (F)	Use Values to right give operat ing conditions and character istics for indicated typical use
				Voits	Amperes	
6B7 6B7S	Twin-Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	24B 24B	70	6.3	0.3	Pentode Unit as Amplifier
6B8	Twin-Diode—Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	3	8E	6.3	0.3	Pentode Unit as Amplifier
688G	Twin Diode—Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	23	8E	6.3	0.3	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6BA3	Half-Wave Vacuum Rectifier	308	SH P	6.3	1.2	Television Damper Service
6BC5	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BD	6.3	0,3	Class A Amplifier
6BC7	Triple Diode	6B	9AX	6.3	0.45	Each Unit-Half-Wave Rectifier
★6BD4	Sharp-Cutoff Beam Triode	21C	8FU	6.3	0.6	Voltage-Control
★6BD4A	Sharp-Cutoff Beam Triode	210	8FU	6.3	0.6	Voltage-Control
6BD6	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BK	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6BD11	Dual Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	88	12DP	6.3	1.05	Triode No. 1 as Class A Amplifie Triode No. 2 as Class A Amplifie Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifie
6BF5	Beam Power Tube	5D	78Z	6.3	1.2	Class A Amplifier
	Twin-Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	50	78T	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie
6BG6GA	Beam Power Tube	28B 21B	58T 58T	6.3	0.9	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6BH3 6BH3A	Half-Wave Rectifier	110	9HP	6.3	1.6	Television Damper Service
6BH8	Medium-Mu Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9DX	6.3	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifie
6BJ3	Half-Wave Rectifier	8C	12BL	6.3	1.2	Television Damper Service
6BJ6A	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
6BJ7	Triple Diode	68	SAX	6.3	0.45	Each Unit-Half-Wave Rectifier
6BK4 ★6BK4A	Beam Triode	21B	8GC	6.3	0.2	Voltage-Control
★6BK4B	Beam Triode	21B	860	6.3	0.2	Shunt Voltage Regulator
6BK5	Ecam Power Tube	6E	9BQ	6.3	1.2	Class A Amplifier
6BK7A	Medlum-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9AJ	6.3 6.3	0.45 0.45	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6BL4	Half-Wave Rectifier	13F	868	6.3	3.0	Television Damper Service
6BL7GT	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	13D	8BD	6.3	1.5	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
6BL8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9DC	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6BN4	Medium-Mu Triode	5C	7EG	6.3	0.2	Class A Amplifier
6BN6	Beam Tube	50	7DF	6.3	0.3	Limiter and Discriminator
BQ6GT	Beam Power Tube	14D	6AM	6.3	1.2	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6BQ7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	LAP	6.3	0.4	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6BR8 M	edium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9FA	6.3 6.3	0.45 0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier

* See Safety Precautions at end of this section.

	Grid Bias		Screen	Diat-		Trans-	Amplif	Powe	e r	- 864
Piate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Erid Cur- rent	Plate Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	Туре
Veits		Volts	mA	mÅ	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
Input Output	Triode: Pla Triode: Pla 70	ate Volts, ate Volts, 20 obms: F	300 max; 300 max.	Grid Vo ; Plate r	ilts, 0; Plat nA, 45; Pla vatts	te mA, 8; AF ite Res., 240	Signal Vo OO ohms; L	lts (Peak), 21 .oad Resistand	ce,	6B7 6B75
·						r to Type 12			-	6B8
250	— 3V	125	2.3	9	600000	1125				6B80
Ma	x. Peak Invers x. Peak Plate x. DC Plate m	mA, 1000	olts, 5000)		ak Heater-Ca		s { 5000** }+300 eed 900 Volts		6BA3
		For of		acteristi		o Type 6BC5				6BCS
Ma Ma	x. Peak Invers x. Peak Plate	se Plate V mA, 54	olts, 330		Min. T	Max. otai Effect.	DC Output Piate Supp	mA, 12 bly impedance	, 560Ω	6BC7
Max. D Max. U	C Plate Volts Inregulated D	, 20000 C Supply V	olts, 400	00		Max. Max.	DC Plate Plate Diss	mA, 1.5 ipation, 20.0	watts	6BD4
Max. D Max. U	C Plate Volts nregulated D	, 27000 Supply V	olts, 550	00		Max. Max.	DC Plate Plate Diss	mA, 1.5 ipation, 25.0	watts	6BD4
250	— 3V	100	3.0	9.0	800000	2000				6BD6
200	-2V			7	12400	5500	68			
200	220 Ω		<u> </u>	9.2	9400	4400	41			_ 68D11
135 110	<u>100Ω</u> 7.5V	135	4		45000 12000	10400 7500		2500	1.9	6BF5
250	- 9V	110	4.0	36.0 9.5	8500	1900	16	Power ()utput,	6BF6
		700				itive-Pulse P		300 mil	liwatts	6866
Max. D	C Plate Volts C Cathode mA	, 110			. Plate Dis	sipation, 20	watts			6BG6G
Max. P	eak Inverse F eak Plate mA C Plate mA, 1	, 1100	, 5500			Plate Dissipa Peak Heater		(!	5500 300	6BH3 6BH3 /
150	5V			9,5	5150	3300	17			- 6BH8
200	<u>82Ω</u>	125	3.4	15	150000	7000				
Ma	k. Peak Invers x. Peak Plate x. DC Plate m	mA. 840	DITS, 3300			k Heater-Cat nponent mus		1-+-300		6BJ3
100	—1V	100	3.5	9	250000	3650				6BJ6/
Max Max	. Peak Invers . Peak Plate	e Plate Vo mA, 10	lts, 330	-	Max.	Max. I Peak Heater	OC Output Cathode V	mA, 1 olts, +100, -	_330	6BJ7
Max. D Max. U	C Plate Volts nregulated DC	, 27000 Supply V	olts, 6000 lax. Plate)0 e Dissipa		Max. DC I	Plate mA, e Dissipati			6BK4 6BK4
	Max. D Max. Unregula	C Plate Vo	olts, 2700	0		Ma	x. Average	Plate mA, 1. ipation, 40 W	6 atte	6BK4
250	- 5V	250	3.5	35	100000	8500		6500	3.5	6BK5
150	56Ω			18	4600	9300	43	Grid-No. for Cutol	1 Volts	6BK7#
Max. Pe	eak Inverse P eak Plate mA, C Plate mA, 2	1200	4500 (At)s.)		Peak Heater-		(4500*	(Abs.)	6BL4
Max, D	C Piate Volts, C Cathode mA	500	(it) 60		Max, F	Peak Positive	-Pulse Pla	te Volts, 2000 Unit), 10 wat	(Abs.)	6BL7G
100	- 2V			14		5000	20			0010
170	2V	170	2.8	10	400000	6200				- 6BL8
150	220Ω			9	6300	6800	43			6BN4
		For oth	ner chara	cteristci	is, refer to	Type 6BN6/	6KS6			6BN6
Max, D Max, D	C Plate Volts, C Cathode mA	550 , 110			Max. P Max. P	Peak Positive Plate Dissipa	-Pulse Plation, 11 wa	te Volts, 5500 atts	(Abs.)	6BQ6G
150	220Ω			9.0	5800	6000	35	Grid-No. for Cutof	1 Voits f,10	6BQ7
125	— 1V			13.5	7500		40			6BR8

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram		ter or tent (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for Indicated typical use
			-	Volts	Amperes	
6 B S3	Half-Wave Rectifier	11D	9HP	6.3	1.2	Television Damper Service
6 B \$8	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9AJ	6.3	0.4	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6BV8	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	6B	9FJ	6.3	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie
6BW4	Full-Wave Rectifier	6E	901	6.3	0.9	With Capacitive Input Filter
00114	I BIT-MBAC MODULO		027	0.0	0.0	With Inductive Input Filter
6BW8	Twin Diode	6B	9H K	6.3	0.45	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifie
						Vertical Deflection Oscillator
6BX7GT	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	13D	8BD	6.3	1.5	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
6BY5GA	Full-Wave Rectifier	188	6CN	6.3	1.6	Television Damper Service
6BY11	Beam Power Tube— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	86	12EZ	6.3	1.2	Beam Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifie
6BZ7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	LAG	6.3	0.4	Each Unit as Class A Amplifie
6BZ8	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	68	9AJ	6.3	0.4	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6C5 6C5GT	Medium-Mu Triode	2A 14A	6Q	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6C6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	24A	6F	6.3	0.3	Amplifier Detector
6C7	Twin-Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	24B	76	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie
6C8G	Medium-Mu Twin-Triode	23	86	6.3	0.3	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6C10	High-Mu Triple Triode	8A	12BQ	6.3	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6CA7	Power Pentode		8ET	6.3	1.5	Class A Amplifier Push-Pull Class AB, Amplifier
6CB5	Beam Power Tube	28A	8GD	6.3	2.5	Horizontal Deflection Amplifie
6CB6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6CD6G	Beam Power Tube	28B	5BT	6.3	2.5	Horizontal Deflection Amplifie
6CE3	Half-Wave Vacuum Rectifier	8G	126K	6.3	2.5	Television Damper Service
6CE5	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	78D	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6CF6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6CG3/ 6CD3	Half-Wave Rectifier	8F	12FX	6.3	1.8	Television Damper Service
6CG8	Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9GF	6.3 6.3	0.45 0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplific Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6CH8	Medium-Mu Triode-Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	68	9FT	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6CK3	Half-Wave Vacuum Rectifier	308	9HP	6.3	1.2	Television Damper Service
6CK4	Low-Mu Triode	13F	8JB	6.3	1.25	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
6CL8	Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode	68	9FX	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie Tetrode Unit as Class A Amplifier

	Grid Bias		Screen	DI-Ar		Trees	Amelic	Pow	er	RCA
Plate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Plate Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	Туре
Velts		Valts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ghms	Watts	
Max. Max. Max	Peak Inverse Peak Plate mi DC Plate mA,	Plate Volts A, 1100 200	5000			Plate Dissip Peak Heater			000	6BS3
150	220Ω			10	5000	7200	36			6BS8
200	330Ω			11	5900	5600	33			6 BV 8
Max. Max.	AC Volts per Peak Inverse	Volts, 1275 Tota	I Effect.	Supply	Imped. per	Max Plate, 82 ol	n Peak Pla Sims	ut mA, 62.5 ate mA, per Pla		6BW4
	AC Volts per Peak Inverse	Volts, 1275		ue of In	iput Choke,	Ma Ma 10 henries	x. DC Out x. Peak Pi	ate mA, 62.5 ate mA per Pla	te, 350	
250	68Ω	110	3.5	10	250000	5200	<u></u>	—	—	6BW8
Max.	DC Plate Volt Plate Dissipat DC Plate Volt	tion: 10 wat				oth plates Ise Plate Vol		ex. DC Cathode	mA, 180	6BX7GT
Max.	. DC Cath. mA,	180	Ma	k. Plate	Dissipation	: 10 watts e	ither plate	; 12 watts bot	h plates	
Max.	Peak Inverse Peak Plate mi DC Plate mA,	A, 525	3000 (#	lbs.)	Max.	Peak Heater	Cathode V	oits: {450 +100		6BY5GA
170	<u>82</u> Ω	140	3.9	74	33000	4900		2500	4	- 6BY11
150	<u>180Ω</u>	100	3.4	2.8	<u>110000</u> 5300	2500	36	(grid no. 1 to	plate)	6BZ7
150	220Ω			10	5600	8000	45			6BZ8
125	100Ω									6020
250	8V	·	_	8.0	10000	2000	20			6C5GT
		Fo	r other (haracte	ristics, ref	er to Type 6.	17			606
250	<u> </u>			4.5	16000	1250	20		<u> </u>	607
250	- 4.5V			3.2	22500	1600	36			6C8G
250	2V		_	1.2	62500	1600	100			- 6C10
	<u>—1V</u> —13.5V	250	15	0.5	80000	1250 11000	100	2000	11	
450	232Ω	450	20	120	13000			6500	40	- 6CA7
Max.	DC Plate Volt	s, 700				Peak Positiv Plate Dissip		ate Volts, 6800		6CB5
125	56Ω	125	3.7	13	280000					6CB6
	DC Plate Volt DC Cathode m				Max. Max.	Peak Positiv Plate Dissip	e-Pulse Pl ation, 20 v	ate Volts, 7000 vatts		6CD6G
_		For other	charact	eristics	, refer to 1	Type 6CE3/60	D3/6DT3			6CE3
125	— 1V	125	2.3	11	300000	7600				6CE5
125	56Ω	125	3.7	12.5	300000	7800				6CF6
Max. Pea Max. Pea	ak Inverse Plat ak Plate mA, 2	e Volts, 500 100	Max. Max.	DC Plat Plate D	te mA, 350 issipation,	Max. Po 6.5 watts	eak Heater	Cathode Volts	: {+300 }—5000	6CG3/ 6CD3
100	— 1V			12	6000	6500	40			
250	— 1V	125	2.2	9	300000	5500			—	- 6CG8
200	— 6V			13	5750	3300	19			- 60UP
200	180Ω	150	2.8	9.5	300000	6200				6CH8
N	lax. Peak Inver lax. Peak Plate lax. DC Plate	2 mA, 1200	lts, 520	0		ak Heater-Ca omponent mu		ts $\begin{cases} -5200^{**} \\ +300 \\ eed 900 \ volts \end{cases}$		6CK3
Max	DC Plate Volt Peak Cathode	s, 550			Max.		e-Pulse Pl	ate Volts, 2000	(Abs.)	6CK4
125	- 1V			14	5000	8000	40			
125	— 1V	125	4	12	120000	6000				- 6CL8

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

RCA Type	Name	Out- Line	Terminal Dia- gram		ater or nent (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
			-	Volts	Amperes	
6CM6	Beam Power Tube	6E	9C K	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
6CM8	High-Mu TriodeSharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9FZ	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6CQ4	Half-Wave Rectifier	13G	4CG	6.3	1,6	Television Damper Service
6CR6	Diode-Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7EA	6.3	0.3	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6CT3	Half-Wave Rectifier	6H	9RX	6.3	1.2	Television Damper Service
6008	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	68	9GM	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifie
6CW5	Power Pentode	86	9CV	6.3	D.76	Vertical-Deflection Amplifier
6D4 +	Gas Triode	5C	5AY	6.3	0.25	Thyratron
6D6	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	24A	6F	6.3	0.3	Amplifier Mixer
6D7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	24A	7H	6.3	0.3	Amplifier Detector
6D8G	Pentagrid Converter	23	8A	6.3	0.15	Converter
6D10	High-Mu Triple Triode	8A	12BQ	6.3	0.45	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6DA4	Half-Wave Rectifier	13D	4CG	6.3	1.2	Television Damper Service
6D85	Beam Power Tube	6F	9GR	6.3	1.2	Class A Amplifier
6DC8	Twin Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9HE	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6DC8/ EBF89	Twin Diode-Semiremote Cutoff Pentode	6E	9HE	6.3	0.3	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6DE4	Half-Wave Vacuum Rectifier	13 6	406	6.3	1.6	Television Damper Service
6DL4/ EC88	High-Mu Triode	6M	9N Y	6.3	0.165	Class A Amplifier
6DL5 60L5/ EL95	Power Pentade	5E	7DQ	6.3	0.2	Class A Amplifier
6DM4 6DM4A	Half-Wave Rectifier	1 3G	4CG	6.3	1.2	Damper Service
6DN6	Beam Power Tube	21B	5BT	6.3	2.5	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6DQ4	Half-Wave Rectifier	13F	406	6.3	1.2	Damper Service
6DQ6A 6DQ6B	Beam Power Tube	20	6AM	6.3	1.2	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6DT6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7EN	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6DW4	Half-Wave Rectifier	11D	9HP	6.3	1.2	Television Damper Service
6DW4A	Half-Wave Rectifier	110	9HP	6.3	1.2	Television Damper Service
6DW5	Beam Power Tube	8G	9C K	6.3	1.2	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
6DX8	High-Mu Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5 E	9HX	6.3	0.72	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier

Industrial type

250 12.5V 250 4.5 45 50000 4100 5000 250 2V 1.8 50000 2000 100 250 Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 5500 Max. DC Plate mA, 190 Max. Peak Max. Peak Max. Peak Plate mA, 1200 Max. Peak Max. Peak Plate mA, 1200 Max. Peak Max. Peak Plate mA, 1200 Max. Peak Plate Inverse Plate Volts, 5000 Max. Peak Plate Inverse Plate MA, 1200 Max. Peak Plate Inverse Plate MA, 1200 Max. Peak Plate Inverse Plate Volts, 250 Max. Peak Plate Inverse Plate Volts, 250 Max. Peak Plate Volts, 250 Max. Peak Plate Volts, 250 Max. Plate Dissipation, 12 watts 450 Tube Voltage drop at 25 Max Plate Made Gurge at 25 Plate Made Gurge at 25 Plate Maxe Cathode Plate MA, 1200 Transcond., 550 Max. Plate Dissipation, 5.5 Max. Plate Dissipation, 5.5 Max. Plate Dissiplation, 5.5 <td< th=""><th>s Watts e Connected) 8 </th><th>6CR6</th></td<>	s Watts e Connected) 8 	6CR6
250 12.5V 49.5 1960 5000 9.8 (Triod) 250 12.5V 250 4.5 45 50000 4100	Le Connected) e Connected) 	5CM8 6CQ4 6CR6 6CT3 6CU8 6CW5 6D4 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6DA4
250 12.5V 250 4.5 45 50000 4100 5000 250 2V 1.8 50000 2000 100 250 180Ω 150 2.8 9.5 600000 6200 Max. Peak 190 Max. Peak Max. Peak 190 Max. Peak Max. Peak 190 Max. Peak Nax. Peak 190 Max. Peak Nax. Peak <th>8 </th> <th>5CM8 6CQ4 6CR6 6CT3 6CU8 6CW5 6D4 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6DA4</th>	8	5CM8 6CQ4 6CR6 6CT3 6CU8 6CW5 6D4 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6DA4
250 - 2V 1.8 50000 2000 100 250 180Ω 150 2.8 9.5 600000 6200 Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 5500 Max. DC Plate mA, 190 Max. Peak Max. Peak Plate mA, 1200 Max. Plate Dissipation, 6.5 watts Cathode Vol 250 -2V 100 2.6 9.6 800000 2200 Max. Peak Plate mA, 1200 Max. Plate Dissipation, 6.5 watts Cathode Vol Max. Peak Heater-Cathode Max. Peak Heater-Cathode 125 -1 17 4100 5800 24 125 0.6Ω 125 3.8 12 17000 7800 Max. DC Plate Volts, 275 Max. De Robite Pulse Plate Volts 25 Peak Anode Current == 100 mA 10 Ras: Plate Dissipation, 12 watts 450 Tube Voltage drop at 25 Peak Anode Current == 100 mA 16 Voltage S000 57 - 250 -3V	Heater {+300 ts: 1-5500 6.5 Watts {-5000 +300 3, 2200 volts, 4 mA r. Conversion 	6CQ4 6CR6 6CT3 6CT3 6CW5 6D4 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6D44
Max. Peak Inverse Plate Wolts, 5500 Max. DC Plate mA, 190 Max. Peak Volts, 5500 Max. Plate Dissipation, 6.5 watts Cathode Vol 250 -2V 100 2.6 9.6 800000 2200	ts: 1-5500 6.5 Watts Volts: {-5000 +300 	6CQ4 6CR6 6CT3 6CT3 6CW5 6D4 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6D44
Max. Peak Plate mat. Plate Dissipation, 6.5 watts Cathode Vol 250 -2V 100 2.6 9.6 800000 2200	ts: 1-5500 6.5 Watts Volts: {-5000 +300 	6CR6 6CT3 6CU8 6CW5 6D4 ◆ 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6D44
Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 5000 Max. Peak Plate mA, 1200 Max. Average Plate mA, 250 Max. Peak Heater-Cathode 125 1 17 4100 5800 24 125 56Ω 125 3.8 12 170000 7800 Max. DC Plate Volts, 275 Max. Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Volts Max. Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Volts Max. Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Volts 450 Tube Voltage drop at 25 mA == 16 Volts 25 Peak Anode Current = 100 mA 50 Tube Voltage drop at 25 mA == 16 Volts 25 Peak Anode Current = 100 mA 250 - 3V 100 2.7 3.5 360000 Oscillator-Grid (2): 250 max. Oscillator-Grid (1) Resisto Transcond., 550 micromhos. 125 -1V 4.2 13600 4200 57 Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 4400 Max. DC Plate mA 155 Max. Peak Heater-Cathode Volts 200 180Ω 125 2.2 46 28000 8000 400 250 - 2V 100 2.7 9 1 M 3800 </td <td>Volts: {-5000 +3000 s, 2200 volts, 4 mA r. Conversion </td> <td>6CT3 6CW8 6CW5 6D4 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6D44</td>	Volts: {-5000 +3000 s, 2200 volts, 4 mA r. Conversion 	6CT3 6CW8 6CW5 6D4 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6D44
Max. Peak Plate mA, 1200 Max. Average Plate mA, 250 Max. Peak Heater-Cathode 125 -1 17 4100 5800 24 125 56Ω 125 3.8 12 170000 7800 Max. DC Plate Volts, 275 Max. Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Volts Max. Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Volts Max. Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Volts 450 Tube Voltage drop at 25 mA = 16 Volts 25 Peak Anode Current = 100 mA For other characteristics, refer to Type 6U7G Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 4400 Max. DC Plate mA 155 Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 4400 Max. DC Plate mA 155 Max. Peak Heater-Cathode Volts 200 180Ω 125 2.2 46 28000 400 250 2	Volts: {-5000 +3000 s, 2200 volts, 4 mA r. Conversion 	- 6CU8 6CW5 6D4 + 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6DA4
125 56Ω 125 3.8 12 17000 7800	volts, 4 mA r. Conversion ater {+300 	6CW5 6D4 • 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6DA4
Max. DC Plate Voits, 275 Max. DC Cathode mA, 110 Max. Peak Positive-Pulse Plate Voits 450 Tube Voltage drop at 25 mA = 16 Volts 25 Peak Anode Current = 100 mA 450 Tube Voltage drop at 25 mA = 16 Volts 25 Peak Anode Current = 100 mA For other characteristics, refer to Type 6U7G For other characteristics, refer to Type 6J7 250 - 3V 100 2.7 3.5 360000 Anode-Grid (2): 250 max. Oscillator-crid (1) Resisto Transcond., 550 micromhos. 125 -1V 4.2 13600 4200 57 Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 4400 Max. DC Plate mA 155 Max. Peak Heit Max. Peak Plate mA, 900 Max. Plate Dissipation, 5.5 watts Cathode Volts. 200 180Q 125 2.2 46 28000 8000 200 -1.5V 100 3.3 11 600000 4500 200 -1.5V 100 3.3 11 600000 400 250 - 2V 100 2.7 9 1 M 3800 <td>volts, 4 mA r. Conversion ater {+300 </td> <td>6CW5 6D4 • 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6DA4</td>	volts, 4 mA r. Conversion ater {+300 	6CW5 6D4 • 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6DA4
Max. DC Cathode mA, 110 Max. Plate Dissipation, 12 watts 450 Tube Voltage drop at 25 mA = 16 Volts 25 Peak Anode Current = 100 mA For other characteristics, refer to Type 6U7G For other characteristics, refer to Type 6U7G Tor other characteristics, refer to Type 6J7 250 - 3V 100 2.7 3.5 360000 Anode-Grid (2): 250 max. Oscillator-Grid (1) Resisto Transcond, 550 micromhos. 125 -1V - 4.2 13600 4200 57 - Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 4400 Max. DC Plate mA 155 Max. Peak Heite Volts. Max. Plate Dissipation, 5.5 watts Cathode Volts. 200 180Ω 125 2.2 46 28000 8000 - 400 250 - 2V 100 2.7 9 1 M 3800 - - 200 -15V 100 3.3 11 600000 4500 - For other characteristics, refer to Type 6DE4/6CQ4 160 100Ω - 12.5 - 13500 <t< td=""><td>volts, 4 mA r. Conversion ater {+300 </td><td>6D4 ◆ 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6DA4</td></t<>	volts, 4 mA r. Conversion ater {+300 	6D4 ◆ 6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6DA4
430 25 mA == 16 Volts 23 Peak Ande Current = 100 m/A For other characteristics, refer to Type 6U7G For other characteristics, refer to Type 6U7G Anode-Crifd (2): 250 max. 250 - 3V 100 2.7 3.5 360000 Oscillator-Grid (2): 250 max. 250 - 3V 100 2.7 3.5 360000 Oscillator-Grid (1) Resistor 125 -1V 4.2 13600 4200 57 - Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 4400 Max. DC Plate mA 155 Max. Peak Hem 400 200 180Ω 125 2.2 46 28000 800 400 250 - 2V 100 2.7 9 1 M 3800 - 200 -15V 100 3.3 11 600000 400 250 - 2V 100 3.3 11 600000	ater {+300 -4400	6D6 6D7 6D8G 6D10 6DA4
For other characteristics, refer to Type 6J7 250 -3V 100 2.7 3.5 360000 Anode-Grid (2): 250 max. 125 -1V - - 4.2 13600 4200 57 - Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 4400 Max. DC Plate mAs. Peak Plate Max. Peak Plate Max. Peak Plate Max. Peak Plate Max. Peak Hate. Peak Hate. Peak Plate Max. Peak Plate Volts. 400 200 180Ω 125 2.2 46 28000 8000 400 250 -2V 100 2.7 9 1 M 3800 200 -1.5V 100 3.3 11 600000 4500 200 -1.5V 100 3.3 11 600000	ater {+300 -4400	6D7 6D8G 6D10 6DA4
250 - 3V 100 2.7 3.5 360000 Anode-Grid Oscilitator-Grid Tanscond, 500 250 max. Oscilitator-Grid Tanscond, 500 250 max. Oscilitator-Grid Tanscond, 500 250 max. Oscilitator-Grid Tanscond, 500 250	ater {+300 -4400	6D8G 6D10 6DA4
125 -1V 4.2 13600 4200 57 Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 4400 Max. DC Plate mA 155 Max. Peak Heite mA, 900 Max. Plate Dissipation, 5.5 watts Cathode Volts; 200 180Ω 125 2.2 46 28000 8000 400 250 -2V 100 2.7 9 1 M 3800 400 200 -1.5V 100 3.3 11 600000 4500 200 -1.5V 100 3.3 11 600000 4500 200 -1.5V 100 3.3 12.5 13500 65 200 230Ω 200 4.2 23 600 200 230Ω 200 4.5 24 600 250 320Ω 200 4.5 24 1000 200 230Ω 200 <	ater {+300 -4400	6010 6DA4
125 -1V 4.2 13600 4200 57 Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 4400 Max. DC Plate mA 155 Max. Peak Heite mA, 900 Max. Plate Dissipation, 5.5 watts Cathode Volts; 200 180Ω 125 2.2 46 28000 8000 400 250 -2V 100 2.7 9 1 M 3800 400 200 -1.5V 100 3.3 11 600000 4500 200 -1.5V 100 3.3 11 600000 4500 200 -1.5V 100 3.3 12.5 13500 65 200 230Ω 200 4.2 23 600 200 230Ω 200 4.5 24 600 250 320Ω 200 4.5 24 1000 200 230Ω 200 <	ater {+300 -4400	6DA4
Max. Peak Plate max. Plate Dissipation, 5.5 watts Cathode Voits; 200 180Ω 125 2.2 46 28000 8000 400 250 -2V 100 2.7 9 1 M 3800 200 -1.5V 100 3.3 11 600000 4500 200 -1.5V 100 3.3 11 600000 4500 For other characteristics, refer to Type 6DE4/6CQ4	-4400	
250 — 2V 100 2.7 9 1 M 3800 — — 200 — 1.5V 100 3.3 11 600000 4500 — … <	0 3.8	6085
200 1.5V 100 3.3 11 600000 4500 For other characteristics, refer to Type 6DE4/6CQ4 160 100Ω 12.5 13500 65 200 230Ω 200 4.2 23 800 250 320Ω 250 4.5 24 1000 Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 5000 Max. Peak Plate mA, 1100 Max. DC Plate mA 100 Max. DC Plate mA		0000
For other characteristics, refer to Type 6DE4/6CQ4 160 100Ω 12.5 13500 65 200 230Ω 200 4.2 23 1000 250 320Ω 250 4.5 24 1000 Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 5000 Max. Peak Plate mA, 1100 Max. DC Plate mA Max. DC Plate mA		6DC8
160 100Ω		6DC8/ EBF89
200 230Ω 200 4.2 23 800 250 320Ω 250 4.5 24 1000 Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 5000 Max. Peak Plate mA, 1100 Max. DC Plate mA Max. Peak Heater-Cathode Volts,5000 (DC Component Not to Exceed 900 Volts)		6DE4
250 320Ω 250 4.5 24		6DL4/ EC88
Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 5000 Max. Peak Plate mA, 1100 Max. DC Plate mA Max. Peak Heater—Cathode Volts5000 (DC Component Not to Exceed 900 Volts)	80 2.3 10 3	6DL5 6DL5/ EL95
Max. Peak Heater—Cathode Volts, +300 (DC Component Not to Exceed 100 Volts)	, 175	6DM4 6DM4
Max. DC Plate Volts, 700 Max. DC Cathode mA, 200 Max. DC Cathode mA, 200 Max. Plate Dissipation, 15 watts	s, 6600 (Abs.)	6DN6
Max. Peak Inverse Volts, 5500 Max. DC Plate m. Max. Peak Plate mA, 1000 Max. Plate Dissig	A, 175 ation, 6 watts	6DQ4
Max. DC Plate Volts, 770 Max. DC Cathode mA, 155 (6DQ6A) Max. DC Cathode mA, 175 (6DQ6B) Max. Plate Dissipation, 18 watts		6DQ6A 6DQ6B
150 560Ω 100 2.1 1.1 150000 515	•	6DT6
Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 5000 Max. Plate Dissipation, 8.5 Max. Peak Plate mA, 1300 Max. Peak Heater-Cathode Volts: Max. DC Plate mA, 250 Max. Peak Heater-Cathode Volts:	{ 5000 + 300	6DW4
Max. Peak Inverse Plate Volts, 5500 Max. Plate Dissipation, Max. Peak Plate mA, 1300 Max. Peak Heater-Cathode Max. Average Plate mA, 250 Max. Peak Heater-Cathode	(550	o 6 DW 4
Max. DC Plate Volts, 330 Max. DC Cathode mA, 65 Max. Plate Dissipation, 11 w		6DW5
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	te Volts, 2200	
200 2.9V 200 3 18 130000 10400	te Volts, 2200	- 6DX8

RCA Type	Name	Out- Jine	Terminal Dia- gram		ater or ment (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
			-	Volts	Ampere	
						Class A Amplifier
6DZ7	Twin Power Pentode	19B	8JP	6.3	1.52	Both Units as Push-Pull Class AB ₁ Amplifier
6E6	Twin Power Amplifier	26	7B	6.3	0.6	Push-Pull Class A Amplifier
6E7	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	24A	7H	6.3	0.3	Amplifier
6EA4	High-Mu Triode	16D	12FA	6.3	0.2	Shunt Voltage Regulator
6EA5	Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode	5C	7EW	6.3	0.2	Class A Amplifier
6EA7	Dual Triode	13B	8BD	6.3	1.05	Vertical Deflection Oscillator Vertical Deflection Amplifier
GEC4A/ EY500	Half-Wave Vacuum Rectifier	35C	6EC4	6.3	2.1	Television Damper Service
6EH4	Beam Triode	16E	12FA	6.3	0.2	Shunt Regulator
6EH7	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	9AQ	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6EH8	Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	\$B	9IG	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
*6EJ4A	Beam Triode	16G	12HC	6.3	0.2	Voltage Control
6EJ7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6C	SAQ	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6EL4 6EL4A	Beam Triode	210	8MW	6.3	0.2	Shunt Voltage Regulator
6EM7	Dual Triode	13A	8BD	6.3	0.925	Class A Amplifier
6EQ7	Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9LQ	_6.3	0.3	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6ES5	High-Mu Triode	5C	7FP	6.3	0.2	Class A Amplifier
6E\$8	Variable-Mu Twin Triode	6B	LAC	6.3	0.365	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier Cascode-Type Amplifier
6ET7	Twin Diode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6Ē	SLT	6.3	0.75	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6EU8	Medium-Mu Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	\$JF	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6EV7	High-Mu Twin Triode	6E	9LP	6.3	0.6	Relay Control
6EX6	Beam Power Tube	21B	58T	6.3	2.25	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6EY6	Beam Power Tube	13F	7AC	6.3	0.68	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
6EZ5	Beam Power Tube	13F	7AC	6.3	0.8	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
6EZ8	high-Mu Triple Triode	6B	9KA	6.3	0.45	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6F4+	Triole	acora	7BR	6.3	0.225	AF, RF Amplifier and Oscillator
6F5 6F5GT	High-Mu Triade	3 14A	5M 5M	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6F6		2B	76			Pentode Class A Amplifier
6F6G 6F6GT	Power Pentode	25 13F	75 75 75	6.3	0.7	Triode⊡ Class A Amplifier Pentode Push-Pull Class A Amplifier
6F7	Low-Mu Triode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	24B	7E	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6F86	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	23	8G	6.3	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6FA7	Diode—Skarp-Cutoff, Twin-Plate Tetrode	6E	9MR	6.3	0.3 1	fetrode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6FE5	Beam Power Tube	13G	8KB	6.3	1.2	Class A Amplifier

 \bigstar See Safety Precautions at end of this section.

	Grid Bias or		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi-	Pe	wer	- RC
Piate	Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- reat	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load	Out- put	Тур
Volts		Volts	mÅ	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
250	— 7.3V	250	5.5	48	38000	11300				- 007
400 300	11V 120Ω	250 250	13 15	100 80			_	9000 9000	18 12	- 6DZ
250	-27.5V							14000	1.60†	6E6
		For	other c	haracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6U7	7G			6E7
Max. Max.	DC Plate Volts Unregulated DC	, 27000 C Plate Su	pply Vol	ts, 60000	M	ax. Plate Dis ax. DC Plate		30 watts		6EA4
250	_ 1V _	140	0.95	10	150000	8000				6EA
250	- 3			2	30000	2200	66			- 6EA
175 M	-25 lax. Peak Invers	se Plate V	olts, 560	40	920	6000	5.5			6EC4/
M	ax. Peak Plate ax. DC Plate m	mA, 800 A, 440				Max. Plate Ix. Peak Heat	ter-Cathod	on, 11 watts e Volts, —6 	300	EY50
ax. Plat ax. DC (e Volts, 27000 Grid Volts, —13	35 N		r Grid Vo Plate mA,	its, —440 , 1.6	Max. P	late Dissi	pation, 30 w	atts	6EH4
200	<u> </u>	90	4.5	12	500000	12500				6EH
125	<u> </u>			13.5		7500	40			6EH
125	— 1V	125	4	12	170000	6000				ULN
Ma Ty	ax. DC Plate Vo pical Unregulat	ed DC Sup	piy Volt	s, 36000		Max. D Max. Plate)C Plate n Dissipatio	A, 1.5 n, 40 watts		6EJ4/
200	- 2.5V	200	4.1	10	350000	15000				6EJ
		F	or other	characte	ristics, ref	ier to Type 6	iLJ6	_		6EL4
		For oth	ier chara	cteristic	s, refer to	Type 6EM7/	6EA7			6EM
100	0	100	3.5	9	250000	3800	(Rg = 2	2 megohms	bypassed)	6EI
200	1			10	8000	9000	75			6E
90 180	— 1.2V			 	2500	12500 12500				6ES8
200	100Ω	150	5.5	25	60000	12500				CLT
60	0V	150	18	55	(Ins	stantaneous p		characteris	tics)	6ET
150 125	56Ω —1V	125	4	18 12	5000 80000	8500 6400	40			6EU
	014			18.5	Grid Ve	te for Diate	"A 100 -	= -9 2500-		6EV7
250 150	OV OV		<u> </u>	10.0	Grid Vo	olts for Plate	μ A 100 =	≃ —3 2300∺ ≃ —5 rei	ohm av	
	0V 0V —30V	175	3.3		Grid Vo 8500	olts for Plate 7700	$\mu A 100 =$	=5 rel		
50	0V	175 250	3.3 3		Grid Vo	olts for Plate	μΑ 100 = μΑ 100 =	<u></u>		6EX6
150 175	0V —30V			67	Grid Vo 8500	7700	μΑ 100 = 	<u></u>		6EX6 6EY6 6EZ5
150 175 250	0V 	250	3	67 44	Grid Vo 8500 60000	7700 4400	μΑ 100 Ξ 57			6EX6 6EY6 6EZ5
150 175 250 250	<u>0V</u> 30V 17.5V 20V	250	3	67 44 43	Grid Vo 8500 60000 50000	7700 4400 4100	μΑ 100 = 			6EX6 6EY6 6EZ5 6EZ5
50 175 250 50 125	0V 30V 17.5V 20V 1	250	3	67 44 43 4.2	60000 50000 13600	01ts for Plate 7700 4400 4100 4200	μΑ 100 = 57			6EX6 6EY6 6EZ5 6EZ 6F4 6F5
50 175 50 50 125 80 00 50	0V 30V 17.5V 20V 1 150Ω 1V 2V 16.5V	250 250 	3 3.5 6.5	67 44 43 4.2 13 0.4 0.9 34.0	60000 50000 13600 2900 85000 66000 80000	Ats For Plate 7700 4400 4400 4100 4200 5800 1150 1500 2500	μ μ Α 100 = 57 17 100	= <u>-5</u> rel	ay	6EX6 6EY6 6EZ5 6EZ 6F4 6F5 6F5G
50 175 50 50 125 80 00 50 85	0V 30V 17.5V 20V 1 150Ω 1V 2V 2V 16.5V 20V	250 250	3 3.5 	67 44 43 4.2 13 0.4 0.9	Grid Vo 8500 60000 50000 13600 2900 85000 66000	Autor Plate 7700 4400 4100 4200 5800 1150 1500 1500	μ μ Α 100 = 57 17 100	=5 rel	ay	6EX6 6EY6 6EZ5 6EZ 6EZ 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5
50 175 50 50 125 80 00 50	0V 30V 17.5V 20V 1 150Ω 1V 2V 16.5V	250 250 250 250 285 	3 3.5 6.5	67 44 43 4.2 13 0.4 0.9 34.0 38.0	Grid Vo 8500 50000 13600 2900 85000 66000 80000 78000	Ats for Plate 7700 4400 4100 4200 5800 1150 1500 2500 2550	<u>µ</u> A 100 = 57 17 100 100	=5 rel 7000 7000	ay	6EX6 6EY6 6EZ5 6EZ 6F4 6F5 6F5G
50 175 50 550 125 80 00 50 550 85 550 815	0V 30V 17.5V 20V 1 150Ω 1 150Ω 2V 2V 20V 20V 24V	250 250 250 250 285 	3 3.5 6.5 7.0	67 44 43 4.2 13 0.4 0.9 34.0 38.0 31.0 62.0	Grid Vo 8500 60000 13600 2900 85000 66000 80000 78000 2600	Plate 7700 4400 4100 4200 5800 1150 1500 2500 2550 2600	μΑ 100 = 		ay	6EX6 6EY6 6EZ5 6EZ 6F2 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F6 6F6
50 175 50 50 125 80 00 50 50 50 50	0V 30V 17.5V 20V 1 150Ω 1 150Ω 2V 2V 20V 20V 20V	250 250 250 250 285 	3 3.5 6.5 7.0	67 44 43 4.2 13 0.4 0.9 34.0 38.0 31.0	Grid Vo 8500 50000 13600 2900 85000 66000 80000 78000	Ats for Plate 7700 4400 4100 4200 5800 1150 1500 2500 2550	<u>µ</u> A 100 = 57 17 100 100		ay	6EX6 6EY6 6EZ5 6EZ5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F6 6F6
50 175 50 50 125 80 00 50 50 50 50 85 50 85 50 85 50 85 50 85 50 85 50 80 50 50 50 50 80 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 5	0V 30V 17.5V 20V 1 150Ω -	250 250 250 250 285 285 100	3 3.5 6.5 7.0 12.0 □ 1.5	67 44 43 4.2 13 0.4 0.9 34.0 38.0 31.0 62.0 3.5 6.5	Grid Vo 8500 60000 50000 13600 2900 85000 66000 85000 80000 78000 2600 16000 850000	Plate 7700 4400 4100 4200 5800 1150 1500 2500 2500 2500 2500 100	μΑ 100 = 		ay 3.2 4.8 0.85	6EX6 6EY6 6EZ 6F2 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F6 6F6 6F6 6F6 6F6 6F6
50 175 50 50 125 80 00 50 50 85 50 815 00 50 150 150 150 150 150 150	0V 30V 17.5V 20V 1 150Ω -	250 250 	3 3.5 6.5 7.0 12.0 1.5 other cl 3	67 44 43 4.2 13 0.4 0.9 34.0 38.0 31.0 62.0 3.5 6.5 haracterii 2.2	Grid Vo 8500 60000 50000 13600 2900 85000 66000 85000 80000 78000 2600 16000 850000	Plate 7700 4400 4100 4200 5800 1150 1550 2500 2550 2600	<u>µA 100 =</u> 		ay 	6EX6 6EY6 6EZ 6EZ 6F5 6F5G 6F5G 6F5G 6F5G 6F6G 6F6G 6F6G

† For two tubes at stated plate-to-plate load.

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram		ater or nent (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
			-	Volts	Amperes	
6FG6/ EM84		R	efer to typ	e EM84/6	FG6	
6FJ7	Medium-Mu Dual Triode	8B	128M	6.3	0.9	Unit No. 1 as Class A Amplifier Unit No. 2 as Class A Amplifier
6FM8	Twin Diode High-Mu Triode	6B	9KR	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6FQ5A	High-Mu Triode	5C	7FP	6.3	0.18	Class A Amplifier
6FQ7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6E	9LP	6.3	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6FV6	Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode	5C	7FQ	6.3	0.2	Class A Amplifier
6FV8	Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9FA	6.3	D.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6FV8A	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9FA	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6FW5	Beam Power Tube	19B	6C K	6.3	1.2	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6FW8	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9AJ	6.3	0.4	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6FY5/ EC97	High-Mu Triode	5C	7FP	6.3	0.2	Class A Amplifier
6G6G	Power Pentode	22	75	6.3	0.15	Pentode Class A Amplifier
6 6 11	Beam Power Tube—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8B	12BU	6.3	1.2	Beam Power Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A
6GB5	Beam Power Tube	10E	SNH	6.3	1.38	Amplifier Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
66F5	Beam Power Tube	8D	12BJ	6.3	1.2	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6GF7	Dual Triode	11A	SQD	6.3	0.985	Vertical Deflection Oscillator Vertical Deflection Amplifier
6GH8	Medium-Mu TriodeSharp-Cutoff Pentode	68	9AE	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Horiz. Defl. Osc. Pentode Unit as Horiz. Defl. Osc.
6GJ5	Novar Beam Power Tube	18A	9QK	6.3	1.2	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6GJ7	Medium-Mu Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	61	9QA	6.3	0.41	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6GJ8	Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	\$B	9AE	6.3	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6GL7	Dual-Triode	138	8BD	6.3	1.05	Unit 1 as Class A Amplifier Unit 2 as Class A Amplifier
6GM5	Power Pentode	10D	9MQ	6.3	0.8	Class A Amplifier
6GQ7	Triple Diode	6B	9QM	6.3	0.45	Each Unit as Half-Wave Rectifier
6GT5	Beam Power Tube	17B	9NZ	6.3	1.2	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6GU5	Beam Nexode	5C	7GA	6.3	0.22	Class A Amplifier
6GV8	High-Mu Triode Power Pentode	6G	9LY	6.3	0.9	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6GW6	Beam Power Tube	20A	6AM	6.3	1.2	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6GX6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7EN	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier

	Grid Blas or		Screen	Plate	AC Plate	700-0	Amplic	Pow	er	RCA
Plate	Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	кся Туре
Volts		Voits	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
									·	6FG6/ EM84
250 250			_	8 41	8000 2000	2500 7700	22.5 15.4			6FJ7
250	_3	_	_	1	58000	1200	70			6FM8
135	- 1.2			8.9	6300	12000	74			6FQ5A
250	— 8V			9	7700	2600	20			6FQ7
125	-1	80	1.5	10	100000	8000				6FV6
125	— 1V			14	5000	8000	40			CENO
125	— 1V	125	4	12	200000	6500			—	6FV8
125	- 1			12	5600	8000	45			6FV8A
125	<u> </u>	125	4	12	20000	6500				
	Max. DC Plate Max. DC Catho	Volts, 770 de mA, 61	0		Ma	ak Positive- ix. Plate Dis	Pulse Plate sipation, 1	Volts, 6500 8 watts		6FW5
100	1.2V			15	2500	13000	33			6FW8
135	—1V		<u> </u>	11	_ —	13000	70			6FY5/ EC97
180	— 9V	180	2.5	15.0	175000	2300		10000	1.1	6G6G
120	— 8V	110	4	4 9	10000	7500		2500	2.3	- 6G11
150	150Ω	150	3.5	15	20000	9500				van
Max. Max.	DC Plate Volts DC Cathode m/	, 275 A, 275			Max. Max.	Peak Positiv Plate Dissip	e-Pulse Pla ation, 17 w	ate Volts, 77 atts	00	6GB5
Max. Max.	DC Plate Volts DC Cathode mA	, 770			Max. Max	Peak Positiv Plate Dissip	e-Pulse Pl	ate Volts, 50	00	6GF5
Max.	DC Plate Volts	. 330				Plate Dissip				
Max. Max	DC Plate Volts DC Cathode m	, 330 A. 50			Max.	Peak Positiv Plate Dissip	e-Pulse, P	ate Volts, 15	00 (Abs.)	- 6GF7
Max.	. DC Plate Volts	, 330				lax. Plate D				
Max. Max.	DC Plate Volts Peak NegPuls	, 350 e Grid Vol	ts, 175	Max Max	c. Peak Cat c. DC Catho c. DC Catho	hode mA, 30 ode mA, 20		Plate ipation, 2.5 v	vatts	- 6GH8
250	-22.5V	150	2.1	70	15000	7100				6GJ5
100	<u> </u>			15		9000	20			6GJ7
170	- 1.2V	120	3	10	350000	11000	Grid N	actor, 55 o. 2 to Grid	No. 1)	0037
125	<u> </u>			13.5	5000	8500	40			- 6GJ8
125 	<u> </u>	125	4.5	12	150000	7500			<u> </u>	
175	25V			2 46	30000 780	2200 6400	66 5			6GL7
300	-10V	300	8	60	29000	10200		3000	11	6GM5
	Max. Peak II Max. RMS P Max. Peak P	nverse Vol late Volts late mA, {	ts, 330 117 54			Min. T	DC Average otal Effect impedance,	ve Plate		6GQ7
Max. Max. Max	DC Plate Volts DC Cathode mi Plate Dissipati	, 770 Å, 175			Max. Max. Max	Peak NegP Grid-No. 2	ulse Grid-N Volts, 220	io. 1 Volts, - ate Volts, 65	- 330 no	6GT5
135	0.4V			9	67000	15000				6GU5
100	— 0.8V			5	7600	6500	50			· · · · · ·
170	-15	170	2.7	41	25000	7500				~ 6GV8
250	-22.5V	150	2.1	70	15000	7100				6GW6
150	180Ω	100	3	3.7	140000	3700	(Gri	d No. 1 to pl	ate)	6GX6

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Termínal Dia- gram	H	eater or ament (F)	Use Values to right give operat ing conditions and character istics for indicated typical use
			-	Volts	Amperes	···
6GY8	High-Mu Triple Triode	6B	9MB	6.3	0.45	Unit No. 1 as Class A Amplifier Units No. 2 and No. 3 as Class A Amplifier
6GZ5	Power Pentode	5C	7CV	6.3	0.38	Class A Amplifier
5H5 6H6GT	Twin Diode	29B	70	6.3	0.3	Voltage Doubler
		13D	70			Half-Wave Rectifier
6HB6 6HB6/ 6HA6	Power Pentode	6G	9NW	6.3	0.76	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
6HD7	Medium-Mu Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	63	9QA	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6HG5	Beam Power Tube	5D	7BZ	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
6HG8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	68	9MP	6.3	0.34	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6HJ5	Beam Power Tube	15C	12FL	6.3	2.25	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6HJ8	Diode-Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9C Y	6.3	0.45	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6HK5	High-Mu Triode	5C	7GM	6.3	0.19	Class A Amplifier
6HM6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9PM	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6HR5	Beam Power Tube	5D	78 Z	6.3	0.45	Vertical-Deflection Amplifier
6HR6	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	78K	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
6HU6/ Em87	Electron-Ray Tube	6N	9GA	6.3	0.3	Tuning Indicator
6HU8/ Ell80	Twin Pentode	6G	9NJ	6.3	0.55	Power Amplifier
6HV5	Beam Triode	15E	12GY	6.3	1.8	Class A Amplifier
6HZ5/ 6JD5	Beam Triode	15F	12GY	6.3	2.4	High Voltage Pulse Regulator
6HZ8	High-Mu Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	1 0 G	9DX	6.3	1.125	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6j4* 6j4wa*	Triode	5C	7BQ	6.3	0.4	UHF Amplifier
6J5 6J5GT	Medium-Mu Triode	2A 13D	6Q 6Q	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
616 616wa+	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	5C	7BF	6.3 6.3	0.45	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6J6WB+	meulum-mu (#14 111002	36	76r	6.3	0.45	Push-Pull Class C Amplifier
617 6J7G 6J7GT	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	3 23 14A	7R 7R 7R	6.3	0.3	Pentode Class A RF Amplifier
6J8G	Triode-Heptode Converter	23	8H	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Oscillator
619	High-Mu Triple Triode	6B	10G	6.3	0.45	Heptode Unit as Mixer Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6J10	Pentode-Beam Power Tube	8B	12BT	6.3	0.95	Pentode Units as
6J11	Sharp-Cutoff Twin Pentode		12BW	6.3	0.8	Class A Amplifier Each Unit as
0111	Anthone IAIN LERIAGE	04	140 W	0.3		Class A Amplifier

♦ Industrial_type

	Grid Bias ar		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi-		wer	- RCA
Piate	Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- reat	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load	Out- put	Туре
Volts		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
125 125	220Ω —1V			4.5 4.5	14000 14000	4500 4500	63 63	_		6GY8
250 250	270Ω 270Ω (bypassed)	250 250	2.7 2.7	16 16	150000	8400		15000 15000	1.8 1.1	6GZ5
Max. Min.	AC Supply Volt Total Effect. Pl	s per Plat	e (RMS), Imped	117 ner Plat	e: half-wave	Max.	DC Output	mA, 8. min.		6H6
Max. Max	AC Plate Volts DC Output mA,	(RMS), 150	0		Min. Total	Effective Pla Its, 15 ohms	te-Supply	Impedance:	up	- 6H6GT
	bo output mai,	0 per 1100				13, 15 01183	, 81 150 11	11(3, 40 Olana		6HB6
250 250	33Ω 100Ω	125 250	4.2 6.2	40 40	28000 24000	24000 20000	33			6HB6/ 6HA6
100	0V			14	4880	8200	40			- 6HD7
125	_1V	ز12	3.5	12		7000				- 0HD/
250 180		250 180	4.5 3	45 29	52000 58000	4100 3700		5000 5500	4.5 2	6HG5
100	— 3V			14		5500	17			- 6000
170	1.2V	150	3.3	10	350000	12000				- 6HG8
135	22	135	5.5	80	5000	10000	4.2			6HJ5
125	56Ω	125	3.6	11.5	200000	9300				6HJ8
135	1V			12.5	5000	15000	75			6HK5
125	56Ω	125	3.2	13	156000	15000	_	<u> </u>		6HM6
260 50	19V 0V	270 250	2.3 25	30 105		3600				6HR5
200	68Ω	115	4.3	13.2	500000	8500				6HR6
Tri	ode Plate and F Triode Grid-Su	luorescent pply Volts	-Target V =10	volts = to +15	250	Shado	w Section	= 0 to 0.83	3 inch	6HU6/ Em87
250	160 Ω	250	4.5	24	80000	6000		10000	3	6HU8/ Ell80
		Fo	or other o	characte	ristics, refe	er to Type 6	HS5	···	·····	6HV5
	Max. Puise Pia Max. Peak Pia	ate Volts, te mA, 325	5500	_	Max. Pe	lax. Plate D ak Heater-C	issipation, athode Vol	35 watts ts, <u>+</u> 200,	-450	6HZ5/ 6JD5
200				3.5		4000	70			6HZ8
250	100	170	6	29	140000	12600	<u> </u>			
150	100Ω			15	4500	12000	55			6J4 6J4WA
90 250	0V 8V			10 9	6700 7700	3000 2600	20 20			6J5 6J5GT
100	50Ω (For	both units)	8.5	7100	5300	38			616
150	—10V			30	Driving	rrent, 16 mA Power, 0.35	watt		3.5	6J6WB+
100 250	— 3V — 3V	100 100	0.5 0.5	2.0 2.0	1 M 1 M	1185 1225	_			6J7 6J7G 6J7GT
100 250	50000	d Resistor, ohms		4 5						6J8G
250	- 3V	100	2.8	1.4	1.5 M			nd., 290 mic	romhos	
125	1V			6	11000	5200	57			619
250	8V	250	2.5	35	100000	6500		5000	4.2	6J10
125	56Ω	125	3.8	11	200000	13000				6J11

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram		ater or nent (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
				Volts	Amperes	
GJA5	Beam Power Tube	15D	12EY	6.3	1.0	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
6JB6	Beam Powar Tube	18A	9QL	6.3	1.2	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6JC6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9PM	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6JE6	Beam Power Tube	32D	9QL	6.3	2.5	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6JE6A	Beam Power Tube	32B	9QL	6.3	2.5	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6JE8	High-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9DX	6.3	0.78	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifie
6JG6	Beam Power Tube	17B	900	6.3	1.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6JK6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	6.3	0.35	Class A Amplifier
6JK8	Dual Triode	68	9AJ	6.3	0.4	Unit No. 1 as Oscillator Unit No. 2 as RF Amplifier
6JM6	Beam Power Tube	39A	12FJ	6.3	1.2	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6JS6	Beam Power Tube	16B	12FY	6.3	2 .25	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6JS6A	Beam Power Tube	16B	12FY	6.3	2.25	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6JT6	Beam Power Tube	170	900	6.3	1.2	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6108	Quadruple Diode	6E	SPQ	6.3	0.6	Phase Detector
6JZ6	Beam Power Tube	39A	12GD	6.3	1.5	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6K5GT	High-Mu Triode	14A	50	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6K7 6K7G 6K7GT	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	3 23 14A	7R 7R 7R	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6K8		3	8K			Triode Unit as Oscillator
6K8G 6K8GT	Triode-Hexade Converter	23	BK BK	6.3	0.3	Hexode Unit as Mixer
6K11 6K11/ 6Q11	Twin High-Mu Triode— Medium-Mu Triode	8A	12BY	6.3	0.6	Twin Unit as Class A Amplifier Class A Amplifier
6KL8	Diode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	SLQ	6.3	0.3	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6KN8/ 6RHH8	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9AJ	6.3	0.4	Each Triode as Class A Amplifier
6KU8	Twin Diode Sila:p-Cutoff Pentode	10A	9LT	6.3	0.725	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6KV6	Beam Power Tube	31D	900	6.3	1.6	High-Voltage-Pulse Shunt Regulator
6KY6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9GX	6.3	0.52	Class A Amplifier
6KY8	High-Mu Triode Beam Power Tube	11C	907	6.3	1.1	Triode Unit as Oscillator
			·			Beam Power Unit as Amplifier
6L5G	Medium-Mu Triode	22	6Q	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
6L6G		278	7AC			Single-Tube Class A Amplifier
6L6GB	Beam Power Tube	278 19D	7AC 7AC	6.3	0.9	Push-Pull Class A Amplifier
				_		Push-Pull Class AB1 Amplifier
` 6l7 6l7g	Pentagrid Mixer	3 23	71 71	6.3	0.3	Mixer Service

	Grid Bias or		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi- ***	Pa	wer	- RCA
Plate	Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load	Out- put	Type
Volts		Volts	mA	mΑ	Ohms	Micremhos		Chms	Watts	
135 45	-10V 0V	125 125	4.2 20	95 210	42000	10300 stantaneous	Plate Knee	character		6JA5
Max.	DC Plate Volts Peak Cathode r Plate Dissipati	. 770		210		ax. Peak Ne ax. Grid-No. ax. Peak Po				6JB6
125	56Ω	125	3.2	13	0.18	15000	<u> </u>			6JC6
		For	other cha	aracterist	ics, refer	to Type 6JE	6A			6JE6
175	25	125	2.8	130	5800	9600	3			6JE6/
200	2V			4.5		4200	70			
250	82 Ω	170	4	22	140000	12000				6JE8
60	0V	170	12	48		tantaneous		characteri	stic	C100
105	60 0		-~			to Type 6JG	bA			6JG6
125 100	68Ω 1V	125	3.9	11.5 5.3	150000	18000	55			GJKG
135				10	5400	13000	55 70			6JK8
			For othe	r ratings,	refer to	Type 6JB6				6JM6
175	- 2 5V	125	4.5	125	5600	11300	3			6J S6
175	25	125	4.5	125	5600	11300	3			6JS6A
			For other	ratings,	refer to	Type 6JB6				6116
	Peak Inverse P		, 300		М	ax. DC Outpu	ut mA, 9	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		6JU8
Max. 130	Peak Plate mA, 20V	54 130	1.8	46	M 9900	ax. Peak He 9000	ater-Cathode	Volts, ±	300	0100
50	0V	130	29	40		tantaneous	Plate Knee	characteri	etic	6JZ6
250	3V			1.1	50000	1400	70			6K5GT
250	3V	125	2.6	10.5	600000	1650				6K7 6K7G 6K7GT
100	Grid Res.,	50000 ohn	15	3.8	Trio	le-Grid & He	xode-Grid Ci	irrent 01	5 m Å	6K8
100	— 3V	100	6.2	2.3	400000					6K8G
250	- 3V	100	6.0	2.5	600000	Conversi	on Transcond on Transcond	J., 350 mi	cromhos	6K8GI
250	— 2V			1.2	62500	1600	100			6K11
250	- 8.5V			10.5	7700	2200	100			6K11/
						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Crid No. 1.1	Volta for		6011
100	0	100	2.2	5.5	555000	4300	Grid-No. 1 rent	of 10 μ A,	4.2	6KL8
110	1V	<u> </u>		16	2800	16000	45	<u> </u>		6KN8 6RHH
		Fo	r other c	haracteri	stics, ref	er to Type 1	0KU8			6KU8
		Fo	r other c	haracteri	stics, ref	er to Type 6	KV6A			6KV6
200	—18V	135	5.2	30	40000	30000				6KY6
Max.	DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA	330		N	fax. Plate	Dissipation,	, 1.5 watts	_		
Max.	DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA	300		N	lax. Peak lax. Plate	Positive-Pul Dissipation,	se Plate Vol 12 watts	ts, 2200 (Abs.)	6KY8
250	— 9V			8.0	9000	1900	17			6L5G
250 250	14V 168Ω	250 250	5.0 5.4	72.0 75.0			_	2500	6.5	
270		270		134.0				2500 5000	6.5 17.5†	6L6G
270	124Ω□	270	11.0	134.0 🗆				5000	18.5	6L6GI
360 360	22.5V 248Ω⊡	270 270	5.0 🗆 5.0 🗆	88.0 🗆 88.0 🗖	_			6600 9000	26.5† 24.5†	
250	— 6V	150	9.2	2.3	Osci Grid	lator-Grid (N No. 3 Peak S	10. 3) Bias, -	-15 volts		6L7

† For two tubes at stated plate-to-plate load.

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram		iter or ient (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
			-	Volts	Amperes	
	Medium-Mu Triode	444			0 705	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6LB8	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	10Å	9DX	6.3	0.725	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6LH6A	Beam Triode	21D	8ML	6.3	0.2	Shunt Voltage Regulator
6LJ6	Beam Triode	21D	8MQ	6.3	0.2	Shunt Voltage Regulator
6LQ6/ 6JE6B	Beam Power Tube	32C	9QL	6.3	2.5	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
6LZ6	Beam Power Tube	32C	9QL	6.3	2.3	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
*6MA6	Beam Triode	21D	8NP	6.3	0.2	Shunt Voltage Regulator
6MK8	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9FG	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6ML8	Medium-Mu Triple Triode	6B	9RQ	6.3	0.675	Class A Amplifier
6N6G	Direct-Coupled Power Triede	25	7AU	6.3	0.8	Class A Amplifier
6N7 6N7GT	Medium-Mu Twin Power Triode	2B 13D	8B 8B	6.3	0.8	Class A Amplifier (as Driver) Class B Amplifier
6P5GT	Medium-Mu Triode	13D	60	6.3	0.3	Amplifier Detector
6P7G	Low-Mu Triode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	23	78	6.3	0.3	Amplifier and Converter
607 607G 607GT	Twin Diode High-Mu Triode	3 23 14A	7V 7V 7V	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6Q11	Twin High-Mu Triode— Medium-Mu Triode	8A	12BY	6.3	0.6	Twin Unit as Class A Amplifier Class A Amplifier
6R7 6R7G 6R7GT	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	3 23 14A	7V 7V 7V	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6RP22	Power Pentode	6E	9B V	6.3	0.65	Class A Amplifier
6S4	Medium-Mu Triode	8E	9AC	6.3 6.3	0.6 0.6	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
6S7 6S7G	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	3 23	7R 7R	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
6S8GT	Triple Diode—High-Mu Triode	14C	808	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6SA7 6SA7GT	Pentagrid Converter	2A 13D	8R 8AD	6.3	0.3	Converter
6SB7Y	Pentagrid Converter	2A	8R	6.3	0.3	Mixer
6SC7	High-Mu Twin Triode	2A	85	6.3	0.3	Each Unit as Amplifier
6SF5 6SF5GT	High-Mu Triode	2A 13D	6AB FAB	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6SF7	Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	2A	7AZ	6.3	0.3	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6SG7	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	2A	8B K	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6SH7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	2A	8BK	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6SJ7 6SJ7GT	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	2A 13D	8N 8N	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6SK7 6SK7GT	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	2A 13D	8N 8N	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6SN7GT	Madium Mu Tuta Tatada	13D	6DP	6.3	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
6SN7 GTA	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	13D 13D	88 D	6.3	0.6	Each Unit as Vertical Amplifier

	Grid Bias		Screen			_		Powe	r	
Plate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rest	Plate Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	• RCA Type
Volts		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
125	68Ω			13	6000	5000	30		·	
200 50	82Ω 0V	100 100	3.5 18	17 55	5000 In	20000 stantaneous	Plate Knee	characterist	tic —	- 6LB8
						fer to Type				6LH6A
	Max. Max. Unregulat	Plate Volted Plate S	ts, 27000 Supply Vo	olts. 600		Ma Max.	x. Average Plate Diss	Plate mA, 1 ipation, 40 W	.6 /atts	6LJ6
175	35	145	2.4	95	7000	7500	2.8			6LQ6/ 6JE6B
		For	other cha	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 31L	Z6		• - -	6LZ6
	Max. Plate	Volts, 30	000			Max. / Max Pia	Average Plate	ite mA, 1.5 ion, 40 Watts	s	6MA6
		For	other cha	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 6M			5	6MK8
125	1V			11	6400	6700	43			6ML8
Outp	ut Triode: Plate e: Plate Volts,	Volts, 300	; Plate	mA, 45;	Load, 7000	ohms			4.0	6N6G
250	ie: Plate Volts, — 5V	300; Grid	Volts, 0;	Input P 6.0	late mA, 8 11300	3100	35	20000	exceeds	
300	<u> </u>			7.0	11000	3200	35	or more	0.4	6N7 - 6N7Gt
300 250	0V 	Power	Output	5.0	9500	plate-to-pla	13.8	8000	10.0	6P5GT
230		Eo	r other c			r to Type 6				6P7G
					131103, 1010					607
100 250	— 1V — 3V	<u> </u>		0.8 1.1	58000 58000	1200 1200	70 70			6Q7G
										6Q7GT
250 150	<u> </u>			1.2	62500 7000	1600 2500	100			- 6Q11
										6R7
250	9V			9.5	8500	1900	16			6R7G 6R7GT
250	3V	150	8.5	22	55000	8500				6RP22
Max.	DC Plate Volts	, 550			Max.	Peak Positiv		te Volts, 220	0	6\$4
	DC Cathode m#					Plate Dissip	ation, 8.5 1			6\$7
250	— 3V	100	2.0	8.5	1 M	1750				6\$7G
250	— 2V			0.9	91000	1100	100			6S8GT
250	Self- Excited	100	8.5	3.5	1.0	Conver	sion Transc	or, 20000 ohm ond., 450 mic	cromhos	6SA7 6SA7GT
100	— 1V	100	10.2	3.6	500000	Grid-No Convers	o. 1 Resisto sion Transc	or, 20000 ohm ond., 950 mic	s. cromhos	6SB7Y
250	— 2V		·	2.0	53000	1325	70			6SC7
250	— 2V			0.9	66000	1500	100	<u> </u>		6SF5 6SF5GT
100 250	1V 1V	100 100	3.4 3.3	12.0 12.4	200000 700000	1975 2050	~			6SF7
100	- 1V	100	3.2	8.2 9.2	250000	4100				6SG7
250	<u> </u>	150	3.4 2.1	5.3	1 M 350000	4000				6SH7
250	<u> </u>	150	4.1	10.8	900000	4900				6SJ7
100 250	— 3V — 3V	100 100	0.9 0.8	2.9 3.0	700000 1 M	1575 1650			—	6SJ7GT
100 250	— 1V — 3V	100 100	4.0 2.6	13.0 9.2	120000 800000	2350 2000				65K7 65K7GT
100	0V 8V			10.0 9.0	6700 7700	3000 2600	20 20			6SN7GT
Max	DC Plate Volts		Max	. Plate	Dissipation	5 watts eit	her plate;	7.5 watts bot	h plates	- 6SN7
	Peak Cathode		Max	. Peak I	Positive Pul	se Plate Vol	ts, 1500			GTA

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram	He	eater or ament (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
				Volts	Amperes	
6507 6507GT	Twin-DiodeHigh-Mu Triode	2A 13D	8Q 8Q	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie
6SR7	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	2A	80	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie
6SS7	Remote-Cutoff Pentade	2A	8N	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
6S17	Twin Dlode—Medium-Mu Triode	2A	80	6.3	0.15	Triode Unit as Amplifier
6SZ7	Twin Diode-High-Mu Triode	2A	8Q	6.3	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie
6T4	Medium-Mu Triode	5D	70K	6.3	0.225	Oscillator in UHF TV Receivers
014	meurum ma trioue	50	,		0.225	Class A Amplifier
6T7G	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode	22	7V	6.3	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6T8	Triple Diode—High-Mu Triode	6B	9E	6.3 6.3	0.45 0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
679	High-Mu Triode— Power Pentode	8B	12FM	6.3	0.93	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6U5	Electron-Ray Tube	13H	6R	6.3	0.3	Visual Indicator
6U7G	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	28J	7R	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6U8	Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9AE	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6U9/ ECF201	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	10K	6.3	0.41	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6V3A	Half Wave Rectifier	7B	9BD	6.3	1.75	Television Damper Service
6V6GT	Beam Power Tube	13D	7AC	6.3	0.45	Single-Tube Class A Amplifier
6V6GTY	Deam FUWEL LUUP	130	746	0.3	0.45	Push-Pull Class AB1 Amplifier
6V7G	Twin Diode-Low-Mu Triode	23	77	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Amplifier
6W4GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	13D	4CG	6.3	1.2	Television Damper Service
6W7G	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	23	7R	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
6X4W+	Full-Wave Rectifier	5D	5BS	6.3	0.6	With Capacitive-Input Filter With Inductive-Input Filter
6X5	Full Ways Destifier	-	**	~ ~		With Capacitive-Input Filter
070	Full-Wave Rectifier	28	6S	6.3	0.6	With Inductive-Input Filter
6X8	Medium-Mu Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9AK	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6Y5	Full-Wave Rectifier	22 or 13H	61	6.3	0.8	With Capacitive-Input Filter
6Y7G	High-Mu Twin Power Triode	22	8B	6.3	0.6	Class B Amplifier
6Y9	Dual Pentode	6L	10L	6.3	0.8	Unit No. 1 as Class A Amplifier Unit No. 2 as Class A Amplifier
6Z4	Refer to type 84/6Z4					·
6Z5	Full-Wave Rectifier	22	6K ¹	2.6 6.3	0.8 0.4	With Capacitive-Input Filter
6Z7G	High-Mu Twin Power Triode	22	8B	6.3	0.3	Class B Amplifier
6Z10	Power Pentode Gated-Beam Discriminator	8C	12BT	6.3	0.95	Class A Amplifier
ZY5G	Full-Wave Rectifier	22	6S	6.3	0.3	

+ Industrial type

- RCA	Power		Amplifi-	Trans-	AC Plate	Plate	Screen Grid		Grid Bias or	
RC Typ	Out- put	Load	cation Factor	conduct- ance	Resist- ance	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Screen Grid	Cathode Resistor	Plate
	Watt	Ohms		Micromhos	Ohms	mA	mA	Volts		Volts
6SQ7			100 100	925 1175	110000 85000	0.5 1.1			— 1V — 2V	100 250
6SR7			16	1900	8500	9.5			— 9V	250
655				1850	1 M	9.0	2.0	100	— 3V	250
6ST				to Type 6SF			other cha	For		
6SZ7	\equiv		70 70	1300 1200	54000 53000	0.8 1.0			1V 3V	100 250
674		E watta	nation 2	. Grid mA, 8 Plate Dissi	Max.			, 200	DC Plate Volts DC Cathode m	Max. Max
_ 6T4			13	7000		18			150Ω	80
- 6T70			65	1050	62000	1.2			3V	250
	tage, 40	Gain per sta	70	0.5 MΩ 1300	Resistor, 54000	Grid 0.8			4580Ω — 1V	300 100
618			70	1200	58000	1.0			<u> </u>	250
6T9	4.2	5000		2100 6500	45000 100000	1.5 35	2.5	250	2V 8V	250 250
605		4.0 mA t, 0.24 mA	Current, e Curren) MΩ Target le, 90°; Plat		Plate R Bias, O			& Target Supp Bias, —22 volt	Plate Grid
_6U7G				1600	800000	8.2	2.0	100	<u> </u>	250
6U8			40	7500 5000	200000	13.5 9.5	3.5	110	<u> </u>	125 1 2 5
6U9/			17	5000 12000		14 13		110	2V 1.4V	100 160
ECF20		te mA, 135	rage Pla						. Peak Inverse	
6V3A	5750 (Abs.)							01-4		
0124			-Cathode	Peak Heater	Max.		800	Plate mA,	Max. Peak	
	4.5	5000	-Cathode	4100	50000	45.0	4.5	250	-12.5V	250
6V6GT	4.5 5.5	5000 8500	-Cathode			45.0 34.0 70.0 🗆	4.5 2.2 5.0□	250 225 250	12.5V 13V 15V	315 250
6V6GT 6V6GT	4.5	5000	-Cathode	4100 3750	50000 80000	34.0 70.0ロ 70.0ロ	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0	250 225 250 285	-12.5V -13V	315
6V6GT	4.5 5.5 10.0†	V013: 1+30 5000 8500 10000 8000		4100 3750 to Type 85	50000 80000	34.0 70.0ロ 70.0ロ	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 other cha	250 225 250 285 For	12.5V 13V 15V 19V	315 250 285
6V6GT 6V6GT	4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0†	Volts: [+30 5000 8500 10000 8000		4100 3750 to Type 85 Max, Plate D	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0ロ 70.0ロ	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 other cha	250 225 250 285 For re Plate Vo mA, 750		315 250 285 M
6V6GT 6V6GT 6V7G 6W4GT	4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0†	V013: 1+30 5000 8500 10000 8000		4100 3750 to Type 85 Max, Plate D	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0ロ 70.0ロ	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 other cha	250 225 250 285 For e Plate Vo mA, 750 te mA, 125		315 250 285 M
6V6GT 6V6GT 6V7G 6W4GT 6W7G	4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0†	Volts: [+30 5000 8500 10000 8000		4100 3750 to Type 85 Max. Plate D tak Heater-Ca	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0 70.0 aracteris 2.0	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 other cha its, 3850 0.5	250 225 250 285 For re Plate Vo mA, 750 re mA, 125 100	-12.5V -13V -15V -19V lax. Peak Inver lax. Peak Plate lax. Average Pl	315 250 285 M M
6V6GT 6V6GT 6V7G 6W4GT	300 4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0† +300 Supply	5000 8500 10000 8000 1, 3.5 watts 3.5 watts Total Effect.	issipation athode Vo	4100 3750 to Type 85 Max. Plate D tak Heater-C: 1225 to Type 6X4 mA, 70	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0 7	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 other cha its, 3850 0.5 other cha	250 225 250 285 For e Plate Vo mA, 750 te mA, 125 100 For c ate (RMS), 3	12.5V 13V 15V 19V lax. Peak Inver lax. Peak Plate lax. Average Pl 3V AC Volts per Pl	315 250 285 MM 250 Max. /
6V6GT 6V6GT 6V7G 6W4GT 6W7G	300 4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0† +300 Supply 525 ohms ut Choke,	5000 8500 10000 8000 1, 3.5 watts 900 1, 3.5 watts 900	issipation athode Vo	4100 3750 to Type 85 Max. Plate D ak Heater-C: 1225 to Type 6X4 mA, 70 mA, 245 mA, 70	50000 80000 stics, refer Max. Pe 1.5 M tics, refer DC Output Peak Plate DC Output	34.0 70.0 70.0 aracteris 2.0 macteris Max. 1 Max. 1 Max. 1	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 0 ther chains 0.5 0 ther chains 325	250 225 250 285 For e Plate Vo te mA, 750 te mA, 125 100 For (te (RMS), 4 its, 1250 ite (RMS), 4	12.5V 13V 15V 19V lax. Peak Inver lax. Peak Inver lax. Average PI 	315 250 285 M 250 250 Max. / Max. /
6V6GT 6V6GT 6V7G 6W4GT 6W7G 6X4W 6X5	300 4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0† +300 Supply 525 ohms ut Choke,	vorts: 1+30 5000 8500 10000 8000 n, 3.5 watts 3.5 watts bits, -2300, - - - Total Effect. 5. per Plate, 5	issipation athode Vo	4100 3750 to Type 85 Max. Plate D ak Heater-C: 1225 to Type 6X4 mA, 70 mA, 245 mA, 70	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0 70.0 aracteris 2.0 macteris Max. 1 Max. 1 Max. 1	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 other cha dts, 3850 0.5 other cha 325	250 225 250 285 For e Plate Vo te mA, 750 te mA, 125 100 For (te (RMS), 4 its, 1250 ite (RMS), 4	12.5V 13V 15V 19V lax. Peak Inver lax. Average PI 3V AC Volts per PI Peak Inverse Vo	315 250 285 M 250 250 Max. / Max. /
6V6GT 6V6GT 6V7G 6W4GT 6W7G 6X4W	300 4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0† +300 Supply 525 ohms ut Choke,	5000 8500 10000 8000 1, 3.5 watts 900 1, 3.5 watts 900	 issipation thode Vo Min. Min.	4100 3750 to Type 85 Max. Plate D tak Heater-Ct 1225 to Type 6X4 mA, 70 mA, 245 mA, 245	50000 80000 stics, refer Max. Pe 1.5 M tics, refer DC Output Peak Plate	34.0 70.0 70.0 aracteris 2.0 max. f Max. f Max. f Max. 1 Max. 2	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 other chailes 3850 0.5 other chailes 325 400 1	250 225 250 285 For e Piate Vo mA, 750 te mA, 125 100 For (te (RMS), 1ts, 1250	12.5V 13V 15V 19V lax. Peak Inverse lax. Average PI 	315 250 285 M 250 250 Max. / Max. / Max. / Max. /
6V6GT 6V6GT 6V7G 6W4GT 6W7G 6X4W 6X5	300 4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0† +300 Supply 525 ohms ut Choke,	5000 8500 10000 8000 1, 3.5 watts 900 1, 3.5 watts 900	 issipation thode Vo Min. Min.	4100 3750 to Type 85 Max. Plate D tak Heater-C: 1225 to Type 6X4 mA, 70 mA, 245 6500 5500 -	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0 aracteris 2.0 macteris Max. 1 Max. 1 Max. 1 Max. 2 9 er Plate	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0	250 225 250 285 For e Plate Vo mA, 750 te mA, 125 100 For (te (RMS), , 1ts, 1250 te (RMS), , 1ts, 1250 1ts, 12.5V 13V 15V 19V lax. Peak Inver lax. Average PI 	315 250 285 M 250 250 Max. / Max. / Max. / Max. / 125	
6V6GT 6V6GT 6V7G 6W4GT 6W7G 6X4W 6X5 6X8	300 4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0† +300 Supply 525 ohms ut Choke,	5000 8500 10000 8000 1, 3.5 watts 900 1, 3.5 watts 900	 issipation thode Vo Min. Min.	4100 3750 to Type 85 Max. Plate D tak Heater-C: 1225 to Type 6X4 mA, 70 mA, 245 6500 5500 -	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0 aracteris 2.0 racteris Max. 1 Max. 1 Max. 1 Max. 2 9 er Plate mA, 50	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0	250 225 250 285 For e Plate Vo mA, 750 te mA, 125 100 For (c (RMS), - its, 1250 	12.5V 13V 15V 19V lax. Peak Inver lax. Peak Inverage PI 3V AC Volts per PI Peak Inverse VC AC Volts per PI Peak Inverse VC 1V 1V	315 250 285 250 250 Max. / Max. / Max. 1 125 125
6V6GT 6V6GT 6V7G 6W4GT 6W7G 6X4W 6X5 6X5 6X8 6Y5	300 4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0† +300 Supply 525 ohms ut Choke,	5000 8500 10000 8000 1, 3.5 watts 900 1, 3.5 watts 900	Min. Imper Min. 1mper Min. 40	4100 3750 to Type 85 Max. Plate D tak Heater-C: 1225 to Type 6X4 mA, 70 mA, 245 mA, 70 mA, 245 6500 5550 - 0 to Type 79 21000	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0 □ 70.0 □ aracteris 2.0 racteris Max. 1 Max. 1 Max. 1 2 9 er Plate mA, 50 racteris	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0	250 225 250 285 For e Plate Vo mA, 750 te mA, 125 100 For (c (RMS), - its, 1250 	12.5V 13V 15V 19V lax. Peak Inver lax. Average PI 	315 250 285 250 250 Max. / Max. / Max. 1 125 125
6V6GT 6V6GT 6V7G 6W4GT 6W7G 6X4W 6X5 6X5 6X8 6Y5 6Y7G 6Y9	300 4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0† +300 Supply 525 ohms ut Choke,	5000 8500 10000 8000 1, 3.5 watts 900 1, 3.5 watts 900	min. 40	4100 3750 to Type 85 Aax. Plate D tak Heater-C: 1225 to Type 6X4 mA, 70 mA, 245 mA, 70 mA, 245 6500 5500 5500 - 0 to Type 79	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0⊡ 70.0⊡ aracteris 2.0 racteris Max. I Max. I Max. I Max. I Max. 12 9 er Plate mA, 50 racteris	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0	250 225 250 285 For e Plate Vo mA, 750 te mA, 125 100 For (c tte (RMS), - its, 1250 	12.5V 13V 15V 19V lax. Peak Inver lax. Peak Inverage PI 3V AC Volts per PI Peak Inverse VC AC Volts per PI Peak Inverse VC 1V 1V	315 250 285 250 250 Max. / Max. / Max. 1 125 125
6V6GT 6V7G 6V7G 6W7G 6W7G 6X4 6X5 6X5 6X5 6X8 6Y5 6Y7G 6Y9 6Z4	300 4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0† +300 Supply 525 ohms ut Choke,	5000 8500 10000 8000 1, 3.5 watts 900 1, 3.5 watts 900	Min. Imper Min. 1mper Min. 40	4100 3750 to Type 85 Max. Plate D tak Heater-C: 1225 to Type 6X4 mA, 70 mA, 245 6500 5500 5500 to Type 79 21000 8500	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0 □ 70.0 □ aracteris 2.0 racteris Max. 1 Max. 1 Max. 1 Max. 1 2 9 9 er Plate mA, 50 racteris 00	4.5 2.2 5.0 5.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5	250 225 250 285 For e Plate Vo mA, 750 te mA, 125 100 For (c (RMS), / 1ts, 1250 te (RMS), / 150 te (RMS),	12.5V 13V 15V 19V lax. Peak Inver lax. Average PI 	315 250 285 250 250 Max. / Max. / Max. 1 125 125
6V6GT 6V7G 6V7G 6W7G 6W7G 6X7G 6X7G 6X7G 6X8 6X5 6X8 6Y5 6Y7G 6Y9 6Z4 6Z5	900 4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0† +300 	Volts: 1+30 5000 8500 10000 8000 in, 3.5 watts		4100 3750 to Type 85 Aax. Plate D tak Heater-C: 1225 to Type 6X4 mA, 70 mA, 245 6500 5500 5500 to Type 79 21000 8500 0	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0 70.0 rracteris 2.0 acteris Max. Max. 1 Max. 2 9 er Plate mA, 50 0 0 0 er Plate mA, 60	4.5 2.2 5.0 4.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0	250 225 250 285 For e Plate Vo mA, 750 te mA, 125 100 For (c te (RMS), 1250 te (RMS), 1250 te (RMS), 250 te (RMS),	12.5V 13V 15V 19V lax. Peak Inver lax. Peak Inver ax. Average PI 3V AC Volts per PI Peak Inverse VC 1V 1V 2.6 2.3	315 250 285 250 250 250 Max. / Max. / 125 125 125
6V6GT 6V7G 6V7G 6W7G 6W7G 6X5 6X8 6X5 6X8 6Y5 6Y7G 6Y7 6Z4 6Z5 6Z7G	300 4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0† +300 Supply 525 ohms ut Choke,	5000 8500 10000 8000 1, 3.5 watts 900 1, 3.5 watts 900		4100 3750 to Type 85 Jax. Plate D tak Heater-C: 1225 to Type 6X4 mA, 70 mA, 245 6500 5500 to Type 79 21000 8500 0 plate-to-pla	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0 17	4.5 2.2 5.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5	250 225 250 285 For e Plate Vo mA, 750 te mA, 125 100 For (te (RMS), 1250 its, 1250 its, 1250 its, 1250 its, 1250 its, 1250 its, 1250 its, 1250 max. A Max. D For for for for for for for for for for f	12.5V 13V 15V 19V lax. Peak Inver lax. Average PI 	315 250 285 250 250 Max. / Max. / Max. 1 125 125
6V6GT 6V7G 6V7G 6W7G 6W7G 6X7G 6X7G 6X7G 6X8 6X5 6X8 6Y5 6Y7G 6Y9 6Z4 6Z5	4.5 5.5 10.0† 14.0† +300 	Volts: 1+30 5000 8500 10000 8000 in, 3.5 watts	Min. Imped Min. 40 38 35 te load	4100 3750 to Type 85 Jax. Plate D lak Heater-C: 1225 to Type 6X4 mA, 70 mA, 245 6500 5500 to Type 79 21000 8500 0 plate-to-pla ype 6210/6J1	50000 80000 	34.0 70.0 70.0 rracteris 2.0 racteris Max. 1 Max. 1 Max. 1 Max. 1 2 9 9 er Plate mA, 50 0 0 0 er Plate mA, 60 0 one tub-	4.5 2.2 5.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5	250 225 250 285 For e Plate Vo mA, 750 te mA, 125 100 For (te (RMS), 1250 its, 1250 its, 1250 its, 1250 its, 1250 its, 1250 its, 1250 its, 1250 max. A Max. D For for for for for for for for for for f	12.5V 13V 15V 19V lax. Peak Inver lax. Peak Inver ax. Average PI 3V AC Volts per PI Peak Inverse VC 1V 1V 2.6 2.3	315 250 285 250 250 250 Max. / Max. / 125 125 125

t For two tubes at stated plate-to-plate load.

-

RCA Type	Name	Ost- line	Terminal Dia- gram	He: Fila	ster or nent (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
				Velts	Amperes	-
7A4	Medium-Mu Triode	12B	5AC	6.3	0.3	Amplifier
	Beam Power Tube	12C	GAA	6.3	0.75	Class A Amplifier
7A6	Twin Diode	12B	7AJ	6.3	0.15	Detector Rectifier
7A7	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	12B	8V	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
7A8	Octode Converter	12B	80	6.3	0.15	Converter
7AD7	Power Pentode	120	87	6.3	0.6	Class A Amplifier
7AF7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	12B	8AC	6.3	0.3	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
7AG7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	128	8V	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
7AH7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	12B	8V	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
7B4	High-Mu Triode	12B	5AC	6.3	0.3	Amplifier
7B5	Power Pentade	120	6A E	6.3	0.4	Class A Amplifier
7B6	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode	12B	8W	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Amplifier
787	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	128	87	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
7B8	Pentagrid Converter	128	8X	6.3	0.3	Converter
705	Beam Power Tube	120	644	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
706	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode	128	8₩	6.3	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
707	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	12B	8V	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
7DJ8/ PCC88	Dual Triode	6B	9DE	7	0.3	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
7E6	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	12B	8W	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Amplifier
7E7	Twin Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	12B	8AE	6.3	0.3	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
7EY6	Beam Power Tube	13F	7AC	7.2	0.6	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
7F7	High-Mu Twin Triede	12B	BAC	6.3	0.3	Each Unit as Amplifier
7F8	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	12A	8BW	6.3	0.3	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
7G7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	128	8V	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
7H7	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	12B	8V	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
7HG8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9MP	7.2	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
717	Triode-Heptode Converter	12B	8BL	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Oscillator Heptode Unit as Mixer
7K7	Twin DiodeHigh-Mu Triode	12B	8BF	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
7KZ6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9GK	7.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
7L7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	12B	87	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
7N7	Medium-Mu Twin-Triode	12C	8AC	6.3	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
707	Pentagrid Converter	128	8AL	6.3	0.3	Converter
7R7	Twin Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	12B	8AE	6.3	0.3	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
7\$7	Triode-Heptode Converter	12B	8BL	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Oscillator Heptode Unit as Mixer
7\7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	12B	8V	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
7W7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	12B	8BJ	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
7X7	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode	12C	8BZ	6.3	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
7Y4	Full-Wave Rectifier	12B	5AB	6.3	0.5	With Capacitive-Input Filter

	Grid Bias		Screen			_		Pow	er	- 804
Plate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Plate Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	rCA Type
Volts		Veits	mA	mA	Ohms	Micrombos		Ohms	Watts	
		Foi	r other c	haracter	istics, refe	er to Type 6	5			7A4
110 125	7.5V 9V	110 125	3.0 3.3	40.0 44.0	16000 17000	5800 6000		2500 2700	1.5 2.2	7A5
	AC Voltage pe	r Plate, 15	50 Volts.	RMS		Max. DC O	utput Curr	ent per plate	, 8 m A	7A6
					istics, refe	r to Type 6S	K7			7AF7
250	— 3V	100	3.2	3.0	700000	Oscillator	Grid No.) max. volts, 1 Resistor.) micromhos		7A8
300	68Ω	150	7.0	28.0	300000	9500				7AD7
250	_10V			9.0	7600	2100	16			7AF7
250	250Ω	250	2.0	6.0	1 M	4200			—	7AG7
250	250Ω	250	1.9	6.8	1 M	3300			—	7AH7
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 6S	F5			784
	· · · · · ·	For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6K6	GT			7B5
		For	other cf	aracteri	istics, refe	r to Type 6S	Q7			7B6
250	— 3V	100	1.7	8.5		750000	1750		—	787
		For	r other c	haracter	istics, refe	er to Type 6A	18			7B8
		For	r other c	haracter	istics, refe	er to Type 6V	/6			705
250	— 1V			1.3	100000	1000	100			706
250	— 3V	100	0.5	2.0	2 M	1300				707
90	1.3			15		12500	33			7DJ8/ PCC88
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 68	F6			7E6
250	330Ω	100	1.6	7.5	700000	1300	<u> </u>			7E7
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6E	/6			7EY6
		For a	ther cha	racteris	tics, refer	to Type 6SL	7GT			7F7
250	500Ω			6.0		3300	48			7F8
250	— 2V	100	2.0	6.0	800000	4500				7G7
100 250	- 1.5V 180Ω	100 150	2.6 3.2	7.5 10.0	350000 800000	4000 4000				7H7
		For	other cha	aracteris	stics, refer	to Type 6H	G8			7HG8
050	Triode-Gr	id Resistor	r.	5.0		4. 0.34 0.14		d Current 0 d		

250		rid Resista 30 ohms	r,	5.0	Triod	e-Grid & I	Heptode-Grid	i Current, O	4 mA	717
250	— 3V	100	2.8	1.4	1.5 M	Conv	ersion Trans	scond., 290	µmhos	
250	2V			2.3	44000	1600	70		_	7K7
250	75Ω	115	3.6	25	45000	24000				7KZ6
100 250	- 1V - 1.5V	100 100	2.4 1.5	5.5 4.5	100000 1 M	3000 3100		·		7L7
		For	other cha	aracteris	tics, refer to	o Type 6SI	N7GT			7N7
250	2V	100	8.5	3.5	1 M		l No. 1 Resi ersion Trans			7Q7
250	— 1V	100	2.1	5.7	1 M	3200				7R7
100 250 250		rid Resisto 00 ohms 100	or, 3.0	3.0 5.0 1.8		Conv	ersion Trans			787
300	160Ω	150	3.9	10.0	300000	5800				777
		Fo	r other c	haracter	istics, refer	to Type 7	7V7			7W7
250	1V		—	1.9	67000	1500	100			7X7
Max.	Peak Inverse	Volts, 125	0	Max.	DC Output	mA,70	Мах	. Peak Pla	te mA, 180	7Y4

RCA Type	Name	But- line	Terminal Dia- gram	Hea Filam	iter or ient (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
				Valts	Amperes	
7Z4	Full-Wave Rectifier	120	5AB	6.3	0.9	With Capacitive-Input Filter
8AL9	High-Mu Triode	80	12HE	8.6	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
UNL3	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode		IZAL	6.0	0.0	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
8BH8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9DX	8.4	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
8BN11	Sharp-Cutoff Twin Pentode	8B	12GF	8.4	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
8CB11	Sharp-Cutoff Twin Pentode	8B	12DM	8.4	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
8CN7	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode	6B	SEN	8.4	4.2	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
8EB8	High-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8E	9DX	6.3	0.75	Triode Unitas Class A Amplifier Pentode Unitas Class A Amplifier
8ET7	Twin Diode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9LT	8	0.6	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
8FQ7	Medlum-Mu Twin Triode	6E	9LP	8.4	0.45	Vertical and Horizontal Deflection Oscillators
8GJ7	Medium-Mu Triode	6j	9QA	8	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
9A8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9DC	9	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
9AH9	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8B	12HJ	8.8	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
9AK10	High-Mu Triple Triode	8C	12FE	9.5	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
9AM10	High-Mu Triple Triode	8C	12FE	9.5	0.6	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
9AQ8/ PCC85	Kigh-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9DE	9.0	0.3	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
9 B J11	Beam Power Tube Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8B	12FU	9.6	0.45	Beam Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
9BR7	Twin Diode-High-Mu Triode	63	9C F	4.7 9.4	0.6 0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
9CL8	Medium-Mu Triode-Sharp-Cutoff	6B	9FX	9.5	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Tetrode Unit as Class A
	Tetrode					Amplifier
9EA8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9A E	9.5	0.15	Tríode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
9GV8	High-Mu Triode Power Pentode	6G	9LY	9.5	0.6	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
9KC6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	SE	SRF	8.7	0.45	Class A Amplifier
9LA6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9GK	8.7	0.45	Class A Amplifier
ASUE	Medium-Mu Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	\$B	9AE	9.45	0.3	Class A Amplifier
10	Power Triade	27B	4D	7.5F	1.25	Class A Amplifier
1008	High-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cuto# Pentode	6B	9DA	10.5	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
10CW5	Power Pentode	6G	9CV	10.6	0.45	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
10DX8	High-Mu Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9HX	10.2	0.45 F	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
10EG7	Dual Triode	13B	8BD	9.7	0.6	Class A Amplifier
10GF7	Dual Triode	11A	900	9.7	0.6	Vertical Deflection Amplifier Vertical Deflection Oscillator
10JA5	Beam Power Tube	15D	12EY	10.5	0.6	Vertical Deflection Amplifier

	Grid Bias		Screen	Piate	AC Plate	Trans-	i malif	Pow	rer	- RCA
Plate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	, КСА Туре
Veits		Volts	mA	mÅ	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
Max.	. Peak Inverse	Volts, 1250		Max Max	. DC Outpu Peak Plat	t mA, 100 e mA, 300	Min. Impe	Total Effec. d. per Plate,	Supply 75 ohms	7Z4
200	270Ω			7.6	9200	6300	59			- 8AL9
250 55	56Ω 0V	150 125	5.6 21	28 56	40000 Ins	30000 stantaneous	Plate Knee	characteris	tic	OALJ
		For	other ch	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 6BI	H8			8BH8
		Fo	or other o	character	ristics, refe	er to Type 6	BN11			8BN11
125	56Ω	125	3.8	11	200000	13000				8CB11
		For	other ch	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 6C	N7			8CN7
250				2	37000	2700	100			- 8EB8
200	68Ω	125	7	25	75000	12500				
			· · · · • • • · · ·			er to Type (· ···· ·		8ET7
		For	other ch	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 6FG	17			8FQ7
		For	other ch		tics, refer	to Type 6G.				8GJ7
100	<u> </u>			14		5000	20 Ampl Fac	tor. (Grid	—	- 9A8
170	— 2V	170	2.8	10	400000	6200	No. 2 to	Grid No. 1),	47	
						to Type 6AH				9AH9
100	200	For	other cha			to Type 6AK				9AK10
100	200Ω			8	9300	6900	64			9AM10 9A08/
200	2V		•	10	- , -	5800	48			PCC85
125 110	120Ω 0V	125 110	2.5 6.8	8.5 5.8	40000 40000	9600 7500	(Grid	No. 1 == 100	00 <u>Ω)</u>	9BJ11
250	200Ω			10	10900	4000	60			9BR7
125	56Ω	·		15	5000	8000	40			
125	— 1V	125	4	12	100000	5800				9018
		Fo	or other (characte	ristics, ref	er to Type 6	EA8			9EA8
		For a	other cha	racterist	ics, refer	to Type 6GV	/8			9GV8
250 50	56Ω 0V	150 100	9 25	18 25	55000	24000 tantaneous	$(E_{c3} = 0)$	V) characterist	ir	9KC6
50 250	OV OV	125 150	32 6	76 25	55000	21000				9LA6
						er to Type 6	USA			9U8A
425	-40V			18.0	5000	1600	8.0	10200	1.6	10
250	390Ω			7.3	12000	4400	53			
135	100Ω	135	3.2	11.5	190000	8000		<u></u>		1008
	. <u>-</u> .				refer to T					10CW5
						to Type 6DX				10DX8
·						to Type 6EW	7			10EG7
					refer to T					10GF7
		For	other cha	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 6JA	5	_		10JA5

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Termiaal Dia- gram	He	eater or Iment (F)	Use Values to right give operat ing conditions and character istics for indicated typical use		
			-	Velts	Ampere	5		
10JA8	High-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9DX	10.5	0.45	Class A Amplifier		
10LB8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	10A	9DX	10.2	0.45	Class A Amplifier		
						Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier		
10LW8	High-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	\$DX	10.5	0.45	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier		
10LZ8	High-Mu Triode	ĢE	9DX	10.5	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier		
-11	Detector Amplifier	4F	4F	1.1F	0.25	Class A Amplifier		
11CA11	Dual Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6B	12HN	10.7	0.6	riode Unit 1 as Class A Amplifier Triode Unit 2 as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier		
11CF 11	Dual Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8B	12HW	10.7	0.6	Triode Unit 1 as Class A Amplifier Triode Unit 2 as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier		
11 CH 11	Dissimilar Double Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8B	1263	10.7	0.6	Triode Unit 1 as Class A Amplifier Triode Unit 2 as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier		
11CY7	Dual Triode	6E	9LG	11	0.45	Vertical Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier		
11JE8	High-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	SDK	10.9	0.45	Class A Amplifier		
111/0						Unit No. 1 as Class A Amplifier		
11Y9	Dual Pentode	6L	10L	11	0.45	Unit No. 2 as Class A Amplifier		
12A5	Power Pentode	22 or 13H	7F	6.3 12.6	0.6	Class A Amplifier		
12A6 + 12A6Y +	Beam Power Tube	2B	7AC	12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier		
12A7	Rectifier—Power Pentode	24B	7K	12.6	0.3	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier Half-Wave Rectifier		
12A8GT	Pentagrid Converter	14A	8A	12.6	0.15	Converter		
12AC6	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	50	78K	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6 V	Class A Amplifier		
12AD6	Pentagrid Converter	5C	7CH	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6 V	Converter		
12AE6	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	5C	781	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6 V	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier		
12AE6A	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	5C	78T	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6 V	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier		
12AE7	Dual Triode	6B	9A	10.0 to	0.45 approx.	Unit No. 1 as Class A Amplifier		
12AF6	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BK	15.9 10.0 to 15.9	at 12.6 V 0.15 approx. at 12.6 V	Unit No. 2 as Class A Amplifier Class A Amplifier		
12AH7 GT	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	13C	8 B E	12.6	0.15	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier		
12AJ6	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	5C	7BT	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6 V	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier		

	Grid Bias		Screen			· •		Pew	er	
Piate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Plate Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	RCA Type
Veits		Volts	mÅ	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
		For oth	er chara	cteristic	s, refer to	Type 10JA8/	10LZ8		•	10JA8
		For	other cl	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6L	B8			10LB8
200	—2V			2.6	18700	4000	75			
200 35	82Ω 0	100 100	2.8 12.5	16.5 48	60000	19000 Istantaneous	Diato Know			⁻ 10LW8
250	- 2		12.5	1.1	52000	2100	110		<u> </u>	
200	0	140	2.5	12	150000	9500			·	10LZ8
135	-10.5V			3	15500	440				11
200	270Ω			7.6	9200	6300	59			
200	270Ω			7.1	12400	5500	69			11CA1
200 40	65Ω 0V	120 120	4.9	27.5 68	490000	21200 stantaneous	Diata Kasa	aharaataria	+ia	TIVAL
200	270Ω	120	17.6	7.1	12400	5500	69			
200	270Ω			7.6	9200	6300	59			- 11CF1
200	65Ω	120	4.9	27.5	490000	21200	Diete Kree	abaraataria		
40 200	<u>0ν</u> 270Ω	120	17.6	<u>68</u> 7.1	12500	stantaneous 5500	69	characteris		
200	470Ω			7.2	7600	5300	40			- - 11CH1
200	65Ω	120	4.9	27.5	490000	20000				- 11001
50	0V	120	18	71		stantaneous		characteris	tic	11077
					· •	to Type 6C				11CY7
		For	other cl	naracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6J				11JE8
170	2.6	170	6.5	30		21000	An: 1	ipl. Factor (to Grid-No. :	Grid-No. 2), 38	- 11Y9
150	- 2.3	150	3	10		8500		Ampl. Factor 1 to Grid No	Grid-No.	- 1119
180	25V	180	8.0	45.0	35000	2400		3300	3.4	12A5
250	—12.5V	250	3.5	30	70000	3000	<u> </u>	7000	3.4	12A6+ 12A6Y
135	—13.5V	135	2.5	9.0	100000	975		13500	0.55	
	Maximum		Voltage					ts, RMS		- 12 A 7
	Maximum					to Type 6A		liamperes		12A8G
			Uner cr		sucs, rerei	LU TYPE ON				12400
		12.6	.2	.55	500000	730	{Grid-No. {Grid-No.	1 Supply Vo 1 Res., 2.2	negohms)	12AC6
12.6										
12.6 12.6	Self- excited	12.6	1.5	0.45	1 M	Grid Convers	-No. 1 Resi tion Transco	stor, 33000 ond., 260 mi	ohms cromhos	12AD6
		12.6	1.5	0.45 0.75	1 M 15000	Grid Convers 1000	-No. 1 Resi tion Transco 15	stor, 33000 ond., 260 mi	ohms cromhos 	
12.6	excited	12.6	1.5		·			stor, 33000 ond., 260 mi	ohms cromhos 	12AE8
12.6 12.6	excited OV OV	12.6 s. 1.5 megol		0.75	15000	1000	15	stor, 33000 ond., 260 mi	ohms cromhos 	12AE6 12AE6
12.6 12.6 12.6	excited OV OV Grid Res		 	0.75 1	15000 13000	1000 1300	15 16.7	stor, 33000 ind., 260 mi 	ohms cromhos 	12AE6 12AE6
12.6 12.6 12.6 12.6	excited OV OV Grid Res	 s. 1.5 megol	 	0.75	15000 13000 3150	1000 1300 4000	15 16.7 13.0 6.4	stor, 33000 nnd., 260 mi 		12AE6 12AE6 - 12AE
12.6 12.6 12.6 12.6 12.6	excited OV OV Grid Res	s. 1.5 megol es. 1 megoh	 nms m	0.75 1 1.9 7.5	15000 13000 3150 985	1000 1300 4000 6500	15 16.7 13.0 6.4			12ADG 12AEG 12AEG - 12AE7 12AE7 12AF6 12AH7 ST
12.6 12.6 12.6 12.6 12.6 12.6	excited OV OV Grid Re: Grid R	s. 1.5 megol es. 1 megol 12.6 Supply Volt		0.75 1 1.9 7.5 1.1	15000 13000 3150 985 350000	1000 1300 4000 6500 1500	15 16.7 13.0 6.4 {Grid-No. Grid-No.			12AE6 12AE6 - 12AE 12AE1 12AF1

564

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Di a- gram		ater or ment (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
				Volts	Amperes	
						Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12AL8	Medium-Mu Triode—Power Tetrode	6E	965	10.0 to 15.9	0.55 approx. at 12.6 V	Tetrode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12AT7\ 12AT7\		68	9A	12.6 6.3	0.15 0.3	Class A Amplifier
12AU7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9A	6.3 12.6	0.3 0.15	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
12AV7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9A	6.3 12.6	0.45	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
12AW6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier
12AX4- GT 12AX4- GTA	Half-Wave Rectifier	13D 13D	4CG	12.6 12.6	0.6 0.6	Television Damper Service
12AX7	High-Mu Twin-Triode	68	9A	6.3 12.6	0.3 0.15	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
12AY3	Half-Wave Rectifier	11D	9HP	12.6	0.6	Television Damper Service
12AZ7	High-Mu Twin-Triode	6B	SA	6.3 12.6	0.45	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
12B8GT	High-Mu Triode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode		8T	12.6	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12BA7	Pentagrid Converter	6E	BCT	12.6	0.15	Converter
12BD6	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	78K	12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier
12BF6	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	50	7BT	12.6	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12BH7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6E	9A	6.3 12.6	0.6 0.3	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
12BK5	Beam Power Tube	6E	9BQ	12.6	0.6	Class A Amplifier
12BL6	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BK	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6V	Class A Amplifier
12BN6	Beam Tube	5D	7DF	12.6	0.15	Limiter and Discriminator
12BR7	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode	68	9CF	6.3 12.6	0.45 0.225	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12BS3	Half-Wave Rectifier	11D	9HP	12.6	0.6	Television Damper Service
12BT3	Half-Wave Rectifier	8C	12BL	12.6	D.45	Television Damper Service
12BV7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9BF	6.3 12.6	0.6 0.3	Class A Amplifier
12BW4	Full-Wave Rectifier	6E	9D)	6.3	0.9	With Capactive Input Filter With Inductive Input Filter
12BY7	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9BF	6.3 12.6	0.6 0.3	Class A Amplifier
128Z7	High-Mu Twin Triode	6E	9A	12.6	0.3	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
12C8	Twin Diode—Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	3	8E	12.6	0.15	Pentode Unit as RF Amplifier
12CK3	Half-Wave Rectifier	30B	9HP	12.6	0.6	Television Damper Service
12CN5	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5D	707	10.0 to 15.9	0.45 approx. at 12.6V	Class A Amplifier
12CR6	Diode-Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7EA	6.3	0.3	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12CT8	Medium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9DA	12.6	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier

	Grid Bias		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi-	Pow	er	- RCA
Plate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load	Out- put	Туре
Volts		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
12.6	- 0.9V	megohm r	es.)	.5	13000	1000	13			
	No. 2 (Control (across 2.2 m)	Grid) Volts	, —.5		GJ	rià-No. 1 mA	.75 PI	to Plate) 7.1 ate mA, 40	2	12AL8
Grid-I Trans	No. 1 (Space-Ch cond. (Grid-No.	2 to Plate), 15000	2.6 μmhos	PI	ate Resistan	ce, 480 oh	ms		
		For	other ch	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 12A	177			AT7WA+ AT7WB+
100 250	0V 8.5V		_	11.8 10.5	6250 7700	3100 2200	19.5 17			12AU7
150	56Ω			18	4800	8500	41	Cutoff Vol	ts, —12	12AV7
-		For	other c	haracteri	stics, refe	to Type 6A	G5		·	12AW6
	Deal, Jacoba I	Nete Velte	4400					(4400		12AX4-
Max. Max. Max.	Peak Inverse F Peak Plate mA DC Plate mA	, /50	4400					olts: {4400 -+-300 ed 900 volts		GT 12AX4-
				0.5	80000	1250	100			GTA
100 250	- 1V - 2V			0.5	62500	1250	100			12AX7
			For othe		, refer to					12AY3
100 250	270Ω 200Ω			3.7 10.0	15000 10900	4000 5500	60 60			12 AZ7
90	07			2.8	37000	2400	90			- 12B8GT
90	— 3V	90	2	7	200000	1800				
					i	to Type 68/				12BA7
		For				to Type 6Bi	18	Power Ou	tout.	_12BD6
250	- 9V	450	16	190	_	8500		300 milli	watts	12BF6
Max.	DC Plate Volts DC Plate mA,	, 450		Max	. Plate Diss	sipation (Eac	th Unit), 3.	ate Volts, 150 5 watts		12BH7
250	5V	250	3.5	35	100000	8500		6500	3.5	128K5
12.6	Grid-No. 1 Supply Volts, 0	12.6	0.5	1.35	500000	1350	for	and Grid-No transcond. of icromhos, —	10	12BL6
		For ot	her chara			Type 68N6,				12BN6
100 250	270Ω 200Ω			3.7 10	15000 10900	4000 5500	60 60			12BR7
					, refer to					12BS3
	Max. Peak Max.	Inverse Pl Peak Plate		·			-	Plate mA, 1 athode Volts	(2200	12BT3
250 250	68Ω — 8V	150 180	6	27 0.5	85000	13000				12BV7
		F	or other	characte	eristics, ref	er to 6BW4				128W4
250	100Ω	180	5.75	26	93000	11000				128Y7
250	—2V			2.5	31800	3200	100			12BZ7
250	— 3V	125	2.3	10	600000	1325		_	_	1208
		For	other cl	naracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6C	К3			12CK3
12.6		12.6	3.5	4.5	40000	3800	{Grid-No. {Grid-No.	1 Supply Vol 1 Res., 2.2 m	ts, 0 hegohms}	12CN5
		F	or other	characte	eristics, ret	fer to Type	6CR6	······		12CR6
150	150Ω			9	8200	4900	40			
200	82Q	125	3.4	15	150000	7000				- 12CT8

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Día- gram		feater or lament (F)	Use Values to right give operat ing conditions and character istics for indicated typical us
				Volts	Amperes	-
12CX6	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BK	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6V	Class A Amplifier
1204	Half-Wave Rectifier	13D	4CG	12.6	0.6	Television Damper Service
12DB5	Beam Power Tube	6F	9GR	12.6	0.6	Class A Amplifier
12DE8	Diode-Remote-Cutoff Pentode	68	9KG	10.0 to 15.9	0.2 approx. at 12.6V	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12DK7	Twin Diode—Power Tetrode	6E	9HZ	10.0 to 15.9	0.5 approx. at 12.6V	Tetrode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12DL8	Twin Diode—Power Tetrode	6E	SHR	10.0 to 15.9	0.55 approx. at 12.6V	Tetrode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12DM4 12DM4A	Half-Wave Rectifier	13F 13G	4CG	12.6	0.6	Television Damper Service
12DQ6A	Beam Power Tube	20A	6AM	12.6	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
12DQ6B	Beam Power Tube	20A	6AM	12.6	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
12DQ7	Power Pentode	6E	9BF	6.3 12.5	0.6 0.3	Class A Amplifier
12DS7 12DS7A	Twin Diode—Power Tetrode	\$E 6E	a 10	10.0 to 15.9	0.4 approx. at 12.6V	Tetrode Unit as Class A Amplifier
		<u>.</u>		10.0		Diode Units
12DU7	Twin Diode—Power Tetrode	68	81X	10.0 to 15.9	0.25 approx. at 12.6V	Tetrode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12DV8	Twin Diode—Power Tetrode	6E	SHR	10.0 to 15.9	0.375 approx. at 12.6V	Class A Amplifier
12DW4A	Half-Wave Rectifier	11D	9HP	12.6	0.6	Television Damper Service
12DW7	Dual Triode	68	9A	12.6 6.3	0.15 0.3	Unit No. 1 as Class A Amplifier Unit No. 2 as Class A Amplifier
	Medium-Mu Triode—			10.0	0.35	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12DY8	Remote-Cutoff Tetrode	6B	01C	to 15.9	approx. at 12.6V	Tetrode Unit as Signal Seeker Relay
12DZ6	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BK	10.0 to 15.9	0.19 approx. at 12.6V	Class A Amplifier
12EA6	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BK	10.0 to 15.9	0.19 approx. at 12.6V	Class A Amplifier
10500	Medium-Mu Triode			10.0	0.225	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12EC8	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9FA	to 15.9	approx. at 12.6V	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12ED5	Beam Power Tube	5D	7CV	12.6	0.45	Class A Amplifier
12EG6	Pentagrid Amplifier	5C	7CH	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6V	Class A Amplifier
12EH5	Power Pentode	5D	707	12.6	0.6	Push-Pull Class AB, Amplifier
12EK6/ 12DZ6/ 12EA6	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	78K	10.0 to 15.9	0.19 approx. at 12.6V	Class A Amplifier
12EL6	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode	50	7FB	10.0 to	0.15 approx.	Class A Amplifier

	Grid Bias		Scree		10 BI-1-	T	1	Pot	ver	
Plate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Plate Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	RCA Type
Volts		Velts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromho	s	Ohms	Watts	
12.6	Grid-No. 1 Supply Volts, O	12.6	1.4	3	40000	3100	Grid-No. Current	1 Volts for of 10 μA, -	r Plate -4.5	12CX6
N	Aax. Peak Invers Aax. Peak Plate Aax. Average Pla	mA, 900		00	Max.		-Cathode Vi Vissipation 5	olts, -4400,	+300	1204
200	180Ω	125	2.2	46	28000	8000		4000	3.8	12DB5
12.6		12.6	0.5	1.3	300000	1500	Grid No. Grid-No.	1 Supply Vo 1 Res., 2.2 m		12DE8
12.6	<u></u>	12.6	1	6	4000	5000		3500	0.010	12DK7
12.6	Grid-No. 2 (Co (across 2. Grid-No. 1 (Sp Transcond. (Gr	ntrol Grid) 2 megohm ace-Charge rid-No. 2 to	Volts, resistor Grid) O Plate)	0.5 r) Volts, 12. , 15000 µ	.6 µmhos	Grid-No. 1		2 to Piate) 7 Piate mA, 4 phms		12DL8
		For	other c	haracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6D	M4			12DM4 12DM4A
Max. Max.	DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA	, 140			Max	. Plate Diss	tive-Pulse F Sipation, 15	late Volts, 6 watts	000 (Abs.)	12DQ6A
		F	or othe	r ratings,	, refer to T	ype 6DQ6B				12DQ6B
200	68Ω	125	5.6	26	53000	10500				12DQ7
12.6	12.6V	0.5 (across 2.2 megohm resistor)	75 (Grid- No. 1)	35	500	19000 (Grid- No. 2 to Plate)	9.1 (Grid- No. 2 to Plate)	_		12DS7 12DS7A
		Dio	de Plate	e mA, wit	th 10 Volts	Applied, 3	mA			-
12.6		12.6	1.5	12	6000	6200		2700	0.025	12DU7
Grid-N Grid-N Trans	No. 2 (Control G No. 1 (Space-Cha cond. (Grid-No.	rid) Resist arge Grid) 2 to Plate	tor, 4.7 Volts, 1), 8500	megohms 12.6 µmhos	: An Gr Pl:	id-No. 1 mA	(Gr:d-No. 2 1,53 F nce,900 ohr	to Plate) 7.6 Plate mA, 9 ns		12DV8
						er to Type 6	DW4A			12DW4A
250	— 2V			1.2	62500		100			12DW7
250	— 8.5V			10.5	7700	2200	17			120117
12.6				1.2	10000	2000	20			
10 15	- 6V	10 15		5 min. 3 max.	Grid No. 1	resistor IL	J megonms.	Piate Load 7 Plate Load 7		12048
12.6	Grid-No.1 Supply Volts, O	12.6	2.2	4.5	25000	3800				1.2DZ6
12.6		12.6	1.4	3.2	32000	3800	{Grid-No. 1 {Grid-No. 1	Supply Volt Res., 10 m	s, 0 egohms}	12EA6
12.6	4700Ω (Grid Res.)			2.4	6000	4700	25			
12.6		12.6	0.28	0.66	750000	2000	Grid No.	1 Res., 33000) ohms	12EC8
1.25	_ 4 5V	125	7	37	14000	8500		4500	1.5	12ED5
12.6	0.6V†	12.6	2.8	.55	150000	800‡	†Bias volt	Grid No. 3 & F age across re megohms	Plate s.	12EG6
140	68Ω	120	110	47 □				6000	3.81	12EH5
12.6		12.6	1.7	4	50000	4200	Grid-No. Grid-No. 2.	1 Supply Vo 1 Res. (Bypa 2 megohms	lts, O issed),	12EK6/ 12DZ6/ 12EA6
12.6	ov			0.75	45000	1200	55			12EL6

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram		ater er ment (F)	Use Values to right give operat- Ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
				Volts	Amperes	-
12EM6	Diode—Power Tetrode	6E	9HV	10.0 to 15.9	0.5 approx. at 12.6V	Class A Amplifier
12EN6	Beam Power Tube	1 3 D	7AC	12.6	0.6	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
12EQ7	Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9LQ	12.6	0.15	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12F5GT	High-Mu Triode	14A	5M	12.6	0.15	Amplifier
12F8	Twin Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	6B	9FH	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6V	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12FK6	Twin Diede—Low-Mu Triode	5C	7BT	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6 V	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12FM6	Twin Diode-Medium-Mu Triode	5C	7BT	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6V	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12FQ8	High-Mu Twin Double-Plate Triode	6B	9KT	12.6	0.15	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
12FR8	Diode—Medium-Mu Triode Remote-Cutoff Pentode	6K	9KU	12.6	0.32	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12FV7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6E	SA	6.3 12.6	0.9 0.45	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
12FX8	Medium-Mu Triode—Pentagrid Converter	60	SKV	10.0 to	0.3 approx.	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
	g un vei lei			15.9	at 12.6V	Pentagrid Unit as Converter
12FX8A	Medium-Mu Triode-Pentagrid Converter	6D	9KV	10.0 to 15.9	0.27 approx. at 12.6V	Trlode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentagrid Unit as Converter
12GA6	Pentagrid Converter	50	7CH	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6V	Converter
12606	Beam Power Tube	20A	8JX	12.6	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
12GJ5	Beam Power Tube	18A	SOX	12.6	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
12GN7 12GN7A	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8E	9BF	6.3 12.6	0.6 0.3	Class A Amplifier
126T5 12GT5A	Beam Power Tube	178	9NZ	12.6	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
12H6	Twin Diode	29B	79	12.6	0.15	Voltage Doubler Half-Wave Rectifier
12J5GT	Medium-Mu Triode	13D	60	12.6	0.15	Amplifier
12J7GT	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	14A	7R	12.6	0.15	Amplifier
12,18	Twin Dlode—Power Tetrode	6B	9GC	10.0 to 15.9	0.325 approx. at 12.6V	Tetrode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12JB6	Beam Power Tube	18A	9QL	12.6	0.6	Horizontal-Deflection Amplifier
12JF5	Beam Power Tube	16A	12JH	12.6	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
12JN8	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6 B	9FA	12.6	0.225	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12JT6	Beam Power Tube	170	900	12.6	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
12K5	Power Tetrode	5D	7EK	10.0 to 15.9	0.4 approx. at 12.6V	Class A Amplifier
10/701	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	14A	7R	12.6	0.15	Amplifier
12K7GT						

	Grid Bias		Screen			.	1	Por	ver	- 801
Plate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Plate Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	" RCA Type
Velts		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
12.6		12.6	1	6	4000	5000	Grid-No.	1 Res., 2.2	megohms	12EM6
Max. Max.	Peak PosPulse Peak NegPulse Peak Cathode n	e Volts, 12 e Grid Vol	00 ts, 250			Max. Max.	Plate Dissi DC Plate V	pation, 7 w olts, 300	atts	12EN6
Max.	Peak Cathode n	in, 1/J		naracteris	stics, refe	to Type 6E	Q7			12EQ7
		For	other ch	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 6F5	GT			12F5GT
12.6	ov	12.6	0.38	1	330000	1000	Grid-No. cond. of	1 Volts f 10 micron	or trans- nhos, —5	12F8
12.6	Grid Res.	ply Voits, (Bypassed legohms	D),	1.3	6200	1200	7.4			12FK6
12.6	ov			1	7700	1300	10			12FM6
250	-1.5V	w	ith plate	1.5 not in u	76000 use connec	1250 ted to groun	95 id.		_	12FQ8
12.6	0.8V	12.6	0.7	1.9	400000	2700				12FR8
100	— 2V			16	2250	9600	21.5	··		12FV7
12.6	 			1.3	7150	1400	10	Grid		
12.6		12.6	1.25	0.29	500000	Grid N	o. 3 Res., sion Transc	2.2 megoh	egohms ms umbos	- 12 FX8
12.6	- 0.8			1.3	7150	1400	10			- 12FX8A
12.6	- 0.5	12.6	1.25	0.29	500000	Grid No Convers	o. 3 Res., sion Transc	2.2 megoh ond., 300	ms µmhos	
12.6	1.6V	12.6	0.8	0.3	1 N	Grid N Convers	o. 1 Res., sion. Trans	33000 ohm cond., 140	s µmhos	12GA6
Max.	DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode m	770				Max. Peak F Max. Plate			lts, 6500	12GC6
			other c	haracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 6G				12GJ5
50 250	0V 0V	125 150	24 6.5	70 28	50000	36000				12GN7 12GN7A
Max. Max.	DC Plate Volt	s, 770 IA, 175				Max. Peak Max. Plate	Positive-Pu Dissipation	ilse Plate 1, 17.5 wa	Volts, 6500 tts	12GT5A
Mia.	AC Supply Volt Total Effect. 6 AC Plate Volts DC Output mA,	Plate-Supp	y Imped	117 . per Pla	ate: half-w N	ave, 30 ohm lin. Total Eff	c. DC Output is; full wav fective Plate s, 15 ohms;	e, 15 ohms Supply In	i pedance: u	p 12H6
				aracteris	stics, refer	to Type 6J5	GT			12J5GT
		For	other ch	aracterist	tics, refer	to Type 6J70	3T			12J7G1
12.6	— ov	12.6	1.5	12	6000	5500		2700	0.02	12J8
				er rating		Type 6JB6		<u> </u>		12JB6
	Max. DC P Max. DC C	late Volts athode mA	, 175		Ма	x. Peak Posi Max. Plate	tive-Pulse Dissipation	, 17.5 wat	, 6500 ts	12JF5
125 125	1V 1V	125	4	13.5 12	<u>5400</u> 200000	8500 7500	46			- 12JN8
Max	. DC Plate Supp . DC Cathode m	A, 175	770		Max.	Peak Positiv Plate Dissip	e-Pulse Pla	te Volts, 6	500	12JT6
DC I Grid	Plate Volts, 12.6 -No. 1 (Space- C Plate mA, 40	G harge Gric	rid-No. 2 I) Volts, No. 1 mA	12.6	Grid) Volt		Plate R	esistance	480 ohms e, 7.2 µmhos	12K5
			· · · -			er to Type 6				12K7GT
_		Fr	r other	character	istics ref	er to Type 6	Ka			12K8

RCA Type	Name	But- line	Terminal Dia- gram	1	Heater or Filament (F)	Use Values to right give operat ing conditions and character istics for indicated typical usu
				Veits	Amperes	_
12KL8	Diode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6E	SLQ	12.6	0.15	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12L6GT	Beam Power Tube	13D	7AC	12.6	0.6	Class A Amplifier
12Q7GT	Twin Diode-High-Mu Triode	14A	77	12.6	0.15	Triode Unit as Amplifier
12 R 5	Beam Power Tube	5D	7C V	1 2 .6	0.6	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
12S8GT	Triple Diode—High-Mu Triode	14B	808	12.6	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12SA7 12SA7 GT	Pentagrid Converter	2A 13D	8R 8AD	12.6	0.15	Converter
12SC7	High-Mu Twin Triode	2A	85	12.6	0.15	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
12SF5 12SF5 GT	High-Mu Triode	2A 13D	SAB SAB	12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier
12SF7	Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	2A	7AZ	12.6	0.15	Pentode Unit as Amplifier
1 256 7	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	2A	8BK	12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier
12SH7	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	3	8BK	12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier
1 2SJ7 12SJ7 GJ	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	2A 13D	8N 8N	12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier
12SK7 12SK7 GT	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	2Å 13D	8N 8N	12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier
12SN7 GT	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	13D	8BD	12.6	0.3	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
12SQ7 12SQ7 GT	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode	2A 13D	8Q 8Q	12.6	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12SR7 12SR7 GT	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	2A 13D	8Q 8Q	12.6	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12SW7+	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	2A	80	12.6	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
12SY7+	Pentagrid Converter	2A	8R	12.6	0.15	Converter
12U7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	7CK	10.0 to 15.9	0.15 approx. at 12.6V	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
12Z3	Half-Wave Rectifier	22	46	12.6	0.3	With Capacitive-Input Filter
13EM7	Dual Triode	13A	\$BD	13	0.45	Unit No. 1 as Vertical Deflection Amplifier Unit No. 2 as
12005				10.0		Unit No. 2 as Vertical Deflection Amplifier
13GB5	Beam Power Tube	10E	9NH	13.3	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier Vertical Deflection Amplifier
13GF7	Dual Triode	11A	900	13	0.45	Vertical Deflection Oscillator
13J10	Power Pentode Gated-Beam Discriminator	8B	12BT	13.2	0.45 ·	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier Beam Unit as
13Z10	Power Pentode	80	12BT	13.2	0.45	Gated-Beam Discriminator Class A Amplifier
1444	Gated-Beam Discriminator Medium-Mu Triode	12B		12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier
14A5	Beam Power Tuhe	12B		12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier

♦ Industrial Type

	Grid Bias		Screer Grid	1 Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi-	P	ower	RCA
Plate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load	Out- put	Тура
Voits		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
		F	or other	character	istics, see	Type 6KL8				12KL8
110 200	- 7.5V 180Ω	110 125	4.0 2.2	49 46	13000 28000	8000 8000		2000 4000	2.1 3.8	12L6G1
200	10012					r to Type 6	Q7GT	4000		12 07GT
Мах	. DC Plate Volts, . Peak Cathode m . Plate Dissipatio	A, 155	tts	//	Max.	Peak NegP Grid-No. 2 V Peak Positiv	olts, 150			12 R 5
250	— 2V	·		0.9	91000	1100	100			12S8GT
		Fc	or other	characteri	istics, refe	r to Type 65	SA7			12SA7 12SA7
		Fr	r other	characturi	stics rafe	r to Type 65	C7	· · ·,		GT 12SC7
			n utilei		31103, 1010					12507 125F5
		Fo	r other	characteri	stics, refe	r to Type 6S	SF5			12SF5 GT
	· ·	Fo	or other	characteri	stics, refe	r to Type 65	SF7			12SF7
		Fo	r other	characteri	stics, refe	r to Type 6S	G7			12567
		Fo	r other	characteri	stics, refe	r to Type 6S	H7			12SH7
		Fo	r other i	characteri	stics, refe	r to Type 6\$	J 7			12SJ7 12SJ7 GT
		Fo	r other	characteri	stics, refer	to Type 6S	K7			12SK7 12SK7 GT
		Fo	r other (characteri	stics, refer	to Type 6J	5			12SN7 GT
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Fo	r other (characteri	stics, refer	to Type 6S	Q7			1 2SQ7 12SQ7 GT
		Fo	r other (characteri	stics, refer	to Type 6S	R7			12SR7 12SR7 GT
250	9V			9.5	8500	1900	16	—		12SW7+
250	Self excited	100	8.5	3.5	1M	450	Grid-No.	1 resistor	= 20000Ω	12SY7+
12.6	OV			1	12500	1600	20			12U7
				Max. DC O	utput mA,5	55				12Z3
Max.	DC Plate Volts, 3 DC Cathode mA,	330 22			Ма	x. Plate Dis	sipation, 1.5	5 watts		
Max.	DC Plate Volts, 3					x. Peak Pos x. Plate Dis			, 1500	13EM7
		F	or othe	r ratings,	refer to T	ype 6GB5				13GB5
		F	or othe	r ratings,	refer to T	ype 6GF7				13GF7
50	— 8V	250	2.5	35	100000	6500		5000	4.2	
Max. Max.	Supply Volts, 330 Grid-No. 2 Volts,	110				x. Peak Posi x. DC Catho		o. 1 Volts,	60	13J10
		For ot	her char	acteristic	s, refer to	Type 6Z10/6	5J10			13Z10
		For	other c	haracteris	tics, refer	to Type 6J5				14A4
50	-12.5V	250	5.5	32	70000	3000		7500	2.8	14A5

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram	He	ater or ment (F)	Use Values to right give operating conditions and character istics for indicated typical us
				Volts	Amperes	- 3
14A7	Remote-Cutoff Pentade	12B	8V	12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier
14AF7	Medium-Mu Twin-Triode	12B	8AC	12.6	0.15	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
14B6	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode	128	8W	12.6	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie
14B8	Pentagrid Converter	12B	8X	12.6	0.15	Converter
14C5	Beam Power Tube	120	6AA	12.6	0.225	Class A Amplifier
1407	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	12B	8V	12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier
14E6	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	128	8W	12.6	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie
14E7	Twin Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	12B	8AE	12.6	0.15	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
14F7	High-Mu Twin Triode	12B	8AC	12.6	0.15	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
14F8	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	12A	8BW	12.6	0.15	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
14G78	Twin Diode High-Mu Triode	6B	9XR	14	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
14H7	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	12B	8V	12.6	0.15	Class A Amplifier
14J7	Triode-Heptode Converter	12B	88L	12.6	0.15	Converter
14JG8	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode	68	9KR	14	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
14N7	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	120	8AC	12.6	0.3	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier
1407	Pentagrid Converter	12B	8AL	12.6	0.15	Converter
14R7	Twin DiodeRemote-Cutoff Pentode	12B	8AE	12.6	0.15	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
15	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	24B	5F	2.0	0.22	Class A Amplifier
15BD11						Dual Triode Unit
158011 158011A	Dual Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8B	120P	14.7	0.45	as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A
15CW5	Power Pentode	6G	9CV	15	0.3	Amplifier Vertical Deflection Amplifier
100110						Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
15DQ8	High-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8E	9H X	15	0.3	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
15FM7	Duat Triode	8C	12EJ	14.8	0.45	Vertical Deflection Oscillator and Amplifier
15HB6	Power Pentode	6G	9NW	14.7	0.3	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
15KY8	High-Mu Triode— Beam Power Tube	110	907	15	0.45	Triode Unit as Oscillator Beam Power Unit as Amplifier
15LE8	Twin Pentode	6G	9QZ	15	0.8	Class A Amplifier
16A8	High-Mu Triode—	6G	9EX	16	0.3	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
IUNO	Power Pentode	va	32.4	10	0.5	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
16AQ3	Diode	7D	9CB	16.4	0.6	
6BX11	High-Mu Triode Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8B	12CA	16	0.315 7	riode Unit 1 as Class A Amplifier riode Unit 2 as Class A Amplifier entode Unit as Class A Amplifier
16KA6	Beam Power Tube	39A	12GH	15.8	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
17AB10 7AB10/ 17X10	Power Pentode Gated-Beam Discriminator	8C	12BT	16.8	•	entode Unit as Class A Amplifier Beam Unit Gated-Beam Discriminator
17AX4 GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	13D	4CG	16.8	0.45	Television Damper Service
17AY3	Half-Wave Rectifier	11D	9HP	16.8	0.45	Television Damper Service
17BB14	Beam Pentode	35B	9NH	16.8	0.45	Class A Amplifier

	Grid Bias		Screen	Dista	AC Plate	Tranc	Amelia	Pot	ver	t Type ts 14A7 14A7 14A6 14B8 14C5 14C7 14E6 14E7 14F7 14F7 14F8 14G7 14F7 14J7 14J7 14J7 14J7 14J7 14J7 14J7 14G7 14R7 15D11
Piate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Plate Cur- rent	Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	кца Туре
Velts		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
100 250	— 1V — 3V	100 100	4.0 2.6	13.0 9.2	120000 800000	2350 2000				14A7
		For				r to Type 7A	\F7			14AF7
		For	other c	haracter	istics, refe	r to Type 6S	SQ7			1486
		For	other c	haracter	istics, refe	r to Type 6A	8			1488
315	—13V	225	2.2	34.0	80000	3750		8500	5.5	14C5
		For	other c	haracter	istics, refe	r to Type 6S	517			1407
		For	other c	haracter	istics, refe	r to Type 6B	F6			14E6
250	330Ω	100	1.6	7.5	700000	1300			•	14E7
		For	other c	haracteri	istics, refe	r to Type 6S	L7GT			14F7
250	500Ω			6.0		3300	48			
250	3V			0.7	72000	1000	72			14GT8
	••	For	other c	haracteri	istics, refe	r to Type 7H	7			14H7
		For	other c	haracter	istics, refe	r to Type 7J	7			
250	2V			2	41000	2200	90			
• -		For	other cl	haracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 6S	N7GT			
		For	other cl	haracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6S	A7			
		For	other cl	haracteri	stics, refer	to Type 7R	7			
135	— 1.5V	67.5	0.3	1.85	800000	750				15
200				7	12400	5500	68			100011
200 135	220Ω 100	135	4	9.2 17	9400 45000	<u>4400</u>	41			158011 158011A
					refer to T					15CW5
200	- 1.7			3		4000	65			100400
200	- 3.4	220	3	18	150000	10000				15DQ8
		Fo	other o	haracter	istics, refe	er to Type 6	FM7			15FM7
Max.	DC Plate Volts, Peak Positive-P	350	Volte 2	500	Ma	x. Plate Dis	sipation, 1	0 watts		15HB6
HIUA.	T COR T OSTERVEN				refer to T	vpe 6KY8				15KY8
						er to Type 6	I F8			15LE8
100	0			3.5		2500	70			10220
200		200	7	35	20000	6400				16A8
	Supply Volts, 2 DC Plate mA, 2				Max. Pe	eak Negative ate Dissipat	-Pulse Pla	te Volts, — I	5000	16AQ3
150	150Ω			11	6800	6200	42			
150	150Ω	·		7.6	8400	6800	57			_ - 16BX11
125 35	56Ω 0V	125 125	3.8 9.2	12 20	100000 Ins	11300 tantaneous	Plate Knee	characteris	ic	- 100/11
		For	other cl	haracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 21	KA6			16KA6
145	6V	110	3	36	30000	8600		3000	2.4	17AB10
Ma Ma	x. Supply Volts x. Grid No. 2 V	, 330 olts, 330			Ма	x. Peak Pos Max. D	itive Grid C Cathode	No. 1 Volts, mA, 13	60	17AB10/ 17X10
Max. F	Peak Inverse Pla	ate Volts, 4	400		Max Pr	eak Heater-C		te.∫4000		17AX4
Max. H Max. (Peak Plate mA, DC Plate mA, 12	/50 15				ponent must				GT
			r other	ratings,	refer to Ty					17AY3
		100	7	100	5300					17BB14

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Termina Dia- gram	He	ater or ment (F)	Use Values to right give operating conditions and character istics for indicated typical use
				Volts	Amperes	-
178H3 17BH3A	Half-Wave Rectifier	11D	9HP	17	0.6	Television Damper Service
17BQ6GTE	Beam Power Tube	14D	6AM	16.8	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
17BR3	Half-Wave Rectifier	70	9CB	16.8	0.45	Television Damper Service
17BS3	Half-Wave Rectifier	11D	9HP	16.8	0.45	Television Damper Service
17BZ3	Half-Wave Rectifier	8D	12FX	16.8	0.45	Television Damper Service
17CK3	Half-Wave Rectifier	30B	9HP	16.8	0.45	Television Damper Service
1704	Half-Wave Rectifier	13D	4CG	16.8	0.45	Television Damper Service
17DM4	Half-Wave Rectifier	13G	4CG	16,8	0.45	Television Damper Service
17DQ6A	Beam Power Tube	20	6AM	16.8	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifie
17DW4A	Half-Wave Rectifier	110	9HP	16.8	0.45	Television Damper Service
17EW8	High-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9AJ	17.5	0.15	Each Unit as Class A Amplifie
17GJ5	Novar-Beam Power Tube	18A	9QK	16.8	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifie
17GT5	Beam Power Tube	17B	9NZ	16.8	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifie
17H3	Half-Wave Rectifier	6E	9FK	17.5	0.3	Television Damper Service
17 HB 25	Beam Pentode	35	17HB25	16.8	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifie
17JB6	Beam Power Tube	18A	9QL	16.8	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifie
17JG6	Beam Power Tube	178	9QU	16.8	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifie
17JT6	Beam Power Tube	170	900	16.8	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
17KV6	Beam Power Tube	31D	9GU	16.8	0.6	High-Voltage-Pulse Shunt Regulator
17LD8 M	edium-Mu Triode—Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	10F	9QT	16.8	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifie Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
17X10	Pentode-Beam Power Tube	8C	12BT	16.8	0.45	Beam Power Unit as Class A Amplifier
17Z3/ PY81	Half-Wave Rectifier	7H	9C B	17	0.3	Television Damper Service
18A5	Beam Power Tube	1 3F	SC K	18.5	0.3	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
IBAJ10	Beam Power Tube Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8C	12EZ	18	0.315	Beam Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as FM Detector
18FW6 8FW6A	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	700	18.0	0.1	Class A Amplifier
18FX6 I 8FX6A	Pentagrid Converter	5C	7CH	18.0	0.1	Converter
18FY6 I 8FY6A	Twin Diode—High-Mu Triode	5C	78T	18.0	0.1	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
18GB5	Beam Power Tube	35B	9NH	18		Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
8GD6A	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	50	78K	18	0.1	Class A Amplifier
19	High-Mu Twin Power Triode	22 or 13H	6C	2.0F	0.26	Amplifier
19AU4 19AU4 GTA	Half-Wave Rectifier	13G	406	18.9	0.6	Television Damper Service
9BG6G 19BG6 GA	Beam Power Tube	27B	5BT	18.9	0.3	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier

	Grid Bias Or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Screen Grid Cur- rent	Plate Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor	Power		- RCA
Plate								Load	Out- put	Туре
Volts		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
			For othe	r ratings	, refer to	Type 6BH3				17BH3 17BH3/
		Far atho				Type 6BQ6GT	R/6CU6			17BQ6GTI
ax. Pea	k Inverse Plate		O Ma	x. DC PI	ate mA, 20	0	Max.		(+300	17BR3
ax. Pea	k Plate mA, 120	0	Ma			n, 6.5 watts Type 6BS3	Cathor	le Volts:	-5500	17853
Max.	Peak Inverse P	late Volts		- Tatings		Plate Dissipa	tion, 6.5	watts		
Max.	Peak Plate mA,	1200			Max. I	Peak Heater (Cathode V		4500 900	178Z3
		For	other cl	naracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 6C	К3			17CK3
		For				r to Type 12	04			17 D 4
	DO Dista Valta	700	For othe	r ratings		Type 6DM4	Dules Di	ate Volts, 600	0 (Abe)	17DM4
Max. Max.	DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA				Max.	Plate Dissipa	tion, 15 w	vatts	JU (AUS.)	17DQ6/
		Fa	r other (characte: 10	ristics, ref	er to Type 6 4600	DW4A 50			17DW4
100 200	- 1.1V - 2.1V			4.5		5800	48			17EW8
					s, refer to		<u> </u>			17615
Max	Peak Inverse Pi			r ratings	, refer to		mA 75			17GT5
	Peak Plate mA,	450				Average Plate Plate Dissipa	tion, 3 wa	itts		17H3
	Max. Peak Posi Max. Ave	tive-Pulse rage Cath	Plate V ode mA,	olts, 700 150	10	Max.	Plate Diss	sipation, 13 V	Vatts	17HB2
					s, refer to	Type 6JB6				17JB6
		For	other cha	racteris	tics, refer	to Type 17JG	6A			17JG6
										4 - 1 - 4
			For othe	r ratings	s, refer to	Type 6JT6				17JT6
		Fo				Type 6JT6 er to Type 6	KV6A			17JT6 17KV6
150	— 5V	Fc					KV6A 21.5			17KV6
	— 5V — 8V	Fc 110		characte	ristics, ref	er to Type 6				
			or other o	characte 3.3	ristics, ref 11300	er to Type 6 1900		3000		17KV6
120 145 M	- 8V - 6V ax. Peak Inversi	110 110 110 e Plate Vo	4 3	characte 3.3 46 36	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000	er to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave	21.5 rage Plate	e mA, 150		17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/
120 145 Max.	- 8V 6V ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate I DC Plate Volts.	110 110 e Plate Vo mA, 450 350	4 3	characte 3.3 46 36	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max Max.	fer to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave t. Heater-Cat Peak PosPu	21.5 rage Plate hode Volt: Ise Plate	e mA, 150 s, +-220,4 Volts 3000	500	17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/ PY81
120 145 Max. Max.	- 8V 6V ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA	110 110 e Plate Vo mA, 450 350 , 90	4 3 0/ts, 5000	characte 3.3 46 36	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max. Max. Max.	er to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave L. Heater-Cat Peak PosPu Plate Dissipa	21.5 rage Plate hode Volt: Ise Plate	e mA, 150 s, +220, -4 Volts 3000 Htts		17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/ PY81 18A5
120 145 Max.	- 8V 6V ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate I DC Plate Volts.	110 110 e Plate Vo mA, 450 350	4 3	characte 3.3 46 36	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max Max.	fer to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave t. Heater-Cat Peak PosPu	21.5 rage Plate hode Volts lse Plate tion, 9 wa	e mA, 150 s, +-220,4 Volts 3000	1.45	17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/ PY81 18A5 18AJ10
120 145 Max. Max. 145 150	- 8V - 6V ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate I DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA -7V	110 110 e Plate Vo mA, 450 350 , 90 110	4 3 0/ts, 5000	characte 3.3 46 36) 34	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max Max. 33000	er to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave t. Heater-Cat Peak PosPu Plate Dissipa 5600	21.5 rage Plate hode Volts lse Plate tion, 9 wa	e mA, 150 s, +220, -4 Volts 3000 tts 2500	1.45	17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/ PY81 18A5 18AJ10 18FW6
120 145 Max. Max. 145 150 100	- 8V - 6V ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate I DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA -7V 180Ω	110 110 e Plate Vo mA, 450 350 , 90 110 100	4 3 0/ts, 5000 6.5 3.5	characte 3.3 46 36) 34 2.8	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max. Max. 33000 180000	er to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave Heater-Cat Peak PosPu Plate Dissipa 5600 2400 4400	21.5 rage Plate hode Volts lse Plate tion, 9 wa Gri	e mA, 150 s, +220, -4 Volts 3000 itts 2500 d No. 3 Volts	1.45 s, 0	17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17X10 17Z3/ PY81 18A5 18AJ10 18FW6 18FW6/ 18FX6
120 145 Max. Max. 145 150 100	- 8V - 6V ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA -7V 180Ω 68Ω	110 110 e Plate Vo mA, 450 350 , 90 100 100	6.5 3.5 4.4	3.3 46 36 36 9 34 2.8 11 <th1< th=""> 11 11 11<!--</td--><td>ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max Max. Max. Max. 33000 180000 250000</td><td>er to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave Heater-Cat Peak PosPu Plate Dissipa 5600 2400 4400</td><td>21.5 rage Plate hode Volts lse Plate tion, 9 wa Gri</td><td>e mA, 150 s, +220, -4 Volts 3000 tts 2500</td><td>1.45 s, 0</td><td>17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/ PY81 18A5 18AJ10 18FW6J 18FW6J 18FX6A 18FX6A 18FX6A</td></th1<>	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max Max. Max. Max. 33000 180000 250000	er to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave Heater-Cat Peak PosPu Plate Dissipa 5600 2400 4400	21.5 rage Plate hode Volts lse Plate tion, 9 wa Gri	e mA, 150 s, +220, -4 Volts 3000 tts 2500	1.45 s, 0	17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/ PY81 18A5 18AJ10 18FW6J 18FW6J 18FX6A 18FX6A 18FX6A
120 145 Max. Max. 145 150 100	- 8V - 6V ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate I DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA -7V 180Ω 68Ω - 1.5V	110 110 e Plate Vo mA, 450 350 90 110 100 100 100	6.5 3.5 4.4 6.2	33 46 36 36 36 36 36 36 36 31 32 34 2.8 11 2.3 0.6 34 36	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max Max. 33000 180000 250000 400000 77000	ier to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave Heater-Cat Peak PosPu Plate Dissipa 5600 2400 4400 Grid No Conver 1300	21.5 	e mA, 150 s, +220, -4 Volts 3000 itts 2500 d No. 3 Volts	1.45 s, 0	17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/ PY81 18A5 18AJ10 18FW6 18FW6 18FX6A 18FX6A 18FY6A
120 145 Max. Max. 145 150 100 100	- 8V - 6V ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate 1 DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA -7V 180Ω 68Ω - 1.5V - 1V	110 110 110 e Plate Vo mA, 450 350 , 90 110 100 100 100 For ott	6.5 3.5 4.4 6.2 	33 36 36 36 31 2.8 11 2.3 0.6 0.6	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max Max. 33000 180000 250000 400000 77000 s, refer to	er to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave Heater-Cat Peak PosPu Plate Dissipa 5600 2400 4400 Grid Ne Conver 1300 Type 6GB5//	21.5 	e mA, 150 s, +220, -4 Volts 3000 itts 2500 d No. 3 Volts	1.45 s, 0	17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/ PY81 18A5 18AJ10 18FW6 18FW6 18FX6A 18FX6A 18FY6A 18FY6A 18GB5
120 145 Max. Max. 145 150 100	- 8V - 6V ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate I DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA -7V 180Ω 68Ω - 1.5V	110 110 110 e Plate VG 350 350 100 100 100 For ott 100	6.5 3.5 4.4 6.2 	33 36 36 36 31 2.8 11 2.3 0.6 5	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max Max. Max. 33000 180000 250000 400000 77000 s, refer to 500000	er to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave Heater-Cat Peak PosPu Plate Dissipa 5600 2400 4400 Grid N. Conver 1300 Type 6GB5// 4300	21.5 	e mA, 150 s, +220, -4 Volts 3000 itts 2500 d No. 3 Volts	1.45 s, 0	17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/ PY81 18A5 18FW6 18FW6 18FX6A 18FX6A 18FY6 18FY6 18FY6 18FY6 18FY6 18GB5
120 145 Max. Max. 145 150 100 100	- 8V - 6V ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate 1 DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA -7V 180Ω 68Ω - 1.5V - 1V	110 110 110 e Plate VG 350 350 100 100 100 For ott 100	6.5 3.5 4.4 6.2 	3.3 46 36 36 31 2.8 11 2.3 0.6 5	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max Max. Max. 33000 180000 250000 400000 77000 s, refer to 500000	er to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave Heater-Cat Peak PosPu Plate Dissipa 5600 2400 4400 Grid Ne Conver 1300 Type 6GB5//	21.5 	e mA, 150 s, +220, -4 Volts 3000 itts 2500 d No. 3 Volts	1.45 s, 0	17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/ PY81 18A5 18AJ10 18FW6 18FW6 18FW6 18FX6A 18FY6 18FY6 18FY6 18FY6 18FY6 18FY6 18GB5 18GD6/ 19
120 145 Max. Max. 145 150 100 100	- 8V - 6V ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate 1 DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA -7V 180Ω 68Ω - 1.5V - 1V	110 110 110 e Plate Vo 350 350 100 100 100 For ott 100 For for	6.5 3.5 4.4 6.2 	3.3 46 36 36 31 2.8 11 2.3 0.6 5 aracteristic 5	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max Max. 33000 180000 250000 400000 77000 s, refer to 500000 stics, refer	er to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave Heater-Cat Peak PosPu Plate Dissipa 5600 2400 4400 Grid N. Conver 1300 Type 6GB5// 4300	21.5 	e mA, 150 s, +220, -4 Volts 3000 itts 2500 d No. 3 Volts	1.45 s, 0	17KV6 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/ PY81 18A5 18FW6 18FW6 18FW6 18FX6A 18FY6 18FY6 18FY6 18FY6 18FY6 18FY6 18FY6 18GB5
120 145 M M Max. 145 150 100 100	- 8V - 6V ax. Peak Invers ax. Peak Plate 1 DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA -7V 180Ω 68Ω - 1.5V - 1V	110 110 e Plate Vo 350 350 100 100 100 For ott 100 For ott 100 For for	6.5 3.5 4.4 6.2 	3.3 46 36 36 31 2.8 11 2.3 0.6 5 aracteristic 5	ristics, ref 11300 11700 30000 Max. Max. Max. 33000 180000 250000 400000 77000 s, refer to 500000 stics, refer refer to Ty	er to Type 6 1900 7100 8600 Max. Ave Heater-Cat Peak PosPu Plate Dissipa 5600 2400 4400 Grid N. Conver 1300 Type 6GB5// 4300 to Type 1J60 rpe 6AU4GTA	21.5 	e mA, 150 s, +220, -4 Volts 3000 itts 2500 d No. 3 Volts	1.45 s, 0 ms mhos	17KV6 17LD8 17LD8 17X10 17Z3/ PY81 18A5 18AJ10 18FW6 18FW64 18FW64 18FY6A 18FY6A 18FY6A 18FY6A 18FY64 18FY64 18GB5 18GD6/ 19 19AU4 19AU4
Modium Mit Trinda	RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram		ater or nent (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use			
---	-------------	---	--------------	--------------------------	--------------	---------------------	--			
19CLBA Medium-Mu Tride FB 9FX 18.9 0.15 Tetrode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as 19DE3 Half-Wave Rectifier 9D 12HX 19 0.6 Television Damper Service 19E28 High-Mu Triple Triode 6B 9XA 18.9 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19GQ7 Triple Diode 6B 9AM 18.9 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19HR6 Semiremet-Cutoff Pentode 5C 7BK 18.9 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19HK6 Sharp-Cutoff Pentode 5C 7BK 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19HK8 Sharp-Cutoff Pentode 6B 9FA 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19HK8 Medium-Mu Triode_ 5C 7BF 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19N8 Medium-Mu Triode_ 6B 9FA 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19N8 Medium-Mu Triode_ 6B 9LY 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19Q9 Medium-Mu Triode_ 6B 9LY 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19Q0 Medium-Mu Triode_ 6B 9LY					Velts	Amperes	-			
19DE3 Half-Wave Rectifier 90 12HX 19 0.6 Television Damper Service 19E28 High-Mu Triple Triode 6B 9XA 18.9 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19GQ7 Triple Diode 6B 9QM 18.9 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19HRS Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode 5C 7BK 18.9 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19HRS Sharp-Cutoff Pentode 5C 7BK 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19HV8 Medium-Mu Triode 5C 7BF 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19N8 Medium-Mu Triode 6B 9FA 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19N8 Medium-Mu Triode 6B 9LY 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19Q9 Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode 6B 9LY 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19X8 Medium-Mu Triode 6B 9LY 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as	19CL8A	Medium-Mu Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode	6B	9FX	18.9	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Tetrode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as			
1912 b Magnetic Higher Hunde Obs SAA 10.5 0.13 Class A Amplifier 19607 Triple Diode 6B 90M 18.9 0.15 Each Unit as Half-Wave Rectifier 19HRS Sharp-Cutoff Pentode 5C 78K 18.9 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19HVB Sharp-Cutoff Pentode 5C 78K 18.9 0.15 Fentode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19HVB Sharp-Cutoff Pentode 6B 9FA 18.9 0.15 Each Unit as Class A Amplifier 19JN8 Medium-Mu Triode_ 5B 9FA 18.9 0.15 Fentode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19JN8 Medium-Mu Triode_ 5B 9FA 18.9 0.15 Fortode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19KG8 Medium-Mu Triode_ 5B 9L 18.9 0.15 Fortode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19KG8 Medium-Mu Triode_ 5B 9L 18.9 0.15 Fortode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19K63 Medium-Mu Triode_ 5B SAK 18.4 0.15	19DE3	Half-Wave Rectifier	9D	12HX	19	0.6				
19GQ7 Triple Diode 5B 9QM 18.9 0.15 Each Unit as Half-Wave Rectifier 19HR6 Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode SC 78K 18.9 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19HK6 Sharp-Cutoff Pentode SC 78K 18.9 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19HK8 Sharp-Cutoff Pentode 6B 9FA 18.9 0.15 Fide Unit as Class A Amplifier 19JK6 Medium-Mu Triode SC 78F 18.9 0.15 Each Unit as Class A Amplifier 19JN8 Sharp-Cutoff Pentode 6B 9FA 18.9 0.15 Finde Unit as Class A Amplifier 19K68 Medium-Mu Triode 6B 9LY 18.9 0.15 Finde Unit as Class A Amplifier 19Q9 Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode 6B 9LY 18.9 0.15 Finde Unit as Class A Amplifier 19X8 Medium-Mu Triode 6B 9AK 18.4 0.15 Class A Amplifier 20EQ7 Diade-Remote-Cutoff Pentode 6E 9LQ 0.0 0.1	19EZ8	High-Mu Triple Triode	6B	9XA	18.9	0.15	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier			
19HS6 Sharp-Cutoff Pentode SC 78K 18.4 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19HV8 Sharp-Cutoff Pentode 68 9FA 18.9 0.15 Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19HV8 Sharp-Cutoff Pentode 5C 78F 18.9 0.15 Each Unit as Class A Amplifier 19JN8 Medium-Mu Triode 5B 9FA 18.9 0.15 Each Unit as Class A Amplifier 19JN8 Medium-Mu Triode 6B 9FA 18.9 0.15 Fentode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19Q9 Medium-Mu Triode 6B 9LY 18.9 0.15 Fentode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19Q9 Medium-Mu Triode 6B 10H 18.9 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19Q3 Medium-Mu Triode 6B 9AK 18.4 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19Q3 Medium-Mu Triode 6B 9AK 18.4 0.15 Class A Amplifier 19Q4 Sharp-Cutoff Pentode 6B 9AK 18.4 0.12 Class A Amplifier 19Q5 Power Triode 6B	19GQ7	Triple Diode	6B	9QM	18.9	0.15				
19HVBHigh-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode6B9FA18.90.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier19JRMedium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode6B9FA18.90.15Each Unit as Class A Amplifier19JN8Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode6B9LY18.90.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier19KG8Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode6B9LY18.90.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier19Q9Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode6B10H18.90.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier19Q9Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode6B10H18.90.15Class A Amplifier19X8Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode6B9AK18.40.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier19X8Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode6B9AK18.40.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier20Power Triode4D3.3F0.132Class A Amplifier20EQ7Disde-Remote-Cutoff Pentode6E9LQ0.1Pentode Unit as Class A21EX6Beam Power Tube13B12B210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21EX6Beam Power Tube13B12E210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H5Beam Power Tube13B12D210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H5Beam Power Tube15B12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection A	19HR6	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BK	18.9	0.15	Class A Amplifier			
19HY0 Sharp-Cutoff Pentode DB 9FA 19.9 U.13 Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier 19J6 Medium-Mu Tvian Triade 5C 7BF 18.9 0.15 Each Unit as Class A Amplifier 19JN8 Medium-Mu Triade 6B 9FA 18.9 0.15 Triade Unit as Class A Amplifier 19N8 Medium-Mu Triade 6B 9FA 18.9 0.15 Triade Unit as Class A Amplifier 1909 Sharp-Cutoff Pentode 6B 9LY 18.9 0.15 Triade Unit as Class A Amplifier 1909 Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode 6B 10H 18.9 0.15 Triade Unit as Class A Amplifier 1909 Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode 6B 10H 18.9 0.15 Triade Unit as Class A Amplifier 1909 Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode 6B 9AK 18.4 0.15 Triade Unit as Class A Amplifier 1909 Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode 6E 9LQ 20.0 0.1 Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier 1900 Diede-Remote-Cutoff Pentode 6E 9LQ 20.0 0.1 Each Unit as Class A Amplifier 20E07 Diede-Remote-Cutoff Pentode 6E 9LQ 20.0 0.1 Each Unit as Class A Amplifier 211	19HS6	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BK	18.4	0.15	Class A Amplifier			
19JN8Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode6B9FA18.90.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Class A Amplifier19K68Sharp-Cutoff Pentode6B9LY18.90.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier19Q9Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode6B10H18.90.15Triode Unit as Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier19Q9Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode6B10H18.90.15Triode Unit as Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier19X8Medium-Mu Triode- Sharp-Cutoff Pentode6BSAK18.40.15Triode Unit as Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier20Power Triode4D3.3F0.132Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier20EQ7Diede-Remete-Cutoff Pentode6E9LQ20.00.1Pentode Unit as Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier21EX6Beam Power Tube21BSB721.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H5Beam Power Tube15B12FL21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H6Beam Power Tube15B12FL21.00.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H76Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H85Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H86Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier21H85Beam Power Tube	19HV8		68	9FA	18.9	0.15				
19JN8Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode6B9FA18.90.15Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier19K68Medium-Mu Triode Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode6B9LY18.90.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier19Q9Medium-Mu Triode Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode6B10H18.90.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier19Q9Medium-Mu Triode Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode6B10H18.90.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier19X8Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode6B9AK18.40.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier19X8Medium-Mu Triode Medium-Mu Triode6B9AK18.40.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier20Power Triode4D3.3F0.132Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier20EQ7Diode-Remote-Cutoff Pentode6E9LQ20.00.1Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier21EX6Beam Power Tube21B5B721.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21HB5Beam Power Tube15B12FL21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21W6Beam Power Tube15B12FK210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21W6Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21W7Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21W8Beam Power Tube15D </td <td>19J6</td> <td>Medium-Mu Twin Triode</td> <td>5C</td> <td>7BF</td> <td>18.9</td> <td>0.15</td> <td>Each Unit as Class A Amplifier</td>	19J6	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	5C	7BF	18.9	0.15	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier			
19KGSSharp-Cutoff Peniode059LT18.90.15Peniode Unit as Class A Amplifier Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Peniode Unit as Class A Amplifier19Q9Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Peniode6B10H18.90.15Class A Amplifier Class A Amplifier19X8Medium-Mu Triode- Sharp-Cutoff Peniode6B9AK18.40.15Triode Unit as Peniode Unit as Class A Amplifier20Power Triode4D3.3F0.132Class A Amplifier20EQ7DiodeRemote-Cutoff Peniode6E9LQ20.00.1Peniode Unit as Peniode Unit as Class A Amplifier20EQ7High-Mu Twin Triode6B9PG200.1Each Unit as Class A Amplifier20EQ7High-Mu Twin Triode6B9PG200.1Each Unit as Class A Amplifier21EX6Beam Power Tube15B12BJ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H95Beam Power Tube15C12FL21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H95Beam Power Tube15B12BZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H96Beam Power Tube15B12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H98Beam Power Tube15B12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H98Beam Power Tube15B12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H98Beam Power Tube15D12DZ21	19JN8	Medium-Mu Triode— Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	68	9FA	18.9	0.15	Pentode Unit as			
1909Medium-Mu Triode Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode6B10H18.90.15Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier19X8Medium-Mu Triode 	19KG8		6B	9LY	18.9	0.15				
19X8Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode5B9AK18.40.15Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier20Power Triode4D3.3F0.132Class A Amplifier20EQ7Diode-Remote-Cutoff Pentode6E9LQ20.00.1Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier20EZ7High-Mu Twin Triode6B9PG200.1Each Unit as Class A Amplifier21EX6Beam Power Tube21B5BT21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H55Beam Power Tube15B12BJ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H55Beam Power Tube15C12FL21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H5Beam Power Tube15B12BJ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21LQ6Beam Power Tube15B12FK210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21LQ6Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier22BH3AHaigh-Mu Triode Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier22BH3AHalf-Wave Rectifier11D9HP22.40.45Television Damper Service22JG6Beam Power Tube17B9QU220.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24L76Beam Power Tube32B9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier25A6G1Power Pentode32B9QL240.6H	1909	Medium-Mu Triode	6B	10H	18.9	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as			
20EQ7Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode6E9LQ20.00.1Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier20EZ7High-Mu Twin Triode6B9PG200.1Each Unit as Class A Amplifier21EX6Beam Power Tube21B5BT21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H95Beam Power Tube15B12BJ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H95Beam Power Tube15C12FL21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H95Beam Power Tube15B12FK210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21H96Beam Power Tube15B12FK210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21L96Beam Power Tube15B12PZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21M78High-Mu Triode Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier22Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K4K3.3F0.132Screen-Grid RF Amplifier22Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K4K3.3F0.45Television Damper Service22BH3 22BH3Half-Wave Rectifier11D9HP22.40.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24L66Beam Power Tube17B9QU220.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24L66Beam Power Tube32B9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24L66Beam Power Tube32B9QL240.6	19X8		6B	9AK	18.4	0.15	Pentode Unit as Class A			
ZUEU7DiddeRemote-Cuttom PentodeBESLU20.00.1Amplifier20E27High-Mu Twin Triede689PG200.1Each Unit as Class A Amplifier21EX6Beam Power Tube21B5BT21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21HB5Beam Power Tube15B12BJ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21HJ5Beam Power Tube15C12FL21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21HV6Beam Power Tube15B12FK210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21LG6Beam Power Tube16B12HL210.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21LG6Beam Power Tube16B12HL210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21LG6Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21LG6Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier22BH3Half-Wave Rectifier11D9HP22.40.45Television Damper Service22BH3AHalf-Wave Rectifier17B9QU220.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24JE6ABeam Power Tube32B9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24JE6ABeam Power Tube32C9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24JE6ABeam Power Tube32C9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier <td< td=""><td>20</td><td>Power Triode</td><td></td><td>4D</td><td>3.3F</td><td>0.132</td><td></td></td<>	20	Power Triode		4D	3.3F	0.132				
21EX6Beam Power Tube21B5BT21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21HB5Beam Power Tube15B12BJ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21HJ5Beam Power Tube15C12FL21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21HJ6Beam Power Tube15B12FK210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21HJ6Beam Power Tube15B12FK210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21LG6Beam Power Tube16B12HL210.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21LG6Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21MY8High-Mu Triode Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier22Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K4K3.3F0.132Screen-Grid RF Amplifier22BH3Half-Wave Rectifier11D9HP22.40.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier22IG6Beam Power Tube17B9QU220.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24ASharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K5E2.51.75Screen-Grid RF Amplifier24LZ6Beam Power Tube32B9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier25A6G1Power Pentode13D7S25.00.3Class A Amplifier25A761Rectifier—Power Pentode13D8F25.00.3Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifi	20EQ7	Diode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	6E	9LQ	20.0	0.1				
21HB5Beam Power Tube15B12BJ210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21HJ5Beam Power Tube15C12FL21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21JV6Beam Power Tube15B12FK210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21LG6Beam Power Tube16B12HL210.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21LG6Beam Power Tube16B12HL210.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21MY8High-Mu Triode Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier21W8Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier22Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K4K3.3F0.132Screen-Grid RF Amplifier22BH3Half-Wave Rectifier11D9HP22.40.45Television Damper Service22BH3Half-Wave Rectifier17B9QU220.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24ASharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K5E2.51.75Screen-Grid RF Amplifier24LZ6Beam Power Tube32B9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier25A6G1Power Pentode13D8F25.00.3Class A Amplifier25A761Rectifier—Power Pentode13D8F25.00.3Amplifier25AC5Hish-Mu Power Tride13D5D25.00.3Amplifier	20EZ7	High-Mu Twin Triode	6 B	9PG	20	0.1	Each Unit as Class A Amplifier			
21HJ5Beam Power Tube15C12FL21.50.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21HJ5Beam Power Tube15B12FK210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21LG6Beam Power Tube16B12HL210.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21LG6Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier21MY8High-Mu Triode Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier22Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K4K3.3F0.132Screen-Grid RF Amplifier22BH3Half-Wave Rectifier11D9HP22.40.45Television Damper Service22IG6Beam Power Tube17B9QU220.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24ASharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K5E2.51.75Screen-Grid RF Amplifier24HE6ABeam Power Tube32B9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24LZ6Beam Power Tube32C9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier25A6G1Power Pentode13D8F25.00.3Class A Amplifier25A7G1Rectifier—Power Pentode13D8F25.00.3Amplifier25AC5Hieb-Mu Power Tride13D5D25.00.3Amplifier	21EX6	Beam Power Tube	21B	5BT	21.5	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier			
21.VGBeam Power Tube15B12FK210.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21.LG6Beam Power Tube16B12HL210.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21.MY8High-Mu Triode Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier22Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K4K3.3F0.132Screen-Grid RF Amplifier22.BH33Half-Wave Rectifier11D9HP22.40.45Television Damper Service22.BH34Half-Wave Rectifier17B9QU220.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24.JG6Beam Power Tube17B9QU220.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24.LE6ABeam Power Tube32B9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24.LZ6Beam Power Tube32C9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier25A661Power Pentode2B7S25.00.3Class A Amplifier25A7GTRectifier—Power Pentode13D8F25.00.3Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier25AC5Histh-Mu Power Triade13D5D25.00.3Amplifier	21HB5	Beam Power Tube	15B	12BJ	21	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier			
211.G6Beam Power Tube16B12HL210.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier21.MY8High-Mu Triode Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier22Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K4K3.3F0.132Screen-Grid RF Amplifier22Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K4K3.3F0.132Screen-Grid RF Amplifier22BH3Half-Wave Rectifier11D9HP22.40.45Television Damper Service22JG6Beam Power Tube17B9QU220.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24ASharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K5E2.51.75Screen-Grid RF Amplifier24JE6ABeam Power Tube32B9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24JE6ABeam Power Tube32C9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier25A6Power Pentode13D7S25.00.3Class A Amplifier25A7G1Rectifier—Power Pentode13D8F25.00.3Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier25AC5High-Mu Power Tride13D5D25.00.3Amplifier	21HJ5	Beam Power Tube	15C	12FL	21.5	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier			
21CSDHigh-Mu Triede Beam Power Tube15D12DZ210.45Triede Unit as Class A Amplifier Beam Unit as Class A Amplifier22Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K4K3.3F0.132Screen-Grid RF Amplifier22BH3 22BH3AHalf-Wave Rectifier11D9HP22.40.45Television Damper Service22JG6 22JG6Beam Power Tube17B9QU220.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24ASharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K5E2.51.75Screen-Grid RF Amplifier24JE6A 25A6 25A661Beam Power Tube32B9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier25A65 25A7GT 25AC5Nier-Power Pentode28 13D7S 5525.00.3Class A Amplifier25AC5 25AC5Nier-Mu Power Tride13D8F 25.00.3Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier	21JV6	Beam Power Tube	15B	12FK	21	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier			
21MY8Beam Power Tube1501202210.45Beam Unit as Class A Amplifier22Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K4K3.3F0.132Screen-Grid RF Amplifier22BH33Half-Wave Rectifier11D9HP22.40.45Television Damper Service22BH34Half-Wave Rectifier11D9HP22.40.45Television Damper Service22BH35Beam Power Tube17B9QU220.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24JG6Beam Power Tube29K5E2.51.75Screen-Grid RF Amplifier24JE6ABeam Power Tube32B9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24JE6ABeam Power Tube32C9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24JE6ABeam Power Tube32C9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24JE6ABeam Power Tube32C9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier25A6Power Pentode13D7S25.00.3Class A Amplifier25A7GTRectifier—Power Pentode13D8F25.00.3Amplifier25AC5Hieb-Mu Power Tride13D5D25.00.3Amplifier	21LG6	Beam Power Tube	16B	12HL	21	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier			
22BH3A Half-Wave Rectifier 11D 9HP 22.4 0.45 Television Damper Service 22BH3A Half-Wave Rectifier 17B 9QU 22 0.45 Horizontal Deflection Amplifier 22JG6 Beam Power Tube 17B 9QU 22 0.45 Horizontal Deflection Amplifier 24A Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode 29K 5E 2.5 1.75 Screen-Grid RF Amplifier 24JE6A Beam Power Tube 32B 9QL 24 0.6 Horizontal Deflection Amplifier 24LZ6 Beam Power Tube 32C 9QL 24 0.6 Horizontal Deflection Amplifier 25A6 Power Pentode 2B 7S 25.0 0.3 Class A Amplifier 25A7GT Rectifier—Power Pentode 13D 8F 25.0 0.3 Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier 25AC5 High-Mu Power Tride 13D 5D 25.0 0.3 Amplifier	21MY8	High-Mu Triode Beam Power Tube	150	12DZ	21	0.45				
22BH3AHalf-Wave Rectifier1109HP22.40.45Television Damper Service22JG6Beam Power Tube17B9QU220.45Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24ASharp-Cutoff Tetrode29K5E2.51.75Screen-Grid RF Amplifier24JE6ABeam Power Tube32B9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24JE6ABeam Power Tube32C9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier24JE6ABeam Power Tube32C9QL240.6Horizontal Deflection Amplifier25A6Power Pentode2B7S25.00.3Class A Amplifier25A7GTRectifier—Power Pentode13D8F25.00.3Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier25AC5High-Mu Power Tride13D5025.00.3Amplifier	22	Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode	29K	4K	3.3F	0.132	Screen-Grid RF Amplifier			
24A Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode 29K 5E 2.5 1.75 Screen-Grid RF Amplifier 24JEGA Beam Power Tube 32B 9QL 24 0.6 Horizontal Deflection Amplifier 24JEGA Beam Power Tube 32C 9QL 24 0.6 Horizontal Deflection Amplifier 24JEGA Beam Power Tube 32C 9QL 24 0.6 Horizontal Deflection Amplifier 25A6 Power Pentode 2B 7S 25.0 0.3 Class A Amplifier 25A6G1 Rectifier—Power Pentode 13D 8F 25.0 0.3 Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier 25A7G1 Rectifier—Power Pentode 13D 8F 25.0 0.3 Amplifier 25AC5 High-Mu Power Tride 13D 5D 25.0 0.3 Amplifier		Half-Wave Rectifier	11D	9HP	22.4	0.45	Television Damper Service			
24JEGA Beam Power Tube 32B 9QL 24 0.6 Horizontal Deflection Amplifier 24JEGA Beam Power Tube 32C 9QL 24 0.6 Horizontal Deflection Amplifier 25A6 Power Pentode 2B 7S 25.0 0.3 Class A Amplifier 25A7GT Rectifier—Power Pentode 13D 8F 25.0 0.3 Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier 25AC5 High-Mu Power Tride 13D 5D 25.0 0.3 Amplifier	22JG6	Beam Power Tube	17B	900	22	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier			
Z4L76 Beam Power Tube 32C 9QL 24 0.6 Horizontal Deflection Amplifier 25A6 25A6GI Power Pentode 2B 13D 7S 7S 25.0 0.3 Class A Amplifier 25A7GI Rectifier—Power Pentode 13D 8F 25.0 0.3 Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier 25A65 High-Mu Power Triade 13D 50 25.0 0.3 Amplifier	24A	Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode	29K	5E	2.5	1.75	Screen-Grid RF Amplifier			
Z5A6 Power Pentode 2B 13D 7S 7S 25.0 0.3 Class A Amplifier 25A6GT Rectifier—Power Pentode 13D 8F 25.0 0.3 Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier 25AC5 High-Mu Power Triade 13D 50 25.0 0.3 Amplifier	24JE6A	Beam Power Tube	32B	901	24	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier			
25A6GT Power Pentode 13D 7S 25.0 0.3 Class A Augustie 25A7GT Rectifier—Power Pentode 13D 8F 25.0 0.3 Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier 25AC5 Night-Mu Power Triade 13D 5D 25.0 0.3 Amplifier		Beam Power Tube	32C	9QL_	24	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier			
25A7GT Rectifier—Power Pentode 13D 8F 25.0 0.3 25A7GT Rectifier—Power Pentode 13D 8F 25.0 0.3 Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier Half-Wave Rectifier 25AC5 High-Mu Power Trinde 13D 50 25.0 0.3 Amplifier		Power Pentode		7S 7S	25. 0	0.3	Class A Amplifier			
The migh-mil power tribne 13th bu 25.0 that Americae		Rectifier—Power Pentode	13D	8F	25.0	0.3	Amplifier			
		High-Mu Power Triode	13D	6Q	25.0	0.3	Amplifier			

• -

	Grid Blas or		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi-	Po	wer	- RCA
Piate	Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load	Out- put	Туре
Volts		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
125	-1			14	5000	8000	40			19CL8/
125	- 1	125	4	12	200000	6500				JULOF
M	Max. Peak Invers Max. Peak Plate	se Plate Vo mA, 1050	olts, 5000)	Ma	Max. Av x. Heater-Ca	erage Plate thode Volts	mA, 350 s, +300,	5000	19DE3
		F	or other	characte	eristics, re	fer to Type	6EZ8			19EZ
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6G	Q7			19GQ7
			other ch	aracteris	stics, refer	to Type 6H				19HR6
75 150	OV OV	75 75	2.8	8.8	500000	9500	50 	_	\equiv	19HS6
100 125	-1V -1V	125	4	0.8 12	54000 200000	1300 6500	70		_	19HV
100	50Ω (For the specifi	both units	at (ns)	8.5	7100	5300	38			19J6
125	- 1			13.5	5400	8500	46			10,000
1 2 5	- 1	125	4	1 2	200000	7500			<u> </u>	19JN8
125 125	-1V -1V	125	4	13.5 12	5400 200000	8500 7500	46		=	19KG8
125 125	1V 1V	125	4	14 12	5000 200000	8000 6500	40			19Q9
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6X	8			19X8
135	-22.5V			6.5	6300	525	3.3	6500	0.110	20
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6E	27			20EQ7
250	2V			1.2	62500	1600	100			20EZ7
				r rating	s, refer to	Type 6EX6				21EX6
Max.	DC Plate Supp Peak Positive-I	Pulse Plate	Volts, E	5000	M	ax. DC Cath ax. Plate Di	ssipation, 1	8 watts		21H B 5
Max. Max.	DC Plate Suppl Peak Positive-	y Volts, 77 Pulse Plate	'O Volts, 7	7000	M	ax. DC Catho ax. Plate Di	ode mA, 280 ssipation, 2) 24 watts		21HJ5
Max. DO	C Plate Supply V ak Positive Puls	olts, 770				Ma	x. DC Cath	ode mA, 230 ation, 18 wa	atte	21JV
	Max.	DC Plate V rage Catho	olts, 900)		Max.	Plate Dissi	pation, 28 V	Vatts	21LG6
250	4V			2.3	16000	3600	58	ilse Plate V	0/15, /500	
135 45	10 0V	120 125	3 20	56 200	12000 In	9300 stantaneous	Plate Knee	characteri	stic	21 MY 8
135	— 1.5V	67.5	1.3 (Max.)	3.7	325000	500				22
		F		ratings,	refer to T	ype 6BH3				22BH3 22BH3
		For c	ther cha	racterist	ics, refer t	to Type 22JG	6A			22.JG6
250	3V	90	1.7 (Max.)	4.0	600000	1050				24A
	Max. I	DC Plate V rage Catho	olts, 990 de mA, 3	350		Max. Peak Max. F	Positive-Pu Plate Dissio	lse Plate V ation, 30 W	olts, 7500 atts	24JE6A
	WIDA, AVC		other ch	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 31L	Z6			24LZ6
	WIAX. AVE	For								
95		For 95	4	20	45000	2000	<u> </u>	4500	0.9	25A6 25A6GT
95 100				20 20.5	45000 50000	2000		4500	0.9	25A6 25A6GT 25A7
100	15V	95 100	4	20.5		1800	Max.Peak F		0.77	25A6GT

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram		eater or ment (F)	Use Values to right give operating conditions and character istics for indicated typical use
				Volts	Amperes	
25AX4 GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	13D	4CG	25	0.3	Television Damper Service
25B5	Direct-Coupled Power Amplifier	-	60	25.0	0.3	Amplifier
25B6G	Power Pentade	25	7S	25.0	0.3	Class A Amplifier
25B8GT	High-Mu Triode—Remote-Cutoff Pentode	13D	8T	25.0	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
25BK5	Beam Power Tube	6E	9BQ	25	0.3	Class A Amplifier
25BQ6 GT	Beam Power Tube	14D	6AM	25.0	0.3	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
25C6G	Beam Power Tube	25	7AC	25.0	0.3	Class A Amplifier
25CA5	Beam Power Tube	5D	7CV	25	0.3	Class A Amplifier
25CD6 GA	Beam Power Tube	21B	5BT	25	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
25CK3	Half-Wave Rectifier	30B	9HP	25.2	0.3	Television Damper Service
25CM3	Half-Wave Rectifier	30B	SHP	25	0.6	Television Damper Service
25DN6	Beam Power Tube	21	5BT	25	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
25E5/ PL36	Beam Power Tube	14K	8GT	25	0.3	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
25EC6	Beam Power Tube	21A	5BT	2 5.0	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
25F5A	Beam Power Tube	5D	700	25	0.15	Class A Amplifier
25HX5	Beam Power Tube	10F	9SB	2 5	0.3	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
25JQ6	Beam Power Tube with Integral Diode	6G	9RA	25.2	0.3	Vertical Deflection Amplifier
25L6	Beam Power Tube	2B	7AC	25.0	0.3	Amplifier
25L6GT 25L6GT / 25W6GT	Beam Power Tube	13D	7AC	25.0	0.3	Amplifier
25N6G	Direct-Coupled Power Amplifier	_	7W	25.0	0.3	Class A Amplifier
25W4GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	13D	4CG	25.0	0.3	Television Damper Service
25W6GT	Beam Power Tube	13D	7AC	25	0.3	Class A Amplifier
25Y5	Rectifier-Doubler	22 or 13H	6E	25.0	0.3	Half-Wave Rectifier
25Z5	Rectifier-Doubler	22 er 13H	6E	25.0	0.3	Rectifier-Doubler
25Z6	Rectifier-Doubler	2B	70.	25.0	0.3 0.3	Voltage Doubler
25 26 GT	NECCINCI - DOUNICI	13D	70	25.0	0.3	Half-Wave Rectifier
26	Medium-Mu Triode	26	40	1.5F	1.05	Class A Amplifier
26A6 *	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	78K	26.5	0.07	Class A Amplifier
26A7GT+	Twin Power Pentode	13G	8BU	26.5	0.6	Class A Amplifier
2606+	Twin Diode—Medium-Mu Triode	5C	7BT	26.5	0.07	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
2606*	Pentagrid Converter	5C	7CH	26.5	0.07	Converter
26LW6	Beam Power Tube	29N	8NC	26	0.6	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier

Industrial Type

	Grid Bias or		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amnlifi-		ower	' RCA
Plate	Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	Amplifi- cation Factor		Out- put	Туре
Velts		Veits	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
	/	For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 6A	X4GTB			25AX4 GT
		For	other cha	racteris	tics, refer	to Type 25N	6G			2585
200	-23V	135	1.8	62.0	18000	5000		2500	7.1	25B6G
100	- 1V			0.6	75000	1500	112			⁻ 2588GT
100	— 3V	100	2.0	7.6	185000	2000				20001
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6BI	K5			25 BK 5
	DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA					Peak Positiv sipation, 11		te Volts,	6000 (Abs.)	25BQ6 GT
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6Y6	6 G			25C6G
110 125	4V 4.5V	110 125	3.5 4	32 37	16000 15000	8100 9200		3500 4500	1.1 1.5	25CA5
Max.	DC Plate Volts DC Plate mA, 2	700		Max	. Peak Pos	itive-Plus Pl sipation, 20				25CD6 GA
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6C	кз			25CK3
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 6C	M3			25CM3
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		For	other cha	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 6D!	N6	*****		25DN6
Max. Max.	DC Plate Supply Peak Positive P	Volts, 55 ulse Plate) Volts, 70	000		Max. DO Max. Plate	Cathode Dissipatio	mA, 200 n, 10 watt	ts	25E5/ PL36
	DC Plate Volts, DC Cathode mA				Max. Max	Peak Positi Plate Dissi	ve-Pulse P	ate Volts,	700 (Abs.)	25EC6
110	-7.5V	110	3.8	43	13000	6400		2500	1.5	25F5A
100	-8.2V	100	7	100	5000	14000	N		-1-41-	25HX5
40	OV	100 F	19 or other	240 characte		stantaneous fer to Type		characte	ristic	25106
110	- 7.5V	110	4	49	13000	9000		2000	2.1 4.3	251.6
200	<u> </u>	110	2	50	30000	• 9500		3000	4.3	25L6GT
		For	other cha	racteris	tics, refer	to Type 50L6	5GT			25L6GT 25W6G
Outp	ut Triode: Plate de: Plate Volts,	Volts, 180 100; Grid); Plate π Volts, O;	nA, 46; A-F Sigr	Load, 4000 nal Volts (F	ohms Peak), 29.7; I	Plate mA, S	5.8	3.8	25N6G
Max.	Peak Inverse P	late Volts				Peak Heater-		(60	0 (Abs.)	25W4G1
Max. Max.	. Peak Plate mA, DC Plate mA,	125				mponent mus		1 740		2314461
225	-30			22	1600	3800	6.2			25W6GT
			Max.	DC Outp	ut mA per	Plate, 75				25Y5
			For othe	r rating	s, refer to	Type 25Z6				25Z5
Max.	AC Volts per F DC Output mA,	late (RMS)		Min	. Total Effe	ctive Plate- ; Full-Wave,	Supply Imp 15 ohms	edance: H	alf-	25Z6
Max.	AC Volts per P DC Output mA	late (RMS)	, 235			ct. Supply I O volts, 40 c		Plate: at	117 volts	25Z6G1
180	-14.5V		·	6.2	7300	1150	8.3			26
250	125Ω	100	4.0	10.5	1M	4000			·	26A6
26.5	4.5V	26.5	1.9	20	(each)	5700		1500	180mW	26A7GT
250	9V			9.5	<u> unit∫</u> 8500	1900	16			2606
250	Self	100	7.8	3.0	1M	475	Grid-No.1	resistor	= 200003	2606
	excited Peak Positive P						C Cathode			
	Peak Cathode m	1 1400				Max. Plate	Dissinatio	n An watt	•	26LW6

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram	al Heater or Filament (F)		Use Values to right give oper- ing conditions and characturistics for indicated typical u		
				Volts	Amperes			
27	Low-Mu Triode	22 or 13H	5A	2.5	1.75	Class A Amplifier		
29KQ6 / PL521	, Beam Power Tube	35A	9RJ	29	0.3	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier		
30	Medium-Mu Triede	22 or 13H	4D	2.0F	0.06	Amplifier		
30JZ6	Beam Power Tube	39A	1260	30	0.3	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier		
30AG11	Twin Diode—Twin-Triode	8A	12DA	30	0.15	Each Triode as Class A Amplifier		
30MB6	Beam Power Tube	1 6 H	12FY	30	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier		
31	Power Triode	22 er 13H	40	2.0F	0.13	Class A Amplifier		
31AL10	Dual Medium-Mu Triode Beam Power Tube	8C	12HR	31.5	0.315	Triode No. 1 as Class A Amplifier Triode No. 2 as Class A Amplifier Beam Unit as Class A Amplifier		
31JS6A	Beam Power Tube	168	12FY	31.5	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier		
32	Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode	29K	4K	2.0F	0.06	Class A Amplifier		
32ET5 32ET5A	Power Pentode	5D	764	32.0	0.1	Class A Amplifier		
32HQ7	Damper Diode	15A	12HT	32.6	0.315	Diode Unit as Television Damper Service		
	Beam Power Tube					Beam Unit as Horizontal Deflection Amplifier		
32L7GT	Rectifier-Beam Power Tube	14A	8Z	32.5	0.3	Class A Amplifier		
33	Power Pentode	25	5K	2.0F	0.26	Half-Wave Rectifier		
- 55	FUNCI FERLUUC	23	JK	2.01	0.20	Class A Amplifier Diode Unit as Television		
336 17	Damper Diode Beam Power Tube	15A	12FC	33.6	0.45	Damper Service Beam Unit as		
						Horizontal Deflection Amplifier		
33GY7	Diode—Beam Power Tube	15A	12FN	33.6	0.45	Diode Unit as Television Damper Service		
55017	Diduc Deam Force Func	154	12114	55.0	0.45	Beam Power Unit as Horizontal Deflection Amplifier		
33,146	Beam Power Tube	15B	12FK	33	0.3	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier		
34	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	29K	4M	2.0F	0.06	Screen-Grid RF Amplifier		
34CM3	Half-Wave Rectifier	30B	SHP	33.5	0.45	Television Damper Service		
34GD5 34GD5A	Beam Power Tube	5D	7CV	34.0	0.1	Class A Amplifier		
34R3	Half-Wave Rectifier	7C	9CB	34	0.15	Television Damper Service		
35	Remote-Cutoff Tetrode	29K	5E	2.5	1.75	Screen-Grid RF Amplifier		
35A5	Beam Power Tube	120	6AA	35.0	0.15	Single-Tube Class A Amplifier		
35B5	Beam Power Tube	SD	7BZ	35.0	0.15	Class A Amplifier		
35DZ8	High-Mu Triade—Power Pentode	6H	SJE.	35.0	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier		
35EH5	Power Pentode	5D	7CV	35	0.15	Class A Amplifier		
35GL6	Beam Power Tube	5D		35.0	0.15	Class A Amplifier		
SLGGT	Beam Power Tube	130	TAC	35	0.15	Class A Amplifier		

	Grid Bias or		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi-	P	ower	- RCA
Plate	Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load	Out- put	
Volts		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watt	5
250	-21V			5.2	9250	975	9.0			27
Max. Max.	DC Plate Volts, Peak Positive P	275 ulse Plate	Volts, 65	00		Max. Plate Max. DC	Dissipatio Cathode			29KQ6/ PL521
		For	other cha	aracteris	stics, refer	to Type 1H4	G			30
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6J2	6			30JZ6
			other cha	racteris	tics, refer	to Type 6AG				30AG11
	DC Plate Volts, Peak Positive P		Volts, 80	00		Max. Plate Max. DC	Dissipatio Cathode	n, 38 watts mA, 400		30MB6
180	30V		—	12.3	3600	1050	3.8	5700	0.375	31
150	2V			5.4	11000	3900				_
	<u>5V</u>			5.5	8500	2350				- 31AL10
120 40	8V 0	110 110	3.5 16.5	46 12 2	11700 Ins	7100 stantaneous	Plate Knee	characteri	stic	
						to Type 6J				31JS6A
180 (Max.)	— 3V	67.5	0.4	1.7	1 M	650				32
110	— 7.5V	110	2.8	30	21500	5500		2800	1.2	32ET5 32ET5A
	Peak Inverse Pla Peak Plate mA,		3300		Max D	Max. Plate	Dissipation	, 3.8 watts		
Max.	DC Plate Supply	Volts, 400)	•	Widx. F	eak Heater-C Max. DC Max. Plate	Cathode n	nA, 125	-3300	- 32HQ7
Max. F	Peak Positive-Pu — 7V	90	2.0	27.0	17000	Max. Plate 4800	Dissipation	2600	1.0	
	Maximu		te Voltag	e			5 Volts, A	RMS		- 32L7GT
180	—18V			·) Milliamp			
	eak inverse Pla	180 te Volts 2	-	22.0	55000	1750 Max. Plate D	lissination	6000 3.5 watts	1.4	33
Max. P	eak Plate mA, 7	/50			Max. Pe	ak Heater-C	athode Vol	ts, +200, -	2500	- 33GT7
Max. D Max. P	C Plate Supply eak Positive Pla	Volts, 400 ate Volts,	3500			Max. DC Max. Plate	Cathode m Dissipation	A, 140 , 9 watts		55417
Max.	Peak Inverse Pl Peak Plate mA.	ate Volts,				c. Plate Diss		(- 4200	
						. Peak Heat		Volts: {	+- 200	33GY7
Max. Max. i	DC Plate Supply Peak Positive-Pu	Volts, 400 Ilse Plate) Volts, 50(00	Max Max	. DC Cathod . Plate Diss	e mA, 155 ipation, 9	watts		
		For o	ther char	acteristi		o Type 21JV6				33JV6
180	3V min.	67.5	1.0	2.8	1 M	620				34
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6C	M3			34CM3
110	7.5V	110	3 :	35	13000	5700		2500	1.4	34GD5 34GD5A
Max. P	eak inverse Plat eak Plate mA, 4	e Volts, 4	500			Max. DC (Cathode m,	A, 150		34R3
250	— 3V min.		2.5	6.5		1050	··			35
		For	other cha	acterist	tics, refer t	to Type 35L6	GT			35A5
						o Type 35C5			· · <u>-</u> ·	35B5
120	1500Ω			0.8			100			3053
140	180Ω	120	6 4	5		7500 -		2500	2.0	35DZ8
110	62Ω	115 2	7.2 3	2 1	4000	3000 -		3000	1.2	35EH5
110	—7.5V			15	12000	7500 -		2500	1.8	35GL6
200 110	180Ω 7.5V	125 110			34000 14000	6100 - 5800 -		5000 2500	3 1.5	35L6GT
			· · ·					2300	1.3	

RCA Type	Name	Out line		H	ieater er ament (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
_				Velts	Amperes	
35Y4	Half-Wave Rectifier Heater Tap for Pilot	12C	SAL Pilot Betv	35.0 /een Pins	0.15 1 and 4	With Capacitive-Input Filter
35Z3	Half-Wave Rectifier	120	4Z	35.0	0.15	With Capacitive-Input Filter
35Z4GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	130	5AA	35.0	0.15	With Capacitive-Input Filter
36	Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode	24B	5E	6.3	0.3	Screen-Grid RF Amplifier
36AM3	Half-Wave Rectifier	ŞD	5BQ	36.0	0.1	With Capacitive-Input Filter
36AM3A 36AM3B	Half-Wave Rectifier	5D	5BQ	36.0	0.1	With Capacitive-Input Filter
37	Medium-Mu Triode	22 o 13H	r 5A	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
38	Power Pentode	24B	5F	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
39/44	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	24B	5F	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
40	Medium-Mu Triode	26	4D	5.0F	0.25	Class A Amplifier
40KD6	Beam Power Tube	160	12GW	40	0.45	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
41	Power Pentode	22 ø 13H	6B	6.3	0.4	Amplifier
42	Power Pentode	28	6B	6,3	0.7	Amplifier
42EC4A/ Py500	Half-Wave Rectifier	35C	SEC4	42	0.3	Television Damper Service
43	Power Pentode	28	<u>68</u>	25.0	0.3	Amplifier
45	Power Triode	26	4D	2.5F	1.5	Class A Amplifier
45Z3	Half-Wave Rectifier	5C 13D	5AM 6AD	45.0	0.075	Half-Wave Rectifier
45Z5GT	Half-Wave Rectifier Heater Tap for Pilot	130	Pilot Betw	45.0 een Pins	0.15 2 and 3	With Capacitive-Input Filter
46	Dual-Grid Power Amplifier	27B	5C	2.5F	1.75	Class A Amplifier
47	Power Pentode	27B	5B	2.5F	1.75	Class A Amplifier
48	Power Tetrode	27B	<u>6A</u>	30.0	0.4	Class A Amplifier
49	Dual-Grid Power Amplifier	26	50	2.0F	0.12	Class A Amplifier
50	Power Triode	29L	40	7.5F	1.25	Class A Amplifier
50A5	Beam Power Tube	120	<u>688</u>	50.0	0.15	Class A Amplifier
50B5	Beam Power Tube	50	7BZ	50	0.15	Class A Amplifier
50C6G	Beam Power Tube	25	7AC	50.0	0.15	Single-Tube Class A Amplifier
50DC4	Kalf-Wave Rectifier	50	5BQ	50	0.15	With Capacitive-Input Filter
50FE5	Beam Power Tube	136	SKB	50.0	0.15	Class A Amplifier
50FK5	Power Pentode	5D	764	50.0	0.1	Class A Amplifier
50HC6	Power Pentode	5D	7FZ	50	0.15	Class A Amplifier
50JY6	Beam Power Tube	14L	8MG	50	0.5	Horizontal Deflection Amplifier
50X6	Rectifier-Doubler	120	70X	50.0	0.15	Rectifier-Doubler
50Y6GT	Rectifier-Doubler	130	70	50.0	0.15	Rectifier-Doubler
50Y7GT	Rectifier-Doubler	13D	8AN	50.0	0.15	Voltage Doubler
01/01	Heater Tap for Pilot		Pilot Betwo	en Pins	6 and 7	Half-Wave Rectifier
50Z7G	Rectifier-Doubler Heater Tap for Pilot	22	8AN Pilot Betwe	50.0	0.15 6 and 7	Voltage Doubler Half-Wave Rectifier
			7B	2.5		nan-wave Rectiner

	Grid Bias or		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi-	Pat	Ner	- RCA
Plate	Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load	Out- put	кса Туре
Voits		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhas		Ohms	Watts	
		For	other c	haracter	istics, refe	r to Type 3	5W4			35Y4
		For	other ra	atings, r	efer to Typ	e 35Z5GT				35Z3
Max.	DC Output mA	, 100					Supply Impe s, 100 ohms		to 117	35Z4GT
100 250	- 1.5V - 3V	55 90	1.7	1.8 3.2	550000 550000	850 1080				36
AC PL Max.	ate Volts (RMS DC Output mA	S), 117			Max. F	eak inverse	Volts, 365 for Plate n	nA. 150 20	volts	36AM3
Max.	AC Plate Volts DC Output mA	s (RMS), 120			Max. F	Peak Inverse				36AM3A 36AM38
250				7.5	8400	1100	9.2			37
250	-25V	250	3.8	22.0	100000	1200		10000	2.50	38
250	{ → 3V } min. }	90	1.4	5.8	1.0	1050				39/44
180	— 3V			0.2	150000	200	30			40
		Fo	r other	characte	ristics, ref	fer to Type	6KD6			40KD6
		For	other c	haracteri	istics, refe	r to Type 61	K6GT			41
		For	other cl	haracteri	istics, refe	r to Type 6f	-6G			42
		For othe	r charact	teristics	, refer to	Type 6EC4A/	/EY500			42EC4A/ Py500
		For	other cl	naracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 25	5A6			43
275	—56V			36.0	1700	2050	3.5	4600	2.00	45
Max.	Peak Inverse	Volts, 350	N	lax. DC	Output mA,	, 65	Max. Peak	Plate mA,	390	4523
_		For	other ra	itings, re	efer to Typ	e 35Z5GT				45Z5GT
250	—33V			22	2380	2350	5.6	6400	1.25	46
250	450Ω	250	6.0	31	60000	2500		7000	2.7	47
125	20V	100	9.5	56		3900		1500	2.5	48
135 450	-20V			6.0	4175	1125	4.7	11000	0.17	49
430	84V	Eor of	ther cha	55	1800	2100 to Type 50L6	3.8	4350	4.6	50 50A5
	<u> </u>					to Type 500				5085
135	-13.5V	135	3.5	58	9300	7000		2000	3.6	50C6G
200 AC Pla	—14V ate Volts (RMS	135	2.2	61	18300	7100 DC 0	Dutput mA,	2600	6	
Max. I	Peak Inverse P					Max. Pe	eak Plate m	A, 720		50DC4
110		·				to Type 6FE	5			50FE5
110	<u>62Ω</u> 62Ω		8.5	32 42	14000	12800		3000	1.2	50FK5
Max.	DC Plate Volts	, 275				Max, DC	Cathode m	3000 A. 220	1.4	50HC6
Max. 1	Peak Positive-F					Max. Plate	Dissipation,	13 watts		50JY6
·	······				refer to Ty	-				50X6
	olts ner Plate	(RMS), 117				pe 2526GT Plate-Suppl	y Impedanc	e Der		50Y6GT
Max. AC			P	late, 15	ohms					CONTOT
Max. DC (Max. AC)	Output mA, 65 Volts per Plate Output mA per	(RMS), 235 Plate, 65	Min.	Total Eff 15 ohm	fec. Plate-S s; at 150 v	Supply Impe olts, 40 ohn	d. per Plate ns; at 235 v	: At 117 olts, 100 ol	hms	– 50Y7GT
Max. DC (Max. AC)	Output mA, 65 Volts per Plate	(RMS), 235 Plate, 65	Min. volts, M	ax. DC O	fec. Plate-S s; at 150 v output mA, mA per Pl	65	d. per Plate ns; at 235 v	: At 117 olts, 100 ol	hms	- 50Y/GI

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram	Heater or Filament (F)		Use Values to right give opera ing conditions and characte istics for indicated typical us		
				Velts	Amperes	-		
	Rectifier-Beam Power Tube	13F	844	70.0	0.15	Amplifier Unit as Class A Amplifier		
/02/01			U RA	70.0	0.15	Half-Wave Rectifier		
75	Twin Diode-High-Mu Triode	24B	6G	6.3	0.3	Amplifier		
78	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	24B	6F	6.3	0.3	Amplifier Mixer		
						With Capacitive-Input Filter		
80	Full-Wave Rectifier	28	40	5.0F	2.0	With Inductive-Input Filter		
83*	Full-Wave Mercury- Vapor Rectifier	278	40	5.0	3.0	With Capacitive-Input Filter With Inductive-Input Filter		
84/6Z4	Full-Wave Rectifier	22 er	50	6.3	0.5	With Capacitive-Input Filter		
04/024	ran-mart keennen	1 3 H	30	0.3	0.5	With Inductive-Input Filter		
117L7	Rectifier-Beam Power Tube	13F	BAO	117	0.09	Amplifier Unit as Class A Amplifier		
GT/ M7gt	KECUIICI-DE4M FUWEI IUSE	lar	GAU	11/	0.03	Half-Wave Rectifier		
117N7	Rectifier-Beam Power Tube	13F	BAV	117	0.09	Amplifier Unit as Class A Amplifier		
GT	MEPCINEL-DEMN LANCI 1486	14r	•	117	0.05	Half-Wave Rectifier		
117P7 GT	Rectifier-Beam Power Tube	13F	BAY	117	0.09	······		
11723	Half-Wave Rectifier	5D	4CB	117	0.04	With Capacitive-Input Filter		
117Z4 GT	Half-Wave Rectifier	29F	5AA	117	0.04	With Capacitive-Input Filter		
117Z6						Voltage Doubler		
GT	Rectifier-Doubler	13D	70	117	0.075	Half-Wave Rectifier		
407A+	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	64	487A	40 20	0.05 0.1	Class A Amplifier		
408A +	Sharp-Cutoff Pentede	5B	78D	20	0.05	Class A Amplifier		
884 +	Eas Triode	22	692	6.3	0.6	Relaxation Oscillator Grid-Controlled Rectifier		
955+	Medjum-Mu Triede	acora	58C	6.3	0.15	AF and RF Amplifier		
959+	Pentode	acern	5BE	1.25F	0.05	Class A Amplifier		
991 *	Glew-Discharge Tube	Doubie Contact Cande- Jahra	991			Voltage Regulator		
1612*	Pentagrid Amplifier	3	71	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier		
1614+	Beam Power Tube	4	75	6.3	0.9	Class A, AB Amplifier		
1619*	Beam Power Tube	4	7AW	2.5F	2.0	Class AB, C Amplifier		
1620+	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	3	7R	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier		
1621 +	Power Pentode	28	75	6.3	0.7	Class A Amplifier		
1622+	Beam Power Tube	4	75	6.3	0.9	Class AB, C Amplifier		
1629+	Electron-Ray Tube	13H	TAL	12.6	0.15	Visual Indicator		
1635+	High-Mu Twin Power-Triode	130	88	6.3	0.6	Power Amplifier		
2076/ R4GB+	Full-Wave Rectifier	170	5T	5F	2			
2081/ AW8A*	High-Mu Triode—Sharp- Cutoff Pentode	6E	SDX	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier		

Industrial type

— 'R	wer	Pe	Amet1#	Trans-	AC Plate	Plate	Screen Grid		Grid Bias	
ι. Γ	Out put		Amplifi- cation Factor	conduct- auce	Resist- ance	Cur- rent	Car- rent	Screen Grid	or Czthode Resistor	Plate
	Watt	Ohms		Micromhos	Ohms	mA	mA	Veits		Velts
7013	1.8	2000	<u> </u>	7500	15000	40.0	3.0	110	— 7.5V	110
- 70L7	20	Plate mA, 42	ax. Peak	M mped., 15 of	put mA, 70 e-Sunniv I	. DC Out	Max Total Ff	, 350 Min	nverse Volts,	Max. Peak
75				to Type 6SC					·····	
78			7	to Type 6K						
		Total Effect. d. per Plate,		. 440	t mA, 125 k Plate mA	DC Outpu Max. Pea), 350 1400	Plate (RMS) nverse Volts,	NC Volts p Max. Peak
- 81	put Choke	Value of inp 10 henries		125	Output mA k Plate mA	Max. DC	1	, 500	Plate (RMS) nverse Volts,	C Volts pe
					DC Output					
834	nries (mir	lenser = 40 ke = 3 hen	Cho	Current,	225mA 0C Output 225mA			(RMS) 500	ts per plate s per plate (Aax AC Voi
	Supply 150 ohm:	tal Effect. S d. per Plate, Value of Inc	To Impe	180	mA, 60 Plate mA	C Outpu lax. Peal	C N	, 325 1250	Plate (RMS), iverse Volts,	C Voits pe lax. Peak i
84/D	put	Value of Inp hoke, 10 hen		60	utput mA, Plate mA	lax. DC (N	, 450 1250	Plate (RMS), verse Volts,	C Volts pe lax. Peak l
117L	0.85	4000		5300	17000	43	4	105	— 5. 2 V	105
GT/ M7G	Plate-	Total Effect. y Imped., 15	Min. Suppl	75 450	utput mA, Plate mA	lax, DC (lax, Peak	N	5), 117 350	e Volts (RMS nverse Volts,	ax. AC Pla affl. Peak
117M	1.2	3000		7000	16000	51	5	100	— 6V	100
117N GT	Plate-	lotal Effect.		75	lutput mA,	ax. DC (N	5), 117	e Volts (RMS verse Volts,	ax. AC Pla
117P2	, 15 ohms	/ Impedance,			Plate mA,				verse volts,	ax. Peak I
GT			7GT	ype 117L7/M						
117Z3		otal Effect. Imped., 20		90 540	utput mA, Plate mA,	ax. DC 0 ax. Peak	M	330	verse Volts, :	ax. Peak li
117Z4 GT	Plate-	otal Effect. I Imped., 30	Min. T	90 540	utput mA, Plate mA,	ax. DC O ax. Peak	M	350	verse Volts, 3	ax. Peak In
11776		per Plate:	pedance (te-Supply in II-Wave, 15	fective Pla 0 ohms: Fu	Total E -Wave, 3	Min. Half	117	Plate (RMS), , 60	C Volts per C Output m
GT	117 ohme	Plate: At 5 volts, 100	ed. per	Supply Imp	Effect.	Total	Min,	235	Plate (RMS), per Plate, 6	C Volts per
407A4		(each un	35	5500	6350	8.2			240Ω	150
488A+		_		5000	340000	7	2.2	120	200Ω	120
884+	(max.)	nt = 75 mA	de Currer	Average And		300 max 300 max			max max	
955+		_	25	2200	11400	6.3			_7	250
959+		_	_	600	800000	1.7).4	67.5 (3	135
991 +		-				2				18-67
1612+	3V	3 Bias = -	Grid-No.	1100	600000	5.3	6.5	100	3	250
614+			GC	pe 6L6, 6L6	refer to Ty	eristics,	charact	For other	··	·
619+	3	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	8800	44	4	200	—10	300
620+				o Type 6J7						,
621+			<u>``</u>	Type 6F6G				·		
622+ 629+			J U	pe 6L6, 6L6 o Type 6E5						
635+	10.4	12000*	ate)	(plate to pl		6.6			0	300
035* 076/ 46B*		-2000	ontal	R4GB. Horiz in vertical p	to Type 5	tics refe	aracteris	r other ch erating pos	Fo	
81/	•			Type 6AW8	refer to	ctoristic	er chara	For oth		
W&Å*	6			.780 0400	.,					

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram	Hea	ater or nent (F)	Use Values to right give operat ing conditions and character istics for indicated typical us
				Volts	Amperes	-
2082/ 12AY7 *	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9A	12.6 6.3	0.15 0.3	Class A Amplifier
5636 +	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	submin- iature	8DC	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
5639 •	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	submin- iature	8DE	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
5642+	Half-Wave Rectifier	submin- iature	5642	1.25F	0.2	Pulsed Rectifier Service
5651WA+	Glow Discharge Tube	5C	5B0			Voltage Reference
5654/ 6AK5W/ 6096 * 5654W *	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5B	7BD	6.3	0.175	Class A Amplifier
5663+	Gas-Tetrode	5A	6CE	6.3	0.15	Thyratron
5670 * 5670WA*	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6A	8C)	6.3	0.35	Class A Amplifier
5672+	Power Pentode	submin- iature	5672	1.25	0.05	Class A Amplifier
5678 *	RF Pentode	submin- iature	5678	1.25	0.05	Class A Amplifier
5686*	Beam Power Tube	68	96	6.3	0.35	Class A Amplifier
5687 +	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9H	12.6 6.3	0.45 0.9	Class A Amplifier
5691 *	High-Mu Twin Triode	13A	8BD	6.3	0.6	Class A Amplifier
5692+	Medium-Mu Twin Triade	13A	8BD	6.3	0.6	Class A Amplifier
5693 *	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	8N	2A	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
5696A+	Gas Tetrode	5B	7BN	6.3	0.15	Relay Applications
5718*	Medium-Mu Triode	submin- iature	80 K	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
5719•	High-Mu Triode	submin- iature	8DK	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
5725+ 5725/ 6AS6W+	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5B	7CM	6.3	0.175	Class A Amplifier
5726+ 5726/ 6AL5W/ 6097+ 5726/ 6AL5W+	Twin Diode	5B	6BT	6.3	0.3	Half-Wave Rectifier
5734* N	lechano-Electronic Transducer	5734	5734	6.3	0.15	Vibration Measurements*
5749 + 5749/ 6BA6W+	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BK	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
5750+	Pentagrid Converter	5C	7CH	6.3	0.3	Converter
5751WA+	High-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9A	12.6 6.3	0.15 0.3	Class A Amplifier
5783•	Glow Discharge Tube	submin- iature	5783			Voltage Reference
5814WA+	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9A	12.6 6.3	0.15 0.3	Class A Amplifier
5824 *	Power Pentode	25	75	25	0.3	Class A Amplifier
5840 * 840 W *	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	submin- iature	8DE	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier

♦ Industrial type

	Grid Bias or		Screen Grid	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amplifi-	Pow	er	RCA
Plate	Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	cation Factor	Load	Out put	•
Valts		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhas		Ohms	Watt	S
		For	other cha	racteris	tics, refer	to Type 12/	AY7			2082/ 12AY7
100	150Ω	100	5.8	4	50000	1950	EC3 =	=3V		5636 4
150	100Ω	100	4	21	50000	9000				5639
8000				0.15		Tube	drop at 4	mA = 30 vc	lts	5642+
		For	other cha	racteris	stics, refer	to Type 565	51A			5651WA
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 56	54			5654/ 6AK5W 6096 5654W
500	—10V	5	2	20						5653+
150	2 40Ω			8.2	6400	5500	(each	unit)		5670+ 5670WA
67.5	-6.5V	67.5	1.1	3.25		650		20000	.065	5672+
67.5	0	67.5	0.48	1.8	1M	1100			—	5678+
250	-12.5V	250	3	27	45000	3100		9000	2.7	5686 +
250	-12.5V			12	3000	5400	16	(each ur	it)	5687 +
250	2			2.3	44000	1600	70	(each ur	nit)	5691 *
250	—9V			6.5	9100	2200	20	(each ur		5692*
250	3V	100	0.83	3		1650		(Grid-No.3	= 0V)	5693+
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refe	r to Type 56			<u> </u>	5696A
150	180Ω			13	4150	6500	27			5718*
150	680Ω			1.85	30500	2300	70			5719+
120	2V	120	3.5	5.2		3200		(Grid-No.3	= 0V)	5725+ 5725/ 6AS6W
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	r to Type 6A	L5			5726 5726/ 6AL5W 6097 5726/ 6AL5W
300	OV			1.5	7200	275		7500	<u> </u>	5734+
	2,000 cycles pe		ather ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6B	A6			5749 5749/ 6BA6W •
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6B	E6			5750*
	<u> </u>					r to Type 57				5751WA+
85				1.5						5783
	·	For	other cha	racteris	tics, refer	to Type 581	4A			5814WA+
		For	other cha	racteris	tics, refer	to Type 25E	36G			5824*
100	150Ω	100	2.4	7.5	260000	5000				5840 5840W
	-									J040M

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram	He	ater or nent (F)	Use Values to right give operat ing conditions and character istics for indicated typical use
				Volts	Amperes	·
5842/ 417A+	Medium-Mu Triode	6A	97	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
5844 *	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	5C	7BF	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
5847/ 404A+	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6A	9X	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
5881 *	Beam Power Tube	29M	7AC	6.3	0.9	Class A Amplifier
5896+	Twin Diode	submin- jature	8DJ	6.3	0.3	Full-Wave Rectifier
5899+	Semiremote-Cutoff Pentode	submin- jature	8DE	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
5902 •	Beam Power Pentode	submin- jature	8DE	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
5915+	Pentagrid Amplifier	5C	7CH	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
5964 +	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	5C	78F	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
6005 ◆ 6005/ 6AQ5W 6095 ◆ 6005/ 6AQ5 ◆	Beam Power Tube	50	78Z	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
6021+	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	submin- iature	8DG	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6072* 6072 *	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9A	6.3 12.6	0.15 0.3	Class A Amplifier
6073+ 6073/ 0A2+	Glow-Discharge Tube	5D	5B0			Voltage Regulator
6074+ 6074/ 082+	Glow-Discharge Tube	50	5B0			Voltage Regulator
6080WA+	Low-Mu Twin Triode	36	88D	6.3	2.5	Voltage Regulator
6082+	Low-Mu Twin Triode	36	88D	26.5	0.6	Voltage Regulator
6101 + 6101/ 6J6WA +	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	5C	7BF	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
6111*	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	submin iature	- 8DG	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6112•	High-Mu Twin Triode	submin iature	8DG	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6136 +	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	78K	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6186 * 6186/ 6A65WA* 6186W *	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BD	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6189+	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9A	12.6 6.3	0.15 0.3	Class A Amplifier
6197+	Power Pentode	6E	9BV	6.3	0.65	Class A Amplifier
6202+	Twin Diode	50	58S	6.3	0.6	Full-Wave Rectifier
6206*	Semiremate-Cutoff Pentode	submin- iature	80C	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
				12.6	0.15	

Industrial type

RC	ver	Pow	Amplifi	Trans-	AC Plate	Plate	Screen Grid		Grid Bias or	
Typ	Out- pet	Load	cation Factor	conduct- ance	Resist- ance	Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Screen Grid	Cathode Resistor	Plate
	Watts	Ohms		Micromhos	Ohms	mA	mA	Volts		Volts
5842 417			43	25000	1700	25			60Ω	150
5844	unit)	(each	27	3400	7950	4.8			470Ω	100
584 494				12500		13	4.5	160 V in series	600Ω* *with 8.5	160
5881	6.7 11.3	2500 4200		6100 5200	30000 48000	75 53	4.3 2.5	250 250	-14V -18V	250 350
5896			mA	rrent = 18	Output Cu	DC		ch plate	150 RMS ea	
5895				4500	260000	7.2	2.2	100	120Ω	100
590	1	3000		4200	15000	30	2.2	100	270Ω	100
5915	-4 volts) 0 volts)	voltage == - voltage ==	(grid No.4 (grid No.4	2000 1100				67.5	ov	67.5
5 96 4		(each	39	6000	6500	9.5	<u> </u>	both units	50Ω* * Common to	100
6005 6005 6005 6005 6005 6005			15A	to Type 6AG	lics, refer	racteris	ither cha	For a		
6021			35	5400	6500	6.5			150Ω	100
6072 6072		<u> </u>	44	1750	25000	3			4V	250
6073 6073 0A2 6074			12	r to Type O/	stics, refe	aracteri	other ch	For		
6074 0B2			32	r to Type OE	stics, refe	aracteri	other ch	For		
80WA	60		80	to Type 60	stics, refer	aracteri	other ch	For		
6882			80	to Type 60	tics, refer	aracteris	other ch	For		
6101 6101 6J6W			5A	to Type 6J	tics, refer	aracteris	other ch	For		
6111	·		20	5000	4000	8.5			220Ω	100
6112			70	2500		1.75			820Ω	150
6136		-	16A	to Type GAL	tics, refer	racteris	ther cha	For a		
6180 6180 65WA 6186V			G5	to Type 6A	tics, refer	aracteris	other cha	For		
6189			J7A	to Type 12A	ics, refer t	acterist	ther char	For o		
6197				11000	90000	30	70	250	—3V	250
					ch plate) ich plate)	50 (ea	9	put filter input choke	5 RMS,4 μF in 0 RMS,8 henry	325 45(
6282										
6202 6208				4500	260000	7.2	2.2	100	120 Ω	100

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram		iter er nent (F)	Use Values to right give operat- ing conditions and character- istics for indicated typical use
				Velts	Amperes	
6336A+	Low-Mu Twin Triode	37	8BD	6.3	5.0	Class A Amplifier
6350+	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6E	9CZ	12.6 6.3	0.3 0.6	Class A Amplifier
6360+ 6360A+	Twin Tetrade	6G	6360	12.6 6.3	0.41 0.82	Class AB ₁ Power Amplifier
6386+	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	6A	8CJ	6.3	0.35	Class A Amplifier
6417+	VHF Beam Power Tube	6E	9K	12.6	0.375	RF Power Amplifier
6485+	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	700	6.3	0.45	Class A Amplifier
6626/ 0A2WA+	Glow-Discharge Tube	5D	5B0			Voltage Regulator
6660/ 68A6+	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7BK	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6662/ 68j6+	Remote-Cutoff Pentode	50	7CM	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
6663/ 6AL5+	Twia Diode	58	6BT	6.3	0.3	Half-Wave Rectifier
6664/ 6AB4+	High-Mu Trìode	50	5CE	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier
6676/ 6CB6A+	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6677/ 6CL6+	Power Pentode	6E	9BV	6.3	0.65	Class A Amplifier
6678/ 6U8A+	Medium-Mu Triode Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	68	9AE	6.3	0.45	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
6686*	Power Pentode	<u>6E</u>	9AU	6.3	0.375	Class A Amplifier
6688A+	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	6A	SEQ	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6887 •	Twin Diode	5A	6BT	6.3	0.2	Half-Wave Rectifier
6922/ E88CC+	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	68	9AJ	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier
6977 +	Indicator Triode	submin- iature	6977	1.0F	0.03	Logic Level Indicator
7027	Beam Power-Tube	19F	8HY	6.3	0.9	Push-Puil Class AB1 Amplifier
						Push-Pull Class AB1 Amplifier
7044+	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	<u>6E</u>	9H	6.3	0.9	Class A Amplifier
7054*	Power Pentode	<u>68</u>	9GK	13.5	0.275	Class A Amplifier Half-Wave Rectifier
7055+ 7056+	Twin Diode Sharg-Cutoff Pentode	5B 5C	6BT 7CM	13.5 13.5	0.155	Class A Amplifier
7057+	Medjum-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9AJ	13.5	0.13	Class A Amplifier
7058+	High-Mu Twin Triode	6B	9EP	13.5	0.15	Class A Amplifier
7050 +	Medium-Mu Triode	68	9DA	13.5	0.28	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
7061 *	Power Pentode Beam Power Tube	6E	9EU	13.5	0.23	Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier Class A Amplifier
7167 +	Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode	50	7EW	13.5	0.09	VHF Class A Amplifier
7258*	Medium-Mu Triode	68	SDA	13.5	0.03	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier
	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode					Pentode Unit as Class A Amplifier
7308+	Medium-Mu Twin Triode	<u>68</u>	9Å]	6.3	0.335	Class A Amplifier
7360+	Beam Deflection Tube	6E	S KS	6.3	0.35	Class A Amplifier

_

	Grid Bias		Screen	Plate	AC Plate	Trans-	Amai:6	Pow	ier	- 'RCA
Plate	or Cathode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Cur- rent	Resist- ance	conduct- ance	Amplifi cation Factor		Out- put	Туре
Valts		Volts	mA	mA	Ohms	Micromhos		Ohms	Watts	
190	200Ω			—	200	13500	2.7	(each u	nit)	6336A
150	—5V			11	3900	4600	18	(each u	nit)	6350
300	21.5V	200	1.2	30		3300		1000 plate to		6360+ 6360A+
100	200Ω			9.6	4250	4000	17			6386+
						r to Type 57	-			_6417
		For	other cl	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6A	H6			6485
		Fo	r other c	haracter	istics, refe	r to Type O/	A2			6626/ 0A2WA
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6B	A6			6660/ 68A6
		For	other cl	naracteri	istics, refe	to Type 6B	J6			6662/ 6BJ6 •
		For	other cl	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6A	L5			6AL54 6663/
		For	other cl	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6A	B4			6664/ 6AB4 •
	······	For	other ch	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 6CE	36A			6676/ 6CB6A
		For	other cl	aracteri	stics, refe	to Type 6C	L6			6677/ 6CL64
		For	other ch	aracteri	stics, refer	to Type 6U	8A			6678/ 6U8A
210	120Ω	210	5.3	20	300000	11000		15000	1	6686 *
190	630Ω	160	3.3	13	90000	16500 grid	-No.3 vo	ltage == 0 volt ipply voltage =	S9 volt	6688A
360 R	MS (max.) each	plate		-DC Pla	te Current			ippi) tortage -	- 10 1011	6887 •
100	680Ω			15		12500	33	(each u	nit)	6922/ E88CC
50	0V 3V	$R_g = 1$	00,000Ω	585μA 5μA						6977 +
450	—30V	350	3.40	95 🗆				6000	50†	
400 380	200Ω 180Ω	300 380	70 5.60	112 🗆 138 🗆			\equiv	6600 4500	32† 36†	7027
410	220Ω		Cath, n					8000	24†	-
120	2V			36	1750	12000	21	(each u	unit)	7044+
	17 040			· · · · ·	cs, refer to current 9 i	5 Type 8077/	//054			7054*
200	17 RMS each pl 180Ω	150	2.8	9.5	600000	6200				7056+
150	220Ω		2.0	10	5300	6800	36	(each u	nit)	7057 •
250	-2V			1.25	61000	1650	100	(each u		7058+
150	150Ω	195	3.4	9	8200	4900	40			7060+
200	<u>82Ω</u> 10V	125 200	<u> </u>	15 35.5	150000 60000	7000 4200		5000	3	7061 +
e	1V	80	1.4	10	125000	8000				7167+
125										70504
125		For	other cha	aracteris	tics, refer	to type ban	(8A			7258+
125						Type 6922/1		<u></u>		7308*

† For two tubes at stated plate-to-plate load.

□ For two tubes.

RCA Type	Name	Out- line	Terminal Dia- gram	Heater or Filament (F)		Use Values to right give operating conditions and character istics for indicated typical use	
				Velts	Amperes	•	
7591	Beam Power Tube	13D	8KQ	6.3	0.8	Class A Amplifier Push-Pull Class AB1 Amplifier	
7695	Beam Power Tube	13D	9PX	50	0.15	Class A Amplifier Push-Pull Class AB1 Amplifier	
7717/ 6CY5•	Sharp-Cutoff Tetrode	5C	7EW	6.3	0.2	Class A Amplifier	
7724/ 14GT8•	Twin-Diade High-Mu Triode	6B	9KR	14	0.15	Triode Unit as Class A Amplifier	
7788 +	Pentode	68	9NK	6.3	0.34	Class A Amplifier	
7898+	High-Mu Twin Triode	68	SEP	13.5	0.15	Class A Amplifier	
8058+	Nuvistor, High-Mu Triode	141	12CT	6.3	0.135	Class A Amplifier	
8136+	Sharp-Cutoff Pentode	5C	7CM	6.3	0.3	Class A Amplifier	
8203 +	Nuvistor, Power Triade	1	12AQ	6.3	0.16	Class A Amplifier	
8233*	Pentode	11A	SPZ	6.3	0.6	Class A Amplifier	
8532 8532/ 6J4WA 8532W	High-Mu Triede	SC	7BQ	6.3	0.4	Class A Amplifier	
8627+ 8627A+	Nuvistor, Power Triode	142	12CT	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier	
8628 *	Nuvistor, High-Mu Triade	1	12AQ	6.3	0.1	Class A Amplifier	
8808 +	Nuvistor, High-Mu Triode	1A3	8888	6.3	0.34	Class A Amplifier	
8950 +	Beam Power Tube	16E	8950	13.0	1.1	Class A Amplifier	
9001+	Detector Amplifier Pentode	5F	7BD	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier	
9002*	Medium-Mu Triode	5F	785	6.3	0.15	Detector; Amplifier, Oscillator	
9003+	RF Pentode	5F	78P	6.3	0.15	Class A Amplifier	
9005	UHF Diode	acorn	5BG	3.6	0.165	Half-Wave Rectifier	
9006+	UHF Diede	5F	68H	6.3	0.15	Half-Wave Rectifier	
EM84/ . 6FG6	Electron—Ray Tube	6F	SEV	6.3	0.27	Visual Indicator	

Industrial type

SAFETY PRECAUTIONS

Electron tubes that operate at potentials exceeding several thousand volts may emit X-radiation.

The high voltages associated with these devices result in production of X-radiation which may constitute a health hazard on prolonged exposure at close range unless the tube is adequately shielded. Equipment design must provide for this shielding.

	Grid Bias		Screen			Trees	4	Pov	rer	- RCA
Plate	or Catbode Resistor	Screen Grid	Grid Cur- rent	Piate Cur- rent	AC Plate Resist- ance	Trans- conduct- auce	Amplifi- cation Factor	Load	Out- put	қ., Тур
Velts		Volts	mÅ	mA	Ohms	Micromhes		Ohms	Watts	
300	_10V	300	8	60	29000	10200		3000	11	- 7591
450	200Ω	400	11.50	820				9000	28†	7331
130	_11V	130	5	100	7000	11000		1100	4.5	- 7695
140	50Ω	140	9 D	210 ¹⁰				1500	10†	
		For	other cl	aracteris	stics, refer	to Type 6C	¥5		_	7717/ 6CY5
		For	other ch	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 14	GT8			7724/ 14GT8
135	360Ω	165	5	35		50000	58			7788+
250	200Ω			10	10900	5500	60	(each	unit)	7898
110	47Ω			10	5600	12400	70			8058
		For	other ch	aracteris	tics, refer	to Type 6D	K6			8136
150	560 Ω			7	5000	6000	30			8203
125	3V	125	5.5	50	20000	45000				8233+
150	100Ω			13.5	4800	11000	52.5			8532 8532/ 6J4WA 8532W
110	47Ω			11.5	5400	13000	70			8627 8627A
120	200Ω			1.5	41000	3100	127			8628
200	68Ω			15	6400	18000	100			8808
175	-21V	110	2.0	120		16000	,			8950+
250	3V	100	0.7	2.0	1 MΩ min.	1400				9001 •
250	7V			6.3	11400	2200	25			9002+
250	_3V	100	2.7	6.7	700000	1800				90034
117 RM	S max.				DC Out	put Current	1.0 mA ma	ax.		9005
270 RM	s				DC Outp	out Current	5.0 mA			90064
Triode Triode	Plate Supply N Plate Resistan Grid-Supply Vo	ce, 1 ΜΩ olts22		Triode P Target,	late mA. O.	F	luorescent- riode-Grid H luorescent	Target Volts, Resistance, O Target mA, 1 14 inch	.47 ΜΩ	EM84/ 6FG6

† For two tubes at stated plate to plate load.

SAFETY PRECAUTIONS

Precautions must be exercised during the servicing of equipment employing these devices to assure that the high voltage is adjusted to the recommended value and that any shielding components are restored to their intended positions before the equipment is operated.

Caution: Operation of this tube outside of the maximum values indicated may result in either temporary or permanent changes in the Xradiation characteristics of the tube. Equipment design must be such that these maximum values are not exceeded.

Note: For Safety Precautions that apply to all tubes, refer to page 93.

□ For two tubes.

Terminal Diagram Designations for Receiving Tubes

T HE following pages contain comprehensive listings of domestic and foreign entertainment and industrial receiving tubes cross-referenced to a particular terminal diagram designation.

The first index gives the terminal diagram designations in numericalalphabetical sequence and lists the tube types having the same diagram.

The second index lists receiving tube types in numerical-alphabeticalnumerical sequence and gives the terminal diagram designation for each type.

These indexes can be used as an initial approach to tube interchangeability for types not listed in the Replacement Guides. Identical terminal diagram designations, however, do not imply interchangeability. Before any interchangeability is attempted, a comparison must be made of all essential data, including maximum ratings, performance characteristics and mechanical characteristics. Many types listed in these indexes are currently in RCA's line and data for them are included in this manual. For those tube types not currently in RCA's line, it may be necessary to consult other data sources.

The pin or terminal connections associated with the terminal diagram designations are given in the chart III. TERMINAL CONNECTIONS, immediately following the indexes.

I. TERMINAL DIAGRAM DESIGNATION vs. TYPE NUMBER

1AY2 1AY2 1AY2 1AY2A 3C 1B3GT 1G3GT/1B3GT 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1G3GT/1B3GT/1B3GT 1G3GT/1B3GT 1G3GT/1B3GT/1B3GT 1G3GT/1B3GT 1G3GT/1B3GT	4CG 6AU4GT 6AV4GT 6AX4GT 6AX4GT 6DA4 6DA4 6DE4 6DA4 6GK17 6W4GT 12AX4GT 12AX4GT 12AX4GT 12AX4GT 12DM4 12DM4 12DM4 17DA4 17DE4 17DE4 17DE4 17DE4 17DM4 19AU4 19AU4 22DE4 25AX4GT 25W4GT	4D 6A3 10 20 26 30 31 40 45 50 4F 11 4G 1V A61 PY81 PY83 PY88 PY880 V153 4K 22 32 4M 140P	4R 0Z4A 0Z4G 4V 1C21 0A4G 5A 27 37 5AA 35Z4GT 117Z4GT U74 U76 5AB 774 7Z4 5AC 7B4 14A4 5AD 1LA4 1LB4	5AM 45Z3 5AP 1A3 DA90 5AY 6D4 5B 47 5BC 955 5BC 955 5BE 959 5BC 9005 5BC 9005 5BC 9005 5BC 9005 5BC 9005 5BC 9005 5BC 9005 5BC 9005
4C 5Z3 80 83 4CB	4CK 5823 4D	4M 1A4P 1B4P 34 4R	1LB4 5AG 1LH4 5AL	6074/0B2 6626/0A2WA 0A2 0A2WA 0B2 0B2WA
4 68 117Z3	4 0 2A3	чк 0Z4	35Y4	OC2

5 8 9	5E	5Y	6AM	6BW
35W4	35	1E5GP	25006	1DN5
36AM3	36	1N5GT	HD94	105
36AM3A	15	1P5GT	HD96	DAF92
36AM3B	F. F	DF33	C40	
50DC4	5F 38	Z14	6AR	6BX
HY90	38 39/44	57	1L4 1T4	374
5BS	33/44	52 1H5GT	104	DL94 N19
6X4	5K	HD14	DE91	1113
6X4W	1F4	1014	DF904	6C
12X4	33	6A	W17	19
6202		48		
EZ90	5L		BAS	600
EZ900	5V4G	6AA	6B5	6AR5
HZ90	5V4GA	7A5	6AU	
U78	EM.	705	185	6CE
U707	5M 6F5	14A5 14C5	ÂD17	5663
VSM70	6F5GT	32A5	DAF91	
5BT	12F5GT	50A5		6CK
	H63	EL22	6AX	6AU5GT
6BG6G 6CD6G		KT81	1LD5	6AV5GA
6CD6GA	5Q	N148	6B	6AV5GT
6DN6	5X4G		2A5	6FW5
6EX6	5Y4G	6AB	41	12AV5GA 25AV5GA
19BG6G	5Y4GA 5Y4GT	6SF5	42	ZJAVJUA
19BG6GA	51401	12SF5 12SF5GT	43	6CN
21EX6	5R	1231301		6BY5GA
25CD6GA	1D5GT	6AD	6BA	obroan
25CD6GB 25DN6	1G4GT	35Z5GT	3LF4	600
25EC6	5S	45Z5GT	6BG	6012
20200	1H4G		6C4	
5C	6B4G	6AE	EC90	6D
46	F T	7 B 5	177	2585
49	5T	6AF	M8080	
6485	2T4 5AS4	1Q5GT	QA2401	6E
8136	5AS4A	Idout	QL77 V741	6AJ8/ECH81
	5AU4	5AM	1/41	25Y5
5CE	5AW4	6BQ6GT	6BH	2525
6AB4	5AZ4	6BQ6GTB/6CU6	9006	
6664/6AB4	5R4GB	6006		6EC4
EC92	5R4GYB	6DQ6A	6BS	6EC4/EY500
£8.	5U4G	6DQ6B 6GB3A	2050	42EC4A/PY500 EY500
50 624	5U4GB 5V3	6GB6	2050A	PY500
84/6Z4	5V3A/5AU4	6GB7	6BT	11500
04/024	5W4	6GW6	3AL5	6F
5 DA	5W4GT	6GW6/6DQ6B	6AL5	6C6
5AR4/GZ34	5Y3G	12BQ6GTB/12CU6	12AL5	6D6
GZ32	5Y3GT	⇒ 12CU6	5726	78
GZ34	5Z4	12DQ6A	6663/6AL5 6887	66
GZ37	2076/5R4GB	12DQ6B 12GB3	7055	2A6
R-52	GZ30 RJ2	12GB6	D2M9	1223
U54 U70	Ü 50	12GB7	D63	75
U70	U52	12GW6/12DQ6B	D152	
5DE	\rightarrow	178Q6GTB	EAA91	6K
3DG4	50	17DQ6A	EB91	6Z5
UD UT	6K5GT	17GB3 17GW6/17DQ6B	FAA91 Haa91	6L
5E	5Y	25BQ6GT	QA2404	146
24A	1D5GP	25BQ6GTB/25CU6	XXA-91	106

-

GM	7AC	7AV	7BF	7BT
185/25S	6W6GT	1\$4	5964	3AV6
<u>.</u>	6Y6GA/6Y6G	DL91	ECC91	4AV6
6Q 6AC5GT	7EY6 12EN6	7AW	M8081 T2M05	6AQ6 6AT6
605	12L6GT	1619	TZWOJ	6AV6
6C5GT	12V6GT	1015	7BK	6BF6
615	12W6GT	7AX	3AU6	12AE6
6J5GT	25C6G	6AE7GT	3BA6	12AE6A
6L5G	25L6		4AU6	12AJ6
6P5GT	25L6GT/25W6GT	7AZ	6AH6	12AT6
12J5GT	25W6GT	6SF7	6AH6WA	12AV6
25AC5GT	35L6GT	12SF7	6AK6	12BF6
884	50C6G		6AU6	12FK6
L63	50L6GT	7 B	6AU6A	12FM6
L63B	7408	6A6	6AU6WB	18FY6
	7581A	6E6	6BA6/EF93	18FY6A
6R	EL37 KT-32	53	6BD6 6HR6	26C6 DH77
2E5	KT-52 KT66		6HS6	EBC90
6AB5/6N5	KT71	7BA	12AC6	EBC91
6E5 6U5	0SW3106	3Q4	12AF6	HBC90
EM35	0000100	3\$4	12AU6	HBC91
OSW3110	7AF	DL92	12BA6	
Y61	1F7G	DL95 N17	12BD6	7 BZ
		N17 N18	12BL6	5AQ5
6S	7AG	NIO	12CX6	6AQ5
6AX5GT	6AD6G	7BB	12DZ6	6AQ5A
6X5	6AF6G	3A4	12EA6	6BF5
6X5GT		5/14	12EK6	6DS5
6ZY5G	7 AH	7BC	12EK6/12DZ6/	6HG5
EZ35	6AE6G	3A5	12EA6	6HR5
	7 a j	0110	18GD6A 19HR6	11DS5
6W	7A6	7 BD	19HS6	12AQ5
1F6	780	3BC5	19MR9	3585
	7AK	3BC5/3CE5	26A6	50B5 6005
6X	1LA6	3CE5	5749	6669/6AQ5A
1A5GT	1LC6	4BC5	6660/6BA6	BPM04
1C5GT 1F5G		6AG5	7543	EL90
165G	7AL	6AK5/EF95	EF93	M8245
115G	1629	6AN5	EF94	N727
115GT		6BC5/6CE5 6CE5	HF93	
DL31	7AM	6RHH2	HF94	7C
	1N6G	408A	M8108 PM04	2A7
7 AA	7 A 0	5654	W727	6A7
1H6G	1LG5	6186	XF94	6A7S
->	1L05 1LN5	9001	AI 34	
7AB	12000	9003	7BN	700
1G6GT	7 AP	DP61	2D21	18FW6
1J6G	3Q5GT	EF95	5696	18FW6A
1J6GT	DL33	EF96	5696A	
	N16	EF905	5727	7CH
7AC		PM05		3BE6
5V6GT	7AQ	705	7BQ	3BY6
6EY6	1LC5	7BF	6J4	30\$6
6EZ5 6L6	7AT	5J6 5MHH3	8532	4CS6 6BE6
6L6G	1R5	5MNN3 6J6		6BY6
6L6GB	DK91	6J6A	7 BR	6CS6
6L6GC	X17	6J6WA	6F4	12AD6
6V6	A17	6MHH3		12BE6
6V6GT	7AU	19.6	7 B S	12EG6
6V6GTA	6N6G	5844	9002	12GA6

			750	70
7CH	7CV	7E	7FP	7R
18FX6	12CN5	6F7	6FQ5A	6J7
18FX6A	12CU5/12C5		6FY5/EC97	6J7G_
26D6	12ED5	7EA	6GK5/6FQ5A	6J7GT
5750	12EH5	6CR6	EC95	6K7
5915	12FX5	12CR6	EC97	6K7G_
EH90	1705		PC95	6K7GT
EK90	17CU5/17C5	7E G	XC95	6S7
HK90	19FX5	2BN4	XC97	6S7G
HM04	2505	2BN4A	YC95	6U7G
X77	25CA5	3BN4	770	6W7G_
X107	25EH5	3BN4A	7FQ	12J7GT
X727	25F5A	6BN4	6FV6	12K7GT
	32ET5	6BN4A	7FZ	1620
7CK	32ET5A		35GL6	A863
1207	34GD5	7 EK	50HC6	EF37
	34GD5A	12K5	50HK6	KTW63
7CM	3505		JULINO	KTZ63
3BZ6	35EH5	7EN	7 G	W61
3CB6/3CF6	50C5	3DT6	6C7	W63
3CF6	50EH5	3DT6A	007	Z63
3DK6	50FK5	4DT6	7 ga	
4BZ6	60FX5	4DT6A	2FS5	7S
4CB6	HL92	5GX6	2GU5	6DG6GT
4DE6		5HZ6	3FS5	6F6
4DK6	7 CY	6DT6	6FS5	6F6G
4EW6	3B4WA	6DT6A	6GU5	6F6GT
4GM6	6GZ5	6GX6		6G6G
41H6	VULU	6GY6	7GM	6K6GT
4LU6	7D	6GY6/6GX6	2HA5	12A6
5EW6	2B7	6HZ6	2HM5/2HA5	25A6
5GM6	6B7	0020	2HQ5	25A6GT
5JK6	6B7S	Trw	3HM5/3HA5	2586G
5JL6	00/0	7EW	3HQ5	
6AS6	7DC	2CY5	4HA5	1613
6BH6	1L6	3CY5	4HA5/PC900	1614
6BJ6	120	3EA5	4HQ5	1621
6BZ6	7DF	4CY5	6HA5	1622
6CB6A/6CF6	3BN6	6CY5	6HA5-S	5824
6CF6	4BN6	6EA5	6HK5	5881
6DC6	6BN6/6KS6	6EV5	6HM5/6HA5	6550
6DE6	6KS6	7167	6HQ5	8417
6DK6	12BN6	7717/6 CY 5	EC900	EM840
6EW6	120110		LC900	KT-63
6GM6	7 DK	7F	PC900	N63
6JH6	2AF4A/2AF4B	12 A 5	XC900	
6JK6	2AF4B/2DZ4			71
12AW6	2DZ4	7 FB	7GW	6L7
12BZ6	3AF4A	12EL6	17DQ6B	6L7G
12DK6	3AF4A/3DZ4		70	1612
5725	3DZ4	7FL	7H	
6661/6 BH 6	6AF4	2EN5	6D7	711
6662/6BJ6	6AF4A		6E7	70
6676/6CB6A	6AN4	7 FP	7K	6P7G
7056	6DZ4	2ER5	12A7	
EF190	614	2FH5	1247	7V
CI 190	EC94	2FQ5A	70	6B6G
7 CV	LUJH	2GK5/2FQ5A	6H6	607
	700	3ER5	GHGGT	6Q7G
4GZ5	6DL5	3FH5	12H6	607GT
6AS5	6DL5/EL95	3GK5	2526	6R7
6CA5		4GK5	2526GT	6R7G
6005	EL95	6ER5	50Y6GT	6R7GT
6EH5	7DX	6ES5	117Z6GT	6T7G
1205	50X6	6FH5	EB34	6V7G
12CA5	JUNU	01115		0

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

7¥	8B	80	8ET	8K
12Q7GT	6N7	1E7GT	6CA7/EL34	6K8
DH63	6N7GT		6CZ7	6K8G
114	6Y7G	8CB	EL34	6K8GT
7W 25N6G	6Z7G	6S8GT	057	12K8
20100	1635	12S8GT	8EZ 3A3	8KB
72	880	8CH	, 3A3/3B2	6FE5
1A7GT	6AS7G	6AL7GT	3A3A/3B2	50FE5
1B7GT	6BL7GT	0112/01	3A3B	JULU
1C7G	68L7GTA	8CJ	3A3C	8KN
1D7G	6BX7GT	5670	3AW3	7355
	6DN7	6386	3CZ3	
8A	6EA7		3CZ3A	8KQ
6A8	6EM7/6EA7	8CK		7591
6A8G	6GL7	6AQ7GT	8F	7591A
6A8GT	6SL7GT	ECL180	25A7GT	
6D8G	6SN7GT			8KS
12A8GT	6SN7GTA	8CN	8FU	5DJ4
PH4	6SN7GTB	1E8	6BD4	8LY
X63	10EG7	8CP	6BD4A	
8 AA	10EM7 12SL7GT	1AC5	8G	8417
70L7GT	12SN7GT	1AD5	6C8G	8MG
/01/01	12SN7GTA	1003	6F8G	50JY6
8AC	12SX7GT	8CT	0,00	50710
7F7	13EM7	6BA7	8G B	8MH
7N7	13EM7/15EA7	12BA7	6BL4	3CA3
14AF7	5691			3CA3A
14F7	5692	80A	8GC	
14N7	6080	1T6	6BK4	8MK
	6080WA		6BK4A	3CU3A
BAD	6082	8DC	6BK4B	
6SA7GT	6336A	5636	6BK4C/6EL4A	8ML
12SA7GT	B36	6206	6EL4	6LH6A
8AE	B65	80E	8GD	8MQ
7E7	ECC32 ECC35	5639	бСВ5	6LJ6
ŹŔŹ	C0033	5840	6CB5A	6LJ6A/6LH6A
9U8A	8BE	5899	00007	ULION/ ULION
14E7	12AH/GT	5902	8GH	8MT
14R7	12/10/01	0002	3B2	3CX3
	8BF	8DG	007	3DF3
8AJ	7K7	6021	8GT 25E5/PL36	3DF3A
1D8GT		6111	23E3/PL30 N308	
BAL	8BK	6112	PL36	8MU
707	6SG7		1 200	2CN3A
100	6SH7	8DJ	88	3CN3A
8AN	12SG7	5896	6J8G	3CN3B
50Y7GT	12SH7	8DK	007	8MX
50Z7G	0.01	5718	8HY 7027	3DB3
	8BL 7S7	5719	7027A	3DB3/3CY3
8A0	14J7	6814	10617	3DJ3
117L7/M7GT	14)/		8JB	
8AS	8BU	8E	6CK4	8MY
3A8GT	26A7GT	6B8	010	3DA3/3DH3
JADUT		6B8G	BJC 6D05	8MZ
8AV	8BW	12C8	6DQ5	3DC3
117N7GT	7F8	8EL	8JP	
117P7GT	14F8	6AH4GT	6DZ7	8N
A 4 V		05D	A 1V	6AB7
BAY CADZO	8BZ	8EP	8JX	6AC7
6AD7G	7X7	KT88	12GC6	6AC7W

8N	87	9A	9AG	9AQ
6SJ7	7A7	6680/12AU7A	12 B 4 A	EF811 EF814
6SJ7GT 6SJ7Y	7AD7 7AG7	6681/12AX7A 7025	9AJ	LF183
6SK7	11101	7247	4BC8	LF184
6SK7GT	8V	B152	4BQ7A 4BQ7A/4BZ7	XF183
6SS7	7AH7	B309 B329	4BS8	XF184 YF183
12SJ7 12SJ7GT	7B7 7C7	B339	4BZ7	YF183
12SK7	7G7	8739	4ES8/XCC189	
12SK7GT	717	B749	4KN8/4RHH8 4RHH2	9AU 6686
5693 KT77	7V7 14A7	B759 E81CC	5BK7A	
0SW3111	1407	E82CC	5BQ7A	9AX
	14H7	E83CC	5ES8/YCC189	6BC7 6BJ7
8NB	EF22	ECC81	6AQ8 6AQ8/ECC85	
26HU5	W81 W143	ECC82 ECC83	6BC8/6BZ8	9BD
8NC	W143	ECC186	6BK7A	6V3A EY81F
26LW6		ECC801	6BK7B	
AN	8W	ECC802	6BQ7	9BF 11HM7
8ND 1DG3	786 7C6	ECC803 M8136	6BQ7/6BZ7/6BS8 6BS8	12BV7
1DG3A	7E6	M8130 M8137	6BZ7	12BY7
	1486	M8162	6BZ8	12BY7A/12BV7/
8NJ 6EN4	14E6	PCC18	6DJ8/ECC88 6DT8	12DQ7 12DQ7
	8X	QA2406 QB309	6ES8/ECC189	12GN7
BNL	14B8	XCC82	6JK8	12GN7A
3DR3 3DS3	8Y		6KN8/6RHH8	12HG7
	6AG4Y	9AC	9AQ8/PCC85 12DT8	12HG7/12GN7A 12HL7
8NP	6AG7	6S4 6S4A	17EW8	EL180
6MA6	8Z	0047	17EW8/HCC85	9BL
80	32L7GT	9AD	6922/E88CC	7189
6AE5GT	9A	5879	7057 7308	980
6SQ7 6SQ7GT	6AU7	9AE	B719	6BK5
6SR7	7AU7	5EA8	ECC85	12BK5
6ST7	9AU7	5GH8A	ECC88	25BK5
6SZ7 12SQ7	12AE7 12AT7/ECC81	5KD8 5U8	ECC180 ECC189	9BV
12SQ7GT	12AT7WA	6AX8	HCC85	6CL6 6197
12SR7	12AT7WB	6EA8	PCC85	6677/6CL6
12SR7GT	12AU7	6GH8	XCC189	9BX
12SW7 0BC3	12AU7A/ECC82 12AV7	6GH8A 6GJ8	YCC189 YCL180	6AM4
OSW3105	12AX7	6HL8		9CA
8R	12AX7A/ECC83	6KD8	9 AK 5X8	6AJ8
6SA7	12AY7 12AZ7	6LM8 6MQ8	6X8A	9CB
6SB7Y	12AZ7A	6MU8	19X8	6AF3
12SA7	12BH7	6U8		6AL3
12SY7 0SW3104	12BH7A 12BZ7	6U8A/6KD8	9AQ 3EH7	6AL3/EY88 6BR3/6RK19
	12DW7	9EA8 9GH8A	3EH7/XF183	6RK19
85	12FV7	9JW8/PCF802	3EJ7	12AF3/12BR3/
6SC7 12SC7	5751	19EA8	3EJ7/XF184	12RK19
	5814A 5963	6678/6U8A 7059	4EH7/LF183 4EJ7/LF184	12BR3 12RK19
8T 12B8GT	5965	CXF80	6EH7/EF183	16AQ3
25B8GT	6072	ECF82	6EJ7	16AQ3/XY88
	6189	ECF802	6EJ7/EF184	17BR3
8U 7A8	6211 6679/12AT7	LCF802 PCF802	EF183 EF184	17BR3/17K19 17RK19
///0	0073/12MT	101002	LI 107	-/

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

	9DC	9DX	9EU	9FT
9CB 17Z3/PY81	6MG8	SAW8A	6GC5	6CH8
20AQ3/LY88	888	8BA8A	12AB5	
30AE3/PY88	9A8	8BH8	6973	9FX
34R3 Ey88	9A8/PCF80 ECF80	8CX8 8EB8	7061	5CL8 5CL8 A
LY88	LCF80	8GN8	9EX	6CL8
XY88	LZ319	8JV8	6BM8/ECL82	6CL8A
9CF	LZ329	10GN8	8B8	9CL8 19CL8A
9BR7	PCF80 XCF80	10HF8 10JA8/10LZ8	11BM8 16A8/PCL82	IJCLON
12BR7		10JT8	50BM8/UCL82	9FZ
9CK	9DE 4RHH8	10JY8	ECL82	5KZ8
6CM6	6RHH8	10KR8 10LB8	LCL82	6CM8 6KZ8
6DW5	ECC89	10L08	LN119 N369	9KZ8
907	9DJ	10LY8	PCL82	
6BQ5/EL84	6BW4	10LZ8	UCL82	9 G
6CW5	12BW4	11JE8 11KV8	UCL83	5686
6CW5/EL86	67.D	11LQ8	9FÅ	96A
88Q5 8CW5/XL86	9DP 6AR8	PCF82	5BR8	6FG6/EM84
10BQ5	6JH8	9DZ	5BR8/5FV8	6HU6/EM87
10CW5	6DD	5AV8	5FV8	EM84 EM87
10CW5/LL86	9DR 6BC4	9E	5MB8	LINIO7
15CW5 15CW5/PL84		5T8	6BR8 6BR8A	9GC
EL84	9DS	6AK8/EABC80	6FV8	12J8
EL86	5AS8 6AS8	6T8 6T8 A	6FV8A	96E
LL86 M709		19T8	6JN8	5008
PL84	9DT	DL012	6MB8 12EC8	6008
XL84	1RK23 1S2A/DY87	EABC80	12JN8	005
XL86	3A2	9EC	19HV8	96F 4L/8
V	3A2A	5B8	19JN8/19CL8A	
96.7		500		5CG8
9CY 5AM8	DY87		ACC	5FG7
5AM8 6AM8		9ED	9FE 5BT8	5FG7 5GS7
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A	DY87 9DW 5AT8	9ED 6AZ8	9FE 5BT8	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8	9ED 6AZ8 9EF	5BT8 9FG	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8A
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ	DY87 9DW 5AT8	9ED 6AZ8	5BT8 9FG 3BU8/3GS8	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8A 6FG7
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8	DY87 SDW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9DX	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7	5BT8 9F G 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8A 6FG7 6GS7
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA	DY87 9 DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9 DX 6AU8	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9EG	5BT8 9FG 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8A 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8	DY87 9 DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9 DX 6AU8 6AU8A	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7	5BT8 9FG 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8A 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8	DY87 9 DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9 DX 6AU8	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9EC 5BE8 5DH8	5BT8 9FG 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4MK8	5FG7 5GS7 5L18 6CG8 6CG8A 6FG7 6GS7 6L18 7GS7 9GK
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9DX 6AU8 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AW8A 6AW8A 6AW8A 6BA8A	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9EG 5BE8 5DH8 9EN	5BT8 5BT8 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4HS8 4MK8 6BU8	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8A 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8 6AN8A 10C8 12CT8	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9DX 6AU8 6AU8A 6AW8 6AW8 6AW8 6BA8A 6BA8A 6B48	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9EC 5BE8 5DH8	5BT8 5BT8 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4HS8 4HS8 6BU8 6BU8 6HS8	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8A 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9KX6
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8 6AN8 6AN8A 10C8 12CT8 7060	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9DX 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AW8A 6AW8A 6BA8A 6BH8 6BH8 6CX8	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9E6 5BE8 5DH8 9EN 6CN7 8CN7	5BT8 5BT8 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4HS8 4MK8 6BU8	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8A 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9KX6 9LA6
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8 6AN8A 10C8 12CT8	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9DX 6AU8 6AU8A 6AW8 6AW8 6AW8 6BA8A 6BA8A 6B48	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9EG 5BE8 5DH8 9EN 6CN7 8CN7 9EP	5BT8 3BU8/3GS8 3BU8/3GS8 4BU8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4HS8 4MK8 6BU8 6HS8 6HS8 6MK8	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8A 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9LA6 10GK6
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8 6AN8A 10C8 12CT8 7060 7258 9DC	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9DX 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AW8A 6AW8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BH8 6CX8 6EB8 6CX8 6EB8 6CN8 66N8 66N8 66H78	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9E6 5BE8 5DH8 9EN 6CN7 8CN7	5BT8 5BT8 9F6 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4MK8 6BU8 6HS8 6HS8 6MK8 6MK8A 9FH	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8A 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9KX6 9LA6
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8 6AN8 6AN8 6AN8 10C8 12CT8 7060 7258 9DC 4BL8	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9DX 6AU8 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AW8A 6AW8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8 6BA8	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9E6 5BE8 5DH8 9EN 6CN7 8CN7 9EP 7058 7898	5BT8 9FG 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4HS8 4MK8 6BU8 6HS8 6MK8 6MK8 6MK8A	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8A 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9KX6 9LA6 10GK6 16GK6 16GK6 7054 8077/7054
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8A 6AN8A 10C8 12CT8 7060 7258 9DC 4BL8 4BL8/XCF80	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AU8 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AW8 6AW8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BA8A 6BH8 6CX8 6EB8 6CX8 6EB8 6GN8 6HZ8 6HZ8 6HZ8	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9EG 5BE8 5DH8 9EN 6CN7 8CN7 9EP 7058 7898 9EQ	5BT8 9F6 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4HS8 4HS8 4HS8 6BU8 6BU8 6HS8 6HS8 6MK8 6MK8 9FH 12F8	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9KX6 9LA6 10GK6 10GK6 10GK6 7054
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8 6AN8 6AN8 6AN8 10C8 12CT8 7060 7258 9DC 4BL8	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9DX 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AW8A 6AW8A 6BH8 6CX8 6BH8 6CX8 6EB8 6GN8 6EB8 6GN8 6HF8 6JE8 6JE8 6JE8 6JE8 6JE8 6JE8 6JE8	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9EG 5BE8 5DH8 9EN 6CN7 8CN7 9EP 7058 7898 9EQ 6688A	5BT8 5BT8 9F6 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4MK8 6BU8 6HS8 6HS8 6MK8 6MK8A 9FH	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8A 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9KX6 9LA6 10GK6 16GK6 16GK6 7054 8077/7054
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8 6AN8 6AN8A 10C8 12CT8 7060 7258 9DC 4BL8 4BL8/XCF80 4KE8 5JW8 5KE8	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AU8 6BH8 6GN8 6HF8 6HF8 6HF8 6JF8 6	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9E6 5BE8 5DH8 9EN 6CN7 8CN7 9EP 7058 7898 9EQ 6688A 9ER	5BT8 9FG 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4HS8 4HS8 4HS8 6BU8 6HS	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9LA6 10GK6 10GK6 16GK6 16GK6 7054 8077/7054 PCL800
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8A 6AN8A 10C8 12CT8 7060 7258 9DC 4BL8 4BL8/XCF80 4KE8 5JW8 5JW8 5KE8 6BL8	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AU8 6AU8 6AU8 6AU8 6AU8 6AU8 6AU8 6AW8 6AW8 6BH8 6CX8 6CX8 C	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9EG 5DH8 9EN 6CN7 8CN7 9EP 7058 7898 9EQ 6688A 9ER 6BJ8	5BT8 9F6 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8/4GS8 4BU8/4GS8 4MK8 6BU8 6HS8 6MK8 6MK8A 9FH 12F8 9FJ 6BV8 9FK	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9LA6 10GK6 16GK6 16GK6 16GK6 7054 8077/7054 PCL800 9GM 6CU8
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8A 10C8 12CT8 7060 7258 9DC 4BL8 4BL8/XCF80 4KE8 5JW8 5KE8 6BL8/ECF80	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AU8 6BH8 6GN8 6HF8 6HF8 6HF8 6JF8 6	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9EG 5BE8 5DH8 9EN 6CN7 8CN7 9EP 7058 7898 9EQ 6688A 9ER 6BJ8 6BJ8	5BT8 9FG 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4HS8 4HS8 4HS8 6HS8 6HS8 6HS8 6HS8 6HS8 6HK8A 9FH 12F8 9FJ 6BV8	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9LA6 10GK6 10GK6 10GK6 10GK6 10GK6 7054 8077/7054 PCL800
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8A 6AN8A 10C8 12CT8 7060 7258 9DC 4BL8 4BL8/XCF80 4KE8 5JW8 5JW8 5KE8 6BL8	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9DX 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AU8A 6BH8 6AW8A 6BH8 6CX8 6EB8 6GN8 6HF8 6HF8 6JE8	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9E6 5BE8 5DH8 9EN 6CN7 8CN7 9EP 7058 7898 9EQ 6688A 9ER 6BJ8 6BN8 8BN8	5BT8 9F6 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4HS8 4HS8 6BU8 6BU8 6HS8 6BU8 6HS8 6MK8 6MK8 9FH 12F8 9FJ 6BV8 9FK 17H3	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9LA6 10GK6 10GK6 16GK6 16GK6 7054 8077/7054 PCL800 9GM 6CU8 9GR
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8A 6AN8A 10C8 12CT8 7060 7258 9DC 4BL8 4BL8/XCF80 4KE8 5JW8 5K88 6BL8/ECF80 6JW8/ECF802 6K88 6L8	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AU8 6AU8 6AU8 6AU8 6AW8 6AW8 6AW8 6BH8 6CX8 6BH8 6CX8 6BH8 6CX8 6BH8 6CX8 6HF8 6JF8 6JF8 6LB8 6LB8 6LB8 6LB8 6LB8 6LP8 6L98 6L98 6L98 6L98	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9EG 5DH8 9EN 6CN7 8CN7 9EP 7058 7898 9EQ 6688A 9EQ 6688A 9ER 6BJ8 6BN8 8BN8	5BT8 9FG 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4HS8 4HS8 6BU8 6HS8 6HS8 6MK8A 9FH 12F8 9FJ 6BV8 9FK 17H3 9FN	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9LA6 10GK6 16GK6 16GK6 16GK6 16GK6 7054 8077/7054 PCL800 9GM 6CU8 9GR 6DB5 12DB5
5AM8 6AM8 6AM8 6AM8A 6HJ8 9CZ 6350 9DA 5AN8 6AN8 6AN8 6AN8 6AN8 10C8 12CT8 7060 7258 9DC 4BL8 4BL8/XCF80 4KE8 5JW8 5KE8 6BL8/ECF80 6JW8/ECF802 6KE8	DY87 9DW 5AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8 6AT8A 9DX 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AU8A 6BH8 6AW8A 6BH8 6CX8 6EB8 6GN8 6HF8 6HF8 6JE8	9ED 6AZ8 9EF 6CS7 8CS7 9E6 5BE8 5DH8 9EN 6CN7 8CN7 9EP 7058 7898 9EQ 6688A 9ER 6BJ8 6BN8 8BN8	5BT8 9F6 3BU8/3GS8 3HS8 4BU8 4BU8/4GS8 4HS8 4HS8 4HS8 6BU8 6BU8 6HS8 6BU8 6HS8 6MK8 6MK8 9FH 12F8 9FJ 6BV8 9FK 17H3	5FG7 5GS7 5LJ8 6CG8 6CG8 6FG7 6GS7 6LJ8 7GS7 9GK 6GK6 7KY6 9LA6 10GK6 10GK6 10GK6 10GK6 10GK6 10GK6 10GK6 10GK6 9LA6 9LA6 9LA6 9LA6 9LA6 9LA6 9LA6 9CH 8077/7054 PCL800 9GM 6CU8 9GR 6DB5

9K	9HP	9KR	9LY	9NZ
5687	17AY3	14JG8 7724/14CT9	10GV8/LCL85 11MS8	6GT5 6GT5A
7044	17AY3A 17BH3	7724/14GT8	18GV8/PCL85	12GT5
9HE	17BS3	9KS	19KG8	12GT5A
6DC8	17BS3A/17DW4A	7360	ECL85	17GT5
6DC8/EBF89	17CK3 17DW4A	9KT	LCL85 PCL85	17GT5A 7868
EBF85 EBF89	22BH3	JKI	XCL85	
20100	22BH3A	12FQ8		SPA
9HF	25CK3	AV.11	9LZ	6JC8
6DE7 6DR7	9HR	9KU 12FR8	6GW8/ECL86 ECL86	9PB
6EW7	12DL8	121 10	LOLOG	7905
6FD7	12008	9KV	9M	9PG
9RAL1	A 1117	12FX8	6CA4	20EZ7
10DE7 10DR7	9HV 12ENG	12FX8A	EZ4 U709	9PL
10EW7	12EM6	9LG	ŬŬ12	8106
13DE7	9HX	6CY7		
13DR7	6DX8	11CY7	9MB 6GY8	9PM 3JC6
13FD7	6DX8/ECL84 10DX8	91.K	0010	3JC6A
9HG	10DX8/LCL84	7551	9MP	3JD6
12DE8	15DQ8/PCL84	7558	5HG8	3KT6
	ECL84		5HG8/LCF86 6HG8	4HM6 4HT6
9HK	LCL84	9LP 6CG7	6HG8/ECF86	4JC6A
5BW8 6BW8	9HZ	6EV7	7HG8	4 ID6
UDWO	12DK7	6FQ7	7HG8/PCF86	4KT6
9HL		6FQ7/6CG7	ECF86	6HM6 6JC6A
6939	9JD	6GU7 8CG7	LCF86 PCF86	6106
	12DY8	8FQ7	10100	6KT6
9HN	9JE	8FQ7/8CG7	9MQ	000
5CZ5	35DZ8	8GU7	6GM5	9 PQ 6JU8
6CZ5 6DT5	015	12FQ7	9MR	6JU8A
6EM5	9)F 5EU8	910	6FA7	8JU8A
8EM5	6EU8	6EQ7	A 1/1-	9PV
12DT5		6KL8	9NH 6GB5	6KA8
9HP	9JG	12EQ7 12KL8	6GB5/EL500	8KA8
6AY3	6EH8	20EQ7	13GB5	9PX
6AY3B	9JT		13GB5/XL500	7695
6BA3	7199	9LS	17BB14 18GB5/LL500	9PZ
6BH3 6BH3A	910	6EU7	27GB5/PL500	8233
6BS3	12DS7	9LT	EL500	9QA
68S3A	12DS7A	6ET7	LL500	4GJ7/XCF801
6CH3		6KU8	PL500 XL500	4GX7
6CJ3/6CH3 6CK3	9K	8ET7 10ku8	ALJUU	5GJ7/LCF801
6CL3	5763 6417	10000	9NJ	5GX7 5HB7
6CL3/6CK3		9LW	6HU8/ELL80	6GJ7
6CM3	9KA	3GS8/3BU8	9NK	6GJ7/ECF801
6DN3 6DW4	6EZ8	3GS8 4GS8	7788	6GX7
6DW4B	19EZ8	4638 4GS8/4BU8	9NW	6HB7 6HD7
12AY3	9KP		6HA6	8GJ7
12AY3A	6FH8	9LY	6HB6/6HA6	8GJ7/PCF801
12BS3	ako	6GV8		ECF801
12BS3A/12DW4A 12CL3	9KR 6FM8	6GV8/ECL85 9GV8	9NY 6DL4/EC88	LCF801 PCF801
12DW4A	14GT8	9GV8/XCL85	EC88	XCF801
				····

9QD	907	9RT	1240	12CA
6GF7	21LR8	2BJ2	7586	6M11
6GF7A 10GF7	31LR8	2BJ2A	7895 8056	165X11
10GF7A	900	9RU	8203	12 C T
13GF7 13GF7A	6JG6 6JG6A	6ME8	8393 8628	8058 8627
	6JR6	9RX		
90G 6KM8	6JT6 6JT6A	12CT3 17CT3	12AS 7587	1 2DA 6AG11
UNING	6KV6	25CT3		6AY11
9 QJ 5BC3	6KV6A 12JT6	9SB	12BF 6B10	12DG
5BC3A	12JT6A	25HX5	8B10	2AH2
007	17JG6	9SG	12BJ	1004
9 QK 6GJ5	17JG6A 17JT6	6DK3	6GE5	12DM 6AR11
6GJ5A	17JT6A	011	6GF5	8AR11
12GJ5 12GJ5A	17KV6A 22JG6	9U 1V2	6HB5 12GE5	8BQ11 8CB11
17GJ5	22J36A	2AV2	17GE5	11AR11
17GJ5A	22JR6 22KV6A	9V	21HB5 21HB5A	11BQ11 16BQ11
9QL	33JR6	5842/417A		TODATT
6JB6 6JB6A	9Q.Y	0 Y	12BL 6AX3	12DP
6JE6	6LC8	9X 5847/404A	6BJ3	6AF11 6AS11
6JE6A 6JF6	8LC8	• • • •	12AX3 12BT3	6BD11
6JU6	9QZ	9Y 1AX2	17AX3	15AF11 15BD11
6KM6 6LQ6/6JE6B	6LE8 10LE8	1 X2A	12BM	15BD11A
6LQ6/6JE6C	15LE8	1X2B/1X2A 1X2C	6FJ7	12DR
6LZ6 6ME6	004	DY80	12BQ	6GV5
6MJ6/6LQ6/	9RA 6JQ6	R-19	6C10	6GY5 16GY5
6JE6C 12JB6	12,06	10F	6D10 ECH42	17GV5
12JB6A	17JQ6	609	X150	21 GY5
17JB6 17JB6A	9RF	17C9		12DZ
17JF6	9KC6	10K	1 2BT 6J10	6JZ8
22JF6 22JU6	9RG 1BC2	5U9/LCF201 6U9/ECF201	6Z10/6J10	6LU8 6MF8
22KM6	1BC2A	6X9/ECF200	10Z10 13J10	13JZ8
24JE6A	1BH2 1BH2A	ECF200 ECF201	13Z10	15MF8 16LU8A
24LQ6/24JE6C 24LZ6		LCF201	13Z10/13J10 17AB10/17X10	17JZ8
31LQ6	9RJ 6KG6A/EL509	101	17X10	21LU8 23JZ8
31LZ6 36MC6	21KQ6	1 0L 6AF9		24JZ8
9QM	29KQ6/PL521 29LE6	SY9/EFL200	12BU 6AL11	25JZ8
6GQ7	40KG6A/PL509	11AF9 11Y9	6G11	1 2EA
19GQ7	EL509 PL509	11Y9/LFL200	10AL11 12AL11	2DV4
90P	PL509 PL521	17Y9 LFL200	120111	6DV4
6KT8	9RL		12BW	12EJ
9QT	6LT8	12AQ	6J11	6FM7 13FM7
6KY8 6KY8A	8LT8 11LT8	2CW4 2DS4	1 2BY	13FM7/15FM7
6LR8		2EG4	6AV11	15FM7
15KY8 15KY8A	9RQ 6MD8	6CW4 6DS4	6K11 6K11/6Q11	1 2EO
17LD8	12MD8	13CW4	6Q11	6FY7

12E0	12FK	12FY	126Y	12HU
11FY7	6JN6	30MB6	6HV5A	6MN8
15FY7	12JN6	31JS6A	6HZ5	9MN8
12ER	17JN6 21/V6	31JS6C	6HZ5/6JD5	12HW
6BA11	211V6 33JV6	35LR6	12GZ	11CF11
8BA11	22140	12 GA	16AK9	
	12FL	6BE3/6BZ3	2329	12HX
12ES	6HJ5	12BE3	LULU	19DE3
12HE7	21HJ5	17BE3/17BZ3	12HA	12HY
12EV			3AW2	3BS2A
6JB5/6HE5	12FM	12GC	3AW2A	3BT2
	619	14BL11	1000	3BW2
12EW		12GD	12HB	3BW2/3BS2A/
2AS2	12FN	6JZ6	6BV11 12BV11	3BT2
2AS2A	33GY7	21JZ6	120411	12JA
12EY	33GY7A	30,126	12HC	26LX6
6HE5	50GY7A	30720	6EJ4A	LULAU
6JA5	12FP	12GF		12JB
6JB5	6BH11	6BN11	12HD	2BU2
10JA8	8BU11	8BN11	6BW11	2BU2/2AH2
12EZ	00011		4.5.4.5	12JE
6AD10	12FQ	12GH	12HE	6JH5
68F11	4HA7	21KA6	6AG9	
6BY11	4HA7/4HC7	12GJ	8AL9	12JH
6T10	5HA7	6LB6	12HF	12JF5
10T10		0LD0	6BW3	17 HB2 5
12AE10	12FR	12GK	6CD3	17HB25
12BF11	4HC7	34CE3	6CE3	
12T10		01000	6CG3/6CE3/	407A
13V10	12FS	12 6L	6CD3/6BW3	407 A
17BF11 18AJ10	38HE7	14BR11	19CG3	991
248F11	38HK7 53HK7		25CG3	991
	33HW	12GS	12HG	
12FA	12FU	11BT11 11CH11	6M/8	5642
6EA4	8BM11	110011	01110	5642
6EH4A	9BJ11	12GU	12HJ	5672
6EH7		6KN6	6AH9	5672
12FB	12FV	42KN6	9AH9	
6HF5	3AT2		12HX	5678
	3AT2B	12GV	3BL2	5678
12FC	3BN2	1AD2	3BL2A	5734
33GT7	3BN2A	1AD2A	3BM2	5734
12FE	1054	12GW		5783
6AC10	12FX 17BW3	6KD6	12HL	5783
6AK10	17BZ3	6LF6	21LG6	
6U10	22BW3	20LF6	21LG6A	6360A
8AC10	220110	30KD6	12HN	6360A
9AK10	12FY	36KD6	11CA11	6977
9AM10 12AC10A	6JS6	36KD6/40KD6		6977
IZAUIUA	6JS6A	40KD6	12HR	8808
12FJ	6JS6C		31AL10	8808
6JM6	6LR6	12 GY	1207	8950
6JM6A	21JS6A	6HS5	12HT 32HQ7	8950
17JM6A	23JS6A	6HV5	JLING	0000

II. TYPE NUMBER vs. TERMINAL DIAGRAM DESIGNATION

Type No.	Termina Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	l Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Termina! Diagram
1A3 1A4P 1A5GT 1A6 1A7GT 1AC5	5AP 4M 6X 6L 7Z 8CP	1LA4 1LA6 1LB4 1LC5 1LC6 1LD5	5AD 7AK 5AD 7AQ 7AK 6AX	2CY5 2D21 2DS4 2DV4 2DZ4 2E5	7EW 7BN 12AQ 12EA 7DK 6R	3BT2 3BU8/ 3GS8 3BW2 3BW2/ 3BS2/	12HY 9FG 12HY	3KT6 3LF4 3Q4 3Q5GT 3S4 3V4	9PM 6BA 7BA 7AP 7BA 6BX
1AD2 1AD2A 1AD5 1AX2	12GV 12GV 8CP 9Y	1LE3 1LG5 1LH4 1LN5	4AA 7A0 5AG 7A0	2EG4 2EN5 2ER5 2FH5	12AQ 7FL 7FP 7FP	3BT2 3BY6 3BZ6 3CA3	12HY 7Ch 7CM 8Mh	4AU6 4AV6 4BC5 4BC8	7BK 7BT 7BD 9AJ
1AY2 1AY2A 1B3GT 1B4P 1B5/25S 1B7GT 1BC2 1BC2A 1BH2A 1BH2A	1AY2 1AY2 3C 4M 6M 7Z 9RG 9RG 9RG 9RG	1N2A 1N5GT 1N6G 1P5GT 1Q5GT 1R5 1RK23 1S2A/ DY87 1S4	3C 5Y 7AM 5Y 6AF 7AT 9DT 9DT 7AV	2FQ5A 2FS5 2GK5/ 2FQ5A 2GU5 2HA5 2HQ5 2HQ5 2T4 3A2 3A2A	7FP 7GA 7GA 7GM 7GM 5T 9DT 9DT	3CA3A 3CB6/ 3CF5 3CF6 3CN3A 3CN3B 3CS6 3CU3A 3CX3	8MH 7CM 7BD 7CM 8MU 8MU 7CH 8MK 8MK 8MT	4BL8 4BL8/ XCE80 4BN6 4BQ7A 4BQ7A/ 4BZ7 4BS8 4BU8	9DC 9DC 7DF 9AJ 9AJ 9FG
1C5GT 1C6 1C7G 1C21 1D5GP 1D5GT 1D7G 1D8GT 1DG3 1DG3A	6X 6L 7Z 4V 5Y 5R 7Z 8AJ 8ND 8ND	1\$5 1T4 1T5GT 1T6 1U4 1U5 1V 1V2 1X2A	6AU 6AR 6X 8DA 6AR 6BW 4G 9U 9Y	3A3 3A3/3B2 3A3A/ 3B2 3A3B 3A3C 3A4 3A5 3A8GT 3A8GT 3AF4A	8EZ 8EZ 8EZ 8EZ 7BB 7BC 8AS 7DK	3CY5 3CZ3 3DB3 3DB3/ 3CY3 3DC3 3DC3 3DF3 3DG4 3DJ3	7EW 8EZ 8EZ 8MX 8MX 8MZ 8MT 5DE 8MX	4BU8/ 4GS8 4BZ6 4BZ7 4CB6 4CS6 4CY5 4DF6 4DK6 4DT6	9FG 7CM 9AJ 7CM 7CH 7EW 7CM 7CM 7CM
1DN5 1E5GP 1E7GT 1E8 1F4 1F5G 1F6 1F7G 1G3GT/ 1B3GT	6BW 5Y 8C 8CN 5K 6X 6X 7AF 3C	1X2B/ 1X2A 1X2C 2A3 2A5 2A6 2A7 2AF4A/ 2AF4B	9Y 9Y 4D 6B 6G 7C 7DK	3AF4A/ 3DZ4 3AL5 3AT2 3AT2B 3AU6 3AV6 3AW2 3AW2A 3AW2A 3AW3	7DK 6BT 12FV 12FV 7BK 7BT 12HA 12HA 8EZ	3DK6 3DT6 3DT6A 3DZ4 3EA5 3EH7 3EH7/ XF183 3EJ7	7CM 7EN 7DN 7DK 7EW 9AQ 9AQ 9AQ	4DT6A 4EH7/ LF183 4EJ7/ LF184 4ES8/ XCC189 4EW6 4GJ7/ XCE801	7CM
1636TA/ 1836T 1646T 1656 1666T 1H46 1H56T 1H66 1J3 1J56	3C 5S 6X 7AB 5S 5Z 7AA 3C 6X	2AF4B/ 2DZ4 2AH2 2AS2 2AS2A 2AV2 2B7 2BJ2 2BJ2A 2BJ2A 2BN4	7DK 12DG 12EW 12EW 9U 7D 9RT 9RT 7EG	3B2 3B4WA 3BA6 3BC5 3BC5/ 3CE5 3BE6 3BL2 3BL2A 3BL2A 3BM2	8GH 7CY 7BK 7BD 7BD 7CH 12HK 12HK 12HK	3EJ7/ XF184 3ER5 3FH5 3FS5 3GK5 3GS8/ 3BU8 3GS8	9AQ 7FP 7GA 7FP 9LW 9LW	4GK5 4GM6 4GS8 4GS8/ 4BU8 4GX7 4GZ5 4HA5 4HA5/ PC900	7FP 7CM 9LW 9QA 7CV 7GM
1J6G 1J6GT 1K3/1J3 1K3A/1J3 1L4 1L6	7AB 7AB 3C 3C 6AR 7DC	2BN4A 2BU2 2BU2/ 2AH2 2CN3A 2CW4	7EG 12JB 12JB 8MU 12AQ	3BN2 3BN2A 3BN4 3BN4A 3BN6 3BS2A	12FV 12FV 7EG 7EG 7DF 12HY	3HM5/ 3HA5 3HQ5 3HS8 3JC6 3JC6A	7GM 7GM 9EG 9PM 9PM	4HA7 4HA7/ 4HC7 4HC7 4HM6 4HQ5	12FQ 12FQ 12FR 9PM 7GM

Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type Na.	Terminal Diagram	Type Na.	Terminal Diagram
4HS8 4JC6A 4JD6 4JH6 4KF8 4KF8 4KN8/ 4RHH8	9FG 9PM 9PM 7CM 9DC 9AJ	5HG8 5HG8/ LCF86 5HZ6 5J6 5JK6 5JL6	9MP 9MP 7EN 7BF 7CM 7CM	6AE6G 6AE7GT 6AF3 6AF4 6AF4A 6AF6G 6AF9	7AH 7AX 9CB 7DK 7DK 7AG 10L	6AU6A 6AU6WB 6AU7 6AU8 6AU8A 6AU8A 6AV5GA 6AV5GT	7BK 7BK 9A 9DX 9DX 6CK 6CK	6BJ3 6BJ6 6BJ7 6BJ8 6BK4 6BK4A 6BK4B	12BL 7CM 9AX 9ER 8GC 8GC 8GC 8GC
4KT6 4LJ8 4LU6	9PM 9GF 7CM	5JW8 5KD8 5KE8	9DC 9AE 9DC	6AF11 6AG4Y 6AG5	12DP 8Y 7BD	6AV6 6AV11 6AW8	78T 12BY 9DX	6BK4C/ 6EL4A 6BK5	8GC 9BQ
4RHH2 4RHH8 5AN8 5AN8 5AQ5 5AR4/ GZ34 5AS4 5AS4A 5AS4A	9AJ 9DE 9CY 9DA 7BZ 5DA 5T 5T	5KZ8 5LJ8 5M88 5MHH3 5R4GYB 5T8 5U4G 5U4GB 5H47 5H47	9FZ 9GF 9FA 7BF 5T 9E 5T 5T 12FQ	6AG7 6AG9 6AG11 6AH4GT 6AH6 6AH6 6AH9 6AK5/ EF95 6AK5/	8Y 12HE 12DA 8EL 7BK 12HJ 7BD	6AW8A 6AX3 6AX4GT 6AX4GTB 6AX5GT 6AX8 6AY3 6AY38 6AY31 6AY11	9DX 12BL 4CG 4CG 9AE 9HP 9HP 12DA	6BK7A 6BK7B 6BL4 6BL7GT 6BL7GTA 6BL8 6BL8/ ECF80 6BM8/	9AJ 9AJ 8GB 8BD 8BD 9DC 9DC
5AS8 5AU4 5AV8 5AV8 5AZ4 5B8 5BC3 5BC3A 5BE8 5BK7A	9DS 5T 9DZ 5T 5T 9EC 9QJ 9QJ 9EG 9AJ	5U8 5U9/ LCF201 5V3 5V3A/ 5V4G 5V4GA 5V4GA 5V6GT 5W4 5W4GT	9AE 10K 5T 5L 5L 5L 7AC 5T 5T	6AK6 6AK8/ EABC80 6AK10 6AL3 6AL3/ EY88 6AL5 6AL7GT 6AL11 6AM4	7BK 9E 12FE 9CB 9CB 6BT 8CH 12BU 9BX	6AZ8 6B5 6B6G 6B7 6B7 6B8 6B88 6B86 6B10 6BA3	9ED 5S 6AS 7V 7D 7D 8E 8E 12BF 9HP	ECL82 6BN4 6BN6/ 6KS6 6BN8 6BN11 6BQ5/ EL84 6BQ6GT	9EX 7EG 7DF 9ER 12GF 9CV 6AM
5BQ7A 5BR8 5BR8/ 5FV8 5BT8 5BW8 5CB8 5CL8 5CL8 5CL8A 5CQ8	9AJ 9FA 9FE 9HK 9GF 9FX 9FX 9FX 9GE	5X4G 5X8 5Y3G 5Y3GT 5Y4G 5Y4GA 5Y4GT 5Z3 5Z4 6A3	5Q 9AK 5T 5T 5Q 5Q 5Q 4C 5T 4D	6AM8 6AM8A 6AN4 6AN5 6AN8 6AN8A 6AQ5 6AQ5A 6AQ6 6AQ7GT	9CY 9CY 7DK 7BD 9DA 9DA 7BZ 7BZ 7BT 8CK	6BA6/ EF93 6BA7 6BA8A 6BA11 6BC4 6BC5/ 6CE5 6BC7	7BK 8CT 9DX 12ER 9DR 7BD 9AX	6BQ6GTB, 6CU6 6BQ7 6BQ7A/ 6BZ7/ 6BS8 6BR3/ 6RK19 6BR8 6BR8A	AM 9AJ 9AJ 9AJ 9CB 9FA 9FA
5CZ5 5DH8 5DJ4 5EA8 5ES8/ YCC185 5EU8 5EW6 5FG7 5FV8	9HN 9EG 8KS 9AE 9JF 7CM 9GF 9FA	6A6 6A7 6A7S 6A8 6A8G 6A8GT 6A84 6A85/ 6N5 6A87	7B 7C 7C 8A 8A 8A 5CE 6R 8N	6AQ8 6AQ8/ ECC85 6AR5 6AR8 6AR11 6AS5 6AS5 6AS6 6AS7G 6AS8	9AJ 6CC 9DP 12DM 7CV 7CM 8BD 9DS	6BC8/ 6BZ8 6BD4 6BD4A 6BD6 6BD11 6BE3/ 6BZ3 6BE6 6BF5	9AJ 8FU 8FU 7BK 12DP 12GA 7CH 7BZ	6BS3 6BS3A 6BS8 6BU8 6BV8 6BV11 6BW3 6BW4 6BW8 6BW8 6BW11	9HP 9HP 9AJ 9FG 9FS 12HB 12HF 9DJ 9HK 12HD
5GH8A 5GJ7/ LCF801 5GM6 5GS7 5GX6 5GX7 5HB7	9AE 9QA 7CM 9GF 7EN 9QA 9QA	6AC5GT 6AC7 6AC7W 6AC10 6AD6G 6AD7G 6AD10 6AE5GT	6Q 8N 12FE 7AG 8AY 12EZ 8Q	6AS11 6AT6 6AT8 6AT8A 6AU4GT 6AU4GTA 6AU5GT 6AU6	12DP 7BT 9DW 9DW 4CG 4CG 6CK 7BK	6BF6 6BF11 6BG6G 6BH3 6BH3A 6BH6 6BH8 6BH11	7BT 12EZ 5BT 9HP 9HP 7CM 9DX 12FP	6BX7GT 6BY5GA 6BY6 6BY8 6BY11 6BZ6 6BZ7 6BZ8	8BD 6CN 7CH 9FN 12EZ 7CM 9AJ 9AJ

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type Na.	Terminal Diagram	Type Ne.	Terminal Diagram
6C4 6C5 6C5GT 6C6 6C7 6C8G 6C9 6C10 6C10 6CA4	6BG 6Q 6F 7G 8G 10F 12BQ 9M	6CX8 6CY5 6CY7 6CZ5 6CZ7 6D4 6D6 6D7 6D8G	9DX 7EW 9LG 9HN 8ET 5AY 6F 7H 8A	6EA8 6EB8 6EC4/ EY500 6EH4A 6EH5 6EH7 6EH7/ EF183	9AE 9DX 6EC4 12FA 7CV 12FA 9AQ	6FS5 6FV6 6FV8 6FV8A 6FW5 6FY5/ EC97 6FY7 6G6G	7GA 7FQ 9FA 9FA 6CK 7FP 12E0 7S	6GY6/ 6GX6 6GY8 6GZ5 6H6 6H6GT 6HA5 6HA6 6HB5	7EN 9MB 7Cy 7Q 7GM 9NW 12BJ
6CA5 6CA7/ EL34 6CB5 6CB5A 6CB6A/ 6CF6 6CD3 6CD6G 6CD6GA 6CE3	7CV 8ET 8GD 8GD 7CM 12HF 5BT 5BT 12HF	6D10 6DA4 6DB5 6DC6 6DC8 6DC8/ EBF89 6DE4 6DE6 6DE7 6DG6GT	12BQ 4CG 9GR 7CM 9HE 4CG 7CM 9HF 7S	6EH8 6EJ4A 6EJ7 6EJ7 6EL4 6EL4 6EM5 6EM7/ 6EA7 6EN4 6EQ7	9JG 12HC 9AQ 8GC 9HN 8BD 8NJ 9LQ	6G11 6GB3A 6GB5 6GB5/ EL500 6GB6 6GB7 6GC5 6GE5 6GF5 6GF7	12BU 6AM 9NH 6AM 6AM 9EU 12BJ 12BJ 9QD	6HB6/ 6HA6 6HB7 6HE5 6HF5 6HF8 6HG5 6HG8 6HG8/ ECF86 6HJ5	9NW 9QA 12EY 12FB 9DX 78Z 9MP 9MP 12FL
6CE5 6CF6 6CG3/ 6CE3/ 6CD3/ 6BW3 6CG7 6CG8 6CG8 6CG8A 6CH3	7BD 7CM 12HF 9LP 9GF 9GF 9HP	6DJ8/ ECC88 6DK3 6DK6 6DL4/ EC88 6DL5 6DL5/ EL95 6DM4A	9AJ 9SG 7CM 9NY 7DQ 7DQ 4CG	6ER5 6ES5 6ES8/ ECC185 6ET7 6EU7 6EU8 6EV5 6EV7 6EW6	7FP 7FP 9AJ 9LT 9LS 9JF 7EW 9LP 7CM	6GF7A 6GH8 6GH8A 6GJ5 6GJ5A 6GJ7 6GJ7/ ECF801 6GJ8	9QD 9AE 9AE 9QK 9QK 9QA 9QA 9QA	6HJ8 6HK5 6HL8 6HM5/ 6HA5 6HM6 6HQ5 6HR5 6HR6 6HS5	9CY 7GM 9AE 7GM 7GM 7BZ 7BK 12GY
6CH8 6CJ3/ 6CH3 6CK4 6CK4 6CL3 6CL3/ 6CL3/ 6CK3 6CL6 6CL8	9FT 9HP 9HP 8J8 9HP 9HP 9BV 9BV 9FX	6DN3 6DN6 6DN7 6DQ5 6DQ6A 6DQ6B 6DR7 6DS4 6DS5 6DT5	9HP 5BT 8BD 8JC 6AM 9HF 12AQ 7BZ 9HN	6EW7 6EX6 6EY6 6EZ5 6EZ8 6F4 6F5 6F5 6F5 6F6 6F6 6F6G	9HF 5BT 7AC 7AC 9KA 7BR 5M 5M 7S 7S 7S	6GK5/ 6FQ5A 6GK6 6GK17 6GL7 6GM5 6GM6 6GN8 6GQ7 6GS7	7FP 9GK 4CG 8BD 9MQ 7CM 9DX 9QM 9GF	6HS6 6HS8 6HU6/ EM87 6HU8/ 6HU8/ 6HV5 6HV5A 6HZ5	7BK 9FG 9GA 9NJ 12GY 12GY 12GY
6CL8A 6CM3 6CM6 6CM7 6CM8 6CN7 6CQ4 6CQ4 6CQ8 6CQ8 6CR6 6CS6 6CS7	9FX 9HP 9CK 9ES 9FZ 9FN 4CG 9GE 7EA 7CH 9EF	6DT6 6DT6A 6DT8 6DV4 6DW4 6DW4B 6DW5 6DX8 6DX8 6DX8/ ECL84 6DZ4	7EN 7EN 9AJ 12EA 9HP 9HP 9CK 9HX 9HX 7DK	6F6GT 6F7 6F8G 6FA7 6FD7 6FE5 6FG6/ EM84 6FG7 6FH5 6FH8	7S 7E 8G 9MR 9HF 8KB 9GA 9GF 7FP 9KP	6GT5 6GT5A 6GU5 6GU7 6GV5 6GV8 6GV8/ ECL85 6GW6 6GW6/ 6DQ6B	9NZ 9NZ 7GA 9LP 12DR 9LY 9LY 6AM 6AM	6HZ5/ 6JD5 6HZ6 6HZ8 6J4 6J5 6J5 6J5 6J6 6J6 6J6 6J6 6J6 8J6 8J7	12GY 7EN 9DX 7BQ 6Q 6Q 7BF 7BF 7BF 7BF
6CU5 6CU6 6CU8 6CW4 6CW5 6CW5/ EL86	7CV 6AM 9GM 12AQ 9CV 9CV	6DZ7 6E5 6E6 6E7 6EA4 6EA5 6EA7	8JP 6R 7B 7H 12FA 7EW 8BD	6FJ7 6FM7 6FM8 6FQ5A 6FQ7 6FQ7/ 6FQ7/	128M 12EJ 9KR 7FP 9LP 9LP	6GW8/ ECL86 6GX6 6GX7 6GY5 6GY6	9LZ 7EN 9QA 12DR 7EN	6J7G 6J7GT 6J8G 6J10 6J11 6JB5/ 6HE5	7R 7R 8H 12BT 12BW 12EV

Type Na.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram
6JB6 6JB6A 6JC6A 6JC8 6JC6 6JE6 6JE6 6JE6 6JE8 6JF6 6JG6	9QL 9QL 9PM 9PM 9QL 9QL 9QL 9QL 9QU	6KN8/ 6RHH8 6KR8 6KS6 6KT6 6KT8 6KU8 6KV6 6KV6 6KV6A 6KV8	8 9AJ 9DX 6DF 9PM 9QP 9LT 9QU 9QU 9DX	6MK8A 6MN8 6MQ8 6MU8 6MV8 6N6G 6N7 6N7GT 6P5GT 6P5GT	9FG 12HU 9AE 9DX 7AU 8B 8B 6Q 7U	6U8A/ 6KD8 6U9/ 6U10 6V3A 6V6 6V6GT 6V6GTA 6V7G	9AE 10K 12FE 9BD 7AC 7AC 7AC 7V	7L7 7N7 7Q7 7R7 7S7 7V7 7V7 7X7 7Y4 7Z4 8A8	8V 8AC 8AL 8BL 8BL 8V 8BZ 5AB 5AB 9DC
6JG6A 6JH5 6JH6 6JH8 6JK6 6JK8 6JM6 6JM6 6JN6 6JN8	9QU 12JE 7CM 9DP 7CM 9AJ 12FJ 12FJ 12FK 9FA	6KY8 6KY8A 6KZ8 6L5G 6L6G 6L6GB 6L6GB 6L6GC 6L7 6L7G	9QT 9QT 9FZ 6Q 7AC 7AC 7AC 7AC 7T 7T	6Q7 6Q7G 6Q11 6R7 6R7G 6R7G 6RHH2 6RHH2 6RHH8 6RK19	7V 7V 12BY 7V 7V 7V 7D 9DE 9CB	6W4GT 6W6GT 6W7G 6X4 6X4W 6X5 6X5GT 6X8A 6X9/ ECF200	4CG 7AC 7R 5BS 5BS 6S 6S 9AK 10K	8AC10 8AL9 8AR11 8AU8 8AW8A 8B8 8B10 8BA8A 8BA11 8BH8	12FE 12HE 12DM 9DX 9DX 9EX 12BF 9DX 12ER 9DX
6JQ6 6JR6 6JS6 6JS6A 6JS6C 6JT6 6JT6A 6JT8 6JU6 6JU8	9RA 9QU 12FY 12FY 9QU 9DX 9QL 9QL 9PQ	6LB6 6LB8 6LC8 6LE8 6LF6 6LF6 6LH6A 6LJ6 6LJ6A/ 6LH6A	12GJ 9DX 9QY 9QZ 12GW 9DX 8ML 8MQ 8MQ	6S4 6S4A 6S7 6S7G 6S8GT 6S87 6SA7GT 6SB7Y 6SC7 6SF5	9AC 9AC 7R 7R 8CB 8R 8R 8R 8R 8S 6AB	6Y6GA/ 6Y6G 6Y7G 6Y9/ EFL201 6Z4 6Z5 6Z7G 6Z10/ 6J10	7AC 8B 10L 5D 6K 8B 12BT	8BM11 8BN8 8BN11 8BQ5 8BQ11 8BU11 8CB11 8CG7 8CM7 8CN7	12FU 9ER 12GF 9CV 12DM 12FP 12DM 9LP 9ES 9EN
6JU8A 6JV8 6JW8/ ECF802 6JZ6 6JZ8 6K5GT 6K6GT 6K7 6K7G	9PQ 9DX 12GD 12GD 5U 7S 7R 7R	6LJ8 6LM8 6LN8 6LN8/ LCF80 6LQ6/ 6JE6B 6LQ6/ 6JE6C 6LQ8	9GF 9AE 9DC 9DC 9QL 9QL 9QL	6SF7 6SG7 6SH7 6SJ7GT 6SJ7GT 6SJ7Y 6SK7 6SK7GT 6SL7GT 6SN7GT	7AZ 8BK 8BK 8N 8N 8N 8N 8N 8BD 8BD 8BD	6ZY5G 7A5 7A6 7A7 7A8 7AD7 7AG7 7AG7 7AU7 7AU7 7B4	6S 6AA 7AJ 8V 8U 8V 8V 8V 9A 5AC	8CS7 8CW5/ XL86 8CX8 8EB8 8EM5 8ET7 8FQ7 8FQ7/ 8FQ7/ 8CG7	9EF 9CV 9DX 9DX 9DX 9HN 9LT 9LP 9LP
6K7GT 6K8 6K8G 6K8GT 6K11 6K11/ 6Q11 6KA8 6KD6 6KD8	7R 8K 8K 12BY 12BY 9PV 12GW 9AE	6LR6 6LR8 6LT8 6LU8 6LX8/ LCF802 6LY8 6LZ6 6M11 6MB8	12FY 9QT 9RL 12DZ 9DC 9DX 9QL 12CA 9FA	6SN7GTA 6SN7GTB 6SQ7 6SQ7GT 6SR7 6SS7 6ST7 6SZ7 6T4 6T7G	8BD 8BD 8Q 8Q 8Q 8Q 8N 8Q 8Q 7DK 7V	7C5 7C6 7C7 7E6 7E7 7EY6	6AE 8W 6AA 8W 8V 8W 8AE 7AC 8AC	8GJ7 8GJ7/ PCF801 8GN8 8GU7 8JU8A 8JV8 8KA8 8LC8 8LC8 8LT8	9QA 9DX 9DX 9PQ 9PQ 9DX 9PV 9QY 9RL
6KE8 6KG6A/ EL509 6KL8 6KM6 6KM8 6KN6	9DC 9RJ 9LQ 9QL 9QG 12GU	6MD8 6ME6 6ME8 6MF8 6MG8 6MH3 6MJ8 6MK8	9RQ 9QL 9RU 12DZ 9DC 7BF 12HG 9FG	6T8 6T8A 6T9 6T10 6U5 6U7G 6U8	9E 9E 12FM 12EZ 6R 7R 9AE	7G7 7GS7 7HG8 7HG8/ PCF86 7K7	88W 8V 9GF 9MP 9MP 8BF 9GK	9A8 9A8/ PCF80 9AH9 9AK10 9AM10 9AQ8/ PCC85	9DC 9DC 12HJ 12FE 12FE 9AJ

Type Na.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram
9AU7 9BJ11 9BR7 9CL8 9GH8A 9GV8 9GV8/ XCL85 9JW8/ PCF802	9A 12FU 9CF 9FX 9AE 9LY 9LY 2 9AE	11CH11 11CY7 11DS5 11FY7 11HM7 11JE8 11KV8 11LQ8 11LQ8 11LT8 11MS8	12GS 9LG 7BZ 12EO 9BF 9DX 9DX 9EX 9RL 9LY	12AZ7 12AZ7A 12B4A 12B8GT 12BA6 12BA7 12BD6 12BE3 12BE6 12BF6	9A 9A 9AG 8T 7BK 8CT 7BK 12GA 7CH 7BT	12DS7 12DS7A 12DT5 12DT8 12DV8 12DW4A 12DW7 12DY8 12DZ6 12EA6	9JU 9JU 9HN 9AJ 9HR 9HP 9A 9JD 7BK 7BK	12JN6 12JN8 12JQ6 12JT6 12JT6A 12K5 12K7GT 12K8 12K8 12K8 12K6GT	12FK 9FA 9QU 9QU 7EK 7R 8K 9LQ 7AC
9KC6 9KX6 9LA6 9RAL1 9U8A 10 10AL11 10BQ5 10C8	9RF 9GK 9FZ 9GK 9HF 8AE 4D 12BU 9CV 9DA	11Y9 11Y9/ LFL200 12A5 12A6 12A7 12A8GT 12A85 12AC6 12AC10A	10L 7F 7S 7K 8A 9EU 7BK 12FE	12BF11 12BH7 12BH7A 12BK5 12BL6 12BN6 12BQ6GT 12CU6 12BR3 12BR7	12EZ 9A 9BQ 7BK 7DF 8/ 6AM 9CB 9CF	12EC8 12ED5 12EG6 12EH5 12EK6 12EK6/ 12EK6/ 12EA6 12EL6 12EL6 12EM6	9FA 7CV 7CH 7CV 7BK 7BK 7FB 9HV	12MD8 12Q7GT 12RK19 12S8GT 12SA7 12SA7GT 12SC7 12SF5 12SF5 12SF5GT 12SF7	9RQ 7V 9CB 8CB 8R 8AD 8S 6AB 6AB 7AZ
10CW5 10CW5/ LL86 10DE7 10DR7 10DX8 10DX8/ LCL84 10EG7 10EM7	9CV 9CV 9HF 9HF 9HX 9HX 8BD 8BD	12AD6 12AE6 12AE6A 12AE7 12AE10 12AF3/ 12BR3/ 12RK19 12AF6 12AH7GT	7CH 7BT 7BT 9A 12EZ 9CB 7BK 8BE	12BS3 12BS3A/ 12DW4 12BT3 12BV7 12BV7 12BV11 12BW4 12BY7	9HP 12BL 9BF 12HB 9DJ 9DJ 9BF	12EN6 12EQ7 12F5GT 12F8 12FK6 12FK6 12FM6 12FQ7 12FQ8 12FR8 12FR8 12FV7	7AC 9LQ 5M 9FH 7BT 7BT 9LP 9KU 9A	12SG7 12SH7 12SJ7 12SJ7GT 12SK7GT 12SK7GT 12SK7GT 12SN7GT 12SN7GT 12SN7GT 12SQ7	8BK 8BK 8N 8N 8N 8N 8D 8BD 8BD 4 8BD 8Q
10EW7 10GF7 10GF7A 10GK6 10GN8 10GV8/ LCL85 10HE8 10JA8/ 10LZ8	9HF 9QD 9QD 9GK 9DX 9DX 9DX 9DX	12AJ6 12AL5 12AL8 12AL11 12AQ5 12AT6 12AT7/ ECC81 12AT7WA 12AT7WB	7BT 6BT 9GS 12BU 7BZ 7BT 9A 9A 9A	12BY7A/ 12BV7/ 12DQ7 12BZ6 12BZ7 12C5 12C8 12CA5 12CL3 12CN5	9BF 7CM 9A 7CV 8E 7CV 9HP 7CV	12FX5 12FX8 12FX8A 12GA6 12GB3 12GB6 12GB7 12GC6 12GE5 12GJ5	7CV 9KV 9KV 7CH 6AM 6AM 8JX 12BJ 9QK	12SQ7GT 12SR7 12SR7GT 12SW7 12SX7GT 12SY7 12T10 12U7 12V6GT 12W6GT	8Q 8Q 8Q 8D 8BD 8R 12EZ 7CK 7AC 7AC
10JT8 10JY8 10KR8 10KU8 10LB8 10LE8 10LE8 10LV8 10LZ8 10T10 10Z10	9DX 9DX 9DX 9DX 9DX 9QZ 9DX 9DX 12EZ 12BT	12AU6 12AU7 12AU7A/ ECC82 12AV5GA 12AV6 12AV7 12AW6 12AX3 12AX4GT	7BK 9A 6CK 7BT 9A 7CM 12BL 4CG	12CR6 12CT3 12CT8 12CU5/ 12C5 12CU6 12CX6 12D4 12DB5 12DE8	7EA 9RX 9DA 7CV 6AM 7BK 4CG 9GR 9HG	12GJ5A 12GN7 12GN7A 12GT5 12GT5A 12GW6/ 12DQ6I 12H6 12HF7 12HG7	9QK 9BF 9BF 9NZ 9NZ 9NZ 8 6AM 7Q 12ES 9BF	12X4 12Z3 13CW4 13DE7 13DR7 13EM7 13EM7/ 13EM7/ 13FD7 13FD7 13FM7	5BS 6G 12AQ 9HF 9HF 8BD 8BD 9HF 12EJ
11 11AF9 11AR11 11BM8 11BQ11 11BT11 11CA11 11CF11	4F 10L 12DM 9EX 12DM 12GS 12HN 12HW	12AX4GT/ 12AX4GTI 12AX7 12AX7A/ ECC83 12AY3 12AY3A 12AY3A 12AY7		12DK6 12DK7 12DL8 12DM4 12DM4A 12DQ6A 12DQ6B 12DQ7	7CM 9HZ 9HR 4CG 4CG 6AM 9BF	12HG7/ 12GN7/ 12HL7 12J5GT 12J7GT 12J8 12J86 12J86A	A 9BF 9BF 6Q 7R 9GC 9QL 9QL	13FM7/ 15FM7 13GB5 13GB5/ XL500 13GF7 13GF7A 13J10	12EJ 9NH 9QD 9QD 12BT

Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram
13JZ8 13V10 13Z10 13Z10/ 13J10 14A4 14A5 14A7 14AF7 14B6	12DZ 12EZ 12BT 12BT 5AC 6AA 8V 8AC 8W	17BB14 17BE3/ 17BE3 17BF11 17BH3 17BJ6 17BQ6GTH 17BR3 17BR3/ 17K19	9NH 12GA 12EZ 9HP 9QL 36AM 9CB 9CB	18AJ10 18FW6 18FW6A 18FX6 18FX6A 18FY6 18FY6A 18GB5/ LL500	12EZ 7CC 7CC 7CH 7CH 7BT 7BT 9NH	22BW3 22DE4 22JF6 22JG6 22JG6A 22JR6 22JU6 22KM6 22KM6 22KV6A 23JS6A	12FX 4CG 9QL 9QU 9QU 9QU 9QL 9QL 9QU 12FY	26 26A6 26A7GT 26C6 26D6 26HU5 26LW6 26LX6 27	4D 7BK 8BU 7BT 7CH 8NB 8NC 12JA 5A
14B8 14BL11 14BR11 14C5 14C7 14E6 14E7 14F7 14F7 14F8	8X 12GC 12GL 6AA 8V 8W 8W 8AE 8AC 8BW	17BS3 17BS3A/ 17DW44 17BW3 17BZ3 17C5 17C9 17CK3 17CT3	9HP 12FX 12FX 7CV 10F 9HP 9RX	18GD6A 18GV8/ PCL85 19 19AU4 19AU4GTA 19BG6G 19BG6GA 19CG3	7BK 6C 4CG 4CG 5BT 5BT 12HF	23JZ8 23Z9 24A 24BF11 24JZ6A 24JZ8 24LQ6/ 24JZ6C 24LZ6	12DZ 12GZ 5E 12EZ 9QL 12DZ 9QL 9QL	27GB5/ PL500 29KQ6/ PL521 29LE6 30 30AE3/ PY88 30JZ6	9NH 9RJ 9RJ 4D 9CB 12GD
14GT8 14H7 14J7 14JG8 14N7 14R7 15 15AF11 15BD11 15BD11A	9KR 8V 8BL 9KR 8AC 8AE 5F 12DP 12DP 12DP	17CU5/ 17C5 17D4 17DE4 17DM4 17DM4A 17DQ6A 17DQ6B 17DW4A 17EW8	7CV 4CG 4CG 4CG 6AM 9HP 9AJ	19CL8A 19DE3 19EA8 19EZ8 19FX5 19GQ7 19HR6 19HS6 19HV8 19J6	9FA 12HX 9AE 9KA 7CV 9QM 7BK 7BK 9FA 7BF	25A6 25A6GT 25A7GT 25AC5GT 25AV5GA 25AX4GT 25B5 25B6G 25B8GT 25B8GT 25BK5	7S 7S 8F 6Q 6CK 4CG 6D 7S 8T 9BQ	30KD6 30MB6 31 31AL10 31JS6A 31JS6C 31LQ6 31LR8 31LZ6 32	12GW 12FY 4D 12HR 12FY 12FY 9QL 9QT 9QL 4K
15CW5 15CW5/ PL84 15DQ8/ PCL84 15FM7 15FY7 15KY8 15KY8A 15LE8 15MF8	9CV 9CV 9HX 12E0 9QT 9QT 9QZ 12DZ	17EW8/ HCC85 17GB3 17GE5 17GJ5A 17GJ5A 17GT5 17GT5A 17GV5 17GW6/ 17DQ6E	9AJ 6AM 12BJ 9QK 9QK 9NZ 9NZ 12DR 6AM	19JN8/ 19CL8A 19KG8 19MR9 19T8 19X8 20 20AQ3/ LY88 20EQ7 20EZ7	9FA 9LY 7BK 9E 9AK 4D 9CB 9LQ 9PG	25BQ6GT 25BQ6GTE 25CU6 25C5 25C6G 25CA5 25CD6GA 25CD6GB 25CG3 25CK3 25CK3	6AM 6AM 7CV 7AC 7CV 5BT 5BT 12HF 9HP 9RX	32A5 32ET5 32ET5A 32HQ7 32L7GT 33 33GT7 33GY7 33GY7A 33JR6 33JV6	6AA 7CV 7CV 12HT 8Z 5K 12FC 12FN 12FN 9QU 12FK
16A8/ PCL82 16AK9 16AQ3/ 16AQ3/ XY88 16BQ11 16BX11 16GK6 16GY5	9EX 12GZ 9CB 9CB 12DM 12CA 9GK 12DR	17H3 17HB25 17JB6A 17JF6 17JG6 17JG6A 17JM6A 17JM6 17JQ6 17JT6	9FK 17HB25 9QL 9QU 9QU 12FJ 12FK 9RA 9QU	20LF6 21EX6 21GY5 21HB5 21HB5A 21HJ5 21JS6A 21JZ6 21JZ6 21KA6	12GW 5BT 12DR 12BJ 12BJ 12FL 12FY 12FK 12GD 12GH	25CU6 25DN6 25E5/ PL36 25EC6 25EH5 25F5A 25F5A 25HX5 25JZ8 25JZ8 25L6	6AM 5BT 8GT 5BT 7CV 7CV 9SB 12DZ 7AC	34 34CE3 34GD5 34GD5A 34R3 35 35B5 35C5 35DZ8 35EH5	4M 12GK 7CV 7CV 9CB 5E 7BZ 7CV 9JE 7CV
16LU8A 17AB10/ 17X10 17AX3 17AX4GT 17AX4GTA 17AY3 17AY3A	12DZ 12BT 12BL 4CG 4CG 9HP 9HP	17JT6A 17JZ8 17KV6A 17LD8 17RK19 17X10 17Z3/ PY81	9QU 12DZ 9QU 9QT 9CB 12BT 9CB	21KQ6 21LG6 21LG6A 21LR8 21LU8 22 22BH3 22BH3A	9RJ 12HL 12HL 9QT 12DZ 4K 9HP 9HP	25L6GT/ 25W6GT 25W6G 25W4GT 25W6GT 25Y5 25Z6 25Z6GT	7AC 7W 4CG 7AC 6E 7Q 7Q	35GL6 35L6GT 35LR6 35W4 35Y4 35Z4GT 35Z5GT 36	7FZ 7AC 12FY 5BQ 5AL 5AA 6AD 5E

610

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Туре No. 26AM2	Terminal Diagram	туре No. 117L7/	Terminal Diagram	Type No. 5842/	Terminal Diagram	No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram
36AM3 36AM3A 36AM3B 36KD6 36KD6/ 40KD6 36MC6 37 38 38HE7	5BQ 5BQ 12GW 9QL 5A 5F 12FS	117L7 M7GT 117N7GT 117P7GT 117Z3 117Z4GT 117Z6GT 407A 408A 884	8A0 8AV 4CB 5AA 7Q 407A 7BD 6Q2	5842/ 417A 5844 5847/ 404A 5879 5881 5896 5899 5902	9V 7BF 9AD 7S 8DJ 8DE 8DE 8DE	6677/ 6CL6 6678/ 6U8A 6679/ 12AT7 6680/ 12AU7A 6681/ 12AX7A		8058 8077/ 7054 8106 8136 8203 8393 8417 8532 8627	12CT 9GK 9PL 5C 12AQ 12AQ 7S 7BQ 12CT
38HK7 39/44 40 40KG6A/ PL509 41 42 42EC4A/ PY500	12FS 5F 4D 12GW 9RJ 6B 6B 6B 6EC4	955 959 991 1612 1613 1614 1619 1620 1621 1622	5BC 5BE 991 7T 7S 7S 7AW 7R 7S 7S 7S	5915 5963 5964 5965 6005 6012 6021 6072 6073 6073/	7CH 9A 7BF 9A 7BZ 6C0 8DG 9A 5B0	6688A 6814 6887 6922/ E88CC 6939 6973 6977 7025 7027	9EQ 8DK 6BT 9AJ 9HL 9EU 6977 9A 8HY	8628 8808 9002 9001 9003 9005 9006 A61 A863 AD17	12AQ 8808 7BS 7BD 7BD 5BG 6BH 4G 7R 6AU
42KN6 43 45 45Z3 45Z5GT 46 47 48 49 50	12GU 6B 4D 5AM 6AD 5C 5B 6A 5C 4D	1629 1635 2050 2050A 2076/ 5R4GYI 5636 5639 5642 5651A	7AL 8B 6BS 6BS 3 5T 8DC 8DE 5642 5BO	0A2 6074 0B2 6080 6080WA 6082 6111 6112 6186	5B0 5B0 8BD 8BD 8BD 8BD 8DG 8DG 7BD	7027A 7044 7054 7055 7056 7057 7058 7059 7060 7061	8HY 9H 9GK 6BT 7CM 9AJ 9EP 9AE 9DA 9EU	B36 B65 B152 B309 B329 B339 B719 B739 B749 B749 B759	8BD 9A 9A 9A 9A 9A 9A 9A 9A
50A5 50B5 50BM8/ UCL82 50C5 50C6G 50DC4 50EH5 50FE5 50FK5	6AA 7BZ 9EX 7CV 7AC 5BQ 7CV 8KB 7CV	5651WA 5654 5663 5670 5672 5678 5686 5687 5691 5692	5B0 7BD 6CE 8CJ 5672 5678 9G 9H 8BD 8BD 8BD	6189 6197 6202 6206 6211 6336A 6350 6360A 6386 6417	9A 9BV 5BS 8DC 9A 8BD 9CZ 6360A 8CJ 9K	7167 7189 7199 7247 7258 7308 7308 7355 7360 7408 7543	7EW 9BL 9JT 9DA 9DA 9AJ 8KN 9KS 7AC 7BK	BPM04 CXF80 D2M9 D63 D152 DA90 DAF91 DAF92 DF33 DF91	7BZ 9AE 6BT 6BT 6BT 5AP 6AU 6BW 5Y 6AR
50Z7G	12FN 7FZ 7FZ 8MG 7AC 7DX 7Q 8AN 8AN 7B	5693 5696 5696A 5718 5719 5725 5726 5727 5734 5749	8N 7BN 8DK 8DK 7CM 6BT 7BN 5734 7BK	6485 6550 6626/ 0A2WA 6660/ 6BA6 6661/ 6BH6 6662/ 6BJ6	5C 7S 5B0 7BK 7CM 7CM	7558 7581A 7586 7587 7591 7591A 7695 7717/	9LK 9LK 7AC 12AQ 12AS 8KQ 9PX 7EW	DF904 DH63 DH77 DK91 DL012 DL31 DL33 DL91 DL92 DL94	6AR 7V 7BT 7AT 9E 6X 7AP 7AV 7BA 6BX
60FX5 70L7GT 75 78 80 83	12FS 7CV 8AA 6G 6F 4C 4C 5D	5750 5751 5763 5783 5814A 5823 5824 5840	7CH 9A 9K 5783 9A 4CK 7S 8DE	6663/ 6AL5 6664/ 6AB4 6669/ 6AQ5A 6676/ 6CB6A	6BT 5CE 7BZ 7CM	7868 9 7895 7 7898 9 7905 9 8016 3	9KR 9NZ 12AQ EP PB IC 2AQ	DL95 DP61 DY30 DY80 DY87 E81CC E82CC E83CC	7BA 7BD 3C 9Y 9DT 9A 9A 9A

Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram	Type No.	Terminal Diagram
EAA91 EABC80 EB34 EB91 EBC90 EBC91 EBF85 EBF89 EC88 EC90	6BT 9E 7Q 6BT 7BT 7BT 9HE 9HE 9NY 6BG	EF190 EF811 EF814 EF905 EFL200 EFL201 EH90 EK90 EL22 EL34	7CM 9AQ 9AQ 7BD 10L 10L 7CH 7CH 6AA 8ET	KT77 KT81 KT88 KTW63 KTZ63 L63 L63B L77 LC900 LCF80	8N 6AA 8EP 7R 7R 6Q 6Q 6BG 7GM 9DC	0C2 0C3A 0D3 0D3A 0SW3104 0SW3105 0SW3106 0SW3110 0SW3111	5B0 4AJ 4AJ 4AJ 8R 8Q 7AC 6R 8N	U70 U74 U76 U78 U707 U709 UCL82 UCL83 UU12 V153	5AA 5BS 5BS 5DA 9M 9EX 9M 4G
EC92 EC94 EC95 EC97 EC900 ECC32 ECC35 ECC35 ECC81 ECC82 ECC83	5CE 7DK 7FP 7GM 8BD 8BD 9A 9A 9A	EL37 EL84 EL90 EL95 EL180 EL500 EL509 EM35 EM84	7AC 9CV 9CV 7BZ 7DQ 9BF 9NH 9RJ 6R 9GA	LCF86 LCF201 LCF801 LCF802 LCL82 LCL84 LCL85 LF183 LF184 LF200	9MP 10K 9QA 9AE 9EX 9HX 9HX 9LY 9AQ 9AQ 10L	0Z4 0Z4G PC95 PC900 PCC18 PCC85 PCF80 PCF82 PCF86	4R 4R 7FP 7GM 9A 9DC 9DX 9DX 9MP	V741 VSM70 W17 W61 W63 W81 W143 W148 W148 W727 X17	6BG 5BS 6AR 7R 7R 8V 8V 8V 8V 7BK 7AT
ECC85 ECC88 ECC89 ECC91 ECC180 ECC180 ECC186 ECC189 ECC801 ECC802 ECC803	9AJ 9AJ 9DE 7BF 9AJ 9A 9A 9A 9A	EM87 EM840 EY81F EY88 EY500 EZ4 EZ35 EZ90 EZ900 GZ30	9GA 7S 9BD 9CB 6EC4 9M 6S 5BS 5BS 5BS 5T	LFL200 LL86 LL500 LN119 LY88 LZ319 LZ329 M709 M8080 M8081	10L 9CV 9NH 9EX 9CB 9DC 9DC 9DC 9CV 6BG 7BF	PCF801 PCF802 PCL82 PCL84 PCL85 PCL800 PH4 PL36 PL84 PL500	9QA 9AE 9EX 9HX 9LY 9GK 8A 8GT 9CV 9NH	X63 X77 X107 X150 X727 XC95 XC97 XC900 XCC82 XCC189	8A 7CH 6CH 12BQ 7CH 7FP 7FP 7GM 9A 9AJ
ECF80 ECF82 ECF86 ECF200 ECF201 ECF801 ECF802 ECH42 ECL82 ECL84	9DC 9AE 9MP 10K 10K 9QA 9AE 12BQ 9EX 9HX	GZ32 GZ34 GZ37 H63 HAA91 HBC90 HBC91 HCC85 HD14 HD94	5DA 5DA 5DA 5M 6BT 7BT 7BT 9AJ 5Z 6AM	M8108 M8136 M8137 M8162 M8245 N16 N17 N18 N19 N63	7BK 9A 9A 7BZ 7BA 7BA 6BX 7S	PL509 PL521 PM04 PM05 PY81 PY83 PY88 PY500 PY800 QA2401	9RJ 9RJ 7BK 7BD 4G 4G 4G 6EC4 4G 6BG	XCF80 XCF801 XCL85 XF94 XF183 XF184 9CV XL86 XL500 XXA-91	9DC 9QA 9LY 7BK 9AQ 9AQ XL84 9CV 9NH 6BT
ECL85 ECL86 ECL180 EF22 EF37 EF80 EF93 EF94 EF95 EF96	9LY 9LZ 8CK 8V 7R 9FN 7BK 7BK 7BD 7BD	HD96 HF93 HF94 HK90 HL92 HM04 HY90 HZ90 KT-32 KT-63	6AM 7BK 7CH 7CH 7CV 7CH 5BQ 5BS 7AC 7S	N148 N308 N369 N727 OA2 OA2WA OA3 OA3A OA4G OB2	6AA 8GT 9EX 7BZ 5BO 5BO 4AJ 4AJ 4V 5BO	QA2404 QA2406 QB309 QL77 R-19 R-52 RJ2 T2M05 U41 U50	6BT 9A 9A 6BG 9Y 5DA 5T 7BF 3C 5T	XY88 Y61 YC95 YCC189 YCL180 YF183 YF184 Z14 Z63	9CB 6R 7FP 9AJ 9AJ 9AQ 9AQ 5Y 7R
EF183 EF184	9AQ 9AQ	KT66 KT71	7AC 7AC	OB2WA OBC3	5B0 8Q	U52 U54	5T 5DA		
III. TERMINAL CONNECTIONS

This chart gives the pin or terminal connections for each terminal diagram designation referred to in this manual. The following tabulation gives the meaning of each of the symbols, letter combinations or subscripts, used in this chart and on the basing diagrams in the Technical Data Section.

LETTER COMBINATIONS

	$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	$P = \begin{cases} Plate (Vacuum tubes) \\ Anode (Gas-filled tubes) \\ Pa = Plate A \\ PB = Plate B \\ RCJ = Ray-Control Electrode \\ S = Metal Shell \\ S M = Shell connection, metal tube \\ SHP = Sharp \end{cases}$
61. Gz, etc. == Grid No.1, Grid No.2, etc. H = Heater End (Un- polarized)		tube SHP = Sharp STR = Starter TA = Fluorescent Target TC = Top Cap * = Gas Filled

SUBSCRIPTS FOR MULTIUNIT TYPES

Please note that the terminal diagrams given in the Technical Data Section are bottom views of the tube base and that the pins or terminals are numbered clockwise. For essentially all modern tubes the spacing between pin No. 1 and the pin having the highest number is somewhat larger than the spacing between all the other pins. For octal based types, the "key" for orienting the tube when it is inserted in a socket also serves to designate pin No. 1, which is the first pin clockwise from the key. The following diagrams illustrate the terminal configuration of receiving tubes most commonly encountered.



Termi nal					ΡI	N N	UMB	BER					
Dia- gram	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	TC
1 A Y2	F	F			-								P
3C	LC	F	LC	LC	LC	LC	F,IS	LC					P
444*	F	P	NC	NC	IC	G	NC	F					
4ÅJ*	NC	K	JPR		Р		JPR	NC					
4C	PD2	PD1	F	F									
4CB	IC	NC	H	Η	Р	К	NC						
4CG	IC	IC	К		P		H	H					
4CK*	P	IC	К	STR	IC	IC	К						
4D	F	P	G	F									
ŧF	F	P	F	G									
46	H	P	К	Н									
4K	F	P	G2	F									G1
\$M	F+	Р	G2	F—,G	3								G1
IR*	S	NC	P2		P1		NC	К					
W.	NC	K	NC		P		STR	NC					
Z	H	P	NC	NC	NC	NC	К	H					
iA	H	Р	G	К	H								
A A	NC	H	NC		P		H	К					
iAB	H	NC	PD2	NC	NC	PD1	К	H					
iac	H	Р	NC	NC	NC	G	K	H					
AD	F+	P	G2	NC	NC	G1	NC	F—,G3					
5AG	F+,IS	PT	NC	PD	NC	GT	NC	F—					
AL	H	P	NC	HM	NC	NC	К	H					
iam	H	Р	IC	К	NC	Р	H						
AP	H	P	К	NC	IC	Р	Н						
AY	G	NC	H	H	K	NC	Р						
B	F	P	G1	G2	F								
BC	H	Р	G	H	К								
BE	F+	G2	G3	F→	F—						TO	P LEA T LEA	DP

614

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Termi nal Dia- gram	- 1	2	3	4	P 5	N N 6	U M B	ER 8	9	10	11	12	TC
5BG	HB	к	P	HA	HA		·				<u>_</u>		
5B0*	P	К	IC	к	Р	IC	к						
5 BQ	NC	NC	H	н	P	HL	К						
5BS	PD2	NC	Н	н	NC	PDI	К						
5BT	NC	H	K,G3	NC	G1	NC	н	G2					P
5C	F	P	G1	G2	F								
5CE	P	NC	H	Н	NC	G	к						
5D	H	PD2	PD1	К	H								
5DA	IC	H	PD2	PD1	H,K								
5DE	F	IC	F		PD2		PD1						
5E	H	P	G2	К	H								GI
5F	H	P	G2	K,G3	Н								G1
5K	F+	P	G1	G2	F—,G	3							
5L	NC	H		PD2		PD1	H,K						
5M	NCG SM	H	NC	P	NC		H	K					G
50	NC	NC	PD2	NC	PD1	NC	F	F					
5R	NC	F	P	G2	NC		F	NC					G1
ōS	NC	F	Р	NC	G	NC	F	NC					
5 T	NC G S M	F		PD2		PD1		F					
5U		H	Р		NC		H	К					G1
5Y	BC	F+	Р	G2	NC		F—,IS G3	NC					G1
5Z	BC	F+-	PT	NC	PD		F	NC					GT
6 A	H	P	G2	G1	K	H							
6AA	H	P	G2	NC	NC	G1	K,G3	H					
5AB	NCG SM	К	G		P		H	H					
AD	NC	H	HM		P		H	K					
AE	H	Р	G2	NC	NC	G1	K,G3	H					

Termi nal Dia- gram	- 1	2	3	4	PIN 5	1 N U 6	J M B	ER 8	9	10	11	12	TC
6AF	NC	F+	Р	G2	G1		F—,G3	NC					
6AM	NC	H	NC	G2	G1		H	K,G3					Р
6AR	F—,1S G3	P	G2	NC	F—,IS G3	G1	F+						
6AS	H	PT2	PT1	GT1	К	H							
6AU	F— G3P	NC	PD	G2 P	PP	G1P	F+						
6AX	F+	PP	G2P	PD	NC	G1P	NC	F— G3P					
68	H	P	G2	G1	K G3	H							
6BA	F+	Ρ	G2	NC	NC	G1	FM G3	F					
6BG	P	IC	н	H	P	G	К						
6BH	Р	K	Н	н	Р	NC	К						
6BS*		H	Р	NC	G1	G2	H	K					
6BT	KD2	PD1	Н	н	KD1	IS	PD2						
6BW	F— G3P	PP	G2P	PD	NC	G1P	F+						
6BX	F—	P	G2	NC	FM,G3	G1	F+						
6C	F	PT2	GT2	GT1	PT1	F							
6CC	G1	G3,K	H	Н	P	G2	NC						
6CE*	G1	К	H	Н	G2	NC	Р						
6CK	G1	H	G3,K		P		Н	G2					
6CN	KD2	H	IC	PD2	PD1		H	KD1					
6C0*	K	H	G1		Р		Н	G2					
6D	H	PT2	PT1	GT1	К	н							
6E	H	PD2	KD2	KD1	PD1	H							
6EC4	IC	P	HI	H	H	IC	Р	Р	IC				к
6F	H	Р	G2	G3	K,IS	Н							G1
6G	H	PT	PD2	PD1	K	H							G1
6J	H	ES	PD2	К	PD1	н							

616

Termi nal	-				PIN	I N	UMI	BER					
Dia- gram	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	TC
6K	HM	H	PD2	K	PD1	н							
6L	F	P	G2	G1	G3,G5	F							G4
6M	F	PT	PD2	PD1	GT	F							
6Q	NC G S M	H	Р		G		H	К					
6R	H	PT RCJ	GT	TA	к	H							
6S	NC G S M	H	PD2		PD1		H	K					
6W	F+	PP	G2P	PD2	PD1	F— G3P							G1
6X	NC	F+	Р	G2	G 1		F—,G	3					
7 AA	NC	F+•	PT	PD2	PD1	GT	F	NC					
7AB	NC	F	PT2	GT2	GT1	PT1	F	NC					
7AC	NC G S M	H	P	G2	G1		H	K G3					
7AF	NC	F+	PP	PD2	PD1	G2P	F— G3P	NC					G1F
7AG	NC	H	RCJB	RCJA	TA		Н	K					
7AH	NC	H	PT REM	PT Shp	G		H	ĸ					
7 N J	H	KD2	PD2	NC	IS	PD1	KD1	H					
7AK	F	P	G2	G1	G3,G5	G4	NC	F					
AL.	NC	H	PT RCJ	TA	GT		H	К					
AM	NC	F+	PP	G2 P	G1P	PD	F— G3P	NC					
A0	F+	P	G2	G3	F—,IS	G1	NC	F—,IS					
AP	NC	F+	Р	G2	G1		F	G3,FM					
AQ	NC	F	Р	G2	G1		F	FM,G3					
AT	F—,G5	Р	G2,G4	G1	F—,G5	G3	F+-						
AU	NC	H	PT2	PT1	GT1		H	K					
AV	F—,G3	Р	G1	G2	F—,G3	P	F+-						

lerni nal Dia- tram	i- 1	2	3	4	P N 5	1 N I 5	U M E 7	BER 8	9	10	11	12	TC
7AW	S	F	Р	G2	G1		F	G3					
AX	NC	H	Р	GB	КВ	GA	н	KA					
NZ	S	G1P	K,G3P	G2P	PD	PP	H	Н					
B	H	PT2	GT2	K	GT1	PT1	H						
BA	F	P	G1	G2	FM,G3	P	F+						
88	F—	P	G2	G1	FM	р	F+						
BC	F	PT2	GT2	FM	GT1	PT1	F+•						
BB	G 1	K,IS G3	H	K	P	G2	K, I S G3						
BF	PT2	PT1	H	H	GT1	GT2	К						
BK	G1	G3,IS	H	H	P	G2	K						
BN*	G 1	К	H	H	G2	Р	G2						
80	G,IS	K	H	H	G, I S	G,IS	P						
BR	H	G	P	P	G	H	К						
BS	P	K	H	H	P	G	К						
BT	GT	К	H	H	PD2	PD1	PT						
BZ	G1	K,G3	H	H	Р	G2	G1						
C	H	Р	G3,G5	G2	G1	к	Н						G4
CC	G1	G3	H	H	Р	G2	к						
CH	G 1	K,G5	H	H	P	G2,G4	63						
CK	K, I S 63	H	G2	K,IS G3	G1	K,IS G3	H	BC					р
CM	G1	K	H	H	Р	G2	G3,IS						
CV	K,G3	G1	H	H	G1	G2	P						
CY	62	FM,G3 Is	G1	F	F	FM,G3 Is	P						
	H	PP	G2P	PD2	PD1	K,G3P	H						G1
DC	F	Р	G2	G 1	G3,G5	G4	F						
DF	k,is	G1	H	H	G2	G3	P						
K	P	G	H	H	К	G	P						

618

. .

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Termi nal Dia-	i-				PIN		JME	BER					
Dia- gram	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	TC
- 7 D Q	G1	K,G3	H	н	Р	G2	G1						
70X	H	KD2	PD2	NC	NC	PD1	KD1	н					
7 E	H	PP	G2P	PT	GT	K,G3P	H						G1F
7EA	K,G3P	PD	Н	H	PP	G2P	G1P						
7EG	К	G	H	H	Р	К	G						
7EK	К	G2	H	H	G1	G1	Р						
7EN	G1	K,IS	H	H	P	G2	G3						
I EW	G1	K,IS	H	H	Р	G2	K,IS						
F	H	P	G2	G1	K,G3	HM	H						
FB	GT	PT	H	H	PD2	PD1	K						
IFL	NC	PD2	H	H	K	IS	PD1						
FP	К	G2	H	H	Р	IS	K						
FQ	G1	IS	H	H	Р	G2	K						
FZ	K,G3	Gl	H	H	G2	нм	P						
G	H	PT	ES	PD2	PD1	К	H						G1T
GA	G1	K,G2 G4	Н	H	P	G3	K,G2 G4						
GM	G1	K	H	H	Р	IS	K						
H	H	P	G2	G3	ES	К	H						G1
ĸ	H	PP	G2P	KD	PD	KP G3P	H						G1P
Q	NC G S M	H	PD2	KD2	PD1		н	KD1					
R	NC G S M	H	Ρ	G2	G3		H	K IS					
S	NC G S M	H	Р	G2	Gl		H	K G3					
T	NC G S M	H	Р	G2 G4	G3		H	K G5					G1
U	NC	H	H	PP	G2P	PT	G1	K,G3P					G1P
V	NC	H	PT	PD2	PD1		н	K					GT

Termi nal Dia-			_		PIN		ЈМВ						
gram	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	TC
7₩	NC	H	PT2	PT1	GT1		Н	К					
7 Z	BC	F	Р	G3,G5	G1	G2	F	NC					G4
8 A	NC G S M	H	P	G3 G5	G1	G2	н	К					G4
BAA	KD	H	PB	G2B	G1B	KB G3B	H	PD					
BAC	H	KT2	PT2	GT2	GT1	PT1	KT1	H					
BAD	NC	Н	P	G2,G4	G1	K,G5	H	G3					
BAE	H	PP	PD2	PD1	G2P	G1P	K,G3P	H					
BAJ	NC	F+	PP	G2P	G1P	PT	F— G3P	PD					GT
BAL	H	P	G2,G4	G1	G5	G3	К	Н					
BAN	NC	Н	PD2	KD2	PD1	HM	H	KD1					
BAO	KD	H	PB	G1B	G2B	PD	Н	KB G3B					
8AS	FM,IS G3P	F	PP	G2P	GT	PT	F	PD					G
8AV	NC	H	PB	G1B	G2B	KB G3B	PD H	KD					
8AY	GT	Н	PP	G2P	G1P	PT	Н	K,G3P					
8B	NC G S M	H	PT2	GT2	GT1	PT1	Н	К					
8BD	GT2	PT2	KT2	GT1	PT1	KT1	H	Н					
8BE	GT2	KT2	PT2	KT1	GT1	PT1	Н	H					
8BF	H	KT	PT	GT	PD2	PD1	KD1 KD2	H					
8BJ	H	P	G2	К	IS,G3	G1	К	Н					
8BK	S	H	K,G3	G1	K,G3	G2	H	Р					
88L	H	РНР	PT	GT G3HP	G2HP G4HP	G1HP	K,IS G5HP	H					
8BU	G1B1	K G3B1 G3B2	G182	PB2	G2B1 G2B2	H	H	PB1					
8BW	GT2	H	PT2	KT2	KT1	PT1	Н	GT1					

620

Termi nal	i-				PII	NN	υмв	ER					
Dia- gram	1	2	3	4	5	6	1	8	5	10	11	12	TC
88Z	н	PT2	G1	KT,IS KD1	PD1	PD2	KD2	Н					
8C	NC	F+	PP2	G1P2	G1P1	PP1	F—,G3	G2					
8CB	PD3	KT KD2 KD3	PD1	PD2	KD1	Pĩ	H	H					GT
BCH	G	H	TA	DJ2	D13	DJ1	H	К					
BCJ	H	KT2	GT2	PT2	IS	PTI	GT1	KT1	н				
8C K	PD2	KD1 KD2	PD1	GT	PT	KT	Н	H					
8CN	IC	G1	NC	F,G5	F+-	Р	G2,G4	G3					
BCP	NC	G1	NC	F—,G3	F+	NC	P	G2					
BCT	G2,G4	G1	K	H	H	G5,IS	G3	IS	P				
BDA	PP	NC	G1P	F— G3P	F+	PD	NC	G2P					
BDC	G1	K, IS	H	G3	Р	H	G2	K,IS					
DE	G1	K,G3	Н	K,G3	Р	H	G2	K,G3					
BDG	PT2	GT2	H	KT2	KT1	H	GT1	PT1					
BDJ	PD2	KD2	H	IS	PD1	H	KD1	NC					
BDK	G	NC	H	NC	K	H	NC	P					
E	BC	H	PP	PD2	PD1	G2P	H	K,G3P					G1
BEL	G	H	NC		P		H	K					
BEP	G3	H	P	G2	G1	NC	H	K					
BET	G3	H	P	G2	G1	NC	Н	K					
EZ	LC	H	LC		LC		H,K IS						P
F	KD	H	PP	G2P	G1P	PD	H	KP G3P					
IFU	K	H	NC		NC		H	NC					P
G	NC	H	PT2	KT2	GT1	PT1	н	KT1					GT
BGB	IC	IC	К	IC	P	IC	н	н					
BEC	К	H	IC	IC	G	IC	H	IC					Р

rermi nal Dia- gram	1	2	3	4	P I N 5	6 6	J M B 7	ER 8	3	10	11	12	TC
BGD	G2	Н	G3,K	G1	G1	G3,K	Н	G2					Р
8GH	LC	H	LC	LC	LC	LC	H,K Is	LC					Р
BGT	IC	H	IC	G2	G1		H	K,G3					Р
8H	NC	H	PHP	G2HP G4HP	GT G3HP	PT	H	K G5HP					G1HF
BHY	G2	Н	Р	G2	G1	G1	H	K,G3					
8JB	G	н	G		Р		H	К					
8JC	G1	H	G3,K	G2	G1	G3,K	H	G2					Р
8JP	G1P2	Н	PP2	G2	G1P1	PP1	H	K,G3					
8JX		н	K,G3	G2	G1		H	G2					Р
8K	S	H	РНХ	G2HX G4HX	GT G1HX	PT	H	K					G3HX
8KB		н	Р	G2	G1	H	K,G3						
8KN		H	Р		G3,K	G1	H	G2					
8KQ		H	Р	G2	G3,K	G1	H	G2					
BKS	F	F	PD2	PD2	PD1	PD1	F	F					
BLY	P	H	P	G2	G1		H	K,G3					
8MG	15	H	G3	G2	G1	NC	H	K					Р
8MH	LC	H	LC		LC		H,K IS	LC					Р
8MK	IC	F	IC		IC		F,IS	IC					Р
8ML	IS	Н	IC	IC	G	К	H	IC					Р
8MQ	IC	Н	IS	IC	G	К	H	IC					P
8MT	NC	IC	H	IC	IC	IC	NC	H,K Is					P
8MU	IC	H	IC	NC	IC	NC	H,K IS	IC					P
8MW	K, IS	Н	IC	IC	G	NC	H	IC					Р
8MX	H,K Is	H	IC	NC	IC	NC	H,K IS	IC					P
8MY	NC	IC	н	IC	н	IC	NC	H					P
8MZ	F,IS	F	F,IS	NC	F,IS	NC	F,IS	NC					P
8N	S	H	G3	Gl	К	G2	H	Р					
8NB	G1	K,G3	G2	NC	G 1	IC	H	H					P

Yermi Hal Dia- gram	1	2	3	4	P1 5	N N	U M I	BER 1	9	10	11	12	TC
BNC	IC	K,G3	 G2	NC	G 1	IC	Н	Н			· · · · ·		P
BND	NC	IC	F	IC	F	IC	NC	F,IS					р
BNJ	K,IS	н	IC	IC	G	G	н	IC					Р
BNL	IC	H,K Is	H	NC	H	H,K Is	NC	H,K Is					P
BNP	IC	IC	Н	IS	IS	G	К	Н					Р
BQ	S	GT	К	PD2	PD1	PT	Н	н					
3R	S,G5	Н	Ρ	G2,G4	G1	к	Н	G3					
IS	S	PT2	GT2	GT1	PT1	К	Н	Н					
BT	KP G3P	Н	PP	G2P	PT	KT	н	GT					G1P
U	H	P	G2	G1	G3,G5	G 4	K,G6	H					
V	H	Р	G2	G3	IS	G1	К	Н					
W	H	PT	GT	IC	PD2	PD1	IS,K	H					
X	H	P	G2	Gl	G3,G5	G4	K	Н					
IY .	G3,S	H	NC	G1	K	G2	H	Р					
Z	KD	H	PB	G2B	G1B	PD	H	KB G3B					
A	PT2	GT2	KT2	HT2	HT1	PT1	GT1	KT1	HM				
AC	IC	K	G	Н	Н	G	IC	IC	Р				
AD	G1	NC	К	H	H	NC	G2	P	G3				
AE	PT	G1P	G2P	H	H	PP	KP, IS G3P	KT	GT				
ÅG	K	G	НМ	H	H	NC	G	NC	Р				
	PT2	GT2	KT2	н	H	PT1	GT1	KT1	IS				
AK	G3P	GT	PT	H	H	K	G1P	G2P	PP				
AQ	K	G1	К	H	H	IS	Р	G2	G3				
	IS	Gl	K	н	Н	IS	P	G2	G3				
AX	KD3	PD3	IS	H	Н	PD2	KD2	PD1	KD1				
8D	NC	Р	NC	H	H	NC	P	NC	Р				K
BF	К	Gl	G3,IS	H	H	HM	P	62	G3,IS				
BL	IC	G1	K,G3	H	H	IC	P	IC	G2				
	P	NC	G1	H	H	K,G3	G1	G2	NC				
BV	K	Gl	G2	H	H	Р	G3,IS	G2	GI				

Termi nal Dia-					PIN		U M B						
gram	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	TC
9BX	G	K	G	G	P	G	Н	Н	G				
ACA	G2HP G4HP	G1HP	K G5HP	H	H	PHP	G3HP	PT	GT				
9CB	IC	IC	IC	H	H	IC	IC	IC	Р				K
9CF	PT	GT	ĸt	Н	H	PD2	PD1	KD1 KD2 IS	НМ				
9CK	G2	NC	G1	H	H	G1	K,G3	NC	Р				
9C V	IC	G1	K,G3	H	H	10	Р	IC	G2				
9CY	KP	G1P	G2P	H	Н	PP	KD	PD	G3P IS				
9CZ	PT2	KT2	GT2	H	H	PT1	KT1	GT1	нм				
9DA	Pĩ	GT	KT	H	Η	PP	G2P	G1P	G3P KP,IS				
9DC	PT	GIP	G2P	H	Н	PP	KP,IS G3P	KT	GT				
9DE	PT2	GT2	KT2	Н	H	PT1	GT1	KT1	IS				
9DJ	PD2	NC	NC	Η	H	NC	PD1	NC	К				
9DP	DJ2	DJ1	G3	HB	HA,IS G2	G1	K	P2	P1				
9DR	Ρ	G	G	Н	Н	К	G	G	Ρ				
9DS	G2P	G1P	KP	H	H	PD	G3P IS	KD	PD				
9DT	H,K IS	H	NC	H,K IS	H	H,K IS	NC	H	H,K IS				Р
9DW	GT	PT	К	н	Н	PP	G2P	G3P	G1P				
9DX	KT	GT	PT	H	H	G3P KP,IS	G1P	G2P	PP				
9DZ	KT	GT	PT	H	H	G1P	G3P KP,IS	G2P	PP				
9E	PD3	PD2	KD2 Is	H	H	PD1	KT,IS KD1 KD3	GT	PT				
9EC	G3P Kt,1S	GT	PT	H	H	G1P	KP	G2B	PP				
9ED	PP	G2P	KP	H	H,IS G3P	G1P	ĸt	PT	GT				
9EF	PT2	NC	GT2	Н	Н	PT1	GT1	KT1	KT2				

Termi nal	-				PII		JMB	ER					
Dia- gram	1	2	3	4	5	8	7	ł	9	10	11	12	TC
9EG	GT	PT	KT,IS G3P	H	Н	PP	G2P	KP	GIP				
9EN	PD2	PD1	KD1 KD2 IS	H	H	KŤ	GT	PT	HM				
9EP	PT2	GT2	KT2	H	Н	PT1	GT1	KT1	IC				
9EQ	K	G1	К	H	H	IC	P	G3	62				
9ER	PD2	KD2	KD1	H	H	PD1	PT	GT	KT				
9ES	PT2	NC	KT1	H	н	PT1	GT1	GT2	KT2				
9EU	G2	NC	G1	H	Н	G1	K,G3	G2	Р				
9EX	GT	KP,IS G3P	G1P	H	H	PP	G2P	ĸt	PT				
9FA	GT	PT	KT	H	H	PP	G2P	KP,IS G3P	G1P				
9FE	PD2	PDI	KD1 KD2	H	Н	PP	G2 P	G1P	KP G3P				
9FG	K	G2,IS	PP2	H	H	G3P2	G1	PP1	G3P1				
9FH	PD2	GP2	PP	H	H	PD1	К	G1P	G3P				
9FJ	KT	GT	PT	H	H	PD2	KD1	KD2	PD1				
9FK	K	IC	Р	H	н	IC	IC	Р	IC				
SFN	G1P	G3P IS	KD	H	H	PD	PP	G2P	KP				
9FT	KT	PP	G2P	H	H,IS G3P	KP	G1P	GT	PT				
9FX	GT	PT	KT	H	н	PTR	G2TR	KTR IS	GITR				
9FZ	PT	G1P	KP,IS G3P	H	H	PP	G2P	KT	GT				
96	K,G3	G1	K,G3	H	H	G2	P	K,G3	G2				
96A	GT	IC	K	H	H	TA	RCJ	IC	PT				
9GC	G1TR	KTR	G2TR	H	н	PTR	KD1 KD2	PD2	PD1				
96E	PT	G1TR	G2TR	H	н	PTR	KTR Is	KT	GT				
9GF	GT	PT	К	H	H	PP	G2P	G3P,K	G1P				

Térmi Bal	÷				PI	N N I	J M B	ER					
Dia- gram		2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	TC
9GK	K	61	G3,IS	H	H	NC	Р	62	G3,IS				
96M	KT,IS G3P	PP	62P	H	H	KP	G1P	GT	PT				
96R	62	K,G3	G 1	H	H	G1	K,G3	IC	P				
S	PT	G2TR	G1TR	H	H	PTR	KTR	GT	KT				
911	PT2	GT2	KT2	H	H	KT1	GT1	HM	PT1				
M E	G2P	G1P	K, IS	H	H	PP	PD1	PD2	G3P				
SNF	PT2	GT2	GT2	H	H	PT1	GT1	KT1	KT2				
MG	G1P	KD	PD	H	H	PP	GP3 IS	62P	KP				
SHK	PD2	KD1 KD2	PD1	H	H	G1P	KP,IS G3P	G2P	PP				
HL.	G1P2	K,63	G1P1	HP2	HP1	PP2	62	PP1	HM				
S in N	62	NC	Gl	H	H	G1	K,G3	IC	P				
)))P	IC	Р	IC	H	н	IC	Р	IC	K				
SHR	PD2	KTR	GITR	H	H	PTR	G2TR	KD1 KD2 IS	PD1				
NIV	G1TR	K	G2TR	H	H	PTR	IC	IC	PD				
MIX	GT	PT	KT	H	H	PP	KP,IS G3P	G1P	G2P				
MZ	G1TR	K	G2TR	H	H	PD2	PTR	KTR	PD1				
	G1TR	KTR	G2TR	H	H	PTR	KT,IS	PT	GT				
NE	GT	KP,IS G3P	G1P	H	H	PP	G2P	ĸt	PT				
NF	PP	GT	PT	H	H	KT	G1P	KP,IS G3P	G2P				
NC	K, IS G3P	GT	PT	H	H	K,IS G3P	G1P	62P	PP				
NT	PT	PP	G2P	H	H	KP,IS G3P	G1P	ĸt	GT				
UU	PD2	NC	GITR	H	H	PTR	G2TR	K	PD1				
K	Р	NC	63	H	Н	G2	ĸ	G1	G1				

fermi nal Dia- gram	1	2	3	4	P I N 5	6 N U	МВ 7	E R 8	9	10	11	12	TC
IKA	KT3	GT3	PT3	H KT1 KT2	Н	PT2	GT2	PT1	GT1				
JX	G1TR	К	G2TR	н	Н	PTR	PD2	IC	PD1				
IKP	PIBTR	GT	PT	H,K	Н	G1TR	G2TR	P1ATR	P2TR				
KR	KD2	PD1	KD1	H	H	PD2	KT	GT	PT				
IKS	K,IS	G2	Gl	Н	Н	РВ	PA	DJB	DJA				
XT	2 PB	2G	2 PA	Н	Н	1PB	1G	1PA	К				
KU	GT	KT	GIP	H	H,G3P KP,IS	G2P	РР	PD	PT				
KV	G2 G4HP	G1HP	РНР	Η	H KT	GT	G5HP KHP IS	PT	G3HP				
OLG	PT2	IC	GT2	H	Н	PT1	GT1	KT1	KT2				
LK	K	G1	G2	Н	Н	Р	G3	G2	К				
)LP	PT2	GT2	KT2	Н	Н	PT1	GT1	KT	NC				
LQ	G3P	G1P	К	Н	Н	G2P	PP	PD	IS				
ILS	Н	H	NC	KT2	GT2	PT2	PT1	GT1	KT1				
OLT	KD1 KD2 ISD	PD2	PD1	Η	Н	KP G3P ISP	G1P	G2P	PP				
)LW	K IS	G2	PP2	H	H	G3P2	G1	PP1	G3P1				
ILY	PT	GT	KT	H	H	PP	G2	KP G3P	G1P				
ILZ	GT	KT	G2P	H	H	PP	KP,IS G3P	G1P	PT				
M	PD1	NC	К	Н	Н	NC	PD2	NC	NC				
)MB	GT3	PT3	GT2	H,GT1 Kt3	H	PT1	KT1	KT2	PT2				
MP	KP	G1P	KT,IS	н	Н	GT	PT	PP	G2P				
DMQ	G2	IC	IC	н	H	G1	K,G3	IC	Ρ				
9MR	PBTR	NC	PD	н	Н	K,IS	G1TR	G2TR	PATR				
9NH	01	G1	G3,K	Н	H	G2	G2	G3,K	IC				Р

Tersa nai	ii-				ΡI	N N	υмі	BER					
Dia- gram	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	TC
9NJ	G1P1	G2P1	PP1	н	H	G1P2	K,IS G3	PP2	G2P2				
BNX	K	Gl	К	H	н	62	P	G3, 1S	G2				
9NW	K	GI	G3	н	н	G2	P	G2	G3				
9NY	G	К	G	H	Н	G	G	Р	G				
9NZ	G2	Gl	K,G3	H	Н	G1	G2	IC	Р				
9PA	K,IS G3P	G1P	G2P	H	н	PP	K, IS G3P	GT	pt				
9PB	F	61	G2	LC	LC	Р	G3	G2	F+-				
9PG	H	Н	IC	KT2	GT2	PT2	PTL	GT1	KT1				
PL	Ρ	K,G3	G2	Н	Н	K,G3	G1	G2	K,G3				
9PM	K	G1	К	H	Н	NC	Ρ	G2	G3,IS				
PQ	PD4	PD3 KD4	KD3	н	Н	IS	PD2	PD1 KD2	KD1				
PV	PT	GT	K,IS	H	Н	G1P	G3P	G2P	PP				
PX	G2	NC	IC	Н	Н	G1	K,G3	IC	Р				
PZ	Ρ	G3	G2	Н	Н	G3	К	Gl	К				
QA	K,IS G3P	G1P	K, IS G3P	H	Н	PP	G2P	PT	GT				
QD	KT1	GT2	KT2	н	н	PT2	NC	PT1	GT1				
QG	P1BTR	PIATR	PD	Н	Н	K,1S	GITR	G2TR	P2TR				
ฮา	FB	FA	FA	LC	PD2	PD2	LC	PD1	PD1				
QX	G2	Gl	K,G3	Н	Н	Gl	G2	IC	IC				Р
QL	G2	Gl	K	н	Н	Gl	G2	G3	IC				Р
QM	KD3	PD3	IC	H	Н	PD2	KD2	PD1	KD1				
QP	KT	GT	PT	н	H, IS G3P	KP	G1P	G2 P	PP				
QT	KT	G1B	KB G3B	H	H	PB	G2B	PT	GT				
au	G2	G1	К	Н	H	G3	G2	IC	Р				
QY	ρſ	GT	KT,IS G3P	H	н	GIP	KP	GP2	PP				
Z	PP2	G3P2	К	H	11	PP1	G3P1	G2	G1				
A	P	IC	G2	H	H	G3, PD	G1	Gl	K				
RE	К	G1	NC	н	Н	G 3	Р	NC	G2				

628

Termi nal Dia-	- 1	2	3	4	P11 5	6 N	U M B	E R 8	9	10	11	12	TC
gram	·	<u> </u>	J										
ÐRG	F,IS	IC	IC	IC	F	IC	NC	IC	IC				Р
ÐRJ	G1	G3	G2	H	H	G2	G3	G1	К				Р
RL	KP, IS G3P	G2P	PP	H	н	PD2	KD	PD1	G1P				
RQ	PT3	PT2	PT1	Н	H	GT1	K	GT2	GT3				
RT	H,K IS	H	IC	H,K IS	н	H,K IS	IC	H	H,K IS				Р
RU	DJ2	DJ1	G3	HB	HA,IS	G1	K,G2	P2	P1				
RX	IC	Р	IC	Н	H	Р	IC	IC	К				
ISB	G1	K,G3	K,G3	Н	Н	G2	G1	IC	Р				
ISG	ні	P	IC	H	H	IC	Р	IC	NC				K
U	Р	IC	IC	F	F	IC	IC	IC	Р				
¥	Р	NC	H	G	G	K	G	G	H				
X	G1	NC	H	K,IS G3	NC	P	NC	G2	H				
Y	F,IS	F	LC	F,IS	F	F,IS	LC	F	F,IS				P
OF	G1TR2	G2TR2	PTR2	H	Н	KTR1	GITRI	PTR1	KTR2	KD1 Is			
ØG	PT3	GP3	KT3	H	H	PT2	GT1	PT1	GT2	KT1 KT2			
OH	G1P	G2P	PP	H	H	GP3 IS	KT	GT	PT	KP			
OK	KT	KP	G1P	G3P IS	H	H	PP	G2P	PT	GT			
OL	G1P2	KP2 G3P2	G2P2	PP2	Η	H	KP1 G3P1 IS	G1P1	G2P1	PP1			
2AQ		P		G				К		H		Н	
2AS		G2		G1				К		H		H	Р
2BF	H	KT2	GT2	PT2	GT1	PT1	KT1	PD2	KD1 KD2	PD1	IS	H	
2BJ	H	G2	G1	K,G3	IC	IC	P	IC	IC	K	G1	H	
2BL	H	NC	NC	Ρ	NC	NC	к	NC	NC	Р	NC	H	

Termi- nal Dia- from 1	2	3	4	P11 5	N N	U M E	SER s	9	10	11	12	TC
gram '	2	, 	4	3	•		•					10
12BM H	NC	GT2	NC	PT2	IC	KT2	NC	KT1	GT1	PT1	H	
12BQ H	PT3	KT3	KT1	PT2	KT2	GT2	IC	GT1	PT1	GT3	H	
1 2BT H	G2 P	K,G3P	PB	G3B	G2B	G1B	KB,IS	PP	NC	G1P	H	
1 2BU H	KP	G1P	G3P	IS	PP	G2P	G1B	KB G3B	G2B	РВ	H	
12BW H	G2P2	PP2	G3P2 IS	G1P2	KP2	G2P1	KP1	PP1	G3P1 Is	G1P1	H	
128Y H	PT3	KT3	KT1	PT2	KT2	GT2	IS	GT1	PT1	KT3	H	
12CA H	G1P	G2P	KT2	GT2	PT2	PT1	GT1	KT1	KP,IS G3P	PP	H	
1201	К		К				К		H	SHEL G	H	Ρ
12DA H	KD2	PD2	KT2	GT2	PT2	PT1	GT1	KT1	PD1	KD1	H	
1 2dg H,K Is	IC	IC	LC	LC	IC	IC	IC	IC	LC	IC	H	Р
120M H	PP2	G2P2	G3P2	G1P2	KP2	G3P1 IS	PP1	G2P1	G1P1	KP1	H	
12 dp H	PP	GT2	PT2	KTI	GT1	KT2 IS	PT1	KP,IS G3P	G2P	G1P	H	
12DQ F,IS	IC	IC	LC	IC	IC	IC	IC	IC	LC	IC	F	Ρ
1 2DR H	NC	G2	K,G3	G1	NC	G2	NC	G1	K,G3	G2	Н	Р
1 2DZ H	PT	NC	PB	NC	G1B	G1B	G2B	KB G3B	GT	ĸt	Н	
1 2EA P	Р		G		G	К			H		Н	
1 2EJ H	NC	GT2	NC	PT2	IC	KT2	GT2	KT1	GT1	PT1	H	
1 2EO H	NC	GT2	NC	PT2	NC	KT2	IC	KT1	GT1	PT1	H	
12ER H	PP2	G2P IS	G1P	G3P2	PP1	G3P1	K IS	GT	ĸĭ	PT	H	
1 2ES H	NC	G1	K,G3	G2	IC	Р	IC	G2	K,G3	G1	H	
12EW H,K IS	H,K IS	IC	LC	IC	H,K IS	LC	IC	H,K IS	LC	IC	H	Ρ
12EY H	G1	G2	K,G3	NC	Р	NC	NC	G1	G2	K,G3	H	
12EZ H	KP IS	G1P	NC	G3P	G2P	PP	G1B	G3B KB	G2B	РВ	H	

Termi nal Día- gram		2	3	4	P 5	N N 6	U M	BER 8	9	10	11	12	TC
- 12FA		IC	IC	IC	K,IS	G	NC	IC	IC	IC	IC	H	- P
1 2FB		NC	G2	K,G3	-	G2	NC	G2	G1	K,G3	G2	н	Р
1 2FC		PD	NC	KD	PP	NC	IC	KP G3P	G1P	G2P	G1P		
12FE	H	PT3	ктз	KT1	PT2	KT2	GT2	NC	GT1	PT1	GT3	н	
1 2FJ	H	К	G2	G3	G1	NC	NC	IC	NC	G3	NC	н	Р
1 2FK	Н	К	G2	G3	NC	NC	P	NC	NC	G3	G1	Н	
12FL	H	К	G 1	G3	G2	IC	Р	10	G2	G3	G1	Н	
12FM	H	PT	NC	GT	KT	IS	NC	GIP	KP G3P	G2P	PP	H	
12FN	H	PD	NC	KD	PB	NC	IC	KB G3B	G1B	G1B	G2B	H	
12FP	H	KT2	PT2	GT2	KT1 Js	GT1	PT1	G1P	G2P	PP	KP,I G3P	SH	
2FQ	H	PT2	KT2	KT1	IC	NC	NC	IS	GT1	PT1	GT2	H	
2FR	H	PT2	KT2	KT1	NC	NC	PT1	NC	GT1	PT1	GT2	H	
2FS	H	PD	NC	KD	PP	NC	IC	KP G3P	G1P	łC	62P	H	
2FU	H	PP2	G2P2	G3P2	KP2	G1P2	PP1	G3P1 IS	G2P1	KP1	G1P	L H	
2FV 	H,K IS	H,K IS	IC	NC	H,K IS	H,K IS	NC	н	K	NC	IC	H	p
2FX I	H	NC	NC	Р	IC	IC	Κ	IC	IC	Р	NC	H	
2FY H	ł	К	G2	G3	G1	NC	IC	NC	IC	G3	G2	H	P
2GA H	ł	NC	NC	Р	1C	NC	K	NC	IC	Р	NC	Н	
2GC H	ł	PP	GT2	KT2	GT1	KT1	PT1	KP,IS G3P	PT2	G2P	G1P	H	
2GD H	ł	к	G2	G3	G1	NC	NC	NC	IC	G3	IC	Н	P
2GF H	ł	KP2	G1P2	G2P2	PP2	G3P2 IS	G1P1	KP1	G2P1	G3P1 IS	PP1	H	
2 6h H		NC	G2	G3	G1	NC	IC	NC	IC	K	IC	H	P
2 6 j h		K	G2	G3	G1	NC	IC	NC	1C	G3	IC	H	P
2 GK H		IC	IC	Р	IC	IC	К	IC	IC	Р	IC	H	

Termi- nal					PI	N N	UM	BER	2				
Dia-	1	2	3	4	5	6	1	8	9	10	11	12	TC
12GL	H	G1P	G2P	KP,IS G3P	KT2 IS	PT2	KT1	GT2	PT1	GT1	PP	Н	
12GS	H	PP	GT2	KT2	GT1	KT1 G3P IS	PT1	KP	PT2	G2P	G1F	ΡH	
12GU	H	NC	G2	G3	G1	NC	IC	NC	IC	К	IC	н	ρ
12GV	Η	IC	IC	NC	IC	Н	IC	IC	IC	NC	IC	н	Р
12GW	ł	к	G2	G3	G1	NC	IC	NC	G1	G3	G2	H	Ρ
126Y +	ł	G	BP	К	IC	IC	Р	IC	IC	BP	G	H	
126Z	ł	PT2	GT2	NC	PP	IC	K,G3P	G1P	G2P	GT1	PT1	н	
1 2ha 	I,K S	H,K IS	IC	NC	H,K IS	H,K IS	NC	IC	H,K Is	NC	IC	H	Р
2HB H	ł	G3P2	PP2	G2P2	KP2	G1P2	G1P1	KP1	G2P1	PP1	G3P1	H	
2HC H	i	íC	1C	ic	К	G	IC	IC	IS	IC	IC	Н	Р
2HD H	ł	KP2	G1P2	G2P2	PP2	G3P2 IS	G3P1 IS	PP1	G2P1	KP1	G1P	1 H	
2HE H		PP	NC	G3P	GT	KT	PT	IS	KP	G2P	G1P	H	
2HF H		IC	NC	Р	IC	IC	К	IC	IC	Р	NC	Η	
2HG H		PT3	К	PT2	NC	PT1	NC	GT1	NC	GT2	GT3	H	
2HJ H		GT	PT	кт	G1P	G1P	KP	G2P	G3P IS	NC	PP	H	
2HK F,	,IS	F,IS	IC	NC	F,IS	F,IS	NC	F	F,1S	NC	IC	F	Р
2HL H		IC	IC	K,G3	G1	NC	IC	NC	IC	K,G3	G2	H	Ρ
2HN H		PT2	GT2	PT1	KT1	GT1	KT2 G3P	G1P	КР	G2P	PP	H	
2HR H		PT2	GT2	PP	G2P	IC	KT2 KP G3P	G1P	PT1	KT1	GT1	H	
2 HT H		PD	NC	KD	PP	NC	IC	KP G3P	G1P	NC	G2P	H	
2HU H		PT3	K	PT2	NC	PT1	10	GT1	IC	GT2	GT3	H	
2 HW H		PT2	PP	G2P	GIP	G1P KP	KT2	KT1	GT1	PT1	GT2	Н	
2HX H		IC	NC	Ρ	IC	IC	IC	IC	IC	Р	NC	H	К

iermi- nal	•				PIN	NU	J M B	ER					
Dia- tram	1	2	3	4	5	5	7	8	9	10	11	12	π
2HY	H,K IS	H,K IS	IC	NC	H,K Is	IC	IC	H	H,K Is	NC	IC	H	P
2JA	H	K	G2	G3	G 1	NC	H	NC	G2	63	62	H	P
2JB	H,K IS	H,K IS	IC	NC	H,K IS	IC	H,K Is	H	H,K Is	NC	NC	H	Р
12JF	H	K	62	G3	G1	NC	NC	NC	IC	63	62	H	P
17— BH25		G1	G3	H	H	62	62	G3	K				P
187A	HT2	KT2	GT2	PT2	HM,IS	PT1	GT1	KT1	HT1				
191*	ĸ	Р											
991*	P F	K F	OR										P
5672	Р	G2	F+•	G1	F—,G3								
5678	P	G2	F—,IS G3	G1	F+ G3								
5734				H	G	H	K, IS	SHELL	P				
57 83	*K		P		K								
6368	G1TR1	K IS	G1TR2	HTR1	HTR2	PTR1	G2TR1 G2TR2	PTR2	HM				
6977	F	P	G	F									
8888	K	K		K		K	SHELL	G		H		H	P
8958	H	К	62	G3	G1	K	IC	NC	G1	63	62	Н	P

633 **Outlines**

METAL TYPES



-1-



Y 2-5/8 3-1/4 2Å 2B

X 2-1/16 2-11/16



T MAX.

132 MAX



Z .255 .255 .317 0.985 0.985 0.780





5A	1-5/8	I-3/8	$1 \pm 3/32$
5B	1-3/4	1-1/2	$1-1/8 \pm 3/32$
5C	2-1/8	1-7/8	$1-1/2 \pm 3/32$
5D	2-5/8	2-3/8	$2 \pm 3/32$
5E	2-3/8	2-1/8	$1-3/4 \pm 3/32$

т 6ј ż X MAX. MÁX. SMALL-BUTTON MINIATURE 9-PIN Ι 6 X 1-3 1-1/2 /16 /16 /32 /32 /16 5/8 3/4 /16 2-2-13 2 2-3/8 3-1/16 3-1/8 2 2-13 /16 2-7/8 1-3/4 2-7/16 2-7/8 1-31/32 2-27/32 2-3/16 2-5/8 1-23/32 2-19/32 z $\begin{array}{c} \textbf{L} \\ 1-1/8 \pm 3/32 \\ 1-9/16 \pm 3/32 \\ 1-25/32 \pm 3/32 \\ 1-13/16 \pm 3/32 \\ 2 \pm 3/32 \\ 2-1/8 \pm 3/32 \\ 2-7/16 \pm 3/32 \\ 2-1/2 \pm 3/32 \\ 1-29/22 \end{array}$ 6A 6B 6C 6D 6E 6F 6G 6H

6K

1-29/32

All measurements in inches.





2.68

10F





OUTLINES



-13-

¥ 2-5/16 2-7/16 2-1/2 2-3/4 2-13/16 2-7/8 3-1/4 2-0/16

3-9/16

X 2-7/8 3

3-1/16 3-5/16 3-3/8 3-7/16 3-13/16

4-3/16

13A 13B 13C 13D 13E

13F 13G 13H

Z 1-9/32 1-9/32 1-5/16 1-9/32 1-9/32 1-9/32 1-3/16

146 14H 14J 14K 14L



1-1/4

1-1/4 1-9/32



	-1	5-
15A 15B 15C 15D 15E 15F	X 2.875 3.375 3.625 3.125 3.875 4.250	¥ 2.250-2.500 3.000 MAX. 3.000-3.250 2.750 3.250-3.500 3.620-3.875







All measurements in inches.







X Y 33A 3.06 MAX. 2:52-2.68

X Y 34A 4.312 MAX. 3.75 MAX.

All measurements in inches.





All measurements in inches.

1-Glass Envelope



- 2—Internal Shield 3—Plate 4—Grid No. 3 (Suppressor) 5—Grid No. 2 (Screen) 6—Grid No. 1 (Control Grid) 7—Cathode 8—Heater 9—Exhaust Tip 10—Getter 11—Spacer Shield Header 12—Insulating Spacer 13—Spacer Shield 14—Inter-Pin Shield 15—Glass Button-Stem Seal 16—Lead Wire
- 17—Base Pin
- 18-Glass-to-Metal Seal

Structure of a Miniature Tube

Resistance-Coupled Amplifiers

ī

R ESISTANCE-COUPLED, audiofrequency voltage amplifiers utilize simple components and are capable of providing essentially uniform amplification over a relatively wide frequency, range.

Suitable Tubes

In this section, data are given for 48 types of tubes suitable for use in resistance-coupled circuits. These types include low- and high-mu triodes. twin triodes, triode-connected pentodes, and pentodes. The accompanying key to tube types will assist in locating the appropriate data chart.

Circuit Advantages

For most of the types shown, the data pertain to operation with cathode bias; for all of the pentodes, the data pertain to operation with series screengrid resistor. The use of a cathode-bias resistor where feasible and a series screen-grid resistor where applicable offers several advantages over fixedvoltage operation.

The advantages are: (1) effects of possible tube differences are minimized; (2) operation over a wide range of platesupply voltages without appreciable change in gain is feasible; (3) the low frequency at which the amplifier cuts off is easily changed; and (4) tendency toward motorboating is minimized.

Number of Stages

These advantages can be enhanced by the addition of suitable decoupling filters in the plate supply of each stage of a multi-stage amplifier. With proper filters, three or more amplifier stages can be operated from a single powersupply unit of conventional design with-

Type Ch 3AU6 3AV6 3BC5/ 3CE5 3CB6/ 3CF6	art No. 2 9 11 11	Type 6FQ7/ 6CC 6SL7C 6SN7C 6T8A 7AU7	67 8 6T 5
4AU6 4AV6 4BQ7A/ 4BZ7 4CB6 5BK7A	2 9 10 11 10	8CN7 8FQ7/ 8CC 9AU7 12AT6 12AT7 ECC	7 8 3 5 7
5BQ7A 5T8 6AB4 6AG5 6AT6 6AU6A	10 5 4 11 5 2	12AU(12AU) ECC 12AV(12AX) ECC	7A/ 282 3 5 9 7A/
6AV6 6BC5/ 6CE5 6BK7B 6BQ7A/ 6BZ7/ 6BS8	9 11 10 10	12AY7 12FQ7 12SL7(12SN7/ 19T8 20EZ7	ат 5 Ст 5
6C4 6CB6A/ 6CF6 6CN7 6EU7	3 11 5 9	5879P 5879T 7025 7199P 7199T	6 7 9 12 13
T = Triode Ui P = Pentode	nit ar Tri Unit ar I	iode Conn Pentode C	ection onnection
KEY	(TO (CHART	J S

out encountering any difficulties due to coupling through the power unit. When decoupling filters are not used, not more than two stages should be operated from a single power-supply unit.

Symbols Used in Resistance-Coupled Amplifier Charts

- $C = Blocking Capacitor (\mu F).$
- C_k = Cathode Bypass Capacitor (μ F).
- $C_{s2} =$ Screen-Grid Bypass Capacitor (μf) .
- E_{bb} = Plate-Supply Voltage (volts). Voltage at plate equals platesupply voltage minus drop in R_p and R_k .
- $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{k}}$ = Cathode Resistor (ohms).
- $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{r}^2} =$ Screen-Grid Resistor (megohms).
- $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{g}} = \text{Grid}$ Resistor (megohms) for following stage.
- $\mathbf{R}_{\mathbf{p}} = \text{Plate Resistor (megohms).}$
- V.G. = Voltage Gain.
- $E_{\circ} = Output$ Voltage (peak volts). This voltage is obtained across R_{π} (for following stage) at any frequency within the flat region of the output vs. frequency curve, and is for the condition where the signal level is adequate to swing the grid of the resistance-coupled amplifier tube to the point where its grid starts to draw current.

Note: The listed values for E_0 are the peak output voltages available when the grid is driven from a low-impedance source. The listed values for the cathode resistors are optimum for any signal source. With a highimpedance source, protection against severe distortion and loss of gain due to input loading may be obtained by the use of a coupling capacitor connected directly to the input grid and a high-value resistor connected between the grid and ground.

General Circuit Considerations

In the discussions which follow, the frequency (f_2) is that value at which the high-frequency response begins to fall off. The frequency (f_1) is that value at which the low-frequency response drops below a satisfactory value, as discussed below. A variation of 10 per cent in values of resistors and capacitors has only slight effect on perform ance. One-half-watt resistors are usually suitable for R_{g2} , R_g , R_g , R_p , and R_k resistors. Capacitors C and C_{g2} should have a working voltage equal to or greater than E_{bb} . Capacitor C_k may have a low working voltage in the order of 10 to 25 volts.



Triode Amplifier Heater-Cathode Type

Capacitors C and C_k have been chosen to give an output voltage equal to 0.8 E_n for a frequency (f_1) of 100 Hz. For any other value of f_1 , multiply values of C and C_k by 100/f₁. In



the case of capacitor Ck, the values shown in the charts are for an amplifier with dc heater excitation; when ac is used, depending on the character of the associated circuit, the gain, and the value of f₁, it may be necessary to increase the value of Ck to minimize hum disturbances. It may be desirable to operate the heater at a positive voltage of from 15 to 40 volts with respect to the cathode. The voltage output at f_1 of "n" like stages equals $(0.8)^n \times E_0$, where E_o is the peak output voltage of final stage. For an amplifier of typical construction, the value of f₂ is well above the audio-frequency range for any value of R_µ.

Pentode Amplifier *Heater-Cathode Type*

Capacitors C, C_k, and C_{g2} have been chosen to give an output voltage equal to 0.7 \times E_o for a frequency (f₁) of 100 cycles. For any other value of f₁, multiply values of C, C_k, and C_{g2} by 100/f₁. In the case of capacitor C_k, the values shown in the charts are for



an amplifier with dc heater excitation: when ac is used, depending on the character of the associated circuits, the voltage gain, and the value of f₁, it may be necessary to increase the value of C_k to minimize hum disturbances. It may be desirable to operate the heater at a positive voltage of from 15 to 40 volts with respect to the cathode. The voltage output at f₁ for "n" like stages equals (0.7)" \times E_n where E_o is peak output voltage of final stage. For an amplifier of typical construction, and for R_n values of 0.1, 0.25, and 0.5 megohm, approximate values of f₂ are 20000, 10000, and 5000 Hz, respectively.

Ebb	Rp	R _s	R _{g2}	Rĸ	C _{e2}	Ck	C	E.*	V.G.	
90	0.1 0.24 0.51	0.24 0.51 1.0		1800 3700 7800			=	13 14 16	24 26 27	
180	0.1 0.24 0.51	0.24 0.51 1.0		1300 2800 5700			-	31 33 33	27 29 30	12AY7
300	0.1 0.24 0.51	0.24 0.51 1.0	-	1200 2300 4800	-		=	58 30 56	28 30 31	Diagram 1

• One triode unit. • Peak volts.

^A Coupling capacitors should be selected to give desired frequency response. Cathode resistors should be adequately bypassed.

\frown	Ebb	Rp	Rg	R _{g2}	Rx	C ₆₂	C,	C	E.*	¥.G.
2 3AU6 4AU6 6AU6A 12AU6 See Circuit Diagram 2	90	0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 1.0 1.0	0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2 1.0 2.2	0.340 0.370 0.380 1.00 1.00 1.90 2.40	2700 2900 3100 6000 6200 6300 10800 13100	0.057 0.050 0.050 0.027 0.023 0.027 0.017 0.017	5.8 5.4 5.3 2.8 2.7 2.8 1.7 1.7	0.0081 0.0055 0.0034 0.0042 0.0027 0.0019 0.0025 0.0017	16 22 25 13 17 25 10 19	79 104 125 105 137 161 139 184
	180	0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 1.0 1.0	0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2 1.0 2.2	0.520 0.520 0.520 1.05 1.15 1.20 2.40 2.70	1340 1390 1420 2700 2880 2960 5500 6000	0.059 0.059 0.059 0.039 0.037 0.036 0.028 0.022	8.8 8.7 5.5 5.4 5.4 3.2 2.8	0.0081 0.0053 0.0032 0.0041 0.0027 0.0019 0.0023 0.0015	31 43 48 34 43 50 33 40	143 192 223 189 249 294 230 323
	300	0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47 1.0 1.0	0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2 1.0 2.2	0.530 0.540 0.540 1.15 1.22 1.31 2.50 2.80	780 783 800 1590 1650 1720 3300 3500	0.077 0.077 0.077 0.057 0.049 0.045 0.036 0.031	13.2 13.2 13.1 8.4 7.4 7.2 5.3 4.2	0.0082 0.0053 0.0033 0.0045 0.0027 0.0017 0.0022 0.0015	53 65 74 56 72 82 57 72	200 270 316 275 357 418 352 466
3 6C4	90	0.047 0.047 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0		1600 1800 2000 3000 3800 4500 6800 9500 11500		3.2 2.5 2.0 1.6 1.1 1.0 0.7 0.5 0.43	0.061 0.033 0.015 0.032 0.015 0.007 0.015 0.0065 0.0035	9 11 14 10 15 18 14 20 24	10 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11 11
7AU7 9AU7 12AU7A/ ECC82 See Circuit Diagram 1	189	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0		920 1200 1400 2800 3600 5300 8300 10000		3.9 2.9 2.5 1.9 1.4 1.1 0.8 0.56 0.48	0.062 0.037 0.016 0.032 0.016 0.007 0.015 0.007 0.0035	20 26 29 24 33 40 31 44 54	11 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12
	300	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0		870 1200 1500 1900 3000 4000 5300 8800 11000		4.1 3.0 2.4 1.9 1.3 1.1 0.9 0.52 0.46	0.065 0.034 0.016 0.032 0.016 0.007 0.015 0.007 0.0035	38 52 68 44 68 80 57 82 92	12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12

• One triode unit.

RESISTANCE-COUPLED AMPLIFIERS

Ebb	Rp	Rg	Rg2	R _k	C 52	Ck	C	E.*	V.6.	7
90	0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47	0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2		2680 3060 3390 5500 6300 6930 10900 12500 13500		2.4 2.00 1.84 1.33 1.01 0.92 0.63 0.52 0.47	0.026 0.014 0.0074 0.0136 0.0067 0.0038 0.007 0.0043 0.0031	8 11 13 10 14 15 13 14 18	24 25 28 25 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28 28	6AB4 12AT7/
180	0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47	0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2		1407 1674 1786 2890 3860 4660 6960 8450 9600		3.6 3.0 2.6 1.75 1.34 1.14 0.83 0.67 0.55	0.029 0.016 0.0083 0.0140 0.0077 0.0047 0.0075 0.0046 0.0032	20 28 31 24 35 42 31 39 45	31 33 34 33 33 33 31 32 32	See Circuit Diagram 1
300	0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47	0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2		974 1404 2169 2510 4200 4950 5700 8720 9700		4.0 3.1 2.5 1.9 1.3 1.1 0.90 0.62 0.57	0.028 0.015 0.0083 0.015 0.0074 0.0046 0.0076 0.0041 0.0030	37 57 78 50 78 85 57 81 88	34 34 33 33 33 32 33 32 32 32	
90	0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47	0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2		4200 4600 4800 7000 7800 8100 12000 14000 15000		2.5 2.2 2.0 1.5 1.3 1.1 0.83 0.7 0.6	0.025 0.014 0.0065 0.013 0.007 0.0035 0.006 0.0035 0.002	5.4 7.5 9.1 7.3 10 12 10 14 16	22 27 30 30 34 37 36 39 41	5
180	0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47	0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2		1900 2200 2500 3400 4100 4600 6600 8100 9100		3.6 3.1 2.8 2.2 1.7 1.5 1.1 0.9 0.8	0.027 0.014 0.0065 0.014 0.0065 0.0035 0.0065 0.0035 0.0035 0.002	19 25 32 24 34 38 29 38 43	30 35 37 38 42 44 44 44 46 47	5T8 6AT6 6CN7 6SL7GT 6T8A 8CN7 12AT6
300	0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47	0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 0.1 0.47 1.0 2.2		1500 1800 2100 2600 3200 3700 5200 6300 7200		4.4 3.6 3.0 2.5 1.9 1.6 1.2 1.0 0.9	0.027 0.014 0.0065 0.013 0.0065 0.0035 0.006 0.0035 0.006 0.0035	40 54 63 51 65 77 61 74 85	34 38 41 42 46 48 48 50 51	12SL7GT 19T8 See Circuit Diagram 1

· One triode unit.

	Ebb	Rp	Re	R _{g2}	Rĸ	C _{g2}	Ck	C	E .*	V.G.
6 As Pentode: 5879	90	0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47	0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2	0.35 0.35 0.35 0.80 0.80 0.80 1.9 1.9 1.9	1700 1700 1700 3000 3000 3000 7000 7000	0.044 0.046 0.047 0.034 0.035 0.036 0.021 0.022 0.023	4.6 4.5 4.4 3.2 3.1 3.0 1.8 1.7 1.7	0.020 0.012 0.006 0.010 0.005 0.003 0.005 0.003 0.002	13 17 20 15 21 24 21 25 28	29 39 47 43 59 67 59 75 87
See Circuit Diagram 2	180	0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47	0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2	0.35 0.35 0.35 0.80 0.80 0.80 1.9 1.9 1.9	700 700 700 1200 1200 1200 2500 2500 2500	0.060 0.062 0.064 0.045 0.046 0.048 0.033 0.034 0.035	7.4 7.3 7.2 5.5 5.3 5.2 3.5 3.4 3.3	0.020 0.012 0.006 0.010 0.005 0.003 0.005 0.003 0.002	24 28 33 24 31 34 27 32 37	39 56 65 87 101 98 122 140
	300	0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47	0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2	0.35 0.35 0.35 0.80 0.80 0.80 1.3 1.3 1.3	300 300 600 600 1200 1200 1200	0.075 0.077 0.080 0.056 0.057 0.058 0.044 0.046 0.047	10.8 10.6 10.5 7.9 7.5 7.4 5.3 5.2 5.1	0.020 0.012 0.006 0.010 0.005 0.003 0.005 0.003 0.002	25 32 35 28 37 41 34 42 48	51 68 83 81 109 123 125 152 174
7	90	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.00		1800 2100 2200 3200 3900 4300 6200 8100 9000		2.9 2.4 2.3 1.8 1.3 1.0 0.87 0.53 0.49	0.060 0.033 0.016 0.027 0.015 0.007 0.015 0.006 0.003	9 12 14 10 13 16 12 16 19	10 11 21 12 13 13 13 13 13 14
As Triode: 5879 See Circuit Diagram 1	180	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.00		1200 1600 1800 2200 2900 3400 4500 6400 8200		3.5 2.6 2.4 1.9 1.35 1.1 0.92 0.61 0.52	0.063 0.033 0.016 0.031 0.015 0.007 0.015 0.006 0.003	21 29 35 26 33 40 28 39 47	12 13 13 13 14 14 14 14 14 14
	300	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.00		1100 1500 1700 2000 3400 3700 4300 7200 7400		3.9 2.8 2.5 2.1 1.4 1.1 0.97 0.63 0.63	0.063 0.033 0.016 0.032 0.015 0.007 0.015 0.007 0.003	42 65 71 45 74 83 50 88 94	13 13 14 15 15 15 15 15 15 15

· Peak volts

RESISTANCE-COUPLED AMPLIFIERS

Еьь	Rp	R _g	R _{g2}	Rĸ	Cg2	Cĸ	C	E .*	V.G.
90	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.00		1870 2230 2500 3370 4100 4800 7000 9100 10500		3.1 2.5 2.1 1.8 1.3 1.1 0.80 0.65 0.60	0.063 0.031 0.016 0.034 0.015 0.006 0.013 0.007 0.004	14 18 20 15 20 23 16 22 25	13 14 14 14 14 15 14 14 15
180	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.00		1500 1860 2160 2750 3550 4140 5150 7000 7800		3.6 2.9 2.2 1.8 1.4 1.3 1.0 0.71 0.61	0.066 0.055 0.015 0.028 0.015 0.007 0.016 0.007 0.004	33 41 47 35 45 51 36 45 51	14 14 15 15 16 16 16
300	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.00		1300 1580 1800 2500 3130 3900 4800 6500 7800		3.6 3.0 2.5 1.9 1.4 1.2 0.95 0.69 0.58	$\begin{array}{c} 0.061\\ 0.032\\ 0.015\\ 0.031\\ 0.014\\ 0.0065\\ 0.015\\ 0.0065\\ 0.0035\\ \end{array}$	59 73 83 68 82 96 68 85 96	14 15 16 16 16 16 16 16 16
30	0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47	0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2		4400 4700 4800 7000 7400 7600 12000 13000 14000		2.7 2.4 2.3 1.6 1.4 1.3 0.9 0.8 0.7	0.023 0.013 0.007 0.012 0.006 0.003 0.006 0.003 0.002	5 6 8 9 11 9 11 13	29 35 41 39 45 48 48 52 55
180	0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47	0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2		1800 2000 2200 3000 3500 3900 5800 6700 7400		4.0 3.5 3.1 2.4 2.1 1.8 1.3 1.1 1.0	0.025 0.013 0.006 0.012 0.006 0.003 0.006 0.003 0.002	18 25 32 24 39 30 39 45	40 47 52 53 59 63 62 66 68
30 8	0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47	0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2		1300 1500 1700 2800 3100 4300 5200 5900		4.6 4.0 3.6 3.0 2.3 2.1 1.6 1.3 1.1	0.027 0.013 0.006 0.013 0.006 0.003 0.006 0.003 0.006 0.003 0.002	43 57 66 54 69 79 62 77 92	45 52 57 65 68 69 73 75

(8)

6FQ7/ 6CG7• 6SN7GTB• 8FQ7/ 8CG7• 12FQ7• 12SN7GTA•

> See Circuit Diagram 1

> > 9

3AV6 4AV6 6AV6 6EU7* 12AV6 12AX7A/ ECC83* 20EZ7* 7025*

See Circuit Diagram 1

647

* Peak volts.
| 4BQ7A/
4BZ7*
5BK7A*
5BQ7A*
6BK7B*
6BQ7A/
6BZ7/
6BS8* |
|---|
| See Circuit
Diagram 1 |
| 11)
3BC5/
3CE5 |
| 3CB6/
3CF6 |
| 4CB6
6AG5
6BC5/
6CE5
6CB6A/
6CF6 |

See Circuit Diagram 2

Epp	Rp	Re	R _{e2}	Rx	C #2	C,	C	E .*	V.G.
90	0.047 0.047 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.10 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0		1580 1760 1820 2920 3570 4020 6040 7500 8800		4.0 3.5 3.0 2.1 1.7 1.4 0.98 0.78 0.63	0.058 0.032 0.015 0.029 0.015 0.0075 0.0135 0.0075 0.0036	9 13 16 12 17 20 16 21 25	18 19 20 19 20 20 20 20 20 20
180	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0		694 817 905 1596 1630 1860 3950 4500 5530	1111111	6.0 4.4 4.0 2.80 2.30 2.00 1.24 0.96 0.79	0.062 0.032 0.0155 0.030 0.0152 0.0073 0.0150 0.0072 0.0038	25 32 35 30 32 38 35 41 49	23 24 25 23 24 24 22 23 23
300	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.10 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0		438 542 644 1009 1332 1609 2623 3900 4920		6.70 5.50 4.30 3.5 2.5 2.1 1.5 1.1 0.88	0.062 0.032 0.016 0.031 0.015 0.0074 0.015 0.0073 0.0039	38 48 57 42 56 64 50 70 84	26 27 25 26 25 24 24 24
90	0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47 1.0 1.0	0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2 1.0 2.2	0.480 0.480 0.500 1.04 1.04 1.10 2.50 2.50	3800 3800 4400 7200 7700 8400 16000 18600	0.046 0.049 0.045 0.033 0.033 0.031 0.018 0.016	5.5 5.5 5.3 2.9 2.8 2.6 1.4 1.2	0.0084 0.0054 0.0034 0.0029 0.0029 0.0020 0.0023 0.0017	10 16 23 10 15 18 10 11	89 114 128 111 133 152 118 139
180	0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47 1.0 1.0	0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2 1.0 2.2	0.550 0.620 0.650 1.00 1.00 1.00 2.60 2.60	1600 1800 1900 3400 3500 3800 7300 7400	0.072 0.062 0.062 0.059 0.059 0.059 0.059 0.029 0.029	9.5 8.5 6.0 6.0 5.8 2.7 2.7	0.0090 0.0053 0.0034 0.0048 0.0031 0.0020 0.0022 0.0016	30 36 43 34 41 46 33 38	161 208 239 183 229 262 227 281
300	0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 1.0 1.0	0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2 1.0 2.2	0.600 0.680 0.700 1.25 1.34 1.53 2.60 3.00	980 1090 1150 2000 2150 2350 4000 4700	0.085 0.084 0.081 0.064 0.061 0.057 0.044 0.038	13.0 12.0 11.0 7.9 7.6 7.1 5.2 4.3	0.0085 0.0055 0.0033 0.0045 0.0029 0.0019 0.0023 0.0015	51 64 74 52 67 79 51 69	223 288 334 285 363 416 334 427

• One triode unit.

* Peak volts.

Ebb	Rp	R _s	R _{g2}	Rĸ	C _{g2}	C ĸ	C	E°.	V.G.]
90	0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47 1.0 1.0	0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2 1.0 2.2	0.560 0.600 0.640 0.870 0.980 1.00 2.00 2.20	3700 3900 4200 6000 6700 6700 12200 12800	0.046 0.043 0.039 0.036 0.044 0.043 0.021 0.024	4.50 4.30 4.00 2.70 3.00 2.80 1.44 1.74	0.0090 0.0055 0.0033 0.0046 0.0030 0.0020 0.0028 0.0016	12 17 19 16 22 25 15 21	73 95 109 95 113 131 119 167	12 7199
180	0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47 1.0 1.0	0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2 1.0 2.2	0.530 0.600 0.650 1.12 1.40 1.57 2.50 3.40	1570 1730 1820 3200 3500 3740 6500 7500	0.069 0.064 0.053 0.042 0.040 0.039 0.026	7.50 7.40 7.30 5.30 5.10 5.40 2.80 2.30	0.0088 0.0064 0.0034 0.0046 0.0028 0.0019 0.0024 0.0015	32 38 45 35 40 45 34 39	82 164 190 147 209 250 179 277	Pentode Unit
300	0.22 0.22 0.22 0.47 0.47 0.47 1.0 1.0	0.22 0.47 1.0 0.47 1.0 2.2 1.0 2.2	0.600 0.670 0.720 1.25 1.43 1.45 3.00 3.30	9200 1010 1100 1950 3210 2200 4100 4340	0.086 0.076 0.076 0.060 0.053 0.055 0.040 0.037	11.2 10.5 10.0 7.0 6.4 6.3 4.2 3.6	0.0085 0.0052 0.0033 0.0044 0.0027 0.0019 0.0022 0.0016	52 66 77 41 72 82 57 74	182 236 257 221 296 345 295 378	See Circuit Diagram 2
90	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0		1292 1401 1470 2630 3090 3440 6550 8270 9130		3.3 2.8 2.4 1.60 1.24 1.10 0.70 0.51 0.44	0.060 0.032 0.016 0.029 0.015 0.008 0.015 0.0077 0.0045	8 10 11 9 12 14 12 16 18	12 13 13 13 13 13 14 12 12 12	(13)
180	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0		723 836 948 1543 2002 2522 4390 6122 8060		4.0 3.5 2.9 2.0 1.6 1.2 0.79 0.57 0.47	0.061 0.032 0.016 0.031 0.016 0.0082 0.015 0.0078 0.0046	16 20 24 17 24 30 24 33 41	14 14 15 14 14 13 13 12 12	7199 Triode Unit
309	0.047 0.047 0.047 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.22 0.22 0.22	0.047 0.1 0.22 0.1 0.22 0.47 0.22 0.47 1.0		534 726 840 1117 1613 2043 3133 4480 4930		4.0 3.6 3.0 2.3 1.7 1.31 0.93 0.69 0.56	0.061 0.031 0.015 0.031 0.0155 0.0078 0.015 0,0079 0.0045	27 38 44 26 41 51 36 51 55	15 15 15 14 14 13 13 13	See Circuit Diagram 1

Replacement Guide-Entertainment Receiving Types

This guide was prepared to assist in the selection of current direct replacement tube types for foreign and domestic receiving tubes. Domestic and foreign receiving tubes are listed in numerical alphabetical sequence with the RCA type that can be used as a direct replacement. Types replaceable only by themselves are not included. Whenever possible, a defective tube should be replaced by a type having the same number, or a superseding number.

The primary considerations in selecting direct replacement tubes for this guide are: (1) mechanical interchangeability, (2) electrical interchangeability, (3) performance characteristics similar to that of the original equipment. All replacements shown are unilateral — that is the RCA tube can replace the indicated type. The reverse however, is not always permissible because of differences in electrical ratings. In some compact equipment designs, space limitations may make the suggested replacement impractical.

Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type	Type to be Replaced	e Replace by RCA Type	Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
0Z4, 0Z4A, 0Z4G 1AE4 1AF4 1AM4	0Z4A/0Z4 1L4*, 1T4* 1U4* 1T4	2FY5 2GK5 2GU5 2HA5, 2HK5 2HM5	2GK5/2FQ5A 2GK5/2FQ5A 2FS5 5, 2HM5/2HA5	3EH7 3EJ7 3EV5 3FH5, 3FQ5, 3FQ5A, 3FQ5A, 3FY5	3EH7/XF183 3EJ7/XF184 3CY5 3ER5*, 3GK5
1AQ5 1AR5 1AS5 1B3GT 1BX2	1R5* 1U5 1U5 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1X2C, 1X2B	274 3AF4, 3AF4 3AW3	2AF4B/2DZ4* A 3AF4A/3DZ4 3A3C, 3DB3/3CY3,* 3DJ3	3GS8 3GU5	3BU8/3CS8 3FS5* 3HM5/3HA5 3JC6A 3JC6A
1BY2A 1C1 1DN5 1F2 1F3	1AD2A* 1R5 1U5 1L4 1T4	3B2 3B5 3BA6	3A3C, 3DB3/3CY3,* 3DJ3 3Q5GT 3AU6	3JD6 3KF8 3M-R24 3M-V7	3JC6A 3BU8/3GS8, 3HS8 3DK6 3BZ6
1FD9 1G3GT, 1G3GTA 1H33 1J3, 1J3A	185 1636TA/1B36T 1R5* 1K3A/1J3	3BC5 3BE6 3BS2, 3BS2 3BS2B, 3BT2, 3BT2, 3BT2A	3BC5/3CE5 3CS6 A, 3BW2/3BS2A/ 3BT2	3Q5, 3Q5G, 3Q5GT, 3Q5GT/G 3S4, 3W4, 3Z4	3Q5GT 3Q4*
1K3, 1K3A 1N2, 1N2A 1P10 1P11	1K3A/1J3 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1KA3A/1J3 3S4 3V4		A 3BU8/3GS8 3BW2/3BS2A/3BT2 3CS6 3V4* 3Q5GT	48A6 48C5 48E6 48L8 48Q7, 48Q7A	4AU6* 4CB6*, 4DK6* 4CS6 4BL8/XCF80 4BQ7A/48Z7
1U6 2A3H 2AF4, 2AF4A, 2AF4B 2AH2	1L6* 2A3 2AF4B/2DZ4 2BU2/2AH2	3CB6 3CE5 3CF6	3CB6/3CF6 3BC5/3CE5 3CB6/3CF6 A 3A3C, 3DB3/3CY3 3DJ3	4858 4808, 4808A 48X8 48Y6 48Z7	4BQ7A/4BZ7 4BU8/4GS8 4BQ7A/4BZ7 4CS6 4BQ7A/4BZ7
28A2 28U2 2C22 2DZ4 2EA5	2AV2 2BU2/2AH2 6J5, 6J5GT 2AF4B/2DZ4 2CY5	3CX3 3CY3 3DA3 3DB3 3DE3 3DE6	3DA3/3DH3 3DB3/3CY3, 3DJ3 3DA3/3DH3 3DB3/3CY3 3BB3/3CY3 3BZ6	4CF6	4BQ7A/4BZ7, 4BC8 4CB6*, 4DK6* 4CB6, 4DE6, 4DK6 4EH7/LF183
2FQ5, 2FA5A	2GK5/2FQ5A 2GK5/2FQ5A 2CY5 2GK5/2FQ5A 2GK5/2FQ5A 2CY5	3DH3 3DH3 3DZ4 3E5 3EA5	3DA3/3DH3 3AF4A/3DZ4 3V4* 3CY5	4E\$8	4EJ7/LF184 4ES8 XCC189 4LU6 4GK5

REPLACEMENT GUIDE-ENTERTAINMENT TYPES

Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
4GJ7 4GM6 4GS7 4GS8 4HA5, 4HK5, 4HM5	4GJ7/XCF801 4LU6 4LJ8*, 5FG7* 4BU8/4GS8 4HM5/4HA5, 4HQ5
4HT6 4JK6 4JL6 4FK8	4JD6, 4JC6A* 4LU6 4LU6 4BU8/4GS8, 4HS8
4KN8 4RHH2 4RHH8 5AR4 5AU4	4KN8/4RHH8 4BQ7A/4BZ7 4KN8/4RHH8 5AR4/GZ34 5V3A/5AU4, 5U4GB, 5AS4A
5AV8 5AW4, 5AX4GT 5BC8 5BE8	588* 504GB, 5AS4A, 5V3A/5AU4 58Q7A 58R8/5FV8*
5BR8 5BS8 5BZ7 5CG4	5BR8/5FV8 5BQ7A 5BQ7A 5BQ7A 5AR4/GZ34, 5V4GA, 5Z4
5CM8 5CQ8 5CR8 5DH8 5EH8	5KZ8 5GH8A, 5EA8, 5U8 5KZ8* 5BR8/5FV8* 5X8*
5FV8 5GJ7 5GX6 5MHH3	5BR8/5FV8, 5CL8A* 5GJ7/LCF801 5HZ6 5J6
5MQ8 5RHH2 5RHP1 5T4	6MU8, 6HL8, 5GH8A 5BQ7A 4BL8/XCF80 5R4GB 5AR4/GZ34
5V3, 5V3A 5W4, 5W4G, 5W4GT 5X3 5Y4G, 5Y4GA	5V3A/5AU4 5Y3GT, 5Z4 80 ,5U4GB, 5AS4A, 5V3A/5AU4
524GT, 524GT, 524GT/G, 524MG	54361, 50468, 5884A, 5V3A/5AU4
	5U4G8
6ABMG 6AB7, 6AB7Y	,6A8 6AC7, 6SG7*, 6SH7*
6AC7A, 6AC7Y,	6AC7
6AC7WA 6AD6G 6AF6GT	6AF6G 6AF6G

Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
6AG5WA 6AG7Y 6AH6WA 6AJ4 6AJ7	6AG5 6AG7 6AH6 6AM4* 6AC7, 6SG7*, 6SH7*
6AJ8 6AK5 6AK7 6AK8 6AL3	6AJ8/ECH81 6AK5/EF95 6AG7 6AK8/EABC80 6AL3/EY88
5AL9 6AQ8 6AR8 6AU7 6AW6	5AG9 6AQ8/ECC85 6JH8* 7AU7 6CB6A/6CF6, 6DE6, 6DC6
686, 686G 688G, 688GT 6832 68A6 68C5	6AL5 6BA6/EF93 6BC5/6CE5
	6BC8/6BZ8 6BK4C/6EL4A 6BE3/6BZ3 6BR8A/6FV8A, 6CL8A, 6FG7
6BC32 6BD5GT 6BK4.6BK4A 6BK48, 6BK4C	6AT6 6AU5GT*, 6AV5GA* ,6BK4C/6EL4A
6BK6 6BK11	6AT6, 6AV6 6K11/6BQ11*, 6AC10 6BL8/ECF80 6AQ5A, 6HG5
6BL8 68M5	6BL8/ECF80 6AQ5A, 6HG5
68M8 68N6 68Q5 68Q6G, 68Q6GA, 68Q6GT, 68Q6GTA, 68Q6GTB	6BM8/ECL82 6BN6/6KS6 6BQ5/EL84 6BQ6GTB/6CU6
6BQ7, 6BQ7A 6BR3 6BR8 6BS8 6BT6	6BQ7A/6BZ7/6BS8 6BR3/RK19 6BR8A/6FV8A 6BQ7A/6BZ7/6BS8 6AT6, 6AV6
6BU6 6BW3 6BW7	6BF6 6CG3/6BW3/6DQ3 6HM6*, 6EJ7*,
	6HM6", 6EJ/", 6JC6A* 6BC8/6BZ8, 6BQ7A/6BZ7/ 6BS8
	6BE3/6BZ3 6BQ7A/6BZ7/6BS8 6BC8/6BZ8 16C4 6C5
6C8G 6C16 6C31 6CA7 6CB6, 6CB6A	6F8G* 6BL8/ECF80 6K8 6CA7/EL34 6CB6A/6CF6

Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
6CC31 6CC43 6CD3 6CE3 6CE5	6J6A 6AQ8/ECC85 6CE3/6CD3/6DT3 6CE3/6CD3/6DT3 6BC5/6CE5
6CF6 6CG3 6CG6 6CG7 6CH3	6CB6A/6CF6 6CG3/6BW3/6DQ3 6BA6/EF93, 6BD6 6FQ7/6CG7 6CJ3/6CH3
6CJ3 6CK3 6CL3 6CQ4 6CR8	6CJ3/6CH3 6CL3/6CK3 6CL3/6CK3 6DE4/6CQ4 6CM8*, 6KZ8*
6C\$5 6C\$8 6CU6 6CW5 6D2	6CM6* 6CM8*, 6KZ8* 6BQ6GTB/6CU6 6CW5/EL86 6AL5
6D8, 6D8G 6DA4, 6DA4A 6DE4 6DK3 6DL4	6A8
6DL5 6DM4, 6DM4A	6DL5/EL95 6DM4A/6DA4
6DQ3 6DQ4	6CG3/6BW3/6DQ3 6AX4GTB, 6DE4/6CQ4
6DQ6, 6D6A, 6DQ6B 6DT3 5DT4	6GW6/6DQ6B 6CE3/6CD3/6DT3 6AU4GTA, 6DE4/6CQ4, 6DM4A/6DQ4
6DW5 6DX8 6DY5	6CM6 6DX8/ECL84 6CW5*, 6BQ5/ EL84
6EA4	6EH4A
6EA5 6EA7 6EB5 6EC4, 6EC4A	6EV5, 6AK5/ EF95*, 6CY5 6EM7/6EA7 6AL5 6EC4A/EY500
6EF4 6EF6	6EJ4A 6EZ5*, 6W6GT*, 6DG6GT* 6EH7/EF183 6EJ7/EF184
6EH7 6EJ7	6EH7/EF183 6EJ7/EF184
6EL4, 6EL4A 6EL7	68K4C/6EL4A 6HM6*, 6EJ7*, 6JC6A* 6EM7/6EA7 6ES8/ECC189
6EM7 6ES8	6EM7/6EA7 6ES8/ECC189
6ET6	6DT6A*, 6GY6/6GX6*,
	6KU8* 6CD6GA 6EZ5
6F5G, 6F5GT, 6F5MG 6F6, 6F6G, 6F6GT, 6F6GT/G, 6F6MG	6F5 6F6, 6F6GT

652

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
6F10 6F24 6F29 6F30 6F31	6AC7 6EJ7/EF184 6EH7/EF183 6EJ7/EF184 6AU6A
6F32 6F36 6FG5 6FG6, 6FG6G 6FH6	6AK5/EF95 6AH6 6FS5, 6HS6* 6FG6/EM84 6GW6/6DQ6B
6FQ5, 8FQ5A 6FQ7 6FR7 6FV8, 6FV8A 6FW8	6GK5/6FQ5A 6FQ7/6CG7 6FD7 6BR8a/6FV8A 6KN8/6RHH8, 6DJ8/ECC88, 6ES8/ECC189
6FY5 6G5 6GA8	6FY5/EC97 6U5 6FQ7/6CG7*, 6GU7*
6GB3A 6GB5 6GB6, 6GB7, 6GB9 6GD7	6BQ6GTB/6CU6. 6GB5/EL500 6GW6/6DQ6B 6LJ8*, 6CG8A*, 6FG7*
6GJ7 6GJ8 6GK5 6GK17 6GQ7	6GJ7/ECF801 6GH8A*, 6HL8, 6MU8 6GK5/6FQ5A 6AU4GTA 6BC7*, 6BJ7*
6GV8 6GW6	6BU8, 6HS8, 6MK8A 6FS5* 6GV8/ECL85 6GW6/6DQ6B
6GW8 6GX6 6GY6 6H5 6H6G, 6H6GT, 6H6GT/G, 6H6MG	6GW8/ECL86 6GY6/6GX6 6GY6/6GX6 6U5
6H31 6HA5 6HA6 6HB6 6HC8	6BE6 6HM5/6HA5 6HB6/6HA6 6HB6/6HA6 6BM8/ECL82*
6НЕ5 6Н G8 6НК5 6НК8	6JB5/6HE5 6HG8/ECF86 6HQ5 6BC8/6BZ8, 6BQ7A/6BZ7/ 6BS8, 6BK7B
6HM5 6HQ6 6HT6	6HM5/6HA5 6BZ6, 6JH6, 6GM6* 6HM6, 6JC6A, 6JD6
6HU6 6HU8 6HZ5 6HZ8	6HU6/EM87 6HU8/ELL80 6HZ5/6JD5 6AW8A, 6HF8, 6LF8, 6JV8

Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
6J5, 6J5G, 6J5GT, 6J5GT, 6J5GTX, 6J5GX, 6J5GX, 6J5MG	6J5, 6J5GT
6J7, 6J7G, 6J7GT, 6J7GTX, 6J7MG 6J10	6J7 6Z10/6J10
6JB5 6JC5 6JD5 6JE6, 6JE6A, 6JE6B, 6JE6C	6JB5/6HE5 6JB5/6HE5 6H25/6JD5 6MJ6/6LQ6/ 6JE6C, 6LQ6/6JE6C
6JL6	6EW6, 6JK6, 6GM6
6JN6, 6JN6A 6JW8	6JN6 6JW8/ECF802
6K6, 6K6G, 6K6GT, 6K6GT/G, 6K6MG	6K6GT
6K7, 6K7G, 6K7GT, 6K7GTX, 6K7MG	6K7
6K8, 6K8G, 6K8GT, 6K8GTX	6K8
6K11 6KD8	6K11/6Q11 6U8A/6KD8
6KF8	6BU8, 6HS8, 6GS8, 6MK8A
6KG6A 6KN8 6KS6	68U8, 6HS8, 6GS8, 6MK8A 6KG6A/EL509 6KN8/6RHH8 6BN6/6KS6
6KS8	
6KV8	6AW8A, 6JV8, 6LF8, 6HF8 6JT8, 6KR8, 6LB8, 6LQ8 6J5, 6J5GT, 6C5
6L5G	615, 615GT, 6C5
6L6, 6L6A, 6L6G, 6L6GA, 5L5GB, 5L5GB, 6L6GC, 6L6GT, 6L6GX, 6L6GX,	6L6GC
6L7, 6L7G 6L10 6L12 6L13 6L31	6L7 6AG7 6AQ8/ECC85 12AX7A/ECC83 6AQ5A
6L43 6LD12 6LF6	6CL6 6AK8/EABC80 6LF 6 /6MH6,
6LD12 6LF6 6LH6, 6LH6A 6LJ6, 6LJ6A	6LJ6A/6LH6A 6LJ6A/6LH6A

Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
6LN8 6LP12 6LQ6	6LN8/LCF80 6BM8/ECL82 6MJ6/6LQ6/ 6JE6C, 6LQ6/6JE6C 6LX8/LCF802
6LX8	
6M1 6M7G 6MH6	6U5 6K7* 6LF6/6MH6, 6LX6*
6MHH3 6MJ6	6J6 6MJ6/6LQ6/6JE6C
6N7, 6N7G, 6N7GT, 6N7GT/G, 6N7MG 6P9	6N7, 6N7GT 6AQ5A, 6HG5
6P15	6BQ5/EL84
6PL12 6Q7, 6Q7G, 6Q7GT, 6Q7MG	6BM8/ECL82 6Q7
6Q8	6A8
6Q11 6R3 6R8	6K11/6Q11 6AF3, 6AL3/EY88, 6BR3/6RK19 6T94
6RHH2	6T8A 6BC8/6BZ8
6RHH8 6RK19 6S5G 6S7, 6S7G	6KN8/6RHH8 6BR3/6RK19 6E5 6K7
6SA7G, 6SA7GT, 6SA7GT/G 6SA7GTX, 6SA7GTX, 6SA7GTY,	6SA7
6SB7, 6SB7GTY, 6SB7Y 6SC7,	6SB7Y
6SC7, 6SC7GT, 6SC7GTY	6SC7
6SG7, 6SG7GT, 6SG7Y 6SH7	6SG7
6SH7, 6SH7GT, 6SH7L	6SH7
6SJ7,	6\$J7
6SJ7, 6SJ7GT, 6SJ7GTX, 6SJ7GTX, 6SJ7GTY, 6SJ7Y	
6SK7GT, 6SK7GT/G 6SK7GTX, 6SK7GTY, 6SK7Y, 6SK7W, 6SK7WA, 6SK7WA,	,65K7, 65K7GT ,
6SL7A, 6SL7GT, 6SL7TY, 6SL7L	6SL7GT

REPLACEMENT GUIDE-ENTERTAINMENT TYPES

Type te be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
6SN7A, 6SN7GTA, 6V6GTA, 6SN7GTB, 6SN7GTY, 6SN7L	6SN7GTB
6SQ7, 6SQ7G, 6SQ7GT 6SQ7GT/G 6SR7, 6SR7G	6SQ7
6587GT 6557, 6557GT 6577 6577 6527 671	6SK7, 6SK7GT 6SR7 6SQ7 6AF4, 6AF4A, 6DZ4
6T5 6T7G 6U4GT	6U5 6Q7 6AX4GTB, 6DM4A/ 6DQ4, 6DQ4, 6DE4, 6CQ4, 6W4GT
6U6GT 6U7G 6U8, 6U8A 6U9 6V4	6Y6GA/6Y6G 6K7, 6J7 6U8A/6KD8 6U9/ECF201 6CA4
6V6G. 6V6GT, 6V6GTA, 6V6GT/G, 6V6GTX, 6V6GX, 6V6GTY, 6V6GY	6V6GTA
6W5G, 6W5GT 6W7G 6X5, 6X5G, 6X5GT, 6X5GT/G, 6X5L, 6X5MG, 6X5W, 6X5W, 6X5WGT	6AX5GT, 6X5GT 6J7 6X5GT
6X9 6Y6G, 6Y6GT, 6Y6GA	6X9/ECF200 6Y6GA/6Y6G
6Y9 6Z10 6Z31 6ZY5G 7D11 7HG8 8A8	6Y9/EFL200 6Z10/6J10 6X4 6X5GT 6CA7/EL34 7H68/PCF86 9A8/PCF86, 9GH8A, SU8A
8BA8A 8BH8	8AU8, 8AW8A 8AU8, 8AW8A, 8JV8
8CG7 8CW5, 8CW5A 8EB8	8FQ7/8CG7 8CW5/XL86 8GN8/8EB8
8FQ7 8GJ7 8GN8 8GX7 8JE8	8FQ7/8CG7 8GJ7/PCF801 8GN8/8EB8 8GJ7/PCF801* 8CX8, 8GN8/8EB8

Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
9A8 9AQ8	8AU8, 8AW8A, 8JV8 9A8/PCF80 9A8/PCC85 9GH8A, 9U8A 9GV8/XCL85
9EA8 9GV8 9JW8	
9RAL1 9RHH2 10CW5 10D2	9JW8/PCF802 10DE7, 10EW7 9GH8A 10CW5/LL86 12AL5
10DX8 10GV8 10JA8 10LZ8 10PL12	10DX8/LCL84 10GV8/LCL85 10JA8/10L28 10JA8/10L28 50BM8/UCL82
12AC6 12AD7 12AF3 12AG6 12AS5	12AF6, 12BL6 12AX7A/ECC83, 7025 12AF3/12BR3/12RK19 12AD6 12CA5, 12R5
12AT7 12AU7, 12AU7A	12AT7/ECC81 12AU7A/ECC82
128814 128C22 12BC32	13GB5/XL500 12AV6 12AV6 12AV6
12BD6 12BK6 12BQ6GA, 12BQ6GT, 12BA6GTA, 12BQ6GTB	128A6 12AT6, 12AV6 128Q6GTB/12CU6
128U6 128R3 128S3, 128S3A	12BF6 12AF3/12BR3/12RK19 12BS3A/12DW4A
12BT6 12BV7	12AT6, 12AV6 12BY7A/12BV7/12DQ7
12BY7, 12BY7A 12C5	12BY7A/12BV7/12DQ7 12CU5/12C5
12CK3 12CS6 12CU5	12CU5/12C5 12CL3, 12BS3A/ 12DW4A 12BE6 12CU5/12C5
12CU6 12CX6 12DF7 12DL8 12DM4, 12DM4A	12BQ6GTB/12CU6 12BL6, 12AF6 12AX7A/ECC83, 7025 12DS7* 12D4
12DM5 12DM7	12FX5 12AX7A/ECC83*, 7025*
12DQ6, 12DQ6A, 12DQ6B 12DQ7	12GW6/12DQ6B 12BY7A/12BV7/12DQ7
12DT7 12DW4A 12DZ6 12E5GT 12E13	12AX7A/ECC83, 7025 12BS3A/12DW4A 12EK6/12DZ6/12EA6 12JSGT 6550, 6CA7/EL34

Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
12EA6 12ED5 12EH5 12EK6 12EK6 12EN6	12EK6/12DZ6/12EA6 12FX5 12CA5, 12CU5/12C5 12EK6/12DZ6/12EA6 12L6GT, 12W6GT
12EX6 12F31 12FT6 12GB3 12GB6, 12GB7	12EK6/12DZ6/12EA6 12BA6 12AE6A, 12BF6 12BQ6GTB/12CU6 12GW6/12DQ6B
12GK17 12GN7, 12GN7A, 12GW6	12D4 12HG7/12GN7A 12GW6/12D068
12H31 12HG7	12GW6/12DQ6B 12BE6 12HG7/12GN7A
12RK19 12RLL3 12RLL5	12AF3/12BR3/12RK19 12AV7 12FQ7
12SA7G, 12SA7GT, 12SA7GT/(12SA7GT/(12SA7GT, 12SF7GT, 12SF7GT,	12SA7 G
12SF7GT, 12SF7Y	12\$F7
12SG7GT, 12SG7Y 12SH7GT	12567
12SJ7GT	12SH7 12SJ7
12SK7G, 12SK7GT, 12SK7GT/(12SK7GT/) 12SK7GTY, 12SK7Y	12SK7 G,
12SQ7G, 12SQ7GT, 12SQ1CT//	12SQ7
12SQ7G, 12SQ7G, 12SQ7GT, 12SQ1GT/0 12SX7GT 12SY7, 12SY7GT	
13D2 13EM7 13FM7 13FR7 13GB5	6SN7GTB 13EM7/15EA7 13FM7/15FM7 13FD7 13GB5/XL500
13FR7 13GB5	13FD7 13GB5/XL500
13J10 13Z10 14JG8	13Z10/13J10 13Z10/13J10 14GT8 15CW5/PL84 15DQ8/PCL84
150W5 15DQ8	15CW5/PL84 15DQ8/PCL84
15EA7 15EW7 15FM7	13EM7/15EA7 13DE7 13EM7/15EM7
15MX8 16A5	13FM7/15FM7 15KY8A 15CW5*
16A8 16AQ3 16MY8 17A8 17AB 10	16A8 /PCL82 16AQ3/XY88 16LU8A 19EA8 17AB 10 / 17X 10
17BE3 17BQ6GTB 17BR3 17B\$3, 17B\$3A	17BE3/17BZ3 17GW6/17DQ68 17BR3/17RK19 17BS3A/17DW4A

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
178Z3 17C5 17CL3	17E3/17BZ3 17CU5/17C5 17CK3, 17BS3A/ 17DW4 17CU5/17C5 17DM4A, 17D4
17CU5 17DQ4	17CU5/17C5 17DM4A, 17D4
17DQ6, 17DQ6A, 17DQ6B 17DW4A	17GW6/17DQ6B
17DW4A 17EW8	17BS3A/17DW4A 17EW8/HCC85
17GW6 17JR6 17LD8	17GW6/17DQ6B 17JG6A 15KV8A
17RK19 17X10	17JG6A 15KY8A 17BR3/17RK19 17AB10/17X10
17Z3 18GB5	17Z3/PY81 18GB5/LL500
18GE6, 18GE6A 18GV8	18FY6A 18GV8/PCL85
19C8 19CG3 19CL8A	19T8 19CG3/19DQ3
19CL8A 19DQ3 19JN8	1918 19CG3/19DQ3 19JN8/19CL8A 19CG3/19DQ3 19JN8/19CL8A
19MR9, 19MR10	18GD6A
19MR19 20AQ3 21EX6	18FW6A 20AQ3/LY88 25CD6GB, 25DN6
21JS6A 21MY8 24JE6, 24JE6A, 24JE6B	23JS6A 21LU8 24LQ6/24JE6C
24LQ6 25BQ6GA, 25BQ6GT, 25BQ6GTB	24LQ6/24JE6C 25BQ6GTB/25CU6
25GA5	25C5, 25EH5
25CU6 25E5 25EC6	258Q6GTB/25CU6 25E5/PL36 25CD6G8 25BQ6GTB/25CU6
25686	25BQ6GTB/25CU6 25L6GT/25W6GT
25L6, 25L6G, 25L6GT, 25L6GT/G 25W6GT	25L6GT/25W6GT
	2526GT
25Z6, 25Z6G, 25Z6GT, 25Z6GT/G, 25Z6MG 27GB5	27GB5/PL500
27685 28685	
29KQ6 30A5 30AE3 30C1	27GB5/PL500 29KQ6/PL521 35C5, 35EH5 30AE3/PY88 9A8/PCF80
30P4 30P18 30P19	25E5/PL36 15CW5/PL84 25E5/PL36
30PL12	16A8/PCL82

654

Type to be	Replace by
Replaced	RCA Type
30PL13, 30PL14	16GK6
30PL14 32ET5, 32ET5A	34GD5A
35Z5, 35Z5G, 35Z5GT/G	35Z5GT
36KD6	36KD6/40KD6
40KD6	36KD6/40KD6
40KG6, 40KG6A	40KG6A/P1.509
42EC4, 42EC4A	42EC4A/PY500
48A8	50BM8/UCL82
50BM8 50CA5 52KU, 53KU, 54KU	50BM8/UCL82 50EH5 5Y3GT
58HE7	53HK7
77	6C6
274	5V4GA
310A, 328A	6C6
349A	6K6GT
351A	6X5GT
403A	6AK5/EF95
731A	6AK5/EF95
1217	6BE6
1221	6C5
1225	6C6 6L7
1381HQ	6AK5/EF95
1611	6F6, 6F6GT
1613	6F6, 6F6GT
1649	6AC7
1655	6SC7
1852	6AC7
2057/6H6	6H6
3107	5V4GA
4707	6X4
5661	12SK7
5693	6517
5871	6V6GT
5910	1U4
5931	5U4GB
5932	7027A
5992	6V6GTA
6087	5Y3GT
6100	6C4
6106	5Y3GT
6113	6SL7GT
6134	6AC7
6135	6C4
6853	5Y3GT
6968	6AK5/EF95
7700	6C6
7717	6CY5
7724	14GT8
7732	6CB6A/6CF6
7733	12BY7A/12FV7/12DQ7
8016	1G3GTA/1B3GT
A61 A677 A863 A2900 B36	17Z3/PY81 6C6 6J7 12AT7/ECC81

Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
865 8152 8 309 8329 8339	6\$N7GTB 12AT7/ECC81 12AT7/ECC81 12AU7A/ECC82 12AU7A/ECC83
B719 B739 B749 B759 BPM04	6AQ8/ECC85 12AT7/ECC81 12AU7A/ECC82 12AX7A/ECC83 6AQ5A
CK1003 CSF80 CV1758, CV2742, C2795 D2M9, D27	0Z4A/0Z4 4BL8/XCF80
CV2742, C2795 D2M9, D27	1L4 6AL5
D63 D77, D152, D717	6H6 6AL5
D717 DAF92 DD6	1U5 6AL5
DF91 DF92 DF904	1T4 1L4 1U4
DH63 DH77	6Q7 6AT6
DH719 DK91 DL33 DL37	6AK8/EABC80 1R5 3Q5GT
DL94 →	6L6GC 3V4
DL95 DL012 DP61 DY30 DY80	3Q4 678A 6AK5/EF95 1G3GTA/1B3GT 1X2C, 1X2B
E81CC E82CC E83CC E90F E90Z	12AT7/ECC81 12AU7A/ECC82 12AX7A/ECC83 6BH6 6X4
E95F E99F	6AK5/EF95 6BJ6
E902 E2157 E2163	6816 6X4 12AT7/ECC81 12AU7A/ECC82
E2164 EAA91 EABC80	12AX7A/ECC83 6AL5 6AK8/EABC80, 6T8A
EB34 EB91	618A 6H6 6A15
EBC90 EBC91 EBF32 EC88 EC90	6AT6 6AV6 6B8 6DL4/EC88
	6DL4/EC88 6C4
EC92 EC94 EC95 EC97	6AB4 6AF4, 6AF4A 6ER5
EC97 EC900	6FY5/EC97, 6ER5 6HM5/6HA5
·	

REPLACEMENT GUIDE-ENTERTAINMENT TYPES

Type to be	Replace by
Replaced	RCA Type
ECC32	6SN7GTB
ECC35	6SL7GT
ECC81	12AT7/ECC81
ECC82	12AU7A/ECC82
ECC83	12AX7A/ECC83
ECC85	6AQ8/ECC85
ECC88	6ES8/ECC189
ECC91	6J6A
ECC180	6BQ7A/6BZ7/6BS8
ECC186	12AU7A/ECC82
ECC189	6ES8/ECC189
ECC801	12AT7/ECC81
ECC802	12AU7A/ECC82
ECC803	12AX7A/ECC83
ECC900	6HM5/6HA5
ECF80	6BL8/ECF80
ECF82	6U8A
ECF86	6HG8/ECF86
ECF200	6X9/ECF200
ECF201	6U9/ECF201
ECF801	6GJ7/ECF801
ECF802	6JW8/ECF802
ECH42	6C10
ECH81	6AJ8/ECH81
ECL82	6BM8/ECL82
EC184	6DX8/ECL84
EC185	6GV8/ECL85
EC186	6GW8/ECL86
EC100	6BQ7A/6BZ7/6BS8
EC1180	6BQ7A/6BZ7/6BS8
ED2	6AL5
EF36, EF37	6J7*
EF39	6K7
EF93	6BA6/EF93
EF94	6AU6A
EF95	6AK5/EF95
EF96	6AG5
EF183	6EH7/EF183
EF184	6EJ7/EF184
EF190	6BZ6
EF811	6EH7/EF183
EF814	6EJ7/EF184
EF905	6AK5/EF95
EF1200	6Y6/EFL200
EH90	6CS6
EK90	68E6
EL34	6CA7/EL34
EL36	6GW6/6DQ68*
EL37	6L6GC
EL84	6BQ5/EL84
EL86 EL90 EL95 EL180	6CW5/EL86 6AQ5A 6DL5/EL95 12BY7A/12BV7/ 12DQ7 6GB5/EL500
EL500 EL505, EL509	6GB5/EL500 6KG6A/EL509
ELF86	6HG8/ECF86
ELL80	6HU8/ELL80
EM35	6U5
EM84	6FG6/EM84
EM87	6HU6/EM87
EM840	6FG6/EM84
EY83	6AL3/EY88
EY88	6AL3/EY88
EY500	6EC4A/EY500

Type to be	Replace by
Replaced	RCA Type
EZ4	6CA4
EZ35	6X5GT
EZ81	6CA4
EZ90, EZ900	6X4
G77	6C6
GZ30	5Y3GT
GZ31	5U4GB
GZ32	5V4GA
GZ34, GZ37	5AR4/GZ34
H52	5U4GB
H63	6F5
H250	6C6
HAA91	12AL5
HABC80	19T8
HBC90	12AT6
HBC91	12AV6
HCC85	17EW8/HCC85
HD93	1X2B, 1X2C
HD94	6BQ6GTB/6CU6
HD96	25BQ6GTB/25CU6
HF93	12BA6
HF94	12AU6
HK90	12BE6
HL92	50C5
HM04	6BE6
HY90	35W4
HY145	1U4
HZ90	12X4
KT32	25L6GT/25W6GT
KT63	6F6, 6F6GT
KT66	6L6GC, 7027A*
KT71	50L6GT
KT77	6CA7/EL34
KTW63	6K7
KT263	6J7
L63	6J5, 6J5GT
L77	6C4
LC97	3GK5
LC900	3HM5/3HA5
LCF80	6LN8/LCF80
LCF86	5HG8/LCF86
LCF201	5U9/LCF201
LCF801	5GJ7/LCF801
LCF802	6LX8/LCF802
LCL82	11BM8
LCL84	10DX8/LCL84
LCL85	10GV8/LCL85
LCL200	10DX8/LCL84
LF183	4EH7/LF183
LF184	4EJ7/LF184
LL86	10CW5/LL86
LL500	18G85/LL500
LL521	21KQ6
LN119	50BM8/UCL82
LY88	20AQ3/LY88
LZ319, LZ329	9A8/PCF80
M8080	6C4
M9081	6J6A
M8101	6BA6/EF93
M8136	12AU7A/ECC82
M8137	12AX7A/ECC83
M8162	12AT7/ECC81
M8245	6AQ5A
MV6-5	6SA7
N15, N16	3Q5GT

Type to be	Replace by
Replaced	RCA Type
N 18	3Q4
N 19	3V4
N 30 EL	6LF6
N 63	6F6, 6F6GT
N 66	6K6GT
N77	6L6GC
N308	25E5/PL36
N369	16A8/PCL82
N378, N379	15CW5/PL84
N709	68Q5
N727	6AQ5A
OBC3	12SQ7
OM3	6H6
OM6	6K7
OSW2190	6AC7
0SW2192	6AG7
0SW2600	6AC7
0SW2601	6AG7
0SW3104	6SA7
0SW3105	6SQ7
OSW3106	6V6, 6V6GTA
OSW3107	5AR4/GZ34,
OSW3109	5V4GA, 5Z4
OSW3110	6H6
OSW3110	6E5
OSW3111	6SK7, 6SK7GT
OSW3112	6J5, 6J5GT
PC95, PC97	4GK5
PC900	4HM5/4HA5
PCC18	7AU7
PCC85	9AQ8/PCC85
PCC186	7AU7
PCF80	9A8/PCF80
PCF82	9U8A
PCF86	7HG8/PCF86
PCF801	8GJ7/PCF801
PCF802	9JW8/PCF802
PCF806	8GJ7/PCF801
PCL82	16A8/PCL82
PCL84	15DQ8/PCL84
PCL85	18GV8/PCL85
PCL800	16GK6
PF9	6K7
PH4	6A8
PL36	25E5/PL36
PM04	15CW5/PL84 27GB5/PL500 40KG6A/PL509 29KQ6/PL521 6BA6
PM05 PY81, PY83 PY88 PY500 PY800, PY801	6AK5/EF95* 17Z3/PY81 30AE3/PY88 42EC4/PY500 17Z3/PY81
QA2401	6C4
QA2404	6AL5
QA2406	12AT7/ECC81
QB65	6SN7GTB
QB309	12AT7/ECC81
QL77 R19 R52, RJ2, RS2	6C4 1X28, 1X2C 5Y3GT
T2M05	6.16A
TT263	6.17

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Type to be	Replace by	Type to be	Replace by
Replaced	RCA Type	Replaced	RCA Type
U41	1G3GTA/1B3GT	WT210-0082	6V6, 6V6GTA
U50, U51	5Y3GT	WT210-0084	6N7, 6N7GT
U52	5U4GB	WT210-0085	5085
U54	5AR4/GZ34	WT210-0087	6K8
U77	5AR4/GZ34	WT210-0088	6J5, 6J5GT
U78 U147 U153, U193, U251, U34 U707	6X4 6X5GT 1723/PY81 9 6X4	WT210-0090 WT210-0148 WT261, WT261A WT308 WT389	6C6 6AX5GT 6H6 6X5GT 3Q5GT
U709	6CA4	WT390	6C5
UCL82	50GM8/UCL82	WTT102	5Y3GT
UU12	6CA4	WTT103	6H6
VZM70	6X4	WTT114	0Z4A/0Z4
V153	17Z3/PY81	WTT122	6SJ7
V741 VSM70 W17 W61, W63 W147	6C4 6X4 1T4 6K7GT 6K7	WTT123 WTT124 WTT125 WTT125 WTT126 WTT128	6V6, 6V6GTA 6AT6 6N7, 6N7GT 50B5 6K8
W727	6L6, 6L6GC	WTT129	6J5, 6J5GT
WT210-0006		WTT131	6C6
WT210-0007		WTT135	5U4GB
WT210-0021		X17	1R5
WT210-0028		X63	6A8
WT210-0029	6C5	X64	6L7
WT210-0042	5Y3GT	X77	6BE6
WT210-0048	5U4GB	X107	18FX6*
WT210-0060	0Z4A/0Z4	X150	6C10
WT210-0081	6SJ7	X155	6BC8/6BZ8

Type to be Replaced	Replace by RCA Type
X719	6AJ8/ECH81
X727	6BE6
XAA91, XB91	I 3ALS
XC95, XC97	2GK5/2FQ5A
XC900	2HM5/2HA5
XCC82	7AU7
XCC189	4ES8/XCC189
XCF80	4BL8/XCF80
XCF82	508
XCF801	4GJ7/XCF801
XCL85	9GV8/XCL85
XF94	3AU6
XF183	3EH7/XF183 3EJ7/XF184
XF184	3EJ7/XF184
XL84	8BQ5
XL86	8CW5/XL86
XL500	13GB5/XL500
XXA91	3AL5
XY88	16AQ3/XY88
Y61, Y64	605
YC95	3ER5
YC97	3GK5
YCF86	5HG8/LCF86
YCL180	58Q7A
YCL84	10DX8/LCL84
YF183	4EH7/LF183
YF184	4EJ7/LF184
YL84	10802
YL86	10CW5/LL86
Z63	6J7

Replacement Guide–Industrial Receiving Types

How to Use

This guide was prepared to assist in the selection of current replacement types for foreign and domestic industrial receiving tubes. The first column lists in numerical-alphabetical sequence the type designation of the industrial receiving tube types to be replaced. The next two columns give the RCA Replacement Types. The column under the heading "Direct" gives direct replacements for the type in the left hand column. The column under the heading "Similar" gives the types that are similar in many respects to the type to be replaced but which are not directly interchangeable because of differences in mechanical and/or electrical characteristics. For more information as to the degree of interchangeability of "Similar" types, refer to the data for the respective tube types.

Type to be	RCA Replacement		Type to be	RCA Replacement	
Replaced	Direct	Similar	Replaced	Direct	Similar
OA2	OA2, OA2WA		2051	5670	
	6073, 6073/		2D21	2D21, 5727	
	0A2 6626/0A2WA		2D21W	5727	2D21
OA2WA	0A2WA, 6626/ 0A2WA	0A2, 6073, 6073/0A2		5R4GB	5U4GB
0A3, 0A3/VR75	0A3, 0A3A		5R4GYB		CA07
OA3A	0A3A	0A3	6AC7W, 6AC7WA.		6AC7
0B2	0B2, 0B2WA		6AC7Y		
	6074, 6074/		6AG5WA		6AG5
00004	0B2	000 0074	- GAG7Y		6AG7
OB2WA	OB2WA	0B2, 6074, 6074/0B2	6AH6WA	6AH6WA	6AH6
0C3, 0C3/VR105	0C3, 0C3A		6AK5W	5654	6AK5/EF95
003A	OC3A	0C3	6AL5W	5726	6AL5, 6663/ 6AL5
OC3W		0C3, 0C3A	- SAQ5W	6005	6AQ5A
OD3,	0D3, 0D3A				
0D3/VR150			6AS6, 6AS6W	5725, 6AS6	
OD3A	OD3A	0D3	6AS7G	6AS7G, 6AS7GA,	
OD3W		0D3, 0D3A		6080, 6080WA	
0G3	5651A				
1021	1021, 5823		6AS7GA	6AS7GA, 6080, 6080WA	6AS7G
1F2	114			0000WA	
1650		2050, 2050A	- 6AS7GYB		6AS7G, 6AS7GA, 6080, 6080WA
1 G 84		884	GAUGWA.	6AU6WB	6136
2022		6J5, 6J5GT	6AU6WB	UNUUMD	0130

Types replaceable only by themselves are not included.

658[°]

RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Type to be Replaced	RCA Replac Direct	ement Similar	Type to be Replaced	RCA Replace Direct	ement Similar
6BA6W	5749	6BA6/EF93, 6660/6BA6	150C1, 150C2	0A2, 0A2WA, 6073,	
6BE6W	5750	6BE6		6073/0A2	
5CC10	5692		1000	6626/0A2WA	
5D2	······	5726	150C3	0D3, 0D3A	010
5D18	6DJ8/ECC88	6ES8/ECC189	150C4	0A2WA, 6073, 6073/0A2,	0A2
614.	6J4, 8532			6626/0A2WA	
5J4WA	8532	6J4	180C1	082, 082WA,	
5J6W, 6J6WA	6J6WA, 5964, 6101	6J6A		6074, 6074/0B2	
6L6W, 6L6WA,		5881, 6L6GC	245	884	
6L6WGA,			274A, 274B	5R4GB	
6L6WGB, 6L6WGT,			301A	83	
6L6Y			310B		1620
SMH1		6J4	313C	······	1021
RR8, 6RR8C	5847/404A		328A		6C6
SA7Y	0017 1011	6SA7	348A		1620
SG7Y		6SG7	349A		6F6, 6F6GT, 6K6
SJ7WGT,	5963	6SJ7	351A		6X5GT
6SJ7Y.	3303	0017	359A		1021
6SJ7WGTY,			395A		5823
6SJ7W			403A, 403B	6AK5/EF95.	
6SL7W, 6SL7WGT	5691	6SL7GT	404A	5654 5847/404A	
SSN7GTY,	5692	6SN7GTB	409A	6AS6	
£SN7W,			417A	5942/417A	
6SN7WGT, 6SN7WGTA			421, 421A		6AS7G, 6AS7GA, 6080
SV6Y, 6V6GTY	-	6V6GTA, 6V6	423A		5651A, 5651WA
X4W	6X4W, 6202	6X4	502A	2050, 2050A	JUJIN, JUJINA
Z31		6202	630, 630A	2050, 2050A	
D11		6550	885	2030, 20304	884
2AT7WA	12AT7WA, 12AT7WB	6201, 6679/ 12AT7	954		9001
2AT7WB	12AT7WB	12AT7WA. 6201.	956		9003
ZAI/MD	1241710	6679/12AT7	958A	<u> </u>	9003
2AU7WA	6189	6670/12AU7A	1217		
200/ 100	0100	5814A.	1217	5070	5915
		12AU7A/ECC82		5670	
2AX7WA	6681/12AX7A	12AX7A/ECC83	1221		606
2E13		6550	1223		1620
2SA7Y		12SA7	1225		6L7
2SG7Y		12SG7	1266		5823
2SK7Y		12SK7	1267	OA4G	··-···
0A3		2021	1381HQ	6AK5/EF95, 5654	
5B6G	5824		1603		6C6
6A6	26A6		1611	1621	6F6, 6F6GT
6A7GT	26A7GT	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1612	1612	6L7
5A3		5783	1613	1621	6F6, 6F6GT
08C1	082, 082WA	0C3, 0C3A	1614	1614	6L6, 6L6GC

Type to be	RCA Replac	Ament	Type to be	RCA Rep	27ament
Replaced	Direct	Similar	Replaced	Direct	Similar
1620	1620	6J7	5751WA		5751, 6681/ 12AX7A
1621	1621	6F6, 6F6GT	- 5812		5763
1622	1622	6L6, 6L6GC	- 5814, 5814A	5814A	12AU7A/ECC82
1629	1629	6E5		J014A	6189
1631		1614, 6L6, 6L6GC, 1622	5814WA		5814A, 6189
1649		6AC7	- 5840, 5840A.	5840W	5840
1650	955		- <u>5840W</u>		
1655		6SC7	- 5842, 5842/	5842/417A	
1657, 1665		2050, 2050A	- <u>417A</u>		
1852		6AC7	- 5844		5964, 6J6A
2013	6211		- 5871	5001	6V6GT
2014	6197	6CL6, 6677/6CL6	- 5881	5881	6L6GC
2050	2050	2050A	- 5897	5718	
2050A	2050A	2050	- 5899, 5899A, 5900	5899	
2051	2050	2050A	- 5901	5840W	5915
2057/6H6		6H6	5910		<u>3913</u>
12AY7	12AY7	2082/12AY7	5915, 5915A	5915	
2081,	2081/6AW8A	6AW8A	5920		5964, 6J6A, 610
2081/6AW8A			5931		5U4GB
2082,	2082/12AY7	12AY7	5932		7027A
2082/12AY7 5590/401B		5654, 6AK5/EF95	- 5963	5963	5814A,
5591/403B					12AU7A/ECC8 6680/12AU7A
5636A		5636	5964	5964	6J6WA, 6101
5651, 5651A	5651A, 5651W/		5965A		5965
5651WA	5651WA	5651A	5992		6V6GTA
5654, 5654/6AK5W	5654	6AK5/EF95	6005, 6005/ 6AQ5W.	6005	6AQ5A
5659		12A6	6005/		
5663	5663	5696, 5696A	6AQ5W/		
5670WA		5670	6095		
5691	5691	6SL7GT	6012	6012	5727
5692	5692	6SN7GTB	6028, 6028/	408A	
5693	5693	6SJ7	408A 3058	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	570C CALE
5696	5696	5696A	- 6060		5726, 6AL5
5696A	5696A	5696	6062		6201
5725.	5725	6AS6	6063	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	5763 6X4W
5725/6AS6W			6067		
5726/6AL5W	5726	6663/6AL5, 6AL5			12AU7A/ECC82
5727, 5727/2D21W	5727	2021	6072	6072, 6072A	6680/.12AU7A 12AY7,
5731	955				2082/12AY7
5734	5734		6072A	6072 A	12AY7, 2082/12AY7,
5749.	5749	6BA6/EF95	1		6072
5749/6BA6W	v, 1v		6073, 6073/	6073, 6626/	OA2, OA2WA
5750	5750	6BE6	0A2	OA2WA.	
		~~~~	1	6073/	

# 660

# RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Type to be Replaced	RCA Replac Direct	ement Similar	Type to be Replaced	RCA Replac Direct	ement Similar
6074, 6074/	6074, 6074/	0B2, 0B2WA	6550	6550	7027A
<u>0B2</u>	0B2		6626/0A2WA,	6626/0A2WA	02A, 6073,
6080	6080, 6080WA	6AS7G, 6AS7GA	6626		6073/0A2
6080WA	6080WA	6080, 6AS7G, 6AS7GA	6627		082, 082WA,
6082	6082, 6082A	0.07 0.	·		6074, 6074/0B2
6082A	0002,000211	6082	6660/6BA6.	6660/6BA6	5749, 6BA6/EF9
6084		5879	6660		
6085		5962, 6SN7GTB	6661/6BH6,	6661/6BH6	6BH6
6087		5Y3GT	6661		
6094	<u></u>	6005, 6AQ5A	6662/6B16, 6662	6662/6BJ6	6BJ6
6095	6005	6AQ5A	6663/6AL5.	6663/6AL5	5726, 6AL5
6096		5654,	6663	0003/0413	J720, UNLJ
		6AK5/EF95	6664/6AB4.	6664/6AB4	6AB4
6097		5726, 6AL5,	6664		
		6663/6AL5	6669/6AQ5A,	6669/6AQ5A	6005, 6AQ5A
6099		5964, 6101, 6J6WA	6669		
6100		6C4	6676/6CB6A,	6676/6CB6A	6CB6A/6CF6
6101, 6101/ 6J6WA	6101	5964, 6J6WA	6676 6677/6CL6.	6677/6CL6.	6016
6106		5Y3GT	6677	6197	0010
6113		6SL7GT	6678/6U8A.	6678/6U8A	6U8A/6KD8
6134		6AC7	6678		
6135	· · · · · · · ·	6C4	6679/12AT7,	6679/12AT7	12AT7WA,
6136	6136	6AUGWB	6679		12AT7WB
6140/423A		5651A	6680/12AU7A,	6680/12AU7A	12AU7A/ECC82
6180	<u> </u>	5692, 6SN7GTB	6680 6681/12AX7A.	6681/12AX7A	12AX7A/ECC83
6186. 6186/		6AG5	6681	0001/1244/4	12MA/ AV E0003
6AG5WA			6687		5915
6187	6AS6	5725	6829		5965
6189, 6189/	6189	5814A, 5963,	6853		5Y3GT
12AU7WA		12AU7A/ECC82, 6680/12AU7A	6922/E88CC.	6922/E88CC	
6197	6197	6CL6, 6677/	6922		
019/	019/	6CL6	6968		6AK5/EF95
5201	6201	12AT7WA.	7000		1620
		12AT7WB,	7025, 7025A	7025	12AX7A/ECC83
		6679/12ÁT7	7036		5915
5202	6202	6X4W	7054	7054, 8077/	
6211A		6211	7000	7054	FOCE
6336, 6336A,	6336A		7062		5965
6337	6260 02604		7105		6080, 6080WA, 6AS7G,
6360	6360, 6360A 6360A	6260			6AS7GA
5360A	DJOUA	<u>6360</u> 5670	7184		6V6, 6V6GTA
5385 5394	<u></u>	6082		<u> </u>	
			7244, 7244A		5964, 6101, 6J6WA
6414		5965	7245 72454		614, 8532
6417	6417	7551	7245, 7245A		
6486, 6486A		5725, 6AS6	7318		5814A, 6690/124117A
6520		6AS7G, 6AS7GA	1		6680/12AU7A, 12AU7A/ECC8

# REPLACEMENT GUIDE-INDUSTRIAL TYPES

Type to be Replaced	RCA Replace Direct	similar	Type to be Replaced	RCA Replace Direct	ment Similar
7370		5687	B739		6679/12AT7,
7494		12AX7A/ECC83,			12AT7WA
		6681/12AX7A	. B749		5814, 6189, 6680/12AU7A
7543		6AU6WB	B759		5751
7645	6939		BA2		2050
7700		606	CC81E	12AT7WA.	6679/12AT7.
7701		7551		12AT7WB,	12AT7/ECC81
7717		6CY5		6201	
7724		14GT8	- CCa	6922/E88CC	
7728	6201	CC01 /10 AV7A	ČV216	0D3, 0D3A	
7729		6681/12AX7A, 12AX7A/ECC83	ČV618		83
7730		6189. 5814A.	CV686	0C3, 0C3A	
//30		6680/12AU7A	CV752	0A4G	
7731		6678/6U8A.	ČV797	2D21, 5727	
		6U8A/6KD8	CV807	3A4	
7732		6CB6A/6CF6	CV1758	1L4	
7733		12BY7A/12BV7/	CV1832	0A2,	
		12DQ7	.	0A2WA, 6073 6073/0A2,	,
7752		6AS6	-	6626/0A2WA	
8016	1G3GTA/1B3GT		- CV1833	082, 082WA,	
8077, 8077/ 7054	8077/7054	7054		6074, 6074/0B2	
8136	8136	6DK6	. CV1834	6AS7G, 6AS7GA	•
8162	12AT7WA	12AT7/ECC81		6080, 6080W	Á
8196	5754	6AS6	CV1992	OA4G	
8203	8203		CV2129	5763	
8204	5727	2021	CV2240		3B4WA
8380	7587		<u>CV2241</u>	5642	
8382	7586		CV2390	3A4	
8441	7895		CV2466	6939	
8532, 8532/ 6J4WA	8532	6J4	CV2492	6922/E88CC	
8556	8056		CV2522	6AS6, 5725	
8627	8627	8627A	CV2573	5651A, 5751WA	·
8627A	8627A	8627	- <u>CV2642</u>	5842/417A	. —
A1834	6080, 6080W	6AS7G, 6AS7GA	CV2742, CV2795	1L4	
			CV2795	5727	2021
AA91E	5726	6AL5, 6663/ 6AL5	CV2984	6080, 6080WA	
ABC91	12A6		- CV3508	6201	6AS7G, 6AS7GA 12AT7WA, 12AT7WB
			-	0201	6679/12AT7
AG5210	0B2, 0B2WA, 6074,		CV3512	5696, 5696A	
	6074/082		CV3789	5842/417A	
AG5211			CV3798	OA3, OA3A	
100611	0A2, 0A2WA, 6073, 6073/	0A2	CV3928	5636	5840W
	6626/0A2W/	<u> </u>	CV3930	5718	
ASG512, ASG5121	2D21, 5727		CV3986	6021	
B339		5751.6681/	- CV4009	5749	6BA6/EF93
0000		12AX7A	CV4011	5725	6AS6

# 662

# RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Type to be Replaced	RCA Replace Direct	ment Similar	Type to be Replaced	RCA Replace Direct	ment Similar
CV4017	5751	6681/12AX7A,	E810F		7788
·		12AX7A/ECC83	E1955	2D21, 5727	
CV4018	5727	2D21	EAA901,	5726	6AL5, 6663/6AL5
CV4020	OA2WA	0A2	EAA901S		
CV4023	6AU6WB	6AU6A	EC70, EC71	5718	
CV4024	12AT7WA,	6679/12AT7	ECC70	6021	- <u></u>
CV4025	12AT7ŴB 5726	CALE CCC2/CALE	ECC88	6DJ8/ECC88	
CV4025	0B2WA	6AL5, 6663/6AL5	ECC91		6101
574028	UBZWA	0B2, 6074, 6074/0B2	ECC230	6080, 6080WA	6AS7G, 6AS7GA
CV4031	6101	6J6WA	ECC801	6201	
CV4039	5763		ECC802, ECC802S	6189	6680/12AU7A, 12AU7A/ECC82
CV4048	5651A, 5651WA		EF71	5899	12AU/A/E0082
CV4100	OA2WA.	0A2, 6073,	EF72	5840W	
	6626/0A2WA	6073/0A2	EF93	J040 W	5749, 6660/6BA6
CV4101	OB2WA	OB2, 6074.	EF94		_ 5/49, 0000/0DA0 6136
		6074/082	EF95	5654	6AK5/EF95
CV5122	5823		EF730	5636	DANJ/EF30
CV5186	5651A, 5651WA		EF731	5899	- <u></u>
CV5212	6201	12AT7WA,	EF732		5840
		12AT7WB,	EF905	ECEA	
D2M9		6679/12AT7 5726	EH900S	5654	6AK5/EF95
DZM9 DM160		6977	EU9002		5915 5750
D77, D152,		5726	·····		
D717		5720	EL37 . EN32	2050, 2050A	5881, 6L6GC
DCC90	3A5		EN92	2030, 2030A 2D21, 5727	
DD6. DD6G		5726	EN92	5696, 5696A	·
DD77	5726		EX90	J030, J030A	6202
DF92	114		G/50/4K		0202 0A2
DL93	344		375/2D		0A2
DL98		384WA	G105/1D		003
DP61	5654		G150/3D		003
DY70	5642		GL546		5696, 5696A
ESSL		8233	GQ5G	884	5050, 3050h
E81CC	6201, 12AT7W	6679/12AT7.	HD51	0A2, 0A2WA,	<u> </u>
		12AT7/ECC81	11051	6073,	
E81L		6686	]	6073/0A2,	
E82CC	5814A, 6189	6680/12AU7A		6626/0A2W	A
		12AU7A/ECC82	HD52	0B2, 0B2WA, 6074,	
E83CC		6681/12AX7A 12AX7A/ECC83	1	6074, 6074/082	
E88CC	6922/E88CC	1287/ 1/ 10003	HM04		5750
E91AA	5726	6AL5, 6663/6AL5	KD21	<u>.                                    </u>	0A3
E91H		5915	KD24	OC3, OC3A	
E91N	5727	2021	KD25	OD3, OD3A	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
E95F	5654	6AK5/EF95	KT66	000, 000A	5881
	0004		KT88	·	6550
E180F		6688A	M8079	5726	6663/6AL5,
E182F	5847/404A		1	0720	6AL5
E188CC		7308	M8081	6101	6J6WA

Type to be	RCA Replace		Type to be	RCA Replace	
Replaced	Direct	Similar	Replaced	Direct	Similar
M8096	5763		Q\$1211	OB2WA	0B2, 6074, 6074/0B2
M8098 M8100	5651A 5654	6AK5/EF95	QS2406	6201	12AT7WA.
M8101		5749, 6660/6BA6			12AT7WB, 6679/12AT7
M8136	6189/12AU7WA	12AU7A/ECC82,	QS2404	5726	6AL5
		5814	QS2406	6201	12AT7WA.
M8137		5751			12AT7WB
M8138		6202	RL21	2021, 5727	
M8162	6201	6679/12AT7	RL1267	OA4G	
M8180	5654	6AK5/EF95 5783	\$856	0A2, 0A2WA,	
M8190 M8196		5725		6073/0A2, 6626/0A2WA	
M8196 M8204		5725	S860	06207 0A211A	·
M8212	5726, 6663/6AL5	6AL5	0000	6074, 6074/0B2	
M8223	0A2WA.	OA2, 6073,	STV85/10	5651A	
M8824	6627/0A2WA	6073/0A2 0B2, 6074,	STV108/30	0B2, 0B2WA, 6074,	
110024	UDZIIA	6074/0B2		6074/0B2	
M8245	6005	6AQ5A	STV150/30	0A2WA, 6627/ 0A2WA, 6073	0A2
ME1501 NE48				6073/0A2	
NE48 PL21	5727	2021	T2M05		6101
PL21 PL1267	5/2/	0A4G	<u>160</u>	8005	
PM04		5749	T66G-GT, TY66G		884
PM05	5654	6AK5/EF95	U78		6202
2A2404	JUJ4	5726	VR75	0A3, 0A3A	0202
QA2408	5692	6SN7GTB	VR105	0C3, 0C3A	
QE03/10, QV03-12	5763		VR150, VR150W	OD3, OD3A	
QM556		6X4W	VT83		83
QQEQ2/5,	6939		VT138	1629	6E5
QQV02-6			VT139	OD3, OD3A	
Q\$150/40	OD3, OD3A		VT202	9002	
QS150C1,	0A2, 0A2WA,		VT203	9003	
QS150C2	6073, 6073/0A2,		W727		5749
	6626/0A2WA		WL630, WL630A	2050	
QS150C3	OD3, OD3A		WT6	1614	6L6, 6L6GC
QS1205	0A3, 0A3A		WT210-0001	2021, 5727	
Q\$1206	0C3, 0C3A	······································	WT210-0003	884	
QS1207	0A2, 0A2WA,		WT210-0004	2050	2050A
	6073.		WT210-0006		6H6
	6073/0A2, 6626/0A2WA		WT210-0007		6L6, 6L6GC
			WT210-0011	0C3, 0C3A	
QS1208	0B2, 0B2WA,		WT210-0018	OD3, OD3A	
	6074, 6074/082		WT210-0019	83	•
Q\$1210	042WA,	OA2, 6073,	WT210-0021	*	6X5GT
117101	UNLIIN,	UNL. 00/3.			

# 664

# RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

Type to be	RCA Replace	ment	Type to be	RCA Replace	
Replaced	Direct	Similar	Replaced	Direct	Similar
WT210-0029		6C5	WT308		6X5GT
WT210-0040	6X4W	6X4	WT389		3Q5GT
WT210-0042		5Y3GT	WT390		6C5
WT210-0048		5U4GB	WT606	2D21, 5727	
WT210-0060		0Z4A/0Z4	WTT100	6X4W	6X4
WT210-0077	5727	2D21	WTT102		5Y3GT
WT210-0081	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	6SJ7, 5697	WTT103		6H6
WT210-0082		6V6, 6V6GTA	WTT108C1	0B2, 0B2WA,	-
WT210-0084		6N7, 6N7GT	-	6074, 6074/0B2	
WT210-0085		50B5		074V/082	
WT210-0087		6K8		5693	6SJ7
WT210-0088		6J5, 6J5GT			6V6, 6V6GTA
WT210-0090		6C6	WTT123		6AT6
WT210-0091	OA4G		WTT125		6N7, 6N7GT
WT210-0108	6AS7G, 6080, 6080WA	6AS7GA	WTT126		5085
WT210-0148		6X5GT	— WTT127	833A	
WT210-3000	2D21, 5727,				6K8
	5727/2D21W	·	WTT129		6J5, 6J6GT
WT245	884		WTT131		6C6
WT246	2050, 2050A		WTT132	0A4G	
WT261, WT261A		6H6	WTT135		5U4GB
WT269	0C3, 0C3A		— X77		5750
WT294	003, 003A		— X727		5750
WT301,	83		Z900T	5823	
WT301A			Z3000T	0A4G	·

# NUVISTOR CUTAWAY VIEWS



Cutaway Views of Typical Nuvistor Triodes

# PICTURE TUBE CHARACTERISTICS CHART

				C0101	ricture	Tupes			
Type Na.	Enve- lope Code	Safety Fea- ture ★	Nom. Deflec- tion Angle Degrees	Heater Volts/mA	Max. Anode Voltage kV <del>T</del>	Range of Focus Voltage in Volts or % of Anode Voltage	Range of 62 Voltage at 61 = 	Screen Diag. Inches	Termi- nal Diagram
14VAHP22 ^h	SGA	н	90	6.3/900	22.5 -	-75V — +400V9	150 — 390i	13.557	14BH
14VALP22*	SGA	M	90	6.3/900	22.5 -	$-75V - +400V^9$	150 — 390 ⁱ	13.557	14BH
15AEP22°	SGA	M	90	6.3/900		-75V +400V9	150 - 390	13.557	14BH
15LP22°	SGAT	Ď	90	6.3/900	22.5 -	$-75V - +400V^{9}$	150 - 390	13.557	14BH
15NP22°	SGA	Ĥ	90	6.3/900	22.5 -	-75V +400V9	150 - 390	13.557	14BH
15VADTCO1hp	SGA	Н	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	425 - 820	15.051	13D
15VAETCO1		• •							
16VACP22		H	90	6.3/900	d27.5	16.8 - 20.0	425 - 820	15.051	13D
	SGA	Н	90	6.3/900		$-75V - +400V^{9}$	165 — 420 ⁱ	16.191	14BH
17EZP22°	SGA	ĥ	90	6.3/900		-75V - +400V ⁹	150 - 390 ⁱ	16.191	14BH
17VACP22*	SGA	F	90	6.3/900	22.5 -	-75V — +400V ⁹	150 - 385	17.018	14BH
17VADP22hm	SGA	F	90	6.3/900	22.5 -	-75V — +400V9	150 — 385 ⁱ	17.018	14BH
17VARP22hm	SGA	F	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	255 - 655	17.018	14BE
17VAYTC01	SGA	F	90	6.3/900	d27.5	16.8 - 20.0	425 - 820	17.018	13D
18VAHP22 ^b	SGAT	Ď	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	285 - 685	18.075	14BE
18VAZP22"	SGA	Ē	90	6.3/900		-75V - +400Vg	150 - 390	18.075	14BH
18VBDP22b	SGA	F	90	6.3/900		-75V - +400V9	150 - 390	18.075	14BH
18VBGP22 ^h									
18VBJP22*	SGAT	D	90	6.3/900		-75V - +400Vg	150 — 390 ⁱ	18.075	14BH
	SGA	Ķ	90	6.3/900		-75V - +400V9	285 - 685	18.075	14BH
18VBKP22hm	SGA	F	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 — 20.0	285 — 685	18.075	14BE
19GVP22/ 19EXP22°	SGA		90	c 2/000	27.5	100 000	005 005	10.075	1405
	SGA	A	90	6.3/900	27.0	16.8 - 20.0	285 — 685	18.075	14BE
19GWP22/ 19EYP22° 19HCP22/	SGAT	D	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 — 20.0	285 — 685	18.075	14BE
19HKP22°	SGA	F	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	285 - 685	18.075	14BE
19HNP22°	SGA	F	90	6.3/900		$-75V - +400V^9$	150 - 390	18.075	14BH
19JWP22°	SGAT	D	90	6.3/900	22.5 -	75V - +400V9	150 - 390	18.075	14BH
19VABP22 ^h	RGAT	D	70	6.3/1800	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	310 - 690	19.250	14AU
19VANP22*	SGA	F	90	6.3/900	22.5 -	-75V - +400V9	150 - 390	18.897	14BH
19VBLP22"	SGA	F	110	6.3/900		16.8 - 20.0	265 - 665	18.897	
19VB0P22hm	SGA	F	90	6.3/900		$75V - +400V^{9}$			130
19VBRP22 ^{cm}	SGA	F	90	6.3/900		16.8 - 20.0	$150 - 375^{\circ}$ 285 - 685	18.897	14BH
19VCTP22°	SGA	F	90	6.3/900		16.8 - 20.0 16.8 - 20.0		18.897	14BE
							260 - 660	18.897	14BE
19VDSP22hm	SGA	F	90	6.3/900		16.8 - 20.0	260 — 660	18.897	14BE
19VDTP22 ^h	SGA	F	90	6.3/900		16.8 — 20.0	260 — 660	18.897	14BE
19VEDP22hm	SGA	F	90	6.3/900		16.8 — 20.0	250 — 645	18.897	14BE
19VEUP22 ^h	SGA	F	90	6.3/900	d32.0	16.8 - 20.0	250 — 645	18.897	14BE
20VAGP22*	SGAT	D	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	285 — 685	20.233	14BE
20VAHP22h	SGA	F	90	6.3/900	22.5 -	75V - +400V9	150 — <b>39</b> 0 ⁱ	20.233	14BH
21FJP22°	RGAT	b	70	6.3/1800		16.8 - 20.0	310 - 690	19.250	
216UP22/	KuAT	U	/0	0.37 1000	27.5	10.0 20.0	210 - 030	19.230	14AU
21FBP22A° 21GVP22/	RGA	A	70	6.3/1900	27.5	16.8 — 20.0	310 - 690	19.250	14AU
21FJP22A°	RGAT	D	70	6.3/1900	27.5	16.8 — 20.0	310 — 690	19.250	14AU
21VAKP22 ^{bm}	SGAT	D	90	6.3/900		16.8 - 20.0	285 - 685	20.871	14BE
21VAMP22	SGAT	D	90	6.3/900		16.8 - 20.0	285 -685		
21VBEP22 ^h	SGA	F	90	6.3/900		16.8 - 20.0 16.8 - 20.0		20.871	14BE
22JP22°	SGAT	Ď	90 90	6.3/900		16.8 - 20.0 16.8 - 20.0	250 - 645	20 871	14BE
22KP22°	SGA	Ă	90 90	6.3/900		16.8 - 20.0 16.8 - 20.0	285 - 685	20.233	14BE
22UP22°	SGA	Ê	90	6.3/900	27.5	10.0 - 20.0	285 - 685	20.233	14BE
	JUN	<u> </u>	30	0.3/300	27.3	16.8 - 20.0	285 — 685	20.233	<u>148E</u>

# **Color Picture Tubes**

Type No.	Enve- lope Code	Safety Fea- ture ★	Nom. Deflec- tion Angle Degrees	Hezter Volts/mA	Max. Anode Voltage kV+	Range of Focus Voltage in Volts or % of Anode Voltage	Range of at G1 = —150 V Veits	Screen Diag. Inches	Termi- nal Diagram
23VALP22bm	SGAT	D	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	260 - 660	22.995	14BE
23VANP22b	SGAT	Ď	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	260 — 660	22.995	14BE
23VAQP22°	SGA	Ē	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	260 - 660	22.995	14BE
25BCP22cm	SGAT	Ď	<u>90</u>	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	260 - 660	22.995	14BE
25VABP22cm	SGAT	Ď	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	260 — 660	24.658	14BE
25VAEP22°	SGAT	D	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	260 - 660	24.658	14B{
25VAMP22	SGAT	D	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	250 — 650	24.658	14BE
25VBEP22hm	SGA	ĸ	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	285 - 685	24.658	14BE
25VCKP22cm	SGAT	D	90	6.3/900	d32.0	16.8 - 20.0	250 - 645	24.658	14BE
25VCZP22hm	SGA	F	90	6.3/900	d32.0	16.8 - 20.0	295 - 680	24.658	14BE
25VDXP22 ^{hm} 25XP22/	SGA	D	90	6.3/900	d32.0	16.8 - 20.0	250 — 645	24.658	14BE
25AP22A° 25YP22/	SGAT	D	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 - 20.0	285 — 685	22.995	14BE
258P22A°	SGA	A	90	6.3/900	27.5	16.8 — 20.0	285 — 685	22.995	14BE

# Color Picture Tubes (Cont.)

## Color lest Picture lude

1830P22 SGAT D 90 6.3/900 27.5 16.8 20.0   1895P22 SGAT D 90 6.3/900 d32.0 16.8 20.0	285 — 685 260 — 660		14BE 14BE
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	------------------------	--	--------------

# Silverama^a Types for Black-and-White TV

Type No.	Enve- lope Code	Safety Fea- ture ★	Nom. Defiec tion Angle Degree	Heater	Focus- ing Method	Design Max. Anode Voltage kV	Typical 62 Voltage Volts	Screen Diag. Inches	Max. Over- all Length Inches	Termi- nal Diagram
5VABP4	SGA	A	70	12.0/79	E	15.0	115	5.036	7.550	7GR
80P4‡	SG	A	90	6.3/600	E	9.0	200	7.750	10.750	12AB
9AEP4	SGA	F	85	6.3/450	E	15.0	100	9.024	8.700	7GR
9VABP4	SGA	F	85	6.3/450	E E E	15.0	140	9.024	8.700	7GR
SVAJP4	SGA	н	90	11.0/140	Ε	15.0	90	9.000	8.700	7GF
9WP4	SGA	G	90	12.0/75	Ε	12.0	100	8.270	8.270	7 G R
10ATP4	SGA	F	85	6.3/300	Ε	15.0	140	9.024	8,700	7 <b>G</b> R
10AVP4	SGA	F	85	12.0/79	E	15.0	90	9.024	8.700	ŻĞR
11CP4	SGA	A	110	6.3/450	Ē	15.0	400	10.125	9.188	8HR
11GP4	SGA	C	110	6.3/450	Ē	15.0	135	10.188	9.188	8HF
12BNP4A	SGA	J	110	6.3/450	Ε	16.0	250	11.625	9.598	888
12DEP4	SGA	Ē	110	6.3/450	Ē	15.0	100	11.625	9.690	7GF
12DFP4	SGA	Ĥ	110	6.3/450	Ē	15.0	200	11.620	9.060	7ĞF
12DKP4	SGA	F	110	6.3/450	Ē	16.0	140	11.625	9.374	ŻĞR
12DSP4	SGA	Ĥ	110	6.3/300	Ē	15.0	140	11.625	9.274	7ĞF
12VAGP4	SGA	G	110	6.3/300	E	14.0	200	11.500	9.530	7 <b>G</b> F
12VAQP4	SGA	G	110	4.2/450	Ē	15.0	140	11.500	9.530	7 <b>G</b> F
12VAWP4	SGA	Ī	110	6.3/450	Ē	15.0	130	11.500	9.53	7G
12VAXP4	SGA	Í	110	11.0/82	Ē	14.0	150	11.500	9.530	ŹĞ
1ZVBNP4	SGA	Ĥ	- 90	11.0/140	Ē	15.0	<b>9</b> 0	11.500	11.125	7Ğ

▲ Terminal diagrams for RCA picture tubes are shown on pages 672 and 673. For SAFETY PRECAUTIONS and NOTES refer to page 670. ‡ Requires ION trap.

# Silverama^a Types for Black-and-White TV (Cont.)

Type No.	Enve- lope Cade	Safety Fea- ture ★	Nom Defie tion Angle Degre	C-	Focus- ing Method	Design Max. Anode Voltage kV	Typical G2 Voltage Volts	Screen Diag. Inches	Max. Over- all Length Inches	Termi- nal Diagram
15VACP4 16CMP4A 16RP4B 16VAGP4 16VBYP4	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	H G H F	114 114 70 114 114	6.3/450 6.3/450 6.3/600 6.3/450 11.0/140	E M E E	20.0 18.0 17.5 20.0 22.0	30 300 300 30 130	14.875 14.875 14.875 16.250 16.250	10.811 10.811 19.125 11.445 11.450	8HR 8HR 12N 8HR 8HR
178 <b>P4D</b> 17CFP4 17DQP4 17DRP4 17LP4B	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGCA	A A A A	70 90 110 110 70	6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/450 2.68/450 6.3/600	M E E E	17.5 17.5 17.5 17.5 17.5	300 300 50 300 300	15.562 15.750 15.750 15.750 15.562	19.562 14.375 12.375 11.000 19.562	12N 12L 7FA 8JK 12L
17QP4B 18VAUP4 19ABP4 19AFP4 19AJP4	SGCA SGA SGA SGA SGA	A F A B A	70 114 114 114 114	6.3/600 6.3/450 2.68/450 6.3/600 6.3/450	M E E E	20.0 23.5 20.0 20.0 20.0	300 30 300 300 50	15.562 17.562 17.562 17.625 17.562 17.562	19.562 11.875 11.125 11.938 11.625	12N 8HR 8JK 8HR 7FA
19AVP4 19AYP4 19BDP4 19CHP4 19CMP4 19CMP4	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	A A A A	114 114 92 114 114	6.3/600 6.3/450 6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/450	E E E E	23.0 23.0 19.8 20.0 20.0	400 400 50 50 30	17.562 17.562 17.562 17.562 17.562 17.562	11.625 11.625 15.625 11.875 11.875	8HR 8HR 12L 8HR 8HR
19CVP4 19CXP4 19DBP4 19DQP4 19DRP4	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	B A D G G	114 114 114 114 114 114	6.3/450 6.3/600 6.3/450 6.3/450 6.3/600	E E E E	23.0 20.0 19.8 23.0 23.0	50 45 40 300 300	17.625 17.562 17.562 17.562 17.562 17.562	11.938 11.875 12.125 11.875 11.875	8HR 7FA 7FA 8HR 8HR
19DSP4 19DUP4 19EBP4 19EGP4 19EZP4	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	G F C C C	114 114 114 114 114 114	6.3/600 6.3/450 6.3/600 6.3/450 6.3/450	EEEEE	20.0 22.0 23.0 21.0 19.8	50 50 400 50 45	17.562 17.562 17.562 17.562 17.562 17.562	11.875 11.969 11.875 11.875 11.875 11.875	8HR 8HR 8HR 8HR 7FA
19FLP4 19GAP4 19GEP4A 19VAHP4 19VAJP4	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	G C H H	114 114 114 114 114 114	6.3/450 6.3/450 6.3/450 6.3/450 9.45/300	E E E E	23.0 19.8 23.0 23.0 23.0 23.0	300 400 300 30 30 30	17.562 17.562 17.562 18.625 18.625 18.625	11.625 11.875 11.875 12.519 12.519	8HR 8HR 8HR 8HR 8HR
19VALP4 19VFEP4 20RP4 20VAQP4 21AMP4B	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	C F F A	114 114 114 114 90	6.3/450 11.0/140 6.3/450 6.3/450 6.3/600	E E E M	23.0 23.0 22.0 23.5 20.0	300 130 50 30 300	18.625 18.625 18.625 19.625 20.250	12.519 12.644 12.613 12.937 20.375	8HR 8HR 8HR 8HR 12N
21AVP4C 21AWP4A 21CBP4A 21CQP4 21DLP4	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	A A A A	72 72 90 110 90	6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/600	E M E E E	22.0 20.0 22.0 20.0 22.0	300 400 300 300 300	20.250 20.250 20.250 20.250 20.250 20.250	23.406 23.406 18.375 14.812 17.375	12L 12N 12L 7FA 12L
21DSP4 21EMP4/ 21EQP4 21EP4C 21FDP4 21FP4B	SGA SGA SGCA SGA SGCA	A A A A A	90 110 70 110 70	6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/600	E M E E	22.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 20.0 20.0	50 500 300 300 300 300	20.250 20.250 20.000 20.250 20.000	18.375 13.440 23.406 13.375 23.406	12L 8HR 12N 8KW 12L

# Silverama^a Types for Black-and-White TV (Cont.)

Type No.	Enve- lope Code	Safety Fea- ture ★	Nom. Deflec- tion Angle Degrees	Heater Volts/mA	Focus- ing Method	Design Max. Anode Voltage kV	Typical G2 Voltage Volts	Screen Diag. Inches	Max. Over- all Length Inches	Termi- nal Diagram A
21FVP4 21GAP4A 21WP4B 21XP4B 21XP4B 21YP4B	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	G G A A	114 114 70 70 70	6.3/450 6.3/450 6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/600	E M E E	23.0 23.5 20.0 20.0 20.0	400 30 300 300 300 300	19.625 19.625 19.250 19.250 20.000	12.937 12.937 22.812 22.812 23.406	8HR 8HR 12N 12L 12L
21ZP4C 22VABP4 22VACP4 22VADP4 22VAEP4	SGA SGA SGAT SGA SGA	A F D C K	70 110 110 92 110	6.3/600 6.3/450 6.3/450 6.3/450 6.3/450	MEEEE	20.0 23.5 23.0 25.0 23.0	300 30 30 400 300	20.000 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312	23.406 14.406 14.594 18.375 15.156	12N 8HR 8HR 12L 8HR
23AHP4/ 23ASP4 23ARP4 23BGP4 23BJP4 23BKP4	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	A B A B	92 110 110 92 92	6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/600	E E E E	22.0 22.0 22.0 25.0 25.0	400 400 50 50 50	22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312	17.875 15.156 15.562 18.500 18.875	12L 8HR 8HR 12L 12L
23BQP4 23CGP4 23CP4 23CP4 23CP4A 23CQP4	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	B A B B A	110 92 110 110 114	6.3/450 6.3/450 6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/450	E E E E	23.0 22.0 22.0 23.5 23.5	300 500 400 300 500	22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312	15.562 18.375 15.562 15.562 14.000	8HR 12L 8HR 8HR 8HR
23DAP4 23DBP4 23EKP4 23ENP4 23EP4	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	A G G B	94 110 92 92 110	6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/450 6.3/600 6.3/600	EEEE	23.0 22.0 25.0 25.0 22.0	50 50 400 50 50	22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312	17.391 15.156 18.375 18.500 15.562	8HR 8HR 12L 12L 8KP
23ETP4 23EWP4A 23EVP4 23EZP4 23FP4A	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	G F C K	110 114 92 94 114	6.3/600 6.3/450 6.3/600 6.3/450 6.3/600	E E E	23.0 22.0 25.0 23.5 23.5	300 400 35 50 500	22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312	15.156 14.812 18.500 17.390 14.062	8HR 8HR 12L 8HR 8HR
23FRP4 23FSP4 23GWP4 23HFP4A 23HWP4A	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	C C F G L	110 110 110 110 110 110	6.3/450 6.3/600 6.3/450 6.3/450 6.3/450	E E E E	23.0 23.0 22.0 23.0 22.0	50 400 50 300 50	22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312	14.500 15.125 14.781 15.156 15.156	8HR 8HR 8HR 8HR 8HR
23JEP4 23JP4 23NP4 23NP4 23YP4 24AEP4	SGA SGA SGA SGA SGA	K B A B A	110 110 114 92 90	6.3/450 6.3/450 6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/600	E E E E	23.0 22.0 22.0 22.0 22.0 22.0	300 50 50 300 300	22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.312 22.812	15.156 15.875 14.812 18.750 19.500	8HR 7FA 8HR 12L 12L
24 <b>AHP</b> 4 24AUP4 24CP4B	SGA SGA SGA	A A A	110 90 90	6.3/600 6.3/600 6.3/600	E E M	22.0 22.0 22.0	400 300 300	22.812 22.812 22.812 22.812	16.188 18.500 21.500	8HR 12L 12N

	Black-and-White Test Picture Tube										
8XP4	SGA	A	90	6.3/600	A	22.0	400	7.750	11.750	12\$	
A Terminal For SAFETY	diagrams PRECAUT	for RCA	pictur NOTES	e tubes are refer to pa	shown ze 670.	on pages	672	and 673.			

### SAFETY PRECAUTIONS

In servicing a television receiver that requires a replacement picture tube, a tube with the same type number or an RCA recommended replacement tube type should be used to assure the same or improved integral x-radiation shielding and implosion protection. Note: For additional Safety Precautions, refer to page 93.

### Notes for Picture Tube Characteristics Chart

- Envelope Code (All types have spherical faceplate except where noted)
- R Round
- S Rectangular
- G Glass
- C Cylindrical faceplate
- A Aluminized
- T Treated faceplate

#### ★ Safety Feature

- A Conventional Tube Requires Safety Window in Receiver
- B Integral Moulded-Glass Safety Panel (Bi-Panel*)
- C Filled Rim (Shelbond[†])
- D Integral Safety Panel
- (Laminated) F Tension Band Over Formed Rim Bands (Kimcode ))
- G Welded Tension Band Over Formed Rim Bands (Pan-O-Ply*)
- H Tension Band Over Tape (T-Band)
- J Welded Tension Band Over Tape (T-Band)
- K Tension Band Over Formed Rim Bands With Mounting Lugs (Kimcode/Lugs)

- L Welded Tension Band Over Formed Rim Bands With Mounting Lugs (Pan-O-Ply/Lugs)
- M Tension Band With Mounting Lugs Over Tape (T-Band Lugs)

#### Focusing Method

- A Automatic focus
- E Electrostatic focus
- M Magnetic focus

#### Footnotes

- a. All Materials and parts used in the manufacture of RCA Silverama Picture Tubes are new except for the envelope which, prior to reuse, was carefully inspected to meet the standards of the original new envelope.
- b. Both Colorama and Hi-Lite versions are available.
- c. Only Colorama versions (prefix C--- or CA---) are available. RCA Colorama Picture Tubes contain used materials which, prior to reuse, are carefully in-

spected to meet RCA's high quality standards.

- d. Absolute-Maximum value, g. This type has an einzel lens focus system. Values shown are in volts which do not vary with anode voltage.
- h. Only Hi-Lite Versions (prefix H-) are available. RCA Hi-Lite Color Picture Tubes contain all New Parts and Materials.
- j. At Grid-No.1 voltage of -100 volts.
- k. At Grid-No.1 voltage of -50 volts.
- m. MATRIX Color Picture Tube.
- p. Precison In-Line Color Picture Tube.
- Trademark of RCA, Lancaster, Pa., 17604.
- † Trademark of Corning Glass Works, Corning, N.Y. 14830
- Trademark of Owens-Illinois, Inc., Columbus, Oh. 58727
- Design-Maximum value unless otherwise noted.

Old-Designa- tion Series (Rounded-off Tube Glass Diagonal in Inches)	Equivalent New Designa- tion Series (Rounded-off Min. Screen Diagonal in inches)	Comparable Japanese Designation Series (Rounded-off Tube Glass Diagonal in mm)	Other Designation Series Replaced by this Series
11	10 V	270	_
12	<b>→</b>		_
13	12 V	320	
14	-	350	-
15	14 V	370	
16		400	<u> </u>
	15 V	420	-
17	16 V	440	-
_	17 V	470	-
19	18 V	490	-
-	19 V	510	-
21	-		<b>—</b>
21 (Round)	19 V		_
22	20 V	550	21
22	21 V		-
23	-		-
25	23 V		23
26	25 V		

# Key to Color Picture Tube Type Designation System

# Key to Black-and-White Picture Tube Type Designation System

Old-Designa- tion Series (Rounded-off Tube Glass Diagonal in Inches)	Equivalent New Designa- tion Series (Rounded-off Min. Screen Diagonal in Inches)	Comparable Japanese Designation Series (Rounded-off Tube Glass Diagonal in mm)	
9	-	230	
10	—	240	
11	10 V	280	
12	12 V	310	
13	-		
	13 V	340	
14	-	$\rightarrow$	
15	—	-	
16	15 V	400	
17	16 V	440	
19	18 V	470	
20	19 V	500	
21	20 V	520	
22	21 V		
23	22 V	590	
24	-		
25	<del>-</del> .	-	

# Terminal Diagrams for Picture Tubes



**7FA** Anode= $G_3+G_5+CL$ Focusing Electrode= $G_4$ 



**7FG** Anode = G₃ + G₅ + CL Automatic Focusing



**7GR** Anode=G₃+G₅+CL Focusing Electrode=G₄



8HR Anode=G₁+G₅+CL Focusing Electrode=G₄



**8KP** Anode =  $G_3 + G_5 + CL$ Focusing Electrode =  $G_4$ 



**8JK** Anode=G₃+G₅+CL Focusing Electrode=G₄



**8KW** Anode =  $G_3 + G_5 - CL$ Focusing Electrode =  $G_4$ 



**12AB** Anode=G₃+G₅+CL Focusing Electrode=G₄



**12L** Anode =  $G_3 + G_5 + CL$ Focusing Electrode -  $G_4$ 



12N Anode=G,+CL



**12S** Anode = G₃ + G₅ + CL Automatic Focusing



**13C** Anode = G4 + CL Focusing Electrode = G3



13D Anode = G₂ + CL Focusing Electrode = G₃



**14AU** Anode= $G_4+G_5+CL$ Focusing Electrode ==  $G_5$ 



**14BE** Anode=G₄+G₅+CL Focusing Electrode=G₃



 $\begin{array}{l} \textbf{14BH} \\ \textbf{Anode} = \textbf{G}_3 + \textbf{G}_5 + \textbf{CL} \\ \textbf{Focusing Electrode} = \textbf{G}_4 \end{array}$ 

# Circuits

THE circuits included in this Manual illustrate some of the more important applications of RCA receiving tubes; they are not necexamples of essarily commercial practice. These circuits have been conservatively designed and are capable of excellent performance. The brief description provided with each circuit explains the functional relationships of the various stages and points out intended applications, major performance characteristics, and significant design features of the over-all circuit. Detailed descriptive information on individual circuit stages (for example, amplifiers, detectors, or oscillators) is given in the section on Electron-Tube Applications earlier in this Manual, as well as in many textbooks on electrontube circuits.

Electrical specifications are given for circuit components to assist those interested in home construction. Layouts and mechanical details are omited because they vary widely with the requirements of individual set builders and with the sizes and shapes of the components employed.

Circuits designed for operation from both ac and dc voltage supplies should be installed in non-metallic cabinets or properly insulated from metallic cabinets. Potentiometer shafts and switches should make use of insulated (plastic) knobs. In practical use, no metallic part of an "ac/dc" chassis should be exposed to touch, accidental or otherwise. When such circuits are tested outside of their cabinets, a line isolation transformer such as the RCA WP-25A Isotap should be used. Performance of these circuits depends as much on the quality of the components selected and the care employed in layout and construction as on the circuits themselves. Good signal reproduction from receivers and amplifiers requires the use of good-quality speakers, transformers, chokes, and input sources (microphones, phonograph pickups, etc.).

Coils for the receiver circuits may be purchased at local parts dealers by specifying the characteristics required: for rf coils, the circuit position (antenna or interstage), tuning range desired, and tuning capacitances employed; for if coils or transformers, the intermediate frequency, circuit position (1st if, 2nd if. etc.), and, in some cases, the associated tube types; for oscillator coils, the receiver tuning range, the intermediate frequency, the type of converter tube, and the type of winding used (tapped or transformercoupled).

The voltage ratings specified for capacitors are the minimum dc working voltages required. Paper, mica. or ceramic capacitors having higher voltage ratings than those specified may be used except insofar as the physical sizes of such capacitors may affect equipment layout. However, if electrolytic capacitors having substantially higher voltage ratings than those specified are used, they may not "form" completely at the operating voltage, with the result that the effective capacitances of such units may be below their rated value. The wattage ratings specified for resistors assume methods of construction that provide adequate ventilation; compact installations having poor ventilation may require resistors of higher wattage ratings.

Circuits which work at very high frequencies or which are required to handle very wide bandwidths demand more than ordinary skill and experience in construction. Placement of component parts is quite critical and may require considerable experimentation. All rf leads to components including bypass capacitors must be kept short and must be properly dressed to minimize undesirable coupling and capacitance effects. Correct circuit alignment and oscillator tracking may require the use of a cathode-ray oscilloscope, a high-impedance vacuum-tube voltmeter, and a signal generator capable of supplying a properly modulated signal at the appropriate frequencies. Unless the builder has had considerable experience with broad-band, highfrequency circuits, he should not undertake the construction of such circuits.

# LIST OF CIRCUITS

29-1	AC/DC Superheterodyne Radio Receiver	677
29-2	AM/FM Superheterodyne Radio Receiver	678
29-3	FM Tuner	682
29-4	Three-Stage IF Amplifier/Limiter and Detector	684
29-5	FM Stereo Multiplex Adapter	686
29-6	Preamplifier for Amateur Receiver (21-, 30-, and 50-MHz Ama- teur Bands and 27-MHz Citizens Band)	688
29-7	Code-Practice Oscillator	690
29-8	Intercommunication Set (With Master Unit and Two or More Re- mote Units)	691
29-9	High-Fidelity Audio Amplifier (Class AB ₁ ; Power Output, 15 Watts)	692
<b>29</b> -10	High-Fidelity Audio Amplifier (Class AB ₁ ; Power Output, 30 Watts)	694
<b>29-11</b>	High-Fidelity Audio Amplifier (Class AB ₁ ; Power Output, 50 Watts)	69 <b>6</b>
29-12	Two-Channel Stereophonic Amplifier (Power Output, 1 Watt Each Channel)	698
29-13	Microphone and Phonograph Amplifier (Power Output, 8 Watts)	699
29-14	Two-Channel Audio Mixer	700
29-15		701
29-16		
	(With RIAA Equalization)	702
29-17	High-Fidelity Preamplifier for Tape-Head Pickup	
	(With NARTB Equalization)	703
29-18	Preamplifier for Ceramic Phonograph Pickup	
	(Cathode-Follower Output)	704
<b>29-1</b> 9	Low-Distortion Preamplifier (For Low-Output, High-Impedance	-
	Migrophones)	705

Page

29-20	Bass and Treble Tone-Control Amplifier	706
29-21	Electronic Volt-Ohm Meter	707
29-22	Series-Type Stabilized Voltage Supply	710
29-23	All-Purpose Power Supplies	711
29-24	VHF Tuner (For Black-and-White TV Receiver)	713
29-25	Video IF Amplifiers and Sound-Channel Circuits (For Black-and- White TV Receiver)	716
29-26	Video, AGC, and Sync Amplifiers, (For Black-and-White TV Receiver)	718
29-27	Vertical and Horizontal Deflection Circuits and High-Voltage Rectifier (For Black-and-White TV Receiver)	720
29-28	Low-Voltage and Heater Supply (For Black-and-White TV Receiver)	724
29-29	Low-Voltage Power Supply, Degaussing Circuit, and Heater Connec-	
	tions (For Color TV Receiver)	726
29-30	VHF Tuner (For Color TV Receiver)	728
29-31	Video- and Sound-Channel Circuits (For Color TV Receiver)	731
29-32	Sync, AGC, and Vertical-Deflection Circuits (For Color TV Re-	
	ceiver)	735
29-33	Horizontal-Deflection Circuit and High-Voltage Power Supply (For	
	Color TV Receiver)	737
29-34	Chroma Circuits (For Color TV Receiver)	741
29-35	Picture Tube and Associated Circuits (For Color TV Receiver)	745

## MANUFACTURERS OF SPECIAL COMPONENTS AND MATERIALS REFERRED TO IN PARTS LIST

Note: Components and materials identified by RCA stock numbers may be obtained through authorized RCA distributors.

29-1

# AC/DC SUPERHETERODYNE RADIO RECEIVER



#### Parts List

C1, C5=Ganged tuning capacitors; C1, 10-365 pF, C5, 7-115 pF C2=Trimmer capacitor, 4-30 pF  $C_3 = 0.05 \ \mu F$ , paper, 50 V  $C_4 = 0.1 \ \mu F$ , paper, 400 V Ca=Trimmer capacitor. 2-17 pF  $C_7 = 56$  pF, ceramic  $C_8 = 30 \ \mu$ F, electrolytic, 150 V Co, C10=150 pF, ceramic C11, C14=0.02 µF, paper, 400 V C12=0.002 µF, paper, 400 V C12=330 pF, mica

- C15=0.05 µF, paper, 400 V C16=50 µF, electrolytic, 150 V  $I_1 = Panel lamp, No. 40 or 47$ L=Loop antenna or ferrite rod antenna, 540-1600 kHz (with specified values of capacitance for C1 and C2)  $R_1 = 0.22$  megohm, 0.5 watt  $R_2 = 33000$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_3 = 100$  ohms, 0.5 watt
- R₄=3.3 megohms, 0.5 watt
- Rs=47000 ohms, 0.5 watt Rs=Volume control, potenti-
- ometer, 0.5 megolim

R7=4.7 megohms, 0.5 watt Rs, Rs=0.47 megohm,

0.5 watt

- R10=150 ohms, 0.5 watt R11=1200 ohms, 1 watt
- S1=On-off switch ; singlepole, single-throw SP1=Speaker
- T1=Oscillator coil for use with 7-115 pF tuning ca-pacitor and 455-kHz intermediate-frequency transformer
- T2, T3=Intermediate-frequency transformers, 455 kHz (permeability-tuned type may be used)
- T₄=Output transformer for matching impedance of voice coil to 2500-ohm load

### **Circuit Description**

This basic five-tube superheterodyne radio receiver operates directly from an ac power line or a dc supply of 117 volts. AC power inputs are converted to dc power by the 35W4 halfwave rectifier circuit. The receiver uses a series heater arrangement. With ON-OFF switch S₁ closed, the heater string is connected directly across the 117-volt input terminals. A 6.3-volt panel lamp I₁ connected between heater pins 3 and 6 of the 35W4

rectifier tube lights to indicate that power is applied to the receiver.

A ferrite-rod or loop antenna L and tuning capacitor C₁ select amplitude-modulated rf signals from the desired broadcast-band (550 to 1600 kHz) radio station and couple these signals to grid No. 3 (pin 7) of the 12BE6 pentagrid converter. A localoscillator signal, developed by the resonant circuit formed by oscillator coil T1 and variable capacitors C5 and

### 29-1 AC/DC SUPERHETERODYNE RADIO RECEIVER (Cont'd)

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

C_s, is also applied to the 12BE6 pentagrid converter, at grid No. 1 (pin 1). The modulated-rf and local-oscillator signals are mixed across the nonlinear impedance of the converter tube to produce the 455-kHz intermediate frequency used in the receiver. The antenna and oscillator tuning capacitors C₁ and C₅ are mechanically ganged so that the antenna and oscillator resonant circuits can be adjusted together to maintain the 455-kHz difference frequency for any dial setting in the broadcast-frequency band. Trimmer capacitors C₂ and C_a are adjusted to assure that the desired tracking relationship is maintained across the band. Positive feedback to sustain oscillations is inductively coupled by T₁ from the cathode of the 12BE6 converter to the local-oscillator resonant circuit.

A single if stage, which uses a high-transconductance 12BA6 remote-cutoff pentode, provides the required amplification of the intermediate-frequency signals. This stage is made selective at 455 kHz by the double-tuned input and output transformers  $T_2$  and  $T_3$ . Audio-signal components are extracted from the if signal by the second-detector circuit. which consists of the pin 6 diode section in the 12AV6 tube and associated components. (The pin 5 diode section of the 12AV6 is not used and is shorted to the tube cathode, pin 2.) The audio output from the detector is developed across the VOL. CONT. potentiometer R₆, which provides manual adjustment of the output sound level of the receiver. The detector also develops a negative dc voltage proportional to the rf input across a 150-picofarad capacitor Co for automatic volume control in the receiver. This avc voltage is used as bias for the converter and if amplifier and automatically controls the gain of these stages.

The audio-signal voltage at the wiper arm of the VOL. CONT. potentiometer is amplified by the triode (audio-voltage-amplifier) section of the 12AV6 and is then used to drive the 50C5 audio output stage. The output stage develops the audio power required to produce an audible output from the speaker. Audio output transformer T₄ matches the 2500-ohm plate-load impedance of the 50C5 to the speaker voice coil.

### 29-2 AM/FM SUPERHETERODYNE RADIO RECEIVER

#### **Circuit Description**

This AM/FM radio receiver operates directly from either an ac power line or a dc supply of 117 volts. AC power inputs are converted to dc power by a 1N3756 silicon-rectifier half-wave power supply. The receiver uses a series heater string, which is connected across the 117-volt input when ON-OFF switch  $S_3$  and interlock  $S_2$  are closed. The interlock assures that power is automatically disconnected when the receiver is removed from the chassis.

AM or FM operation of the receiver is selected by means of switch  $S_1$ . For AM operation ( $S_1$  set to AM position), amplitude - modulated rf signals in the AM broadcast band (550 to 1600 kHz) from the desired radio broadcast station are selected by antenna  $L_2$  and tuning capacitor C₂₅. These signals are amplified and converted to the 455-kHz AM intermediate frequency by the 12BE6 pentagrid converter. Tuning capacitors  $C_{25}$  and  $C_{27}$  are mechanically ganged so that the antenna and local-oscillator sections of the converter can be tuned simultaneously to maintain the 455-kHz difference frequency for any station setting. Trimmer adjustments are provided by variable capacitors Cas and Cas.

29-2





#### **Parts List**

C1=Part of PC1 C2=Part of PC2 C3, C12=Ganged tuning ca-pacitors; tune L1 and T2 to 88-108 MHz

C₁, C₁₃=Trimmer capacitors, 1-7 pF

C₅, C₁₆, C₁₈=1000 pF, feed-through, 500 V C₆=0.1 μF, ceramic, 500 V

C₇=36 pF, ceramic, 500 V C₈, C₁₄=6.8 pF, ceramic, 500 V

Ce=11 pF, ceramic, 500 V C10=68 pF, ceramic, 500 V

29-2



**AM/FM SUPERHETERODYNE** 

 $C_{11}$  = 21 pF, ceramic, 500 V C₁₅ = 500 pF, feedthrough, 500 V C₁₇ = 0.22  $\mu$ F, ceramic disc, 500 V C10, C20=2 pF, feedthrough, 500 V C21, C35, C30=2000 pF, feedthrough, 500 V  $C_{22}{=} IF \ transformer \ tuning \\ capacitor ; value, with cable \\ capacitance, tunes \ Ts \ to \\ 10.7 \ MHz$ 

680

### AM/FM SUPERHETERODYNE RADIO RECEIVER (Cont'd)

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

With switch S₁ in the FM or FM-AFC position, the FM tuner selects rf signals in the FM broadcast band (88 to 108 MHz) from the desired FM radio station, amplifies these signals, and converts them to the 10.7-MHz FM intermediate frequency. The rf-amplifier and converter stages of the tuner each use one section of a 12DT8 high-mu twin triode. Ganged tuning of the rf-amplifier and converter tuning capacitors. C₃ and C₁₂, assures that the converter local-oscillator frequency tracks the input tuning at 10.7 MHz above the center frequency of the FM channel selected. Trimmer adjustments are provided by variable capacitors C₄ and C₁₃.

The 19HR6 if amplifier is used in both FM and AM modes of operation. Depending upon the setting of selector switch S₁, this stage amplifies the frequency-modulated 10.7-MHz intermediate-frequency output from the FM converter or the amplitude-modulated 455-kHz intermediate-frequency signal from the AM converter. Additional amplification of FM if signals is provided by the 12AU6 pentode stage, which is used as a combination second FM if amplifier and noise limiter. A portion of the 12AU6 stage is also used as a second detector circuit to extract the audio-signal components from the 455-kHz AM if signals. For this demodulation function, the cathode and control grid of the 12AU6 are used as the detector diode. The 10.7-MHz FM if signals are demodulated and amplitude distortion is removed by a ratio detector that uses the diode sections of a 14GT8 twin diode-highmu triode. Good selectivity in the if amplifier and detector at 10.7 MHz is provided by the double-tuned transformers  $T_3$ ,  $T_6$ , and  $T_8$ , and at 455 kHz by the double-tuned transformers  $T_5$  and  $T_7$ .

Depending upon the mode of operation, a section of  $S_1$  selects the audio output from the AM detector or from the FM ratio detector. The selected audio output is amplified by an audio voltage amplifier which uses the high-mu triode section of a 14GT8 and a 50C5 audio output stage. The output stage provides the power necessary to produce the required speaker output. Transformer T₉ matches the 2500-ohm plate impedance of the 50C5 to the speaker voice coil. Manual adjustment of the receiver output is provided by the VOL. CONT. potentiometer R_m in the control-grid circuit of the audio voltage amplifier.

A negative dc voltage proportional to the input signal level is developed across R₁₈ and C₄₁ during either AM or FM operation of the receiver. This voltage is applied as bias to the control grid (pin 1) of the 19HR6 if amplifier and the signal grid (pin 7) of the 12BE6 AM converter to provide automatic gain control of the receiver in each mode of operation. With S₁ in the FM-AFC position, the 1N3182 AFC diode rectifies the voltage across the tertiary winding of the ratio-detector transformer Ts. The resultant frequency-sensitive voltage, applied to the plate resonant circuits of the FM rf-amplifier and converter stages, provides automatic frequency control in the FM tuner.

29-2

#### Parts List (Cont'd)

Cm=4700 pF, ceramic, 500 V C₂₄=0.15 μF, paper, 200 V C25, C27=Ganged tuning capacitors ; tune T₄ to 540-1650 kHz  $C_{26}, C_{29} = Trimmer capaci-$ tors, 12 pF $C_{29}, C_{29},  Can= Part of Ts Cas = Part of 1s Cas, C₄₉=1000 pF, ceramic, 500 V Cas=Part of Ts  $C_{34} = 0.1 \ \mu F$ , ceramic, 500 V  $C_{57} = 0.047 \ \mu F$ , paper, 400 V  $C_{59} = 80 \ \mu F$ , electrolytic, 150 V C40, C42=2700 pF, ceramic, 500 V C₁₁, C₁₃=100 pF, ceramic, 500 V, NPO C₄₁, C₄₅=330 pF, mica, 500 V L1, L3=1 µH, rf coil

### AM/FM SUPERHETERODYNE RADIO RECEIVER (Cont'd)

- L₂=Antenna, air-loop type with back cover PC1, PC2=Printed circuit; includes 0.5 megohm. 0.25-watt resister and 470picofarad, 500-volt capacitor ; RCA Stock No. 104328 R1=Part of PC1 R2=Part of PC2 R3=2200 ohms, 0.5 watt R4=1200 ohms, 0.5 watt R5, R21=33000 ohms, 0.5 watt R6, R11=22000 ohms, 0.5 watt R7, R28, R31=0.47 megohm. 0.5 watt Rs=3900 ohms, 0.5 watt Re, R22=47000 ohms, 0.5 watt R10=220 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₂, R₁₇=1 megohm, 0.5 watt R₁₃=0.22 megohm, 0.5 watt R14=100 ohms, wire-wound, 4 watts R15. R20=68 ohms. 0.5 watt R₁₀=4700 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₅=0.33 megohm, 0.5 watt
- R19, R21=1000 ohms, 0.5 watt R23, R25=6800 ohms, 0.5 watt R20=220 ohms, 0.5 watt

- R27=3.3 megohms, 0.5 watt R20 = Volume control, potentiometer, 1 megohm, part of assembly with S2 R30=4.7 megohms, 0.5 watt R:2=150 ohms, 0.5 watt R::3=1500 ohms, 0.5 watt R:4=820 ohms, 0.5 watt R35=3900 ohms, 0.5 watt R₃₆=560 ohms, 0.5 watt S₁=AM-FM-AFC selector ; **3-section slide switch** S2=Interlock Sa=ON-OFF switch, part of assembly with R2 T₁=FM antenna transformer
- T2=FM oscillator transformer
- T₃, T₆=FM if transformer, 10.7 MHz
- T₄=AM oscillator coil ; with specified values of tuning and trimmer capacitance. tunes to 540 to 1600 kHz T₅, T₇=AM if transformer, 455 kHz
- Ts=Ratio-detector transformer, 10.7 MHz T₉==Audio output trans-
- former, matches impedance of speaker voice coil to 2500-ohm tube load

### 29-3

### FM TUNER

#### **Circuit Description**

This three-stage FM tuner features a pair of 6CW4 nuvistor triodes operated in a low-noise, high-gain cascode rf-amplifier stage. The mixer and local-oscillator sections of the tuner use the pentode and triode sections, respectively, of a 6KE8 triodepentode. The dc operating power for the tuner is obtained from a 180-volt. 20-milliampere supply. Power for the tube heaters is obtained from a 6.3volt, 660-milliampere ac source.

The tuner uses a 300-ohm balanced antenna. Antenna transformer T₁ matches the 300-ohm antenna impedance to the input circuit of the cascode rf amplifier. Antenna tuning capacitor C₄ is adjusted to select the desired FM channel. The frequencymodulated rf signals are amplified by the cascode rf stage and coupled to

the control grid of the mixer stage. The local oscillator generates a signal, at a frequency 10.7 MHz above the center frequency of the selected FM channel, which is also applied to the control grid of the mixer stage. The rf and local-oscillator signals are mixed to produce the desired 10.7-MHz FM intermediate frequency. Ganged tuning of the antenna, mixer, and local-oscillator tuning capacitors,  $C_{1}$ ,  $C_{13}$ , and  $C_{16}$ , assures that the localoscillator frequency tracks the input tuning at 10.7 MHz above the selected FM channel. Capacitors C₀, C₁₅, and  $C_{19}$  are trimmer adjustments for the tuner. The double-tuned transformer T₂ selects the 10.7-MHz FM if signals at the plate of the mixer stages and couples them to the if-amplifier/ limiter section of the FM receiver.

682

FM TUNER (Cont'd)



* A metal shield should be provided between grid and plate terminals on the 6CW4 socket.

#### Parts List

- C1, C8, C25, C20=0.01 μF, ceramic disc, 400 V
- C2, Can=2000 pF, feed-through, 400 V
- C3, C11, C21, C34, C36, C37, C38=1000 pF feedthrough,
- C38=:
- C4, C13, C10=Ganged tuning capacitor; 6.6-23 pF, 400 V; Miller No. 1461-BS or equiv.
- C5, C9, C28=1000 pF,
- ceramic, 400 V
- C6, C15, C19=Trimmer capacitors, 1-7.5 pF, ceramic, 400 V C7, C18, C33=10 pF, ceramic, 400 V
- C10=2000 pF, ceramic disc,
  - 400 V

- C12, C30=2000 pF, ceramic, 400 V C14, C22=6.8 pF, ceramic, 400 V  $C_{17} = 0.22 \ \mu$ F, ceramic, 400 V  $C_{20} = 18 \ \text{pF}$ , ceramic, 400 V  $C_{22} = Capacitor \text{ inserted in}$ place of tuning capacitor in secondary winding of T₂; value with cable capacitance tunes output circuit of tuner to 10.7 MHz C20, C24=2 pF feedthrough, 400 V  $C_{25}$  = 22 pF, ceramic, 400 V  $C_{25}$  = 22 pF, ceramic, 400 V  $C_{20}$  = 2.2 pF, ceramic, 400 V  $C_{27}$  = 47 pF, ceramic, 400 V C29=Part of T2
- L1=RF coil, 5 turns of No. 22 enamel wire close-

wound on ¼-inch-diameter coil form

- L2=RF coil, 12 turns of No. 22 enamel wire close-wound on ¼-inch-diameter slug-tuned coil form ; tuning slug = %-inch-long Moldite No. 5101 ferrite or equiv.
- La=RF choke, 4 µH, J. W. Miller No. 70F396A1 or
- equiv. L=RF coil, 3 turns of No. 16 enamel wire wound double-spaced on 1/4-inchdiameter slug-tuned coil form ; tuning slug = 3/8inch-long Moldite No.
- 5101 ferrite or equiv. L=RF coil, 1-1/2 turns of No. 16 enamel wire close-
#### Parts List (Cont'd)

wound on ¼-inch-diameter slug-tuned coil form : tuning slug=¾-inch-long Moldite No. 5101 ferrite or equiv.

- Le=RF choke, 2µH, Ohmite No. Z144 or equiv.
- L₇=RF coil; 0.4 µH; 20 turns of No. 26 enamel wire close-wound on a 0.47 megohm, 0.5-watt Allen-Bradley resistor or resistor of equivalent physical size
- of equivalent physical size Ls, Lo=: RF chokes ; 1µH ; 25 turns of No. 24 enamel wire close-wound on a 0.47megohm, 1-watt Allen-

## FM TUNER (Cont'd)

Bradley resistor or resistor of equivalent physical size  $R_1$ ,  $R_{13}$ =220 ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_2$ =5 ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_3$ ,  $R_6$ =0.47 megohm, 0.5 watt  $R_4$ ,  $R_6$ ,  $R_8$ =47000 ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_7$ =3900 ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{10}$ =22000 ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{11}$ =4700 ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{12}$ =15000 ohms, 0.5 watt  $S_1$ =AM/FM range switch; open position is used for

- local stations, closed position for distant stations
- T1=Antenna transformer; primary: 2 turns of No. 32 wire with type B nylon insulation, Alpha No. 1860 or equivalent, centertapped; secondary: 3 turns of No. 16 enamel wire; wound double-spaced on ¼-inch-long coil form; tuning slug = %-inch-long Moldite No. 5101 ferrite or equiv.
- T₂=FM if transformer, 10.7 MHz; J. W. Miller 1451 or equiv.; capacitor in secondary should be replaced by C₂₂
- Note: See general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits on page 675.

#### 29-4

## THREE-STAGE IF AMPLIFIER/LIMITER AND DETECTOR

For Monaural or Stereo Tuner

#### **Circuit Description**

This three-stage if amplifier/ limiter and detector circuit. when used with a front-end circuit such as that shown in circuit 25-3, makes possible an over-all tuner gain of 35 dB. The over-all bandwidth of the ifamplifier stages, between the 6-dBdown points, is 300 kHz, and the peak separation of the detector is 440 kHz. The circuit provides a signal-to-noise ratio of 20 dB for an input of 2.8 microvolts or 30 dB for an input of 4.1 microvolts. The 6HR6 and 6HS6 pentodes used in the if-amplifier stages have very high transconductance and a grid-No.1-to-plate capacitance substantially less than 0.01 picofarad and are, therefore, especially suited for use in FM if amplifiers and television sound if amplifiers. These pentodes operate from a 180-volt, 25-milliampere dc supply. Heater power for the pentodes and for the 6AL5 twin diode used in the ratio detector is obtained from a 6.3volt ac source.

The frequency-modulated, 10.7-MHz intermediate-frequency signal from the mixer stage in the FM tuner is applied to the control grid of the first if-amplifier stage. This signal is amplified by the three transformer-

coupled amplifier stages and applied by transformer T₂ to the ratio detector. The doubled-tuned coupling transformers T₁, T₂, and T₃ provide the selectivity at 10.7 MHz and the bandpass characteristics required for optimum transfer of the frequencymodulated signal. Circuit stability is improved by the use of unbypassed cathode resistors in each amplifier stage. The first two if stages are basically amplifiers, although they provide some saturation limiting of large-level signals. The 3300-ohm screen-grid dropping resistors (R2 and  $R_4$ ) reduce the screen-grid voltages in these stages to obtain the desired limiting characteristics. The 6HR6 pentode used in the first if amplifier is a remote-cutoff tube and, if desired, this stage may be operated with agc bias. The 6HS6 pentodes used in the second and third if stages are sharp-cutoff tubes. In addition, the screen-grid voltage divider network  $(\mathbf{R}_7 \text{ and } \mathbf{R}_8)$  for the third stage substantially reduces the screen-grid voltage so that the stage will provide both cutoff and saturation limiting of large-level signals. The limiting in the if stages helps remove any amplitude modulation from the frequency-mod-

**684** 

### THREE-STAGE IF AMPLIFIER/LIMITER AND DETECTOR (Cont'd)



#### Parts List

C1, C4=Part of T1 C2, C4=2200 pF, ceramic disc, 400 V Ca=50 µF, electrolytic, 450 V Cs, C7=Part of Ts Cs=47 pF, ceramic disc, 400 V Co, C18, C19, C20, C21=0.01  $\mu$ F, ceramic disc, 400 V C₁₀=1500 pF ceramic disc, 400 V Cn=Part of Ts

C12, C13, C15=330 pF, ceramic disc. 400 V C14=100 pF, ceramic disc, 400 V  $C_{16} = 2 \mu F$ , electrolytic, 400 V C₁₇=1000 pF, ceramic disc, 400 V L1, L2, L3=1 µH R1, R3=68 ohms, 0.5 watt R2, R4, R13=3300 ohms, 0.5 watt

2

- Rs=0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt
- R₆, R₁₀=100 ohms, 0.5 watt R₇=15000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₈=22000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₉=2200 ohms, 3 watts R₁₁=1200 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₂=390 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R12-355 6180 ohms, 0.5 watt R14, R15=6800 ohms, 0.5 watt R15=68000 ohms, 0.5 watt T1, T2=IF transformers, 10.7 MHz
- T3=Ratio-detector
  - transformer, 10.7 MHz

Note: Tube shields may be required if regeneration is encountered. See general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broad-band circuits on page 675.

## 29-4 THREE-STAGE IF AMPLIFIER/LIMITER AND DETECTOR (Cont'd)

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

ulated signals.

The 6AL5 ratio-detector circuit provides additional noise limiting of the FM signal and demodulates this signal to recover the audio information. The detector circuit provides the input to the audio amplifiers of a monaural receiver or to the multiplex detector in a stereo system. The RC network ( $R_{10}$  and  $C_{17}$ ) in the monaural output lead provides the desired deemphasis of high audio frequencies.

### 29-5 FM STEREO MULTIPLEX ADAPTER

#### **Circuit Description**

This FM stereo multiplex adapter demodulates composite multiplex signals from an FM tuner and separates these signals into left- and right-channel inputs for stereo audiooutput stages. The dc operating power for the 12AX7A and 6CL8A twin triodes used in the adapter circuit is obtained from a 180-volt, 15-milliampere supply. Power for the dual heaters of the 12AX7A and the single heater of the 6CL8A is obtained from a 6.3-volt source.

The composite signal applied to the multiplex adapter from the ratio detector (or discriminator) in an FM receiver includes a 19-kHz pilot-frequency (multiplex-reference) component and sum (L + R) and difference (L - R) components of left- and right-channel audio signals. The L + R signal is the demodulated in-phase combination of the left- and rightchannel audio information used to modulate the main carrier frequency of the receiver. The L - R signal is the out-of-phase combination of the left- and right-channel information and is used to amplitude-modulate a 38-kHz subcarrier. This subcarrier is suppressed in the FM tuner so that only the L - R sideband components of the amplitude-modulated signal remain.

The composite input signal is amplified by the 12AX7A triode section in the input stage of the adapter. The high input impedance of this stage prevents excessive loading of the ratio detector. The 67-kHz trap ( $L_1$ and  $C_2$ ) in the cathode circuit of this stage eliminates any SCA (storecast allocation) signal components that may be included in the composite signal. The composite signal is coupled from the plate of the input stage to the control grid of the 6CL8A triode section used in a signal-separation driver. This stage operates as a cathode follower for the L + R audio components and the L - R subcarrier sideband components. The L + R audio components are developed MATRIX BALANCE across the ADJ. potentiometer R₁₈ and coupled from the wiper arm of this potentiometer to the output resistor matrix network R₁₀ through R₂₂. A 3300picofarad capacitor C16 in the coupling circuit filters out any 19-kHz pilot-frequency components or 38kHz subcarrier sideband components that may be developed across potentiometer  $R_{18}$ . The L – R sideband components are coupled from the cathode of the signal-separation driver to the center tap of the secondary winding of the transformer T₂ in the peak detector. The 38-kHz band-pass coil L₂ and the 67-kHz series-resonant trap C₉ and L₃ assure maximum signal transfer of the L - R sideband components with minimum interference from storecast signals.

The 19-kHz double-tuned transformer  $T_1$  in the plate circuit of the signal-separation driver presents a highly selective load to the 19-kHz pilot-frequency component included in the composite multiplex signal and couples this 19-kHz component to the pilot-frequency doubler. The doubler

686



# FM STEREO MULTIPLEX ADAPTER (Cont'd)



#### Parts List C1, C11, C12, C13, C14, C17, C20=0.01 $\mu$ F, ceramic, 500 V RCA stock No. 111047 R11=4700 ohms, 0.5 watt or equiv. R₁₂=1.2 megohms, 0.5 watt R₁₃=0.15 megohm, 0.5 watt 500 V C2, C3=2200 pF, film, 500 V, N150 C4=0.047 $\mu$ F, paper, 200 V C4=0.047 $\mu$ F, paper, 200 V C4=0.047 $\mu$ F, paper, 200 V C5=0.22 $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C7, C3=1500 pF, film, 500 V, N150 C100 D7 A, 200 C L₂=RF coil, 38-kHz band-pass, RCA stock No. R16, R17, R23=22000 ohms. 111048 or equiv. 0.5 watt R1s=Potentiometer, balance adjustment, 10000 ohms, RCA stock No. 111044 $R_1 = 330$ ohms, 1 watt $R_2 = 0.56$ megohm, 0.5 watt R₃=1500 ohms, 0.5 watt R₄=15000 ohms, 0.5 watt or equiv. R5=68000 ohms, 0.5 watt R19, R20, R21, R22=0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt T₁=19-kHz transformer, $R_0 = 3.9$ megohms, 0.5 watt $R_7 = 1$ megohm, 0.5 watt C10=1000 pF, film, 500 V, _N150 Rs, R10=10000 ohms, RCA stock No. 111045 0.5 watt or equiv. C15=470 pF, ceramic, 500 V C1s=3300 pF, ceramic, 500 V L1, L1=RF coil, 67-kHz trap, Ro, R14, R15=47000 ohms, T₂=38-kHz transformer. 0.5 watt RCA stock No. 111046 or equiv. Note: See general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits on page 675.

### 29-5 FM STEREO MULTIPLEX ADAPTER (Cont'd)

Circuit Description (Cont'd)

circuit, which consists of two 1N295 diodes ( $CR_1$  and  $CR_2$ ) in a full-wave rectifier configuration, doubles the pilot frequency to regenerate the 38kHz subcarrier required for demodulation of the L - R sideband components.

The 38-kHz output of the doubler is amplified by the 6CL8A triode section used in the shaping amplifier and reshaped to a sine wave by the tuned primary of the peak detector transformer T₂. In the secondary of T₂, the 38-kHz subcarrier is recombined with the L - R sideband components from the cathode of the signal-separation driver. This combined signal is then demodulated by the 1N295 detector diodes CR₃ and CR₄ to obtain the L - R audio signal.

The L - R audio signal is applied to the control grid of the 6CL8A section used in a phase-splitter circuit.

29-6

### PREAMPLIFIER FOR AMATEUR RECEIVER

For 15-, 10-, and 6-Meter (21-, 30-, and 50-MHz) Amateur Bands and 27-MHz Citizens Band

### **Circuit Description**

In this preamplifier, two 6CW4 high-mu nuvistor triodes are used in a high-gain, low-noise cascode rfamplifier stage that adds 25 to 35 dB of gain ahead of a receiver operated on the 6-, 10-, or 15-meter amateur band or on the 27-MHz citizens band. This added gain, together with the

The cathode and plate outputs of the phase splitter are equal in amplitude and opposite in phase so that one output represents an L - R signal and the other output represents a - L+ R signal. These signals are applied to the output-resistor matrix network where they are added to the L + Raudio signal from the cathode circuit of the signal-separation driver. In the summation of the L + R and L- R audio signal, the R components are canceled, and the resultant obtained is the left-channel audio output. The summation of the L + R and -L + R signals results in cancellation of the L components so that only the right-channel audio output is obtained. These outputs are then applied to the stereo receiver left- and right-channel audio-output stages, respectively.

low noise figure (approximately 5 dB) of the preamplifier, substantially increases both the sensitivity and the signal-to-noise ratio of the receiver. The preamplifier operates from a dc plate supply of 150 volts at 5 milliamperes. The tube heaters require an ac power input of 6.3 volts at 0.26

# 688

#### 29-6 PREAMPLIFIER FOR AMATEUR RECEIVER (Cont'd)



	ALIGNMENT DATA	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Operating Frequency	Tune T ₁ to:	Tune T ₂ to:		
21 MHz	21.25 MHz	21.22 MHz		
27 MHz	30 MHz	27 MHz		
30 MHz	32 MHz	29.5 MHz		
50 MHz	51 MHz	50 MHz		

### Parts List

- C1, C7=See Note 1 C2, C3, C4, C5, C6, C6, C9=0.001 μF, 500 V,
- ceramic
- $R_1, R_2 = 100$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_3 = 0.47$  megohm, 0.5 watt  $R_4 = 1000$  ohms, 0.5 watt

- T1=Input transformer (slugtuned); matches preampli-fier to 52-ohm input line (for 300-ohm input line, double number of turns in

primary); wound from #32 copper enamel wire on slugtuned form having 14-inch outer diameter: primary, 1½ turns; secondary, 18 18 turns for operation at 21, 27, or 30 MHz or 10 turns for operation at 50 MHz T₂=Output transformer (slug-tuned); matches pre-amplifier to 72-ohm output lines (use of other than a

72-ohm line between pre-amplifier output and receiver input is not recommended); wound from #32 copper enamel wire on slugtuned form having 1/4-inch tuned form having '4-inch outer diameter; primary, 18 turns for operation at 21, 27, or 30 MHz or 10 turns for operation at 50 MHz, secondary, 1½ turns.

Notes: 1. For operation at 21 or 27 MHz, use 6.8-pF 500-volt capacitors for C1 and C7; for operation at 30 MHz, use 5-pF 500-volt capacitors for C1 and C7; for operation at 50 MHz, use 5-pF 500-volt capacitor for C1 and 6.8-pF 500-volt capacitor for C7. 2. See general considerations for construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits on page 675.

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

ampere. These small power requirements can usually be provided by the receiver.

Input transformer  $T_1$  matches the high input impedance of the preamplifier to a 72-ohm or 300-ohm antenna. When a 72-ohm antenna is used, the primary of T₁ consists of a 1¹/₂-turn link wound about the hot end of the secondary coil. For a 300ohm antenna, a 3-turn link is used. The secondary of  $T_1$  is an 18-turn coil for operation at 10 or 15 meters or on the citizens band. At 6 meters, a 10-turn secondary coil is used. The unit is normally connected to the antenna cable by means of a coaxial connector. If a balanced antenna system is used, however, terminal strips for the twin leads may be used instead of the coaxial connector. In this latter case, the input link (primary of  $T_1$ ) is not grounded.

Nuvistors  $V_1$  and  $V_2$  are operated in a stacked (cascode) arrangement in series with the B+ supply. The input is coupled by  $T_1$  to the control grid of  $V_1$ , which is essentially a grounded-cathode amplifier. The output of  $V_1$  is applied to the cathode of V₂, which is basically a groundedgrid amplifier. The inherent stability

## 29-6 PREAMPLIFIER FOR AMATEUR RECEIVER (Cont'd)

### **Circuit Description** (Cont'd)

of this type of arrangement, together with the ample decoupling and bypassing networks included in the circuit, provides assurance that the preamplifier will not break into oscillation.

The output of  $V_2$  is developed across the primary coil of output transformer  $T_2$ . This coil is identical to the secondary coil of input transformer  $T_1$ . The secondary of  $T_2$  consists of a  $1\frac{1}{2}$ -turn link about the primary coil. This link matches the output of the preamplifier to a 75-ohm receiver input cable. (The maximum length of coaxial cable between receiver and preamplifier should not exceed 12 inches.)

### **CODE-PRACTICE OSCILLATOR**



Note: Any two terminals of the secondary of T₂ that give the desired tone may be selected. Adjustment of volume control may cause a slight change in tone.

#### Parts List

C1, C2=20 μF, electrolytic, 150 V C3=0.001 μF, paper, 200 V C4=0.03 μF, paper, 200 V F=36 ampere

J1=Input jack for key R1=1500 ohms, 1 watt R2=Potentiometer, 0.1 megohm. 0.5 watt T₁=Power transformer, 125 volts rms, 15 ma; 6.3 volts, 0.6 ampere T₂=Output transformer, universal

#### **Circuit Description**

This code-practice oscillator operates from a 117-volt ac power line. When ON-OFF switch  $S_1$  is closed, the 117-volt ac input power is stepped up to 125 volts across the upper secondary winding of power transformer  $T_1$  and is stepped down to 6.3 volts across the lower secondary winding. The 6.3-volt winding provides the operating power for the heater of the 6BJ8 twin diode-tride used in the circuit. The diode sections of the 6BJ8 are connected to operate as a single diode in a half-wave rectifier circuit that converts the ac power across the 125-volt winding of  $T_1$  to dc operating power for the 6BJ8 triode section. This triode section is used as the amplifier tube in a simple audio-oscillator stage.

Operation of the oscillator stage is controlled by a telegraph key, which is connected into the circuit by means of jack  $J_1$ . When the key is closed, the triode section of the 6BJ8 supplies energy to the oscillator resonant circuit formed by capacitor  $C_4$ and the effective inductance of the primary of output transformer  $T_2$ . This circuit then resonates to pro-

#### 29-7 CODE-PRACTICE OSCILLATOR (Cont'd)

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

duce an audio signal that is coupled by transformer  $T_2$  to the speaker to produce an audible indication of the keying. Positive feedback to sustain oscillation is developed by the autotransformer action of the tapped primary of transformer T₂.

Output transformer T₂ is a universal type which contains multiple taps on the secondary winding. These taps enable the transformer to match the oscillator output impedance to

different values of speaker voice-coil impedance. The speaker impedance and transformer terminals used, however. affect the effective inductance in the primary of  $T_1$  and, thus, the tone of the audio output. Volumecontrol potentiometer R₂ adjusts the level of the audio output. Adjustment of potentiometer R2 varies the loading on the oscillator resonant circuit and may also cause a slight change in the tone of the audio output.



### INTERCOMMUNICATION SET With Master Unit and Two or More Remote Units



Notes: 1. The leads from the LISTEN-TALK switch S1 to T1 and T2 should be kept as far apart as possible to prevent undesirable regenerative effects.
 Connections to the remote speaker units should be made with low-resistance wire, preferably with shielded "intercom" cable.

### Parts List

- C₁, C₂=0.0022 μF, paper, 200 V.
- Cs=0.005  $\mu$ F, paper, 200 V. C4, Cs=60  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 150 V.
- F1=Fuse, 1 ampere
- R1=Volume control, potentiometer, 0.5 megohm, audio taper, attached to switch S₃
- R₂=6.8 megohms, 0.5 watt
- R3, R4=0.47 megohm,
- 0.5 watt
- Rs=10000 ohms, 0.5 watt

- Rs, R7=68 ohms, 0.5 watt Rs=2200 ohms, 1 watt
- S1=Talk-listen switch,
- double-pole, double-throw S2=Station Selector, rotary switch
- Sa=On-off switch, single-pole, single-throw; attached to volume-control potentiometer
- SP1, SP2, SP3=Speaker ; permanent-magnet; voice-coil impedance, 3 to 4 ohms
- T₁=Input transformer, 4-ohm primary, 25000-ohm second-ary, Knight 54A1492 or eauiv.
- T₂=Output transformer, 3000ohm primary, 4-ohm sec-ondary, Knight 54A2371 or
- equiv. T₃=Power transformer, 125 volts rms, 50 mA., 6.3 volts rms. 2 amperes, Knight 54A1411 or equiv.

### 29-8 INTERCOMMUNICATION SET (Cont'd)

### **Circuit Description**

This simple "intercom" set can be used to achieve reliable voice communications, at normal speaking levels, between any two points in a normal-size house. The system consists of a master unit. centrally located at the hub of household activity. interconnected by low-loss cabling to remote units located at points (e.g., garage, attic, and cellar) beyond the range of normal voice levels. An audio amplifier, which includes a 6AV6 voltage-amplifier stage and a 6EH5 power-output stage, provides the amplification necessary to overcome the attenuation of voice levels by system cabling. A 6X4 half-wave rectifier circuit converts the 117-volt ac input power to the dc power required for operation of the amplifier stages. A 6.3-volt secondary winding on the power transformer  $(T_3)$  in the rectifier circuit provides heater power for the amplifier and rectifier tubes.

The speaker at each intercom station is used for both talk and listen functions. The talk-listen switch  $S_i$  at the master location establishes the talk or listen mode for all stations. The voice communications are initiated from the master unit. Switch  $S_i$  is depressed to the TALK position, and the initiator talks into the master-unit speaker. The audio (voicesignal) voltage that is then developed across the speaker voice coil is coupled by input transformer  $T_i$  to the control grid of the 6AV6 audio amplifier. Selector switch  $S_2$  connects the desired remote unit into the intercom system. With  $S_1$  depressed to the TALK position, the remote unit speaker is automatically connected to the audio amplifier output for listen-mode operation. When  $S_1$  is in the LISTEN position, the master-unit speaker is connected in the listen mode, and the remote-unit speaker is connected to the amplifier input. A reply from the remote unit is then coupled from the remote speaker by transformer T, to the control grid of the 6AV6 audio amplifier.

Transformer T₁ matches the voice-coil impedance of the 4-ohm permanent-magnet speaker (of either master or remote unit) to the 25000ohm input impedance of the 6AV6 amplifier stage. This stage and the 6EH5 audio output stage amplify the audio (voice) signals received from one location (the master unit or one of the remote units) to develop the audio power required to produce an audible output from the speaker at another location. Output transformer T2 matches the 3000-ohm plate-circuit impedance of the output stage to the 4-ohm voice-coil impedance of the speaker (master-unit or remote-unit) to which the communication is directed, as determined by the settings of switches  $S_1$  and  $S_2$ . The VOL. CONT. potentiometer  $R_1$  in the input circuit of the 6AV6 audio amplifier stage provides the volume-control adjustment for the system.

29-9

### HIGH-FIDELITY AUDIO AMPLIFIER Class AB₁; Power Output, 15 Watts

### **Circuit Description**

This high-fidelity audio power amplifier can deliver 15 watts of rms output power with less than 0.4 per cent total harmonic distortion and less than 1.5 per cent intermodulation distortion. The frequency response of the amplifier is flat within  $\pm 0.5$  dB from 20 Hz to 60 kHz, and the sensitivity is such that the rated output of 15 watts is obtained for an input of 1.2 volts rms. The total hum and noise, with the input shorted, is 84 dB below 15 watts. The circuit operates from a 117-volt ac power line. The transformer-coupled ac input power is converted to dc operating

### 692

# HIGH-FIDELITY AUDIO AMPLIFIER (Cont'd)



### Parts List

- C1=40 µF, electrolytic, 450 V. C2, C4, C5=0.25 µF, paper,
- C₂=3.3 pF, ceramic or mica, 600 V.
- Ce=150 pF, ceramic or mica, 400 V.
- C₇, C₃=0.05 μF, paper, 400 V.
- $C_0=0.02 \ \mu F$ , paper 600 V.  $C_{10}=100 \ \mu F$ , electrolytic,
- 50 V.
- $C_{11}$ =80  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 450 V.
- C₁₂=40 μF, electrolytic, 450 V.
- F1=Fuse, 3 amperes
- L1=Choke, 3 H, 160 mA, dc resistance 75 ohms or less, Triad C-13X or equiv.

R1=Volume control, potentiometer, 1 megohm R2=10000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₂==0.82 megohm, 0.5 watt R₄==820 ohms, 0.5 watt R₅==0.22 megohm, 0.5 watt R₆, R₇=15000 ohm ±5 per cent, 2 watts Rs=3900 ohms, 2 watts Ro, R10=0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt 0.5 Watt R11, R12=1000 ohms, 0.5 watt R15, R14=100 ohms, 0.5 watt R15=8200 ohms, 0.5 watt R15=0200 ohms, 0.0 watt R16=15000 ohms, 1 watt R17=68000 ohms, 0.5 watt R18=4700 ohms, 2 watts R₁₈=0.27 megohm, 1 watt R20=47000 ohms, 0.5 watt

- R21=Hum balance adjustment, potentiometer, 100 ohms, 0.5 watt
- SR₁=Selenium rectifier, 20 mA, 135 volts rms
- T1==Output transformer (having 8-ohm tap for feedback connection) for matching impedance of voice coil to 6600-ohm plate-to-plate tube load; 50 watts; fre-quency response, 10 to 50000 Hz ; Stancor A-8056 or equiv.
- T₂=Power transformer 360-0-360 volts rms, 120 mA; 6.3 V., 3.5 A; 5 V., 3 A; Stancor 8410 or equiv. (see Note 1)
- Notes: 1. For stereo operation from a single power supply, the power transformer T₂ must be replaced by one that has a higher current rating. A Stancor Type 6315 or equivalent (370-0-370 volt rms, 275 mA) is recommended.
  2. If the amplifier oscillates or "motorboats," reverse ground and feedback connections in secondary of output transformer T₁.

## 29-9 HIGH-FIDELITY AUDIO AMPLIFIER (Cont'd)

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

power for the amplifier stages by the 5BC3 full-wave rectifier. Heater power for the amplifier tubes and the rectifier are obtained from the 6.3-volt and 5-volt secondary windings, respectively, on the rectifier power transformer  $(T_2)$ .

Α high-gain pentode voltage amplifier is used as the input stage for the audio power amplifier. The output of this stage is direct-coupled to the control grid of a triode splitload type of phase inverter. The use of direct coupling between these stages minimizes phase shift and, consequently, increases the amount of inverse feedback that may be used without danger of low-frequency instability. A low-noise 7199 tube, which contains a high-gain pentode section and a medium-mu triode section in one envelope, fulfills the active-component requirement for both the pentode input stage and the triode phase inverter. Potentiometer R, in the input circuit of the 7199 pentode section is the volume control for the amplifier.

The plate and cathode outputs of the phase inverter, which are equal in amplitude and opposite in phase, are used to drive a pair of pentode-connected 6973 beam-power tubes used in a class  $AB_1$  push-pull output stage. The 6973 output tubes are biased for class  $AB_1$  operation by the fixed negative voltage applied to the controlgrid circuit from the rectifier circuit. Fixed bias is used because a class ABamplifier provides highest efficiency and least distortion for this bias method.

Transformer  $T_1$  couples the audioamplifier output to the speaker. The taps on the secondary of this transformer match the plate-to-plate impedance of the output stage to the voice-coil impedance of an 8- or 16ohm speaker. Negative feedback of 19.5 dB is coupled from the secondary of the output transformer (speaker voice coil) to the cathode of the input stage to reduce distortion and to improve circuit stability.

Fixed-bias operation of the output stage requires that the power supply provide very good voltage regulation because the plate current of the 6973 tubes varies considerably with the signal level. The conventional choke-input type of power supply used provides the required regulation. The fixed bias for the output stage is obtained from one-half the high-voltage secondary winding of power transformer T₂ through a capacitance-resistance voltage divider the 20-milliampere, 135-volt and selenium rectifier. Potentiometer Ra connected across the 6.3-volt secondary winding of transformer T₂ provides a hum balance adjustment for the audio power amplifier. The wiper arm of this potentiometer is connected to the junction of a resistive voltage divider across the output of the power supply. The resulting positive bias voltage applied to the tube heaters minimizes heater-to-cathode leakage and substantially reduces hum.

29-10

HIGH-FIDELITY AUDIO AMPLIFIER Class AB₁; Power Output, 30 Watts

#### **Circuit Description**

This audio power amplifier can deliver 30 watts of rms output power with less than 0.7 per cent total harmonic distortion and less than 1.5 per cent intermodulation distortion. The frequency response of the amplifier is flat within  $\pm 0.5$  dB from 15 Hz to 40 kHz. The total hum and noise, with the input shorted, is 85 dB below 30 watts. The rated output of 30 watts is obtained for an input of 1 volt rms.

The 30-watt amplifier is essentially identical to the 15-watt ampli-

#### 29-10 HIGH-FIDELITY AUDIO AMPLIFIER (Cont'd)



#### Parts List

- C₂=22 pF, ceramic or mica, 600 V  $C_1=25 \ \mu F$ , electrolytic, 50 V
- C₅=80  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 450 V C₁, C₅=0.25  $\mu$ F, paper, 600 V

- $C_{1}, C_{5}=0.25 \ \mu\text{F}, \text{paper, } 600 \ \text{V}$   $C_{0}=0.01 \ \mu\text{F}, \text{paper, } 600 \ \text{V}$   $C_{7}, C_{8}=0.05 \ \mu\text{F}, \text{paper, } 600 \ \text{V}$   $C_{9}, C_{1}=40 \ \mu\text{F}, \text{electrolytic, } 500 \ \text{V}$
- $C_{10}=100 \ \mu F$ , electrolytic, 50 V C12=20 μF, electrolytic, 450 V
- F1=Fuse, 3 amperes, 150 V R1=Volume control, poten-
- tiometer, 1 megohm R₂=10000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R₃=0.22 megohm, 0.5 watt

 $R_4$ =820 ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_5$ =10 ohms, 0.5 watt Ro=0.18 megohm, 0.5 watt R7, Rs=15000 ohms ±5 per cent, 2 watts Rs=1000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₀=22000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₁=2000 ohms, 2 watts R12, R13=0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt R11, R15=1000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₆, R₁₇=56 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₈=270 ohms, 0.5 watt R10=Hum balance adjustment, potentiometer, 100 ohms, 0.5 watt R20==220 ohms, 10 watts

- Ra=50 ohms, 10 watts R==10000 ohms, 2 watts T1=Output transformer (having 16-ohm tap for feedback connection) for matching impedance of voice coil to 6600-ohm plate-to-plate tube load; 50 watts; frequency response, 10 to 50000 Hz; Stancor A-8056 or equiv.
- $T_2$ =Power transformer, 375-0-375 volts rms, 160 mA; 6.3 V., 5 A; 5 V., 3 A; Thordarson type T22R33 or equivalent (see Note 1).
- Notes: 1. For stereo operation from a single power supply, the power transformer T₂ must be replaced by one that has a higher current rating. A Stancor Type 6315 or equivalent (370-0-370 volts rms, 275 mA) is recommended.
  2. If amplifier oscillates or "motorboats," reverse ground and feedback connections in secondary of output transformer T₁.

#### 29-10 HIGH-FIDELITY AUDIO AMPLIFIER (Cont'd)

### **Circuit Description** (Cont'd)

fier (circuit 29-9) except that it uses 7868 beam power tubes in the output stage to develop the higher audio power output and uses a resistive network in the negative leg of the power supply, rather than a separate rectifier, to supply the fixed-bias voltage for the output stage. A potentiometer  $(R_{19})$  connected across the 6.3-volt heater winding also provides the hum balance adjustment for the 30-watt amplifier.

29-11

HIGH-FIDELITY AUDIO AMPLIFIER Class AB₁: Power Output, 50 Watts



### **Preliminary Adjustments**

- The following adjustments should be mrde before operation:
  (1) With rectifier out of socket, adjust Bias Adj. Rss for -40 volts between the wiper arm and ground bus.
  (2) With speaker connected, adjust Screen-Grid Voltage Adj. Rss for 400 volts between pin 3 of 6GF7 and ground bus.
  (3) With input shorted, adjust Hum Bal. Adj. Rso for minimum hum from speaker.
  (4) With input open and Vol. Cont. set for maximum volume, adjust Bal. Cont. Rsf for minimum hum from speaker.

  - minimum hum from speaker.

696

### CIRCUITS

#### HIGH-FIDELITY AUDIO AMPLIFIER (Cont'd) 29-11

#### Parts List

- C1, C2=40 µF, electrolytic, 450 V
- C3, C4=0.02  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C5, Ca=1  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C7=0.002  $\mu$ F to 4-ohm tap;
- 0.0015 μF to 8-ohm tap; 0.0015 μF to 8-ohm tap; 0.001 μF to 16-ohm tap; paper, 400 V Cs, Co=0.05 μF, paper, 600 V
- C₁₀=20 µF, electrolytic, 450 V
- $C_{11}=100 \ \mu F$ , electrolytic, 150 V
- C₁₂=40  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 450 V
- F1=Fuse, 5 amperes
- La=Choke, 8 H, 250 mA, dc resistance 60 ohms, or less
- R1=Volume control, potenti-
- ometer, 0.5 megohm

- connecter, 0.5 megonim Re=4700 ohms, 0.5 watt Rs=0.82 megohim, 0.5 watt Rs=820 ohms, 0.5 watt Rs=10 ohms, 0.5 watt Rr Rs=15000 ohms, 2 watts
- Re, R10=1.5 megohms.
- 0.5 watt
- R11=33000 ohms, 2 watts

- R12, R14=1.3 megohms,
- 0.5 watt
- R13=47 ohms, 0.5 watt R15. R19=0.15 megohm.
- 0.5 watt R16, R18=390 ohms, 0.5 watt R17=AC balance control, potentiometer, 500 ohms
- R20=0.15 megohm, 1 watt
- R21, R24=0.33 megohm,
- 1 watt
- R22, R23=0.12 megohm, 2 watts
- R25, R26=0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt
- R27, R28=4700 ohms.
- 0.5 watt R2n=600 ohms to 4-ohm tap; 820 ohms to 8-ohm tap; or, 1200 ohms to 16-ohm tap;
- 0.5 watt Ran=Hum balance adjustment, potentiometer, 100
- ohms R₃₁=0.12 megohm, 5 watts
- R32, R34, R35, R37=33000 ohms, 2 watts
- R33=Bias adjustment, potentiometer 50000 ohms,

- R36=0.27 megohm, 0.5 watt R38=10000 ohms, 1 watt
- Ras=Screen-grid voltage adjustment, potentiometer, 25000 ohms, 2 watts
- R40=15000 ohms, 2 watts R41=12000 ohms, 2 watts
- R42=0.22 megohm, 2 watts
- R13=22000 ohms, 2 watts
- SR1=Selenium rectifier, 20
- mA, 135 volts rms T1=Output transformer for matching impedance of voice coil to 5000-ohm plate-to-plate tube load : 50 watts ; frequency response, 10 to 50000 Hz ; United Transformer Corp. LS6L4
- or equiv. (see Note 1) T₂=Power transformer, 600-0-600 volts rms, 200 mA, 6.3 V., 5 A : 5 V., mA, 6.3 V., 5 A; 5 V., 3 A; Thordsroop ⁹²R36 or equiv. (see Note 2) T₃=Filament transformer,
- 6.3 volts, center tapped, 1 ampere ; Thordarson 21F08 or equiv.
- Notes: 1. In many applications, less expensive transformers, such as Stancor Type A8053 or United Transformer Corporation Type S-17, which have a narrower frequency response, may be used for T₁ with satisfactory results.
  2. For stereo operation from a single power supply, the following changes are required: (a) The power transformer T₂ must be replaced by one that has a higher current rating; a Freed Transformer Corporation Type DC6A or equivalent (600-0-600 volts rms, 300 mA) is recommended. (b) The 50000-ohm Bias Adj. potentiometer R₃₃ should be replaced by two 100000-ohm Bias Adj. potentichannel) connected in parallel. (c) A second 5R4-GYB rectifier tube should be connected in parallel with the one used for monaural operation. (Connect the 5R4-GYB tubes so that the two sections of each tube are in parallel with the corresponding sections of the other tube; do not use separate tubes for each section of the rectifier circuit.) 3. If the amplifier oscillates or "motorboats," reverse ground and feedback connections in secondary of output transformer  $T_1$ .

#### **Circuit Description**

This four-stage audio power amplifier can deliver 50 watts of rms power output with less than 0.1 per cent total harmonic distortion and less than 1 per cent intermodulation distortion. The frequency response of the amplifier is flat within  $\pm 0.5$ dB from 10 Hz to 50 kHz. Sensitivity is 0.4 volt rms input for 50 watts output. The total hum and noise is 70 dB below 50 watts.

The 50-watt amplifier, like the 15-watt and 30-watt high-fidelity amplifiers (circuits 29-9 and 29-10), uses a 7199 low-noise triode-pentode as an input amplifier and phasesplitter, but has a push-pull driver stage, which uses 6CB6 sharp-cutoff pentodes. The superior performance of this amplifier can also be attributed, in part, to the use of a 450-volt plate supply and a 400-volt electronically regulated grid-No. 2 supply

for the 7027A beam power tubes in the output stage and to the use of inverse-feedback loops from the plates to the grids of the output tubes. from the plates of the output tubes to the cathodes of the driver tubes, and from the voice-coil winding of the output transformer to the cathode of the input amplifier. Additional features are the operation of all heaters at a positive voltage with respect to ground and use of a balancing adjustment  $(\mathbf{R}_{\infty})$  in the heater-supply circuit to minimize hum, a grid-No. 2 voltage adjustment (R₃₀), a grid-No. 1 bias adjustment  $(R_{33})$  for the 7027A output tubes, and an ac-balance adjustment  $(R_{13})$  which may be used to balance the outputs of the pushpull stages. Operation of the 50-watt amplifier is essentially the same as that of the 15- and 30-watt amplifiers.



#### Parts List

C₁, C₃=0.22 μF, paper, 400 V C₂=0.1 μF, paper, 400 V C₄, C₅=50 μF, electrolytic, 25 V Co=50 µF, electrolytic, 150 V C7, Cs=50 μF ,electrolytic, 150 V F1=Fuse, 3 amperes

#### **Circuit Description**

This ac/dc two-channel (stereo) amplifier operates from either an ac power line or dc supply of 117 volts. AC power inputs are converted to dc power by the 1N1763 silicon-diode circuit. The rectifier half-wave heaters of the 60FX5 power pentodes (one for each channel) used in the amplifier are connected in series directly across the input power line.

In stereo units that use highoutput ceramic stereo cartridges, the high power sensitivity of the 60FX5 tubes at low supply voltage elimineed for preamplifier nates the stages. The 60FX5 provides a power output of 1.3 watts to a 3000-ohm transformer primary with only 3 volts peak drive on grid No. 1. With a transformer having a good impedance match and 85-per-cent efficiency, each channel of the stereo amplifier supplies 1.1 watts of useful power output at the speaker.

No special mounting or layout

 $R_1, R_2 = Volume control po$ ki,  $R_5 = 47000$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_6 = 12$  ohms, 1 watt R₇ = Balance control, tentiometer, 2 mego potentiometer. megohms, audio taper

 $R_{8}, R_{9} = 60$  ohms, 1 watt  $R_{10} = 280$  ohms, 2 watts  $R_{11} = 220$  ohms, 2 watts  $S_1 = ON-OFF$  switch, singlepole, single-throw

 $T_1, T_2 = Output transformer$ for matching impedance of voice coil to 3000-ohm tube load; Triad S-16X or equiv.

precautions are necessary for this amplifier other than the value and placement of the isolating capacitor C_z between B- and the chassis. This capacitor should be connected to the same point on the chassis at which the common cartridge lead is tied. A value of 0.1 microfarad for the isolating capacitor is suggested so that full output is obtained from the pickup.

As with all single-ended amplifier circuits, especially ac/dc units, adequate screen-grid bypassing is necessary to minimize hum. Screengrid filtering is obtained through use of a 220-ohm dropping resistor R_s and a 50-microfarad electrolytic capacitor C. Although, in the circuit shown. separate cathode-bias resistors are used for better dynamic balance, a single 30-ohm common cathode-bias resistor bypassed with a 50-microfarad electrolytic capacitor may also be used.



### Parts List

- C1, C2=100 pF, disc-ceramic, 300 V

- 300 V Ga=0.05 μF, paper, 200 V Ga=8 μF, electrolytic, 450 V Ga=25 μF, electrolytic, 450 V Ga=25 μF, electrolytic, 450 V Gr=0.1 μF, paper, 200 V Ga=0.001 μF, disc-ceramic,

- 300 V
- $C_0 = 0.01 \ \mu F$ , disc-ceramic, 300 V
- C10=470 pF, disc-ceramic, 300 V
- C11=4700 pF, disc-ceramic, 300 V
- C₁₂=4  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 450 V C₁₃=0.05  $\mu$ F, paper, 600 V C₁₄=25  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 25 V

- C15, C16, C17=20 µF, electro-lytic, 450 V
- F1=Fuse, 1 ampere J1=Jack for high-impedance

crystal microphone input; max. input: 2 millivolts peak

- J==Jack for crystal phonopickup input
- L1=Filter choke, 5 H, 200 mA, United Trans-former Corp. R20 or equiv.
- R1, R16=10000 ohms, 0.5 watt R2=Volume Control, potenti-
- ometer, 1 megohm
- Rs=2.2 megohms, 0.5 watt R₁, R₈, R₂₀=0.22 megohm,
- 0.5 watt
- R₅=27000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₆=1200 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R7, R13=0.1 megohm,

- 0.5 watt R₉, R₁₁=Tone control, potentiometer, 0.5 megohm R10=22000 ohms, 0.5 watt R12=12000 ohms, 0.5 watt

- R14=1800 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R15=0.47 megohm, 0.5 watt R17=0.15 megohm, 0.5 watt
- R18=180 ohms, 2 watts
- R19=47000 ohms, 1 watt R21=50 ohms, 10 watts
- Rm=8200 ohms, 2 watts
- S1=Microphone-phonograph selector; wafer switch; single-pole, double-throw S2=ON-OFF switch, single-
- pole, single-throw
- T1=Power transformer, 300-0-300 V., 90 mA.; 6.3 V., 3.5 A., center tapped; 5 V., 2 A, Thordarson 22R04 or equiv.
- T2=Output transformer for matching impedance of voice coil to 4000-ohm tube load : 10 watts : United Transformer Corp. S14 or equiv.

### **Circuit Description**

This microphone and phonograph amplifier can deliver up to 8 watts of audio output power for an input of 200 millivolts rms at J₂ (phonograph input) or an input of 6.8 millivolts rms at  $J_1$  (microphone input). The amplifier uses a 6EU7 twin-triode input amplifier, a 6AV6 driver stage,

and a 6L6GC single-ended output stage to increase the signal power from a high-impedance crystal microphone or crystal phonograph pickup to the desired level. The transformercoupled ac input power is converted to dc operating power for these stages by a 5Y3GT full-wave recti-

### 29-13 MICROPHONE AND PHONOGRAPH AMPLIFIER (Cont'd)

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

fier circuit. A 5-volt winding on power transformer  $T_1$  provides the heater power for the rectifier tube, and a 6.3-volt winding provides heater power for the other tubes in the amplifier. The center tap on the 6.3-volt winding is connected to the junction of a resistive voltage divider ( $R_{10}$  and  $R_{20}$ ) across the output of the power supply. The resulting positive bias applied to the tube heaters substantially reduces heater-to-cathode leakage and, consequently, minimizeshum.

The signals from a crystal microphone are usually much smaller than those from a crystal phonograph pickup. Microphone signals, therefore, are amplified by both sections of the 6EU7 twin-triode amplifier. The signals are coupled from  $J_1$  to the pin 5 control grid of the 6EU7. The plate output from this triode section is then coupled through switch  $S_1$  (microphone position) and volume-control potentiometer  $R_2$  to the pin 8 control grid of the 6EU7. With selector switch  $S_1$  in the phonograph position, phonograph inputs are coupled directly from  $J_2$  across volume-control potentiometer  $R_2$  to the pin 8 control grid, and the first section of the 6EU7 is bypassed.

The outputs from the pin 7 plate of the 6EU7 are coupled across the frequency-sensitive tone-control network to the control grid of the 6AV6 driver stage. The bass and treble controls R₀ and R₁₁ are adjusted to assure optimum low- and high-frequency response characteristics for the amplifier. The two diode plate sections of the 6AV6 are shorted to the tube cathode and thereby are made inoperative. The output of the driver stage is applied to the 6L6GC output stage which develops the audio power required to drive a speaker. Transformer T2 matches the 4000-ohm plate impedance of the output stage to the speaker voice-coil impedance.

### 29-14

### TWO-CHANNEL AUDIO MIXER

Voltage Gain from Each Grid of 6EU7 to Output is Approximately 20



### Parts List

C₁=10  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 25 V C₂=0.05  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V R₁, R₅, R₅=1 megohm,

0.5 watt R₂ R₆=0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt R₃, R₇=Potentiometers, 0.1 megohm, audio taper R₁=1200 ohms, 0.5 watt

700

### CIRCUITS

## 29-14 TWO-CHANNEL AUDIO MIXER (Cont'd)

### **Circuit Description**

This high-fidelity mixer circuit can be used to combine audio-frequency program material from two sources. Each signal channel consists of a one-stage voltage amplifier using one section of a 6EU7 lownoise twin-triode. Each section of the mixer can provide a voltage gain of about 20, and can handle an input signal of about 0.2 volt rms without overloading. The dc plate supply of +250 volts (nominal value) for the mixer stages can usually be obtained from an auxiliary tap on the power supply for the audio power amplifiers.



### Parts List

C1=0.082  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C2=0.02  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V Ca, C4=40  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 150 V F1=Fuse, 1 ampere J1=Input connector, shielded, for crystal phonograph pickup R1=0.22 megohm, 0.5 watt R==Volume control, potentiometer, 0.5 megohm, audio taper R3=10000 ohms, 0.5 watt R1=22 ohms, 0.5 watt R₅=210 ohms, 10 watts R₆, R₇=56 ohms, 0.5 watt R₈=3300 ohms, 1 watt T₁=Output transformer for matching impedance of voice coil to 3000-ohm tube load

#### **Circuit Description**

This single-stage phonograph amplifier operates directly from either an ac power line or a dc supply of 117 volts. AC power inputs are converted to dc power by the 35W4half-wave rectifier circuit. The heaters of the amplifier and rectifier tube are connected in series, together with a 210-ohm voltage-dropping resistor,  $R_5$ , directly across the input power line.

The amplifier uses a 50EH5

power pentode to develop up to 1 watt of audio output power from the input supplied from a crystal phonograph pickup. The input is applied at  $J_1$  and coupled through a length of shielded cable to the input circuit of the pentode amplifier. Volume-control adjustment for the amplifier is provided by potentiometer  $R_2$ . The output coupling transformer  $T_1$  matches the 3000-ohm plate load impedance of the 50EH5 to the voice-coil impedance of the speaker.



29-16 PREAMPLIFIER FOR MAGNETIC PHONOGRAPH PICKUP With RIAA Equalization

Sensitivity=3 millivolts rms input for output of 0.55 volt at frequency of 1000 Hz.

#### Parts List

C₁, C₁=25  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 25 V C₂, C₅=20  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 450 V C₅=0.1  $\mu$ F, paper, 600 V C₅=0.0033  $\mu$ F=5 per cent, paper, 600 V C₇=0.01  $\mu$ F=5 per cent, paper, 600 V

#### Cs=180 pF±5 per cent, ceramic or mica, 500 V (includes capacitance of output cable) Co=0.22 µF, ceramic, 500 V J=Input connector, shielded, for high-impedance magnetic phono pickup (10 mV output, approx.) Ri=Value depends on type

of magnetic pickup used, Follow pickup manufacturer's recommendations Rz, Rr=2700 ohms, 0.5 watt Ra, Rs=0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt Rs=0.47 megohm, 0.5 watt Rs=0.68 megohm, 0.5 watt Rs=15000 ohms, 1 watt Rs=15000 ohms, 1.5 watt

#### **Circuit Description**

This two-stage audio preamplifier is intended for use with high-fidelity magnetic phonograph pickups. The two amplifier stages provide an overall circuit gain of approximately 150. The 7025 twin triode used in the circuit features exceptionally low hum and noise and is designed especially for use in high-fidelity circuits that operate at low signal levels. The preamplifier is ideally suited for use as the low-level input stage for audio power amplifiers such as the 50-watt unit, circuit 29-11. For use with audio power amplifiers such as the 15- and 30-watt units, circuits 29-9 and 29-10, which require higher input signals, another low-level amplifier (e.g., the tone-control amplifier, circuit 29-20) must be inserted between the preamplifier and the power amplifier to obtain the full rated output. The heater and dc operating power required for the preamplifier can usually be obtained from the power-supply circuit for the power amplifier.

The audio signal from the phonograph pickup is applied to J and coupled through a length of shielded cable to the control grid of the input stage of the preamplifier. The interstage coupling between the two amplifier sections of the preamplifier includes an RIAA equalization network ( $R_{10}$  and  $C_6$ ). This network compensates for the Orthophonic recording characteristic* introduced into a record disc by the manufacturer. The output from the preamplifier is coupled from the plate of the second stage by output coupling capacitor

### PREAMPLIFIER FOR MAGNETIC PHONOGRAPH PICKUP (Cont'd)

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

C₂ to the input of a tone-control amplifier (if used) or directly to the input of the power amplifier. Because of its relatively high output impedance, the preamplifier is recommended for use in systems in which the preamplifier is mounted on the same chassis as the power amplifier and/or tone-control amplifier. The preamplifier may be used at distances up to 6 feet from the following amplifier provided that the capacitance of capacitor C₈ is reduced approximately 30 picofarads for each foot of shielded cable used for the audiofrequency connection between the preamplifier and the following amplifier.

* To achieve wide frequency and dynamic ranges, manufacturers of commercial recordings use equipment which introduces a non-uniform relationship between amplitude and frequency. This relationship is known as a "recording characteristic." To assure proper reproduction of a highfidelity recording, therefore, some part of the reproducing system must have a frequency-response characteristic which is the inverse of the recording characteristic. Most manufacturers of high-fidelity recordings "New Orthophonic" use the RCA (RIAA) characteristic for discs and the NARTB characteristic for magnetic tape.

### 29-17

HIGH-FIDELITY PREAMPLIFIER FOR TAPE-HEAD PICKUP With NARTB Equalization



Sensitivity=3 millivolts rms input for output of 0.55 volt at frequency of 1000 Hz.

#### Parts List

 $\begin{array}{l} {\rm G_{1=0.047}} \; \mu {\rm F, \; ceramic,} \\ {\rm 400 \; V} \\ {\rm G_{2=40} \; \mu {\rm F, \; electrolytic,} \\ {\rm 450 \; V} \\ {\rm G_{a=0.1 \; \mu {\rm F, \; ceramic, \; 400 \; V} } \\ {\rm G_{a=25 \; \mu {\rm F, \; electrolytic, \; 25 \; V} } \\ {\rm G_{a=25 \; \mu {\rm F, \; electrolytic, \; 25 \; V} } \\ {\rm G_{a=20.12 \; \mu {\rm F, \; ceramic, \; 400 \; V} } \\ {\rm G_{a=20.15 \; \mu {\rm F, \; ceramic, \; 400 \; V} } \\ {\rm G_{a=25 \; \mu {\rm F, \; electrolytic, \; 25 \; V} } \\ {\rm C_{a=25 \; \mu {\rm F, \; electrolytic, \; 25 \; V} } \end{array}$ 

Cs=0.22  $\mu$ F, ceramic, 400 V Co=40  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 450 V Cuo=0.47  $\mu$ F, ceramic, 400 V R1=1 megohm, 0.5 watt R2=0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt R3=1000 ohms, 0.5 watt R4=0.47 megohm, 0.5 watt R5=0.22 megohm, 0.5 watt R5=0.20 ohms, 0.5 watt

 $R_7 = 3300$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_8 = 3.3$  megohms, 0.5 watt  $R_9 = 1500$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{10} = 0.1$  megohm, 0.5 watt  $R_{11} = 1500$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{12} = 15000$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{13} = 0.47$  megohm, 0.5 watt  $R_{14} = 4700$  ohms, 0.5 watt

704

### HIGH-FIDELITY PREAMPLIFIER FOR TAPE-HEAD PICKUP (Cont'd)

### **Circuit Description**

This three-stage preamplifier provides the amplification necessary to increase the output from a tapehead pickup to the level required to drive an audio power amplifier. The circuit uses a 5879 low-noise sharpcutoff pentode in a high-gain input voltage amplifier, one section of a 7025 twin triode in a second voltage amplifier, and the other section of the 7025 in a cathode-follower output stage. Because of the low-impedance cathode-follower output circuit, the preamplifier may be installed at distances up to 50 feet from the following stage (tone-control or power without adverse effect amplifier) upon its frequency-response characteristics. The preamplifier is intended for use as the low-level input stages for an audio power amplifier, such as the 50-watt unit (circuit 29-11) or, when followed by another low-level amplifier (e.g., the tone-control amplifier, circuit 29-20) the 15- or 30watt unit (circuit 29-9 or 29-10).

The heater and dc operating power for the preamplifier can usually be obtained from the power supply for the power amplifier.

The preamplifier provides an over-all circuit gain of 180. An input of 3 millivolts rms at the input terminals, is amplified by the pentode and triode voltage amplifiers to develop an output of approximately 0.55 volt rms at the cathode of the cathode-follower output stage. The interstage coupling the between pentode and triode voltage amplifiers equalizes the playback frequency response of the preamplifier to compensate for the NARTB recording characteristic introduced into the magnetic tape by the manufacturer. (See footnote for circuit 29-16.) The output of the preamplifier is coupled by capacitor  $C_{10}$  to the input of the audio power amplifier or to the input of intermediate tone-control an amplifier.

## 29-18 PREAMPLIFIER FOR CERAMIC PHONOGRAPH PICKUP



### **PREAMPLIFIER FOR CERAMIC PHONOGRAPH PICKUP** (Cont'd)

### Parts List

C₁=0.1  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C₂=20.01  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C₃=20  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 400 V C₄=0.25  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C₅=0.22  $\mu$ F, paper, 600 V J₁=Input connector, shielded,

for high-impedance ceramic phono pickup (0.5-volt output) R1=1.8 megohms, 0.5 watt R2=Volume control, potentiometer, 0.5 megohm, audio taper  $\begin{array}{l} R_3 {=} 0.82 \text{ megohm, } 0.5 \text{ watt} \\ R_4 {=} 0.22 \text{ megohm, } 0.5 \text{ watt} \\ R_5, R_8 {=} 4,000 \text{ ohms, } 0.5 \text{ watt} \\ R_6 {=} 4700 \text{ ohms, } 0.5 \text{ watt} \\ R_7 {=} 1000 \text{ ohms, } 0.5 \text{ watt} \\ R_9 {=} 1 \text{ megohm, } 0.5 \text{ watt} \\ R_1 {=} 1800 \text{ ohms, } 0.5 \text{ watt} \end{array}$ 

#### **Circuit Description**

This two-stage preamplifier is intended for use with a high-impedance ceramic phonograph pickup. The circuit features a cathode-follower (low-impedance) output which makes it possible to install the preamplifier at distances up to 50 feet from the succeeding stage (tone-control or power amplifier). The preamplifier operates from a dc supply of 230 to 300 volts and a heater supply of 6.3 volts. These voltages can usually be obtained from the power supply for the power amplifier in the audio system. The preamplifier uses a 7199 triode-pentode in a high-gain pentode input stage and a triode cathodefollower output stage. These stages provide the amplification necessary to increase the output from a crystal phonograph pickup, applied at  $J_1$ , to the level required to drive an audio power amplifier. The output of the preamplifier, coupled from the cathode of the 7199 triode section, may be applied directly to the power amplifier, or to an intermediate tonecontrol amplifier.

29-19

LOW-DISTORTION PREAMPLIFIER

For Low-Output, High-Impedance Microphones



Sensitivity=3 millivolts rms input for output of 220 millivolts.

#### Parts List

C1==0.047  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C2==25  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 25 V Ca==0.22  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C4==40  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 450 V

 $R_1=2.2$  megohms, 0.5 watt  $R_2=0.1$  megohm, 0.5 watt

 $\begin{array}{l} R_{3}{=}1000 \ ohms, \ 0.5 \ watt \\ R_{1}{=}0.47 \ megohm, \ 0.5 \ watt \\ R_{5}{=}22000 \ ohms, \ 0.5 \ watt \end{array}$ 

### 29-19 LOW-DISTORTION PREAMPLIFIER (Cont'd)

### **Circuit Description**

This single-stage preamplifier is intended for use with a high-fidelity, high-impedance crystal or dynamic microphone. The circuit uses a 5879 low-noise sharp-cutoff pentode in a conventional amplifier circuit that has a high-impedance output, a voltage gain of approximately 70, and a flat frequency response over the audio range. Because of its high output impedance, the preamplifier should be mounted on the same chassis as the power amplifier and tone-control amplifier (if used). Heater and dc power for the circuit can be obtained from the power supply for the audio power amplifier.

### 29-20 BASS AND TREBLE TONE-CONTROL AMPLIFIER



Sensitivity=0.5 volt rms input for output of 1.25 volts with controls set for flat response.

#### Parts List

C1=0.047  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C2, Ci=20  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 450 V C3=0.1  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C3=0.022  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C3=0.022  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C4=0.22  $\mu$ F, paper, 400 V C3=220 pF, ceramic or mica, 500 V  $\begin{array}{l} C_0{=}0.0022 \ \mu F, \ paper, \ 400 \ V \\ R_1{=}0.47 \ megohm, \ 0.5 \ watt \\ R_2{=}1500 \ ohms, \ 0.5 \ watt \\ R_3, \ R_{11}{=}15000 \ ohms, \ 0.5 \ watt \\ R_4{=}22000 \ ohms, \ 0.5 \ watt \\ R_5, \ R_7, \ R_{10}{=}0.1 \ megohm, \\ 0.5 \ watt \end{array}$ 

 $\label{eq:response} \begin{array}{l} R_0 \! = \! 1000 \ ohms, \ 0.5 \ watt \\ R_8 \! = \! Bass \ control, \ potenti- \\ ometer, \ 1 \ megohm, \ audio \\ taper \\ R_9 \! = \! 10000 \ ohms, \ 0.5 \ watt \\ R_{12} \! = \! Treble \ control, \ potentioneter, \ 1 \ megohm, \\ audio \ taper \end{array}$ 

#### **Circuit Description**

This high-fidelity tone-control amplifier uses a 6EU7 low-noise twin triode in a two-stage amplifier cascade that consists of an input cathode follower connected to a triode voltage amplifier through a frequency-sensitive (tone-control) interstage coupling network. The bass and treble controls in the coupling network can be adjusted to provide up to 16 dB of boost or attenuation (cut) at 30 Hz and at 15 kHz. With the bass and treble controls set at the mid-range positions, the amplifier provides an

706

### 29-20 BASS AND TREBLE TONE-CONTROL AMPLIFIER (Cont'd)

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

over-all voltage gain of approximately 2.5, and its frequency response is flat within  $\pm 1$ dB from 30 Hz to 15 kHz.

The tone-control amplifier is designed for use immediately ahead of an audio power amplifier, such as the 15-, 30-, or 50-watt unit (circuit 29-9, 29-10, or 29-11, respectively). Operating power for the tone-control circuit can usually be obtained from the power supply for the power amplifier. For operating convenience,

the volume control on the power amplifier may be physically located on the tone-control chassis. In this case, it is advisable to insert a place 1-megohm resistor in of the volume control on the power amplifier. If partial compensation for the reduced high- and low-frequency sensitivity of the ear at low volume levels is desired, the volume-control potentiometer may be replaced by a loudness-control potentiometer.

### 29-21 ELECTRONIC VOLT-OHM METER

### **Circuit Description**

This electronic volt-ohm meter can be used to measure rms values of ac sine-wave voltages from 0.1 to 1500 volts, dc voltages from 0.2 to 1500 volts, peak-to-peak voltages from 0.2 to 4000 volts, and resistances from 0.2 ohms to 1000 megohms. Within these over-all limits, a Range Selector  $(S_1)$  can be used to select seven different measurement ranges for each measurement function, as shown in the switch-position chart. The mode of operation of the volt-ohm meter is determined by the setting of the five-position (OFF, AC, -DC, +DC, and OHMS) Function Selector  $(S_2)$ . A section  $(S_{2D})$  of the Function Selector is also used to control the application of the 117volt, 60-Hz, input ac power. The ac input power is converted to dc power by the 1N1764 selenium rectifier and associated components. A 6.3-volt secondary winding of power transformer  $T_1$  supplies power to the tube heaters. A neon lamp connected across the primary of power transformer T₁ lights when ac power is applied to the circuit.

A balanced push-pull dc amplifier, which includes a dc microammeter M₁ connected as part of a dc bridge network between the two plate sections of the stage, is used as the basic measuring circuit for each measurement function of the volt-ohm meter. This circuit has a linear response, excellent stability, and a very high input impedance. Calibration adjustments are provided for each mode of operation to assure that accurate measurements are obtained. If desired, the ZERO ADJ potentiometer R26 may be adjusted to provide a center-scale zero reading on the meter, which is useful in discriminator and bias voltage measurements.

For ac voltage measurements, Function Selector  $S_2$  must be rotated to the AC position. The ac voltage to be measured, applied between the AC-OHMS and COMMON terminals, is coupled through contacts 10 and 9 of  $S_{1A}$  to the ac-voltmeter multipliers ( $R_2$  through  $R_4$ ). The ac voltage from one of the taps on the multiplier, as determined by the setting of the



ELECTRONIC VOLT-OHM METER (Cont'd)



#### SWITCH POSITIONS

Position	Range Selector, S ₁			Function Selector, S ₂
1 2 3 4 5 6 7	1.5V 5V 15V 50V 150V 500V 1500V	Rx1 Rx10 Rx100 Rx1000 Rx10,000 Rx100,000 Rx1M	4V 14V 40V 140V 140V 1400V 1400V	OFF AC VOLT -DC VOLTS +DC VOLTS OHMS

Notes: 1. Switches are shown in their maximum counterclockwise position  $(S_1=1.5 V, R X 1; S_2="OFF")$ .

2. The accuracy of the volt-ohm meter depends upon the accuracy of the multiplier resistors.

### Parts List

- B1=Battery, 1.5 V C1=470 pF, ceramic disc, 1600 V  $C_2=0.001 \ \mu F$ , ceramic disc, 500 V Ca=0.47  $\mu$ F, tubular, 400 V C4, C5=0.02  $\mu$ F, ceramic disc, 400 V C₆, C₇=0.005 μF, ceramic disc, 200 V
- C₆=10 µF, electrolytic, 400 V F1=Fuse, 0.5 ampere  $M_1$ =Meter, dc, 0-200  $\mu$ A NE₂=Neon lamp R1=DC-voltage probe isolating resistor, 1 meg-ohm, 0.25 watt R₂=138000 ohms, 0.25 watt Ra=320000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R_i=0.9 megohm, 1 watt R5, R18=1 megohm, 0.25 watt R₆, R₁₆, R₂₅, R₂₇=10000 ohms, 0.5 watt

- $R_7 = 20000$  ohms, 0.25 watt  $R_8 = 70000$  ohms, 0.25 watt  $R_9 = 0.2$  megohm, 0.25 watt
- R₁₀=0.7 megohm, 0.25 watt R₁₁=2 megohms, 0.25 watt

#### 29-21 ELECTRONIC VOLT-OHM METER (Cont'd)

#### Parts List (Cont'd)

- R12=7 megohms, 0.25 watt R13=8.2 ohms, wire-wound, 0.5 watt
- R14=100 ohms, 0.25 watt
- R15=1000 ohms, 0.25 watt
- $R_{17}=0.1$  megohm, 0.25 watt  $R_{19}=10$  megohms, 0.25 watt
- R20=20 megohms, 0.25 watt
- R21=91 megohms, 0.5 watt
- R22=10000 ohms, poten-tiometer ac calibration.
- 0.5 watt
- R₂₃=10000 ohms, poten-tiometer dc calibration.

0.5 watt R24=15000 ohms, potentiometer, ohms adjustment. 0.25 watt R26=10000 ohms, potentiometer, zero adjustment, 0.25 watt R₂₈=3.3 megohms, 0.5 watt R20=6.8 megohms, 0.5 watt R30, R31=330 ohms, 0.5 watt R₃₂=15000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₃₃=27000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₃₄=10000 ohms, poten-

tiometer, ac balance,

0.5 watt

- R₃₅=47000 ohms, 0.5 watt R36=0.22 megohm, 0.5 watt
- S1=Range selector switch. 7 position, RCA stock No. 217924 or equiv.
- S2=Function selector
- switch, 5 position, RCA stock No. 217923 or equiv.
- T₁=Power transformer.
- 105-125 volts rms. 50-60 Hz, RCA stock No. 217921 or equiv.

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

Range Selector (S₁₄ section), is rectified by the 6AL5 twin diode. The resultant dc voltage across the rectifier bleeder resistors R₂₁ and R₃₄ is proportional to the ac voltage from the multiplier network. This voltage is then coupled through contacts 4 and 5 of  $S_{2B}$ , through one of the contacts 4 through 10 (as determined by setting of Range Selector) and contact 1 of S_{ic}, and through contacts 1 and 2 of  $S_{2A}$  to the pin 2 control grid of the 12AU7A twin triode in the balanced dc amplifier. This input disturbs the balance of the amplifier and a current proportional to the ac input flows through the dc microammeter connected between the plates of the 12AU7. The pointer on the microammeter is then deflected to indicate the value of the voltage being measured.

With the Function Selector rotated to either -DC or +DC, a dc voltage being measured is coupled through the 1-megohm probe  $R_1$ , the DC VOLTS terminal, and contacts 6 and 5 of S2B to the dc-voltmeter multipliers (R₆ through R₁₂). The 1-megohm resistance of the dc probe together with the resistance of the multipliers results in an input resistance of 11 megohms for dc voltage measurements. The dc voltage from the appropriate tap on the multiplier network selected by the S_{1C} and S_{1D} sections of the Range Selector is coupled through contact 1 of these switch sections (or contact

3 of  $S_{1C}$ ) and contacts 1 (or 3) and 2 of  $S_{2A}$  to the input of the balanced dc amplifier. The pointer of the microammeter in the balanced amplifier is then deflected to provide an indication of the value of the dc voltage being measured. The  $S_{2C}$  section of the Function Selector reverses the connections of the microammeter when the Function Selector is rotated from -DC to +DC so that current will flow through the microammeter in the same direction regardless of whether a negative or positive dc voltage is being measured.

For resistance measurements. the Function Selector is rotated to the OHMS position, and the external resistance to be measured is connected between the AC-OHMS and COMMON terminals of the volt-ohm meter. A 1.5-volt dry cell then causes current to flow through the external resistance, through contacts 10 and 11 of  $S_{2A}$ , and through one of the ohmmeter-section multiplier resistors  $(R_{13} \text{ through } R_{19})$ , as determined by the setting of the Range Selector  $(S_{1B} \text{ section})$ . Because the multiplier resistance is fixed for each range, the voltage developed across the external resistance provides an accurate indication of the value of this resistance. This voltage is coupled through contacts 10 and 2 of  $S_{2A}$  to the input of the balanced dc amplifier. The pointer of the microammeter is then deflected to indicate the value of the resistance being measured.

#### 29-22 SERIES-TYPE STABILIZED VOLTAGE SUPPLY

#### **Circuit Description**

This series-type stabilized voltage supply uses type 5651A as a voltage reference tube, type 6080 as a seriesregulator tube, and type 5751 as a control tube. In this circuit, the 5651A supplies a fixed reference voltage between the grid of the first unit of the 5751 and its cathode return. Changes in supply voltage to the load are amplified by the 5751 which is connected as a two-stage dc amplifier to control the drop

through the 6080. The resulting output voltage is essentially independent of change in load current.

The voltage regulation of this supply operated at a fixed line voltage of 117 volts and an output voltage of 250 volts is less than 0.2 volt over the current range of 0 to 225 milliamperes. At full current, the regulation for a variation of  $\pm$  10 per cent in line voltage is less than 0.1 volt.



#### Parts List

Notes: ▲ 375 volts approx. at zero load current; 325 volts approx. at 225 milliamperes load current. @ Socket connections for the 5651A are made so that removal of the 5651A from its

socket opens the load. * Pins 3 and 6, do not use.

### CIRCUITS



# ALL-PURPOSE DC POWER SUPPLIES





LI





POWER SUPPLY		CHOKE (L1)	R1	$\mathbf{R}_2$	C1, C2	FIL- TER	OUTP -VOLTS	MA
1 (5BC3)		140 mA, 7H, 165 ohms Stancor C1421 or equiv.	33 ohms 5W	_	40 μF 450 Vdc	1	360 340 320	60 80 120
						2	235 230 215	60 80 120
1 (5BC3)	Stancor PC or PM 8412 (400-0-400) or equiv.	200mA, 4H, 145 ohms Thordarson 20C54 or equiv.	56 ohms 10W	_	40 μF 600 Vdc	1	450 425 410	120 160 200
						2	310 300 280	120 160 200
	P-6358	80 mA, 12H, 375 ohms Thordarson 20C53 or equiv.	500 ohms 5W	500 ohms 3W	40 μF 450 Vdc	1	350 300 260	20 40 60
						2	250 230 220	20 40 60
						3	345 300 250	20 40 60
2 (6X4)	Stancor 80 mA, 12H, PM or PC 375 ohms 8419 Thordarson (240-0-240) 20C53 or equiv. or equiv.	375 ohms Thordarson	500 ohms 5W	500 ohms 3W	40 μF 450 Vdc	1	265 225 190	20 40 60
					2	200 180 170	20 40 60	
						3	260 220 180	20 40 60

* Bleeder R_B can be omitted if an external load is permanently connected across the ouput terminals. Bleeder current should be approximatly 10 per cent of the load current.

## 29-23 ALL-PURPOSE DC POWER SUPPLIES (Cont'd)

### **Circuit Description**

In these power-supply circuits. 5BC3 and 6X4 full-wave rectifier tubes are used to convert ac input power to dc output power in various combinations of output voltage and load current. The 5BC3 tube is a directly heated novar type intended for use in power supplies for radio equipment, television receivers, and other applications that have relatively high dc requirements. The 6X4 tube is an indirectly heated miniature type used primarily in power supplies for automobile and ac-operated radio receivers and other equipment that have moderate dc requirements.

In each rectifier circuit, the 117volt ac input power is applied to the primary of a step-up power transformer  $T_1$ . The two plate sections of the rectifier tube are connected to opposite ends of the center-tapped secondary winding of transformer  $T_1$ . With respect to the grounded center tap, the voltage applied to each plate of the rectifier tube, therefore, is 180 degrees out of phase with that applied to the other plate. With an external load connected to the rectifier cathode, pulses of current flow alternately to one plate and then to the other plate for each half cycle of the ac input power. This 120-Hz pulsating current develops a positive dc voltage across the load circuit.

Removal of virtually all the 120-Hz ripple component from the dc output can be accomplished by connection of a suitable filter network between the rectifier output (cathode) and the load circuit. Either Filter 1 or Filter 2 provides adequate filtering for the 5BC3 circuit. Any one of the three filter networks is satisfactory for use with the 6X4 circuit. Filter 3 is not recommended for use with the 5BC3 circuit because the use of the two resistors  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  in series with the relatively high output results in excessive power loss.

The chart shown with the rectifier circuits lists a wide range of dc output voltage obtainable for various values of load current. Proper selection of power transformer  $T_1$ , of the type of filter network, and of the values of filter choke  $L_1$  and resistors  $R_1$  and  $R_2$  results in the desired combination of output voltage and current.

# BLACK-AND-WHITE TELEVISION RECEIVER

Circuits 29-24 through 29-28 are essentially identical to the corresponding circuits in the RCA-KCS-152 Television Receiver. These circuits comprise a complete intercarrier television receiver with the exception of the deflection coils and the picture tube. Portions of any television receiver, however, are required to operate over an extremely wide range of very high frequencies. The construction of such circuits requires more than ordinary skill and experience and the use of sophisticated test equipment (see general consideration for the construction of high-frequency and broadband circuits at the beginning of

this section). Home construction of such circuits is not recommended unless the builder has had considerable experience in this type of work.

The chassis of circuits 29-24 through 29-28 are connected to one side of the ac line during operation. Servicing of these circuits should not be attempted by persons not familiar with the following precautions necessary when working on this type of equipment:

> 1. An isolation transformer should be inserted between the receiver and the ac line before any servicing is attempted.

# BLACK-AND-WHITE TELEVISION RECEIVER (Cont'd)

2. If the receiver must be operated directly from the ac supply, the power plug should be inserted in the proper direction to connect the chassis to the ground side of the ac line. An ac voltmeter should be used to measure the voltage between the chassis and the power-source ground; no voltage reading should be obtained. If a reading is obtained, the power plug should be reversed and another check made for a zero reading.

### 29-24

### VHF TUNER

For Black-and-White Television Receiver

### **Circuit Description**

This vhf tuner selects the desired vhf frequency channel, amplifies composite video signals in the frequency channel selected, and converts the signal frequencies to the 45.75-MHz picture intermediate frequency and the 41.25-MHz sound intermediate frequency used in television receivers. When used with a uhf tuner, the vhf tuner is operated as a two-stage broadband rf amplifier tuned to 44 MHz (center frequency of the if band) and is essentially a pre-if amplifier for the television receiver. In each mode of operation, the tuner has a band pass that is broad enough to pass all the video information (including synchronizing and equalizing pulses) and the sound information superimposed on the video and sound carrier frequencies and has sufficient selectivity to assure adequate adjacent-channel and image-frequency rejection. The +140 volts used as the B+ supply for the vhf tuner is obtained from the low-voltage power supply of the receiver. The heaters of the tubes in the circuit are connected in series with those of other tubes in the receiver, and power for the series heater string is obtained directly from the input ac power line.

The antenna used with the vhf tuner may be either a 75-ohm monopole, as used with portable receivers, or a balanced 300-ohm antenna. A balanced 300-ohm antenna system

can be matched to the unbalanced 75-ohm tuner input by means of the antenna-matching balun T1. A 13position channel selector, which consists of several wafer-switch sections (S₁ through S₄) mounted on a common shaft, establishes the operating frequency of the tuner for each of the vhf channels 2 through 13 or adapts the vhf tuner for operation with a uhf tuner. With  $S_4$  set to any of the channel positions 2 through 13, the selected-channel signal from the vhf antenna is coupled through contacts U and 2 of Sin and input transformer T₂ to the rf amplifier, and the input lead from the uhf tuner is not connected to the vhf circuit.

The vhf input signals are amplified by the 3GK5 high-mu framegrid triode used in the rf amplifier stage. The S₃ section of the channel selector connects the appropriate combination of the inductors  $L_5$ through  $L_{15}$  into the grid circuit of the rf amplifier to tune this stage to the desired frequency channel. The age bias voltage applied to the control grid of the 3GK5 triode automatically controls the gain of the rf stage. The bias voltage, which varies directly with the amplitude of the received signal, is derived by a keyed age amplifier in the television receiver.

The output of the rf amplifier is coupled through a resonant impedance network to the control grid of 714

# VHF TUNER (Cont'd)



#### Parts List

- C1, C2=82 pF, ±5%, dual disc. ceramic, 500 V. N750
- Cs, C4, C5, C15, C16=1000 pF, feedthrough, 500 V

- Teed Infougn, 500 v Ce=12 pF, 5%, ceramic, 500 V, N750 C7=20 pF, ±5%, feed-through, 500 V, N470 Cs=0.56 pF, ±5%, headed lead, 500 V Cs=100 pF, ceramic, 500 V, N1500
- N1500
- $C_{10}=0.22 \ \mu F$ , ceramic, 500 V C₁₁=0.82 pF, headed lead, 500 V
- C12=82 pF, ±5%, feed-through, 500 V, N750
- C13=8 pF, ceramic, 500 V C14=10 pF, ±5%, radial leads, ceramic, 500 V, N830
- GIMMICK=Trimmer-capacitor plate
- L1, L2, L3=RF coils : with two 82-picofarad capacitors, forms high-pass filter (antenna input network), **RCA Stock No. 114458**
- or equiv. LARF amplifier grid coil,
- part of Sa assembly Ls through L15=RF-amplifier tuning coils, part of Sa assembly
- Lis=Mixer grid coil, part

# VHF TUNER (Cont'd)

- of S₂ assembly
- L17=Interstage coupling coil for rf amplifier and mixer, part of S₂ assembly L₁₈ through L₂₉=Mixer tun-
- ing coils, part of S2 assembly
- Lso=Variable rf coil ; mixer plate tuning adjustment; RCA stock No. 112909 or equiv. Ln=RF choke
- Lag=Variable rf coil : localoscillator tuning adjustment for channel 13
- L33 through L43=Localoscillator tuning coils (variable coil Las is tuning adjustment for channel 6), part of S₁ assembly Lu=Variable rf coil; fine-
- tuning control; RCA Stock No. 113323, or equiv.
- R₁=4700 ohms, 1 watt R₂=5600 ohms, 0.5 watt
- Rs=47000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₄=0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt
- Rs, R7=10000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- Rs. R10=1000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R₈=2200 ohms, 0.5 watt R₉=6800 ohms, 0.5 watt S₁=Local-oscillator section of channel-selector switch;
- stator assembly, RCA Stock No. 114462 or

equiv., includes localoscillator tuning coils Lss through Las

- S2=Mixer section of channel-selector switch; stator assembly, RCA Stock No. 114461 or equiv., includes mixer tuning coils Ls Le, and Lis through L29
- Ss=RF amplifier section of channel-selector switch; stator assembly, RCA Stock No. 114460 or equiv., includes rf-amplifier tun-ing coils L4 and L7 through L17 S4=VHF-UHF function se-
- lector; two-section switch ganged with channel se-lectors, S1, S2, and S3; RCA Stock No. 114185 or equiv.
- T1=Antenna-matching balun ; matches 300-ohm balanced antenna-lead line to 75-ohm unbalanced receiver-input line; RCA Stock No. 111973 or equiv.
- T2=Antenna transformer; RCA Stock No. 113195 or_equiv.
- Z1, Z2=Resistance-capacitance network (capristor), RCA Stock No. 109956 or equiv.

Notes: 1. All switches are ganged together on same shaft and are shown with shaft in channel 13 position. Voltages shown are obtained with no signal input.

- 2.
- 3. For dc voltage and heater supply, see circuit 29-28, page 725.
- 4. See additional notes on page 712.

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

the 6KZ8 pentode section used in the mixer stage. Section S₂ of the ganged channel selector selects the proper combination of the inductors L18 through L₂₂ to tune the mixer input circuit to the same operating frequency as that of the rf amplifier. A signal from the plate of the 6KZ8 triode section used in the local-oscillator stage is also applied to the input circuit of the mixer. Section S₁ of the channel selector connects the right combination of the inductors L₃₃ through L₄₃ into the oscillator resonant circuit to maintain the operating frequency of the oscillator at 45.75 MHz above the video carrier frequency (41.25 MHz above the sound carrier frequency) of the vhf channel selected by the tuner. Inductor L., in the series-resonant feedback circuit of the oscillator is the fine-

tuning adjustment for the vhf tuner. This adjustment assures that the oscillator frequency accurately tracks the input tuning in each channel.

The signals from the rf amplifier and the local oscillator are heterodyned in the mixer stage to produce the 45.75-MHz amplitudemodulated and 41.25-MHz frequency-modulated difference frequencies used as the picture and sound intermediate frequencies, respectively, in the television receiver. The picture and sound if signals are coupled from the plate of the mixer to the if stages of the receiver.

When the multiple-section channel selector is rotated to the U position (for uhf operation), a connection from the B+ line of the vhf tuner through a 5600-ohm dropping resistor  $R_2$ , contacts 4 and 10 of  $S_{14}$ .

tions S₃ and S₂ select the tuning in-

ductors required for operation of the

rf amplifier and mixer stages as

broadband 44-MHz amplifiers, and

section S. disables the oscillator

stage by connection of the oscillator

control grid directly to ground through switch contacts 2 and U.

With these changes, the vhf tuner

essentially becomes a broadband 44-

MHz amplifier which provides two

stages of amplification of the picture

and sound if signals ahead of the re-

ceiver main if strip.

### VHF TUNER (Cont'd)

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

and a 4700-ohm dropping resistor  $R_1$ provides the B⁺ voltage for the uhf tuner. In addition, transformer  $T_2$ , which provides the input to the rf amplifier, is connected through contacts 2 and 13 of  $S_{18}$  to the output of the uhf tuner, and the signal from the vhf antenna is shorted to ground through contacts U and 12 of  $S_{1A}$ . The input to the rf amplifier is then the amplitude-modulated 45.75-MHz picture if and frequency-modulated 41.25-MHz sound if signals from the uhf tuner.

In the U positions, switch sec-

29-25

#### VIDEO-IF AMPLIFIERS AND SOUND-CHANNEL CIRCUITS For Black-and-White Television Receiver

### **Circuit Description**

These circuit stages are typical of those used in the if and audio channels of any intercarrier type of black-and-white television receiver. The over-all circuit operates from a dc supply of +150 volts obtained from the receiver low-voltage (B+) dc power supply. The heaters of the tubes in the circuit are connected in series with those of tubes in other sections of the receiver. Operating power for the series heater string is obtained directly from the 117-volt ac power line.

The input from the vhf tuner consists of amplitude-modulated 45.75-MHz picture if signals and frequency-modulated 41.25-MHz sound if signals. This composite input is coupled by a broadly tuned bandpass filter network to the control grid of the 4JD6 remote-cutoff pentode used in the first picture if amplifier. A dc bias voltage proportional to the input signal from the age amplifier is also applied to the control-grid circuit to provide automatic gain control of this stage. The output of the first picture if amplifier is coupled by the single-tuned transformer  $T_1$  to the control grid of the 4JC6A pentode used in the second picture if amplifier. The double-tuned transformer  $T_2$  couples the output of this stage to the video detector (CR, and associated components). The input filter network and picture if transformers  $T_1$  and  $T_2$  are stagger tuned to obtain the broad response for the if amplifiers required to assure adequate passage of both the 45.75-MHz video and 41.25-MHz sound if signals.

The video detector demodulates the 45.75-MHz picture if signal, and the resultant video signal is coupled through inductors  $L_5$  and  $L_7$  and the lower winding of transformer T₃ to the video amplifier (shown in circuit 29-27). The video detector also operates as a second mixer circuit. The 45.75-MHz picture if signal and the 41.25 sound if signal are heterodyned to produce a second sound if carrier of 4.5 MHz. This 4.5-MHz second sound if carrier is still frequency-modulated by the audio components contained in the original rf signal input at the receiver antenna. The sound-takeoff transformer T₃. which forms a selective load impedance for the detector circuit at 4.5 MHz, couples the 4.5-MHz sound if signal to the control grid of the pentode section of a 6GH8A triode pentode used in the sound if ampli-

716 29-24

### VIDEO-IF AMPLIFIERS AND SOUND-CHANNEL CIRCUITS (Cont'd)







#### Parts List

- C1, Ce=470 pF, ceramic, 500 V
- C₂, C₇=0.001 μF, ceramic 500 V
- Ca=7 pF, ceramic, 500 V, N150
- C₄=2 pF, ceramic, 500 V, NPO
- NPO Cs=56 pF,  $\pm 5\%$ , ceramic, 500 V, N750 Cs=560 pF, ceramic, 500 V Cs=18 pF, 5\%, ceramic, 500 V, N220 Cu=6 pF, ceramic, 500 V Cu=10 pF, ceramic, 500 V, NPO
- NPO
- C12=39 pF, ceramic, 500 V, N150
- C1s=68 pF, ceramic, 500 V, N750

- C14, C19=0.01 μF, ceramic, 500 V
- C15, C17=12 pF, part of T4 C16, C18=0.0022 µF, ceramic, 500 V
- $C_{20} = 10$  pF, part of Ts  $C_{21} = 680$  pF, ceramic, 500 V  $C_{22} = 0.047$   $\mu$ F, paper, 200 V
- C23=0.01 µF, ceramic,
- 500 V C₂₄=0.0068 μF, ceramic, 500 V
- CR1=Video detector, crystal diode, RCA Stock No. 112524 or equiv. Ln=RF coil, RCA Stock No.
- 114315 or equiv.
- L₂=RF coil, RCA Stock No. 114314 or equiv. L₃=RF coil, 47.25-MHz trap

- RCA Stock No. 113097
- or equiv. La=RF coil, RCA Stock No. 113097 or equiv.
- L=Video-detector peaking coil, 36  $\mu$ H, RCA Stock No. 109758 or equiv.
- La=Filter choke (reactor), 2.7 μH, RCA Stock No. 107463 or equiv.
- R1=3300 ohms, 0.5 watt R2=1000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- Rs=39 ohms, ±5%,
- 0.5 watt R4=4700 ohms, ±5%, 0.5 watt
- Rs=1500 ohms, 1 watt Rs=100 ohms, 0.5 watt R7=470 ohms, 0.5 watt

- Rs=3000 ohms, ±5%,
  - 0.5 watt

## VIDEO-IF AMPLIFIERS AND SOUND-CHANNEL CIRCUITS (Cont'd)

### Parts List (Cont'd)

Re=820 ohms, 0.5 watt	RCA Stock No. 109158	R
R10=82000 ohms, 0.5 watt	or equiv.	or
R11=15000 ohms, 1 watt	T ₂ =Second pix if trans-	$T_5 =$
R ₁₂ =560 ohms, 0.5 watt	former, RCA Stock No.	ci
R13=470 ohms, 0.5 watt	114317 or equiv.	ca
R14=0.47 megohm, 0.5 watt	T ₃ =Sound take-off trans-	N
R15=0.39 megohm, 0.5 watt	former, 4.5-MHz, RCA	$T_6 =$
R16=Volume control, poten-	Stock No. 114489 or equiv.	fo
tiometer, 1 megohm	T ₄ =Sound if transformer	vo
R ₁₇ =180 ohms, 0.5 watt	(includes primary and	tu
T ₁ =First pix if transformer,	secondary capacitors),	St
Notes: 1. Voltages shown are	obtained with no signal input.	

Voltages shown are obtained with no signal input.
 For de voltage and heater supply, see circuit 29-28, page 725.
 See additional notes on page 712.

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

fier. The amplified if signal from this stage is coupled by the doubledtuned 4.5-MHz transformer T₄ to the 6HZ6 audio detector-amplifier stage. This stage demodulates the 4.5-MHz sound if signal and amplifies the resultant audio signal voltage. The +250 volts used as the plate supply for the 6HZ6 is obtained from the horizontal output stage (shown in circuit 29-27 of the receiver.

to drive the speaker is developed by a 12FX5 pentode used in a singleended audio output stage. The audiosignal voltage from the plate of the audio detector-amplifier is amplified by the 12FX5 and coupled by transformer  $T_{e}$  to the voice coil of the speaker. The volume-control potentiometer  $R_{10}$  in the input circuit of the output stage provides manual adjustment of the sound level from the speaker.

The audio-signal power required

### 29-26

## VIDEO, AGC, AND SYNC AMPLIFIERS

For Black-and-White TV Receiver

#### **Circuit Description**

This circuit shows video, agc, and sync amplifiers for a black-andwhite television receiver. The video and sync amplifiers operate from a plate supply (B+) voltage of 150 volts obtained from the receiver lowvoltage power supply. The plate supply voltage for the agc amplifier is a positive keying pulse from the high-voltage transformer in the receiver. The heaters of the three tubes are connected in series with those of tubes in other sections of the receiver. Operating power for the series heater string is obtained directly from the ac power line.

In the video amplifier, the pentode section of an 11LQ8 triode-pentode provides the required amplification of the video signal. The video signal is coupled from the video detector to the control grid of the video amplifier. The output from the voltage divider in the plate cir-

cuit of this stage is applied to the cathode of the picture tube to intensity-modulate the electron beam during its vertical and horizontal scanning of the picture-tube screen. The contrast control adjusts both the amplitude of the video output and the dc potential at the cathode of the picture tube to control picture contrast. The voltage-divider network in the plate circuit of the video amplifier is interconnected with another voltage-divider network. This second network includes the brightness control and the width control in the screen-grid circuit of the receiver horizontal-output tube (shown in circuit 29-27. The brightness control adjusts the cathode bias on the picture tube to control the intensity of the screen display.

An output from the video amplifier is also applied to the control grid of the 11LQ8 triode section used

# 718

29-25

RCA Stock No. 104137 or equiv.

To=Sound detector resonant circuit (includes 10-pF capacitor), RCA Stock No. 109948 or equiv. To=Audio output transformer, matches speaker voice-coil impedance to tube plate load, RCA Stock No. 114490 or equiv.



VIDEO, AGC, AND SYNC AMPLIFIERS (Cont'd)



Notes: 1. Voltages shown are obtained with no signal input.
2. For dc voltage and heater supply, see circuit 29-28, page 725.
3. See additional notes on page 712.

#### Parts List

- C1=5  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 150 V C2=0.15  $\mu$ F, paper, 200 V C3=0.033, paper, 200 V C4=0.0047, ceramic, 500 V C5=0.1  $\mu$ F, paper, 200 V C5=0.1  $\mu$ F, paper, 200 V C5=0.1  $\mu$ F, ceramic, 500 V C7=100 pF, ceramic, 500 V N1500 L_1=Video-amplifier peaking coil, 18  $\mu$ H, RCA Stock No. 109946 or equiv. R_1=18000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- $\begin{array}{l} R_2\!=\!330 \; ohms, \; 0.5 \; watt \\ R_3\!=\!1500 \; ohms, \; 0.5 \; watt \\ R_4\!=\!Contrast \; control, \; potentiometer, \; 4000 \; ohms, \\ 3 \; watts \\ R_5\!=\!1 \; megohm, \; 0.5 \; watt \\ R_6\!=\!10 \; ohms, \; \pm 5\%, \; 0.5 \; watt \\ R_7\!=\!22000 \; ohms, \; 0.5 \; watt \\ R_7\!=\!22000 \; ohms, \; 0.5 \; watt \\ R_9, \; R_{10}, \; R_{20}\!=\!27000 \; ohms, \; 0.5 \; watt \\ R_{11}\!=\!27000 \; ohms, \; 1 \; watt \end{array}$
- $\begin{array}{l} R_{12}{=}18000 \ ohms, 0.5 \ watt\\ R_{13}{=}Brightness \ control,\\ potentiometer, 0.1 megohm\\ R_{14}, R_{17}{=}0.82 \ megohm,\\ 0.5 \ watt\\ R_{15}{=}1 \ megohm, 0.5 \ watt\\ R_{15}{=}1 \ megohm, 0.5 \ watt\\ R_{15}{=}3300 \ ohms, 0.5 \ watt\\ R_{19}{=}8.2 \ megohms, 0.5 \ watt\\ R_{22}{=}5.2 \ megohms, 0.5 \ watt\\ R_{23}{=}33000 \ ohms, 0.5 \ watt\\ R_{24}{=}15000 \ ohms, 0.5 \ watt \end{array}$

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

in a keyed-agc amplifier stage. The operation of the agc amplifier is gated (keyed) by a positive pulse from the high-voltage power transformer (shown in circuit 29-27). This 450-volt keying pulse, which is synchronized with the video signal, overcomes the bias provided by the 150 volts applied to the cathode circuit and serves as the plate supply
### 29-26 VIDEO, AGC, AND SYNC AMPLIFIERS (Cont'd)

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

voltage for the age amplifier. Portions of the video signal that occur coincident with the keying pulse are amplified by the agc stage. A 0.1microfarad capacitor C₅ and a 0.82megohm resistor  $R_{14}$  in the plate circuit of this stage filter out the pulsating components to obtain a negative dc voltage proportional to the video signal and thus to the rf input at the receiver antenna. The negative voltage developed in the plate circuit of the stage is applied as age bias to the first picture if amplifier and to the rf amplifier in the vhf tuner.

Synchronizing pulses are included in the video signals transmitted by a television broadcast station to provide timing information required for synchronization of the transmitter and receiver scanning systems. The sync amplifier, or separator, separates and amplifies the

synchronizing pulses contained in the composite video signal it receives from the plate circuit of the video amplifier. The circuit uses the triode section of a 6GH8A triodepentode to develop the synchronizing pulses for the vertical- and horizontal-deflection circuits of the receiver. The sync amplifier is basically a class C limiter stage. With the video signal applied, the stage is biased beyond cutoff by the gridleak bias network formed by the 470-picofarad capacitor Co and the 0.68-megohm resistor R21 in the control-grid circuit. Only the sync pulses in the composite video signal have sufficient amplitude to drive the sync amplifier into conduction. The resultant pulses developed across the output voltage-divider network are used as the synchronizing inputs to the horizontal- and vertical - deflection circuits.

### 29-27 VERTICAL- AND HORIZONTAL-DEFLECTION CIRCUITS AND HIGH-VOLTAGE RECTIFIER

For Black-and-White Television Receiver

#### **Circuit Description**

These circuits develop the vertical and horizontal scanning signals and the dc operating potentials for the picture tube (RCA Type 16BGP4) used in the black-and-white television receiver and the boosted B+ voltage (+250 volts) used in the audio detector-amplifier (part of circuit 29-26. The circuits operate from a dc supply of 150 volts. With the exception of the 1G3GT (or 1B3GT) high-voltage rectifier tube, the heaters of the various tubes are connected in series with those of tubes in other sections of the receiver and are supplied by the input ac power line. Heater power for the 1G3GT (or 1B3GT) is provided by a 1.25volt winding of the high-voltage tarnsformer T₁.

The vertical- and horizontaldeflection circuits are synchronized by negative signals from the sync

amplifier (separator) which include horizontal sync pulses, equalizing pulses, and vertical sync pulses. When the composite video signal is generated at the television broadcast station, the leading edge of each horizontal sync pulse, of alternate equalizing pulses, and of alternate serrations of the vertical sync pulses are correctly timed to initiate the horizontal-retrace period. It is necessary, therefore, to extract the leading-edge components from the combined sync waveform prior to application of the synchronizing input to the horizontal-deflection circuit. Similarly, the vertical sync pulses must be separated from the combined waveform before they can be used to synchronize the vertical-deflection circuit.

The combined sync waveform is differentiated at the input to the

### 29-27 VERTICAL- AND HORIZONTAL-DEFLECTION CIRCUITS AND HIGH-VOLTAGE RECTIFIER (Cont'd)



Notes: 1. Voltages shown are obtained with no signal input. 2. For dc voltage and heater supply, see circuit 29-28, page 725. 3. See additional notes on page 712.

#### 29-27 VERTICAL- AND HORIZONTAL-DEFLECTION CIRCUITS AND HIGH-VOLTAGE RECTIFIER (Cont'd)

#### Parts List

C1=0.0039 µF, ceramic. 500 V, N5600 500 V, N5600 C2=0.01μF, ceramic, 500 V Ca, Co=0.047 μF, paper, 200 V  $C_4 = 0.033 \ \mu$ F, paper, 200 V C₅ = 0.027 \ \muF, paper, 600 V C₆ = 0.015 \ \muF, tubular paper, 200 V C₇=0.022 μF, paper, 200 V  $C_{1}=0.022 \ \mu$ F, paper, 200 V Cs=0.0022 \ \muF, paper, 1000 V Cu=0.0012 \ \muF,  $\pm$ 5%, ceramic, 500 V, N3300 Cu=180 pF,  $\pm$ 5%, ceramic, 5000 V, N2200 Cl_2=47 \ \muF, ceramic, 2500 V, N1500 C13=0.0033 µF. ceramic, 500 V C14=68 pF, paper, 500 V. N1500 C15=470 pF, ceramic, 500 V C15=0.0039 µF, mylar, 400 V C17=0.001 µF, ceramic, 500 V C18=0.0033 µF, ceramic, 500 V  $\begin{array}{c} 500 \ V \\ C_{10}{=}0.001 \ \mu F, \ ceramic, \ 500 \ V \\ C_{20}{=}0.056 \ \mu F, \ paper, \ 200 \ V \\ C_{22}{=}390 \ p F, \ ceramic, \ 500 \ V \\ C_{22}{=}390 \ p F, \ mica, \ 500 \ V \\ C_{23}{=}68 \ p F, \ ceramic, \ 500 \ V, \end{array}$ 

NPO

Li=Oscillator coil, RCA Stock No. 114486 or equiv. La, La=RF chokes (reactors), 8.2 µH, RCA Stock No. 107385 or equiv. PC1=Printed circuit (includes 0.001-µF and 0.0024-µF capacitors and 68000-ohm resistor), RCA Stock No. 114506 or equiv. R1=0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt R₂=47 ohms, 0.5 watt Ra, Ra=0.82 megohm, 0.5 watt R5=2.2 megohms, 0.5 watt R = 47000 ohms, 0.5 watt R=Height control, potentiometer, 0.75 megohm Rs=820 ohms, 1 watt Ra=3300 ohms, 0.5 watt Rio=Width control, potentiometer, 2000 ohms, 3 watts R11=0.68 megohm, 0.5 watt R12=47000 ohms, 0.5 watt R13=22 megohms, 0.5 watt R14=22000 ohms, 0.5 watt R15=Vertical-hold control, potentiometer, 0.75 megohm R₁₀=1.8 megohms, 0.5 watt R₁₇=Vertical-linearity

0.2 megohm R18=0.47 megohm, 0.5 watt R19, R25=27000 ohms, 0.5 watt R10, R2:=1000 ohms, 0.5 watt R2:=1000 ohms, 0.5 watt R2:=10000 ohms, 0.5 watt R21=0.18 megohm, 0.5 watt R₂₆=820 ohms, 0.5 watt R₂₇=0.15 megohm, 0.5 watt  $R_{25}=0.13$  megohm, 0.5 watt  $R_{28}=0.39$  megohm, 0.5 watt  $R_{29}=12000$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{29}=1$  megohm, 0.5 watt R₃₁=15000 ohms, 0.5 watt

control, potentiometer,

Rag=68000 ohms, 0.5 watt

 $R_{33} = 33000$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{33} = 1500$  ohms,  $\pm 5\%$ .

0.5 watt

- R₃₅=4700 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R₃₅=47000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₃₇=Horizontal-hold control. potentiometer, 70000 ohms.
- SR1=Selenium rectifier, RCA Stock No. 109474 or equiv.
- Ty=High-voltage and horizontal-output transformer, RCA Stock No. 114498 or equiv.
- T==Vertical-output transformer, RCA Stock No. 114502 or equiv.

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

horizontal-deflection circuit to obtain negative and positive voltage spikes which correspond to the leading and lagging edges, respectively, of the rectangular sync pulses. The amplitude of these voltage spikes is dependent upon only the peak value of the sync pulses and is not affected by the time durations of these pulses. The differentiating circuit, therefore, does not respond to the flat portions of the vertical sync pulses, and, with the exceptions of the serrations, the vertical sync pulses do not affect the operation of the horizontal-deflection circuits. The leading edge of alternate serrations, however, corresponds to the start of horizontalretrace periods and thus may be considered as merely another horizontal sync signal.

The differentiated sync waveform is applied to the junction of the twin silicon diodes SR₁ used in a phase-discriminator network. The positive portion of the differentiated waveform has no effect on the discriminator network. The negative

portion is compared with a feedback signal from the horizontal oscillator to derive the synchronizing voltage. The frequency of the horizontal oscillator and the repetition rate of the horizontal sync pulses should both be 15,750 Hz, the desired horizontal scanning rate for the picture tube. If the feedback signal from the oscillator does not occur coincident with the horizontal sync pulse, the phase discriminator develops a dc error voltage at the control grid of the input section of the 8FQ7 twin triode used in the oscillator stage. The resultant change in oscillator bias shifts the phase of the oscillator signal until it is locked in phase with the horizontal sync pulse.

The horizontal oscillator is basically a cathode-coupled multivibrator that free-runs, in asymmetrical half cycles, at a frequency of 15,750 Hz. A parallel LC circuit connected in series with the plate of the input section resonates at 15,750 Hz to provide frequency stabilization for the horizontal oscillator. The HOLD con-

### 29-27 VERTICAL- AND HORIZONTAL-DEFLECTION CIRCUITS AND HIGH-VOLTAGE RECTIFIER (Cont'd)

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

trol adjusts the basic multivibrator frequency to achieve an exact lockin with the horizontal sync pulses. In a cathode-coupled multivibrator. one amplifier section conducts at saturation and the other section is cut off during one half-cycle of operation, and these states are automatically reversed for the next half cvcle. Such circuits normally provide rectangular-wave outputs from each plate section that are 180 degrees out of phase and that switch between the saturation plate voltage and  $B^+$  (i.e., the cutoff plate voltage).

In the horizontal oscillator a series RC network is connected in parallel with the output tube section. Because of this network, the plate voltage does not immediately rise to the  $B^+$  value when the output tube section is cut off. Instead, there is a small immediate rise in plate voltage that results from the voltage drop across the resistor R₃₅ in the output RC network produced by the initial charging current to the capacitor C21. The plate voltage then rises gradually at a rate determined by the long-time-constant circuit through which the capacitor is charged. Before the capacitor can fully charge to the B+ voltage, the combination of the horizontal sync input and the feedback signal from the plate of the output section of the oscillator drives the grid of the input section below cutoff. The instantaneous rise in the plate voltage of the input section is coupled to the grid of the output section and causes this section to conduct. The capacitor  $C_{21}$  in the output RC network is then quickly discharged through the series resistor and the relatively low resistance of the output tube section. The output of the horizontal oscillator, therefore, is a trapezoidal voltage wave. The rising-slope portions of this wave (obtained when the ouput tube section is cut off)

corresponds to the horizontal-trace period on the picture tube; the discharge portion of the trapezoidal wave corresponds to the retrace period. The time-constant coupling circuits between the input and output sections of the oscillator are designed so that the retrace period represents only about 5 to 10 per cent of the over-all oscillator cycle.

The trapezoidal voltage wave is coupled to the control grid of the 22JU6 pentode horizontal - output stage and causes a sawtooth current to flow through the high-voltage (flyback) transformer T₁ and through the horizontal-deflection coils of the picture tube. The gradually rising portion of the sawtooth current causes the horizontal scanning of the picture tube; the more rapid negative-slope portion of the current wave causes the retrace. During the retrace period, the picture-tube screen is blanked by a negative pulse applied to the control grid of the picture tube from the vertical-deflection circuits. The WIDTH control R₁₀ in the screen grid of the horizontaloutput stage adjusts the gain of this stage to control the width of horizontal scanning.

The vertical oscillator employs a 15KY8A triode-pentode in a basic plate-coupled multivibrator configuration. This free-running 60-Hz multivibrator is synchronized by the vertical sync pulses. The vertical pulses are separated from the combined sync waveform by integration of the combined waveform across the 0.022microfarad capacitor  $C_7$  in the control-grid circuit of the pentode output section of the multivibrator. The integrating network has negligible response for the narrow horizontal sync and equalizing pulses, but responds to the greater energy included in the much wider vertical sync pulses to develop a triangular voltage wave at the control grid of the pentode output section. The

### 29-27 VERTICAL- AND HORIZONTAL-DEFLECTION CIRCUITS AND HIGH-VOLTAGE RECTIFIER (Cont'd)

#### **Circuit Description** (Cont'd)

VERT LIN potentiometer  $R_{i\tau}$  adjusts the charging period of the integrating capacitor to control vertical liearity. The VERT HOLD potentiometer  $R_{is}$  adjusts the frequency of the multivibrator to achieve an exact lock-in with the vertical sync pulses.

The voltage waveform at the control grid of the pentode output section results in a triangular wave of current through the vertical-output transformer  $T_2$  and through the vertical-deflection coils of the picture tube. The rising portion of the triangular current wave produces the vertical scanning, and the decreasing portion of the wave provides the retrace. Blanking pulses to cut off the picture tube during vertical and horizontal retrace periods are coupled from the secondary of  $T_2$  and from the VERT LIN potentiometer (combined sync waveform before integration) to the control grid of the picture tube.

The 1G3GT (or 1B3GT) halfwave rectifier circuit develops the dc operating voltages for the picture tube. The ac input power to the rectifier is supplied by the horizontal-deflection circuits. The sudden cutoff of plate current in the horizontal-output stage at the beginning of the retrace period causes a very large, positive-going voltage pulse

to be generated across the highvoltage transformer T1. The rectifier converts this voltage pulse to a dc output voltage of approximately 18,000 volts, which is applied to the inner coating of the picture tube. Removal of negative overshoots that would be developed across the highvoltage transformer because of a flywheel effect is accomplished by connection of a 17BS3A rectifier (damper) tube across the horizontaldeflection coils which are in parallel with the lower tapped section of the high-voltage transformer. The polarity of the damper tube is such that the positive pulse developed across the high-voltage transformer causes no current flow through it. For negative pulses, however, the damper tube provides a low-impedance path for the current, and energy stored in the horizontal-deflection coils during the preceding half-cycle is dissipated as heat at the damper-tube plate to prevent oscillation in the coils. The current through the damper tube develops a dc voltage of 450 volts across the 0.027-microfarad capacitor C₅ in the cathode circuit. The 0.68-megohm dropping resistor R₁₁ reduces this voltage to obtain the boosted  $B^+$  of 250 volts required for operation of the audio detector-amplifier (part of circuit 29-25).

29-28

LOW-VOLTAGE AND HEATER SUPPLY For Black-and-White TV Receiver

#### **Circuit Description**

This circuit includes the lowvoltage (+150-volt) dc power supply and the series heater connections for circuits 29-24 through 29-27. As mentioned previously, the power supply and these four circuits comprise a complete black-andwhite television receiver, with the exception of the picture tube and the vertical- and horizontal-deflection yokes.

The power supply is a half-wave

type which uses a 1N3194 silicon rectifier. The 117-volt ac input is connected to the power supply through an interlock,  $S_1$ , which may be mounted on the back cover of the receiver. AC input power is then automatically disconnected from the receiver when the back cover is removed. ON-OFF switch  $S_2$  controls the application of ac power to the power-supply circuit and to the tube heaters. With  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  both closed.





#### Parts List

C₁=0.22  $\mu$ F, paper, 600 V C₂, C₃=0.001, ceramic, 500 V, part of assembly with L₁ C₃=880 pF, ceramic, 1000 V C₄=250  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 200 V C₆, C₉=680 pF, ceramic, 500 V C₇=400  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 175 V

 $C_7 = 400 \ \mu$ F, electrolytic, 175 V Cs=0.001  $\mu$ F, ceramic, 500 V Cto=1000 pF, feedthrough, 5000 V



L1=RF choke, part of heater printed-circuit board, RCA Stock No. 114499 or equivalent (includes the two 0.001-µF capacitors C2 and C5)

L₂=Filter choke (reactor), RCA Stock No. 114501 or equiv.

- L₃=RF choke for VHF tuner filament circuit
- R1=Resistor-fuse, 0.35 ohm, RCA Stock No. 114481 or equiv.
- $R_2=330$  ohms, 1 watt
- TH1=Surge protection resistor (thermistor), 16 ohms (cold), RCA Stock
  - No. 114480.

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

the 117-volt power from the ac power line is applied to the series heater network and to the 1N3194 rectifier circuit. Two 0.001-microfarad ( $C_2$  and  $C_5$ ) and two 680-picofarad ( $C_6$  and  $C_0$ ) bypass capacitors and rf chokes  $L_1$  and  $L_3$  are included in the heater circuit to filter out any stray highfrequency signals that may be coupled from the rf and if signal channels.

The 117-volt ac input is converted to pulsating dc by the 1N3194 silicon rectifier. A capacitor-input, pi-type LC filter network filters the rectifier output to obtain a smooth dc voltage that approaches the peak value of the input ac voltage. The 680-picofarad capacitor  $C_s$  in parallel with the 1N3194 rectifier and the thermistor TH₁ in series with it provide surge-current protection for the rectifier. Initial surges of current that may result when power is first applied to the circuit (before a charge is developed across the input filter capacitor) are partially bypassed by the 680-picofarad capacitor and are limited in magnitude by the cold resistance of the thermistor. The

### 29-28 LOW-VOLTAGE AND HEATER SUPPLY (Cont'd)

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

thermistor has a negative temperature coefficient of resistance, and by the time the charge of the input capacitor C₄ builds up sufficiently to limit the current through the rectifier to a safe value, the resistance of the heated thermistor is small enough so that circuit power losses across this device are negligible. The resistor-fuse element  $R_1$  in series with the 1N3194 rectifier provides protection against any continuous circuit overload. The  $\pm 150$ -volt output from the power-supply filter network is used as the main B+ voltage for the television receiver. The 330-ohm, 1-watt dropping resistor R₂ at the output of the filter network reduces this voltage to the  $\pm 140$  volts required as the B+ voltage in the vhf tuner.

### COLOR TELEVISION RECEIVER

Circuits 29-29 through 29-35 comprise a complete portable color television receiver. The brief signaltracing analyses of these circuits assume that the reader has a basic knowledge of the purpose and operation of the various circuit sections of a color receiver. (The analyses can be more easily understood if the reader reviews the general discussions on television circuits given in the section on **Electron Tube Applications** starting on page 15). The receiver, which is essentially identical to the RCA Type CTC-22, features direct-line operation; the chassis of circuits 29-29 through 29-35, therefore, are connected to one side of the ac line during operation. Servicing of these circuits should not be attempted by persons not familiar with the precautions necessary when working on this type of equipment. (See notes 1 and 2 on page 712.)

Note: Circuits 29-29 through 29-35 are included in this manual primarily to illustrate applications of RCA electron tubes. Because of the exceptionally high voltages (up to 21,500 volts), high frequencies, and large bandwidths that are required and of the many special components that are used, home construction of these circuits is not recommended.

### 29-29 LOW-VOLTAGE POWER SUPPLY, DEGAUSSING COIL, AND HEATER CONNECTIONS

For Color Television Receiver

#### **Circuit Description**

This circuit includes the lowvoltage (+280-volt) dc power supply. degaussing circuitry, and heater connections for a color television receiver. The tube heaters, with the exception of the color picture tube, are connected in series across the ac power line. Heater power for the picture tube is supplied by transformer T₁. With ON-OFF switch S₁ closed, the 117-volt power from the ac power line is applied to the series heater string and to the primary of transformer T₁. The 117-volt ac input power is stepped down by transformer  $T_1$  to 6.3 volts at 1.0 ampere and applied to the heater of the 15LP22 color picture tube. Bypass capacitors and rf chokes are included in the series heater string to filter out any stray high-frequency signals that may be coupled from the rf and if signal channels of the receiver.

Two silicon rectifiers  $CR_1$  and  $CR_2$  are used in a voltage-doubler circuit to convert the 117-volt ac input power to the +280-volt B+ supply voltage for the receiver. This doubler circuit also provides a 160volt output from the junction of resistors R₄ and R₅, a +140-volt output from the junction of resistor R₈ and capacitor C₄, and a 95-volt output from the junction of resistor R₅ and capacitor C₁₅. The dc voltage outputs

#### 29-29 LOW-VOLTAGE POWER SUPPLY, DEGAUSSING COIL. AND HEATER CONNECTIONS (Cont'd)



#### Parts List

- C1=0.047  $\mu$ F, paper, 600 V C2=250  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 175 V

- $C_2=250 \ \mu$ F, electrolytic, 175 V  $C_3=50 \ \mu$ F, electrolytic, 250 V  $C_4=100 \ \mu$ F, electrolytic, 300 V  $C_5=150 \ \mu$ F, electrolytic, 350 V  $C_6=100 \ \mu$ F, electrolytic, 350 V  $C_7 \$ through  $C_{14}=1000 \$ pF, ceramic, 500 V

- C15=2  $\mu$ F, electrolytic, 175 V CB1=Circuit breaker (in-
- cludes R2), RCA Stock No.
- 120784 or equiv. CR1, CR2=Silicon rectifiers, RCA Stock No. 113998 or

- equiv.
- F1=Fuse, 7-ampere, 250-volt L1, L2=Inductor, 60-Hz line
- filter
- L3, L4=Degaussing coils,
- RCA Stock No. 120793 or
- equiv. L5=Filter choke, RCA Stock
- No. 120792 or equiv. Le, L7, Ls=RF choke
- R1=2 ohms, wirewound,
- 7 watts
- R₂=1.3 ohms, part of CB₁
- Rs=3900 ohms, wirewound.

- 10 watts
- Ri=47000 ohms, 1 watt Rs=10000 ohms, 7 watts S1=ON-OFF switch, single-
- pole, single-throw

- pole, single-throw
  S2=Degaussing switch, RCA
  Stock No. 120829 or equiv.
  T1=Filament transformer;
  primary, 117-volt; secondary, 6.3-volt, 1-ampere
  TH1=Thermistor; cold re-
- sistance, 120 ohms

### 29-29 LOW-VOLTAGE POWER SUPPLY, DEGAUSSING COIL, AND HEATER CONNECTIONS (Cont'd)

Circuit Description (Cont'd)

are filtered by the pi-section filter network formed by  $L_5$ ,  $C_5$ , and  $C_{12}$ .

The ac line is protected against any continuous circuit overload by a 7-ampere fuse, F₁, connected in series with one side of the line to ground. Surge protection is provided by a thermistor TH₁ connected in series with the B₊ rectifiers (CR₁ and CR₂). The B₊ circuit is protected by a special thermal reset circuit breaker CB₁. The circuit breaker opens the B₊ line whenever the current demand on the low voltage power supply or the current through the horizontal output stage becomes excessive.

The circuit breaker has a resistive winding (approximately 1.3 ohms) that completes the ground return for the horizontal output tube. If the cathode current of the output tube becomes excessive, the resistive winding heats and causes the bimetal strip in the circuit breaker to expand unequally. The resultant flexing of the bi-metal strip disconnects the breaker switch contacts and thereby opens the B+ line. The same action occurs when the B+ current demand becomes excessive.

Degaussing of the color receiver is initiated by depression of the spring-loaded switch  $S_2$  to the DE-GAUSS position. With  $S_2$  in the NORMAL position, capacitors  $C_2$  and  $C_3$  are combined in parallel to provide the charging capacitance for the

voltage-doubler circuit. For this condition, the parallel capacitors C_z and C_a are charged to approximately 142 volts and capacitor C₁ is charged to 140 volts to provide the +280-volt B+ voltage. When  $S_2$  is depressed to the DEGAUSS position, capacitor C_a is disconnected from the circuit, and degaussing coils La and Li are connected in series with the powersupply rectifiers and capacitor  $C_{3}$ . When the line voltage swings positive,  $C_3$  is charged through  $C_4$ , degaussing coils L₃ and L₄, and CR₂; when the line voltage is negative. C₃ is charged through CR₁ and the degaussing coils. This alternate cycling results in a symmetrical decaying wavetrain through the degaussing coils. The degaussing coils physically are looped about the receiver chassis in proximity to the color picture tube. The alternating magnetic fields developed by the decaving current wavetrain through these coils effectively demagnetizes picture tube and adjacent the The wavetrain dechassis areas. creases to zero when C₃ is charged to twice the peak value of the line voltage (approximately 330 volts dc). The degaussing action is completed in less than 1 second. It is only necessary, therefore, to momentarily depress switch S₂ to the DEGAUSS position. When the switch is released, it automatically returns to the NORMAL position.

29-30

#### VHF TUNER For Color Television Receiver

#### **Circuit Description**

This vhf tuner operates from a dc voltage of +280 volts obtained from the low-voltage power supply in the color television receiver. The tuner employs a 2EG4 nuvistor triode in the rf amplifier stage and uses a 4KE8 triode-pentode for the oscillator and mixer stages. The heaters of these tubes are connected in series with those of other tubes in the receiver; power for the series-heater string is obtained directly from the 117-volt ac power line. This tuner is very similar to

VHF TUNER (Cont'd)



Note: Switches S1 through S5 are ganged together on the same shaft and are shown in channel 13 position.

29-30

#### Parts List

- C₁=0.033 µF, paper, 200 V C₂, C₂₀, C₂₃, C₂₄=1000 pF, feedthrough, 500 V

- Leedanouga, 500 V C₃=47 pF ±5%, ceramic, 500 V, N750 C₄=2 pF, feedthrough, RCA Stock No. 119595 or equiv. C₅=Trimmer, 2 to 10 pF, RCA Stock No. 112038 or
- $C_{6} = 27 \text{ pF} \pm 5\%$ , ceramic, 500 V, N750  $C_{7} = 47 \text{ pF}$ , feedthrough, 500 V

- C8, C9, C10, C11=27 pF ±5%, ceramic, 500 V, N470 C12=2.7 pF, headed lead, 500 V -
- C₁₈=33 pF, ceramic, 500 V, N750

- N750  $C_{14=39}$  pF, feedthrough, 600 V  $C_{15=4.7$  pF  $\pm 5\%$ , headed lead, 500 V  $C_{15=62}$  pF  $\pm 5\%$ , ceramic, 500 V  $C_{17=62}$  pF  $\pm 5\%$ , ceramic, 500 V  $C_{19=22}$  pF, ceramic, 500 V  $C_{19=22}$  pF, ceramic, 500 V NPO  $C_{1=25}$  pF, ceramic, 500 V NPO

- $C_{21} = 5.6 \text{ pF} \pm 5\%$ , ceramic, 500 V, N150  $C_{22} = 27 \text{ pF}$ , ceramic, 500 V,
- NPO
- $C_{25}$ =0.047  $\mu$ F, ceramic, 500 V L₁=RF amplifier grid coil,
- part of S₃ assembly L₂=UHF trap
- L₃=RF amplifier grid-circuit coil, part of S5 assembly
- L4, L5, L6=Filter coils for high-pass filter network.
- part of T1 assembly
- La=RF amplifier plate coil,

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

the tuner for a black-and-white television receiver (shown in circuit 29-24), and it operates equally well for either color or black-and-white transmissions.

The antenna used with the tuner is a balanced 300-ohm dipole type which is matched to the unbalanced tuner input circuit by the antenna matching transformer Т.. The ganged 5-section, 13-position channel selector,  $S_1$  through  $S_5$ , establishes the operating frequency of the tuner for each of the vhf channels 2 through 13 or adapts the vhf tuner for operation with a uhf tuner. When used with a uhf tuner, the vhf tuner is operated as a two stage broadband rf amplifier and becomes essentially a pre-if amplifier for the color television receiver.

- part of S3 assembly
- Ls through Lis=RF amplifier plate-circuit tuning coils. part of Ss assembly

VHF TUNER (Cont'd)

- L19 through L28=Antenna tuning coils, part of S5 assembly
- L29, L30=High-band coupling adjust coils
- Ls1=Mixer grid coil, part of S₂ assembly
- L32 through L42=Mixer tuning coils, part of S₂ assembly
- Lis, Li=Low-band coupling adjust
- L45=RF amplifier grid-circuit coil, part of S5 assembly L46=IF input coil for signals
- from uhf tuner, RCA Stock No. 120782 or equiv. Luz=RF coil, part of input
- circuit for signals from uhf tuner
- Lis=Mixer plate coil, RCA Stock No. 112909 or equiv.
- Lis=RF filter coil Lis=Channel 13 range-
- centering coil Los through Log=Local-
- oscillator tuning coils, part of S₁ assembly
- J1, J2=Single-contact female connector, RCA Stock No. 104039 or equiv.  $R_1=47000$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_2=16000$  ohms, 3 watts  $R_3=4700$  ohms, 1 watt

- R₄=82000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₅=1500 ohms, 0.5 watt
- Re=10000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R7=2200 ohms. 0.5 watt
- Rs, R10=10 ohms, 0.5 watt
- Ro. R13=1000 ohms, 0.5 watt

- R11=27000 ohms, 0.5 watt

- $R_{II} = 27000$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{II} = 5600$  ohms, 1 watt  $R_{II} = 5600$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{II} = 5600$  ohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{II} = 5600$  ohms, 1 watt  $S_{II} = Local oscillator section of$ channel-selector switch ; stator assembly, RCA Stock No. 114837 or equiv... includes local-oscillator tuning coils L51 through Log
- S2=Mixer section of channelselector switch; stator assembly, RCA Stock No. 120084 or equiv., includes mixer tuning coils L₃₁ through Las
- S3=RF amplifier section of channel-selector switch; stator assembly, RCA Stock No. 120086 or equiv., includes rf amplifier plate tuning coils La through L₁₈ S₄=UHF function switch
- assembly; part of channel-selector switch; stator assembly, RCA Stock No. 114807 or equiv.
- S5=Antenna section of channel-selector switch; stator assembly, RCA Stock No. 120087 or equiv., includes antenna tuning coils L₁, L₄₅, and L₁₉ through L₂₈
- T1=Antenna matching transformer (includes coils L4, L5, and L6 in high-pass filter network), RCA Stock No. 113968

See Note on page 726.

With the channel selector set to any of the channel positions 2 through 13, telecast signals, either color or black-and-white, from the selected channel are coupled from the antenna circuit through sections S. and S₅ of the channel selector to the control grid of the 2EG4 rf amplifier. For channel positions 2 through 13. the input lead (IF INPUT) from the uhf tuner is not connected to the vhf tuner.

The vhf input signals are amplified by the rf amplifier. The S_s and  $S_3$  sections of the channel selector connect the appropriate combinations of inductors into the grid and plate circuits of the rf amplifier to tune this stage to the desired frequency channel. An agc bias voltage, derived from the keyed agc amplifier

29-30

### VHF TUNER (Cont'd)

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

in another section of the color receiver (circuit 29-32), is applied to the control grid of the 2EG4 to control the gain of the rf amplifier automatically.

The output of the rf amplifier is coupled through sections S₂ and S₄ of the channel selector to the control grid of the 4KE8 pentode section used in the mixer stage. Section S. of the ganged channel selector selects the proper combination of inductors to tune the mixer input circuit to the same operating frequency as that of the rf amplifier. A signal from the plate of the 4KE8 triode section used in the localoscillator stage is also applied to the mixer. Section S, of the channel selector selects the required inductance so that the oscillator operates at a frequency 45.75 MHz above the video carrier frequency of the vhf channel selected by the tuner.

The signals from the rf amplifier and local oscillator are heterodyned in the mixer stage to produce the 45.75-MHz amplitude-modulated and 41.25-MHz frequency-modulated difference freqencies used as picture and sound intermediate frequencies, respectively. The composite color signal received at the antenna also includes a 3.58-MHz color subcarrier sideband. This subcarrier is also heterodyned with the local-oscillator frequency to produce a color-subcarrier intermediate frequency of 42.17 MHz. The picture, color-subcarrier, and sound if signals are coupled from the plate of the mixer through  $J_2$  to the if stages of the receiver.

When the multiple-section channel selector is rotated to the UHF position, Ss disconnects the vhf antenna circuit from the rf amplifier. and section S. completes a connection to the 280-volt B+ line through several voltage-dropping resistors to provide a dc voltage output of 18 volts for use as the B+ voltage for a uhf tuner. The video, sound and color-subcarrier if signals from a uhf tuner can then be applied through the IF INPUT jack  $J_1$  and contacts of S4 and S5 to the control grid of the 2EG4 rf amplifier.

With the channel selector in the UHF position, switch section  $S_1$  opens the  $B_+$  line to the local oscillator to disable this stage. In addition, sections  $S_2$ ,  $S_3$ , and  $S_4$  select the proper combination of components so that the rf amplifier and mixer stages operate as broadband 44-MHz amplification of the picture and sound if signals ahead of the receiver main if strip.

### 29-31 VIDEO-AND SOUND-CHANNEL CIRCUITS

For Color Television Receiver

These circuits form the video and sound channels for a color television receiver. The circuits operate from a dc supply voltage of 280 volts, obtained from the receiver low-voltage power supply. The tube heaters are included in the seriesheater string for the over-all receiver. Operating power for the series-heater string is obtained directly from the 117-volt ac power line.

The picture if-amplifier circuit

consists of two high-gain stages that high-transconductance frameuse grid tubes and double-tuned interstage coupling transformers. The composite if input from the vhf tuner which consists of amplitudemodulated 45.75-MHz picture signals 42.17-MHz color-subcarrier components. and frequency-modulated 41.25-MHz sound signals, are coupled by capacitor C₂₁ and transformer T₆ to the control grid of the 3KT6 pentode used in the first picture if

#### 29-31 VIDEO- AND SOUND-CHANNEL CIRCUITS (Cont'd)



#### Parts List

- $C_1=5$  pF, part of  $T_1$  $C_2=1000$  pF  $\pm 5\%$ , ceramic,
- 500 V
- ⁵⁰⁰⁰ V C₃, C₅, C₈, C₁₄=0.01 μF, ceramic, 500 V C₄=10 pF ±5%, ceramic, 500 V, NPO C₆=1.5 pF, ceramic, 500 V, NPO

- NPO
- $C_7=6$  pF, part of T₂ C₈=47 pF, ceramic, 500 V, N750
- C₁₀=150 pF, part of T₃ C₁₁=39 pF, ceramic, 500 V, N750
- $C_{12}$ =560 pF, ceramic, 500 V  $C_{13}$ =10 pF, part of T₄  $C_{15}$ =4 pF, ceramic, 500 V  $C_{16}$ =10 pF, ceramic, 500 V,

- NPO
- C17=6800 pF, ceramic, 500 V C₁₈=47 pF, ceramic, 500 V,
- N750 C19=0.047 pF, ceramic, 500 V
- C20=0.0033 µF, paper, 1600 V C21=Trimmer, 3 to 15 pF, RCA Stock No. 116502 or equiv.
- C22=150 pF ±5%, mica, 500 V
- C23, C26, C28, C35=1000 pF, ceramic, 500 V
- C24=330 pF, mica, 500 V
- C25=24 pF, ceramic, 500 V, NPO

#### 29-31 VIDEO- AND SOUND-CHANNEL CIRCUITS (Cont'd)

#### Parts List (Cont'd)

- C₂₇=4700 pF, ceramic, 500 V C₂₉=430 pF ±5%, mica, 500 V

- 500 V  $C_{30}=150$  pF, mica, 500 V  $C_{32}=0.047$   $\mu$ F, Mylar, 100 V  $C_{32}=0.047$   $\mu$ F, ceramic, 100 V  $C_{33}=0.1$   $\mu$ F, Mylar, 100 V  $C_{34}=560$  pF, ceramic, 500 V  $C_{36}=580$  pF, ceramic, 500 V  $C_{38}=500$  pF, ceramic, 500 V  $C_{38}=500$  µF, electrolytic, 50 V  $C_{8}=50$  µF, electrolytic, 50 V  $C_{8}=50$  µF, electrolytic, 50 V
- CR4=Vertical-blanking diode, RCA Stock No. 115867 or equiv.
- DL₁=Delay line, RCA Stock No. 120786 or equiv.
- L₁=RF choke, 3.9  $\mu$ H, RCA Stock No. 116507 or equiv. L₂, L₁₀=RF choke, 1.8  $\mu$ H, RCA Stock No. 109248 or equiv.
- equiv. La=RF choke, 12 μH, RCA Stock No. 120831 La=Inductor for 47.25-MHz trap, RCA Stock No. 121447 or equiv.
- Ls=Video-detector filter coil. 5.6 µH, RCA Stock No. 109171 or equiv.
- Le, Le=Part of 4.5-MHz trap, RCA Stock No. 121446 or equiv.
- L₇=Video-detector filter coil, 36 µH, RCA Stock No. 16056 or equiv.
- L₉=RF choke, 100 µH, RCA Stock No. 117380 or equiv.
- L₁₁=Filter coil, 27 µH, RCA Stock No. 116511
- or equiv. L12=Filter network (includes resistor R₃₂); RCA Stock No. 116499 or equiv.

L13=Second-video plate coil,

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

amplifier. The 3KT6 tube has good characteristics. remote-cutoff and automatic-gain-control the (agc) bias voltage from the receiver agc amplifier (shown in circuit 29-32) is also applied to the control-grid circuit of this tube. The output of the first picture if amplifier is coupled by transformer  $T_7$  to the control grid of the 3JC6A pentode used in the second picture if amplifier. Capacitor C₆ couples the output of the second picture if amplifier to the sound detector, and transformer  $T_3$  couples the output to the video (pix) detector. Transformers T₆, T₇, and T₃ are stagger-tuned to obtain the wide band pass required for the if amplifiers to pass both the 45.75-MHz video AM signals and the 41.25-MHz

- 330 µH, RCA Stock No.
- 118710 or equiv.
- L14=First-video plate coil, 1.8 µH, RCA Stock No. 78466 or equiv.
- R1, R6, R35, R43=270 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R2, R25=10000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R3=8200 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R₄=0.15 megohm, may be part of T₂
- R₅=3300 ohms, 0.5 watt R₇=0.68 megohm, 0.5 watt
- Rs=0.47 megohm, 0.5 watt Rs=68000 ohms, may be part
- of T₄
- R10=Potentiometer, volume control, 1 megohm, 0.5 watt
- R11=Potentiometer, soundrejection adjustment, 7500 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R12=0.33 megohm, 0.5 watt R13. R30=0.1 megohm,
- 0.5 watt R14=3900 ohms, ±5%,
- 0.5 watt R15=56 ohms, ±5%.
- 0.5 watt R16=1000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R₁₇=22000 ohms, 4 watts
- $R_{18}=6800 \text{ ohms}, \pm 5\%$ ,
- 0.5 watt R19=150 ohms, ±5%,
- 0.5 watt
- R20=470 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R21=1200 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R22=4700 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R23=0.18 megohm, 0.5 watt
- $R_{24}$ =5.6 megohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{26}$ =22 megohms, 0.5 watt  $R_{27}$ =2.7 megohms, 0.5 watt

- R₂₈=Potentiometer, bright-ness control, 0.25 megohm, RCA Stock No. 120775

sound FM signals, as well as the intermediate 42.17 color subcarrier.

The sound detector  $(CR_1 and as$ sociated components) is essentially a second mixer circuit. The 45.75-MHz picture if signal and the 41.25 sound if signal are heterodyned to produce a second sound if carrier of 4.5 MHz. This 4.5-MHz sound if carrier is still frequency-modulated by the audio components contained in the original rf signal input at the receiver antenna. The sound-takeoff transformer  $T_1$  forms a selective load impedance for the 4.5-MHz if signal derived in the sound detector circuit.

The 4.5 MHz signal developed across sound-takeoff transformer T₁ is applied to the control grid of the 3JC6A sound if amplifier. The ampli-

- or equiv.
- R29=680 ohms ±5%.
- 0.5 watt
- R₃₁=0.22 megohm, 0.5 watt R32=2200 ohms, part of
- assembly with L12
- R33=0.39 megohm, 0.5 watt R34=0.12 megohm, 0.5 watt
- R36=100 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R37=5600 ohms, 0.5 watt R38=560 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R₃₉=22000 ohms, 3 watts R₄₀=6800 ohms, 4 watts

- $R_{41}$ =10000 ohms, 4 watts  $R_{41}$ =10000 ohms, 3 watts  $R_{42}$ =33000 ohms, 4 watts  $T_{1}$ =Sound-takeoff trans-
- former (includes C1), RCA Stock No. 120824 or equiv. T2=4.5-MHz sound if transformer (includes C7 and may include R₄), RCA Stock No. 120828 or equiv.
- Ta=Pix if output trans-
- former and 41.25-MHz trap, RCA Stock No. 120827 or equiv.
- T₄=Sound-demodulator quadrature network (includes C13 and may include R₉), RCA Stock No. 120825 or equiv.
- T==Audio output trans former, matches 5000-ohm tube-plate impedance to 3.2-ohm speaker voice coil, RCA Stock No. 120822 or equiv.
- T_s=IF input transformer and 41 25-MHz trap, RCA Stock No. 116560
- or equiv. T₇=Pix if transformer, **RCA Stock No. 120826** or equiv.
- See Note on page 726.

### 29-31 VIDEO- AND SOUND-CHANNEL CIRCUITS (Cont'd)

Circuit Description (Cont'd)

fied 4.5 MHz FM if signal from this stage is then coupled by the doubletuned transformer  $T_2$  to the control grid of the 5HZ6 sound demodulator. This stage demodulates the 4.5-MHz sound if signal and amplifies the resultant audio signal voltage. The +490 volts used as the plate supply for the 5HZ6 demodulator tube is derived from the 700-volt B Boost supply in the horizontaloutput stage (shown in circuit 29-33) of the receiver.

The tuned secondary circuit of transformer T₃ selects the 45.75-MHz amplitude-modulated picture and 42.17-MHz color sideband signals from the composite if signal and applies this picture signal to the video detector (CR2 and associated components). The detected video signal developed across the detectorcircuit filter network (L5, L6, L7, L8, and  $C_{30}$ ) is then coupled through  $C_{31}$ and R₂₂ to the control grid of the 5GH8A triode section used in the first video amplifier (the pentode section of the 5GH8A tube is used in the sync-agc-and-chroma driver, shown in circuit 29-32). The first video amplifier supplies the input signals to the sync-agc-and-chroma driver and to the second video amplifier.

The second video stage performs many functions. The input circuit of the 11HM7 pentode used in this stage is the insertion point for horizontal blanking pulses (for eventual application to the cathodes of the color picture tube). The horizontal blanking diode CR₃ is placed in the conducting mode by a small positive voltage applied to its anode through the dropping resistor  $R_{33}$  from the 280-volt B+ source. During active video scanning time, diode CR3 is (conducting). forward-biased and the video signal is coupled by capacitor C_{x3}, to the control grid of the video amplifier. During horizontal blanking time, a negative pulse from the horizontal-output transformer ( $T_1$  in circuit 29-33) is applied through  $C_{34}$  and  $R_{34}$  to the diode. This negative pulse is sufficient to cut off the diode during horizontal retrace time. The pulse is applied to the control grid of the second video amplifier and drives the grid more negative (than would the normal horizontal sync pulse). The negative signal at the grid is inverted at the plate; the added positive level coupled to the cathodes of the color picture tube is sufficient to provide blanking of horizontal retrace lines.

The brightness control for the color receiver is also located in the control-grid circuit of the second video amplifier. Negative dc grid bias for the 11HM7 second video tube is derived from the ac voltage obtained from the heater, pin 6, of the second video tube. The 11HM7 heater is in the approximate center of the series heater string (refer to circuit 29-29); at this point, approximately 60 volts of ac voltage is available. The negative dc voltage (about -75 volts) is developed across Cas by the IN3194 rectifier circuit. Adjustment of the brightness control, R₂₈ alters the grid bias by "tapping" the positive voltage applied to the top of the control. This unique circuit arrangement provides automatic brightness compensation with changes in power-line voltage. If line voltage increases, the negative voltage across C₃₂ increases: the increased bias that is then applied to the 11HM7 decreases the conduction of this tube. The opposite action occurs with a decrease in line voltage.

The cathode of the second video amplifier is returned to the contrast control  $R_{14}$ . Brightness stability is obtained by use of a fixed 150-ohm, 5-per cent resistor,  $R_{13}$ , for dc cathode bias. Adjustment of the contrast control does not change the dc characteristics of the cathode; only the ac signal gain of the stage is altered when the control is adjusted.

#### 29-31 VIDEO- AND SOUND-CHANNEL CIRCUITS (Cont'd)

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

Vertical-retrace blanking is accomplished in the plate circuit of the second video amplifier. During active scan periods, the vertical-blanking diode CR, is forward-biased (conducts); during vertical retrace periods, however, a positive (blanking) pulse from the vertical-output transformer ( $T_2$  in circuit 29-33) is applied through R₃₈ to the cathode of the diode. This 60-volt positive pulse is large enough to bias the diode into cutoff. During the blanking interval, the positive voltage pulse is added to the plate voltage of the 11HM7 second-video tube and applied to the cathode circuits of the color picture tube. As a result of the increased positive potential at the cathode, the picture tube is cut off during vertical retrace periods.



For Color Television Receiver



#### Parts List

- C1=0.18 μF, Mylar, 200 V C2=24 pF, ceramic, 500 V, NPO
- C₃, C₁₇==0.01 μF, ceramic, 500 V
- C4=1000 pF, ceramic, 500 V C5=3300 pF, ceramic, 500 V C6=470 pF, ceramic, 500 V C7=0.1 µF, paper, 600 V
- Cs=0.0056 µF, Mylar,
- $\begin{array}{c} 400 \text{ V} \\ C_9 = 0.01 \ \mu\text{F}, \text{ Mylar}, 600 \text{ V} \\ C_{10}, \text{ C}_{15} = 680 \text{ pF}, \text{ ceramic}, \\ 500 \text{ V} \end{array}$
- $C_{11}=0.047 \ \mu\text{F}$ , Mylar, 100 V  $C_{12}=1500 \ \text{pF}$ , ceramic, 500 V  $C_{13}=50 \ \mu\text{F}$ , electrolytic, 75 V

C11=0.0082 µF, paper,

- 1000 V  $C_{16}=0.033 \mu$ F, Mylar, 600 V  $C_{16}=0.001 \mu$ F, ceramic,
  - 3000 V
- C10=25 μF, electrolytic, 25 V L1=RF choke, 120 μH, part of assembly with R₉, RCA Stock No. 120795 or equiv.

29-32

### SYNC, AGC, AND VERTICAL-DEFLECTION CIRCUITS (Cont'd)

Parts List (Cont'd) R1, R1s=0.15 megohm, 0.5 watt R2=Potentiometer, agc adjustment, 50000 ohms, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 120804 or equiv. R3=27000 ohms, 0.5 watt R4=3300 ohms, 0.5 watt R4=3500 ohms, 0.5 watt R4=5800 ohms, 0.5 watt R7=27000 ohms, 0.5 watt R5=1500 ohms, 0.5 watt R4=5800 ohms, 0.5 watt R4=1100 ohms, 0.5 watt R1=1800 ohms, 0.5 watt R1=1800 ohms, 0.5 watt R1=1800 ohms, 0.5 watt

#### **Circuit Description**

This circuit shows the sync-agcand-chroma driver, agc amplifier, sync separator, and vertical deflection circuit for a color television receiver. The sync-age-and-chroma driver, the sync separator, and the vertical output tube operate from a plate supply (B+) voltage of 280volts obtained from the receiver lowvoltage power supply. The plate supply voltage for the agc amplifier is a positive keying pulse from the horizontal-output transformer, and the plate voltage for the vertical oscillator is obtained from the 700volt B Boost supply in the horizontal output circuit. The tube heaters are connected into the series-heater string for the over-all color receiver; power for the heater operating string is obtained directly from the ac power line.

The drive signal for the sync and agc circuits is obtained from the cathode of the first video amplifier (shown in circuit 29-31). This signal is coupled by capacitor C₂ and the parallel LR network L2 and Ro to the control grid of the 5GH8A pentode section used in the sync-agcand-chroma driver. (The triode section of the 5GH8A tube is used in the first video amplifier). The screengrid and control-grid bias voltages for the driver pentode are also obtained from the first video amplifier. The output of the driver stage is applied to the control grids of the agc

0.5 watt R13=10 megohms, 0.5 watt R13=2000 ohms, 0.5 watt R13=2000 ohms, 0.5 watt R13=2000 ohms, 0.5 watt R13=20 megohms, 0.5 watt R23=21.5 megohms, 0.5 watt R23=270tentiometer, verticallinearity control, 3.4 megohms, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 120807 or equiv. R23=56000 ohms, 0.5 watt R23=47000 ohms, 0.5 watt R23=1.5 megohms, 0.5 watt R23=1.5 megohms, 0.5 watt R23=1.5 megohms, 0.5 watt R23=1.5 megohms, 0.5 watt R23=2.0.47 megohm, 0.5 watt R23=2.47 megohm, 0.5 watt 0.5 watt

- Raz=0.22 megohm, 0.5 watt
- R33=3300 ohms, 1 watt R34=1500 ohms, wirewound,
- 3 watts
- Ras=Potentiometer, verticalheight control, 1 megohm, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 120805 or equiv.
- Ras==0.1 megohm, 1 watt
- Rs=Potentiometer, verticalhold control, 0.75 megohm, 0.5 watt
- ohm, 0.5 watt VDR₁=Voltage-dependent resistor (varistor); 870 volts at 1 mA; RCA Stock No. 112876 or equiv. Sec Note on page 726.

amplifier and the sync separator and to the chroma circuits (shown in circuit 29-34).

The agc amplifier uses the pentode section of a 5GH8A triodepentode; the triode section of this tube is used in the sync separator. The operation of the agc amplifier is gated by a positive keying pulse from the horizontal-output transformer (shown in circuit 29-33). This pulse, which is synchronized with the video signal, overcomes the bias provided by the 95 volts (obtained from the receiver low-voltage power supply, circuit 29-29) applied to the cathode circuit of the agc amplifier. Portions of the video signal that occur coincident with the keying pulse (i.e. during the horizontal blanking interval) are amplified by the agc stage. Resistor R₁ and capacitor C₁, together with other filtering elements in the control-grid circuit of the first picture if amplifier, filter out the pulsating components in the video signal to obtain a negative dc voltage proportional the video signal and thus to the rf input at the receiver antenna. Similarly, an agc bias voltage for the vhf tuner is developed across the filter capacitor C₁.

Synchronizing pulses are included in the composite rf signals transmitted by a television broadcast station to provide timing information required for synchronization of the transmitter and receiver scan-

#### 29-32 SYNC. AGC. AND VERTICAL-DEFLECTION CIRCUITS (Cont'd)

#### **Circuit Description** (Cont'd)

ning systems. The sync separator separates and amplifies the synchronizing pulses contained in the composite video signal it receives from sync-agc-and-chroma driver. the The 5GH8A triode section used in this stage is operated basically as a class C limiter. When the video signal is applied, the stage is biased beyond cutoff by the negative voltage developed by the grid-leak bias network formed by C₆ and R₁₈. Only the sync pulses in the composite video signal have sufficient amplitude to drive the sync amplifier into conduction. The resultant negative pulses developed in the plate circuit of the 5GH8A triode section are applied as the synchronizing inputs to the vertical and horizontal deflection circuits.

The vertical-deflection circuit employs one section of a 10GF7A dual triode in a vertical oscillator stage and a vertical output stage. These two stages form a basic platecoupled 60-Hz free-running multivibrator that is synchronized by negative vertical sync pulses from the sync separator stage. The negative-pulse output from the zync separator, however, includes horizontal sync pulses and equalizing pulses in addition to the vertical sync pulses. The vertical sync pulses must be

separated from the composite syncseparator output prior to the application of the synchronizing input to the vertical-deflection circuits. This separation is accomplished by integration of the composite syncseparator output across capacitor  $C_{12}$ . The integrating network ( $R_{27}$ and  $C_{12}$ ) has negligible response for the narrow horizontal-sync and equalizing pulses, but responds to the greater energy contained in the much wider vertical-sync pulses to develop a triangular voltage waveform, coupled by C16. C2. and R2 to the control grid of the vertical-output triode section, that synchronizes the operation of the multivibrator. The combination of the triangular wave input to the grid of the output section and the square-wave multivibrator signal results in a trapezoidal voltage waveform at the plate of the output section. This trapezoidal voltage wave produces a triangular wave of current through the vertical-output transformer  $(T_2 in$ circuit 29-33) and through the vertical deflection coils of the picture tube (shown in circuit 29-35). The rising portion of the triangular current waveform produces the vertical scanning, and the decreasing portion of the waveform provides the retrace.

#### 29-33 HORIZONTAL-DEFLECTION CIRCUIT AND HIGH VOLTAGE POWER SUPPLY For Color Television Receiver

### **Circuit Description**

These circuits develop the horizontal scanning signals and the dc operating voltage (21,500 volts) for the color picture tube (RCA Type 15LP22) and the receiver B Boost voltage (700 volts). The circuits operate from the receiver low-voltage (280-volt) supply. The heaters of the 5GH8A, 24JE6A, and 17KV6A tubes used in these circuits are included in the series-heater string for the

over-all receiver; operating power for these heaters is obtained directly from the 117-volt ac power line. Heater power for the 3A3A highvoltage rectifier tube is obtained from a 3-volt secondary winding on the high-voltage transformer.

A blocking oscillator in which the transformer coil is located in the cathode circuit is used to obtain a large-amplitude horizontal-drive

29-33

### HORIZONTAL-DEFLECTION CIRCUIT AND HIGH-VOLTAGE POWER SUPPLY (Cont'd)



#### Parts List

- C₁=82 pF ±1 pF, ceramic, 500 V, NPO C₂=1200 pF, ceramic, 500 V C₃=0.0018  $\mu$ F, paper, 1000 V
- C₄=150 pF, ceramic, 500 V, NPO
- $C_{5}=0.15 \ \mu F$ , Mylar, 75 V  $C_{6}=0.01 \ \mu F$ , Mylar, 600 V  $C_{7}=0.01 \ \mu F$ , Mylar, 75 V

- Cs, C15=1200 pF, ceramic, 500 V
- Co, C19=0.1 µF, Mylar, 400 V
- C10=15 pF, ceramic, 5000 V, N750
- C11, C13=1000 pF, ceramic, 500 V
- C12, C14=0.01 μF, Mylar, 400 V
- C1=270 pF ±5%, mica,
- 500 V

- C17=100 pF, ceramic, 5000 V, N1500 C18=22 pF, ceramic, 1000 V, N750
- $C_{20}=0.1$ , Mylar, 200 V  $C_{21}=0.033 \ \mu\text{F}$ , Mylar, 600 V  $C_{22}=0.01 \ \mu\text{F}$ , Mylar, 600 V  $C_{23}=40 \ \mu\text{F}$ , electrolytic,  $350 \ \text{V}$

- C24=0.047 μF, Mylar, 600 V
- C₂₅=150 pF, ceramic, 2000 V, N1500

- 2000 V, N1500 C₂₀=270 pF, ceramic, 2500 V, N1500 Cr=150 pF, ceramic, 2000 V, N1500 CR1=AFC diodes, RCA Stock No. 109474 or equiv.
- CR2=Damper diode, RCA Stock No. 120818 or equiv.
- J1=Octal socket, convergence-circuit input jack.

- RCA Stock No. 77645 or equiv. (mates with P1 on circuit 26-36)
- J₂=Octal socket, deflectionyoke input jack, RCA Stock No. 102787 or equiv. (mates with P2 on circuit 26-36)
- L1, L2=Horizontal-oscillator dual-coil assembly, RCA
- Stock No. 109947 or equiv. L₃, L₄=RF choke, 4.7  $\mu$ H, RCA Stock No. 120839
- or equiv. L₅=Variable inductor, horizontal efficiency adjustment, RCA Stock No. 120794 or equiv. R1, R22=0.22 megohm,
- 0.5 watt
- R₂, R₂₀=0.39 megohm, 0.5 watt

### 29-33 HORIZONTAL-DEFLECTION CIRCUIT AND HIGH-VOLTAGE POWER SUPPLY (Cont'd)

#### Parts List (Cont'd)

- R₃=0.27 megohm, 0.5 watt R₄=100 ohms, 0.5 watt R₅=15000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₆=1200 ohms, 0.5 watt R₇=47 Ohms, 0.5 watt R₈, R₈=0.12 megohm, 0.5 watt R₁₀=82000 ohms, 0.5 watt R₁₁=82. megohms, 0.5 watt R₁₁=82000 ohms ±2%. 0.5 watt R₁₄=82000 ohms ±5%, 4 watts
- R₃₁=Potentiometer, horizontal-hold control, 50000 ohms, 0.5 watt SG₁=Spark-gap capacitor, 0.5 pF, 1000 V, RCA Stock No. 120819 or equiv. T₁=Horizontal-output (flyback) transformer, RCA Stock No. 120820 or equiv. T₂=Vertical-output transformer, RCA Stock No. 120821 or equiv.

See Note on page 726.

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

Α waveform. control stage establishes the bias for the oscillator and, in this way, controls the firing of the oscillator stage. The 5GH8A triode-pentode is used in these stages. The triode section is used as the oscillator tube; the pentode section is used as a high-gain, low-drift control tube.

When the composite video signal is generated at the television broadcast station, the leading edge of each horizontal sync pulse, of alternate equalizing pulses, and of alternate serrations of the vertical sync pulses are correctly timed to initiate the horizontal retrace period. These leading-edge components exare tracted from the composite output from the sync separator (shown in circuit 29-31) and are used to synchronize the operation of the horizontal oscillator.

dif-The svnc waveform is ferentiated by the RC network (C₁ and  $\mathbf{R}_2$ ) at the input to the horizontal deflection circuit to obtain negative and positive voltage spikes that correspond to the leading and lagging respectively, of the recedges. tangular sync pulses. The amplitude of these voltage spikes is dependent upon only the peak value of the sync pulses and is not affected by the time durations of these pulses. The differentiating circuit, therefore, does not respond to the flat portions of the vertical sync pulses; as a result, with the exception of the serrations, the vertical sync pulses do not affect the operation of the horizontal-deflection circuits. The leading edge of alternate serrations, however, correspond to the start of horizontal-retrace periods and thus may be considered as merely another horizontal sync signal.

The differentiated sync waveform is applied to the junction of the twin silicon diode CR₁ used in a phase-discriminator type of afc network. The positive voltage spikes in the differentiated waveform have no effect on the discriminator network. The negative-voltage spikes are compared with pulses fedback from the horizontal oscillator to derive the synchronizing voltage. The frequency of the horizontal oscillator and the repetition rate of the horizontal sync pulses should both be 15,750 Hz, the desired horizontal scanning rate for the picture tube. If the pulses from the oscillator are not coincident with the horizontal sync pulses, the phase discriminator develops an error voltage at the control grid of the control tube. The control tube then varies the bias and, thus, the firing point of the oscillator until it is locked in phase with the horizontal sync pulses.

The parallel LC network ( $L_2$ and  $C_{12}$ ) in the cathode circuit of the oscillator resonates at 15,750 Hz to provide frequency stabilization for the oscillator. The HOLD control  $R_{31}$  adusts the frequency of the oscil-

### 29-33 HORIZONTAL-DEFLECTION CIRCUIT AND HIGH-VOLTAGE POWER SUPPLY (Cont'd)

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

lator to achieve an exact lock-in with the horizontal sync pulses. The output of the blocking oscillator is coupled through  $C_{14}$  and  $R_4$  to the control grid of the 24JE6A power pentode used in the horizontal-output stage. This tube drives the highvoltage flyback transformer  $T_1$  that develops the scanning voltage for the horizontal deflection coils (shown in circuit 29-35.

The sudden cutoff of plate current in the horizontal output stage at the end of the trace period causes a very large, positive-going voltage pulse to be generated across the high-voltage transformer  $T_1$ . The 3A3A half-wave rectifier circuit converts this pulse to a positive dc of 21,500 volts which is applied to the second anode of the color picture tube.

Regulation of the high voltage is achieved by use of a 17KV6A pulse-regulator stage connected in shunt with a section of the primary of the high-voltage flyback transformer. The regulator stage acts as a variable load on the flyback pulse source and, in this way, maintains an essentially constant pulse amplitude in the primary winding of the high-voltage transformer with changing loads on the high-voltage supply. This action assures that a constant-amplitude, stepped-up pulse is applied to the 3A3A rectifier. The rectifier output delivered to the picture tube, therefore, is maintained at a constant value of 21,500 volts.

Removal of negative overshoots that would be developed across the high-voltage transformer because of a flywheel effect is accomplished by the damper diode CR₂. This diode is shaped like a fuse and snaps into clips that can be mounted on the same circuit board with the horizontal deflection circuits and is readily replaced during servicing.

The polarity of the damper diode is such that the positive pulse developed across the high-voltage transformer causes no current flow through it. For negative pulses, however, the damper diode provides a low impedance path for the current, and energy stored in the horizontal output transformer (and the horizontal deflection coils) is dissipated in the damper circuit. The rectified current through the damper diode develops the boosted B+ voltage of +700 volts across capacitor  $C_{21}$  in the damper anode circuit.

The two auxiliary windings on the high-voltage transformer supply supplementary pulse voltages. The upper winding supplies gating pulses to the burst-gate and the color-killer amplifiers (shown in circuit 29-34). The convergence pulse is developed across the lower auxiliary winding. Keying pulses for the agc amplifier and the horizontal blanking diode are derived from the capacitor network (junction of  $C_{25}$  and  $C_{27}$ ) in the primary circuit of the high-voltage transformer.

Transformer T₂ shown in the circuit diagram is the vertical output transformer. The drive signal from the vertical output stage (shown in circuit 29-32) is developed across the primary of this transformer and coupled by the secondary winding through jack J₂ to the vertical deflection coils (shown in circuit 29-35). An auxiliary winding on transformer T₂ develops the keying pulse for the vertical blanking diode. The horizontal scanning signal from the highvoltage (horizontal-output) transformer are also coupled through jack J, to the horizontal deflection coils. The horizontal and vertical signals to the convergence board are routed through jack  $J_2$ . (Jacks  $J_1$  and  $J_2$  mate with plugs  $P_2$  and  $P_1$ , respectively, on circuit 29-35.)



CHROMA CIRCUITS For Color Television Receiver



29-34

#### Parts List

- C1=27 pF, ceramic, 500 V, NPO
- C2=68 pF, ceramic, 500 V, N750
- N/50 C3, C5, C6, C8, C0, C22, C23, C3 through C3==0.01 pF, ceramic, 500 V C4==390 pF, ceramic, 500 V C7==0.047  $\mu$ F, Mylar, 100 V

- ¹⁰⁰ V C₁₀, C₁₈=1000 pF, ceramic, 500 V C₁₁=Trimmer, 2 to 10 pF, RCA Stock No. 116501
- or equiv.
- C12=220 pF, ceramic, 500 V
- C13=10 pF, ceramic, 500 V, N150
- C14, C16=0.82 pF ±5%.
- headed lead, 500 V
- C₁₅=820 pF, ceramic, 500 V C₁₇=390 pF  $\pm 5\%$ , Mylar,
- 500 V
- 500 V, C₂₇=33 pF, ceramic, 500 V, N150 C₂₁=10 pF  $\pm 5\%$ , ceramic, 500 V, NPO
- $C_{24}$ =0.027 pF, Mylar, 100 V  $C_{25}$ =430 pF ±5%, mica,
- 500 V

- C28=150 pF, ceramic, 500 V C35=1.2 pF, ceramic, 500 V CR1, CR4, CR5, CR6=Silicon diode, RCA Stock No. 119596 or equiv.
- CR2=Diode, pulse clipper, **RCA Stock No. 113998** CR3=Diode, type 1N60
- L1=Variable inductor.

#### **Circuit Description**

These circuits extract the color information from the 3.58-MHz chrominance sidebands included in the composite color video signal. The color information is included in the chrominance sidebands in the form of two difference-frequency components that have a phase difference of 90 degrees and that are derived in the color television transmitter by subtraction of the luminance (Y) signal from the red (R) and blue (B) color signals. [The green colordifference (G - Y) components are not transmitted, but instead, are derived in the color receiver by addiof complements (negative tion values) of the R - Y and B - Ysignals.] To accomplish the demodulation function, the chroma circuits are required to develop two continuous-wave 3.58-MHz signals that have a phase difference of 90 degrees, each of which much be added

CHROMA CIRCUITS (Cont'd)

- chroma-takeoff coil, RCA Stock No. 120797 or equiv. L=Variable inductor, oscillator strength adjustment, RCA Stock No. 120798 or equiv La=Phase-shift coil. 3.9 μH, part of quadrature assembly (RCA Stock No. 120830 or equiv.) with R= L₁=RF coil, 3.9 μH, RCA Stock No. 116510 or equiv. L₅, L₆=RF choke, 620 μH, RCA Stock No. 109257 or equiv.  $R_1=3.9$  megohms, 0.5 watt  $R_2=0.15$  megohm, 0.5 watt Rs, R4, R7=47000 ohms, 0.5 watt R5==82000 ohms, 0.5 watt Rs. R10=10 megohms, 0.5 watt Rs=Potentiometer, colorkiller adjustment, 1 meg-ohm, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 120805 or equiv. Ry=82 ohms, 0.5 watt R11=2.7 megohms, 0.5 watt R12=2.2 megohms, 0.5 watt R1:=3900 ohms, 0.5 watt R11, R16=390 ohms, 0.5 watt R15=82000 ohms, 0.5 watt R17=47000 ohms, 1 watt R15=560 ohms, 0.5 watt R19=1500 ohms, 0.5 watt R20=Potentiometer, tint control, 10000 ohms, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 120774 or equiv.
- R21=6800 ohms, 1 watt
- R==120 ohms, 1 watt R==120 ohms ±5%, 1 watt, part of quadratic assem-bly with L3 R=5, R==470 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R2:=1500 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R25=Potentiometer, color control, 500 ohms, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 120776 or equiv.
- R27=0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt
- R25, R25=6800 ohms ±5%, fixed film, 0.5 watt
- R_===4700 ohms ±5%.
- 1 watt
- R===0.22 megohm, 0.5 watt
- Ra1=8200 ohms, 0.5 watt
- Ra=68000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- Ra==8200 ohms ±5%, fixed film, 0.5 watt
- R31, R30, R37=1 megohm. 0.5 watt
- Ras, R40=0.18 megohm, 0.5 watt
- R38=0.33 megohm, 0.5 watt  $R_{11}$ ,  $R_{12}$ ,  $R_{14}$ =39000 ohms  $\pm 5\%$ , 1 watt  $R_{13}$ =0.56 megohm, 0.5 watt
- R15, R16, R17=2.2 megohms,
  - 0.5 watt
- R₁₈=0.39 megohm, 0.5 watt R₁₉, R₅₀, R₅₁=1000 ohms,
  - 0.5 watt
- T₁=Burst transformer, RCA Stock No. 120816 or equiv.
- T==3.58-MHz oscillator transformer, RCA Stock No. 120815 or equiv. Y1=3.58-MHz oscillator
- crystal

vectorially to the chrominance sidebands. In other words, the 3.58MHz color subcarrier suppressed during transmission must be reinserted by the chroma circuits before the R - Yand B - Y color-difference information contained in the chrominance sidebands can be detected.

The chroma circuits operate from the color receiver low-voltage (280-volt) power supply. Five 5GH8A triode-pentodes fulfill the electron-tube requirements for the ten chroma stages. The heaters of these tubes are connected in series with those of other tubes in the receiver; operating power for the series-heater string is obtained directly from the 117-volt ac power line.

The input to the chroma circuits is the composite video signal after it has been amplified by the first video amplifier and the sync-agc-

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

and-chroma driver (shown on circuits 29-32 and 29-33, respectively). In addition to the chrominance sidebands, this composite signal includes the luminance signal (equivalent to the monochrome picture signal in black-and-white transmissions), the conventional horizontal and vertical sync pulses, and the color burst synchronizing signal. The color "burst" is a 3.58 MHz reference signal of approximately 8 cycles that occurs during the horizontal retrace blanking interval immediately following the horizontal sync pulse (refer to Fig. 96, page 73).

The chroma input is applied simultaneously to the chroma bandpass and burst amplifiers. When no burst signal is included in the chroma input (i.e., for black-and-white transmissions), the color-killer stage develops, by means of the current through diode CR₁, a negative dc voltage across capacitor C₇ that biases the chroma bandpass amplifier beyond cutoff: as a result the chroma input is not applied to the color demodulators.

The operation of the burst amplifier is controlled by a gating signal (burst-gate and killer pulse) from an auxiliary winding on the horizontal-output transformer (T, in circuit 29-33). This gating pulse is generated at the same time and has the same time duration as the horizontal blanking pulse used to blank out the horizontal retrace on the color picture tube. This interval corresponds to the period of the horizontal sync pulse and the 3.58MHz burst synchronizing signal that immediately follows the sync pulse. The burst amplifier, therefore, only amplifies this portion of the chroma input. The primary of transformer  $T_1$  in the plate circuit of the burst amplifier, however, is tuned to 3.58 MHz so that only the 3.58-MHz burst signal is coupled from the plate of the burst amplifier.

The separated burst is coupled by transformer  $T_1$  to the control-grid circuit of a 3.58-MHz injectionlocked oscillator circuit. The oscillator, therefore, is forced to operate in step (with respect to both frequency and phase) with the incom-The 3.58-MHz burst signal. ing crystal Y₁ is used to assure excellent frequency stability in the oscillator circuit. The oscillator develops the continuous-wave 3.58-MHz reference signal applied to the control grids of the Z and X demodulators. The quadrature network  $(L_3 \text{ and } R_3)$ causes a 90-degree phase shift in the 3.58-MHz signal applied to the control grid of the X demodulator. The 3.58-MHz chrominance sidebands must also be applied to the X and Z demodulators before these stages derive the color difference can signals. These sideband signals are obtained from the chroma bandpass amplifier.

The dc bias voltage developed in the grid circuit of the oscillator stage is used to control color-killer action and to derive an agc voltage for the chroma bandpass amplifier. The cathode-to-grid section of the oscillator triode, diode CR₃, and associated components from a twodiode voltage-doubler circuit. Any dc voltage developed in the oscillator grid circuit is approximately doubled at the voltage-doubler output (anode circuit of diode CR₃). When no color signal is received (i.e., no burst signal applied to the oscillator), the dc voltage at the grid of the oscillator is approximately -5 volts. The -10volts developed across  $C_{13}$  and  $R_{15}$  in the anode circuit of voltage-doubler diode CR_a is reduced to approximately -1.4 volts at the control grid of the color-killer stage. For this low level of bias, the color killer stage conducts and develops a cutoff bandpass bias for the chroma amplifier.

When color signals are being

29-34

### CHROMA CIRCUITS (Cont'd)

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

received, the burst signals applied to the oscillator causes the oscillator grid bias voltage to increase to approximately -8 volts, depending on the amplitude of the burst signal. The dc voltage at the anode of the voltage-doubler diode then rises to approximately -16 volts, and the bias on the color-killer stage is increased to about -4 volts. For this bias level, no current flows through the color-killer stage, and the cutoff bias for the chroma bandpass amplifier provided b the color-killer stage is removed. The grid bias for the bandpass amplifier is then derived from the dc voltage at the grid of the 3.58-MHz oscillator. Because this voltage varies with the amplitude of the burst signal, it provides automatic-gain control for the bandpass amplifier.

With the removal of the cutoff bias provided by the color killer, the bandpass amplifier is allowed to amplify and and pass the 3.58-MHz chrominance sidebands contained in the chroma input (video signal). The single-tuned transformer  $T_2$  in the plate circuit of the bandpass amplifier forms a selective load to the 3.58-MHz chrominance sidebands. The output of the bandpass amplifier, therefore, is a 3.58-MHz signal that contains the R-Y and B-Ycolor-difference information. The instantaneous phase difference of the 3.58-MHz color-difference components with respect to the burst signal defines the synchronizing color information being transmitted, as indicated by the chart on page 73 in the section Electron Tube Applications.

The 3.58-MHz color-difference signals from the bandpass amplifier are coupled by transformer  $T_{\odot}$  to the screen grids of the X and Z color demodulators where they are mixed with the continuous-wave 3.58-MHz signal from the oscillator. The color demodulators are essentially

synchronous detectors. These types of detectors are phase sensitive, and their output is determined not only by the amplitudes of the two input signals, but also by the phase relationship of these inputs. If the amplitudes of the chrominance and continuous wave inputs to the demodulators are considered to be constant, the input of the demodulators is affected by the phase relationship of the two input signals as follows: When the chrominance and the continuous signals are in phase. the output of the demodulators is maximum in the negative direction. When the two signals are 180 degrees out of phase, the output is maximum in the positive direction. A phase difference of 90 or 270 degrees results in a zero output from the demodulators.

The X and Z color demodulators are biased so that the plate current of each demodulator tube is small during the zero-signal condition. The continuous-wave signal applied to the control grid gates the tube into conduction for the full positive half cycle. During most of the negative half cycle, the tube is cut off. With no chrominance signal applied to the screen grid, the plate current of the demodulator tube consists essentially of 3.58-MHz pulses. A low-pass filter in the plate circuit of the demodulator removes the 3.58-MHz component so that the dc plate voltage decreases below the level obtained when there is no input to either the control or screen grid. The dc level obtained when only the continuouswave reference signal is applied represents the zero output of the color demodulators; only changes in the average plate voltage above and below this level will be passed by the output coupling capacitor to the succeeding stages.

When the chrominance signal applied to the screen grid is in phase with the continuous-wave reference signal applied to the control grid,

29-34

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

the demodulator tube conducts more heavily during the periods that the reference signal permits conduction. The plate voltage of the demodulator then decreases below the zero level, and the output coupling capacitor couples the negative change to the next stage. Conversely, if the two signals are 180 degrees out of phase. the average plate current decreases. The attendant rise in average plate voltage causes a positive change to be coupled to the next stage. For 90- or 270-degree phase differences, the two signals tend to add together at certain times and to cancel each other times so that the average plate current is essentially unchanged.

In the development of the colordifference signals at the transmitter, the phase of the R - Y signal is shifted 90 degrees with respect to the burst reference signal and the B - Y signal is in phase with the reference signal. The B - Y component of the chrominance sidebands, therefore, is in phase with the reference signal applied to the Z demodulator, and the R - Y component is in phase with the phase-shifted reference signal applied to the X demodulator. The output of the Z demodulator then is the detected G - Ysignal, and the output of the X demodulator is the detected R - Ysignal. These signals are coupled to the B - Y and R - Y differencesignal amplifiers, respectively.

If strict consideration is given to signal phase relationships, the outputs of the X and Z demodulators are -(R - Y) and -(B - Y)signals. The positive versions of these color-diffrence signals results from the inversions provided by the R - Y and B - Y color-difference amplifiers. The G - Y color-difference signal is synthesized by addition of portions of the R - Y and B - Y signals from the plates of the R = Y and B = Y difference amplifiers in the resistor matrix network at the input to the G - Y colordifference amplifier. The vector sum of these quantities results in a -(G - Y) signal. This signal is amplified and inverted by the G - Yamplifier to obtain the G - Y signal.

The color difference amplifiers all operate in the grounded-cathode mode with the grid bias taken from the blanker circuit, and only capacitance coupling is used from the outputs of these amplifiers to the picture tube. The dc reference level for the three color grids of the picture tube are established by a clamp diode circuit in the output of each difference amplifier. The outputs of the R - Y, G - Y, and B - Y colordifference amplifier are coupled to the red, green, and blue grids, respectively, of the color picture tube.

## 29-35 PICTURE TUBE AND ASSOCIATED CIRCUITS

For Color Television Receiver

#### **Circuit Description**

These circuits include the picture tube and associated input-coupling and biasing networks, the convergence board, and the horizontal and vertical deflection coils for a color television receiver. The dc operating potentials for the picture tube are derived from the receiver low-voltage (280-volt) power supply, the B Boost (700-volt) voltage developed by the horizontal-output circuit, and the high-voltage (21,500-volt) rectifier circuit. The 6.3 volt heater power for the picture tube is obtained from a transformer ( $T_1$  in circuit 29-29) connected across the 117-volt ac power line.

The 15LP22 color picture tube has a number of unique features. The phosphor-dot screen uses a rareearth, red-emitting phosphor and improved blue and green phosphors.

### 29-35 PICTURE TUBE AND ASSOCIATED CIRCUITS (Cont'd)



#### CIRCUITS

### 29-35 PICTURE TUBE AND ASSOCIATED CIRCUITS (Cont'd)

#### Parts List

- C1=0.1 µF, Mylar, 400 V C==47 pF, ceramic, 500 V.
- N750
- Cz, Cz, Cz=1000 pF, ceramic, 500 V Cz, C7=0.15 μF, Mylar, 75 V (part of convergence-
- board assembly) Cs=0.082 µF, Mylar, 100 V (part of convergence-
- board assembly) C==0.27 µF, Mylar, 75 V (part of convergence-
- boart of convergences board assembly) C10=180 pF, 250 V, part of deflection-yoke assembly
- C11=3900 pF, part of de-flection-yoke assembly C12=82 pF, 3000 V, part of
- deflection-yoke assembly CR1, CR2, CR3, CR4=Se-lenium rectifier assembly, **RCA Stock No. 120058** or equiv.
- Convergence board=RCA Stock No. 120052 or equiv. Deflection yoke=RCA Stock
- No. 120890 or equiv. L1==820 μH, part of net-work assembly (RCA Stock_No. 120796 or equiv.)
- with R₁ (Ls-L4, Ls-L5) (L7-L4, Le-L10) (L13-L14, L13-L15)=Convergence-coil assembly, RCA Stock No. 121843 or equiv., part of convergence-board assembly
- L=Variable inductor, right red-green vertical lines adjustment, RCA Stock No. 120059 or equiv., part of convergence-board assembly
- Lu=Variable inductor, right red/green vertical lines adjustment, RCA Stock No. 121443 or equiv., part of convergence-board assembly
- Lis=Variable inductor, right blue horizontal lines ad-justment, RCA Stock No. 120060 or equiv., part of convergence-board assembly
- coils, part of deflectionyoke assembly
- Lis, La=Horizontal-deflec-tion coils, part of deflection-yoke assembly
- P1=Connector for conver-

gence board, 8-pin male type, RCA Stock No. 112728 or equiv. (mates with J₁ on circuit 26-34)

- P2=Connector for yoke assembly, 8-pin male type, RCA Stock No. 114767
- or equiv. (mates with J2 on circuit 26-34) R1=4700 ohms, 0.5 watt, part of network assembly with  $L_1$ R₂=0.18 megohm, 0.5 watt R_s=0.15 megohm, 0.5 watt

- R₄=Potentiometer, video peak adjustment, 0.1 megohm, 0.5 watt, part of assembly with R7 and Rs (RCA Stock No. 120811 or equiv.) Rs=5600 ohms, 0.5 watt
- Re=12000 ohms, 0.5 watt R1=Potentiometer, red drive adjustment, 6000 ohms, 0.5 watt, part of assem-bly with Rs and Rs (RCA Stock No. 120811 or equiv.)
- Rs=Potentiometer, green drive adjustment, 6000 ohms, 0.5 watt, part of assembly with R₅ and R₇ (RCA Stock No. 120811
- or equiv.) R==33000 ohms ±5%,
- 0.5 watt R10, R11, R12=Three-section potentiometer ; screen-grid adjustments for blue, green, and red electron guns, respectively; each section: 1.5 megohms, 0.5 watt; RCA Stock No. 120812 or equiv. R13=47000 ohms, 0.5 watt R14=1000 ohms, 0.5 watt
- R15=Potentiometer, top red/green horizontal lines adjustment, 120 ohms, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 106320 or equiv. (part of convergence-board assembly)
- R16=Potentiometer, bottom red/green horizontal lines adjustment, 350 ohms, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 116635 or equiv. (part of convergence-board assembly)
- R17=Potentiometer, bottom red/green vertical lines adjustment, 60 ohms, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 105059 or equiv. (part of convergence-board assembly)
- R18=Potentiometer, bottom blue horizontal lines ad-

- justment, 60 ohms, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No.
- 105059 or equiv. (part of convergence-board
- assembly) R19, R22=100 ohms, 1 watt, part of convergence-board assembly
- Rm=Potentiometer, left red/green horizontal lines adjustment, 100 ohms. 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 120949 or equiv. (part of convergence-board assembly
- R21=Potentiometer, left red/green vertical lines adjustment, 100 ohms, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 120949 or equiv. (part of convergence-board assembly
- R23=270 ohms, 0.5 watt (part of convergenceboard assembly)
- R24=180 ohms, 1 watt (part of convergence-board assembly)
- R25=270 ohms, 1 watt (part of convergence-board assembly)
- R26==Potentiometer, left blue adjustment, 60 ohms, 3 watts, RCA Stock No. 114627 or equiv. (part of convergence-board assembly)
- R27=Potentiometer, top red/green vertical lines adjustment, 350 ohms, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 116635 or equiv. (part of convergence-board assembly)
- R28=Potentiometer, top blue horizontal lines adjustment, 350 ohms, 0.5 watt, RCA Stock No. 116635 or equiv. (part of convergence-board assembly)
- R29=82 ohms. 0.5 watt (part of convergence-
- board assembly) R30=4700 ohms, 2 watts (part of deflection-yoke
- (part of denetion-yate assembly) Ra, Rz=220 ohms, 0.5 watt S=Service switch, RCA Stock No. 120838 or equiv. SG: through SG:=Capacitor,
- spark-gap, 0.5 pF, 1000 V, RCA Stock No. 120819 or equiv.
- TH1=Thermistor ; cold resistance, 1.3 ohms; RCA Stock No. 120891

See Note on page 726.

**Circuit Description** (Cont'd)

The new phosphors are more efficient and are capable of producing 38 per cent brighter highlights than previous color picture tubes. The directly viewed shadow-mask picture

tube incorporates a screen with nearly straight sides and sharply rounded corners.

The 15LP22 is designed for operation with the blue gun down. The

### 29-35 PICTURE TUBE AND ASSOCIATED CIRCUITS (Cont'd)

#### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

anode bulb contact for high voltage connection is still located in the top section of the tube. Operation in the blue-down orientation, with respect to the viewing screen, provides optimum compromise of pincushion distortion at the top and bottom of the screen. The tube is equipped with an integral filter glass protective window, sealed to the base plate of the tube with a clear resin. An external magnetic shield is not required on the 15LP22. Another main feature of the color picture tube is an einzel-lens focus system. This system is relatively insensitive to variations of the high voltage so that the tube maintains good focus even with variations in picture brightness.

The focus system for the color picture tube is very similar to that used in instruments equipped with a black-and-white picture tube. Normally, the 15LP22 will have optifocus when connected to mum ground potential. However, provisions to change the focus potential are facilitated by a pin connector from pin 9 of the picture tube. The focus selected jumper can be connected to 620 volts, 320 volts, or ground merely by relocating the slip-on connector to the proper stake extending from the circuit board.

A three-position service switch  $S_i$  is incorporated into the picturetube circuitry to facilitate receiver setup and adjustment. The NORMAL position of the switch, of course, permits normal receiver operation. With the switch in the SETUP or RAS-TER position, the video input is disconnected from the picture tube, and the ground return for the agc circuit is opened. Raster height and width and color and background levels can then be more easily adjusted.

The output of the color difference amplifiers are applied to the respective grids of the tricolor picture tube. The luminance signal from the second video amplifier is applied to the three cathodes of the color picture tube. These signals combine to intensity modulate the three electron beams to produce the color image on the picture-tube screen.

The horizontal and vertical deflection coils in a yoke on the neck of the picture tube deflect the electron beams, in response to signals received from the horizontal and vertical output stages, to produce the horizontal and vertical scanning required to trace the image on the picture-tube screen. (These coils are connected in shunt with the respective horizontal and vertical output transformer.)

The horizontal output circuit provides a sawtooth current waveform at a frequecy of 15,750 Hz to the horizontal-deflection coils, and the vertical output circuit provides a 60-Hz sawtooth current wave to the vertical-deflection coils. The picture tube electron beams are simultaneously deflected horizontally across the screen at a rate of 15,750 Hz and vertically at a rate of 60 Hz.

At the completion of each horizontal trace (end of rising portion of sawtooth current wave), the beam is deflected back to the left side of the screen (retrace) to start another trace period. A positive blanking pulse (included in the video signal) applied to the cathodes of the picture tubes cuts off the picture tube during this period so that the retrace lines do not appear on the tube screen. The picture tube is similarly blanked at the end of each verticaltrace period.

Correct color reproduction requires that the three beams of the color picture tubes meet, or converge, at the shadow mask and excite color dots of the same trios. The three electron guns of the color picture tube are mechanically tilted toward the center axis of the tube so that virtual convergence is ob-

### 29-35 PICTURE TUBE AND ASSOCIATED CIRCUITS (Cont'd)

### Circuit Description (Cont'd)

tained with no external converging force applied. Slight bending of one or more of the beams may be required for exact convergence. The convergence circuit performs this function.

The components on the convergence board shown in the circuit diagram are mounted on a disk-shaped circuit board with a center hole that permits it to be fitted directly on the neck of the color picture tube. These components are interconnected in a dynamic type of convergence system. In this system, sine wave currents are used to provide horizontal convergence, and parabolic current waves are used to provide vertical convergence.

The sine waves of current used to provide horizontal convergence are derived from a voltage pulse developed across an auxiliary winding of the high-voltage transformer  $(T_1 \text{ in circuit } 29-33)$  and applied through pin 8 of the convergenceboard input connector P1. The current through each of the three sets of horizontal convergence coils (L₂ and L₄, L₈ and L₁₀, and L₁₃ and L₁₅) is individually adjustable in both amplitude and phase. The phase of the convergence current is adjusted b the Horizontal Shape control L₆. which resonates with the two 0.15microfarad capacitors  $C_6$  and  $C_7$  at the line frequency (15,750 Hz). The sine-wave convergence current is produced by ringing this resonant

circuit with the pulse obtained from the high-voltage transformer. Po tentiometers  $R_{15}$ ,  $R_{16}$ ,  $R_{18}$ ,  $R_{20}$ , and  $R_{28}$  adjust the amplitude of the sinewave convergence current.

Vertical-frequency (60-Hz) sawtooth voltages obtained from secondary windings of the vertical output transformer (T₂ in circuit 29-33), applied through pins 4 and 5 and pins 6 and 7 of connector  $P_1$ , are used to derive the vertical convergence-current waveform. Because of the integrating action of the convergence coils, this sawtooth voltage results in a parabolic current wave through the convergence coils. Potentiometer Rn adjusts the amplitude of the vertical voltage parabola applied to the three sets of vertical convergence coils (L₃ and L₅, L₇ and L₀, and L₁₂ and L₁₄).

A vertical-frequency sawtooth voltage from a secondary winding of the vertical-output transformer, is applied across potentiometer R₁₇. The sawtooth voltage is obtained from center tapped transformers; the voltage at the center of potentiometer  $R_{17}$  therefore, is approximately zero with respect to circuit ground. Adjustment of this potentiometer mixes either positive or negative sawtooth voltages with the parabolic convergence voltage and, in this way, controls the shape of the convergence signal applied to the convergence coils.

# **INDEX**

	1	Page
Absolute Maximum System of Ratings		- 95
AC/DC Superheterodyne Receiver		677
Admittance, Input All-Purpose Power Supplies		27
All-Purpose Power Supplies		711
AM Detection		19
AM/FM Receiver	• •	678
Amplification		24
Amplification Factor (µ)	·	13
Amplifier:	••	15
audio-frequency	15	25
audio mixer, circuit	15	700
audio mixer, circuit	•	
cathode-drive	·	37
cathode-follower		40
Class A	25	, 28
class AB	25	
class AB1		34
class AB ₂		37
class B	25	
class C		25
high-fidelity	49	, 90
intermediate-frequency, circuit		684
limiter		50
luminance		60
parallel		28
phase-inverter		51
preamplifier circuits 702, 703, 70	<u>.</u>	705
push-pull 25,	28.	31
radio-frequency		52
remote-cutoff		56
resistance-coupled		26
sync	·	63
television		56
		45
tone-control	•	706
tone-control, circuit		
video		60
voltage		25
volume-expander	•	50
Amplifiers:		
if		52
tuned		52
wideband	•	58
Amplitude Modulation (AM)		19
Anode	•	- 5
Application Guide for RCA		
Receiving Tubes		104
Arc-Back Limit		97
		71
Audio Mixer	:	700
Audio Mixer	•	
Audio Mixer	•	700
Audio Mixer	• • •	700 707 76
Audio Mixer Electronic Volt-Ohmeter Automatic Frequency Control (AFC) Automatic Gain Control (AGC)		700 707 76
Audio Mixer		700 707 76 48
Audio Mixer Electronic Volt-Ohmeter Automatic Frequency Control (AFC) Automatic Gain Control (AGC) Automatic Volume Control (AVC)		700 707 76 48
Audio Mixer	46,	700 707 76 48 46
Audio Mixer Electronic Volt-Ohmeter Automatic Frequency Control (AFC) Automatic Gain Control (AGC) Automatic Volume Control (AVC)		700 707 76 48

	Page
Bias:	-
battery	. 84
cathode (self)	. 84
diode	
grid-resistor	22. 85
Black-and-White Television Receiver	710
Burst	60. 73
Bypassing	

#### Calculation of:

amplification factor		13
cathode (self-bias) resistor		84
cathode load resistor		42
control-grid-plate transconductance		14
filament resistor power dissipation .		82
filament (or heater) resistor value		82
gain-bandwidth product		57
harmonic distortion	30,	32
load resistance	31,	35
noise figure		55
operating conditions from		
conversion nomograph		32
peak inverse plate voltage		97
plate efficiency		14
plate resistance		14
power output	29,	35
power sensitivity		14
Q (selectivity)		52
resonant frequency		52
screen-grid voltage dropping resisto		99
	14.	41
voltage amplification (gain)		40
Capactive Division		54
Capacitor-Input Filter		89
Cathode:		
bias		84
bypassing		84
connection		83
current		83
directly heated		3
drive		37
follower		40
indirectly heated		4
ionic-heated		6
resistor		84
types		3
Characteristics Curves, Interpretation o		98
Characteristics:	-	
amplification factor		13
control-grid-plate transconductance		14
conversion transconductance		14
dynamic		13
picture tube X-radiation		14
plate resistance		14
static		13
	•	×.,

### INDEX

	Page
Charts and Tables:	300
grid-No. 2 input rating chart	633
outline drawings	666
resistance-coupled amplifier	641
types for replacement use	522
Choke-Input Filter	89
Chroma Circuits	741
Chroma Circuits Chrominance Channel	61
Circuit Diagram of:	(77
ac/dc superheterodyne radio receiver	677 711
all-purpose power supplies AM/FM superheterodyne radio	/11
AM/FM Superneterouyne Taulo	677
receiver	706
chroma circuits	741
chroma circuits	690
FM stereo multiplex adapter FM tuner	686
FM tuner	682
high-fidelity, 15-w audio amplifier	692
high fality, 50 w audio amplifier	694 696
horizontal-deflection circuit and high-	
power supply (for color	
TV receiver)	735
TV receiver)	691
low-distortion preamplifier	705
low-voltage and heater supply	
(for TV receiver)	724
low-voltage power supply, degaussing circuit, and heater connections	
(for color TV receiver)	726
(for color TV receiver) microphone and phonograph	/
	699
phonograph amplifier picture tube and associated circuit	701
picture tube and associated circuit	S
(for color TV receiver) preamplifier for amateur receiver	745 694
preamplifier for ceramic phonograph-	
	704
pickup preamplifier for magnetic	
phonograph-pickup	702
phonograph-pickup preamplifier for tape-head pickup	703
sync age, and vertical-deflection	
circuits (for color TV receiver) three-stage if amplifier/limiter and	735
ratio detector	684
ratio detector two-channel audio mixer	700
two-channel, 1-w stereo amplifier	698
vertical and horizontal deflection	
circuits and high-voltage rectifier .	720
vhf. tuner	713
video, agc, and sync amplifiers	718
video and sound-channel circuits	
(for color TV receiver)	731
video if amplifiers and sound-channel	
circuits	
Circuits	
Code-Practice Oscillator	688
Color Demodulation	72
Color Picture Tubes	12
Color Television	60
Communications Transceiver	16
Contact Potential	86
Conversion Nomograph, Use of	33
Conversion Transconductance	. 14
Corrective Filter	43
Cross-Modulation	27

### 

	Page
Current:	
cathode	83
dc output	96
grid	86
peak plate	75
plate	5
Curves, Interpretation of Characteristic .	98
Cutoff	27
Dark Heater	4
Deflection Circuits:	
horizontal	67
vertical	68
Degeneration (See Inverse Feedback)	38
Delayed Automatic Volume Control	
(DAVC)	47
Demodulation	19. 72
Design-Center System of Ratings	Ý 95
Design-Maximum System of Ratings	95
Detection:	
AM	19
diode	20
discriminator	23
FM	22
grid bias	21
grid resistor and capacitor	22
ratio detector	24
synchronous	72
Diode:	
biasing	21
considerations	5
detection	
Discriminator	
Dress of Circuit Leads	88
Dynamic Characteristics	13

#### Electron:

considerations	3
secondary	8, 9
Electrons, Electrodes, and Electron Tubes	3
Electron Tube Application	15
Electron Tube Characteristics	13
Electron Tube Installation	81
Electron Tube Testing	100
Electron-Ray Tubes	79
Emission:	
current	5
secondary	8.9
test	Í01

Feedback, Inverse 25	, 38
Filament (also see Heater and Cathode):	
operation	
resistor	81
series operation	81
shunt resistor	82
supply voltage	81
Filter:	
capacitor-input	89
choke-input	89
corrective	43
radio-frequency	89
smoothing	89
FM Detection	22
FM Stereo Multiplex Adapter	686
FM Tuner	682
Formulas (see Calculation)	

		Page
Frame Gri	d	. 7
Frequency	Conversion	. 77
Frequency	Modulation (FM)	22
Full-Wave	Rectifier	5.17
		•

Gain (Voltage Amplification)	26
General System Functions	15
Generic Tube Types	4
Grid:	
bias	85
bias detection	21
control	7
current	86
resistor	85
resistor and capacitor detection	22
screen	7
suppressor	8
voltage supply	83
Grid-Plate Capacitance	7
Grid-Plate Transconductance	14

Half-Wave Rectifier 5, 17
Harmonic Distortion 30, 49
Heater:
cathode
cathode bias 83
cathode connection
resistor
series operation
supply voltage
warm-up time
High-Fidelity Amplifiers
High-Fidelity, 15-w Audio Amplifier 692
High-Fidelity, 30-w Audio Amplifier 694
High-Fidelity, 50-w Audio Amplifier 696
High-Voltage Regulation
High-Voltage Regulators:
Shunt Regulator Circuit
Pulse Regulator Circuit
Horizontal Deflection
Horizontal-Deflection Circuit and High-
Voltage Power Supply 737
Hum and Noise Characteristics

Impedance, Input Injection Voltage Input Admittance Input Capacitance Instantaneous Peak Voltage	684 27 56 27 98 97
	689
Interelectrode Capacitances	
Intermodulation Distortion	49
Interpretation of Tube Data Inverse Feedback:	95
constant-current type	40
constant-voltage type	38
Kinescopes	10
Limiters	50
Load resistance	31
Local Oscillator	57
	704
Low-Voltage and Heater Supply (for	104
	724

	Page
Low-Voltage Power Supply, Degaussing	
Circuit, and Heater Connections (for	
Column, and Treater Connections (for	804
Color TV Receiver)	726
Luminance Amplifier	60
Maximum Ratings	95
Mercury-Vapor Rectifier:	
considerations	6
interference from	89
Mho-micromho	- 14
Microphone and Phonograph Amplifier .	699
Mixer:	
	700
audio	
hexode	79
pentagrid vhf tuner Modulated Wave	74
whf tuner	56
Modulated Wave	19
Modulation	19
Modulation Distortion	27
Modulation-Distortion	
Multi-Electrode and Multi-Unit Tubes	9
Multiplex Adapter for FM Stereo	686
Multivibrator	74
NT - 1	
Noise	54
Noise Figure	- 55
Noise Immunity	67
Novar	10
	10
Nuvistor	10
Operation, Typical Values	98
Oscillator:	
considerations	74
	57
	57
multivibrator	75
relaxation	75
synchroguide	75
Output Capacitance	98
Output-Coupling Devices	90
Output-Coupling Devices	30
Parallel Operation	28
Peaking:	
series	58
shunt	58
shunt Peak heater-cathode voltage Peak Inverse Plate Voltage	96
Peak Inverse Plate Voltage	97
Peak Plate Current	97
Pentagrid Converter	10
Pentagrid Mixer	79
Dentada Considerations	
Pentode Considerations	8
Phase Inverter	51
Phase Inverter Phonograph Amplifier	701
Phonograph and Tape Preamplifiers	43
Picture Tube:	
characteristics chart	666
corona considerations	92
cutaway view of color tube	12
deflection	11
dust considerations	91
accential elements	10
essential elements	
handling precautions	94
high-voltage considerations	94
humidity considerations	91
safety considerations	94
screen	10
structure	11
X-ray radiation precautions	94

. ....

### INDEX

	Page
Picture Tube and Associated Circuits	
(for Color TV Receiver)	745
Plate:	5
current	96
dissipationefficiency	14
load	22
resistance	13
voltage supply	83
Plate-Cathode Capacitance	7, 98
Power Output:	
calculations	29
Power Sensitivity	_14
Power Supplies Power Supplies Preamplifier for Amateur Receiver Preamplifier for Ceramic Phonograph Bickup	711
Preamplifier for Amateur Receiver	688
Preamplifier for Ceramic Phonograph	704
Pickup Preamplifier for Magnetic Phonograph	/04
Preamphner for Magnetic Phonograph	702
Pickup Preamplifier for Tape-Head Pickup	703
Preamplifiers, Phonograph and Tape	43
Pulse Regulator Circuit	
Pulse Regulator Circuit	28. 31
~	
Q (selectivity)	52
Radio-Frequency:	
amplifier	25, 52
filter	89
Radio Receiver	15
Ratings:	
absolute-maximum system	95
design-center system	95
design-maximum system	95 24
Ratio Detector	17
Rectification	17
Rectifiers:	5 17
full-wave haif-wave	5, 17
ionic-heated cathode	6
ionic-heated cathode parallel operation of	18
plate-characteristics curves	98
voltage doubler	18
Relaxation Oscillator	75
Remote-Cutoff Tubes	27
Resistance-Coupled Amplifiers 26	, 641
Resistance Coupling	26
Resistor:	84
cathode (self-biasing)	84 82
center tap	82
filament	
plate load	5. 99
Resonant Circuits	52
Safety Precautions:	~ ~ ~
picture tubes	94
receiving tubes	93 6
Saturation Current	63
Screen Grid (Grid No.2):	03
considerations	7
considerations	- 99
input rating chart	300
voltage supply	86
Secondary Electrons	8, 9
Secondary Electrons	8
	Q
Selectivity (Q)	52 84

	Page
	87
Shielding Shock-Hazard Warning:	• • •
picture tubes	94
receiving tubes	93
receiving tubes Short-Circuit Test	100
Shunt Regulator Circuit	69
Signal Generator	734
Signal-to-Noise Ratio	54
Space Charge	6, 9
Static Characteristics	13
Stereo Circuits 686	
Stereo Circuits	675
Suppressor Grid (Grid No.3)	8
Suppressor ond (ond rolls)	64
Sync	••
Circuits	735
Sync Circuits	64
Sync Circuits	63
Sync Separator	75
Synchronous Detection	73
Synchronous Detection	13
Technical Data for Tube Types	111
Television:	
color demodulation	72
horizontal deflection	66
if amplifiers	57
picture tubes 10, 9	
receiver	16
rf amplifiers	56
scanning	83
sync circuits	64
vertical deflection	68
Terminal Diagrams:	
For Picture Tubes	672
For Replacement and Discontinued	0.2
Types	612
Types Testing Electron Tubes	100
Tetrode Considerations	7
Three-Stage IF Amplifier / I imiten	
Three-Stage IF Amplifier/Limiten and Ratio Detector	682
Tone-Control Amplifier Stage	733
Tone Control	45
Transconductance:	45
conversion	14
grid-nlate	14
grid-plate test	101
Triode Considerations	7
Tube:	
outlines	633
ratings, interpretation of	95
tester requirements	103
Tube Types, Technical Data	112
Tuned Amplifiers	
Tuner FM	52 682
Tuner, FM	- 084 - 56
Tuners, Television Tuning Indicators	- 20 79
TV Scanning, Sync, and Deflection	
Twin diada_triada	61
Twin diode—triode	20
Two-Channel Audio Mixer	700
Tunical Operation Values	698
Typical Operation Values,	
Interpretation of	98

Vertical and Horizontal Deflection	
Circuits and High Voltage Rectifier	720
Vertical Deflection	68
VHF Tuner	
Video, AGC, and Sync Amplifier	718

Video Amplifiers	Page 8, 60
Circuits	731
Voltage: amplification, class A doubler rectifier peak heater-cathode peak inverse plate supply	15 18 96 97 83
Volume Control: automatic (AVC) by grid-voltage variation	46 85

by screen-grid-voltage variation delayed automatic (DAVC) Voltage Doubler Volume Compressor and Expander	Page 87 47 18 50
Wideband (Video) Amplifiers	58
X-Ray Radiation Considerations: picture tubes receiving tubes	94 93

## Other RCA Technical Publications

### Field Service Guides for RCA Color-TV Receivers

ERT-200 Volume - 1 (1955-1966) \$2.00* ERT-201 Volume - 2 (1967-1968) \$1.60* ERT-202 Volume - 3 (1969-1970) \$1.90* ERT-203 Volume - 4 (1971-1972) \$2.90* ERT-204 Volume - 5 (1973-1974) \$3.95*



These guides provide up-to-date service information on RCA color-TV chassis. All of the guides are compact enough to fit into your service caddy; however, they open to a full  $11'' \times 17''$  for clear, easy reference.

Sections include:

- Comprehensive Indexes by Model Number and Model Name
- Step-By-Step Setup Procedures
- Top and Rear Chassis Views
- Easy to Read Schematic Diagrams
- Procedures for Picture Tube Removal and Replacement

### Color-TV Service Handbooks For Major Manufacturers

1A1759	(1967-1968)	
1A1848	(1969-1970)	
1A1973	(1971-1972)	
1A2092	(1973-1974)	



These handbooks permit you to service color-TV receivers of most major manufacturers in the customer's home. Data in these handbooks are based on the original manufacturer's service notes.

The handbooks include manufacturers such as:

Admiral, Airline, Dumont, Curtis Mathes, Emerson, General Electric, Hitachi, Hoffman, Magnavox, Motorola, Olympic, Packard Bell, Panasonic, Philco, RCA, Sony, Sylvania, and Zenith

Sections include:

- Comprehensive Index
- Top Chassis View Showing all Major Components
- Simplified Setup Procedures For Purity, Black-and-White Setup Convergence, and AFPC.

* Prices are net and are subject to change without notice at our discretion.

### RCA RECEIVING TUBE MANUAL

### Solid State Servicing

TSG-1673A

\$3.95*

\$2.95 *



Practical bench-oriented service manual covering the application and servicing of solid-state devices (diodes: rectifiers-zeners-varactors; transistors: bipolar-FET's; thyristors: SCR's-triacs; IC's) in Power Supplies, Hi-Fi and Tape-Recorder Amplifiers; AM and FM Receivers (mono and stereo); and Television Receivers (color and black-andwhite).

Text sections include:

- Solid-State Operating Principles
- Basic Amplifier Considerations
- Power Supplies
- Hi-Fi and Tape-Recorder Amplifiers
- Radio Receivers (AM and FM Mono and Stereo)
- Television Receivers (Color and Black-and-White)
- Servicing Solid-State Circuits

### Solid-State Hobby Circuits

# Solid State Hobby Circuits

408 pages containing 68 circuits of general interest to all experimenters. Circuits use diodes, transistors, SCR's, triacs, MOS transistors, integrated circuits, and light and heat detectors. Circuit operation is described in detail; construction layouts, photographs, schematic diagrams, and parts lists are given; and full-size drilling or printedcircuit templates are included for most circuits to simplify construction.

HM-92

Circuits you can build, use, and enjoy.

- Audio
- Automobile
- Home & Hobby
- Musician
- Photographer
- Amateur Radio

- Communications
- Games & Recreation
- DC Power Supplies
- How to Build Electronic Circuits
- How to Test & Troubleshoot Solid-State Devices

* Prices are net and are subject to change without notice at our discretion.

### OTHER RCA TECHNICAL PUBLICATIONS.

#### **Electro-Optics Handbook**

256-page Handbook, a carefully edited collection of technical information from many different widely scattered sources, provides general extensive reference material in the rapidly expanding electrooptics field. Dozens of tables, charts, graphs as well as descriptive text. A fully indexed valuable timesaving reference.

Sections include:

- Radiometric Quantities and Units
- Photometric Quantities, Units, and Standards
- Physical Constants, Angle Conversion Factors, and **Commonly Used Units**
- Blackbody Radiation
- Eye Response and Luminous Efficacy

Sources of Radiation

EOH-11

- Atmospheric Transmittance
- Detection, Resolution, and Recognition
- Lasers
- Detector Characteristics
- Image and Camera Tubes
- Optics

PT-61

Photographing E-O Displays

#### Photomultiplier Manual

192 pages of technical data and information on photomultiplier construction, operation, and applications for designers and users of electrooptical equipment. Data on sources, spectra, noise, and RCA photomultipliers are included. Well illustrated and well written for easy reading, this manual is valuable to students, engineers, and service technicians.

Sections include:

- Photoemission
- Secondary Emission
- Principles of Photomultiplier Design
- Statistical Fluctations and Noise
- Applications of Photomultipliers
- Voltage-Divider Considerations
- Photometry
- Radiant Energy and Sources
- Spectrum Response
- Source Detector Matching

* Prices are net and are subject to change without notice at our discretion.



\$2.50*



\$4.95*



Notes

## RCA Products for the Technical Service Industry

Receiving tubes Receiving-type industrial tubes Color picture tubes Black-and-white picture tubes Power tubes Electro-optic devices Replacement semiconductor devices **Batteries** Test equipment Antennas Antenna rotators Antenna installation hardware Reception aids Spray chemicals for electronic equipment Servicing aids Industry compatible test jigs Exact replacement parts for RCA products Film resistors (flameproof) Car radios and tape players Speakers Scanning radios

See your RCA Distributor – or, for more information contact:

RCA | Distributor and Special Products Division | Cherry Hill Offices | Camden, N.J. 08101

